

Tetrahedron Vol. 62, No. 29, 2006

Contents

REPORT

Recent advances in the chemistry of triaryl- and triheteroarylmethanes Vijay Nair,* Siji Thomas, Smitha C. Mathew and K. G. Abhilash

pp 6731-6747



The major developments in the synthesis, reactions, and applications of triaryl- and triheteroarylmethanes are described.

ARTICLES

CMPO-substituted calix[6]- and calix[8]arene extractants for the separation of An³⁺/Ln³⁺ from pp 6749–6753 radioactive waste

Francesco Sansone, Marco Fontanella, Alessandro Casnati,* Rocco Ungaro, Volker Böhmer,* Mohamed Saadioui, Karine Liger and Jean-François Dozol



A way to manage the thermal flexibility of ligand candidates for bioassays Maria Altamura, Giuseppe Balacco, Francesco Cuda, Annalisa Guerri, Antonio Guidi,* Stefania Meini,

Stefano Menichetti, Cristina Nativi and Franco Pasqui



pp 6754-6761

Phosphoramidites and solid supports based on *N*-substituted 2,4-dihydroxybutyramides: universal pp 6762–6773 reagents for synthesis of modified oligonucleotides

Natalia N. Dioubankova, Andrei D. Malakhov, Dmitry A. Stetsenko, Michael J. Gait and Vladimir A. Korshun*



Microwave-assisted one-pot U-4CR and intramolecular O-alkylation toward heterocyclic scaffolds pp 6774–6781 Xinglong Xing, Jinlong Wu, Gaofeng Feng and Wei-Min Dai*



DABCO catalyzed reaction of various nucleophiles with activated alkynes leading to the formation of pp 6782–6791 alkenoic acid esters, 1,4-dioxane, morpholine, and piperazinone derivatives Ming-Jin Fan, Gao-Qiang Li and Yong-Min Liang*



One-step construction of carbazoles by way of the palladium-catalyzed double N-arylation reaction pp 6792–6801 and its application to the total synthesis of murrastifoline-A

Takafumi Kitawaki, Yoko Hayashi, Akiko Ueno and Noritaka Chida*



Aryl and aliphatic amines including *tert*-butylamine and a protected glucopyranosylamine were effectively transformed into the corresponding *N*-substituted carbazoles by way of the Pd-catalyzed double N-arylation. The first total synthesis of murrastifoline-A, a biscarbazole alkaloid, based on this methodology was also accomplished.

Sinugibberosides A–E, new terpenoids with cyclic peroxyhemiketal from the soft coral *Sinularia* pp 6802–6807 *gibberosa*

Shin-Pin Chen, Atallah F. Ahmed, Chang-Feng Dai, Chung-Kuang Lu, Wan-Ping Hu, Jeh-Jeng Wang and Jyh-Horng Sheu*



High guest inclusion in 3β-amino-7α,12α-dihydroxycholan-24-oic acid enabled by charge-assistedpp 6808–6813hydrogen bondspp = 6808-6813

Eui-Hyun Ryu, Arkady Ellern and Yan Zhao*



Diarylethenes with intramolecular donor-acceptor structures for photo-induced electrochemical pp 6814–6821 change

Eunkyoung Kim,* Miyoung Kim and Kyongtae Kim

Diarylethenes with donor–acceptor groups showed reversible electrochemical change by a UV and visible light source, to result in conductivity switching between 2.5×10^{-8} and 3×10^{-9} S cm⁻¹ when it was doped in PS polymer.



Leishmanicidal activity of withajardins and acnistins. An experimental and computational study pp 6822–6829 Diana Cardona, Winston Quiñones, Fernando Torres, Sara Robledo, Iván Darío Vélez, Víctor Cruz, Rafael Notario and Fernando Echeverri*



Several acnistins and withajardins showed leishmanicidal activity. The 3D-QSAR models predict the same affects for both leishmanicidal and toxicity activities.

Radical dearomatization of benzene leading to phenanthridine and phenanthridinone derivatives pp 6830-6840 related to (±)-pancratistatin

David Crich* and Venkataramanan Krishnamurthy



Highly efficient and selective oxidation of secondary alcohols to ketones under organic solvent and pp 6841-6847 transition metal free conditions

Suman L. Jain, Vishal B. Sharma and Bir Sain*



HSAB-driven chemoselective N¹-alkylation of pyrimidine bases and their 4-methoxy- or 4-acetylamino-derivatives

Augusto Gambacorta,* Daniela Tofani, Maria Antonietta Loreto, Tecla Gasperi and Roberta Bernini



Stereochemistry of the intermediates in the synthesis of 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane from triethylenetetramine, glyoxal and diethyl oxalate



Maria Argese,* Marino Brocchetta, Mario De Miranda, Paola Paoli, Fiorenza Perego and Patrizia Rossi



pp 6848-6854

Convenient syntheses of metabolically important quercetin glucuronides and sulfates Paul W. Needs* and Paul A. Kroon



Synthesis of substituted 5-aminomethyl tetrahydro-isoquinolines and dihydro-isoindoles

pp 6869-6875

M. Jonathan Fray,* Paul Allen, Paul R. Bradley, Clare E. Challenger, Michael Closier, Tim J. Evans, Mark L. Lewis, John P. Mathias, Carly L. Nichols, Yvonne M. Po-Ba, Hayley Snow, Mark H. Stefaniak and Hannah V. Vuong



The synthesis of 10 substituted aminomethylene tetrahydro-isoquinolines 1a-j (eight steps from 5-hydroxyisoquinoline) and four similarly substituted dihydro-isoindoles 2a-d is described.

Facile solid-phase synthesis of biotinylated alkyl thiols

Elisabet Prats-Alfonso, Fayna García-Martín, Nuria Bayo, Luis J. Cruz, Mateu Pla-Roca,* Josep Samitier, Abdelhamid Errachid* and Fernando Albericio*



Synthesis and reactivity of trans-2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines

Berten Van Driessche, Willem Van Brabandt, Matthias D'hooghe, Yves Dejaegher and Norbert De Kimpe*



pp 6862-6868

pp 6876-6881

pp 6882-6892

Reactions of 4-(dimethylamino)pyridinium activated pentachloropyridine with nitrogen nucleophiles pp 6893–6898 and hydride

Andreas Schmidt,* Jan Christoph Namyslo and Thorsten Mordhorst



A consecutive Diels–Alder approach toward a Tet repressor directed combinatorial library Christian Kormann, Frank W. Heinemann and Peter Gmeiner^{*}

pp 6899-6908



Construction of C-nucleosides diversified by [3+2] cycloaddition from a sugar-based mesoionic ring pp 6909–6917 María J. Arévalo,* Martín Ávalos, Reyes Babiano, Pedro Cintas, José L. Jiménez, Mark E. Light and Juan C. Palacios



Synthesis of coumarins by Pt-catalyzed hydroarylation of propiolic acids with phenols Juzo Oyamada and Tsugio Kitamura* pp 6918-6925



Catalysts : PtCl₂/AgOTf, K₂PtCl₄/AgOTf, K₂PtCl₄/AgOAc

Total synthesis of actinobolin from D-glucose by way of the stereoselective three-component coupling reaction

Satoshi Imuta, Hiroki Tanimoto, Miho K. Momose and Noritaka Chida*



Total synthesis of (–)-actinobolin starting from D-glucose is described. Stereocontrolled three-component coupling reactions of a cyclohexenone derived from D-glucose by way of Ferrier's carbocyclization, with vinyl cuprate and 2-alkoxypropanal effectively constructed the carbon framework of actinobolin. The formal synthesis of (+)-actinobolin starting from D-glucose was also accomplished.

Synthesis of the CD-ring of the anticancer agent streptonigrin: studies of aryl-aryl coupling methodologies

William T. McElroy and Philip DeShong*



Reaction of iodoarenes with potassium peroxodisulfate/trifluoroacetic acid in the presence of aromatics. Direct preparation of diaryliodonium triflates from iodoarenes

Md. Delwar Hossain and Tsugio Kitamura*

$$\begin{array}{rl} \text{Ar}^{1}\text{I} & + & \text{Ar}^{2}\text{H} & \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} 1.\ K_{2}\text{S}_{2}\text{O}_{8},\ \text{CF}_{3}\text{COOH},\ \text{CH}_{2}\text{Cl}_{2}, \\ \hline 36\text{-}38\ ^{\circ}\text{C},\ 20\text{-}28\ \text{h} \\ \hline \hline 2.\ \text{NaOTf},\ \text{r.t.},\ 8\ \text{h} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{r} \text{Ar}^{1} = \text{Ph},\ 4\text{-Br}\text{C}_{6}\text{H}_{4},\ 4\text{-ClC}_{6}\text{H}_{4},\ 4\text{-FC}_{6}\text{H}_{4},\ 3\text{-NO}_{2}\text{C}_{6}\text{H}_{4}, \\ \hline 4\text{-NO}_{2}\text{C}_{6}\text{H}_{4},\ 3\text{-CF}_{3}\text{C}_{6}\text{H}_{4};\ \text{Ar}^{2} = \text{Ph},\ ^{t}\text{Bu}\text{C}_{6}\text{H}_{4} \end{array}$$

An efficient synthesis of the phytoestrogen 8-prenylnaringenin from xanthohumol by a novel demethylation process

pp 6961-6966

Heike Wilhelm and Ludger A. Wessjohann*



pp 6926-6944

pp 6945-6954

pp 6955-6960

6725

()+

Reaction of 4-methyl, 4-phenyl, and 4-hydrogen substituted 1-lithio-1,3-butadienes with aldehydes: pp 6967-6972 preparation of multiply substituted cyclopentadienes

Zhihui Wang, Hongyun Fang and Zhenfeng Xi*



'Two-point'-bound supramolecular complexes from semi-rigidified dipyridine receptors and zinc porphyrins

Chang-Zhi Li, Jiang Zhu, Zong-Quan Wu, Jun-Li Hou, Chuang Li, Xue-Bin Shao, Xi-Kui Jiang, Zhan-Ting Li,* Xiang Gao and Quan-Rui Wang*



New antitumor sesquiterpenoids from Santalum album of Indian origin Tae Hoon Kim, Hideyuki Ito,* Tsutomu Hatano, Junko Takayasu, Harukuni Tokuda, Hoyoku Nishino,

Takahisa Machiguchi and Takashi Yoshida



Synthesis of short and long chain cardiolipins

Shoukath M. Ali, Moghis U. Ahmad, Peter Koslosky, Krishnudu Kasireddy, U. Murali Krishna and Imran Ahmad*



pp 6973-6980

pp 6981-6989

pp 6990-6997

Jeffrey Marrero, Claudia A. Ospina, Abimael D. Rodríguez,* Peter Baran, Hong Zhao, Scott G. Franzblau and Eduardo Ortega-Barria



C-4' Truncated carbocyclic formycin derivatives

Jian Zhou, Minmin Yang, Akin Akdag and Stewart W. Schneller*



Theoretical study of the regioselectivity of the cycloaddition reaction between cyclopentadiene and pp 7014–7020 methyleneketene

Yinghong Sheng and Jerzy Leszczynski*



Structure of pyrimidinocyclophanes in solution by NMR Leisan Galiullina, Anton Nikolaev, Vyacheslav Semenov, Vladimir Reznik and Shamil Latypov^{*}



pp 6998-7008

pp 7009-7013

pp 7021-7033

Formation of benzylamines from triazene compounds via a 1,2-proton shift Keiji Nishiwaki,* Takashi Ogawa, Kazumi Shigeta, Koichi Takahashi and Keizo Matsuo* pp 7034–7042



Intramolecular 1,2-Proton shift (Possible path)

Synthesis, properties, and hepatic metabolism of strongly fluorescent fluorodipyrrinones Stefan E. Boiadjiev, Zachary R. Woydziak, Antony F. McDonagh and David A. Lightner^{*} pp 7043-7055



Fluorinated *N*,*N*'-carbonyl-bridged dipyrrinones, synthesized and found to be highly fluorescent ($\phi_F 0.4-0.6$) are potential ¹⁹F MRI and fluorescence imaging agents for probing hepatic metabolism.

Synthetic study of hetisine-type aconite alkaloids. Part 1: Preparation of tetracyclic intermediate pp 7056–7070 containing the C14–C20 bond

Hideaki Muratake* and Mitsutaka Natsume*



Synthetic study of hetisine-type aconite alkaloids. Part 2: Preparation of hexacyclic compound lacking pp 7071–7092 the C-ring of the hetisan skeleton

Hideaki Muratake* and Mitsutaka Natsume*



Cbz

(±)-Nominine

Synthetic study of hetisine-type aconite alkaloids. Part 3: Total synthesis of (±)-nominine Hideaki Muratake,* Mitsutaka Natsume* and Hiroshi Nakai

Direct synthesis of tetrahydropyrans via one-pot Babier–Prins cyclization of allylbromide withpp 7113–7120carbonyl compounds promoted by RTILs BPyX/SnX'2 or BBIMBr/SnBr2Xian-Liang Zhao, Li Liu,* Yong-Jun Chen and Dong Wang*Xian-Liang Zhao, Li Liu,* Yong-Jun Chen and Dong Wang*



Reactions of some anellated 2-aminothiophenes with electron poor acetylenes Emmanuel Sopbué Fondjo,* Dietrich Döpp and Gerald Henkel





Synthesis of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates based on a 'cyclization/hydrogenation/enzymatic kinetic resolution' strategy

pp 7132-7139

Esen Bellur, Ilia Freifeld, Dominique Böttcher, Uwe T. Bornscheuer and Peter Langer*



pp 7093-7112

*Corresponding author (**)**⁺ Supplementary data available via ScienceDirect



Full text of this journal is available, on-line from ScienceDirect. Visit www.sciencedirect.com for more information.

Indexed/Abstracted in: AGRICOLA, Beilstein, BIOSIS Previews, CAB Abstracts, Chemical Abstracts. Current Contents: Life Sciences, Current Contents: Physical, Chemical and Earth Sciences, Current Contents Search, Derwent Drug File, Ei compendex, EMBASE/Excerpta Medica, Medline, PASCAL, Research Alert, Science Citation Index, SciSearch



ISSN 0040-4020



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6731-6747

Tetrahedron report number 761

Recent advances in the chemistry of triaryl- and triheteroarylmethanes

Vijay Nair,* Siji Thomas, Smitha C. Mathew and K. G. Abhilash

Organic Chemistry Division, Regional Research Laboratory (CSIR), Trivandrum, India

Received 10 April 2006 Available online 30 May 2006

Contents

 Chemistry of triarylmethanes TAM radicals TAM carbenium ions TAM dyes TAM dyes Leucohydroxides and leucocyanides Triarylmethanol derivatives TAM in polymer chemistry 	6731						
 2.1. TAM radicals	6732						
 2.2. TAM carbenium ions 2.3. TAM dyes 2.4. Heterocyclic dyes 2.5. Leucohydroxides and leucocyanides 2.6. Triarylmethanol derivatives 2.7. TAM in polymer chemistry 	6732						
 2.3. TAM dyes 2.4. Heterocyclic dyes 2.5. Leucohydroxides and leucocyanides 2.6. Triarylmethanol derivatives 2.7. TAM in polymer chemistry 	6732						
 2.4. Heterocyclic dyes	6733						
 2.5. Leucohydroxides and leucocyanides 2.6. Triarylmethanol derivatives	6734						
2.6. Triarylmethanol derivatives	6735						
2.7. TAM in polymer chemistry	6735						
I J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J	6736						
2.8. Miscellaneous	6737						
2.9. Synthesis	6737						
2.10. Reactions of TAM derivatives	6739						
2.11. Stereochemistry	6739						
3. Symmetric triheteroarylmethanes	6739						
3.1. Tri-2-thienylmethane	6739						
3.1.1. Trithienylmethyl radicals	6740						
3.1.2. Tri-2-thienylmethyl cation and tri-2-thienylmethyl anion	6740						
3.1.3. Electrophilic substitution reactions	6742						
3.2. Tri-2-furylmethane	6742						
3.2.1. Reactions of tri-2-furylmethane	6743						
3.3. Triindolylmethane	6744						
4. Conclusions	6744						
References and notes							
Biographical sketch	6747						

1. Introduction

Triarylmethanes (TAMs) have attracted the attention of many scientists mainly because of the interesting properties associated with their derivatives. The versatility of TAM is clear from their high end applications. For instance, simple triarylmethanes have been reported to be active against intestinal helminths, filariae, trichomonads, and trypanosomes¹ and the phenol derivatives of TAM have been known to exhibit antioxidant properties, antitumor activity, and inhibitory activity toward histidine protein kinase.²

Keywords: Triarylmethanes; Triheteroarylmethanes.

Abbreviations: År, aryl; Bt, benzotriazolyl; CAN, cerium(IV) ammonium nitrate; DDQ, 2,3-dichloro-5,6-dicyano-1,4-benzoquinone; DME, 1,2-dimethoxyethane; DMSO, dimethylsulfoxide; ISC, inter system crossing; INDO, intermediate neglect of differential overlap; LAH, lithium aluminum hydride; LDA, lithium diisopropylamide; NBS, *N*-bromosuccinimide; NLO, non-linear optical; OTf, triflate; PTSA, *p*-toluenesulfonic acid; PPA, polyphosphoric acid; TFA, trifluoroacetic acid; TMEDA, *N*,*N*,*N'*,*N'*-tetramethylethylenediamine; TMS, trimethylsilyl; binap, 2,2'-bis(diphenyl-phosphino)-1,1'-binaphthyl.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +91 471 2490406; fax: +91 471 2471712; e-mail: vijaynair_2001@yahoo.com

The acid-labile nature of the trityl group made it a celebrated protecting group for nucleosides, carbohydrates, etc.³ The well-known dyes generated from TAM including Crystal Violet, Malachite Green, Sunset Orange, Pararosanilin, Victoria Blue, etc. (Fig. 1) exhibit stable quinoid structures.⁴ Malachite Green has long been used to control the fungal and protozoan infections in fish⁵ and it shows selective phototoxicity toward tumor cells.⁶



Figure 1.

TAM leucocyanides and dyes are useful in many photochemical reactions.⁷ TAM derived from pyrene and terephthalaldehyde are used in polymer chemistry and they possess ferromagnetic properties. In addition, these molecules are potential synthons for the construction of complex three-dimensional network systems. Three known heterocyclic analogs of TAM are tri-2-thienylmethane, tri-2-furylmethane, and triindolylmethane (Fig. 2) and their chemistry has been investigated to some extent.



Figure 2.

The present report is aimed at highlighting the recent chemistry of triarylmethanes and at serving as a pointer to their diverse applications. The main aspects covered in the first part are the literature on triphenylmethyl radicals and cations, especially their synthesis and reactions. An account of TAM dyes and TAM leuco-derivatives is also provided in this part. Since the photochemical and photophysical aspects of TAM dyes were reviewed earlier,⁸ such details have been excluded from this review. In the second part, the chemistry of symmetric triheteroarylmethanes like tri-2-thienylmethane, tri-2-furylmethane, and triindolylmethane is discussed.

2. Chemistry of triarylmethanes

2.1. TAM radicals

The experimental demonstration of the existence of the triphenylmethyl radical **2** by Gomberg is a milestone in the development of mechanistic organic chemistry.⁹ The radical, prepared by the action of zinc powder on triphenylmethyl chloride **1** (Scheme 1), was shown to be stable for weeks in the dry crystalline state. The dimer of the triphenylmethyl radical was thought to be hexaphenylethane **3**, which was later disproved by the establishment of its correct quinoid structure **4** by Lankamp et al.^{10–12} The trityl radical reacts readily with oxygen, yielding the corresponding peroxide and, with iodine, it forms the iodotriarylmethane. The peroxide on exposure to sulfuric acid is transformed into the triarylmethanol.⁹



Scheme 1. (i) Zn/Ag.

Later, Gomberg prepared a radical more stable than **2** by substituting –OR groups on the phenyl rings.¹³

2.2. TAM carbenium ions

Trityl halides were the first source of stable carbocations and, later, tritylcarbinols were found to be more useful for the generation of carbocations.¹⁴ Breslow et al. have investigated carbenium ions of the type **5**, with more than one group available for interaction with the cationic center (Fig. 3).¹⁵ Substituents X contain heteroatoms that can coordinate to the cationic center in a process called intramolecular solvation, while substituents Y can offer resonance stabilization to the carbocation. Carbenium ions required for the studies were prepared from the corresponding carbinols, which in turn, were obtained by the reaction of lithiobenzene derivatives with benzophenone, ethyl benzoate or diethyl carbonate.

NMR and ultraviolet spectroscopy, pK_R + measurements, and quenching studies of a series of such TAM cations with potentially coordinating side chains in the *ortho*



 $X = CH_2$ -S-Me, CH_2 -O-Me etc. Y = OMe, N(Me)₂, SMe etc.

Figure 3.

position have shown two types of ions, viz., those in which side chains are completely uncoordinated with the cation and those in which cyclization occurred with the side chain. The decomposition reaction of a solution of (*o*-methoxy-methyl)triphenylmethyl cation **6** results in the formation of α, α -diphenyldihydroisobenzofuran **7**. This, on further treatment with acid, gets converted into 9-phenylanthracene **8**, thus exemplifying side-chain cyclization (Scheme 2).



Scheme 2.

Triarylmethanols bearing *o*-methoxy groups on the phenyl ring were synthesized by Wada, and the reduction of the corresponding cation was investigated in various alcohols.¹⁶ The high basicity of triarylmethane with additional methoxy groups at the *ortho* and *para* positions is explained by through-space interactions of a pair of 2p electrons of an *o*-methoxy oxygen with the empty 2p orbital of the resulting carbocation.

Wada et al. have also investigated the aromatic nucleophilic substitution of triarylcarbenium ions of the type **9** [(4-YC₆H₄)C Φ_2]⁺ where Φ =2,6-(OMe)₂C₆H₃; Y=OMe, NMe₂, Cl, OH.¹⁷ Depending on the reaction conditions, the carbenium salts gave different products (**10–17**, Scheme 3). Arnett et al. have investigated the thermodynamic stability of such carbocations in sulfolane.¹⁸

2.3. TAM dyes

The photochemical and photophysical properties of triphenylmethane dyes in solid and liquid media were reviewed by Duxbury.⁸ The photochemical reactivity of triphenylmethane dyes is both complex and interesting and has captured the attention of many scientists. These dyes have been considered as promising candidates in textile industry because of their brilliant colors and high tinctorial strength. They are found to be useful in laser spectroscopy as saturable mode absorbers for mode locking, because of their low fluorescence yield and fast non-radiative decay.



Y, Z = H, OMe, OEt, Cl, Me₂N, Et₂N, OH, NHMe, NHEt, NH^tBu

Scheme 3. (i) $+H^+$; (ii) $+OH^-$; (iii) $+RCH_2OH$, -RCHO; (iv) H_2O ; (v) +HZ; (v') +HY; (vi) $-H^+$; (vii) $+H^+$; (viii) $+NRH_2$; (ix) $-H^+$; (x) $+H^+$.

The TAM dyes exhibit interesting spectral features, consequent to their structure and their interaction with the physical and chemical environment (concentration of the dye, pH of the solution, pressure, temperature, variation in the counter anion etc.). It was found that such dyes show two types of absorption bands, viz. x- and y-band, where the x-band corresponds to the promotion of an electron from the nonbonding orbital to the lowest antibonding orbital, resulting in a high electron density on the central carbon atom, while the y-band arises from the excitation of an electron from the second highest occupied bonding orbital to the lowest vacant orbital.

The fluorescence lifetime of TAM dyes in a low-viscosity medium is typically in the picosecond range as a consequence of the fast relaxation process that occurs via rotational motions of the aryl rings.¹⁹ In the context of the search for new sensitizers for photodynamic therapy, Baptista et al. have studied the effect of biological host bovine serum albumin (BSA) on Ethyl Violet (EV) fluorescence at 20 °C (pH~7.3).²⁰ The BSA binding sites were very efficient in preventing the free rotor motion in the dye, as indicated by an increment in EV fluorescence as a function of BSA concentration. It is observed that, in addition to a singlet and a triplet state, this process involves a twisted intermediate charge-transfer state (TICT). The proposed mechanism involves a two-electron process that can account for the formation of the products 23 and 25 (Scheme 4).

Sengupta et al. have used New Fuchsin (27), a cheap commercial dye for the synthesis of a tritolan dendron 29, based on tetraphenylmethane scaffold (Scheme 5).²¹ Energy transfer studies were carried out with the dendrimer 29, in which the tolan part is the donor moiety and the anthracene core, the acceptor.

Screttas and co-workers synthesized a series of TAM dyes based on the stilbenyl group and, because these are nonlinear chromophores, such dyes exhibited second-order



Scheme 4.

NLO properties.²² Carbinols were obtained by the reaction of stilbenyllithium with ketones, ethyl benzoate or diethyl carbonate and the transformation into the corresponding cations was affected by dissolving the carbinols in TFA (Scheme 6).



Scheme 6.

Clayton et al. have synthesized TAM dyes containing a 2H-1-benzopyran unit and the spectral parameters of these dyes were similar to that of the naphthyl derivative of Malachite Green.²³ Compound **33** was obtained by the reaction of lithiochromenes with 4,4'-bis(dimethylamino)benzophenone and subsequent treatment with acids (Scheme 7).



Scheme 7. (i) BuLi, TMEDA, Et₂O; (ii) (4-NMe₂C₆H₄)₂CO; (iii) H⁺.

2.4. Heterocyclic dyes

The method for the synthesis of dyes incorporating heterocycles like thiophene involves the condensation of substituted thiophene aldehydes with dimethylaniline in the presence of anhydrous ZnCl₂, forming leuco-bases, which on oxidation afford the corresponding dyes (Scheme 8).^{24,25}







The dyes could be isolated as crystals and the absorption spectra of such dyes also showed three principal bands, as in the case of the triphenylmethane dyes, viz. x-, y-, and x'-band. Substitution of the phenyl group of Malachite Green with thiophene shifts the y-band toward red, which may be attributed to the electron-releasing nature of the thiophene ring, compared to the phenyl ring. It was observed that, when the basicity of the nitrogen atoms increases, the absorption frequency is lowered. Dyes of the similar category containing thianaphthalene were also synthesized and investigated by Ghaisas and co-workers.²⁶ Thianaphthalene—Malachite Green also exhibited a similar bathochromic shift of the x-band.

2.5. Leucohydroxides and leucocyanides

By the use of suitable photocleavable compounds, the laserinduced pH jump technique can be used for the generation of a proton or hydroxide-ion pulse, which in turn, can be used for the study of chemical and biochemical processes. Triphenylmethane leuco-derivatives are well-known photochromic molecules, which dissociate into ion pairs under UV irradiation with the production of the intensely colored triphenylmethyl cation. Irie et al. have selected TAM leucohydroxide as the hydroxide-ion emitter in the laser-induced pH jump technique.^{27,28} In order to overcome the insolubility in water, quaternary ammonium salts or sulfonate groups were introduced on the molecule (Fig. 4). On irradiation, the pH of the solution increased, because of the ejection of hydroxide ions from the excited TAM leucohydroxide.





Holmes showed that photoionization of the leucocyanides of Malachite Green, Crystal Violet, and Sunset Orange occurs only in a solvent with high dielectric constant.²⁹ Non-acid-sensitive color formers for photochemically cured, cationic polymers were developed by Malpert et al. by making use of the fact that the leuconitriles undergo heterolytic cleavage of the cyanide moiety upon irradiation with UV light, forming the colored cation (Scheme 9).³⁰ By suitably controlling the concentration or by changing the irradiation dose, leaving the substituents on the phenyl ring anionic, it is possible to tune the color formation.³¹ The effect of ring fluorination

on the absorption spectrum of Malachite Green was investigated by Hallas et al.³²





Recently, Noack et al. have shown that the heterocyclic analog of Michler's ketone could be efficiently employed for the synthesis of various heterocyclic Crystal Violet dyes (**48–54**, Scheme 10) and, according to theoretical studies, these molecules should display special NLO behavior.³³

2.6. Triarylmethanol derivatives

Triarylmethanol derivatives were studied extensively because of their photocleavable nature, which gives an intense color change on irradiation by UV–vis light, both in polar solvents and in the solid state.^{26,34,35} The clathrate-forming property of triarylmethanol derivatives with solvents like acetone, methanol, DMSO, dioxane, etc. is deemed to have application involving the concentration, separation, and purification of such solvents from industrial and environmental solutions and vapors.^{36,37} Triarylsilanol derivatives also possess such inclusion properties.^{38,39} Hayashi et al. have demonstrated that fluorine-substituted triarylmethanols exhibit properties different from those of the unsubstituted compounds because of the intermolecular C–F··· π interaction, which controls the structural packing motif and the thermal stability of the crystal through crystal structures.⁴⁰

Bacchi et al. have used the diol derivatives of general formula HOC–(Ar₂)–L–(Ar₂)–COH, where L is a suitable spacer, for the development of 'wheel-and-axle' systems (Fig. 5) utilizing the clathrating property of the triarylmethanols.⁴¹ They showed that, by introducing a metal center into the spacer, the coordination of the metal at the peripheral region of the TAM molecules could control the electronic properties of the chromophore. They selected Ag(LOH)₂(OTf)(MeCN), which was prepared by reacting LOH with excess Ag(OTf). It was shown that the metal is coordinated to two pyridine rings of the LOH group and two OH groups are connected through the SO₂ group via hydrogen bonding (OH···O–S–O···HO).

Gibson et al. have shown that alcohol-, halide-, phenol-, aniline-, and carboxylic acid-functionalized TAM can serve as blocking end units in rotaxanes and polyrotaxanes.⁴² Two different approaches were employed for the introduction of the spacer into various TAM derivatives. In the first approach via a carbanion, the carbinols were reduced to TAM quantitatively and the anions generated with *n*-butyllithium were alkylated with chloro-alcohols, affording the ω,ω,ω -triarylalcohols. In the second approach, the triarylmethyl cation derived from the triarylcarbinol or the chloride was subjected to electrophilic substitution reactions with phenols and aniline (Scheme 11).



Scheme 10.







Scheme 11. (i) H⁺, phenol; (ii) HCO₂H; (iii) *n*-BuLi; Br(CH₂)₁₀Br.

2.7. TAM in polymer chemistry

Ota's group has developed a thermosetting condensed polynuclear aromatic (COPNA) resin composed of a TAM structure by heating a mixture of a polycyclic aromatic compound and an aromatic aldehyde in the presence of an acid catalyst, as shown in Scheme 12.⁴³



Scheme 12.

When the synthesis was carried out in a magnetic field, the resulting resin exhibited ferromagnetic properties with excellent reproducibility.⁴⁴ For instance, compound **66**' in Figure 6, which has ferromagnetic properties, was synthesized by heating a mixture of terephthalaldehyde and pyrene with 5 wt % of PTSA at 130–140 °C under a magnetic field of 440 G for 1 h.



Figure 6.

Polymeric Malachite Green derivatives show complexing ability toward K⁺, Cs⁺, Li⁺, and Na⁺ ions and it has been shown that the complexation can be controlled photochemically.⁴⁵ Bis-crowned Malachite Green copolymers with styrene and methyl methacrylate as co-monomers and N,N-dimethylacrylamide and 4-hydroxymethylstyrene as hydrophobic co-monomers were synthesized and studied with respect to their metal-ion-complexing ability. The properties of the polymer having a bis-crowned Malachite Green moiety exhibited a substantial difference from the corresponding monomeric analog. The decoloration reaction of the photocationic form was found to be governed by the rheology of the polymer in solution.⁴⁶

2.8. Miscellaneous

In addition to the applications mentioned above, the trityl group serves as an excellent protective group used in nucleoside, oligonucleoside, peptide, and carbohydrate chemistry.⁴⁷ Trityl groups are utilized in multistep syntheses on solid phase, mostly as linkers, and they have found application in medicinal chemistry. Prodrugs with trityl-protected nucleosides were developed and their site-selective delivery was tested in vivo against tumor cells.⁴⁸ Because of their easy-ionizing properties, trityl cations can additionally act as a tool for mass-spectrometric analysis.⁴⁹

2.9. Synthesis

Two basic approaches to trityl synthesis are (i) the Grignard reaction of various carbonyl compounds like benzophenone, methyl benzoate, etc. and (ii) the aromatic electrophilic substitution reaction in acidic media.^{3,50} The alcohol can either be converted into the halogenated compound or into the alkyl ether. Symmetric TAMs were prepared by the treatment of electrophilic reagents such as triethyl orthoformate or chloroform with arene nucleophiles (Scheme 13).⁵¹

Panda and co-workers have recently reported an efficient synthesis of unsymmetrical triarylmethanes by Friedel–Crafts reaction of aromatic nucleophiles with heteroaryl carbinols.⁵² Werbel et al. have reported a facile method for the synthesis of triarylmethane **73** by the catalytic hydrogenation of the diaryl ketone **71** and the subsequent treatment of the carbinol with aryl amines and HCl (Scheme 14).⁵³



Scheme 13. (i) PhMgBr, (ii) BuLi, bromobenzene; (iii) PbO/MeCO₂H, DDO; (iv) MeCO₂H, H₂SO₄, benzene; (v) ROH/H⁺; (vi) RCOX; (vii) R₂NLi; (viii) ROH/base; (ix) CCl₃X/AlCl₃(R=alkyl).



Scheme 14.

A simple, direct, and high-yielding Friedel–Crafts synthesis of highly chlorinated aryl-, diaryl-, and triarylmethanes was reported by Ballaster et al.⁵⁴ This involves the condensation reaction between chloroform and the chlorinated benzene, affected using AlCl₃ at a temperature ranging from 70 to 150 °C (Scheme 15). It was observed that, according to the amount of halogenated benzene, yields of the products varied. Compounds like **76** and **77** are valuable chemical precursors of inert free radicals.



Scheme 15. (i) AlCl₃, 70–150 °C.

Katritzky et al. have developed three synthetic routes to access asymmetric TAM: (a) reaction of a benzhydrol with an electron-rich aromatic compound, (b) direct condensation of an aromatic aldehyde with electron-rich arenes, and (c) displacement of benzotriazolyl derivatives by Grignard reagents (Scheme 16).⁵⁵



Scheme 16. (i) Concd HCl, H₂O/MeOH; (ii) concd H₂SO₄, urea, 90 °C.

Recently, a combination of 1-benzenesulfonyl benzotriazole and an aromatic aldehyde has been used in a new protocol for the synthesis of asymmetric TAM (Scheme 17).⁵⁶



Scheme 17. (i) N,N-Dimethylaniline; (ii) ZnCl₂, CH₂Cl₂.

Katritzky's group has reported the synthesis of (*p*-nitroaryl)diarylmethane, a compound, which has attracted attention because of the easy reduction of the nitro group to an amino group and its subsequent transformations. In this new method, diarylmethanols were treated with benzotriazole under acid catalysis in the presence of perfluorocarbon fluids and, subsequently, with nitrobenzene.⁵⁷ Diarylmethylbenzotriazoles are highly nucleophilic in the presence of strong bases and hence react with electron-poor arenes efficiently (Scheme 18).

The selective condensation of oxophilic metal phenolates with an aromatic aldehyde at the *ortho* position of the starting phenol has been utilized in the synthesis of a 2,2'-dihydroxytriphenylmethane, another TAM derivative (Scheme 19).⁵⁸

Recently, we have shown that electron-rich arenes can be efficiently condensed with aldehydes under the catalytic influence of AuCl₃/AgOTf (Scheme 20).⁵⁹



Scheme 18. (i) BtH; (ii) t-BuOK; (iii) nitrobenzene; (iv) t-BuOK; (v) H⁺.



Scheme 19. (i) CH₂Cl₂, reflux.



Scheme 20. (i) 1 mol % [AuCl₃/3AgOTf], MeCN, argon, 50 °C, 85%.

Triarylmethanes are formed, albeit in low yields, in the alkyl radical addition to a mixture of ketone and aniline (Scheme 21).⁶⁰



Scheme 21. (i) PhN₂⁺, Ti(III); (ii) H⁺, H₂O.

Tri-(2-alkoxy-5-ureido-phenyl)methanes were prepared by the acid-catalyzed condensation of 2-hydroxy-5-nitro-benzaldehyde with a two-fold excess of *p*-nitrophenol. The product was *O*-alkylated and subsequent reduction of the nitro group by catalytic hydrogenation and amidation led to the compound **107** (Scheme 22). A single-crystal X-ray analysis of the compound **106** showed that it had a three-bladed propeller conformation in which both the *O*-alkyl group and the amide functionality were found in a *syn* arrangement relative to each other.⁶¹

Esquivias et al. have recently reported an efficient synthesis of di- and triarylmethanes involving an aza-Friedel–Crafts reaction of N-(2-pyridyl)sulfonyl aldimines catalyzed by a Cu(OTf)₂/binap system (Scheme 23).⁶²



Scheme 22. (i) H_2SO_4 , 155 °C; (ii) YBr, K_2CO_3 , acetone; (iii) H_2 , Raney-Ni, THF/EtOH; (iv) RNCO, CH_2Cl_2 .



Scheme 23. (i) Cu(OTf)₂ (10 mol %), (\pm) binap (10 mol %), CH₂Cl₂, reflux; (ii) Ar³H, 40 °C, 20–120 min.

2.10. Reactions of TAM derivatives

Snyder and Konecky have demonstrated that tetraaminoaryl compounds like **108** undergo cyclization and subsequent aromatization to diaminoacridine derivative **109** on treatment with polyphosphoric acid at 165 °C (Scheme 24).⁶³



Scheme 24. (i) PPA, 165 °C; (ii) NaOH.

Zimmermann et al. have synthesized tetraphenylmethane by the condensation of triphenylmethyl chloride and aniline, followed by reductive elimination via diazotization and subsequent reduction of the azo compound (Scheme 25).⁶⁴



Scheme 25. (i) Aniline, 220 °C, neat; (ii) H_2SO_4 , $C_5H_{11}ONO$, DMF; (iii) aq H_3PO_2 .

Terao et al. have shown that a number of α , α -disubstituted arylmethanols react with aryl halides in the presence of palladium acetate to give biaryls. The reaction proceeds through a Pd(II) alcoholate intermediate **114**, which on

β-carbon elimination, furnishes the product (path b in Scheme 26). A competitive reaction is the *o*-C–H bond cleavage of the triarylmethanols (path a in Scheme 26). It has been revealed that hydroarylation of some unsaturated compounds like alkynes or α ,β-unsaturated compounds occurred when P(1-Naph)₃ is employed as the ligand in this reaction.⁶⁵ This reaction may also be utilized as a method for the deprotection of diaryl ketones.



L = PCy₃, P(o-tol)₃, P(1-Naph)₃



Scheme 26. (a) (i) Pd(OAc)₂, L, PhBr, Cs₂CO₃; (b) (i) Pd(OAc)₂, P(1-Naph)₃, PhBr, Cs₂CO₃.

2.11. Stereochemistry

Finocchiaro et al. have separated two diastereomers of the TAM of the type Ar_3Z (e.g., compound **120**, Fig. 7) with three different aryl groups lacking C₂ axes. The compound was prepared by the condensation reaction of 1-(2-methoxy-naphthyl)-1-(2-methylnaphthyl)methanol and 2,4,6-trimethoxytoluene in nitromethane with H₂SO₄ as the catalyst. The interconversion between the two forms is due to a one-ring-flip mechanism.⁶⁶ Variable temperature NMR studies also confirmed the presence of the diastereomers.



Figure 7.

3. Symmetric triheteroarylmethanes

3.1. Tri-2-thienylmethane

In the context of the wide-ranging applications of triphenylmethyl derivatives,⁴⁷ triheteroarylmethanes like tri-2thienylmethane **121** (Fig. 8), have attracted the attention of several chemists because of their potential applications. The thiophene derivative is expected to have wider applications in view of the ease of functionalization of thiophene at the C-2 position by either an electrophilic substitution reaction or lithiation followed by reaction with electrophiles. The potential use of thiophene as a synthon equivalent of *n*-butane via Raney-nickel reduction is also noteworthy.



Figure 8.

Noack et al. have synthesized several heterocyclic analogs of the trityl cation containing thiophene and thiazole rings.⁶⁷ For application in non-linear optics and conducting polymers, a series of thienylic and oligothienylic trityl analogs was prepared.⁶⁸

3.1.1. Trithienylmethyl radicals. Although the triphenylmethyl radical had been known since 1900, its heterocyclic analogs were brought to light only in 1968, by the detection of tri-2-thienyl- and tri-3-thienylmethyl radicals **122** and **123**, respectively (Fig. 9).⁶⁹



Figure 9.

Bernardi et al. have carried out an INDO study on the tri-2thienylmethyl radical, which proved that the radical exists as a pair of diastereomeric conformers, a cis form with C_3 symmetry and a trans form with C_1 symmetry, as shown in Figure 10.⁷⁰



Figure 10.

No structural proposal for the dimer of the tri-2-thienylmethyl radical was attempted until Nakayama et al. carried out some investigations on the dimerization of the radical in 1990. They reported the formation, structure elucidation, and interconversion of the two isomeric dimers of **124a** (Scheme 27).⁷¹ Based on extensive studies, the authors have concluded that the dimerization of the radical between the radical center and the sterically less-hindered 5-position of the 2-thienyl ring initially afforded the kinetically favored product **125**, which then thermally equilibrated to another dimer **126**.

3.1.2. Tri-2-thienylmethyl cation and tri-2-thienylmethyl anion. Taddei et al. in 1970 reported the proton NMR spectral parameters for the isomeric trithienylcarbenium ions,⁷² while their ¹³C NMR characteristics were investigated in some detail by Abarca et al. (Scheme 28).⁷³



Scheme 27. (i) Zn, DME, 65 °C.



Scheme 28.

The reactivity profile of the carbenium ion toward hydride and carbon nucleophiles was studied by Ishii et al. and it was observed that addition occurs not only at the carbenium ion center, but also on the thiophene ring.⁷⁴ Thus, the addition of LAH to an ethereal solution of tri-2-thienylcarbenium perchlorate **124b** at room temperature results in rapid hydride addition, both at the carbenium ion center and at the 5-position of the thiophene ring, affording the compounds **121** and **127** (Scheme 29).





In order to understand the reaction of carbon nucleophiles toward **124**, a variety of organometallic reagents have been employed. This reaction, giving rise to compounds **128**, **129**, and **130**, is illustrated in Scheme 30. As the alkyl group becomes bulky, addition at the central carbon becomes less prominent.



Scheme 30.

Deeply colored 5-methylmercapto- and 5-methylaminosubstituted tri-2-thienylmethinium perchlorates 134–137 were prepared by the reaction of 2-methylmercapto-5-lithiothiophene **131** with methyl 2-dimethylamino-5-thiophenecarboxylate **132**, bis(2-dimethylaminothiophen-5-yl)ketone **133** or diethyl carbonate and perchloric acid (Scheme 31).⁷⁵



Scheme 31. (i) 133; (ii) 132; (iii) (EtO)₂CO; (iv) C₄H₃SCO₂Me.

The synthetically and structurally important molecule, tetrakis(2-thienyl)methane **139**, was synthesized for the first time by Matsumoto et al. using sodium sulfide-induced cyclization of 5,5,5-tri-2-thienylpentadiyne **138**, which in turn, was obtained from tri-2-thienylmethyl cation **124a** (Scheme 32).⁷⁶



Nakayama et al. explored the reactivity of the corresponding anion, the tri-2-thienylmethyl anion **140**, toward carbon electrophiles.⁷⁷ They found that the optimum conditions for addition of electrophiles to the methine carbon involve the use of butyllithium (1.3 equiv) in the presence of TMEDA (1.5 equiv) in THF at -78 °C and subsequent addition of excess alkyl halide (5 equiv) to the red suspension of the anion formed (Scheme 33). Although the reaction of the



Scheme 33. (i) BuLi, TMEDA, THF, -78 °C; (ii) RBr.

tri-2-thienylmethyl anion with primary alkyl halides occurs exclusively at the carbanion center, its reaction with bulkier secondary and tertiary alkyl halides occurs both at the carbanion center and at the less-hindered thiophene ring.

The synthesis of cage molecules (e.g., compound **144**, Scheme 34) bicapped with tri-2-thienylmethane was achieved by Kurata et al. in 2001.⁷⁸ The target molecule was obtained via a McMurry coupling reaction of tri-5-formyl-2-thienylmethanes. All the sulfur atoms of the six thienyl groups are directed inwards and, hence, the molecule has a three-dimensional cavity, which can potentially encapsulate metal ions.



Scheme 34. (i) BuLi-THF, 0 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C};$ (ii) excess DMF; (iii) TiCl₄, Zn, Cul-DME, rt.

Compound **144** on further reaction led to the formation of the cage-molecular monocation **145**, dication **146**, and dianion **147** of substantial stability, the first examples of fully conjugated ionic cyclophane cage molecules (Fig. 11).⁷⁹

Oda et al. have synthesized hexaaryl-substituted trimethylenemethane dications and dianions extended with thiophene or benzene, which in turn, were prepared from the corresponding alcohols (Scheme 35).⁸⁰ These molecules have tetrapolar properties and long-wavelength absorption in the near-IR region. Thiophene-extended dications and dianions are stable, compared to benzene-extended dications, the latter being sensitive to acids.



Scheme 35. (i) LDA, Ar₂CO; (ii) H₂SO₄.

The dications were prepared by dissolving the alcohols **148** or **149** in CF_3CO_2H and a detailed NMR study revealed that the dication has tetrapolar properties. The corresponding



Figure 11.

anion was obtained from the dication by LAH reduction, followed by deprotonation using NaH (Scheme 36).



Scheme 36. (i) LAH; (ii) NaH, DMSO.

3.1.3. Electrophilic substitution reactions. Investigations by our group have shown that tri-2-thienylmethane underwent electrophilic substitution reactions such as Friedel–Crafts reaction, formylation reaction, bromination, and reactions with electrophilic carbenes (Scheme 37).⁸¹

3.2. Tri-2-furylmethane

Conventional methods for the synthesis of symmetric tri-2furylmethanes consist of the condensation of 2-furaldehyde with the corresponding furan substrates or the reaction between furan compounds and chloroform.⁸²

During the synthesis of the dioxolanium salt **161** from 2-[5-methylfur-2-yl]-1,3-dioxolane **162**, accidentally, Stroganova et al. have observed the formation of trifurylcarbenium perchlorate **163** in trace amounts (Scheme 38).⁸³



Scheme 38.

The probable mechanism for the formation of the product is shown in Scheme 39. In another attempt, Riad et al. have synthesized tri-2-furylmethane by the condensation of furfural with furan using macroporous ion-exchange resins as catalysts.⁸⁴

The influence of various acid catalysts on the selectivity of the reaction of furfural and ethylene glycol has been studied and it was concluded from the experimental observations that weakly acidic catalysts like ion-exchange resins favor the formation of the dioxolane **162**, while strong catalysts favor the formation of the trifurylmethane **171** (Scheme 40).

A similar strategy was employed for the synthesis of tri-(5-aryl-2-furyl)methanes **173**, which is important because of the fact that 2-arylfurans are not easily accessible by traditional methods (Scheme 41).



Scheme 37. (i) MeCOCl, AlCl₃; (ii) DMF, POCl₃; (iii) NBS; (iv) (CO₂Me)₂CN₂, Rh(II).



Scheme 39.



Scheme 40.



Scheme 41.

A similar conversion of a pyrrolic aldehyde is also known. When the pyrrolic aldehyde **174** was treated with ethylene glycol in the presence of catalytic amount of *p*-TsOH, the product obtained was tripyrrolylmethane **175**, instead of the expected acetal (Scheme 42).⁸⁵



Scheme 42.

A gold(III) chloride-promoted condensation can be effectively utilized for the synthesis of a range of symmetrical and unsymmetrical triheteroarylmethanes.⁵⁹ Thus, tri(5methylfur-2-yl)methane **171** was obtained in 90% yield by the condensation of 2-methylfuran with the corresponding aldehyde in presence of AuCl₃ (Scheme 43).



Scheme 43. (i) AuCl₃ (1 mol %), MeCN, argon, rt, 12 h, 93%.

Other heterocycles like indole, 2-methylthiophene, etc. also reacted efficiently under the above reaction conditions. A high-yield synthesis of complex molecules like **176** in one pot has been accomplished by the participation of poly-aldehydic substrates in this reaction (Fig. 12).



Figure 12.

Ciganek has reported the preparation of tri-2-furylmethylamine **177**, via the cerium-mediated addition to 2-cyanofuran (Scheme 44).⁸⁶



Scheme 44. (i) THF, -65 °C-rt.

3.2.1. Reactions of tri-2-furylmethane. In an experiment designed to synthesize a trisaldehyde of tri-2-furylmethane, serendipitously we observed the formation of 1,1-bisfuryl-1-[5-(tri-2-furylmethyl)]furylmethane **180**, a dimer of the tri-2-furylmethane radical (Scheme 45).⁸⁷

The reactivity of tri-2-furylmethane **178** toward a number of electrophilic reagents was investigated in detail. A Friedel–Crafts reaction on **178** afforded the tris-acetylated compound **181**, while formylation gave only monoaddition. Bromination with NBS under different conditions afforded the butenolide **183** with two bromofuran substituents. Reaction of **178** with electrophilic carbenes yielded cyclopropanated and α -substituted products. Similarly, attempts toward the synthesis of tri-2-furylmethyl bromide resulted in the formation of the furanone derivative **183** (Scheme 46).⁸¹



Scheme 45. (i) BuLi, TMEDA, THF, -78 °C; (ii) DMF.



Scheme 46. (i) MeCOCl, $AlCl_3$; (ii) DMF, $POCl_3$; (iii) NBS; (iv) $(CO_2Me)_2CN_2$, Rh(II).

3.3. Triindolylmethane

Triindolylmethanes were usually prepared by the reaction of indoles with the corresponding aldehyde or with triethyl or-thoformate.^{88–90} Avendano et al. have synthesized tris-[(1,3-dimethyl)-2-indolyl]methanol by the reaction of the 2-lithio derivative of 1,3-dimethylindole with diethyl carbonate (Scheme 47).⁹¹



Scheme 47. (i) BuLi, (EtO)₂CO.

Chakrabarty et al. have developed a clay-mediated ecofriendly route toward symmetrical and unsymmetrical triindolylmethanes.^{92,93} Recently, Jun et al. have shown that solid acids would also catalyze the condensation reaction efficiently.⁹⁴ A high-yield synthesis of triindolylmethanes as well as their *N*-acetyl derivatives was reported by Li et al. The reaction involved treatment of indoles with indole aldehydes in presence of acetic acid and acetic anhydride (Scheme 48).⁹⁵ The cytotoxic properties of these compounds were also reported by the same authors.



Scheme 48. (i) MeCO₂H, (MeCO)₂O.

Cerium(IV) ammonium nitrate has been shown to be an efficient catalyst for the synthesis of di- and triindolyl-methanes in high yields (Scheme 49).⁹⁶



Scheme 49. (i) CAN, MeCN, rt.

Triindolylmethane with trityl perchlorate or FeCl₃ oxidation gave the corresponding triindolyl cation, which was reversibly converted into the carbinol by treatment with alkali.^{97,98} Because of the steric bulk and heterocyclic nature, 2,2',2"triindolylmethane was used as a good ligand for monometallic complexation, which in turn, would increase the Lewis acidity at the metal centers.⁹⁹

4. Conclusions

Triaryl- and triheteroarylmethanes have found wide-ranging applications in different areas of chemistry. The classical dyestuff chemistry relies mainly on the triarylmethyl core, whereas the trityl group represents an important protective group for a range of functionalities. The medicinal applications of TAM derivatives are also well documented. Again, the photolabile nature of TAM leuco-derivatives made them useful in many photodevices. The present report gives an overview of the major synthetic routes to TAM derivatives, along with an account of their potential applications and reactions. From the ongoing discussion, it is clear that the chemistry of triaryl- and triheteroarylmethanes is witnessing a rapid growth. The development of novel synthetic methodologies enabling higher conversions under mild reaction conditions will definitely provide an added momentum to research in this area. It is anticipated that the present report will attract the attention of many scientists toward the potential applications of triaryl- and triheteroarylmethanes and will lead to important developments in this area.

References and notes

- Schnitzer, R. J.; Hawking, F. *Experimental Chemotherapy*; Academic: New York, NY, 1963; Vol. I.
- Yamato, M.; Hashigaki, K.; Yasumoto, Y.; Sakai, J.; Luduena, R. F.; Banerjee, A.; Tsukagoshi, S.; Tashiro, T.; Tsuruo, T. *J. Med. Chem.* **1987**, *30*, 1897–1900.

- Shchepinov, M. S.; Korshun, V. A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2003, 32, 170–180 and references cited therein.
- 4. Rys, P.; Zollinger, H. Fundamentals of the Chemistry and Application of Dyes; Wiley-Interscience: New York, NY, 1972.
- (a) Culp, S. J.; Beland, F. A. J. Am. Coll. Toxicol. 1996, 15, 219–238; (b) Alderman, D. J. J. Fish Dis. 1985, 8, 289– 298; (c) Cho, B. P.; Yang, T.; Blankenship, L. R.; Moody, J. D.; Churchwell, M.; Beland, F. A.; Culp, S. J. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 2003, 16, 285–294.
- Kandela, I. K.; Bartlett, J. A.; Indig, G. L. Photochem. Photobiol. Sci. 2002, 1, 309–314.
- Aldag, R. *Photochromism: Molecules and Systems*; Dürr, H., Bouas-Laurent, H., Eds.; Elsevier: London, 1990.
- 8. Duxbury, D. F. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 381-433.
- 9. Gomberg, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1900, 22, 757-771.
- Lankamp, H.; Nauta, W. Th.; MacLean, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1968, 9, 249–254.
- 11. McBride, J. M. Tetrahedron 1974, 30, 2009-2022.
- 12. Volz, H.; Lotsch, W.; Schnell, H.-W. *Tetrahedron* **1970**, *26*, 5343–5352.
- (a) Gomberg, M.; Nishida, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1923, 45, 190–207; (b) Gomberg, M.; Buchler, C. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1923, 45, 207–222.
- (a) Deno, N. C.; Jaruzelski, J. J.; Schriesheim, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1955, 77, 3044–3051; (b) Deno, N. C.; Evans, W. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 5804–5807; (c) Arnett, E. M.; Bushick, R. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1964, 86, 1564–1571; (d) Gomberg, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1900, 22, 757–771.
- (a) Breslow, R.; Garratt, S.; Kaplan, L.; LaFollette, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 4051–4055; (b) Breslow, R.; Kaplan, L.; LaFollette, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 4056–4064.
- (a) Wada, M.; Mishima, H.; Watanabe, T.; Natsume, S.; Konishi, H.; Hayase, S.; Erabi, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1462–1463; (b) Wada, M.; Mishima, H.; Watanabe, T.; Natsume, S.; Konishi, H.; Kirishima, K.; Hayase, S.; Erabi, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1995, 68, 243–249.
- Wada, M.; Watanabe, T.; Natsume, S.; Mishima, H.; Kirishima, K.; Erabi, T. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1995**, *68*, 3233–3240.
- Arnett, E. M.; Flowers, R. A.; Ludwig, R. T.; Meekhof, A. E.; Walek, S. A. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 1997, 10, 499–513.
- (a) Sundström, V.; Gillbro, T.; Bergström, H. Chem. Phys. 1982, 73, 439–458; (b) Babendure, J. R.; Adams, S. R.; Tsien, R. Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 14716–14717.
- 20. Baptista, M.; Indig, G. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1791-1792.
- 21. Sengupta, S.; Purkayastha, P. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2003, 1, 436–440.
- 22. Arbez-Gindre, C.; Screttas, C. G.; Fiorini, C.; Schmidt, C.; Nunzi, J.-M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 7413–7416.
- Clayton, S. E.; Guinot, S. G. R.; Hepworth, J. D.; Wainwright, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 2000, 263–269.
- 24. Mason, C. D.; Nord, F. F. J. Org. Chem. 1951, 16, 722-727.
- 25. Mason, C. D.; Nord, F. F. J. Org. Chem. 1952, 17, 778-785.
- Ghaisas, V. V.; Kane, B. J.; Nord, F. F. J. Org. Chem. 1958, 23, 560–565.
- 27. Irie, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 2078-2079.
- Irie, M.; Hirano, Y.; Hashimoto, S.; Hayashi, K. Macromolecules 1981, 14, 262–267.
- 29. Holmes, E. O., Jr. J. Phys. Chem. 1966, 70, 1037-1046.
- Malpert, J. H.; Grinevich, O.; Strehmel, B.; Jarikov, V.; Mejiritski, A.; Neckers, D. C. *Tetrahedron* 2001, 57, 967–974.
- 31. Harris, L.; Kaminsky, J.; Simard, R. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1935, 57, 1151–1154.

- 32. Hallas, G.; Grocock, D. E.; Hepworth, J. D.; Jones, A. M. *Tetrahedron* **1972**, 28, 893–896.
- Noack, A.; Schröder, A.; Hartmann, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 3008–3011.
- 34. Norris, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1916, 38, 702-711.
- Abbruzzetti, S.; Carcelli, M.; Pelagatti, P.; Rogolino, D.; Viappiani, C. Chem. Phys. Lett. 2001, 344, 387–394.
- (a) Weber, E.; Skobridis, K.; Goldberg, I. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1195–1197; (b) Csöregh, I.; Gallardo, O.; Weber, E.; Dörpinghaus, N. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1994, 303–308.
- Csöregh, I.; Weber, E.; Nassimbeni, L. R.; Gallardo, O.; Dörpinghaus, N.; Ertan, A.; Bourne, S. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1993, 1775–1782.
- Bourne, S. A.; Nassimbeni, L. R.; Skobridis, K.; Weber, E. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 282–283.
- Bourne, S. A.; Johnson, L.; Marais, C.; Nassimbeni, L. R.; Weber, E.; Skobridis, K.; Toda, F. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1991, 1707–1713.
- Hayashi, N.; Mori, T.; Matsumoto, K. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1905–1906.
- 41. Bacchi, A.; Bosetti, E.; Carcelli, M.; Pelagatti, P.; Rogolino, D. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **2004**, 1985–1991.
- Gibson, H. W.; Lee, S.-H.; Engen, P. T.; Lecavalier, P.; Sze, J.; Shen, Y. X.; Bheda, M. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 3748–3756.
- 43. Ota, M.; Otani, S.; Kobayashi, K. Chem. Lett. 1989, 1175-1178.
- 44. Ota, M.; Otani, S. Chem. Lett. 1989, 1179–1182.
- (a) Kimura, K.; Kaneshige, M.; Yokoyama, M. *Chem. Mater.* 1995, 7, 945–950; (b) Kimura, K.; Mizutani, R.; Yokoyama, M.; Arakawa, R.; Matsubayashi, G.; Okamoto, M.; Doe, H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1997, *119*, 2062–2063.
- Kimura, K.; Yokota, G.; Yokoyama, M.; Uda, R. M. Macromolecules 2001, 34, 2262–2268.
- (a) Green, T. W.; Wuts, G. M. Protective Groups in Organic Synthesis, 3rd ed.; Wiley: New York, NY, 1999; (b) Stetsenko, D. A.; Lubyako, E. N.; Potapov, V. K.; Azhikima, T. L.; Sverdlov, E. D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 3571–3574.
- (a) Patel, V. F.; Hardin, J. N.; Starling, J. J.; Mastro, J. M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1995, 5, 507–512; (b) Patel, V. F.; Hardin, J. N.; Grindey, G. B.; Schultz, R. M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1995, 5, 513–518.
- (a) Shchepinov, M. S.; Chalk, R.; Southern, E. M. *Tetrahedron* 2000, 56, 2713–2724; (b) Shchepinov, M. S.; Korshun, V. A.; Egeland, R. D.; Southern, E. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2000, 41, 4943–4948.
- (a) Grüttner, C.; Böhmer, V.; Assmus, R.; Scherf, S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1995, 93–94; (b) Dinger, M. B.; Scott, M. J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 2467–2478; (c) Kelderman, E.; Starmans, W. A. J.; Van Duynhoven, J. P. M.; Verboom, W.; Engbersen, J. F. J.; Reinhoudt, D. N. Chem. Mater. 1994, 6, 412–417; (d) Pindur, U.; Flo, C. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1989, 26, 1563–1568.
- (a) Gomberg, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1900, 22, 752–757; (b) Casiraghi, G.; Casnati, G.; Cornia, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1973, 14, 679–682; (c) Bachmann, W. E.; Hauser, C. R.; Hudson, B. E., Jr. Org. Synth., Coll. Vol. 3, 1955, 841; Vol. 23, 1943, 100.
- Das, S. K.; Shagufta; Panda, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 3097–3102.
- Werbel, L. M.; Elslager, E. F.; Pearlman, W. M. J. Org. Chem. 1964, 29, 967–968.
- 54. Ballester, M.; Riera, J.; Castaner, J.; Rovira, C.; Armet, O. *Synthesis* **1986**, 64–66.

- 55. Muthyala, R.; Katritzky, A. R.; Lan, X. Dyes Pigments 1994, 25, 303–324.
- (a) Katritzky, A. R.; Gupta, V.; Garot, C.; Stevens, C. V.; Gordeev, M. F. *Heterocycles* **1994**, *38*, 345–356; (b) Katritzky, A. R.; Xie, L.; Fan, W.-Q. J. Org. Chem. **1993**, *58*, 4376–4381.
- Katritzky, A. R.; Toader, D. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 4137– 4141.
- Mibu, N.; Sumoto, K. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 2000, 48, 1810– 1813.
- Nair, V.; Abhilash, K. G.; Vidya, N. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5857– 5859.
- Cannella, R.; Clerici, A.; Pastori, N.; Regolini, E.; Porta, O. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 645–648.
- Rudzevich, Y.; Rudzevich, V.; Schollmeyer, D.; Thondorf, I.; Böhmer, V. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 613–616.
- 62. Esquivias, J.; Arrayas, R. G.; Carretero, J. C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 629–633.
- Snyder, H. R.; Konecky, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1958, 80, 4388–4390.
- 64. Zimmermann, T. J.; Müller, T. J. J. Synthesis 2002, 1157–1162.
- (a) Terao, Y.; Wakui, H.; Satoh, T.; Miura, M.; Nomura, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 10407–10408; (b) Terao, Y.; Wakui, H.; Nomoto, M.; Satoh, T.; Miura, M.; Nomura, M. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 5236–5243; (c) Terao, Y.; Nomoto, M.; Satoh, T.; Miura, M.; Nomura, M. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 6942–6944.
- Finocchiaro, P.; Gust, D.; Mislow, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 3198–3205.
- Noack, A.; Schröder, A.; Hartmann, H. Dyes Pigments 2002, 57, 131–147.
- (a) Cherioux, F.; Guyard, L.; Audebert, P. Adv. Mater. 1998, 10, 1013–1018; (b) Brasselet, S.; Cherioux, F.; Audebert, P.; Zyss, J. Chem. Mater. 1999, 11, 1915–1920.
- Mangini, A.; Pedulli, G. F.; Tiecco, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1968, 9, 4941–4944.
- Bernardi, F.; Guerra, M.; Pedulli, G. F.; Mislow, K. *Tetrahedron* 1976, 32, 951–953.
- Nakayama, J.; Ishii, A.; Yamada, Y.; Sugino, M.; Hoshino, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 2627–2630.
- Taddei, F.; Spagnolo, P.; Tiecco, M. Org. Magn. Reson. 1970, 2, 159–164.
- 73. (a) Abarca, B.; Asensio, G.; Ballesteros, R.; Luna, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1986**, *27*, 5657–5660; (b) Abarca, B.; Asensio, G.; Ballesteros, R.; Varea, T. J. Org. Chem. **1991**, *56*, 3224–3229; (c) Fabian, J.; Hartmann, H.; Noack, A. J. Phys. Org. Chem. **2003**, *16*, 53–62.
- 74. Ishii, A.; Nakayama, J.; Endo, Y.; Hoshino, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 2623–2626.
- 75. Noack, A.; Hartmann, H. Chem. Lett. 2002, 644-645.
- Matsumoto, K.; Nakaminami, H.; Sogabe, M.; Kurata, H.; Oda, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 3049–3052.
- Nakayama, J.; Sugino, M.; Ishii, A.; Hoshino, M. Chem. Lett. 1992, 703–706.

- Kurata, H.; Nakaminami, H.; Matsumoto, K.; Kawase, T.; Oda, M. *Chem. Commun.* **2001**, 529–530.
- Kurata, H.; Haruki, K.; Nakaminami, H.; Kawase, T.; Oda, M. Chem. Lett. 2003, 422–423.
- (a) Kawase, T.; Wei, C.; Ueno, N.; Oda, M. Chem. Lett. 1994, 10, 1901–1904; (b) Oda, M.; Kawase, T.; Wei, C. Pure Appl. Chem. 1996, 68, 267–274.
- Nair, V.; Thomas, S.; Mathew, S. C.; Vidya, N. *Tetrahedron* 2005, 61, 9533–9540.
- 82. (a) Zhuravlev, S. V.; Kul'nevich, V. G. Khim. Geterotsikl. Soedin. 1983, 597–600; Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. (Engl. Transl.) 1983, 19, 478–481; Chem. Abstr. 1983, 99, 70498; (b) Kul'nevich, V. G.; Solonenko, L. A.; Zhuravlev, S. V. Khim. Geterotsikl. Soedin. 1983, 592–596; Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. (Engl. Transl.) 1983, 19, 474–478; Chem. Abstr. 1984, 100, 120790.
- Stroganova, T. A.; Butin, A. V.; Sorotskaya, L. N.; Kul'nevich, V. G. Proceedings of ECSOC-3, The 3rd International Electronic Conference on Synthetic Organic Chemistry; Pombo-Villar, E., Neier, R., Lin, S.-K., Eds.; MDPI: Basel, Switzerland, 2000.
- 84. (a) Riad, A.; Mouloungui, Z.; Delmas, M.; Gaset, A. Synth. Commun. 1989, 19, 3169–3173; (b) Stroganova, T. A.; Butin, A. V.; Sorotskaya, L. N.; Kul'nevich, V. G. ARKIVOC 2000, 1, 641–649.
- (a) Clezy, P. S.; Fookes, C. J. R.; Lau, D. Y. K. Aust. J. Chem. 1974, 27, 357–369; (b) Reese, C. B.; Yan, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 5545–5547.
- 86. Ciganek, E. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 4521-4527.
- Nair, V.; Thomas, S.; Mathew, S. C. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3513– 3515.
- Akgun, E.; Pindur, U.; Muller, J. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1983, 20, 1303–1305.
- Mason, M. R.; Barnard, T. S.; Segla, M. F.; Xie, B.; Kirschbaum, K. J. Chem. Crystallogr. 2003, 33, 531–540.
- Muller, J.; Pfeuffer, L.; Pindur, U. Monatsh. Chem. 1985, 116, 365–370.
- Avendano, C.; De Diego, C.; Jose, E. Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg. 1989, 98, 73–76.
- Chakrabarty, M.; Sarkar, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 1351– 1353.
- Chakrabarty, M.; Sarkar, S.; Linden, A.; Stein, B. K. Synth. Commun. 2004, 34, 1801–1810.
- Li, J.; Zhou, M.; Li, B.; Zhang, G. Synth. Commun. 2004, 34, 275–280.
- Li, J.; Guang, B.; Wang, L.; Li, B.; Zhang, G. *Heterocycles* 2003, 60, 1307–1315.
- 96. Ramesh, C.; Ravindranath, N.; Das, B. J. Chem. Res. 2003, 72–74.
- Stupnikova, T. V.; Rybenko, L. A.; Skorobogatova, Z. M.; Sheinkman, A. K. *Khim. Geterotsikl. Soedin.* **1978**, 416; *Chem. Heterocycl. Comp.* **1978**, *14*, 345.
- 98. Muller, J.; Pindur, U. Arch. Pharm. 1984, 317, 555-561.
- 99. Mason, M. R. Chemtracts 2003, 16, 272-289.

Biographical sketch



Vijay Nair has Ph.D. degrees from the Banaras Hindu University (1967, with Professor R.H. Sahasrabudhey) and the University of British Columbia (1969, with Jim Kutney) and he was a postdoctoral fellow with Gilbert Stork at Columbia University. After a 16-year career (outstanding scientist award, 1981) with Lederle Laboratories (American Cyanamid Company) in Pearl River, New York, he returned to India and joined the Regional Research Laboratory (CSIR) in 1990. During 1997–2001 he was the Director of the Institute. Dr. Nair's research interests are in the areas of CAN mediated C–C and C–Heteroatom bond forming reactions, multicomponent reactions, and dipolar cycloadditions. Dr. Nair has been an invited speaker at a number of major international conferences including ICOS-15 in Nogoya in 2004. He is a Fellow of the Indian Academy of Sciences. Recently he was awarded the silver medal of the Chemical Research Society of India.



Smitha C. Mathew obtained her M.Sc. degree in Organic Chemistry from School of Chemical Sciences, Mahatma Gandhi University, Kottayam. Currently she is a Ph.D. student under the guidance of Dr. Vijay Nair at the Regional Research Laboratory (CSIR) working in the area of triheteroarylmethane derivatives.





Siji Thomas was born in Kottayam, India. She received her M.Sc. (2000) from School of Chemical Sciences, Mahatma Gandhi University, with specialization in Organic Chemistry. Subsequently, she joined doctoral research in RRL (CSIR), Trivandrum under the supervision of Dr. Vijay Nair and was awarded Ph.D. degree from Cochin University of Science and Technology in 2005. Her doctoral research concerned with triheteroarylmethane systems. Currently she is a postdoctoral fellow in the group of Professor Andrea Vasella at ETH, Zurich.

K. G. Abhilash obtained his M.Sc. degree from St. Thomas College, Palai, Kerala (Mahatma Gandhi University). Currently he is completing his doctoral research under the guidance of Dr. Vijay Nair at the Regional Research Laboratory (CSIR), Trivandrum, working in the areas of higherorder cycloaddition reactions and triarylmethane chemistry.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6749-6753

Tetrahedron

CMPO-substituted calix[6]- and calix[8]arene extractants for the separation of An³⁺/Ln³⁺ from radioactive waste

Francesco Sansone,^a Marco Fontanella,^a Alessandro Casnati,^{a,*} Rocco Ungaro,^a Volker Böhmer,^{b,*} Mohamed Saadioui,^b Karine Liger^c and Jean-François Dozol^c

^aDipartimento di Chimica Organica e Industriale, Università di Parma, V.le G. P. Usberti 17/A, I-43100 Parma, Italy ^bFachbereich Chemie, Pharmazie und Geowissenschaften, Abteilung Lehramt Chemie, Johannes Gutenberg-Universität, Duesbergweg 10-14, D-55099 Mainz, Germany

^cCEA/DEN Cadarache, DED/SEP/LCD, 13108 Saint Paul lez Durance, France

Received 7 February 2006; revised 12 April 2006; accepted 4 May 2006 Available online 30 May 2006

Abstract—Three calix[6]arene derivatives (**1a**–c) and two calix[8]arene derivatives (**2a**,**b**), with six and eight CMPO residues, respectively, attached to the narrow/lower rim via ether links, were synthesised. Preliminary liquid–liquid extraction studies for Eu(III) and Am(III) from aqueous nitric acid to *o*-nitrophenylhexyl ether reveal remarkable properties with respect to efficiency and selectivity, especially for the *tert*-butylcalix[6]arene derivative with a –(CH₂)₃– spacer.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The separation of actinides (An) from lanthanides (Ln) is an urgent and important problem for the management of waste resulting from the reprocessing of fuels of nuclear plants. In fact, spent nuclear fuel contains moderate amounts of longlived minor actinides (Np, Am, Cm) together with many fission products, among which lanthanides represent one of the major components.¹ The transmutation of actinides into short-lived radionuclides has been proposed for the condi-tioning of such waste,¹⁻³ which requires their separation from lanthanides. Organophosphorous ligands like CMPO (carbamoylmethyl-phosphine oxide), used in the TRUEX process, phosphine oxides or dialkylphosphoric acids (TAL-SPEAK) are quite efficient extractants for An from acidic media. The introduction of CMPO binding groups onto the lower⁴ or upper^{5,6} rim of calix[4]arenes (\mathbf{I} , \mathbf{II}), as well as onto other polyvalent scaffolds,^{7,8} increases not only the extraction efficiency of trivalent metal ions by more than 2 orders of magnitude, but also improves the selectivity, in some cases.9 The original idea of pre-organising four CMPO functional groups on a calix[4]arene fixed in the cone conformation^{4,5} was further strengthened by the fact that blocking the calix[4]arene platform in a 'rigid cone' led to an increase

Keywords: Actinides/lanthanides separation; CMPO; Calixarenes; Conformational properties; Radioactive waste treatment; Actinides complexation.

* Corresponding authors. Tel.: +39 0521 905458; fax: +39 0521 905472 (A.C.); tel.: +49 6131 3922319; fax: +49 6131 3925419 (V.B.); e-mail addresses: casnati@unipr.it; vboehmer@mail.uni-mainz.de

0040-4020/\$ - see front matter © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.05.009 (about 10-fold) in extraction ability, although not in selectivity.⁶ On the other hand, we have recently shown for a series of calixarene-based amide ligands, that not only the efficiency of alkali and alkaline-earth metal ion complexation greatly changes, passing from the calix[4]arene to the calix[6]- and calix[8]arene scaffold but also the selectivity



III₄: n = 4; R = *t*-Bu; cone III₆: n = 6; R = H, t-Bu; OBn, OMe III₈: n = 8; R = H, t-Bu; OBn, OMe

within and between group IA and IIA cations is affected.^{10,11} For example, while the tetramide of *p-tert*-butylcalix[4]arene (**III**₄) has a slight preference for Sr²⁺ over Na⁺ complexation, the amides of *p-tert*-butylcalix[6]arenes (**III**₆) and –calix[8]arenes (**III**₈) present a high selectivity^{11,12} for Sr²⁺ over Na⁺, which makes them promising candidates for the selective removal of strontium radionuclides from radioactive wastes.¹³ Therefore, it seems attractive to introduce CMPO binding sites/groups on the larger and more flexible calix[6]- and calix[8]arene scaffolds in order to study how the enlargement of the macrocyclic scaffold and the increase of the number of ligating functions influence the efficiency in trivalent metal ion complexation and the An³⁺/Ln³⁺ selectivity. We report in this paper the synthesis of the new ligands and results of An(III) liquid–liquid extraction experiments.

2. Synthesis and structures of the ligands

In order to attach CMPO binding groups at the lower rim of calix[6]- and calix[8]arenes we needed the hexaamino- (3) and octaamino- (4) calixarene derivatives. These compounds were synthesised according to known procedures.¹⁴ Reaction of compounds 3 and 4 with the *p*-nitrophenyl active ester 5 in toluene at 60 °C gives the CMPO ligands 1 and 2 in 46–78% yields (Scheme 1). The introduction of the CMPO units on the calixarene skeleton was confirmed by the presence of the correct molecular peaks in the mass spectra (ESI-MS), of the typical doublet at δ 3.5–3.4 (J=10–14 Hz) for the POCH₂CO protons in the ¹H NMR spectra and by elemental analyses. In the mass spectra, clear peaks of the mono- and/ or di-sodium complexes were obtained. The ¹H NMR spectra of these compounds in CDCl₃ are usually very broad at rt. Only octamer 2b shows a sharp spectrum under these conditions with the appearance of several singlets and doublets for the methylene bridges (ArCH₂Ar) and for the aromatic protons of the calixarene, indicating the presence of different conformations slowly interconverting on the NMR timescale. On the other hand, **2b** shows, in DMSO- d_6 , even at rt a rather sharp spectrum, which becomes even sharper at 80 °C showing a singlet around δ 3.85 for the methylene bridges, which indicates a fast interconversion between different conformers. This indicates that the presence of several slowly interconverting conformers in CDCl₃ at rt, is

due, not only to the presence of bulky groups both at the upper and lower rim, but also to the formation of NH··· O=P (O=C) hydrogen bonds between the CMPO functions.¹⁵ All the spectra of compounds **1–2** were therefore recorded in CD₃OD or DMSO- d_6 (see Section 5). Moreover, the spectrum of *p*-tert-butyl hexamer **1a** is much broader than those of its *p*-H-analogues **1b** or **1c** even in DMSO at 100 °C, indicating that the presence of large substituents at both rims of the calixarene skeleton decreases the rate of conformational interconversion especially for this compound.

3. Liquid-liquid extraction studies

Aqueous solutions of Am³⁺ and Eu³⁺ with different concentrations of HNO₃ were extracted with 10⁻³ M solutions of the various ligands in NPHE (o-nitrophenylhexyl ether). Since in the case of *p*-H calixarenes **1b**, **1c** or **2a** a precipitate formed at the interphase, extraction experiments, with these compounds, were performed at a ligand concentration of 10^{-4} M. For ligand **1b**, however, at $c(\text{HNO}_3)=2-4$ M a precipitate was still observed. This seems to indicate that tertbutyl or benzyloxy groups at the upper rim of these large macrocycles considerably help to solubilise the complexes. The distribution coefficients $(D_M = [M]_{org}/[M]_{aq})$ for the extraction experiments are reported in Table 1 and compared with those of compounds I and II. For all the newly synthesised CMPO ligands 1 and 2, both D_{Eu} and D_{Am} remarkably increase with increasing HNO₃ concentration in the water layer, in agreement with what was observed with the lower rim substituted calix[4]arene-based CMPO ligands I, while the *D*-values for upper rim derivatives of type **II** usually show a maximum for $c(HNO_3)=2$ M. This increase can be explained by the assumption that the nitrate anion is co-extracted together with Am(III) and Eu(III) thus increasing the $D_{\rm M}$ according to the equation $D_{\rm M} = K_{\rm ex} [L]^m [NO_3^-]^n$. Interestingly, the data also show that for all the ligands D_{Am} is higher than $D_{\rm Eu}$. The most efficient ligand seems to be **1a**, but considering that 1b and 2a were studied at 10 times higher dilution than 1a, their D_{Am} values are also rather high. Although these preliminary tests do not allow to determine D_{Am} (and consequently $S_{Am/Eu}$) precisely at $c(HNO_3) > 1$ M, it is evident that compound 1a shows an interesting Am³⁺ over Eu^{3+} selectivity ($S_{Am/Eu}>3$), which seems to increase with



Scheme 1. Synthesis of ligands 1 and 2.

6751

Table 1. $D_{\rm M}$ values and selectivity $S_{\rm Am/Eu}$ for the extraction of Am³⁺ and Eu³⁺ from an aqueous solution into a NPHE solution of ligands 1 and 2 and I–II at different HNO₃ concentrations (T=25 °C)

Ligand	[L] (M)		[HNO ₃] (M)						
			0.001	0.01	0.1	1	2	3	4
1a	10^{-3}	$D_{ m Eu} \ D_{ m Am} \ S_{ m Am/Eu}$	0.29 0.44 1.5	0.56 0.82 1.5	5.1 11.1 2.2	26.4 >100 >3	27.7 >100 >3	35.5 >100 >3	26.6 >100 >3
1b	10^{-4}	$D_{ m Eu}\ D_{ m Am}\ S_{ m Am/Eu}$	1.6 2.8 1.7	0.6 0.9 1.5	1.2 2.1 1.7	5.9 20.6 3.5	a a	a a	a a
1c	10^{-4}	$D_{ m Eu}\ D_{ m Am}\ S_{ m Am/Eu}$	0.47 0.85 1.8	0.25 0.34 1.4	0.56 0.95 1.7	3.0 4.5 1.5	nd nd	nd nd	10.6 20.7 1.9
2b	10^{-3}	$D_{ m Eu} \ D_{ m Am} \ S_{ m Am/Eu}$	Ь Ь	7.8 14.6 1.9	9.2 18.3 2.0	21.9 32.8 1.5	nd nd	nd nd	nd nd
2a	10^{-4}	$D_{ m Eu} \ D_{ m Am} \ S_{ m Am/Eu}$	3.8 3.8 1	5.6 7.1 1.3	4.2 12.6 3.0	10.7 12.6 1.2	12.5 18.0 1.4	14.7 >100 >6	32 b
\mathbf{I}^{6}	10^{-3}	$D_{ m Eu} \ D_{ m Am} \ S_{ m Am/Eu}$	nr nr	nr nr	28 48 1.7	33 51 1.5	44 61 1.4	48 63 1.3	nr nr
II ⁹	10 ⁻³	$D_{ m Eu} \ D_{ m Am} \ S_{ m Am/Eu}$	nr nr	nr nr	2.3 19 8.3	30 195 6.5	52 275 5.3	37 150 4.0	19 100 5.26

nd: not determined; nr: not reported.

^a Important precipitation at the interphase.

^b Content of the aqueous layer too low to allow a precise determination of D.

an increase of the HNO₃ concentration. Calix[6]arene-CMPO ligand **1a** is slightly more selective than the analogous derivative based on the calix[4]arene scaffold **I**, having a spacer, which is longer by one methylene group, while the extraction efficiency of the calix[4]arene derivative with the same C₃ spacer is distinctly lower.⁴ Interestingly, ligand **1a** having six CMPO arms or the octameric CMPO ligands **2** are much more efficient than dendritic octa-CMPO derivatives.¹⁶ The efficiency and selectivity obtained with the novel calix[6]arene-CMPO ligand **1a** seem close to the upper rim substituted calix[4]arene **II**.

Extraction experiments for compound 1a were also performed in the presence of the lipophilic dicarbollide anion (BrCosan), which is known to facilitate cation extraction.^{17,18}

The results reported in Table 2 indicate that dicarbollide highly facilitates the extraction of M^{3+} ions into the organic phase. Especially at low nitric acid concentration ([HNO₃] \leq 0.1 M) the D_M values increased by up to 2 orders of magnitude (cf. Tables 1 and 2). Surprisingly, D_{Eu} slightly decreases under these conditions at high nitric acid concentration ([HNO₃] \geq 0.1 M).

4. Conclusions and outlook

Calix[6]- and calix[8]arenes, bearing at their lower rim six or eight CMPO functions attached via alkylether groups, are easily prepared in reasonable to good yields using well-established synthetic protocols. Although the ligands are less preorganised than calix[4]arene derivatives, the increased number of CMPO functions leads to remarkable properties for the extraction of Eu and Am from aqueous nitric acid to *o*-nitrophenylhexyl ether. Such properties are superior to those shown by dendritic octa-CMPO-derivatives of calix[4]arenes. The extraction studies are presently extended to other calixarene scaffolds and to other organic solvents.

5. Experimental

5.1. General remarks

Melting points were determined with an electrothermal apparatus in sealed capillaries under nitrogen. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded with Bruker spectrometers AC300 (¹H: 300 MHz, ¹³C: 75 MHz) or AMX400 (¹H: 400 MHz) with TMS as an internal standard. Mass

Table 2. $D_{\rm M}$ values and $S_{\rm Am/Eu}$ for the extraction of Am³⁺ and Eu³⁺ from an aqueous solution ([BrCosan]=3×10⁻³ M) into a NPHE solution of ligand 1a at 25 °C at different [HNO₃]

	[HNO ₃] (M)								
	0.001	0.01	0.1	1	2	3	4		
D _{Eu}	31.9	46.0	40.8	33.6	39.6	36.8	28.5		
$D_{\rm Am}$ $S_{\rm Am/Eu}$	>100 >3	>100 >2	>100	>100 >3	>100 >2	>100 >2	>100 >3		

spectra were obtained in the ESI mode with a Micromass 4LCZ spectrometer (capillary voltage = 3 kV, cone voltage = 60 V, extractor voltage = 3 V, source block temperature = 80 °C, desolvation temperature = 150 °C, cone and desolvation gas (N₂) flow rates = 1.6 and 8 l/min, respectively). TLC was performed on precoated silica gel Merck 60 F₂₅₄. All the reactions were carried out under nitrogen.

5.2. General procedure for the synthesis of CMPO derivatives

To a solution of amino calix[n]arene (0.2 mmol) in dry toluene (40 ml) were added *p*-nitrophenyl (diphenylphosphoryl)acetate (1.5 equiv per amino group) and triethylamine (1.5 equiv per amino group). The mixture was stirred overnight at 60 °C. Then toluene was evaporated under reduced pressure and dichloromethane (50 ml) was added. The organic phase was washed several times with 10% NaOH (5×40 ml) and dried with anhydrous magnesium sulfate. The dichloromethane was evaporated under reduced pressure to obtain the pure product.

5.2.1. 37,38,39,40,41,42-Hexakis{3-[(diphenylphosphoryl)-acetamide]-propoxy}-*p-tert*-butylcalix[6]arene (1a). Yield: 66%. Mp: 133–134 °C. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 400 MHz, 373 K): δ =7.89–7.13 (m, 60H, PhH), 6.89 (br s, 12H, ArH), 3.80 (br s, ArCH₂Ar), 3.45 (d, *J*=14.0 Hz, 12H, POCH₂CO), 3.40 (br s, 12H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 3.12 (br s, 12H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 1.37 (br s, 12H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 1.37 (br s, 12H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 1.05 (br s, 54H, C(CH₃)₃). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 75 MHz, 300 K): δ =164.2 (CO), 156.3 (Ar_{*ipso*}), 144.4 (Ar_{*para*}), 134.0–128.3 (Ph and Ar), 70.1 (OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 39.1 (OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 30.9 (C(CH₃)), 34.8 (C(CH₃)), 33.5 (CH₂P), 29.4 (ArCH₂Ar), 29.3 (OCH₂CH₂CH₂). ESI-MS (+): *m*/*z*=2790 (100%) [M+Na]⁺. C₁₆₈H₁₉₂N₆O₁₈P₆ (2769.26): calcd C 72.87, H 6.99, N 3.03; found C 72.80, H 6.96, N 3.08.

5.2.2. 37,38,39,40,41,42-Hexakis{**3-**[(**diphenylphosphoryl**)**acetamide**]-**propoxy**{**calix**[**6**]**arene** (**1b**). Yield: 59%. Mp: 136–138 °C. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 400 MHz, 363 K): δ =7.78–7.42 (m, 60H, PhH), 6.82 (d, *J*=7.56 Hz, 12H, ArH_{*meta*}), 6.70 (t, *J*=7.56 Hz, 6H, ArH_{*para*}), 4.07 (br s, 12H, ArCH₂Ar), 3.45 (d, *J*=10.1 Hz, 12H, POCH₂CO), 3.38 (br s, 12H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 2.48 (br s, 12H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 1.47 (br s, 12H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 75 MHz, 300 K): δ =165.2 (CO), 158.6 (Ar_{*ipso*}), 133.9–128.2 (Ph and Ar), 122.4 (Ar_{*para*}), 73.1 (OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 39.7 (OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 32.3 (CH₂P), 30.6 (ArCH₂Ar), 30.5 (OCH₂CH₂CH₂). ESI-MS (+): *m/z*=2454 (100%) [M+Na]⁺. C₁₄₄H₁₄₄N₆O₁₈P₆ (2432.61): calcd C 71.10, H 5.97, N 3.45, P 7.64; found C 71.08, H 5.94, N 3.49, P 7.61.

5.2.3. 37,38,39,40,41,42-Hexakis[**4-[(diphenylphosphoryl)acetamide]-butoxy**{**calix**[**6**]**arene** (**1c**). Yield: 78%. Mp: 146–147 °C. ¹H NMR (CD₃OD, 400 MHz, 300 K): δ =7.8–7.4 (m, 60H, PhH), 7.2–6.8 (m, ArH), 3.90 (br s, 12H, ArCH₂Ar), 3.44 (br s, 24H, POCH₂CO and OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂C, 3.18 (br s, 12H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂C, 1.40–1.31 (m, 24H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 75 MHz, 300 K): δ =164.02 (CO), 156.3 **5.2.4. 49**,**50**,**51**,**52**,**53**,**54**,**55**,**56**-Octakis{**3**-[(diphenylphosphoryl)acetamide]-propoxy}calix[8]arene (2a). Yield: 55%. Mp: 180 °C (dec). ¹H NMR (CD₃OD, 400 MHz, 300 K): δ =7.70–7.31 (m, 80H, PhH), 7.25–7.11 (m, 16H, ArH_{meta}), 6.82–6.70 (m, 8H, ArH_{para}), 3.93 (br s, 16H, ArCH₂Ar), 3.51 (br s, 16H, POCH₂CO), 3.30 (s, 16H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 3.13 (br s, 16H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 1.60 (br s, OCH₂CH₂CH₂). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CD₃OD, 75 MHz, 300 K): δ =167.2 (CO), 156.7 (Ar_{ipso}), 135.7–129.0 (Ph and Ar), 125.5 (Ar_{para}), 72.5 (OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 38.6 (OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 32.3 (CH₂P), 31.4 (ArCH₂Ar), 31.0 (OCH₂CH₂CH₂). ESI-MS (+): *m*/*z*=1643.6 (100%) [M+2Na]²⁺. C₁₉₂H₁₉₂N₈O₂₄P₈ (3243.48): calcd C 71.10, H 5.97, N 3.45; found C 71.18, H 5.90, N 3.54.

5.2.5. 5,11,17,23,29,35,41,47-Octakis[phenylmethoxy]-49,50,51,52,53,54,55,56-octakis{3-[(diphenylphosphoryl)acetamide]-propoxy}calix[8]arene (2b). Yield: 46%. Mp: 129–130 °C. ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6 , 400 MHz, 353 K): $\delta = 7.75 - 7.36$ (m, 80H, PhH), 7.03 - 7.01 (m, 40H, OCH₂BnH), 6.17 (m, 16H, ArH_{meta}), 4.56 (br s, 16H, OCH₂Bn), 3.85 (br s, 16H, ArCH₂Ar), 3.63 (t, J=6.1 Hz, 16H, $OCH_2CH_2CH_2$), 3.41 (d, J=14.0 Hz, 16H, POCH₂CO), 3.13–3.10 (m, 16H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 1.71 (t, J=6.4 Hz, 16H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (DMSOd₆, 75 MHz, 300 K): δ=164.2 (CO), 153.8 (Ar_{ipso}), 136.7-127.2 (Ar, Ph and Bn), 114.2 (Ar_{para}), 71.2 (OCH₂-CH₂CH₂), 68.7 (OCH₂Bn), 39.1 (OCH₂CH₂CH₂), 32.5 (CH₂P), 30.9 (ArCH₂Ar), 30.0 (OCH₂CH₂CH₂). ESI-MS (+): m/z=2068 (100%) [M+2Na]²⁺. C₂₄₈H₂₄₀N₈O₃₂P₈ (4092.47): calcd C 72.79, H 5.91, N 2.74; found C 72.70, H 5.98, N 2.82.

5.3. Extraction experiments

Liquid-liquid extraction experiments were performed by dissolving the ligand at the desired concentration $(10^{-4} \text{ or }$ 10^{-3} M) in NPHE (o-nitrophenylhexyl ether) and mixing the organic phase with an aqueous phase containing Am(III) and Eu(III) nitrates at different HNO₃ concentrations. Am(III) and spiked Eu(III) nitrate aqueous solutions were prepared in order to have a radioactivity in the range 1500-2000 kBq/l. Liquid-liquid extraction experiments were performed by shaking the same volumes of organic and aqueous phases, at the appropriate HNO₃ concentration, inside closed tubes placed in a thermostated cell (25±0.2 °C) for 1 h. Complete separation of the phases was ensured by spinning the tubes in a centrifuge for 5 min. Then, aliquots of aqueous and organic phases were removed for analysis by γ -spectrometry (Eurysis Mesures, Strasbourg). The measurement times were adapted to obtain a reproducibility of $\pm 5\%$. The distribution coefficients, $D_{\rm M}$, were determined as the ratio of cation γ -activity in the organic phase to cation γ -activity in the aqueous phase. The selectivity for Am(III) over Eu(III) is expressed as $S_{\text{Am/Eu}} = D_{\text{Am}}/D_{\text{Eu}}.$

Acknowledgements

We thank the EC (CALIXPART Project FIKW-CT2000-00088) for financial support. The Centro Interfacoltà di Misure (CIM) of the University of Parma is also acknowledged for the use of NMR and mass spectrometers.

References and notes

- Mathur, J. N.; Murali, M. S.; Nash, K. L. Solvent Extr. Ion Exch. 2001, 19, 357–390.
- Madic, C.; Cordier, P. Y. GB Patent 2,313,471, 1997; Chem. Abstr., 128, 209974.
- Choppin, G. R.; Nash, K. L. Radiochim. Acta 1995, 70–71, 225–236.
- Barboso, S.; Carrera, A. G.; Matthews, S. E.; Arnaud-Neu, F.; Böhmer, V.; Dozol, J.-F.; Rouquette, H.; Schwing-Weill, M. J. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 2 1999, 719–723.
- Arnaud-Neu, F.; Böhmer, V.; Dozol, J.-F.; Grüttner, C.; Jakobi, R. A.; Kraft, D.; Mauprivez, O.; Rouquette, H.; Schwing-Weill, M.-J.; Simon, N.; Vogt, W. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1996, 1175–1182.
- Arduini, A.; Böhmer, V.; Delmau, L.; Desreux, J. F.; Dozol, J.-F.; Carrera, M. A. G.; Lambert, B.; Musigmann, C.; Pochini, A.; Shivanyuk, A.; Ugozzoli, F. *Chem.—Eur. J.* 2000, *6*, 2135–2144.
- Boerrigter, H.; Verboom, W.; Reinhoudt, D. N. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 7148–7155.
- Peters, M. W.; Werner, E. J.; Scott, M. J. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 1707–1716.

- Delmau, L. H.; Simon, N.; Schwing-Weill, M.-J.; Arnaud-Neu, F.; Dozol, J.-F.; Eymard, S.; Tournois, B.; Böhmer, V.; Grüttner, C.; Musigmann, C.; Tunayar, A. *Chem. Commun.* 1998, 1627– 1628.
- Casnati, A.; Sansone, F.; Ungaro, R. Calixarene Receptors in Ion Recognition and Sensing. In *Advances in Supramolecular Chemistry*; Gokel, G. W., Ed.; Cerberus: South Miami, FL, 2004; Vol. 9, pp 165–218.
- Casnati, A.; Barboso, S.; Rouquette, H.; Schwing-Weill, M.-J.; Arnaud-Neu, F.; Dozol, J.-F.; Ungaro, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 12182–12190.
- Casnati, A.; Baldini, L.; Pelizzi, N.; Rissanen, K.; Ugozzoli, F.; Ungaro, R. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2000, 3411–3415.
- Arnaud-Neu, F.; Schwing-Weill, M. J.; Dozol, J.-F. Calixarenes for Nuclear Waste Treatment. In *Calixarenes 2001*; Asfari, Z., Böhmer, V., Harrowfield, J., Vicens, J., Eds.; Kluwer Academic: Dordrecht, 2001; Chapter 35, pp 642–662.
- Casnati, A.; Della Ca', N.; Fontanella, M.; Sansone, F.; Ugozzoli, F.; Ungaro, R.; Liger, K.; Dozol, J.-F. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2005, 2338–2348.
- For hydrogen bonded dimers of a wide rim tetra-CMPO of thiacalix[4]arene see: Kasyan, O.; Kalchenko, V.; Bolte, M.; Böhmer, V. Chem. Commun. 2006, 1932–1934.
- Wang, P. S.; Saadioui, M.; Schmidt, C.; Böhmer, V.; Host, V.; Desreux, J. F.; Dozol, J.-F. *Tetrahedron* **2004**, *60*, 2509–2515.
- Grüner, B.; Plešek, J.; Báĉa, J.; Cisarova, I.; Dozol, J.-F.; Rouquette, H.; Viñas, C.; Selucky, P.; Rais, J. *New J. Chem.* 2002, 26, 1519–1527.
- Viñas, C.; Gomez, S.; Bertran, J.; Teixidor, F.; Dozol, J.-F.; Rouquette, H. *Chem. Commun.* **1998**, 191–192.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6754-6761

A way to manage the thermal flexibility of ligand candidates for bioassays

Maria Altamura,^a Giuseppe Balacco,^a Francesco Cuda,^b Annalisa Guerri,^c Antonio Guidi,^{a,*} Stefania Meini,^a Stefano Menichetti,^b Cristina Nativi^b and Franco Pasqui^a

^aMenarini Ricerche S.p.A., Firenze, Italy

^bDepartment of Organic Chemistry 'Ugo Schiff', University of Florence, Italy ^cDepartment of Energy Engineering 'Sergio Stecco', University of Florence, Italy

Received 21 December 2005; revised 11 April 2006; accepted 4 May 2006 Available online 26 May 2006

Abstract—An original way to manage both stereochemistry and conformational constraints in ligand candidates for bioassays is presented with reference to a group of model N,N'-tetrasubstituted o-phthalamides and thioamides. The study shows that a scale of thermal flexibility in solution can be envisaged, the divisions of which are represented by compounds sharing quite similar geometrical features. NMR spectroscopy and powder X-ray analysis were used for the physical chemical investigation. An attempt to exploit the conformational instability of a model thioamide in the medium of a bioassay was also performed. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Recently, we reported our interest in chemical libraries for broad screening purposes, designed using symmetry considerations to control the internal motions of the library members. The properties of certain derivatives of piperidine¹ and *o*-phthalic acid² (Fig. 1) were studied in the solid phase and computed in the gas phase. Nitrogen inversion and ring flipping characterize the internal motion of the model



Figure 1.

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.05.011

piperidine diol **1**. Nitrogen oxidation precludes inversion and unbiases the ring flipping equilibrium in a manner, which can be modulated by the choice of the substituents at positions 3 and 5. Symmetry is broken along the series of models **1–3** and other substituents can be imagined to become more or less restricted in their own local motion on the basis of their ability as hydrogen bond donors. As for compounds **4–7**, rotation around C_{Ar} –CO(S) and CO(S)–N bonds constituted the focus of the computational study. Experimentally, single crystal X-ray analysis was accomplished for compounds **6** and **7**, the melting behavior of which was also studied.

Many compounds with general formula I (Fig. 2) had previously been found to possess nanomolar potency as antagonists of Neurokinin A at the human tachykinin NK-2 receptor.³

During this research we found,⁴ in agreement with previous literature,^{5,6} that amides of type **I** possess expanded features when compared with other *o*-substituted tertiary aromatic amides.⁷ So, for instance, once obtained by double amidation of *o*-phthalic acid with the same achiral, differentially substituted, secondary amine, they exist in solution as mixtures of three conformational isomers, one asymmetric (**Ib**) and two dissymmetric (**Ia** and **Ic**). The amide groups are preferentially antiparallel to each other and their planes tend to be orthogonal to the aromatic ring. Interconversion occurs through rotation around the C_{Ar} –CO and CO–N(CH₂R₁)CH₂R₂ bonds. Taking the prominent biological

^{*} Corresponding author. E-mail: aguidi@menarini-ricerche.it



Figure 2. (a) Dissolution.

activity of many compounds of type I as a kind of validation, the idea of exploiting their internal motion to build a scale of thermal flexibility was boosted when we became aware that the thioamide replacement of o-substituted tertiary benzamides not only slows rotation around the CS-NR₁R₂ bond, but also around the CAr-CS bond, without major geometrical changes.⁸ Indeed, the main difference between compounds 1-3 and compounds 4-7 (Fig. 1) is just that the piperidine derivatives are enantiomerically stable at any reasonable pharmaceutical and pharmacological time scale,⁹ while the same is untrue for the *o*-phthalic acid derivatives. So, in principle, a library obtained by the proper decoration of compounds 4-7 could permit to observe the emergence of chirality along the corresponding flexibility scale and to investigate the role of absolute stereochemistry on the bio-performance of the library members.^{10,11} On this basis, we wish to show here that compounds of general formulas I-III are suitable to define a scale of thermal flexibility in solution, the divisions of which are represented by compounds sharing very similar geometrical properties. The result was achieved by studying the behavior of compounds 5-7 and 9a-9c in dilute solution by NMR spectroscopy. In addition, the practical conversion of the conformational mixture 9a-9c into the sole isomer 9a is also described and discussed. Eventually, we disclose that the double thionation of 8, a tachykinin receptor ligand of type I, to give the corresponding compound of type III depletes the affinity toward the receptor. This information was obtained while assessing whether the instability of 9a, after dissolution, could usefully match the bioassay time scale.

2. Results

The synthesis of compounds 5-7 is outlined in Scheme 1. Diethyl amine was chosen to yield models of compounds

of general formulas **I**, **II**, and **III** in which $R_1=R_2$, suitable for the ¹H NMR spectroscopic investigation.



Scheme 1. (a) LR, 1.04 equiv, THF, rt overnight, then chromatography, 40%. (b) LR, 1.17 equiv, refluxing THF, 8 h, then chromatography, 61%.

We planned to study the conformational interconversion by observing the possible anisochronicity of the methylenic protons within each ethyl group. Phthalamide **5** was converted consecutively into the mono-thioamide **6** and into the bis-thioamide **7**, by means of Lawesson's reagent¹² (LR hereinafter) under two different reaction conditions. Compound **6** was obtained in 40% yield, after chromatographic separation, by reacting compound **5** with a slight molar excess of the thionating agent in THF at rt. This reaction also yielded 10% of compound **6** in 61% yield after chromatography, by reacting the substrate with an overall excess of LR, added portionwise to the reaction mixture in refluxing THF.

2.1. NMR investigation on compounds 5-7

The rt ¹H NMR spectra in CDCl₃ at 600 MHz of compounds 5, 6, and 7 are stacked in Figure 3. The spectrum of compound 7 (upper spectrum) reveals the dissymmetry of the solute. The aromatic protons give rise to an AA'BB' spin system. As for the aliphatic protons, the triplets resonating at 1.15 and 1.30 ppm, each integrating to 1.5 times the total area of the aromatic spin system, indicate that a sole cis/trans relationship concerns the amide groups. The eight methylenic protons resonate as four multiplets each integrating to half the total area of the aromatic spin system. The fact that the protons, which belong to the same methylenic group are anisochronous is proved by bidimensional analysis and reflects the existence of a stereogenic element. The fact that there are only four different chemical shifts for the methylenic protons suggests the existence of an internal binary axis of rotation. Aside from residual ethyl acetate, the spectrum of compound 6 is essentially the combination of two different copies (with different chemical shifts) of the spectrum of 7, thus suggesting that the single O/S replacement solely removed the rotational symmetry from compound 7. The two multiplets centered at 3.71 and 4.61 ppm in the spectrum of **7** show a slightly more complex fine structure than those centered at 3.46 and 3.30 ppm. A similar appearance also affects four out of eight multiplets in the spectrum of 6 (see insets in Fig. 3). To explain this evidence, we considered compound 7 and found, using the bidimensional analysis and computational simulation, that a long range ${}^{4}J$ of 1.3 Hz correlates two hydrogens at the extrema of each H-C(H)(Me)-N(CS)-C(Me)(H)-H fragment. Although initially surprised to observe such a correlation at rt for an acyclic spin system, we reasoned that the


Figure 3. Upper spectrum: compound 7, inset: multiplet centered at 4.61 ppm. Middle spectrum: compound 6, inset: multiplet centered at 4.49 ppm. Lower spectrum: compound 5.

conformational equilibrium related to the fast rotation around N-CH2 bonds could privilege conformers possessing the proper W arrangement of atoms.¹³ To this regard, it is worth noting that one such conformer had been effectively observed in the crystal, while the diasteroisomer obtainable from that by inverting both CAr-CS bonds was computed (ab initio) to be 5 kcal/mol higher in energy.² As for the survey of flexibility differences amongst compounds 5-7 in solution, the rt spectrum of compound 5 (lower spectrum in Fig. 3) serves well to introduce the discussion. In fact, the different broadening of the signals centered at 3.23 and 3.47 ppm indicates the geometrical similarity between this compound and compound 7. At lower temperatures (Fig. 4), each methylenic signal splits into two signals. All four signals integrate to the same value and those originating from the low field signal show a higher difference of chemical shifts than those originating from the high field quartet. In other words, the spectrum of compound 5 at low temperature approaches that of compound 7 at rt. Actually, the rt spectrum of 5 reveals the expected fast interconversion of



the enantiomeric conformers existing in the CDCl_3 solution. To estimate the rate of enantiomerization at different temperatures, we focussed our attention on the methylenic group resonating at 3.47 ppm (rt spectrum), while irradiating the corresponding methyl group at 1.20 ppm, and successfully simulated this dynamic behavior by computation.

Eventually, we extrapolated that interconversion occurs with a frequency of about $35,000 \text{ s}^{-1}$ at rt, in CDCl₃.⁶ Since the CDCl₃ spectra of 6 and 7 suggested that rotation around the bonds of our interest could be frozen, even CAr-CO rotation in 6, we moved to DMSO- d_6 solutions to acquire spectra at higher values of temperature. While assigning the signals in this solvent, we found in the NOESY spectrum (mixing time=0.4 s) of compound **6**, that the two ethyl signals assigned to the oxygenated half of the molecule gave exchange correlation cross-peaks (same sign as diagonal peaks), while the other two ethyl signals (the thionated half) only had NOE type cross-peaks (opposite sign). An indication of the fact that the rotation around the CO-NEt₂ bond, but not that around CS-NEt₂ bond, takes place on the time scale of the NOESY experiment. The finding was confirmed by observing (Fig. 5) the selective broadening of the peaks originating from the oxygenated half of the molecule in the mono-dimensional spectrum of 6 acquired at 340 K. Eventually, for compound 7, we tried to speed up the rotations under inspection by increasing the temperature to 380 K (DMSO- d_6) without however obtaining any hint of a dynamic process taking place. Compound 7 therefore seems to be the best candidate for attempting the separation and isolation of the enantiomers, a task, which is also in our schedule. By comparing the dynamic properties of compounds 5 and 6, we can state that, at rt, rotation around CO-NEt₂ bonds is slow in both cases. As for the rotation around CAr-CO bonds, we have seen that enantiomerization is fast in compound 5. For this isomerization to occur, it is



Figure 5. Selective broadening of amide signals in 6.

necessary that both amide groups invert their orientation with respect to the aromatic plane. Albeit a single step mechanism suffices to interpret DNMR data for compound **5**, literature suggests the existence of a *syn/anti* conformational equilibrium strongly privileging the *anti* conformer.^{5,6} In a previous study,² the stability differences between *syn* and *anti* conformers had been calculated ab initio to be 6.0 kcal/mol for compound **5** and 10.4 kcal/mol for compound **6**. Therefore, if the *syn/anti* oscillation occurred in **6** due to C_{Ar}–CO bond rotational lability, no consequence would be easily detected by conventional NMR spectroscopy. The stereochemical properties of the solute would be dictated by the thionated moiety, the rigidity of which is apparent when the spectrum acquired at 340 K is considered.

2.2. Synthesis of compounds 8-9a

The synthesis of compounds **8–9a** is outlined in Scheme 2. *N*-Methyltryptamine was chosen to give models of compounds of general formulas **I**, **II**, and **III** in which $R_1 \neq R_2$, suitable for managing different aspects of the problem. The use of an aromatic appending moiety was thought to be interesting in the perspective of the library generation, while the methyl group was chosen to facilitate the understanding of the ¹H NMR spectra. Indole was selected as the aromatic group, both for a possible investigation on the mode of binding of the corresponding tachykinin receptor ligands, or to make the thionations more easily followed by

TLC analysis. In our experience, 3-indolylmethyl-containing products give violet spots on silica after exposure to panisaldehyde and heat. Moreover, indole itself is considered as a biologically validated sub-structure.¹⁴ So, our study could furnish an example, maybe the first one, of double use of the indole group in a well defined, yet modulatable, tridimensional space. Compound 8 was obtained in 89% vield, after aqueous work-up, making phthalic anhydride react with a slight excess of N-methyltryptamine in DMF at rt, before the addition of EDCI, DIPEA, and HOBT. Compound 8 gave a single spot when analyzed by TLC on silica using 5% of methanol in ethyl acetate as eluent. The thionation of 8 by LR in refluxing toluene proved difficult to monitor by TLC, with the plates being crowded with many spots, soon after the beginning of substrate conversion. Aware that the use of LR usually results in the appearance of many spots on the TLC plate, we monitored the reaction progress using exposure to *p*-anisaldehyde to reveal the TLC spots, HPLC analysis, and MS spectrometry. The combination made us realize that the four diasteroisomers expected for the mono-thionated product and the three diasteroisomers expected for the bis-thionated derivatives could give spots of different R_f values. For the sake of simplicity, we decided to concentrate on the supposed bis-thionated products at this stage of the study. We therefore used an excess of thionating agent and focussed our attention only on the fast moving, indole revealing spots. When we decided that these spots had accumulated enough, we stopped heating and purified the crude material by chromatography. In a previous experience, we had observed that different chromatographic behavior on silica of similar labile diasteroisomers does not ensure their isolation.⁴ Therefore, we decided to collect together the three bis-thionated products (overall yield of 49%), despite each one having a specific R_f value on silica, using 3% ethyl acetate in dichloromethane as eluent ($R_f=0.32, 0.26, 0.17$). This mixture could be readily evaluated in DMSO- d_6 , but proved to be sparingly soluble in CDCl₃, an occurrence which enabled us to get an unexpected result. In practice, after the filtration of the $CDCl_3$ suspension, the DMSO- d_6 spectrum of the solid was essentially that of only one dissymmetric isomer whose configuration was later assessed as 9a (Scheme 2) from the NOESY spectrum. The serendipitous isolation of 9a had two consequences. First, as described below in the text, we were able to follow the kinetics of the conversion into the



Scheme 2. (a) *N*-Methyltryptamine, 2.3 equiv, DMF, rt 1 h, then DIPEA, 2.0 equiv, EDCI, 1.2 equiv, HOBT, 1.2 equiv, rt, overnight, 89%. (b) LR, 2.3 equiv, refluxing toluene, 1 h, then chromatography, 49%. (c) CHCl₃, 6.7 equiv, 40 °C, 8 h, 98%.

thermodynamic mixture in DMSO- d_6 . Second, we succeeded to convert the mixture of the three isomeric bis-thionated products, as obtained from the chromatographic separation, directly into **9a** in quantitative yield. Indeed, after some attempts, we obtained 464 mg of essentially pure isomer **9a**, by heating 473 mg of dried eluate, containing less than 40% of the same compound, at 40 °C for 8 h in a corked HPLC vial with 500 µl of chloroform (molar ratio 1/6.7). Although serendipitous in origin, this transformation would be looked at as an example of phase transition driven reaction, namely a reaction the selectivity of which should be due to the stability difference amongst the possible isomers in the solid phase, while their interconversion occurs smoothly in the liquid, on the experimental time scale.^{15,16}

2.3. Physical-chemical investigation on compound 9a

Compound **9a** was quite stable as a solid and could be stored at rt on the shelf for months. In order to ascertain this observation, we examined an aliquot of the crude reaction product by X-ray powder diffraction analysis. This allowed us to realize that **9a** had accumulated as a crystalline powder during the reaction and that its thermal stability as a solid is effectively high. After the rt analysis, we acquired spectra at 333 K every 2 h for a day without observing any change with respect to the first spectrum. In Figure 6, the first (a) and the eleventh (b) spectra are reported.

Nevertheless, the conversion into the mixture could be monitored by NMR at rt, after dissolution in DMSO- d_6 (Fig. 7). While peaks belonging to the asymmetric form **9b** appeared as soon as the solution was prepared and inserted into the magnet, the other symmetric conformer **9c** appeared, in traces, only after 4 min. The growing curve for these two conformers have exponential and sigmoidal shapes, respectively, supporting the idea by which each symmetric conformer can convert (in one step) only into asymmetric ones and vice versa. Calculating the percentage of each isomer at each stage was complicated by the mutual overlap of signals. We chose to monitor the intensity of the methyl singlets because of their higher sensitivity. Two singlets of interest fall just on top of some methylenic multiplets and we therefore adopted the following protocol.

We integrated each cluster of overlapping peaks as a whole and, separately, one or more other methylenic multiplets originating from the same isomers and comprising the same number of protons, so that the difference between the chosen integrals was equal to the area of the methyl





singlet alone. To avoid any complication that may have arisen from the different saturation of different signals, each spectrum was acquired in a single scan. Plotting the calculated percentage, instead of the area, compensated for any change in instrumental sensitivity over the course of the experiment. What we discovered in this way is that, even at rt, the rotation around the thioamide bond is so slow that it takes hours before the equilibrium mixture is reached. A stationary state is achieved after 13 h (9a: 34.3%, 9b: 46.2%, 9c: 19.5%), while 9a still accounts for about 60% of the mixture 90 min after dissolution.

2.4. Binding affinity tests

In the light of the pharmaceutical and pharmacological time scale definitions,⁹ compound **9a** could be an example of a pharmaceutically stable substance, whose pharmacological stability would depend upon the consideration of either in vitro, or in vivo experiments. It is apparent that **9a**, independently from any consideration of its racemic nature, could not be looked at as a sole substance with respect to an in vivo experiment.¹⁷ Conversely, its homogeneity could be challenged on the time scale of an in vitro assay. Before the present study, we had synthesized compound **8** during our efforts to obtain antagonists of Neurokinin A at the human tachykinin NK-2 receptor.⁴ In Figure 8, it is shown that compound **8** inhibits the binding of iodinated NKA to human NK-2 receptor in concentration-dependent manner, with sub-micromolar potency.

With compound **9a** at hand and the knowledge of its behavior in DMSO- d_6 solution, we reasoned that there was the possibility to investigate the binding mode of **8** by using



Figure 6. X-ray powder diffraction spectra of 9a at 333 K. (a) Time zero. (b) After 22 h.



Figure 8.

separately compound 9a and its equilibrium mixture. In principle, only the inspection of the preferred absolute stereochemistry would have been precluded, 9a being reasonably a racemate. Unfortunately, the thionated mixture 9, as well as compound 9a was far less potent than 8 in the same assay (Fig. 8). Worst, the possibility to discriminate 9a from 9 by the careful reduction of the equilibration time of the bioassay at higher concentrations of the thionated candidates was hampered by their insolubility in the medium of the bioassay. Overall, the only information we gained from these pharmacological experiments was that the double thionation of 8 provokes a marked affinity loss at the receptor. On the other hand, since the overall tridimensional shape is conserved when passing from 8 to the mixture 9a-9c, it is not unreasonable to admit that the removal of at least one critically positioned hydrogen bond acceptor from 8 is responsible for affinity depletion. The interpretation would agree also with similar results obtained in a previous study with other ligands at the same receptor.

3. Conclusion

In this paper, we have shown that compounds of general formulas I-III can define a scale of thermal flexibility in solution, the divisions of which are represented by compounds sharing very similar geometrical properties. Although we have not shown the effective emergence of chirality along the series of the investigated model compounds, that of a homogenous and rt thermally stable substance from a conformational mixture was demonstrated. The resolution of compound 7 into its enantiomers and the assessment of their lifetimes is under investigation. In addition we are working to synthesize a pool of compound 8 congeners. The aim is to investigate whether the scope of the solidification driven conversion from 9a-9c into 9a is wider, and also to use the entire pool for challenging other biological targets than human NK-2 receptor. The results of these efforts will be reported in due course.¹⁸

4. Experimental

4.1. General

Anhydrous solvents were purchased from Fluka. TLC monitoring: Merck silica gel 60 F_{254} plates, detection by UV light or *p*-anisaldehyde and heat. HPLC monitoring: Waters 2690 Separation Module equipped with a Waters 996 photodiode array detector. Separations were obtained by a Symmetry 300^{TM} C₁₈ 5 µm column (4.6×250 mm), eluting at a flow rate of 1 ml/min with a mobile phase consisting of A-water+0.1% TFA, B-acetonitrile+0.1% TFA. Gradient elutions were performed from 20% to 80% B in 20 min. Melting points were determined in capillary tubes and are uncorrected. IR spectra were collected with a Nicolet Avatar 360 FTIR E.S.P. spectrophotometer. ¹H NMR spectra were acquired at 500 or 600 MHz on Bruker Avance instruments and referenced against the residual solvent peak (DMSO- d_6) at 2.50 ppm and CDCl₃ at 7.25 ppm). For variable temperature studies, we assumed that the temperature of the probe (reported by the spectrometer) was the same as that of the solution. NOESY spectra were typically acquired with a mixing time of 0.4 s, 2K points along f_2 and 512 points along f_1 , in the phase-sensitive mode according to the States-TPPI protocol. The f_1 dimension was extended four times with Linear Prediction. The baseplane of the transformed spectrum was further processed with polynomial corrections of the fifth order in both dimensions. ¹³C NMR spectra were acquired on a Varian Gemini 200 spectrometer, at the operating frequency of 50 MHz. All the processing was performed using the program SwaN-MR.¹⁹ Mass spectra were obtained with a Finnigan LCQ ion trap mass spectrometer, operated in positive-ion electrospray ionization. The samples were analyzed by full-scan MS and product ion MS/MS of the protonated quasi-molecular ions, at 30% relative collision energy, using helium as the collision gas. The high resolution mass spectrum of compound 8 was obtained with a Thermo Electron LTQ Orbitrap spectrometer, equipped with nanoelectrospray ion source, operated in positive-Electrospray. The instrument was externally calibrated with a mixture of caffeine, MRFA, and Ultramark 1621. The sample (about 10 µg/mL in 1:1 acetonitrile/10 mM ammonium acetate) was introduced by infusion at 1 µL/min, and analyzed in full-scan MS mode at resolution=50,000. X-ray powder diffraction data were collected on a Bruker D8 Advance powder diffractometer, equipped with a Debye-Scherrer transmission $\theta - \theta$ geometry, using the Cu K α radiation. The Sol-X solid state Si(Li) detector was used. C/Ni Goebel-Spiegel mirrors in the incident beam were used as monochromator; 1.0 mm divergence, 0.2 scatter and 0.1 for the receiving slits were used. The sample was prepared by pressing the thin layer of the sample on a Pt-Rh fine foil. The sample was heated under high-temperature (HT) chamber (mri wide range) from rt to 333 K with a step of 0.2 °C/min. The spectra were recorded in the 2θ range 5-45 °C. Binding affinity experiments: Inhibition binding curves were performed with membrane preparations (150 µg/ml) of stably transfected CHO cells expressing the human tachykinin NK₂ receptor, using [¹²⁵I]NKA (0.13 nM) as radioligand.²⁰ Binding data were fitted by nonlinear regression using GraphPad Prism 4.0.

4.1.1. Synthesis of 2-diethylthiocarbamoyl-*N*,*N***-diethylbenzamide. Compound 6.** LR (1.17 g, 2.88 mmol) was suspended in 10 ml of anhydrous THF under a nitrogen atmosphere. A solution of compound **5** (762 mg, 2.76 mmol) in anhydrous THF (12 ml) was added through a dropping funnel, while magnetically stirring. The reaction mixture was left under stirring overnight at rt. The volatiles were removed under reduced pressure and the residue (2.21 g as a yellow oil) was purified by Flash-Master chromatography.

The column was conditioned with *n*-hexane. Compound **7** was eluted first using 50% of CH_2Cl_2 in *n*-hexane (31 mg as a yellow solid; yield=10%). Compound **6** was then eluted using 20% of ethyl acetate in *n*-hexane (314 mg as a white solid; yield=40%).

4.1.1.1 2-Diethylthiocarbamoyl-*N*,*N***-diethyl-benzamide. Compound 6.** Mp: 81 °C–82 °C (*n*-hexane). R_f =0.1, CH₂Cl₂/*n*-hexane, 1:1. IR (KBr) ν (cm⁻¹): 2990, 2968, 2930, 2880, 2867, 1626, 1510, 1429. ESI⁺-MS: *m*/*z*= 293 (MH⁺), 220, 192, 164, 130, 121, 105. C₁₆H₂₄N₂OS (292.44): calcd C, 65.71; H, 8.27; N, 9.58; found C 65.43, H 8.42, N 9.44. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 300 K, 600 MHz): 7.39 δ (1H, t), 7.33 δ (1H, t), 7.25 δ (1H, d), 7.15 δ (1H, d), 4.32 δ (1H, m), 3.61 δ (1H, m), 3.57 δ (1H, m), 3.43 δ (1H, m), 1.19 δ (3H, t), 1.07 δ (3H, t), 1.05 δ (3H, t), 1.04 δ (3H, t). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 196.69, 169.38, 140.90, 132.76, 128.51, 127.23, 125.53, 124.81, 48.44, 45.46, 43.42, 38.81, 13.86, 13.45, 12.32, 10.82.

4.1.1.2. *N*,*N*,*N'*,*N'*-**Tetraethyl-benzene-1,2-dicarbothioic acid. Compound 7.** Mp: 118 °C–119 °C (ethyl acetate). R_{f} =0.1, ethyl acetate/*n*-hexane, 1:4. IR (KBr) ν (cm⁻¹): 3076, 3058, 3007, 2974, 2953, 2872, 1507, 1429. ESI⁺-MS: m/z=309 (MH⁺), 236, 208, 180. C₁₆H₂₄N₂S₂ (308.51): calcd C, 62.29; H, 7.84; N, 9.08; found C 62.50, H 7.99, N 9.01. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 300 K, 600 MHz): 7.25 δ (2H, m), 7.08 δ (2H, m), 4.60 δ (2H, m), 3.70 δ (2H, m), 3.46 δ (2H, m), 3.29 δ (2H, m), 1.29 δ (6H, t, *J*=7.1 Hz), 1.14 δ (6H, t, *J*=7.2 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 196.27, 138.38, 127.52, 124.48, 48.96, 45.12, 13.52, 10.51.

4.1.2. Synthesis of compound 7 from compound 6. LR (476 mg, 1.17 mmol) and thioxoamide 6 (292 mg, 1.0 mmol) were suspended in 8 ml of anhydrous THF under magnetic stirring and a nitrogen atmosphere. The solvent was refluxed for 8 h, and then the mixture was left to stand overnight. LR (202 mg, 0.50 mmol) was added and the solvent was refluxed for 3 h. LR (203 mg, 0.50 mmol) was added and the solvent refluxed for 5 h, then the mixture was left on standing overnight. LR (203 mg, 0.50 mmol) was added and the solvent refluxed for 1 h. The volatiles were removed under reduced pressure and the residue (2.06 g) was purified by Flash-Master chromatography. Compound 7 (188 mg as a white solid, yield=61%) was eluted using 50% of CH₂Cl₂ in *n*-hexane.

4.1.3. Synthesis of N,N'-bis-[2-(1*H*-indol-3-yl)-ethyl]-N,N'-dimethyl-phthalamide. Compound 8. Phthalic anhydride (325 mg, 2.60 mmol) and *N*-methyltryptamine (1.00 g, 5.74 mmol) were dissolved in 8 ml of anhydrous DMF under a nitrogen atmosphere. The mixture was magnetically stirred for 1 h at rt. DIPEA (672 mg, 5.20 mmol), EDCI (598 mg, 3.12 mmol), and HOBt (422 mg, 3.12 mmol) were added and the mixture was left overnight under stirring. The solution was poured into 1 M aqueous HCl under vigorous stirring. The white precipitated material was collected by filtration, washed with water, and dried in the air. Compound 8 (1.11 g; yield=89%) was obtained as a white solid and used for thionation without further purification. R_f =0.31 (ethyl acetate as eluent). The sample for bioassays and

analysis was purified by chromatography on silica eluting with ethyl acetate. Mp: 97-102 °C. ESI+-MS: m/z=479 (MH⁺), 305, 144. IR (KBr) ν (cm⁻¹): 3400, 3288, 3047, 2929, 2853, 1623. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 300 K, 500 MHz): 10.82 δ (1H, br s), 10.80 δ (1H, br s), 10.79 δ (1H, br s), 10.76 δ (1H, br s), 7.60 δ (1H, t), 7.44 δ (1H, dd), 7.42 δ (1H, t), 7.35–7.21 δ (5H, m), 7.09–6.91 δ (6H, m), 6.79 δ (1H, m), 3.66 δ (2H, m), 3.33 δ (2H, m), 2.99-2.91 δ (4H, m), 3.01, 3.00, 2.83 and 2.77 δ (6H, singlets). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ : 169.26, 169.20, 168.84, 168.80, 136.42, 136.02, 135.16, 134.87, 134.72, 134.64, 128.41, 128.33, 128.25, 128.16, 127.08, 126.86, 126.34, 126.20, 125.99, 122.71, 120.75, 118.46, 118.00, 117.94, 111.28, 111.25, 111.18, 110.68, 51.56, 47.46, 47.26, 32.01, 23.60, 22.32. HRMS (MH⁺) calcd for C₃₀H₃₁N₄O₂: 479.2442; found: 479.2419.

4.1.4. Synthesis of N,N'-bis-[2-(1H-indol-3-yl)-ethyl]-N,N'-dimethyl-benzene-1,2-dicarbothioic acid. Compound 9. LR (694 mg, 1.71 mmol) and amide 8 (362 mg, 0.75 mmol) were suspended in 11 ml of anhydrous toluene under magnetic stirring and a nitrogen atmosphere. The solvent was made to reflux for 1 h. During this time, a dark orange solution formed. The volatiles were removed under reduced pressure and the residue (1.45 g) was purified by Flash-Master chromatography using CH₂Cl₂ as eluent. Compound 9 was obtained (188 mg as a pale yellow solid, yield=49%) by collecting together the fractions corresponding to three spots on the TLC plate: $R_f=0.17, 0.26, 0.32$ (ethyl acetate/CH₂Cl₂, 3:97 as eluent). ESI^+ -MS: m/z=511 (MH^+) , 337, 144. $C_{30}H_{30}N_4S_2$ (510.72): calcd C, 70.55; H, 5.92; N, 10.97; found C 70.07, H 5.99, N 10.67. ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6 , 300 K, 600 MHz) of the major (*E*,*Z*) conformer: 10.86 § (1H, br s), 10.83 § (1H, br s), 7.73 § (1H, d, J=8.0 Hz), 7.36–6.85 δ (13H, m), 4.45 δ (1H, m), 4.00 δ (1H, m), 3.81 δ (1H, m), 3.51 δ (3H, s), 3.50 δ (1H, m), 3.25–3.16 δ (2H, m), 3.12 δ (3H, s), 3.00 δ (1H, m). After the identification, 9 was renamed as mixture 9a-9c. ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ : 196.66, 196.54, 196.31, 196.06, 139.21, 138.70, 138.65, 138.23, 136.12, 135.98, 127.41, 127.09, 127.00, 126.82, 126.78, 124.96, 124.74, 124.40, 124.27, 122.96, 122.78, 120.87, 118.43, 118.151, 111.26, 110.84, 110.74, 110.16, 110.10, 57.47, 57.34, 54.53, 54.07, 42.42, 42.38, 23.71, 20.52. The acquisition of ¹³C NMR spectrum started several hours after compound 9a dissolution and must be considered as the spectrum of the thermodynamic mixture 9a-9c in DMSO- d_6 .

4.1.5. Conversion to thioamide 9a. The mixture of thioamides 9a–9c, obtained as described above (473 mg, 0.93 mmol) and CHCl₃ (500 µl, 6.2 mmol) were placed in a stoppered HPLC vial, which was heated at 40 °C for 8 h in a sand bath. The mixture was filtered with the help of few milliliters of pre-cooled CHCl₃. Compound 9a (464 mg) was recovered as a white solid. R_f =0.32 (ethyl acetate/CH₂Cl₂, 3:97 as eluent). ESI⁺-MS: m/z=511 (MH⁺), 337, 144. The composition of this solid was not altered after standing for a few months on the shelf, at rt. On the other hand, it melted in a capillary tube, after 30 min at 130 °C. IR (KBr) ν (cm⁻¹): 3275, 3057, 3000, 2930, 2852, 1514, 1457. ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6 , 300 K, 600 MHz): 10.84 δ (1H, br s), 8.32 δ (1H, s), 7.73 δ (1H, d, *J*=7.9 Hz), 7.33 δ (4H, m), 7.22 δ (2H, s), 7.10 δ (2H, dd, *J*=5.6, 3.2 Hz),

7.05 δ (2H, t, *J*=7.6 Hz), 6.91 δ (2H, t, *J*=7.4 Hz), 4.61 δ (2H, td, *J*=11.6, 5.2 Hz), 3.96 δ (2H, td, *J*=11.6, 5.2 Hz), 3.29 δ (2H, m), 3.21 δ (6H, s), 3.08 δ (2H, m).

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Mr. Giorgio Vago and Professor Gloriano Moneti for the high resolution mass spectrum of compound **8**.

References and notes

- Dapporto, P.; Guerri, A.; Paoli, P.; Rossi, P.; Altamura, M.; Calabri, F. R.; Guidi, A. J. Mol. Struct. (THEOCHEM) 2002, 617, 189–199.
- Altamura, M.; Coppini, G.; Cuda, F.; Dapporto, P.; Guerri, A.; Guidi, A.; Nativi, C.; Paoli, P.; Rossi, P. J. Mol. Struct. 2005, 749, 20–30.
- Guidi, A.; Pasqui, F.; Altamura, M.; Maggi, C. A. WO 2,002,020,437; *Chem. Abstr.* 2002, 136, 247191.
- Altamura, M.; Canfarini, F.; Catalioto, R.-M.; Guidi, A.; Pasqui, F.; Renzetti, A. M.; Triolo, A.; Maggi, C. A. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2002, *12*, 2945–2948.
- Schneider, H.-J.; Kasper, C.; Palyulin, V.; Samoshin, V. V. Supramol. Chem. 1997, 8, 225–229.
- Clayden, J.; Pink, J. H.; Yasin, S. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 105–108.
- Ahmed, A.; Bragg, R. A.; Clayden, J.; Lay, L. W.; McCarthy, C.; Pink, J. H.; Westlund, N.; Yasin, S. A. *Tetrahedron* 1998, 54, 13277–13294.

- 8. Ach, D.; Reboul, V.; Metzner, P. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 3398–3406.
- Reist, M.; Testa, B.; Carrupt, P.-A.; Jung, M.; Schurig, V. Chirality 1995, 7, 396–400.
- Kim, Y.-K.; Arai, M. A.; Arai, T.; Lamenzo, J. O.; Dean, E. F., III; Patterson, N.; Clemons, P. A.; Schreiber, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 14740–14745.
- Lee, H. B.; Zaccaro, M. C.; Pattarawarapan, M.; Roy, S.; Saragovi, H. U.; Burgess, K. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 701–713.
- Pedersen, B. S.; Scheybe, S.; Nilsson, N. H.; Lawesson, S.-O. Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg. 1978, 87, 223–228.
- 13. Berg, U.; Grimaud, M.; Sandström, J. *Nouv. J. Chim.* **1979**, *3*, 175–181.
- Rosenbaum, C.; Baumhof, P.; Mazitschek, R.; Müller, O.; Giannis, A.; Waldmann, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 224–228.
- 15. Guidi, A.; Theurillat-Moritz, V.; Vogel, P.; Pinkerton, A. A. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1996**, *7*, 3153–3162.
- Theurillat-Moritz, V.; Vogel, P. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 1996, 7, 3163–3168.
- Albert, J. S.; Ohnmacht, C.; Bernstein, P. R.; Rumsey, W. L.; Aharony, D.; Alelyunas, Y.; Russel, D. J.; Potts, W.; Sherwood, S. A.; Shen, L.; Dedinas, R. F.; Palmer, W. E.; Russell, K. J. Med. Chem. 2004, 47, 519–529.
- Altamura, M.; Balacco, G.; Giolitti, A.; Guidi, A.; Patacchini, R.; Renzetti, A. R.; Triolo, A.; Maggi, C. A. Lett. Drug Des. Discov. 2004, 1, 285–288.
- 19. Balacco, G. J. Chem. Inf. Comput. Sci. 1994, 34, 1235-1241.
- Meini, S.; Catalani, C.; Bellucci, F.; Cucchi, P.; Giuliani, S.; Zappitelli, S.; Rotondaro, L.; Pasqui, F.; Guidi, A.; Altamura, M.; Giolitti, A.; Maggi, C. A. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 2005, *516*, 104–111.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6762-6773

Phosphoramidites and solid supports based on N-substituted 2,4-dihydroxybutyramides: universal reagents for synthesis of modified oligonucleotides

Natalia N. Dioubankova,^a Andrei D. Malakhov,^a Dmitry A. Stetsenko,^{b,†} Michael J. Gait^b and Vladimir A. Korshun^{a,*}

^aShemyakin–Ovchinnikov Institute of Bioorganic Chemistry, Russian Academy of Sciences, Miklukho-Maklaya 16/10, 117997 Moscow, Russian Federation ^bMedical Research Council, Laboratory of Molecular Biology, Hills Road, Cambridge CB2 2QH, UK

> Received 24 November 2005; revised 12 April 2006; accepted 4 May 2006 Available online 2 June 2006

Abstract—A general and convenient method for synthesis of modified oligonucleotides by use of new non-nucleoside phosphoramidites is reported. A chiral 1,3-diol backbone of the modifying reagents is generated either from (R)-(+)- α -hydroxy- γ -butyrolactone or (R)-(–)-pantolactone. Aliphatic amines were acylated with the lactones to give the corresponding *N*-substituted 2,4-dihydroxybutyramides. After protection of a side chain, if necessary, the diols were converted into phosphoramidites or solid supports suitable for use in oligonucleotide synthesis. The reagents allow single, multiple or combined introduction of various functions (e.g., alkylamine, imidazole and pyrene residues) into synthetic oligonucleotides. The structures of the conjugates were confirmed by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Although modified oligonucleotides have diverse use in chemistry, biology and medicine, the emergence of new areas of their application is a current trend.¹ Solid-phase phosphoramidite oligonucleotide synthesis, a highly efficient and reliable technique developed in the 1980s,² is still a mainstay of chemical DNA preparation. Numerous modifying phosphoramidite reagents for oligonucleotide synthesis also have been developed³ and many of them are commercially available. The potential of phosphoramidites for combinatorial chemistry has been recognised.⁴ Our aim was to develop reagents applicable for the preparation of oligonucleotide conjugates in combinatorial mode, for instance, for synthesis of artificial ribonucleases that have an oligonucleotide part for complementary recognition and a variable catalytic part carrying active functional groups, e.g., amine, imidazole, etc.

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.05.008

A 1,3-diol system with one primary and one secondary hydroxyl group mimicking the 5'- and 3'-OH groups of nucleosides is an obvious structural element in the design of non-nucleoside reagents suitable for machine-aided assembly of modified oligonucleotides. We recently reported that it can be obtained easily by acylation of amines with α -hydroxy- γ -butyrolactones.⁵ In the procedure, a suitable compound with an aliphatic primary or even secondary amino group can be converted into the corresponding *N*-substituted 2,4-dihydroxybutyramide. The precursor is then subjected to successive steps of side-chain protection (if required), 4,4'-dimethoxytritylation of the primary hydroxyl group, and conversion into the phosphoramidite or attachment to a solid support via the secondary hydroxyl group. Here we describe the synthesis of several new reagents that allow the introduction of reactive (amine), catalytically active (imidazole) and fluorescent (pyrene) residues into oligonucleotides as well as the preparation and characterisation of various oligonucleotide conjugates.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Synthesis of phosphoramidites

 α -Hydroxy- γ -butyrolactones **1a**,**b** are known to react smoothly with amines.⁶ No racemisation at the α -carbon

Keywords: Modified oligonucleotides; Phosphoramidites; 2,4-Dihydroxybutyramides; Imidazole; Pyrene.

Abbreviations: DIC, 1,3-diisopropylcarbodiimide; DMAP, 4-dimethylaminopyridine; Dmt, 4,4'-dimethoxytrityl; Fmoc, 9-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl; FmocOSu, 9-fluorenylmethyl *N*-succinimidyl carbonate; LCAA-CPG, long-chain alkylamino controlled pore glass; Py, pyridine; RP-HPLC, reversed-phase HPLC; Tfa, trifluoroacetyl.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel./fax: +7 495 3306738; e-mail: korshun@mail. ibch.ru

[†] Present address: School of Biomedical and Molecular Sciences, University of Surrey, Guildford GU2 7XH, UK.

atom was reported. We found that in the case of α -hydroxy- γ butyrolactones **1a** and **1b** a simple un-catalysed reaction with primary amines at a slightly elevated temperature gives very good yields of the corresponding 2,4-dihydroxybutyramides after 24–48 h. Primary amines with a bulky substituent, e.g., pyrene or secondary amine, e.g., *N*,*N'*-dimethylethylenediamine require much longer reaction times.

 α,ω -Diamines served as precursors for aminolinker reagents. Lactones **1a** and **1b** were treated with an excess (5.0 equiv) of ethylenediamine or *N*,*N'*-dimethylethylenediamine at 55 °C for 1–7 days to give mono-acylated products **2** (Scheme 1).

The remaining amino function was masked with Fmoc or Tfa, common amino protecting groups compatible with oligonucleotide synthesis,³ affording **3a-d**. Compound **3a** precipitated readily from the reaction mixture. By contrast, the presence of two geminal 3-methyl groups in the pantolactone-derived compound 3b or N-methylation in 3c,d allow their purification by column chromatography. The hydroxyl groups in compounds 3 were functionalised by known procedures of nucleoside chemistry:⁷ the primary hydroxyl group was 4,4'-dimethoxytritylated⁸ selectively, and the resulting compounds 4 were converted into phosphoramidites $5a-c^9$ and solid-supported reagents 6a-c.¹⁰ The loading of the supports was estimated to be in the range of 35-52 µmol/g. Phosphoramidites were found to decompose significantly on silica gel during column chromatography and thus were isolated by precipitation into hexane. Reagents 5a-c are white solids that can be stored at -20 °C for at least several months without any substantial loss of reactivity. Phosphoramidite 5b is appreciably more stable upon storage compared to 5a, which indicates a positive shielding effect of the two methyl groups. The reagents allow introduction of one or several primary or secondary amino groups into any position within an oligonucleotide sequence.

Imidazole residues of histidines are present in catalytic centres of DNA- and RNA-cleaving enzymes.¹¹ Many syntheses of imidazole–oligonucleotide conjugates as potential targetaddressed RNA cleavers are reported.¹² It was found that the Boc group is suitable for histidine N^{Im} -protection during phosphoramidite DNA synthesis, undergoing smooth cleavage upon standard ammonolytic deprotection conditions.¹³ This prompted us to investigate its use for imidazole protection in phosphoramidite reagents **10a,b**.

The synthesis of the imidazole reagents is outlined in Scheme 2. The primary amino group of histamine was acylated with lactones **1a** or **1b** to give dihydroxybutyramide **7a**



Scheme 2. Synthesis of imidazole phosphoramidites. Reaction conditions and yields: (a) histamine, 55 °C, 83% (7a); (b) Boc_2O , 76% (8a), 38% and 17% (8b1 and 8b2 from 1b); (c) DmtCl, Py, 0 °C to rt, 1–3 h, 86% (9a), 55% and 37% (9b1 and 9b2 from 8b1); (d) (ⁱPr₂N)₂PO(CH₂)₂CN, diisopropylammonium tetrazolide, DCM, 80% (10a), 60% (10b).



Scheme 1. Synthesis of amino-modifier reagents and solid supports. Reaction conditions and yields: (a) $(CH_2NH_2)_2$, 55 °C, overnight, quant. (2a-b); (b) $(CH_2NHMe)_2$, 55 °C, 7 days, quant. (2c); (c) FmocOSu, aq MeCN, 88% (3a), 75% (3b), 64% (3c); (d) CF₃CO₂Me, rt, 30 min; (e) DmtCl, Py, 0 °C to rt, 1–3 h, 81% (4a), 97% (4b), 89% (4c), 93% (4d from 2c); (f) (¹Pr₂N)₂PO(CH₂)₂CN, diisopropylammonium tetrazolide, DCM, rt, 2 h, 85% (5a), 67% (5b), 77% (5c); (g) succinylated LCAA-CPG, DIC, DMAP, Py, rt, loading (µmol/g): 35 (6a), 52 (6b), 44 (6c).

or **7b**, respectively. These were treated with Boc_2O to afford imidazole-protected compounds **8**. Only the τ -Boc isomer was isolated in the case of **8a**, whilst **7b** gave a mixture of τ - and π -isomers (**8b1** and **8b2**), easily separable by column chromatography. Dimethoxytritylation of **8** followed by phosphitylation yielded phosphoramidites **10**. Only the major isomer **8b1** was used in the reaction with DmtCl in pyridine.

Surprisingly, two separable products **9b1** and **9b2** were again isolated after a usual workup and column chromatography. This indicates that partial $\tau \rightarrow \pi$ migration of the Boc group takes place during dimethoxytritylation, possibly catalysed by pyridine hydrochloride formed in the reaction. π -Isomers (**8b2** and **9b2**) were found to be unstable: after storage of the compounds as dried solids for one month at +4 °C, **8b2** gave ca. 1:1 mixture of **8b1** and **8b2**, and **9b2** was completely converted into **9b1**. The structures of compounds **8b1**, **8b2** and **9b1** were determined using Rapoport's NMR criteria.^{14,15} Moreover, a ROESY experiment for **9b1** (spectral width 10 ppm×10 ppm, 16,000×512 of complex points) showed similar cross-peaks of medium intensity between Boc protons and both H-2 and H-5 of the imidazole moiety.

Interestingly, the less stable π -Boc isomers and their rearrangement to thermodynamically more stable τ -Boc compounds were detected in the 'b' series only. The influence of the remote *gem*-dimethyl group in **7b** on regioselectivity of imidazole acylation in comparison with **7a** seems to be unlikely. The observed difference could be explained rationally by the following assumptions: (1) π -Boc isomer is also formed from **7a**, but converts rapidly into the stable τ -Boc compound; (2) the substantial difference in $\pi \rightarrow \tau$ -migration rates between **a** and **b** series is caused by spatial hindrance of the hydroxyl(s) that probably facilitates the rearrangement.

Compound **9b1** was then phosphitylated to give **10b**, a pair of diastereomers arising from the phosphoramidite group, as a single product. No migration of the Boc group was observed during the reaction.

Of course, the exact position of the Boc group in the reagents **10a,b** does not influence the structure of the resultant imidazole–oligonucleotide conjugates, since both τ - and π -Boc isomers should be deprotected in concd aq ammonia.

To the best of our knowledge, amongst pyrene non-nucleoside reagents described to date, only a few examples contain a 1,3-diol backbone.¹⁶ Multistep syntheses of deoxyribosyl pyrene *C*-nucleosides are complex, time consuming and include separation of a mixture of α - and β -anomers.¹⁷ Scheme 3 depicts a straightforward synthesis of new pyrene phosphoramidite reagents **13a**,**b** and supports **14a**,**b** from 1-pyrenemethylamine.

The structures of 2,4-dihydroxybutyramide derivatives **2a**, **3a,b**, **7a**, **8a,b1** and **11a,b** were confirmed by ¹H–¹³C NMR correlations. The assignment of signals in the ¹³C NMR spectra was performed using HMQC (cross-peaks from proton-bound carbon atoms) and HMBC (cross-peaks from interaction through two, three and four bonds) spectra.



Scheme 3. Synthesis of pyrene phosphoramidites. Reaction conditions and yields: (a) 1-pyrenemethylamine, 55 °C, 100% (11a), 92% (11b); (b) DmtCl, Py, 62% (12a), 83% (12b); (c) $({}^{i}Pr_{2}N)_{2}PO(CH_{2})_{2}CN$, diisopropylammonium tetrazolide, DCM, 70% (13a), 92% (13b); (d) succinylated LCAA-CPG, DIC, DMAP, pyridine, rt, loading (µmol/g): 20 (14a), 16 (14b).

2.2. Synthesis and characterisation of modified oligonucleotides

All the phosphoramidites and supports obtained were tested in machine-assisted solid-phase oligonucleotide synthesis. The coupling time for the modified phosphoramidites 5ac, 10a,b and 13a,b was extended to 10 min. The coupling yields were comparable to those for nucleoside phosphoramidites (determined by the released Dmt cation). The conjugates prepared were cleaved from their supports, deprotected by concd aq ammonia treatment at 55 °C overnight, analysed by reversed-phase HPLC and MALDI-TOF MS and purified by PAGE for thermal denaturation studies. Some loss of the 5'-terminal modified unit(s) was observed when the Dmt group was removed prior to ammonolysis, possibly resulting from the attack of the 5'-terminal hydroxyl on the neighbouring phosphodiester bond. To obtain uniformly high yields of the 5'-modified oligonucleotides these were synthesised routinely in 'Dmt On' mode, and the Dmt protecting group was cleaved after ammonia treatment. Sequences and some properties of the modified oligodeoxyribonucleotides are summarised in Table 1. Examples of HPLC traces are shown in Figure 1. Even in the crude mixtures after synthesis, the content of the desired conjugates was usually more than 90% with almost no detectable amount of any side products.

As expected, the incorporation of the hydrophobic pyrene moiety into oligonucleotides increases the retention time of conjugates on the HPLC column whilst other 2,4-dihydroxybutyramide substituents influence the chromatographic mobility of the corresponding oligomers only negligibly.

Thermal stability experiments show, as expected, ¹⁸ an increase in $T_{\rm m}$ for duplexes with pyrene 2,4-dihydroxybutyramide in

Table 1.	. Properties of	of oligodeox	vribonucleotides	bearing	(R)-2.4-dih	vdroxvbut	vramide r	ion-nucleoside i	units

#	Sequence, 5' to $3'^a$	Amidite or support source of X	MALDI-TOF, found/calcd	RP-HPLC retention time, min ^b
ON01	CTCCCAGGCTCAAAT X p	5a	4801.1/4796.8	15.20
ON02	CTCCCAGGCTCAAATXp	5b	4824.8/4826.9	12.68
ON03	XCTCCCAGGCTCAAAT	5b	4750.8/4749.2	12.48
ON04	CTCCCAGGCTCAAATX	6a	4718.7/4719.2	12.75
ON05	CTCCCAGGCTCAAAT XX	6b, 5b	5078.8/5078.9	13.23
ON06	CTCCCAGGCTCAAAT X p	13a	4970.1/4969.9	22.21
ON07	XCTCCCAGGCTCAAATX	13b, 14b	5341.7/5341.0	34.80
ON08	CTCCCAGGCTCAAATX	14a	4890.5/4889.9	24.85
ON09	CTCCCAGGCTCAAATX	14b	4920.6/4920.3	27.71
ON10	ATTTGAGCCTGGGAGX	14a	5041.9/5040.9	21.42
ON11	ATTTGAGCCTGGGAGX	14b	5070.4/5071.4	25.30
ON12	CTCCCAGGCTCAAATX	6b	4747.9/4749.2	12.51
ON13	CTCCCAGGCTCAAATXp	10a	4851.8/4850.8	12.79
ON14	XCTCCCAGGCTCAAAT	10a	4773.5/4772.1	12.63
ON15	CTCCCAGGCTCAAATXp	10b	4888.9/4881.2	12.55
ON16	XCTCCCAGGCTCAAAT	10b	4804.7/4801.2	13.17
ON17	CTCCCAGGCTCAAAT XX p	10a	5124.6/5124.9	12.52
ON18	XXCTCCCAGGCTCAAAT	10a	5044.2/5044.9	12.54
ON19	CTCCCAGGCTCAAAT XX p	10b	5182.8/5183.4	13.02
ON20	XXCTCCCAGGCTCAAAT	10b	5102.5/5103.5	14.14
ON21	CTCCCAGGCTCAAATX	6c	4750.3/4749.2	13.78
ON22	CTCCCAGGCTCAAATXp	5c	4847.3/4844.1	12.90
ON23	XCTCCCAGGCTCAAAT	5c	4748.0/4749.2	12.64
ON24	CTCCCAGGCTCAAAT XX p	5c	5081.7/5080.0	13.26
ON25	XXCTCCCAGGCTCAAAT	5c	5001.7/5001.4	12.71
ON26	X CTCCCAGGCTCAAAT X p	5c	5079.0/5080.0	12.59
ON27	CUCCCAXGCUCA ^c	(5a+10a +dG)	3731.7/3729.1 3784.5/3780.0 3836.7/3833.2	d
ON28	CUCCCAXGCUCA ^c	(5b+10b+ 2′OMe-rG)	3761.5/3762.5 3812.6/3814.1 3868.6/3873.3	d

^a p—3'-phosphate.

^b HPLC conditions are given in Section 4.

^c 2'-O-Methylribonucleotides are in bold.

^d Broad unresolved peak.

a dangling position and a slight destabilisation for duplexes with the 3'-phosphate group (Table 2). Other terminal modifications influence the $T_{\rm m}$ values insignificantly.

Next, we tested the suitability of 2,4-dihydroxybutyramide reagents for the generation of combinatorial libraries of oligonucleotides. We used a 1:1:1 (mol) mixture of 5a and 10a with dG phosphoramidite for synthesis of ON27 and **5b** and **10b** with 2'-OMe-rG phosphoramidite in the same ratio for synthesis of ON28. The sum of the concentrations of phosphoramidites was 0.1 M in acetonitrile. Oligonucleotides were synthesised in 'Dmt On' mode and purified by RP-HPLC (for conditions see Section 4). The purified Dmtcontaining oligomers were treated with 80% acetic acid at room temperature for 30 min, isolated by 1 M LiClO₄-acetone precipitation, and analysed by RP-HPLC and MALDI-TOF MS. In both cases, HPLC showed only one broad peak at ca. 15 min (data not shown). In the mass spectra, three main signals corresponding to individual library members were present (Fig. 2).

The spectra indicate that the reactivity of phosphoramidites derived from 2,4-dihydroxybutyramide is similar to 2'-deoxyribonucleoside phosphoramidites, and of those from 2,4-dihydroxy-3,3-dimethylbutyramide to 2'-O-methyl-ribonucleoside phosphoramidites.

3. Conclusions

Our results demonstrate that various primary and secondary aliphatic amines may be easily converted into 2,4-dihydroxybutyramide phosphoramidites and solid supports and used for the preparation of modified oligonucleotides carrying diverse functional groups, e.g., amine, imidazole or pyrene. When a mixture of modifying phosphoramidites is used, a mixture of conjugates is produced that shows the potential of the reagents for application in combinatorial chemistry.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

500 MHz ¹H, 125.7 MHz ¹³C and 202.4 MHz ³¹P NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker DRX-500 spectrometer and referenced to DMSO- d_6 (2.50 ppm for ¹H and 39.70 ppm for ¹³C), MeCN- d_3 (1.96 ppm for ¹H), MeOH- d_3 (3.34 ppm for ¹H and 49.00 ppm for ¹³C) and 85% aq H₃PO₄ (0.00 ppm for ³¹P). ¹H–¹³C gradient-selected HMQC and HMBC spectra were obtained by using 2048 (t_2)×256 (t_1) complex point data sets, zero filled to 2048 (F_2)×1024 (F_1) points. The spectral widths were 13 and 200 ppm for ¹H and ¹³C dimensions, respectively. HMBC spectra were measured with 50 ms delay for evolution of long-range couplings. Varian



Figure 1. (a) Typical RP-HPLC traces of crude (R)-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide-containing oligodeoxyribonucleotides: (1) 2-aminoethyl **ON04**, (2) N,N'-dimethyl-2-aminoethyl **ON21** and (3) 1-pyrenemethyl **ON08** (Table 1). (b) Typical RP-HPLC traces of crude (R)-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3dimethylbutyramide-containing oligodeoxyribonucleotides: (1) 2-aminoethyl **ON02**, (2) 2-(imidazol-4'-yl)ethyl **ON15** and (3) 1-pyrenemethyl **ON09** (Table 1). For HPLC conditions, see Section 4.

Unity NMR spectrometer (600 MHz) was used for measuring DQF-COSY and ROESY spectra. ¹H NMR coupling constants are reported in Hertz and refer to apparent multiplicities. ESI-TOF HRMS spectra in positive ion mode

 Table 2. Stability of various (*R*)-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide-modified oligodeoxyribonucleotides as duplexes with an unmodified complementary DNA strand

#	Modifying reagent	Position of modification	$T_{\rm m}$, °C	$\Delta T_{\rm m}/{\rm mod}, ^{\circ}{\rm C}$
ON04	6a	3'-	57.3	-0.3
ON08	14a	3'-	61.6	+4.0
ON09	14b	3'-	62.0	+4.4
ON10	14a	3'-	59.1	+1.5
ON11	14b	3'-	58.5	+0.9
ON13	10a	3'-	57.4	-0.2
ON15	10b	3'-	57.3	-0.3
ON16	10b	5'-	58.9	+1.3
ON17	10a	3'-	56.9	-0.4
ON18	10a	5'-	57.9	+0.2
ON19	10b	3'-	56.9	-0.4
ON20	10b	5'-	58.0	+0.2
ON22	5c	3'-	57.0	-0.6
ON23	5c	5'-	58.1	+0.5
ON24	5c	3'-	56.7	-0.5
ON25	5c	5'-	58.4	+0.4
ON26	5c	5'- and 3'-	56.7	-0.5



Figure 2. MALDI-TOF mass spectra of combinatorial mixtures ON27 (a) and ON28 (b).

were recorded on Micromass LCT reflection TOF mass spectrometer. IR spectra were recorded using Bruker Vector 22 spectrometer. Melting points were determined using a Boetius heating table and are uncorrected. Analytical thin-layer chromatography was performed on Kieselgel 60 F_{254} precoated aluminium plates (Merck), spots were visualised under UV light (254 nm). Silica gel column chromatography was performed using Merck Kieselgel 60 0.040–0.063 mm.

Reagents obtained from commercial suppliers were used without further purification unless otherwise noted. Diisopropylammonium tetrazolide was prepared as described.¹⁹ DCM was used freshly distilled from CaH₂. THF was freshly distilled from powdered LiAlH₄ and stored over 4 Å molecular sieves under argon. Other solvents were used as received.

Oligonucleotide synthesis was carried out on a ABI 380B DNA/RNA synthesiser either on 0.2 or 1 µmol scale using 2'-deoxynucleoside phosphoramidites from Cruachem (Scotland). The molecular mass of each oligonucleotide was checked by MALDI-TOF MS on a Perseptive Biosystems Voyager DE workstation in positive ion mode using a mixture (1:1 v/v) of 2,6-dihydroxyacetophenone (40 mg/ mL in MeOH) and aq diammonium hydrogen citrate (80 mg/mL) as a matrix premixed just before loading the samples onto a plate. Thermal denaturation experiments were performed on a Perkin–Elmer Lambda 40 UV/vis

Spectrometer with PTP 6 (Peltier Temperature Programmer) in a buffer containing 100 mM NaCl, 10 mM Na-phosphate, 0.1 mM EDTA, pH 7.0.

4.1.1. (2R)-N-(2-Aminoethyl)-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide (2a). A solution of (R)-(+)- α -hydroxy- γ -butyrolactone (1.02 g, 10 mmol) in ethylenediamine (3.5 mL, 50 mmol) was kept at 55 °C overnight, evaporated, co-evaporated with toluene (30 mL) and N,N-diisopropylethylamine (1.8 mL, 10 mmol). The residue was triturated in Et₂O under argon and dried in vacuo to vield amide 2a (1.63 g, 100%) as a white solid. ESI-TOF HRMS: $m/z = 163.1074 \text{ [M+H]}^+$, calcd for [C₆H₁₄N₂O₃+ H]⁺ 163.1077. ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 7.81 (br s, 0.19H), 7.67 (br s, 0.81H) (CONH, exchangeable with D₂O), 3.93 (dd, 1H, J₁=3.6 Hz, J₂=8.6 Hz, CHO), 3.49 (m, 2H, CH₂O), 3.40–3.00 (br, 2H, ‡ NH₂, exchangeable with D₂O), 3.07 (apparent q, 2H, J=6.3 Hz, CH₂NH), 2.57 (t, 2H, J=6.3 Hz, CH₂NH₂), 1.83 (m, 1H), 1.55 (m, 1H) (CH₂CH₂CH). ¹³C NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ 174.63 (C=O), 69.07 (CHOH), 57.92 (CH₂OH), 41.97, 41.65 (CH₂CH₂), 38.07 (CCH₂C).

4.1.2. (2R)-N-(2-Aminoethyl)-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3-dimethylbutyramide (2b). Compound 2b was prepared in a similar manner as **2a** from (R)-(-)-pantolactone (3.25 g, 25 mmol) and ethylenediamine (9 mL, 125 mmol). After coevaporation with toluene (100 mL) and N,N-diisopropylethylamine (4.4 mL, 25 mmol), trituration in Et₂O and drying, the desired amide 2b (4.76 g, 100%) was obtained as a white solid. ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=191.1388 [M+H]⁺, calcd for $[C_8H_{18}N_2O_3+H]^+$ 191.1390. IR (KBr): 3342 cm⁻¹, ν (OH, NH); 2963 cm⁻¹, ν (sp³-CH); 1654 cm⁻¹, ν (C=O); 1540 cm⁻¹, ν (NH). ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 7.81 (br s. 0.08H), 7.67 (br s, 0.92H) (CONH, exchangeable with D₂O), 3.71 (s, 1H, CHO), 3.29 (d, 1H), 3.18 (d, 1H) ($^{2}J=10.4$ Hz, CH_2O), 3.20–2.80 (br, 2H, NH₂, exchangeable with D₂O), 3.07 (m, 2H, $J_{\text{HCCH}} = J_{\text{HNCH}} = 6.4 \text{ Hz}$, $^2J = 12.8 \text{ Hz}$, $CH_2 \text{NH}$), 2.57 (m, 2H, J_{HCCH}=6.4 Hz, ²J=12.6 Hz, CH₂NH₂), 0.81 (s, 3H), 0.80 (s, 3H) (C(CH₃)₂). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 173.84 (C=O), 75.20 (CHOH), 66.18 (CH₂OH), 42.12, 41.53 (CH₂CH₂), 38.39 (CCMe₂C), 21.42, 20.81 (CH₃).

4.1.3. (2*R*)-*N*-Methyl-*N*-(2-methylaminoethyl)-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide (2c). A solution of (*R*)-(+)- α -hydroxy- γ -butyrolactone (1.02 g, 10 mmol) in *N*,*N*'-dimethylethylenediamine (5.2 mL, 50 mmol) was kept at 55 °C for 7 days, then evaporated, co-evaporated with *N*,*N*-diisopropylethylamine (1.8 mL, 10 mmol) and then toluene (3×30 mL) to give diol 2c as a yellowish viscous oil (1.90 g, quant.). ESI-TOF HRMS: *m*/*z*=191.1381 [M+H]⁺, calcd for [C₈H₁₈N₂O₃+H]⁺ 191.1390. The compound was used without further purification in the next steps.

4.1.4. (2*R*)-*N*-[2-(9-Fluorenylmethoxycarbonylamino)ethyl]-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide (3a). To a stirred solution of crude amine 2a (1.63 g, 10 mmol) in 50% aq MeCN (20 mL), a solution of FmocOSu (3.38 g, 10 mmol) in MeCN (20 mL) was added in one portion and stirring continued overnight at ambient temperature. The precipitate formed was filtered off, washed with MeCN (10 mL), Et₂O (30 mL) and dried in vacuo to yield diol 3a (2.50 g, 65%) as a white crystalline powder. An additional amount of product (0.90 g) was obtained by evaporation of combined filtrate, dissolving the residue in EtOAc (100 mL), washing with water $(2 \times 70 \text{ mL})$, drying (Na_2SO_4) , evaporation and crystallisation from ⁱPrOH. Total yield 3.40 g (88%), mp 133.5–134.0 °C (^{*i*}PrOH). *R_f* 0.13 (CHCl₃–MeOH 9:1 v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=385.1759 [M+H]⁺, calcd for $[C_{21}H_{24}N_2O_5+H]^+$ 385.1758. IR (KBr): 3321 cm⁻¹, ν (OH, NH); 2944 cm⁻¹, ν (sp³-CH); 1694 cm⁻¹, ν (C=O); 1536 cm⁻¹, ν (NH); 1451 cm⁻¹, ν (sp³-CH). ¹H NMR $(DMSO-d_6) \delta$ 7.88 (m, 2H, ArH (H-4, H-5)), 7.77 (br s, 1H, CHCONH), 7.68 (m, 2H, ArH (H-1, H-8)), 7.40 (m, 2H, ArH (H-3, H-6)), 7.33 (m, 2H, ArH (H-2, H-7)), 7.28 (br s, 1H, OCONH), 5.40 (d, 1H, J=5.4 Hz, CHOH), 4.40 (t, 1H, J=5.1 Hz, CH₂OH) (both exchangeable with D₂O), 4.30 (m, 2H, CH₂OCO), 4.21 (t, 1H, J=6.9 Hz, fluorene H-9), 3.94 (m, 1H, CHO) (in the presence of D₂O gives dd, $J_1=3.7$ Hz, $J_2=8.4$ Hz), 3.49 (m, 2H, CH₂OH), 3.16 (m, 2H), 3.07 (m, 2H) (NCH₂CH₂), 1.83 (m, 1H), 1.55 (m, 1H) (CH₂CH₂CH). ¹³C NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 174.91 (HNC=O), 156.64 (OC=O), 144.35 (2C), 141.18 (2C), 128.05 (2C), 127.51 (2C), 125.57 (2C), 120.55 (2C) (Ar, Fmoc), 69.04 (CHOH), 65.81 (CH₂OCO), 57.91 (CH₂OH), 47.18 (fluorene C-9), $\sim 40^{\ddagger}$ NCH₂), 38.66 (NCH₂), 38.04 (CCH₂C).

4.1.5. (2R)-N-[2-(9-Fluorenvlmethoxycarbonvlamino)ethyl)-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3-dimethylbutyramide (3b). Compound 3b was prepared by treatment of amine 2b (1.90 g, 10 mmol) in 50% aq MeCN (20 mL) by a solution of FmocOSu (3.38 g, 10 mmol) in MeCN (20 mL) at room temperature for 48 h. The mixture was filtered, evaporated, the residue was dissolved in EtOAc (200 mL), washed with water (150 mL), 5% NaHCO₃ (2×150 mL), then dried $(Na_2SO_4),$ evaporated, co-evaporated with toluene $(3 \times 30 \text{ mL})$ and chromatographed on silica gel column using stepwise gradient elution with $0.5 \rightarrow 1 \rightarrow 2 \rightarrow 3 \rightarrow 5 \rightarrow 8\%$ MeOH in CHCl₃ (v/v). Fractions containing product were combined, evaporated and the residue was dried in vacuo to afford pure **3b** as a white solid (3.10 g, 75%), mp 64.0-65.0 °C. *R*_f 0.17 (CHCl₃–MeOH 9:1 v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=435.1909 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₂₃H₂₈N₂O₅+Na]⁺ 435.1890. IR (KBr): 3329 cm⁻¹, ν (OH, NH); 2957 cm⁻¹, ν (sp³-CH); 1697 cm⁻¹, ν (C=O); 1537 cm⁻¹, ν (NH); 1450 cm⁻¹, ν (sp³-CH bending). ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 7.88 (d, 2H, J=7.3 Hz, ArH (H-4, H-5)), 7.74 (br s, 1H, CHCONH, exchangeable with D₂O), 7.67 (d, 2H, J=7.5 Hz, ArH (H-1, H-8)), 7.41 (m, 2H, ArH (H-3, H-6)), 7.33 (m, 2H, ArH (H-2, H-7)), 7.25 (br s, 1H, OCONH, exchangeable with D_2O), 5.33 (d, 1H, J=5.5 Hz, CHOH), 4.44 (t, 1H, J=5.5 Hz, CH₂OH) (both exchangeable with D₂O), 4.29 (m, 2H, CH₂OCO), 4.20 (m, 1H, fluorene H-9), 3.71 (d, 1H, J=5.5 Hz, CHO), 3.29 (m, 1H,[‡] CHHOH), 3.25–3.03 (m, 5H, NCH₂CH₂, CHHOH), 0.80 (s, 3H), 0.78 (s, 3H) (C(CH₃)₂). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 173.66 (HNC=O), 156.63 (OC=O), 144.35 (2C), 141.18 (2C), 128.05 (2C), 127.50 (2C), 125.56 (2C), 120.55 (2C) (Ar, Fmoc), 75.63 (CHOH), 68.48 (CH₂OCO), 65.80 (CH₂OH), 47.17 (fluorene C-9), ~40 (2C,[†] NCH₂CH₂), 38.53 (CCMe₂C), 21.40, 20.79 (CH₃).

4.1.6. (2*R*)-*N*-Methyl-*N*-(2-[methyl(9-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl)amino]ethyl)-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide (3c). The crude amine 2b (1.14 g, 6 mmol) in 50% aq MeCN

[‡] Calculated value; the signal of water or a solvent is also present in the region.

(15 mL) was treated with a solution of FmocOSu (2.03 g, 6 mmol) in MeCN (10 mL) for 48 h. The workup was similar to the above procedure. After column chromatography in $0.5 \rightarrow 1 \rightarrow 1.5 \rightarrow 2 \rightarrow 2.5\%$ MeOH in CHCl₃ (v/v) the desired compound 3c was isolated as a white foam (1.58 g, 64%), $R_f 0.36$ (CHCl₃–MeOH 9:1 v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=435.1878 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for $[C_{23}H_{28}N_2O_5+Na]^+$ 435.1890. ¹H NMR (MeCN- d_3) δ 7.85 (d, 2H, J=7.3 Hz, ArH, H-4, H-5), 7.79 (d, 0.57H, J=7.5 Hz, ArH), 7.65 (d, 1.43H, J=7.3 Hz, ArH) (H-1, H-8), 7.43 (m, 2H, ArH, H-3, H-6), 7.36 (m, 2H, ArH, H-2, H-7), 4.59–4.25 (m, 4H, CHO, CHCH2OCO), 3.85-2.33 (m, 12H, CH2OH, $N(CH_3)CH_2CH_2NCH_3$, 1.89–1.26 (m. 2H. CH_2CH_2CH). ¹³C NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 172.24 (MeNC=O), 155.80 (OC=O), 144.16 (2C), 141.09 (2C), 128.01 (2C), 127.35 (2C), 125.46 (2C), 120.47 (2C) (Ar, Fmoc), 68.88 (CHOH), 68.42 (CH₂OCO), 65.74 (CH₂OH), 47.10 (fluorene C-9), 39.55, 39.16 (NCH₂CH₂), 38.44 (CCH₂C), 35.10, 34.52 (CH₃).

4.1.7. (2*R*)-O⁴-(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)-N-[2-(9-fluorenylmethoxycarbonylamino)ethyl]-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide (4a). Diol 3a (2.50 g, 6.5 mmol) was co-evaporated with pyridine $(3 \times 20 \text{ mL})$, dissolved in dry pyridine (50 mL), cooled in an ice bath, and DmtCl (2.40 g, 7.1 mmol) was added in three portions within 1 h. After disappearance of the starting material, the excess of DmtCl was quenched with MeOH (1 mL), and after 10 min the mixture was diluted with CHCl₃ (300 mL), washed with 2.5% NaHCO₃ (3×200 mL), water (2×200 mL), 20% NaCl (200 mL), then dried (Na₂SO₄), evaporated, co-evaporated with toluene $(3 \times 30 \text{ mL})$ and the residue was chromatographed on silica gel column using stepwise gradient CHCl₃-toluene $1:2 \rightarrow 1:1 \rightarrow 2:1 \rightarrow CHCl_3+1\%$ Py (v/v/v). Fractions containing the product were combined, evaporated and the residue was dried in vacuo to afford 4a as a white foam (3.6 g, 81%), Rf 0.16 (CHCl3-EtOAc 1:1+1% Et3N v/v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=709.2869 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for $[C_{42}H_{42}N_2O_7+N_a]^+$ 709.2884. ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 7.88 (d, 2H, J=7.5 Hz, ArH (fluorene H-4, H-5)), 7.78 (br s, 1H CHCONH), 7.67 (d, J=7.3 Hz, ArH, fluorene, H-1, H-8), 7.41-7.12 (m, 14H, ArH (Dmt+fluorene H-2, H-3, H-6, H-7), OCONH), 6.86 (d, 4H, J=8.9 Hz, ArH (Dmt)), 5.37 (d, 1H, J=5.3 Hz, CHOH, exchangeable with D₂O), 4.29 (d, 2H, J=6.7 Hz, CH₂OCO), 4.18 (t, 1H, J=6.7 Hz, fluorene H-9), 3.96 (m, 1H, CHO) (in the presence of D₂O gives dd $J_1=3.5$ Hz, $J_2=8.4$ Hz), 3.72 (s, 6H, CH₃), 3.16– 2.98 (m, 6H, NCH₂CH₂, CH₂ODmt), 1.98 (m, 1H), 1.70 (m, 1H) (CH₂CH₂CH). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 174.17, 174.11 (HNC=O), 158.02, 158.00, 156.20 (OC=O), 149.69, 149.66, 149.64, 145.31, 143.95, 142.63, 140.79, 139.47, 137.48, 136.16, 136.11, 129.67, 128.97, 128.95, 128.25, 127.79, 127.73, 127.65, 127.34, 127.31, 127.11, 126.57, 125.36, 125.17, 123.94, 123.92, 121.42, 121.40, 120.15, 120.07, 120.05, 113.15, 109.76, 85.35, 68.65, 59.77, 55.05 (OMe), 46.79, 34.74, 21.08.

4.1.8. (2*R*)- O^4 -(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)-*N*-[2-(9-fluorenylmethoxycarbonylamino)ethyl]-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3-dimethylbutyramide (4b). Diol 3b (2.10 g, 5 mmol) was tritylated in a similar manner with DmtCl (1.90 g, 5.5 mmol). Yield 3.50 g (97%), white foam, R_f 0.22 (CHCl₃-EtOAc 1:1+1% Et₃N v/v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=737.3205 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₄₄H₄₆N₂O₇+Na]⁺ 737.3197. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 7.88 (d, 2H, *J*=7.3 Hz, ArH (fluorene H-4, H-5)), 7.71 (br s, 1H, CHCONH), 7.66 (d, 2H, J=7.3 Hz, ArH (fluorene H-1, H-8), 7.43-7.16 (m, 14H, ArH (fluorene H-2, H-3, H-6, H-7, Dmt), OCONH), 6.86 (d, 4H, J=8.9 Hz, ArH (Dmt)), 5.36 (d, 1H, J=5.3 Hz, OH, exchangeable with D₂O), 4.28 (m, 2H, CH_2OCO , 4.21 (m, 1H, fluorene H-9), 3.80 (d, 1H, J= 5.3 Hz, CHO), 3.72 (s, 6H, OCH₃), 3.17-2.98 (m, 5H, NCH₂CH₂, CHHODmt), 2.75 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J=8.3$ Hz, CHHODmt), 0.92 (s, 3H), 0.78 (s, 3H) (C(CH₃)₂), 13 C NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ 172.73 (HNC=O), 157.97, 157.95, 157.93, 156.22 (OC=O), 149.66, 145.49, 143.94, 140.78, 136.21, 136.16, 136.11, 129.87, 129.83, 128.96, 128.94, 128.24, 127.88, 127.69, 127.65, 127.33, 127.09, 126.50, 125.36, 125.15, 123.94, 121.42, 120.16, 113.03, 84.95, 75.27, 68.36, 65.40, 55.05, 55.03, 55.00 (OMe), 46.78, 38.60, 38.12, 22.21, 21.08, 20.51.

4.1.9. (2R)- O^4 -(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)-N-methyl-N-(2-[methyl-N'-(9-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl)amino]ethyl)-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide (4c). Compound 4c was prepared from 3c (1.48 g, 3.6 mmol) and DmtCl (1.37 g, 3.95 mmol). The product was purified by column chromatography in CHCl₃-toluene \rightarrow 1:4 \rightarrow 1:1 \rightarrow 2:1 \rightarrow CHCl₃+1% Py (v/v/v). Yield 2.28 g (89%), white foam, R_f 0.27 (CHCl₃-EtOAc 1:1+1% Et₃N v/v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=737.3202 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₄₄H₄₆N₂O₇+Na]⁺ 737.3197. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 7.87 (m, 2H, ArH (fluorene H-4, H-5)), 7.58 (m, 2H, ArH (fluorene H-1, H-8)), 7.42-7.12 (m, 13H, ArH (fluorene H-2, H-3, H-6, H-7, Dmt)), 6.84 (m, 4H, ArH (Dmt)), 4.79 (m, 1H, OH, exchangeable with D₂O), 4.63–4.20 (m, 4H, CHO, CHCH₂OCO), 3.72 (s, 6H, OCH₃), 3.55–2.55 (m, 12H, N(CH₃)CH₂CH₂NCH₃, CH₂ODmt), 1.83-1.43 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₂CH). ¹³C NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ 173.00, 172.93 (MeNC=O), 158.03, 157.68 (OC=O), 143.97, 143.90, 143.85, 142.63, 140.81, 139.47, 137.48, 136.06, 136.00, 129.65, 128.96, 128.94, 128.24, 127.80, 127.70, 127.65, 127.33, 127.12, 126.61, 125.35, 124.95, 121.41, 120.11, 120.06, 120.04, 113.15, 113.11, 109.76, 85.46, 65.06, 64.98, 59.87, 55.06, 55.05, 55.02 (OMe), 34.45, 21.08.

4.1.10. (2R)- O^4 -(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)-N-methyl-N-(2-[N'-methyl-N'-trifluoroacetylamino]ethyl)-2,4-dihydroxy**butyramide** (4d). The crude diol 2c (0.75 g, 4 mmol) was co-evaporated with dry MeOH (20 mL), dissolved in the mixture of MeOH (10 mL), Et₃N (0.6 mL, 4 mmol) and CF₃CO₂Me (2.0 mL 10 mmol). The mixture was stirred at ambient temperature for 30 min and evaporated to give crude **3d**. This was co-evaporated with pyridine and tritylated with DmtCl (2.02 g, 6.0 mmol) as above. The product 4d was chromatographed on silica gel eluting with CHCl₃-toluene $1:2 \rightarrow 1:1 \rightarrow CHCl_3+0.25\%$ Et₃N (v/v/v). Yield 1.44 g (93%) as a white foam, R_f 0.23 (CHCl₃-EtOAc 1:1+1%) Et₃N v/v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=611.2331 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for $[C_{31}H_{35}F_{3}N_{2}O_{6}+Na]^{+}$ 611.2339. ¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆) & 7.38-7.21 (m, 9H, ArH (Dmt)), 6.87 (d, 4H, J=8.7 Hz, ArH (Dmt)), 5.07 (d, 0.04H, J=7.8 Hz), 4.91 (d, 0.16H, J=7.8 Hz), 4.75 (d, 0.19H, J=7.8 Hz), 4.59 (d, 0.61H, J=8.0 Hz) (OH, exchangeable with D₂O), 4.42 (m, 1H, CHO), 3.73 (s, 6H, OCH₃), 3.80–3.26 (m, 4H,^{\ddagger} CH₂O, CH₂NTfa), 3.15–2.78 (m, 8H, N(CH₃)CH₂CH₂N(CH₃)Tfa),

1.86–1.50 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₂CH). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 173.90, 173.58, 172.96 (MeNC=O), 158.05, 156.13, 155.85, 155.57, 145.24, 145.18, 136.03, 129.62, 128.93, 128.24, 127.81, 127.77, 127.72, 127.66, 126.62, 125.35, 117.49, 115.18, 113.17, 113.13, 85.46, 65.13, 64.98, 59.86, 55.05 (OMe), 45.94, 45.76, 43.76, 40.19, 40.02, 39.86, 35.39, 35.03, 34.85, 34.82, 34.80, 34.53, 34.44, 34.36, 33.46.

4.1.11. (2R)- O^4 -(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)- O^2 -(N,N-diisopropylamino-2-cyanoethoxyphosphinyl)-N-[2-(9-fluorenylmethoxycarbonylamino)ethyl]-2.4-dihydroxybutyramide (5a). Compound 4a (1.38 g, 2 mmol) was coevaporated with dry DCM (2×20 mL), dissolved in dry DCM, diisopropylammonium tetrazolide (0.51 g, 3 mmol) bis(N,N-diisopropylamino)-2-cyanoethoxyphosphine and (1 mL, 3 mmol) were added, and the mixture was stirred under argon for 2 h. After conversion of the starting compound is complete (monitoring by TLC, CHCl₃-EtOAc 1:1+1% Et₃N v/v/v) the mixture was diluted with EtOAc and washed with 5% NaHCO₃ (2×100 mL) and 20% NaCl (100 mL). The organic layer was dried over Na₂SO₄, evaporated to dryness, and the residue was dissolved in 30 mL DCM and precipitated into cold $(-10 \degree C)$ hexane (500 mL), the solid was filtered off, co-evaporated with dry DCM (3×20 mL) and dried in vacuo to afford phosphoramidite **5a** (1.51 g, 85%) as a white foam, R_f 0.34, 0.43 (CHCl₃-EtOAc 1:1+1%) Et₃N v/v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=909.4066 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₅₁H₅₉N₄O₈P+Na]⁺ 909.3963. ³¹P NMR (MeCN- d_3) δ 151.13, 148.73 (diastereomers, ~1:2). ¹H NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 7.85-7.19 (m, 18H, ArH (fluorene, Dmt), CCONH), 6.94 (m, 1H, OCONH), 6.84 (m, 4H, ArH (Dmt)), 4.35–4.01 (m, 4H, CHCH₂OCO, CHO), 3.76 (m, 6H, OCH₃), 3.65–2.48 (m, 12H, NCH₂CH₂, POCH₂CH₂, NCH, CH2ODmt), 2.18-2.00 (m, 2H, CH2CH2CH), 1.30-0.96 (m, 12H, CH₃ (ⁱPr)). ¹³C NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 173.57, 173.27, 173.16 (HNC=O), 159.49, 157.49 (OC=O), 146.37, 145.14, 142.08, 137.31, 130.86, 128.96, 128.67, 128.63, 128.06, 127.60, 126.34, 126.10, 120.91, 113.91, 86.88, 86.77, 72.09, 66.98, 60.55, 60.26, 59.74, 59.59, 59.12, 58.07, 55.81 (OMe), 55.24, 48.09, 47.19, 45.96, 43.99, 43.89, 41.49, 39.73, 35.29, 34.84, 24.87, 23.12, 23.05, 21.91, 20.86, 20.51, 19.99.

4.1.12. (2R)- O^4 -(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)- O^2 -(N,N-diisopropylamino-2-cyanoethoxyphosphinyl)-N-[2-(9-fluorenylmethoxycarbonylamino)ethyl]-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3-dimethylbutyramide (5b). Compound 4b (1.87 g, 2.6 mmol) was phosphitylated as above with diisopropylammonium tetrazolide (0.67 g, 3.9 mmol) and bis(N,N-diisopropylamino)-2-cyanoethoxyphosphine (1.27 mL, 3.9 mmol) to afford **5b** (1.60 g, 67%) as a white foam. ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=937.4284 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₅₃H₆₃N₄O₈P+Na]⁺ 937.4276. ³¹P NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 152.38, 149.04 (diastereomers, ~1:2). ¹H NMR (MeCN- d_3) δ 7.84 (d, 2H, J=7.4 Hz, ArH (fluorene H-4, H-5)), 7.66 (m, 2H, ArH (fluorene H-1, H-8)), 7.48-7.22 (m, 15H, ArH (fluorene H-2, H-3, H-6, H-7, Dmt), CHCONH, OCONH), 6.86 (m, 4H, ArH (Dmt)), 4.37-4.31 (m, 2H, CH₂OCO), 4.23 (m, 1H, fluorene H-9), 4.03-3.92 (m, 1H, CHO), 3.77 (c, 6H, OCH₃), 3.73-2.70 (m, 10H, NCH₂CH₂, POCH₂, NCH, CH₂ODmt), 2.46 (t, 0.8H, J=6.0 Hz), 2.29 (t, 1.2H, J=6.0 Hz) (CH₂CN, diastereomers), 1.28-0.95 (m, 18H, CH₂C(CH₃)₂CH, CH₃ $({}^{i}Pr)$). ${}^{13}C$ NMR (MeCN- d_3) δ 171.71 (HNC=O), 159.46, 157.51 (OC=O), 146.53, 145.17, 142.08, 137.23, 131.21, 131.13, 129.19, 129.08, 128.61, 128.05, 127.55, 126.05, 120.91, 119.41, 113.78, 86.54, 78.96, 69.24, 68.85, 66.99, 66.87, 59.79, 59.64, 59.06, 55.81 (OMe), 55.24, 48.06, 47.27, 45.91, 44.18, 44.04, 43.94, 41.48, 40.06, 39.78, 25.03, 24.83, 23.05, 22.83, 22.24, 21.41, 20.87, 20.19.

4.1.13. (2R)- O^4 -(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)- O^2 -(N,N-diisopropylamino-2-cyanoethoxyphosphinyl)-N-methyl-N-(2-[methyl(trifluoroacetyl)amino]ethyl)-2,4-dihydroxybutvramide (5c). Compound 4d (1.18 g. 2.0 mmol) was phosphitylated with diisopropylammonium tetrazolide (510 mg, 3.0 mmol) and bis(N,N-diisopropylamino)-2-cyanoethoxyphosphine (1.0 mL, 3 mmol) under argon for 2 h. The conversion of the starting material was monitored by TLC (CHCl₃-EtOAc 1:1+1% Et₃N v/v/v). The compound was precipitated from DCM (30 mL) into cold hexane. Yield 1.18 g (77%), white foam, R_f 0.29, 0.39 (CHCl₃-EtOAc 1:1+1% Et₃N v/v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: *m*/*z*=811.3442 $[M+Na]^+$, calcd for $[C_{40}H_{52}F_3N_4O_7P+Na]^+$ 811.3418. ³¹P NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 150.42 (0.19P), 150.03 (0.36P), 149.86 (0.11P), 149.30 (0.34P). ¹H NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 7.49-7.20 (m, 9H, ArH (Dmt)), 6.89 (m, 4H, ArH (Dmt)), 4.88-4.64 (m, 0.44H), 4.20-4.02 (m, 0.56H) (CHO), 3.79 (m, 6H, OCH₃), 3.71–2.48 (m, 18H, POCH₂CH₂, NCH, CH₂ODmt, $CH_3NCH_2CH_2NCH_3)$, 2.14–1.81 (m, 2H,[‡] CH₂CH₂CH), 1.29–1.03 (m, 12H, CH₃ (^{*i*}Pr)). ¹³C NMR (MeCN- d_3) δ 172.59 (MeNC=O), 159.57, 146.41, 146.11, 137.23, 130.85, 128.87, 128.72, 127.68, 119.49, 113.95, 87.04, 86.88, 69.15, 60.88, 60.49, 59.61, 59.45, 59.28, 59.12, 55.83, 55.24 (OMe), 47.18, 46.72, 45.97, 45.22, 43.95, 43.85, 35.83, 35.68, 34.95, 24.90, 24.80, 24.74, 23.13, 23.06, 20.88.

4.1.14. (2R)-N-[2-(Imidazol-4-yl)ethyl]-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide (7a). A solution of (R)-(+)- α -hydroxy- γ -butyrolactone (1.02 g, 10 mmol) and histamine (1.17 g, 10 mmol) in EtOH (10 mL) was kept at 55 °C for 24 h. The solid formed was filtered off, washed with EtOH (5 mL), Et₂O $(2 \times 5 \text{ mL})$ and dried in vacuo to afford **7a** (1.77 g, 83%) as white crystals, mp 149.0-149.5 °C (EtOH). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=214.1187 [M+H]⁺, calcd for [C₉H₁₅N₃O₃+ H]⁺ 214.1186. IR (KBr): 3392 cm⁻¹, ν (OH); 3164 cm⁻¹, ν (NH); 2904 cm⁻¹, ν (sp³-CH); 1644 cm⁻¹, ν (C=O); 1533 cm⁻¹, ν (NH). ¹H NMR (CD₃OD) δ 7.61 (m, 1H, imidazole H-2), 6.89 (br s, 1H, imidazole H-5), 4.14 (dd, 1H, J₁=3.7 Hz, J₂=8.6 Hz, CHO), 3.71 (m, 2H, CH₂O), 3.51 (t, 2H, J=7.0 Hz, NCH₂), 2.82 (t, 2H, J=7.0 Hz, NCH₂CH₂), 2.01 (m, 1H), 1.74 (m, 1H) (CH_2CH_2CH). ¹³C NMR (CD₃OD) δ 177.21 (CO), 136.13 (3C, imidazole C-2, C-4, C-5), 70.56 (CHOH), 59.57 (CH₂OH), 39.88, 38.23 (NCH₂CH₂), 27.80 (CH₂CH₂CH).

4.1.15. (2*R*)-*N*-{2-[1-(*tert*-Butoxycarbonyl)imidazol-4yl]ethyl}-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide (8a). To a stirred solution of diol 7a (0.745 g, 3.5 mmol) in 50% aq dioxan (50 mL), Boc₂O (0.839 g, 3.8 mmol) was added at room temperature and stirring was continued for 5 h. After completion of the reaction (monitored by TLC, CHCl₃–MeOH 4:1 v/v), the solvent was evaporated, and the residue was chromatographed on a silica gel column using stepwise gradient elution with $0 \rightarrow 2 \rightarrow 4 \rightarrow 6 \rightarrow 8\%$ MeOH in CHCl₃. Yield 0.83 g (76%), white crystals, mp 92.0–93.0 °C. R_f 0.37

(CHCl₃-MeOH 5:1 v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: *m*/*z*=314.1715 $[M+H]^+$, calcd for $[C_{14}H_{23}N_3O_5+H]^+$ 314.1710. IR (KBr): 3428 cm⁻¹, ν (OH); 3316 cm⁻¹, 3103 cm⁻¹, ν (NH); 2938 cm⁻¹, ν (sp³-CH); 1653 cm⁻¹, ν (C=O); 1536 cm⁻¹, ν (NH). ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 8.10 (br s, 1H, imidazole H-2), 7.79 (m, 1H, CONH, exchangeable with D_2O), 7.28 (br s, 1H, imidazole H-5), 5.41 (d, 1H, J=5.5 Hz, CHOH), 4.39 (t, 1H, J=5.3 Hz, CH₂OH) (both exchangeable with D₂O), 3.91 (m, 1H, CHO), 3.48 (m, 2H, CH₂O), 3.33 (m, $2H^{\ddagger}_{,}$ NCH₂), 2.63 (t, 2H, J=7.0 Hz, NCH₂CH₂), 1.81 (m, 1H. CH₂CHHCH), 1.52 (m, 10H, CH₃ (Boc), CH₂CHHCH). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 174.53 (HNC=OC), 147.19 (NCOO), 141.45 (imidazole C-4), 137.14 (imidazole C-2), 113.86 (imidazole C-4), 85.48 (C(CH₃)₃), 69.01 (CHOH), (CH₂OH), 37.97 (2C, NCH₂CH₂), 57.91 28.22 (CH₂CH₂CH), 27.85 (3C, CH₃).

4.1.16. (2R)-N-{2-[1-(tert-Butoxycarbonyl)imidazol-4yl]ethyl}-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3-dimethylbutyramide (8b1) and (2R)-N-{2-[1-(tert-butoxycarbonyl)imidazol-5yl]ethyl}-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3-dimethylbutyramide (8b2). A solution of (R)-(-)-pantolactone (4.3 g, 33 mmol) and histamine (3.3 g, 30 mmol) in abs EtOH (20 mL) was kept at 55 °C for 72 h, then evaporated, co-evaporated with toluene to afford (2R)-N-[2-(imidazol-4-yl)ethyl]-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3-dimethylbutyramide 7b as a yellow oil. The product was used without further purification. ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=242.1501 [M+H]⁺, calcd for [C₁₁H₁₉N₃O₃+H]⁺ 242.1499. The crude **7b** was treated with Boc_2O (7.20 g, 33 mmol) in 50% aq dioxane (50 mL) as above to afford two isomers, 8b1 (3.88 g, 38%) and 8b2 (1.75 g, 17%) as white solids, $R_f 0.54$ and 0.48, correspondingly (CHCl₃-MeOH 4:1 v/v). 'Fast moving' product 8b1: ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=342.2019 [M+H]⁺, calcd for [C₁₆H₂₇N₃O₅+ H]⁺ 342.2023. ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 8.10 (br s, 1H, imidazole H-2), 7.75 (m, 1H, CONH, exchangeable with D₂O), 7.29 (br s, 1H, imidazole H-5), 5.31 (d, 1H, J=5.5 Hz, CHOH), 4.43 (t, 1H, J=5.4 Hz, CH₂OH) (both exchangeable with D₂O), 3.69 (d, 1H, J=5.5 Hz, CHO), 3.44-3.14 (m, 4H, CH_2O (²J=10.3 Hz, J_{HCOH}=5.4 Hz), NCH₂), 2.64 (m, 2H, NCH₂CH₂), 1.55 (s, 9H, CH₃ (Boc)), 0.77 (s, 3H), 0.75 (s, 3H) $(C(CH_3)_2)$. ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 173.30 (HNC=OC), 147.19 (NCOO), 141.47 (imidazole C-4), 137.13 (imidazole C-2), 113.94 (imidazole C-4), 85.43 (C(CH₃)₃), 75.58 (CHOH), 68.52 (CH₂OH), ~40,[‡] 37.97 (NCH₂CH₂), 28.23 (CH₂CCH), 27.85 (3C, CH₃), 21.29, 20.75 (C(CH₃)₂). 'Slow moving' product **8b2**: ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=342.2013 $[M+H]^+$, calcd for $[C_{16}H_{27}N_3O_5+H]^+$ 342.2023. The compound purified by column chromatography was kept at 4 °C for one month before recording its NMR spectrum. NMR (as well as TLC) showed considerable $\pi \rightarrow \tau$ Boc migration (conversion >50%). ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6) of 'slow moving' product 8b2 (deduced from NMR spectrum of the mixture of **8b1** and **8b2**) δ 8.08 (br s, 1H, imidazole H-2), 7.76 (m, 1H, CONH, exchangeable with D_2O), 6.79 (br s, 1H, imidazole H-4), 5.31 (d, 1H, J=5.5 Hz, CHOH), 4.44 (t, 1H, J=5.4 Hz, CH₂OH) (both exchangeable with D₂O), 3.70 (d, 1H, J=5.5 Hz, CHO), 3.45–3.13 (m, 4H,[†] CH₂O, NCH₂), 2.91 (m, 2H, NCH₂CH₂), 1.57 (s, 9H, CH₃ (Boc)), 0.77 (s, 3H), 0.76 (s, 3H) (C(CH₃)₂).

4.1.17. (2*R*)-O⁴-(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)-*N*-{2-[1-(*tert*-butoxycarbonyl)imidazol-4-yl]ethyl}-2,4-dihydroxybutyr-

amide (9a). Diol 8a (0.78 g, 2.5 mmol) was tritylated with DmtCl (0.93 g, 2.75 mmol) according to the procedure for 4a. The product was purified by chromatography using a stepwise gradient CHCl₃-toluene $1:2 \rightarrow 1:1 \rightarrow 2:1 \rightarrow CHCl_3+$ 0.25% Py (v/v/v), then $10\% \rightarrow 50\%$ EtOAc in CHCl₃+ 0.25% Py (v/v/v). Yield 1.31 g (86%), white foam, R_f 0.46 (CHCl₃-MeOH 20:1+1% Et₃N v/v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=638.2766 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₃₅H₄₁N₃O₇+Na]⁺ 638.2837. ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 8.10 (br s, 1H, imidazole H-2), 7.80 (m, 1H, CONH (exchangeable with D_2O)), 7.37-7.22 (m. 10H, ArH (Dmt), imidazole H-5), 6.87 (d. 4H, J=8.9 Hz, ArH (Dmt)), 5.40 (d, 1H, J=5.7 Hz, CHOH, exchangeable with D₂O), 3.98 (m, 1H, CHO), 3.72 (s, 6H, OCH_3), 3.30 (m, $2H^{\ddagger}$), 3.04 (m, 2H) (CH_2N , CH_2O), 2.58 (t, 2H, J=7.0 Hz, NCH₂CH₂), 1.96 (m, 3H), 1.69 (m, 3H) (CH₂CH₂CH), 1.55 (s, 9H, CH₃ (Boc)). ¹³C NMR (DMSO d_6) δ 173.76 (HNC=O), 158.01, 146.80, 145.29, 141.03, 136.74, 136.10, 136.07, 129.66, 128.94, 128.24, 127.78, 127.72, 126.56, 125.36, 113.42, 113.14, 85.35, 85.08, 68.60, 59.73, 55.05 (OMe), 37.60, 34.77, 27.81, 27.49, 27.48, 27.45, 27.43, 27.41 (CMe₃), 21.08.

4.1.18. (2R)- O^4 -(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)-N-{2-[1-(tertbutoxycarbonyl)imidazol-4-yl]ethyl}-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3dimethylbutyramide (9b1) and $(2R)-O^4-(4,4')$ -dimethoxytrityl)-N-{2-[1-(tert-butyloxycarbonyl)imidazol-5yl]ethyl}-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3-dimethylbutyramide (9b2). The 'fast moving' product 8b1 (3.7 g, 11 mmol) was tritylated with DmtCl (4.15 g, 12 mmol) as described above and isolated from silica gel column eluted with CHCl3toluene $1:2 \rightarrow 1:1 \rightarrow 2:1 \rightarrow CHCl_3 + 0.25\%$ Py (v/v/v), then $2.5\% \rightarrow 5\%$ EtOAc in CHCl₃+0.25% Py (v/v/v). Fractions containing products were combined, evaporated and the residues were dried in vacuo to afford 9b1 (3.95 g, 55%) and 9b2 (2.60 g, 37%) as white foams, $R_f 0.53$ and 0.47, correspondingly (CHCl₃-MeOH 20:1+1% Et₃N v/v/v). 'Fast moving' product **9b1**: ESI-TOF HRMS: *m*/*z*=666.3163 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₃₇H₄₅N₃O₇+Na]⁺ 666.3150. ¹H NMR (MeCN d_3) δ 7.96 (m, 1H, imidazole H-2), 7.48–7.15 (m, 10H, ArH (Dmt), imidazole H-5), 6.94 (br s, 1H, CONH (exchangeable with D₂O)), 6.86 (d, 4H, J=8.8 Hz, ArH (Dmt)), 3.94 (d, 1H, J=5.7 Hz, OH (exchangeable with D₂O)), 3.78 (s, 6H, OCH₃), 3.67 (d, 1H, J=5.7 Hz, CHO), 3.37 (m, 2H, CH_2N), 3.07 (d, 1H, ²J=8.7 Hz), 2.85 (d, 1H, ²J=8.7 Hz) (CH₂O), 2.61 (m, 2H, NCH₂CH₂), 1.60 (s, 9H, CH_3 (Boc)), 0.96 (s, 3H), 0.88 (s, 3H) (C(CH_3)₂). ¹³C NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 172.96 (HNC=O), 158.47, 145.98, 145.46, 141.37, 136.89, 136.58, 136.39, 129.90, 128.78, 128.55, 127.83, 127.72, 126.91, 125.40, 113.88, 113.69, 86.55, 86.38, 68.85, 59.37, 55.03 (OMe), 38.43, 34.87, 28.01, 27.87, 27.63, 27.57, 27.39, 27.31 (CMe₃), 21.29, 21.18, 19.95. Compound 9b2 was stored at 4 °C for one month before recording its NMR spectrum. NMR and TLC showed complete conversion $9b2 \rightarrow 9b1$ during storage.

4.1.19. (2*R*)- O^4 -(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)- O^2 -(*N*,*N*-diisopropylamino-2-cyanoethoxyphosphinyl)-*N*-{2-[1-(*tert*-butoxy-carbonyl)imidazol-4-yl]ethyl}-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide (10a). Compound 9a (1.23 g, 2.0 mmol) was phosphitylated with bis(*N*,*N*-diisopropylamino)-2-cyanoethoxyphosphine (0.95 mL, 3 mmol) and diisopropylammonium tetrazolide (510 mg, 3.0 mmol) to afford phosphoramidite 10a (1.29 g, 80%) as a white foam, R_f 0.37, 0.26 (CHCl₃-EtOAc

1:1+1% Et₃N v/v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=838.3908 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₄₄H₅₈N₅O₈P+Na]⁺ 838.3915. ³¹P NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 150.61, 148.64 (diastereomers, ~9:10). ¹H NMR (MeCN- d_3) δ 8.01 (br s, 1H, imidazole H-2), 7.46-7.17 (m, 10H, ArH (Dmt), imidazole H-5), 7.07 (m, 0.59H), 7.01 (m, 0.41H) (CONH, diastereomers), 6.87 (m, 4H, ArH (Dmt)), 4.31 (m, 0.41H), 4.24 (m, 0.59H) (CHO, diastereomers), 3.78 (s, 6H, OCH₃), 3.67-2.51 (m, 12H, CH₂O, NCH₂CH₂ POCH₂CH₂, NCH), 2.18–2.00 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₂CH), 1.61 (s, 9H, CH₃ (Boc)), 1.27–0.98 (m, 12H, CH_3 (ⁱPr)). ¹³C NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 170.23 (HNC=O). 158.87, 147.16, 145.97, 141.67, 137.12, 136.19, 130.27, 129.71, 128.47, 127.98, 127.36, 126.87, 119.99, 113.88, 113.11, 85.44, 77.77, 68.32, 59.12, 58.84, 55.14 (OMe), 44.88, 42.52, 42.35, 38.05, 37.86, 27.54 (CMe₃), 24.78, 24.17, 23.06, 22.24, 22.08, 19.97.

4.1.20. (2R)- O^4 -(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)- O^2 -(N,N-diisopropylamino-2-cyanoethoxyphosphinyl)-N-{2-[1-(tertbutoxycarbonyl)imidazol-4-yl]ethyl}-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3dimethylbutyramide (10b). Compound 9b1 (3.22 g, 5.0 mmol) was phosphitylated with bis(N,N-diisopropylamino)-2-cyanoethoxyphosphine (2.38 mL, 7.5 mmol) and diisopropylammonium tetrazolide (1.28 g, 7.5 mmol) to give compound 10b as a white foam (2.36 g, 60%), R_f 0.38, 0.30 (CHCl₃-EtOAc 1:1+1% Et₃N v/v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=866.4238 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₄₆H₆₂N₅ O₈P+Na]⁺ 866.4228. ³¹P NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 152.29, 149.11 (diastereomers, ~9:10). ¹H NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 7.97 (br s, 1H, imidazole H-2), 7.49–7.18 (m, 11H, ArH (Dmt), imidazole H-5, CONH), 6.87 (m, 4H, ArH (Dmt)), 3.97 (d, 0.55H, J_{HCOP} =12.9 Hz), 3.93 (d, 0.45H, J_{HCOP} =9.9 Hz) (CHO, diastereomers), 3.79 (m, 6H, OCH₃), 3.75-2.51 (m, 12H, CH₂O, NCH₂CH₂, POCH₂CH₂, NCH), 1.59 (s, 9H, CH_3 (Boc)), 1.27–0.94 (m, 18H, C(CH_3)₂, CH₃ (^{*i*}Pr)). ¹³C NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 169.16 (HNC=O), 157.99, 146.76, 145.27, 140.91, 136.72, 135.88, 129.94, 129.81, 127.93, 127.80, 127.67, 126.54, 118.79, 113.58, 112.98, 85.08, 77.31, 67.91, 58.62, 58.23, 55.03 (OMe), 44.58, 42.82, 42.55, 37.76, 37.53, 27.43 (CMe₃), 24.27, 24.08, 22.66, 22.16, 21.96, 21.10, 20.67, 19.81, 19.42.

4.1.21. (2R)-N-(Pyren-1-ylmethyl)-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide (11a). A solution of (R)-(+)- α -hydroxy- γ -butyrolactone (1.02 g, 10 mmol) and 1-pyrenemethylamine (2 g, 9 mmol) in ethanol (5 mL) was kept at 55 °C for one week, evaporated and co-evaporated with toluene. The residue was triturated in EtOAc-toluene and dried in vacuo to yield amide 11a (2.62 g, 88%) as white crystals, mp 162.0–164.0 °C (EtOAc-toluene). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=356.1260 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₂₁H₁₉NO₃+Na]⁺ 356.1257. IR (KBr): 3330 cm^{-1} , ν (OH); 3273 cm^{-1} , ν (NH); 3040 cm⁻¹, ν (sp²-CH); 1642 cm⁻¹, ν (C=O); 1537 cm⁻¹, ν (NH); 1044 cm⁻¹, ν (C–O); 839 cm⁻¹, ν (ArH). ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 8.42 (m, 2H, ArH (H-10), NH), 8.33-8.04 (m, 8H, ArH), 5.52 (d, 1H, J= 5.1 Hz, CHOH, exchangeable with D_2O), 5.05 (d, 2H, J=5.1 Hz, NCH₂), 4.43 (m, 1H, CH₂OH, exchangeable with D_2O , 4.07 (m, 1H, CHO) (in the presence of D_2O gives dd with $J_1=3.1$ Hz and $J_2=7.1$ Hz), 3.53 (m, 2H, CH₂O), 1.92 (m, 1H), 1.64 (m, 1H) (CH₂CH₂CH). ¹³C NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 174.68 (CO), 133.61, 131.25, 130.76, 130.44, 128.41, 127.90, 127.83, 127.39, 126.90, 126.65, 125.62, 125.56, 125.11, 124.44 (2C), 123.69 (pyrene), 69.19 (CHOH), 57.94 (CH₂OH), $\sim 40^{\ddagger}$ (NCH₂), 38.22 (CCH₂C).

4.1.22. (2R)-N-(Pyren-1-ylmethyl)-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3dimethylbutyramide (11b). A solution of (R)-(-)-pantolactone (3.25 g, 25 mmol) and 1-pyrenemethylamine (4.6 g, 20 mmol) in acetone (50 mL) was kept at 55 °C for 7 days, then evaporated and chromatographed on silica gel column using stepwise gradient CHCl₃-toluene $1:1 \rightarrow$ $2:1 \rightarrow CHCl_3$ (v/v), then $0.5\% \rightarrow 1\% \rightarrow 2\%$ MeOH in $CHCl_3$ (v/v). Fractions containing the product were combined, evaporated and the residue was dried in vacuo to afford pure **11b** (6.64 g, 92%) as a yellow foam, R_f 0.24 (CHCl₃–MeOH 4:1 (v/v)). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=384.1577 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₂₃H₂₃NO₃+Na]⁺ 384.1570. IR (KBr): 3396 cm⁻¹, ν (OH); 3041 cm⁻¹, ν (sp²-CH); 1649 cm⁻¹, ν (C=O); 1529 cm⁻¹, ν (NH); 1041 cm⁻¹, ν (C-O); 841 cm⁻¹, ν (Ar-H). ¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆) & 8.49 (d, 1H, J=8.1 Hz, ArH (H-10)), 8.38 (m, 1H, NH, exchangeable with D₂O), 8.32-8.06 (m, 8H, ArH), 5.43 (d, 1H, J=4.1 Hz, CHOH, exchangeable with D_2O), 5.04 (m, 2H, J_{HNCH} =5.1 Hz, 2J =12.2 Hz, NCH₂), 4.45 (m, 1H, CH₂OH, exchangeable with D₂O), 3.85 (d, J=4.1 Hz, CHO), 3.30 (m, 1H[‡]), 3.20 (m, 1H) (CH₂O, in the presence of D₂O gives two d, ${}^{2}J=9.2$ Hz), 0.82 (s, 3H), 0.79 (s, 3H) (C(CH₃)₂). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 173.38 (CO), 133.67, 131.24, 130.78, 130.47, 128.47, 127.83 (2C), 127.40, 126.84, 126.63, 125.60 (2C), 125.04, 124.45 (2C), 123.93 (pyrene), 75.71 (CHOH), 68.46 (CH₂OH), ~ 40^{\ddagger} (NCH₂), 37.21 (C(CH₃)₂), 21.51, 20.83 (CH₃).

4.1.23. (2R)- O^4 -(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)-N-(pyren-1-ylmethyl)-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide (12a). Diol 11a (1.29 g, 3.9 mmol) was tritylated with DmtCl (1.40 g, 4.1 mmol) as described for 4a. The product was purified by chromatography in CHCl₃-toluene $1:21:1 \rightarrow 2:1 \rightarrow$ CHCl₃+0.25% Py (v/v/v), then $10\% \rightarrow 50\%$ EtOAc in CHCl₃+0.25% Py (v/v/v). Yield 1.33 g (62%), white foam, R_f 0.28 (CHCl₃-EtOAc 1:1+1% Et₃N v/v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=658.2572 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₄₂H₃₇NO₅+ Na]⁺ 658.2564. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 8.42–7.99 (m, 10H, NH, ArH (pyrene)), 7.36–7.13 (m, 9H, ArH (Dmt)), 6.81 (m, 4H, ArH (Dmt)), 5.50 (d, 1H, J=4.1 Hz, OH, exchangeable with D₂O), 5.01 (m, 2H, J_{HNCH}=5.1 Hz, $^{2}J=12.2$ Hz, NCH₂), 4.12 (m, 1H, CHO) (in the presence of D₂O gives dd with J_1 =3.1 Hz and J_2 =6.1 Hz), 3.69 (s, 6*H*, CH₃), 3.07 (m, 2H, CH₂O), 2.04 (m, 1H), 1.82 (m, 1H) (CH₂CH₂CH). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 173.80 (CO), 157.98, 145.33, 137.39, 136.13, 136.07, 133.11, 130.85, 130.35, 130.05, 129.65, 128.94, 128.24, 128.03, 127.78, 127.69, 127.49, 127.43, 127.01, 126.60, 126.55, 126.25, 125.35, 125.24, 125.17, 124.68, 124.06, 124.01, 123.29, 113.10, 85.36, 68.73 (CHOH), 59.68, 55.01 (OMe), 34.88 (CCH₂C).

4.1.24. (2*R*)- O^4 -(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)-*N*-(pyren-1-ylmethyl)-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3-dimethylbutyramide (12b). Diol **11b** (6.48 g, 18 mmol) was tritylated with DmtCl (6.80 g, 20 mmol) as above. The compound was chromatographed on a silica gel column eluted with 2.5% \rightarrow 5% \rightarrow 7.5% \rightarrow 10% \rightarrow 12.5% \rightarrow 15% EtOAc in toluene+0.25% Et₃N (v/v/v). Yield 10.0 g (83%), yellow foam, *R_f* 0.35 (CHCl₃+1% Et₃N v/v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=686.2872 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₄₄H₄₁NO₅+Na]⁺ 686.2877. ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 8.46–8.02 (m, 10H, NH, ArH (pyrene)), 7.40–7.16 (m, 9H, ArH (Dmt)), 6.83 (d, 4H, J=7.1 Hz, ArH (Dmt)), 5.46 (d, 1H, J=4.1 Hz, OH, exchangeable with D₂O), 4.99 (m, 2H, NCH₂), 3.92 (m, 1H, CHO), 3.70 (s, 6H, OCH₃), 3.01 (d, 1H, ²J=7.1 Hz), 2.78 (d, 1H, ²J=7.1 Hz) (CH₂O), 0.93 (s, 3H), 0.82 (s, 3H) (C(CH₃)₂). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 172.47 (CO), 157.93, 145.50, 136.19, 136.12, 133.25, 130.84, 130.36, 130.04, 129.85, 128.94, 128.24, 128.02, 127.85, 127.69, 127.42, 126.29, 126.89, 126.48, 126.23, 125.35, 125.21, 125.15, 124.63, 124.05, 124.01, 123.46, 113.01, 84.95, 75.31, 68.42 (CHOH), 55.01 (OMe), 38.91 (CCMe₂C), 22.30, 20.60 (CC(CH₃)₂C).

4.1.25. (2R)- O^4 -(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)- O^2 -(N,N-diisopropylamino-2-cyanoethoxyphosphinyl)-N-(pyren-1-ylmethyl)-2,4-dihydroxybutyramide (13a). Compound 12a (0.95 g, 1.5 mmol) was phosphitylated with bis(N,Ndiisopropylamino)-2-cyanoethoxyphosphine (0.73 mL. 2.25 mmol) and diisopropylammonium tetrazolide (0.38 g, 2.25 mmol) to afford 13a (0.945 g, 70%) as a white foam, R_f 0.54, 0.62 (CHCl₃-EtOAc 1:1+1% Et₃N v/v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z = 858.3640 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for $[C_{51}H_{54}N_3O_6P+Na]^+$ 858.3642. ³¹P NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 150.71, 149.03 (diastereoisomers, ~1:1). ¹H NMR (MeCN d_3) δ 8.29–7.90 (m, 9H, ArH (pyrene)), 7.42–7.12 (m, 10H, NH, ArH (Dmt)), 6.81 (m, 4H, ArH (Dmt)), 5.10-5.04 (m, 2H, NCH₂), 4.44 (m, 0.5H), 4.37 (m, 0.5H) (CHO, diastereomers), 3.70 (c, 6H, CH₃), 3.57–2.83 (m, 6H, POCH₂, NCH, CH_2O), 2.46 (t, 1H, J=6.0 Hz), 2.29 (t, 1H, J=6.0 Hz) (CH₂CN, diastereomers), 2.18 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₂CH), 1.98-0.72 (m, 12H, CH₃ (ⁱPr)). ¹³C NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 172.25, 172.03 (CO), 132.17, 131.79, 131.68, 130.84, 129.49, 128.88, 128.80, 128.68, 128.34, 128.19, 128.11, 128.04, 127.92, 127.57, 127.18, 126.23, 125.70, 125.56, 125.47, 125.33, 124.05, 123.98, 113.83, 86.78, 72.52, 72.40, 71.87, 60.17, 60.07, 59.98, 59.76, 59.54, 59.38, 59.10, 58.94, 55.75, 55.24 (OMe), 46.66, 45.91, 43.89, 43.79, 41.75, 41.61, 34.81, 34.38, 32.24, 24.61, 24.43, 23.28, 23.11, 23.04, 21.91, 20.85, 20.53, 19.62, 14.31.

4.1.26. (2R)- O^4 -(4,4'-Dimethoxytrityl)- O^2 -(N,N-diisopropylamino-2-cyanoethoxyphosphinyl)-N-(pyren-1-ylmethyl)-2,4-dihydroxy-3,3-dimethylbutyramide (13b). The precursor 12b (2.65 g, 4.0 mmol) was phosphitylated with bis(N,N-diisopropylamino)-2-cyanoethoxyphosphine (2.0 mL, 6 mmol) and diisopropylammonium tetrazolide (1.02 g, 6 mmol) to give phosphoramidite 13b as a white foam (3.16 g, 92%), R_f 0.30, 0.39 (hexane-EtOAc 1:1+1%) Et₃N v/v/v). ESI-TOF HRMS: m/z=886.3949 [M+Na]⁺, calcd for [C₅₃H₅₈N₃O₆P+Na]⁺ 886.3955. ³¹P NMR (MeCN- d_3) δ 152.49, 149.36 (diastereomers, ~9:10). ¹H NMR (MeCN-d₃) δ 8.32–7.90 (m, 9H, ArH (pyrene)), 7.45-7.18 (m, 9H, ArH (Dmt)), 6.94 (m, 1H, NH), 6.79-6.68 (m, 4H, ArH (Dmt)), 5.02 (m, 2H, NCH₂), 4.04 (d, 0.55H, J_{HCOP} =12.6 Hz), 3.99 (d, 0.45H, J_{HCOP} =9.9 Hz) (CHO, diastereomers), 3.70 (m, 6H, OCH₃), 3.57-2.75 (m, 6H, POCH₂, NCH, CH₂O), 2.47 (t, 1.1H, J=6.0 Hz), 2.33 (t, 0.9H, J=6.0 Hz) (CH₂CN, diastereomers), 1.26-0.70 (m, 18H, CH₂C(CH₃)₂CH, CH₃ (ⁱPr)). ¹³C NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ 169.29 (CO), 129.79, 128.21, 128.16,

127.90, 127.75, 127.70, 127.65, 127.59, 127.40, 127.16, 127.08, 127.04, 126.51, 126.31, 126.24, 125.32, 125.25, 125.21, 125.17, 124.68, 124.57, 124.09, 123.98, 123.95, 123.49, 123.25, 118.76, 118.57, 112.96, 85.13, 85.11, 68.01, 67.66, 58.68, 58.23, 58.19, 55.00 (OMe), 54.96, 44.58, 44.53, 42.69, 42.65, 42.59, 42.55, 24.35, 24.28, 24.23, 24.13, 24.04, 23.98, 22.65, 22.30, 22.22, 21.12, 20.70, 19.84, 19.79, 19.64, 19.42, 19.37.

4.1.27. Solid supports (6a-c) and (14a,b). The solid supports were prepared by a modification of the published method.¹⁰ Å solution of succinic anhydride (300 mg, 3 mmol) and DMAP (80 mg, 0.66 mmol) in 10 mL of dry pyridine was added to 300 mg of LCAA-CPG-500 Å, and the mixture was left at room temperature for 24 h with occasional swirling. After filtration, successive washes with 10 mL portions of pyridine, CH₂Cl₂, and Et₂O, and drying, the succinylated LCAA-CPG was suspended in 4 mL of DMF-pyridine (1:1 v/v); compound 4a-c or 12a,b (0.25 mmol), 1,3-diisopropylcarbodiimide (DIC) (0.28 mL, 1.8 mmol) and DMAP (20 mg) were added; and the slurry was left for 48 h at room temperature. To block the remaining carboxylic acid groups, methanol (0.25 mL) (supports 6a-c) or a solution of pentachlorophenol (100 mg) in pyridine (1 mL) (supports 14a,b) was added, and the mixture was kept at room temperature for the next 12 h. Then, the support was filtered and for 14a,b only, re-suspended in 5% v/v solution of piperidine in pyridine (3 mL), reacted for 10 min and filtered again. All the supports were washed successively with 10 mL portions of CHCl₃, MeOH, MeCN and Et₂O, and dried in vacuo. Loadings were determined by treatment of a portion of the support (5 mg) with 3% w/v CCl₃CO₂H in 1,2-dichloroethane (1 mL) and measuring the absorbance of Dmt⁺ at 504 nm $(\epsilon = 76 \text{ mL cm}^{-1} \mu \text{mol}^{-1})^{10}$ and were found to be (in µmol/g): 35 (6a), 52 (6b), 44 (6c), 20 (14a) and 16 (14b).

4.1.28. Synthesis of oligodeoxynucleotides. Oligonucleotide synthesis was carried out on a DNA/RNA synthesiser using standard manufacturer's protocols. Modified phosphoramidites **5a–c**, **10a**,**b** and **13a**,**b** were used in solid-phase oligodeoxyribonucleotide synthesis with their coupling time increased to 10 min. After assembly, the CPG-bound oligonucleotides were treated with concd ammonium hydroxide at 55 °C overnight, evaporated and precipitated from 1 M LiClO₄ (0.4 mL) by dilution with acetone (1.6 mL). Oligonucleotides were isolated by electrophoresis in 20% denaturing (7 M urea) polyacrylamide gel in Tris–borate buffer, pH 8.3, and desalted using NAP-10 column and standard purification procedure.

RP-HPLC of oligonucleotides was carried out using a Phenomenex RP-C18 column $(3.90 \times 300 \text{ mm})$ and dual-wavelength (215 and 254 nm) UV detection using gradient of acetonitrile in 0.1 M aq triethylammonium acetate (0–5%, 5 min, 5–15%, 10 min, 15–40%, 30 min, 40–80%, 10 min, 80–0%, 10 min).

Acknowledgements

We thank Professor Vladimir A. Efimov and Igor A. Prokhorenko for their encouraging interest, Donna Williams for advice on oligonucleotide synthesis, and Irina A. Stepanova for help in manuscript preparation. This work was partially supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research, Grant Nos. 03-03-32196 and 06-04-81019. We are grateful to the Shemyakin–Ovchinnikov Institute NMR Spectrometry Facility (Registry No. 98-03-08) for NMR spectra.

References and notes

- Recent reviews: (a) Verma, S.; Eckstein, F. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1998, 67, 99–134; (b) Kusser, W. Rev. Mol. Biotechnol. 2000, 74, 27–38; (c) Manoharan, M. Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev. 2002, 12, 103–128; (d) Venkatesan, N.; Kim, S. J.; Kim, B. H. Curr. Med. Chem. 2003, 10, 1973– 1991; (e) Verma, S.; Jäger, S.; Thum, O.; Famulok, M. Chem. Rec. 2003, 3, 51–60.
- 2. Caruthers, M. H. Acc. Chem. Res. 1991, 24, 278-284.
- Reviews: (a) Beaucage, S. L.; Iyer, R. P. *Tetrahedron* 1993, 49, 1925–1963; (b) Beaucage, S. L.; Iyer, R. P. *Tetrahedron* 1993, 49, 6123–6194.
- 4. (a) Hébert, N.; Davis, P. W.; DeBaets, E. L.; Acevedo, O. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1994**, *35*, 9509–9512; (b) Davis, P. W.; Vickers, T. A.; Wilson-Lingardo, L.; Wyatt, J. R.; Guinosso, C. J.; Sanghvi, Y. S.; DeBaets, E. A.; Acevedo, O. L.; Cook, P. D.; Ecker, D. J. *J. Med. Chem.* **1995**, *38*, 4363–4366; (c) Acevedo, O. L.; Andrews, R. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 3931–3934; (d) Lin, P.; Ganesan, A. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1998**, *8*, 511–514; (e) Hebert, N. U.S. Patent 6,184,389, 2001; (f) Gao, J.; Strässler, C.; Tahmassebi, D.; Kool, E. T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2002**, *124*, 11590–11591; (g) Gao, J.; Watanabe, S.; Kool, E. T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126*, 12748–12749; (h) Cuppoletti, A.; Cho, Y.; Park, J.-S.; Strässler, C.; Kool, E. T. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2005**, *16*, 528–534.
- Dioubankova, N. N.; Malakhov, A. D.; Stetsenko, D. A.; Korshun, V. A.; Gait, M. J. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4607–4610.
- (a) Parker, E. D.; Cogdell, T. J.; Humphreys, J. S.; Skinner, C. G.; Shive, W. J. Med. Chem. 1963, 6, 73–76; (b) Granzer, U. H.; Staatz, I.; Roth, H. J. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1989, 59– 67; (c) Wünsch, B.; Diekmann, H.; Höfner, G. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1993, 1273–1278; (d) Lei, P.; Ogawa, Y.; Flippen-Anderson, J. L.; Kováč, P. Carbohydr. Res. 1995, 275, 117– 129; (e) Ogawa, Y.; Lei, P.; Kováč, P. Carbohydr. Res. 1995, 277, 327–331; (f) Szabo, A.; Künzle, N.; Mallat, T.; Baiker, A. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1999, 10, 61–76; (g) Vogel, K. W.; Stark, L. M.; Mishra, P. K.; Yang, W.; Drueckhammer, D. G. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2000, 8, 2451–2460.
- 7. Beaucage, S.; Iyer, R. P. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 2223-2311.
- Smith, M.; Rammler, D. H.; Goldberg, I. H.; Khorana, H. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1962, 84, 430–440.
- (a) Barone, A. D.; Tang, J.-Y.; Caruthers, M. H. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1984**, *12*, 4051–4061; (b) Sinha, N. D.; Biernat, J.; McManus, J.; Köster, H. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1984**, *12*, 4539– 4557.
- Damha, M. J.; Giannaris, P. A.; Zabarylo, S. V. Nucleic Acids Res. 1990, 18, 3813–3821.

- (a) Schneider, F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1978, 17, 583– 592; (b) Perreault, D. M.; Anslyn, E. V. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 432–450.
- 12. Reviews: (a) Oivanen, M.; Kuusela, S.; Lönnberg, H. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 961-990; (b) Trawick, B. N.; Daniher, A. T.; Bashkin, J. K. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 939-960; communications: (c) Beloglazova, N. G.; Sil'nikov, V. N.; Zenkova, M. A.; Vlassov, V. V. FEBS Lett. 2000, 481, 277-280; (d) Garipova, I. Y.; Silnikov, V. N. Russ. Chem. Bull. 2002, 51, 1112-1117; (e) Verbeure, B.; Lacey, C. J.; Froeyen, M.; Rozenski, J.; Herdewijn, P. Bioconjugate Chem. 2002, 13, 333-350; (f) Perrin, D. M.; Garestier, T.; Hélène, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 1556-1563; (g) Lermer, L.; Roupioz, Y.; Ting, R.; Perrin, D. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 9960-9961; (h) May, J. P.; Ting, R.; Lermer, L.; Thomas, J. M.; Roupioz, Y.; Perrin, D. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 4145-4156; (i) Sidorov, A. V.; Grasby, J. A.; Williams, D. M. Nucleic Acids Res. 2004, 32, 1591-1601; (j) Beloglazova, N. G.; Fabani, M. M.; Zenkova, M. A.; Bichenkova, E. V.; Polushin, N. N.; Silnikov, V. V.; Douglas, K. T.; Vlassov, V. V. Nucleic Acids Res. 2004, 32, 3887-3897.
- (a) Smith, T. H.; LaTour, J. V.; Bochkariov, D.; Chaga, G.; Nelson, P. S. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **1999**, *10*, 647–652; (b) Stetsenko, D. A.; Williams, D.; Gait, M. J. *Nucleic Acids Res. Suppl.* **2001**, *1*, 153–154.
- Matthews, H. R.; Rapoport, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 2297–2303.
- Recently, a ¹H-¹⁵N correlation NMR based method for determination of N-substituent location in histidine derivatives has been developed: Zaramella, S.; Heinonen, P.; Yeheskiely, E.; Strömberg, R. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 7521–7523.
- (a) Yamana, K.; Takei, M.; Nakano, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 6051–6054; (b) Korshun, V. A.; Balakin, K. V.; Proskurina, T. S.; Mikhalev, I. I.; Malakhov, A. D.; Berlin, Y. A. *Nucleosides Nucleotides* **1999**, *18*, 2661–2676; (c) Michel, J.; Bathany, K.; Schmitter, J.-M.; Monti, J.-P.; Moreau, S. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 7975–7982; (d) Filichev, V. V.; Pedersen, E. B. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2003**, 100–103; (e) Yamana, K.; Fukunagava, Y.; Ohtani, Y.; Sato, S.; Nakamura, M.; Kim, W. J.; Akaike, T.; Maruyama, A. *Chem. Commun.* **2005**, 2509–2511.
- (a) Ren, R. X.-F.; Chaudhuri, N. C.; Paris, P. L.; Rumney, S., IV; Kool, E. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1996**, 118, 7671–7676; (b) Chaudhuri, N. C.; Ren, R. X.-F.; Kool, E. T. Synlett **1997**, 341–347; (c) Strässler, C.; Davis, N. E.; Kool, E. T. Helv. Chim. Acta **1999**, 82, 2160–2171; (d) Babu, B. R.; Wengel, J. Chem. Commun. **2001**, 2114–2115; (e) Babu, B. R.; Prasad, A. K.; Trikha, S.; Thorup, N.; Parmar, V. S.; Wengel, J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **2002**, 2509–2519; (f) Raunak; Babu, B. R.; Sørensen, M. D.; Parmar, V. S.; Harrit, N. H.; Wengel, J. Org. Biomol. Chem. **2004**, 80–89.
- Guckian, K. M.; Schweitzer, B. A.; Ren, R. X.-F.; Sheils, C. J.; Paris, P. L.; Tahmassebi, D. C.; Kool, E. T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1996, *118*, 8182–8183.
- Caruthers, M. H.; Barone, A. D.; Beaucage, S. L.; Dodds, D. R.; Fisher, E. F.; McBride, L. J.; Matteucci, M.; Stabinsky, Z.; Tang, J.-Y. *Methods Enzymol.* **1987**, *154*, 287–313.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6774-6781

Tetrahedron

Microwave-assisted one-pot U-4CR and intramolecular O-alkylation toward heterocyclic scaffolds[☆]

Xinglong Xing,^a Jinlong Wu,^a Gaofeng Feng^a and Wei-Min Dai^{a,b,*}

^aLaboratory of Asymmetric Catalysis and Synthesis, Department of Chemistry, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310027, China ^bDepartment of Chemistry, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Clear Water Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong SAR, China

> Received 19 April 2006; revised 29 April 2006; accepted 3 May 2006 Available online 22 May 2006

Abstract—The one-pot U-4CR and intramolecular O-alkylation sequence starting from 2-aminophenols in combination with α -bromoalkanoic acids, aldehydes, and isocyanides under controlled microwave heating has been established for a rapid access to highly functionalized 3,4-dihydro-3-oxo-2*H*-1,4-benzoxazines. With appropriate substitutions on the 1,4-benzoxazines, a microwave-assisted Cu-catalyzed intramolecular amidation was performed to furnish a novel class of heterocyclic conjugates of 1,4-benzoxazines with a 2-oxindole linked through a C–N single bond.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Multicomponent reactions (MCRs)¹⁻³ are referred to as the one-pot processes, where multiple bonds are formed among three or more starting materials to furnish the product with essentially all of the atoms of the reactants. As a special subclass, the isocyanide-based MCRs (IMCRs)³ offer a number of advantages originating from the unique reactivity of an isocyanide, which acts as a nucleophile and an electrophile at the same time. The most popular IMCRs are the Passerini three-component reaction (P-3CR) and the Ugi four-component reaction (U-4CR), which produce linear α -acyloxycarboxamides and the peptide-like α -acylaminoamides, respectively.^{3a} In recent years, a number of bifunctional components, such as oxo acids, amino acids, amino aldehydes, and isocyanoacetamides,⁴ have been used for the synthesis of drug-like cyclic scaffolds.^{3f} Various strategies for post-U-4CR modifications have been developed.^{1a,3} including Armstrong's work on convertible isocyanides,⁵ Hulme's UDC (Ugi/De-Boc/Cyclize) methodology,6 and the combinations of U-4CRs with Wittig,⁷ Heck,⁸ RCM,⁹ IMDA,¹⁰ S_N2,¹¹ S_NAr,¹² and so on.^{1a,3f} In Hulme's synthesis of benzimidazoles^{6d} and quinoxalines^{6e} via UDC, mono-*N*-Boc-protected phenylene diamines were used as the amine

components. We envisaged that 2-aminophenols 1 could be used in U-4CRs as the amine component without protection of the phenolic hydroxyl group.¹³ Therefore, a subsequent cyclization of **5a** or **5b** via a base-mediated O-alkylation or O-arylation (paths *a* and *b*) could be assumed (Chart 1). We report here our original results on the syntheses of heterocyclic scaffolds **6** via microwave-assisted one-pot U-4CR and intramolecular O-alkylation sequence. A further post-modification on **6** possessing $R^2=O$ -BrC₆H₄ through the Cu-catalyzed intramolecular amidation (path *c*) has been successfully explored, providing a novel class of heterocyclic conjugates **8** linked through a C–N single bond.

2. Results and discussion

2-Aminophenols are commercially available and inexpensive building blocks and have been used in the syntheses of indoles,¹⁴ benzofurans,¹⁵ and 3,4-dihydro-3-oxo-2*H*-1,4-benzoxazines¹⁶ in our previous studies. To the best of our knowledge, the parent 2-aminophenol was used in one example of U-4CR in combination with 4-fluoro-3-nitrobenzoic acid and the resultant adduct was subjected to a base-mediated intramolecular S_NAr reaction to furnish a 2-nitrobenz[*b*,*f*][1,4]oxazepin-11(10*H*)-one in 25% isolated yield.^{12a} We examined the U-4CRs by using five substituted 2-aminophenols (1), five aromatic aldehydes (9), two α -bromoalkanoic acids (10), and two isocyanides (11) at both room temperature and under controlled microwave heating,^{17,18} respectively. The structures and yields of the

^{*} Part 7 of Chemistry of Aminophenols. For Part 6, see Ref. 16b.

Keywords: Microwave; U-4CR; 2-Aminophenols; 1,4-Benzoxazines; Annulation.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +852 23587365; fax: +852 23581594; e-mail addresses: chdai@ust.hk; chdai@zju.edu.cn



Chart 1. One-pot U-4CR-intramolecular O-alkylation and intramolecular amidation sequence toward heterocyclic scaffolds 6-8.

products are summarized in Table 1. The U-4CR was carried out in MeOH and then, without isolation of the acyclic product, an aqueous solution of K_2CO_3 was added for promoting the intramolecular O-alkylation. A collection of 14 highly functionalized 3,4-dihydro-3-oxo-2*H*-1,4-benzoxazines **12a–n** were isolated in 61–95% yields for the two-step reactions carried out at room temperature. Initially, the basepromoted cyclization was stirred at room temperature for overnight (8–12 h) (Table 1, entries 1–11). We found that the cyclization could complete in 20–45 min (Table 1, entries 12–14). Moreover, a prolonged reaction time generally improved the yield of U-4CR. It is not rare that some U-4CRs took up to 7 days at room temperature as in the cases of entries 12 and 13 of Table 1.

	R ¹ / <u>I</u> NH ₂ +	$\begin{array}{c} CHO\\ I\\ Ar \end{array} + \begin{array}{c} Br\\ HO \end{array} \begin{array}{c} R^2\\ O\\ O \end{array} + \begin{array}{c} 9 \end{array} \begin{array}{c} 10 \end{array}$	NC U-4CR I MeOH rt or MW 11		$\begin{array}{c c} OH & R^2 \\ Br \\ N & O \\ Ar & O \\ HN \\ R^3 \end{array} \qquad aq K_2CO_3 \\ \hline rt or MW$	$R^{1} \xrightarrow{7_{II}}_{6^{U}} \xrightarrow{8}_{N_{4}} O$ $Ar \xrightarrow{HN}_{R^{3}} R^{3}$
Entry	$1 (R^{1})^{b}$	9 (Ar)	10 (R ²)	$11 (R^3)$	Room temp	MW^{f}
					$t_{\rm U}$ (h), ^c $t_{\rm A}$ (h); ^d 12 (%) ^e	12 (%) ^e
1	Н	Ph	Н	Су	36, 11; 12a : 79	81 (83) ^g
2	6-C1	Ph	Н	Ċy	30, 11; 12b : 75	82
3	6-Me	Ph	Н	Ċy	29, 12; 12c : 85	85
4	6,7-(CH ₂) ₄ -	Ph	Н	Ċy	36, 12; 12d : 65	63
5	Н	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	Н	Ċy	36, 12; 12e : 77	72
6	Н	Ph	Me	Cy	37, 12; 12f : 65 ^h	88 ^h
7	Н	2-Furyl	Н	Cy	36, 12; 12g : 61	56
8	Н	$2-FC_6H_4$	Н	Су	37, 9; 12h : 95	90
9	Н	Ph	Н	Bn	23, 8; 12i : 90	83
10	6-Me	Ph	Me	Bn	24, 12; 12j : 78 ⁿ	84 ⁿ
11	Н	$2-FC_6H_4$	Н	Bn	25, 12; 12k : 79	81
12	7-Me	$2\text{-BrC}_6\text{H}_4$	Н	Bn	168, 0.33; 12l : 86	63
13	6-Me	$2\text{-BrC}_6\text{H}_4$	Н	Bn	168, 0.33; 12m : 84	64
14	6-Cl	$2-BrC_6H_4$	Н	Bn	48, 0.75; 12n : 73	52 ¹

Table 1. One-pot synthesis of 3,4-dihydro-3-oxo-2H-1,4-benzoxazines 12 via U-4CR and intramolecular O-alkylation^a

^a An equal molar ratio of the four reagents was used with MeOH as the solvent.

^b The numbering system of 1,4-benzoxazine is used.

^c The reaction time for U-4CR at room temperature. A longer reaction time usually gave a higher yield.

^d The reaction time for base-promoted cyclization at room temperature. In most cases, the reaction mixture was stirred for overnight. The cyclization should complete within 20–45 min as seen in entries 12–14.

^e Isolated overall yields of **12** for the one-pot synthesis.

^f All microwave-heated reactions were carried out in MeOH in closed pressurized vials with the reaction temperature measured by an IR sensor. For U-4CR step, the reaction mixture was heated at 80 °C for 20 min. After the addition of 1.2 equiv of aqueous K₂CO₃, the same vial was heated at 120 °C for 15 min for cyclization.

^g The yield in the parentheses was obtained from the same reaction mixture heated in an oil bath instead of microwave irradiation.

^h A ca. 60:40 mixture of diastereomers was obtained.

ⁱ Heated for 20 min for O-alkylation.

Table 2. Optimization of microwave-assisted one-pot synthesis of 12^a

ОН

	x (+	HOOOO + HOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO	, MeOH O_3 , MW O_3 , MW O	
Entry	U-4CR T (°C); t (min)	K ₂ CO ₃ (equiv)	O-Alkylation T (°C); t (min)	Yield (%) ^b
1	100; 20	2.0	150; 15	12c : 70
2	80; 20	1.2	120; 15	12c : 85
3	80; 20	2.0	150; 15	Black
4	80; 20	2.0	120; 15	12b : 71
5	80; 25	2.0	120; 15	12b : 64
6	80; 20	1.2	150; 15	12b : 64
7	80; 20	1.2	120; 15	12b : 82

^a An equal molar ratio of the four reagents was used with MeOH as the solvent. The same microwave reaction as described in Table 1 was used. ^b Isolated yield.

We attempted to accelerate the one-pot U-4CR and intramolecular O-alkylation for a high-throughput synthesis of 12 by using controlled microwave irradiation. With the purpose for an automated synthesis in mind, we optimized a set of unified reaction conditions by balancing between the reaction time and the product yield. Table 2 shows some results of the reactions under microwave irradiation, which were carried out in a closed vial, allowing heating above the boiling point of the solvent. We found that the U-4CR was not favorable at the temperature higher than 80 °C or with the reaction time longer than 20 min at 80 °C (entry 1 vs entry 2; entry 4 vs entry 5). Also, it was not advantageous to promote the O-alkylation at the temperature higher than 120 °C or with an excess base than 1.2 equiv (entry 3 vs entry 4; entry 6 vs entry 7; entry 4 vs entry 7). The optimized reaction conditions for the microwave-assisted one-pot process (entries 2 and 7 of Table 2) were then used for the one-pot synthesis of the 1,4-benzoxazines 12a-n in 52-90% yields (Table 1). According to the data in Table 1, we can conclude that the product yields obtained from the microwave-assisted versions of the onepot synthesis are generally comparable or slightly lower than the room temperature versions, except for several cases that produced the products 12l-n in ca. 20% higher yields at room temperature (Table 1, entries 12-14). In terms of efficiency of the synthesis, the throughput is much higher for the microwave-assisted synthesis, i.e., 35 min (MW) versus 32-168 h (rt) for each compound. We also carried out the synthesis of 12a by using a pre-heated oil bath and obtained the same result (Table 1, entry 1). Nevertheless, with the dedicated technical microwave reactor, it is much more easy to set and control the reaction temperature and to design and perform automated sequential synthesis of compound libraries.

For exploration of further annulation within **6** via the path *c* as depicted in Chart 1, we turned our attention to intramolecular amidation (N-arylation) of **12l-n** (Scheme 1). The CuI-catalyzed arylation of amines and amides has received growing interest in recent years.¹⁹ We used controlled microwave heating for the intramolecular amidation^{20,21} of **12l-n** in the presence of 10 mol % CuI and 2 equiv of $K_3PO_4 \cdot 3H_2O$ in DMF at 150 °C for 35–50 min. The



Scheme 1. CuI-catalyzed amidation under microwave heating.

 \sim

expected 2-oxindoles **13a–c** were obtained in 80–93% yields. The structures of **13** represent a novel class of heterocyclic scaffold that features the conjugate of 1,4-benzoxazines with a 2-oxindole linked through a C–N bond. The ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of **13** exhibit two sets of discrete signals (see Supplementary data), suggesting for atropisomers in solution. We performed HPLC analysis of **13a** over a chiral stationary phase and observed a dynamic



Figure 1. Dynamic HPLC chromatogram of 13a (HPLC setting: Chiralcel OJ eluted with 90:10 hexane–*i*-PrOH at 10 mL/min and by UV detection at 254 nm). There are four diastereomers for 13a arising from one stereogenic center and one stereogenic axis. Three out of four diastereomers are resolved.

HPLC chromatogram (Fig. 1). The latter is characteristic to atropisomerism of the C–N bond linked conjugates.

3. Conclusion

We have established a general and high-throughput synthesis of highly functionalized 3,4-dihydro-3-oxo-2*H*-1,4-benz-oxazines **12** starting from the building blocks, 2-amino-phenols (**1**), aromatic aldehydes (**9**), α -bromoalkanoic acids (**10**), and isocyanides (**11**) via microwave-assisted one-pot U-4CR and intramolecular O-alkylation. Further post-modification has been showcased by the microwave-assisted CuI-catalyzed intramolecular amidation within **12l-n** to furnish a novel heterocyclic scaffold **13a-c**, which exhibits atropisomerism through rotation across the C–N single bond.

4. Experimental

4.1. General information and the microwave reactor

¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded in CDCl₃ or DMSO d_6 (400 MHz for ¹H and 100 or 125 MHz for ¹³C, respectively) with CHCl₃ or DMSO as the internal reference. IR spectra were taken on an FTIR spectrophotometer. Mass spectra (MS) were measured by the +ESI method. Melting points are uncorrected. Silica gel plates pre-coated on glass were used for thin-layer chromatography using UV light, or 7% ethanolic phosphomolybdic acid and heating as the visualizing methods. Silica gel was used for flash column chromatography. Yields refer to chromatographically and spectroscopically (¹H NMR) homogeneous materials. Methanol was distilled from magnesium before use. Reagents were obtained commercially and used as received. All microwave-assisted reactions were carried out on an Emrys creator from Personal Chemistry AB (now under Biotage AB, Uppsala, Sweden) with temperature measured by an IR sensor. The microwave-assisted reaction time is the hold time at the final temperature.

4.2. General procedure for one-pot synthesis of 3,4dihydro-3-oxo-2*H*-1,4-benzoxazines 12a–n at room temperature

To a 25-mL round bottom flask were added 2-aminophenol 1 (0.25 mmol), aldehyde 9 (0.25 mmol), and MeOH (2 mL), and the mixture was stirred for 15-30 min at room temperature. α -Bromoalkanoic acid 10 (0.25 mmol) was added to the mixture followed by stirring for another 5 min. Finally, isocyanide 11 (0.25 mmol) was added. After the resultant mixture was stirred at room temperature for 23-168 h, solid K_2CO_3 (52 mg, 0.38 mmol) was added. After the resultant mixture was stirred at room temperature for overnight (8-12 h for entries 1-11, Table 1) or 20-45 min (for entries 12-14, Table 1), the reaction mixture was quenched by water and the organic layer was extracted with EtOAc (3×10 mL). The combined organic layer was washed with brine, dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and evaporated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel eluted with EtOAc and petroleum ether (60-90 °C) to afford 12a-n. The structures and yields of the products **12a–n** are given in Table 1.

4.3. General procedure for microwave-assisted one-pot synthesis of 3,4-dihydro-3-oxo-2*H*-1,4-benzoxazines 12a-n

To a 10-mL pressurized process vial were added 0.25 mmol each of 2-aminophenol 1, aldehyde 9, α -bromoalkanoic acid 10, and isocyanide 11, and MeOH (2 mL). The loaded vial was then sealed with a cap containing a silicon septum, and put into the microwave cavity and heated at 80 °C for 20 min. Then, an aqueous solution of K₂CO₃ (1 mL, 0.30 mmol) was added to the reaction vial through a syringe followed by heating at 120 °C for 15 min in the microwave cavity. Water was added to the reaction mixture and the aqueous layer was extracted with EtOAc (3×10 mL). The combined organic layer was washed with brine, dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and evaporated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel eluted with EtOAc and petroleum ether (60-90 °C) to afford 12a-n. The structures and yields of the products are given in Table 1.

4.3.1. *N*-Cyclohexyl-2-(3,4-dihydro-3-oxo-2*H*-1,4-benzoxazin-4-yl)-2-phenylacetamide (12a). A white crystalline solid; mp 140–142 °C; IR (KBr) 1684, 1655 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.44–7.37 (m, 5H), 7.12 (d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.07–7.00 (m, 2H), 6.94–6.90 (m, 1H), 6.19 (s, 1H), 6.12 (br d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 1H), 4.78 and 4.69 (ABq, *J*=15.2 Hz, 2H), 3.95–3.85 (m, 1H), 2.01–1.98 (m, 1H), 1.87–1.84 (m, 1H), 1.75–1.61 (m, 3H), 1.47–1.33 (m, 2H), 1.30–1.05 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.7, 166.4, 146.0, 134.0, 128.8 (×2), 128.6, 128.2, 127.8 (×2), 124.4, 122.7, 117.6, 117.0, 68.2, 61.4, 48.6, 32.6, 32.5, 25.4, 24.5 (×2); MS (+ESI) *m/z* 403 (M+K⁺, 100), 387 (M+Na⁺, 26). Anal. Calcd for C₂₂H₂₄N₂O₃: C, 72.50; H, 6.64; N, 7.69. Found: C, 72.51; H, 6.58; N, 7.84.

4.3.2. *N*-Cyclohexyl-2-(6-chloro-3,4-dihydro-3-oxo-2*H*-1,4-benzoxazin-4-yl)-2-phenylacetamide (12b). A white crystalline solid; mp 181–183 °C; IR (KBr) 1691, 1651 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.40–7.33 (m, 5H), 7.05 (s, 1H), 6.89 (d, *J*=0.4 Hz, 2H), 6.05 (s, 1H), 5.95 (br d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 1H), 4.69 and 4.59 (ABq, *J*=15.2 Hz, 2H), 3.90–3.75 (m, 1H), 1.96–1.92 (m, 1H), 1.84–1.81 (m, 1H), 1.70–1.50 (m, 3H), 1.40–1.23 (m, 2H), 1.20–1.00 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.2, 165.9, 144.6, 133.6, 129.6, 129.1 (×2), 128.6, 127.9 (×2), 1276, 124.1, 117.9, 117.7, 68.1, 61.6, 48.7, 32.6, 32.5, 25.3, 24.5 (×2); MS (+ESI) *m*/*z* 439 (M+2+K⁺, 33), 437 (M+K⁺, 100), 423 (M+2+Na⁺, 10), 421 (M+Na⁺, 31). Anal. Calcd for C₂₂H₂₃ClN₂O₃: C, 66.24; H, 5.81; N, 7.02. Found: C, 66.26; H, 5.83; N, 7.09.

4.3.3. *N*-Cyclohexyl-2-(3,4-dihydro-6-methyl-3-oxo-2*H*-**1,4-benzoxazin-4-yl)-2-phenylacetamide** (12c). A white crystalline solid; mp 148–150 °C; IR (KBr) 1686, 1663 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.34–7.25 (m, 5H), 6.85 (d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.83 (s, 1H), 6.72 (d, *J*=8.8 Hz, 1H), 6.09 (br d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.04 (s, 1H), 4.61 and 4.55 (ABq, *J*=15.2 Hz, 2H), 3.85–3.75 (m, 1H), 2.13 (s, 3H), 1.90–1.86 (m, 1H), 1.79–1.76 (m, 1H), 1.65–1.47 (m, 3H), 1.33–1.20 (m, 2H), 1.15–0.97 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.8, 166.5, 143.8, 134.2, 132.4, 128.8 (×2), 128.6, 128.2, 127.7 (×2), 124.9, 117.9, 116.7, 68.3, 61.8, 48.6, 32.6, 32.4, 25.4, 24.5, 24.5, 20.9; MS (+ESI) *m*/*z* 401 (M+Na⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₂₃H₂₆N₂O₃: C, 72.99; H, 6.92; N, 7.40. Found: C, 73.06; H, 7.07; N, 7.46.

4.3.4. *N*-Cyclohexyl-2-{3,4,6,7,8,9-hexahydro-3-oxo-2*H*-naphtho[2,3-*b*][1,4]oxazin-4-yl}-2-phenylacetamide (12d). A white crystalline solid; mp 138–140 °C; IR (KBr) 1686, 1656 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.43–7.35 (m, 5H), 6.78 (s, 1H), 6.76 (s, 1H), 6.16 (br d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.08 (s, 1H), 4.679 and 4.63 (ABq, *J*=15.2 Hz, 2H), 3.95–3.83 (m, 1H), 2.72–2.67 (m, 2H), 2.60 (br s, 2H), 2.00–1.90 (m, 1H), 1.90–1.88 (m, 1H), 1.80–1.57 (m, 7H), 1.45–1.31 (m, 2H), 1.25–1.08 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.9, 166.4, 143.6, 134.2, 133.5, 131.5, 128.8 (×2), 128.1, 127.6 (×2), 126.5, 117.3, 116.9, 68.4, 62.0, 48.5, 32.5, 32.4, 28.9, 28.7, 25.4, 24.5, 24.5, 23.0, 22.8; MS (+ESI) *m*/*z* 457 (M+K⁺, 41), 441 (M+Na⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₂₆H₃₀N₂O₃: C, 74.61; H, 7.22; N, 6.69. Found: C, 74.53; H, 7.18; N, 6.66.

4.3.5. *N*-Cyclohexyl-2-(3,4-dihydro-3-oxo-2*H*-1,4-benzoxazin-4-yl)-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)acetamide (12e). A white crystalline solid; mp 136–138 °C; IR (KBr) 1685, 1653 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.31 (d, *J*=8.8 Hz, 2H), 7.05 (d, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.01–6.94 (m, 2H), 6.88 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 3H), 6.02 (s, 1H), 5.97 (br d, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1H), 4.71 and 4.61 (ABq, *J*=15.2 Hz, 2H), 3.87–3.79 (m, 1H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 1.96–1.93 (m, 1H), 1.81–1.78 (m, 1H), 1.70–1.53 (m, 3H), 1.40–1.25 (m, 2H), 1.20–1.00 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.9, 166.2, 159.4, 145.9, 129.3 (×2), 128.7, 125.9, 124.4, 122.7, 117.4, 117.0, 114.3 (×2), 68.2, 61.1, 55.2, 48.6, 32.6, 32.5, 25.4, 24.6 (×2); MS (+ESI) *m/z* 433 (M+K⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₂₃H₂₆N₂O₄: C, 70.03; H, 6.64; N, 7.10. Found: C, 70.10; H, 6.67; N, 7.12.

4.3.6. N-Cyclohexyl-2-(3,4-dihydro-2-methyl-3-oxo-2H-1.4-benzoxazin-4-yl)-2-phenylacetamide (12f). A white crystalline solid and a 63:37 mixture of two diastereomers; mp 150–152 °C; IR (KBr) 1685, 1655 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.36-7.27 (m, 5H), 7.04-6.82 (m, 4H), 6.16 (s, 0.63H, major), 6.12 (s, 0.3H, minor), 5.98 (d, J=7.6 Hz, 1H), 4.75 (q, J=6.8 Hz, 0.37H, minor), 4.65 (q, J=6.8 Hz, 0.63H, major), 3.88-3.77 (m, 1H), 1.97-1.88 (m, 1H), 1.85–1.70 (m, 1H), 1.70–1.50 (m, 3H), 1.63 (d, J=7.2 Hz, 1.89H, major), 1.56 (d, J=6.8 Hz, 1.11H, minor), 1.42-1.23 (m, 2H), 1.20-0.95 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) & 168.6, 168.5, 166.8, 166.8, 145.3, 144.8, 134.1, 134.1, 128.8 (×2), 128.7 (×2), 128.7, 128.1, 128.1, 127.8 (×2), 127.6 (×2), 124.5, 124.3, 122.6, 122.5, 117.5, 117.5, 117.2, 117.0, 74.0, 74.0, 61.5, 61.2, 48.5, 48.5, 32.6, 32.6, 32.5, 32.5, 25.4, 25.4, 24.5 (×2), 24.5 (×2), 16.0, 16.0; MS (+ESI) m/z 401 (M+Na⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₂₃H₂₆N₂O₃: C, 72.99; H, 6.92; N, 7.40. Found: C, 73.04; H, 6.95; N, 7.42.

4.3.7. *N*-Cyclohexyl-2-(3,4-dihydro-3-oxo-2*H*-1,4-benz-oxazin-4-yl)-2-(furan-2-yl)acetamide (12g). A white crystalline solid; mp 124–126 °C; IR (KBr) 1684, 1658 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.37 (s, 1H), 7.16 (d, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.00–6.90 (m, 3H), 6.61 (d, *J*=3.2 Hz, 1H), 6.47 (s, 1H), 6.36 (d, *J*=2.4 Hz, 1H), 6.09 (br d,

 $J{=}7.6~{\rm Hz},~1{\rm H}),~4.69~{\rm and}~4.62~{\rm (ABq,}~J{=}15.2~{\rm Hz},~2{\rm H}),~3.90{-}3.75~{\rm (m,~1H)},~1.95{-}1.91~{\rm (m,~1H)},~1.82{-}1.79~{\rm (m,~1H)},~1.73{-}1.52~{\rm (m,~3H)},~1.43{-}1.01~{\rm (m,~5H)};~^{13}{\rm C}~{\rm NMR}~{\rm (100~MHz,~CDCl_3)}~\delta~166.0,~164.8,~147.1,~145.7,~142.8,~127.8,~124.4,~122.6,~117.0~{\rm (\times2)},~111.2,~110.8,~67.9,~54.0,~48.7,~32.6,~32.5,~25.3,~24.5,~24.5;~{\rm MS}~{\rm (+ESI)}~m/z~377~{\rm (M+Na^+,~100)}.~{\rm Anal.~Calcd~for~C_{20}H_{22}N_2O_4:~C,~67.78;~{\rm H},~6.26;~{\rm N},~7.90.~{\rm Found:~C,~67.82;~{\rm H},~6.43;~{\rm N},~7.84.$

4.3.8. N-Cyclohexyl-2-(3,4-dihydro-3-oxo-2H-1,4-benzoxazin-4-yl)-2-(2-fluorophenyl)acetamide (12h). A white crystalline solid; mp 174–176 °C; IR (KBr) 1696, 1674 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.54 (t, J=7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.39–7.34 (m, 1H), 7.19–7.09 (m, 3H), 7.05-6.92 (m, 3H), 6.34 (s, 1H), 5.94 (br d, J=8.0 Hz, 1H), 4.73 and 4.65 (ABq, J=15.2 Hz, 2H), 3.92-3.80 (m, 1H), 1.99–1.96 (m, 1H), 1.88–1.82 (m, 1H), 1.74–1.55 (m, 3H), 1.44–1.25 (m, 2H), 1.22–1.00 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.1, 165.5, 160.7 (d, $J_{C-F}=$ 246.9 Hz), 145.9, 130.5 (d, J_{F-C} =8.7 Hz), 129.4 (d, J_{F-C} = 2.5 Hz), 128.6, 124.6, 124.4 (d, $J_{F-C}=3.3$ Hz), 122.8, 121.7 (d, $J_{\text{F-C}}$ =12.9 Hz), 117.1, 117.0, 115.8 (d, $J_{\text{F-C}}$ = 18.7 Hz), 68.1, 56.2 (d, $J_{F-C}=2.4$ Hz), 48.7, 32.6, 32.5, 25.4, 24.6, 24.5; MS (+ESI) m/z 405 (M+Na⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₂₂H₂₃FN₂O₃: C, 69.09; H, 6.06; N, 7.33. Found: C, 69.16; H, 6.12; N, 7.47.

4.3.9. *N*-Benzyl-2-(3,4-dihydro-3-oxo-2*H*-1,4-benzoxazin-4-yl)-2-phenylacetamide (12i). A white crystalline solid; mp 110–112 °C; IR (KBr) 1686, 1657 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.37–7.15 (m, 10H), 7.02–6.94 (m, 3H), 6.82 (t, *J*=6.8 Hz, 1H), 6.58 (t, *J*=5.6 Hz, 1H), 6.18 (s, 1H), 4.65 and 4.56 (ABq, *J*=14.8 Hz, 2H), 4.44 (d, *J*=5.6 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 167.7, 166.4, 145.9, 137.8, 133.8, 128.9, 128.9, 128.6, 128.5, 128.4, 128.3, 128.0 (×2), 127.5 (×2), 127.4, 124.5, 122.7, 117.5, 117.1, 68.1, 61.2, 43.8; MS (+ESI) *m*/*z* 395 (M+Na⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₂₃H₂₀N₂O₃: C, 74.18; H, 5.41; N, 7.52. Found: C, 74.15; H, 5.52; N, 7.69.

4.3.10. N-Benzyl-2-(3,4-dihydro-2,6-dimethyl-3-oxo-2H-1,4-benzoxazin-4-yl)-2-phenylacetamide (12j). A white crystalline solid and a 56:44 mixture of two diastereomers; mp 142-144 °C; IR (KBr) 1689, 1662 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.47-7.24 (m, 10H), 7.00-6.83 (m, 3H), 6.63-6.60 (m, 1H), 6.27 (s, 0.56H, major), 6.22 (s, 0.44H, minor), 4.77-4.49 (m, 3H), 2.26 (s, 1.32H, minor), 2.22 (s, 1.68H, major), 1.67 (d, J=7.2 Hz, 1.68H, major), 1.62 (d, J=6.8 Hz, 1.32H, minor); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, $CDCl_3$) for the major isomer: δ 168.6, 167.8, 143.1, 137.9, 134.0, 132.2, 128.8 (×2), 128.6 (×2), 128.5, 128.2, 127.9 (×2), 127.5 (×2), 127.3, 124.9, 117.6, 117.2, 74.0, 61.4, 43.7, 20.9, 16.0; ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) for the minor isomer: δ 168.5, 168.0, 142.7, 137.8, 134.0, 132.4, 128.9 (×2), 128.7, 128.6 (×2), 128.2, 127.7 (×2), 127.4 (×2), 127.3, 125.0, 117.6, 117.0, 74.0, 61.8, 43.7, 21.0, 15.9; MS (+ESI) m/z 423 (M+Na⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₂₅H₂₄N₂O₃: C, 74.98; H, 6.04; N, 7.00. Found: C, 74.95; H, 6.05; N, 6.95.

4.3.11. N-Benzyl-2-(3,4-dihydro-3-oxo-2*H*-1,4-benzoxazin-4-yl)-2-(2-fluorophenyl)acetamide (12k). A white

6779

crystalline solid; mp 133–135 °C; IR (KBr) 1692, 1671 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.56 (t, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.38–6.93 (m, 12H), 6.47 (t, *J*=2.0 Hz, 1H), 6.43 (s, 1H), 4.72 and 4.63 (ABq, *J*=15.2 Hz, 2H), 4.56 and 4.53 (ABqd, *J*=14.8, 2.0 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.1, 160.7 (d, *J*_{F-C}=246.9 Hz), 145.9, 137.6, 130.7 (d, *J*_{F-C}=8.6 Hz), 129.5 (d, *J*_{F-C}=3.0 Hz), 128.6 (×2), 128.5, 127.5 (×2), 127.4, 124.7, 124.6 (d, *J*_{F-C}=3.3 Hz), 122.8, 121.6 (d, *J*_{F-C}=13.2 Hz,), 117.2, 116.8, 115.9 (d, *J*_{F-C}=21.5 Hz), 68.1, 56.0 (d, *J*_{F-C}=2.5 Hz), 43.9; MS (+ESI) *m*/*z* 429 (M+K⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₂₃H₁₉FN₂O₃: C, 70.76; H, 4.91; N, 7.18. Found: C, 70.63; H, 4.92; N, 7.09.

4.3.12. N-Benzyl-2-(3,4-dihydro-7-methyl-3-oxo-2H-1,4benzoxazin-4-yl)-2-(2-bromophenyl)acetamide (12l). A white crystalline solid; mp169–170 °C (EtOAc-hexane); $R_f = 0.24$ (20% EtOAc in hexane); IR (KBr) 3347, 1677, 1654, 1508 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.61 (dd, J=8.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.55 (dd, J=8.0, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 7.33-7.23 (m, 6H), 7.20 (td, J=8.0, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 6.82 (s, 1H), 6.81 (d, J=8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.71-6.68 (m, 1H), 6.18 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 1H), 6.14 (s, 1H), 4.70 and 4.59 (ABq, J=15.2 Hz, 2H), 4.54 and 4.51 (ABqd, J=13.2, 4.8 Hz, 2H), 2.26 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 166.1, 145.8, 137.7, 134.8, 133.6, 133.5, 130.4, 129.9, 128.6 (×2), 128.1, 127.6 (×2), 127.4, 126.5, 124.7, 123.3, 117.7, 116.4, 68.3, 62.9, 44.0, 20.7; MS (+ESI) m/z 489 (M+2+Na⁺, 98), 487 (M+Na⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₂₄H₂₁BrN₂O₃: C, 61.95; H, 4.55; N, 6.02. Found: C, 61.98; H, 4.54; N, 6.09.

4.3.13. N-Benzyl-2-(3,4-dihydro-6-methyl-3-oxo-2H-1,4benzoxazin-4-yl)-2-(2-bromophenyl)acetamide (12m). A white crystalline solid; mp163–165 °C (CH₂Cl₂–hexane); $R_f = 0.24$ (20% EtOAc in hexane); IR (KBr) 3298, 1685, 1670, 1508 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.59 (td, J=8.0, 1.6 Hz, 2H), 7.33-7.23 (m, 6H), 7.20 (td, J=7.6, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 6.89 (d, J=8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.78 (d, J=8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.77 (s, 1H), 6.30 (br s, 1H), 6.16 (s, 1H), 4.67 and 4.56 (ABq, J=15.2 Hz, 2H), 4.55 and 4.49 (ABqd, J=14.8, 6.4 Hz, 2H), 2.19 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) & 166.6, 166.4, 143.8, 137.7, 133.6, 113.6, 132.5, 130.4, 130.2, 128.7, 128.6 (×2), 128.0, 127.6 (×2), 127.4, 125.1, 124.7, 117.3, 116.8, 68.4, 63.0, 43.9, 21.0; MS (+ESI) m/z 489 (M+2+Na⁺,100), 487 (M+Na⁺, 92). Anal. Calcd for C₂₄H₂₁BrN₂O₃: C, 61.95; H, 4.55; N, 6.02. Found: C, 61.54; H, 4.68; N, 5.94.

4.3.14. *N*-Benzyl-2-(3,4-dihydro-6-chloro-3-oxo-2*H*-1,4benzoxazin-4-yl)-2-(2-bromophenyl)acetamide (12n). A white crystalline solid; mp 216–217 °C (CH₂Cl₂–hexane); R_f =0.22 (20% EtOAc in hexane); IR (KBr) 3312, 1691, 1672, 1496 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.59 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 2H), 7.35–7.19 (m, 7H), 6.97 (s, 1H), 6.91 (s, 2H), 6.18 (t, *J*=5.6 Hz, 1H), 6.13 (s, 1H), 4.72 and 4.58 (ABq, *J*=15.2 Hz, 2H), 4.53 (d, *J*=5.6 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.3, 165.9, 144.7, 137.4, 133.8, 132.8, 130.8, 130.3, 129.7, 128.7 (×2), 128.2, 127.7, 127.6 (×2), 127.5, 124.7, 124.4, 118.0, 117.3, 68.2, 62.8, 44.0; MS (+ESI) *m*/*z* 511 (M+4+Na⁺,100), 509 (M+2+Na⁺,100), 507 (M+Na⁺, 77). Anal. Calcd for C₂₃H₁₈BrClN₂O₃: C, 56.87; H, 3.73; N, 5.77. Found: C, 56.88; H, 3.76; N, 5.73.

4.4. General procedure for microwave-assisted Culcatalyzed intramolecular amidation of 12l-n

To a 10-mL pressurized process vial were added CuI $(1.5 \times 10^{-2} \text{ mmol}, \text{ pre-washed by dry THF})$, the substrate **12l-n** (0.15 mmol), and $K_3PO_4 \cdot 3H_2O$ (0.30 mmol). The loaded vial was then sealed with a cap containing a silicon septum. The vial was evacuated and backfilled with nitrogen several times by using a needle through the septum. The degassed DMF (5 mL) was then added by syringe through the septum. The resultant mixture was heated in the microwave cavity at 150 °C for 35 min (for 12l) or 50 min (for 12m and 12n). The reaction mixture was then filtrated through Celite with washing by EtOAc. The combined filtrate was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and then concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel eluted with EtOAc and petroleum ether (60-90 °C) to afford 13a-c. The structures and yields of the products are given in Scheme 1.

4.4.1. N-Benzyl-3-(3,4-dihydro-7-methyl-3-oxo-2H-1,4benzoxazin-4-yl)oxindole (13a). A white crystalline solid and a 57:43 mixture of two atropisomers in CDCl₃; mp 113–114 °C (EtOAc-hexane); $R_f=0.31$ (20% EtOAc in hexane); IR (KBr) 1727, 1690 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) for the major atropisomer: δ 7.41–6.87 (m, 9H), 6.81 (s, 1H), 6.75 (s, 1H), 6.27 (d, J=7.6 Hz, 1H), 5.73 (d, J=8.0 Hz, 1H), 5.11 and 4.79 (ABq, J=15.6 Hz, 2H), 4.79 and 4.69 (ABq, J=15.2 Hz, 2H), 2.13 (s, 3H); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, $CDCl_3$) for the minor atropisomer: δ 7.41–6.87 (m, 11H), 6.66 (d, J=7.6 Hz, 1H), 5.32 (s, 1H), 5.09 and 4.87 (ABq, J=15.6 Hz, 2H), 4.60 and 4.43 (ABq, J=15.2 Hz, 2H), 2.30 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) for the major atropisomer: δ 171.9, 166.0, 145.4, 142.2, 135.3, 134.4, 129.4, 128.8 (×3), 128.1 (×2), 127.5, 124.1, 123.6, 123.1, 122.7, 117.9, 115.2, 109.9, 67.7, 53.2, 44.4, 20.6; ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) for the minor atropisomer: δ 171.7, 164.0, 145.4, 143.4, 135.4, 134.8, 129.4, 128.7 (×3), 128.0, 127.2 (×2), 124.3, 123.7, 123.3, 123.0, 118.1, 114.2, 109.6, 67.9, 56.2, 44.2, 20.7; MS (-ESI) m/z 383 (M-H⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₂₄H₂₀N₂O₃: C, 74.98; H, 5.24; N, 7.29. Found: C, 74.89; H, 5.20; N, 7.33.

4.4.2. N-Benzyl-3-(3,4-dihydro-6-methyl-3-oxo-2H-1,4benzoxazin-4-yl)oxindole (13b). A white crystalline solid and a 52:48 mixture of two atropisomers in DMSO- d_6 ; mp 151–152 °C (EtOAc–hexane); R_f =0.30 (20% EtOAc in hexane); IR (KBr) 1730, 1685 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO- d_6) for the major atropisomer: δ 7.47–6.86 (m, 11H), 6.73 (d, J=8.0 Hz, 1H), 5.43 (s, 1H), 5.15 and 4.95 (ABq, J=16.0 Hz, 2H), 4.64 and 4.48 (ABq, J=15.2 Hz, 2H), 2.39 (s, 3H); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO- d_6) for the minor atropisomer: δ 7.47–6.86 (m, 11H), 6.68 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1H), 5.75 (s, 1H), 5.22 and 4.82 (ABq, J=15.6 Hz, 2H), 4.82 and 4.76 (ABq, J=15.2 Hz, 2H), 1.81 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) for the major atropisomer: δ 172.1, 164.6, 143.7, 143.7, 135.7, 132.5, 130.0, 129.6, 129.0 (×2), 127.8, 127.5 (×2), 125.2, 124.4, 123.5, 123.0, 117.2, 115.3, 109.9, 68.2, 56.5, 44.5, 21.4; ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) for the minor atropisomer: δ 172.0, 166.6, 143.8, 142.5, 135.7, 133.3, 129.7, 129.2 (×2), 128.2, 128.2 (×2), 126.8, 124.9, 124.3, 123.7, 123.2, 117.5, 116.2, 110.0, 68.1, 53.5, 44.7, 21.0; MS (+ESI) m/z

407 (M+Na⁺, 100), 791 (2M+Na⁺, 77). Anal. Calcd for $C_{24}H_{20}N_2O_3$: C, 74.98; H, 5.24; N, 7.29. Found: C, 74.79; H, 5.24; N, 7.27.

4.4.3. N-Benzyl-3-(3,4-dihydro-6-chloro-3-oxo-2H-1,4benzoxazin-4-yl)oxindole (13c). A white crystalline solid and a 51:49 mixture of two atropisomers in CDCl₃; mp 193–195 °C (EtOAc-hexane); R_f =0.31 (20% EtOAc in hexane); IR (KBr) 1731, 1691 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, $CDCl_3$) for the major atropisomer: δ 7.45–6.88 (m, 11H), 6.73 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1H), 6.02 (d, J=2.0 Hz, 1H), 5.13 and 4.91 (ABq, J=16.0 Hz, 2H), 4.65 and 4.49 (ABq, J=15.2 Hz, 2H); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) for the minor atropisomer: δ 7.45–6.88 (m, 12H), 5.33 (s, 1H), 5.19 and 4.86 (ABq, J=15.6 Hz, 2H), 4.84 and 4.78 (ABq, J=15.6 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) for the major atropisomer: δ 171.4, 165.8, 144.3, 142.2, 135.1, 131.1, 129.9, 129.2 (×2), 127.9, 127.6, 127.5 (×2), 124.1, 123.6, 123.5, 122.8, 118.4, 115.5, 110.3, 67.6, 53.3, 44.6; ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) for the minor atropisomer: δ 171.4, 163.8, 144.2, 143.3, 135.3, 129.6, 128.8 (×2), 128.3, 127.9, 127.6, 127.2 (×2), 124.3, 124.0, 122.9, 122.7, 118.6, 114.8, 109.8, 67.8, 56.4, 44.2; MS (+ESI) m/z 831.0 (2M+Na⁺, 45); 429 (M+2+Na⁺, 33), 427 (M+Na⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₂₃H₁₇ClN₂O₃: C, 68.23; H, 4.23; N, 6.92. Found: C, 68.14; H, 4.19; N, 6.75.

Acknowledgements

This work is supported by a research grant provided by Zhejiang University. W.-M. Dai is the recipient of Cheung Kong Scholars Award of The Ministry of Education of China.

Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version, at doi: 10.1016/j.tet.2006.05.001.

References and notes

- (a) Multicomponent Reactions; Zhu, J., Bienaymé, H., Eds.; Wiley: Weinheim, 2005; (b) Gokel, G.; Lüdke, G.; Ugi, I. Isonitrile Chemistry; Ugi, I., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1971.
- Selected recent reviews on non-isocyanide-based MCRs, see:
 (a) Posner, G. H. *Chem. Rev.* **1986**, *86*, 831–844; (b) Kappe,
 C. O. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2000**, *33*, 879–888; (c) Orru, R. A. V.;
 de Greef, M. *Synthesis* **2003**, 1471–1499.
- Selected recent reviews on IMCRs, see: (a) Dömling, A.; Ugi, I. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3168–3210; (b) Weber, L. Curr. Med. Chem. 2002, 9, 2085–2093; (c) Hulme, C.; Gore, V. Curr. Med. Chem. 2003, 10, 51–80; (d) Zhu, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 1133–1144; (e) Ramón, D. J.; Yus, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 1602–1634; (f) Dömling, A. Chem. Rev. 2006, 106, 17–89.
- Sun, X.; Janvier, P.; Zhao, G.; Bienaymé, H.; Zhu, J. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 877–880.
- 5. Selected references on convertible isocyanides, see: (a) Keating, T. A.; Armstrong, R. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995,

117, 7842–7843; (b) Keating, T. A.; Armstrong, R. W. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 8935–8939; (c) Keating, T. A.; Armstrong, R. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2574–2583;
(d) Rikimaru, K.; Yanagisawa, A.; Kan, T.; Fukuyama, T. Synlett 2004, 41–44.

- Selected references on UDC, see: (a) Hulme, C.; Cherrier, M.-P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 5295–5299; (b) Hulme, C.; Ma, L.; Romano, J.; Morrissette, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 7925–7928; (c) Hulme, C.; Ma, L.; Kumar, N. V.; Krolikowski, P. H.; Allen, A. C.; Labaudiniere, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 1509–1514; (d) Tempest, P.; Ma, V.; Thomas, S.; Zheng, H.; Kelly, M. G.; Hulme, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 4959–4962; (e) Nixey, T.; Tempest, P.; Hulme, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 1637–1639; (f) Nixey, T.; Kelly, M.; Semin, D.; Hulme, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 3681–3684; (g) Zhang, W.; Tempest, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 6757–6760.
- (a) Beck, B.; Magnin-Lachaux, M.; Herdtweck, E.; Dömling, A. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2875–2879; (b) Beck, B.; Picard, A.; Herdtweck, E.; Dömling, A. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 39–42.
- (a) Gracias, V.; Moore, J. D.; Djuric, S. W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, 45, 417–420; (b) Xiang, Z.; Luo, T.; Lu, K.; Cui, J.; Shi, X.; Fathi, R.; Chen, J.; Yang, Z. Org. Lett. **2004**, 6, 3155–3158.
- Selected references on U-4CR–RCM, see: (a) Piscopio, A. D.; Miller, J. F.; Koch, K. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 8189–8198; (b) Lee, D.; Sello, J. K.; Schreiber, S. L. Org. Lett. **2000**, *2*, 709–712; (c) Banfi, L.; Basso, A.; Guanti, G.; Riva, R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2003**, *44*, 7655–7658; (d) Hebach, C.; Kazmaier, U. Chem. Commun. **2003**, 596–597; (e) Beck, B.; Larbig, G.; Mejat, B.; Magnin-Lachaux, M.; Picard, A.; Herdtweck, E.; Dömling, A. Org. Lett. **2003**, *5*, 1047–1050; (f) Krelaus, R.; Westermann, B. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, *45*, 5987–5990.
- Selected references on U-4CR–IMDA, see: (a) Paulvannan, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, 40, 1851–1854; (b) Lee, D.; Sello, J. K.; Schreiber, S. L. Org. Lett. **2000**, 2, 709–712; (c) González-Zamora, E.; Fayol, A.; Bois-Choussy, M.; Chiaroni, A.; Zhu, J. Chem. Commun. **2001**, 1684–1685; (d) Wright, D. L.; Robotham, C. V.; Aboud, K. Tetrahedron Lett. **2002**, 43, 943–946; (e) Sello, J. K.; Andreana, P. R.; Lee, D.; Schreiber, S. L. Org. Lett. **2003**, 5, 4125–4127; (f) Paulvannan, K. J. Org. Chem. **2004**, 69, 1207–1214; (g) Oikawa, M.; Ikoma, M.; Sasaki, M. Tetrahedron Lett. **2005**, 46, 415–418; (h) Fayol, A.; Zhu, J. Org. Lett. **2005**, 7, 239–242 and references cited therein; (i) Lu, K.; Luo, T.; Xiang, Z.; You, Z.; Fathi, R.; Chen, J.; Yang, Z. J. Comb. Chem. **2005**, 7, 958–967. Also see Refs. 3d and 4.
- For intramolecular N-alkylation, see: (a) Rossen, K.; Sager, J.; DiMichele, L. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 3183–3186; (b) Rossen, K.; Pye, P. J.; DiMichele, L. M.; Volante, R. P.; Reider, P. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 6823–6826; (c) Marcaccini, S.; Pepino, R.; Pozo, M. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 2727–2728; (d) Umkehrer, M.; Kolb, J.; Burdack, C.; Ross, G.; Hiller, W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, *45*, 6421–6424.
- (a) Tempest, P.; Ma, V.; Kelly, M. G.; Jones, W.; Hulme, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, *42*, 4963–4968; (b) Cristau, P.; Vors, J.-P.; Zhu, J. Org. Lett. 2001, *3*, 4079–4082; (c) Tempest, P.; Pettus, L.; Gore, V.; Hulme, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, *44*, 1947–1950; (d) Cristau, P.; Vors, J.-P.; Zhu, J. *Tetrahedron* 2003, *59*, 7859–7870; (e) Cristau, P.; Vors, J.-P.; Zhu, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, *44*, 5575–5578.

- It was recently reported that electron-deficient phenols acted as the acid component in the so-called phenol Ugi-Smiles fourcomponent reactions, see: El Kaïm, L.; Grimaud, L.; Oble, J. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* 2005, 44, 7961–7964.
- 14. (a) Dai, W.-M.; Guo, D.-S.; Sun, L.-P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, 42, 5275–5278; (b) Dai, W.-M.; Sun, L.-P.; Guo, D.-S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 7699–7702; (c) Dai, W.-M.; Guo, D.-S.; Sun, L.-P.; Huang, X.-H. *Org. Lett.* 2003, 5, 2919–2922; (d) Sun, L.-P.; Huang, X.-H.; Dai, W.-M. *Tetrahedron* 2004, 60, 10983–10992.
- 15. Dai, W.-M.; Lai, K. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 9377-9380.
- (a) Dai, W.-M.; Wang, X.; Ma, C. *Tetrahedron* 2005, 61, 6879–6885;
 (b) Feng, G.; Wu, J.; Dai, W.-M. *Tetrahedron* 2006, 62, 4635–4642.
- For recent reviews on controlled microwave heating, see: (a) Nüchter, M.; Ondruschka, B.; Bonrath, W.; Gum, A. Green Chem. 2004, 6, 128–141; (b) Kappe, C. O. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 6250–6284. For recent monographs, see: (c) Microwaves in Organic Synthesis; Loupy, A., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: New York, NY, 2002; (d) Kappe, C. O.; Stadler, A. Microwaves in Organic and Medicinal Chemistry; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2005.
- For examples of microwave-assisted IMCRs, see: (a) Hoel, A. M. L.; Nielsen, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 3941–3944;
 (b) Varma, R. S.; Kumar, D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 7665–7669;
 (c) Ireland, S. M.; Tye, H.; Whittaker, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2003**, *44*, 4369–4371;
 (d) Chen, J. J.; Deshpande, S. V. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2003**, *44*, 8873–8876;
 (e) Tye, H.; Whittaker, M. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2004**, *2*, 813–815;
 (f) Lu, Y.; Zhang, W. QSAR Comb. Sci. **2004**, *23*, 827–835. Also, see Ref. 6g.
- For selected recent reviews, see: (a) Ley, S. V.; Thomas, A. W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 5400–5449; (b) Beletskaya, I. P.; Cheprakov, A. V. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2004, 248, 2337–2364.
- For examples of microwave-assisted CuI-catalyzed amidation, see: (a) Lange, J. H. M.; Hofmeyer, L. J. F.; Hout, F. A. S.; Osnabrug, S. J. M.; Verveer, P. C.; Kruse, C. G.; Feenstra, R. W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 1101–1104; (b) Wannberg, J.; Dallinger, D.; Kappe, C. O.; Larhed, M. J. Comb. Chem. **2005**, *7*, 574–583.
- For an example of microwave-assisted Pd-catalyzed intramolecular amidation, see: (a) Poondra, R. R.; Turner, N. J. Org. *Lett.* 2005, 7, 863–866.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6782-6791

Tetrahedron

DABCO catalyzed reaction of various nucleophiles with activated alkynes leading to the formation of alkenoic acid esters, 1,4-dioxane, morpholine, and piperazinone derivatives

Ming-Jin Fan,^a Gao-Qiang Li^a and Yong-Min Liang^{a,b,*}

^aState Key Laboratory of Applied Organic Chemistry, Lanzhou University, Lanzhou 730000, PR China ^bLanzhou Institute of Chemical Physics, Chinese Academy of Science, Lanzhou 730000, PR China

> Received 20 January 2006; revised 27 April 2006; accepted 29 April 2006 Available online 26 May 2006

Abstract—The reaction of acids, alcohols, acylamides, 1,2-diols, 1,2-diamines or amino alcohols with activated alkynes catalyzed by 1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane (DABCO) was systematically investigated. A series of unsaturated alkenoic acid esters or heterocycles were formed in the reaction of monobasic or dibasic nucleophiles in excellent yields, respectively. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The organocatalytic carbon–carbon bond-forming reaction involving the addition of nucleophiles to activated alkynes has been drawing increasing attention.¹ Several organic catalysts have been investigated in detail in recent years.² Among them, DABCO, a tertiary amine base with weak basicity and moderate hindrance, has been widely used as a potential catalyst in a broad range of organic reactions, such as Hillman–Baylis reaction,³ cyclopropanation,⁴ heterocycle formation,⁵ and other transformations. In our recent investigations on DABCO catalyzed reaction of α -halo carbonyl compounds with dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate (DMAD), it was found that the Michael addition product rather than desired cyclization product was formed in moderate yield using 2-chloroacetamide as the substrate (Scheme 1).^{5e}



Scheme 1.

On the basis of this observation and previous investigations,⁶ we considered DABCO as a potential catalyst for the reaction of nucleophiles with activated alkynes. As a part of

our continuing investigation on DABCO catalyzed organic reactions, we decided to look closer into this type of the reaction.^{5d,e} A series of nucleophiles, such as alcohols, acylamides, acids, 1,2-diols, 1,2-diamines, and amino alcohols were selected to demonstrate the scope of the reaction and excellent results were obtained. On one hand, the reaction between DMAD and alcohols, acylamides or acids proceeded smoothly and rapidly at room temperature to give α,β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds in excellent vields. On the other hand, using dibasic nucleophiles, such as 1,2-diols, 1,2-diamines, and amino alcohols as the substrates, different cycloaddition products were obtained under the same conditions. Herein the full details of our research including the scope of the reaction, suitable reaction conditions, and selectivity optimization, along with the corresponding possible reaction mechanisms were reported.

2. Results and discussion

In an initial experiment, the reaction of alcohols with DMAD in the presence of a catalytic amount of DABCO (10 mol %) was examined. In a typical procedure, DMAD (0.5 mmol), DABCO (0.05 mmol), and alcohols (0.5 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ were stirred for 10 min at room temperature and gave unsaturated alkenoic acid esters facilely by flash on chromatography on silica column. The reaction appeared to be general with a number of alcohols affording conjugate addition products in excellent yields (Table 1, entries 1–5), but it suffered from a drawback of stereoselectivity. Most of the reactions gave the final products as a pair of (E)-

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +86 931 3904776; fax: +86 931 8912582; e-mail: liangym@lzu.edu.cn

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter \odot 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.100

Table 1. Reaction of alcohols with DMAD^a

	$_{2}^{2}$ CH ₃ + ROH $\frac{DABC}{CH}$	O (10 mol%) I ₂ Cl ₂ , r.t.	► RO H ₃ CO ₂ C	H = CO ₂ CH ₃
Entry	ROH	Product	Yield/% ^b	E/Z^{c}
1	CH ₃ OH	1	88	20:80
2	ClCH ₂ CH ₂ OH	2	95	30:70
3	CH ₂ OH	3	91	45:55
4	(Et) ₂ NCH ₂ CH ₂ OH	4	92	Ε
5		5	90	40:60

^a All the reactions were performed at room temperature and completed within 10 min.

^b Isolated yields.

^c The (E)- and (Z)-isomers were separated by silica gel column chromatography.

and (Z)-isomers (Table 1, entries 1-3 and 5). These two isomers can be easily separated by column chromatography. An exception appeared when Et₂NCH₂CH₂OH was used as the substrate. The product 4 was obtained with dominant (E)selectivity (Table 1, entry 4). The structure and stereochemistry of the products were determined on the basis of their elemental analysis, mass spectrometry (MS), ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR, and IR data. The ¹H NMR spectral data of the products exhibited two isomers (except for product 4) and both of them displayed characteristic resonance pattern with appropriate chemical shift. For example, the ¹H NMR spectrum of product 1 showed three single sharp lines at 3.76, 3.85, and 3.95 ppm for three methoxy groups in the (Z)-isomer and three singlets at 3.71, 3.75, and 3.89 ppm for the (E)-isomer. The olefinic proton in the (Z)-isomer resonated at 6.19 ppm, while the olefinic proton in the (E)isomer resonated at 5.21 ppm. It was in agreement with the values reported in the previous literature.⁷ In all the ¹H NMR spectra, (E)-isomer displayed a signal as a single sharp resonance at about 5.21–5.37 ppm for the olefinic proton. The ¹H NMR chemical shift of the (Z)-form was similar to that of the (E)-isomer, except for the olefinic proton, which was at about 6.19-6.36 ppm (see Section 4).

Although amine reacted with activated alkynes quickly and no base catalyst was needed,⁸ we found that the same reaction of acylamides was very sluggish in the absence of a base catalyst. However, in the presence of a catalytic amount of DABCO (10 mol %), various acylamides could undergo a smooth reaction with activated alkynes at room temperature and gave the corresponding unsaturated alkenoic acid esters in moderate yields with excellent stereoselectivity. Only the (E)-form isomers were isolated in all the reactions of various acylamides with DMAD (Table 2, entries 1–5). Though the reaction showed optimal stereoselectivity, most of the yields were lower comparing to that of alcohols. It could be attributed to the following two reasons: (i) The reaction could not proceed completely even longer reaction time (24 h) and higher temperature (reflux) were adopted; (ii) complex side products were formed in company with the generation of unsaturated alkenoic acid esters. In each ¹H NMR spectrum of the products, a singlet was observed at about 5.54-5.74 ppm for the olefinic proton (except for product 10). These shifts were similar to those observed in the previous literature.⁷

Table 2. Reaction of acylamides with DMAD^a

		BCO (10 mol%)		Н
	CCO ₂ CH ₃	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , r.t.	H ₃ CO ₂ C	CO ₂ CH ₃
Entr	y RNH ₂ (or NH)	Product	Yield/% ^b	E/Z^{c}
1	CICH ₂ CONH ₂	6	60	Ε
2		7	30	Ε
3	CONH ₂	8	51	Ε
4	H ₃ C	H ₂ 9	71	Ε
5	O NH O	10	85	Ε

^a All the reactions were performed at room temperature and the reaction time was extended to 12 h.

^b Isolated yields.

^c Determined by ¹H NMR (300 MHz) spectra.

With an intention to expand the scope of this conjugate addition, we tested various acids in this reaction and got excellent results surprisingly. In spite of longer reaction time required, the present method seemed to be perfect in terms of stereoselectivity. Only the (Z)-form isomers were isolated in all the reactions of various acids with DMAD (Table 3, entries 1-8). Moreover, the reaction had perfect selectivity in cases of more than one nucleophilic groups presented in the acids. For example, in the reaction of 2-hydroxybenzoic acid, only COOH group participated and gave the desired product with dominate (Z)-form (Table 3, entry 8). It should be an acidity-controlled process and the selectivity was determined by the pK_a value of the nucleophile. Nucleophilic groups with lower pK_a value will participate in the reaction first. The structure of the product was characterized by spectroscopic analysis. In each ¹H NMR spectrum of the products, the olefinic proton resonated at 6.66-6.82 ppm corresponding to the proposed (Z)-isomer. Furthermore, the structure and stereoselectivity of the products were established unambiguously by X-ray analysis of **17** as repre-sentative example (Fig. 1).⁹ To the best of our knowledge, there is no such nucleophilic conjugate addition process involving acids to activated alkynes that has been reported in the literature so far.

The reaction of other activated alkynes was also investigated, such as benzyl propiolate, methyl propiolate with acids, alcohols or acylamides. It was found that excellent results were obtained under the same conditions (0.5 mmol of benzyl propiolate, 0.5 mmol of nucleophiles, and 0.05 mmol of DABCO, CH₂Cl₂, at room temperature). The reaction proceeded smoothly and rapidly (within 10 min) to give conjugate addition products in excellent yields with better stereoselectivities than that of DMAD (Table 4). Most of the reaction gave (*E*)-form alkenoic acid esters as the main product. The ¹H NMR spectrum of (*E*)-form isomer displayed two doublets with *J*=12.3 Hz for the two olefinic Table 3. Reaction of acids with DMAD^a

CCO ₂ CH ₃ III CCO ₂ CH ₃ +	RCOOH	DABCO (10 mol%) CH ₂ Cl ₂ , r.t.	R H ₃ CO ₂ C H	² CH ₃

Entry	RCOOH	Product	Yield /%	E/Z^{c}
1 2	CH ₃ COOH CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₂ COOH	11 12	94 99	Z Z
3		13	91	Ζ
4	CH ₂ COOH	14	85	Ζ
5	СООН	15	88	Ζ
6	F COOH	16	78	Ζ
7	F COOH	17	88	Ζ
8	СООН	18 ^d	76	Ζ

^a All the reactions were performed at room temperature and completed within 6 h.

^b Isolated yields.

^c Determined by ¹H NMR (300 MHz) analysis.

^d The reaction time need to be extended to 24 h.

protons, while the chemical shift of the (*Z*)-form appeared with J=6.6 Hz. It was in agreement with the proposed (*E*)-and (*Z*)-isomers, respectively.

A proposed mechanism for this reaction was outlined in Scheme 2 based on the previous investigation of Nozaki Kyoko et al.¹⁰ Initially, the zwitterionic intermediate \mathbf{a} ,¹¹ formed from DABCO and DMAD, deprotonated the nucleophile to form the corresponding intermediates \mathbf{b} and \mathbf{c} . Subsequent Michael addition of \mathbf{b} to \mathbf{c} gave intermediate \mathbf{d} , which then eliminated DABCO to afford the final product. According to the proposed reaction mechanism, ethyl



Figure 1. X-ray structure of 17.

Table 4. Reaction of various nucleophiles with methyl or benzyl propiolate^a

	HC≡CCO ₂ R ₁	+ R ₂ XH —	DABCO (10 mol%) CH ₂ Cl ₂ , r.t.	$+$ $\stackrel{R_2X}{\rightarrow}$ $+$	H -∕ CO₂R1
Ent	try R ₁	R ₂ XH	Product	Yield/% ^b	E/Z^{c}
1	Bn	ClCH ₂ CH ₂ Ol	H 19 H	99	95:5
2	Bn		20	98	Ε
3	Bn		1 21	99	Ε
4	CH ₃	CICH ₂ CH ₂ O	H 22	90	90:10

^a All the reactions were performed at room temperature and completed within 10 min.

b Isolated yields.

^c Determined by ¹H NMR (300 MHz) spectra.

3-phenylpropiolate should also perform the same reaction with alcohols, acylamides or acids. However, the reaction did not take place even when the reaction mixture was heated to reflux or the reaction time was prolonged to 48 h.



Scheme 2. Plausible mechanism for the reaction of various nucleophiles with activated alkynes.

Further scope exploration revealed that 1,2-diols were another class of suitable nucleophiles for this reaction. Interestingly, 1,2-diols on treatment with DMAD in the presence of a catalytic amount of DABCO (10 mol %) in CH₂Cl₂ afforded 1,4-dioxane derivatives in good to excellent yields. The reaction appeared to be general with a number of 1,2diols. The results using this mild and straightforward procedure were shown in Table 5. The structure of the product was revealed by ¹H and ¹³C NMR analyses. In addition, the NMR-based structure was confirmed by X-ray crystallographic analysis of 23 as representative example (Fig. 2).¹² All the reactions proceeded extremely fast and completed within 10 min. The formation of 1,4-dioxane derivatives involved a Michael addition of 1,2-diol to DMAD and a subsequent intramolecular esterification. Further study revealed that this reaction did not take place in the absence of DABCO, which suggested that the tertiary amine was required as a catalyst in this procedure.

On the basis of the above encouraging results, we used this concept to devise a new one-step approach to the synthesis





Entry	1,2-Diol	Product	Yield /% ^b
1	но	23	80
2	но ОН	24	96
3	ОН	25	60
4	ОН	26	74
5	ОН	27	58
6	ОН	28	60

^a All the reactions were performed between DMAD (0.5 mmol), 1,2-diols (3 mmol), and DABCO (0.05 mmol) at room temperature and completed within 10 min.

^b Isolated yields.

of morpholine derivatives from amino alcohols. As we expected, excellent result was obtained in the reaction of equimolar amount of 2-aminoethanol with DMAD under above conditions (Table 6, entry 1). The structure of the product was deduced from its elemental analysis, mass spectrometry (MS), and ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectroscopic data. The ¹H NMR spectrum showed a sharp singlet at 3.71 ppm for three methoxy group protons and a broad peak at 8.37 ppm for NH group proton. The olefinic proton resonated at 5.66 ppm corresponding to the proposed (Z)-isomer. On top of this, a triplet at 4.50-4.54 ppm and a multiplet at 3.50-3.55 ppm were readily attributable to CH₂ bonding to oxygen and CH₂ bonding to NH group, respectively. It was worthy of note that this reaction could take place in the absence of DABCO. It was demonstrated that the NH₂ group in the amino alcohol played the same role as DABCO in this



Figure 2. X-ray structure of 23.

Table 6. Reaction of amino alcohols with DMAD^a





^a All the reactions were performed between equimolar DMAD and amino alcohols at room temperature and completed within 10 h.

^b Isolated yields.

^c $[\alpha]_D$ in CHCl₃ (c=1).

reaction. It served not only as a reactant, but also as a catalyst in this reaction. A series of amino alcohols, which were readily prepared from commercial available amino acids,¹³ were tested in this process to afford the corresponding morpholines (Table 6, entries 2-8). The reaction was found to be general with respect to various amino alcohols and morpholine derivatives were obtained in high vields. Moreover, we were pleased to find that this technique could also be extended to provide bicyclic morpholine in good yield (Table 6, entry 9). An attractive feature of this synthetic approach was that the incorporation of morpholine C3-substitution was facilitated by the aide availability of natural and unnatural α-amino acids. Similarly, 1,2-diamines, such as ethane-1,2-diamine and cyclohexane-1,2-diamine, could also react with DMAD in the absence of DABCO under the identical conditions to afford piperazinone derivatives in excellent yields (88% and 83%, respectively, Scheme 3). The present process was more efficient with primary 1,2-diamine or amino alcohol having primary NH₂ group, while secondary 1,2-diamine or amino alcohol with secondary NH₂ group did not work in this manner. For example, treatment of N1,N2dimethylethane-1,2-diamine or L-prolinol with DMAD did not give the expected products under the same conditions.



Scheme 3. Reaction of 1,2-diamines with DMAD.

The mechanisms of these reactions have not been unequivocally established, but two plausible explanations were proposed in Schemes 4 and 5. In the reaction of 1,2-diol or 1,2-diamines with DMAD, it might also involve the initial generation of a zwitterionic intermediate a between DABCO and DMAD (Scheme 4), which was readily protonated by one of the two protons of the nucleophile to yield intermediates **b** and **c**. Subsequent Michael addition of **b** to c formed intermediate d. It underwent the elimination of DABCO to form intermediate e, which was followed by intramolecular esterification in the presence of DABCO to produce the corresponding 1,3-dioxane derivatives and regenerate DABCO to accomplish the catalytic cycle. In the reaction of amino alcohol with DMAD, similarly, zwitterionic intermediate A generated from the addition of amino alcohol to DMAD (Scheme 5) underwent a second Michael addition of the OH group, which was followed by the leaving of NH₂ group. Subsequent intramolecular amidization led to the final morpholine derivatives. The slow transformation step of **h** to **i** was assumed to be the rate determining step, accounting for the longer reaction time required for the final product.



Scheme 4. Plausible mechanism for the reaction of 1,2-diols or 1,2-diamines with DMAD.



Scheme 5. Plausible mechanism for the reaction of amino alcohols with DMAD.

Further comparison studies demonstrated that DABCO was the optimal catalyst for the addition of acids and cyclization of 1,2-diols. Triphenylphosphine, which was commonly employed in the traditional conjugate addition reaction, was ineffective in promoting these reactions under the same conditions. Triethylamine and 4-methylmorpholine gave the lowered yields.

3. Conclusion

In the present work, we reported an excellent catalyst, DABCO, for the reaction of nucleophiles with some activated alkynes. The procedure provided an easy access to unsaturated alkenoic acid ester derivatives and various heterocycles in good to excellent yields under mild reaction conditions. This process expanded not only the scope of organocatalyst catalyzed carbon–carbon bond-forming reaction but also unprecedented approaches to heterocycle formations.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

All reagents were used directly as obtained commercially unless otherwise noted. Melting points were determined on a microscopic apparatus and were uncorrected. Column chromatography was carried out on silica gel. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded at 300 MHz in CDCl₃ and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded at 75 MHz in CDCl₃ using TMS as internal standard. Mass spectra were recorded by the EI method. Nicolet AVATAR 360 FTIR spectrometer was used for IR spectra. HRMS spectra were obtained with a Bruker APEX II instrument.

4.2. Typical procedure for the reaction of various nucleophiles with DMAD. Using alcohol as an example

DMAD (0.5 mmol), DABCO (0.05 mmol), and alcohol (0.5 mmol, 3 mmol for 1,2-diol, 0.5 mmol for other nucleophiles) were stirred in CH_2Cl_2 (4 ml) at room temperature for 10 min. (The reaction time needed to be extended to 10 h for the reaction of amino alcohols and 6 h for acids.) The solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure and the residue was purified by flash chromatography on silica column to give final products.

4.2.1. Dimethyl 2-methoxyfumarate. Oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =6.19 (s, 1H), 3.95 (s, 3H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 3.76 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =164.9, 163.4, 155.0, 107.9, 61.2, 53.0, 51.9. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=174 (M⁺, 2.58), 159 (20.46), 143 (48.67), 115 (67.41), 69 (100). Known compound.^{7a}

4.2.2. Dimethyl 2-methoxymaleate. Oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =5.21 (s, 1H), 3.89 (s, 3H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 3.71 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =166.2, 163.9, 162.4, 93.0, 56.9, 52.9, 51.5. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=174 (M⁺, 4.7), 159 (17.2), 143 (51.1), 115 (55), 69 (100). Known compound.^{7a}

4.2.3. Dimethyl 2-(2-chloroethoxy) fumarate. Oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =6.30 (s, 1H), 4.34–4.38 (t, *J*=6 Hz, 2H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 3.77–3.81 (t, *J*=6 Hz, 2H), 3.77 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =164.3, 162.9, 153.3, 110.6, 73.2, 52.8, 51.7, 42.2. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=222 (M⁺, 0.64), 207 (0.45), 191 (15.05), 163 (41.83), 127 (36.58), 101 (61.28), 69 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₈H₁₁ClO₅: C, 43.16; H, 4.98. Found: C, 43.34; H, 4.54. IR (KBr): 2956, 2852, 1728, 1643, 1269.

4.2.4. Dimethyl 2-(2-chloroethoxy) maleate. Oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =5.22 (s, 1H), 4.09–4.13 (t, *J*=6 Hz, 2H), 3.90 (s, 3H), 3.76–3.79 (t, *J*=5.7 Hz, 2H), 3.71 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =166.0, 163.5, 160.9, 94.2, 69.4, 53.0, 51.6, 40.3. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=222 (M⁺, 0.49), 207 (0.15), 191 (8.71), 163 (22.19), 127 (16.43), 101 (49.94), 69 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₈H₁₁ClO₅: C, 43.16; H, 4.98. Found: C, 43.12; H, 4.68. IR (KBr): 2956, 2851, 1751, 1717, 1630, 1212, 1154.

4.2.5. Dimethyl 2-(prop-2-ynyloxy) fumarate. Sticky oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =6.36 (s, 1H), 4.91 (s, 2H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 3.77 (s, 3H), 2.58 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =164.4, 163.1, 151.9, 111.5, 77.1, 77.0, 60.2, 53.0, 51.8. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m*/*z* (%)=198 (M⁺, 1.25), 183 (0.63), 167 (12.10), 139 (74.73), 111 (60.55), 69 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₉H₁₀O₅: C, 54.55; H, 5.09. Found: C, 54.32; H, 5.34. IR (KBr): 2958, 2852, 1733, 1633, 1256, 1116.

4.2.6. Dimethyl 2-(prop-2-ynyloxy) maleate. Sticky oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =5.37 (s, 1H), 4.60 (s, 2H), 3.89 (s, 3H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 2.66 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =165.8, 163.3, 159.7, 95.1, 77.8, 75.4, 57.4, 52.9, 51.6. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m*/*z* (%)=198 (M⁺, 0.60), 183 (0.43), 167 (18.84), 139 (66.80), 111 (52.50), 69 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₉H₁₀O₅: C, 54.55; H, 5.09. Found: C, 54.57; H, 5.04. IR (KBr): 2954, 2853, 1748, 1714, 1630, 1144.

4.2.7. Dimethyl 2-(2-(diethylamino) ethoxy) maleate. Oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =5.21 (s, 1H), 3.90–3.95 (t, *J*=6.6 Hz, 2H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 2.81–2.85 (t, *J*=6.6 Hz, 2H), 2.54–2.61 (q, *J*=7.2 Hz, 4H), 1.01–1.05

(t, J=7.2 Hz, 6H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =166.1, 163.8, 161.7, 93.1, 68.7, 52.6, 51.3, 50.5, 47.6. MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%)=259 (M⁺, 0.44), 244 (0.92), 100 (15.08), 86 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₂₁NO₅: C, 55.58; H, 8.16; N, 5.40. Found: C, 55.37; H, 8.02; N, 5.56. IR (KBr): 2956, 2926, 2851, 1754, 1719, 1627, 1209, 1150.

4.2.8. Dimethyl 2-(benzyloxy) fumarate. Sticky oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.31–7.45 (m, 5H), 6.25 (s, 1H), 5.19 (s, 2H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 3.73 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =164.5, 163.3, 153.6, 136.0, 128.4, 128.3, 128.1, 110.2, 74.9, 52.7, 51.6. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=250 (M⁺, 0.55), 218 (0.63), 191 (1.33), 159 (2.20), 91 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₃H₁₄O₅: C, 62.39; H, 5.64. Found: C, 62.10; H, 5.22. IR (KBr): 2953, 2849, 1729, 1640, 1266, 742, 698.

4.2.9. Dimethyl 2-(benzyloxy) maleate. Sticky oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.36–7.38 (m, 5H), 5.29 (s, 1H), 4.91 (s, 2H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 3.69 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =166.2, 163.8, 161.5, 134.0, 128.7, 127.8, 94.0, 71.8, 52.9, 51.6. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=250 (M⁺, 0.14), 218 (0.44), 191 (1.35), 159 (3.24), 91 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₃H₁₄O₅: C, 62.39; H, 5.64. Found: C, 62.39; H, 5.52. IR (KBr): 2954, 1752, 1725, 1637, 1203, 1131, 826.

4.2.10. Dimethyl 2-(2-chloroacetamido) maleate. Sticky oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =11.03 (s, 1H), 5.64 (s, 1H), 4.14 (s, 2H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 3.77 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =168.0, 164.8, 163.9, 142.4, 104.3, 53.4, 52.4, 42.4. MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%)=235 (M⁺, 5.36), 237 (1.85), 204 (11.46), 206 (3.76), 176 (100), 178 (30.74). Anal. Calcd for C₈H₁₀ClNO₅: C, 40.78; H, 4.28; N, 5.94. Found: C, 40.61; H, 4.01; N, 5.65. IR (KBr): 3285, 2956, 2851, 1746, 1694, 1638, 1295, 1223.

4.2.11. Dimethyl 2-(acrylamido) maleate. White powder, mp 57–58 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =10.45 (s, 1H), 5.87–6.46 (m, 3H), 5.54 (s, 1H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 3.78 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =168.4, 164.1, 162.9, 143.8, 130.2, 129.4, 101.5, 53.1, 51.9. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=213 (M⁺, 3.39), 182 (3.63), 154 (35.25), 55 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₉H₁₁NO₅: C, 50.70; H, 5.20; N, 6.57. Found: C, 50.51; H, 5.13; N, 6.65. IR (KBr): 3302, 2954, 2852, 1745, 1692, 1633, 1283, 1220.

4.2.12. Dimethyl 2-(benzamido) maleate. Sticky oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =11.24 (s, 1H), 7.47–7.96 (m, 5H), 5.60 (s, 1H), 3.92 (s, 3H), 3.79 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =168.8, 164.5, 144.5, 133.1, 131.8, 128.9, 127.8, 101.2, 53.1, 51.9. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=263 (M⁺, 5.55), 232 (4.71), 204 (82.65), 105 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₃H₁₃NO₅: C, 59.31; H, 4.98; N, 5.32. Found: C, 59.19; H, 5.28; N, 5.20. IR (KBr): 3291, 2954, 2851, 1746, 1684, 1631, 1289, 1220, 774, 708.

4.2.13. Dimethyl 2-(tosylamino) maleate. White powder, mp 65–66 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =10.25 (s, 1H), 7.80–7.83 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.32–7.35 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 2H), 5.74 (s, 1H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 2.44 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =168.2, 162.9, 144.2, 143.6, 137.2, 129.4, 127.1, 103.4, 53.1, 52.1, 21.5.

MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%)=313 (M⁺, 0.85), 282 (0.13), 189 (5.19), 164 (19.42), 155 (30.23), 91 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₃H₁₅NO₆S: C, 49.83; H, 4.83; N, 4.47. Found: C, 49.61; H, 4.76; N, 4.17. IR (KBr): 3116, 2955, 2844, 1747, 1682, 1627, 1272, 1230, 1161, 837.

4.2.14. Dimethyl 2-(1,3-dioxoisoindolin-2-yl) maleate. White powder, mp 104–105 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.78–7.95 (m, 4H), 7.18 (s, 1H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 3.73 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =165.5, 163.1, 162.3, 134.5, 132.0, 131.6, 128.6, 124.1, 53.5, 52.4. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=289 (M⁺, 8.61), 258 (5.89), 230 (100), 104 (97.83), 76 (81.30). Anal. Calcd for C₁₄H₁₁NO₆: C, 58.13; H, 3.83; N, 4.84. Found: C, 58.36; H, 4.10; N, 4.55. IR (KBr): 2956, 2924, 2853, 1732, 1659, 720.

4.2.15. Dimethyl 2-acetoxy fumarate. Oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =6.69 (s, 1H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.77 (s, 3H), 2.32 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =167.7, 163.1, 161.4, 146.5, 116.8, 53.1, 51.9, 20.2. MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%)=202 (M⁺, 0.07), 171 (4.40), 143 (46.92), 101 (77.55), 69 (55.10), 43 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₈H₁₀O₆: C, 47.53; H, 4.99. Found: C, 47.59; H, 4.73. IR (KBr): 2957, 2852, 1779, 1732, 1662, 1280, 1162.

4.2.16. Dimethyl 2-(butyryloxy) fumarate. Oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =6.68 (s, 1H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.76 (s, 3H), 2.54–2.59 (t, *J*=6.9 Hz, 2H), 1.74–1.81 (m, 2H), 1.01–1.06 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =170.4, 163.1, 161.5, 146.6, 116.7, 53.0, 51.9, 35.3, 17.9, 13.3. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=230 (M⁺, 0.09), 199 (1.24), 171 (1.97), 129 (1.76), 71 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₄O₆: C, 52.17; H, 6.13. Found: C, 51.93; H, 5.72. IR (KBr): 2961, 2880, 1773, 1732, 1664, 1279, 1102.

4.2.17. 13 Dimethyl 2-(2-phenylacetoyloxy) fumarate. Sticky oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.29–7.36 (m, 5H), 6.68 (s, 1H), 3.90 (s, 2H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 3.67 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =168.5, 163.1, 161.4, 146.4, 132.5, 129.5, 128.5, 127.3, 117.1, 53.1, 52.0, 40.3. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=278 (M⁺, 0.02), 247 (0.38), 219 (0.20), 118 (17.35), 91 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₄H₁₄O₆: C, 60.43; H, 5.07. Found: C, 60.39; H, 5.32. IR (KBr): 2953, 2924, 2853, 1773, 1729, 1664, 1279, 1102, 789, 689.

4.2.18. Dimethyl 2-(2-(naphthalen-6-yl) acetoyloxy) fumarate. Sticky oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.40–8.08 (m, 7H), 6.66 (s, 1H), 4.32 (s, 2H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 3.58 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =168.4, 163.1, 161.4, 146.4, 133.7, 132.0, 129.1, 128.6, 128.3, 126.3, 125.8, 125.4, 123.8, 117.2, 53.0, 51.9, 38.2. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=328 (M⁺, 9.61), 297 (0.30), 168 (100), 141 (73.02), 115 (67.61). Anal. Calcd for C₁₈H₁₆O₆: C, 65.85; H, 4.91. Found: C, 65.88; H, 4.95. IR (KBr): 2954, 2849, 1774, 1730, 1664, 1279, 1105, 789, 689.

4.2.19. Dimethyl 2-(benzoxy) fumarate. White powder, mp 40–42 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.14–8.16 (d, *J*=7.2 Hz, 2H), 7.61–7.65 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.47–7.52 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2H), 6.79 (s, 1H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.70 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =163.6, 163.0, 161.5, 146.8, 133.9, 130.3, 128.5, 128.0, 117.0, 53.1, 52.0. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=264 (M⁺, 0.49), 2.33 (0.74), 205

(0.11), 105 (100), 77 (42.36). Anal. Calcd for $C_{13}H_{12}O_6$: C, 59.09; H, 4.58. Found: C, 59.37; H, 4.34. IR (KBr): 2956, 2848, 1736, 1664, 1279, 1104, 707, 669.

4.2.20. Dimethyl 2-(2-fluorobenzoxy) fumarate. Sticky oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.17–8.13 (m, 4H), 6.80 (s, 1H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 3.73 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =164.1, 163.0, 161.4, 160.7, 146.4, 135.8, 135.7, 132.6, 124.2, 117.3, 116.9, 116.6, 116.5, 53.2, 52.1. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m*/*z* (%)=282 (M⁺, 0.27), 251 (0.59), 223 (0.36), 123 (100), 95 (19.92). HRMS (EI) calcd for C₁₃H₁₁FO₆: (M+Na) 305.0432. Found: 305.0431. IR (KBr): 2957, 1733, 1279, 756.

4.2.21. Dimethyl 2-(4-fluorobenzoxy) fumarate. White powder, mp 69–70 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.15–8.20 (m, 2H), 7.15–7.21 (t, *J*=8.7 Hz, 2H), 6.79 (s, 1H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.72 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =168.0, 164.6, 163.0, 162.6, 161.5, 146.7, 133.2, 133.0, 124.3, 117.2, 116.0, 115.7, 53.2, 52.0. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=282 (M⁺, 0.35), 251 (0.58), 223 (0.15), 123 (100), 95 (29.54). HRMS (EI) calcd for C₁₃H₁₁FO₆: (M+Na) 305.0432. Found: 305.0437. IR (KBr): 2964, 1732, 1273, 856, 759.

4.2.22. Dimethyl 2-(2-hydroxybenzoxy) fumarate. Sticky oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =9.99 (s, 1H), 6.94–8.01 (m, 4H), 6.82 (s, 1H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 3.74 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =167.1, 162.9, 162.0, 161.3, 146.0, 136.9, 130.8, 119.7, 117.8, 110.9, 53.4, 52.3. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=280 (M⁺, 0.37), 249 (0.68), 221 (0.90), 121 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₃H₁₂O₇: C, 55.72; H, 4.32. Found: C, 55.83; H, 4.48. IR (KBr): 3239, 2957, 2851, 1732, 1699, 1653, 1293, 1156, 759.

4.2.23. (*E*)-Benzyl 3-(2-chloroethoxy) acrylate. White powder, mp 40–41 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.59–7.63 (d, *J*=12.3 Hz, 1H), 7.30–7.36 (m, 5H), 5.26–5.30 (d, *J*=12.3 Hz, 1H), 5.15 (s, 2H), 4.03–4.07 (t, *J*=6 Hz, 2H), 3.66–3.70 (t, *J*=5.7 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =167.0, 161.8, 136.2, 128.4, 128.0, 97.1, 70.5, 65.6, 41.2. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=240 (M⁺, 0.44), 195 (21.69), 160 (32.72), 133 (100), 91 (99.32). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₃ClO₃: C, 59.88; H, 5.44. Found: C, 59.69; H, 5.66. IR (KBr): 1709, 1627, 1132, 963, 751, 698.

4.2.24. (**Z**)-**Benzyl 3-(2-chloroethoxy) acrylate.** White powder, mp 50–51 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.26–7.40 (m, 5H), 6.56–6.59 (d, *J*=6.9 Hz, 1H), 5.15 (s, 2H), 4.93–4.96 (d, *J*=7.2 Hz, 1H), 4.24–4.28 (t, *J*=6 Hz, 2H), 3.72–3.76 (t, *J*=6.3 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =164.7, 158.9, 136.3, 128.4, 128.0, 127.9, 96.5, 96.4, 74.9, 65.4, 42.2. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=240 (M⁺, 3.17), 195 (7.77), 160 (4.66), 133 (96.92), 91 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₃ClO₃: C, 59.88; H, 5.44. Found: C, 59.67; H, 5.56. IR (KBr): 1709, 1634, 1157, 1134, 745, 697.

4.2.25. (*E*)-2-((Benzyloxy) carbonyl) vinyl benzoate. White powder, mp 79–81 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.56–8.60 (d, *J*=12.3 Hz, 1H), 7.32–8.11 (m, 10H), 5.93–5.97 (d, *J*=12.6 Hz, 1H), 5.22 (s, 2H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =165.9, 162.4, 150.2, 135.8, 134.3, 130.3, 128.7, 128.5, 128.2, 127.6, 106.0, 66.2. MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%)=282 (M⁺, 0.02), 177 (1.49), 160 (2.76), 105 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₇H₁₄O₄: C, 72.33; H, 5.00. Found: C, 72.15; H, 5.11. IR (KBr): 1744, 1708, 1655, 1261, 1106, 959, 755, 700, 679.

4.2.26. (*E*)-Benzyl 3-(1,3-dioxoisoindolin-2-yl) acrylate. White powder, mp 108–109 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.23–7.97 (m, 10H), 6.97–7.02 (d, *J*=15 Hz, 1H), 5.22 (s, 2H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =166.9, 165.4, 135.9, 135.2, 131.4, 128.5, 128.2, 124.2, 108.3, 66.3. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=307 (M⁺, 3.59), 261 (36.67), 200 (98.52), 91 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₈H₁₃NO₄: C, 70.35; H, 4.26; N, 4.56. Found: C, 70.18; H, 4.39; N, 4.27. IR (KBr): 2956, 1751, 1717, 1630, 1212, 1153, 971, 764, 676.

4.2.27. (*E*)-Methyl 3-(2-chloroethoxy) acrylate. Oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =7.58–7.62 (d, *J*=12.9 Hz, 1H), 5.23–5.28 (d, *J*=12.6 Hz, 1H), 4.09–4.13 (t, *J*=5.7 Hz, 2H), 3.73–3.77 (t, *J*=5.7 Hz, 2H), 3.71 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =167.7, 161.6, 97.1, 70.5, 51.2, 41.3. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=164 (M⁺, 17.0), 133 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₆H₉ClO₃: C, 43.78; H, 5.51. Found: C, 43.91; H, 5.11. IR (KBr): 2952, 1712, 1629, 1143.

4.2.28. (*Z*)-Methyl 2-(3-oxo-1,4-dioxan-2-ylidene) acetate. White powder, mp 105–106 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =6.19 (s, 1H), 4.60–4.63 (m, 2H), 4.37–4.40 (m, 2H), 3.75 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =164.2, 158.5, 150.0, 104.7, 66.5, 64.2, 51.4. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=172 (M⁺, 8.01), 141 (70.01), 69 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₇H₈O₅: C, 48.84; H, 4.68. Found: C, 48.79; H, 4.81. IR (KBr): 2960, 1742, 1715, 1639, 1287, 1236, 1092.

4.2.29. (Z)-Methyl 2-(5,6-dimethyl-3-oxo-1,4-dioxan-2-ylidene) acetate. White powder, mp 77–78 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =6.14 (s, 1H), 4.41–4.46 (m, 1H), 4.06–4.11 (m, 1H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 1.37–1.42 (m, 6H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =164.7, 159.5, 150.2, 104.2, 78.7, 76.0, 51.7, 17.2, 16.5. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=200 (M⁺, 23.1), 169 (53.7), 69 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₉H₁₂O₅: C, 54.00; H, 6.04. Found: C, 54.24; H, 6.26. IR (KBr): 2959, 2917, 2850, 1734, 1701, 1646, 1279, 1237, 1070.

4.2.30. (*Z*)-Methyl 2-((4*aR*,8*aR*)-hexahydro-2-oxobenzo-[*b*][1,4]dioxin-3 (2*H*)-ylidene) acetate. White powder, mp 62–63 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =6.12 (s, 1H), 4.21–4.29 (m, 1H), 3.86–4.94 (m, 1H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 1.21–2.32 (m, 8H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =164.4, 159.3, 150.6, 103.9, 79.5, 77.5, 51.4, 29.5, 29.1, 23.0, 22.8. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m*/*z* (%)=226 (M⁺, 4.80), 195 (8.33), 101 (54.37), 69 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₄O₅: C, 58.40; H, 6.24. Found: C, 58.64; H, 5.91. IR (KBr): 2947, 2865, 1742, 1712, 1641, 1259, 1188, 1072.

4.2.31. (*Z*)-Methyl 2-((4a*S*,8a*R*)-hexahydro-2-oxobenzo-[*b*][1,4]dioxin-3(2*H*)-ylidene) acetate. Sticky oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =6.17 (s, 1H), 4.67–4.71 (m, 1H), 4.42–4.46 (m, 1H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 1.42–1.97 (m, 8H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =164.6, 159.2, 149.2, 103.9, 76.0, 73.0, 51.5, 28.3, 27.4, 21.0, 20.3. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m*/*z* (%)=226 (M⁺, 9.81), 195 (19.09), 101 (46.37), 69 (100). Anal. Calcd for $C_{11}H_{14}O_5$: C, 58.40; H, 6.24. Found: C, 58.28; H, 5.94. IR (KBr): 2949, 2869, 1720, 1643, 1237, 1174, 1073.

4.2.32. (*Z*)-Methyl 2-((4*aR*,7*aR*)-tetrahydro-2-oxo-2*H*-cyclopenta[*b*][1,4]dioxin-3(4*aH*)-ylidene) acetate. White powder, mp 68–70 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =6.16 (s, 1H), 4.48–4.57 (m, 1H), 4.19–4.28 (m, 1H), 3.73 (s, 3H), 1.69–2.24 (m, 6H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =164.4, 160.0, 150.7, 105.2, 80.6, 79.4, 51.6, 24.3, 24.0, 17.4. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m*/*z* (%)=212 (M⁺, 26.09), 181 (72.38), 69 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₂O₅: C, 56.60; H, 5.70. Found: C, 56.58; H, 5.75. IR (KBr): 2924, 1721, 1642, 1233, 1105.

4.2.33. (Z)-Methyl 2-((4aS,7aR)-tetrahydro-2-oxo-2*H*-cyclopenta[*b*][1,4]dioxin-3(4a*H*)-ylidene) acetate. White powder, mp 94–96 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =6.27 (s, 1H), 4.85–4.88 (m, 1H), 4.67–4.70 (m, 1H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 1.76–2.18 (m, 6H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =164.4, 158.4, 148.0, 105.3, 80.1, 76.1, 51.5, 29.0, 27.8, 19.2. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m*/*z* (%)=212 (M⁺, 24.02), 181 (100), 69 (59.28). Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₂O₅: C, 56.60; H, 5.70. Found: C, 56.64; H, 5.90. IR (KBr): 2956, 1709, 1642, 1239, 1087.

4.2.34. (*Z*)-Methyl 2-(3-oxomorpholin-2-ylidene) acetate. White powder, mp 79–80 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.37 (s, 1H), 5.66 (s, 1H), 4.50–4.54 (t, *J*=4.8 Hz, 2H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 3.50–3.55 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =170.4, 160.3, 144.4, 89.9, 67.3, 51.0, 38.4. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=171 (M⁺, 41.6), 140 (52.9), 68 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₇H₉NO₄: C, 49.12; H, 5.30; N, 8.18. Found: C, 49.22; H, 5.75; N, 8.24. IR (KBr): 3326, 2923, 1744, 1663, 1619, 1287, 1233.

4.2.35. (*Z*)-Methyl 2-((*R*)-5-isopropyl-3-oxomorpholin-2ylidene) acetate. Oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.51 (s, 1H), 5.56 (s, 1H), 4.26–4.46 (m, 2H), 3.66 (s, 3H), 3.22– 3.29 (m, 2H), 1.76–1.88 (m, 1H), 0.97–1.03 (m, 6H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =170.4, 160.3, 144.0, 89.1, 69.4, 53.7, 50.8, 29.6, 18.6, 18.4. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=213 (M⁺, 16.3), 182 (8.9), 170 (100), 138 (97.9). Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₅NO₄: C, 56.33; H, 7.09; N, 6.57. Found: C, 56.43; H, 7.20; N, 6.19. IR (KBr): 3310, 2965, 1747, 1664, 1620, 1265, 1237.

4.2.36. (**Z**)-Methyl 2-((*S*)-5-*sec*-butyl-3-oxomorpholin-2ylidene) acetate. Oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.55 (s, 1H), 5.61 (s, 1H), 4.33–4.51 (m, 2H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 3.38–3.43 (m, 1H), 1.57–1.70 (m, 2H), 1.25–1.34 (m, 1H), 0.94–1.01 (m, 6H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =170.4, 160.3, 144.0, 88.9, 69.3, 52.3, 50.8, 35.8, 25.1, 14.6, 10.8. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=227 (M⁺, 16.0), 196 (7.8), 170 (100), 138 (92.0). Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₇NO₄: C, 58.14; H, 7.54; N, 6.16. Found: C, 58.23; H, 7.58; N, 5.82. IR (KBr): 3309, 2966, 1748, 1664, 1619, 1254, 1233.

4.2.37. Methyl 2-((*S*)-5-isobutyl-3-oxomorpholin-2-ylidene) acetate. Oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.46 (s, 1H), 5.61 (s, 1H), 4.17–4.46 (m, 2H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 3.66–3.69 (m, 1H), 1.32–1.80 (m, 3H), 0.97–1.01 (t, *J*=6.3 Hz, 6H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =170.4, 160.2, 143.9, 89.2, 71.3, 50.8, 46.2, 39.7, 24.4, 22.8, 21.7. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m*/*z* (%)=227 (M⁺, 15.43), 196 (7.72), 170 (100), 138 (93.98). Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₇NO₄: C, 58.14; H, 7.54; N, 6.16. Found: C, 58.47; H, 7.15; N, 5.97. IR (KBr): 3310, 2957, 1748, 1666, 1619, 1253, 1227.

4.2.38. (*Z*)-Methyl 2-((*S*)-5-benzyl-3-oxomorpholin-2-ylidene) acetate. White powder, mp 83–84 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.36 (s, 1H), 7.20–7.39 (m, 5H), 5.65 (s, 1H), 4.22–4.43 (m, 2H), 3.74–3.80 (m, 1H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 2.85–2.87 (d, *J*=7.2 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =170.1, 160.3, 143.4, 135.3, 129.0, 128.9, 127.4, 90.2, 70.2, 51.0, 49.7, 38.0. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=261 (M⁺, 6.51), 230 (2.83), 170 (100), 138 (89.10). Anal. Calcd for C₁₄H₁₅NO₄: C, 64.36; H, 5.79; N, 5.36. Found: C, 64.61; H, 5.88; N, 5.09. IR (KBr): 3315, 2949, 1740, 1667, 1622, 1238, 772, 698.

4.2.39. (*Z*)-Methyl 2-((*R*)-5-benzyl-3-oxomorpholin-2-ylidene) acetate. White powder, mp 74–75 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.36 (s, 1H), 7.20–7.39 (m, 5H), 5.65 (s, 1H), 4.22–4.42 (m, 2H), 3.77–3.79 (m, 1H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 2.84–2.87 (d, *J*=7.2 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =170.0, 160.3, 143.4, 135.3, 129.0, 128.9, 127.4, 90.1, 70.2, 50.9, 49.6, 38.0. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=261 (M⁺, 5.17), 230 (2.67), 170 (91.84), 138 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₄H₁₅NO₄: C, 64.36; H, 5.79; N, 5.36. Found: C, 64.52; H, 5.76; N, 4.97. IR (KBr): 3321, 2947, 1740, 1667, 1622, 1238, 772, 699.

4.2.40. (*Z*)-Methyl 2-((*R*)-5-(2-(methylthio) ethyl)-3-oxomorpholin-2-ylidene) acetate. Oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.47 (s, 1H), 5.59 (s, 1H), 4.21–4.50 (m, 2H), 3.68–3.78 (m, 1H), 3.66 (s, 3H), 2.50–2.65 (m, 2H), 2.09 (s, 3H), 1.77–1.95 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =170.2, 160.1, 143.4, 89.9, 70.5, 50.9, 46.9, 30.5, 29.9, 15.4. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m*/*z* (%)=245 (M⁺, 12.60), 214 (5.26), 170 (19.14), 138 (84.38), 61 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₅NO₄S: C, 48.96; H, 6.16; N, 5.71. Found: C, 49.25; H, 6.39; N, 5.44. IR (KBr): 3307, 2949, 1745, 1666, 1619, 1269, 1240.

4.2.41. (*Z*)-Methyl 2-(5-((1*H*-indol-3-yl) methyl)-3-oxomorpholin-2-ylidene) acetate. Yellow powder, mp 59– 61 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.40 (s, 1H), 8.31 (s, 1H), 7.54–7.56 (d, *J*=7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.36–7.39 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.13–7.25 (m, 3H), 5.65 (s, 1H), 4.27–4.49 (m, 2H), 3.88–3.91 (m, 1H), 3.67 (s, 3H), 2.90–3.11 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =170.3, 160.5, 143.6, 136.4, 126.7, 123.1, 122.5, 119.8, 118.2, 111.5, 109.3, 89.8, 70.8, 51.0, 48.4, 27.7. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=300 (M⁺, 3.02), 269 (0.42), 241 (2.00), 138 (4.20), 130 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₆H₁₆N₂O₄: C, 63.99; H, 5.37; N, 9.33. Found: C, 63.76; H, 5.55; N, 9.12. IR (KBr): 3407, 2948, 1742, 1664, 1616, 1260, 1237, 744.

4.2.42. (*Z*)-Methyl 1,7,7-trimethylbicyclo[2.2.1]hepta-[*c*]2-((4aS,8aR)-3-oxomorpholin-2-ylidene) acetate. White powder, mp 87–90 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.44 (s, 1H), 5.75 (s, 1H), 4.42–4.45 (d, *J*=8.7 Hz, 1H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 3.59–3.62 (dd, *J*=8.4 Hz, *J*=3 Hz, 1H), 0.82–1.91 (m, 14H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =170.5, 159.1, 142.2, 89.7, 85.6, 55.4, 51.5, 50.9, 50.3, 47.5, 32.4, 25.4, 22.1, 19.7, 10.7. MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%)=279 (M⁺, 17.22), 248 (3.55), 169 (17.17), 95 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₅H₂₁NO₄: C, 64.50; H, 7.58; N, 5.01. Found: C, 64.23; H, 8.01; N, 5.34. IR (KBr): 3292, 2954, 1738, 1664, 1628, 1258.

4.2.43. (*Z*)-Methyl 2-(3-oxopiperazin-2-ylidene) acetate. White powder, mp 169–170 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.29 (s, 1H), 7.87 (s, 1H), 5.59 (s, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 3.42–3.55 (m, 4H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =170.8, 161.6, 148.9, 86.3, 50.7, 40.1, 38.9. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=170 (M⁺, 92.2), 139 (100), 110 (75.4). Anal. Calcd for C₇H₁₀N₂O₃: C, 49.41; H, 5.92; N, 16.46. Found: C, 49.18; H, 5.85; N, 16.12. IR (KBr): 3328, 3203, 3073, 2948, 1698, 1657, 1621, 1218.

4.2.44. (*Z*)-Methyl 2-((4*aR*,8*aR*)-hexahydro-3-oxopiperazin-2(1*H*,2*H*,4*H*)-ylidene) acetate. White powder, mp 188– 189 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =8.08 (s, 1H), 7.63 (s, 1H), 5.59 (s, 1H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 3.10–3.25 (m, 2H), 1.37–1.98 (m, 8H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ =170.8, 161.6, 149.1, 86.0, 55.4, 54.9, 50.7, 29.5, 29.4, 23.7, 23.4. MS (EI, 70 eV): *m*/*z* (%)=224 (M⁺, 83.9), 193 (41.3), 41 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₆N₂O₃: C, 58.91; H, 7.19; N, 12.49. Found: C, 59.01; H, 7.57; N, 12.26. IR (KBr): 3296, 3191, 3072, 2933, 1693, 1657, 1615, 1212.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the NSF-20021001, NSF-20172024, and the 'Hundred Scientist Program' from the Chinese Academy of Sciences for the financial support of this work.

References and notes

- (a) Inanaga, J.; Baba, Y.; Hanamoto, T. Chem. Lett. 1993, 241;
 (b) Trost, B. M.; Li, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 3167; (c) Rychnovsky, S. D.; Kim, J. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 2659; (d) Trost, B. M.; Li, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 10819; (e) Avalos, M.; Babiano, R.; Bravo, J. L.; Cintas, P.; Jimenez, J. L.; Palacios, J. C.; Silva, M. A. Green Chem. 2001, 3, 26; (f) Mosslemin, M. H.; Yavari, I.; Anary-Abbasinejad, M.; Nateghi, M. R. Synthesis 2004, 1029; (g) Islami, M. R.; Abedini-Torghabeh, J.; Fatemi, S. J.; Hassani, Z.; Amiry, A. Synlett 2004, 1707; (h) Yavari, I.; Souri, S.; Sirouspour, M.; Djahaniani, H.; Nasiri, F. Synthesis 2005, 1761; (i) Hanedanian, M.; Loreau, O.; Sawicki, M.; Taran, F. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 2287; (j) Skouta, R.; Varma, R. S.; Li, C.-J. Green Chem. 2005, 7, 571.
- (a) Matsuya, Y.; Hayashi, K.; Nemoto, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 646; (b) Nair, V.; Pillai, A. N.; Menon, R. S.; Suresh, E. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 1189; (c) Du, Y.; Feng, J.; Lu, X. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 1987; (d) Ding, H.; Ma, C.; Yang, Y.; Wang, Y. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2125; (e) Zhu, X.; Schaffner, A. P.; Li, R. C.; Kwon, O. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2977; (f) Zhao, G.; Shi, Y.; Shi, M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 4527.
- (a) Faltin, C.; Fleming, E. M.; Connon, S. J. J. Org. Chem.
 2004, 69, 6496; (b) Saxena, R.; Patra, A.; Batra, S. Synlett
 2003, 1439; (c) Lee, K. Y.; Kim, J. M.; Kim, J. N. Synlett
 2003, 357; (d) Yu, C.; Liu, B.; Hu, L. J. Org. Chem. 2001,

66, 5413; (e) Kaye, P. T.; Nocanda, X. W. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 1331; (f) Rafel, S.; Leahy, J. W. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 1521; (g) Kaye, P. T.; Robinson, R. S. Synth. Commun. 1996, 26, 2085; (h) Drewes, S. E.; Emslie, N. D.; Karodia, N. Synth. Commun. 1990, 20, 1915.

- 4. (a) Papageorgiou, C. D.; Ley, S. V.; Gaunt, M. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 828; Angew. Chem. 2003, 115, 852; (b) Bremeyer, N.; Smith, S. C.; Ley, S. V.; Gaunt, M. J. Angew. Chem. 2004, 116, 2735; Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 2681; (c) Shi, L.; Wang, P.; Liu, X.; Liu, W.; Liang, Y. Synthesis 2004, 2342.
- (a) Shi, Y.; Shi, M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3057; (b) Lesch, B.; Toräng, J.; Vanderheiden, S.; Bräse, S. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 555; (c) Yang, Z.; Fan, M.; Mu, R.; Liang, Y. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 9140; (d) Fan, M.; Guo, L.; Liu, X.; Liu, W.; Liang, Y. Synthesis 2005, 391; (e) Fan, M.; Yan, Z.; Liang, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 8204; (f) Zhao, G.; Shi, M. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 9975.
- (a) Adib, M.; Mollahosseini, M.; Yavari, H.; Sayahi, M. H.; Bijanzadeh, H. R. Synthesis 2004, 861; (b) Winterfeldt, E. Chem. Ber. 1964, 97, 1952; (c) Winterfeldt, E. Chem. Ber. 1965, 98, 3537.
- (a) Winterfeldt, E.; Preuss, H. Chem. Ber. 1966, 99, 450; (b) Huisgen, R.; Herbig, K.; Siegl, A.; Huber, H. Chem. Ber. 1966, 99, 2526.
- (a) Lappin, G. R. J. Org. Chem. 1961, 26, 2350; (b) Huisgen, R.; Giese, B.; Huber, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1967, 1883; (c) Nair, M. D.; Mehta, S. R. Indian J. Chem. 1968, 6, 490; (d) Nair, M. D. Indian J. Chem. 1969, 7, 229; (e) Gudi, M. N.; Hiriyakkanavar, J. G.; George, M. V. Indian J. Chem. 1969, 7, 971; (f) Prié, G.; Richard, S.; Parrain, J. L.; Duchêne, A.; Abarbri, M. J. Fluorine Chem. 2002, 117, 35; (g) Harriman,

G. C. B.; Chi, S.; Zhang, M.; Crowe, A.; Bennett, R. A.; Parsons, I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2003**, *44*, 3659.

- Crystal data for 17 have been deposited in CCDC as deposition number 604540: C₁₃H₁₁FO₆, M_W=282.22, T=294 (2) K, λ=0.71073 Å, triclinic space group P1, a=5.4716 (2) Å, b=10.9415 (3) Å, c=12.4742 (4) Å, α=113.7600° (10), β=100.6690° (10), γ=92.6020° (10), V=665.68 (4) Å³, Z=2, D_c=1.408 mg/m³, μ=0.121 mm⁻¹, F (000)=292, crystal size 0.40×0.33×0.30 mm, independent reflections 2557 [R (int)=0.0088], reflections collected 3746, refinement method, full-matrix least-squares on F², goodness-of-fit on F² 2.828, final R indices [I>2σ(I)] R₁=0.0550, wR₂=0.0656, R indices (all data) R₁=0.0440, wR₂=0.0638, extinction coefficient 0.0131 (17), largest diff. peak and hole 0.215 and -0.171 eÅ⁻³.
- 10. Nozaki, K.; Sato, N.; Ikeda, K.; Takaya, H. J. Org. Chem. **1996**, 61, 4516.
- 11. Nair, V.; Bindu, S.; Sreekumar, V.; Rath, N. P. *Org. Lett.* **2003**, *5*, 665.
- 12. Crystal data for **23** have been deposited in CCDC as deposition number 295603: C₇H₈O₅, M_W =172.13, T=296 (2) K, λ = 0.71073 Å, orthorhombic space group *Pnma*, *a*=9.581 (2) Å, *b*=6.582 (1) Å, *c*=12.534 (2) Å, α =90.00°, β =90.00°, γ =90.00°, *V*=790.43 (26) Å³, *Z*=4, *D_c*=1.446 mg/m³, μ = 0.125 mm⁻¹, *F* (000)=360, crystal size 0.58×0.46× 0.38 mm, independent reflections 941 [*R* (int)=0.0181], reflections collected 1179, refinement method, full-matrix leastsquares on *F*², goodness-of-fit on *F*² 1.023, final *R* indices [*I*>2 σ (*I*)] *R*₁=0.0489, *wR*₂=0.1025, *R* indices (all data) *R*₁=0.0339, *wR*₂=0.0982, extinction coefficient 0.079 (8), largest diff. peak and hole 0.204 and -0.140 eÅ⁻³.
- 13. Mckennon, M. J.; Meyers, A. I. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 3568.


Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6792-6801

Tetrahedron

One-step construction of carbazoles by way of the palladiumcatalyzed double N-arylation reaction and its application to the total synthesis of murrastifoline-A

Takafumi Kitawaki, Yoko Hayashi, Akiko Ueno and Noritaka Chida*

Department of Applied Chemistry, Faculty of Science and Technology, Keio University, Hiyoshi, Kohoku-ku, Yokohama 223-8522, Japan

> Received 13 April 2006; revised 26 April 2006; accepted 28 April 2006 Available online 19 May 2006

Abstract—The one-step construction of *N*-substituted carbazoles by way of the Pd-catalyzed double N-arylation reaction of primary amines with 2,2'-dibromobiphenyl is described. Aryl and aliphatic amines including *tert*-butylamine and a protected glucopyranosylamine were effectively transformed into the corresponding *N*-substituted carbazoles. The first total synthesis of murrastifoline-A, a biscarbazole alkaloid, based on this methodology is also presented.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Carbazole alkaloids are known to show a wide range of biological properties, such as antitumor, antibiotic, psychotropic, antiinflammatory, and antihistaminic activities.¹ Carbazoles are also useful organic materials, as they possess photorefractive, photoconductive, and light-emitting properties. Due to the interesting and important properties of carbazoles, a number of methodologies for the construction of the carbazole ring have been reported.² Dehydrogenation of tetrahydrocarbazoles prepared by the Fischer-Borsche synthesis is one of the most classical methods.^{3a} Coupling of the metal-coordinated cyclohexadienylium ion with an electron-rich arylamine, followed by metal-mediated oxidative cyclization and aromatization,^{3b} the Pd(0) catalyzed intramolecular cyclization of 2-amino-2'-halobiphenyl,^{3c} and the Pd(II) mediated oxidative cyclization of a diarylamine^{3d} have also been developed. Diels-Alder reaction, ^{3e} electrocyclic reaction,^{3f} and acid catalyzed cyclization of ketosulfoxide^{3g} are methods used for the construction from indole derivatives. Cyclization of 2-arylacetanilides by the action of Pd(OAc)₂ and Cu(OAc)₂ in the presence of O_2 ,^{3h} and the anionic [4+2] cycloaddition of furoindolones³ⁱ were reported in 2005. These methods, however, sometimes encounter difficulties in controlling the regioselectivities during the preparation of multi-substituted carbazoles.

Recently, Nozaki and co-workers reported a new synthetic methodology; the Pd-catalyzed double N-arylation of primary amines with biphenyls possessing leaving groups (Br, I, and OTf) at C-2 and 2'.⁴ This method is an important extension of the Buchwald-Hartwig N-arylation reaction,⁵ and proved to be an excellent protocol for the regioselective construction of unsymmetrical multi-substituted carbazoles in one-step. By this reaction, a variety of primary amines, such as aryl amines and protected amines (O-alkyl carbamates) were successfully transformed into the corresponding N-substituted carbazoles, however, lower yield has been observed when an aliphatic primary amine (n-octylamine) was employed as the substrate under the conditions using Pd₂(dba)₃, t-Bu₃P, and NaOt-Bu in toluene.^{4a} The Nozaki group also reported the successful synthesis of mukonine, a carbazole alkaloid, using this novel methodology.^{4b}

Our group has an interest in the application of the Buchwald–Hartwig N-arylation reaction to the natural products' synthesis, and reported the first total synthesis of spicamycin,⁶ a novel nucleoside antibiotic possessing a unique N-glycoside structure, by way of the Pd-catalyzed coupling of a heptopyranosylamine with a protected 6-chloropurine derivative.^{6a,d} To extend the N-arylation methodology to the synthesis of a variety of natural products, we have independently studied the possibility of the Pd-catalyzed double N-arylation reaction of primary amines with 2,2'-dibromobiphenyl. In this paper, we report our results of the Pd-catalyzed double N-arylation reaction, which generated *N*-aryl-, *N*-alkyl-, and *N*-(glucopyranosyl)carbazoles in moderate to high yields in one-pot reactions. The first total synthesis

Keywords: *N*-Substituted carbazole; Double N-arylation; One-pot synthesis; Murrastifoline-A.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel./fax: +81 455661573; e-mail: chida@applc. keio.ac.jp



Figure 1.

of murrastifoline-A (4), a biscarbazole alkaloid, utilizing this methodology is also disclosed⁷ (Fig. 1).

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Double N-arylation of aniline

The double N-arylation of aniline (1a) with 2,2'-dibromobi $phenyl^{8}(2)$ was first attempted under the conditions reported by the Buchwald group for the N-arylation reaction of primary amines⁵ with aryl halides after slight modification. When a mixture of **1a** (1 equiv) and **2** (1.1 equiv) in toluene in the presence of Pd₂(dba)₃ (10 mol % to 1a), 2-(dicyclohexylphosphino) biphenyl $(5)^{5c}$ (30 mol % to 1a), and NaOt-Bu (3 equiv) was heated at 60 °C for 14 h in a sealed tube, the desired product, N-phenylcarbazole (3a) was isolated in 33% yield (Scheme 1). A mixture of the mono Narylation products (9 and 10) was also obtained in 21% yield (9:10=10:1, determined by ¹H NMR). To our delight, the same reaction at higher temperature (120 °C) significantly improved the yield of the desired product, and carbazole 3a was obtained in 79% yield. In this case, a small amount of the mono N-arylation products (9 and 10) were detected by TLC, but could not be isolated. Although the Buchwald group reported that the mono N-arylation of aniline with 2'-chloroacetophenone proceeded in 81% yield with $Pd_2(dba)_3$ (1 mol %) and ligand **5** (2 mol %),^{5c} the double N-arylation of aniline with 2 was found to be very slow with less than 10 mol % Pd catalyst. It was also found that the molar ratio of ligand/Pd₂(dba)₃ (2-3:1) was important for higher yields of 3a. The dependence on the various reaction parameters was then examined. For the ligands, 5 as well as other dialkylphosphinobiaryls $(6, 5^{5}, 7, 5^{5}, 3^{5})$, which have been reported by the Buchwald group being excellent ligands for the N-arylation, were tested. These results are listed in Table 1, which showed that (i) $Pd_2(dba)_3$ was the Pd source of choice (entries 2-4, when Pd(OAc)₂ was employed, the formation of Pd metal precipitates was observed during the course of the reaction), (ii) 5 and 2-(dicyclohexylphosphino)-2',4',6'-(triisopropyl)biphenyl (6) were effective ligands (entries 5-8), and (iii) the use of NaOt-Bu as a base gave good results whereas Cs₂CO₃ or K₃PO₄ significantly decreased the yields (entries 5, 9, and 10). As a result, N-phenylcarbazole (3a) was obtained in 85% yield under the conditions noted in entry 5.

Table 1. The double N-arylation of aniline (1a) with 2,2'-dibromobiphenyl $(2)^a$

Entry	Pd Source	Ligand	Base	Time (h)	Yield of $3a (\%)^{b}$
1 2 ^c 3 4 ^d 5 6 7	$\begin{array}{c} Pd_2(dba)_3\\ Pd_2(dba)_3\\ Pd(PPh_3)_4\\ Pd(OAc)_2\\ Pd_2(dba)_3\\ Pd_2(dba)_3\\ Pd_2(dba)_3\\ Pd_2(dba)_3\end{array}$	5 5 5 5 5 5 6 7	NaOt-Bu NaOt-Bu NaOt-Bu NaOt-Bu NaOt-Bu NaOt-Bu NaOt-Bu	14 24 24 24 24 24 24 24	79 84 69 62 85 82 51
8 9 10	$Pd_2(dba)_3$ $Pd_2(dba)_3$ $Pd_2(dba)_3$ $Pd_2(dba)_3$	8 5 5	NaOt-Bu Cs ₂ CO ₃ K ₃ PO ₄	13 24 24	22 42 32

^a Reaction conditions: A mixture of **1a** (1.0 equiv), **2** (1.1 equiv), Pd catalyst (10 mol %), ligand (30 mol %), and base (3.0 equiv) in toluene was heated at 120 °C in a sealed tube.

^b Isolated yield after chromatographic purification.

^c $Pd_2(dba)_3$ (5 mol %), 5 (15 mol %).

 d Pd(OAc)₂ (20 mol %), **5** (15 mol %).



Scheme 1. dba=Dibenzylideneacetone, Cy=cyclohexyl.

2.2. Double N-arylation of aliphatic amines

The successful preparation of *N*-phenylcarbazole (**3a**) by the double N-arylation reaction led us to explore the reaction of aliphatic primary amines with dibromobiphenyl 2 (Scheme 2 and Table 2).

Although ligands **5** and **6**, which were found to be effective for the reaction of aniline, gave less satisfactory results when benzylamine was employed (entries 1 and 2), the use of 2-(di-*tert*-butylphosphino)binaphthyl (**8**) brought about a significant improvement, giving the desired product, *N*benzylcarbazole (**3b**), in 60% yield (entry 4). The phosphine group in **8** is more electron-rich and sterically bulky than that in **5** and **6**. These electronic and steric factors play an important role in suppressing any undesired side reactions, such as



Scheme 2. $Bn = -CH_2Ph$.

Table 2. The double N-arylation of aliphatic amines with 2,2'-dibromobiphenyl (2)^a

Entry	Amine	Ligand	Product	Time (h)	Yield (%) ^b
1	1b	5	3b	13	20
2	1b	6	3b	13	9
3	1b	7	3b	13	42
4	1b	8	3b	13	60
5	1c	8	3c	13	71
6	1d	8	3d	24	67
7	1e	8	3e	24	80
8 ^c	$1f^{d}$	8	3f ^e	24	52
9	1g	8	3g	13	17
10	1g	6	3g	13	42

^a Reaction conditions: A mixture of 1 (1.0 equiv), 2 (1.1 equiv), Pd₂(dba)₃ (10 mol %), ligand (30 mol %), and NaOt-Bu (3.0 equiv) in toluene was heated at 120 °C in a sealed tube.

^b Isolated yield after chromatographic purification.

^c **2** (300 mol % to **1f**), $Pd_2(dba)_3$ (100 mol %), and **8** (300 mol %) at 60 °C. ^d β -Anomer.

^e Obtained as an anomeric mixture ($\alpha/\beta=1:1.7$).

the formation of unreactive Pd bis-amine complexes and/or β -hydride elimination of the Pd-amido intermediates,^{5a,g} in the double N-arylation process. Compound 8 was also found to work well for other aliphatic primary amines (entries 5-7). It is important to note that the N-alkylcarbazoles, which were prepared in poor yields under Nozaki's conditions,^{4a} were obtained in moderate to good yields by the double N-arylation reactions when 8 was employed as the ligand. Under similar conditions, glucopyranosylamine derivative 1f, a structurally complex and chemically unstable amine, could be converted into N-(glucopyranosyl)carbazole derivative $3f^9$ in 52% yield, although excess amounts of the Pd catalyst and ligand 8 were required (entry 8). The reaction of tert-butylamine (1g) with ligand 8 (entry 9), however, resulted in a low yield of the desired product. It was found that the use of ligand 6 instead of 8 produced a better result by generating N-(tert-butyl)carbazole (3g) in moderate (42%) yield (entry 10). The steric bulk of ligand 8 would prevent the sterically hindered tert-butylamine from approaching the catalyst. While the reasons for the better yield by the double N-arylation of *tert*-butylamine with ligand 6 are not clear, the effectual combination of the electronic (6 should be electron richer than 5, but electron poorer than 8) and steric (6 is smaller than 8) factors in 6 would contribute to its effectiveness.

Based on these experiments, it was shown that the double N-arylation methodology is effective for the one-step synthesis of various *N*-substituted carbazoles. For aniline, the combination of $Pd_2(dba)_3$, NaOt-Bu, and ligand **5** provided

the product in good yield. For aliphatic primary amines with sterically unencumbered structures, the use of ligand **8** gave favorable results, whereas the use of ligand **6** proved to be effective for the sterically hindered *tert*-butylamine (**1g**).

2.3. Total synthesis of murrastifoline-A

We next tried to extend this methodology to the synthesis of the structurally more complicated carbazole alkaloid, murrastifoline-A (4). Murrastifoline-A was isolated by Furukawa and co-workers from the root bark of Murrava euchrestifolia (Rutaceae) collected in Taiwan.¹⁰ The structure elucidation study by spectral analyses revealed that murrastifoline-A is a new biscarbazole possessing the dimeric structure of 1'-methoxy-3'-methylcarbazole (murrayafoline-A, murrastifoline-A numbering), where the nitrogen in one carbazole unit (at the 9'-position) is connected to a carbon atom at the 3-position of another carbazole unit. While many monomeric carbazoles have been isolated from higher plants,² much attention has been recently focused on such biarylic biscarbazole alkaloids^{11,12} due to their interesting structures and expected biological activities. The C,Nbonded biaryl biscarbazole structure found in 4 is very unique among the biscarbazole alkaloids,¹¹ however, reports on the synthetic approach to the C,N-bonded biaryl biscarbazoles are limited.^{11d,12} In 2001, Bringmann disclosed the total synthesis of murrastifoline-F, an isomer of murrastifoline-A (4) in which the nitrogen in a carbazole unit at the 9'-position is bonded to another carbazole at C-5 (murrastifoline-A numbering), by the lead tetraacetate-mediated oxidative coupling of 1'-methoxy-3'-methylcarbazole.12b

Our retrosynthetic analysis of murrastifoline-A (4) is shown in Figure 2. The biscarbazole structure of murrastifoline-A (4) could be constructed by the key double N-arylation of the bottom-half segment, carbazolamine 12, with the tophalf segment, dibromobiphenyl derivative 11. For preparation of both the top and bottom segments (11 and 12), we chose 2-amino-5-methylphenol (13) as the common starting material.

The synthesis of top-half segment (11) commenced from the known *O*-tosylate (14),¹³ prepared from commercially available 13 in 89% yield (Scheme 3). The conventional iodination with *N*-iodosuccinimide (NIS) of 14 afforded 15 (69%), whose Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling reaction¹⁴ with 2-bromophenylboronic acid in the presence of Pd(PPh₃)₄



Figure 2. SEM=-CH₂OCH₂CH₂SiMe₃.

in EtOH–benzene–2 M aqueous Na_2CO_3 cleanly afforded **16** in 99% yield. Sandmeyer reaction of **16** gave dibromobiphenyl **17** in 64% yield. In this reaction, the use of AcOH as a co-solvent was essential for the effective diazotization. The *O*-Ts protecting group in **17** was removed by basic hydrolysis to give **18**, whose O-methylation furnished the top-half segment **11** in 59% yield from **17**.



Scheme 3. $Ts = -SO_2C_6H_4(p-Me)$.

The bottom-half segment **12** was synthesized as shown in Scheme 4. Thus, the Buchwald–Hartwig N-arylation^{5f} of **14** with 4-bromonitrobenzene afforded diarylamine **19** in 81% yield. The treatment of **19** with excess $Pd(OAc)_2$ in AcOH induced the cyclization^{3d,13b} to provide carbazole **20** in 53% yield. After protection of the nitrogen function in **20** with the 2-trimethylsilylethoxymethyl (SEM) group (86% yield), the product **21** was treated with NaOH in MeOH-H₂O to provide de-*O*-tosyl derivative **22** along with its methyl ether **23** in 76 and 8% isolated yields, respectively. Methyl ether **23** would be formed by the nucleophilic aromatic substitution reaction of compound **21** with the methoxide ion.¹⁵ The O-methylation of **22** quantitatively



Scheme 4. BINAP=2,2'-bis(diphenylphosphino)-1,1'-binaphthyl.

afforded **23**. Although the attempted reduction of the nitro function in **23** by catalytic hydrogenation (H₂ in the presence of 5% Pd on carbon) resulted in the formation of many unidentified products, the treatment of **23** with NaBH₂S₃¹⁶ cleanly provided the bottom-half segment **12** in 84% yield.

With both the top- and bottom-half segments in hand, the crucial double N-arylation reaction was explored (Scheme 5). From the observations of the coupling reactions of aniline with 2,2'-dibromobiphenyl (Table 1), it was expected that the use of **5** as the ligand would be the most effective for the reaction. Indeed, when a mixture of segments **11** and **12** in toluene was heated at $120 \,^{\circ}$ C in the presence of Pd₂(dba)₃, NaOt-Bu, and **5**, the double N-arylation successfully took place to provide the desired *N*-protected biscarbazole **24** in 58% yield. It was found, as anticipated, the use of ligands **6** and **8** gave less satisfactory results (28% yield with **6** and 23% yield with **8**). Finally, the *N*-SEM group was removed under acidic conditions to furnish murrastifoline-A (**4**) in 94% yield. The spectral data of synthetic **4** were fully identical with those of the natural product.¹⁰



Scheme 5.

3. Conclusion

In summary, we described the Pd-catalyzed double N-arylation reaction of primary amines with 2,2'-dibromobiphenyls, which provided *N*-substituted carbazoles in a one-step reaction. By the choice of ligands, both the aryl and aliphatic amines including *tert*-butylamine and an *O*-protected glucopyranosylamine could be transformed into the corresponding carbazoles. Based on this methodology, the first total synthesis of murrastifoline-A (**4**) has been accomplished. This synthesis fully confirmed the proposed structure of the natural product and revealed that the double N-arylation methodology is highly effective for the one-step construction of the structurally complex, unsymmetrical multisubstituted carbazole derivatives.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

Melting points (mp) were determined on a Mitamura-riken micro hot stage and are uncorrected. ¹H NMR spectra were measured with a JEOL JNM-*Lambda* 300 (300 MHz) or a Varian MVX-300 (300 MHz) spectrometer, with

tetramethylsilane as the internal standard for solutions in CDCl₃ at rt, unless otherwise noted. Chemical shifts are reported as δ values in ppm. ¹³C NMR spectra were taken on a 75 MHz spectrometer. Mass spectra were measured by a JEOL GC-Mate spectrometer with EI mode (70 eV), unless otherwise noted. Optical rotations were measured with a JASCO DIP-370 instrument with 1-dm tube and values of $[\alpha]_D$ are recorded in units of $10^{-1} \text{ deg cm}^2 \text{ g}^{-1}$. IR spectra were taken with a JASCO FTIR-200 spectrometer. Organic extracts were dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and concentrated below 40 °C under reduced pressure. Solvents were dried over 3 Å molecular sieves after distillation. Benzene, toluene, and DMF were distilled from CaH₂. MeOH was distilled from CaSO₄ (DRIERITE[®]). AcOH was distilled from Ac₂O and KMnO₄. EtOH (95%, dried over 3 Å molecular sieves), Et₂O (dehydrated), THF (dehydrated, stabilizer free), and CH₂Cl₂ (dehydrated) were purchased from Kanto Chemical Co., INC. For column chromatography, Merck silica gel 60 (230-400 mesh) was used, unless otherwise noted. For TLC analysis, Merck precoated TLC plates (silica gel 60 F₂₅₄ on glass plates, 0.25 mm) were used. For preparative TLC, Merck precoated TLC plates (silica gel 60 F₂₅₄ on glass plates, 0.5 mm) were used.

4.2. General procedure for the double N-arylation reaction (Tables 1 and 2)

Ar was bubbled into a mixture of amine (1) (0.250 mmol), dibromobiphenyl (2) (85.8 mg, 0.275 mmol), $Pd_2(dba)_3$ (22.9 mg, 0.0250 mmol), ligand (5, 6, 7 or 8) (0.0750 mmol), and NaOt-Bu (72.1 mg, 0.750 mmol) in toluene (1 mL) for 15 min, unless otherwise noted. The mixture was then heated at 120 °C in a sealed tube for 13–24 h (see Tables 1 and 2). After cooling, the mixture was filtrated through a pad of silica gel (3 g, toluene). The filtrate was concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 6 g, toluene/hexane) to afford carbazole **3**.

4.2.1. *N*-Phenylcarbazole (3a)^{4a,17} (Table 1, entry 5). The general procedure using 2-(dicyclohexylphosphino)biphenyl (5) gave *N*-phenylcarbazole (3a) (51.9 mg, 85%) as a colorless solid: R_f =0.37 (toluene/hexane=1:5); mp 89–90 °C (lit.¹⁷ mp 89–90 °C); ¹H NMR δ 7.23–7.31 (m, 2H), 7.37–7.41 (m, 4H), 7.42–7.48 (m, 1H), 7.54–7.62 (m, 4H), 8.14 (d, *J*=7.8 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR δ 109.9, 120.0, 120.4, 123.5, 126.0, 127.3, 127.6, 130.0, 137.9, 141.0; IR (KBr) ν 3020, 1595 cm⁻¹; MS *m*/*z* 243 (M⁺, 100%), 139 (12), 121 (9); HRMS Calcd for C₁₈H₁₃N (M⁺): 243.1048. Found: 243.1040. Anal. Calcd for C₁₈H₁₃N: C, 88.86; H, 5.39; N, 5.76%. Found: C, 88.89; H, 5.32; N, 5.76%.

4.2.2. *N*-[2-(2'-Bromobiphenyl)]aniline (9) and *N*-(2-biphenyl)aniline (10)^{5e}. The general procedure using 2-(dicyclohexylphosphino)biphenyl (5) at 60 °C gave *N*-phenylcarbazole (3a) (20.1 mg, 33%) and a mixture of mono N-arylation products 9 and 10 (10:1, determined by ¹H NMR, 16.8 mg, 21%). A small amount of the mixture was separated by HPLC (Finepak SIL, JASCO Corp., 4.6 mm i.d., 250 mmL, EtOAc/hexane=1:40, 1.0 mL min⁻¹) to provide compounds 9 (retention time 5.40 min) and 10 (retention time 6.95 min) in pure forms and for use as analytical samples. Data for 9: R_f =0.53 (toluene/hexane=1:1);

mp 84–87 °C; ¹H NMR δ 5.27 (s, 1H), 6.92 (ddd, J=7.5, 7.2, <1 Hz, 1H), 6.99 (ddd, J=7.8, 7.2, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.04 (dd, J=7.5, <1 Hz, 1H), 7.15 (dd, J=7.8, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.20–7.39 (m, 7H), 7.69 (dd, J=7.7, 0.9 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR δ 116.6, 119.1, 120.5, 121.6, 124.6, 128.0, 129.0, 129.4, 129.5, 130.5, 130.8, 132.1, 133.3, 139.8, 141.0, 143.0; IR (neat) ν 3010 cm⁻¹; MS *m/z* 325 [M⁺(⁸¹Br), 22%], 323 [M⁺(⁷⁹Br), 20], 244 (81), 167 (32), 64 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₁₈H₁₄N⁷⁹Br (M⁺): 323.0310. Found: 323.0311. Data for **10**: $R_t=0.53$ (toluene/hexane=1:1); ¹H NMR δ 5.52 (s. 1H), 6.83 (ddd, J=7.3, 7.3, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 6.88-6.97 (m, 3H), 7.14-7.19 (m, 4H), 7.29-7.36 (m, 6H); ¹³C NMR δ 117.6, 118.4, 121.2, 121.2, 127.6, 128.4, 129.0, 129.5, 131.0, 131.7, 139.2, 140.3, 143.5; IR (neat) v 3405 cm⁻¹; MS m/z 245 (M⁺, 100%), 167 (32); HRMS Calcd for C₁₈H₁₅N (M⁺): 245.1204. Found: 245.1198.

4.2.3. *N*-Benzylcarbazole (3b)^{4b,18} (Table 2, entry 4). The general procedure using 2-(di-*tert*-butylphosphino)binaphthyl (8) gave *N*-benzylcarbazole (3b) (39.0 mg, 60%) as a colorless solid: R_f =0.53 (toluene/hexane=1:1); mp 119–120 °C (lit.^{4b} mp 118–120 °C); ¹H NMR δ 5.50 (s, 2H), 7.11–7.14 (m, 2H), 7.22–7.27 (m, 5H), 7.35 (d, *J*=7.3 Hz, 2H), 7.42 (dd, *J*=7.3, 0.9 Hz, 2H), 8.13 (dd, *J*=7.6, 0.9 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR δ 46.7, 109.0, 119.4, 120.5, 123.2, 126.0, 126.6, 127.6, 128.9, 137.3, 140.8; IR (KBr) ν 3030, 2930, 1595, 1450 cm⁻¹; MS *m*/*z* 257 (M⁺, 100%), 166 (24), 109 (17), 91 (92); HRMS Calcd for C₁₉H₁₅N (M⁺): 257.1204. Found: 257.1203. Anal. Calcd for C₁₉H₁₅N·0.1H₂O: C, 88.07; H, 5.91; N, 5.41%. Found: C, 88.08; H, 5.89; N, 5.40%.

4.2.4. *N*-(**4-Methoxybenzyl**)**carbazole** (**3c**)¹⁹ (**Table 2**, **entry 5**). The general procedure using 2-(di-*tert*-butylphosphino)binaphthyl (**8**) gave *N*-(4-methoxybenzyl)carbazole (**3b**) (51.2 mg, 71%) as a colorless solid: R_f =0.32 (toluene/hexane=1:1); mp 122–123 °C; ¹H NMR δ 3.73 (s, 3H), 5.46 (s, 2H), 6.78 (d, *J*=8.6 Hz, 2H), 7.08 (d, *J*=8.6 Hz, 2H), 7.24 (dd, *J*=7.8, 7.4 Hz, 2H), 8.12 (d, *J*=7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.42 (dd, *J*=7.6, 7.4 Hz, 2H), 8.12 (d, *J*=7.8 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR δ 46.2, 55.4, 109.1, 114.3, 119.3, 120.5, 123.1, 125.9, 127.8, 129.4, 140.8, 159.1; IR (KBr) ν 3050, 2835, 1595, 1460 cm⁻¹; LRMS *m/z* 287 (M⁺, 30%), 166 (11), 121 (100), 77 (12); HRMS Calcd for C₂₀H₁₇NO (M⁺): 287.1310. Found: 287.1300. Anal. Calcd for C₂₀H₁₇NO: C, 83.59; H, 5.96; N, 4.87%. Found: C, 83.43; H, 5.95; N, 4.85%.

4.2.5. *N*-Octylcarbazole (3d)²⁰ (Table 2, entry 6). The general procedure using 2-(di-*tert*-butylphosphino)binaphthyl (8) gave *N*-octylcarbazole (3d) (46.5 mg, 67%) as a colorless syrup: R_f =0.50 (toluene/hexane=1:5); ¹H NMR δ 0.86 (t, *J*=6.7 Hz, 3H), 1.24–1.40 (m, 10H), 1.86 (tt, *J*=7.3, 7.3 Hz, 2H), 4.28 (t, *J*=7.3 Hz, 2H), 7.21 (ddd, *J*=7.6, 7.6, 1.2 Hz, 2H), 7.39 (dd, *J*=7.8, 1.2 Hz, 2H), 7.45 (ddd, *J*=7.8, 7.6, 1.0 Hz, 2H), 8.09 (dd, *J*=7.6, 1.0 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR δ 14.2, 22.7, 27.4, 29.1, 29.3, 29.5, 31.9, 43.2, 108.8, 118.8, 120.5, 122.9, 125.7, 140.5; IR (neat) ν 3055, 2925, 1600, 1455 cm⁻¹; MS *m/z* 279 (M⁺, 79%), 245 (19), 180 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₂₀H₂₅N (M⁺): 279.1987. Found: 279.1982. Anal. Calcd for C₂₀H₂₅N: C, 85.97; H, 9.02; N, 5.01%. Found: C, 85.99; H, 8.93; N, 4.91%.

4.2.6. N-Cyclohexylcarbazole (3e)²¹ (Table 2, entry 7). The general procedure using cyclohexylamine (1e) (0.0229 mL, 0.200 mmol), dibromobiphenyl (2) (68.6 mg, 0.220 mmol), Pd₂(dba)₃ (18.3 mg, 0.0200 mmol), 2-(di-tertbutylphosphino)binaphthyl (8) (23.9 mg, 0.0600 mmol), NaOt-Bu (57.7 mg, 0.600 mmol), and toluene (0.8 mL) gave N-cyclohexylcarbazole (3e) (40.0 mg, 80%) as a colorless solid: $R_f=0.53$ (toluene/hexane=1:5); mp 143-144 °C (lit.²¹ mp 143 °C); ¹H NMR δ 1.31–1.61 (m, 3H), 1.82– 1.87 (m, 1H), 1.94–2.04 (m, 4H), 2.33–2.47 (m, 2H), 4.49 (tt, J=12.3, 3.9 Hz, 1H), 7.20 (dd, J=7.8, 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.43 (ddd, J=8.1, 7.6, 1.2 Hz, 2H), 7.56 (d, J=8.1 Hz, 2H), 8.10 (dd, J=7.6, 1.2 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR δ 25.8, 26.7, 30.9, 55.5, 110.4, 118.6, 120.4, 123.4, 125.4, 139.8; IR (KBr) v 3055, 2920, 1590, 1455 cm⁻¹; MS *m*/*z* 249 (M⁺, 100%), 206 (43), 167 (92); HRMS Calcd for C₁₈H₁₉N (M⁺): 249.1517. Found: 249.1517. Anal. Calcd for C₁₈H₁₉N: C, 86.70; H, 7.68; N, 5.62%. Found: C, 86.48; H, 7.60; N, 5.58%.

4.2.7. 2,3-Di-O-benzyl-4,6-O-benzylidene-β-D-glucopyranosylamine (1f). To a suspension of NaH (39 mg, 1.63 mmol) in DMF (2 mL) was slowly added 4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-glucopyranosylazide²² (120 mg, 0.409 mmol) at 0 °C. After stirring at rt for 5 min, the reaction mixture was cooled to 0 °C. To this mixture was slowly added benzyl bromide (0.15 mL, 1.26 mmol), and the mixture was stirred at rt for 2 h. After addition of MeOH at 0 °C, the reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc and washed with H₂O and brine. The organic layer was dried and concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 6 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:20) to afford 2.3-O-benzvl-4.6-O-benzvlidene-B-D-glucopyranosylazide (176 mg, 90%) as a white solid: $R_f=0.88$ (EtOAc/toluene=1:2); mp 112 °C; $[\alpha]_D^{27}$ +69.5 (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR δ 3.36 (dd, J=8.7, 8.4 Hz, 1H), 3.42 (ddd, J=9.9, 9.6, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 3.64 (dd, J=9.6, 9.3 Hz, 1H), 3.69 (dd, J=10.5, 9.9 Hz, 1H), 3.75 (dd, J=9.3, 8.7 Hz, 1H), 4.32 (dd, J=10.5, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 4.65 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1H), 4.77 and 4.92 (2d, J=11.4 Hz, each 1H), 4.81 (s, 2H), 5.52 (s, 1H), 7.25–7.33 (m, 13H), 7.45–7.48 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR δ 68.1, 68.4, 75.2, 75.7, 81.2, 81.3, 81.4, 90.6, 101.2, 126.0, 127.8, 128.0, 128.1, 128.3, 128.3, 128.4, 128.5, 129.1, 137.1, 137.7, 138.2; IR ν 2115 cm⁻¹; MS m/z 473 (M⁺, 1%), 431 (1), 382 (18), 91 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₂₇H₂₇N₃O₅ (M⁺): 473.1951. Found: 473.1960. Anal. Calcd for C₂₇H₂₇N₃O₅: C, 68.48; H, 5.75; N, 8.87%. Found: C, 68.51; H, 5.86; N, 8.64%.

To a solution of 2,3-*O*-benzyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene- β -D-glucopyranosylazide (136 mg, 0.287 mmol) in toluene (4 mL) was added Lindlar catalyst (70 mg). The reaction mixture was stirred for 12 h under H₂ atmosphere (1 atm) at rt. Then the catalyst was removed by filtration through Celite and the filtrate was concentrated to give a residue, which was recrystallized from EtOH to afford glucosylamine **1g** (98.5 mg, 76%) as a white solid: R_f =0.34 (EtOAc/ toluene=1:2); mp 111–112 °C (decomp.); $[\alpha]_D^{27}$ –38.7 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR δ 1.91 (br s, 2H), 3.21 (dd, *J*=8.6, 8.6 Hz, 1H), 3.42 (ddd, *J*=9.6, 9.3, 5.0 Hz, 1H), 3.65 (dd, *J*=9.3, 9.1 Hz, 1H), 3.71 (dd, *J*=10.4, 9.6 Hz, 1H), 3.80 (dd, *J*=9.1, 8.6 Hz, 1H), 4.22 (d, *J*=8.6 Hz, 1H), 4.32 (dd, *J*=10.4, 5.0 Hz, 1H), 4.80 and 4.94 (2d, *J*=11.4 Hz, each 1H), 4.84 and 4.92 (2d, *J*=10.5 Hz, each 1H), 5.56 (s, 1H), 7.26–7.38 (m, 13H), 7.47–7.51 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR δ 67.3, 69.0, 75.2, 75.5, 82.1, 82.1, 86.8, 101.1, 126.1, 127.8, 127.9, 128.2, 128.3, 128.3, 128.4, 128.5, 129.0, 137.5, 138.3, 138.6; IR ν 3400, 3335 cm⁻¹; MS *m*/*z* 447 (M⁺, 1%), 356 (2), 248 (37), 91 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₂₇H₂₉NO₅ (M⁺): 447.2046. Found: 447.2056. Anal. Calcd for C₂₇H₂₉NO₅: C, 72.46; H, 6.53; N, 3.13%. Found: C, 72.32; H, 6.55; N, 2.74%.

4.2.8. 2,3-Di-O-benzyl-4,6-O-benzylidene-a- and B-Dglucopyranosylcarbazole (3f) (Table 2, entry 8). Ar gas was bubbled into a mixture of glucosylamine (1f) (20 mg, 0.0447 mmol), dibromobiphenyl (2) (42.0 mg, 0.135 mmol), Pd₂(dba)₃ (41 mg, 0.0447 mmol), 2-(di-tert-butylphosphino)binaphthyl (8) (53.0 mg, 0.133 mmol), and NaOt-Bu (12.9 mg, 0.134 mmol) in toluene (0.8 mL) for 15 min. The reaction mixture was then heated at 60 °C in a sealed tube for 24 h. After cooling, the mixture was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 2 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:40) to afford an anomeric mixture of glucosylcarbazole (3f). The mixture was separated by preparative TLC using EtOAc/ hexane=1:8 as an eluent to give α -anomer $(3f\alpha)^{\circ}$ (5.1 mg, 19%) as a colorless syrup and β -anomer (**3f** β) (8.9 mg, 33%) as a colorless syrup. Data for **3fa**: $R_f=0.23$ (EtOAc/ hexane=1:8); $[\alpha]_D^{21} - 14.5$ (c 0.1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (C₆D₆) δ 3.50 (dd, J=10.5, 10.2 Hz, 1H), 3.73 and 3.83 (2d, J=11.9 Hz, each 1H), 3.93 (br d, J=1.8 Hz, 1H), 4.02–4.07 (m, 2H), 4.30 (dd, J=10.5, 5.1 Hz, 1H), 4.42 and 4.53 (2d, J=12.2 Hz, each 1H), 4.60–4.71 (m, 1H), 5.39 (s, 1H), 6.47 (d, J=1.8 Hz, 1H), 6.54 (d, J=6.3 Hz, 2H), 6.81-6.90 (m, 4H), 7.11–7.36 (m, 11H), 7.65 (br d, J=7.8 Hz, 4H), 8.03 (d, J=7.5 Hz, 2H); IR (neat) ν 3030, 2920, 1455 cm⁻¹; MS m/z 597 (M⁺, 13%), 167 (23), 91 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₃₉H₃₅NO₅ (M⁺): 597.2515. Found: 597.2522. Data for **3f** β : $R_f = 0.20$ (EtOAc/hexane=1:8); $[\alpha]_D^{25} + 31.7$ (c 0.97, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR δ 3.35 (d, J=10.0 Hz, 1H), 3.79 (m, 1H), 3.93 (dd, J=10.5, 10.2 Hz, 1H), 4.00-4.08 (m, 2H), 4.06 (d, J=10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.40 (dd, J=8.8, 8.8 Hz, 1H), 4.46 (dd, J=10.5, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 4.83 (d, J=11.2 Hz, 1H), 5.00 (d, J=11.2 Hz, 1H), 5.73 (s, 1H), 5.88 (d, J=8.8 Hz, 1H), 6.34 (d, J=7.6 Hz, 2H), 6.93 (dd, J=7.6, 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.05 (dd, J=7.6, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.28–7.64 (m, 16H), 8.09 (d, J=7.6 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR δ 68.9, 69.4, 75.2, 75.6, 78.8, 82.0, 82.4, 85.5, 101.5, 109.8, 112.8, 120.4, 126.2, 127.8, 127.9, 128.1, 128.2, 128.5, 128.6, 129.2, 136.7, 137.4, 138.5; IR (neat) ν 3030, 2875, 1455 cm⁻¹; MS *m*/*z* 597 (M⁺, 6%), 167 (12), 91 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₃₉H₃₅NO₅ (M⁺): 597.2515. Found: 597.2513.

4.2.9. *N*-*tert*-**Butylcarbazole (3g) (Table 2, entry 10).** The general procedure using 2-(dicyclohexylphosphino)-2',4',6'-triisopropylbiphenyl (6) gave *N*-(*tert*-butyl)carbazole (**3g**) (23.6 mg, 42%) as a colorless solid: R_f =0.38 (toluene/hexane=1:5); mp 122–123 °C; ¹H NMR δ 2.00 (s, 9H), 7.19 (ddd, *J*=7.8, 7.1, 0.7 Hz, 2H), 7.37 (ddd, *J*=8.7, 7.1, 1.5 Hz, 2H), 7.86 (dd, *J*=8.7, 0.7 Hz, 2H), 8.10 (dd, *J*=7.8, 1.5 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR δ 31.2, 59.2, 113.9, 118.6, 120.0, 124.6, 125.2, 140.6; IR (KBr) ν 3050, 2970, 1590, 1440 cm⁻¹; MS *m*/*z* 223 (M⁺, 17%), 167 (100), 140 (16); HRMS Calcd for C₁₆H₁₇N (M⁺): 223.1361. Found: 223.1359. Anal. Calcd for C₁₆H₁₇N·0.1H₂O: C, 85.37; H, 7.70; N, 6.22%. Found: C, 85.34; H, 7.63; N, 6.29%.

4.3. Synthesis of murrastifoline-A

4.3.1. 4-Toluenesulfonic acid 2-amino-5-methylphenyl ester¹³ (14). To a solution of 2-amino-5-methylphenol (13, 3 g, 24.4 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (45 ml) were added Et₃N (3.74 ml, 26.8 mmol) and TsCl (5.11 g, 26.6 mmol) at 0 °C. After stirring at 0 °C for 15 min, the reaction mixture was extracted with CHCl₃ and washed with H₂O. The organic layer was dried and concentrated to give a residue, which was recrystallized from Et₂O to afford tosylate 14 (6.04 g, 89%) as a brown solid: $R_f = 0.23$ (EtOAc/petroleum) ether=1:5); mp 81-82 °C (lit.^{13b} 81-82 °C); ¹H NMR δ 2.15 (s, 3H), 2.46 (s, 3H), 3.64 (br s, 2H), 6.61 and 6.83 (2d, J=8.0 Hz, each 1H), 6.66 (s, 1H), 7.33 and 7.78 (2d, J=8.3 Hz, each 2H); MS m/z 277 (M⁺, 41%), 122 (100), 94 (89); HRMS Calcd for C14H15NO3S (M⁺): 277.0773. Found: 277.0773. Anal. Calcd for C₁₄H₁₅NO₃S: C, 60.63; H, 5.45; N, 5.05%. Found: C, 60.46; H, 5.42; N, 4.83%.

4.3.2. 4-Toluenesulfonic acid 2-amino-3-iodo-5-methylphenyl ester (15). To a solution of tosylate 14 (2.00 g, 7.21 mmol) in DMF (40 mL) was slowly added NIS (1.78 g, 7.93 mmol) at 0 °C. The reaction mixture (protected from light) was stirred for 3 h at rt, then diluted with Et₂O, and washed with 30 wt % of aqueous Na₂S₂O₃ solution and brine. The organic layer was dried and concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 60 g, EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:7) to afford iodide 15 (2.01 g, 69%) as an orange solid: $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:5); mp 141–142 °C; ¹H NMR δ 2.13 (s, 3H), 2.47 (s, 3H), 4.06 (br s, 2H), 6.69 (s, 1H), 7.34 (s, 1H), 7.35 and 7.78 $(2d, J=8.3 \text{ Hz}, \text{ each } 2\text{H}); {}^{13}\text{C} \text{ NMR} \delta 19.9, 21.8, 84.6, 123.7,$ 128.5, 129.0, 130.0, 132.6, 135.2, 137.7, 138.4, 145.9; IR (neat) ν 3460 cm⁻¹; MS *m*/*z* 403 (M⁺, 18%), 248 (100), 121 (12); HRMS Calcd for $C_{14}H_{14}NO_3IS$ (M⁺): 402.9739. Found: 402.9741. Anal. Calcd for C₁₄H₁₄NO₃IS: C, 41.70; H, 3.50; N, 3.47%. Found: C, 41.93; H, 3.66; N, 3.26%.

4.3.3. 2-Amino-2'-bromo-5-methyl-3-(4-toluenesulfonyloxy)-1,1'-biphenyl (16). To a solution of $Pd(PPh_3)_4$ (22.8 mg, 0.0198 mmol) in benzene (1 mL) was added iodide (15) (200 mg, 0.495 mmol) in benzene (5 mL) under Ar. Then, 2 M aqueous Na₂CO₃ solution (1.9 mL, 3.96 mmol) and 2-bromophenylboronic acid (120 mg, 0.595 mmol) in EtOH (2.4 mL) were added to the mixture. The reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 2 h under vigorous stirring. After cooling, the mixture was diluted with Et₂O and washed with brine. The organic layer was dried and concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 10 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:10) to afford biphenyl **16** (213 mg, 99%) as a pale yellow syrup; $R_f = 0.37$ (EtOAc/ petroleum ether=1:5); ¹H NMR δ 2.22 (s, 3H), 2.44 (s, 3H), 3.42 (s, 2H), 6.72 and 6.91 (2d, J=1.2 Hz, each 1H), 7.22 (2ddd, J=8.4, 7.5, 1.2 Hz, each 1H), 7.31 and 7.79 (2d, J=8.4 Hz, each 2H), 7.36 (dd, J=7.5, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.63 (dd, J=8.4, 1.2 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR δ 20.2, 21.6, 122.8, 123.7, 126.8, 127.7, 128.4, 128.7, 129.0, 129.4, 129.6, 131.4, 132.5, 132.9, 134.5, 136.7, 138.7, 145.3; IR (neat) ν 3480 cm⁻¹; MS *m*/*z* 433 [M(⁸¹Br)⁺, 11%], 431 [M(⁷⁹Br)⁺, 11], 278 (58), 276 (59), 197 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₂₀H₁₈NO₃⁸¹BrS (M⁺): 433.0170. Found: 433.0169. Anal. Calcd for C₂₀H₁₈NO₃BrS: C, 55.56; H, 4.20; N, 3.24%. Found: C, 55.33; H, 4.28; N, 3.02%.

4.3.4. 2,2'-Dibromo-5-methyl-3-(4-toluenesulfonyloxy)-1,1'-biphenvl (17). To a solution of aminobromobiphenvl 16 (128 mg, 0.197 mmol) in AcOH (2.5 mL) was slowly added NaNO₂ (40.9 mg, 0.593 mmol) in concd H₂SO₄ (0.04 mL) at 0 °C, then the mixture was stirred for 1 h at rt. The reaction mixture was slowly added to CuBr (85.1 mg, 0.593 mmol) in 47 wt % aqueous HBr solution (1.7 mL) at 80 °C, and stirred for 1.5 h at 80 °C. After cooling, the reaction mixture was extracted with Et2O and washed successively with 1 M aqueous NaOH solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution, and brine. The organic laver was dried and concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 15 g. EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:20) to afford dibromobiphenyl 17 as white crystals: $R_f=0.43$ (EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:5); mp 163 °C; ¹H NMR δ 2.05 (s, 3H), 2.46 (s, 3H), 6.62 (s, 1H), 7.09 (s, 1H), 7.20 (d, J=6.9 Hz, 2H), 7.26-7.43 (m, 4H), 7.65 and 7.81 (2dd, J=8.1, <1 Hz, each 1H); ¹³C NMR δ 21.4, 21.9, 118.8, 120.2, 123.5, 124.0, 128.1, 128.8, 129.7, 130.5, 130.8, 133.5, 139.9, 141.5, 143.3, 150.0; IR (neat) v 2920, 1600, 1580 cm⁻¹; MS m/z 498 [M(⁸¹Br₂)⁺, 14%], 496 $[M(^{81}Br,^{79}Br)^+, 24], 494 [M(^{79}Br_2)^+, 12], 416 (22), 414$ (18), 343 (12), 341 (23), 339 (12), 335 (23), 155 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₂₀H₁₆O₃⁷⁹Br₂S (M⁺): 493.9187. Found: 493.9183.

4.3.5. 2,2'-Dibromo-5-methyl-1,1'-biphenyl-3-ol (18). To a solution of tosylate 17 (47.8 mg, 0.0963 mmol) in EtOH (4 mL) was added 1 M aqueous KOH solution (0.3 mL) at rt. The reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 1 h. After cooling, the mixture was extracted with Et₂O and washed with 10 wt % aqueous citric acid solution and brine. The organic layer was dried and concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 3 g, Et₂O/petroleum ether=1:10) to afford hydroxybiphenyl 18 (25 mg, 76%) as a light yellow oil; $R_f = 0.48$ (EtOAc/ petroleum ether=1:5); ¹H NMR δ 2.33 (s, 3H), 5.62 (s, 1H), 6.65 (d, J=1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.90 (d, J=1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.21-7.28 (m, 2H), 7.40 (ddd, J=7.5, 7.5, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.66 (dd, J=7.5, 1.2 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 21.2, 108.7, 116.0, 123.5, 123.6, 127.3, 129.5, 130.9, 132.7, 138.8, 141.9, 142.3, 152.2; IR (neat) ν 3500 cm⁻¹; MS m/z 344 $[M(^{81}Br_2)^+, 49\%]$, 342 $[M(^{81}Br,^{79}Br)^+, 100]$, 340 $[M(^{79}Br_2)^+, 51], 263$ (58), 261 (58), 182 (93); HRMS Calcd for C₁₃H₁₀O⁷⁹Br₂ (M⁺): 339.9099. Found: 339.9102.

4.3.6. 2.2'-Dibromo-3-methoxy-5-methyl-1.1'-biphenyl (11). To a solution of hydroxylbiphenyl 18 (4.7 mg, 0.0137 mmol) in DMF (0.5 mL) were added NaH (1.1 mg, 0.0275 mmol) and MeI (1.7 µL, 0.0275 mmol) at 0 °C. After stirring at 0 °C for 45 min, the reaction mixture was quenched with MeOH. The mixture was extracted with Et₂O and washed with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine. The organic layer was dried and concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 0.4 g, EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:50) to give methoxybiphenyl (11) (3.7 mg, 77%) as a colorless oil; $R_f = 0.66$ (EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:5); ¹H NMR δ 2.01 (s, 3H), 3.27 (s, 3H), 6.32 (d, J=1.6 Hz, 2H), 6.54 (d, J=1.6 Hz, 1H), 6.78 (ddd, J=7.5, 7.4, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 6.96 (ddd, J=7.4, 7.3, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.10 (dd, J=7.3, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.48 (dd, J=7.5, 1.2 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR δ 21.3, 55.7, 110.7, 112.3, 123.9, 124.1, 127.2, 129.3,

6799

131.3, 132.9, 138.0, 143.1, 144.0, 156.6; IR (neat) ν 2940, 1580 cm⁻¹; MS *m*/*z* 358 [M(⁸¹Br₂)⁺, 49%], 356 [M(⁸¹Br,⁷⁹Br)⁺, 100], 354 [M(⁷⁹Br₂)⁺, 51], 277 (77), 275 (79), 196 (43), 181 (42), 165 (22); HRMS Calcd for C₁₄H₁₂O₂⁷⁹Br₂ (M⁺): 353.9255. Found: 353.9254.

4.3.7. 4-Toluenesulfonic acid 5-methyl-2-[(4-nitrophenyl)amino]phenyl ester (19). Ar gas was bubbled into a mixture of amine (14) (125 mg, 0.450 mmol), 4-bromonitrobenzene (137 mg, 0.678 mmol), Pd₂(dba)₃ (82 mg, 0.0895 mmol), rac.-BINAP (168 mg, 0.269 mmol), and NaOt-Bu (64.5 mg, 0.671 mmol) in toluene (5 mL) for 15 min. The reaction mixture was then heated at 120 °C in a sealed tube for 15 h. After cooling, the mixture was filtered through Celite. The filtrate concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 15 g, EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:10) to afford diarylamine 19 (233 mg, 81%) as a yellow solid; $R_f = 0.31$ (EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:5); mp 108– 109 °C; ¹H NMR δ 2.31 (s, 3H), 2.32 (s, 3H), 6.34 (br s, 1H), 6.68 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.00 (s, 1H), 7.08 and 7.25 (2d, J=7.5 Hz, each 1H), 7.16 (d, J=7.7 Hz, 2H), 7.65 (d, J=7.7 Hz, 2H), 8.03 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR δ 21.0, 21.8, 113.8, 123.4, 125.1, 126.0, 128.4, 128.8, 129.9, 130.2, 132.0, 135.8, 140.0, 141.7, 146.0, 149.6; IR (neat) v 3380, 1500, 1325 cm^{-1} ; MS *m/z* 398 (M⁺, 36%), 243 (100), 226 (38), 197 (57); HRMS Calcd for $C_{20}H_{18}N_2O_5S$ (M⁺): 398.0937. Found: 398.0937.

4.3.8. 3-Methyl-6-nitro-1-(4-toluenesulfonyloxy)carbazole (20). To a solution of diarylamine 19 (142 mg, 0.355 mmol) in AcOH (14 mL) was added Pd(OAc)₂ (319 mg, 1.42 mmol) at rt. The reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 5 h. After cooling, the mixture was filtered through a pad of Celite. The filtrate was extracted with Et₂O and washed with H₂O, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution, and brine. The organic layer was dried and concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 14 g, EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:7) to afford carbazole 20 (75 mg, 53%) as a yellow solid: $R_f=0.23$ (EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:5); mp 224–225 °C; ¹H NMR δ 2.41 (s, 3H), 2.47 (s, 3H), 6.71 (s, 1H), 7.35 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.47 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 1H), 7.78 (d, J=8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.80 (s, 1H), 8.37 (dd, J=9.0, 2.0 Hz, 1H), 8.94 (br s, 1H), 8.94 (d, J=2.0 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR δ 21.4, 21.9, 111.1, 117.6, 119.9, 122.0, 122.5, 122.8, 126.4, 128.8, 130.1, 131.5, 131.6, 131.9, 134.3, 141.6, 143.2, 146.3; IR (neat) ν 3370, 1520, 1320 cm⁻¹; MS *m*/*z* 396 (M⁺, 10%), 348 (11), 330 (31), 241 (34), 197 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₂₀H₁₆N₂O₅S (M⁺): 396.0780. Found: 396.0780.

4.3.9. *N*-[2-(Trimethylsilyl)ethoxymethyl]-3-methyl-6nitro-1-(4-toluenesulfonyloxy)carbazole (21). To a solution of carbazole **20** (779 mg, 1.96 mmol) in DMF (40 mL) was added NaH (70.7 mg, 2.95 mmol) at 0 °C. After stirring at 0 °C for 1 h, to the mixture was added 2-(trimethylsilyl) ethoxymethyl chloride (SEMCl) (0.42 mL, 2.39 mmol) and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 1.5 h. After addition of MeOH, the mixture was diluted with EtOAc and washed successively with water, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution, and brine. The organic layer was dried and concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 50 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:7) to afford SEM protected carbazole **21** (884 mg, 86%) as a yellow solid: R_f =0.37 (EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:5); ¹H NMR δ -0.13 (s, 9H), 0.84 (t, J=7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.43 (s, 3H), 2.48 (s, 3H), 3.49 (t, J=7.6 Hz, 2H), 5.89 (s, 2H), 6.87 (s, 1H), 7.38 (d, J=7.7 Hz, 2H), 7.57 (d, J=8.6 Hz, 1H), 7.82 (s, 1H), 7.83 (d, J=7.7 Hz, 2H), 8.38 (dd, J=8.6, 2.0 Hz, 1H), 8.93 (d, J=2.0 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR δ -1.4, 17.7, 21.2, 21.9, 66.2, 74.0, 110.4, 117.1, 119.7, 122.2, 122.3, 122.9, 126.7, 128.8, 130.1, 131.4, 131.7, 132.7, 135.1, 141.9, 144.7, 146.2; IR (neat) ν 1520, 1330 cm⁻¹; MS *m*/*z* 526 (M⁺, 27%), 468 (11), 313 (26), 261 (25), 73 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₃₀N₂O₆SSi (M⁺): 526.1594. Found: 526.1558.

4.3.10. N-[2-(Trimethylsilyl)ethoxymethyl]-3-methyl-6nitrocarbazol-1-ol (22). To a solution of tosylate 21 (38.3 mg, 0.0727 mmol) in MeOH (3.8 mL) was added 1 M aqueous NaOH solution (0.2 mL). The reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 1 h. After cooling, the products were extracted with Et₂O and the organic layer was washed with 10 wt % aqueous citric acid solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 2.5 g, EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:10) to give hydroxycarbazole 22 (20.6 mg, 76%) as a yellow solid and methoxycarbazole **23** (2.2 mg, 8%) as a yellow solid. Data for **22**: $R_f=0.28$ (EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:5); mp 172 °C; ¹H NMR $\delta -0.04$ (s, 9H), 1.02 (t, J=8.4 Hz, 2H), 2.50 (s, 3H), 3.73 (t, J=8.4 Hz, 2H), 5.81 (s, 2H), 6.94 (s, 1H), 7.43 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 1H), 7.51 (s, 1H), 7.73 (s, 1H), 8.36 (dd, J=9.0, 2.3 Hz, 1H), 8.93 (d, J=2.3 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR δ -1.4, 18.0, 21.5, 66.8, 74.2, 108.4, 113.0, 117.1, 117.6, 122.0, 123.7, 126.0, 128.6, 133.5, 141.4, 142.8, 143.8; IR (neat) v 3240, 1520, 1320 cm⁻¹; MS *m*/*z* 372 (M⁺, 6%), 314 (14), 254 (23), 75 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₁₉H₂₄N₂O₄Si (M⁺): 372.1505. Found: 372.1508.

4.3.11. N-[2-(Trimethylsilyl)ethoxymethyl]-1-methoxy-3methyl-6-nitro-carbazole (23). To a solution of hydroxycarbazole 22 (13.6 mg, 0.0365 mmol) in DMF (1.3 mL) were added NaH (1.8 mg, 0.0750 mmol) and MeI (5 µL, 0.080 mmol) at 0 °C. After stirring for 50 min at 0 °C, the reaction was quenched by addition of MeOH. The mixture was diluted with Et₂O and washed with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine. The organic layer was dried and concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 2 g, EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:50) to give methoxycarbazole 23 (14.1 mg, 100%) as a light yellow solid: $R_f = 0.51$ (EtOAc/petroleum ether= 1:5); mp 113 °C; ¹H NMR δ -0.11 (s, 9H), 0.87 (t, J=7.8 Hz, 2H), 2.54 (s, 3H), 3.57 (t, J=7.8 Hz, 2H), 4.02 (s, 3H), 6.05 (s, 2H), 6.85 (s, 1H), 7.53 (s, 1H), 7.57 (d, J=8.6 Hz, 1H), 8.34 (dd, J=8.6, 2.4 Hz, 1H), 8.93 (d, J=2.4 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR δ -1.3, 18.0, 21.9, 55.7, 65.9, 74.7, 110.1, 110.8, 113.2, 117.3, 121.6, 123.5, 125.1, 129.1, 132.0, 141.5, 144.4, 146.8; IR (neat) v 1515, 1330 cm^{-1} ; MS *m/z* 386 (M⁺, 12%), 309 (7), 75 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₂₀H₂₆N₂O₄Si (M⁺): 386.1662. Found: 386.1658.

4.3.12. *N*-[**2**-(**Trimethylsily**)**ethoxymethyl**]-**8**-methoxy-**6**methyl-carbazol-**3**-amine (**12**). To a solution of nitrocarbazole **23** (18.0 mg, 0.0466 mmol) in THF (1.0 mL) at 0 °C was added a THF solution of NaBH₂S₃¹⁶ [prepared by stirring a mixture of NaBH₄ (11 mg, 0.279 mmol) and sulfur

(31 mg, 0.978 mmol) in THF (0.8 mL) under Ar at rt for 40 min] under Ar. The reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 30 min. After cooling, the products were extracted with Et₂O and the organic layer was washed with H₂O and 1 M aqueous NaOH solution, and then dried. Removal of the solvent left a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 2 g, EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:3) to give carbazolamine 12 (13.9 mg, 84%) as a light yellow oil: $R_{f}=0.08$ (EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:5); ¹H NMR δ -0.12 (s, 9H), 0.85 (t, J=8.1 Hz, 2H), 2.49 (s, 3H), 3.20–3.80 (br s. 2H). 3.53 (t. J=8.1 Hz. 2H). 3.97 (s. 3H). 5.95 (s. 2H). 6.72 (s. 1H), 6.87 (dd. J=8.4, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 7.31 (d. J=2.1 Hz, 1H), 7.36 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.37 (s, 1H); ¹³C ΝΜR δ -1.3, 18.0, 21.8, 55.5, 65.1, 74.3, 105.8, 109.1, 110.9, 112.8, 115.8, 124.5, 125.0, 128.6, 129.2, 136.0, 139.7, 146.7; IR (neat) δ 3350, 2950 cm⁻¹; MS *m/z* 356 (M⁺, 14%), 239 (11), 226 (15), 149 (17), 75 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₂₀H₂₈N₂O₂Si (M⁺): 356.1920. Found: 356.1922.

4.3.13. 1',8-Dimethoxy-3',6-dimethyl-9-[2-(trimethylsilyl) ethoxymethyl]-3,9'-bi-9H-carbazole (N-SEM-murrastifoline-A) (24). Ar gas was bubbled into a mixture of dibromobiphenyl 11 (17.2 mg, 0.0483 mmol), carbazolamine 12 (15.2 mg, 0.0426 mmol), Pd₂(dba)₃ (7.8 mg, 0.0085 mmol), 2-(dicyclohexylphosphino)biphenyl (5) (9.2 mg, 0.0262 mmol), and NaOt-Bu (8.2 mg, 0.0852 mmol) in toluene (0.6 mL) for 10 min. The reaction mixture was then heated at 120 °C in a sealed tube for 24 h. After cooling, the mixture was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 2 g, to afford SEM EtOAc/hexane=1:30) protected murrastifoline-A (24) (13.6 mg, 58%) as a colorless syrup: $R_f = 0.64$ (EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:5); ¹H NMR $\delta - 0.07$ (s, 9H), 0.93 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 2H), 2.50 (s, 3H), 2.55 (s, 3H), 3.55 (s, 3H), 3.65 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 2H), 4.03 (s, 3H), 6.09 (d, J=3.9 Hz, 2H), 6.74 (d, J=0.6 Hz, 1H), 6.81 (d, J=0.6 Hz, 2H), 7.18 (d, J=7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.22 (ddd, J=7.9, 7.9, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (ddd, J=7.9, 7.9, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.42 (s, 1H), 7.47 (dd, J=8.7, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (s, 1H), 7.62 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 1H), 8.04 (d, J=1.8 Hz, 1H), 8.08 (d, J=7.8 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR δ -1.3, 18.1, 21.8, 21.9, 55.7, 56.1, 65.5, 74.5, 109.5, 109.8, 110.1, 110.5, 112.9, 112.9, 119.4, 119.9, 120.1, 123.1, 123.2, 123.6, 125.4, 125.7, 126.4, 128.6, 129.4, 129.7, 130.2, 132.2, 140.4, 143.2, 146.8, 146.9; IR (neat) ν 2950, 1500 cm⁻¹; MS *m*/*z* 550 (M⁺, 1%), 433 (1), 405 (1), 359 (1), 167 (12), 129 (18), 59 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₃₄H₃₈N₂O₃Si (M⁺): 550.2652. Found: 550.2657.

4.3.14. 1',8-Dimethoxy-3',6-dimethyl-3,9'-bi-9H-carbazole (murrastifoline-A) (4). To a solution of SEM protected murrastifoline-A (24, 6.2 mg, 0.011 mmol) in THF (0.2 mL) and EtOH (0.6 mL) was added 4 M aqueous HCl solution (0.3 mL) at rt. The reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 1.5 h. After cooling, the mixture was diluted with Et₂O and washed with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine. The organic layer was dried and concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 0.5 g, EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:10) to give murrastifoline-A (4) (4.4 mg, 94%) as a colorless oil: $R_f=0.30$ (EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:5); ¹H NMR (acetone-d₆) δ 2.48 (s, 3H), 2.51 (s, 3H), 3.56 (s, 3H), 4.02 (s, 3H), 6.84 (s, 1H), 6.88 (s, 1H), 7.15 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.20 (ddd, J=8.1, 7.8, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (ddd, J=8.4, 7.8, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.40 (dd, J=8.4, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 7.54 (s, 1H),

7.62 (s, 1H), 7.66 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1H), 8.09 (d, J=2.1 Hz, 1H), 8.13 (d, J=8.1 Hz, 1H), 10.45 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR (acetone- d_6) δ 21.7, 21.9, 55.9, 56.1, 108.8, 110.7, 111.1, 111.7, 113.4, 113.4, 120.2, 120.5, 120.8, 123.9, 124.0, 125.1, 126.0, 126.4, 126.6, 129.9, 130.0, 130.1, 130.4, 132.0, 140.0, 144.0, 146.7, 147.8; IR (neat) ν 3420 cm⁻¹; MS m/z 420 (M⁺, 6%), 270 (14), 252 (2), 58 (100); HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₂₄N₂O₂ (M⁺): 420.1838. Found: 420.1838.

Acknowledgements

We thank Professor H. Furukawa (Meijo University, Nagoya, Japan) for providing us with spectral data of natural murrastifoline-A. We also thank Professor K. Nozaki (The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan) for valuable discussions on the double N-arylation reaction. This work was partially supported by Grant-in-Aid for the 21st Century COE program 'KEIO LCC' from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology, Japan.

References and notes

- Chakraborty, D. P. *The Alkaloids*; Katritzky, A. R., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1993; Vol. 44, pp 257–364.
- For a review, see: Knölker, H. J.; Reddy, K. R. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 4303–4427.
- 3. (a) Borsche, W.; Witte, A.; Bothe, W. Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1908, 359, 49-80; (b) Knölker, H. J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1999, 28, 151-157; Knölker, H. J.; Goesmann, H.; Hofmann, C. Synlett 1996, 737-740; (c) Boger, D. L.: Panek, J. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984, 25, 3175-3178; (d) Åkermark, B.; Eberson, L.; Jonsson, E.; Pettersson, E. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 1365-1367; Knölker, H.-J.; Knöll, J. Chem. Commun. 2003, 1170-1171 and references therein; (e) Moody, C. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1984, 925-927; Moody, C. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1985, 2505-2508; Moody, C. J.; Shah, P.; Knowles, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 2693-2696; Van Broeck, P. I.; Van Doren, P. E.; Toppet, S. M.; Hoornaert, G. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1992, 415-419; (f) Kawasaki, T.; Nonaka, Y.; Sakamoto, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 43-45; (g) Oikawa, Y.; Yonemitsu, O. J. Org. Chem. 1976, 41, 1118-1124; (h) Tsang, W. C. P.; Zheng, N.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 14560-14561; (i) Mal, D.; Senapati, B. K.; Pahari, P. Svnlett 2005, 994-996.
- (a) Nozaki, K.; Takahashi, K.; Nakano, K.; Hiyama, T.; Tang, H.-Z.; Fujiki, M.; Yamaguchi, S.; Tamao, K. *Angew. Chem.*, *Int. Ed.* 2003, *42*, 2051–2053; (b) Kuwahara, A.; Nakano, K.; Nozaki, K. *J. Org. Chem.* 2005, *70*, 413–419.
- (a) Muci, A. R.; Buchwald, S. L. Topics in Current Chemistry; Miyaura, N., Ed.; Springer: Berlin, 2001; Vol. 219, pp 131– 209; (b) Hartwig, J. F. Modern Arene Chemistry; Astruc, C., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2002; pp 107–168; (c) Wolfe, J. P.; Tomori, H.; Sadighi, J. P.; Yin, J.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 1158–1174; (d) Strieter, E. R.; Blackmond, D. G.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 13978–13980; (e) Huang, X.; Anderson, K. W.; Zim, D.; Jiang, L.; Klapars, A.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 6653–6655; (f) Wolfe, J. P.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 1144–1157; (g) Wolfe, J. P.; Wagaw, S.; Marcoux, J.-L.; Buchwald, S. L. Acc. Chem. Res. 1998,

31, 805–818; Hartwig, J. F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 2046–2067.

- (a) Suzuki, T.; Suzuki, S. T.; Yamada, I.; Koashi, Y.; Yamada, K.; Chida, N. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 2874–2880; (b) Suzuki, T.; Tanaka, S.; Yamada, I.; Koashi, Y.; Yamada, K.; Chida, N. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 1137–1140; (c) Suzuki, T.; Chida, N. Chem. Lett. 2003, 32, 190–191; (d) Chida, N.; Suzuki, T.; Tanaka, S.; Yamada, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 2573–2576.
- Preliminary communication of the synthesis of murrastifoline-A, see: Kitawaki, T.; Hayashi, Y.; Chida, N. *Heterocycles* 2005, 65, 1561–1567.
- (a) Gilman, H.; Gai, B. J. J. Org. Chem. 1957, 22, 447–449; (b) Corey, J. Y.; Chang, L. S. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 307, 7–14.
- 9. The observed small coupling constants $(J_{1,2}=1.8 \text{ Hz} \text{ and} J_{2,3}=0 \text{ Hz})$ as well as NOE between 1H and 4H in α -glucosylcarbazole (**3f** α) suggested that the sugar moiety in **3f** α exists in the twist-boat conformation. This intriguing conformation in **3f** α was also supported by the molecular mechanics calculation of the model compound, in which 2,3-di-*O*-benzyl ethers in the real system are replaced with 2,3-di-*O*-methyl ethers. The most stable conformer of the model compound generated by a Monte Carlo conformational search performed with MacroModel (version 6.0) using MM2* force field and observed NMR data are shown below (some hydrogens are removed for clarity).



Such a conformation flip of an aldohexose unit has been also observed for K-252d, a naturally occurring indolo[2,3-*a*]carbazole glycoside; see: Yasuzawa, T.; Iida, T.; Yoshida, M.; Hirayama, N.; Takahashi, M.; Shirahata, K.; Sano, H. J. Antibiot. 1986, 39, 1072–1078.

- Ito, C.; Wu, T.-S.; Furukawa, H. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1990, 38, 1143–1146.
- (a) Ito, C.; Furukawa, H. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1990, 38, 1548– 1550; (b) Ito, C.; Thoyama, Y.; Omura, M.; Kajiura, I.; Furukawa, H. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1993, 41, 2096–2100; (c) Furukawa, H. Trends Heterocycl. Chem. 1993, 3, 185–197; (d) Tasler, S.; Bringmann, G. Chem. Rec. 2002, 2, 114–126.
- (a) Bringmann, G.; Tasler, S. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57*, 331–343 and references therein; (b) Bringmann, G.; Tasler, S.; Endress, H.; Kraus, J.; Messer, K.; Wohlfarth, M.; Lobin, W. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2001, *123*, 2703–2711.
- (a) Zhang, A.; Lin, G. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2000, 10, 1021–1023; (b) Lin, G.; Zhang, A. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 7163–7171.
- 14. (a) Miyaura, N.; Suzuki, A. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 2457–2483;
 (b) Suzuki, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 576, 147–168.
- (a) Kikugawa, Y.; Miyake, Y.; Kawase, M. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1981, 29, 1231–1236; Kikugawa, Y.; Aoki, Y.; Sakamoto, T. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 8612–8615.
- (a) Lalancette, J. M.; Frêche, A.; Monteux, R. Can. J. Chem.
 1968, 46, 2754–2757; (b) Lalancette, J. M.; Frêche, A.; Brindle, J. R.; Laliberté, M. Synthesis 1972, 526–532; (c) Panek, J. S.; Xu, F.; Rondón, A. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 4113–4122.
- Steinhoff, G. W.; Henry, M. C. J. Org. Chem. 1964, 29, 2808– 2809.
- Bonesi, S. M.; Ponce, M. A.; Erra-Balsells, R. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2004, 41, 161–171.
- Miki, Y.; Hachiken, H.; Kashima, Y.; Sugimura, W.; Yanase, N. *Heterocycles* 1998, 48, 1–4.
- Brunner, K.; Dijken, A. V.; Börner, H.; Bastiaansen, J. J. A. M.; Kiggen, N. M. M.; Langeveld, B. M. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 6035–6042.
- 21. Waters, W. A.; White, J. E. J. Chem. Soc. C 1968, 740– 745.
- 22. Chong, P. Y.; Petillo, P. A. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 2113-2116.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6802-6807

Tetrahedron

Sinugibberosides A–E, new terpenoids with cyclic peroxyhemiketal from the soft coral *Sinularia gibberosa*

Shin-Pin Chen,^a Atallah F. Ahmed,^{a,b} Chang-Feng Dai,^c Chung-Kuang Lu,^d Wan-Ping Hu,^e Jeh-Jeng Wang^f and Jyh-Horng Sheu^{a,*}

^aDepartment of Marine Biotechnology and Resources, National Sun Yat-Sen University, Kaohsiung 804, Taiwan

^bDepartment of Pharmacognosy, Faculty of Pharmacy, Mansoura University, Mansoura 35516, Egypt

^cInstitute of Oceanography, National Taiwan University, Taipei 106, Taiwan

^dNational Museum of Marine Biology and Aquarium, Checheng, Pingtung 944, Taiwan

^eFaculty of Biotechnology, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung 807, Taiwan

^fFaculty of Medicinal and Applied Chemistry, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung 807, Taiwan

Received 27 March 2006; revised 27 April 2006; accepted 28 April 2006 Available online 23 May 2006

Abstract—The organic extract of the soft coral *Sinularia gibberosa*, collected from the northern Taiwan, has been investigated and resulted in the isolation of five new xeniaphyllane-type diterpenoids with a rare cyclic peroxyhemiketal (3,6-dihydro-1,2-dioxin-3-ol) moiety, sinugibberosides A–E (1–5). The structures of the new terpenoids, including their stereochemistries, were established on the basis of extensive spectroscopic analysis, including 1D and 2D NMR ($^{1}H^{-1}H$ COSY, HMQC, HMBC, and NOESY), and by comparison of their NMR data with those of related compounds. Metabolites 1–5 represent the first example of marine terpenoids possessing a cyclic peroxyhemiketal moiety. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Soft corals belonging to genus Sinularia (Alcyoniidae), have been well recognized as a rich source of structurally unique and biologically active diterpenoids¹ and norditerpenoids.¹⁻³ During the course of our screening of bioactive metabolites from marine organisms,^{3–8} we have reported the isolation of xeniaphyllane-based diterpenoids and B-carvophyllanetype sesquiterpenoids from genus Sinularia.3 Moreover, a chemical investigation on a sample of Sinularia gibberosa Tixier-Durivault, collected from the southern Taiwanese waters near Kenting, had furnished a variety of cytotoxic steroids9 along with guaiane- and germacrane-derived sesquiterpenoids.¹⁰ Recently, we reinvestigated the same organism, collected from the northern east coast of Taiwan, and found that the xeniaphyllane-type diterpenoids^{3,11,12} is also the terpenoidal constituents of this organism. Five new xeniaphyllane-derived diterpenoids with the rare 3,6-dihydro-1,2-dioxin-3-ol¹³ (cyclic peroxyhemiketal) subunit, sinugibberosides A-E (1-5), were isolated from the EtOAc extract of S. gibberosa. Their structures, including their stereochemistries, were elucidated on the basis of extensive

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.088

spectroscopic (including 1D and 2D NMR) analysis and by comparison of their spectral data with those of the related compounds. Although polyketide-derived esters with cyclic peroxyketal moiety have been isolated from sponges of the genera *Chondrilla*¹⁴ and *Xestospongia*,¹⁵ and a sesquiterpenoid with cyclic peroxyhemiketal subunit was afforded from two asteraceous herbs,^{16,17} Sinugibberosides A–E are reported herein as the first example of marine terpenoids possessing the rare 3,6-dihydro-1,2-dioxin-3-ol group (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Structures of new metabolites 1–5, a known compound 6, and a hypothetical precursor 7.

Keywords: Sinugibberosides A–E; Cyclic peroxyhemiketal; Xeniaphyllane; *Sinularia gibberosa.*

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +886 7 5252000x5030; fax: +886 7 5255020; e-mail: sheu@mail.nsysu.edu.tw

2. Results and discussion

The minced bodies of *S. gibberosa* were exhaustively extracted with EtOAc and the concentrated extract was fractionated by column chromatography on silica gel using *n*-hexane and *n*-hexane–EtOAc mixture of increasing polarity. The eluted fractions were further purified by various chromatographic techniques including gel permeation and HPLC to afford 1-5 (see Section 3). All new metabolites were obtained as colorless oils and have been shown to exhibit a positive sign for optical rotations.

Sinugibberoside A (1) was found to possess a molecular formula $C_{22}H_{32}O_6$ as established from its HRESIMS (m/z 415.2093, [M+Na]⁺), implying seven degrees of unsaturation. The IR spectrum indicated the presence of hydroxy $(\nu_{\text{max}} 3400 \text{ cm}^{-1})$ and ester $(\nu_{\text{max}} 1746 \text{ cm}^{-1})$ groups in the molecule. The ¹H NMR data (Table 1) revealed the presence of two upper field shifted methyls (δ 1.13 and 1.19, each 3H, s), one trisubstituted epoxide (δ 2.95, 1H, dd, J=10.5, 4.5 Hz), 1,1-disubstituted double bond (δ 4.88 and 5.04, each 1H, s), and two ¹H-¹H COSY correlated ringjuncture methines (δ 2.80, 1H, dd, J=10.0, 9.5 Hz and 2.63, 1H, q, J=9.5 Hz), characteristic of an 4,5-epoxycaryo-phyllene (6) moiety^{3,11,12,18} in **1**. This was further supported by the similar ¹³C NMR data (Table 2) of C-2 to C-11 and C-18 to C-20 with those of related metabolites.^{3,11,12} Therefore, the substituent at C-11 of the molecule should require three degrees of unsaturation to comply with the MS data. This was satisfied by the presence of one acetoxyl $(\delta_{\rm H} 2.08, 3 {\rm H}, {\rm s}; \delta_{\rm C} 170.5, {\rm qC} {\rm and} 20.7, {\rm CH}_3)$, one 1,2-disubstituted double bond ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.83 and 5.88, each 1H, d, J= 10.5 Hz; $\delta_{\rm C}$ 127.0 and 130.5, each CH), and one additional ring. The latter was suggested to be a 3,6-dihydro-1,2dioxin-3-ol moiety on the basis of the chemical shifts of the two above-mentioned olefinic carbons and the oxycarbon signals appearing at δ 99.6 and 78.9 (each 1C, qC).^{13,16}

Table 1. ¹H NMR chemical shifts of compounds 1-5

Also, the HMBC correlations found from H_3 -18 (δ 1.13, 3H, s) and a hydroxy proton (δ 3.29, 1H, br s) at the quaternary oxycarbon (δ 99.6, qC, C-12) could assign the latter as the hemiketal carbon of the 3,6-dihydro-1,2-dioxin-3-ol group in 1. Moreover, the detailed analyses of the ${}^{1}H{-}^{1}H$ COSY and HMBC correlations (Fig. 2) established 1 as one of the 4,5-epoxyxeniaphyllane diterpenoids.^{3,11,12} The above correlations also revealed that the C-11 linked side chain is 12,15-epidioxidized to form a cyclic hemiketal group with hydroxy and methyl ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.44, 3H, s; $\delta_{\rm C}$ 19.6, CH₃) and acetoxymethyl ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.98 and 4.18, each 1H, d, J=12.0 Hz; $\delta_{\rm C}$ 66.4, CH₂) substituents at C-12 and C-15, respectively. Furthermore, the ion peak appeared in the MS spectrum at m/z 205 $[M-C_8H_{11}O_5]^+$ should be due to the cleavage of 1, between C-11 and C-12 to afford the trisubstituted cyclic hemiketal moiety at m/z 187 [C₈H₁₁O₅]⁺.

The NOE interactions (Fig. 3) displayed by the two trans ring-fused methine protons H-1 (δ 2.80, dd, J=10.0, 9.5 Hz) and H-9 (δ 2.63, q, J=9.5 Hz) with H-5 (δ 2.95, dd, J=10.5, 4.5 Hz) and H_3 -20 (δ 1.19, s), respectively, revealed the $1S^*, 4S^*, 5S^*, 9R^*$ configuration in 1, as found in the related 4,5-epoxyxeniapyllenes previously isolated from *Sinularia* species by our group.³ The NOE correlations observed between H-9 and H₃-18 (δ 1.13, s) positioned the methyl group at C-11 on the β -face of the molecule. This was further supported by the NOE correlations found between H-10 β (δ 1.56, m) and both H-9 and H₃-18. Thus, C-11 is S* configured. Moreover, the olefinic H-13 showed NOE interactions with both H₃-18 and H₂-10 but not with H₂-2, revealing that the 13,14-double bond of the cyclic peroxyhemiketal moiety at C-11 is placed in the position close to C-10 and the peroxide is located near C-1 of the β-carvophyllene moiety of 1, respectively. Therefore, the significant NOE interaction displayed between the β -oriented H₃-18 and H_3 -16 established the β -orientation of the methyl at C-15 and hence, the α -orientation of the hydroxyl at C-12.

	1 ^a	2 ^b	3 ^c	4 ^c	5 ^c
1	$2.80 \text{ dd} (10.0, 9.5)^{\text{d}}$	2 60 dd (9 5 9 5)	2 78 dd (10 0 9 6)	2 78 dd (10 0 9 5)	2 58 dd (9 0 9 0)
2α	1.77 ddd (15.0, 4.0, 4.0)	1.75 ddd (15.0, 4.8, 3.3)	1.77 ddd (14.6, 4.0, 3.6)	1.77 ddd (14.4, 3.6, 3.6)	1.78 ddd (14.6, 4.2, 2.8)
28	1.45 m	1.52 m	1.45 m	1.45 m	1.49 m
3α	1.05 ddd (12.5, 12.5, 3.0)	1.02 ddd (12.9, 12.9, 4.8)	1.05 ddd (13.0, 13.0, 5.2)	1.06 m	1.02 ddd (12.6, 12.6, 4.2)
3β	2.06 m	2.07 m	2.04 ddd (13.0, 4.4, 4.4)	2.03 ddd (12.0, 3.6, 3.6)	2.06 ddd (12.6, 4.2, 2.8)
5	2.95 dd (10.5, 4.5)	2.93 dd (10.5, 4.0)	2.96 dd (10.5, 4.0)	2.95 dd (10.5, 4.0)	2.92 dd (10.5, 4.0)
6a	2.28 ddd (16.0, 8.0, 4.5)	2.27 m	2.28 ddd (16.4, 7.2, 4.0)	2.27 m	2.28 m
6β	1.33 m	1.31 m	1.31 m	1.32 m	1.31 m
7α	2.40 ddd (13.0, 9.0, 4.0)	2.38 ddd (12.6, 8.0, 4.0)	2.40 ddd (12.8, 8.8, 4.0)	2.40 ddd (12.8, 9.2, 4.0)	2.38 ddd (12.8, 8.4, 4.0)
7β	2.16 m	2.17 m	2.17 ddd (12.8, 7.2, 4.0)	2.17 m	2.16 ddd (12.8, 6.0, 4.0)
9	2.63 q (9.5)	2.62 q (9.5)	2.63 q (9.6)	2.62 q (9.5)	2.63 q (9.0)
10α	2.20 dd (10.5, 9.5)	2.27 dd (10.0, 9.5)	2.22 dd (10.4, 9.6)	2.22 dd (10.0, 9.5)	2.25 dd (10.0, 9.0)
10β	1.56 m	1.52 m	1.54 m	1.55 m	1.54 m
13	5.83 d (10.5)	5.86 d (10.5)	5.85 d (10.0)	5.65 d (10.0)	5.72 d (10.0)
14	5.88 d (10.5)	5.93 d (10.5)	5.95 d (10.0)	5.93 d (10.0)	5.95 d (10.0)
16	1.44 s, 3H	1.26 s, 3H	1.35 s, 3H	1.40 s, 3H	1.39 s, 3H
17	3.98 d (12.0), 4.18 d (12.0)	4.12 d (11.7), 4.27 d (11.7)	3.58 d (12.0), 3.63 d (12.0)	1.23 s, 3H	1.23 s, 3H
18	1.13 s, 3H	1.15 s, 3H	1.14 s, 3H	1.13 s, 3H	1.17 s, 3H
19	4.88 s, 5.04 s	4.88 s, 5.04 s	4.88 s, 5.04 s	4.87 s, 5.04 s	4.87 s, 5.04 s
20	1.19 s, 3H	1.19 s, 3H	1.19 s, 3H	1.18 s, 3H	1.19 s, 3H
Ac	2.08 s, 3H	2.11 s, 3H			
12-OH	3.29 br s	3.23 s	3.50 br s	3.15 s	3.12 s

^a Spectra recorded at 500 MHz in CDCl₃.

^b Spectra recorded at 300 MHz in CDCl₃.

^c Spectra recorded at 400 MHz in CDCl₃.

^d The J values are given in hertz in parentheses.

No.	1 ^a	2^{b}	3°	4 ^c	5 ^c
1	d	43.2 (CH) ^e	_	_	43.0 (CH)
2	28.3 (CH ₂)	28.6 (CH ₂)	28.5 (CH ₂)	28.7 (CH ₂)	28.8 (CH ₂)
3	38.6 (CH ₂)	38.6 (CH ₂)	38.6 (CH ₂)	38.9 (CH ₂)	38.9 (CH ₂)
4	59.8 (qC)	59.6 (qC)	59.8 (qC)	60.0 (qC)	59.9 (qC)
5	63.9 (CH)	63.9 (CH)	63.9 (CH)	64.2 (CH)	64.1 (CH)
6	30.2 (CH ₂)	30.1 (CH ₂)	30.2 (CH ₂)	30.5 (CH ₂)	30.4 (CH ₂)
7	29.5 (CH ₂)	29.4 (CH ₂)	30.2 (CH ₂)	30.0 (CH ₂)	29.7 (CH ₂)
8	151.6 (qC)	151.3 (qC)	151.6 (qC)	151.9 (qC)	151.7 (qC)
9	47.6 (CH)	48.2 (CH)	47.7 (CH)	47.9 (CH)	48.4 (CH)
10	33.2 (CH ₂)	31.9 (CH ₂)	33.2 (CH ₂)	33.4 (CH ₂)	32.4 (CH ₂)
11	41.7 (qC)	41.5 (qC)	42.0 (qC)	42.1 (qC)	42.9 (qC)
12	99.6 (qC)	99.2 (qC)	99.6 (qC)	99.6 (qC)	99.5 (qC)
13	127.0 (CH)	127.2 (CH)	126.6 (CH)	124.3 (CH)	124.3 (CH)
14	130.5 (CH)	131.3 (CH)	131.7 (CH)	135.7 (CH)	136.2 (CH)
15	78.9 (qC)	78.0 (qC)	80.5 (qC)	77.4 (qC)	77.2 (qC)
16	19.6 (CH ₃)	19.8 (CH ₃)	19.3 (CH ₃)	24.4 (CH ₃)	24.3 (CH ₃)
17	66.4 (CH ₂)	64.6 (CH ₂)	66.9 (CH ₂)	24.8 (CH ₃)	24.8 (CH ₃)
18	15.7 (CH ₃)	15.6 (CH ₃)	15.8 (CH ₃)	16.0 (CH ₃)	15.6 (CH ₃)
19	113.6 (CH ₂)	113.7 (CH ₂)	113.6 (CH ₂)	113.7 (CH ₂)	113.8 (CH ₂)
20	17.1 (CH ₃)	17.1 (CH ₃)	17.1 (CH ₃)	17.4 (CH ₃)	17.3 (CH ₃)
Ac	170.5 (qC), 20.7 (CH ₃)	170.7 (CH ₃), 20.8 (CH ₃)			

Table 2. ¹³C NMR chemical shifts of compounds 1-5

^a Spectra recorded at 125 MHz in CDCl₃ at 25 °C.

^b Spectra recorded at 75 MHz in CDCl₃ at 25 °C.

^c Spectra recorded at 100 MHz in CDCl₃ at 25 °C.

^d Methine carbon signal was not observable and no corresponding HMQC and HMBC correlations were found.

^e Attached protons were determined by DEPT experiments. The values are given in parts per million lower field from TMS.

Furthermore, the molecular mechanics calculations was performed to study the conformational behavior of **1**. The conformational analysis suggested the most stable conformation at 228.4 Kcal/mol as shown in Figure 4. It was found that the calculated distances between protons having key NOE correlations around C-12 of the cyclic peroxyhemiketal moiety were ranging from 2.8 to 3.2 Å as shown in Table 3. Based on the above findings, the structure of sinugibberoside A was fully established as $(1S^*, 4S^*, 5S^*, 9R^*, 11S^*, 12R^*, 15R^*)$ -4,5-epoxy-12,15-epidioxy-17-acetoxy-xeniaphylla-8(19),13dien-12-ol.

Sinugibberoside B (2) was found to possess the same molecular formula $C_{22}H_{32}O_6$ as that of 1 from the HRESIMS (*m*/*z* 415.2093 [M]⁺) and NMR spectral data (Tables 1 and 2). The ¹³C NMR data of 2 (Table 2) were found to be quite similar to those of 1. Therefore, 2 was suggested to be an isomer of 1. However, we observed the upper field shifts for C-10, C-15, and C-17 ($\Delta\delta$ -1.3, -0.9, and -1.8, respectively)



Figure 2. ${}^{1}H{-}^{1}H$ COSY and HMBC correlations for 1, 2, 4, and 5. Other HMBC correlation (dashed arrow) found for 2 and 5.

and a lower field shift for C-9 ($\Delta\delta$ +0.6) of **2** relative to those of **1**. Also, although the ¹H NMR data of **2** (Table 1) showed high similarity with those of **1**, substantial differences for chemical shifts of H-1, H₃-16, and H-17 ($\Delta\delta$ -0.20, -0.18, and +0.14, respectively) relative to those of **1** were



Figure 3. Observed NOESY correlations for 1-3.



Figure 4. Stereo-view of 1 and 2 generated from computer modeling.

found. After the establishment of the planar structure of 2 by analysis of ¹H-¹H COSY and HMBC correlations (Fig. 2), we then carefully examined the NOESY correlations of 2 by comparison with those of 1 (Fig. 3). The NOESY spectrum of 2 exhibited similar NOE correlations as those found in 1, and led to the determination of the S^* , S^* , S^* , R*, and S* configurations at C-1, C-4, C-5, C-9, and C-11, respectively. The NOE interactions found for the olefinic proton at C-13 with both H₃-18 (δ 1.15, s) and H-2 α (δ 1.75, ddd, J=15.0, 4.8, 3.3 Hz), and H₃-18 with H-9 (δ 2.62, q, J=9.5 Hz) and H-17 (δ 4.12, d, J=11.7 Hz) further established the relative stereochemistry of 2 as shown in Figure 3. On the basis of the above findings, compound 2 was identified as the 12-epimer of 1. Moreover, the molecular mechanics calculations suggested the most stable conformation at 232.3 Kcal/mol as shown in Figure 4. From this conformation, the calculated distances between those protons having key NOE correlations around C-12 were ranged from 2.9 to 3.3 Å as shown in Table 3. Therefore, sinugibberoside **2** was established as $(1S^*, 4S^*, 5S^*, 9R^*, 11S^*, 12S^*, 15R^*)$ -

 Table 3. Calculated distances between selective protons having key NOE correlations of 1 and 2

H/H	Distance (Å)		
	1 ^a	2 ^b	
H ₃ -16/H ₃ -18	2.8	>4.0	
H ₂ -17/H ₃ -18	>4.0	3.1	
H-13/H ₃ -18	2.9	3.3	
H-13/H-10a	2.8	>4.0	
H-13/H-10β	3.2	>4.0	
H-13/H-2a	>4.0	2.9	

^a Minimum energy conformers at 228.4 Kcal/mol.

^b Minimum energy conformers at 232.3 Kcal/mol.

4,5-epoxy-12,15-epidioxy-17-acetoxy-xeniaphylla-8(19),13-dien-12-ol.

The most polar metabolite, sinugibberoside C (3), has a molecular formula C₂₀H₃₀O₅ as indicated from its HRESIMS (*m*/*z* 373.1989, [M+Na]⁺) and NMR data (Tables 1 and 2). It differs with 1 and 2 in the absence of an ester moiety as revealed from its IR spectrum and by the lack of the acetate signals from the NMR spectra of 3. Comparison of the NMR data of 3 with those of 1 and 2 designated 3 as a related 4.5-epoxyxeniaphyllane derivative with the same 3.6-dihydro-1,2-dioxin-3-ol moiety. The substantial upper field shift observed for H₂-17 (δ 3.58 and 3.63) in 3 than those of 1 (δ 3.98 and 4.18) and 2 (δ 4.12 and 4.27) indicated the presence of a hydroxymethyl at C-15 in 3 instead of the acetoxymethyl. However, we have also found that H-1 (δ 2.78) of **3** is resonating in a field quite close to that of **1** (δ 2.80), but in a lower field relative to that of 2 (δ 2.60). This suggested the close vicinity of the peroxide bridge to H-1 in 3 as in the case of 1, revealing the same R^* configuration at C-12 for 3. Analysis of NOE correlations displayed in the NOESY spectrum of 3 (Fig. 3) has led to similar results as that obtained from the NOESY spectrum of 1, including the NOE responses for the olefinic H-13 with both H₂-10 and H₃-18 and for H_3 -18 with H_3 -16. Therefore, the structure of **3** was determined as (1S*,4S*,5S*,9R*,11S*,12R*,15R*)-4,5-epoxy-12,15-epidioxy-xeniaphylla-8(19),13-dien-12,17-diol.

The HRESIMS $(m/z 357.2040, [M+Na]^+)$ of sinugibberoside D (4) assigned a molecular formula $C_{20}H_{30}O_4$, with one oxygen atom less than that found for 3. The IR (ν_{max} 3422 cm^{-1}) and ESIMS (*m*/*z* 317, [M-H₂O+H]⁺) spectra revealed the presence of one hydroxy group in 4. Moreover, the NMR data of 4 were found to be almost identical with those of 3 except for the replacement of the hydroxymethyl at C-15 ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.58 and 3.63; $\delta_{\rm C}$ 66.9) in **3** by a methyl ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.23; $\delta_{\rm C}$ 24.8) in **4**. Also, the identical chemical shift of H-1 in 4 and 3 disclosed a similar stereochemistry for the hemiketal carbon at C-12. After the establishment of the gross structure of 4 by the analysis of ${}^{1}H{-}^{1}H$ COSY and HMBC correlations (Fig. 2), we have found that the NOE interactions revealed by H-13 with both H₂-10 and H₃-18, and H₃-16 with H₃-18 also confirmed the $12R^*$ configuration of 4, the same as that of 3. Therefore, sinugibberoside D(4) was established as (1S*,4S*,5S*,9R*,11S*,12R*)-4,5-epoxy-12,15-epidioxy-xeniaphylla-8(19),13-dien-12-ol.

The HRESIMS (m/z 357.2041, [M+Na]⁺) of sinugibberoside E (5) combined with NMR data suggested 5 to be an isomer of 4. Also, a hydroxy group was revealed from the IR (ν_{max} 3422 cm^{-1}) and ESIMS (*m*/*z* 317, [M-H₂O+H]⁺). Metabolite 5 was found to possess a cyclic peroxyhemiketal moiety from the chemical shift of C-12 (δ 99.5, qC), as those found in 1-4. The significant lower field shift observed for C-9 ($\Delta\delta$ +0.5) and the upper field shift for C-10 ($\Delta\delta$ -1.0) relative to those in 4, a case which is similar by comparison of the corresponding data of 2 with those of 1, suggested that 5 might be the 12-epimer of 4. This was supported by the upper field shift observed for H-1 (δ 2.58) of 5 relative to that of 4 (δ 2.78). Finally, the NOE interactions observed for H-13 with both H-2 α and H₃-18, as those found in **2** established sinugibberoside E (5) as (1S*,4S*,5S*,9R*,11S*,12S*)-4,5epoxy-12,15-epidioxy-xeniaphylla-8(19),13-dien-12-ol.

It is noteworthy to mention that sinugibberosides reported here are the first example of marine natural products possessing the rarely found tetrasubstituted peroxyhemiketal moiety,^{16,17} although polyketide-derived metabolites with a trisubstituted cyclic peroxyketal moiety have been isolated from some sponges.^{14,15} The biosynthesis of both **1** and **2** can be achieved by the nucleophilic attack of 15-OOH at the different sides of the carbonyl group at C-12 of a precursor **7**, respectively. Metabolites **3–5** were considered to be biosynthesized by the same approach from the similar precursors with structures related to **1**.

3. Experimental

3.1. General

Optical rotations were measured on a Jasco DIP-1000 digital polarimeter. IR spectra were recorded on a Jasco FT-5300 infrared spectrophotometer. The NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker Avance 300 FT-NMR at 300 MHz for ¹H and 75 MHz for ¹³C or on a Varian Mercury Plus 400 FT-NMR at 400 MHz for ¹H and 100 MHz for ¹³C, or on a Varian Unity INOVA 500 FT-NMR at 500 MHz for ¹H and 125 MHz for ¹³C, respectively, in CDCl₃ using TMS as an internal standard. LRMS data were obtained by EI on a VG Quattro GC-MS spectrometer or by ESI on a BRUKER APEX II mass spectrometer. HRMS were recorded on EI or ESI on a BRUKER APEX II mass spectrometer. Si gel (Merck, 230-400 mesh) was used for column chromatography. Precoated Si gel plates (Merck, Kieselgel 60 F₂₅₄, 0.2 mm) were used for analytical TLC. High-performance liquid chromatography was performed on a Hitachi L-7100 apparatus with Merck Hibar Si-60 column (250×21 mm, 7 μm).

3.2. Organism

S. gibberosa was collected by hand via scuba from the northern east coast of Taiwan, in June 2004, at a depth of 15–20 m, and stored in a freezer until extraction. A voucher sample was deposited at the Department of Marine Resources, National Sun Yat-Sen University.

3.3. Extraction and separation

The bodies of *S. gibberosa* (1.3 Kg fresh weight) were minced and extracted exhaustively with EtOAc, and the extract was concentrated under reduced pressure to give a dark brown viscous residue (15.4 g). The residue was fractionated by open column chromatography on silica gel using *n*-hexane and *n*-hexane–EtOAc mixture of increasing polarity to yield 32 fractions. Fraction 15 eluted with *n*-hexane–EtOAc (5:1) was permeated through a Sephadex LH-20 column (2×90 cm) in acetone and the lipid-free fraction was subsequently isolated by normal phase HPLC using hexane–acetone (7:1 to 6:1) to give compounds **5** (0.7 mg) and **4** (0.5 mg). Fraction 20 eluted with *n*-hexane–EtOAc (4:1 to 2:1) was further separated by normal phase HPLC, using *n*-hexane–acetone (4:1 to 3:1) to yield **1** (0.5 mg), **2** (0.5 mg), and **3** (1.5 mg), respectively.

3.3.1. Sinugibberoside A (1). Colorless oil, $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +18.3 (*c* 0.6, CHCl₃); IR (neat) ν_{max} 3400, 2956, 2926, 2876, 1746,

1647, 1456, 1385, 1242, 1046 cm⁻¹; for ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz), see Tables 1 and 2, respectively; EIMS m/z 360 (0.1, $[M-O_2]^+$), 344 (0.1, $[M-3O]^+$), 205 (0.2, $[M-C_8H_{11}O_5]^+$), 187 (0.3, $[C_8H_{11}O_5]^+$), 175 (0.3), 171 (0.4), 163 (0.5), 159 (0.7), 147 (1.2), 135 (0.9), 121 (1.7), 111 (1.5), 105 (2.9), 97 (4.0), 93 (2.3), 91 (4.1), 79 (5.1); HRESIMS m/z 415.2093 (calcd for $C_{22}H_{32}O_6$ Na, 415.2097).

3.3.2. Sinugibberoside B (2). Colorless oil, $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +8.9 (*c* 1.7, CHCl₃); IR (neat) ν_{max} 3400, 2957, 2937, 2877, 1736, 1640, 1456, 1383, 1242, 1043 cm⁻¹; for ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz), see Tables 1 and 2, respectively; FABMS *m*/*z* 393 (16.6, [M+H]⁺); HRESIMS *m*/*z* 415.2093 (calcd for C₂₂H₃₂O₆Na, 415.2097).

3.3.3. Sinugibberoside C (3). Colorless oil, $[\alpha]_{D}^{25}$ +33.3 (*c* 0.2, CHCl₃); IR (neat) ν_{max} 3400, 2930, 2880, 1647, 1541, 1456, 1387, 1049 cm⁻¹; for ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz), see Tables 1 and 2, respectively; ESIMS *m*/*z* 373 (100, [M+Na]⁺), 333 (3, [M-H₂O+H]⁺), 285 (12, [M-H₂O-3O+H]⁺), 267 (2, [M-2H₂O-3O+H]⁺), 205 (6, [M-C₆H₉O₄]⁺); ESIMS *m*/*z* 350 (0.1, [M]⁺), 318 (0.5, [M-2O]⁺), 316 (0.1, [M-H₂O-O]⁺), 302 (0.2, [M-3O]⁺), 205 (1.8, [M-C₆H₉O₄]⁺), 187 (1.4), 175 (1.2), 164 (2.3), 163 (3.4), 159 (2.9), 149 (3.5), 148 (6.0), 135 (5.1), 121 (10.6), 111 (5.9), 105 (18.0), 97 (29.4), 93 (14.3), 91 (25.7), 79 (30.5); HRESIMS *m*/*z* 373.1989 (calcd for C₂₀H₃₀O₅Na, 373.1991).

3.3.4. Sinugibberoside D (4). Colorless oil, $[\alpha]_D^{25} + 47.2$ (*c* 0.2, CHCl₃); IR (neat) ν_{max} 3422, 2924, 2874, 1647, 1512, 1456, 1396, 1051 cm⁻¹; for ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz), see Tables 1 and 2, respectively; ESIMS *m*/*z* 357 (100, [M+Na]⁺), 341 (30, [M-O+Na]⁺), 335 (9, [M+H]⁺), 317 (57, [M-H₂O+H]⁺), 301 (13, [M-H₂O-O+H]⁺), 285 (10, [M-H₂O-2O+H]⁺); EIMS *m*/*z* 302 (0.2, [M-2O]⁺), 205 (2.3, [M-C₆H₉O₃]⁺), 187 (6.1), 173 (5.2), 164 (6.2), 161 (10.9), 149 (23.1), 148 (14.8), 138 (25.9), 122 (38.1), 105 (38.3), 95 (61.4), 91 (68.5), 79 (66.5); HRESIMS *m*/*z* 357.2040 (calcd for C₂₀H₃₀O₄Na, 357.2042).

3.3.5. Sinugibberoside E (5). Colorless oil, $[\alpha]_{D}^{25}$ +36.1 (*c* 0.4, CHCl₃); IR (neat) ν_{max} 3422, 2924, 2874, 1647, 1541, 1456, 1397, 1049 cm⁻¹; for ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz), see Tables 1 and 2, respectively; ESIMS *m/z* 357 (100, [M+Na]⁺), 341 (74, [M–O+Na]⁺), 317 (23, [M–H₂O+H]⁺); EIMS *m/z* 302 (1.5, [M–2O]⁺), 205 (3.3, [M–C₆H₉O₃]⁺), 187 (8.2), 173 (5.3), 164 (8.4), 163 (12.0), 159 (17.4), 149 (16.9), 148 (13.2), 138 (24.9), 137 (26.2), 123 (58.4), 109 (37.2), 105 (49.2), 95 (54.9), 91 (62.3), 79 (77.7); HRESIMS *m/z* 357.2041 (calcd for C₂₀H₃₀O₄Na, 357.2042).

3.3.6. Molecular mechanics' calculations. The minimum energy conformation of **1** and **2** was determined using the MSI Insight II/DISCOVER version 95 molecular modeling package incorporating an empirical force field, the consistent valence force field (CVFF),¹⁹ on a Silicon Graphics IRIS Indigo XS24/R4000 workstation. Molecular mechanics was utilized to investigate the minimization,

and minimum energy was calculated by a conjugate gradient method until the maximum derivative was less than 0.001 Kcal/mol Å. The conformers shown in Figure 4 are the lowest energy conformation for 1 and 2.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a grant from the National Science Council of the Republic of China (Contract No. NSC-90-2323-B-110-003) awarded to J.-H. Sheu.

References and notes

- 1. Blunt, J. W.; Copp, B. R.; Munro, M. H. G.; Northcote, P. T.; Prinsep, M. R. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2006**, *23*, 26–78 and previous reports in this series.
- Tseng, Y.-J.; Ahmed, A. F.; Dai, C.-F.; Chiang, M. Y.; Sheu, J.-H. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3813–3816 and references cited therein.
- Ahmed, A. F.; Su, J.-H.; Shiue, R.-T.; Pan, X.-J.; Dai, C.-F.; Kuo, Y.-H.; Sheu, J.-H. J. Nat. Prod. 2004, 67, 592–597.
- Sung, P.-J.; Hu, W.-P.; Wu, S.-L.; Fang, L.-S.; Wang, J.-J.; Sheu, J.-H. *Tetrahedron* 2004, 60, 8975–8979.
- Sheu, J.-H.; Chao, C.-H.; Wang, G. H.; Hung, K.-C.; Duh, C.-Y.; Chiang, M.-Y.; Wu, Y.-C.; Wu, C. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 6413–6416.

- 6. Ahmed, A. F.; Shiue, R.-T.; Wang, G.-H.; Dai, C.-F.; Kuo, Y.-H.; Sheu, J.-H. *Tetrahedron* **2003**, *59*, 7337–7344.
- Wang, G.-H.; Sheu, J.-H.; Duh, C. Y.; Chiang, M. Y. J. Nat. Prod. 2002, 65, 1475–1478.
- 8. Sheu, J.-H.; Wang, G.-H.; Sung, P. J.; Duh, C.-Y.; Chiang, M. Y. *Tetrahedron* **2001**, *57*, 7639–7648.
- 9. Ahmed, A. F.; Dai, C.-F.; Kuo, Y.-H.; Sheu, J.-H. *Steroids* **2003**, *68*, 377–381.
- Ahmed, A. F.; Kuo, Y.-H.; Dai, C.-F.; Sheu, J.-H. J. Nat. Prod. 2005, 68, 1208–1212.
- Ahond, A.; Bowden, B. F.; Coll, J. C.; Fourneron, J.-D.; Mitchell, S. J. Aust. J. Chem. 1981, 34, 2657–2664.
- Groweiss, A.; Kashman, Y. *Tetrahedron* 1983, 39, 3385–3396 and references cited therein.
- 13. Snider, B. B.; Shi, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 1790-1800.
- 14. Wells, J. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1976, 17, 2637-2638.
- Quiñoā, E.; Kho, E.; Manes, L. V.; Grews, P. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 4260–4264.
- Appendino, G.; Gariboldi, P.; Nano, G. M.; Tétényi, P. Phytochemistry 1984, 23, 2545–2552.
- Marco, J. A.; Sanz-Cervera, J. F.; García-Lliso, V.; Guara, M.; Vallès-Xirau, J. *Phytochemistry* 1997, 45, 751–754.
- Thebtaranonth, C.; Thebtaranonth, Y.; Wanauppathamkul, S.; Yuthavong, Y. *Phytochemistry* **1995**, *40*, 125–128.
- MSI Insight II/DISCOVER (version 95.0/2.97) is a molecular modeling software package of MSI Technologies Inc., Barnes Canyon Road, San Diego, CA 92121.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6808-6813

Tetrahedron

High guest inclusion in 3β-amino-7α,12α-dihydroxycholan-24-oic acid enabled by charge-assisted hydrogen bonds

Eui-Hyun Ryu, Arkady Ellern and Yan Zhao*

Department of Chemistry, Iowa State University, Ames, IA 50011-3111, USA

Received 7 March 2006; revised 26 April 2006; accepted 28 April 2006 Available online 26 May 2006

Abstract—3 β -Amino-7 α ,12 α -dihydroxycholan-24-oic acid (2) forms inclusion compounds with high ratio (host/guest=1/4) of guest methanol. Both hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic interactions are important to the solid structure. The cholates assemble in a head-to-tail fashion to form infinite hydrogen-bonded chains. The chains are interconnected between cholates and also through the guests. Large channels are formed along the crystallographic *a* axis where most of the methanol molecules are located. Presence of a dominant hydrogen-bonding motif (i.e., ammonium-carboxylate ion pairing) is probably responsible for high guest incorporation. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Cholic acid (1) has an unusual distribution of functional groups: the α face is hydrophilic with three hydroxyl groups and the β face is hydrophobic consisting of only hydrocarbons. Because of its unique structure and commercial availability, cholic acid is a popular building block in supramolecular chemistry.¹ In recent years, it has been used to construct environmentally responsive molecules.^{2–4} Taking advantage of the facial amphiphilicity of cholates,⁵ we prepared molecular baskets that undergo transitions between micelle-like and reversed-micelle-like conformations induced by solvent changes⁶ and cholate foldamers with nanometer-sized hydrophilic cavities.⁷



Another interesting feature of cholic acid (and bile acids in general) is their ability to form inclusion compounds with various organic compounds.⁸ This is an attractive application because bile acids are chiral and can be used for enantiomeric and diastereomeric separation of guest molecules.^{9,10} The number and the orientation of hydrogen bonds greatly influence the solid state structures of the bile acids as well as the inclusion compounds that can be formed. For example, deoxycholic acid, only different from cholic acid (1) by missing one hydroxyl group at C-7, is known for over a hundred years to form inclusion compounds with a wide variety of organic molecules including hydrocarbons, alcohols, ethers, ketones, acids, esters, and nitriles.^{8,11} The ability of cholic acid to form inclusion compounds, however, was discovered much later, but received increased attention in recent years.⁸ Its crystal lattice is quite stable and can survive reversible incorporation and removal of guest mole-cules in some cases,^{12,13} making it potentially useful as 'organic zeolite' for separation and chemical reactions.

In our recent study of cholate derivatives, we synthesized 3β -amino- 7α , 12α -dihydroxycholan-24-oic acid (2) and found it could include guest molecule such as methanol. Most interestingly, large void volumes can be formed in the solid structure so that four solvent molecules can be incorporated per host molecule. In contrast, the number of guest molecules in preciously reported bile acid inclusion compounds almost never goes above two.

2. Results and discussion

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.094

Synthesis of 2 was adopted from literature procedures (Scheme 1).¹⁴ Cholic acid was treated with catalytic amount

Keywords: Bile acids; Crystal engineering; Crystal structures; Hydrogen bonds; Inclusion compounds.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 515 294 5845; fax: +1 515 294 0105; e-mail: zhaoy@iastate.edu

of sulfuric acid in refluxing methanol to give methyl ester **3**. Among the three hydroxyl groups, the one at 3α position is most reactive and was selectively tosylated in 84% yield. Tosylate **4** was replaced by azide through nucleophilic substitution with sodium azide in 74% yield. The azide intermediate **5** was then reduced by triphenylphosphine in aqueous THF and was hydrolyzed to give the final product **2** in good yield.



Scheme 1. Synthesis of compound 2.

3β-Amino-7α,12α-dihydroxycholan-24-oic acid (2) has low solubility in many organic solvents including chloroform, tetrahydrofuran (THF), *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide (DMF), and even dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)—the latter two typically dissolve cholate derivatives very easily. Apparently, charges from the ammonium and carboxylate interact more strongly than neutral hydrogen-bonding donors and acceptors in most bile acids and give exceptionally high stability to the solid. It is insoluble in water at neutral pH but is soluble under both acidic and basic conditions, presumably due to formation of micellar aggregates. The compound is soluble in hot methanol and easily forms large transparent needle-like crystals upon cooling. According to single crystal X-ray structure determination one independent molecule of 2 and four methanol solvent molecules were found in asymmetric unit of orthorhombic cell (space group $P2_12_12_1$). The molecule assembles in a head-to-tail fashion with the amine and the carboxyl group hydrogen bond to each other (Fig. 1). The α faces of the cholates tilt up and down alternately along the chain. In fact, every other molecule along the chain is equivalent and can be converted to one other by translational operation. Similar to other bile acids, each repeating unit propagates along the crystallographic c axis in a helical fashion,¹⁵ possibly as a result of the bent backbone caused by the cis-fused A/B rings. Along the a axis, the chains are completely parallel. These chains are bridged by methanols to give pleated sheets in this direction. The chains are zigzagged and antiparallel between neighboring layers. Along the crystallographic b axis, the chains are connected by hydrogen bonds between the carbonyl oxygen O(24) of one cholate and the hydroxyl group O(7) of another.

Amphiphilicity is important in the structure as both hydrophilic and hydrophobic portions of the molecules are clearly segregated (Fig. 1). Hydrophobic contact is maintained by closely packed methyl groups on the β faces of cholates between neighboring chains. Unlike most bile acids,⁸ however, the hydrophobic layers are discontinuous along the *c* axis. This is the direct result of alternating α and β faces along the chains (which is likely caused by strong interactions between the amine and the carboxyl group and the β orientation of the amine). The hydrophobic contact is continuous along the *a* axis, forming multiple hydrophobic 'belts' in this direction. Hydrophilic region is located around the amine/carboxyl pair and the two hydroxyl groups O(7) and O(12) of another cholate molecule.

There are four cholates and 16 methanol molecules in one unit cell. This guest/host ratio (4/1) is unusually high for bile acid inclusion compounds. For example, cholic acid (1) only incorporates one or two methanol in its crystal.^{16–18} Deoxycholic acid does not form inclusion compounds with simple alcohols. In fact, the guest/host ratio in the majority of bile acid inclusion compounds is 1:1 or lower.⁸ Figure 2 shows the hydrogen-bonding network formed by the cholates and methanol. Not surprisingly, all the polar atoms (i.e., oxygen and nitrogen) from both the hosts and the guests are involved in hydrogen bonding. Each cholate is hydrogen bonded to six methanol molecules. The carboxylate of cholate A is bonded to the amine of cholate B and to hydroxyl



Figure 1. Two hydrogen-bonded chains of 2 viewed along the crystallographic *a* axis. Hydrogen bonds are shown in dotted lines. Hydrogen atoms are omitted for clarity.



Figure 2. Hydrogen-bonding network within the crystal lattice of 2. Hydrogen atoms and parts of cholates A, B, and D are omitted for clarity. O(M1), O(M2), O(M3), and O(M4) are the oxygen atoms on the four methanol molecules.

O(12) of cholate C through methanol M1. The hydroxyl O(12) of cholate C is then reconnected back to the amine of cholate B through methanol M2. Interestingly, two additional methanol molecules (M3 and M4) sit between closely bonded amine/carboxylate pairs from cholates A and B.

Typical hydrogen-bonded O···O distances range from 2.36 to 3.69 Å, with the latter being the van der Waals cutoff value.¹⁹ Table 1 summarizes the hydrogen-bond distances and bond angles in the crystal structure. The O…O distance in our structure ranges from 2.65 to 2.79 Å, representing medium-strengthened (2.65–2.80 Å) hydrogen bonds according to literature classification.^{19,20} Strong hydrogen bonds tend to have linear geometry. Many of the D-H-A bond angles, however, are smaller than 160°, possibly because the shape of 2 prevents optimal alignment of the donor and the acceptor atoms. Among all the polar atoms, O(7) is the only one that hydrogen bonds strongly to just one other polar atom-the next closest distance between O(7) and another polar atom is 3.30 Å. The O···N distance ranges from 2.70 to 2.86 Å (entries 7-9), similar to the values (2.66-3.12 Å with an average of 2.84 Å) found in amino acids and peptides.²¹

As in most supramolecular systems, the final product formed (crystal structure in this case) represents a minimum in either the global or local energy landscape (corresponding to the thermodynamically controlled or kinetically trapped structures). Multiple intermolecular forces have to work together and balance among themselves to reach the best

Table 1. Hydrogen-bond distances (with H…A distances $<\!\!2.5\,\text{\AA}$) and angles in the solid structure of 2

Entry	Hydrogen bond ^a	D–H (Å)	H…A (Å)	D…A (Å)	D–H–A bond angle (°)
1	O(7C)-H···O(24D)	0.84	2.14	2.785(6)	133.4
2	$O(12C)-H\cdots O(M1)$	0.84	1.99	2.755(7)	150.9
3	$O(M3)-H\cdots O(M4)$	0.84	1.88	2.655(11)	153.6
4	$O(M1)-H\cdots O(24A)$	0.84	1.86	2.660(8)	158.5
5	$O(M2)-H\cdots O(12C)$	0.84	1.82	2.653(8)	171.0
6	$O(M4)-H\cdots O(25D)$	0.84	1.83	2.660(10)	168.2
7	$N(3B)-H\cdots O(M2)$	0.91	1.82	2.700(9)	162.5
8	N(3B)-H···O(25A)	0.91	2.02	2.831(8)	147.6
9	$N(3B)-H\cdots O(M3)$	0.91	2.06	2.855(10)	145.5

^a See Figure 2 for atom numbering. A, B, C, and D are the four labeled cholates. M1, M2, M3, and M4 are the four labeled methanol molecules. compromise (i.e., to obtain at least a local energy minimum) in a crystal structure. In typical bile acid inclusion compounds, the most important interactions are hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic interactions.⁸ Since all hydrogen bonds (O–H…O) are of similar nature, no one can dominate in a bile acid that is functionalized only with hydroxyl and carboxylic acid groups. Under such a circumstance, the molecules have many ways of optimization and can form tightly packed structures fairly easily. This probably explains why bile acid inclusion compounds rarely incorporate more than one or two guest per host even for small guests like methanol.

In the current structure, however, the ammonium-carboxylate is the dominant force. In fact, charge-assisted hydrogen bonds are well known to be stronger than neutral ones^{20,22,23} and are, therefore, generally maintained in the solid state. Görbitz surveyed 749 amino acids and peptides and found that ammonium carboxyl is always maintained despite the presence of many other hydrogen-bond donors and acceptors in the structures.²¹ Aakeröy and co-workers had the same observation in a series of substituted benzylammonium benzoate derivatives.²⁴ Presence of a dominant force puts a severe constraint on the number of possible ways to optimize the structures. The price of maintaining a particular interaction is to sacrifice other hydrogen bonds and/or close packing of the molecules. Therefore, it should be much easier to incorporate a larger number of guests in such a system.

The crystal structure has channels along the *a* axis (Fig. 3). These channels are fairly hydrophobic except at the corners where the polar atoms are clustered. They are nearly triangular in shape and are fairly large in size: the shorter edge is about 5 Å and the longer ones roughly 7 Å in length. Three (M1, M3, and M4) of the methanol molecules are located within the channels and are connected to the 'wall' through hydrogen bonds. All three of them have their methyl groups pointing to the hydrophobic side of the wall. M1 has lower mobility because it is bonded to the wall via two connections (see also Fig. 2). M3 and M4, on the other hand, are interconnected to each other and are hydrogen bonded to the wall only through a one-point contact. As a result, they have the largest thermal motions among all the atoms, presumably because they can move up and down easily without significantly changing the hydrogen-bonding network. The fourth



Figure 3. Space filling models of crystal structure of 2 viewed along the crystallographic *a* axis (carbon and hydrogen shown in light gray; oxygen and nitrogen shown in black). Methanol molecules are omitted to show the channels.

methanol (M2) is located in the hydrophilic region in between the carboxyl, amine, and hydroxyl O(7). It is tightly held in a narrow space, which explains the smallest thermal motion observed for this methanol among all the solvents.

3. Conclusions

Ammonium-carboxylate interaction is maintained in the crystal structure of 3β -amino- 7α , 12α -dihydroxycholan-24oic acid (**2**). Combination of a dominant hydrogen-bonding interaction with shape awkwardness of the steroid backbone is probably responsible for incorporation of an unusually large number of guest molecules in the inclusion compound. Such a feature can be very useful in preparing inclusion compounds with high loading capacities. Another potentially beneficial feature of **2** as a supramolecular host is its low solubility in a range of polar and nonpolar solvents. This could be useful in reversible incorporation and release of guest molecules for separation and chemical reactions.^{9,10}

Bile acid inclusion compounds occupy a unique position in the field of crystal engineering. They have multiple polar groups to stabilize the crystal lattice, facial amphiphilicity allowing incorporation of both hydrophilic and hydrophobic guests, chirality for enantiomeric and/or diastereomeric selectivity, and awkward shapes to avoid close packing. Many systematic modifications on the basic structures have been performed including variation on the number and the orientation of hydroxyl groups, on the type of functionality (e.g., acid, ester, amide, alcohol) at the C24 carbon, and the length of the carboxy tail.8 In contrast, aminoderived cholates have received little or no attention in their inclusion abilities. Since charge-assisted hydrogen bonds are commonly used to rationally design molecular solids,^{22,23} amino-derived bile acids as a group may become highly valuable host compounds for crystal engineering.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

Anhydrous tetrahydrofuran (THF) was dried by passage through a column of activated alumina under compressed

nitrogen. All reagents and solvents were of A.C.S. certified grade or higher, and were used as received from commercial suppliers. All glassware and syringes were dried in an oven at least overnight prior to use. All Routine ¹H spectra were recorded on a Varian VXR-300 and VXR-400 spectrometer.

4.2. Synthesis

4.2.1. 3β-(4-Methylphenyl)sulfonyloxy-7α,12α-dihydroxycholan-24-oic acid methyl ester (4). This compound was prepared according to adopted literature procedures.^{14,25} Methyl cholate 3 (3.03 g, 7.17 mmol) was dissolved in anhydrous pyridine (20 mL). Toluenesulfonyl chloride (1.95 g, 10.79 mmol) was added under N₂. The reaction mixture was stirred for 4 h at 50 °C. Solvent was removed in vacuo. The residue was dissolved in ethyl acetate (50 mL), washed with 2 N HCl (50 mL) and water (2×50 mL), dried with MgSO₄, and concentrated in vacuo to give a white powder (3.58 g, 6.21 mmol, 87% yield). This material was generally used in the next step without further purification. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 400 MHz, δ) 7.74 (d, 2H, *J*=8.4 Hz), 7.42 (d, 2H, *J*=8.4 Hz), 4.21 (m, 1H), 3.71 (s, 1H), 3.52 (s, 3H), 2.58–0.78 (m, 33H), 0.54 (s, 3H).

4.2.2. 3β-Azido-7α,12α-dihydroxycholan-24-oic acid methyl ester (5). This compound was prepared according to literature procedures.¹⁴ Tosylate **4** (3.58 g, 6.21 mmol) and NaN₃ (2.16 g, 33.22 mmol) were dissolved in *N*,*N*'-dimethylpropyleneurea (DMPU, 20 mL). The reaction mixture was stirred for 12 h at 60 °C. Water (100 mL) was added. The precipitate was collected by filtration and washed with water (2×50 mL). The residue was purified with column chromatography over silica gel using ethyl acetate/hexane (1/4) as the eluent to give a white powder (2.05 g, 4.59 mmol, 74% yield). ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆, 400 MHz, δ) 3.95 (br s, 1H), 3.73 (br s, 1H), 3.57 (br s, 1H), 3.53 (s, 3H), 2.58 (m, 1H), 2.32–0.73 (m, 29H), 0.54 (s, 3H).

4.2.3. 3β-Amino-7α,12α-dihydroxycholan-24-oic acid methyl ester (6). This compound was prepared according to literature procedures.¹⁴ Azide ester **5** (203 mg, 0.459 mmol) and PPh₃ (168 mg, 0.641 mmol) were dissolved in THF (5 mL) and water (0.3 mL). The reaction mixture was heated to reflux for 12 h. Solvent was removed in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography over silica gel using first ethyl acetate/hexane (4/1) and then methanol/triethylamine (50/1) as the eluents to give a white solid (135 mg, 0.321 mmol, 70% yield). Mp 225–230 °C dec. ¹H NMR (CD₃OD, 400 MHz, δ) 3.94 (br s, 1H), 3.80 (m, 1H), 3.64 (s, 3H), 3.09 (s, 1H), 2.57 (m, 1H), 2.42–2.11 (m, 3H), 1.96–0.91 (m, 26H), 0.71 (s, 3H).

4.2.4. 3β-Amino-7α,12α-dihydroxycholan-24-oic acid (2). This compound was prepared according to adopted literature procedures.²⁶ LiOH (2 M, 5 mL) was added to the solution of compound 5 (135 mg, 0.321 mmol) in methanol (10 mL). The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 21 h. HCl (2 N) was added until pH=7–8. Solvent was removed in vacuo. Residue was purified by column chromatography using MeOH/triethylamine (50/1) as eluent to give white solid (121 mg, 0.298 mmol, 93% yield). Mp 240–245 °C dec. ¹H NMR (CD₃OD/D₂O=1/1, 400 MHz, δ) 3.59 (s, 1H), 3.26 (s, 1H), 2.00–0.75 (m, 30H), 0.52 (s, 3H).

4.3. X-ray crystallography

A colorless small solvent dependent crystal $(0.25 \times$ 0.18×0.13 mm³) was covered with epoxy glue and immediately mounted and centered in the stream of cold nitrogen. The crystal evaluation and data collection were performed on a Bruker CCD-1000 diffractometer at 193 K, Mo Ka $(\lambda = 0.71073 \text{ Å})$ radiation, detector to crystal distance of 5.03 cm. The data were collected using the full sphere routine $(0.3^{\circ} \text{ scans in } \omega, 30 \text{ s per frame})$. This dataset was corrected for Lorentz and polarization effects. The absorption correction was based on fitting a function to the empirical transmission surface as sampled by multiple equivalent measurements²⁷ using SADABS software.²⁸ The structure was solved using direct methods and was refined in fullmatrix anisotropic approximation for all nonhydrogen atoms. All hydrogen atoms were placed in the structure factor calculation at idealized positions and were allowed to ride on the neighboring atoms with relative isotropic displacement coefficients.

The crystals of **2** are orthorhombic, $C_{24}H_{41}NO_4 \times 4(CH_4O)$, space group $P2_12_12_1$; at 193(2) K, a=7.606(2), b=13.516(4), c=29.156(8) Å, V=2997.2(14) Å³, Z=4, M=535.75, $D_{calcd}=1.187$ Mg m⁻³, $\mu=0.085$ mm⁻¹, F(000)=1184, R1=0.0814, wR2=0.2189 (data/parameters=2819/ 348), GOF=1.085.

Crystallographic data (excluding structure factors) for the structures in this paper have been deposited with the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre as supplementary publication numbers CCDC 600390 copies of the data can be obtained, free of charge, on application to CCDC, 12 Union Road, Cambridge CB2 1EZ, UK [fax: +44 1223 336033 or e-mail: deposit@ccdc.cam.ac.uk].

References and notes

1. For some examples of supramolecular systems constructed from cholic acid, see: (a) Davis, A. P.; Bonar-Law, R. P.; Sanders, J. K. M. Comprehensive Supramolecular Chemistry; Atwood, J. L., Davis, J. E. D., MacNicol, D. D., Vögtle, F., Eds.; Pergamon: New York, NY, 1996; Vol. 4, Chapter 7, and references therein; (b) Li, Y.; Dias, J. R. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 283-304, and references therein; (c) Maitra, U. Curr. Sci. 1996, 71, 617-624; (d) Smith, B. D.; Lambert, T. N. Chem. Commun. 2003, 2261-2268, and references therein; (e) Davis, A. P.; Joos, J.-B. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2003, 240, 143-156, and references therein; (f) Burrows, C. J.; Sauter, R. A. J. Inclusion. Phenom. 1987, 5, 117-121; (g) Janout, V.; Lanier, M.; Regen, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 1573-1574; (h) Ariga, K.; Terasaka, Y.; Sakai, D.; Tsuji, H.; Kikuchi, J.-I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7835-7836; (i) Werner, F.; Schneider, H.-J. J. Inclusion Phenom. Macro. Chem. 2001, 41, 37-40; (j) Yoshino, N.; Satake, A.; Kobuke, Y. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 457-459; (k) Zhao, Y.; Zhong, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127. 17894-17901.

- (a) Janout, V.; Lanier, M.; Regen, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 1573–1574; (b) Janout, V.; Lanier, M.; Regen, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 640–647; (c) Janout, V.; Di Giorgio, C.; Regen, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 2671–2672; (d) Janout, V.; Zhang, L.-h.; Staina, I. V.; Di Giorgio, C.; Regen, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 5401–5406; (e) Janout, V.; Jing, B.; Staina, I. V.; Regen, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 4436–4437; (f) Jing, B.; Janout, V.; Herold, B. C.; Klotman, M. E.; Heald, T.; Regen, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 15930–15931.
- (a) Ariga, K.; Terasaka, Y.; Sakai, D.; Tsuji, H.; Kikuchi, J.-I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7835–7836; (b) Ariga, K.; Nakanishi, T.; Terasaka, Y.; Tsuji, H.; Sakai, D.; Kikuchi, J.-I. Langmuir 2005, 21, 976–981.
- 4. Ghosh, S.; Maitra, U. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 399-402.
- 5. For other examples of facial amphiphiles, see: (a) Stein, T. M.; Gellman, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 3943-3950; (b) Cheng, Y.; Ho, D. M.; Gottlieb, C. R.; Kahne, D.; Bruck, M. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7319-7320; (c) Venkatesan, P.; Cheng, Y.; Kahne, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 6955-6956; (d) McQuade, D. T.; Barrett, D. G.; Desper, J. M.; Hayashi, R. K.; Gellman, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 4862-4869; (e) Broderick, S.; Davis, A. P.; Williams, R. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 6083-6086; (f) Isaacs, L.; Witt, D.; Fettinger, J. C. Chem. Commun. 1999, 2549-2550; (g) Taotafa, U.; McMullin, D. B.; Lee, S. C.; Hansen, L. D.; Savage, P. B. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 4117-4120; (h) Arnt, L.; Tew, G. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 7664-7665; (i) Willemen, H. M.; Marcelis, A. T. M.; Sudhölter, E. J. R. Langmuir 2003, 19, 2588-2591; (j) Elemans, J. A. A. W.; Slangen, R. R. J.; Rowan, A. E.; Nolte, R. J. M. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9040-9049; (k) Zhong, Z.; Yan, J.; Zhao, Y. Langmuir 2005, 21, 6235-6239; (1) Menger, F. M.; Sorrells, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 4960-4961.
- 6. (a) Ryu, E.-H.; Zhao, Y. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3187–3189; (b) Zhao, Y.; Ryu, E.-H. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 7585–7591.
- 7. Zhao, Y.; Zhong, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 17894–17901.
- For two reviews, see: (a) Miyata, M.; Sada, K. Comprehensive Supramolecular Chemistry; Atwood, J. L., Davis, J. E. D., MacNicol, D. D., Vögtle, F., Eds.; Elsevier: Oxford, 1996; Vol. 6, Chapter 6; (b) Miyata, M.; Sada, K.; Yoswathananont, N. Encyclopedia of Supramolecular Chemistry; Atwood, J. L., Steed, J. W., Eds.; Marcel Dekker: New York, NY, 2004; p 441.
- (a) Yoswathananont, N.; Miyata, Mi.; Nakano, K.; Sada, K. Separation of Isomers and Enantiomers by Bile Acid Derivatives. In *Separations and Reactions in Organic Supramolecular Chemistry*; Toda, F., Bishop, R., Eds.; Wiley: Hoboken, NJ, 2004; pp 87–122; (b) Miyata, M.; Shibakami, M.; Takemoto, K. *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.* 1988, 655–656; (c) Kato, K.; Aburaya, K.; Miyake, Y.; Sada, K.; Tohnai, N.; Miyata, M. *Chem. Commun.* 2003, 2872–2873.
- For a recent review, see: Bortolini, O.; Fantin, G.; Fogagnolo, M. *Chirality* 2005, 17, 121–130 and references therein.
- 11. Herndon, W. C. J. Chem. Educ. 1967, 44, 724-728.
- Miyata, M.; Shibakami, M.; Chirachanchai, S.; Takemoto, K.; Kasai, N.; Miki, K. *Nature* **1990**, *343*, 446–447.
- Nakano, K.; Sada, K.; Nakagawa, K.; Aburaya, K.; Yoswathananont, N.; Tohnai, N.; Miyata, M. *Chem.—Eur. J.* 2005, 11, 1725–1733.
- 14. Anelli, P. L.; Lattuada, L.; Uggeri, F. Synth. Commun. 1998, 28, 109–117.

- 15. Kato, K.; Inoue, K.; Tohnai, N.; Miyata, M. J. Inclusion Phenom. Macrocyc. Chem. 2004, 48, 61–67.
- Johnson, P. L.; Schaefer, J. P. Acta Crystallogr. 1972, B28, 3083–3088.
- 17. Jones, E. L.; Nassimbeni, L. R. Acta Crystallogr. **1990**, *B46*, 399–405.
- Miyata, M.; Shibakami, M.; Goonewardena, W.; Takemoto, K. Chem. Lett. 1987, 605–608.
- (a) Speakman, J. C. Struct. Bonding 1972, 12, 141–199; (b) Novak, A. Struct. Bonding 1974, 18, 177–216; (c) Emsley, J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1980, 9, 91–124; (d) Gilli, G. Fundamentals of Crystallography. Giacovazzo, C., Ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 1992, Chapter 7.
- 20. Gilli, P.; Bertolasi, V.; Ferretti, V.; Gilli, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1994**, *116*, 909–915.

- 21. Görbitz, C. H. Acta Crystallogr. 1989, B45, 390-395.
- Aakeröy, C. B.; Seddon, K. R. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1993, 22, 397–407.
- 23. Ward, M. D. Chem. Commun. 2005, 5838-5842.
- Aakeröy, C. B.; Beatty, A. M.; Lorimer, K. R. Struct. Chem. 1999, 10, 229–242.
- Lida, T.; Shinohara, T.; Momose, T.; Tamura, T.; Matsumoto, T.; Nambara, T.; Chang, F. C. *Synthesis* 1986, *12*, 998–1004.
- Schneider, S.; Schramm, U.; Schreyer, A.; Buscher, H.-P.; Gerok, W.; Kurz, G. J. Lipid Res. 1991, 32, 1755–1767.
- 27. Blessing, R. H. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, A51, 33-38.
- All software and sources of the scattering factors are contained in the SHELXTL (version 5.1) program library (G. Sheldrick, Bruker Analytical X-ray Systems, Madison, WI).



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6814-6821

Tetrahedron

Diarylethenes with intramolecular donor–acceptor structures for photo-induced electrochemical change

Eunkyoung Kim,^{a,*} Miyoung Kim^b and Kyongtae Kim^b

^aDepartment of Chemical Engineering, Yonsei University, 134 Sinchon-dong, Seodaemun-gu, 120-749 Seoul, Korea ^bSchool of Chemistry and Molecular Engineering, Seoul National University, Sillim-dong, Gwanak-gu, 151-742 Seoul, Korea

> Received 4 March 2006; revised 26 April 2006; accepted 28 April 2006 Available online 26 May 2006

Abstract—Diarylethenes with donor–acceptor groups were synthesized to induce electrochemical switching by light. Photoisomerization was induced by 1,2-bis(2-methyl-1-benzo[*b*]thiophen-3-yl)perfluorocyclopentene (BTF, 1) unit, while the 3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene (T) and nitro (N) groups were directly connected to BTF, to extend π -electron delocalization. Spectral change to a longer wavelength through photochromism was significant in the donor–acceptor structures (6), accompanied by an increase in the molar absorption coefficients, than those of the unsubstituted BTF (1) or the BTF substituted with only acceptor group (2c and 3c). A significant peak shift toward lower redox energy was observed when the molecules were converted from an open isomer to a closed isomer. The plot of the reduction potentials (($E_{1/2}^{red}$, V vs Ag/AgCl) vs LUMO energy eV) for the diarylethenes indicates that the reduction potential is strongly dependent on the nature of the substituents around the diarylethene unit. When 6 was applied to a photocell of Au/PC/ITO glass, in which PC is the polystyrene containing 6, it became possible to switch the conductivity of the cell through the film by UV–vis irradiation, as estimated by the I–V plot on a photocell. The conductivity of the cell exposed to UV light was three times larger than that of the cell exposed to visible light, and 10 times larger than that of the cell containing 3, indicating the importance of the push–pull structure for π -electron connectivity through the donor–BTF–acceptor.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Light-induced reversible transformations of physical properties of two isomers are attracting strong interest in molecular switching.¹ In particular, the photochromic conversion of diarylethene, stimulated by irradiation with light at an appropriate wavelength,^{2–8} makes it possible to switch the properties of molecules not only in electronic absorption but also for various physical and chemical properties, such as geometrical structure, refractive index, dielectric constant, and oxidation–reduction potential.^{8–12} The most remarkable difference between diarylethene isomers is that the π -system of two aryl rings are separated in the open-ring isomer, whereas they are connected throughout the molecule in the closed-ring isomer. Therefore, any π -electron perturbation on the two aryl rings can modify the electrical switching properties arising from the interaction of the aryl rings through the conjugated pathway.

The diarylethenes with heterocyclic aryl rings have high application potentials due to additional characteristics, namely, the fatigue-resistant property and thermal irreversibility.^{13–17} The coloration–decoloration cycle of benzothiophene derivatives such as BTF (**1**, Eq. 1) could be repeated more than 10⁴ times while the thermally irreversible photochromic performance is kept in a solution.^{13,17} Because of these advantages, researches on the optoelectronic application of diarylethene based on **1** are attracting strong interest.^{8–18}



Substitution of the 6,6'-position on the benzothiophene ring of **1** with an electron acceptor and donor group could change the π -electron density and thus, the electronic properties and electrical conductivity of diarylethene through the conjugated pathway. In particular, introduction of the electrondonating and electron-accepting groups to the diarylethene units could stimulate intramolecular charge transfer along the closed isomer. Although many symmetrical diarylethene compounds have been reported, reports on nonsymmetrical derivatives and donor-acceptor structures are rare.^{19–23}

Keywords: Photochromism; Diarylethene; Ring cyclization; Ring opening; Donor–acceptor; Photo-electrical switching.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +82 2 2123 5752; fax: +82 2 361 6401; e-mail: eunkim@yonsei.ac.kr

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.089

This paper reports on the synthesis and photo-induced electrical property change of the 6,6'-substituted nonsymmetrical diarylethenes. The nitro (N) and 3,4-ethylene-dioxythiophene (T) groups were substituted at the 6- and 6'-positions of **1** as the electron acceptor and donor group, respectively.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Synthesis

The known compound, 1,2-bis(2-methyl-1-benzo[*b*]thiophen-3-yl)perfluorocyclopentene (BTF, 1),²⁴ was prepared from the reactions of perfluorocycloalkene with the organolithium compound.^{8a,17} Nitration of 1 with fuming nitric acid yielded 2. Dinitro compound 3 was synthesized using the same procedure used for 2, but with excess nitric acid.^{12,23} Then compound 2 was subjected to iodination with iodine and periodic acid in an acetic acid solution to yield 4. Compound 6 was synthesized as a pale green powder through palladium-catalyzed Stille coupling of 4 with 5²⁵ in the presence of a Pd(PPh₃)₂Cl₂ catalyst (Scheme 1).

The products were confirmed using the spectroscopic method and elementary analysis. The ¹H NMR spectrum

of the unsymmetrical compounds **2**, **4**, and **6** showed four different methyl protons at δ 2.20–2.60, which arose from the two unsymmetric aryl groups with *anti*-parallel and parallel structures. The ratio of the *anti*-parallel structure to the parallel structure was about 65:35, as determined from the peak integration, in a solution (Supplementary data). The FTIR spectra of the nitrated compound (**2**, **3**, and **6**) showed characteristic asymmetric stretching vibration frequencies for the nitro group at 1500 and 1340 cm⁻¹.

2.2. Photochromic properties

Figure 1 shows the UV–vis spectral change upon the photochromic conversion of the diarylethenes in chloroform $(1.0 \times 10^{-5} \text{ M})$ through their exposure to a 365-nm light. A colorless solution that contained the open-ring isomer **20** showed an absorption tail reaching 400 nm. Upon irradiation with UV light, new absorption bands appeared at longer wavelengths, which are ascribed to the closed-ring isomers. Most of the diarylethenes showed very large spectral shifts upon their photoisomerization from the open- to the closed-ring isomers (>6500 cm⁻¹).

In the closed-ring isomers, π -electrons were delocalized throughout the two benzothiophene rings and further



Scheme 1. Synthesis of 6. (1) Acetic anhydride/acetic acid. (2) I₂, H₅IO₆/acetic acid, H₂SO₄, 70 °C. (3) PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂/toluene, reflux, 24 h.



Figure 1. UV-vis spectra of compounds $(1.0 \times 10^{-5} \text{ M})$ in chloroform: (a) before and (b) after irradiation with 365 nm light for 2 min for compound 1 (dotted line), 2 (dashed line), 3 (dash-dotted line), and 6 (solid line).

extended to the donor and acceptor substituents. The absorption spectra of the closed-ring isomers thus depended on the substituents of the benzothiophene rings. The closed-form **2c** showed new bands at 362 nm (3.42 eV, $\varepsilon = 1.7 \times 10^4 \text{ cm}^{-1} \text{ M}^{-1}$) and 552 nm (2.24 eV, $\varepsilon = 7 \times 10^3 \text{ cm}^{-1} \text{ M}^{-1}$). Compared to the unsubstituted diarylethene (1), the absorption bands of 2 were red-shifted in both the open and closed isomers, indicating that the 6-nitro group affected the electronic transition of the diarylethenes. In particular, the red shift in the closed isomer (2c) was more significant than in the open isomer. Thus, compared to the unsubstituted diarylethene, 1c (λ_{max} =534 nm, 2.32 eV, ε =1×10⁴ cm⁻¹ M⁻¹), the electronic transition of 2 was lowered to 0.08 eV in the closed form, in which the π -electrons were delocalized throughout the entire molecule. On the other hand, the ε value was decreased to 70% of 1c. The di-nitrated 3c showed a visible band at a similar position (559 nm) as that of 2c with a similar ε value, indicating that the electronic transition of diarylethene was hardly modified by the second nitro group.

When the T group (3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) was substituted at the 6'-position of the diarylethene, the spectral shift became more significant in the closed form. Thus, **6c** showed an absorption band at 587 nm (2.11 eV, $\varepsilon = 1.9 \times 10^4$ cm⁻¹ M⁻¹), which corresponds to the lowering of the first electronic transition energy of 0.21 and 0.13 eV, compared to that of **2c** and **1c**, respectively. The π -electrons could be delocalized through the electron-donating T group to the electron-accepting nitro group in **6c** with a push–pull structure, which led to significant photo-induced polarization. These results correlate well with the previous observation of dithienyl derivatives.^{26,27} UV–vis spectral data for diarylethenes in this study are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1. UV-vis spectral data for diarylethenes 1, 2, 3, and 6 in chloroform

Compound	$\lambda_{max} \text{ [nm]} (\varepsilon \times 10^3 \text{ [cm}^{-1} \text{ M}^{-1} \text{]})$	Energy (eV)
10	300 (sh) ^a	4.14
1c	534 (10)	2.32
20	300 (18)	4.14
2c	289 (18), 362 (17), 552 (7)	4.29, 3.43, 2.25
30	304 (28)	4.08
3c	288 (23), 367 (14), 559 (7)	4.31, 3.38, 2.22
60	322 (32)	3.85
6c	279 (27), 419 (13), 587 (19)	4.48, 2.96, 2.11

^a Shoulder.

A diarylethene with five-membered heterocyclic rings have two conformations with the two rings in mirror symmetry (parallel conformation) and in C_2 symmetry (*anti*-parallel conformation).^{7,13,28} The population ratio of the parallel to the *anti*-parallel conformations in **2** and **6** was 35:65, from the ¹H NMR study described above. The quantum yields of **2**, **3**, and **6** were determined as 0.34, 0.36, and 0.52, respectively, from the plot of the absorbance against the irradiation time.²⁹ The quantum yields of **6** were close to the maximum value, i.e., almost all the photo-excited *anti*-parallel conformations underwent the cyclization reaction. In other words, the actual quantum yields were close to 1.

On the other hand, the quantum yields of the cycloreversion of **6** dramatically decreased to 0.01 compared to those of **2** (0.07). The cycloreversion quantum yields of the dithienylethenes were reported to be dependent on the π -conjugation length of the aryl groups.³⁰ When the electron conjugative groups were attached to the aryl groups, the quantum yield of the cycloreversion reaction dramatically decreased due to the significant extension of the π -conjugation throughout the diarylethene molecule. Such a long extension of the π -conjugation in the donor–diarylethene–acceptor push– pull structure of **6** could enhance the photo-induced electrical switching between the open and closed isomers, as described below.

2.3. Photochromic electrochemical change

The open form of the nitro-substituted compounds (20 and **60**) showed reduction peaks at -1.0 V in the cyclic voltammogram (CV), as shown in Figure 2. The nitro-thiophene compounds^{31–33} and compound 3^{12} showed reduction potentials at about -1.5 to -1.0 V. Thus, the redox potential at -1 V (vs Ag/AgCl) could be assigned as the redox potential of the nitrated diarylethenes, 20 and 60. The reduction potential of **60** is almost the same as that of **20**, indicating that the electron-donating T group does not affect the reduction process of **60** because it is separated in the open form. In the anodic region, 20 showed only an irreversible peak at >1.5 V, which can be ascribed to the oxidation of the diarylethene unit.³⁴ In general, there were no remarkable oxidation or reduction waves in the region from -2.2 to +1.6 V for o-BTF6 (unmodified) in acetonitrile (0.1 M TBAP) on a platinum electrode (vs Ag/Ag+) using cyclic voltammetry.³⁵ Similarly, no clear oxidation waves for 20 and 30 below 1.5 V were observed.



Figure 2. Cyclic voltammogram of diarylethenes $(1 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M})$ in dichloromethane containing 0.1 M of *n*-Bu₄NClO₄ before (dashed line) and after (solid line) irradiation with 365 nm light for 2 min for (a) **2**, (b) **3**, ¹² and (c) **6**.

On the other hand, the CV of **60** showed a reversible peak at 1.1 V and an irreversible peak at >1.5 V. The oxidation potentials of thiophene-containing molecules are reported as $0.8-1.6 \text{ V}.^{31-33,36}$ Thus, the CV waves of **60** at 1.1 and >1.5 V can be considered as one-electron and two-electron oxidation of diarylethene, respectively. Substituted with the electron-donating T unit, **60** can be oxidized at a lower potential than the unsubstituted analogues.

Interestingly, the CV of the solution that contained **2** after UV irradiation showed a significant current increase plus new redox peaks at -0.82, -0.61, and -0.4 V. It has been reported that the open-ring isomer of BTF does not show redox peaks, although the closed-ring isomer shows quasi-reversible redox potentials at -1.33 and +1.05 V.³⁵ Thus, the new peaks in CV could be ascribed to the reduction process of diarylethene containing the nitro group. The reduction peaks of **3c** shifted toward a positive potential,¹² thus lowering the energy for the reduction processes, possibly due to the additional nitro groups in **3c**, which facilitated the reduction process by the electron-withdrawing N group.

In the CV of **6c**, the reduction peak was observed at -0.84 V and shifted to a more negative potential than did the peaks of **2c** and **3c**, due to the presence of the electron-donating T group. The reduction current for the closed isomers (**2c**, **3c**, and **6c**, formed upon UV exposure) is higher than that of the open isomer because the π -electron conjugation is



Figure 3. Plot of reduction potentials ($E^{red}_{1/2}$, V vs Ag/AgCl) versus LUMO energy (calcd, eV) for the diarylethenes, calculated using AM1 semi-empirical methods. (a) The correlations of the first reduction potential at the -1 V region for both closed and open isomers. (b) The second reduction potential from -0.7 to +0.4 V region of the closed isomers in Figure 2 against the LUMO energy of the corresponding molecules.

extended in the closed isomer to facilitate the electron transport in the closed form.^{12,35}

The addition of electron-donating groups has been reported to lower the oxidation potential, whereas the addition of electron-withdrawing groups has been reported to increase the oxidation potential.³⁷ Analogously, the addition of electron-donating groups will increase the reduction potential of diarylethene. The plot of the reduction potentials $(E_{1/2}^{\text{red}}, \text{V vs})$ Ag/AgCl) versus LUMO energy of the diarylethenes, calculated using AM1 semi-empirical methods, indicates that the reduction potential is indeed strongly dependent on the nature of the substituents around the diarylethene molecular backbone (Fig. 3). The slopes of the plot for the first (Fig. 3a) and second reduction potentials (Fig. 3b) against the LUMO energy of diarylethene were almost identical (0.29 and 0.30, respectively) and indicate the sensitivity of these relationships, which decreases proportionally with decrease in the LUMO energy.

Compared to the reduction, the oxidation potential change through the ring closure was rather small in **2** and **3**. The CV of **6c** showed a new peak at 0.89 V (quasi-reversible) with an irreversible peak at 0.36 V, which arose from the one-electron oxidation of the BTF unit and the reduction of the diarylethene dication generated from the two-electron oxidation of the closed form according to the ECE mechanism, respectively.^{34a} Furthermore, there was a significant current increase in the potential range above 1.5 V from the ring closure reaction upon UV exposure. This indicates that the electron transport becomes facile in the closed form as observed for the reduction current increase described above.

The potential shifts and the decrease in the potential difference between the oxidation and reduction peaks were more significant in **6** compared to those in **2** and **3**, indicating the importance of the push-pull structure for charge transfer. From the calculation using AM1 semi-empirical methods, the HOMO-LUMO energy difference was smallest in **6c** (Table 2), implying that the charge transfer must be faster in **6c** compared to that in others.

2.4. Photo-induced electrochemical switching of a photocell containing diarylethene

The diarylethene compounds in this study were homogeneously dispersed in polystyrene without phase separation to produce transparent polymer composite films. A photocell

Table 2. Electrochemical data for open- and closed-form diarylethenes obtained before and after UV irradiation, respectively

Sample	$E_{\rm red} \left(\Delta E\right)^{\rm a} \left({\rm V}\right)$	$E_{\rm ox}$ (V)	HOMO (eV) ^b	LUMO (eV) ^b	Δ (LUMO-HOMO) (eV)
20	-1.07 (0.33)	>1.5 ^c	-8.92	-1.54	7.38
2c	-0.82(0.15), -0.61(0.07), -0.4(0.08)	>1.5	-8.72	-2.22	6.5
30	-1.03(0.28)	>1.5 ^c	-9.508	-1.74	7.77
3c	-0.75(0.11), -0.49(0.18), -0.37(0.21)	>1.5	-9.12	-2.65	6.47
60	-1.03(0.12)	$0.92 (0.12), 1.1,^{d} > 1.5^{c}$	-8.64	-1.51	7.13
6c	-0.84 (0.17), -0.64 (0.07), -0.36°	$0.89 (0.1), 1.1,^{d} > 1.5^{c}$	-8.58	-2.18	6.4

^a Anodic-cathodic peak separation.

^b Calculated using the AM1 semi-empirical method. Open and closed isomers are represented as **o** and **c**, formed before (dark) and after UV exposure, respectively.

^c Irreversible process.

^d Quasi-reversible process.

was fabricated with three layers of Au/PC/ITO glass, in which 'PC' represents the photochromic layer of **6** dispersed in a polystyrene binder. The PC layer was prepared from the solution of **6** (10 or 30 wt %) and polystyrene in a mixture of chloroform and trichloroethene (3:1, w/w). The cathode layer (Au) was in turn deposited on the photochromic film using the thermal evaporation method under the pressure of 3×10^{-6} Torr. The thickness of the Au layer and the photochromic layer were 40 and 220 nm, respectively, with an

Glass

ITO

Figure 4. Structure of the thin-film photocell consisting of the Au/photochromic layer (diarylethene in polystyrene)/ITO.

Au

Photochromic

Layer

active area of 0.02 cm^2 (Fig. 4), and the prepared cell showed a color change from the UV and visible light sources (Fig. 5). Compared to the solution spectra, the band centered at 400 nm slightly changed due to the overlapping of the absorption tail with the binder.

The applied voltage dependence of the electric current is shown in Figure 6. It is important to note that the slope of the current–voltage (I–V) curve for the cell containing **6** significantly increased when the cell was irradiated with UV light. The current at 2 V for the colored cell, which contained closed form of **6**, was three times larger than that of the bleached cell. This demonstrates that the π -electron conjugation between the donor T and the acceptor N group in **6c** was extended, resulting in a higher current response than in the open form, in which such π -conjugation was limited. In particular, the donor–acceptor substituents could allow the electron push–pull mechanism in the closed form, in which the π -electron conjugation from the donor group through the diarylethene and then to the acceptor unit can be extended in the closed form, as schematically shown below.



Figure 5. Spectral change in the photocell containing 6 (structured as in Fig. 4) through UV–vis irradiation. (a) UV exposure for 3, 20, 40, 60, 80, and 100 s. (b) Visible light (532 nm laser) exposure for 0, 60, 120, and 180 s.



Figure 6. I–V plot for the cell containing (a) PS (90)/6 (10) and (b) PS (70)/6 (30) in the potentials between -2 and +2 V, before (dashed) and after (solid line) and (c) PS (70)/6 (30) in the potentials between -5 and +5 V irradiation with 365 nm light, in dark (dashed) and after UV (solid), and then after visible light excitation (dotted line).

The conductivity was determined from the linear region of the I–V plot as 0.54×10^{-9} and 1.60×10^{-9} S cm⁻¹ for the cell containing 10 wt % of **6**, before and after UV irradiation, respectively. The I–V curve was reversibly returned to the dark state upon irradiation with a visible light, allowing conductivity modulation through alternative irradiation with UV and visible lights. The switching efficiency, as defined by the ratio of the conductivities of the cells irradiated with UV and visible lights, was 2.9.

The conductivities of the cells increased to 1.51×10^{-9} and 3.52×10^{-9} S cm⁻¹ before and after UV irradiation, respectively, when the content of **6** increased from 10 to 30 wt %in the PC layer. This shows that the conductivity of the photocell originated from the diarylethene molecules, which can act as active charge carriers. Similar I-V experiments were carried out on a photocell containing 3(10 wt %)in PS). The conductivity of the colored cell of **3** was lower than 10^{-10} S cm⁻¹. Moreover, the conductivity of the colored cell of 1 was 10^{-11} S cm^{-1.38} The conductivity of the PS binder without diarylethene was lower than $10^{-12} \,\mathrm{S \, cm^{-1}}^{.37}$ This implies that the charge transport must be facilitated in a donor-acceptor structure such as 6 that can push-pull the carrier during the transport between the molecules. In a doped system, in which a nonconductive binder (PS) is surrounded by diarylethene compounds, the content of the diarylethene and the donor-acceptor structure are important in carrier transport. Typically, carrier transport occurs through hopping of the charge carriers between active sites, and thus, is facilitated when the distance between the donor and the acceptor becomes shorter with the increased contents of the active carrier.

Although the I–V curve was reversible in the potentials' cycle between -2 and +2 V, it became less stable when the potential range was wider (from -5 to +5). There is a large current increase (40 mA at 5 V) by the UV excitation in the high potential range, however, the current drop by the visible light excitation was not completely overlapped to that of the dark and the I–V curve (visible in Fig. 6c) showed some hysteresis, possibly due to electrochemical decomposition at high voltage. Thus, working voltage for a stable switching effect of the photocell should be low (-2 to +2 V).

Such a reversible light-induced control of the electroactivity by means of the photoisomerization in a polymeric film allows the application of the functionalized electrode as an active interface to photostimulate selective electrochemical transformations: photon-mode actuation, electrochemical, and photochemical storage of information,⁴⁰ and in photoelectrode patterning for biological and nonbiological systems.^{38,41} Furthermore, conductivity switching from an organic photochromic film could be utilized for injection control at the metal–organic interface of the photon mode.

3. Conclusions

A new diarylethene, with T and N as the electron donor and acceptor group, respectively, was synthesized to achieve photochromic and electrochemical switching with UV and visible light irradiation. The donor–acceptor structure **6**

showed a significant shift in electronic transition, which resulted in spectral and redox potential changes. The closed form of **6**, generated through UV exposure, showed a higher current-to-voltage response, which resulted in a higher conductivity than that of the open form. Thus, conductivity switching was possible with UV and visible light switching. Such conductivity switching from an organic photochromic film opens up a new application potential in injection control at the metal–organic interface of the photon mode.

4. Experimental

4.1. General methodology

Methylene chloride and toluene were distilled from phosphorus pentoxide prior to use, and tetra-n-butylammonium perchlorate (TBAP) was purchased from TCI. The ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded at 300 and 75 MHz, respectively, in a CDCl₃ solution that contained Me₄Si as an internal standard with Bruker. IR spectra were recorded on a Shimadzu 540 spectrophotometer as KBr or film on KBr plates. An elemental analysis was performed by the Korea Basic Science Center. The FAB mass spectra were determined by the National Center for Inter-University Research Facilities. Column chromatography was performed using silica gel (200-400 mesh, Merck). All reactions were monitored for completion using thin-layer chromatography (TLC), which was performed using a precoated silica gel plate (Merck 60 F₂₄₅), and detection was performed with the aid of UV light. Melting points were measured on the Fisher-Jones melting point apparatus and uncorrected. The UV-vis spectra were recorded for chloroform solutions with a Jasco V-530 UV-vis spectrophotometer. Molar absorption coefficients were experimentally determined from the absorbance change at different concentrations using Lambert-Beer's law. The electrochemical properties were studied using cyclic voltammetry (CV) on a BAS 100B electrochemical analyzer (BAS, Inc.). The measurement was carried out in 10 mL methylene chloride solution that contained tetra-n-butylammonium perchlorate (TBAP, 0.1 M, 0.341 g) as a supporting electrolyte. Each of the photochromic compounds was dissolved under an argon atmosphere. The condition was composed of a threeelectrode assembly equipped with a platinum working electrode, a platinum coil as the counter electrode, and an Ag/ AgCl electrode as the reference electrode. Measurements were examined in a glass cell at room temperature. The cell was measured before and after it was irradiated with UV light and after it was blenched with visible light. The scan rate was 200 mV sec^{-1} and the voltage range was -1.5 to +1.5 V. The current-voltage (I–V) properties were measured using Agilent E5272A 2-Channel (High-power and Medium-power) Source/Monitor Units of Agilent Technologies. The measurement range was -2.0 to +2.0 V. For the study of I-V character photochromic compound (10, 30 wt %) and polystyrene (90, 70 wt %, Polysciences, Inc., 50,000 Mw) in chloroform, and the 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane solution was spin-coated on the ITO glass. Then the coated glass film was dried in an oven at 70 °C for more than 12 h, and gold was evaporated at a higher temperature. The thickness of the photochromic material was 220 nm and of gold was 40 nm. For coloration, the film

was exposed to UV light (365 nm, 0.5 mW) for 10 min, after which its properties (I–V curve, UV) were examined. After the film was bleached with light (532 nm, 2.0 mW), its properties were again investigated. The HOMO and LUMO energy of each compound were calculated using the AM1 semi-empirical method, as implemented in HyperChem ver. $7.0.^{39}$

4.1.1. 1-[6-Nitro-2-methyl-1-benzothiophen-3-yl]-2-(2'methyl-1'-benzothiophen-3'-yl)hexafluorocyclopentene (2). To a solution of 30 mL acetic acid, 3 mL acetic anhydride was added with 1 (1 g, 2.13 mmol) at 10 °C. Fuming nitrate (1 mL) was slowly added to the solution, while the temperature was kept below 10 °C. The mixture was stirred overnight at room temperature, after which cold water was added to it. The solution was neutralized and extracted with ethyl acetate $(3 \times 30 \text{ mL})$. The organic layer was washed with 30 mL water, dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and evaporated. The residue was purified using column chromatography on a silica gel using hexane-ethyl acetate (5:1) as the eluent to produce 2 [yield: 75%; parallel (p):anti-parallel (ap)=40:60; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 2.21 (s, apMe, 2H), 2.31 (s, apMe, 2H), 2.49 (s, pMe, 1H), 2.58 (s, pMe, 1H), 7.20–7.76 (m, ArH, 5H), 8.10 (d, J=7 Hz, pArH, 0.4H), 8.26 (d, J=7 Hz, apArH, 0.6H), 8.54 (s, pArH, 0.4H), 8.64 (s, apArH, 0.6H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz) δ 15.2, 15.8, 118.4, 118.6, 119.8, 120.0, 122.0, 122.3, 124.7, 124.9, 138.0, 142.6, 144.7]. HRMS (FAB) m/z (MH+) calcd for $C_{23}H_{14}F_6NO_2S_2$: 514.0370; obsd: 514.0369.

4.1.2. 1.2-Bis(2-methyl-6-nitro-1-benzothiophen-3-yl)perfluorocyclopentene (3).^{12,23} To a solution of acetic acid (30 mL), acetic anhydride (3 mL) was added with 1 (1 g, 2.13 mmol) at 10 °C. Fuming nitrate (3 mL) was slowly added to the solution, while the temperature was kept below 10 °C. The mixture was stirred overnight at room temperature, after which cold water was added to it. The solution was neutralized and extracted with ethyl acetate $(3 \times 30 \text{ mL})$. The organic layer was washed with water (30 mL), dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and evaporated. The residue was purified using column chromatography on a silica gel with hexane-ethyl acetate (5:1) as the eluent to produce 3 [yield= 75%; parallel (p):anti-parallel (ap) ratio=40:60; ¹H NMR $(CDCl_3, 300 \text{ MHz}) \delta 2.53 \text{ (s, apMe, 3.6H)}, 2.59 \text{ (s, pMe, 3.$ 2.4H), 7.62 (d, J=9 Hz, pArH, 0.8H), 7.74 (d, J=9 Hz, pArH, 1.2H), 8.08 (d, J=9 Hz, apArH, 1.2H), 8.11 (d, J= ⁹ Hz, apArH, 0.8H), 8.58 (d, J=2 Hz, pArH, 0.8H), 8.67 (d, J=2 Hz, apArH, 1.2H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz) δ 14.8, 15.2, 113.0, 113.3, 114.8, 117.1, 133.0, 137.0, 140.0, 144.3, 144.7].

4.1.3. 1-(6-Nitro-2-methyl-1-benzothiophen-3-yl)-2-(6'iodo-2'-methyl-1'-benzothiophen-3'-yl)hexafluorocyclopentene (4). Iodine (37 mg, 0.15 mmol) and H_5IO_6 (16 g, 0.07 mmol) were added to a stirred solution of **2** (100 mg, 0.19 mmol) in acetic acid (20 mL), sulfuric acid (1 mL), and water (1.5 mL). The mixture was stirred for 3 h at 70 °C in open air. The reaction mixture was poured into 500 mL of ice water. The organic layer was extracted with methylene chloride (3×30 mL), dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and evaporated. The residue was purified using column chromatography on a silica gel with hexane–ethyl acetate (5:1) as the eluent to produce **4** [yield=85%; parallel (p):*anti*-parallel (ap) ratio=40:60; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 2.20 (s, apMe, 2H), 2.30 (s, apMe, 2H), 2.47 (s, pMe, 1H), 2.56 (s, pMe, 1H), 7.20–8.26 (m, ArH, 5H), 8.57 (s, pArH, 0.4H), 8.64 (s, apArH, 0.6H)].

4.1.4. 2-Tri-butylstannyl-3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene (5). To a solution of 3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene (4.50 g, 320 mmol) and N, N, N', N'-tetramethylethylenediamine (TMEDA) (4.25 g, 370 mmol) in anhydrous diethyl ether (100 mL), a solution of *n*-butyllithium (12.7 mL, 320 mmol, 2.5 M in hexane) was slowly added using a syringe under an argon atmosphere at room temperature. The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 10 min, and then refluxed for 30 min. A pink, milk-like mixture was formed. The mixture was cooled to -25 °C, and tributyltin chloride (10.33 g, 320 mmol) was added slowly to it over 1 h. The reaction mixture was warmed up to room temperature and stirred for 3 h. After it was quenched with saturated sodium chloride solution (50 mL), its organic layer was extracted with diethyl ether $(3 \times 30 \text{ mL})$, dried over MgSO₄, and filtered. Triethylamine (10 mL) was added to the filtrate, and the solvents were evaporated. The residue was purified using column chromatography with hexane on a pre-treated silica gel (silica gel was washed with neat triethylamine, and then with hexane). The solvent was removed in a vacuum and the residue was further purified through vacuum distillation to produce a colorless liquid [yield=68%; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 0.90 (t, J=7 Hz, Me, 9H), 1.10 (m, -CH₂, 6H), 1.34 (m, -CH₂-, 6H), 1.56 (m, -SnCH₂-, 6H), 4.15 (m, -OCH₂, 4H), 6.57 (s, -CH-, 1H)].

4.1.5. 1-[6-(3',4'-Ethylenedioxy)thienyl]-2-methyl-1benzothiophen-3-yl-2-[6'-nitro-2'-methyl-1'-benzothiophen-3'-yl]hexafluorocyclopentene (6). Under an argon atmosphere, 2-tributylstannyl-3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene (27 mg, 0.079 mmol) and 4 (50 mg, 0.079 mmol) were dissolved in toluene (20 mL). To this was added a catalytic amount of dichlorobis(triphenylphosphine)palladium(II) (PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂) (5 mg, 0.028 mmol) and the mixture was refluxed for 24 h. During the reaction, the color changed from yellow to black as Pd⁰ was formed. After the reaction mixture was cooled, it was poured into a saturated sodium chloride solution (50 mL). Then benzene (20 mL) was added to it. The organic layer was extracted with benzene $(3 \times 30 \text{ mL})$, dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and evaporated. The residue was purified using column chromatography on a silica gel with hexane-ethyl acetate (5:1) as the eluent to produce 6 [yield=87%; parallel (p):*anti*-parallel (ap) ratio=35:65; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 2.20 (s, apMe, 2H), 2.32 (s, apMe, 2H), 2.48 (s, pMe, 1H), 2.57 (s, pMe, 1H), 4.26 (m, -OCH₂, 2H), 4.32 (m, -OCH₂, 2H), 6.30 (s, -CH-, 1H), 7.68-8.55 (m, ArH, 6H), 8.64 (s, apArH, 0.4H), 8.65 (s, pArH, 0.6H). HRMS (FAB) m/z (MH+) calcd for C₂₉H₁₈F₆NO₄S₃: 654.0302; obsd: 653.0301].

Acknowledgements

This work was conducted through a financial grant from the Nanotechnology Development Program of the Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) of Korea. The conductivities determined from the I–V plot in Figure 6 (Table S1), and spectra for the characterization of compounds are available upon request. The supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version at, doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.089.

References and notes

- (a) Brown, G. H. *Photochromism*; Wiley-Interscience: New York, NY, 1971; (b) Dürr, H.; Bouas-Laurent, H. *Photochromism: Molecules and Systems*; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1990.
- 2. Tsivgoulis, G. M.; Lehn, J.-M. Adv. Mater. 1997, 9, 627.
- Gilat, S. L.; Kawai, S. H.; Lehn, J.-M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 1011.
- Gilat, S. L.; Kawai, S. H.; Lehn, J.-M. Chem.—Eur. J. 1995, 1, 285.
- (a) Tsivgoulis, G. M.; Lehn, J.-M. Angew. Chem. 1995, 107, 1188; Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 1119; (b) Tsivgoulis, G. M.; Lehn, J.-M. Chem.—Eur. J. 1996, 2, 1399.
- 6. Fernándes-Acebes, A.; Lehn, J.-M. Adv. Mater. 1998, 10, 1519.
- Irie, M.; Sakemura, M.; Okinaka, M.; Uchida, K. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 8305.
- (a) Kim, E.; Choi, Y.-K.; Lee, M.-H. *Macromolecules* 1999, *32*, 4855; (b) Kim, M.-S.; Maruyama, H.; Kawai, T.; Irie, M. *Chem. Mater.* 2003, *15*, 4539; (c) Kim, J.; Song, K.-B.; Park, K.-H.; Lee, H. W.; Kim, E. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* 2002, *41*, 5222; (d) Cho, H.; Kim, E. *Macromolecules* 2002, *35*, 8684; (e) Cho, S. Y.; Yoo, M.; Shin, H.-W.; Ahn, K.-H.; Kim, Y.-R.; Kim, E. *Opt. Mater.* 2003, *21*, 279; (f) Jeong, Y.-C.; Yang, S. I.; Ahn, K.-H.; Kim, E. *Chem. Commun.* 2005, 2503.
- (a) Kawai, T.; Kunitake, T. *Chem. Lett.* **1999**, 905; (b) Tanio, N.; Irie, M. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* **1994**, *33*, 1550; (c) Pu, S.; Yang, T.; Xu, J.; Shen, L.; Li, G.; Xiao, Q.; Chen, B. *Tetrahedron* **2005**, *61*, 6623.
- (a) Ebisawa, F.; Hoshino, M.; Sukegawa, K. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1994**, *65*, 2919; (b) Kang, J.-W.; Kim, J.-S.; Lee, C.-M.; Kim, E.; Kim, J.-J. *Electron. Lett.* **2000**, *36*, 1641; (c) Kang, J.-W.; Kim, J.-S.; Lee, C.-M.; Kim, E.; Kim, J.-J. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2002**, *80*, 1710.
- (a) Lee, H. W.; Kim, E. *Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst.* 2005, *431*, 581;
 (b) Choi, H.; Lee, H. W.; Kang, Y.; Kim, E.; Kang, S. O.; Ko, J. *J. Org. Chem.* 2005, *70*, 8291.
- 12. Kim, M.; Kim, K.; Kim, E. J. Korean Soc. Imaging Sci. 2005, 11, 119.
- 13. Uchida, K.; Nakayama, M.; Irie, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1990, 63, 1311.
- Nakayama, M.; Hayashi, K.; Irie, M. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 2592.
- Nakayama, M.; Hayashi, K.; Irie, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1991, 64, 789.
- 16. Irie, M. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 1685.
- 17. Irie, M.; Uchida, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1998, 71, 985.
- Hanazawa, M.; Sumiya, R.; Horikawa, Y.; Irie, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 206.

- 19. Irie, M. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 1993, 227, 263.
- Irie, M.; Miyatate, O.; Uchida, K.; Takeshi, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 9894.
- (a) Matsuda, K.; Matsuo, M.; Irie, M. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 8799; (b) Uchida, K.; Takata, A.; Saito, M.; Murakami, A.; Nakamura, S.; Irie, M. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2003, 13, 755.
- 22. Frigoli, M.; Mehl, G. H. Chem.-Eur. J. 2004, 10, 5243.
- 23. Kobatake, S.; Yamada, M.; Yamada, T.; Irie, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, *121*, 8450.
- 24. Dixon, S. J. Org. Chem. 1957, 21, 400.
- Sonmez, G.; Meng, H.; Zhang, Q.; Wudl, F. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2003, 13, 726.
- 26. Gilat, S. L.; Kawai, S. H.; Lehn, J.-M. *Chem.—Eur. J.* **1995**, *1*, 275.
- 27. Gilat, S. L.; Kawai, S. H.; Lehn, J.-M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1439.
- 28. Irie, M.; Mohri, M. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 803.
- (a) Mejiritski, A.; Polykarpov, A. Y.; Sarker, A. M.; Neckkers, D. C. J. Photochem. Photobiol. **1997**, 108, 289; (b) Kwon, D.-H.; Shin, H.-W.; Kim, E.; Boo, D. W.; Kim, Y.-R. Chem. Phys. Lett. **2000**, 328, 234.
- Irie, M.; Eriguchi, T.; Takada, T.; Uchida, K. *Tetrahedron* 1997, 53, 214.
- Casado, J.; Pappenfus, T. M.; Miller, L. L.; Mann, K. R.; Orti, E.; Viruela, P. M.; Pou-Amerigo, R.; Hernandez, V.; Lopez-Navarrete, J. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 2524.
- 32. Pappenfus, T. M.; Raff, J. D.; Hukkanen, E. J.; Burney, J. R.; Casado, J.; Drew, S. M.; Miller, L. L.; Mann, K. R. J. Org. *Chem.* **2003**, *67*, 6015.
- Li, G.; Koßmehl, G.; Welzel, H.-P.; Plieth, W.; Zhu, H. Macromol. Chem. Phys. 1998, 199, 2737.
- 34. (a) Guriado, G.; Coudret, C.; Hliwa, M.; Launay, J.-P. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 17445; (b) Browne, W. R.; de Jong, J. J. D.; Kundernac, T.; Walko, M.; Lucas, L. N.; Uchida, K.; van Esch, J. H.; Feringa, B. L. Chem.—Eur. J. 2005, 11, 6414; (c) Browne, W. R.; de Jong, J. J. D.; Kundernac, T.; Walko, M.; Lucas, L. N.; Uchida, K.; van Esch, J. H.; Feringa, B. L. Chem.—Eur. J. 2005, 11, 6430; (d) Moriyama, Y.; Matsuda, K.; Tanifuji, N.; Setsuko, I.; Masahiro, I. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3315.
- 35. Matsuda, K.; Irie, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7195.
- 36. Peters, A.; Branda, N. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 3404.
- Bender, T. P.; Graham, J. F.; Duff, J. M. Chem. Mater. 2001, 13, 4105.
- 38. Kim, E.; Lee, H. J. Mater. Chem. 2006, 16, 1384.
- HyperChem version 7.0. HyperCube: Gainesville, FL. For AM1 references: (a) Dewar, M. J. S.; Zoebisch, E. G.; Healy, E. F.; Stewart, J. J. P. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1985**, *107*, 3902; (b) Dewar, M. J. S.; Dieter, K. M. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1986**, *108*, 8075.
- (a) Tsujioka, T.; Hamada, Y.; Shibata, K.; Taniguchi, A.; Fuyuki, T. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2001**, *78*, 2282; (b) Tsujioka, T.; Shimizu, M.; Ishihara, E. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2005**, *87*, 213506.
- Baron, R.; Onopriyenko, A.; Katz, E.; Lioubashevski, O.; Willner, I.; Wang, S.; Tian, H. *Chem. Commun.*, in press, doi:10.1039/b518378b.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6822-6829

Tetrahedron

Leishmanicidal activity of withajardins and acnistins. An experimental and computational study

Diana Cardona,^a Winston Quiñones,^a Fernando Torres,^a Sara Robledo,^b Iván Darío Vélez,^b Víctor Cruz,^c Rafael Notario^d and Fernando Echeverri^{a,*}

^aGrupo de Química Orgánica de Productos Naturales-SIU, Universidad de Antioquia, PO Box 1226, Medellín, Colombia

^bPrograma de Estudio y Control de Enfermedades Tropicales PECET-SIU Universidad de Antioquia, PO Box 1226,

Medellín, Colombia

^cInstituto de Estructura de la Materia, CSIC, Serrano 113bis, 28006 Madrid, Spain ^dInstituto de Química Física 'Rocasolano', CSIC, Serrano 119, 28006 Madrid, Spain

> Received 22 February 2006; revised 28 April 2006; accepted 28 April 2006 Available online 26 May 2006

Abstract—Several achistins and withajardins were studied in their action against *Leishmania (V) panamensis* amastigotes; leishmanicidal activity and high toxicity were found. The 3D-QSAR analysis reveals certain correlation between bioactivity and some steric and electrostatic characteristics around the A and B rings of the steroidal skeleton; however, the models predict the same effects for both leishmanicidal and toxicity activities.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Leishmaniasis is a protozoal disease with endemic distribution in 88 countries around the world, in particular in America and Asia;¹ about 1,500,000 new cases are reported each year. During the last 50 years the best treatment has been the application of compounds based in pentavalent antimonials; however, protozoal resistance is very frequent and additionally long treatment is required.² Due to the restricted number of available drugs, new compounds from synthetic or natural sources are essential to control this disease. Several classes of natural products have been assayed against Leish*mania* parasites, especially steroids³ (agonists and antagonists of ecdysones), cardiac glycosides, and triterpenoid derivatives.⁴ Recently, leishmanicidal activity was reported in steroidal alkaloids from Holarrhena curtisii⁵ and Dunalia brachycantha.⁶ In this paper, we report the leishmanicidal effect of another type of steroids, withajardins and acnistins. We analyze several structural and electronic properties of these compounds with molecular modeling programs to establish any relationship between the structure and the antiprotozoal activity. Because the activity of these substances is strongly structurally dependent, we have carried out a theoretical study to determine the structural features that may

influence the activity and the interacting sites with a potential target molecule. These theoretical approaches represent a good alternative to improve the pharmacological profile of several types of substances or to develop new molecules based on the information obtained from classical QSAR analyses on the influence that different descriptors of the molecular structure have on the bioactivity.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Leishmanicidal activity

The following differences can be established between the structures of acnistins and withajardins (Fig. 1):

- Achistins have a bicyclic system (five and six members in each one) attached at C17, whereas withajardins have a similar but with six membered rings.
- The stereochemistry of C17-OH is β in acnistins and α in withajardins.
- Withajardins posses an additional C14 α hydroxylation.

However, some compounds have similar substitution patterns in A and B rings so, several relationships between structure–activity can be derived:

(a) Acnistin E, **4**, and withajardin B, **9**, exhibit high leishmanicidal activity against *Leishmania* (V) panamensis

Keywords: Withanolides; Leishmanicidal activity; 3D-QSAR; Cytotoxicity; Lactone.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +57 4 2106595; fax: +57 4 2106565; e-mail: echeveri@quimbaya.udea.edu.co

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.101



Figure 1. Structure of withajardins and acnistins.

amastigote (EC₅₀=1.0 and 1.1 µg/mL, respectively, Table 1); these compounds possesse a 2-en-1-one-system, a 5 β ,6 β -epoxy, and one hydroxyl group in C4. Results are in disagreement to the activity previously reported in withanolides from *D. brachycantha* since 5 β ,6 β -epoxy was less active than 4-deoxy compounds; however, strains used in that experiment besides *L. (L) amazonensis* were *L. (V) braziliensi* and *L. (L) donovani.*⁴ Moreover, 4-deoxy-type compounds were also active (acnistins A, 1, and C, 3) but the acetylation of C4 hydroxy group causes an important reduction in the activity. Therefore, withajardin C, 10, exhibits an EC₅₀ of 12.8 µg/mL versus 1.1 µg/mL in withajardin B, **9**.

(b) Changes in 2-en-1-one system decrease or fully eliminate the activity, e.g., 3-methoxywithajardin A, 8

Table 1. Leishmanicidal activity of withajardins and acnistins

Compound	LC ₅₀ ,	EC ₅₀ ,	SI
	µg/mL (µM)	μg/mL (μM)	(LC ₅₀ /EC ₅₀)
Acnistin A, 1 Acnistin B, 2 Acnistin C, 3 Acnistin E, 4 Acnistin F, 5 Acnistin G, 6 Withajardin A, 7 3-OMe-withajardin A, 8	$\begin{array}{c} 0.27 \ (0.6) \\ 35.5 \ (78.4) \\ 1.7 \ (3.2) \\ 1.0 \ (2.1) \\ 158.5 \ (324.4) \\ 8.5 \ (18.0) \\ 18.4 \ (37.8) \\ 248.0 \ (495.4) \\ 3.8 \ (7.6) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.0 \ (6.4) \\ 54.8 \ (121.2) \\ 2.3 \ (4.9) \\ 1.0 \ (2.1) \\ 76.0 \ (155.5) \\ 7.9 \ (16.7) \\ 30.8 \ (63.3) \\ > 50.0 \\ 11 \ (2.2) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.1 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 1.0 \\ 2.1 \\ 1.1 \\ 0.6 \\ > 5.0 \\ 3.5 \end{array}$
Withajardin C, 10	9.5 (17.4)	12.8 (23.5)	0.8
Glucantime	400.0	6.7	59.7

 EC_{50} : concentration of a compound, which caused a 50% reduction in survival or viability in comparison to identical cultures without this compound. SI=selectivity index, LC_{50}/EC_{50} ; an acceptable value is SI>10.0.

 $(EC_{50}>50 \ \mu g/mL)$. On the other hand, an epoxy compound without C2, C3-double bond (acnistin G, 6) reduces its activity three times compared to the structural analog, acnistin A, **1**.

- (c) Additionally, the 5 β ,6 β -epoxide is essential for activity, because withajardin A, **7**, is a weak leishmanicidal compound. Besides, this group seems to be more important than unsaturated ketone system, since acnistin G, **6**, displays an EC₅₀=7.9 µg/mL. Opening of this group as in acnistin F, **5** (a 4-deoxy-5,6-dihydroxy molecule) causes a total loss of the activity (EC₅₀=76.0 µg/mL).
- (d) The presence of a double bond instead of an epoxide ring in C5 and C6 (withajardin A, 7, EC₅₀=30.8 μg/mL) decreases the activity as well as the formation of an Michael adduct in C3 (3-OMe-withajardin A, 8). Moreover, a conjugated system without epoxide, such as acnistin B, 2, is lacking activity.

Nevertheless, changes in the structure modify the cytotoxicity more than the activity. So, epoxide opening reduces it 600 times, while the activity decreases 25 times only (acnistin F, **5** vs acnistin A, **1**). Additionally, the α , β -unsaturated carbonyl group is less important than epoxide (acnistin G, **6** vs acnistin A, **1**) because the activity was reduced 2.6 times and cytotoxicity was reduced 31 times. In the withajardin series, the presence of a double bond instead of an epoxide reduces toxicity five times (withajardin A, **7** vs withajardin B, **9**), but some leishmanicidal activity is still retained.

Because of these results, it can be supposed that side chain substructure system is not necessary to explain this leishmanicidal activity. To understand the electronic and topological facts involved in leishmanicidal activity, we have carried out a computational analysis as is described below.

2.2. Molecular modeling

From the activity data, a similar leishmanicidal activity in some acnistins and withajardins, specifically acnistins A, 1, E, 4, and C, 3 and withajardin B, 9, can be observed. It can be assumed that the A and B rings in the steroidal substructure should be responsible for the bioactivity. To simplify the treatment in the following QSAR studies, bicyclic part of the molecule attached to C17 was not considered. The 3D-OSAR has been selected as the suitable tool to perform such analysis due to the relative structural rigidity of the steroidal system, which can partially avoid the alignment problem. Currently, this type of analysis is used to improve the pharmacological properties of bioactive compounds and to develop new molecules according to 3D descriptors in QSAR. The structural descriptors used in 3D-QSAR⁷ correspond to three-dimensional fields in the molecular environment, related to a hypothetical receptor-ligand interaction. This type of methodology was selected because it gives an intuitive view on the structure-activity relationship. Also, the information that can be extracted from that relationship is localized in the three-dimensional space occupied by the molecule, facilitating its interpretation. Another positive aspect of 3D-QSAR methodology is the high flexibility in the treatment of the conformational variation in the set of molecules to be studied. The relative rigidity of the steroidal skeleton allows an easy alignment of the structures. Following the standard CoMFA of 3D-QSAR analysis, we initially considered the steric and electrostatic fields as responsible for the differences observed in the bioactivity. The different phases of the 3D-OSAR analysis performed in this work are described in the following sections.

2.3. Conformational analysis

As it was established above, the structures of the acnistins and withajardins were considered similar and both were lacking bicyclic side chain in a putative model. The steroidal skeleton constituted by four fused rings seems to be fairly rigid. The most remarkable difference among the set of compounds assayed can be localized in the A ring. This ring is pulled far from the pseudoplane formed by the steroidal structure due to the presence of a 5 β ,6 β -epoxi group. The angle ϕ is defined between the planes formed on one hand by the atoms 1–4 in A ring and by atoms 5–17 in rings B, C, and D on the other (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Angle ϕ between steroidal system and A ring plane.

Experimental data of leishmanicidal activity and toxicity versus ϕ angle are shown in Figure 3b. A quasi-linear increase in the bioactivity with the opening of the angle ϕ can be observed for both the sets of experimental data, specifically in the case of the leishmanicidal activity values. For acnistin A, 1, a very active and toxic compound, which contains a 5,6 β -epoxi, the measured angle is 47°, but it increases to 61° for acnistin E, 4, the most active compound in the set. The angle between planes is more opened for this molecule by the presence of a hydroxyl group close to the epoxy group.

The molecular geometries optimized at the B3LYP/ 6-31G(d) level of theory are in agreement with similar crystallographic structures found in the Cambridge Crystallographic Database⁸ giving a root mean squared deviation of less than 0.01 Å for the set of heavy atoms in the steroidal substructure. It should be mentioned however that the theoretical calculation finds a more stable conformer in the case of the acnistin E, 4, compared to the experimental geometry. This is due to the extra stabilization coming from the intramolecular hydrogen bond between the hydroxyl group and the epoxy-oxygen atom. This interaction has not been observed in the experimental structures probably due to the crystal packing, which favors intermolecular interactions. The experimental conformation was chosen for the OSAR analysis according to the following approaches: (1) to keep the congruency with the crystallographic data, and (2) to assume that the intermolecular interaction would be favored in the case of binding with a putative receptor.

2.4. Alignment rule

Due to the rigidity of the steroidal skeleton, all molecules were aligned using atoms 5, 8, 9, 10, 13, and 14 as numbered in Figure 1. The result of such alignment for the set of molecules is shown in Figure 4, in addition to the cubic three-dimensional region where the molecular stereo electronic descriptors have been calculated and will be compared with experimental bioactivity.

2.5. PLS models⁹

Besides searching molecular models to explain the bioactivity of these compounds, the aim of the present study was the formulation of reliable models to explain separately the leishmanicidal and toxicity activities. This information would serve to propose new compounds or modifications on some of the tested set of molecules, to improve the bioactivity, and to reduce the toxicity. Thus, PLS models have been calculated separately for the antileishmanial activity and toxicity data. The standard CoMFA fields (steric and electrostatic) were selected firstly to describe the structural features of the acnistins and withajardins (Table 2).

The experimental values of activity and toxicity were transformed to a logarithmic scale to improve the data distribution as it is recommended in the usual QSAR practice:¹⁰ the transformations used were Log ($1/LC_{50}$) and Log ($1/EC_{50}$). The experimental data display a high correlation between leishmanicidal and cytotoxicity values as can be seen in Figure 3a; the correlation coefficient was 0.76. Accordingly, it will be very difficult to separate activity and toxicity in the proposed models. The regression statistics



Figure 3. (a) Correlation between experimental values Log (1/EC₅₀) and Log (1/LC₅₀). (b) Correlation between Log (1/LC₅₀) and Log (1/EC₅₀) versus angle ϕ .

obtained through 'Leave One Out (LOO)' cross-validation for different combinations of molecular field, cutoff energies, and grid dimensions are shown in Table 2. The models that take into account only steric or electrostatic fields yield worse correlations and they were not considered further in this work. As it can be seen in Table 2 the regression models of the leishmanicidal activity present a good predictive ability with cross-validated correlation coefficients (q^2) greater than 0.5. The models for the toxicity have a worse predictive



Figure 4. Alignment of the molecules and region used to calculate molecular fields.

performance with q^2 values below 0.3. Finally, models with two components, optimal number after cross-validation, were obtained by taking into account all the compounds in the set. The corresponding fields were calculated with a grid spacing of 1.0 Å and cutoff values of 10.0 and 5.0 kcal/mol for both activities, respectively.

The statistics obtained for these models considering two components in each case were:

(a) For the antileishmanial activity: $r^2=0.988$, standard error of estimation=0.231 log units. The relative contribution of the steric field to the model is 36.4%.

Table 2. Co	MFA paramete	ers and 'cross	-validated'	statistics
-------------	--------------	----------------	-------------	------------

Leishmanicidal act	tivity					
Cutoff energy (kcal/mol)	30	30	30	90	10	5
Grid spacing (Å)	1	2	0.5	1	1	1
Q^2 coefficient ^a	0.555	0.441	0.545	0.544	0.562	0.552
Standard error of prediction (log units)	1.237	1.386	1.251	1.251	1.227	1.240
Cytotoxicity						
Cutoff energy (kcal/mol)	30	30	30	90	10	5
Grid spacing (Å)	1	2	0.5	1	1	1
Q^2 coefficient ^a	0.157	0.049	0.149	0.186	0.171	0.245
Standard error of prediction (log units)	2.264	2.404	2.274	2.224	2.245	2.145

^a Two components model.



Figure 5. CoMFA fields. Equatorial view.

(b) For the toxicity: $r^2=0.891$, standard error of estimation=0.852 log units. The relative contribution of the steric field is 40.9% in this case. So, the CoMFA models marginally explain better the leishmanicidal activity than the toxicity.

The standard deviation (stdev)×QSAR coefficients (β) field gives a rough location where structure–activity relationship statements can be inferred discriminating areas where the local descriptor is important than those have no significance. The (stdev× β) field mapped on the simplified acnistin E substructure, **5**, is shown in Figures 5 and 6, in equatorial and axial perspectives, respectively. The isosurfaces correspond to the 80% level for the most positive contributions (dark gray) and to the 20% level for the most negative ones (light gray). The result obtained with the leishmanicidal activity data is shown on the left side of the figures with mesh representation of the isosurface. The models obtained for the cytotoxicity are graphed on the right side with a solid representation of the isosurfaces.

The contributions of the steric and electrostatic fields are plotted separately. In each case the most positive values are represented in black and the negative ones in light gray. The effect of the steric field is shown on the top of the figures. The areas of black mesh are indicative of regions where an increase of the steric field would be beneficial for the leishmanicidal activity. The opposite effect would be expected in the light gray areas. These regions are confined mainly around the A ring. The incorporation of bulk substituents in the area beyond the C2-C3 double bond would increase both the leishmanicidal activity and toxicity. On the other hand, steric bulk added in the region that would occupy the A ring (if this were coplanar with the rest of the steroidal skeleton) would not only be detrimental to leishmanicidal activity but also to toxicity. This observation agrees with the correlation found between the angle between planes ϕ and the experimental activity data (Fig. 3). The opening of the ϕ angle allows the access of the A ring to those steric regions of positive effect on both activities.





Figure 7. Correlations between Log $(1/LC_{50})$ and Log $(1/EC_{50})$ versus the total dipole moment.

The contribution of the electrostatic field to the models is shown in the bottom half of Figures 5 and 6. The significant isosurfaces for the standard deviation coefficients field are located mainly around the A and B rings. The dark area surrounding the A ring indicates that an increase in positive charge would enhance both the leishmanicidal activity and toxicity. On the other hand the light gray region around the epoxy-oxygen atom suggests that an increase in the negative charge in this position would improve the activity as well as the toxicity of this molecule. The influence of the electrostatic environment as an intramolecular dipole over the bioactivity can also be observed when we plot the experimental data against the molecular dipole (Fig. 7). From this figure it can be inferred that the larger values of dipole moment correlate to a higher activity, which is in agreement with the CoMFA result. However, the 3D-QSAR model can be used to identify the orientation of the dipole, which enhances the bioactivity.

Another source of lateral validation for the CoMFA model can be the calculation of the lipophilicity parameter $C \log P$.¹¹ It can be seen in Figure 8 that there is a good correlation between experimental data and $C \log P$ values. However, the lipophilicity descriptor separates the acnistin compounds from the withajardin ones. For these two subsets it is clear that either leishmanicidal activity or toxicity increases as the $C \log P$ value decreases. Withajardins present lower $C \log P$ values than acnistins because they contain extra polar groups in their structure, such as C14-OH. It can be observed that acnistin F, **5**, lies outwith the acnistin set and near the withajardin set because it contains two hydroxyl groups, which decrease its contribution to the $C \log P$ values. These observations suggest that bioactivity is enhanced by the hydrophilicity of the molecule. This in turn can be described by some types of polar interaction with a hypothetical receptor, in agreement with the CoMFA model.

Figure 9 shows the actual versus predicted activity plots obtained with the final non-validated models. As can be seen the correlation between experimental and theoretical values is better for the leishmanicidal activity than for toxicity, as was commented above.

Models taking into account the complete withanolide molecules including the bicyclic substructure have also been tried. Such models yielded poor statistics (cross-validated correlation coefficients, q^2 , between 0.1 and 0.2) due probably to the extra noise introduced by the addition of the bicyclic side chain. In spite of the low statistical significance, these models showed steric and electrostatic contributions to explain bioactivity focused around the A and B steroidal rings, in a similar fashion to those described for the simplified structures.



Figure 8. Correlations between Log $(1/LC_{50})$ and Log $(1/EC_{50})$ versus $C \log P$ values.


Figure 9. Experimental versus predicted Log $(1/LC_{50})$ and Log $(1/EC_{50})$ values.

3. Conclusions

Some withajardins and acnistins display high activity against leishmania amastigotes in dose dependent manner, but a high toxicity was also observed. A computational analysis was carried out toward design of structural analogs maintaining the activity and decreasing the toxicity, but retaining some functional characteristics of both A and B steroidal rings. A preliminary study has been done looking for a correlation between experimental bioactivity data and molecular structural descriptors for a series of withajardins and acnistins. The observed differences in bioactivity can be satisfactorily explained by the influence of steric and electrostatic fields in the surroundings of A ring. Mainly, a determined spatial disposition of A ring and of bulky substituents in 2, 3 positions increases the bioactivity. The model also shows that an increase of the positive charge near the 2, 3, 4 positions in A ring and of the negative charge near the epoxy group implies an increase of the bioactivity.

This spatial disposition of charge with different sign suggests a favorable interaction of a dipole of analog size to the skeletal bicycle with the hypothetical receptor. Also, changes in toxicity when the unsaturated carbonylic system and/or the epoxy group are modified show that it is possible to decrease the high reactivity of these groups, possibly with the addition of bulky or electron-withdrawing groups. Other three-dimensional fields could be considered in order to study their effect on the leishmanicidal activity and toxicity. among them, hydrogen bonds, frontier molecular orbitals, or Fukui functions. However, because of the high correlation observed between activity and toxicity it is very possible that the models do not discriminate between them. The high contribution of A and B rings to the activity seems to indicate that molecules smaller than natural withanolides could be synthesized and tested against Leishmania parasite.

On the other hand, the wide range of biological activities reported in withanolides should be derived from the reactivity of unsaturated 2-en-1-one system. Some bioactive molecules with this chemical system and a side lactone attached in C17 are reported as immunosuppressive, anti-inflammatory, antitumor, cytotoxic, antioxidant, inhibitors of cyclooxy-genase-2, human IL-2, and cholinesterase, and antifeedant. In addition to compounds from *D. brachycantha*⁶ some

physalins with these chemical groups are reported as leishmanicidal too.¹²

4. Materials and methods

4.1. Biological assays

All compounds were obtained and identified as was reported elsewhere.^{13–15} Cytotoxic activity of the synthesized compounds was evaluated according to previously described protocols.¹⁶ For each of the concentrations of the different compounds, the net absorbance was registered. The percentage of dead cells was determined after calculating the viability percentage using the following formula: Viability %= (O.D. cells exposed to a compound/O.D. control cells without compound)×100. Mortality %=100–Viability %. The results were expressed as LC₅₀, which was calculated using the statistical package Probit.

The efficacy of the different compounds was evaluated against intracellular amastigotes following a modified methodology.¹⁷ Cells cultivated in absence of the compounds but maintained under the same conditions were used as control; Glucantime[®] was used as control drug for leishmanicidal activity. Each compound concentration, and the controls without the drug were evaluated in triplicate. A diminishing of the parasite load evidenced the effect of the drug or compound. Due to the fact that the number of infected cells in absence of the compound is 100% of infection, the percentage of infected cells for each concentration was calculated using the following formula: % of infected cells=(# of cells infected in presence of the compound)×100.

4.2. Computational methods

The molecular geometries were optimized at the B3LYP/ 6-31G(d) level using the Gaussian 03 package.¹⁸ The 3D-QSAR analysis was carried out using the CoMFA¹⁹ protocol implemented in the Sybyl²⁰ software. The Tripos force field was considered for the description of the steric field. Atomic charges derived from electrostatic potential were calculated following the CHELPG²¹ methodology implemented in Gaussian 03. Different grid spacing and cutoff values for the interaction energies were considered as described in Section 2. The probe atom used in the CoMFA calculations was the C sp³ one with +1 charge.

Acknowledgements

Authors thank Universidad de Antioquia and Colciencias (Colombia) for financial support. D.C. thanks Colciencias for a doctoral fellowship.

References and notes

- 1. Dujardin, J.-C. Trends Parasitol. 2006, 22, 4.
- Ouellette, M.; Drummelsmith, J.; Papadopoulou, B. Drug Resist. Updat. 2004, 7, 257.
- Goad, L. J.; Holz, G. G.; Beach, D. H. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1984, 10, 161.
- Dinan, L.; Bourne, P. C.; Meng, Y.; Sarker, S. D.; Tolentino, R. B.; Whiting, P. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 2001, 58, 321.
- Kam, T.-S.; Sim, K.-W.; Koyano, T.; Toyoshima, M.; Hayashi, M.; Komiyama, K. J. Nat. Prod. 1998, 61, 1332.
- Bravo, J.; Sauvain, M.; Gimenez, A.; Balanza, E.; Serani, L.; Laprevote, G.; Massiot, G.; Lavaud, C. J. Nat. Prod. 2001, 64, 720.
- Clark, M.; Cramer, R. D., III; Van Opdenbosch, N. J. Comput. Chem. 1989, 10, 982.
- 8. Allen, F. H. Acta Crystallogr. 2002, B58, 380.
- 9. Wold, S.; Ruhe, A.; Wold, H.; Dunn, W. J. SIAM J. Sci. Stat. Comput. 1984, 5, 735.
- Thibaut, U.; Folkers, G.; Klebe, G.; Kubinyi, H.; Merz, A.; Rognan, D. Recommendations for CoMFA. In *3D QSAR in Drug Design: Theory, Methods and Applications*; Kubinyi, H., Ed.; Kluwer/ESCOM: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2000; pp 443–485.
- 11. Chou, J.; Jurs, P. J. Chem. Inf. Comput. Sci. 1979, 19, 172.
- Choudhary, M. I.; Yousaf, S.; Ahmed, S.; Samreen; Yasmeen, K.; Rahman, A.-U. *Chem. Biodivers.* 2005, 2, 1165.
- 13. Luis, J.; Echeverri, F.; Rojas, M.; Garcia, F. *Planta Med.* **1994**, *60*, 348.

- 14. Luis, J. G.; Echeverri, F.; Gonzalez, A. *Phytochemistry* **1994**, *36*, 1297.
- Luis, J. G.; Echeverri, F.; Quiñones, W.; Gonzalez, A.; Torres, F.; Cardona, G.; Archbold, R.; Perales, A. *Tetrahedron* 1994, 50, 1217.
- Robledo, S. M.; Valencia, A. Z.; Saravia, N. G. J. Parasitol. 1990, 85, 360.
- Weniger, B.; Robledo, S.; Arango, G. J.; Deharo, E.; Aragon, R.; Muñoz, V.; Callapa, J.; Lobstein, A.; Anton, R. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 2001, 78, 193.
- 18. Frisch, M. J.; Trucks, G. W.; Schlegel, H. B.; Scuseria, G. E.; Robb, M. A.; Cheeseman, J. R.; Montgomery, J. A., Jr.; Vreven, T.; Kudin, K. N.; Burant, J. C.; Millam, J. M.; Iyengar, S. S.; Tomasi, J.; Barone, V.; Mennucci, B.; Cossi, M.; Scalmani, G.; Rega, N.; Petersson, G. A.; Nakatsuji, H.; Hada, M.; Ehara, M.; Toyota, K.; Fukuda, R.; Hasegawa, J.; Ishida, M.; Nakajima, T.; Honda, Y.; Kitao, O.; Nakai, H.; Klene, M.; Li, X.; Knox, J. E.; Hratchian, H. P.; Cross, J. B.; Adamo, C.; Jaramillo, J.; Gomperts, R.; Stratmann, R. E.; Yazyev, O.; Austin, A. J.; Cammi, R.; Pomelli, C.; Ochterski, J. W.; Ayala, P. Y.; Morokuma, K.; Voth, G. A.; Salvador, P.; Dannenberg, J. J.; Zakrzewski, V. G.; Dapprich, S.; Daniels, A. D.; Strain, M. C.; Farkas, O.; Malick, D. K.; Rabuck, A. D.; Raghavachari, K.; Foresman, J. B.; Ortiz, J. V.; Cui, Q.; Baboul, A. G.; Clifford, S.; Cioslowski, J.; Stefanov, B. B.; Liu, G.; Liashenko, A.; Piskorz, P.; Komaromi, I.; Martin, R. L.: Fox, D. J.: Keith, T.: Al-Laham, M. A.: Peng, C. Y.: Nanayakkara, A.; Challacombe, M.; Gill, P. M. W.; Johnson, B.; Chen, W.; Wong, M. W.; Gonzalez, C.; Pople, J. A. Gaussian 03, Revision B.05; Gaussian: Pittsburgh, PA, 2003.
- Cramer, R. D., III; DePriest, S. A.; Patterson, D. E.; Hecht, P. The Developing Practice of Comparative Molecular Field Analysis. In *3D QSAR in Drug Design: Theory, Methods and Applications*; Kubinyi, H., Ed.; Kluwer/ESCOM: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2000; pp 443–485.
- SYBYL. Molecular Modeling System; Tripos: St. Louis, MO, 2004.
- Breneman, C. M.; Wiberg, K. B. J. Comput. Chem. 1990, 11, 361.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6830-6840

Tetrahedron

Radical dearomatization of benzene leading to phenanthridine and phenanthridinone derivatives related to (±)-pancratistatin

David Crich* and Venkataramanan Krishnamurthy

Department of Chemistry, University of Illinois at Chicago, 845 West Taylor Street, Chicago, IL 60607-7061, USA

Received 18 February 2006; revised 28 April 2006; accepted 28 April 2006 Available online 30 May 2006

Abstract—The synthesis of the phenanthridinone nucleus common to the *Amaryllidaceae* series of natural products is achieved by a sequence involving tributylstannane-mediated, benzeneselenol-catalyzed addition of *ortho*-nitrogen functionalized aryl radicals to benzene, yielding aryl-substituted cyclohexadienes. These cyclohexadienes may be manipulated by oxidative ring closure sequences to generate functionalized phenanthridines. Beginning from 2-hydroxy-6-iodopiperonic acid a key intermediate in the Danishefsky synthesis of (\pm) -pancratistatin is achieved in two steps.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Arvl radicals add rapidly to arenes to give cyclohexadienyl radicals substituted with aryl groups at the 6-position (Scheme 1).¹ Under typical preparative radical chain conditions the cyclohexadienyl radical is insufficiently reactive to propagate the radical chain by hydrogen atom abstraction from stannane or silane hydrogen atom donors and the eventual outcome is the formation of rearomatized biaryls.² Similarly the intramolecular version of this reaction, cyclization of an aryl radical onto an arene, is marked by the formation of fully re-oxidized products.³ This breakdown in propagation typically results in poor conversion of the substrate and/or the need for excessive quantities of radical 'initiator'. Indeed, the azo-type initiators are now seen to serve the important function of oxidant for the cvclohexadienvl radical in addition to their more obvious planned function.⁴ On the other hand, we have shown how the inclusion of a catalytic quantity of benzeneselenol in the stannane-mediated radical addition of aryl iodides to benzene, and other heterocycles, enables smooth trapping of the cyclohexadienyl radical by the selenol, leading to the isolation of aryl-substituted cyclohexadienes.⁵ Although the Sn-H and Se-H bond dissociation energies are very similar,⁶ the selenol traps alkyl radicals some 500 times faster than the stannane,⁷ because of the operation of a polarity effect.⁸

The four-propagation step chain sequence is completed by regeneration of the selenol by reaction of the selenyl radical with the stannane (Scheme 1).⁹

$$Bu_3Sn \cdot + Ar \cdot I \longrightarrow Bu_3SnI + Ar \cdot (1)$$

$$\operatorname{Ar} \cdot + \langle \rangle \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ar} \cdot \langle \rangle \cdot (2)$$

$$\operatorname{Ar} \xrightarrow{-} \cdot + \operatorname{PhSe-H} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ar} \xrightarrow{-} + \operatorname{PhSe} \cdot (3)$$

PhSe · + Bu₃SnH → PhSeH + Bu₃Sn · (4)

Scheme 1. Mechanism of dearomatizing aryl radical addition to arenes.

The chemistry is rendered practical by the rapid in situ reduction of diphenyl diselenide to benzeneselenol by the stannane, which enables the direct handling of the air sensitive selenol to be avoided (Scheme 2).⁹

 $Bu_3SnH + PhSeSePh \longrightarrow Bu_3SnSePh + PhSeH$

Scheme 2. In situ selenol generation.

The chemistry is particularly attractive when the aryl iodide is functionalized with a nucleophile at the *ortho*-position, thereby permitting the ring closing desymmetrization of the product cyclohexadiene.^{10,11} We have employed this chemistry in syntheses of carbazomycin B (Scheme 3),¹² and of Kelly's β -sheet initiator (Scheme 4).¹³

Keywords: Radical; Arylation; Cyclohexadienyl; Dearomatization; Phenanthridinone.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 312 996 5189; fax +1 312 996 0431; e-mail: dcrich@uic.edu



Scheme 3. Synthesis of carbazomycin B.



Scheme 4. Synthesis of a β -sheet initiator.

With a view to probing further the scope of the reductive radical arylation reaction and to exploiting more fully the potential of the aryl cyclohexadiene products we turned our attention to the preparation of phenanthridinone derivatives as found in the antineoplastic Amaryllidaceae natural products pancratistatin and lycoricidine and their analogs. The biological activity and densely arrayed functionality of these molecules have combined to make them the targets of numerous, successful synthetic endeavors since their discovery.^{14–18} Moreover, it is especially noteworthy in the context of the present work that cyclohexadienes featured prominently in the original synthesis of (\pm) -pancratistatin by Danishefsky^{15a} and in the very extensive work by Hudlicky group when they were generated, moreover, by dearomatization of arenes.¹⁹ We report here on our work in this area, including an improved preparation of an intermediate in the Danishefsky synthesis of (\pm) -pancratistatin.



2. Results and discussion

We began our investigation by accessing the suitability of a series of *ortho*-functionalized aryl iodides for the key radical step, whose *ortho*-substituent should be convertible under mild conditions to a nucleophilic nitrogen species suitable for cyclization onto the cyclohexadiene formed in the dearomatization step. Thus, reduction of commercial o-iodobenzonitrile **1** with aluminum hydride,²⁰ followed by protection of the resulting amine with methyl chloroformate gave the iodo carbamate **2** (Scheme 5).²¹



Scheme 5. Preparation of iodide 2.

Iodide **3**, obtained from piperonyl alcohol with iodine and silver trifluoroacetate according to a literature procedure,²² was converted to iodopiperonal **4** with PCC, and to the corresponding nitrile **6** by dehydration of oxime **5** (Scheme 6).



Scheme 6. Preparation of iodide 6.

Finally, *ortho*-metallation of amide **7**, prepared by the Danishefsky route from resorcinol, ^{15a} and quenching with iodine gave the *o*-iodobenzamide **8**,²³ which could be hydrolyzed to the corresponding *des*-silyl acid **9** following conversion to the intermediate ester with trimethyloxonium tetrafluoroborate, and, then, heating with methanolic sodium hydroxide (Scheme 7).²⁴



Scheme 7. Preparation of iodides 8 and 9.

With these iodides in hand, the dearomatizing radical addition to benzene was investigated. These reactions were carried out according to a standard protocol involving the dropwise addition of tributyltin hydride and the initiator AIBN to a mixture of diphenyl diselenide and the substrate in benzene at reflux under argon, leading to the results outlined in Table 1, entries 1–5. As is typical for this type of addition^{5a,10,12,13} the products were obtained as mixtures of 1,3- and 1,4-dienes in which the latter predominated, reflecting the known propensity of cyclohexadienyl radicals for kinetic trapping at the internal position.²⁵ The most



 Table 1. Aryl radical addition to benzene

^a Reproduced from Ref. 10.

^b Compounds **19** and **20** were also isolated from this reaction in 30 and 32% yield, respectively.

satisfactory results were obtained with the two nitriles **1** and **6** both of which gave 44% yields of the benzene adducts (Table 1, entries 1 and 3). These yields while only moderate are typical for additions of this kind^{5a,10,12,13} and, given the significant increase in complexity obtained and the simplicity of the starting materials, are acceptable for our purposes. The mass balance is typically made up of the deiodinated substrate and of the biaryl formally derived by oxidation of the cyclohexadiene: despite our best efforts over a number of years we have been unable to suppress formation of by-products of this type.^{5a,10,12,13} The failure of the radical derived from the iodobenzyl carbamate **2** (Table 1, entry 2) was

surprising, with carbamates having been previously shown to be compatible with the method (Table 1, entry 6)¹⁰ Two major products 19 and 20 were isolated from this reaction in 30 and 32% yield, respectively, in addition to 35% of the recovered substrate. The formation of the des-iodo product 19 by intramolecular hydrogen atom transfer from the NH group to the aryl radical was excluded as a major pathway through an experiment employing *N*-deuterio **2** as substrate, when only 5% incorporation of deuterium into the ortho-position of 19 was observed. It is clear that most of the benzeneselenol is removed from this reaction mixture through the formation of selenide 20. This results in a breakdown of the propagation cycle (Scheme 1), allowing an increase in stannane concentration as the addition proceeds, and ultimately results in the formation of the reduction product 19. It is not clear why selenide 20 is formed in such high yield from substrate 2, but it may be the result of hydrogen bonding of benzeneselenol to the carbamate, which facilitates a nucleophilic aromatic substitution reaction. Understandably in view of the obvious steric hindrance and the potential for intramolecular 1,5-hydrogen atom transfer from the amide group, only trace amounts of the adduct from the reaction between iodide 8 and benzene were obtained (Table 1, entry 4), with the major product 7 (64%)being that of simple reduction. This problem was remedied by use of the corresponding acid 9, which reproducibly gave yields of 30% of the adduct 14 (Table 1, entry 5). Higher yields had been previously obtained with o-iodobenzoic acid (Table 1, entry 7),¹⁰ but we were unable to improve on this yield despite repeated attempts. Nevertheless, it is interesting to note that the formation of **14** (Table 1, entry 5) took place with high regioselectivity in the hydrogen atom transfer step and afforded a product almost free of the minor, conjugated, isomeric diene. This unusually high regioselectivity in the quenching step was previously seen in the formation of **18** from *o*-iodobenzoic acid (Table 1, entry 7).¹⁰



Turning to the desymmetrization step adduct **10** was converted to carbamate **11** by reduction with aluminum hydride,²⁰ and subsequent reaction with methyl chloroformate (Scheme 8).²⁶ Treatment with a controlled amount of *m*-CPBA subsequently afforded the mono epoxide **21** in 71%, which underwent the desired cyclization on exposure to boron trifluoride etherate²⁷ giving the phenanthridine derivative **22** in 79% yield (Scheme 8). The relative stereochemistry of **22**, with its *cis*-fused ring junction, was confirmed by X-ray crystallographic analysis.[†] An analogous series of experiments was also conducted on the corresponding *t*-butyl carbamates, and in the methylenedioxy series beginning from adduct **12**, with parallel results (Scheme 8).

The asymmetric epoxidation of cyclohexadiene 11 with Jacobsen's catalyst²⁸ was attempted, but the only product

[†] CCDC 298768 contains the supplementary crystallographic data for this paper. These data can be obtained free of charge from The Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre via www.ccdc.cam.ac.uk/data_request/cif.



Scheme 8. Cyclization by epoxidation.

obtained was the biaryl system 29.29 A range of stoichiometric oxidants and additives was assayed in this catalytic protocol, including N-methyl morpholine N-oxide, sodium hypochlorite, iodosobenzene, and 4-phenylpyridine N-oxide, but we were unable to suppress the aromatization, which is, perhaps, not too surprising in view of the presence of the doubly allylic benzylic C-H bond in the substrate. Epoxidation of 11 with Shi catalyst 30 and dimethyl dioxirane did afford 21 in 48% yield, but in racemic form, consistent with the known substrate range of this system.³⁰ On the other hand, the more recent catalyst 31 developed by Shi group for *cis*-olefins gave **21** in 40% yield and 30% ee as determined by chiral HPLC methods.³¹ In view of the poor enantioselectivity obtained with this system, no further investigations into enantioselective epoxidations were conducted although it is possible that other systems reported to bring about the enantioselective epoxidation of *cis*alkenes, and which have appeared in the literature since this work was completed, may achieve the desired result.³²



In exploring the further functionalization of the phenanthridine derivative **22**, an unexpected benzylic oxidation was encountered. Thus, treatment of **22** with excess *m*-CPBA in dichloromethane at room temperature gave not the expected simple epoxidation product but that of concomitant benzylic oxidation, the amide **32**, in 80% yield (Scheme 9). This interesting reaction has precedent in the work of Ma and

co-workers who achieved the analogous oxidation of a series of cyclic and acyclic alkylarenes, including the transformation of ethylbenzene to acetophenone, with *m*-CPBA, for which they postulated a mechanism involving hydrogen atom abstraction and trapping of the benzylic radical by air.³³ Dess Martin oxidation³⁴ of **32** gave the corresponding ketone, which on passage over silica gel, afforded the anticipated hydroxyenone **33** in 68% yield, in which the enone ring derives its carbon skeleton from a benzene ring, of which every carbon has been modified.

Iodolactonization³⁵ of adduct **14** provided lactone **34**, a key intermediate in Danishefsky's synthesis of (\pm) -pancratistatin,^{15a} in 71% yield (Scheme 10). In his synthesis Danishefsky constructed cyclohexadiene **13** from amide **7**,



Scheme 10. Improved synthesis of a key intermediate in the Danishefsky (\pm) -pancratistatin synthesis.



and following removal of the silyl ether subjected it to iodolactonization to arrive at **34**. In that pioneering synthesis a sequence of five steps, including a tributyltin hydride mediated radical elimination reaction, were required to obtain **13** from **7**, and the complete sequence from **7** to iodolactone **34** was achieved in seven steps and 12.7% overall yield. The sequence of reactions that we describe here (Scheme 7, Table 1, and Scheme 10) proceeds from **7** to **34** in four steps and 14.3% overall yield, provides a convenient short cut in the original synthesis, and serves to highlight the advantages of the dearomatizing aryl radical addition to benzene as a means of aryl cyclohexadiene formation.

Finally, we note an interesting cyclization giving rise to the 7-oxa- γ -lycorane skeleton. Thus, catalytic hydrogenation of both **27** and **28** provided the dihydro analogs **35** and **36**, respectively, in excellent yield. The desmethylenedioxy system **35** was converted to the corresponding mesylate **37** by standard methods (Scheme 11). Interestingly enough this compound resisted all our attempts to bring about elimination of the mesyl group, with the major product being the oxazolidinone **38** resulting from displacement of the mesylate with inversion by the carbamate group. An analogous result was obtained on attempted elimination of water from **36** with the Burgess reagent,³⁶ when **39** was formed in 56% yield (Scheme 11).



Scheme 11. Formation of the 7-oxa- γ -lycorane skeleton.

3. Conclusion

The efficiency of the benzeneselenol-catalyzed, tributylstannane-mediated addition of aryl iodides to benzene depends strongly on the nature of the *ortho*-substituent. For reasons that are not yet clear, little or no addition takes place with an *o*-(methoxycarbonylaminomethyl) substituent, as in **2**, whereas the closely analogous *o*-(methoxycarbonylamino) group, as in **15**, is satisfactory. An *o*-cyano group functions well (**1** and **6**) and may be subsequently converted to the desired *o*-(methoxycarbonylaminomethyl) substituent by reduction with aluminum hydride followed by methyl chloroformate, without detriment to the 1,4-cyclohexadiene functionality. Further manipulations then lead rapidly to a variety of phenanthridine and phenanthridinone derivatives.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

All solvents were dried and distilled by standard techniques. All experiments were carried out in an atmosphere of dry nitrogen or argon. Extracts were dried over sodium sulfate and concentrated under reduced pressure at room temperature. Unless otherwise stated ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were carried out at 400 and 100 MHz, respectively, in CDCl₃ solution. Chemical shifts are given in parts per million downfield from tetramethylsilane. Microanalyses were carried out by Midwest Microlabs, Indianapolis, IN. Mass spectra were recorded in the Research Resources Laboratory at UIC.

4.1.1. Methyl (2-iodobenzyl)carbamate (2). LiAlH₄ (173 mg, 4.6 mmol) was suspended in THF (8 mL), cooled to 0 °C, stirred vigorously, and treated with concentrated sulfuric acid (127 µL, 2.3 mmol). This mixture was stirred for 1 h at 0 °C, before a solution of 2-iodobenzonitrile (500 mg, 2.2 mmol) in THF (8 mL) was added dropwise. Stirring was continued for 1 h before the reaction was stopped by the addition of ethanol (10 mL) at 0 °C, followed by few drops of 2 N NaOH. The suspension was diluted with EtOAc (50 mL), filtered, and concentrated to provide a brown residue, which was taken directly to the next step. This residue was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (8 mL) and cooled to 0 °C, then treated with Et_3N (750 μ L, 5 mmol) and methyl chloroformate (394 µL, 5 mmol). The resultant solution was stirred for 6 h, diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (50 mL), and washed with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ (25 mL), and brine (25 mL). The dichloromethane layer was dried, concentrated, and purified by chromatography over silica gel (eluent: 20% EtOAc in hexanes) to afford carbamate 2 (456 mg, 74%) as a white solid. Mp 77 °C (lit.²¹ mp 74 °C); ¹H NMR: δ 3.68 (s, 3H), 4.37 (d, J=6.2 Hz, 2H), 5.25 (br s, 1H), 6.97 (t, J=8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.30–7.39 (m, 2H), 7.81 (d, J=7.7 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR: δ 49.7, 52.3, 98.8, 128.5, 129.3, 129.5, 139.4, 140.5, 156.9.

4.1.2. 6-Iodo-1,3-benzodioxole-5-methanol (3). To a solution of piperonyl alcohol (5.15 g, 34 mmol), CF₃CO₂Ag (9.7 g, 44 mmol), and dry CHCl₃ (90 mL) at -5 °C was added I₂ (11.1 g, 44 mmol) in one portion. The resulting yellow mixture was maintained at -5 °C for 10 min, where-upon it was filtered. The filtrate was washed with 20% aqueous sodium thiosulfate (3x50 mL), dried, and concentrated. Recrystallization from chloroform afforded iodide **3** (6.1 g, 66%) as white needles. Mp 110–111 °C (lit.^{22a} mp 106–107 °C); ¹H NMR (500 MHz): δ 2.06 (t, *J*=6.0 Hz, 1H), 4.57 (d, *J*=6.0 Hz, 2H), 6.0 (s, 2H), 6.98 (s, 1H), 7.26 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz): δ 69.2, 85.4, 101.7, 109.0, 118.5, 136.2, 147.9, 148.6.

4.1.3. 6-Iodo-1,3-benzodioxole-5-carbaldehyde (4). To a solution containing iodide **3** (6.1 g, 22.2 mmol) and dry CH₂Cl₂ (300 mL) at 0 °C was added PCC (9.6 g, 44 mmol). The mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and was stirred for 5 h at 25 °C. The reaction mixture was concentrated to one third of its original volume and filtered through silica gel column (eluent: 30% EtOAc in hexanes) to give **4** as a pale yellow solid (5.7 g, 94%). Mp 110–112 °C; ¹H NMR (500 MHz): δ 6.08 (s, 2H), 7.32 (s, 1H), 7.35 (s, 1H), 9.86 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz): δ 93.3, 102.7, 108.8, 119.4, 129.5, 149.2, 153.5, 194.5. Anal. Calcd for C₈H₅O₃I: C, 34.81; H, 1.83. Found: C, 34.56; H, 1.70.

4.1.4. 6-Iodo-1,3-benzodioxole-5-carbaldoxime (5). A solution of aldehyde **4** (5.7 g, 20.7 mmol) in 1:1 pyridine (20 mL) and ethanol (20 mL) was treated with hydroxyl-amine hydrochloride (2.2 g, 31.1 mmol) and stirred at room temperature. After 8 h, the resulting solution was diluted with EtOAc (80 mL) and washed with saturated aqueous NH₄Cl solution (50 mL), followed by brine (50 mL). The organic layer was dried, concentrated, and purified by chromatography over silica gel (eluent: 30% EtOAc in hexanes) to afford oxime **5** (5.9 g, 94%) as a white solid. Mp 148 °C; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CD₃OD): δ 6.0 (s, 2H), 7.24 (s, 1H), 7.26 (s, 1H), 8.20 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CD₃OD): δ 87.2, 102.2, 105.6, 118.08, 128.0, 148.7, 149.7, 151.8. Anal. Calcd for C₈H₆NO₃I: C, 33.01; H, 2.08. Found: C, 33.12; H, 2.15.

4.1.5. 6-Iodo-1,3-benzodioxole-5-carbonitrile (6). A solution of oxime 5 (5.9 g, 19.4 mmol) and DMAP (236 mg, 1.9 mmol) in pyridine (50 mL) was treated with Ac₂O (2.7 mL, 29 mmol), and stirred at room temperature for 10 h. After complete consumption of 5, DBU (3.5 mL, 23 mmol) was added to the reaction mixture, and stirring continued for 6 h during the course of which further DBU $(2 \times 1.7 \text{ mL})$ was added. The mixture was diluted with dichloromethane (70 mL), and washed with saturated NH_4Cl (2×40 mL) and brine. The dichloromethane layer was dried, concentrated, and purified by chromatography over silica gel (eluent: 20% EtOAc in hexanes) to afford nitrile 6 (5.03 g, 95%) as pale yellow solid. Mp 127-29 °C; ¹H NMR (500 MHz): δ 6.09 (s, 2H), 7.01 (s, 1H), 7.28 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz): δ 89.8, 102.9, 113.0, 113.1, 119.2, 119.5, 148.3, 152.0. Anal. Calcd for C₈H₄NO₂I: C, 35.19; H, 1.48; N, 5.13; I, 46.48. Found: C, 35.10; H, 1.46; N, 4.96; I, 46.19.

4.1.6. N,N-Diethyl-4-(tert-butyldimethylsiloxy)-6-iodo-1,3-benzodioxole-5-carboxamide (8). In a dry flask, amide 7^{15a} (3.0 g, 8.54 mmol) was dissolved in THF (80 mL), and cooled to -78 °C. To this solution was added TMEDA (1.94 mL, 12.8 mmol), and n-BuLi (6.82 mL, 17.1 mmol, 2.0 M in hexanes). The resulting deep brown mixture was stirred at -78 °C for 1 h before I₂ (4.34 g, 17.1 mmol) in THF (20 mL) was added, and the reaction mixture allowed warm to room temperature overnight with stirring. The reaction mixture was quenched with saturated NH₄Cl, and the THF was removed in vacuo. The resulting residue was dissolved in EtOAc (50 mL) and H₂O (50 mL), and the aqueous layer was extracted with EtOAc (30 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with brine (30 mL) and dried. Purification by chromatography over silica gel (eluent: 12% EtOAc in hexanes) afforded 8 as yellow oil (3.2 g, 78%). ¹H NMR: δ 0.17 (s, 3H), 0.22 (s, 3H), 0.92 (s, 9H), 1.1 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.25 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H), 3.1-3.21 (m, 3H), 3.79-3.88 (m, 1H), 5.91 (s, 1H), 5.94 (s, 1H), 6.9 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR: δ -4.6, -4.1, 12.6, 13.8, 18.3, 25.7 (3C), 39.3, 43.1, 82.3, 101.4, 112.7, 130.5, 136.9, 137.6, 149.3, 167.5; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₁₈H₂₈INO₄Si [M+H]⁺: 478.0911, found: 478.0917.

4.1.7. 4-Hydroxy-6-iodo-1,3-benzodioxole-5-carboxylic acid (9). To a stirred solution of benzamide **8** (220 mg, 0.46 mmol) in CH₃CN (5 mL) was added Na_2HPO_4 (98 mg, 0.69 mmol), followed by trimethyloxonium tetrafluoroborate (205 mg, 1.4 mmol). The reaction was stirred at room temperature for 5 h after which the reaction was quenched by slow addition of saturated aqueous sodium bicarbonate solution (5 mL). The resulting mixture was stirred for 7 h at room temperature, and then diluted with EtOAc (25 mL), followed by water (10 mL). The organic layer was separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with EtOAc (2×15 mL). The combined organic layer was dried and concentrated. The residue was dissolved in MeOH/THF (5 mL, 1/1) mixture, treated with 4 N NaOH (3 mL) and heated to reflux for 15 h. The reaction mixture was neutralized with 6 N HCl followed by removal of the methanol in vacuo. The resulting residue was dissolved in EtOAc (25 mL) and water (15 mL), and the aqueous layer was extracted with EtOAc $(3 \times 20 \text{ mL})$. The combined organic layer was dried, concentrated, and purified by chromatography over silica gel (eluent: 70% EtOAc in hexanes) to afford 9 (122 mg, 86%) as white solid. Mp 147-148 °C; ¹H NMR: δ 6.0 (s, 2H), 7.14 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR: δ 85.4, 102.8, 112.8, 115.2, 136.4, 146.5, 152.3, 170.1; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₈H₅IO₅ [M-H]⁻: 306.9103, found: 306.9105.

4.2. General procedure for radical addition to benzene

A dry flask was charged with aryl iodide (6.1 mmol) and diphenyl diselenide (380 mg, 1.22 mmol), fitted with a reflux condenser, and flushed with argon. Dry, degassed benzene (122 mL, 0.05 M) was added; the resulting solution was heated to reflux. A solution of AIBN (100 mg, 0.61 mmol) and tributyltin hydride (7.3 mmol, 1.96 mL) in dry degassed benzene (18 mL) was added via syringe pump at rate of 1.5 mL h⁻¹. On completion of the addition, the reaction mixture was refluxed for 1 h, then cooled to room temperature and the solvent removed in vacuo. The residue was taken up in acetonitrile (200 mL) and washed with (4×25 mL) hexane. The acetonitrile phase was concentrated and purified by silica gel chromatrography (eluent: EtOAc in hexanes) to yield the adducts.

4.2.1. 2-(2.5-Cyclohexadienyl)benzonitrile (10). Yield 44%; yellow oil; IR (neat): 2221, 2360, 2817, 2867, 3029 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz): δ 2.78 (m, 2H), 4.43 (br t, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 5.69-5.72 (br d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H), 5.89-5.92 (br d, J=10.5 Hz, 2H), 7.30 (t, J=7.3 Hz, 1H), 7.38 (d, J=7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.53 (t, J=7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.62 (d, J=7.7 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz): δ 25.7, 40.2, 125.1, 125.3, 126.2, 126.8, 126.9, 129.4, 132.9, 132.91, 133.0, 133.1, 148.6; EIHRMS Calcd for C₁₃H₁₁N [M-H]⁺: 180.0813, found: 180.0747. The product was contaminated with an inseparable minor isomer (1,3-cyclohexadien-5-yl)benzonitrile, which accounted for 14% of the mass as determined by NMR. This isomer was characterized by ¹H NMR (500 MHz): δ 2.34 (dddd, J=17.6 Hz, J=11.8 Hz, J=4.1 Hz, J=2.2 Hz, 1H), 2.67 (dddd, J=17.6 Hz, J=9.5 Hz, J=4.8 Hz, J=1.8 Hz, 1H), 4.05–4.10 (br t, J=10.0 Hz, 1H), 5.76-5.79 (m, 2H), 5.9-6.1 (m, 1H), 6.13-6.17 (m, 1H), 7.30 (t, J=7.3 Hz, 1H), 7.38 (d, J=7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.53 (t, J=7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.62 (d, J=7.7 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz): δ 30.8, 37.7, 111.6, 117.9, 123.9, 125.1, 125.9, 126.8, 127.5, 128.4, 128.7, 133.0, 148.9.

4.2.2. 6-(2,5-Cyclohexadienyl)-1,3-benzodioxole-5carbonitrile (12). Yield 44%; white solid; mp 101 °C; 1 H NMR (500 MHz): δ 2.73–2.76 (m, 2H), 4.36–4.40 (m, 1H), 5.66 (ddt, J=10.0 Hz, J=5.5 Hz, J=1.5 Hz, 2H), 5.89 (ddt, J=10.5 Hz, J=5.5 Hz, J=1.5 Hz, 2H), 6.02 (s, 2H), 6.79 (s, 1H), 6.97 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz): δ 25.7, 39.8, 102.2, 109.5, 111.0, 118.1, 123.8, 125.2, 125.7, 126.5, 127.4, 145.5, 146.3, 152.0. Anal. Calcd for C₁₄H₁₁NO₂: C, 74.65; H, 4.92. Found: C, 74.46; H, 4.99. The product was contaminated with an inseparable minor isomer, 6-(1,3cyclohexadien-1-yl)-1,3-benzodioxole-5-carbonitrile, which accounted for 25% of the mass as determined by NMR and which was characterized by the following resonances: ¹H NMR (500 MHz): δ 2.29 (dddd, J=17.6 Hz, J= 11.1 Hz, J=4.4 Hz, J=2.3 Hz, 1H), 2.65 (dddd, J=17.6 Hz, J=9.5 Hz, J=4.7 Hz, J=1.8 Hz, 1H), 4.01 (br t, J=9.5 Hz, 1H), 5.71 (dd, J=9.0 Hz, J=4.0 Hz, 1H), 5.76 (dt, J=9.5 Hz, J=4.5 Hz, 1H), 5.96-5.99 (m, 1H), 6.03 (s, 2H), 6.06–6.14 (m, 1H), 6.98 (s, 1H), 6.99 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz): δ 30.8, 37.3, 103.3, 108.8, 113.3, 118.1, 125.0, 125.1, 126.3, 128.6, 128.7, 145.6, 145.3, 151.7.

4.2.3. 4-Hydroxy-6-(2,5-cyclohexadien-1-yl)-1,3-benzodioxole-5-carboxylic acid (14). Yield 30%; white solid; mp 152 °C; ¹H NMR: δ 2.71–2.76 (m, 2H), 4.96–5.0 (m, 1H), 5.69–5.74 (m, 2H), 5.82–5.87 (m, 2H), 6.05 (s, 2H), 6.61 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR: δ 25.7, 36.7, 102.5, 103.8, 106.9, 124.2, 128.3, 128.5, 130.3, 133.1, 145.8, 146.8, 153.4, 173.6; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₁₄H₁₂O₅ [M–H]⁻: 259.0606, found: 259.0599.

4.2.4. Methyl benzylcarbamate (19). This compound was isolated in 30% yield from the attempted addition of **2** to benzene. White solid; mp 57–58 °C (lit.³⁷ mp 59–61 °C); ¹H NMR: δ 3.70 (s, 3H), 4.38 (d, *J*=5.9 Hz, 2H), 5.03 (br s, 1H), 7.26–7.35 (m, 5H); ¹³C NMR: δ 45.0, 52.2, 127.2, 127.4, 127.5, 128.4, 128.6, 138.6, 157.2.

4.2.5. Methyl 2-phenylselenobenzylcarbamate (20). This compound was isolated in 32% yield from the attempted addition of **2** to benzene. Colorless oil; ¹H NMR: δ 3.65 (s, 3H), 4.46 (d, *J*=6.1 Hz, 2H), 5.05 (br s, 1H), 7.18 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.23–7.51 (m, 8H); ¹³C NMR: δ 45.4, 52.2, 127.2, 127.8, 128.4, 128.5, 128.6, 128.9, 129.5 (2C), 130.3, 132.0, 135.6, 140.5, 156.9; EIHRMS Calcd for C₁₅H₁₅NO₂Se [M]⁺: 321.0268, found: 321.0257.

4.2.6. Methyl 2-(2.5-cyclohexadien-1-yl)benzylcarbamate (11). LiAlH₄ (250 mg, 6.6 mmol) was suspended in THF (8 mL), cooled to 0 °C, stirred vigorously, and treated with concentrated sulfuric acid (182 µL, 3.3 mmol). This mixture was stirred for 1 h at 0 °C, before a solution of diene 10 (570 mg, 3.14 mmol) in THF (7 mL) was added dropwise. Stirring was continued for 1 h before the reaction was stopped by the addition of ethanol (10 mL) at 0 °C, followed by few drops of 2 N NaOH. The suspension was diluted with EtOAc (50 mL), filtered, and concentrated to provide a brown residue, which was taken directly to the next step. This residue was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (8 mL) and cooled to 0 °C, and then treated with Et₃N (750 µL, 5 mmol) and methyl chloroformate (386 µL, 5 mmol). The resultant solution was stirred for 6 h, diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (50 mL), and washed with saturated aqueous NaHCO3 (25 mL) and brine (25 mL). The dichloromethane layer was dried, concentrated, and purified by chromatography

over silica gel (eluent: 20% EtOAc in hexanes) to afford carbamate **11** (459 mg, 60%) as a white solid. Mp 81–83 °C; ¹H NMR (500 MHz): δ 2.75–2.79 (m, 2H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 4.21 (m, 1H), 4.47 (d, *J*=5.5 Hz, 2H), 4.92 (br s, 1H), 5.69 (ddt, *J*=10.0 Hz, *J*=5.0 Hz, *J*=1.0 Hz, 2H), 5.83–5.85 (m, 2H), 7.19–7.29 (m, 4H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz): δ 25.7, 38.1, 42.5, 52.2, 123.8, 124.8, 127.7, 127.9, 128.2, 128.8, 129.1, 129.8, 135.3, 143.0, 156.7; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₁₅H₁₇NO₂ [M+Na]⁺: 266.1157, found: 266.1161.

4.2.7. *tert*-Butyl 2-(2,5-cyclohexadien-1-yl)benzylcarbamate (23). This carbamate was prepared from 10 analogously to 11, except that the methyl chloroformate was replaced by Boc₂O. It was obtained as a colorless oil in 76% yield. IR (neat): 1168, 1511, 1694, 2976, 3340 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR: δ 1.46 (s, 9H), 2.74–2.78 (m, 2H), 4.23 (br t, *J*=8.5 Hz, 1H), 4.42 (d, *J*=5.3 Hz, 2H), 4.72 (br s, 1H), 5.68 (br d, *J*=10.0 Hz, 2H), 5.82–5.85 (m, 2H), 7.17–7.27 (m, 4H); ¹³C NMR: δ 25.7, 28.4 (3C), 37.8, 42.1, 79.5, 123.9, 126.6, 127.9, 128.1, 128.5, 128.9, 129.6, 130.0, 135.6, 143.1, 155.5; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₁₈H₂₃NO₂ [M+Na]⁺: 308.1627, found: 308.1625.

4.2.8. *tert*-Butyl 6-(2,5-cyclohexadien-1-yl)-1,3-benzodioxole-5-ylmethylcarbamate (24). This carbamate was prepared from 12 in the same manner as 23 was obtained from 10. It was obtained in 71% yield as a white solid. Mp 106 °C; ¹H NMR: δ 1.44 (s, 9H), 2.71–2.73 (m, 2H), 4.13 (m, 1H), 4.23 (d, *J*=5.1 Hz, 2H), 4.74 (br s, 1H), 5.59 (br d, *J*=10.1 Hz, 2H), 5.79 (br d, *J*=10.1 Hz, 2H), 5.89 (s, 2H), 6.72 (s, 1H), 6.73 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR: δ 25.7, 28.4 (3C), 37.4, 41.9, 79.4, 100.9, 108.6, 109.6, 123.7, 125.2, 128.2, 128.7, 129.9, 136.9, 146.0, 147.3, 155.5. Anal. Calcd for C₁₉H₂₃NO₄: C, 69.28; H, 7.04. Found: C, 69.35; H, 6.99.

4.3. General procedure for the epoxidation of dienes

3-Chloroperoxybenzoic acid (230 mg, 1.03 mmol) was added portionwise to a stirred solution of the diene (0.94 mmol) in dry CH_2Cl_2 (10 mL) at 0 °C. After 2 h, the reaction mixture was diluted with dichloromethane (40 mL) and washed with saturated aqueous sodium bicarbonate (3×25 mL). The dichloromethane layer was dried, concentrated, and purified by chromatography on silica gel (eluent: EtOAC in hexanes) to afford the epoxide.

4.3.1. Methyl 2-(2-cyclohexen-5,6-epoxy-1-yl)benzylcarbamate (21). Yield 71%; white solid; mp 87–88 °C; ¹H NMR (500 MHz): δ 2.61–2.70 (m, 2H), 3.15 (m, 1H), 3.36 (m, 1H), 3.70 (s, 3H), 4.09 (m, 1H), 4.48 (d, *J*=6.5 Hz, 2H), 4.96 (br s, 1H), 5.53–5.60 (m, 2H), 7.22–7.35 (m, 4H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz): δ 24.9, 37.5, 42.7, 51.1, 52.3, 54.8, 121.5, 125.6, 127.2, 128.2, 128.8, 129.2, 136.0, 138.8, 156.7; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₁₅H₁₇NO₃ [M+H]⁺: 260.1287, found: 260.1288.

4.3.2. *tert***-Butyl 2-(2-cyclohexen-5,6-epoxy-1-yl)benzyl-carbamate (25).** Yield 67%; white solid; mp 88 °C; IR (neat): 1167, 1248, 1519, 1699, 2359, 2977, 3354 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR: δ 1.45 (s, 9H), 2.60–2.69 (m, 2H), 3.15 (d, *J*= 4 Hz, 1H), 3.35 (m, 1H), 4.10 (m, 1H), 4.44 (d, *J*=5 Hz, 2H), 4.79 (br s, 1H), 5.54–5.58 (m, 2H), 7.21–7.22

6837

(m, 4H); 13 C NMR: δ 25.1, 28.4 (3C), 37.5, 42.3, 51.9, 54.9, 79.7, 121.5, 125.7, 127.4, 128.1, 128.8, 129.2, 136.4, 138.8, 155.6; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₁₈H₂₃NO₃ [M+Na]⁺: 324.1576, found: 324.1574.

4.3.3. *tert*-Butyl 6-(2-cyclohexen-5,6-epoxy)-[1,3]benzodioxole-5-ylmethyl)carbamate (26). Yield 60%; white solid; mp 143 °C; ¹H NMR: δ 1.44 (s, 9H), 2.60–2.69 (m, 2H), 3.08 (m, 1H), 3.31 (m, 1H), 4.01 (m, 1H), 4.30 (d, J=5.2 Hz, 2H), 4.80 (br s, 1H), 5.46–5.50 (m, 2H), 5.90 (s, 2H), 6.66 (s, 1H), 6.83 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR: δ 25.0, 28.3 (3C), 37.2, 42.4, 51.8, 54.9, 79.7, 101.2, 108.7, 109.3, 121.5, 125.9, 130.0, 132.1, 146.7, 147.3, 155.5. Anal. Calcd for C₁₉H₂₃NO₅: C, 66.07; H, 6.71. Found: C, 66.24; H, 6.70.

4.4. General procedure for cyclization to the tricyclic skeleton

A solution of epoxide (1.0 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (4 mL) was treated with BF₃·Et₂O (0.4 mmol, 118 μ L) at -10 °C and stirred for 20 min, before the addition of saturated aqueous sodium bicarbonate (10 mL) and dichloromethane (40 mL). The dichloromethane layer was dried, concentrated, and purified by chromatography over silica gel (eluent: EtOAc in hexanes).

4.4.1. [(±)-4*S*,4a*S*,10*bR*] Methyl 4-hydroxy-4,4a,6,10btetrahydro-3*H*-phenanthridine-5-carboxylate (22). Yield 79%; colorless oil; IR (neat): 1242, 1456, 1698, 2360, 3479 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR: δ 1.95 (br s, 1H), 2.17–2.23 (m, 1H), 2.52–2.58 (m, 1H), 3.63 (m, 1H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 4.31–4.50 (m, 3H), 4.75–5.08 (m, 1H), 5.74 (m, 1H), 6.14 (m, 1H), 7.09–7.32 (m, 4H); ¹³C NMR: δ 35.7, 38.2, 43.5, 53.1, 56.1, 66.5, 125.3, 126.2, 126.3, 127.1, 127.3, 127.6, 131.4, 136.8, 158.4; EIHRMS Calcd for C₁₅H₁₇NO₃ [M]⁺: 259.1208, found: 259.1204.

4.4.2. [(±)-4*S*,4a*S*,10b*R*] *tert*-Butyl 4-hydroxy-4,4a,6,10btetrahydro-3*H*-phenanthridine-5-carboxylate (27). Yield 86%; colorless oil; IR (neat): 1419, 1683, 2977, 3426 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR: δ 1.45 (s, 9H), 2.15–2.21 (m, 1H), 2.52–2.58 (m, 1H), 3.55 (m, 1H), 3.74 (m, 1H), 4.43–4.98 (m, 3H), 5.76 (m, 1H), 6.14 (m, 1H), 7.11–7.26 (m, 4H); ¹³C NMR: δ 28.4 (3C), 36.3, 38.5, 44.0, 55.7, 66.9, 80.7, 125.5, 126.1, 126.3, 127.0, 127.1, 127.7, 131.7, 137.0, 157.6; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₁₈H₂₃NO₃ [M+Na]⁺: 324.1576, found: 324.1566.

4.4.3. [(±)-4*S*,4a*S*,10b*R*] *tert*-Butyl 4-hydroxy-4,4a,6,10btetrahydro-3*H*-[1,3]dioxolo[4,5-*j*]phenanthridine-5-carboxylate (28). Yield 68%; colorless oil; ¹H NMR: δ 1.45 (s, 9H), 2.03 (m, 1H), 2.50–2.55 (m, 1H), 2.67 (br s, 1H), 3.56 (m, 1H), 3.61 (m, 1H), 4.25–4.84 (m, 3H), 5.73 (m, 1H), 5.90 (s, 1H), 5.93 (s, 1H), 6.02 (m, 1H), 6.56 (s, 1H), 6.69 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR: δ 28.4 (3C), 34.5, 36.2, 42.3, 55.7, 66.7, 80.7, 100.9, 106.3, 107.3, 124.2, 126.5, 126.8, 130.3, 145.9, 146.7, 157.4; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₁₉H₂₃NO₅ [M+Na]⁺: 368.1468, found: 368.1475.

4.4.4. Methyl 2-phenylbenzylcarbamate (29). To a solution of diene **11** (70 mg, 0.27 mmol) and (*R*,*R*)-(–)-*N*,*N*-bis(3,5-di-*tert*-butylsalicylidene)-1,2-cyclohexanediaminomanganese(III)

chloride (7 mg, 0.01 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (0.6 mL) was added NaOCl (1 mL) buffered to pH 11.3. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 4 h, then was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and washed with H₂O (2×20 mL). The aqueous layer was back extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL). The combined organic layer was dried, concentrated, and purified by chromatography over silica gel (eluent: 25% EtOAc in hexanes) to yield **29** (40 mg, 58%) as a colorless oil. IR (neat): 1251, 1527, 1708, 3023, 3332 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR: δ 3.6 (s, 3H), 4.33 (d, *J*=6.0 Hz, 2H), 4.76 (br s, 1H), 7.23–7.46 (m, 9H); ¹³C NMR: δ 42.9, 52.1, 127.3, 127.4, 127.7, 128.4, 128.9, 129.0, 130.2, 135.7, 140.7, 141.6, 156.9; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₁₅H₁₅NO₂ [M+H]⁺: 242.1175, found: 242.1170.

4.4.5. [(±)-1R,2S,4S,4aS,10bR] Methyl 1,2-epoxy-4-hydroxy-1,2,3,4,4a,10b-hexahydro-phenanthridin-6-one-5carboxylate (32). A solution of 3-chloroperoxybenzoic acid (255 mg, 1.2 mmol) and alcohol 22 (100 mg, 0.38 mmol) in dry CH₂Cl₂ (5 mL), was stirred at room temperature for 24 h, then diluted with dichloromethane (30 mL), washed with saturated aqueous sodium bicarbonate $(3 \times 25 \text{ mL})$, and brine (25 mL). The dichloromethane layer was dried, concentrated, and purified by chromatography over silica gel (eluent: 70% EtOAc in hexanes) to afford epoxide 32 as a white foam (89 mg, 80%). ¹H NMR: δ 2.09 (dd, J=15.6 Hz, J=9.3 Hz, 1H), 2.37–2.44 (m, 1H), 3.25 (br s, 1H), 3.29 (t, J=4.2 Hz, 1H), 3.63-3.68 (m, 1H), 3.91 (s, 3H), 3.91 (m, 1H), 4.10–4.14 (m, 1H), 4.70 (dd, J=10.8 Hz, 5.1 Hz, 1H), 7.40 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.51 (d, J=7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.59 (t, J=6.5 Hz, 1H), 8.1 (d, J=8.6 Hz, 1H): ¹³C NMR: δ 33.1, 36.2, 51.4, 54.5, 54.6, 56.8, 64.2, 124.3, 127.4, 128.6, 130.4, 133.8, 136.8, 156.3, 162.5; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₁₅H₁₅NO₅ [M+Na]⁺: 312.0842, found: 312.0847.

4.4.6. [(±)-1R,4S,4aS,10bR] Methyl 1-hydroxy-4,6-dioxo-4,4a,6,10b-tetrahydro-1*H*-phenanthridine-5-carboxylate (33). Dess-Martin periodinane (88 mg, 0.21 mmol) was added to a solution of epoxide 32 (50 mg, 0.17 mmol) in dry CH₂Cl₂ (3 mL) and stirred for 4 h. When the reaction was complete, saturated aqueous sodium thiosulfate (15 mL) was added, and the reaction mixture stirred for 0.5 h, before it was poured into saturated aqueous sodium bicarbonate. The dichloromethane layer was dried, concentrated, and purified by chromatography over silica gel (eluent: 3% MeOH in CH₂Cl₂) to afford hydroxyenone 33 (33 mg, 68%) as a white solid. Mp 98 °C; IR (neat): 1376, 1598, 1689, 1762, 3413 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CD₃OD): δ 4.02 (s, 3H), 4.1 (m, 1H), 5.28 (dd, J=5.5, J=2.6 Hz, 1H), 5.82 (d, J=4.9 Hz, 1H), 5.92 (d, J=9.9 Hz, 1H), 7.01 (dd, J=10.0 Hz, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 7.41 (t, J=7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.44 (d, J=8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.55 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 8.06 (d, J=7.9 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR (CD₃OD): δ 44.8, 53.3, 59.1, 63.3, 124.4, 127.6, 128.8, 128.9, 129.6, 133.7, 136.8, 146.3, 154.1, 163.1, 193.4; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₁₅H₁₃NO₅ [M+Na]⁺: 310.0686, found: 310.0690.

4.4.7. $[(\pm)$ -(4*S*,4a*S*,10b*R*)] 3,4,4a,10b-Tetrahydro-4-iodo-7-hydroxy-6*H*-[1,3]benzodioxolo[5,6-*c*]benzopyran-6one (34). A solution of 14 (20 mg, 0.076 mmol) in THF (3 mL) was treated with NaHCO₃ (13 mg, 0.15 mmol), then I₂ (23 mg, 0.09 mmol), and stirred at room temperature for 15 h. Saturated Na₂S₂O₃ solution (10 mL) was then added and the mixture was extracted with EtOAc (3×10 mL). The aqueous layer was washed with EtOAc (15 mL), and the combined organic layer was dried, concentrated, and purified by chromatography over silica gel (eluent: 30% EtOAc in hexanes) to provide iodolactone **34** (30 mg, 71%) as a white solid. Mp 179 °C (lit.²⁶ mp 177 °C); ¹H NMR: δ 2.63–2.72 (m, 1H), 3.30–3.37 (m, 1H), 4.06–4.10 (m, 1H), 4.57–4.60 (m, 1H), 4.90–4.92 (m, 1H), 5.46–5.50 (m, 1H), 5.69–5.73 (m, 1H), 6.09 (s, 2H), 6.46 (s, 1H), 10.86 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR: δ 19.6, 30.8, 35.6, 77.7, 100.4, 102.7, 103.0, 124.2, 124.3, 133.5, 137.9, 145.8, 154.5, 168.0; EIHRMS Calcd for C₁₄H₁₁IO₅ [M]⁺: 385.9651, found: 385.9663.

4.4.8. $[(\pm)-4R,4aR,10bR]$ *tert*-Butyl 4-hydroxy-2,3,4,4a,6,10b-hexahydro-1*H*-phenanthridine-5-carboxylate (35). A solution of alcohol 27 (237 mg, 0.78 mmol) in methanol (4 mL) was stirred with 10% Pd–C (80 mg) under 1 atm of H₂ for 3 h, then was filtered through Celite[®] and purified by chromatography over silica gel (eluent: 30% EtOAc in hexanes) to yield 35 (77 mg, 95%) as a colorless oil. ¹H NMR: δ 1.25–1.27 (m, 2H), 1.45 (s, 9H), 1.56–1.59 (m, 1H), 1.67–1.76 (m, 1H), 1.96–1.99 (m, 1H), 2.30 (br s, 1H), 2.47 (dd, *J*=13.5 Hz, *J*=2.8 Hz, 1H), 3.30 (m, 2H), 4.25 (m, 1H), 4.45 (d, *J*=16.8 Hz, 1H), 4.70 (d, *J*=16.9 Hz, 1H), 7.11–7.29 (m, 4H); ¹³C NMR: δ 19.6, 26.7, 28.4 (3C), 35.4, 37.4, 44.3, 58.3, 69.3, 80.5, 125.4, 126.1, 126.5, 126.8, 133.2, 135.2, 157.2; EIHRMS Calcd for C₁₈H₂₅NO₃ [M]⁺: 303.1834, found: 303.1848.

4.4.9. [(±)-4*R*,4a*R*,10b*R*] *tert*-Butyl 4-hydroxy-2,3,4,4a, **6**,10b-hexahydro-1*H*-[1,3]dioxolo[4,5-*j*]phenanthridine-**5-carboxylate (36).** Analogous to the conversion of **27** to **35**, hydrogenation of alcohol **28** gave **36** in 95% yield as colorless oil. IR (neat): 1251, 1689, 2933, 3428 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR: δ 1.22–1.30 (m, 2H), 1.44 (s, 9H), 1.49–1.56 (m, 2H), 1.96– 1.98 (m, 1H), 2.31–2.34 (d, *J*=11.2 Hz, 1H), 2.60 (br s, –OH, 1H), 3.18 (m, 1H), 3.30 (m, 1H), 4.19 (m, 1H), 4.32 (d, *J*=13.2 Hz, 1H), 4.59 (d, *J*=13.0 Hz, 1H), 5.90 (s, 1H), 5.91 (s, 1H), 6.57 (s, 1H), 6.74 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR: δ 19.5, 27.2, 28.5 (3C), 35.3, 37.2, 44.3, 58.2, 69.1, 80.5, 100.9, 105.6, 106.5, 126.3, 128.6, 145.9, 146.8, 157.1; EIHRMS Calcd for C₁₉H₂₅NO₅ [M]⁺: 347.1733, found: 347.1723.

4.4.10. [(±)-4R,4aR,10bR] tert-Butyl 4-methanesulfonyloxy-2,3,4,4a,6,10b-hexahydro-1H-phenanthridine-5carboxylate (37). Alcohol 35 (92 mg, 0.3 mmol) was dissolved in dry CH₂Cl₂ (3 mL) and cooled to 0 °C. To this solution was added Hunig's base (79 µL, 0.45 mmol) and methanesulfonyl chloride (37 µL, 0.45 mmol). The reaction mixture was slowly warmed to room temperature and stirred overnight. The mixture was diluted with dichloromethane (30 mL) and washed with saturated NH₄Cl (20 mL) and brine (20 mL). The dichloromethane layer was extracted, dried, and purified by chromatography over silica gel (20% EtOAc in hexanes) to provide mesylate 37 (52 mg, 45%) as a colorless oil, which was used immediately in the next step. ¹H NMR (500 MHz): δ 1.24–1.27 (m, 1H), 1.50 (s, 9H), 1.60-1.73 (m, 3H), 2.03-2.2 (m, 1H), 2.47-2.50 (m, 1H), 2.97 (s, 3H), 3.41 (m, 1H), 4.38-4.41 (m, 1H), 4.51-4.59 (m, 2H), 4.82-4.86 (m, 1H), 7.15-7.28 (m, 4H).

4.4.11. [(±)-3aS,11bR,11cR] 4-Oxa-1,2,3,3a,4,5,11b,11coctahydro-7H-pyrrolo[3,2,1-de]phenanthridin-5-one (38). Mesylate 37 (19 mg, 0.05 mmol) dissolved in DMF (0.5 mL) was treated with potassium *tert*-butoxide (6 mg, 0.055 mmol) and heated to 65 °C for 6 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc (30 mL), washed with saturated aqueous NH₄Cl (20 mL) and brine (20 mL). The organic layer was dried, concentrated, and purified by chromatography over silica gel (20% EtOAc in hexanes) to provide **38** (7 mg, 63%) as a colorless oil. IR (neat): 1308, 1751, 1800. 2940 cm⁻¹: ¹H NMR: δ 1.37–1.43 (m. 1H), 1.44– 1.50 (m, 1H), 1.60–1.72 (m, 1H), 1.78–1.86 (m, 2H), 2.10–2.13 (m, 1H), 2.90 (dt, J=12.4 Hz, J=4.8 Hz, 1H), 3.98 (dd, J=7.6 Hz, 4.0 Hz, 1H), 4.35 (d, J=13.2 Hz, 1H), 4.75 (d, J=13.3 Hz, 1H), 4.80 (q, J=7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.15-7.26 (m, 4H); ¹³C NMR: δ 15.3, 26.5, 28.5, 37.7, 43.1, 53.3, 74.1, 126.8, 127.0, 127.1, 129.3, 130.3, 136.6, 158.4; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₁₄H₁₅NO₂ [M+H]⁺: 230.1181, found: 230.1173.

4.4.12. [(±)-3aS,11bR,11cR] 4-Oxa-1,2,3,3a,4,5,11b,11coctahydro-7H-[1,3]dioxolo[4,5-j]pyrrolo[3,2,1-de]phenanthridin-5-one (39). A solution of alcohol 36 (40 mg, 0.12 mmol) in benzene (3 mL) was treated with methyl N-(triethylammoniosulfonyl)carbamate³⁸ (30 mg, 0.17 mmol) and heated to reflux. After 12 h, the reaction was diluted with EtOAc (25 mL) and washed with saturated aqueous NH₄Cl solution, followed by brine. The organic layer was dried, concentrated, and purified by chromatography over silica gel (eluent: 40% EtOAc in hexanes) to provide the oxazolidinone **39** as a colorless oil (18 mg, 56%). IR (neat): 1201, 1484, 1751, 2936 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR: δ 1.35-1.45 (m, 2H), 1.61–1.81 (m, 3H), 2.05–2.08 (m, 1H), 2.77 (dt, J=12.4 Hz, J=4.8 Hz, 1H), 3.93 (dd, J=7.5 Hz, J=4.3 Hz, 1H), 4.23 (d, J=16.2 Hz, 1H), 4.62 (d, J=16.3 Hz, 1H), 4.77 (q, J=7.6 Hz, 1H), 5.93 (s, 2H), 6.58 (s, 1H), 6.59 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR: δ 19.2, 26.4, 28.9, 37.7, 43.2, 53.3, 74.1, 101.2, 106.3, 108.7, 123.3, 129.8, 146.8, 146.9, 158.2; ESIHRMS Calcd for C₁₅H₁₅NO₄ [M+H]⁺: 274.1079, found: 274.1077.

Acknowledgements

We thank the NSF (CHE 9986200) for partial support of this work, Bhushan Surve for the X-ray structure, and Professor Yian Shi for a sample of oxazolidinone **31**.

References and notes

- The rate constant for the addition of the phenyl radical to benzene is 4.5×10⁵ M⁻¹ s⁻¹ at 25 °C. Scaiano, J. C.; Stewart, L. C. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1983, *105*, 3609–3614.
- Martínez-Barrasa, V.; Garcia de Viedma, A.; Burgos, C.; Alvarez-Builla, J. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3933–3935.
- Studer, A.; Bossart, M. Homolytic Aromatic Substitutions. Radicals in Organic Synthesis; Renaud, P., Sibi, M., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2001; Vol. 2, pp 62–80.
- (a) Beckwith, A. L. J.; Bowry, V. W.; Bowman, W. R.; Mann, E.; Parr, J.; Storey, J. M. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 95–98; (b) Curran, D. P.; Yu, H.; Liu, H. Tetrahedron 1994,

50, 7343–7366; (c) Curran, D. P.; Liu, H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **1994**, 1377–1393; (d) Engel, P. S.; Wu, W.-X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1989**, 111, 1830–1835.

- 5. (a) Crich, D.; Hwang, J.-T. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 2765–2770;
 (b) Crich, D.; Patel, M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3625–3628.
- 6. BDE Me₃Sn-H, 78 kcal mol⁻¹; BDE PhSe-H 78±4 78 kcal mol⁻¹: (a) Laarhoven, L. J. J.; Mulder, P.; Wayner, D. D. M. Acc. Chem. Res. **1999**, 32, 342–349; (b) Leeck, D. T.; Li, D. T.; Chyall, L. J.; Kenttamaa, H. I. J. Phys. Chem. **1996**, 100, 6608–6611.
- 7. Rate constants for trapping of primary alkyl radicals by Bu₃SnH and PhSeH at 25 °C are, respectively, 2×10^6 and 1×10^9 M⁻¹ s⁻¹: (a) Newcomb, M.; Choi, S.-Y.; Horner, J. H. *J. Org. Chem.* **1999**, *64*, 1225–1231; (b) Chatgilialoglu, C.; Ingold, K. U.; Scaiano, J. C. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1981**, *103*, 7739–7742.
- 8. Roberts, B. P. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1999, 28, 25-35.
- (a) Crich, D.; Yao, Q. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 84–88; (b) Crich, D.; Jiao, X.-Y.; Yao, Q.; Harwood, J. S. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 2368–2373; (c) Crich, D.; Hwang, J.-T.; Gastaldi, S.; Recupero, F.; Wink, D. J. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 2877–2882.
- 10. Crich, D.; Sannigrahi, M. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 3319-3322.
- Reviews on desymmetrization of cyclohexadienes generated by other means: (a) Rahman, N. A.; Landais, Y. *Curr. Org. Chem.* 2002, *6*, 1369–1395; (b) Studer, A.; Kim, Y. H. *Synlett* 2005, 3033–3041.
- 12. Crich, D.; Rumthao, S. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 1513-1516.
- 13. Crich, D.; Grant, D. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 2384-2386.
- Reviews: (a) Martin, S. F. *The Alkaloids*; Brossi, A., Ed.; Academic: San Diego, CA, 1987; Vol. 30, pp 252–376; (b) Polt, R. *Organic Synthesis: Theory and Applications*; Hudlicky, T., Ed.; JAI: Greenwich, 1996; Vol. 3, pp 109–148; (c) Hoshino, O. *The Alkaloids*; Cordell, G. A., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1998; Vol. 51, pp 323–424; (d) Jin, Z. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2003**, 20, 606–614; (e) Rinner, U.; Hudlicky, T. *Synlett* **2005**, 365–405.
- 15. Total synthesis of pancratistatin: (a) Danishefsky, S.; Lee, J. Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 4829-4837; (b) Tian, X. R.; Hudlicky, T.; Konigsbeger, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 3643-3644; (c) Trost, B. M.; Pulley, S. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 10143-10144; (d) Keck, G. E.; McHardy, S. F.; Murry, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 7289-7290; (e) Hudlicky, T.; Tian, X. R.; Königsberger, K.; Maurya, R.; Rouden, J.; Fan, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 10752-10765; (f) Doyle, T. J.; Hendrix, M.; VanDerveer, D.; Javanmard, S.; Haseltine, J. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 11153-11170; (g) Magnus, P.; Sebhat, I. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 5341-5342; (h) Rigby, J. H.; Maharoof, U. S. M.; Mateo, M. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 6624-6628; (i) Pettit, G. R.; Melody, N.; Herald, D. L. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 2583–2587; (j) Kim, S.; Ko, H.; Kim, E.; Kim, D. Org Lett. 2002, 4, 1343-1345; (k) Kim, H.; Kim, E.; Park, J. E.; Kim, D.; Kim, S. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 112-121; (1) Moser, M.; Sun, X.; Hudlicky, T. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5669-5672.
- Total synthesis of 7-deoxypancratistatin: (a) Tian, X.; Maurya, R.; Königsberger, K.; Hudlicky, T. Synlett 1995, 1125–1126; (b) Keck, G. E.; McHardy, S. F.; Murray, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 7289–7290; (c) Chida, N.; Jitsuoka, M.; Yamamoto, Y.; Ohtsuka, M.; Ogawa, S. Heterocycles 1996, 43, 1385–1390; (d) Hudlicky, T.; Tian, X. R.; Königsberger, K.; Maurya, R.; Rouden, J.; Fan, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 10752–10765; (e) Keck, G. E.; Wager, T. T.; McHardy, S. F. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 9164–9165; (f) Keck, G. E.;

McHardy, S. F.; Murray, J. A. J. Org. Chem. **1999**, 64, 4465–4476; (g) Acena, J. L.; Arjona, O.; Leon, M. L.; Plumet, J. Org. Lett. **2000**, 2, 3683–3686; (h) Rinner, U.; Siengalewicz, P.; Hudlicky, T. Org Lett. **2002**, 4, 115–117.

- Total synthesis of narciclasine: (a) Rigby, J. H.; Mateo, M. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 12655–12656; (b) Gonzalez, D.; Martinot, T.; Hudlicky, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 3077–3080; (c) Keck, G. E.; Wagger, T. T.; Rodriquez, J. F. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 5176–5190; (d) Elango, S.; Yan, T.-H. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 6954–6959; (e) Hudlicky, T.; Rinner, U.; Gonzalez, D.; Akgun, H.; Schilling, S.; Siengalewicz, P.; Martinot, T. A.; Pettit, G. R. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 8726–8743.
- Total synthesis of lycoricidine: (a) Ohta, S.; Kimoto, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1975**, *16*, 2279–2282; (b) Paulsen, H.; Stubbe, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1982**, *23*, 3171–3174; (c) Paulsen, H.; Stubbe, M. *Liebigs Ann. Chem.* **1983**, *4*, 535– 556; (d) Ugarkar, B. G.; DaRe, J.; Schubert, E. M. Synthesis **1987**, *8*, 715–716; (e) Chida, N.; Ohtsuka, M.; Ogawa, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1991**, *32*, 4525–4528; (f) Hudlicky, T.; Olivo, H. F.; McKibben, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1994**, *116*, 5108–5115; (g) Keck, G. E.; Wager, T. T. J. Org. Chem. **1996**, *61*, 8366–8367; (h) Keck, G. E.; Wager, T. T.; Rodriquez, J. F. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, *121*, 5176–5190; (i) Elango, S.; Yan, T.-H. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 7335–7338; (j) Zhang, H.; Padwa, A. Org. Lett. **2006**, *8*, 247–250.
- (a) Hudlicky, T.; Thorpe, A. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1996, 1993–2000; (b) Hudlicky, T.; Gonzalez, D.; Gibson, D. Aldrichim. Acta 1999, 32, 35–62.
- (a) Yoon, N. M.; Brown, H. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 2927–2938;
 (b) Windhorst, A. D.; Timmerman, H.; Worthington, E. A.; Bijloo, G. J.; Nederkoorn, P. H. J.; Menge, W. M. P. B.; Leurs, R.; Herschield, J. D. M. J. Med. Chem. 2000, 43, 1754–1761.
- Beugelmans, R.; Chastanet, J.; Roussi, G. *Tetrahedron* 1984, 40, 311–314.
- (a) Abelman, M. M.; Overman, L. E.; Tran, V. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 6959–6964; (b) Cossy, J.; Tresnard, L.; Gomez Pardo, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 1125–1128; (c) Janssen, D. E.; Wilson, C. V. Org. Synth. Coll. Vol. 1963, 4, 547–549.
- The corresponding *N*,*N*-dimethylamide was similarly accessed by: Keck, G. E.; Wager, T. T.; Rodriguez, J. F. D. *J. Org. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121*, 5176–5190.
- 24. This hydrolysis protocol, necessitated because of the extremely sterically hindered and unreactive nature of the amide, was based on a conversion of the corresponding *N*,*N*-dimethylamide to the methyl ester by Keck.²³
- Beckwith, A. L. J.; O'Shea, D. M.; Roberts, D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 6408–6409.
- 26. A number of other reducing agents were assayed for this transformation but none were as effective as AlH₃ in effecting the reduction while minimizing decomposition of the cyclohexadiene functionality.
- 27. Gorzynski Smith, J. Synthesis 1984, 629-656.
- Jacobsen, E.; Zhang, W.; Muci, A. R.; Ecker, J. R.; Deng, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 7063–7064.
- 29. Jacobsen epoxidation of cyclohexa-1,4-dienes does not appear to have been described in the literature.
- 30. Frohn, M.; Shi, Y. Synthesis 2000, 1979-2000.
- (a) Shu, L.; Shen, Y.-M.; Burke, C.; Goeddel, D.; Shi, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 4963–4965; (b) Lorenz, J. C.; Frohn, M.; Zhou, X.; Zhang, J.-R.; Tang, Y.; Burke, C.; Shi, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 2904–2911.

- 32. Bulman Page, P. C.; Buckley, B. R.; Heaney, H.; Blacker, A. J. *Org. Lett.* **2005**, *7*, 375–377.
- Ma, D.; Xia, C.; Tian, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 8915– 8917.
- 34. Dess, P. B.; Martin, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 4155-4156.
- 35. Cardillo, G.; Orena, M. Tetrahedron 1990, 46, 3321-3408.
- (a) Burgess, E. M.; Penton, H. R.; Taylor, E. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, 92, 5224–5226; (b) Burgess, E. R.; Penton, H. R.; Taylor, E. A. J. Org. Chem. 1973, 38, 26–31.
- Selva, M.; Tundo, P.; Perosa, A.; Dall'acqua, F. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 2771–2777.
- 38. Atkins, G. M.; Burgess, E. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 4744–4745.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6841-6847

Tetrahedron

Highly efficient and selective oxidation of secondary alcohols to ketones under organic solvent and transition metal free conditions

Suman L. Jain, Vishal B. Sharma and Bir Sain*

Chemical and Biotechnology Division, Indian Institute of Petroleum, Dehradun-248005, India

Received 3 February 2006; revised 15 April 2006; accepted 28 April 2006 Available online 24 May 2006

Abstract—The aqueous HBr/H₂O₂ was found to be highly efficient and green catalytic system for the selective oxidation of the secondary alcohols to ketones in excellent yields under organic solvent free conditions. The results of the oxidation of the secondary alcohols with solid alternatives of the aqueous hydrogen peroxide like SPC or SPB are also described. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The development of catalytic synthetic methodologies using clean oxidants like molecular oxygen and hydrogen peroxide with a view to replace environmentally prohibitive stoichiometric oxidants is an area of current interest.¹ Hydrogen peroxide is an attractive, atom-economic, and environmentally benign oxidant as it is cheap, easily available, and produces only water as by-product. In the recent years, it has been extensively used in developing a variety of synthetically important oxidation methodologies like epoxidation, oxidation of alcohols, aldehydes, and sulfides using transition metal based catalysts both in homogeneous and heterogeneous phases.² The oxidation of secondary alcohols to carbonyl compounds is an important synthetic transformation^{1a,3} and a variety of transition metal based catalysts, such as methyltrioxorhenium⁴ dinuclear iron complexes.⁵ vanadium phosphorus oxide,⁶ cobalt(II) complexes,⁷ $Fe^{3+}/$ montmorillonite-K10 system,⁸ and sodium tungstate⁹ using hydrogen peroxide as oxidant, have been reported in the literature to accomplish it. However, most of these methods are associated with the limitations such as use of toxic, expensive metals, lower yields of the products, and oxidation of only activated such as benzylic and allylic alcohols. In the recent past, increasing emphasis is being placed toward the development of transition metal free ecofriendly synthetic methodologies to avoid the use of toxic and expensive metals and their complexes. In our preliminary communication,¹⁰ we have reported a new and highly efficient methodology for the oxidation of secondary alcohols to ketones with aqueous H_2O_2 in the presence of catalytic amounts of HBr under very mild conditions. Our further observation that this system works more efficiently under organic solvent free conditions prompted us to describe the full details of this improved protocol along with the applications of solid oxidants in the place of aqueous hydrogen peroxide (Schemes 1 and 2).

$$\begin{array}{c} R^{1} & H \\ C & \\ R^{2} & OH \end{array} \xrightarrow{\text{Oxidant, aq. HBr (20 mol%)}} R^{1} \\ \hline R^{2} & \\ R^{2}$$

Scheme 1.

$$\frac{R^{1}}{R^{2}} \xrightarrow{H} \frac{SPC \text{ or SPB, aq. HBr (20 mol%)}}{AcOH, 50 \circ C} \xrightarrow{R^{1}} R^{2} \xrightarrow{R^{2}} C = C$$

Scheme 2.

2. Results and discussion

The oxidation of various secondary alcohols, both activated and non-activated, was carried out by heating the reaction mixture of substrate (1 mmol), aqueous 30 wt % hydrogen peroxide (2 mmol), and catalytic amount of aqueous HBr (20 mol %) at 80 °C under organic solvent free conditions. All the alcohols were selectively converted to the corresponding ketones in excellent yields and these results are presented in Table 1. Among the various alcohols studied, benzoins were found to be the most reactive and required shorter reaction times for their oxidation (Table 1, entries 17 and 18). Furthermore, aromatic substituted alcohols were found to be more reactive than aliphatic/alicyclic (Table 1, entries 1 and 2). Alcohols having both secondary

Keywords: Oxidation; Secondary alcohols; Ketones; Solid oxidant.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +91 135 2660071; fax: +91 135 2660202; e-mail: birsain@iip.res.in

Entry Substrate Product Method A Method B Reaction time (h) Yield^a Reaction time (h) Yield^a CH-C || 0 1 0.50 98 1.0 96 όн ĊH3 ÇНз снон .ċ=o 2 0.75 94 1.0 90 ОН 3 2.0 89 2.0 80 3.5 75 3.0 72 4 Ю CH₃(CH₂)₄C-|| 0 с≡сн с≕сн 5 CH₃(CH₂ 5.00 82 5.5 75 ÇH₃ 6 70 4.50 76 4.0 ΟН ò 7 85 3.5 82 2.5 OH 8 1.75 82 2.0 80 Ph COOMe Ph COOMe QН CH₃ ,CH₃ 9 2.0 89 2.5 86 ОН ОН ŌН 10 2.0 87 2.75 84 11 1.5 82 2.5 80 ℃₄H₉ ℃₄H₉ ŅН 0 || 70 12 3.5 75 4.0 Ph Ph ŌН 13 2.75 85 3.5 82 Βu **B**ut

Table 1. Oxidation of secondary alcohols to ketones

(continued)

Table 1. (continued)



Method A—Reaction conditions: secondary alcohol (1 mmol), 30% H₂O₂ (2 mmol), and 48% aqueous HBr (20 mol %) at 80 °C under organic solvent free conditions.

Method B—Reaction conditions: secondary alcohol (1 mmol), 70% TBHP (2.5 mmol), and 48% aqueous HBr (20 mol %) at 80 °C under organic solvent free conditions.

^a Isolated yields.

as well as primary hydroxyl groups such as 2-ethyl-1,3hexanediol, 2-hydroxymethylcyclohexanol, and 1-phenyl-1,2-ethanediol were selectively converted into 2-ethyl-1hydroxy-3-hexanone, 2-hydroxymethylcyclohexanone, and 2-hydroxy-1-phenylethanone, respectively, under these conditions, showing the usefulness of this method for the selective oxidation of secondary alcohols in the presence of primary alcohols (Table 1, entries 10, 15, and 16). Similarly, other functional groups such as double and triple bonds were found to be inert under these conditions (Table 1, entries 5 and 12). To evaluate the efficiency of this method, we also carried out the oxidation of benzhydrol to benzophenone in different organic solvents and these results are shown in Table 2. Although among the various organic solvents studied, acetonitrile was found to be more suitable, but in

Table 2. Effect of various solvents^a

Entry	Substrate	Solvent	Metho	od A	Method B	
			Reaction time (h)	Yield ^b	Reaction time (h)	Yield ^b
1	Benzhydrol	Acetonitrile	0.75	92	1.5	94
2	Benzhydrol	Methanol	2.0	40	3.0	35
3	Benzhydrol	Toluene	4.5	35	5.0	42
4	Benzhydrol	Dichloroethane	1.5	85	2.5	80
5	Benzhydrol	Neat	0.50	98 ^c	1.0	96 [°]

 a Reaction conditions: substrate (1 mmol), 30% H_2O_2 (2 mmol), and 48% aqueous HBr (20 mol %), solvent (3 ml) under refluxing condition.

^b Isolated yield.

^c As mentioned in Table 1.

general, organic solvent free condition was found to be the best and required shorter reaction time. The effect of the reaction temperature was also evaluated and found that the oxidation of benzhydrol to benzophenone was slow at room temperature but could be conducted efficiently at 80 °C. Further increase in temperature affected the oxidation adversely in terms of yield of the benzophenone, probably due to fast decomposition of H_2O_2 at higher temperature.

2.1. Effect of various bromine sources

To evaluate the effect of various bromine sources, the oxidation of benzhydrol was studied using catalytic amount of different bromine sources (20 mol %) in place of aqueous HBr with aqueous 30% hydrogen peroxide as an oxidant under similar reaction conditions and the results are presented in Table 3. Although the use of molecular bromine and

Entry	Substrate	Bromine source	Reaction times (h)	Yields (%) ^b	
1	Benzhydrol	Aqueous HBr	0.5	98	
2	Benzhydrol	Br ₂	0.5	94	
3	Benzhydrol	NaBr	4.0	30	
4	Benzhydrol	KBr	4.0	85	
5	Benzhydrol	KBr+V ₂ O ₅	1.5	85°	
6	Benzhydrol	PyHBr ₃	1.0	92	

^a Reaction conditions as mentioned in Table 1.

^b Isolated yields.

Using acetonitrile as solvent.

pyridiniumhydrobromide perbromide yielded comparable results, the use of salts such as NaBr and KBr gave very poor yield of the benzophenone. It was also observed that the addition of the catalytic amount of vanadium pentoxide in the reaction mixture of benzhydrol and aqueous H_2O_2 containing catalytic amount of KBr, accelerated the reaction rate and the oxidation was completed within 1.5 h (Table 3, entry 5).

2.2. Effect of various oxidants

Further with a view to evaluate the efficiency of other oxidants, the oxidation of benzhvdrol was carried out with molecular oxygen and aqueous 70% tert-butylhydroperoxide in the presence of catalytic amount of aqueous HBr under similar reaction conditions. While the reaction did not proceed with molecular oxygen, the use of TBHP as an oxidant yielded results comparable to aqueous H_2O_2 . To evaluate the relative efficiencies of TBHP and aqueous H2O2 as oxidants, we studied the oxidation of various activated and non-activated alcohols with 70% TBHP in the presence of catalytic amount of aqueous HBr under organic solvent free conditions and the results obtained are presented in Table 1. All the alcohols were selectively converted to the corresponding ketones and reactivity order was found to be the same as obtained by using H_2O_2 as an oxidant. Benzoins in general were again found to be the most reactive while alcohols containing aromatic substituents were found to be more reactive than aliphatic/alicyclic alcohols. Oxidation of benzhydrol when carried out with TBHP in different solvents yielded results similar to hydrogen peroxide and again organic solvent free condition was found to be the most efficient. (Table 2).

The use of solid peroxy compounds, such as sodium perborate (SPB) and sodium percarbonate (SPC) due to their storage stability, crystalline nature, ease of handling, and higher hydrogen peroxide contents, has gained considerable attention in the recent years in various chemical transformations.¹¹ We therefore studied the oxidation of secondary alcohols to ketones with these solid oxidants using catalytic amount of aqueous HBr (Scheme 2). The protocol developed consists of oxidation of secondary alcohol (1 mmol) with solid oxidant (SPC/SPB) (2.5 mmol) in the presence of catalytic amount of aqueous HBr (20 mol %) in acetic acid (10 mmol) at 50 °C without using any organic solvent as reaction media (Table 4). All the alcohols were selectively and efficiently converted to the corresponding ketones in excellent yields. The presence of acetic acid was found to be essential in these reactions and in its absence the oxidation of benzhydrol in acetonitrile under similar reaction conditions was found to be very slow and gave poor yield of the benzophenone (Table 4, entry 1). This is probably due to the fast release of hydrogen peroxide from the solid oxidants in the presence of acetic acid.¹² To examine the effect of temperature, oxidation of benzhydrol was carried out at different reaction temperatures under similar reaction conditions, using SPC and SPB as solid oxidants. While the reaction was found to be slow at room temperature, at 50 °C the reaction rate was maximum and further increase in the reaction temperature decreases the reaction rate and afforded poor yield of the benzophenone probably due to faster decomposition of solid oxidants at higher temperature.¹³

It is worth mentioning that in contrast to aqueous H_2O_2 and SPC, sodium perborate could oxidize benzhydrol to benzophenone in the presence of catalytic amount of KBr (20 mol %) using acetic acid as a solvent (Table 4, entry 3).

The plausible mechanistic pathway for these reactions may involve the formation of hypobromous acid **2** by the reaction of peroxide oxidant with hydrobromic acid,¹⁰ and its reaction with secondary alcohol **1** to afford hypobromite species **3** which on abstraction of hydrogen yielded corresponding ketone as shown in Scheme 3.



Scheme 3.

3. Conclusion

In summary, the present method describes an efficient, selective, and environmentally friendly synthetic methodology for the oxidation of various secondary alcohols to ketones under transition metal and organic solvent free conditions. The use of SPC and SPB as solid oxidants due to their ease of synthesis/handling, storage stability, and high hydrogen peroxide content makes it more advantageous than previously reported methods. Furthermore, the simplicity of the system, versatility toward a range of activated and non-activated alcohols, selective oxidation of secondary alcohols in the presence of primary alcoholic and other functional groups, simple reaction conditions, and excellent yields of the products make this method a facile, ideal, and attractive synthetic tool for the oxidation of secondary alcohols to ketones.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

The melting points were determined in open capillaries on a Buchi apparatus and are uncorrected. The ¹H NMR spectra were recorded on Bruker 300 MHz spectrometer and the chemical shifts (δ) are expressed in parts per million relative to tetramethylsilane (TMS) as an internal standard. The IR spectra were recorded on a Perkin–Elmer FTIR X 1760 instrument.

4.2. General experimental procedure for the oxidation of secondary alcohols using aqueous HBr/H₂O₂ system

To a stirred solution of secondary alcohol (1 mmol) and aqueous 30% H₂O₂ (2 mmol) was added aqueous HBr (20 mol %) and the mixture was heated at 80 °C under organic solvent free conditions for the period given in

 Table 4. Oxidation of secondary alcohols with solid oxidants SPC and SPB

Entry	Substrate	Method A		Method B	
-		Reaction time (h)	Yield ^a	Reaction time (h)	Yield ^a
1	С СН-СН-СО	4.5	45	6.5	40 ^b
2	CH-CH-O	1.0	96	1.5	94
3	CH-CH-O	_	_	1.25	90 ^c
4	СН3	1.5	92	1.5	90
5	OH	3.00	90	3.75	86
6	ОН	5.0	82	6.5	80
7	Н СН ₃ (СН ₂)4С—С≡СН ОН	6.5	82	4.5	75
8	CH3 OH	5.70	72	6.0	70
9	OH CH ₃	5.70	72	6.0	70
10	OH Ph COOMe	3.5	85	4.5	80
11	Ph	2.5	82	2.5	78
12	OHOH	5.0	75	6.5	69
13	СН-СН ₂ ОН ОН	5.5	72	6.0	74

(continued)

 Table 4. (continued)

Entry	Substrate	Method A		Method B			
		Reaction time (h)	Yield ^a	Reaction time (h)	Yield ^a		
14		2.0	89	3.50	82		
15	$CH_3O - OCH - CH - CH - CH - OCH_3 OH OCH_3$	0.25	97	0.25	94		

Method A—Reaction conditions: secondary alcohol (1 mmol), 48% aqueous HBr (20 mol%), SPC (2.5 mmol), and acetic acid (10 mmol) at 50 °C under organic solvent free conditions.

Method B-Experiments carried out with SPB.

^a Isolated yields.

^b Experiment carried out in acetonitrile without acetic acid.

^c Experiment was carried out using KBr instead of aqueous HBr without any catalyst.

Table 1. Progress of the reaction was monitored by TLC (SiO_2) . At the end of the reaction the excess hydrogen peroxide was destroyed by aqueous bisulfite followed by filtration through a Buckner funnel. After filtration, the reaction mixture was taken in dichloromethane and organic layer was washed with water (three times). The combined organic layer was dried over anhydrous MgSO₄ and the solvent was evaporated under vacuum to afford crude product, which was purified by column chromatography on silica gel using ethyl acetate/hexane (9:1) as an eluent. Evaporation of the solvent yielded corresponding ketones. Reaction times and yields of the products are given in Table 2.

4.3. Typical experimental procedure for oxidation of secondary alcohols using aqueous HBr/solid oxidant system

In a stirred mixture of benzhydrol (0.18 g, 1 mmol), SPB (0.39 g, 2.5 mmol), and acetic acid (0.6 ml, 10 mmol) was added dropwise aqueous HBr (20 mol %, 0.2 mmol, 0.03 ml) at 50 °C. The mixture was stirred for 2 h. After completion of the reaction, the solvent was evaporated under vacuum. The residue thus obtained was extracted with water and dichloromethane. The organic layer was removed and washed again with water (two times). Finally, the organic layer was removed and dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. The solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield pure benzophenone (0.171 g, 94%). All the products were identified by comparing their physical and spectral data (IR and ¹H NMR) with the literature values. The physical and spectral data of the products are given below.

Benzophenone (Table 1, entry 1):¹⁴ mp 47 °C (lit. 48–49 °C)¹⁵ IR (KBr): 3028, 1661, 1489, 1204, 1151 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 7.30–7.55 (m, 6H, Ar H), 7.90–8.00 (m, 4H, Ar H).

Acetophenone (Table 2, entry 2):¹⁶ oil, IR (KBr): 3086, 2923, 1685, 1430, 1267, 1160 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 2.50 (s, 3H, CH₃), 7.45–7.85 (m, 5H, Ar H).

Cyclohexanone (Table 1, entry 3):¹⁴ bp 153 °C/760 mm (lit. 155 °C/760 mm)¹⁵ IR (KBr): 2940, 1712, 1449, 1235 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 1.80–2.15 (m, 6H, CH₂), 2.30–2.38 (m, 4H, CH₂).

(±)-*Camphor* (Table 1, entry 4):¹⁷ mp 172–173 °C (lit. 175–177 °C)¹⁵ IR (KBr): 2935, 1715, 1440, 1369 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 0.97 (s, 6H, CH₃), 1.05–1.40 (m, 5H, CH₂, CH), 1.90 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.10–2.20 (m, 2H, CH₂).

1-Octyne-3-one (Table 1, entry 5): oil, IR (KBr): 3278, 2950, 2105, 1680, 1180 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 0.89–0.95 (m, 3H CH₃), 1.10–1.40 (m, 6H, CH₂), 2.30–2.35 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.10 (s, 1H, \equiv CH).

(-)-*Menthone* (Table 1, entry 6):¹⁴ bp 203–204 °C/760 mm (lit. 207–210 °C/760 mm)¹⁵ IR (KBr) 2940, 1710, 1443, 1369 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 0.80–0.95 (m, 10H, CH₃, CH₂), 1.38–1.75 (m, 5H, CH₂, CH), 2.18–2.52 (m, 3H, CH₃).

4-Methylcyclohexanone (Table 1, entry 7):¹⁸ colorless oil, IR (KBr): 2932, 2869, 1720, 1156 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 0.92 (d, *J*=6.8 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.10–1.25 (m, 5H, CH₂, CH), 1.24–1.32 (m, 4H, CH₂).

Methyl benzoylformate (Table 1, entry 8):¹⁹ bp 247–248 °C (lit. 248–250 °C/760 mm),¹⁵ IR (KBr): 3076, 2941, 1740, 1680, 1315, 1204. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 3.95 (s, 3H, CH₃), 7.40–8.20 (m, 5H, Ar H).

2-*Methylcyclohexanone* (Table 1, entry 9):¹⁸ colorless oil, IR (KBr): 2935, 2863, 1718, 1370, 1156 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 1.00 (d, *J*=7.0 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.34–1.36 (m, 6H, CH₂), 1.62–1.80 (m, 3H).

2-Hydroxymethylcyclohexanone (Table 1, entry 10):²⁰ colorless oil, IR (KBr) 3421, 2960, 1710, 1169 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 1.36–2.61 (m, 9H, CH₂), 2.79 (br s, 1H, OH), 3.50–3.67 (m, 2H, CH₂).

Hexan-2-one (Table 1, entry 11):¹⁶ oil, IR (KBr): 2961, 2937, 1718, 1368, 1165 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 0.90 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.27–1.32 (m, 2H, CH₂), 1.52–1.58 (m, 2H), 2.14 (s, 3H, CH₃) 2.43 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 2H, CH₂).

1-Phenyl-1-hepten-3-one (Table 1, entry 12):²¹ colorless oil, IR (KBr): 3010, 2961, 2937, 1720, 1364, 1162 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 0.90 (t, *J*=7.0 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.35–1.55 (m, 4H, CH₂), 2.58 (t, *J*=6.2 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 6.74 (d, 1H, *J*=13.2 Hz, =CH), 7.28–7.60 (m, 6H, =CH and Ar H).

4-tert-Butyl cyclohexanone (Table 1, entry 13):^{23a,24a} mp 45–47 °C (lit. 47–50 °C)¹⁵ IR (KBr): 2955, 1718, 1468, 1366 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 0.90 (s, 9H, CH₃), 1.30–1.60 (m, 5H), 2.10–2.35 (m, 4H).

Cyclopentanone (Table 1, entry 14):^{23b,24b} bp 129–130 °C/ 760 mm (130–131 °C/760 mm)¹⁵ IR (KBr) 2942, 1446, 1236 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 1.82–210 (m, 4H, CH₂), 2.34–2.40 (m, 4H, CH₂).

3-Hydroxymethyl-4-heptanone (Table 1, entry 15):²⁰ colorless liquid. IR (KBr): 3422, 1705 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 0.90 (t, *J*=7.4 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 0.95 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.39–1.70 (m, 4H, CH₂), 2.14 (br s, 1H, OH), 2.45 (t, *J*=7.3 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 2.60–2.68 (m, 1H, CH), 3.70–3.75 (m, 2H, CH₂).

2-Hydroxy-1-phenylethanone (Table 1, entry 16):²² mp 83– 84 °C (lit. 84–85 °C) IR (KBr): 3428, 1682 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 2.98 (s, 1H, OH), 4.85 (s, 2H, CH₂), 7.50–7.85 (m, 5H, Ar H).

Benzil (Table 1, entry 17):¹⁴ mp 92–93 °C (lit. 94–95 °C)¹⁵ IR (KBr): 3043, 1678, 1659, 1594, 1315, 1176 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 7.52–7.61 (m, 6H, Ar H), 7.80–7.89 (m, 4H, Ar H).

4,4'-Dimethoxybenzil (Table 1, entry 18):²⁵ mp 130–131 °C (lit. 132–134 °C)¹⁵ IR (KBr): 3046, 2959, 1682, 1598, 1314, 1171 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 3.80 (s, 6H, CH₃), 6.94 (d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 4H, Ar H), 7.94 (d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 4H, Ar H).

14,15-Octacosanedione (Table 1, entry 19): mp 67–69 °C (lit. 70–72 °C)²⁶ IR (KBr) 2941, 2877, 1724, 1449, 1389, 1163 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 0.89–1.00 (m, 6H, CH₃), 1.10–1.72 (m, 44H, CH₂), 2.30 (m, 4H, CH₂).

Acknowledgements

We are thankful to the Director, IIP for his kind permission to publish these results. Suman L. Jain and Vishal B. Sharma are thankful to CSIR, New Delhi for the award of Research Fellowships.

References and notes

 (a) Punniyamurthy, T.; Velusamy, S.; Iqbal, J. Chem. Rev. 2005, 105, 2329; (b) Sheldon, R. A.; Kochi, J. K. Metal Catalyzed Oxidations of Organic Compounds; Academic: New York, NY, 1981; (c) Simandi, L. I. Catalytic Activation of Dioxygen by Metal Complexes; Kluwer Academic: Netherlands, 1992; (d) Clark, J.; Macquarrie, D. Handbook of Green Chemistry & Technology; Blackwell: MA, 2002.

- 2. (a) Jones, C. W. Application of Hydrogen Peroxide and Derivatives; Royal Society of Chemistry: Cambridge, 1999;
 (b) Strukul, G. Catalytic Oxidations with Hydrogen Peroxide as Oxidant; Kluwer Academic: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 1992; (c) Noyori, R.; Aoki, M.; Sato, K. Chem. Commun. 2003, 1977.
- (a) Ley, S. V.; Madin, A. Comprehensive Organic Synthesis; Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 7, pp 305–327; (b) Arterburn, J. B. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 9765; (c) Hudlicky, M. Oxidation in Organic Chemistry. ACS Monograph Ser. 186; ACS: Washington, DC, 1990.
- (a) Espenson, J. H.; Zhu, Z.; Zauche, T. H. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 1191; (b) Herrmann, W. A.; Zoller, J. P.; Fischer, R. W. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 579, 404.
- 5. Martin, S. E.; Garrone, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 549.
- 6. Pillai, U. R.; Demessie, E. S. Appl. Catal., A 2004, 276, 139.
- 7. Das, S.; Punniyamurthy, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 6033.
- 8. Pillai, U. R.; Demessie, E. S. Appl. Catal., A 2003, 245, 103.
- (a) Sato, K.; Aoki, M.; Takagi, J.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 12386; (b) Sato, K.; Takagi, J.; Aoki, M.; Noyori, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 7549; (c) Sato, K.; Aoki, M.; Takagi, J.; Zimmermann, K.; Noyori, R. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1999, 72, 2287.
- 10. Sharma, V. B.; Jain, S. L.; Sain, B. Synlett 2005, 173.
- (a) For reviews on SPB and SPC see: Mckillop, A.; Sanderson, W. R. *Tetrahedron* **1995**, *36*, 663; (b) Muzart, J. *Synthesis* **1995**, 1325.
- 12. Vaino, A. R. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 4210.
- Elvers, B.; Hawkins, S. Ullmanns Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry; VCH: Weinheim, 1991; Vol. A-19, p 117.
- 14. Velusamy, S.; Punniyamurthy, T. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 217.
- 15. Aldrich Handbook of Fine Chemicals and Laboratory Equipments; Sigma–Aldrich: Milwaukee, WI, 2003–2004.
- 16. Qian, W.; Jin, E.; Bao, W.; Zhang, Y. *Tetrahedron* **2006**, *62*, 556.
- Surendra, K.; Srilakshmi Krishnaveni, N.; Arjun Reddy, M.; Nageswar, M.; Rama Rao, K. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 2058.
- Ragagnin, G.; Betzemeier, B.; Quici, S.; Knochel, P. *Tetra*hedron 2002, 58, 3985.
- (a) Pouchart, C. J. *The Aldrich Library of NMR Spectra*, II ed.; 1983; Vol. 2, p 277 D; (b) Pouchart, C. J. *The Aldrich Library of Infrared Spectra*, III ed.; 1981; p 1026 D.
- Kim, D. W.; Hong, D. J.; Seo, J. W.; Kim, H. S.; Kim, H. K.; Song, C. E.; Chi, D. Y. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 3186.
- 21. Kim, S.; Lee, J. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 2608.
- Kuhakarn, C.; Kittigowittana, K.; Pohmakotr, M.; Reutrakaul, V. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, *61*, 8995.
- (a) Pouchart, C. J. *The Aldrich Library of NMR Spectra*, II ed.; 1983; Vol. 1, p 397 B; (b) Pouchart, C. J. *The Aldrich Library of NMR Spectra*, II ed.; 1981; Vol. 1, p 393 B.
- 24. (a) Pouchart, C. J. *The Aldrich Library of Infrared Spectra*, III ed.; 1983; p 257 H; (b) Pouchart, C. J. *The Aldrich Library of Infrared Spectra*, III ed.; 1981; p 255 C.
- (a) Pouchart, C. J. *The Aldrich Library of NMR Spectra*, II ed.; 1983; Vol. 2, p 59 B; (b) Pouchart, C. J. *The Aldrich Library of NMR Spectra*, III ed.; 1981; p 882 A.
- 26. Bouquet, F.; Paquot, C. Bull. Soc. Chim., France 1948, 1165.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6848-6854

Tetrahedron

HSAB-driven chemoselective N¹-alkylation of pyrimidine bases and their 4-methoxy- or 4-acetylamino-derivatives

Augusto Gambacorta,^{a,*} Daniela Tofani,^a Maria Antonietta Loreto,^b Tecla Gasperi^b and Roberta Bernini^c

^aCISDiC, Dipartimento di Ingegneria Meccanica e Industriale, Università 'Roma Tre', via Vasca Navale 79, I-00146 Roma, Italy ^bIstituto C.N.R. di Chimica Biomolecolare, Sezione Roma, Dipartimento di Chimica, Università 'La Sapienza'.

P.le Aldo Moro 5, 00185 Rome, Italy

^cDipartimento di Agrobiologia ed Agrochimica, Università della Tuscia, Via S.Camillo de Lellis, I-01100 Viterbo, Italy

Received 1 February 2006; revised 13 April 2006; accepted 28 April 2006 Available online 26 May 2006

Abstract—The lithium salts of the conjugated bases of 4-methoxy- and 4-acetylamino-2(1H)-pyrimidinones **1–3** undergo highly chemoselective N¹-methylation or ethylation when treated with methyl- or ethylsulfate (hard electrophiles) in dry dioxane, while the use of DMF as solvent results in competitive O²-alkylation. Potassium salts of the same bases in DMF undergo prevalent O²-attack. Under the same conditions, a similar but less chemoselective behaviour is observed in alkylation of thymine and uracil, where some N³-attack occurs. This can be rationalised in terms of the HSAB principle.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

N¹-Alkylated nucleic acid bases are widely used as nucleoside analogs to exert anti-viral¹ and anti-inflammatory activities,² to inhibit the activity of reverse transcriptase in the HIV virus,³ as anti-cancer agents,⁴ as agonists of AMPA and kainate receptors⁵ and as GnRH receptor antagonists.⁶ Although N¹-alkylated pyrimidinones can be obtained by intramolecular condensation⁶ or by Pd(0)-catalysed reactions,^{1a} the most general approach involves an S_N² displacement. In this process, the conjugate base of the substrate is usually reacted with electrophiles (alkyl phosphates,7 halides^{3b,5,7b,8} and diazoalkanes⁹) in polar solvents. However, due to the tetradentate nucleophilic nature of the intermediate conjugated base, these reactions suffer from low chemoselectivity and lead to mixtures of N^1 -monoalkylated and N^1 , N^3 -dialkylated products^{1a,3b,5,7a,8} along with some products resulting from O²- and O⁴-attack.^{7a,9a} In order to avoid these problems, various methodologies using 2,4-dimethoxy-¹⁰ or 2,4-disilyloxy-pyrimidines¹¹ as starting materials have been developed and are widely applied.^{3b,c,e}

Formation of the N¹,N³-dialkylated products can be easily explained in terms of deprotonation and subsequent re-

alkylation of the N¹-monoalkylated products. However, the lack of N³-monoalkylation derivatives is difficult to explain in terms of the higher acidity of N¹–H than N³–H, as stated in the literature.^{3e} In fact, Wittenburg¹² and Ganguly and Kundu¹³ have shown that first deprotonation of thymine occurs at N³ with a pK_a value of 9.9, but the N^{3–} species is in equilibrium with the N^{1–} species in a 1:1 ratio. The same behaviour is also operative in uracil, with a pK_a value of 9.5.^{13,14} Therefore, the lack of N³-attack should be related to an intrinsic higher reactivity of N¹.

While investigating the hypothesis that the HSAB principle¹⁵ is responsible for the above regioselectivity, we first studied the chemoselectivity on simplified models: 2-methoxy-4(3*H*)-pyrimidinone derivatives (Scheme 1), where the intermediate tridentate conjugate base can undergo N¹-, N³- or O⁴-attack. We reported¹⁶ that a very high N³-chemoselectivity is observed when reactions are carried out in a low polarity solvent (dioxane) and both a hard base (LiH) and a hard electrophile (alkylsulfate or tosylate) are used. Under these conditions, tight ionic pairs



Scheme 1.

Keywords: Pyrimidinones; Alkylation; Regioselection; HSAB principle.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +39 0655173280; fax: +39 0655173327; e-mail: gambacor@uniroma3.it

between the O⁴-anion and the lithium cation are obtained, so preventing O⁴-alkylation, in addition, the electron releasing methoxy group at C₂ enhances the hardness of the N³-anion with respect to that of N¹, giving rise to a favourable hard-hard match with the hard alkylating agents. Accordingly, the use of either softer counterions (Na⁺ or K⁺) or a softer alkylating agent (BnBr) results in competitive O⁴- or N¹-attack.¹⁶

The above findings prompted us to further investigate the applicability of the HSAB principle to the selective alkylation of pyrimidinone derivatives. We proposed that, moving the methoxy group from C₂ to C₄ would result in an inversion of the hardness of the two nitrogen in favour of the N¹ position and so give selective N¹-alkylations. Hence, in order to confirm our hypothesis and to take synthetic advantage, we carried out a model study to investigate the effects of different solvents and alkylating agents on the distribution of products arising from S²_N alkylation of the 4-methoxy- and the 4-acetylamino-2(1*H*)-pyrimidinones **1–3** (Scheme 2). In addition, to obtain information about the real effect of the electron releasing group (ERG) at O⁴ (or O²) on the chemoselectivity, the same studies were extended to the unprotected pyrimidine bases thymine **4** and uracil **5** (Scheme 4).



Scheme 2.

2. Results and discussion

Initial experiments were concerned with the chemoselection of the methylation or ethylation of 1-3 where, due to the tridentate nucleophilic character of the intermediate metal salts 1'-3', the monoalkylated compounds 6a-f, 7a-f and 8a-f (Scheme 2) were expected as products, with their relative amounts depending on the metal counterion, the solvent and the alkylating agent. Substrate 3 is commercial, while compounds 1 and 2 were prepared as reported in the literature.¹⁷ Surprisingly, we noticed that substrates 1-3 are remarkably less soluble in dioxane than the corresponding, previously studied,¹⁶ 2-methoxy-derivatives (Scheme 1). This feature was found to be in agreement with the calculated logarithms of the partition coefficient for n-octanol/ water, 18^{-18} which are -0.599, -1.098 and -1.680 for compounds 1, 2 and 3, respectively, versus 0.133 and -0.385for the 2-methoxy-derivatives corresponding to 1 and 2. This lower solubility necessitated the reactions in dioxane to occur in heterogeneous phase, even at 60 °C, and accounted for the low reaction rates observed.

Trial experiments allowed the isolation and characterisation (see Section 4 and Scheme 2) of pure standards of the unprecedented products of N¹- and O²-alkylation **6b**, **6f**, **7b**, **7d** and **7f**, as well as the known compounds **6a**,**c**,**d**,^{9a} **6e**,¹⁹ **7a**,**c**¹⁷ and **7e**,²⁰ while products **8a**–**f** were never found. In addition, variable amounts of the commercial compounds **9a**,**c**,**d** and **9b**,²¹ resulting from hydrolysis of the methoxy group at C₄ during either workup or chromatographic separation, were isolated from the reaction mixtures of **1** and **2** together with the already known N¹,N³-double alkylation products **10a–d**.^{22–24} Finally, small amounts of the known N¹,O⁴-diethyl derivatives **11b**²⁴ and **11d**^{9a} (Scheme 3) were identified in some ethylation experiments.



Scheme 3.

The metal salts 1'-3' were prepared using LiH or KH as hard or soft counterions, respectively, while dry dioxane (ε =2.2) or DMF (ε =38.2) were used as solvents in order to generate either tight or loose ionic couples. Dry dimethylsulfate (DMS) and diethylsulfate (DES) were chosen as hard electrophiles, while the corresponding iodides were used as soft alkylating agents. All reactions were monitored and analysed by HPLC, over 24 h, in the case of substrates 1 and 2, and over 48 h for substrate 3. Results are shown in Table 1, where the HPLC percentages of the obtained products 6 (including their hydrolysis products 9) and 7 are reported in the N¹ and O² columns, respectively, together with the corresponding N¹/ O² ratios. HPLC percentages of the unexpected (vide infra) products 10, arising from N¹,N³-double alkylation, are also reported, while minor products (less than 1%) are not shown.

The data in Table 1 support our hypothesis of HSAB-driven chemoselectivity. N³-Alkylation is always absent so that only N¹ and O² compete for the electrophile. This can be explained as a result of the very hard character of N¹ versus N³. When the LiH/dioxane/alkylsulfate system is used to favour both tight O⁻Li⁺ pairs and hard–hard nucleophile–electrophile matches, N¹-alkylation is always the main process with chemoselectivities ranging from >200:1 (meth-ylations) or 36:1 (ethylations) for the 4-methoxypyrimidinones **1–2**, and up to >30:1 for the acetylcytosine **3**. Accordingly, the use of soft electrophiles, such as iodides, does not affect the chemoselectivity, but results only in a poorer conversion of the substrates.

Alkylation of the N^4 -acetylcytosine **3** showed some differences with that of **1** and **2**. The reactivity was always lower

Table 1. HPLC % distribution of products in the S_N² alkylation of 1–3 under different conditions

Run	Base	R^1X	Solvent	N^1	O^2	N ¹ ,N ³	Unreacted substrate	N ¹ /O ² ratio	-
4-Metho	xy-5-methyl-2	(1 <i>H</i>)-pyrimidin	one, 1 ^a						-
1	LiH	DMS	Dioxane	93.8			6.1	>200	
2	LiH	MeI	Dioxane	74.0	_	_	26.0	>200	
3	LiH	DES	Dioxane	76.2	2.1	_	21.0	36.3	
4	LiH	EtI	Dioxane	21.6	Traces	_	75.5	>20	
5	KH	DES	Dioxane	51.2	24.5	_	21.2	2.2	
6	LiH	DMS	DMF	76.0	8.8		14.8	8.6	
7	LiH	MeI	DMF	75.2	9.8	0.4	13.6	7.7	
8	LiH	DES ^b	DMF	42.1	37.4	3.8	15.5	1.1	
9	LiH	EtI ^b	DMF	29.9	24.0	8.0	36.5	1.2	
10	KH	DES	DMF	9.8	64.2	_	25.0	0.1	
4-Metho	xy-2(1 <i>H</i>)-pyri	midinone, 2 ^a							
11	LiH	DMS	Dioxane	90.0		5.0	4.5	>200	
12	LiH	MeI	Dioxane	87.6		5.1	7.1	>200	
13	LiH	DES ^c	Dioxane	89.7	2.5	4.5	3.0	35.9	
14	LiH	EtI ^c	Dioxane	29.1	Traces	1.0	69.0	>20	
15	KH	DES	Dioxane	46.7	33.7	Traces	18.0	1.4	
16	LiH	DMS	DMF	80.1	8.7	4.0	6.0	9.2	
17	LiH	MeI	DMF	65.5	8.5	5.0	20.7	7.7	
18	LiH	DES ^c	DMF	55.3	37.6	3.3	3.0	1.5	
19	LiH	EtI ^c	DMF	43.8	31.2	5.9	18.5	1.4	
20	KH	DES	DMF	40.6	54.0	2.1	2.5	0.7	
4-Acetyl	amino-2(1H)-j	pyrimidinone, 3	d						
21	LiH	DMS	Dioxane	77.9	2.1	—	17.8	37.1	
22	LiH	MeI	Dioxane	17.0	0.5	—	81.9	34.0	
23	LiH	DES	Dioxane	54.5	1.8	—	43.5	30.2	
24	LiH	EtI	Dioxane	2.6			97.4	—	
25	KH	DES	Dioxane	44.5	30.3		24.2	1.5	
26	LiH	DMS	DMF	60.0	6.5		33.0	9.2	
27	LiH	MeI	DMF	56.4	7.0		36.2	8.0	
28	LiH	DES	DMF	65.8	8.8		25.0	7.5	
29	LiH	EtI	DMF	55.0	7.9		36.8	7.0	
30	KH	DES	DMF	37.5	39.6		21.0	0.9	

^a Reactions carried out at 60 °C for 24 h.

^b Small amounts of **6a** and **11b** were detected.

^c Small amounts of **6c** and **11d** were detected.

^d Reactions carried out at 60 °C for 48 h.

and small amounts of O^2 -alkylation products were always present, even in methylations. This is not unexpected²⁵ and could be related to the weaker electron releasing effect of the acetylamino group, resulting in a smaller difference in hardness between O^2 and N^1 .

In contrast, the use of DMF, where loose O^-Li^+ pairs were expected, gave rise to a considerable amount of O^2 -alkylation, which increased with the hardness of the electrophile (compare runs 6, 16 and 26 with runs 8, 18 and 28, respectively). This decrease of the N¹/O² chemoselectivity confirms the typical trend of reactions, which obey the HSAB principle. Accordingly, the use of the soft K⁺ cation (runs 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30) led to a sharp inversion of chemoselectivity in favour of O²-alkylation as observed previously.²⁵

Formation of the unexpected N¹,N³-double alkylation products **10**, usually reported as important by-products in the literature, ^{1a,3b,5,7b,8} is the result of a side reaction. N¹,N³-Dialkylated products occur in very small amounts for the methoxy derivative **1** and increased amounts for substrate **2**, but are absent for the N⁴-acetylcytosine **3**. This trend can be rationalised as a result of a competitive nucleophilic displacement of the O⁴-methyl group by the suitable conjugated base **1**' (or **2**'), as shown in Scheme 3 for the ethylation reactions. This side reaction is suppressed by the steric hindrance of the methyl group at C_5 in the thymine derivative **1** and is impossible for the acetylcytosine **3**.

The detection of small amounts of the N¹,O⁴-dimethylated products **6a** (or **6c**) and the corresponding diethylated products **11b** (or **11d**), together with the N¹,N³-derivatives **10b** (or **10d**), in some ethylation reactions (Table 1, runs 8, 9, 13, 14, 18 and 19), supports this hypothesis. In conclusion, N¹-attack was the most prevalent, if not the only, monoalkylation process observed with the LiH/alkylsulfate/dioxane system and this is in favour of a strong activation at N¹ due to a N¹-hardening effect operated by the ERG at C₄.

With the above results in hand, and in order to verify the real effect of the C₄-ERG (or C₂-ERG)¹⁶ in driving chemoselection, we extended the same experiments to the C₄-unprotected pyrimidine bases thymine **4** and uracil **5**. Here, as outlined in Section 1, single proton extraction can give rise to the two different conjugated bases **4'**, **4''** and **5'**, **5''** (Scheme 4) in a ratio of 1:1,^{12–14} so that each alkylation could afford, in theory, four monoalkylated compounds. Trial experiments showed that alkylation of **4** and **5** was always very slow giving the monoalkylation products **9a–d** and **12a–d**¹⁶ together with the N¹,N³-double alkylation derivatives **10a–d**, as major products. O²- or O⁴-Monoalkylation products were never found, but small amounts of the already

mentioned N^1 , O^4 -diethyl derivatives **11b**, **d** together with the corresponding unprecedented N³, O²-isomers **13b**, **d** were identified in some ethylation experiments. The latter compounds were not isolated, but detected by both GC–MS and by their conversion into **12b**, **d**, respectively, after acid hydrolysis of their mixtures.



Scheme 4.

As depicted in Scheme 4, compounds 11 and 13 are most likely derived from an easier re-alkylation of the more reactive and previously formed O^2 - or O^4 -monoalkylation products, respectively. Therefore, the relative amounts of N,O-bis-alkylation products account for the percentage of O^2 - or O^4 -attack. The same route is followed for the formation of 10 from 9 or 12.

Product distributions under different conditions were measured as described above for substrates **1–3** and the results are reported in Table 2, where N¹, N³ and N¹, N³ columns report the relative amounts of compounds **9**, **12** and **10**, while columns O² and O⁴ report the amounts of compounds **13** and **11**, respectively. Ratios N¹/N³, N¹/O² and N¹/O⁴ are also reported.

The data shown in Table 2 depict a trend similar to that observed for compounds **1–3**, but both chemoselection and reactivity are reduced. N¹-Alkylation was certainly the preferred process, but, in contrast to previous reports, 1a,3b,3e,5,7a,8 N³-attack was always competitive, especially with soft electrophiles and/or in polar solvent. In addition, O²- and O⁴-attack also took place, even in dioxane, when a harder ethyl electrophile was used. Therefore, the N¹ versus N³-chemoselectivity was still good for alkylations carried out with the LiH/dioxane/sulfate system, but dropped down if softer iodides and/or polar solvents were used.

Irrespective of the hard/soft features of the reagents, N¹,N³double alkylation products were always present, their relative amount increasing with polarity. This can be related to an easier proton transfer (Scheme 4) from the monoalkylated products 9 and 12 to the conjugated bases 4', 5' (or 4", 5"). As expected, a sharp increase of both N³- and O-alkylation products, including the known O²,O⁴-bis-alkylation derivatives 14b,c,^{9,24} was observed when K⁺ was used as counterion and DMF as solvent (runs 9 and 18 in Table 2). Therefore, the most used reaction conditions for preparative purposes^{1a,3b,5,7–9} give rise to the worst chemoselection.

Table 2. HPLC % distribution of products in the S_N² alkylation^a of either lithium or potassium salts of 4 and 5 in polar or apolar solvents

Run	Base	R^1X	Solvent	N^1	N^3	O^2	O^4	N^1, N^3	Unreacted substrate	N ¹ /N ³ ratio	N ¹ /O ² ratio	N ¹ /O ⁴ ratio
Thymi	ne, 4											
1	LiH	DMS	Dioxane	68.7	2.2		_	3.6	25.0	31.2	_	_
2	LiH	MeI	Dioxane	47.4	2.2	_	_	1.1	48.5	21.5	_	
3	LiH	DES	Dioxane	63.2	3.2	1.4	2.8	4.7	23.5	19.7	45.1	22.5
4	LiH	EtI	Dioxane	21.7	2.3	_	_	1.0	68.7	9.4		—
5	LiH	DMS	DMF	17.8	4.0		_	5.8	71.8	4.5		—
6	LiH	MeI	DMF	18.8	5.5			4.5	69.7	3.4	_	_
7	LiH	DES	DMF	32.1	3.6	1.7	2.0	9.0	49.7	8.9	18.9	16.0
8	LiH	EtI	DMF	30.6	3.9	1.9	2.1	11.5	48.5	7.8	16.1	14.6
9	KH	DES ^b	DMF	34.0	8.7	2.7	6.3	13.8	29.2	3.9	12.6	5.4
Uracil,	5											
10	LiH	DMS	Dioxane	59.7	2.2			5.0	32.0	27.1	_	_
11	LiH	MeI	Dioxane	12.2	0.8	_	_	2.4	83.8	15.2		—
12	LiH	DES	Dioxane	22.9	1.4	0.6	1.0	2.4	70.8	16.3	37.9	22.9
13	LiH	EtI	Dioxane	16.5	2.3			7.1	73.2	7.1	_	_
14	LiH	DMS	DMF	29.7	4.7			10.5	54.6	6.3	_	_
15	LiH	MeI	DMF	41.0	8.2			2.2	47.5	5.0	_	_
16	LiH	DES	DMF	41.3	5.1	2.0	2.7	12.1	35.9	8.0	20.6	15.3
17	LiH	EtI	DMF	38.8	5.2	2.1	2.8	14.4	36.2	7.5	18.5	13.9
18	KH	DES ^c	DMF	34.4	8.5	2.6	5.8	18.6	25.3	4.0	13.2	5.9

^a Methylations were carried out at 60 °C for 24 h, ethylations for 72 h.

^b Compound **14b** (3.2%) was also present.

^c Compound **14d** (4.0%) was also present.

Despite the already mentioned 1:1 ratio between the two conjugate bases of thymine and uracil, $^{12-14}$ the N¹ position was always preferentially alkylated and this behaviour was enhanced when hard–hard matches were set up by the use of the LiH/dioxane/sulfate system. This is true for an HSAB-driven chemoselection, if N¹ is assumed to be harder than N³, and accounts for the widely reported preferential alkylation at that position.

3. Conclusion

The above results show that chemoselection in S_N^2 alkylation of pyrimidine bases **4–5** is driven by the HSAB principle, the N¹ position being intrinsically harder than the N³. Therefore, the use of both hard alkylating agents, such as sulfates, and apolar solvents results in an increased N¹-attack. Moreover, the intrinsic higher hardness of N¹ is strongly enhanced by the introduction of ERG at C₄, as in compounds **1–3**, and this gives rise to both higher reactivity and almost quantitative N¹-chemoselectivity, under the above reaction conditions. In contrast, when the ERG is at C₂, as in the 2-methoxy-pyrimidinones (Scheme 1), the N³ site becomes harder than that of the N¹ and regioselection is completely reversed to give quantitative N³-alkylation.¹⁶

In conclusion, high yielding chemoselective alkylations at either N^1 or N^3 can be obtained if the HSAB principle is applied to pyrimidinone derivatives carrying ERGs at the C₄ or C₂ position, respectively.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

Chromatographic separations were carried out on silica gel (Fluka, 70–230 mesh) washed with 0.1 M HCl and rinsed with hot distilled water, while Fluka silica gel TLC plates (5–17 μ m, 0.25 mm) were used for TLC analyses. HPLC analyses were performed on a TSP Spectra Series P200 apparatus equipped with a Thermo Hypersil BDS C18 column (250×4.6 mm, 5 μ m) at λ =254 nm.

GC/MS analyses were obtained on a FISON GC 8000 gaschromatograph equipped with a capillary column (MEGA SE52MS, 30 m-long, ID 0.25 mm, film thickness 0.25 μ m) and coupled with a FISON MD800 mass detector. FTIR spectra were recorded in CHCl₃ on a Brucker Vector 22 spectrometer. ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra were performed in CD₃OD on Gemini 200 and VARIAN XL300 spectrometers. HRMS spectra were recorded with Micromass Q-TOF *micro* Mass Spectrometer (Waters).

Substrates 1 and 2 were prepared according to the literature,¹⁷ while substrates 3–5 were purchased (Sigma–Aldrich). Alkylsulfates (DMS and DES) were distilled to neutrality over NaHCO₃, while alkyliodides (MeI and EtI) were distilled over P_2O_5 .

4.2. Products from alkylation of 1–5

LiH (1.2 equiv) was added to a solution of the appropriate substrate (1.0 g) in dry DMF (80 ml) under a dry Ar

atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at 60 °C for 0.5 h. Next, 1.2 equiv of the appropriate freshly distilled alkylsulfate (DMS or DES) were added, the solution was stirred at 60 °C and the reaction progress was monitored by TLC. After two days (three days in the case of uracil **5**), the solution was left to cool, neutralised while stirring with 1.2 equiv of solid NH₄Cl and evaporated under reduced pressure at 40 °C. The residue was suspended in *n*-butanol, dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, filtered and evaporated to leave a crude mixture, which was separated by chromatography (SiO₂, 1:100; eluent CHCl₃/MeOH=99.5:0.5).

All isolated new compounds were determined to be >95% pure by HPLC or GLC and are reported in elution order together with their spectroscopic properties. All isolated known products were identified by comparison with either authentic samples or by their literature described spectroscopic properties and are reported in elution order.

4.2.1. Products from 4-methoxy-5-methyl-2(1*H*)-pyrimidinone 1.

4.2.1.1. Methylation. 5-Methyl-2,4-dimethoxypyrimidine **7a** (110 mg, 10%);¹⁷ 1,3,5-trimethyl-2,4-pyrimidinedione **10a** (12 mg, 1%);²⁴ 4-methoxy-1,5-dimethyl-2(1*H*)pyrimidinone **6a** (0.65 g, 59%);^{9a} 1,5-dimethyl-2,4(3*H*)pyrimidindione **9a** (0.15 g, 15%).

4.2.1.2. Ethylation.

4.2.1.2.1. 2-Ethoxy-4-methoxy-5-methylpyrimidine (7b). Colourless oil (0.42 g, 35%); $\delta_{\rm H}$ 8.05 (1H, q, J 1.0 Hz, C₆H), 4.23 (2H, q, J 7.0 Hz, O²-CH₂), 3.95 (3H, s, O⁴-CH₃), 2.07 (3H, d, J 1.0 Hz, C₅-CH₃), 1.33 (3H, t, J 7.0 Hz, CH₃); $\delta_{\rm C}$ 170.8 (C₄), 168.8 (C₂), 161.3 (C₆), 110.2 (C₅), 63.4 (O²-C), 55.0 (O⁴-C), 13.6 (Me), 13.1 (C₅-Me); *m*/z (%) 168 (38), 153 (60), 140 (53), 125 (36), 124 (100), 82 (70), 55 (83); $\nu_{\rm max}$ 1570, 1455, 1256, 1065 cm⁻¹; HRMS found, 168.0898. C₈H₁₂N₂O₂ requires 168.0899.

4.2.1.2.2. 1-Ethyl-4-methoxy-5-methyl-2(1H)-pyrimidinone (**6b**). White solid (0.46 g, 39%); $\delta_{\rm H}$ 7.17 (1H, q, J 1.0 Hz, C₆H), 3.96 (3H, s, OCH₃), 3.86 (2H, q, J 7.0 Hz, N¹-CH₂), 1.92 (3H, d, J 1.0 Hz, C₅-CH₃), 1.31 (3H, t, J 7.0 Hz, CH₃); $\delta_{\rm C}$ 170.66 (C₂), 156.60 (C₄), 143.60 (C₆), 104.61 (C₅), 54.53 (O-C), 45.16 (N¹-C), 14.55 (CH₃), 12.10 (C₅-CH₃); *m*/z (%) 168 (100), 167 (20), 140 (60), 125 (22), 110 (78), 82 (20), 55 (19); $\nu_{\rm max}$ 1644, 1628, 1545, 1485 cm⁻¹; HRMS found, 168.0896. C₈H₁₂N₂O₂ requires 168.0899.

4-Ethoxy-1-ethyl-5-methyl-2(1*H*)-pyrimidinone **11b** (4 mg, 0.3%);²⁴ 1,3-diethyl-5-methyl-2,4-pyrimidindione **10b** (52 mg, 4%);²² 1-ethyl-5-methyl-2,4(3*H*)-pyrimidindione **9b** (22 mg, 2%).²¹ Traces of **6a** were also found by GC–MS.

4.2.2. Products from 4-methoxy-2(1*H*)-pyrimidinone 2.

4.2.2.1. Methylation. 2,4-Dimethoxypyrimidine **7c** (120 mg, 11%);¹⁷ 1,3-dimethyl-2,4-pyrimidindione **10c** (45 mg, 4%);²⁴ 4-methoxy-1-methyl-2(1*H*)-pyrimidinone **6c** (0.77 g, 70%);^{9a} 1-methyl-2,4(3*H*)-pyrimidindione **9c** (80 mg, 8%).

4.2.2.2. Ethylation.

4.2.2.2.1. 2-*Ethoxy*-4-*methoxypyrimidine* (7*d*). Colourless oil (0.41 g, 39%); $\delta_{\rm H}$ 8.17 (1H, d, *J* 5.5 Hz, C₆H), 6.42 (1H, d,

J 5.5 Hz, C₅-H), 4.40 (2H, q, J 7.0 Hz, O²-CH₂), 3.97 (3H, s, O⁴-CH₃), 1.32 (3H, t, J 7.0 Hz, CH₃); $\delta_{\rm C}$ 171.1 (C₄), 169.5 (C₂), 161.1 (C₆), 101.0 (C₅), 62.9 (O²-C), 54.9 (O⁴-C), 14.1 (Me); *m*/*z* (%) 154 (28), 139 (41), 126 (34), 110 (100), 96 (42), 68 (60); $\nu_{\rm max}$ 1580, 1460, 1380, 1268, 1085 cm⁻¹; HRMS found, 154.0744. C₇H₁₀N₂O₂ requires 154.0742.

4-Ethoxy-1-ethyl-2(1*H*)-pyrimidinone **11d** (3 mg, 0.2%);^{9a} 1,3-diethyl-2,4-pyrimidindione **10d** (46 mg, 3.5%);²³ 1-ethyl-4-methoxy-2(1*H*)-pyrimidinone **6d** (0.63 g, 52%);^{9a} 1-ethyl-2,4(3*H*)-pyrimidindione **9d** (33 mg, 3%). Traces of **6c** were also found by GC–MS.

4.2.3. Products from 4-acetylamino-2(1H)-pyrimidinone 3.

4.2.3.1. Methylation. 4-Acetylamino-2-methoxypyrimidine **7e** (54 mg, 5%);²⁰ 4-acetylamino-1-methyl-2(1H)-pyrimidinone **6e** (0.52 g, 48%).¹⁹

4.2.3.2. Ethylation.

4.2.3.2.1. 4-Acetylamino-2-ethoxypyrimidine (7f). White solid (106 mg, 9%); $\delta_{\rm H}$ 8.22 (1H, d, J 5.5 Hz, C₆H), 7.62 (1H, d, J 5.5 Hz, C₅H), 4.26 (2H, q, J 7.0 Hz, O²-CH₂), 2.07 (3H, s, N⁴-COCH₃), 1.27 (3H, t, J 7.0 Hz, CH₃); $\delta_{\rm C}$ 172.85 (C₂), 165.99 (C=O), 161.26 (C₄), 161.14 (C₆), 104.63 (C₃), 64.42 (O²-C), 24.29 (C(O)-CH₃), 14.78 (CH₃); m/z (%) 181 (M⁺, 20), 166 (47), 137 (47), 111 (47), 95 (100), 68 (28), 43 (83); $\nu_{\rm max}$ 3230, 1675, 1390, 1265 cm⁻¹; HRMS found, 181.0849. C₈H₁₁N₃O₂ requires 181.0851.

4.2.3.2.2. 4-Acetylamino-1-ethyl-2(1H)-pyrimidinone (6f). White solid (0.75 g, 63%); $\delta_{\rm H}$ 7.91 (1H, d, J 7.0 Hz, C₆H), 7.28 (1H, d, J 7.0 Hz, C₅H), 3.84 (2H, q, J 7.0 Hz, N¹-CH₂), 2.07 (3H, s, N⁴-COCH₃), 1.23 (3H, t, J 7.0 Hz, CH₃); $\delta_{\rm C}$ 73.04 (C=O), 164.20 (C₄), 158.68 (C=O), 150.70 (C₆), 98.25 (C₅), 41.12 (N¹-C), 24.53 (C(O)-CH₃), 14.50 (CH₃); m/z (%) 81 (M⁺, 70), 166 (100), 139 (41), 138 (64), 111 (62), 81 (49), 43 (97); $\nu_{\rm max}$ 3240, 1700, 1674, 1645, 1495 cm⁻¹; HRMS found, 181.0853. C₈H₁₁N₃O₂ requires 181.0851.

4.2.4. Products from thymine 4.

4.2.4.1. Methylation. 1,3,5-Trimethyl-2,4-pyrimidindione **10a** (86 mg, 7%);²⁴ 3,5-dimethyl-2,4(1*H*)-pyrimidindione **12a** (56 mg, 5%);¹⁶ 1,5-dimethyl-2,4(3*H*)-pyrimidindione **9a** (0.22 g, 20%).

4.2.4.2. Ethylation.

4.2.4.2.1. 2-Ethoxy-3-ethyl-5-methyl-2(3H)-pyrimidinone (13b). m/z (%) 182 (M⁺, 40), 154 (55), 126 (100), 110 (83), 83 (55), 82 (58) in 1:5 mixture (0.13 g, 12%) via HPLC with 10b;²² the mixture 13b+10b (50 mg) was dissolved in 2 M HCl (2.5 ml), warmed at 60 °C for 2 h, evaporated, redissolved in MeOH and analysed via HPLC to give a 1:5 mixture of 12b and 10b.

4-Ethoxy-1-ethyl-5-methyl-2(1*H*)-pyrimidinone **11b** (43 mg, 3%);²⁴ 3-ethyl-5-methyl-2,4(1*H*)-pyrimidindione **12b** (50 mg, 4%);¹⁶ 1-ethyl-5-methyl-2,4(3*H*)-pyrimidindione **9b** (0.42 g, 34%).

When KH was used in place of LiH (see run 9 in Table 2) 2,4diethoxy-5-methylpyrimidine **14b** $(3.2\%)^{24}$ was detected by HPLC among the other products and recognised by GC–MS coupling; m/z (%) 182 (M⁺, 27), 167 (18), 154 (100), 138 (20), 126 (64), 110 (54), 96 (50).

4.2.5. Products from uracil 5.

4.2.5.1. Methylation. 1,3-Dimethyl-2,4-pyrimidindione **10c** (0.15 g, 12%); 3-methyl-2,4(1*H*)-pyrimidindione **12c** (56 mg, 5%);¹⁶ 1-methyl-2,4(3*H*)-pyrimidindione **9c** (0.33 g, 30%).²⁴

4.2.5.2. Ethylation.

4.2.5.2.1. 2-Ethoxy-3-ethyl-2(3H)-pyrimidinone (13d). m/z (%) 168 (M⁺, 57), 140 (56), 112 (53), 96 (40), 82 (100), 69 (30), 68 (31) in 1:6 mixture (0.22 g, 15%) via HPLC with 10d;²³ the mixture 13d+10d (50 mg) was dissolved in 2 M HCl (2.5 ml), warmed at 60 °C for 2 h, evaporated, redissolved in MeOH and analysed via HPLC to give a 1:6 mixture of 12d and 10d.

4-Ethoxy-1-ethyl-2(1*H*)-pyrimidinone **11d** (45 mg, 3%);^{9a} 3-ethyl-2,4(1*H*)-pyrimidindione **12d** (62 mg, 5%);¹⁶ 1-ethyl-2,4(3*H*)-pyrimidindione **9d** (0.52 g, 42%).

When KH was used in place of LiH (see run 18 in Table 2) 2,4-diethoxy-pyrimidine **14d** $(4\%)^{9a}$ was detected by HPLC among the other products and recognised by GC–MS coupling; m/z (%) 168 (M⁺, 29), 140 (53), 124 (17), 112 (68), 96 (100), 82 (25), 70 (51).

4.3. HPLC distribution of products

One equivalent of the appropriate metal hydride (LiH or KH) was added under stirring to 5.0 ml of a 0.07 M solution of the substrates 1–5 in dioxane or DMF, and the mixture was stirred for 30 min at 60 °C under a dry Ar atmosphere. Subsequently, 1.3 equiv of the appropriate alkylating agent (DMS, DES, MeI or EtI) were added and stirring at 60 °C was continued for the time reported in Tables 1 and 2. After this time, 1 equiv of solid NH₄Cl was added and the resulting suspension was filtered. DMF solutions were analysed directly by HPLC, while reactions in dioxane were evaporated under reduced pressure and redissolved in MeOH. Reaction mixtures from 2 and 5 were analysed through a gradient elution from 100% H₂O (1 min) to 100% MeCN in 15 min (flow=0.7 ml/min), while a gradient elution from H₂O/MeCN=90:10 to 100% MeCN in 20 min (flow=1 ml/min) was used for mixtures from 1. 3 and 4. Results are reported in Tables 1 and 2 as average of two independent runs.

References and notes

- (a) Amblard, F.; Nolan, S. P.; Schinazi, R. F.; Agrofoglio, L. A. *Tetrahedron* 2005, *61*, 537–554; (b) Bronson, J. J.; Ghazzouli, I.; Hitchcock, M. J. M.; Webb, R. R.; Martin, J. C. *J. Med. Chem.* 1989, *32*, 1457–1463; (c) Bhat, S. *Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun.* 1993, *58*, 683–690.
- 2. Senda, S.; Hirota, K.; Banno, K. J. Med. Chem. 1972, 15, 471–476.
- (a) Faul, M. M.; Huff, B. E.; Kaldor, S. W.; Werner, J. A. *Tetrahedron* 1997, 53, 8085–8104; (b) Danel, K.; Larsen, E.;

Pedersen, B. E.; Vestergaard, B. F.; Nielsen, C. J. Med. Chem. **1996**, 39, 2427–2431; (c) Maruenda, H.; Johnson, F. J. Med. Chem. **1995**, 38, 2145–2151; (d) Czernecki, S.; Ezzitouni, A. J. Org. Chem. **1992**, 57, 7325–7328; (e) Nawrot, B.; Michalak, O.; Olejniczak, S.; Wiecczorek, M. W.; Lis, T.; Stec, W. J. Tetrahedron **2001**, 57, 3979–3985.

- See for example: Hattori, H.; Nozawa, E.; Iino, T.; Yoshimura, Y.; Shuto, S.; Shimamoto, Y.; Nomura, M.; Fukushima, M.; Tanaka, M.; Sasaki, T.; Matsuda, A. J. Med. Chem. 1998, 41, 2892–2902.
- Jane, D. E.; Hoo, K.; Kamboj, R.; Deverill, M.; Bleakman, D.; Mandelzys, A. J. Med. Chem. 1997, 40, 3645–3650.
- Rowbottom, M. W.; Tucci, F. C.; Zhu, Yun-Fei; Guo, Z.; Gross, T. D.; Reinhart, G. J.; Xie, Q.; Struthers, R. S.; Saunders, J.; Chen, C. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2004**, *14*, 2269–2274.
- (a) Yamauchi, K.; Kinoshita, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1973, 391–392; (b) Ogilvie, K. K.; Beaucage, S. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1978, 19, 1663–1666.
- (a) Gupta, O. D.; Twamley, B.; Kirchmeier, R. L.; Shreeve, J. M. J. Fluorine Chem. 2000, 106, 199–204; (b) Grandjean, P.; Benhaddou, R.; Granet, R.; Krausz, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6185–6188.
- 9. (a) Wong, J. L.; Fuchs, D. S. J. Org. Chem. 1971, 36, 848–850;
 (b) Kusmierek, J. T.; Singer, B. Nucleic Acid Res. 1976, 3, 989–1000.
- Hilbert, G. E.; Johnson, T. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1930, 52, 2001–2007.

- 11. Vörbruggen, H.; Hofle, G. Chem. Ber. 1981, 114, 1234-1286.
- 12. Wittenburg, E. Chem. Ber. 1966, 99, 2391-2398.
- 13. Ganguly, S.; Kundu, K. K. Can. J. Chem. 1994, 72, 1120-1126.
- Nakanishi, K.; Suzuki, N.; Yamazaki, F. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1961, 34, 53–57.
- Pearson, R. G.; Songstad, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 1827–1836.
- Gambacorta, A.; Farah, M. E.; Tofani, D. *Tetrahedron* 1999, 55, 12615–12628.
- Prystas, M. Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1975, 40, 1786– 1793.
- Function "Compute Properties", Theory PM3 in Chem3D Ultra 7.0; Cambridge Soft Corporation: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2001.
- 19. Ueda, T.; Fox, J. J. J. Org. Chem. 1964, 29, 1762-1769.
- Sakamoto, T.; Satoh, C.; Kondo, Y.; Yamanaka, H. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1993, 41, 81–86.
- Reconen, P.; Dohta, Y.; KodaKa, M.; Okada, T.; Okamoto, K.; Okuno, H. J. Med. Chem. 1997, 40, 515–519.
- Rabinowitz, J. L.; Gurin, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1953, 75, 5758– 5759.
- Tanabe, T.; Yamauchi, Y.; Kinoshita, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1977, 50, 3021–3025.
- Schmidt-Nickels, W.; Johnson, T. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1930, 52, 4511–4516.
- Webb, R. R.; Wos, J. A.; Bronson, J. J.; Martin, J. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 5475–5478.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6855-6861

Stereochemistry of the intermediates in the synthesis of 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane from triethylenetetramine, glyoxal and diethyl oxalate

Maria Argese,^{a,*} Marino Brocchetta,^a Mario De Miranda,^a Paola Paoli,^b Fiorenza Perego^a and Patrizia Rossi^b

^aMilano Research Centre, Bracco Imaging spa, via E. Folli 50, 20134 Milano, Italy ^bDipartimento di Energetica 'Sergio Stecco', Università di Firenze, via S. Marta 3, 50139 Firenze, Italy

> Received 1 February 2006; revised 13 April 2006; accepted 28 April 2006 Available online 23 May 2006

Abstract—The equilibrium and rearrangement phenomena encountered in two steps for the synthesis of 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane from triethylenetetramine, glyoxal and diethyl oxalate were studied and elucidated after the development of two micellar electrokinetic chromatographic (MEKC) methods. The latter were able to separate: (i) the four bis-aminals (2–5) obtained from the condensation of triethylenetetramine with glyoxal; (ii) the four diones (6–9) derived from the reaction of the bis-aminals with diethyl oxalate, whose solid state structures were determined by single crystal X-ray diffraction. The three not yet reported diones (6, 7 and 9) were synthesised by taking advantage of both the reaction conditions and the use of a particular catalyst (MeONa). A plausible reaction mechanism, as well as a discussion of the solid state structures, is presented. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Within the past two decades, the importance of 1,4,7,10tetraazacyclododecane (cyclen, **1**) has continuously grown since it became an intermediate for the synthesis of chelating agents, which found applications in diagnostics and therapeutics.¹ In particular, the complexes of such ligands with paramagnetic metal ions, like the gadolinium ion, are largely used as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) contrast agents.² Accordingly, a series of synthetic routes to cyclen appeared in the literature³⁻¹² and we wish to report here some recent findings regarding one of those synthetic paths.^{4-7,9}

2. Results and discussion

The reaction of triethylenetetramine with glyoxal affords a mixture of four bis-aminals, i.e., *cis*-octahydro-3H,6H-2a, 5,6,8a-tetraazacenaphthylene (**2**), *trans*-octahydro-3H,6H-2a, 5,6,8a-tetraazacenaphthylene (**3**), *cis*-decahydro-diimidazo-[1,2-a:2',1'-c]pyrazine (**4**) and *trans*-decahydro-diimidazo-[1,2-a:2',1'-c]pyrazine (**5**).^{6,7,10} By amidation with diethyl oxalate (DEO), the related mixture containing *cis*-octahydro-

Keywords: Cyclen intermediates; Bis-aminals; Bis-amides; Stereochemistry; MEKC separation; X-ray structure. 2*a*,4*a*,6*a*,8*a*-tetraazacyclopent[*fg*]acenaphthylene 1,2-dione (**6**), *trans*-octahydro-2*a*,4*a*,6*a*,8*a*-tetraazacyclopent[*fg*]acenaphthylene 1,2-dione (**7**), *cis*-octahydro-2*a*,4*a*,6*a*,8*a*-tetraazacyclopent[*fg*]acenaphthylene 3,4-dione (**8**) and *trans*-octahydro-2*a*,4*a*,6*a*,8*a*-tetraazacyclopent[*fg*]acenaphthylene 3,4-dione (**9**) is obtained.⁶ The subsequent reduction of the amide carbonyls, followed by removal of the central bridging moieties of compounds **10** and **11**, leads to **1** (see Scheme 1).^{6,7}

The composition of the mixture containing 2-5 was at first determined by means of NMR studies, which were in accordance with those reported in the literature,^{10,13} and showed that 2, the thermodynamically favoured product, was predominant in reactions carried out in water at 5 °C in the presence of $Ca(OH)_2$ (Bracco procedure)^{5,6} while 5, the kinetically favoured product, was the major component working in EtOH at rt (Nycomed procedure).⁷ By means of GC analysis,^{5,6} we could detect the couple of compounds 2+3 and 4+5 but we did not make further efforts to find the conditions that are able to separate them. Indeed, we could not exclude that the harsh conditions used for the GC analysis might affect the composition of the mixture, as it is known^{10,13} that isomerisation may occur. Accordingly, a micellar electrokinetic chromatographic (MEKC) method was developed to allow the separation of the four isomers and their quantification. Analytical results, obtained using

^{*} Corresponding author. E-mail: maria.argese@bracco.com

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.099



Scheme 1. ^aBoth enantiomers of 9 are present in the solid state, as crystallised in an achiral space group.

both synthetic procedures for the preparation of 2–5 mixtures, are reported in Table 1.

As partly anticipated, the composition of the mixtures greatly depends on the reaction conditions. In particular: (i) in water at 5 °C in the presence of $Ca(OH)_2$,^{5,6} **2** is formed as the main component, followed by **5**. Compound **3** is present in low percentage, while **4** only appears in a late reaction stage (entries 1–4); (ii) in EtOH at rt,⁷ **5** is largely predominant along with **4** while **2** and **3**, which were derived from an isomerisation, are formed in small percentages only after the work up (entries 5 and 6). These results confirm those obtained from NMR studies and reported in the literature.¹³

We subsequently checked the stability of the mixtures obtained with the Bracco procedure,^{5,6} especially under the reaction conditions used in the following step (reflux in EtOH, without or with a catalyst). The results are summarised in Table 2.

In particular: (i) the mixture stored at rt changed its composition over time: the content of the trans isomers increased whereas the content of the cis isomers decreased (entry 3

Table 1. Percentages of the mixture containing 2-5 determined by MEKC

Entry ^a	2	3	4	5	
1 ^b	74.8	4.5	c	20.7	
2 ^d	77.0	4.4	c	18.6	
3 ^e	71.3	4.0	7.0	17.7	
$4^{\rm f}$	70.2	5.9	6.0	17.9	
5 ^b	c	c	12.3	87.6	
6^{f}	6.6	5.7	11.9	75.8	

^a Entries 1–4: prepared according to Bracco procedure;^{5,6} entries 5 and 6: prepared according to Nycomed procedure.⁷

^b Reaction (0.5 h).

^c Not detected.

^d Reaction (2 h).

^e Reaction (18 h).

f Isolated product.

vs entry 1); (ii) heating at reflux a solution in EtOH led to an increase in the content of **3** and a decrease in the content of **2** while no significant change in the content of the other isomers was observed (entry 2 vs entry 1); (iii) heating at reflux a solution in EtOH, in the presence of MeONa, had almost no influence on the composition of the mixture (entry 4 vs entry 3).

Later on, we reacted mixtures having different compositions in each of the 2-5 isomers with DEO in EtOH under the conditions reported in Section 4. As we observed that compounds 4 and 5 were more reactive than 2 and 3, we took advantage of this peculiarity for the preparation of pure 8 and 9. Indeed, the reactions were performed, without or with MeONa, using about half of theoretical DEO. The latter preferentially reacted with 4 and 5 affording mixtures enriched with 8 and 9 from which the isolation of the products resulted easier. The work up of the different reaction mixtures allowed us to obtain pure 6, 7, 8 and 9 as crystals suitable for the determination of the solid state structure by single crystal X-ray diffraction (the structure of 8 was already reported in the literature⁹). After a MEKC method for the separation of each of the four isomers was devised. we were able to follow the amidation reaction, which was performed using the mixture reported in Table 1, entry 4, without or with a catalyst. Quite interestingly, even in the

Table 2. Percentages of the mixture containing 2-5 determined by MEKC

Entry	2	3	4	5	
1 ^a	70.2	5.9	6.0	17.9	
2 ^b	63.2	13.0	6.2	17.6	
3 ^c	68.8	9.6	2.6	19.0	
4^{d}	67.9	10.2	2.4	19.5	

^a Starting material.

^b Mixture of entry 1 heated for 10 h in EtOH at reflux.

^c Mixture of entry 1 reanalysed after one month at rt.

^d Mixture of entry 3 heated for 10 h in EtOH at reflux in the presence of MeONa (1 mol equiv).

Table 3. Percentages of the mixture^a containing 6–9 determined by MEKC

Entry	Time (h) ^b	Conversion (%)	6	7	8	9
$\frac{1^{c}}{2^{e}}_{3^{f}}$	24 6 1	75 91 95	64.1 76.3 61.5	d d 16.4	35.9 23.7 3.4	$\frac{d}{d}$ 18.7

Prepared starting from the mixture reported in Table 1, entry 4.

^b Reflux time of a 12.5% ethanol solution containing DEO (3 mol equiv for the reaction of entry 1; 2 mol equiv for the reactions of entries 2 and 3). Without catalyst.

^d Not detected.

Catalysed by 2-pyridinol (0.5 mol equiv). Catalysed by MeONa (1 mol equiv).

reactions performed with an excess of DEO (2-3 mol equiv) or in neat DEO, no oligomers were found. This clearly indicates that the monoamidated intermediate, which we could not detect, undergoes a rapid cyclisation reaction leading to compounds 6-9 instead of being attached by the amino groups of other molecules.

Some significant results, obtained from the same starting material, are reported in Table 3 while other un-tabulated data will be mentioned in the following discussion.

In the uncatalysed and in the 2-pyridinol catalysed reactions.¹⁴ only the *cis* bis-aminals **6** and **8** were obtained (Table 3, entries 1 and 2). When a 95% pure cis bis-aminal 2 was reacted at rt, the related cis compound 6 was obtained. This is in disagreement with a previous report⁹ asserting that 2 does not react at rt and that only polymers are formed upon heating. Indeed, in our experiment the conversion to 6 increased after heating at reflux. When pure, isolated trans bis-aminal 3 was reacted, the cis compound 6 was exclusively obtained. It was already reported in the literature⁹ that trans bis-aminal 5 was quantitatively transformed into the cis diamide 8 as a consequence of an initial isomerisation of 5 into 4 before reacting with DEO. Our data confirmed that assumption and we think that the analogous isomerisation of 3 into 2 takes place, leading to 6.

The results obtained in the presence of MeONa deserve some comments. The catalytic effect of MeONa could be explained by the in situ generation of dimethyl oxalate that might be more reactive than the corresponding diethyl ester. Such a mechanism was ruled out when we used dimethyl in place of diethyl oxalate and we obtained very similar

H.

results. Alternatively, generation of a more nucleophilic species through deprotonation assisted by the catalyst could occur. However, a complete transfer of a proton from the bis-aminals to the catalyst should be difficult because the bis-aminals are very weak acids. Therefore, we can suppose that MeONa assists the cleavage of hydrogen ion from the tetrahedral intermediate. Moreover, using NaOMe, along with 6 and 8, the trans compounds 7 and 9 were also formed, while these compounds were absent in the reaction run in the absence of NaOMe (Table 3, entry 3 vs entries 1 and 2). As a preliminary assumption. MeONa could play a role in determining the stereochemical configuration of the acylation products in three different ways, as it could: (i) catalyse the interconversion of the mixtures containing 2-5; (ii) catalyse the interconversion of the mixtures containing 6-9; (iii) change the stereochemical course of the uncatalysed acylation. Quite interestingly, the percentage of 9 was well related to the content of trans isomer 5 in the starting material while the content of 7 resulted considerably higher than that of 3(Table 3, entry 3 vs Table 1, entry 4). However, the reaction of pure 3 in the presence of MeONa initially afforded a 1:4 mixture of 6 and 7, which upon heating, was transformed into a 4:1 mixture of 6 and 7. Both 6 and 7 proved to be stable in refluxing EtOH but, when they were individually dissolved in EtOH containing MeONa, again a 4:1 mixture of 6 and 7 was obtained. Compound 8 proved to be stable in refluxing EtOH and the addition of MeONa afforded only 3% of 9, along with residual 8 and degradation products. Considering that MeONa: (i) practically does not affect the composition of the 2–5 mixture (Table 2, entry 4); (ii) promotes the interconversion between 6 and 7; (iii) has nearly no effect on the transformation of 8 into 9, we propose that the interconversion between 6 and 7 occurs through an assisted deprotonation of the ethinic carbon atom (see Scheme 2). The intermediate carbanion is stabilised by: (i) the field effect¹⁵ associated with the ylide-type system of the carbanion and the positively charged nitrogen of the dipolar form of the amide function; (ii) the resonance effect, between two equivalent structures, which share the carbanion.

Once applied to 8, the same mechanism would involve the same field effect between the carbanion and the dipolar structure but, although in this case there are two equivalent ethinic hydrogen atoms, the absence of the resonance effect decreases the acidity of such hydrogens (see Scheme 3).



Scheme 2.

Accordingly, the stereochemical stability of 8 and 9 to MeONa is higher in comparison with that of 6 and 7.

Therefore, in the noncatalysed reaction (Table 3, entry 1) only compounds 6 and 8 are formed because there is enough time for the isomerisation of 3 and 5 into 2 and 4, respectively, to occur. In the presence of 2-pyridinol (Table 3, entry 2) the reaction, although accelerated, is still sufficiently slow to permit the isomerisation. When the amidation is performed in the presence of MeONa (Table 3, entry 3), 7 can be formed from 3 and from a partial inversion of configuration of 6 according to the mechanism depicted in Scheme 2, while 9 could be the consequence of the catalytic effect of MeONa, which makes the amidation of 5 faster than its stereoisomerisation into 4. Indeed, the content of 9 (18.7%) is very similar to that (17.7%) of 5 in the starting material.

As previously mentioned, crystals of **6**, **7**, **8** and **9** were obtained and, by means of single crystal X-ray diffraction, their solid state structures were determined. The structure of compound **8** resulted isomorphous and isostructural with the already published structure,⁹ thus our data will not be reported and those already known for **8**⁹ will be taken into account for comparative purposes.

Bond distances and angles are those expected for this kind of molecules. Concerning the overall geometry of compounds **6–9**, both the trans isomers, **7** and **9**, show a more regular shape with respect to the cis ones (**6** and **8**). Indeed, in compound **7** (Fig. 1) a pseudo-symmetry plane passing through the C9–C10 bond and perpendicular to the mean plane defined by all the nonhydrogen atoms can be recognised, while in **9** a twofold pseudo-symmetry axis, bisecting bonds C1–C2, C5–C6 and C9–C10 is present (Fig. 2).



Figure 1. ORTEP3 view of compound 7. The pseudo-symmetry plane is represented by the dotted line.

Obviously, the overall shape of molecules **6–9** results from the relative arrangement of the four condensed cycles A–D (see Scheme 4) and from their intrinsic symmetry, or better from their conformations. These latter results are summarised in Table 4.



Figure 2. ORTEP3 view of compound 9. The twofold pseudo-symmetry axis is represented by the dotted line.



Scheme 4.

Table 4. Conformations of the four condensed rings in 6, 7, 8 and 9

Ring	6	7	8 ⁹	9
A	Planar	Planar	Envelope	Envelope
В	Twist	Chair	Chair	Twist
С	Twist	Chair	Twist	Twist
D	Envelope	Envelope	Envelope	Envelope

Given the hybridisation of C3, C4, N2 and N3, the fivemembered ring labelled 'A' is planar in compounds **6** and **7**, while in compounds **8** and **9** (where only N2 is sp^2) it show an envelope conformation. Ring D shows the same conformation (envelope) in all the four isomers.

The six-membered rings, B and C, have the same conformation in compounds 6 and 9 (twist), and in compound 7 (chair). In compound 8 the two six-membered rings show a chair (B) and a twist (C) conformation.

For comparative purposes a search for the solid state structures of fragments shown in Scheme 5 was performed in the Cambridge Structural Database (CSD, v. 5.26).¹⁶ However, the very small number of entries prevents from any statistical analysis. In addition, because all the deposited molecules show a cis junction between the six-membered rings, retrieved data will be compared only with **6** and **8**.



Fragments **a** (one entry),¹⁷ **b** (four entries)¹⁸ and **c** (one entry)¹⁹ show an almost identical 3D arrangement of the common rings as provided by the root mean square value (RMS, calculated using all the carbon and nitrogen atoms) that ranges between 0.054 and 0.152 Å. In all cases the five- and six-membered rings have envelope and chair conformations, respectively. Accordingly, the cis junction of three (a fragment) and four rings (b and c fragments) does not influence the conformational behaviour of these fully saturated rings. In the cis isomer 6 the conformation of both the six-membered cycles differs either from that (chair) observed in the retrieved solid state structures (**a**-**c** type) or from that (still of chair type) expected for six-membered rings having one sp² atom (N2 and N3). On the contrary, both the smaller rings (A and D) have the expected conformation.



Figure 3. ORTEP3 view of compound 6.

In compound **8** all the four fused rings show the expected conformations (twist for the C ring due to the presence of four sp² atoms). Thus, concerning the cis isomers, **6** and **8**, the introduction of sp² atoms in the smaller ring (A in **6** vs C in **8**) causes a more significant 3D rearrangement in the nearby rings (B and C in **6** vs A, B and D in **8**). However, this cannot be the unique reason for such distortion, as provided by the 'regular' (not distorted with respect to that



Figure 4. PLUTO view of compound 8 (the atomic coordinates are those reported in the literature.⁹ The atom labelling is consistent with the other solid state structures reported here).

expected) geometry of the four condensed rings in 7. Accordingly, also the six-membered rings' junction plays an important role.

3. Conclusion

trans Bis-aminals **3** and **5** can isomerise into their corresponding cis isomers **2** and **4**, which in turn can be transformed, by reaction with DEO in EtOH without catalyst or in the presence of 2-pyridinol, into the related *cis* diamides **6** and **8**. When the amidation is performed in the presence of MeONa, the so far unknown *trans* diamides **7** and **9** are formed. Diamide **7** can be derived from both amidation of bis-aminal **3** and the partial inversion of configuration of the *cis* diamide **6** according to the mechanism described in Scheme 2, while **9** could be the consequence of the catalytic effect of MeONa, which makes the amidation faster than the stereoisomerisation of **5** into **4**.

The comparison of the solid state structures of compounds **6** and **8** with those of similar cis fragments deposited in the Cambridge Structural Database evidenced that the introduction of sp^2 atoms in a five-membered ring (**6**), instead of in the six-membered one (**8**), causes a significant 3D rearrangement in the nearby rings. However, also the six-membered rings' junction should play an important role in determining the rings' conformation, given the regular (i.e., not distorted with respect to the expected one) geometry of the four condensed rings in **7**.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

All reagents and solvents, obtained from commercial sources, were used without further purification. MeONa was used as a 1 M solution obtained by dissolution of sodium in MeOH. Melting points (°C, uncorrected) were measured with a Büchi 510 instrument. IR spectra were recorded on a Perkin-Elmer 882 spectrophotometer, using potassium bromide disks. MS spectra were acquired on a TSQ700 ThermoFinnigan Spectrometer using CH₃OH as the solvent. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded at 298 K in CDCl₃ at 400.13 and 100.61 MHz, respectively, with a Bruker DRX 400 spectrometer. In order to have a complete assignment of the structures, 2D spectra were recorded using ¹H-¹H COSY45, HMQC and HMBC standard pulse sequences. The chemical shifts are given in δ units (ppm) relative to TMS (δ =0). For the assignment, see the numeration of the atoms in the related ORTEP figures. Elemental analyses were carried out at the Redox Laboratories (Monza, Milano, Italy).

4.2. Micellar electrokinetic chromatography (MEKC)

Analyses were performed on a Hewlett–Packard 3D Capillary Electrophoresis System equipped with an autosampler, column thermostat set at 15 °C and diode array detector set at 200 nm. A hydrodynamic injection of a 1–2 mg/mL solution into a fused silica capillary column (50 μ m inner diameter) 80.5 cm long was used and a voltage of 30 kV was applied. For the analyses of the mixtures containing **2–5** we used: (i) injection: 50 mbar, 5 s; (ii) electrolyte: 30 mM sodium borate buffer at pH 9.3, 0.3 mM EDTA, 20 mM sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), 1% MeOH. For the analyses of the mixtures containing **6–9** we used: (i) injection: 50 mbar, 3 s; (ii) electrolyte: 50 mM sodium borate buffer at pH 8.1, 0.3 mM EDTA, 180 mM sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), 1% MeOH.

4.3. Synthetic methods

4.3.1. cis-Octahydro-2a.4a.6a.8a-tetraazacvclopent[fg]acenaphthylene 1.2-dione (6). A solution of bis-aminals having the composition described in Table 1, entry 4 (21 g; 0.125 mol) in EtOH (160 mL) was treated with MeONa (6.75 g; 0.125 mol) and DEO (36.5 g; 0.25 mol). After 2 h at reflux under nitrogen atmosphere, the mixture was cooled to 30 °C and 37% HCl (12.3 g; 0.125 mol) was dropped in. The precipitated hydrochloride was filtered, washed with EtOH $(3 \times 20 \text{ mL})$, dissolved in water (80 mL), and then the solution was neutralized with Na₂CO₃ (6.9 g; 0.065 mol) and taken to dryness. The residue was boiled with MeOH (55 mL), the suspension was filtered and the clear solution was left at rt for 24 h. The crystalline precipitate was filtered, washed with MeOH (10 mL) and dried to afford 6 (7.5 g; 27%). Mp 158–160 °C. IR (KBr) ν 1429, 1719 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 2.56 (ddd, 2H, J=2.2, 5.7, 10.3 Hz: 6, 1), 2.73 (m, 2H: 7, 8), 2.95 (m, 4H: 7, 8, 6, 1), 3.11 (ddd, 2H, J=5.7, 10.0, 13.9 Hz: 5, 2), 3.64 (d, 1H, J=4.6 Hz: 9), 4.20 (ddd, 2H, J=2.2, 6.4, 13.9 Hz: 5, 2), 5.17 (d, 1H, J=4.6 Hz: 10); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 38.0 (5, 2), 48.0 (6, 1), 50.4 (7, 8), 65.4 (10), 74.8 (9), 160.0 (4, 3); MS m/z (ESI) 223 (M+H)⁺, 245 (M+Na)⁺; Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₄N₄O₂: C, 54.04; H, 6.35; N, 25.21. Found: C, 54.02; H, 6.39; N, 25.18.

4.3.2. trans-Octahydro-2a,4a,6a,8a-tetraazacyclopent[fg]acenaphthylene 1,2-dione (7). The mother liquor obtained from the filtrate of the hydrochloride used for the preparation of 6 was evaporated to dryness and the residue was purified by silica gel chromatography (6:3:1 CHCl₃/CH₃OH/25% NH₄OH). The fractions enriched with the desired compound were combined and evaporated to dryness, then the residue was crystallised three times from methanol to afford 7 (1.5 g; 5.4%). Mp 258–260 °C. IR (KBr) v 1442, 1737 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 1.48 (d, 1H, J=6.2 Hz: 9), 2.33 (m, 2H: 6, 1), 2.46 (m, 2H: 7, 8), 3.22 (dd, 2H, J=4.7, 10. 9 Hz: 6, 1), 3.38 (m, 4H: 7, 8, 5, 2), 4.22 (d, 1H, J=6.2 Hz: 10), 4.28 (dd, 2H, J=3.1, 14.1 Hz: 5, 2); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 41.2 (5, 2), 50.8 (7, 8), 52.3 (6, 1), 67.0 (10), 92.8 (9), 157.5 (4, 3); MS m/z (ESI) 223 (M+H)⁺, 245 (M+Na)⁺; Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₄N₄O₂: C, 54.04; H, 6.35; N, 25.21. Found: C, 53.97; H, 6.41; N, 25.15.

4.3.3. *cis*-Octahydro-2*a*,4*a*,6*a*,8*a*-tetraazacyclopent[*fg*]acenaphthylene 3,4-dione (8). A solution of bis-aminals having the composition reported in Table 1, entry 6 (30 g; 0.178 mol) in EtOH (225 mL) was treated with DEO (13 g; 0.089 mol) and heated at reflux for 18 h under nitrogen atmosphere. After addition of further DEO (2.6 g; 0.018 mol) and heating for 4 h at reflux, the solid, which spontaneously precipitated was filtered after cooling the suspension to rt. The product was crystallised from MeOH (270 mL) to afford **8** (6.2 g; 26%). Mp 255–257 °C (lit.⁹ 252 °C). IR (KBr) ν 1458, 1687 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) (see the atom numbers in the ORTEP view of the parent compound **9**) δ 2.60 (m, 2H: 5, 6), 2.76 (m, 4H: 4, 7, 5, 6), 3.12 (m, 2H: 4, 7), 3.45 (m, 2H: 3, 8), 3.89 (m, 2H: 3, 8), 4.13 (s, 2H: 9, 10); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 44.5 (3, 8), 47.1 (5, 6), 49.7 (4, 7), 69.8 (9, 10), 157.6 (1, 2); MS *m*/*z* (ESI) 223 (M+H)⁺, 245 (M+Na)⁺; Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₄N₄O₂: C, 54.04; H, 6.35; N, 25.21. Found: C, 53.95; H, 6.40; N, 25.12.

4.3.4. trans-Octahydro-2a,4a,6a,8a-tetraazacyclopent-[fg]acenaphthylene 3.4-dione (9). A solution of bis-aminals having the composition reported in Table 1, entry 6 (5.5 g; 0.033 mol) in EtOH (80 mL) was treated with MeONa (0.88 g; 0.0163 mol) and DEO (2.38 g; 0.0163 mol). After heating at reflux for 8 h under nitrogen atmosphere, the reaction mixture was concentrated to 20 g. The suspension thus obtained was filtered and the solid was crystallised from MeOH (10 mL) to afford **9** (0.5 g; 13.8%). Mp 255–256 °C. IR (KBr) ν 1433, 1682 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) & 2.71 (ddd, 2H, J=6.5, 8.7, 10.2 Hz: 4, 7), 2.90 (m, 2H: 5, 6), 3.38 (m, 4H: 4, 7, 5, 6), 3.49 (ddd, 2H, J=5.9, 10.2, 11.6 Hz: 3, 8), 4.20 (ddd, 2H, J=0.7, 6.5, 10.211.6 Hz: 3, 8), 4.42 (s, 2H: 9, 10); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, $CDCl_3$) δ 44.6 (3, 8), 49.9 (5, 6), 53.3 (4, 7), 71.8 (9, 10), 156.9 (1, 2); MS m/z (ESI) 223 (M+H)⁺, 245 (M+Na)⁺; Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₄N₄O₂: C, 54.04; H, 6.35; N, 25.21. Found: C, 53.88; H, 6.44; N, 24.98.

4.4. X-ray crystallographic study

Cell parameters and intensity data for compounds 6, 7, 8 and 9 were obtained on a Siemens P4 diffractometer, using graphite monochromated Cu K α radiation (λ =1.54180 Å). Cell parameters were determined by least squares fitting of 25 centered reflections. The intensities of three standard reflections were measured every 60 min to check the stability of the diffractometer and the decay of the crystals. Intensity data were corrected for Lorentz and polarisation effects, an absorption correction was applied once the structures were solved by using the Walker and Stuart method.²⁰ Structures were solved using the SIR-97²¹ program and subsequently refined by the full-matrix least squares program SHELX-97.22 Given that the solid state structure of compound 8 was found to be isomorphous and isostructural with the already published structure,⁹ our X-ray data will not be published. The hydrogen atoms of compounds 6, 7 and 9 were introduced in calculated position and their coordinates refined in agreement with those of the linked atoms. All the nonhydrogen atoms were refined anisotropically. Atomic scattering factors and anomalous dispersion corrections for all the atoms were taken from the literature.²³ The molecular plots were produced by the ORTEP3 program²⁴ and the ORTEP views of compounds 6, 7 and 9, along with a PLUTO view of compound 8, are detailed in Figures 1-4. Crystal parameters and structure refinement data for 6, 7 and 9 are resumed in Table 5.

Crystallographic data (excluding structure factors) for the structures in this paper have been deposited with the Cambridge Structural Data Centre as supplementary publication numbers CCDC 292972, CCDC 292973 and CCDC 292974.

Table 5.	Crystal	data and	refinement	parameters of	of com	pounds 6,	7 and	9
----------	---------	----------	------------	---------------	--------	-----------	-------	---

	6	7	9
Empirical formula	$C_{10}H_{14}N_4O_2$	$C_{10}H_{14}N_4O_2$	C ₁₀ H ₁₄ N ₄ O ₂
Formula weight	222.25	222.25	222.25
$T(\mathbf{K})$	293	293	293
λ (Å)	1.54180	1.54180	1.54180
Crystal system, space group	Orthorhombic, <i>P2</i> ₁ <i>cn</i>	Triclinic, P-1	Orthorhombic, $P2_1nb$
Unit cell dimensions (Å, °)	<i>a</i> =5.906(1)	$a=7.868(5), \alpha=111.190(5)$	<i>a</i> =7.373(2)
	b = 11.550(1)	$b=8.735(5), \beta=95.210(5)$	b = 8.768(1)
	c = 14.871(3)	$c=9.543(5), \gamma=112.060(5)$	c = 15.934(3)
Volume $(Å^3)$	1014.4(3)	546.9(5)	1030.1(4)
$Z, d_{\text{calcd}} (\text{g/cm}^3)$	4, 1.455	2, 1.350	4, 1.433
$\mu (\mathrm{mm}^{-1})$	0.871	0.807	0.857
2θ range for data collection (°)	9.5-130.0	10.0-130.0	11.0-130.0
Reflections collected/unique	1274/902	1936/1574	1299/917
	[R(int)=0.0246]	[R(int)=0.0354]	[R(int)=0.0295]
Data/restraints/parameters	902/1/147	1574/0/155	917/1/147
Final <i>R</i> indices $[I > 2\sigma(I)]$	R1=0.0467, wR2=0.1162	R1=0.0512, wR2=0.1255	R1=0.0424, wR2=0.1087
R indices (all data)	<i>R</i> 1=0.0468, <i>wR</i> 2=0.1163	R1=0.0521, wR2=0.1265	<i>R</i> 1=0.0427, <i>wR</i> 2=0.1089

4.5. Cambridge structural database

For comparative purposes crystal data of compounds containing fragments $\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{c}$ (Scheme 5) were retrieved in the Cambridge Structural Database (v. 5.26).¹⁶ Given the low number of entries featuring fragments $\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{c}$, no filters were turned on, except that only entries having 3D coordinates have been considered.

References and notes

- 1. Caravan, P.; Ellison, J. J.; McMurray, T. J.; Lauffer, R. B. *Chem. Rev.* **1999**, *99*, 2293–2352.
- Zhang, Z.; Nair, S. A.; McMurray, T. J. Curr. Med. Chem. 2005, 12, 751–778.
- Richman, G. E.; Atkins, T. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 2268–2270.
- Jazwinski, J.; Kolinski, R. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981, 22, 1711– 1714.
- 5. Argese, M.; Ripa, G.; Scala, A.; Valle, V. WO 97/49691, 1997.
- Argese, M.; Brocchetta, M.; Manfredi, G.; Rebasti, F.; Ripa, G. WO 01/79207, 2001.
- 7. Sandnes, R.; Vasilevskis, J.; Undheim, K.; Gacek, M. WO 96/28432, 1996.
- Boschetti, F.; Chaux, F.; Denat, F.; Guilard, R.; Ledon, H. WO 2005/000823, 2005.
- 9. Hervè, G.; Bernard, H.; Toupet, L.; Handel, H. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2000**, 33–35.
- Hervè, G.; Bernard, H.; Le Bris, N.; Le Baccon, M.; Yaouanc, J. J.; Handel, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 2517–2520.
- Tripier, R.; Chuburu, F.; Le Baccon, M.; Handel, H. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 4573–4579.

- 12. Athey, P. S.; Kiefer, G. E. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 4081–4085.
- 13. Chuburu, F.; Tripier, R.; Le Baccon, M.; Handel, H. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2003**, 1050–1055.
- 14. The mechanism of action of 2-pyridinol is more likely than the one with a bifunctional catalyst, which in the presence of DEO, forms an intermediate. The latter assists the amidation forming hydrogen bonds with the leaving group and the reactive amine as reported by: Openshaw, H. T.; Whittaker, N. J. Chem. Soc. C 1969, 89–91.
- Rondan, N. G.; Houk, K. N.; Beak, P.; Zaidel, W. J.; Chandrasekhar, J.; Scheleyer, P. v. R J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 4108–4110.
- 16. Allen, F. H. Acta Crystallogr. 2002, B58, 380-388.
- Hervé, G.; Bernard, H.; Le Bris, N.; Yaouanc, J. J.; Handel, H.; Toupet, L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 6861–6864.
- (a) Rohovec, J.; Gyepes, R.; Cisarova, I.; Rudovsky, J.; Lukes, I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 1249–1253; (b) Baker, W. C.; Choi, M. J.; Hill, D. C.; Thompson, J. L.; Petillo, P. A. *J. Org. Chem.* **1999**, 2683–2689; (c) Rojas-Lima, S.; Farfan, N.; Santillan, R.; Castillo, D.; Sosa-Torres, M. E.; Hopfl, H. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 6427–6433.
- Boschetti, F.; Denat, F.; Espinosa, E.; Lagrange, J. M.; Guilard, R. Chem. Commun. 2004, 588–589.
- Walker, N.; Stuart, D. D. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A 1983, 39, 158–166.
- Altomare, A.; Burla, M. C.; Cavalli, M.; Cascarano, G. L.; Giacovazzo, C.; Gagliardi, A.; Moliterni, A. G.; Polidori, G.; Spagna, R. J. Appl. Crystallogr. 1999, 32, 115–119.
- 22. Sheldrick, G. M. SHELXL-97; University of Gottingen: Germany, 1997.
- 23. International Tables for X-ray Crystallography; Kynoch: Birmingham, UK, 1974; Vol. 4.
- 24. Farrugia, L. J. J. Appl. Crystallogr. 1997, 30, 565.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6862-6868

Convenient syntheses of metabolically important quercetin glucuronides and sulfates

Paul W. Needs* and Paul A. Kroon

BBSRC Institute of Food Research, Norwich Research Park, Colney Lane, Norwich, Norfolk NR4 7UA, UK

Received 7 November 2005; revised 18 April 2006; accepted 28 April 2006 Available online 19 May 2006

Abstract—Synthetic approaches to the major human plasma metabolites of quercetin, quercetin 3'-sulfate and the β -D-glucopyranosiduronic acid derivatives 3'-methylquercetin 3-glucuronide (isorhamnetin 3-glucuronide), quercetin 3-glucuronide and quercetin 3'-glucuronide are described. This is the first report of the chemical synthesis of quercetin 3'-glucuronide. All procedures start from the same precursor, 4',7-di-*O*-benzylquercetin, and all are more convenient than existing methods.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The human diet includes several classes of plant flavonoids; many appear to be protective against coronary heart disease and/or a variety of carcinomas.¹ Quercetin 1 (Scheme 1) is the major flavonol found in plants (though usually in glycosylated forms)² and is thus a ubiquitous part of the human diet. In the past, the majority of evidence for the health benefits of quercetin came from in vitro experiments on free quercetin. Recent work has studied the human absorption and metabolism of guercetin derivatives and has shown that quercetin itself is not present in human plasma, but is found instead in various glucuronidated and sulfated forms.³ In order to better determine the biological effects of quercetin, we required 100 mg quantities of the most abundant circulating forms-the β-D-glucopyranosiduronic acid derivatives quercetin 3-glucuronide 2, quercetin 3'-glucuronide 3 and 3'-methylquercetin 3-glucuronide (isorhamnetin 3-glucuronide) 4, together with quercetin 3'-sulfate 5. Although quercetin glucuronides have been synthesised using liver microsomal preparations,^{4,5} this is not convenient if larger quantities of glucuronides are needed; and existing chemical syntheses of both the sulfate and the glucuronides, where available, are either involved and/or low vielding. We describe convenient syntheses from a common easily prepared precursor, 4',7-di-O-benzylquercetin 6 (Scheme 2).



Scheme 1. Structure of quercetin 1 (showing ring numbering).

2. Results and discussion

2.1. 4',7-Di-O-benzylquercetin, 6

4',7-Di-O-benzylquercetin, **6**, was prepared as described by Jurd.⁶ Although the yields were modest (17–29%), gram quantities of pure **6** were easily obtained without the need for chromatography.

2.2. Quercetin 3-glucuronide, 2

Wagner et al. first reported the synthesis of **2** in 1970.⁷ Glucuronidation of **6** with methyl 2,3,4-tri-*O*-acetyl- α -D-glucopyranosyluronate bromide **7** in the presence of silver oxide (Ag₂O), gave **9** in 44% yield (Scheme 2); debenzylation and deacetylation afforded **2** in 24% overall yield. When we attempted this procedure, we failed to obtain any glucuronidated products, or to recover **6**. To ensure anhydrous conditions, we had stirred **6**, Ag₂O and a desiccant (either calcium sulfate, CaSO₄, or 3 Å molecular sieves) in pyridine for 2 h before adding **7**. Conversely, when we added **7** immediately, the reaction gave two mono-glucuronidated products, **8a** and **8b**, in 18 and 19% yields, respectively, after

Keywords: Quercetin glucuronide; Quercetin sulfate; Quercetin 3-glucuronide; Quercetin 3'-glucuronide; Isorhamnetin 3-glucuronide; Quercetin 3'-sulfate; Glucuronidation; Sulfation; Synthesis.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +44 1603 255066; e-mail: needsp@bbsrc. ac.uk

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.102



Scheme 2. Synthesis of quercetin 3-glucuronide 2 and isorhamnetin 3-glucuronide 4.

chromatography. Compound 8a was contaminated with a trace of the glycal 9 (Scheme 2), a known by-product of glucuronidation of phenols.⁸ Both **8a** and **8b** gave only **2** after debenzylation⁹ and ester hydrolysis¹⁰ in a combined purified yield of 23% from 6. Compound 8b was the expected product; but 8a was, in addition, 3'-O-acetylated. (In contrast, glucosylation of $\mathbf{6}$ with the corresponding tetraacetylglucosyl bromide gave only the expected 3-glucosylated productdata not shown. We noted the tendency of 7 to transfer an acetyl group to a less acidic, unprotected phenolic hydroxyl during the development of our synthesis of the isoflavone conjugate daizein 7-glucuronide.)¹¹ When the reaction was repeated at 0 °C, 8a and 8b were obtained in an improved combined yield of 52%. Debenzylation and hydrolysis gave, after purification, 2 in 40% overall yield in three steps from 6. This represents a considerable improvement over both the original report, and a more recent procedure involving selective oxidation of a glucoside derivative.¹²

We briefly investigated why delayed addition of **7** was deleterious to product yield. A ¹H NMR spectrum after workup of a mixture of **6**, Ag₂O, pyridine and CaSO₄ after 2 h showed no signs of debenzylation. The flavonol signals were greatly broadened, suggesting complexation to silver had occurred, which might account for the failure to react with **7**. Thus the problem might be anticipated in other Ag₂O-catalysed glycosylations where the substrate has a suitable site for complexation, unrelated to the intended reactive site (such as vicinally positioned 5-hydroxy and 4-oxo groups here). No problem occurred in the synthesis of quercetin 7-glucuronide,¹³ where all hydroxyls—except the 7—were protected.

2.3. Quercetin 3'-glucuronide, 3

Treatment of **6** with methyl 2,3,4-tri-O-acetyl- α -D-glucopyranosyluronate trichloroacetimidate **10** gave **11** and recovered **6** (Scheme 3), which was partially purified by chromatography. No 3-O-glucuronidation was observed. Debenzylation and de-esterification gave, after purification, **3** in 11% yield. Although this yield is low, this is the first reported chemical synthesis of this compound. The different regioselectivities of **7** and **10** are noteworthy. Characteristic downfield shifts of the 2' and 6'-protons were evident in the ¹H NMR spectrum (see Table 1 for comparative data). We confirmed the structure of **3** by HMBC, when the expected long range ¹H–¹³C connectivities were observed. Thus H"-1 showed ³J correlation to C-3', C-3' showed ³J correlation to H-5' and ²J correlation to H-2'.

A synthesis of **3** using liver microsomes has been described.⁴ Table 2 shows comparative NMR data for this material (the ionic form of the material was not specified) and chemically synthesised **3** (as both free acid and sodium salt).

2.4. 3'-Methylquercetin 3-glucuronide, 4 (isorhamnetin 3-glucuronide)

We reported the first synthesis of this compound, from 6,¹⁰ but the yield was very low (5%). The procedure was based on the treatment of 3'-O-methyl-4',7-O-dibenzylquercetin **12** (derived from **6**) with **10**. Our synthesis of **3** suggested that reaction with **7** would be a better approach, and indeed treatment of **12** with **7** and Ag₂O in pyridine at 0 °C gave crude **13** in 51% yield (Scheme 2). Debenzylation, hydrolysis and purification of **13** gave **4** in 33% yield from **12** (see Table 1). We confirmed the structure of **4** by HMBC, when the expected long range ¹H–¹³C connectivities were observed. Thus H″-1 showed ³J correlation to C-3 and C-3' showed ³J correlation to the protons of the methyl group.

2.5. Quercetin 3'-sulfate 5

Although treatment of 1 with sulfamic acid gives 5^3 , it is as part of a complex mixture, which is difficult to purify. We thus considered alternative approaches based on sulfation of 3,4',7-tri-*O*-benzylquercetin 14. Compound 14 was prepared in 66% yield by treatment of 6 with 1.6 equiv of


Scheme 3. Synthesis of quercetin 3'-glucuronide 3.

Table 1. ¹H NMR shifts/ δ (CD₃OD) for quercetin glucuronides (H⁺ form)

Proton	Quercetin (1)	Quercetin 3-glucuronide (2)	Quercetin 3'-glucuronide (3)	Isorhamnetin 3-glucuronide (4)
2'	7.72	7.61	8.03	7.95
6'	7.62	7.64	7.89	7.54
5'	6.87	6.84	6.95	6.86
8	6.37	6.38	6.39	6.37
6	6.17	6.19	6.15	6.17

potassium tert-butoxide and benzyl bromide in DMF (Scheme 4; 3,3',4',7-tetra-O-benzylquercetin 15 was also produced, but these conditions maximised the yield of 14). Treatment of 14 with a chlorosulfonic acid/pyridine mixture at room temperature-conditions used to sulfate partially protected daidzein derivatives¹⁴—or overnight at 80 °C was unsuccessful. Treatment of 14 in DMF with sulfur trioxide-N,N-dimethylformamide complex 16, a highly reactive sulfating reagent¹⁵ for 4 d, gave **17**, which was debenzylated to give a mixture of 1 and 5 (Scheme 4). The latter were easily separated on a C-18 reverse phase solid phase extraction (SPE) cartridge; elution with water gave pure 5 in 68% yield from 14. (Alternatively, treatment of 14 with a slight excess of sodium hydride for 10 min, to give the phenoxide anion 18, followed by addition 16, also gave, after debenzylation of 18, a mixture of 1 and 5, from which 5 was isolated in 45% yield. Though this approach had the advantage of a short reaction time, it was difficult to stoichiometrically control NaH addition on the small scale employed, which lowered the yield). Thus 5 was obtained directly as its sodium salt, avoiding the need for the elaborate purification procedures typically used in sulfate synthesis (see below); but only if the 14 used was pure. We found 14, prepared by benzylation of 1 as described,¹⁶ contained small amounts of two isomeric tribenzylquercetins, which we were unable to remove; and that these led, after sulfation and deprotection to a mixture of 5 and 1, together with two other

Table 2. ¹H NMR shifts/ δ (DMSO- d_6) for quercetin 3'-glucuronide **3**

Proton	Quercetin (1) ^a		3 ^{a,b}	
		H^+ form	Na ⁺ form	
2'	7.67	7.85	7.93	7.98
6'	7.53	7.88	7.85	7.90
5'	6.87	6.99	6.97	6.96
8	6.40	6.48	6.50	6.59
6	6.18	6.20	6.19	6.16

^a Ref. 4.

^b Cationic form unspecified.

compounds, tentatively identified as quercetin 7-sulfate and quercetin 4'-sulfate (data not shown). Purification of 5in this case required preparative HPLC (see below); complete separation of the closely running monosulfates was difficult, and the yield of 5 was lowered as a result.

2.6. Purification of quercetin glucuronides and sulfates by preparative HPLC

C-18 reverse phase columns, and gradients of 0.1% aq trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) and acetonitrile, were effective for preparative scale purification of glucuronides. It was necessary, however, to load the crude glucuronides in their acid forms in 50% methanol. Solubility in this solvent was limited; this restricted loading capacity, but this was the best compromise between solubility and solvent polarity. Though sodium salts could be loaded in concentrated aqueous solution, two peaks—one early peak corresponding to the sodium form, and a later one to the acid form—were obtained for each glucuronide, making the approach suited to simple mixtures only.

We also report a substantial improvement in the HPLC purification of sulfates. Although it was not ultimately required for **5** prepared as above, it was used to obtain pure sulfated products from several procedures that were ultimately less efficient and are therefore not reported here.



Scheme 4. Synthesis of quercetin 3'-sulfate 5.

Aq TFA–acetonitrile gradients were found to be unsuitable. Retention times were highly variable (due presumably to the low pK_a of sulfates) and fractions containing sulfates were prone to acid catalysed sulfate cleavage during subsequent evaporation (data not shown). We found that substituting 50 mM aq ammonium acetate for aq TFA overcame this problem, and products were easily desalted by lyophilisation. Previously reported flavonoid sulfate purifications are generally involved, employ several steps, and use techniques such as size exclusion chromatography, normal phase HPLC, preparative TLC and separation on polyamide.^{17–20} As far as we are aware, NH₄OAc–CH₃CN gradients and reverse phase HPLC have not been used before for the isolation of pure flavonoid sulfates.

2.7. Storage and handling of glucuronides and sulfates

We initially stored glucuronides in their acid forms, as protection against possible autooxidative reactions (to which 1 is increasingly susceptible as temperature, pH and/or salt concentrations are raised),²¹ in solution in 50% aq methanol at -20 °C; they were indefinitely stable. Solutions were warmed to room temperature and briefly sonicated before use. Although the latter apparently redissolved any material that had precipitated during refrigeration, subsequent filtration through a 0.2 µm membrane led to losses. Methanolic solutions (100%) were filtered without loss, but under these conditions the glucuronic acid moieties were prone to selfcatalysed methyl esterification. The addition of water successfully prevented esterification during storage at -20 °C, or, for example, rotary evaporation. Sulfates were stored as solid Na salts, or in solution in aq methanol or methanol, at -20 °C. More recently we have converted glucuronides to their sodium salts by titration, in 50% aq methanol, to pH 6.0 with aq sodium hydroxide, followed by immediate evaporation. The resultant solids were stored at -20 °C, and have again been stable. The salt forms of these materials are freely soluble in water, which is highly convenient for use in cell culture studies, etc. Frozen, millimolar solutions have also been stable. We are unable yet to fully comment on long-term stability; but we have found solutions to be stable for 48 h at 37 °C in culture media.⁵

3. Experimental

3.1. General methods

Solvents were dried over freshly activated 3 Å molecular sieves. Evaporations were performed in vacuo at 50 °C. Solids were dried overnight in vacuo over P₂O₅ before use. TLC was performed on Macherey-Nagel Silica Gel 60/ UV254 plates using UV light, or 50% sulfuric acid and charring, for visualisation. MPLC used pre-packed silica cartridges (Isolute Flash Si, Argonaut Technologies) and UV detection. Analytical HPLC and HPLC-ESMS used a 5 μ m Lunar column (250×4.4 mm) eluted at 1 mL min⁻¹ at 30 °C. Eluant A 80% for 5 min (isocratic); to 10% A at 35 min (gradient). Eluate was monitored by UV detection at 205 and 280 nm. Preparative HPLC of glucuronides used a 5 µm Prodigy ODS3 column (Phenomenex Inc., $250 \times 21.2 \text{ mm} + 60 \times 21.2 \text{ mm}$ guard) eluted at 5 mL min⁻¹ Eluant A-0.1% CF₃COOH (TFA); Eluant B-CH₃CN. 80% A for 15 min (isocratic); then to 10% A at 75 min (gradient). Preparative HPLC of sulfates used the same column and flow rate, but different elution conditions: Eluant A-50 mM aq NH₄OAc, pH 6.5; Eluant B-CH₃CN. 80% A for 15 min (isocratic); then to 40% A at 75 min (gradient).

Solid phase extraction (SPE) was performed on TechElut SPE C-18 2000/12 mL cartridges, preconditioned with MeOH and water. Melting points were determined with a Reichert 7905 hot stage microscope, and are uncorrected. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were run on a JEOL EX-270 spectrometer at 21 °C. HMBC NMR spectra were run on a Bruker Avance 600 spectrometer at 27 °C. NMR chemical shifts were referenced to residual solvent absorption. ESMS, APCIMS and HPLC-ESMS analyses were performed on a Micromass Quattro II mass spectrometer. HRMS data were obtained by syringe pump injection of solutions in an CH₃CN, using either a Micromass LCT MS or a Bruker microTOF, equipped with electrospray sources. IR spectra were measured by Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR), using a BioRad FTS175C Fourier transform infrared spectrometer with HgCdTe detector and Specac GoldenGate single reflection diamond Horizontal ATR system; 128 scans at 2 cm⁻¹ resolution, background spectrum empty crystal. Optical rotation measurements were made on a Perkin Elmer 341 Polarimeter.

3.2. Synthesis of quercetin conjugates

3.2.1. 4',7-Di-*O*-benzylquercetin, 6. 4',7-Di-*O*-benzylquercetin, 6, was prepared from quercetin pentaacetate (25 g) as described by Jurd,⁶ except that the product was initially purified by extraction with toluene at 80 °C, rather than with refluxing benzene. Yield of recrystallised 6 (as yellow needles) 4.0–6.8 g, 17–29% (lit.⁶ 13%), mp 181–182 °C (lit.⁶ 181 °C); $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 11.70 (s, 1H, 5-OH), 7.77 (dd, 1H, *J* 9.6, 2.3 Hz, H-6'), 7.78 (d, 1H, *J* 2.3 Hz, H-2'), 7.29–7.46 (m, 10H, 2×Ph), 7.02 (d, 1H, *J* 9.6 Hz, H-5'), 6.61 (s, 1H, 3-OH), 6.55 (d, 1H, *J* 2.3 Hz, H-8), 6.44 (d, 1H, *J* 2.3 Hz, H-6), 5.77 (s, 1H, 3-OH), 5.18, 5.13 (2×s, 2×2H, 2×CH₂Ph).

3.2.2. Quercetin 3-glucuronide, 2. Ag_2O (0.27 g, 2.5 equiv), $CaSO_4$ (dried at 120 °C, 0.5 g) and dry pyridine (4 mL) were stirred, in the dark, under Ar at 0 °C for 5 min. Methyl 2,3,4-tri-*O*-acetyl- α -D-glucopyranosyluronate bromide **7** (0.23 g, 580 µmol, 1.25 equiv) was added; and, after a further 5 min, 4',7-di-*O*-benzylquercetin **6** (0.22 g, 460 µmol). Stirring was continued at 0 °C. After 16 h, aq KCl (10%, 20 mL) and aq AcOH (10%, 100 mL) were added and the mixture was filtered through Celite. The latter was washed with water (2×100 mL), and the crude product eluted with acetone (2×50 mL). The latter was purified by MPLC (20 g silica, 4% acetone/96% toluene isocratic elution) to give two main products **8a** and **8b**.

Compound 8a: $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 12.42 (s, 1H, 5-OH), 8.01 (dd, 1H, J 8.9, 2.3 Hz, H-6'), 7.85 (d, 1H, J 2.3 Hz, H-2'), 7.31–7.42 (m, 10H, 2×Ph), 7.10 (d, 1H, J 8.9 Hz, H-5'), 6.49 (d, 1H, J 2.0 Hz, H-8), 6.42 (d, 1H, J 2.0 Hz, H-6), 5.75 (d, 1H, J 7.9 Hz, H-1"), 5.1–5.4 (m, 3H, H-2", H-3", H-4"), 5.26, 5.11 (2×s, 2×2H, 2×CH₂Ph), 3.94 (d, 1H, J 9.9 Hz, H-5"), 3.58 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 2.33 (s, 3H, 3'-COCH₃), 2.10, 2.03, 2.01 (3×s, 3×3H, 3×sugar COCH₃); m/z (APCI, +ve mode) 863 [(M+Na)⁺].

Compound **8b**: $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 12.43 (s, 1H, 5-OH), 7.68 (dd, 1H, J 8.6, 2.3 Hz, H-6'), 7.63 (d, 1H, J 2.3 Hz, H-2'), 7.27–7.46 (m, 10H, 2×Ph), 7.02 (d, 1H, J 8.6 Hz, H-5'),

6.49 (d, 1H, J 2.0 Hz, H-8), 6.42 (d, 1H, J 2.0 Hz, H-6), 5.83 (s, 1H, 3'-OH), 5.73 (d, 1H, J 7.9 Hz, H-1"), 5.1–5.4 (m, 3H, H-2", H-3", H-4"), 5.21, 5.11 (2×s, 2×2H, 2×CH₂Ph), 4.00 (d, 1H, J 10.2 Hz, H-5"), 3.60 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 2.10, 2.02, 2.00 (3×s, 3×3H, 3×COCH₃); *m/z* (APCI, +ve mode) 821 [(M+Na)⁺].

Compounds 8a and 8b were not further purified or characterised but were debenzylated, de-esterified and purified by HPLC as follows. The products were recombined and suspended in a mixture of EtOH (80 mL) and cvclohexene (20 mL). Twenty percent Pd(OH)₂ on charcoal (200 mg) was added. The mixture was refluxed under Ar for 30 min. cooled and filtered through a 0.5 µm filter. The filtrate was evaporated and the residue was suspended in 50% aq MeOH (200 mL). Aq Na₂CO₃ (0.5 M, 6 mL) was added and the mixture was stirred under Ar at room temperature for 2.5 h. After cooling Dowex 50W resin (H⁺ form) was added with stirring until the pH fell to below 3.0. The mixture was filtered (0.5 μ m), the resin was washed (50% aq MeOH, 1×50 mL; MeOH, 1×50 mL) and filtrate and resin washes were combined and evaporated. The residue was dissolved in 50% aq MeOH (8 mL). Compound 2 was isolated by preparative HPLC (2×4 mL injections) as an orange glass and was >95% pure by analytical HPLC. It was identical to authentic material.²² Yield 89 mg (41% from $\mathbf{6}$).

Compound **2** (H+ form): $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CD₃OD) 7.64 (dd, 1H, J 8.9, 2.3 Hz, H-6'), 7.61 (d, 1H, J 2.3 Hz, H-2'), 6.84 (d, 1H, J 8.9 Hz, H-5'), 6.38 (d, 1H, J 2.0 Hz, H-8), 6.19 (d, 1H, J 2.0 Hz, H-6), 5.32 (d, 1H, J 7.6 Hz, H-1"), 3.74 (d, 1H, J 9.6 Hz, H-5"), 3.42–3.62 (m, 3H, H-2", H-3", H-4").

Compound **2** (lit.²² H+ form): $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CD₃OD) 7.63 (H-6'), 7.63 (H-2'), 6.84 (H-5'), 6.37 (H-8), 6.18 (H-6), 5.31 (H-1"), 3.75 (H-5"), 3.47–3.59 (H-2", H-3", H-4").

3.2.3. Quercetin 3'-glucuronide, **3.** Compound **6** (0.36 g, 0.75 mmol), powdered 3 Å molecular sieves (0.5 g) and dry CH₂Cl₂ (5 mL) were stirred at room temperature under Ar for 2 h. The trichloroacetimidate **10** (0.39 g, 1.1 equiv) was added and the mixture was cooled to -15 °C. BF₃·Et₂O (freshly distilled, 120 µL, 1.25 equiv) was added drop wise over 10 min. The mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred overnight. The mixture was filtered through Celite and the latter was washed with CH₂Cl₂, acetone and methanol until the washings were colourless. Filtrate and washings were combined and evaporated to give a bright yellow glass. The crude product was purified by MPLC (20 g silica, 5% acetone/95% toluene isocratic elution) to give recovered **6** (0.21 g, 58%) and crude **11** (0.10 g).

Compound **11**: $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 11.65 (s, 1H, 5-OH), 8.05 (d, 1H, *J* 2.3 Hz, H-2'), 7.94 (dd, 1H, *J* 8.6, 2.3 Hz, H-6'), 7.28–7.46 (m, 10H, 2×Ph), 7.02 (d, 1H, *J* 8.6 Hz, H-5'), 6.69 (s, 1H, 3-OH), 6.58 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-8), 6.41 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-6), 5.76 (d, 1H, *J* 7.9 Hz, H-1"), 5.1–5.4 (m, 3H, H-2", H-3", H-4"), 5.36, 5.14 (2×s, 2×2H, 2×CH₂Ph), 4.16 (d, 1H, *J* 10.2 Hz, H-5"), 3.70 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 2.05 (s, 3×3H, 3×COCH₃).

Compound **11** was not further characterised or purified but was debenzylated, de-esterified and purified in the same way as **8a** and **8b** (proportionately scaled down) to give **3** as an orange glass. Yield 39 mg (11% from **6**). The substitution position was confirmed by HMBC (see text); **3** ν_{max} (ATR of solid) 3208br d, 1675, 1652, 1616, 1595, 1570, 1502, 1412, 1357, 1268, 1189, 1161, 1136, 1003; $[\alpha]_{D}^{25} - 44$ (*c* 1.0, water).

Compound **3** (H⁺ form): $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CD₃OD) 8.03 (d, 1H, J 2.0 Hz, H-2'), 7.89 (dd, 1H, J 8.6, 2.0 Hz, H-6'), 6.95 (d, 1H, J 8.6 Hz, H-5'), 6.39 (d, 1H, J 2.0 Hz, H-8), 6.15 (d, 1H, J 2.0 Hz, H-6), 4.92 (d, 1H, J 6.9 Hz, H-1"), 4.04 (d, 1H, J 9.6 Hz, H-5"), 3.52–3.70 (m, 3H, H-2", H-3", H-4").

Compound **3** (H⁺ form): $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6) 12.43 (s, 1H, 5-OH), 9.45 (br d s, 1H, COOH), 7.88 (dd, 1H, *J* 8.2, 2.0 Hz, H-6'), 7.85 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-2'), 6.99 (d, 1H, *J* 8.2 Hz, H-5'), 6.48 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-8), 6.20 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-6), 5.2 (br d s, 1H, 3-OH), 4.92 (d, 1H, *J* 6.9 Hz, H-1"), 3.79 (d, 1H, *J* 8.9 Hz, H-5"), 3.3–3.5 (m, 3H, H-2", H-3", H-4").

Compound **3** (Na⁺ form, obtained by titration in aq MeOH to pH 6.0 with aq NaOH, and evaporation): $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO-*d*₆) 12.46 (s, 1H, 5-OH), 7.93 (d, 1H, *J* 2.3 Hz, H-2'), 7.85 (dd, 1H, *J* 8.6, 2.3 Hz, H-6'), 6.97 (d, 1H, *J* 8.6 Hz, H-5'), 6.50 (d, 1H, *J* 1.6 Hz, H-8), 6.19 (d, 1H, *J* 1.6 Hz, H-6), 5.04 (br d s, 1H, 3-OH), 4.73 (d, 1H, *J* 6.9 Hz, H-1"), 3.44 (d, 1H, *J* 8.9 Hz, H-5"), 3.2–3.4 (m, 3H, H-2", H-3", H-4"); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (DMSO-*d*₆) 175.9 (C-4), 171.5 (C-6"), 164.1 (C-7), 160.5 (C-5), 156.1 (C-9), 149.6 (C-4'), 146.3 (C-2), 145.3 (C-3'), 135.9 (C-3), 124.2 (C-6'), 121.6 (C-1'), 117.9 (C-2'), 116.5 (C-5'), 103.3 (C-1"), 102.9 (C-10), 98.2 (C-6), 93.7 (C-8), 74.2 (C-5"), 74.5, 76.0, 73.0 (C-2", C-3", C-4").

HRMS (ESI, -ve mode): $(M-H)^{-}$, found 477.0686. $C_{21}H_{17}O_{13}$ requires 477.0669.

3.2.4. 3'-O-Methyl-4',7-di-O-benzylquercetin, 12. 3'-O-Methyl-4',7-di-O-benzylquercetin, 12, was prepared from 3,3',5,4',7-di-O-benzylquercetin triacetate (1.66 g) as described by Jurd,⁶ except that the crude product after filtration and acidification was purified by MPLC (silica, 2% acetone/toluene). Yield of 12 (as a yellow powder) 0.18 g, 15% (lit.⁶ 12%); mp 172–174 °C (lit.⁶ 175 °C); $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 11.71 (s, 1H, 5-OH), 7.79 (d, 1H, *J* 2.3 Hz, H-2'), 7.74 (dd, 1H, *J* 8.9, 2.3 Hz, H-6'), 7.33–7.46 (m, 10H, 2×Ph), 7.00 (d, 1H, *J* 8.9 Hz, H-5'), 6.60 (s, 1H, 3-OH), 6.56 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-8), 6.52 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-6), 5.24, 5.14 (2×s, 2×2H, 2×CH₂Ph), 3.98 (s, 3H, OCH₃).

3.2.5. 3'-Methylquercetin 3-glucuronide (isorhamnetin 3-glucuronide), 4. Ag₂O (0.71 g, 2.5 equiv), CaSO₄ (dried at 120 °C, 0.6 g) and dry pyridine (10 mL) were stirred, in the dark, under Ar at 0 °C. After 5 min, methyl 2,3,4-tri-*O*-acetyl- α -D-glucopyranosyluronate bromide 7 (0.61 g, 580 µmol, 1.25 equiv) was added; and, after a further 5 min, 3'-*O*-methyl-4',7-di-*O*-benzylquercetin 12 (0.61 g, 1.23 mmol). Stirring was continued at 0 °C. After 16 h, the reaction was worked up as described for 8a and 8b (on 2.5×the scale) to give 0.82 g of a light brown solid. MPLC (50 g silica, 5% acetone/95% toluene, isocratic elution) gave 0.42 g (51%) of 13; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 12.40 (s, 1H, 5-OH), 7.77 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-2'), 7.53 (dd, 1H, *J* 8.6, 2.0 Hz, H-6'), 7.29–7.46 (m, 10H, 2×Ph), 6.92 (d, 1H, *J* 8.6 Hz, H-5'), 6.41 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-8), 6.35 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz,

H-6), 5.80 (d, 1H, J 7.9 Hz, H-1"), 5.12–5.41 (m, 3H, H-2", H-3", H-4"), 5.21, 5.01 (2×s, 2×2H, 2×CH₂Ph), 4.05 (d, 1H, J 9.9 Hz, H-5"), 4.00 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.55 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 2.10, 2.02, 1.99 (3×s, 3×3H, 3×COCH₃).

Compound **13** was not further characterised or purified but was debenzylated, de-esterified and purified in the same way as **8a** and **8b** (proportionately scaled up) to give **4** as an orange glass, identical in all respects to authentic material,¹⁰ yield 198 mg (33% from **6**). The substitution position was confirmed by HMBC (see text); ν_{max} (ATR of solid) 3223br d (OH), 1680, 1652, 1599, 1563, 1463, 1427, 1353, 1286, 1242, 1198, 1181, 1167, 1124; $[\alpha]_D^{25} - 13 (c \ 1.0, \text{water})$.

Compound 4 (H⁺ form): $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CD₃OD) 7.95 (d, 1H, *J* 2.4 Hz, H-2'), 7.54 (dd, 1H, *J* 8.2, 2.0 Hz, H-6'), 6.86 (d, 1H, *J* 8.2 Hz, H-5'), 6.37 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-8), 6.17 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-6), 5.48 (d, 1H, *J* 7.2 Hz, H-1"), 3.93 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.78 (d, 1H, *J* 9.2 Hz, H-5"), 3.46–3.62 (m, 3H, H-2", H-3", H-4"); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CD₃OD) 179.1 (C4), 171.6 (C6"), 166.0 (C7), 163.0 (C5), 158.7 (C2), 158.4 (C9), 150.9 (C3'), 148.4 (C4'), 135.1 (C3), 123.5 (C6'), 122.8 (C1'), 116.0 (C5'), 114.4 (C2'), 105.7 (C10), 104.0 (C1"), 99.9 (C6), 94.8 (C8), 77.5 (C3"), 77.2 (C5"), 75.6 (C2"), 73.0 (C4"), 55.7 (OCH₃).

Compound **4** (Na⁺ form): $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CD₃OD) 7.99 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-2'), 7.56 (dd, 1H, *J* 8.3, 2.0 Hz, H-6'), 6.89 (d, 1H, *J* 8.3 Hz, H-5'), 6.38 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-8), 6.17 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-6), 5.38 (m, 1H, H-1"), 3.93 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.44–3.57 (m, 4H, H-2", H-3", H-4", H-5").

HRMS (ESI, +ve mode): $(M+H)^+$, found 537.0642. $C_{22}H_{19}Na_2O_{13}$ requires 537.0616.

3.2.6. 3,4',7-**Tri-***O*-**benzylquercetin**, **14.** Compound **6** (2 g, 4.15 mmol) was dissolved with stirring in dry DMF (35 mL) under Ar at 21 °C. 'BuOK (0.745 g, 1.6 equiv) was added, followed by BnBr (790 μ L, 1.6 equiv). Stirring was continued overnight at 21 °C for 17 h. The mixture was poured into stirred 10% aq HCl (375 mL) and cooled to 5 °C for 2 h. The resultant solid was recovered by filtration, washed with water, dissolved in EtOAc (300 mL), washed twice with water (2×100 mL) and dried (MgSO₄). Evaporation gave a solid (2.38 g) that was purified by MPLC (50 g silica, 100% toluene for 10 min, then to 5% acetone/95% toluene after another 5 min) to give **14** (1.57 g, 66%) as yellow needles, mp 155 °C (lit.¹⁶ mp not given).

Compound **14**: $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6) 12.67 (s, 1H, 5-OH), 9.44 (s, 1H, 3'-OH), 7.57 (d, 1H, *J* 2.3 Hz, H-2'), 7.53–7.29 (m, 16H, H-6', 3×Ph), 7.13 (d, 1H, *J* 8.8 Hz, H-5'), 6.80 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-8), 6.48 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-6), 5.23–5.32 (br s, 4H, 2×CH₂Ph), 5.03 (s, 2H, CH₂Ph).

Compound **14** (lit.¹⁶): $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO-*d*₆) 12.67 (s, 1H, 5-OH), 9.47 (s, 1H, 3'-OH), 7.56 (d, 1H, *J* 1.5 Hz, H-2'), 7.52– 7.29 (m, 16H, H-6', 3×Ph), 7.13 (d, 1H, *J* 8.8 Hz, H-5'), 6.80 (d, 1H, *J* 1.5 Hz, H-8), 6.47 (d, 1H, *J* 1.5 Hz), 5.23– 5.32 (br s, 4H, 2×CH₂Ph), 5.02 (s, 2H, CH₂Ph).

3.2.7. Quercetin 3'-sulfate, 5. Compound **14** (0.252 g, 440 µmol) was dissolved in dry DMF (5 mL) with stirring

under Ar. A solution of sulfur trioxide-N,N-dimethylformamide complex 16 (0.340 g, 5 equiv, weighed and kept under Ar) in DMF (5 mL) was added. After 4 d, the reaction mixture was evaporated, and satd NaHCO₃ (6 mL) was added with stirring (final pH 7.6). The mixture was again evaporated to dryness and the residue was dissolved in acetone (150 mL) and filtered (sinter). The residual solid was washed with acetone (50 mL). (Attempts to isolate more products from the residual undissolved material were unsuccessful.) The acetone washings and filtrate were combined and evaporated to a vellow glass (0.27 g). This material was not further purified but was dissolved in EtOH (50 mL); cvclohexene (25 mL) and Pd(OH)₂/C (250 mg) were added. and the mixture was heated at reflux (30 min) and cooled. The mixture was filtered ($0.5 \mu m$ membrane) and evaporated to give a yellow solid (0.34 g). The latter was redissolved in water (10 mL), loaded onto an SPE cartridge and eluted with water (100 mL) to give 5 (121 mg, 68% from 14) as a yellow solid, identical to authentic material.²³

Compound **5** (Na⁺ form): $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6) 12.45 (br s, 1H, 5-OH), 9.47 (br s, 2H, 2×OH), 8.03 (d, 1H, *J* 2.0 Hz, H-2'), 7.85 (dd, 1H, *J* 8.6, 2.0 Hz, H-6'), 6.98 (d, 1H, *J* 8.6 Hz, H-5'), 6.44 (d, 1H, *J* 1.9 Hz, H-8), 6.19 (d, 1H, *J* 1.9 Hz, H-6).

Compound **5** (lit.²³, Na⁺ form): $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6) 7.99 (d, 1H, *J* 2.4 Hz, H-2'), 7.80 (dd, 1H, *J* 7.6, 2.4 Hz, H-6'), 6.93 (d, 1H, *J* 7.6 Hz, H-5'), 6.39 (d, 1H, *J* 1.5 Hz, H-8), 6.14 (d, 1H, *J* 1.5 Hz, H-6).

Compound **5** (Na⁺ form): $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CD₃OD) 8.20 (d, 1H, *J* 2.3 Hz, H-2'), 8.01 (dd, 1H, *J* 8.9, 2.3 Hz, H-6'), 7.01 (d, 1H, *J* 8.9 Hz, H-5'), 6.42 (d, 1H, *J* 1.9 Hz, H-8), 6.16 (d, 1H, *J* 1.9 Hz, H-6). *m/z* (ESI, -ve mode) 381 ((M–H)⁻).

Acknowledgements

This work was funded by the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (UK). We wish to thank Dr. Fred Mellon and Mr. John Eagles for performing mass spectroscopy, and Dr. Ian Colquhoun for obtaining the HMBC NMR data. We wish to acknowledge the use of the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council's Chemical Database Service at Daresbury.²⁴

References and notes

 Kroon, P. A.; Clifford, M. N.; Crozier, A.; Day, A. J.; Donovan, J. L.; Manach, C.; Williamson, G. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2004, 80, 15–21.

- Williams, C. A.; Harborne, J. B. Flavone and Flavonol Glycosides. In *The Flavonoids: Advances in Research Since* 1986; Harborne, J. B., Ed.; Chapman and Hall: London, 1994.
- Day, A. J.; Mellon, F.; Barron, D.; Sarrazin, G.; Morgan, M. R. A.; Williamson, G. *Free Radical Res.* 2001, 35, 941–952.
- Boersma, M. G.; van der Woude, H.; Bogaards, J.; Boeren, S.; Vervoort, J.; Cnubben, N. H. P.; van Iersel, M. L. P. S.; van Bladeren, P. J.; Rietjens, I. M. C. M. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 2002, 15, 662–670.
- O'Leary, K. A.; Day, A. J.; Needs, P. W.; Mellon, F. A.; O'Brien, N. M.; Williamson, G. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 2003, 65, 479–491.
- 6. Jurd, L. J. Org. Chem. 1962, 27, 1294-1297.
- Wagner, H.; Danninger, H.; Seligmann, O.; Farkas, L. Chem. Ber. 1970, 103, 3674–3677.
- Andersson, F. B.; Leaback, D. H. Chem. Ind. (London) 1960, 967–968.
- 9. Boers, F.; Lemiere, G.; Lepoivre, J. A.; Dommisse, R.; De Bruyne, T.; Vlietinck, A. J.; Vanden Berghe, D. A. *Pharmazie* **1998**, *53*, 512–517.
- de Pascual-Teresa, S.; Johnston, K. L.; Dupont, M. S.; O'Leary, K. A.; Needs, P. W.; Morgan, L. M.; Clifford, M. N.; Bao, Y. P.; Williamson, G. J. Nutr. 2004, 134, 552–557.
- 11. Needs, P. W.; Williamson, G. Carbohydr. Res. 2001, 330, 511–515.
- 12. Bouktaib, M.; Atmani, A.; Rolando, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 6263–6266.
- O'Leary, K. A.; Day, A. J.; Needs, P. W.; Sly, W. S.; O'Brien, N. M.; Williamson, G. FEBS Lett. 2001, 503, 103–106.
- Fairley, B.; Botting, N. P.; Cassidy, A. *Tetrahedron* 2003, 59, 5407–5410.
- Roy, A. B. The Chemistry of Sulfate Esters and Related Compounds. In *Sulfation of Drugs and Related Compounds*; Mulder, G. J., Ed.; CRC: Florida, FL, USA, 1981; pp 5–8.
- 16. Alluis, B.; Dangles, O. Helv. Chim. Acta 2001, 84, 1133-1156.
- Ahmed, A. A.; Mabry, T. J. Phytochemistry 1986, 26, 1517– 1518.
- Mann, P.; Tofern, B.; Kaloga, M.; Eich, E. *Phytochemistry* 1999, 50, 267–271.
- Seabra, R. M.; Alves, A. C. Phytochemistry 1991, 30, 1344– 1345.
- Barron, D.; Ibrahim, R. K. Phytochemistry 1988, 27, 2362– 2363.
- 21. Dangles, O.; Fargeix, G.; Dufour, C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1999, 1387–1395.
- Price, K. R.; Colquhoun, I. J.; Barnes, K. A.; Rhodes, M. J. C. J. Agric. Food Chem. 1998, 46, 4898–4903.
- Jain, N.; Ahmad, M.; Kamil, M.; Ilyas, M. *Phytochemistry* 1991, 30, 1345–1347.
- 24. Fletcher, D. A.; Meeking, R. F.; Parkin, D. J. Chem. Inf. Comput. Sci. 1996, 36, 746–749.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6869-6875

Synthesis of substituted 5-aminomethyl tetrahydro-isoquinolines and dihydro-isoindoles

M. Jonathan Fray,^{*} Paul Allen, Paul R. Bradley, Clare E. Challenger, Michael Closier, Tim J. Evans, Mark L. Lewis, John P. Mathias, Carly L. Nichols, Yvonne M. Po-Ba, Hayley Snow, Mark H. Stefaniak and Hannah V. Vuong

Department of Discovery Chemistry, Pfizer Global Research and Development, Sandwich, Kent CT13 9NJ, UK

Received 2 November 2005; revised 18 April 2006; accepted 28 April 2006 Available online 26 May 2006

Abstract—The synthesis of ten substituted aminomethylene tetrahydro-isoquinolines is described, proceeding in eight steps from 5-hydroxy-isoquinoline via reductive amination of *N*-Boc tetrahydro-isoquinoline 5-carboxaldehyde. Likewise, reductive amination was used to prepare four substituted dihydro-isoindoles from the corresponding aldehyde. The dihydro-isoindole ring system was conveniently accessed via a 2+2+2 cycloaddition reaction.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The introduction of conformational restraint is a frequently employed tactic for improving the potency and selectivity of biologically active compounds.¹ Di- or multi-functional compounds are useful components for building compound libraries to investigate structure–activity relationships rapidly. Hence difunctional compounds that possess a welldefined spatial relationship between the functional groups are particularly sought after as templates.² In connection with a programme to discover novel, selective α_1 -adrenergic antagonists, we needed to prepare a range of tetrahydroisoquinolines (1) and dihydro-isoindoles (2) (Fig. 1), bearing a variable basic substituent (NR¹R²) attached to the ring system via a methylene group.





Keywords: Tetrahydro-isoquinoline; Dihydro-isoindole; Diamine; Reductive amination.

The synthesis of 1 began with the reduction of commercially available 5-hydroxyisoquinoline (Scheme 1); hydrogenation over Adam's catalyst in acetic acid solvent³ gave 5-hydroxytetrahydro-isoquinoline 3. Treatment with an excess of Bocanhydride afforded a mixture of N-Boc and N,O-diprotected products, which were not separated but exposed to sodium hydroxide, resulting in the selective removal of the O-Boc group. Compound 4 was isolated in 84% yield. The phenol group was converted into the nitrile 5 by reaction with *N*-phenyl triflamide⁴ followed by palladium-catalysed displacement of the triflate by zinc cyanide.⁵ Reduction of the nitrile to the aldehyde 6 was best achieved using an excess of DIBAL-H in toluene at $-78 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$, ⁶ followed by a careful quenching of the excess reagent using methanol, and a brief exposure to hydrochloric acid to hydrolyse the intermediate imine. The aldehyde was obtained in 88% yield without loss of the Boc group.

Aldehyde **6** was reacted with a variety of amines (see Table 1) in the presence of sodium triacetoxyborohydride,⁷ followed by treatment of the products $(7\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{j})$ with a saturated solution of hydrogen chloride in dichloromethane to afford the deprotected amines $(1\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{j})$ as their hydrochlorides. In some cases (i.e., $7\mathbf{f}-\mathbf{j}$), the amine was more conveniently employed as its hydrochloride or trifluoroacetate salt; thus 1 equiv of triethylamine or sodium acetate was also added to the reductive amination to buffer the reaction mixture.

The amine used to prepare **7j**, 3-methoxy-3-methylazetidine, was made using the four-step route shown in Scheme 2.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +44 1304 649175; fax: +44 1304 656329; e-mail: jonathan.fray@pfizer.com

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.095



Scheme 1. Reagents and conditions: (a) H_2 (3 bar), PtO₂, HOAc, 16 h; (b) (Boc)₂O, NaOH, dioxane/water, 20 °C, 16 h; (c) 2 M NaOH (aq), MeOH/dioxane, 20 °C, 3 h; (d) (Tf)₂NPh, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, 0–20 °C, 16 h; (e) Zn(CN)₂ (1 equiv), 4 mol % Pd(PPh₃)₄, LiCl (1 equiv), DMF, 80 °C; (f) DIBAL-H (2.3 equiv), toluene, -78 °C, 2 h, then 1 M aq HCl, 0 °C, 20 min; (g) R^1R^2NH (1–1.5 equiv), MeCN, THF or CH₂Cl₂, 20 °C, 1–3 h, then NaBH(OAc)₃ (2.5 equiv), 18 h; (h) HCl_(g), CH₂Cl₂, 20 °C, 1–2 h.

Thus, commercially available *N*-benzhydrylazetidin-3-ol was oxidised to the ketone using DMSO and pyridine–sulfur trioxide complex¹² and then treated with methylmagnesium

Table 1. Structures and yields of diamine products 7a-j and 1a-j



1:	х	=	H:	7:	х	=	Boc
•••							200

NR ¹ R ²	Compd (%yield)	Compd (%yield)	
NMe ₂ NHCH ₂ CH ₂ OMe NMeCH ₂ CH ₂ OMe	7a (83) 7b (81) 7c (64)	1a (100) 1b (100) 1c (90)	
	7 d (77)	1d (99)	
OMe N	7e (66)	1e (66)	Ref. 8
N_OMe	7f (94)	1f (99)	Ref. 9
N OMe	7 g (89)	1g (99)	Ref. 10
N O	7h (53)	1h (84)	Ref. 11
OMe N	7i (65)	1i (100)	Ref. 10
OMe Me	7j (74)	1j (100)	



Scheme 2. (a) DMSO, Py–SO₃, 20 $^{\circ}$ C, 1.5 h; (b) MeMgBr (3 M in ether), THF, 0 $^{\circ}$ C, 2 h; (c) NaH, DMF, 0–20 $^{\circ}$ C, 2 h, then MeI, 0–20 $^{\circ}$ C, 2 h; (d) chloroethyl chloroformate, MeCN, reflux, 1 h, then MeOH, reflux, 2 h.

bromide to afford **8**. Alkylation of the alcohol and removal of the benzhydryl group using chloroethyl chloroformate¹³ gave **9** as the hydrochloride salt.

For the synthesis of 2, we utilised 2+2+2 cycloaddition chemistry to build up the isoindoline ring, as shown in Scheme 3.

Thus, *N*,*N*-dipropynylamine was protected as its trifluoroacetyl derivative **10**, followed by reaction with 4 equiv of propynol in the presence of Wilkinson's catalyst to give hydroxymethylisoindoline **11**.¹⁴ The trifluoroacetyl protecting group was chosen as it is easily removed under mild, basic conditions, however, we found that it was sometimes labile under reductive amination conditions. We therefore switched to the more robust Boc protection prior to oxidation using the modified Swern oxidation. The aldehyde **12** was obtained in good yield. Four amines were used in the reductive amination, and removal of the Boc group, as before, afforded the compounds shown in Table 2 (yields in parentheses).

In summary, we have developed efficient routes to a range of substituted tetrahydro-isoquinolines (1) and dihydro-isoindoles (2). These compounds were elaborated further to explore structure–activity relationships of α_1 -adrenergic antagonists. Details of the synthesis of the target compounds, and their biological screening data, will be reported elsewhere.



Scheme 3. (a) $(CF_3CO)_2O$, Et_3N , CH_2Cl_2 , 0-20 °C; (b) 3 mol % (PPh_3)_3RhCl, EtOH, 0-20 °C, 17 h; (c) K_2CO_3 , H_2O , MeOH, 20 °C, 30 min then $(Boc)_2O$, 20 °C, 6 h, 89%; (d) $(CF_3CO)_2O$, DMSO, CH_2Cl_2 , -78 °C, then *i*-Pr₂NEt, warmed to 20 °C, 78%; (e) R^1R^2NH , HOAc, NaBH(OAc)₃, THF, 20 °C, 19 h; (f) $HCl_{(g)}$, CH_2Cl_2 , 20 °C, 1 h.

Table 2. Structures and yields of diamine products 13a-d and 2a-d



NR ¹ R ²	Compd (%yield)	Compd (%yield)	
	13a (99)	2a (99)	
NMeCH ₂ CH ₂ OMe	13b (76)	2b (100)	
OMe	13c (100)	2c (99)	
N OMe	13d (85)	2d (89)	

2. Experimental

2.1. General

Melting points were determined using open glass capillary tubes and a Gallenkamp melting point apparatus and are uncorrected. Spectroscopic data were recorded on a Perkin-Elmer 983 (IR), Finnigan Mat. Navigator (LRMS, either positive (ES⁺) or negative (ES⁻) electrospray mode) and Varian Unity Inova (¹H NMR 300 or 400 MHz) instruments and are consistent with the assigned structures. Combustion analyses were performed by Exeter Analytical (UK) Limited, Uxbridge, Middlesex. Accurate mass determinations for molecular ions were obtained using a commercially available Apex II Fourier Transform Mass Spectrometer (Bruker Daltonics Inc., Billerica, MA, USA) equipped with a 4.7 T, passively shielded, superconducting magnet and an electrospray ionisation source (ESI), used in positive ion mode (Analytica of Branford, Branford, CT, USA) and calibrated using sodium trifluoroacetate. Reactions were performed under an atmosphere of dry nitrogen unless otherwise noted. Flash chromatography refers to column chromatography on silica gel (Kieselgel 60, 230-400 mesh, from E. Merck, Darmstadt). Kieselgel 60 F₂₅₄ plates from E. Merck were used for TLC and compounds were visualised using UV light or 0.5% aqueous potassium permanganate solution.

2.1.1. 1,2,3,4-Tetrahydro-5-hydroxy-isoquinolinium ace-tate, 3.³ A suspension of 5-isoquinolinol (24 g, 165 mmol) in acetic acid (250 mL) was hydrogenated over platinium

dioxide (8 g), with overhead stirring, at 3 bar for 16 h at room temperature. The reaction mixture was decanted from the catalyst and the catalyst was thoroughly rinsed with methanol (1 L). The combined solutions were evaporated to dryness to give an oil (65 g). The residual oil was dissolved in methanol (200 mL) and diethyl ether was added. The solid, which precipitated, was collected by filtration, washed with diethyl ether and dried under vacuum to give **3** as an offwhite solid (32.1 g, 93%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 2.60 (m, 2H), 3.10 (m, 2H), 3.90 (m, 2H), 6.4 (d, *J* 8 Hz, 1H), 6.60 (d, *J* 8 Hz, 1H), 6.9 (t, *J* 8 Hz, 1H); LRMS: *m/z* (ES⁺) 150 [MH⁺].

2.1.2. tert-Butyl 3,4-dihydro-5-hydroxy-2(1H)-isoquinolinecarboxylate, 4. A solution of di-tert-butyl dicarbonate (66.75 g, 0.31 mol) in 1,4-dioxane (300 mL) was added to a mixture of 3 (32.0 g, 153 mmol) and 1 M aqueous sodium hydroxide (200 mL) and the resulting suspension stirred at room temperature for 16 h. The reaction mixture was concentrated under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between 1 M hydrochloric acid (300 mL) and dichloromethane (500 mL). The aqueous phase was re-extracted with dichloromethane (200 mL). The combined organic extracts were dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure to give an orange oil. The crude product was dissolved in 1,4-dioxane (200 mL) and methanol (100 mL) followed by the addition of 2 N aqueous sodium hydroxide (150 mL) and the resulting cloudy mixture was stirred at room temperature for 3 h. The reaction mixture was concentrated under reduced pressure and the residue partitioned between ethyl acetate (600 mL) and water (200 mL). The organic phase was separated, washed with 2 N hydrochloric acid (200 mL), brine (250 mL) then dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure to give a tan solid. The solid was suspended in dichloromethane (150 mL), then pentane (800 mL) was added and filtered to give 4 as a white solid (32.04 g, 84%). δ_H (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 1.49 (s, 9H), 2.76 (t, J 6 Hz, 2H), 3.66 (t, J 6 Hz, 2H), 4.56 (s, 2H), 5.29 (br s, 1H), 6.63 (d, J 8 Hz, 1H), 6.71 (d, J 8 Hz, 1H), 7.05 (t, J 8 Hz, 1H); LRMS: m/z (ES⁺) 272 [MNa⁺]. Found: C, 67.30; H, 7.68; N, 5.61, C₁₄H₁₉NO₃ requires C, 67.45; H, 7.68; N, 5.62%.

2.1.3. *tert*-Butyl **5-**cyano-**3,4-**dihydro-**2**(1*H*)-isoquinolinecarboxylate, **5.** Triethylamine (20.1 mL, 144 mmol) was added to a suspension of **4** (32.65 g, 131 mmol) in dichloromethane (400 mL). The mixture was cooled to $0 \degree C$ and *N*-phenyl-bis-(trifluoromethane)sulfonimide (51.46 g, 144 mmol) was added portionwise. The resulting brown solution

was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred for 16 h. The reaction mixture was washed consecutively with water (200 mL), 0.5 M hydrochloric acid (200 mL), brine (250 mL) and then dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure to give a brown oil. The crude product was purified by column chromatography on silica gel, eluting with a solvent gradient of n-pentane/diethyl ether (100:0-70:30). The product was co-evaporated with dichloromethane (2×100 mL) to give tert-butyl 5-[(trifluoromethanesulfonyl)oxy]-3,4-dihydro-2(1H)-isoquinolinecarboxylate as a colourless gum (40.1 g, 80%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 1.49 (s, 9H), 2.89 (t, J 5 Hz, 2H), 3.65 (t, J 5 Hz, 2H), 4.59 (s, 2H), 7.13 (m, 2H), 7.24 (m, 1H); LRMS: *m/z* (ES⁺) 404 [MNa⁺]. The triflate (20.0 g, 52 mmol) was dissolved in anhydrous DMF (120 mL) under nitrogen. Zinc cyanide (6.15 g, 52 mmol), lithium chloride (2.22 g, 52 mmol) and tetrakis(triphenylphosphine)palladium (0) (2.42 g, 2.1 mmol) were added and the mixture was heated at 110 °C for 8 h. The reaction mixture was concentrated under reduced pressure and the residue was partitioned between dichloromethane (500 mL) and saturated sodium bicarbonate solution (250 mL). The aqueous phase was re-extracted with dichloromethane (300 mL). The combined organic solutions were dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure to give a golden oil. The crude product was purified by column chromatography on silica gel using *n*-pentane/ethyl acetate (90:10) as eluant. The product was co-evaporated with dichloromethane $(2 \times 100 \text{ mL})$ to give 5, as a colourless oil (13.32 g, 49%). δ_H (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 1.48 (s, 9H), 3.02 (t, J 6 Hz, 2H), 3.70 (t, J 6 Hz, 2H), 4.58 (s, 2H), 7.20 (t, J 7 Hz, 1H), 7.44 (d, J 7 Hz, 1H), 7.55 (d, J 7 Hz, 1H); LRMS: *m/z* (ES⁺) 281 [MNa⁺].

2.1.4. tert-Butyl 5-formyl-3,4-dihydro-2(1H)-isoquinolinecarboxylate, 6. A solution of compound 5 (9.1 g, 35 mmol) in anhydrous toluene (100 mL) was cooled to -78 °C. Over 1 h, diisobutylaluminium hydride (80 mL of a 1 M solution in toluene, 80 mmol) was added dropwise keeping the internal temperature below $-60 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ and the resulting mixture was stirred for 2 h at -78 °C. Methanol (20 mL) was pre-cooled to -78 °C and added dropwise to the reaction mixture keeping the internal temperature below -60 °C. Over 20 min, the reaction mixture was poured into 1 N hydrochloric acid (200 mL) that had been pre-cooled to 0 °C. The reaction mixture was extracted with ethyl acetate $(3 \times 400 \text{ mL})$ and the combined organic extracts were washed with brine (200 mL), dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure. The product was co-evaporated with dichloromethane $(2 \times 50 \text{ mL})$ to give 6, as a yellow oil (8.14 g, 88%). δ_H (DMSO-d₆, 400 MHz) 1.40 (s, 9H), 3.19 (t, J 6 Hz, 2H), 3.55 (t, J 6 Hz, 2H), 4.55 (s, 2H), 7.40 (t, J 8 Hz, 2H), 7.47 (d, J 8 Hz, 1H), 7.70 (d, J 8 Hz, 1H), 10.16 (s, 1H); LRMS: *m*/*z* (ES⁺) 284 [MNa⁺].

2.1.5. 4-Methoxypiperidine hydrochloride. Sodium hydride (1.19 g, 60% in mineral oil, 29.7 mmol) was added portionwise to a cooled (10 °C) solution of *tert*-butyl 4-hydroxy-1-piperidinecarboxylate in anhydrous THF (80 mL) and the suspension was stirred at room temperature for 1 h. Iodomethane (1.85 mL, 29.7 mmol) was added and the reaction was stirred at 50 °C for 20 h. The mixture was diluted with water (50 mL), extracted with ethyl acetate (2×150 mL) and the combined organic extracts were washed

with saturated sodium bicarbonate solution (50 mL), dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated under reduced pressure to afford *tert*-butyl 4-methoxy-1-piperidinecarboxylate as a golden oil, 5.24 g. ¹H NMR $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.47 (s, 9H), 1.50 (m, 2H), 1.80 (m, 2H), 3.08 (m, 2H), 3.34 (m, 4H), 3.75 (m, 2H); LRMS: *m/z* (ES⁺) 238 [MNa⁺]. This material was dissolved in dichloromethane (100 mL), cooled to 0 °C and hydrogen chloride was bubbled through the solution. After being stirred for 1.5 h, the solution was purged with nitrogen and evaporated under reduced pressure to afford 4-methoxypiperidine hydrochloride as an off-white solid, 3.67 g, (82% over 2 steps).

 $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6 , 400 MHz) 1.87 (m, 2H), 1.99 (m, 2H), 3.10 (m, 2H), 3.28 (m, 2H), 3.36 (s, 3H), 3.54 (m, 1H); LRMS: *m*/*z* (ES⁺) 231 [2MH⁺].

2.1.6. *N*-Benzhydryl-3-methylazetidin-3-ol, **8.** Triethylamine (49.4 mL, 0.36 mol) was added to a solution of *N*-benzhydrylazetidin-3-ol (10 g, 36 mmol) in DMSO (50 mL). A solution of sulfur trioxide–pyridine complex (36 g, 0.22mol) in DMSO (110 mL) was added dropwise and the resulting yellow solution was stirred at room temperature for 1.5 h. The reaction was poured onto ice-water (300 mL) and extracted with ethyl acetate (2×300 mL). The combined organic extracts were washed with brine (3×200 mL), dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure. The crude product was purified by column chromatography on silica gel using cyclohexane/ethyl acetate (8:2) as eluant to give *N*-benzhydrylazetidin-3-one as a white solid (5.77 g, 67%).

 $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 3.99 (s, 4H), 4.58 (s, 1H), 7.2 (m, 2H), 7.25 (t, J 8 Hz, 4H), 7.47 (d, J 8 Hz, 4H); LRMS: m/z (ES⁺) 238 [MH⁺], 260 [MNa⁺]. The azetidinone (5.77 g, 24.3 mmol) was dissolved in THF (60 mL) and cooled to 0 °C. Methylmagnesium bromide (16.2 mL, 48.7 mmol) was added dropwise and stirring continued at 0 °C for 2 h. The reaction was carefully quenched with saturated ammonium chloride (100 mL) and extracted with ethyl acetate (150 mL). The organic solution was washed with brine (100 mL), dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure. The crude product was purified by column chromatography on silica gel using cyclohexane/ethyl acetate (8:2) as eluant to give N-benzhydryl-3-methylazetidin-3-ol¹⁵ as a golden oil (5.48 g, 89%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 1.52 (s, 3H), 2.97 (d, J 8 Hz, 2H), 3.18 (d, J 8 Hz, 2H), 4.35 (s, 1H), 7.17 (t, J 6 Hz, 2H), 7.26 (t, J 6 Hz, 4H), 7.40 (d, J 6 Hz, 4H); LRMS: *m*/*z* (ES⁺) 254 [MH⁺], 276 [MNa⁺].

2.1.7. 3-Methoxy-3-methylazetidine hydrochloride, 9. Azetidinol **8** (3.46 g, 13 mmol) was dissolved in DMF (50 mL) and cooled to 0 °C. Sodium hydride (820 mg, 60% in mineral oil, 20.5 mmol) was added portionwise and the suspension was stirred for 2 h. The mixture was re-cooled to 0 °C and a solution of iodomethane (1.06 mL, 17 mmol) in DMF (10 mL) was added dropwise. After being stirred for 3 h, the mixture was diluted with ethyl acetate (125 mL) and washed with water (2×80 mL). The organic phase was dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure. The crude product was purified by column chromatography on silica gel using cyclohexane/ethyl acetate (8:2) as eluant to give *N*-benzhydryl-3-methoxy-3-methylazetidine as a

golden oil (3.55 g, 97%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 1.49 (s, 3H), 3.01 (d, J9 Hz, 2H), 3.10 (d, J9 Hz, 2H), 3.18 (s, 3H), 4.38 (s, 1H), 7.17 (t, J9 Hz, 2H), 7.25 (t, J9 Hz, 4H), 7.41 (d, J9 Hz, 4H); LRMS: *m/z* (ES⁺) 268 [MH⁺], 290 [MNa⁺]. The benzhydryl-protected compound (500 mg, 1.87 mmol) was dissolved in acetonitrile (10 mL) and cooled to 0 °C. 1-Chloroethyl chloroformate (0.26 mL, 2.43 mmol) was added and the reaction was refluxed for 1 h. The mixture was concentrated under reduced pressure, re-dissolved in methanol (10 mL) and refluxed for 2 h. The mixture was concentrated under reduced pressure and the residue was dissolved in water (10 mL), washed with cyclohexane $(2 \times 20 \text{ mL})$, the aqueous was concentrated under reduced pressure and co-evaporated with ethanol (50 mL) then dichloromethane (50 mL) to give 9 as a white solid (256 mg, 100%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6 , 400 MHz) 1.42 (s, 3H), 3.15 (s, 3H), 3.70 (m, 2H), 3.85 (m, 2H), 9.20 (br s, 1H), 9.60 (br s, 1H).

2.1.8. (N,N-Dipropynyl)trifluoroacetamide, 10. A solution of trifluoroacetic anhydride (8.40 g, 40 mmol) in anhydrous dichloromethane (15 mL) was added dropwise to a stirred solution of N,N-dipropargylamine (3.162 g, 34 mmol) and triethylamine (4.24 g, 42 mmol) in anhydrous dichloromethane (55 mL) at 4 °C. The resulting solution was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred for 17 h. The mixture was poured into saturated aqueous sodium bicarbonate (100 mL) and extracted with dichloromethane (75 mL and 50 mL). The combined organic solutions were washed with water (75 mL), dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by flash chromatography, (gradient elution with hexane/ethyl acetate) to give **10** (5.4 g, 84%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) signals doubled due to rotational isomerism 2.14, 2.18 (t, J 3 Hz, 1H), 4.17, 4.20 (d, J 3 Hz, 2H); IR v_{max} (film) 3300, 2130, 1700 cm⁻¹. C₈H₆F₃NO requires C, 50.80; H, 3.20; N, 7.41%, found C, 50.78; H, 3.21; N, 7.24%.

2.1.9. 2,3-Dihydro-5-hydroxymethyl-2-trifluoroacetyl(1*H***)isoindole, 11.** Propargyl alcohol (4.28 g, 76 mmol) was added dropwise to a solution of **10** (3.61 g, 19.1 mmol) in ethanol (80 mL) at 0 °C. Tris(triphenylphosphine)rhodium (I) chloride (535 mg, 0.579 mmol) was added in one portion and the reaction was stirred at room temperature for 17 h. The mixture was concentrated under reduced pressure and the crude product was purified by flash chromatography using pentane/ethyl acetate (2:1) as eluant to give **11** as an off-white solid (2.73 g, 58%), mp 83–86 °C. $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 1.80 (br s, 1H, exchanges with D₂O), 4.70 (s, 2H), 4.90 (s, 2H), 5.05 (s, 2H), 7.2–7.4 (m, 3H); LRMS (TSP): m/z 262 [MNH⁴₄]; IR $\nu_{\rm max}$ (film) 3350, 3250, 1700 cm⁻¹. Found: C, 53.76; H, 4.07; N, 5.63, C₁₁H₁₀F₃NO₂ requires C, 53.88; H, 4.11; N, 5.71%

2.1.10. 2,3-Dihydro-5-formyl-2*-tert***-butoxy-carbonyl(1***H***)isoindole, 12.** 2,3-Dihydro-5-hydroxymethyl-2-trifluoroacetyl(1*H*)**isoindole** (2.73 g, 11.1 mmol) was dissolved in methanol (80 mL) and a solution of potassium carbonate (12.27 g, 88.8 mmol) in water (32 mL) was added. The cloudy mixture was stirred at room temperature for 30 min before adding di-*tert*-butyldicarbonate (4.85 g, 22.2 mmol) and stirring for 6 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with ethyl acetate (200 mL), washed with water

(2×100 mL), dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure to give 2,3-dihydro-5-hydroxymethyl-2-*tert*butoxycarbonyl(1*H*)isoindole as an off-white solid (2.49 g, 89%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 1.51 (s, 9H), 4.6–4.70 (m, 6H), 7.15–7.3 (m, 3H); APCI: *m/z* 250 (MH⁺).

Dimethylsulfoxide (2.28 mL, 32.2 mmol) in dichloromethane (6 mL) was added dropwise to a suspension of trifluoroacetic anhydride (3.42 mL, 24.2 mmol) in dichloromethane (60 mL) under nitrogen at -78 °C. After 10 min, a solution of 2,3-dihvdro-5-hvdroxymethyl-2-tert-butoxycarbonyl(1H)isoindole (4.0 g, 16.1 mmol) in dichloromethane (20 mL) was added dropwise to the mixture for over 25 min. After a further 20 min at -78 °C, N,N-diisopropylethylamine (14.02 mL, 80.5 mmol) was added dropwise for over 15 min. The mixture was stirred at $-78 \degree C$ for 20 min before allowing to warm up to room temperature. The light brown solution was diluted with diethyl ether (200 mL), washed sequentially with water (50 mL) and dilute citric acid (2×50 mL), dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure to give a light brown solid. The crude product was purified by flash chromatography using cyclohexane/ethyl acetate (3:1) as eluant to give 12 as a white solid (3.117 g, 78%), mp 118-119 °C. $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 1.52 (s, 9H), 4.70–4.80 (m, 4H), 7.35–7.46 (m, 1H), 7.70–7.85 (m, 2H), 10.0 (s, 1H). Found: C, 67.91; H, 6.92; N, 5.70, C₁₄H₁₇NO₃ requires C, 68.00; H, 6.93; N, 5.66%.

2.2. Reductive aminations: general method

A mixture of aldehyde (6 or 12) (1.05 mmol), the required amine (1.0 equiv) and acetic acid (1.15 equiv) in THF (10 mL) was stirred at room temperature for 0.5 h. In some cases the amine was used as its hydrochloride salt; thus anhydrous sodium acetate (1.0 mmol) was also added to buffer the mixture. Sodium triacetoxyborohydride (2.5 equiv) was added and the mixture stirred at room temperature for 18 h. The mixture was diluted with ethyl acetate and basified to pH 11 using concentrated aqueous ammonia. The layers were separated, the aqueous phase extracted with ethyl acetate and the combined organic solutions dried (MgSO₄) and evaporated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel using dichloromethane/methanol/concentrated aqueous ammonia (typically between 97:3:0 and 90:10:1) as eluant to afford 7a-j and 13a-d as oils. Yields are shown in Tables 1 and 2.

Spectroscopic data for the amines **7a–j** and **13a–d** are given below.

Amine **7a**: colourless oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.5 (s, 9H), 2.2 (s, 6H), 2.90 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.35 (s, 2H), 3.62 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 4.55 (s, 2H), 7.00 (m, 1H), 7.10 (m, 2H); LRMS: *m*/*z* (ES⁺) 291 [MH⁺], 313 [MNa⁺].

Amine **7b**: colourless oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.47 (s, 9H), 2.8–2.9 (m, 4H), 3.34 (s, 3H), 3.49 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.65 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.76 (s, 2H), 4.55 (s, 2H), 7.00 (d, *J* 6 Hz, 1H), 7.13 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 1H), 7.16 (d, *J* 6 Hz, 1H); LRMS: *m*/*z* (ES⁺) 321 [MH⁺], 343 [MNa⁺].

Amine **7c**: colourless oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.48 (s, 9H), 2.21 (s, 3H), 2.59 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 2.91 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.31 (s,

2H), 3.47 (m, 5H), 3.62 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 4.55 (s, 2H), 6.99 (m, 1H), 7.10 (m, 2H); LRMS: m/z (ES⁺) 335 [MH⁺], 357 [MNa⁺]. Found: C, 66.74; H, 8.88; N, 8.20, C₁₉H₃₀N₂O₃·0.4H₂O requires C, 66.79; H, 9.09; N, 8.20%.

Amine **7d**: colourless oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.50 (s, 9H), 2.43 (m, 4H), 2.93 (t, *J* 5 Hz, 2H), 3.44 (s, 2H), 3.67 (m, 6H), 4.58 (s, 2H), 7.03 (m, 1H), 7.12 (m, 2H); LRMS: *m*/*z* (ES⁺) 333 [MH⁺], 355 [MNa⁺].

Amine **7e**: colourless oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.47 (s, 9H), 1.56 (m, 2H), 1.84 (br, 2H), 2.13 (m, 2H), 2.68 (br, 2H), 2.90 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.20 (m, 1H), 3.31 (s, 3H), 3.41 (s, 2H), 3.62 (m, 2H), 4.56 (s, 2H), 7.00 (m, 1H), 7.10 (m, 2H). Found: C, 69.64; H, 8.94; N, 7.72, C₂₁H₃₂N₂O₃ requires C, 66.97; H, 8.95; N, 7.77%.

Amine **7f**: pale pink oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.48 (s, 9H), 1.77 (m, 1H), 2.02 (m, 1H), 2.5 (m, 2H), 2.61 (m, 1H), 2.77 (m, 1H), 2.88 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.25 (s, 3H), 3.56 (s, 2H), 3.62 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.90 (m, 1H), 4.55 (s, 2H), 6.99 (d, *J* 8 Hz, 1H), 7.08–7.18 (m, 2H); LRMS: *m/z* (ES⁺) 347 [MH⁺]. Found: C, 68.68; H, 8.73; N, 8.04, C₂₀H₃₀N₂O₃·0.16H₂O requires C, 68.76; H, 8.74; N, 8.02%.

Amine **7g**: colourless oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.48 (s, 9H), 1.76 (m, 1H), 2.02 (m, 1H), 2.5 (m, 2H), 2.61 (m, 1H), 2.77 (m, 1H), 2.88 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.25 (s, 3H), 3.56 (s, 2H), 3.62 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.90 (m, 1H), 4.55 (s, 2H), 6.99 (d, 1H), 7.10 (t, *J* 8 Hz, 1H), 7.16 (d, *J* 8 Hz, 1H); LRMS: *m*/*z* (ES⁺) 347 [MH⁺], 369 [MNa⁺]. Found: C, 68.71; H, 8.71; N, 7.86, C₂₀H₃₀N₂O₃·0.1H₂O requires C, 68.97; H, 8.74; N, 8.04%.

Amine **7h**: oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.48 (s, 9H), 1.69 (d, *J* 10 Hz, 1H), 1.85 (d, *J* 10 Hz, 1H), 2.57 (d, *J* 10 Hz, 1H), 2.83 (d, *J* 10 Hz, 1H), 2.90 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.38 (s, 1H), 3.63 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 3H), 3.70 (d, *J* 2 Hz, 2H), 4.08 (d, *J* 6 Hz, 1H), 4.4 (s, 1H), 4.6 (s, 1H), 7.00 (d, *J* 6 Hz, 1H), 7.08–7.2 (m, 2H); LRMS: *m*/*z* (ES⁺) 345 [MH⁺], 367 [MNa⁺].

Amine **7i**: colourless oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.45 (s, 9H), 2.81 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 2.95 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.22 (s, 3H), 3.60 (m, 6H), 4.01 (m, 1H), 4.58 (s, 2H), 7.00 (m, 1H), 7.13 (m, 2H); LRMS: *m*/*z* (ES⁺) 333.3 [MH⁺], 355 [MNa⁺].

Amine **7j**: colourless oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.46 (s, 3H), 1.48 (s, 9H), 2.82 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.03 (d, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.18 (s, 3H), 3.20 (m, 2H), 3.59 (s, 2H), 3.63 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 4.56 (s, 2H), 7.00 (br, 1H), 7.14 (m, 2H); LRMS: *m/z* (ES⁺) 347 [MH⁺], 369 [MNa⁺].

Amine **13a**: white waxy solid; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.48 (s, 9H), 2.42 (m, 4H), 3.48 (s, 2H), 3.68 (m, 4H), 4.65 (br, 4H), 7.20 (br m, 2H); LRMS: m/z (ES⁺) 319 [MH⁺], 341 [MNa⁺].

Amine **13b**: yellow oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.48 (s, 9H), 2.24 (s, 3H), 2.39 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.31 (s, 2H), 3.49 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.53 (s, 3H), 4.55–4.7 (br s, 4H), 7.06–7.35 (br m, 3H); LRMS: m/z (ES⁺) 321 [MH⁺], 343 [MNa⁺].

Amine **13c**: colourless oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.48 (s, 9H), 2.95 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.23 (s, 3H), 3.57 (t, *J* 6 Hz,

2H), 3.61 (s, 2H), 4.02 (m, 1H), 4.6–4.7 (br s, 4H), 7.1–7.2 (br, 3H); LRMS: *m*/*z* (ES⁺) 319 [MH⁺], 341 [MNa⁺].

Amine **13d**: yellow oil; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.48 (s, 9H), 1.8 (br, 1H), 2.05 (m, 1H), 2.52 (br, 2H), 2.64 (m, 1H), 2.75 (br, 1H), 3.25 (s, 3H), 3.61 (s, 2H), 3.91 (br, 1H), 4.6–4.7 (br s, 4H), 7.1–7.25 (br, 3H); LRMS: *m*/*z* (ES⁺) 333 [MH⁺], 355 [MNa⁺].

2.3. Deprotection of *N*-Boc derivatives (7a–j and 13a–d): general methods

Hydrogen chloride was bubbled through an ice-cooled solution of the Boc-protected amine (7a-j or 13a-d) in dichloromethane (10-12 mL/g) for 20 min. The solution was then stirred for a further 30 min at room temperature and evaporated under reduced pressure to afford 1 or 2 (hydrochloride). Alternatively, a solution of the Boc-protected amine in dichloromethane (10-12 mL/g) was treated with an equal volume of trifluoroacetic acid and the solution stirred at room temperature for 2 h. Removal of the solvents under reduced pressure gave 1 or 2 (trifluoroacetate). Spectroscopic data for the amines 1a-j and 2a-d are given below.

Amine **1a**·HCl: colourless foam; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6 , 400 MHz) 2.50 (s, 6H), 3.15 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.35 (br, 2H), 4.26 (m, 4H), 7.30 (m, 2H), 7.55 (d, *J* 8 Hz, 1H), 9.55 (br, 2H); LRMS: *m/z* (ES⁺) 191 [MH⁺], 213 [MNa⁺]. Found: C, 47.24; H, 7.14; N, 8.49, C₁₂H₁₈N₂·HCl·H₂O·CH₂Cl₂ requires C, 47.36; H, 7.03; N, 8.50%.

Amine **1b** · 2HCl: colourless foam; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6 , 400 MHz) 3.06 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.14 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.30 (s, 3H), 3.35 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.67 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 4.13 (s, 2H), 4.25 (s, 2H), 7.25 (d, *J* 6 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 1H), 7.50 (d, *J* 6 Hz, 1H); LRMS: *m/z* (ES⁺) 221 [MH⁺], 243 [MNa⁺]. Found: C, 50.1; H, 7.68; N, 8.78, C₁₃H₂₀N₂O · 2HCl · H₂O requires C, 50.17; H, 7.77; N, 9.00%.

Amine **1c**: free base, pale yellow gum; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.23 (s, 3H), 2.6 (t, *J* 5 Hz, 2H), 2.82 (t, *J* 5 Hz, 2H), 3.16 (t, *J* 5 Hz, 2H), 3.32 (s, 3H), 3.47 (s, 2H), 3.50 (t, *J* 5 Hz, 2H), 4.01 (s, 2H), 6.9 (d, *J* 8 Hz, 1H), 7.06 (t, *J* 8 Hz, 1H), 7.13 (d, *J* 8 Hz, 1H); LRMS: *m*/*z* (ES⁺) 235 [MH⁺]. Found: C, 70.6; H, 9.56; N, 11.76, C₁₄H₂₂N₂O·0.2H₂O requires C, 70.67; H, 9.49; N, 11.77%.

Amine **1d** · 2HCl, colourless solid; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6 , 400 MHz) 3.20 (m, 4H), 3.37 (m, 2H), 3.62 (m, 2H), 3.90 (m, 4H), 4.22 (m, 2H), 4.32 (s, 2H), 7.30 (m, 2H), 7.62 (m, 1H), 9.58 (br s, 2H), 11.40 (br s, 1H); LRMS: m/z (ES⁺) 233 [MH⁺].

Amine **1e**: free base, gum; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 1.56 (m, 2H), 1.86 (br, 2H), 2.16 (dt, *J* 10 and 3 Hz, 2H), 2.69 (br, 2H), 2.82 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.15 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 3.20 (m, 1H), 3.32 (s, 3H), 3.39 (s, 2H), 4.01 (s, 2H), 6.90 (d, *J* 7 Hz, 1H), 7.03 (t, *J* 7 Hz, 1H), 7.10 (d, *J* 7 Hz, 1H). Found C, 72.88; H, 9.29; N, 10.69, C₁₆H₂₄N₂O·0.3H₂O requires C, 72.80; H, 9.32; N, 10.61%.

Amine **1f** · 2HCl: colourless foam; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.23 (br, 2H), 3.17 (br, 2H), 3.35 (s, 3H), 3.40 (br, 2H), 3.50 (br, 2H), 3.75 (m, 2H), 4.13 (br, 1H), 4.32 (br, 2H),

7.25 (d, *J* 8 Hz, 1H), 7.33 (t, *J* 8 Hz, 1H), 7.58 (d, *J* 8 Hz, 1H); LRMS: *m*/*z* (ES⁺) 247 [MH⁺].

Amine **1g**·2HCl: colourless foam; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) 2.23 (br, 2H), 3.18 (br, 2H), 3.35 (s, 3H), 3.4 (br, 2H), 3.5 (br, 2H), 3.78 (m, 2H), 4.13 (br, 1H), 4.35 (br, 2H), 7.23 (d, *J* 6 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 1H), 7.58 (d, *J* 6 Hz, 1H); LRMS: m/z (ES⁺) 247 [MH⁺].

Amine **1h** · 2HCl: pale pink solid; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6 , 400 MHz), 2:1 mix of diastereomers due to protonation, 2.00 (m, 1H, major+minor), 2.43 (m, 1H, major+minor), 3.05–3.25 (m, 3H, major+minor), 3.4–3.6 (m, 3H, major+minor), 3.61 (d, J 8 Hz, 1H, major), 3.68 (d, J 11 Hz, 1H, minor), 4.2– 4.5 (m, 6H, major+minor), 4.62 (s, 1H, minor), 4.68 (s, 1H, major), 7.30 (m, 2H, major+minor), 7.60 (d, J 8 Hz, 1H, minor), 7.70 (d, J 8 Hz, 1H, major), 9.60 (m, 2H, major+minor), 11.22 (br s, 1H, major), 11.56 (br s, 1H, minor); LRMS: m/z (ES⁺) 245 [MH⁺].

Amine **1i** · 2HCl: colourless foam; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6 , 400 MHz) 3.01–3.40 (m, 7H), 3.90 (br s, 1H), 4.01 (br s, 1H), 4.22 (m, 6H), 4.40 (s, 2H), 7.28 (m, 2H), 7.43 (m, 1H), 9.40–9.56 (m, 2H); APCI: m/z (ES⁺) 233 [MH⁺].

Amine **1j**·HCl: yellow solid; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (MeOH- d_4 , 400 MHz), some signals doubled and broadened due to protonation, 1.53 and 1.55 (each br s, 3H total), 3.20 (br, 2H), 3.30 (s, 3H), 3.55 (t, *J* 6 Hz, 2H), 4.1–4.22 (br, 4H), 4.40 (s, 2H), 4.48 and 4.53 (each br s, 2H total), 7.35 (d, 1H), 7.40 (m, 2H); LRMS: m/z (ES⁺) 247 [MH⁺].

Amine **2a**·2HCl: colourless powder; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (MeOH- d_4 , 400 MHz) 3.13–3.38 (br m, 4H), 3.70–4.10 (br m, 4H), 4.38 (s, 2H), 4.67 (d, J 5 Hz, 4H), 7.54 (d, J 9 Hz, 1H), 7.59 (d, J 9 Hz, 1H), 7.66 (s, 1H); LRMS: m/z (ES⁺) 219 [MH⁺]; HRMS: found: 219.1493 (MH⁺), C₁₃H₁₈N₂O requires 219.1492.

Amine **2b** · 2HCl: purple solid; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (MeOH- d_4 , 400 MHz) 2.84 (s, 3H), 3.34 (m, 1H), 3.40 (s, 3H), 3.60 (m, 1H), 3.73 (m, 2H), 4.34 (d, *J* 13 Hz, 1H), 4.50 (d, *J* 13 Hz, 1H), 4.66 (m, 4H), 7.55 (s, 2H), 7.6 (s, 1H); LRMS: m/z (ES⁺) 221 [MH⁺].

Amine **2c**·2HCl; colourless sticky foam; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (MeOH- d_4 , 400 MHz) 3.29 (s, 3H), 4.02 (m, 2H), 4.35 (m, 3H), 4.45 (s, 2H), 4.66 (m, 4H), 7.51 (s, 2H), 7.55 (s, 1H); LRMS:

m/z (ES⁺) 219 [MH⁺]; HRMS: found: 219.1493660, C₁₃H₁₉N₂O requires 219.1491897.

Amine **2d**·2HCl: pale purple foam; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (MeOH- d_4 , 400 MHz) 2.13 (m, 1H), 2.33 (m, 1H), 3.27 (s, 3H), 3.34 (m, 2H), 3.58 (m, 2H), 4.17 (br s, 1H), 4.44 (m, 2H), 4.66 (m, 4H), 7.52 (d, *J* 6 Hz, 1H), 7.61 (s, 1H); LRMS: *m/z* (ES⁺) 233 [MH⁺].

References and notes

- Janecka, A.; Kruszynski, R. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 2005, *12*, 471; Reissmann, S.; Imhof, D. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 2004, *11*, 2823; Stefanic, P.; Dolenc, M. S. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 2004, *11*, 945; Rich, D. H.; Homes, O. W. *Practice of Medicinal Chemistry*, 2nd ed.; Elsevier: London, 2003; pp 373–386.
- Dolle, R. E. J. Comb. Chem. 2005, 7, 739; Dolle, R. E. Mol. Divers. 2000, 4, 39; Dolle, R. E. J. Comb. Chem. 2000, 2, 383; Dolle, R. E.; Nelson, K. H. J. Comb. Chem. 1999, 1, 235; Dolle, R. E. Mol. Divers. 1998, 3, 199.
- Sall, D. J.; Grunwald, G. L. J. Med. Chem. 1987, 30, 2208; Durand, S.; Lusinchi, X.; Moreau, R. C. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1961, 270.
- Tilley, J. W.; Sarabu, R.; Wagner, R.; Mulkerins, K. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 906.
- 5. Selnick, H. G.; Smith, G. R.; Tebben, A. J. Synth. Commun. 1995, 25, 3255.
- 6. Yoon, M. N.; Gyoung, Y. S. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 2443.
- 7. Abdel-Magid, A. F.; Maryanoff, C. A. Synlett 1990, 537.
- Gio, P. Ger. Patent DE 2028179, 1970; *Chem. Abstr.* 1971, 74, 64215; details given in Section 2.
- Chakravarty, S.; Dugar, S.; Lu, Q.; Qing, L.; Luedke, G. R.; Maventel, B. J.; Perumatam, J. J.; Tester, R. PCT WO 2004/ 022712; *Chem. Abstr.* 2004, 140, 270879.
- Widmer, U. Eur. Patent 294599, 1988; Chem. Abstr. 1989, 110, 192839.
- Flohr, A.; Jakob-Roetne, R.; Norcross, R. D.; Riemer, C. PCT WO 2003/049741; *Chem. Abstr.* 2003, 139, 53026.
- Parikh, J. R.; Doering, W. v. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 5505.
- 13. Yang, B. V.; O'Rourke, D.; Li, J. Synlett 1993, 195.
- The N-acetyl analogue of 11 is described by Grigg, R.; Scott, R.; Stevenson, P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1988, 1357.
- 15. Koike, H; Yoshimoto, M.; Nishino, H., Eur. Patent 266922, 1988; *Chem. Abstr.*, 109, 149361.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6876-6881

Tetrahedron

Facile solid-phase synthesis of biotinylated alkyl thiols

Elisabet Prats-Alfonso,^a Fayna García-Martín,^a Nuria Bayo,^a Luis J. Cruz,^a Mateu Pla-Roca,^{b,*} Josep Samitier,^b Abdelhamid Errachid^{b,*} and Fernando Albericio^{a,*}

^aIRB (Institut de Recerca Biomèdica), Parc Científic de Barcelona, C/Josep Samitier 1-5, 08028, Barcelona, Spain ^bLaboratori de Nanobioenginyeria-CREBEC, Parc Científic de Barcelona, C/Josep Samitier 1-5, 08028, Barcelona, Spain

> Received 2 April 2006; revised 21 April 2006; accepted 27 April 2006 Available online 30 May 2006

Abstract—Biotinylated alkyl thiols with the capacity to graft avidin proteins are in increasing demand for the development of self-assembled monolayers on gold. Here we propose 2-Chlorotrityl Chloride solid-phase resin as a new platform to produce these functionalized alkyl thiols. Biotinylated alkyl thiols of non-obvious solution synthesis were obtained rapidly using this method and without previous purification steps. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) are a popular tool for tailoring the reactive properties of surfaces. In order to produce these monolayers, molecules may be physisorbed from solution or more tightly grafted by covalent bond formation with gold substrates and alkyl thiols. Because of the features of the functional group of alkyl thiols, surface properties can be easily modified by simply changing the chemical nature of the terminal groups. Alkyl thiols are widely used, mainly in biological applications.¹ Gold surfaces can be derivatized to bind proteins,² carbohydrates, peptides,³ DNA,⁴ haptenes⁵ or to produce new surfaces for cell culture studies such as cell attachment, differentiation or proliferation.⁶ For all these purposes, rapid and efficient access to a diversity of functional alkyl thiols is required. In an attempt to minimize the difficulty of access to these molecules, researchers introduce the desired functionalities (biotins, haptenes, polyglycols) by reaction over amino- or acid-terminating SAMs. Reactions over a previously formed SAM do not

ensure perfect derivatization because the processes between surfaces and solution are not kinetically well afforded. This problem is exacerbated when the gold surface to be derivatized is a fragile gold AFM tip or a micro(nano)electrode because the manipulation and the solvent rinsing procedures required to remove the undesired reagents may cause damage. Consequently, a thiol with the desired functionality is required. Given that dip pen nanolithography, the AFMbased soft-lithography developed by Mirkin et al. in 1999,⁷ involves the direct deposition of thiols in nanometer scale using an AFM probe, the development of functional alkyl thiols is crucial for this technique.

Here we propose a novel solid-phase strategy for the development of biotin alkyl thiol (BAT) derivates. BAT structures are formed by the thiol, the aliphatic chain (n=11, 16), a PEG linker, and the biotin group (Fig. 1).

BATs are useful for the development of biosensors as they allow the production of well-defined biotinylated surfaces (Fig 2a). Biotin surfaces are one of the most used tools to immobilize antibodies (i.e., antigens, enzymes or DNA) onto surfaces through the biotin-streptavidin (i.e., neutravidin, avidin) pair ($K_d \sim 10^{-15}$ M) as building block. Streptavidin has four equivalent sites for biotin (two on one side and two on the opposite). Streptavidin vacancies for biotin can be used to link the protein almost irreversibly to the surface and to create well-oriented free biotin sites that are exposed to the surface (Fig. 2b). These exposed sites allow the grafting of biotinylated biomolecules for the preparation of biosensors and have minimal impact on biological activity (Fig. 2c). BAT structures must include PEG groups in order to avoid the non-specific adsorption of streptavidin and other proteins onto surfaces, and to allow a good orientation of the streptavidin molecule.

Keywords: Solid-phase; Biotinylated alkyl thiols; Self-assembled monolayers.

Abbreviations: AFM, atomic force microscope; BAT, biotinylated alkyl thiols; DCM, dichloromethane; DIPEA, *N*,*N*'-diisopropylethylamine; DIPCDI, *N*,*N*'-diisopropylcarbodiimide; DMF, *N*,*N*'-dimethylformamide; HOAt, 1-hydroxy-7-azabenzotriazole (3-hydroxy-3H-1,2,3-triazolo-[4,5-b] pyridine); MALDI-TOF, matrix assisted laser desorption/ionization time of flight (mass spectrometry); MeCN, acetonitrile; MeOH, methanol; MHDA, mercaptohexadecanoic acid; NMR, nuclear magnetic resonance; PDMS, polydimethylsiloxane; PEG, polyethylene glycol; SAM, self-assembled monolayers; TFA, trifluoroacetic acid; TES, triethylsilane.

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel.: +34 93 4037185; fax: +34 93 4037181 (M.P.-R., A.E.); tel.: +34 93 4037088; fax: +34 93 4037126 (F.A.); e-mail addresses: mpla@pcb.ub.es; aerrachid@pcb.ub.es; albericio@ pcb.ub.es



Figure 1. BAT structure.

To date, the synthesis of BATs has been described through solution-phase.⁸ In the original report, BAT was attained in poor yield and no characterization data were given. In this case, the molecule was constructed by the reaction of the PEG linker with the biotin molecule, followed by attachment of the thiol-protected acid-activated alkyl chain. New syntheses in solution have recently been reported but the procedure is still long, and tedious silica sol–gel purification work-up steps are required in each step of synthesis.^{9,10} In all solution-phase syntheses, the protection and deprotection of the thiol cannot be avoided during the procedure and consequently large amounts of starting products and reagents are needed to obtain sufficient amounts of the thiols of interest.

Here we describe a new solid-phase approach, based on the 2-Chlorotrityl Chloride[®] (CTC) resin, for the development of BATs. CTC resin is a polymer support functionalized with chlorotrityl groups that graft nucleophiles, such as thiols,¹¹ amines¹² or carboxylates,¹³ thereby allowing cleavage of the final product under acidic conditions. One of the advantages of this resin is that it can be regenerated several times.¹⁴ Moreover, it offers a new platform to obtain alkyl thiols of interest.¹⁵ The solid-phase method reported here allows the synthesis of high purity BATs in only a few days. The number of carbons of the alkyl chain, the presence or number of glycols, in the case of BAT with PEG linkers, and the functional group can be chosen freely. In solutionphase synthesis, modifications in molecule design change the purification procedures, which must be optimized for any new molecule. We obtained two BATs, with and without PEG, using the same solid-phase synthetic procedure, which indicates the robustness of the new method. The development of this method allows the production of customdesigned BATs or other functionalized alkyl thiols.

2. Results and discussion

Solid-phase synthesis has been widely used for the synthesis of biopolymers such as peptides, oligonucleotides, and polysaccharides and has dramatically improved yield, purity, and length of synthesis over traditional solution-phase methodology. Solid-phase approaches have evolved exponentially in recent decades because they provide a means to develop small bioactive organic molecules. Moreover, these procedures allow the parallel synthesis of analog families with high purity.¹⁶

The structure of functionalized alkyl thiols as consecutive building blocks assembled by amide, ester, and ether bonds make this kind of molecule highly suitable for synthesis by solid-phase approaches. Here we focused on the development of BATs in compounds 1 and 2 (Fig. 3).

BAT structures have a long chain with a thiol group at one end and convenient functional group at the other. This strategy is based on chain growth from thiol to functional group. The functional group is added in the last step. This methodology facilitates the generation of compound families with a range of functional groups (Scheme 1). The cornerstone



Figure 2. Streptavidin–biotin procedure to immobilize biomolecules: (a) biotinylated gold surface, (b) streptavidin-grafted surface through biotin groups and formation of biotin vacancies on the surface, (c) grafting of biotinylated biomolecules over the surface.



Figure 3. BAT structures.

of this strategy is the use of CTC resin as solid-support; (i) CTC resin is functionalized with a chlorotrityl group, which can be attached by nucleophile groups such as amines, carboxylates, and thiols; (ii) cleavage of final compound is under very mild acidic conditions, thereby recovering the initial functional group; (iii) the capacity of CTC resin for regeneration reduces the cost of synthesis.

Chain elongation is through available protected building blocks using the standard coupling reagents, as in peptide solid-phase synthesis. On solid-support, coupling reaction with quantitative yields greatly facilitates the removal of the excess of reagents and soluble side-products by simple filtration and washings.

The solid-phase resin protects the thiol group and prevents the formation of non-desired compounds via reaction with the thiol instead of acid group. Several attempts were made before achieving the attachment of the 16-mercaptohexadecanoic acid through its thiol group instead of the carboxylic group. We performed qualitative colorimetric tests,¹⁷ such as Ellman's test for thiol groups and Malachite green for carboxylic groups, to identify the group that was not attached to the resin. Thus, a two-fold molar excess of 16-mercaptohexadecanoic acid and less than an equimolar amount of diisopropylethylamine (DIPEA) was left to react with the resin (156 mg) for 2 h in DCM–DMF (1:1, v/v).^{18,13,19} However, in our case, under these conditions, the attachment of mercapto acid through the carboxylic group was partial. The same result was observed when the reaction time was extended overnight. The experiment was repeated without DIPEA. Attachment was not complete through the thiol group. A fourth attempt was performed with DMF only, with no positive results. Finally, the expected result was achieved using DCM without base overnight. The absence of base makes the thiol group more reactive than the carboxylic one and the DCM solvates the aliphatic long chain better than DMF. The carboxylic acid attached to the CTC resin was split into two in order to obtain two BAT-modifying linkers. One half was treated



Scheme 1. Solid-phase of 1 and 2. (a) MHDA (2 equiv), DCM, overnight, rt; (b) Fmoc-diaminopentane hydrochloride (3 equiv), DIPCDI (3 equiv), HOAt (3 equiv), DIPEA (3 equiv), DMF, overnight, rt; (c) MeOH (2 mL/g resin), DIPEA (0.3 mL/g resin), DCM, 10 min, rt; (d) piperidine–DMF (1:4, v/v), $1 \times 1 \text{ min}$, $2 \times 10 \text{ min}$, rt; (e) Fmoc-1-amino-4,7,10-trioxa-13-tridecanamine hydrochloride (3 equiv), DIPCDI (3 equiv), HOAt (3 equiv), DIPEA (3 e

with protected diamino compound Fmoc-diaminopentane hydrochloride and DIPEA to release the free amine, and DIPCDI-HOAt was used as coupling reagent. This inverse solid-phase amide formation (activation of the supported carboxylic groups, which react with excess of the solution of the amino component) requires a powerful coupling reagent such as DIPCDI–HOAt.^{20,21} Coupling was performed by mixing the amino compound with all reagents prior to adding to the resin. The remaining active sites (free chloride groups of the resin) were capped by addition of MeOH $(200 \text{ }\mu\text{L}/100 \text{ }m\text{g} \text{ resin})$ and DIPEA $(29 \text{ }\mu\text{L})$ for 10 min. The Fmoc group was removed by treatments with piperidine–DMF (1:4, v/v) for 10 min, and absorbance (λ 290 nm, ε 5800 L/mol/cm) of washes was measured. A good resin loading (0.85 mmol/g resin) was achieved. The second fraction of 16-mercaptohexadecanoic acid-CTC resin was treated with PEG linker (Fmoc-1-amino-4,7,10trioxa-13-tridecanamine hydrochloride) neutralized by DIPEA, and DIPCDI-HOAt was used as coupling reagents. Coupling and Fmoc removal were performed as described above. Biotin was attached to the two resin fractions in a parallel way. Coupling was made with a five molar excess of biotin and using DIPCDI (5 equiv), HOAt (5 equiv), and DIPEA (5 equiv) as coupling reagents. The poor solubility of the biotin derivative makes the solid-phase synthesis the strategy of choice for the incorporation of the biotin into the macromolecule.²² Thus, excess of the derivative can be used to drive the reaction to completion and excesses can be removed by single filtration and washings. To afford compounds 1 and 2, the two resin fractions were treated with TFA-TES-DCM (65:2:33, v/v/v, 3×10 min). Compounds 1 (41 mg, 80% yield) and 2 (61 mg, 96% yield) were obtained as white solids. A ¹H NMR spectrum revealed traces of TES in the final product (See Supplementary data). Modified cocktail cleavage should be addressed in further studies to avoid the use of TES.

To test the functionality of these compounds synthesized on solid-phase, micro-contact printing was used. As an example, the interaction of streptavidin with BAT with PEG linker (compound **2**, without purification) was examined on gold surfaces. BAT (4 mM) in acetonitrile was used to ink a 2.5 μ m PDMS-positive stamp. Before thiol inking, the



Figure 4. Fluorescent picture of a micropatterned gold surface with BAT showing the interaction between streptavidin labeled with a fluorescent dye and biotin.

PDMS stamp was oxidized with O_2 plasma to ensure good coverage of the stamp surface with the thiol. After keeping the stamp in contact with gold surface, the samples were immersed in PEG-terminated alkyl thiol, 1 mM diluted ethanol solution for 24 h. This PEG thiol prevented the non-specific adsorption of proteins on the non-functionalized gold areas. Incubation of the samples with streptavidin labeled with a fluorescent dye (Texas Red) and inspection of the surface with fluorescent microscopy showed the patterned areas of proteins over the gold surface and indicated the functionality of the BAT (Fig. 4).

3. Conclusions

CTC resin is a rapid, efficient, and versatile tool for the production of BATs. The solid-phase method described here improves the synthesis of BATs compared with solution-phase syntheses reported to date. This methodology contributes to the development of molecules that are increasingly required for nanobiotechnology applications.

4. Experimental

4.1. General procedures and instrumentation

CTC was a gift from Rohm and Haas, USA. 16-Mercaptohexadecanoic acid and Biotin was obtained from Aldrich (Milwaukee, WI, USA). Fmoc-diaminopentane hydrochloride was supplied by Bachem AG (Bubendorf, Switzerland). Fmoc-1-amino-4,7,10-trioxa-13-tridecanamine hydrochloride was from Neosystem (Strasbourg, France). DIPCDI and TES were obtained from Fluka Chemika (Buchs, Switzerland). HOAt was supplied by Applied Biosystems, DIEA was from Merck Schuchardt (Hohenbrunn, Germany). TFA was supplied by Scharlau (Barcelona, Spain). DCM, DMF, MeOH, MeCN, piperidine, and *tert*-butanol were obtained from SDS (Peypin, France). (EG)₆-terminated alkyl thiol was purchased from Prochimia (Gdansk, Poland).

Mass spectra were recorded on a MALDI-TOF Applied Biosystems 4700 Proteomics Analyzer.

¹H NMR spectroscopy was performed on a Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Varian: Mercury-400 (¹H de 400 MHz, CDCl₃) spectrophotometer.

UV detection was performed at 290 nm on a UV-vis Shimadzu UV mini 1240 spectrophotometer.

Elastomeric stamp fabrication for μ CP has been described previously.²³ Here we use positive stamps, fabricated from polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS; Sylgard 184, Dow Corning), where the structures protrude from the bulk PDMS surface. The PDMS stamps were replicated from silicon-based molds that had previously been structured using deep reactive ion etching (DRIE).

4.2. General synthesis

The solid-phase synthesis was performed in 5-mL polypropylene syringes fitted with polyethylene porous disks.

Solvents and soluble reagents were removed by suction. After a second coupling, a MeOH capping (200 µL MeOH-29 µL DIPEA-100 mg resin) in DCM was carried out (10 min). Next, Fmoc was removed with piperidine-DMF (1:4, v/v) (1×1 min, 2×10 min). Resins were washed before use and between deprotection, and coupling and subsequent deprotection steps were done with DMF $(3 \times 30 \text{ s})$ and DCM $(3 \times 30 \text{ s})$ using 10 mL of solvent/g of resin each time. Cleavage was performed using TFA 65% in DCM-TES (95:5, v/v) (3×10 min) followed by washing with DCM $(3 \times 1 \text{ min})$; to avoid the high concentration of TFA in the balloon, 200 µL of water was added before cleavage. Given the high insolubility of the compounds, once evaporated, lyophilization was performed under tert-butanol. To change the contra ion, a second lyophilization was done under tert-butanol and 100 µL of HCl 1 N.

4.3. Loading calculation

Deprotection with piperidine gave the fulvene–piperidine adduct, which was determined by quantitative spectrophotometry at λ 290 nm, ε 5800 L/mol/cm.

4.4. Synthesis of compound 1

A two-fold molar excess of 16-mercaptohexadecanoic acid (MHDA) (51 mg, 0.18 mmol) was left to react with CTC resin (78 mg, 0.086 mmol) in DCM overnight. Then the Fmoc-diamminopentane hydrochloride (93 mg, 0.26 mmol) coupling was performed using DIPCDI (40 µL, 0.26 mmol), HOAt (39 mg, 0.28 mmol) as coupling reagents, and addition of DIPEA (44 uL, 0.26 mmol) in DMF overnight at rt. The amino compound was mixed with all reagents prior to adding to the resin. A capping step with methanol was then performed before treatment with piperidine, with several washings between steps (the loading was 0.85 mmol/g of resin). The next coupling was done with biotin (108 mg, 0.44 mmol), DIPCDI (67 µL, 0.44 mmol), HOAt (66 mg, 0.48 mmol), and DIPEA (73 µL, 0.43 mmol), in DMF overnight as mentioned above. After cleavage, compound 1 was obtained as a white solid, the yield was 80% (41 mg). The product was characterized by ¹H NMR $\delta_{\rm H}$ (400 MHz, CDCl₃-CD₃OD (1:1)) 4.34-4.31 (2H, m, CHCH₂S of biotin), 3.20-3.16 (4H, m, CH₂NHCO of biotin) and (1H, m, CHS of biotin) both overlapped, with correct integration, 2.94 (1H, dd, CH₂S of biotin), 2.74 (1H, d, CH₂S of biotin), 2.52 (2H, t, CH₂SH), 2.20–2.15 (4H, m, CH₂CON), 1.41–1.24 (36H, m, CH₂) and MALDI-TOF m/z calcd for C₃₁H₅₈N₄O₃S₂ 598.95, found 599.43 [M+H]⁺, 621.42 [M+Na]⁺, 637.39 $[M+K]^+$ (See Supplementary data).

4.5. Synthesis of compound 2

The first attachment of the 16-mercaptohexadecanoic acid (53 mg, 0.18 mmol) to the CTC resin (78 mg, 0.086 mmol) was done as explained above, then Fmoc-1-amino-4,7,10-trioxa-13-tridecanamine hydrochloride (13 mg, 0.27 mmol) coupling was performed using DIPCDI (40 μ L, 0.26 mmol), HOAt (37 mg, 0.27 mmol) as coupling reagents and DIPEA (44 μ L, 0.26 mmol) in DMF overnight. The amino compound was mixed with all reagents prior to adding to the resin. Next, a capping step with methanol was carried out before treatment with piperidine, with several washings

between steps. The loading was 0.45 mmol/g of resin. The next coupling was done with Biotin (113 mg, 0.46 mmol), DIPCDI (66 μ L, 0.43 mmol), HOAt (63 mg, 46 mmol), and DIPEA (72 μ L, 0.42 mmol) in DMF overnight as mentioned above. After cleavage, compound **2** was obtained as a white solid, the yield was 96% (61 mg). The product was characterized by ¹H NMR^{3.4} $\delta_{\rm H}$ (400 MHz, CD₃OD) 4.49–4.47 (1H, m, CHCH₂S of biotin), 4.31–4.28 (1H, m, CHCH₂S of biotin), 4.31–4.28 (1H, m, CHCH₂S of biotin), 3.63–3.52 (12H, m, CH₂O), 3.20 (4H, td, CH₂NHCO), 3.19–3.17 (1H, m, CHS of biotin), 2.92 (1H, dd, CH₂SH), 2.21–2.19 (4H, m, CH₂CON), 1.47–1.30 (34H, m, CH₂) and MALDI-TOF *m*/*z* calcd for C₃₆H₆₈N₄O₆S₂ 716.46, found 717.62 [M+H]⁺, 739.59 [M+Na]⁺, 755.56 [M+K]⁺ (See Supplementary data).

Acknowledgements

We thank Drs J. Bausells and G. Villanueva at the National Microelectronics Centre (CNM, Barcelona) for providing the DRIE molds for micro-contact printing studies. We acknowledge financial support through the European Framework Project Spot_NOSED, FET-IST-2001-38739), CICYT (BQU 2003-00089) and from the Barcelona Science Park.

Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.090.

References and notes

- Whitesides, G. M.; Ostuni, E.; Takayama, S.; Jiang, X.; Ingber, D. E. Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 2001, 3, 335–373.
- 2. Prime, K. L.; Whitesides, G. M. Science 1991, 252, 1164-1167.
- Hyun, J.; Lee, W.; Nath, N.; Chilkoti, A.; Zauscher, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 7330–7335.
- Castelino, K.; Kannan, B.; Majumdar, A. Langmuir 2005, 21, 1956–1961.
- 5. Mei, L.; Ping, X. L.; Rechnitz, G. A. *Electroanalysis* **2000**, *1*, 21–26.
- Mrksich, M.; Whitesides, G. M. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 1996, 25, 55–78.
- Piner, R. D.; Zhu, J.; Xu, F.; Hong, S.; Mirkin, C. A. Science 1999, 283, 661–663.
- Nelson, K. E.; Gamble, L.; Jung, L. S.; Boeckl, M. S.; Naeemi,
 E.; Golledge, S. L.; Sasaki, T.; Castner, D. G.; Campbell,
 Charles T.; Stayton, P. S. *Langmuir* 2001, *17*, 2807–2816.
- Booth, C.; Bushby, R. J.; Cheng, Y.; Evans, S. D.; Liu, Q.; Zhang, H. *Tetrahedron* 2001, 57, 9859–9866.
- Canaria, C. A.; Smith, J. O.; Yu, C. J.; Fraser, S. E.; Lansford, R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, *46*, 4813–4816.
- Barlos, K.; Gatosa, D.; Kallitsisa, J.; Papaphotiua, G.; Sotiriua, P.; Wenqinga, Y.; Schäferb, W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1989**, *30*, 3943–3946.
- Manolis, K.; Mourtas, S.; Gatos, D.; Barlos, K. J. Pept. Sci. 2002, 8, 615–620.
- Mourtas, S.; Katakalou, C.; Nicolettou, A.; Tzavara, C.; Gatos, D.; Barlos, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44, 179–182.

- (a) Garcia, F.; Bayó, N.; Albericio, F. Chlorotrityl chloride resin as convenient reusable protecting group, submitted for publication; (b) Bohling, J. C.; Zabrodski, W. J. Eur. Pat. Appl. EP1391447, 2004.
- 15. During the preparation of this manuscript, we were aware of the work of Camarero et al. who used a similar approach to prepare functionalized amine alkyl thiols, which were used to generate assembled virus nanostructures. According to their report, the trityl resin used requires heavy cleavage conditions and the final products must be purified. Cheung, C. C.; Camarero, J. A.; Woods, G. B. W.; Lin, T.; Johnson, J. E.; De Yoreo, J. J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125*, 6848–6849.
- Lloyd-Williams, P.; Albericio, F.; Giralt, E. Chemical Approaches to the Synthesis of Peptides and Proteins; CRC: Boca Raton, FL, 1997.

- 17. Vazquez, J.; Qushair, G.; Albericio, F. *Methods Enzymol.* **2003**, *369*, 21–35.
- Mourtas, S.; Gatos, D.; Karavoltsos, M.; Katakalou, C.; Barlos, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 3419–3421.
- Mourtas, S.; Gatos, D.; Kalaitzi, V.; Katakalou, C.; Barlos, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, 42, 6965–6967.
- 20. Carpino, L.; El-Faham, A.; Minor, C. A.; Albericio, F. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1994**, 201–203.
- Thieriet, N.; Guibe, F.; Albericio, F. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 1815– 1817.
- Kremsky, J. N.; Pluskal, M.; Casey, S.; Perry-O'Keefe, H.; Kates, S. A.; Sinha, N. D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 4313– 4316.
- 23. Xia, Y.; Whitesides, G. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 550–575.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6882-6892

Synthesis and reactivity of trans-2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines

Berten Van Driessche, Willem Van Brabandt, Matthias D'hooghe, Yves Dejaegher and Norbert De Kimpe^{*}

Department of Organic Chemistry, Faculty of Bioscience Engineering, Ghent University, Coupure Links 653, B-9000 Ghent, Belgium

Received 24 March 2006; revised 20 April 2006; accepted 27 April 2006 Available online 5 June 2006

Abstract—Several *trans*-2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines were synthesized in a stereoselective way by reduction of the corresponding β -lactams, which were formed by a Staudinger reaction using different benzaldimines and chloroketene. The resulting chloroazetidines proved to be excellent building blocks for the synthesis of different 3-substituted azetidines through nucleophilic substitution of the chlorine by different carbon, nitrogen, sulfur and oxygen nucleophiles in good to high yields. Since these substitution reactions took place with retention of stereochemistry, the intermediacy of bicyclic azonio[1.1.0]bicyclobutanes is proposed.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Within azaheterocyclic chemistry, azetidines are an extraordinary class of strained compounds because of their wide range of known biological activities.^{1–4} In the literature, several 3-substituted azetidines with known physiological effects have been reported. 1-Cyclohexyl-3-guanidinylazetidine has an antihypertensive activity,⁵ 3-carbamoyl substituted azetidines exhibit a tranquilizing effect on the central nervous system⁶ and azetidine-3-carboxylic acid is a known gametocide.⁷ In various recent patents, 3,3-difluoroazetidines have been described as therapeutically active and selective inhibitors of the dipeptidyl peptidase-IV enzyme (DPP-IV)^{8–12} making them potential drugs for the treatment of type 2 diabetes.¹³ Indeed, 3-haloazetidines form an important subclass within the azaheterocycles because of their potential physiological activities and their use as substrates towards the synthesis of 3-substituted azetidine derivatives.

Various reports on the synthesis of 3-haloazetidines can be found in the literature. 2-Aryl-3-bromoazetidinyl-1-tosylates were prepared by electrophile-induced cyclization of *N*-cinnamyl tosylamine with bis(collidine)bromine(I) hexafluorophosphate as electrophile.¹⁴ Furthermore, azetidinyl-3-tosylates and -mesylates are known precursors for 3-haloazetidine formation by substitution reactions, ^{15–20} and azetidin-3-ols also underwent substitution reactions at the C3 carbon atom upon treatment with triphenylphosphine dibromide or triphenylphosphine in tetrachloromethane towards 3-bromo- and 3-chloroazetidines.^{21–23} Another straightforward synthetic method for the synthesis of 3-haloazetidines compromises ring opening of the peculiar and difficultly accessible 1-azabicyclo[1.1.0]butanes. Opening of the bridging 1,3-bond with *p*-toluenesulfonyl chloride,^{24–26} hydrogen halides^{25,27–29} or acid chlorides^{25,30} resulted in a broad group of different 3-haloazetidines. 3-Haloazetidines, such as 1-*tert*-butyl-3-chloroazetidine, have already been used in different reactivity studies with various nucleophiles. Although moderate to good yields were reported, the reaction procedures required long reaction times (up to 11 days) and extreme reaction conditions (heating in steel bombs).^{22,31}

In this report, a straightforward and efficient synthesis of *trans*-2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines is disclosed as versatile substrates in organic chemistry. The scope of these synthons for the preparation of a large variety of 3-substituted azetidines was demonstrated by means of different nucleophiles in an efficient and elegant way.

2. Results and discussion

trans-2-Aryl-3-chloroazetidines **4a**–**g** were prepared by condensation of different aromatic aldehydes **1** with a variety of amines in dichloromethane in the presence of magnesium sulfate as drying agent, and the corresponding aldimines **2** were isolated in excellent yield after reflux for 1 h. In the next step, the latter imines **2** underwent a Staudinger [2+2]-cycloaddition using chloroacetyl chloride as a ketene precursor and 2,6-lutidine as base, affording *trans*-4-aryl-3chloro- β -lactams **3a–g** (Scheme 1).³² The stereoselectivity of this reaction was confirmed by literature data regarding the coupling constants of *cis*- and *trans*-3-hydroxy-2-methyl-1*tert*-butylazetidine between the protons at C3 and C4.^{33,34}

Keywords: β-Lactams; Azetidines; Azonio[1.1.0]bicyclobutanes.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +32 92645951; fax: +32 92646243; e-mail: norbert.dekimpe@UGent.be

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter \odot 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.104

For a cis configuration, coupling constants of 5–6 Hz have been reported, and for a trans configuration a *J*-value of 0-2 Hz.^{33,34} All the synthesized β -lactams **3a**–**g** had a coupling constant of 1.7 or 1.8 Hz between the protons at C3 and C4, indicative of a trans configuration of the chlorine atom with respect to the aromatic substituent (Scheme 1).



Scheme 1.

The use of monochloroalane has already been proven to be an efficient method for the reduction of β -lactams towards their corresponding azetidines.³⁵ Also in this case, the use of 3 equiv of monochloroalane in diethyl ether proved to be an efficient method for the stereoselective reduction of the 4-aryl-3-chloroazetidin-2-ones **3a–g**, affording *trans*-2aryl-3-chloroazetidines **4a–g** in high yield after reflux for 4 h without the formation of undesired ring opening products (Scheme 1, Table 1).

The mechanism of the stereochemical outcome of this Staudinger reaction has been studied thoroughly in the past (Scheme 2).³⁶ The ketene **5**, formed by dehydrochlorination of the acid chloride with 2,6-lutidine as a base, is attacked by the nitrogen lone pair of the imine 2 at the less hindered side of the ketene with the plane of the imine perpendicular to the ketene. When using N-(alkylidene)amines, the formed zwitterionic intermediate 7 undergoes ring closure in the thermodynamic less stable cis isomer in a conrotatory way. In this case however, using aromatic aldimines 2, isomerization of the imine bond is possible as the positive charge, which occurs during this isomerization, can be stabilized at the benzylic position, allowing rotation of the nitrogencarbon double bound towards intermediate 8. Hence, by conrotatory ring closure, the β -lactams **3a–g** are formed in the thermodynamic more stable trans-configuration.³⁶

Table 1. Synthesis and yield of 4-aryl-3-chloroazetidin-2-ones 3a-g and 2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines 4a-g

Compound	R^1	R ²	Yield of 3 (%)	Yield of 4 (%)
a	Н	Allyl	85	73
b	Cl	Allyl	82	80
c	Н	Benzyl	75	87
d	Cl	Benzyl	90	69
e	Н	iPr	77	83
f	Н	cHex	86	79
g	Me	iPr	81	86



Scheme 2.

The retention of the trans configuration of the formed 2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines 4a-g was confirmed by comparing the coupling constants of the protons at the C2, C3 and C4 carbon atoms with literature data.³⁷⁻³⁹ According to the literature, cis-3-hydroxy-2-methyl-1-tert-butylazetidine has coupling constants of 6.6 and 1.8 Hz between the protons at C3 and C4, whereas trans-3-hydroxy-2-methyl-1-tertbutylazetidine has coupling constants of 6.7 and 6.4 Hz. The coupling constants between the C2 and C3 protons were about 6 Hz in both cases.^{37–39} Upon analysis of the spectral data of azetidines 4a-g, the coupling constants of the azetidine ring protons were observed to be larger than 5 Hz, indicating the trans-configuration. The proton at the C3 carbon atom was distinguished as a quadrupletlike multiplet in the ¹H NMR spectra, which exists of a $d \times d \times d$ system with similar coupling constants. The protons at the C4 carbon have a triplet like appearance since both coupling constants are about the same size (6.6–7 Hz) (Fig. 1).

Insertion of new functional groups on azetidine rings is a challenging synthetic topic within organic chemistry because of the interesting biological and chemical properties of substituted azetidines. Since no systematic study of nucleophilic substitution reactions of 3-haloazetidines has been performed up to now and the known methods are very laborious, 2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines 4a-g were treated with different nucleophiles in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) and methanol, resulting in several 3-substituted azetidines (Scheme 3). trans-2-Aryl-3-chloroazetidines 4a-g reacted with 4 equiv of sodium azide, potassium cyanide, sodium acetate and potassium thiocyanate, respectively, in dimethylsulfoxide resulting in *trans*-2-aryl-3-azidoazetidines 9a-g, trans-2-aryl-3-cyanoazetidines 9h-j, trans-3-acetoxy-2arylazetidines 9k-n and trans-2-aryl-3-thiocyanoazetidines **90–p**, respectively, as substitution products in good yields after overnight heating at 80-120 °C (Table 2).







Scheme 3.

Table 2. Substitution reactions of *trans*-2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines 4a–g towards 3-substituted azetidines 9a–p

Starting compound 4	Reagent MX	Temperature (°C)	Reaction time (h)	Isolated compound 9	Yield (%)
4a	NaN ₃	80	22	9a	47
4b	NaN ₃	90	22	9b	62
4c	NaN ₃	90	22	9c	45
4d	NaN ₃	110	22	9d	63
4e	NaN ₃	80	18	9e	62
4f	NaN ₃	80	18	9f	70
4g	NaN ₃	80	18	9g	76
4a	KCN	90	22	9ĥ	54
4b	KCN	90	46	9i	62
4d	KCN	120	22	9j	65
4a	NaOAc	90	22	9k	52
4b	NaOAc	100	72	91	73
4c	NaOAc	110	22	9m	52
4d	NaOAc	125	21	9n	15
4a	KSCN	90	22	90	31
4b	KSCN	90	22	9р	43

DMSO has proven to be the most suitable solvent for this type of substitution reactions. Treatment of *trans*-2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines **4a**–**g** with potassium cyanide in acetonitrile or methanol at reflux did not result in substitution, and the starting material was recovered. The required reaction temperature had to be above 80 °C, since a reaction temperature below 80 °C did not result in substitution reactions.

Only for the synthesis of 3-methoxyazetidines 9q-r, a different solvent had to be chosen. Treatment of *trans*-2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines 4a-d with 4 equiv of sodium methoxide in methanol (4 N) afforded the corresponding *trans*-2-aryl-3-methoxyazetidines 9q-r in moderate yields (Scheme 4, Table 3).



Scheme 4

The method developed for the stereospecific substitution of trans-2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines **4a**–**d** can be used for a

Table 3. Reaction of *trans*-2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines 4a and 4d with sodium methoxide towards *trans*-2-aryl-3-methoxyazetidines 9q–r

Starting compound 4	Temperature (°C)	Reaction time (h)	Isolated compound 9	Yield (%)
4a	Reflux, Δ	22	9q	49
4d	Reflux, Δ	72	9r	45

number of different carbon, sulfur, oxygen and nitrogen nucleophiles. In an efficient, straightforward and simple way, several potentially bioactive compounds can be synthesized, which broaden the already significant azetidine chemistry.

It should be stressed that all substitution reactions took place with retention of stereochemistry, and only trans substituted azetidines were detected in the reaction mixtures. This behaviour can be explained by the formation of a bicyclic azonia[1.1.0]bicyclobutane intermediate 11, followed by attack of the nucleophile at C3 (Scheme 5). The same intermediate has already been suggested in literature, based on stereospecific retention after hydrolysis and substitution reactions, and ring contraction to aziridinylmethyl derivatives.⁴⁰⁻⁴² Further investigation of this intermediate by ab initio calculations stated that this bicyclic intermediate is indeed the most stable one, in comparison with other possible intermediates.⁴³ Moreover, 1-azabicyclo[1.1.0]butanes have been converted into 3-haloazetidines and vice versa via intermediate azonia[1.1.0]bicyclobutane derivatives such as **11**.⁴⁴ The fact that thiocyanates **90–p** are obtained, instead of the corresponding isothiocyanates, after reaction of 3-chloroazetidines 4a-g with potassium thiocyanate is in accordance with literature data, as in most cases substitution proceeds via attack of the sulfur atom.45 The preferential attack of the sulfur atom of the thiocyanate nucleophile can be rationalized considering the soft acid character of the intermediate bicyclic azonia[1.1.0]bicyclobutane intermediate 11.





trans-2-Aryl-3-chloroazetidines 4a-g proved to be stable in refluxing methanol for 24 h, and no isomerization to the corresponding isomeric 2-(chloromethyl)aziridines was observed. It should be remarked that upon treatment with nucleophiles the intermediate azonia[1.1.0]bicyclobutanes 11 are opened in a regioselective way at C3 towards 3-substituted azetidines instead of attack at C2 or C4 towards the corresponding aziridine derivatives. However, it has been reported previously that treatment of the analogous trans-1-cyclohexyl-3-mesyloxy-2-phenylazetidine with sodium hydroxide resulted in a mixture of the corresponding 3hydroxyazetidine and both isomers of 1-cyclohexyl-2-(ahydroxybenzyl)aziridine in a 1:1:1 ratio.42 The same result, i.e., formation of the corresponding 3-methoxyazetidines and 2-(a-methoxybenzyl)aziridines, was obtained upon treatment of trans-1-cyclohexyl-3-mesyloxy-2-phenylazetidine

with sodium methoxide in methanol, which can only be explained by ring opening of the intermediate azonia[1.1.0]-bicyclobutanes at C2. Only when sodium methanethiolate and sodium benzenethiolate were used, no isomerization towards the corresponding aziridines took place.⁴²

The opposite reactivity has also been reported, i.e., the conversion of a 2-(tosyloxymethyl)aziridine into an azetidine derivative via the intermediacy of an azonia[1.1.0]bicyclobutane salt. These authors described the ring expansion of 1-*tert*-butyl-2-(tosyloxymethyl)aziridine **13** into a mixture of 3-hydroxyazetidine **14** (38%), azetidine **15** (4%) and 2-(hydroxymethyl)aziridine **16** (5%) via the formation of an intermediate bicyclic aziridinium salt **17** after heating for 6 days at 25 °C in 5% EtOH/H₂O in the presence of 1 equiv of Et₃N.¹⁵ As this result seemed to be doubtful in view of our recent study of the reactivity of 2-(bromomethyl)aziridine **13**. However, careful repetition of this reaction did not result in the formation of azetidines **14** and **15**, and the starting material was recovered completely (Scheme 6).



Scheme 6.

Although the desired substitution of 3-chloroazetidines 4a-g was attained by reaction with sodium azide, potassium cyanide, sodium acetate and potassium thiocyanate in DMSO, treatment of *trans*-2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines 4a-g with sodium bicarbonate, potassium cyanate, potassium fluoride and potassium iodide using the same reaction conditions (overnight heating in DMSO) resulted only in complex reaction mixtures, probably due to the less nucleophilic character of the first three nucleophiles compared to chloride. In the latter case, the higher leaving capacities of iodide in comparison to chloride can be responsible for the failure of the substitutions.

In recent years, 3-aminoazetidines have received a lot of attention because of their antibacterial activities.^{46–50} Reduction of *trans*-2-aryl-3-azidoazetidines **9e–g** with 2 equiv of lithium aluminium hydride in ether yielded unprecedented 3-aminoazetidines **18a–c** after reflux for 2 h, which could be purified by performing an acid–base extraction (Scheme 7).



trans-3-Acetoxy-2-arylazetidines **9k–l** were stable in refluxing methanol, whereas treatment with 1 equiv of sodium bicarbonate in refluxing methanol for 1 h resulted in *trans*-2-arylazetidin-3-ols **19a–b** (Scheme 8). Azetidin-3-ols have been studied intensively in the literature since they form interesting synthons towards azetidinyl tosylates and mesylates.^{15,21}



Scheme 8.

Efforts towards acidic or basic conversion of *trans*-2-aryl-3cyanoazetidines **9h**–**j** to the corresponding methyl esters or carboxylic acids as analogues of the gametocide azetidine-3-carboxylic acid⁷ by using 2–6 N hydrochloric acid or sulfuric acid in water or methanol only resulted in complex reaction mixtures, while treatment with 6 N aqueous sodium hydroxide yielded the starting compounds **9h–j**.

3. Conclusion

Several *trans*-2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines were synthesized in a stereoselective way by reduction of the corresponding β -lactams, which were, on their turn, formed by a Staudinger reaction between different benzaldimines and chloroketene. The formed chloroazetidines were subjected to a variety of substitution reactions with nitrogen, carbon, sulfur and oxygen nucleophiles in DMSO. Since these substitution reactions took place with retention of stereochemistry, the occurrence of a bicyclic azonio[1.1.0]bicyclobutane intermediate is proposed. These substitution reactions resulted in several *trans*-2-aryl-3-substituted azetidines as valuable new compounds with potential biological activities and as substrates for further elaboration towards e.g., 3-aminoand 3-hydroxyazetidines.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

¹H NMR spectra were recorded at 270 MHz (JEOL JNM-EX 270) or at 300 MHz (JEOL ECLIPSE+) with CDCl₃ as solvent and tetramethylsilane as internal standard. ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded at 68 MHz (JEOL JNM-EX 270) or at 75 MHz (JEOL ECLIPSE+) with CDCl₃ as solvent. Mass spectra were obtained with a mass spectrometer (VARIAN MAT 112), 70 eV using a GC–MS coupling (RSL 200, 20 m glass capillary column, i.d. 0.53 mm, He carrier gas) or AGILENT 1100, 70 eV. IR spectra were measured with a Spectrum One FT-IR spectrophotometer. Melting points were measured using a Büchi B-540 apparatus and are uncorrected. Elemental analysis was performed on a Perkin–Elmer 2400 Elemental Analyzer. Dichloromethane was distilled over calcium hydride, while diethyl ether

and THF were freshly distilled over sodium benzophenone ketyl. Other solvents were used as received from the supplier.

4.1.1. Synthesis of *trans*-4-aryl-3-chloro-β-lactams 3a-g. The synthesis of trans-1-allyl-3-chloro-4-phenylazetidin-2-one 3a is given as a representative example. N-(Benzylidene)allylamine (7.23 g, 0.05 mol) was dissolved in benzene (150 ml) and 2,6-lutidine (16.05 g, 0.15 mol, 3 equiv) was added, after which the solution was heated to reflux. Chloroacetylchloride (8.48 g, 0.075 mol, 1.5 equiv) was added dropwise to this refluxing solution. The resulting solution was kept at reflux temperature for 22 h. After cooling, the precipitated 2,6-lutidine hydrochloride was filtered off and the filtrate was washed twice with 1 N hydrochloric acid. Drying over magnesium sulfate, filtration and evaporation of the solvent yielded trans-1-allyl-3-chloro-4-phenylazetidin-2-one (10.85 g, 49 mmol, 97%). Although the obtained *B*-lactams were pure enough for direct use in the next step, further purification was performed by flash chromatography on silica gel.

4.1.1. *trans*-1-Allyl-3-chloro-4-phenylazetidin-2-one **3a.** Yield 85%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 3:1, R_f =0.3. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 3.41 (1H, d×d×d, J=15.5 Hz, J=7.2 Hz, J=0.8 Hz, NC(H)H), 4.21 (1H, d×d×t, J=15.5 Hz, J=5.0 Hz, J=1.6 Hz, NC(H)H), 4.54 (1H, d×d, J=1.8 Hz, J=0.8 Hz, CHC₆H₅), 4.58 (1H, d, J=1.8 Hz, CHCl), 5.08–5.21 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.66– 5.78 (1H, m, CH=CH₂), 7.28–7.47 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 43.54 (CH₂N), 63.06 (CHC₆H₅), 65.73 (CHCl), 119.53 (CH=CH₂), 126.63, 129.28 and 129.49 (CC₅H₅), 130.30 (CH=CH₂), 134.83 (CC₅H₅), 163.84 (C=O). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C=O}$ =1772. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 224/2 (M⁺+1, 100), 186 (45). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₂CINO (%): C, 65.02; H, 5.46; N, 6.32. Found (%): C, 65.28; H, 5.22; N, 6.44.

4.1.1.2. *trans*-1-Allyl-3-chloro-4-(4-chlorophenyl)azetidin-2-one 3b. Yield 82%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 3:1, R_f =0.3. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 3.39 (1H, d×d, J=15.6 Hz, J=7.3 Hz, NC(H)H), 4.10–4.20 (1H, m, NC(H)H), 4.50–4.52 (2H, m, CHCl and C HC_6H_4 Cl), 5.09– 5.22 (2H, m, CH=C H_2), 5.65–5.79 (1H, m, CH=C H_2), 7.23–7.40 (4H, m, C₆H₄Cl). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, ref= CDCl₃): δ 43.72 (CH₂N), 63.22 and 65.11 (CHC_6H_4 Cl and CHCl), 119.88 (CH=C H_2), 128.08 and 129.61 (CC₄H₄CCl), 130.29 (CH=CH₂), 130.99 and 135.51 (CC₄H₄CCl), 163.50 (C=O). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C=O}$ =1774. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 258/6 (M⁺+1, 100), 116 (37). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₁Cl₂NO (%): C, 56.27; H, 4.33; N, 5.47. Found (%): C, 56.08; H, 4.51; N, 5.39.

4.1.1.3. *trans*-1-Benzyl-3-chloro-4-phenylazetidin-2one 3c. Yield 75%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 3:1, R_f =0.32. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 3.82 (1H, d, J=15.1 Hz, C(*H*)HC₆H₅), 4.38 and 4.55 (2×1H, 2×d, J=1.8 Hz, CHCl and CHC₆H₅), 4.86 (1H, d, J=15.1 Hz, C(H)HC₆H₅), 7.10–7.42 (10H, m, CH₂C₆H₅ and CHC₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, ref=CDCl₃): δ 44.90 (CH₂C₆H₅), 63.19 and 65.26 (CHCl and CHC₆H₅), 126.65, 128.05, 128.42, 128.89, 129.24 and 129.43 (2×CC₅H₅), 134.30 and 134.68 (2×*C*C₅H₅), 163.61 (C=O). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C=O}$ =1777. MS (70 eV): *m*/*z* (%): 274/2 (M⁺+1, 100), 91 (14). Anal. Calcd for C₁₆H₁₄ClNO (%): C, 70.72; H, 5.19; N, 5.15. Found (%): C, 70.94; H, 5.29; N, 5.01.

4.1.1.4. *trans*-1-Benzyl-3-chloro-4-(4-chlorophenyl)azetidin-2-one 3d. Yield 90%, light yellow oil. Hexane/ EtOAc 3:1, R_f =0.44. Mp: 83 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 3.84 (1H, d, *J*=15.0 Hz, C(*H*)HC₆H₅), 4.35 (1H, d, *J*=1.7 Hz, CHCl), 4.52 (1H, d×d, *J*=1.7 Hz, *J*=0.7 Hz, CHC₆H₄Cl), 4.84 (1H, d, *J*=15.0 Hz, C(H)HC₆H₅), 7.29– 7.38 (9H, m, CH₂C₆H₅ and CHC₆H₄Cl). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 45.04 (CH₂C₆H₅), 63.15 and 64.61 (CHCl and CHC₆H₄Cl), 128.01, 128.18, 128.45, 128.97 and 129.47 (CC₄H₄CCl and CC₅H₅), 163.40 (C=O). IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C=O}$ =1765. MS (70 eV): *m/z* (%): 310/08/ 06 (M⁺+1, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₆H₁₃Cl₂NO (%): C, 62.76; H, 4.28; N, 4.57. Found (%): C, 62.91; H, 4.18; N, 4.74.

4.1.1.5. *trans*-**3**-**Chloro**-**1**-*isopropyl*-**4**-*phenylazetidin*-**2**-*one* **3e.** Yield 77%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 3:2, R_f =0.64. ¹H NMR (270 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.07 and 1.31 (2×3H, 2×d, *J*=6.9 Hz, CH(CH₃)₂), 3.75 (1H, septet, *J*= 6.9 Hz, CH(CH₃)₂), 4.46 and 4.53 (2×1H, 2×d, *J*=1.7 Hz, NCH and CHCl), 7.35–7.47 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (68 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 19.80 and 20.74 (CH(CH₃)₂), 45.63 (CH(CH₃)₂), 62.23 and 64.75 (NCH and CHCl), 126.42, 128.86 and 129.08 (CC₅H₅), 136.24 (CC₅H₅), 163.13 (C=O). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C=O}$ =1765. MS (70 eV): *m/z* (%): no M⁺, 139 (57), 137 (100), 102 (46). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₄CINO (%): C, 64.43; H, 6.31; N, 6.26. Found (%): C, 64.21; H, 6.43; N, 6.34.

4.1.1.6. *trans*-**3**-**Chloro**-**1**-**cyclohexyl**-**4**-**phenylazetidin**-**2**-**one 3f.** Yield 86%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 3:2, R_f =0.65. ¹H NMR (270 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 0.96–2.04 (10H, m, (CH₂)₅), 3.33–3.45 (1H, m, NCH), 4.44 and 4.54 (2×1H, 2×d, *J*=1.7 Hz, NCH and CHCl), 7.34–7.46 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (68 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 24.95, 25.01, 30.21, 31.15 and 32.80 ((CH₂)₅), 53.75 (NCH), 62.85 and 65.15 (NCH and CHCl), 126.95, 129.20 and 129.31 (CC₅H₅), 136.71 (CC₅H₅), 163.82 (C=O). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C=O}$ =1769. MS (70 eV): no M⁺, 140/38 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₅H₁₈CINO (%): C, 68.30; H, 6.88; N, 5.31. Found (%): C, 68.51; H, 7.01; N, 5.19.

4.1.1.7. *trans*-3-Chloro-1-isopropyl-4-(4-methylphenyl)azetidin-2-one 3g. Yield 81%, light yellow oil. Hexane/ EtOAc 3:2, R_f =0.53. ¹H NMR (270 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.06 and 1.30 (2×3H, 2×d, J=6.6 Hz, CH(CH₃)₂), 2.38 (3H, s, C_qCH3), 3.74 (1H, septet, J=6.6 Hz, CH(CH₃)₂), 4.44 and 4.49 (2×1H, 2×d, J=1.7 Hz, NCH and CHCl), 7.23–7.25 (2×2H, 2×d, J=9.0 Hz, C₆H₄). ¹³C NMR (68 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 20.09, 21.08 and 21.22 (CH(CH₃)₂ and C_qCH3), 45.80 (CH(CH₃)₂), 62.53 and 64.92 (NCH and CHCl), 126.63 and 129.79 (CC_cH₄C), 133.48 and 139.37 (CC₄H₅C), 163.57 (C=O). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C=O}$ =1769. MS (70 eV): *m/z* (%): 238/6 (M⁺, 1), 154/2 (100), 118 (44), 117 (82), 115 (75), 91 (58), 70 (42). Anal. Calcd for C₁₃H₁₆CINO (%): C, 65.68; H, 6.78; N, 5.89. Found (%): C, 65.49; H, 6.86; N, 6.02.

4.1.2. Synthesis of *trans*-2-aryl-3-chloroazetidines 4a-g. The reduction of trans-1-allyl-3-chloro-4-phenylazetidin-2-one 3a to trans-2-aryl-3-chloroazetidine 4a is given as a representative example. To a solution of aluminium(III) chloride (12.13 g, 0.09 mol, 3 equiv) in dry diethyl ether (150 ml) was added carefully lithium aluminium hydride (3.44 g, 0.09 mol, 3 equiv) at 0 °C. This reaction mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 10 min, and subsequently refluxed for 30 min. trans-1-Allyl-3-chloro-4-phenylazetidin-2-one (6.64 g, 0.03 mol) in dry diethyl ether (100 ml) was added slowly and after addition was complete, reflux was maintained for 4 h. The reaction was cooled and water (200 ml) was added carefully. The aqueous phase was extracted with dichloromethane and dried over magnesium sulfate. After filtration and evaporation of the solvent and further purification by flash chromatography on silica gel, trans-2-aryl-3chloroazetidine (4.57 g, 0.022 mol, 73%) was obtained as a light yellow oil.

4.1.2.1. *trans*-1-Allyl-3-chloro-2-phenylazetidine 4a. Yield 73%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 4:1, R_f =0.40. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.97–3.01 (1H, m, C(*H*)HCHCl), 3.06 (1H, d×d, *J*=13.4 Hz, *J*=6.9 Hz, C(*H*)HCH=CH₂), 3.32 (1H, d×d×t, *J*=13.4 Hz, *J*= 5.5 Hz, *J*=1.4 Hz, C(H)*H*CH=CH₂), 3.83–3.89 (1H, m, C(H)*H*CHCl), 4.05–4.12 (2H, m, CHCl and C*H*C₆H₅), 5.02–5.20 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.65–5.80 (1H, m, CH=CH₂), 7.19–7.44 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 52.69 (CHC₆H₅), 60.80 (CH₂CHCl), 61.10 (CH₂CH=CH₂), 78.72 (CHCl), 117.66 (CH=CH₂), 126.59, 128.05 and 128.45 (CC₅H₅), 133.81 (CH=CH₂), 139.55 (*C*C₅H₅). MS (70 eV): *m*/*z* (%): 210/8 (M⁺+1, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₄ClN (%): C, 69.39; H, 6.79; N, 6.74. Found (%): C, 69.11; H, 6.95; N, 6.70.

4.1.2.2. trans-1-Allyl-3-chloro-2-(4-chlorophenyl)azetidine 4b. Yield 80%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 4:1, $R_f = 0.60$. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.98–3.03 (1H, m, C(H)HCHCl), 3.07 (1H, $d \times d$, J=13.4 Hz, J=6.9 Hz, $C(H)HCH=CH_2$, 3.29 (1H, d×d×t, J=13.4 Hz, J= 5.6 Hz, J=1.0 Hz, C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.84-3.88 (1H, m, C(H)HCHCl), 4.00-4.07 (2H, m, CHC₆H₄Cl and CHCl), 5.03-5.21 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.64-5.77 (1H, m, CH= CH₂), 7.29–7.39 (4H, m, C₆H₄Cl). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 52.71 (CHCl), 60.80 (CH₂CHCl), 61.09 (CH₂CH=CH₂), 78.72 (CHC₆H₄Cl), 117.94 (CH=CH₂), 127.99 and 128.66 (CC_4H_4CCI), 133.70 ($CH=CH_2$), 133.82 and 138.19 (CC_4H_4CCI). MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 246/4/2 (M⁺+1, 50), 116 (23). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₃Cl₂N (%): C, 59.52; H, 5.41; N, 5.78. Found (%): C, 59.68; H, 5.36; N. 5.71.

4.1.2.3. *trans*-**1-Benzyl-3-chloro-2-phenylazetidine 4c.** Yield 87%, light yellow oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 3.00 (1H, t, *J*=7.2 Hz, C(*H*)HCHCl), 3.47 (1H, d, *J*=12.9 Hz, C(*H*)HC₆H₅), 3.71–3.75 (1H, m, C(H)*H*CHCl), 3.89 (1H, d, *J*=12.9 Hz, C(H)*H*C₆H₅), 4.03–4.10 (1H, m, CHCl), 4.16 (1H, d, *J*=6.9 Hz, CHC₆H₅), 7.22–7.33 (10H, m, CH₂C₆H₅ and CHC₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 52.92 (CHCl), 60.86 (CH₂CHCl), 61.93 (CH₂C₆H₅), 78.52 (CHC₆H₅), 126.56, 127.20, 128.05, 128.28, 128.45 and 128.63 (2×CC₅H₅), 137.29 and 139.37 (2×CC₅H₅). MS (70 eV): *m/z* (%): 260/58 (M⁺+1, 23), 120 (100), 91 (36). Anal. Calcd for $C_{16}H_{16}ClN$ (%): C, 74.55; H, 6.26; N, 5.43. Found (%): C, 74.70; H, 6.38; N, 5.31.

4.1.2.4. *trans*-**1**-Benzyl-**3**-chloro-**2**-(**4**-chlorophenyl)azetidine 4d. Yield 69%, light yellow oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.97–3.02 (1H, m, C(*H*)HCHCl), 3.48 (1H, d, *J*=12.7 Hz, C(*H*)HC₆H₅), 3.67–3.75 (1H, m, C(H)*H*CHCl), 3.82 (1H, d, *J*=12.7 Hz, C(H)*H*C₆H₅), 3.97– 4.03 (1H, m, CHCl), 4.10 (1H, d, *J*=6.6 Hz, CHC₆H₄Cl), 7.22–7.37 (9H, m, CH₂C₆H₅ and CHC₆H₄Cl). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 52.81 (CHCl), 60.80 (CH₂C₆H₅), 61.88 (CH₂N), 77.84 (CHC₆H₄Cl), 127.27, 127.90, 128.13, 128.30 and 128.60 (CC₄H₄CCl and CC₅H₅), 133.73, 137.02 and 137.90 (CC₄H₄CCl and CC₅H₅). MS (70 eV): *m/z* (%): 120 (100), 91 (38). Anal. Calcd for C₁₆H₁₅Cl₂N (%): C, 65.77; H, 5.17; N, 4.79. Found (%): C, 65.89; H, 5.36; N, 4.61.

4.1.2.5. *trans*-**3**-**Chloro**-**1**-isopropyl-2-phenylazetidine 4e. Yield 83%, light yellow oil. ¹H NMR (270 MHz, C₆D₆): δ 0.60 and 0.77 (2×3H, 2×d, *J*=6.0 Hz, CH(CH₃)₂), 2.24 (1H, septet, *J*=6.0 Hz, CH(CH₃)₂), 2.74 (1H, d×d, *J*= 6.6 Hz, *J*=6.6 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.51 (1H, d×d×d, *J*=6.6 Hz, *J*=6.6 Hz, *J*=1.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.79 (1H, q, *J*=6.6 Hz, CHCl), 3.93 (1H, d, *J*=6.6 Hz, NCHC₆H₅), 7.06–7.20 and 7.42–7.45 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (68 MHz, C₆D₆): δ 20.09 and 20.84 (CH(CH₃)₂), 52.99 (CHCl), 59.64 and 59.93 (CH(CH₃)₂ and NCH₂), 78.83 (NCHC₆H₅), 126.95– 128.62 (NCHCC₅H₅), 141.96 (NCHCC₅H₅). MS (70 eV): *m/z* (%): 211/09 (M⁺, 27), 196/4 (M–Me⁺, 25), 132 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₆ClN (%): C, 68.73; H, 7.69; N, 6.68. Found (%): C, 68.89; H, 7.60; N, 6.82.

trans-3-Chloro-1-cyclohexyl-2-phenylazeti-4.1.2.6. dine 4f. Yield 79%, light yellow oil. ¹H NMR (270 MHz, C_6D_6): δ 0.75–1.57 (10H, m, (CH₂)₅), 2.00–2.04 (1H, m, NCH), 2.79 (1H, d×d, J=7.0 Hz, J=7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.59 (1H, d×d, J=7.0 Hz, J=7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.85 (1H, q, J=7.0 Hz, CHCl), 3.99 (1H, d, J=7.0 Hz, NCHC₆H₅), 7.07-7.20 and 7.45-7.48 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (68 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 24.29, 24.37, 25.77, 30.03 and 30.87 ((CH₂)₅), 52.90 (CHCl), 59.44 (NCH₂), 67.94 (NCH), 78.62 $(NCHC_6H_5),$ 126.66, 127.87 and 128.34 (NCHCC₅H₅), 141.15 (NCHCC₅H₅). MS (70 eV): *m*/*z* (%): 252/0 (M+H⁺, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₅H₂₀ClN (%): C, 72.13; H, 8.07; N, 5.61. Found (%): C, 72.28; H, 8.22; N. 5.80.

4.1.2.7. *trans*-**3**-**Chloro-1-isopropyl-2-(4-methylphenyl)**azetidine 4g. Yield 86%, light yellow oil. ¹H NMR (270 MHz, C₆D₆): δ 0.64 and 0.78 (2×3H, 2×d, *J*= 6.3 Hz, CH(CH₃)₂), 2.11 (3H, S, C_qCH₃), 2.26 (1H, septet, *J*=6.3 Hz, CH(CH₃)₂), 2.75 (1H, d×d, *J*=7.0 Hz, *J*= 7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.53 (1H, d×d, *J*=7.0 Hz, *J*=7.0 Hz, NCH(*H*)), 3.83 (1H, q, *J*=7.0 Hz, CHCl), 3.94 (1H, d, *J*= 7.0 Hz, NCHC₆H₄), 7.00 and 7.37 (2×2H, 2×d, *J*=7.9 Hz, C₆H₄). ¹³C NMR (68 MHz, CHCl₃): δ 20.09 and 20.79 (CH(CH₃)₂), 21.11 (C_qCH₃), 52.56 (CHCl), 59.68 (CH(CH₃)₂ and NCH₂), 78.58 (NCHC₆H₅), 126.61 and 129.04 (NCHCC₄H₄C), 137.32 and 138.47 (NCHCC₄H₄C). MS (70 eV): *m/z* (%): 225/3 (M⁺, 22), 210/08 (M–Me⁺, 22), 146 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₃H₁₈ClN (%): C, 69.79; H, 8.11; N, 6.26. Found (%): C, 69.62; H, 8.19; N, 6.11.

4.1.3. Synthesis of 3-substituted azetidines 9a-p. The transformation of trans-3-chloro-2-phenylazetidine 4a into trans-3-azido-2-phenylazetidine 9a is given as a representative example of substitution reactions of 3-chloroazetidines. trans-3-Chloro-2-phenylazetidine (1 g, 4.8 mmol) was dissolved in DMSO (40 ml). To this solution, sodium azide (1.25 g, 19.28 mmol, 4 equiv) was added carefully. This mixture was stirred overnight at 80 °C. After cooling, the reaction mixture was poured into water (40 ml) and the mixture was extracted with diethyl ether. The combined organic extracts were washed with water and brine. After drving over magnesium sulfate and evaporation of the solvent, crude trans-3-azido-2-phenylazetidine (1 g, 4.7 mmol, 98%) was obtained. Further purification was performed by flash chromatography on silica gel, yielding trans-3-azido-2-phenylazetidine (0.48 g, 2.3 mmol, 47%).

The same procedure was executed with potassium cyanide, sodium acetate and potassium thiocyanate. The reaction times and temperatures for the other derivatives are listed in Section 2.

Caution: All reactions with sodium azide were performed behind a safety shield. No (violent) decomposition of the organic azides was observed throughout.

4.1.3.1. *trans*-**1-AllyI-3-azido-2-phenylazetidine 9a.** Yield 47%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 7:1, R_f =0.18. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.78–2.82 (1H, m, C(*H*)HCHN₃), 3.00 (1H, d×d, *J*=13.2 Hz, *J*=6.9 Hz, C(*H*)HCH=CH₂), 3.30 (1H, d×d, *J*=13.2 Hz, *J*=5.5 Hz, C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.67–3.77 (2H, m, C(H)HCHN₃ and CHN₃), 3.92 (1H, d, *J*= 5.6 Hz, CHC₆H₅), 5.04–5.20 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.67–5.80 (1H, m, CH=CH₂), 7.22–7.43 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 56.54 (CH₂CHN₃), 58.34 (CHN₃), 60.75 (CH₂CH=CH₂), 74.97 (CHC₆H₅), 117.63 (CH=CH₂), 126.69, 127.95 and 128.55 (CC₅H₅), 133.93 (CH=CH₂), 139.99 (CC₅H₅). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): ν_{N3} =2101. MS (70 eV): *m/z* (%): 215 (M⁺+1, 23). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₄N₄ (%): C, 67.27; H, 6.59; N, 26.15. Found (%): C, 67.49; H, 6.71; N, 26.40.

4.1.3.2. trans-1-Allyl-3-azido-2-(4-chlorophenyl)azetidine 9b. Yield 62%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 3:1, $R_f = 0.33$. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.78–2.85 (1H, m, C(H)HCHN₃), 3.02 (1H, $d \times d$, J=13.2 Hz, J=6.7 Hz, $C(H)HCH=CH_2$, 3.26 (1H, d×d, J=13.2 Hz, J=5.8 Hz, $C(H)HCH=CH_2)$, 3.66–3.74 (2H, m, CHN₃) and C(H)HCCN₃), 3.88 (1H, d, J=5.5 Hz, CHC₆H₄Cl), 5.04-5.25 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.65-5.78 (1H, m, CH=CH₂), 7.31–7.39 (4H, m, C₆H₄Cl). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 56.52 (CH₂CHN₃), 58.45 (CHN₃), 60.71 (CH₂CH=CH₂), 74.36 (CHC_6H_4Cl), 117.82 ($CH=CH_2$), 128.08 and 128.76 (CC₄H₄CCl), 133.76 (CH=CH₂), 133.76 and 138.59 (CC_4H_4CCI) . IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{N3}=2103$. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 251/49 (M⁺+1, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₃ClN₄ (%): C, 57.95; H, 5.27; N, 22.53. Found (%): C, 57.66; H, 5.42; N, 22.69.

4.1.3.3. *trans*-3-Azido-1-benzyl-2-phenylazetidine 9c. Yield 45%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 5:1, R_f =0.53. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.80 (1H, t, *J*=6.9 Hz, C(*H*)HCHN₃), 3.42 (1H, d, *J*=12.8 Hz, C(*H*)HC₆H₅), 3.55–3.60 (1H, m, C(H)*H*CHN₃), 3.67–3.76 (1H, m, CHN₃), 3.88 (1H, d, *J*=12.8 Hz, C(H)*H*C₆H₅), 4.01 (1H, d, *J*=6.6 Hz, C*H*C₆H₅), 7.18–7.47 (10H, m, CH₂C₆H₅ and CHC₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 56.42 (CH₂CHN₃), 58.48 (CHN₃), 61.39 (CH₂C₆H₅), 74.63 (CHC₆H₅), 126.59, 127.15, 127.90, 128.25, 128.51 and 128.63 (2×CC₅H₅), 137.32 and 138.80 (2×CC₅H₅). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): ν_{N3} =2102. MS (70 eV): *m*/*z* (%): 265 (M⁺+1, 22), 120 (100) and 91(20). Anal. Calcd for C₁₆H₁₆N₄ (%): C, 72.70; H, 6.10; N, 21.20. Found (%): C, 72.96; H, 6.01; N, 21.02.

4.1.3.4. trans-3-Azido-1-benzvl-2-(4-chlorophenvl)azetidine 9d. Yield 63%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 3:2, $R_f = 0.76$. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.81–2.85 (1H, m, C(H)HCHN₃), 3.45 (1H, d, J=12.8 Hz, C(H)HC₆H₅), 3.58–3.63 (1H, m, C(H)HCHN₃), 3.66–3.73 (1H, m, CHN₃), 3.83 (1H, d, J=12.8 Hz, C(H) HC_6H_5), 3.98 (1H, d, J=6.6 Hz, CHC₆H₄Cl), 7.21-7.42 (9H, m, $CH_2C_6H_5$ and CHC_6H_4Cl). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, $CDCl_3$): δ 56.52 (CH₂CHN₃), 58.64 (CHN₃), 61.48 (CH₂C₆H₅), 74.14 (CHC₆H₄Cl), 127.34, 128.02, 128.36 and 128.73 (CC₄H₄CCl and CC₅H₅), 133.67, 137.09 and 138.36 $(CC_4H_4CC1 \text{ and } CC_5H_5)$. IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{N3}=2102$. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 120 (100), 91 (18). Anal. Calcd for C₁₆H₁₅ClN₄ (%): C, 64.32; H, 5.06; N, 18.75. Found (%): C, 64.13; H, 5.24; N, 18.60.

4.1.3.5. trans-3-Azido-1-isopropyl-2-phenylazetidine 9e. Yield 62%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 3:1, $R_f=0.3$. ¹H NMR (270 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 0.72 and 0.77 $(2 \times 3H, 2 \times d, J=6.3 \text{ Hz}, CH(CH_3)_2)$, 2.48 (1H, septet, J=6.3 Hz, CH(CH₃)₂), 2.76 (1H, t, J=7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.61 (1H, q, J=7.0 Hz, CHN₃), 3.68 (1H, q, J=7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.87 (1H, d, J=7.0 Hz, NCHC₆H₅), 7.22–7.40 and 7.43-7.47 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (68 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 20.04 and 20.75 (CH(CH₃)₂), 55.40 (NCH₂), 57.68 (CHN₃), 59.23 (CH(CH₃)₂), 74.77 (NCHC₆H₅), 126.74, 127.71 and 128.62 (NCHCC₅H₅), 141.79 (NCHCC₅H₅). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): ν_{N3} =2106. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 201 (M-Me⁺, 25), 173 (M-N₃-Me⁺, 48) 161 (100), 119 (69), 91 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₆N₄ (%): C, 66.64; H, 7.46; N, 25.90. Found (%): C, 66.91; H, 7.59; N, 25.78.

4.1.3.6. *trans*-**3**-Azido-1-cyclohexyl-2-phenylazetidine **9f.** Yield 70%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 3:1, R_f =0.3. ¹H NMR (270 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 0.68–1.77 (10H, m, (CH₂)₅), 2.11–2.21 (1H, m, NCH), 2.77 (1H, t, J=7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.61 (1H, q, J=7.0 Hz, CHN₃), 3.69 (1H, q, J=7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.90 (1H, d, J=7.0 Hz, NCHC₆H₅), 7.23–7.36 and 7.40–7.46 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (68 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 24.35, 24.40, 25.84, 30.08 and 30.94 ((CH₂)₅), 55.08 (NCH₂), 58.17 (CHN₃), 67.53 (NCH), 74.64 (NCHC₆H₅), 126.65, 127.65 and 128.39 (NCHCC₅H₅), 141.88 (NCHCC₅H₅). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): ν_{N3} =2101. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 257 (M+H⁺, 100).

4.1.3.7. *trans*-3-Aazido-1-isopropyl-2-(4-methylphenyl)azetidine 9g. Yield 76%, light yellow oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, C₆D₆): δ 0.72 and 0.98 (2×3H, 2×d, *J*=6.3 Hz, CH(CH₃)₂), 2.33 (3H, S, C_qCH₃), 2.45 (1H, septet, *J*=6.3 Hz, CH(CH₃)₂), 2.74 (1H, t, *J*=7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.69 (1H, q, J=7.0 Hz, J=7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.83 (1H, q, J=7.0 Hz, CHN₃), 3.84 (1H, d, J=7.0 Hz, NCHC₆H₄), 7.15 and 7.34 (2×2H, 2×d, J=8.3 Hz, C₆H₄). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CHCl₃): δ 20.07 and 20.79 (CH(CH₃)₂), 21.13 (C_qCH₃), 55.36 (NCH₂), 57.77 (CHN₃), 59.30 (CH(CH₃)₂), 74.68 (NCHC₆H₄), 126.70 and 129.14 (NCHCC₄H₄C), 137.36 and 138.87 (NCHCC₄H₄C). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): ν_{N3} =2105. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): No M⁺, 175 (100), 133 (65), 105 (83). Anal. Calcd for C₁₃H₁₈N₄ (%): C, 67.80; H, 7.88; N, 24.33. Found (%): C, 67.98; H, 7.70; N, 24.47.

4.1.3.8. trans-1-Allyl-3-cyano-2-phenylazetidine 9h. Yield 54%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 5:1, $R_f =$ 0.36. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.95–3.09 (3H, m, $C(H)HCH=CH_2$, $CHC\equiv N$ and $C(H)HCHC\equiv N$), 3.27 (1H, $d \times d \times t$, J=13.4 Hz, J=5.5 Hz, J=1.4 Hz, $C(H)HCH=CH_2)$, 3.65–3.70 (1H, m, C(H)HCHC=N), 4.21 (1H, d, J=8.0 Hz, CHC₆H₅), 5.04-5.25 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.62-5.77 (1H, m, CH=CH₂), 7.22-7.48 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 27.51 (CHC≡N), 53.50 (CH₂CHC≡N), 60.17 (CH₂CH=CH₂), 71.93 (CHC_6H_5), 118.05 ($CH=CH_2$), 118.97 ($C\equiv N$), 126.57, 128.56 and 128.68 (CC₅H₅), 133.15 (CH=CH₂), 139.25 (CC₅H₅). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C=N}=2241$. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 176 (25). Anal. Calcd for C₁₃H₁₄N₂ (%): C, 78.75; H, 7.12; N, 14.13. Found (%): C, 78.61; H, 7.01; N, 14.29.

4.1.3.9. trans-1-Allyl-2-(4-chlorophenyl)-3-cyanoazetidine 9i. Yield 62%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 3:1, $R_f = 0.3$. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.93–3.06 (2H, m, CHC \equiv N and C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.10 (1H, d×d, J=9.2 Hz, J=6.5 Hz, C(H)HCHC \equiv N), 3.24 (1H, d×d×t, J=13.5 Hz, J=5.6 Hz, J=1.5 Hz, C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.67-3.72 (1H, m, C(H)HCHC=N), 4.19 (1H, d, J=8.3 Hz, CHC₆H₄Cl), 5.02–5.22 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.61–5.77 (1H, m, CH=CH₂), 7.27–7.47 (4H, m, C₆H₄Cl). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 27.62 (CHC \equiv N), 53.45 $(CH_2CHC\equiv N)$, 60.19 $(CH_2CH=CH_2)$, 71.23 (CHC_6H_4CI) , 118.33 (CH=CH₂), 118.77 (C=N), 128.01 and 128.89 (CC₄H₄CCl), 133.15 (CH=CH₂), 134.65 and 137.78 (CC₄H₄CCl). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C \equiv N}$ =2242. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 235/3 (M⁺+1, 66). Anal. Calcd for C₁₃H₁₃ClN₂ (%): C, 67.10; H, 5.63; N, 15.23. Found (%): C, 67.30; H, 5.54; N, 15.39.

4.1.3.10. trans-1-Benzyl-2-(4-chlorophenyl)-3-cyanoazetidine 9j. Yield 65%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 3:1, $R_f = 0.43$. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.92–3.01 (1H, m, CHC \equiv N), 3.12 (1H, d×d, J=9.2 Hz, J=6.4 Hz, $C(H)HCHC \equiv N$, 3.49 (1H, d, J=12.9 Hz, $C(H)HC_6H_5$), 3.56-3.61 (1H, m, C(H)HCHC \equiv N), 3.81 (1H, d, J=12.9 Hz, C(H)HC₆H₅), 4.28 (1H, d, J=8.3 Hz, CHC₆H₄Cl), 7.22-7.42 (9H, m, CH₂C₆H₅ and CHC₆H₄Cl). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 27.83 (CHC≡N), 53.55 (CH₂CHC≡ N), 61.10 (CH₂C₆H₅), 71.18 (CHC₆H₄Cl), 118.72 (C≡N), 127.57, 127.98, 128.47, 128.68 and 128.92 (CC4H4CC1 and CC₅H₅), 134.44, 136.27 and 137.54 (CC₄H₄CCl and CC_5H_5). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C=N}=2242$. MS (70 eV): m/z(%): 120 (100), 91 (40). Anal. Calcd for C₁₇H₁₅ClN₂ (%): C, 72.21; H, 5.35; N, 9.91. Found (%): C, 72.36; H, 5.48; N, 9.73.

trans-3-Acetoxy-1-allyl-2-phenylazetidine 4.1.3.11. **9k.** Yield 52%, light yellow oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.05 (3H, s, CH₃C=O), 2.75–2.80 (1H, m, C(H)HCHO), 3.05 (1H, $d \times d$, J=13.4 Hz, J=6.9 Hz, $C(H)HCH=CH_2$, 3.33 (1H, d×d×t, J=13.4 Hz, J= 5.6 Hz, J=1.4 Hz, C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.85 (1H, d×d×d, J=7.3 Hz, J=6.5 Hz, J=1.1 Hz, C(H)HCHO), 3.99 (1H, d, J=6.3 Hz, CHC₆H₅), 4.83–4.90 (1H, m, CHOC=O), 5.03-5.29 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.68-5.80 (1H, m, CH= CH₂), 7.25–7.47 (5H, m, \tilde{C}_6H_5). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 20.73 (CH₃), 57.91 (CH₂CHO), 61.03 (CH₂CH= CH₂), 70.68 (CHOC=O), 74.62 (CHC₆H₅), 117.52 (CH=CH₂), 127.11, 127.84 and 128.34 (CC₅H₅), 134.04 (CH=CH₂), 139.86 (CC₅H₅), 170.00 (C=O). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C=0}=1745$. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 232 (M⁺+1, 89), 190 (83) and 172 (84). Anal. Calcd for C₁₄H₁₇NO₂ (%): C, 72.70; H, 7.41; N, 6.06. Found (%): C, 72.91; H, 7.26; N, 5.94.

4.1.3.12. trans-3-Acetoxy-1-allyl-2-(4-chlorophenyl)azetidine 91. Yield 73%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 5:2, $R_f = 0.48$. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.04 (3H, s, CH₃C=O), 2.80–2.84 (1H, m, C(H)HCHO), 3.09 (1H, $d \times d$, J=13.2 Hz, J=6.9 Hz, C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.29 (1H, d×d, J=13.2 Hz, J=6.1 Hz, C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.83-3.88 (1H, m, C(H)HCHO), 3.97 (1H, d, J=6.3 Hz, CHC₆H₄Cl), 4.83-4.90 (1H, m, CHOC=O), 5.14-5.20 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.65-5.78 (1H, m, CH=CH₂), 7.26-7.42 (4H, m, C_6H_4Cl). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 20.73 (CH₃), 57.61 (CH₂CHO), 60.94 (CH₂CH=CH₂), 70.52 (CHOC= O), 74.14 (CHC₆H₄Cl), 117.90 (CH=CH₂), 128.51 and 128.59 (CC₄H₄CCl), 133.61 (CH=CH₂), 133.72 and 138.27 (CC_4H_4CCl), 169.98 (C=O). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C=0}=1746$. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 268/6 (M⁺+1, 100). Anal. Calcd for C14H16CINO2 (%): C, 63.28; H, 6.07; N, 5.27. Found (%): C, 63.40; H, 6.10; N, 5.16.

4.1.3.13. trans-3-Acetoxy-1-benzyl-2-phenylazetidine 9m. Yield 52%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 5:2, $R_f = 0.59$. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.03 (3H, s, CH₃C=O), 2.77–2.82 (1H, m, C(H)HCHO), 3.49 (1H, d, J=13.1 Hz, C(H)HC₆H₅), 3.73–3.78 (1H, m, C(H)HCHO), 3.91 (1H, d, J=13.1 Hz, C(H)HC₆H₅), 4.08 (1H, d, J=5.0 Hz, CHC_6H_5), 4.87-4.91 (1H, m, CHOC=O), 7.19–7.48 (10H, m, $CH_2C_6H_5$ and CHC_6H_5). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 20.78 (CH₃), 57.90 (CH₂CHO), 61.62 (CH₂C₆H₅), 70.97 (CHOC=O), 74.34 (CHC₆H₅), 127.09, 127.87, 128.25, 128.34, 128.50 and 128.74 $(2 \times CC_5H_5)$, 137.46 and 139.69 (2×CC₅H₅), 169.99 (C=O). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C=0}=1744$. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 282 (M⁺+1, 12), 120 (100) and 91(20). Anal. Calcd for $C_{18}H_{19}NO_2$ (%): C, 76.84; H, 6.81; N, 4.98. Found (%): C, 76.99; H, 6.70; N, 4.88.

4.1.3.14. *trans*-**3**-Acetoxy-**1**-benzyl-**2**-(**4**-chlorophenyl)azetidine 9n. Yield 15%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 10:3, R_f =0.43. Yellow oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.04 (3H, s, CH₃C=O), 2.29–2.84 (1H, m, C(*H*)HCHO), 3.50 (1H, d, *J*=12.9 Hz, C(*H*)HC₆H₅), 3.74 (1H, t, *J*=6.3 Hz, C(H)*H*CHO), 3.86 (1H, d, *J*=12.9 Hz, C(*H*)HC₆H₅), 4.02 (1H, d, *J*=6.1 Hz, CHC₆H₄Cl), 4.79– 4.85 (1H, m, CHOC=O), 7.22–7.42 (9H, m, CH₂C₆H₅ and CHC₆H₄Cl). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 20.75 (CH₃), 57.74 (*C*H₂CHO), 61.67 (*C*H₂C₆H₅), 70.95 (CHOC=O), 71.49 (*C*HC₆H₄Cl), 127.21, 127.99, 128.28, 128.44 and 128.71 (*CC*₄H₄CCl and *CC*₅H₅), 137.29, 138.34 and 169.96 (*CC*₄H₄CCl and *CC*₅H₅), 184.16 (C=O). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C=O}$ =1745. MS (70 eV): *m/z* (%): 318/6 (M⁺+1, 14), 120 (100).

4.1.3.15. trans-1-Allyl-2-phenyl-3-thiocyanoazetidine **90.** Yield 31%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 2:1, $R_f =$ 0.48. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 3.08 (1H, d×d, J=13.3 Hz, J=6.6 Hz, C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.11-3.16 (1H, m, C(H)HCHSC \equiv N), 3.32 (1H, d×d, J=13.3 Hz, J=5.5 Hz, C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.37-3.44 (1H, m, CHSC=N), 3.85-3.90 (1H, m, C(H)HCHSC≡N), 4.18 (1H, d, J=7.7 Hz, CHC₆H₅), 5.06–5.38 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.65–5.80 (1H, m, CH=CH₂), 7.25–7.48 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, ref=CDCl₃): δ 42.88 (CHSC=N), 57.80 (CH₂CHSC≡N), 60.58 (CH₂CH=CH₂), 75.94 (CHC₆H₅), 110.57 (CH=CH₂), 118.18 (SC=N), 126.84, 128.60 and 128.80 (CC₅H₅), 133.65 (CH=CH₂), 139.24 (CC₅H₅). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C \equiv N} = 2156$. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 231 (M⁺+1, 100). Anal. Calcd for $C_{13}H_{14}N_2S$ (%): C, 67.79; H, 6.13; N, 12.16. Found (%): C, 67.96; H, 6.30; N, 12.05.

4.1.3.16. trans-1-Allyl-2-(4-chlorophenyl)-3-thiocyanoazetidine 9p. Yield 43%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 10:3, $R_f=0.45$. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 3.12 (1H, $d \times d$, J=13.2 Hz, J=6.6 Hz, C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.11-3.17 (1H, m, C(*H*)HCHSC≡N), 3.28 (1H, d×d×t, *J*=13.2 Hz, J=5.8 Hz, J=1.4 Hz, C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.32-3.40 (1H, m, CHSC=N), 3.85-3.90 (1H, m, C(H)HCHSC=N), 4.16 (1H, d, J=7.4 Hz, CHC₆H₄Cl), 5.05–5.24 (2H, m, CH= CH₂), 5.63–5.77 (1H, m, CH=CH₂), 7.26–7.43 (4H, m, C_6H_4Cl). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 42.87 (CHSC \equiv N), 57.60 (CH₂CHSC=N), 60.41 (CH₂CH=CH₂), 75.20 (CHC₆H₄Cl), 118.22 (CH=CH₂), 128.10 and 128.89 (CC₄H₄CCl), 133.38 (CH=CH₂), 110.21 and 134.27 (CC_4H_4CCI) , 137.74 (SC \equiv N). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{C \equiv N} = 2157$. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 267/5 (M⁺+1, 100). Anal. Calcd for C13H13ClN2S (%): C, 58.97; H, 4.95; N, 10.58. Found (%): C, 59.19; H, 4.74; N, 10.50.

4.1.4. Synthesis of 3-methoxyazetidines 9q–r. The reaction of *trans*-1-allyl-3-chloro-2-phenylazetidine **4a** to afford *trans*-1-allyl-3-methoxy-2-phenylazetidine **9q** is given as a representative example for the substitution reactions of the 3-chloroazetidines with sodium methoxide. Sodium methoxide (4 N) (5 ml, 20 mmol, 4 equiv) in methanol was added to *trans*-3-chloro-2-phenylazetidine (1 g, 4.8 mmol) and the resulting mixture was refluxed overnight (22 h). After cooling, water (10 ml) was added and the mixture was extracted with diethyl ether and dried over magnesium sulfate. After evaporation of the solvent in vacuo, *trans*-3-methoxy-2-phenylazetidine (0.69 g, 3.4 mmol, 71%) was obtained. After flash chromatography (Hexane/EtOAc 3:2) on silica gel, pure *trans*-3-methoxy-2-phenylazetidine (0.48 g, 2.35 mmol, 49%) was isolated.

4.1.4.1. *trans*-1-Allyl-3-methoxy-2-phenylazetidine 9q. Yield 49%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 3:2, R_f =0.48. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.73 (1H, t, *J*=6.3 Hz, C(*H*)HCHO), 3.01 (1H, d×d, *J*=13.3 Hz, *J*=7.0 Hz, C(*H*)HCH=CH₂), 3.23 (3H, s, OCH₃), 3.24–3.32 (1H, m, C(H)*H*CH=CH₂), 3.70 (1H, t, *J*=6.3 Hz, C(H)*H*CHO), 3.79–3.83 (1H, m, CHO), 3.86 (1H, d, *J*=5.5 Hz, C*H*C₆H₅), 5.00–5.20 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.67–5.80 (1H, m, C*H*=CH₂), 7.22–7.48 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 55.35 (OCH₃), 56.62 (*C*H₂CCHO), 59.95 (*C*H₂CH=CH₂), 75.35 (*C*HC₆H₅), 77.00 (*C*HO), 116.06 (CH=*C*H₂), 125.84, 126.30 and 127.17 (CC₅H₅), 133.28 (*C*H=CH₂), 140.12 (*C*C₅H₅). MS (70 eV): *m*/*z* (%): 204 (M⁺+1, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₃H₁₇NO (%): C, 76.81; H, 8.43; N, 6.89. Found (%): C, 76.96; H, 8.56; N, 6.80.

4.1.4.2. *trans*-1-Benzyl-2-(4-chlorophenyl)-3-methoxyazetidine 9r. Yield 45%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 5:2, R_f =0.33. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.73–2.77 (1H, m, C(*H*)HCHO), 3.21 (3H, s, OCH₃), 3.46 (1H, d, *J*=12.8 Hz, C(*H*)HC₆H₅), 3.59–3.60 (1H, m, C(H)*H*CHO), 3.70–3.76 (1H, m, CHO), 3.82 (1H, d, *J*=12.8 Hz, C(H)*H*C₆H₅), 3.92 (1H, d, *J*=5.8 Hz, C*H*C₆H₄Cl), 7.18– 7.41 (9H, m, C₆H₅ and C₆H₄Cl). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, ref=CDCl₃): δ 56.73 (OCH₃), 57.97 (CH₂CHO), 61.92 (CH₂C₆H₅), 75.69 (CHC₆H₄Cl), 78.67 (CHO), 127.24, 128.37, 128.46, 128.63 and 128.87 (CC₄H₄CCl and CC₅H₅), 133.22, 137.88 and 139.87 (CC₄H₄CCl and CC₅H₅). MS (70 eV): *m*/*z* (%): 290/88 (M⁺+1, 20), 120 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₇H₁₈CINO (%): C, 70.95; H, 6.30; N, 4.87. Found (%): C, 70.79; H, 6.45; N, 4.99.

4.1.5. Synthesis of *trans*-3-amino-2-arylazetidines 18a–c. The synthesis of *trans*-3-amino-1-isopropyl-2-phenylazetidine **18a** is described as a representative example.

To *trans*-3-azido-1-isopropyl-2-phenylazetidine (1 g, 4.6 mmol) in diethyl ether (10 ml) at 0 °C was added lithium aluminium hydride (0.35 g, 9.2 mmol, 2 equiv). This reaction mixture was refluxed for 2 h and after cooling, water was added until all remaining lithium aluminium hydride had decomposed. The resulting suspension was poured into water and the aqueous layer was extracted three times with dichloromethane. The combined organic layers were dried (magnesium sulfate) and, after filtration and evaporation of the solvent in vacuo, *trans*-3-amino-1-isopropyl-2-phenylazetidine (0.62 g 3.22 mmol, 70%) was obtained. Purification was performed by an acid–base extraction.

4.1.5.1. *trans*-**3**-**Amino**-**1**-isopropyl-**2**-phenylazetidine **18a.** Yield 70%, yellow oil. ¹H NMR (270 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 0.71 and 0.98 (2×3H, 2×d, *J*=6.3 Hz, CH(CH₃)₂), 1.66 (2H, br s, NH₂), 2.32 (1H, septet, *J*=6.3 Hz, CH(CH₃)₂), 2.48 (1H, t, *J*=7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.18 (1H, q, *J*=7.0 Hz CHNH₂), 3.43 (1H, d, *J*=7.0 Hz, NCHC₆H₅), 3.76 (1H, q, *J*=7.0 Hz, NCH(*H*)), 7.21–7.48 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (68 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 20.31 and 21.02 (CH(CH₃)₂), 52.96 (CHNH₂), 59.62 (CH(CH₃)₂), 60.07 (NCH₂), 80.88 (NCHC₆H₅), 126.57, 127.08 and 128.19 (NCHCC₅H₅), 142.98 (NCHCC₅H₅). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): ν_{NH_2} =3379, 3306. MS (70 eV): *m/z* (%): 147 (M–*i*Pr⁺, 48), 106 (56). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₈N₂ (%): C, 75.74; H, 9.53; N, 14.72. Found (%): C, 75.99; H, 9.27; N, 14.94.

4.1.5.2. *trans*-**3**-**Amino**-**1**-**cyclohexyl**-**2**-**phenylazetidine 18b.** Yield 82%, yellow oil. ¹H NMR (270 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 0.95–1.97 (10H, m, (CH₂)₅), 2.00–2.12 (1H, m, NCH), 2.48 (1H, t, J=7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.18 (1H, q, J=7.0 Hz, CHNH₂), 3.45 (1H, d, J=7.0 Hz, NCHC₆H₅), 3.76 (1H, q, J=7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 7.21–7.45 (5H, m, C₆H₅). ¹³C NMR (68 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 24.49, 24.56, 25.93, 30.33 and 31.25 ((CH₂)₅), 53.58 (CHNH₂), 59.75 (NCH₂), 68.10 (NCH), 80.90 (NCHC₆H₅), 126.54, 127.10 and 128.21 (NCHCC₅H₅), 143.11 (NCHCC₅H₅). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{NH_2}=3379$, 3307. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 231 (M+H⁺, 72), 112 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₅H₂₂N₂ (%): C, 78.21; H, 9.63; N, 12.16. Found (%): C, 78.47; H, 9.41; N, 12.32.

4.1.5.3. trans-3-Amino-1-isopropyl-2-(4-methylphenyl)azetidine 18c. Yield 92%, yellow oil. ¹H NMR (270 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 0.71 and 0.97 (2×3H, 2×d, J=6.3 Hz, $CH(CH_3)_2$), 2.32 (3H, S, C_0CH_3), 2.41 (1H, septet, J=6.3 Hz, $CH(CH_3)_2$), 2.41 (1H, t, J=7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 3.14 (1H, q, J=7.0 Hz, CHNH₂), 3.37 (1H, d, J=7.0 Hz, NCHC₆H₄), 3.73 (1H, t, J=7.0 Hz, J=7.0 Hz, NCH(H)), 7.12 and 7.32 (2×2H, 2×d, J=7.9 Hz, C₆H₄). ¹³C NMR (68 MHz, CHCl₃): δ 20.34 and 21.08 (CH(CH₃)₂) and (C_aCH₃), 53.06 (CHNH₂), 59.68 (CH(CH₃)₂), 60.02 (NCH₂), $80.86 (NCHC_6H_4),$ 126.56 and 128.91 (NCHCC₄H₄C), 136.62 and 140.11 (NCHCC₄H₄C). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{\rm NH_2}$ =3376. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): No M⁺, 175 (M-NH₂-M e^{+} 100), 133 (66), 106 (93), 84 (66). Anal. Calcd for C13H20N2 (%): C, 76.42; H, 9.87; N, 13.71. Found (%): C, 76.66; H, 9.71; N, 13.79.

4.1.6. Synthesis of *trans*-2-arylazetidin-3-ols 19a–b. The hydrolysis of 3-acetoxy-1-allyl-2-phenylazetidine 9k to 1-allyl-2-phenylazetidin-3-ol 19a is described as a representative example. 3-Acetoxy-1-allyl-2-phenylazetidine 9k (0.2 g, 0.87 mmol) was dissolved in methanol (30 ml). To this solution, sodium bicarbonate (1.89 g, 0.87 mmol, 1 equiv) was added. The resulting mixture was refluxed for 1 h. At the end of the reaction, water was added to the mixture, after which extraction was performed with diethyl ether. After drying on magnesium sulfate, filtration and evaporation of the solvent, crude 1-allyl-2-phenylazetidin-3-ol 19a (0.28 g, 0.78 mmol, 89%, purity 95%) was obtained. Flash chromatography yielded pure 1-allyl-2-phenylazetidin-3-ol (0.15 g, 0.41 mmol, 47%).

4.1.6.1. trans-1-Allyl-2-phenylazetidin-3-ol 19a. Yield 47%, light yellow oil. Hexane/EtOAc 3:2, $R_f=0.15$. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.63–2.68 (1H, m, C(H)HCHOH), 2.95 (1H, d×d, J=13.1 Hz, J=6.9 Hz, C(*H*)HCH=CH₂), 3.23 (1H, d×d, J=13.1 Hz, J=5.9 Hz, C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.56–3.60 (1H, m, C(H)HCHOH), 3.73 (1H, d, J=6.6 Hz, CHC₆H₅), 4.01–4.07 (1H, m, CHOH), 4.98-5.13 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.59-5.72 (1H, m, CH=CH₂), 7.21–7.32 (5H, m, C_6H_5). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 60.06 (CH₂CHOH), 61.23 (CH₂CH=CH₂), 69.84 (CHOH), 78.69 (CHC₆H₅), 117.67 (CH=CH₂), 126.91, 127.60 and 128.36 (CC₅H₅), 133.99 (CH=CH₂), 140.33 (CC_5H_5). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): ν_{OH} =3367, MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 190 (M⁺+1, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₅NO (%): C, 76.16; H, 7.99; N, 7.40. Found (%): C, 76.25; H, 7.50; N, 8.54.

4.1.6.2. *trans*-**1**-**Ally1**-**2**-(**4**-**chloropheny1**)**azetidin**-**3**-**o1 19b.** Yield 79%, light yellow oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.68–2.73 (1H, m, C(H)HCHOH), 3.01 (1H, d×d, J=13.2 Hz, J=6.9 Hz, C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.23 (1H, d×d, J=13.2 Hz, J=5.8 Hz, C(H)HCH=CH₂), 3.66-3.70 (1H, m, C(H)*H*CHOH), 3.73 (1H, d, *J*=6.1 Hz, C*H*C₆H₄Cl), 4.03–4.09 (1H, m, CHOH), 5.00–5.21 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.62-5.75 (1H, m, CH=CH₂), 7.26-7.33 (4H, m, C_6H_4Cl). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 60.11 (CH₂CHOH), 60.12 (CH₂CH=CH₂), 70.10 (CHOH), 77.96 (CHC₆H₄Cl), 117.84 (CH=CH₂), 128.24 and $(CC_4H_4CCI),$ 128.51 133.29 $(CC_4H_4CCI),$ 133.81 (*C*H=CH₂), 138.89 (CC₄H₄*C*Cl). IR (NaCl, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{\rm OH}$ =3343. MS (70 eV): m/z (%): 226/4 (M⁺+1, 100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₂H₁₄ClNO (%): C, 64.43; H, 6.31; N, 6.26. Found (%): C, 64.65; H, 6.43; N, 6.12.

Acknowledgements

The authors are indebted to the Institute for the Promotion of Innovation through Science and Technology in Flanders (IWT-Vlaanderen), the Fund for Scientific Research-Flanders (Belgium) (FWO-Vlaanderen) and Ghent University (GOA) for financial support.

References and notes

- 1. Cromwell, N. H.; Phillips, B. Chem. Rev. 1979, 79, 331.
- Moore, J. A.; Ayers, R. S. Chemistry of Heterocyclic compounds-Small Ring Heterocycles; Hassner, A., Ed.; Wiley: New York, NY, 1983; Part 2, pp 1–217.
- Davies, D. E.; Starr, R. C. Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry; Lwowski, W., Ed.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1984; Vol. 7, Part 5, pp 237–284.
- 4. De Kimpe, N. Three- and Four-Membered Rings, With All Fused Systems Containing Three- and Four-Membered Rings. In *Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II*; Padwa, A., Ed.; Elsevier: Oxford, 1996; Vol. 1, Chapter 1.21.
- 5. Okutani, T.; Kaneko, T.; Madusa, K. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1974, 22, 1490.
- Frehel, D.; Heymes, A.; Maffrand, J.-P.; Eloy, F.; Aubert, D.; Rolland, F. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **1977**, *12*, 447.
- Verbrugge, P. A.; De Waal, J. U.S. 4,812,581, 14/03/1989; Chem. Abstr. 1989, 111, 57526.
- Parker, J. C.; Hulin, B. U.S. Patent Appl. Publ. US 2,005,043,292 A1 24/02/2005; *Chem. Abstr.* 2005, 142, 261783.
- Li, W.; Oliver, E., Jr.; Rojas, C.; Kalish, V.; Belyakov, S. PTC int. Appl. WO 2004,071,454 A2 26/08/2004; *Chem. Abstr.* 2004, 141, 225299.
- Duffy, J. L.; Mathvink, R. J.; Weber, A. E.; Xu, J., PTC Int. Appl. WO 2,003,101,958 A2 11/12/2003; *Chem. Abstr.* 2003, 140, 16965.
- Colandrea, V. J.; Edmondson, R. D.; Mathvink, R. J.; Mastracchio, A.; Weber, A. E.; Xu, J. PTC int. Appl. WO 2,004,043,940 A1 27/05/2004; *Chem. Abstr.* 2004, 141, 7438.
- 12. Hulin, B.; Parker, J. C. PTC int. Appl. WO 2,003,101,958 A2 11/12/2003; *Chem. Abstr.* **2003**, *140*, 16965.
- 13. Weber, A. J. Med. Chem. 2004, 47, 4135.
- 14. Robin, S.; Rousseau, G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 3007.
- 15. Deyrup, J. A.; Moyer, C. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1968, 6179.
- 16. Anderson, A. G.; Lok, R. J. Org. Chem. 1972, 37, 3953.

- Okada, T.; Ezumi, K.; Yamakawa, M.; Sato, H.; Tsuji, T.; Tsushima, T.; Motokawa, K.; Komatsu, Y. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1993**, *41*, 126.
- 18. Billotte, S. Synlett 1998, 379.
- Allerton, C. M. N.; Barber, C. G.; Devries, K. M.; Harris, L. J.; Levett, P. C.; Negri, J. T.; Rawson, D. J.; Wood, A. S., Eur. Pat. Appl. EP 1,176,147, 30/01/2002; *Chem. Abstr.* 2002, *136*, 134780.
- Archibald, T. G.; Gilardi, R.; Baum, K.; Clifford, G. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 2920.
- 21. Okutani, T.; Masuda, K. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1974, 22, 1498.
- 22. Gaertner, V. R. J. Org. Chem. 1970, 35, 3952.
- D'hooghe, M.; Van Brabandt, W.; De Kimpe, N. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 2703.
- 24. Hayashi, K.; Ikee, Y.; Goto, S.; Shiro, M.; Nagao, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 2004, 52, 89.
- 25. Funke, W. Chem. Ber. 1969, 102, 3148.
- 26. Marchand, A. P.; Alihodžić, S. Heterocycles 1999, 50, 131.
- Hortmann, A. G.; Robertson, D. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 2758.
- Hayashi, K.; Hiki, S.; Kumagai, T.; Nagao, Y. *Heterocycles* 2002, 56, 433.
- Alvernhe, G.; Laurent, A.; Touhami, K.; Bartnik, R.; Mlostoń, G. J. Fluorine Chem. 1985, 29, 363.
- 30. Leśniak, S. Pol. J. Chem. 1995, 69, 1484.
- 31. Gaertner, V. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1968, 5919.
- 32. Dejaegher, Y.; Mangelinckx, S.; De Kimpe, N. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 2075.
- 33. Dave, P. R. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 5453.
- 34. Barrow, K. D.; Spotswood, T. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1965, 3325.

- 35. Ojima, I.; Zhao, M.; Yamato, T.; Nakahashi, K.; Yamashita, M.; Abe, R. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 5263.
- 36. Georg, G. I.; Ravikumar, V. T. Stereocontrolled Ketene-Imine Cycloaddition Reactions. In *The Organic Chemistry of* β-lactams; Georg, G. I., Ed.; VCH: New York, NY, 1993; Chapter 6, pp 296–368 and references cited herein.
- Higgins, R. H.; Cromwell, N. H.; Paudler, W. W. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1971, 8, 961.
- Higgins, R. H.; Cromwell, N. H. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1971, 8, 1059.
- Higgins, R. H.; Doomes, E.; Cromwell, N. H. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1971, 8, 1063.
- Higgins, R. H.; Behlen, F. M.; Eggli, D. F.; Kreymborg, J. H.; Cromwell, N. H. J. Org. Chem. 1972, 37, 524.
- 41. Higgins, R. H.; Cromwell, N. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 120.
- 42. Okutani, T.; Masuda, K. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1974, 22, 1498.
- 43. Higgins, R. H.; Kidd, B. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 1998, 11, 763.
- 44. Bartnik, R.; Marchand, A. P. Synlett 1997, 1029.
- 45. Guy, R. G. The Chemistry of Cyanates and Their Thio Derivatives, Part 2; Wiley: New York, NY, 1997.
- 46. Bacque, E.; Paris, J.-M.; Bitoux, S. L. Synth. Commun. 1995, 25, 803.
- Frigola, J.; Pares, J.; Corbera, J.; Vano, D.; Marce, R.; Torrens, A.; Mas, J.; Valenti, E. J. Med. Chem. 1993, 36, 801.
- 48. Jones, R. N. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 1992, 11, 188.
- Jesus, G.; Marta, R.; Domingo, G.-V.; Angels, X. M.; Garcia, J.; Encarna, T.; Montserrat, E.; Rammon, C.; Marta, P.; Roberto, R. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*, **1993**, *37*, 868.
- G.-Viola, D.; Esteve, M.; Llovera, S.; Roca, X.; Guinea, J. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 1991, 35, 442.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6893-6898

Tetrahedron

Reactions of 4-(dimethylamino)pyridinium activated pentachloropyridine with nitrogen nucleophiles and hydride

Andreas Schmidt,* Jan Christoph Namyslo and Thorsten Mordhorst

Institute of Organic Chemistry, Clausthal University of Technology, Leibnizstrasse 6, D-38678 Clausthal-Zellerfeld, Germany

Received 20 March 2006; revised 21 April 2006; accepted 27 April 2006 Available online 19 May 2006

Abstract—Substitution reactions on 2',3',5',6'-tetrachloro-4-dimethylamino-[1,4]bipyridinyl-1-ylium chloride with nitrogen nucleophiles such as *n*-propylamine, isopropylamine, glycine, morpholine, and piperidine were examined. Highly functionalized $Cl^2, Cl^3, N^4, Cl^5, Cl^6$ -and $N^2, Cl^3, N^4, Cl^5, Cl^6$ -substituted pyridines were obtained, in part possessing unsubstituted 4-amino groups due to dealkylation. Detailed NMR studies were performed in order to elucidate the regiochemistry of these dealkylations.

1. Introduction

Substituted pyridines play a crucial role in organic, bioorganic, and pharmaceutical chemistry as well as in material sciences. This is reflected in an impressive number of monographs and review articles dealing with syntheses and properties of functionalized pyridines.¹ Numerous synthetic procedures have been developed during the last decades, among these ring closure reactions from acyclic precursors,² Dimroth rearrangements,³ ring contractions of 1,2-diazocines,⁴ multicomponent cascade heterocyclizations,⁵ Vilsmeier and the reverse Vilsmeier methods,⁶ electrochemical methods,⁷ pyrimidine–pyridine ring interconversions,⁸ metal-mediated [2+2+2]-cycloadditions,⁹ and other metal-organic syntheses.¹⁰ Although nucleophilic substitutions on penta-fluoropyridine¹¹ and approaches from ynamines and ynamides¹² have been studied recently and proved to be promising avenues for the synthesis of highly substituted pyridines, an astonishing large number of simply functionalized pyridines have been unavailable to date. We recently described mono- and oligocationic hetarenium salts with up to ten positive charges within the same molecule,¹³ and their broad applicability in heterocyclic synthesis. Thus, 2',3',5',6'-tetrachloro-4-dimethylamino-[1,4]bipyridinyl-1ylium chloride 1, readily available in quantitative yields from pentachloropyridine, can be used to prepare Cl²,Cl³, O^4 ,Cl⁵,Cl⁶- and O^2 ,Cl³, O^4 ,Cl⁵,Cl⁶-pentasubstituted pyridines¹⁴ as well as their sulfur analogs.¹⁵ Similarly, hitherto unavailable O^2 ,Cl³, O^4 ,Cl⁵, O^{6-14} and biologically interesting S^2 , Cl^3 , S^4 , Cl^5 , S^6 -pentasubstituted pyridines, ¹⁵ as well as a broad variety of symmetric and non-symmetric O^2 , Cl^3 , S^4 , Cl^5, O^6 -pentasubstituted pyridines are available starting from

1.¹⁶ The procedure can be extended to the synthesis of first representatives of N^2 , Cl³, S⁴, Cl⁵, N⁶-pentasubstituted pyridines¹⁶ (Scheme 1). The preparation of amino-substituted pyridines, however, remained challenging. 2-Amino-substituted pyridines are available by the Chichibabin reaction,¹⁷ or by nucleophilic substitutions of suitable leaving groups at 2- or 4-position such as halogen atoms.¹⁸ More than one- or twofold substitutions afford vigorous reaction conditions due to the decreased reactivity of chloropyridines substituted with electron-donating groups. Halogen atoms at C-3 are inert toward these substitution reactions¹⁹ unless metalorganic procedures¹⁰ or hetaryne mechanisms are applied.²⁰ As a consequence, pentasubstituted pyridines with more than one amino-substituent are very rare. According to the



Scheme 1. Synthetic potential of DMAP-activated pentachloropyridine 1.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 5323 723861; fax: +49 5323 722858; e-mail: schmidt@ioc.tu-clausthal.de

Beilstein cross-fire database, less than 10 representatives of N^2 , Cl³, N^4 , Cl⁵, Cl⁶-pentasubstituted pyridines have been described to date in six publications^{21–26} and one patent.²⁷ We report here our results of studies directed toward the applicability of our synthetic strategy for the preparation of functionalized pyridines starting from hetarenium salts to some nitrogen nucleophiles.

2. Results and discussion

We studied substitution reactions on 2', 3', 5', 6'-tetrachloro-4-dimethylamino-[1,4]bipyridinyl-1-ylium chloride **1** with the nitrogen nucleophiles such as *n*-propylamine, isopropylamine, glycine, morpholine, and piperidine. Nucleophilic substitutions on **1** with *n*-propylamine and isopropylamine were first performed in the presence of sodium hydride as base. Mixtures of substituted pyridines were obtained, which are presented in Table 1, among them new representatives of N^2 ,Cl³, N^4 ,Cl⁵,Cl⁶-pentasubstituted species.

Surprisingly, *n*-propylamine as nucleophile resulted in the formation of 3,5,6-trichloro- N^2 -propyl-pyridine-2,4-diamine **5a** as the main product (Table 1, entry 1), when the reaction was conducted at 50 °C over a period of 4 h. 3,5,6-Trichloro- N^2,N^4 -dipropyl-pyridine-2,4-diamine **6a** was isolated in very low yields. The 4-isopropylamino-substituted tetra-chloropyridine **4b** was found to be the main product of the reaction of hetarenium salt **1** with isopropylamine under analogous reaction conditions (Table 1, entry 3). 3,5,6-Trichloro- N^2 -isopropyl-pyridine-2,4-diamine **5b** was formed in low yields as a by-product. In either case, unmodified starting material was easily separated by filtration over silica gel.

Obviously, the 4-amino groups in **5a** and **5b** were formed from propylamino- and isopropylamino groups, respectively.

Table 1. Reaction of 1 with amines in the presence of bases

In a control experiment, the dipropylamino-substituted pyridine **6a** indeed reacted with isopropylamine in the presence of sodium hydride in DMF to give the dealkylated product **5a** (Scheme 2). Several mechanisms can be discussed. The lack of electron-withdrawing groups does not support an $E1_{cb}$ -type mechanism and elimination of propene. Nucleophilic attack, however, of propylamide and isopropylamide on the 4-propylamino groups in the initially formed N^2 , N^4 -dialkyl-pyridine-2,4-diamines **6a** and **6b**, respectively, resulted in the formation of *N*,*N*-dialkylamines and 4-NH₂-substituted pyridines.



Scheme 2. Proposed mechanism for dealkylations.

The regiochemistry of this conversion was unambiguously confirmed by NMR methods. Thus, in the ¹H NMR spectra of **5a**, taken in CDCl₃ at rt, two H/D-exchangeable resonance frequencies in a 1:2 ratio are observable at δ =4.82 and 4.95 ppm, which were assigned to the NHR and NH₂

	$CI \xrightarrow{N_{\oplus}} CI \xrightarrow{O} CI \xrightarrow{Dase} CI \xrightarrow{Dase} Dase$	CI VH2 CI CI +	$\begin{array}{c} NH_2 \\ CI \\ CI \\ N \\ NH_2 \end{array} + \begin{array}{c} CI \\ CI \\ N \\ NH_2 \end{array}$		NH_2 CI + C N NHR C		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	
Entry	Amine	Temp/time	Base	Product	R	Yield %	
1	<i>n</i> -PrNH ₂	50 °C, 4 h	NaH	5a	<i>n</i> -Pr	32	
				6a	<i>n</i> -Pr	5	
2			$NaNH_2$	2	Н	7	
				3	Н	18	
				4a	<i>n</i> -Pr	0	
				5a	<i>n</i> -Pr	40	
				6a	<i>n</i> -Pr	35	
3	<i>i</i> -PrNH ₂	40 °C, 4 h	NaH	4b	<i>i</i> -Pr	37	
				5b	<i>i</i> -Pr	5	
4			NaNH ₂	2	Н	10	
				3	Н	10	
				4b	<i>i</i> -Pr	15	
				5b	<i>i</i> -Pr	30	
				6b	<i>i</i> -Pr	0	

group, respectively. In agreement to the proposed structure, the gs-HMBC ($^{1}H-^{13}C$) spectrum displays all the expected long range C–H couplings as presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1. HMBC-detected long range C-H couplings in 5a.

Among these, the ${}^{3}J_{CH}$ coupling of the hydrogen atoms of the NH₂ group with C-5 is diagnostically important. However, a 2D INADEQUATE, performed to unambiguously prove the 13 C peak assignments, suffered from disadvantageous relaxation times of the aromatic carbon atoms due to the absence of H atoms at the pyridine ring. We solved the problem by considering very large C–C coupling constants within this special pyridine ring (approx. 70 Hz) and by addition of 4% chromium(III) acetylacetonate as a relaxation reagent, and proved the C–C connectivities as shown in Figure 2. Analogous results were obtained with **5b**.

As a result, the ¹³C NMR peak assignments of the N^2 ,Cl³, N^4 ,Cl⁵,Cl⁶-substituted pyridines presented in this paper is as shown in Figure 3. A ¹⁵N HMBC measurement allowed to assign the resonance frequency δ_N at -310.3 ppm



Figure 3. Peak assignments of the ¹³C NMR resonance frequencies.

to the 4-NH₂-group of **5a**, whereas the signal at -294.5 ppm is caused by the 2-NHR group. The pyridine nitrogen atom could not be detected by ¹⁵N NMR spectroscopy.

Next we used sodium amide as base for the reaction of hetarenium salt 1 with amines. This base gave best results on treatment of 1 with a broad variety of O- and S-nucleophiles.^{13–16} In these reactions the amide anion never reacted as nucleophile. Indeed, we found a quantitative conversion of the starting material 1. Again, the N^2 ,Cl³, N^4 ,Cl⁵,Cl⁶-substituted pyridine **5a** was isolated as the main product of the reaction with *n*-propylamine at 50 °C (Table 1, entry 2). The diamine **6a** was found in 35% yield. Additional by-products are tetrachloropyridin-4-amine **2** and trichloropyridine-2,4-diamine **3**, isolated in 7% and 18% yield, respectively. The latter mentioned compounds formed also on treatment of pentachloropyridine with ammonia at 170–190 °C, in addition to 2-aminotetrachloropyridine.^{21,22} Similar results were obtained starting from isopropylamine (Table 1, entry 4). A mixture of **2**, **3**, **4b**, and **5b** was formed, with **5b** as the



main product. All compounds were easily separated and purified by column chromatography on silica gel.

Glycine as nitrogen nucleophile yielded methyl-(2,3,5,6-tetrachloro-pyridin-4-yl)-amine **7**, which is a known compound,²⁴ and 3,5,6-trichloro- N^2 , N^4 -dimethyl-pyridine-2,4-diamine **8** in moderate and low yields, respectively (Scheme 3). Obviously, these compounds were formed on decarboxylation of the glycine moieties under the applied reaction conditions. To the best of our knowledge, **8** has never been described before. The pyridylamine **7** was obtained earlier on reaction of pentachloropyridine with methylamine in 1,4-dioxane as a mixture of 2- and 4-isomers after a reaction time of 18 h.²⁴



Scheme 3.

Morpholine in the presence of sodium amide converted hetarenium salt 1 into 3,5-dichloro-(2,6-dimorpholin-4-yl)pyridin-4-ylamine 9a in 59% yield, which was isolated as a pure compound (Table 2, entry 2). In accordance with the structure, the ¹³C NMR spectra showed a symmetric molecule. Sodium hydride as the base gives lower vields and considerable amounts of 2,3,5-trichloro-6-morpholin-4-yl-pyridin-4-ylamine 10a (Table 2, entry 1), the regiochemistry of which was elucidated by HMBC measurements as described above. The morpholine-substituted trichloropyridine with N^2 , Cl^3 , N^4 , Cl^5 , Cl^6 substitution pattern is available by substitution of secondary aliphatic amines on (Z)-perchloro-1,3-butadiene-1-carbonitrile.²⁸ Pentachloropyridine reacts with morpholine at the 2-position. Twofold substitution results in the formation of N^2 , Cl^3 , Cl^4 , Cl^5 , N^6 morpholino-substituted pyridine. Some earlier published structures had to be revised.28

Table 2. Morpholine and piperidine as N-nucleophiles



On reaction of hetarenium salt **1** with piperidine, **9b** and **10b** were obtained under the conditions presented in Table 2 (entries 3 and 4).

2',3',5',6'-Tetrachloro-4-dimethylamino-[1,4]bipyridinyl-1ylium chloride 1 reacts with sodium borohydride to give 2,3,5,6-tetrachlorpyridine 11 (Scheme 4). Best yields and purities were achieved when 2-propanol was used as solvent. On changing the solvent to ethanol, the yield decreased from 80 to 5% after reaction at rt over a period of 5 h. In DMF, the yield is 46% under analogous reaction conditions. In 2-propanol as solvent, the product was obtained in 95% purity. The 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine could be recovered. The chromatographically separable by-product proved to be 2.3.5-trichloropyridine, as evidenced by GC-MS analysis. Numerous procedures for the preparation of 2,3,5,6-tetrachloropyridine 11 exist, among them the reduction of pentachloropyridine with zinc, ammonium chloride, dimethylphosphonate in water at 89–90 °C,²⁹ electrochemical methods, 30^{-1} the chlorination of 2,3,5-trichloropyridine with hexachloroethane in the presence of $n-Bu_4NBr$ in aqueous sodium hydroxide,³¹ and some patented procedures.32

Scheme 4.

In summary, we supplement our synthetic strategy for the preparation of highly functionalized pyridines from hetarenium salts by results describing scope and limitations of the application of nitrogen nucleophiles.

3. Experimental

3.1. General

The ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker Avance 400 and DPX 200 at 400 and 200 MHz, respectively. The chemical shifts are reported in parts per million relative to internal tetramethylsilane (δ =0.00 ppm). FTIR spectra were obtained on a Bruker Vector 22 in the range of 400– 4000 cm⁻¹ (2.5% pellets in KBr). The GC–MS spectra were recorded on a GC Hewlett–Packard 5980, Series II in combination with a MS Hewlett–Packard 5989 B, and on a Varian GC3900 with SAT2100T mass spectrometer. Melting points are uncorrected.

3.2. General procedure for the reaction of 2',3',5',6'tetrachloro-4-dimethylamino-[1,4]bipyridinyl-1-ylium chloride 1 with amines

A suspension of **1** (10 mmol, 3.74 g) in 100 mL of the amine was treated with sodium hydride (50 mmol, 1.25 g) or sodium amide (50 mmol, 1.96 g) and heated at reflux temperature over a period of 5 h. Then, the amine was distilled off in vacuo and the residue was chromatographed (silica gel 60, EtOAc/petroleum ether=1:3).

3.2.1. 2,3,5,6-Tetrachloro-pyridin-4-ylamine (2). Pale yellow solid, mp 210 °C ($C_5H_2Cl_4N_2$ requires C, 25.90; H, 0.87; N, 12.08. Found: C, 25.87; H, 0.86; N, 12.18); δ_H (DMSO- d_6) 7.38 (s, 2H; NH₂); δ_C (DMSO- d_6) 150.8,

144.1, 111.6; ν_{max} (KBr) (cm⁻¹): 3494, 3390, 1583, 1535, 1373, 1250, 1109, 1061, 973; *m*/*z*=233 (MH⁺, 100), 195 (M–Cl, 11).

3.2.2. 3,5,6-Trichloro-pyridine-2,4-diylamine (3). Pale yellow solid, mp 168 °C ($C_5H_4Cl_3N_3$ requires C, 28.27; H, 1.90; N, 19.78. Found: C, 29.06; H, 2.11; N, 19.05); δ_H (DMSO- d_6) 6.41 (s, 2H; α -NH₂), 6.31 (s, 2H; γ -NH₂); δ_C (DMSO- d_6) 153.1, 148.7, 143.5, 100.8, 94.3; ν_{max} (KBr) (cm⁻¹) 3453, 3369, 1612, 1573, 1439; m/z=213 (M, 100), 176 (M–Cl, 28).

3.2.3. Isopropyl-(2,3,5,6-tetrachloro-pyridin-4-yl)-amine (**4b**). Brownish solid, mp 74 °C ($C_8H_8Cl_4N_2$ requires C, 35.07; H, 2.94; N, 10.22. Found: C, 36.06; H, 2.97; N, 10.23); $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 4.85 (s, 1H; N*H*), 4.61 (h, ³*J*=6.4 Hz, 1H; NC*H*), 1.27 (d, ³*J*=6.4 Hz, 6H; C*H*₃); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CDCl₃) 150.0, 146.4, 115.4, 47.2, 24.4; $\nu_{\rm max}$ (KBr) (cm⁻¹) 1556, 1539, 1413, 1353, 1259, 1236, 1140, 1021, 912, 708; *m*/*z*= 275 (M, 100), 260 (M–CH₃).

3.2.4. 3,5,6-Trichloro- N^2 **-propyl-pyridine-2,4-diamine** (**5a**). Yellow solid, mp 76 °C ($C_8H_{10}N_3Cl_3$ requires C, 37.75; H, 3.96; N, 16.51. Found: C, 37.56; H, 3.87; N, 16.49); $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 4.85 (br s, 2H; NH₂), 4.78 (br s, 1H; NH), 3.38 (dt, ³J=7.3, 1.5 Hz, 2H; NCH₂), 1.62 (sx, ³J=7.3 Hz, 2H; CH₂CH₃), 0.97 (t, ³J=7.3 Hz, 3H; CH₃); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CDCl₃) 151.5, 146.9, 144.6, 103.1, 96.1, 43.3, 22.8, 11.4; $\nu_{\rm max}$ (KBr) (cm⁻¹) 3511, 3405, 2969, 2929, 2864, 1614, 1583, 1507, 1447, 1298, 1165; *m*/*z*=255 (M, 43); 225 (M-C₃H₇, 100).

3.2.5. 3,5,6-Trichloro-*N*²**-isopropyl-pyridine-2,4-diamine (5b).** Brownish solid, mp 26 °C (C₈H₈Cl₃N₃ requires C, 37.75; H, 3.96; N, 16.51. Found: C, 37.34; H, 3.75; N, 16.26); $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 4.85 (s, 2H; N*H*₂), 4.60 (s, 1H; N*H*), 4.19 (h, ³*J*=6.4 Hz, 1H; NC*H*), 1.22 (d, ³*J*=6.4 Hz, 6H; C*H*₃); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CDCl₃) 150.9, 147.0, 144.7, 103.0, 96.1, 42.9, 23.1, 11.2; $\nu_{\rm max}$ (KBr) (cm⁻¹) 3498, 3400, 2972, 1610, 1578, 1504, 1437, 1311, 1182, 1126, 1055; *m/z*=254 (M, 100), 238 (M–CH₃).

3.2.6. 3,**5**,**6**-**Trichloro**- N^2 , N^4 -**dipropyl-pyridine**-**2**,**4**-**diamine** (**6a**). Yellow liquid (C₁₁H₁₆Cl₃N₃ requires C, 44.54; H, 5.44; N, 14.17. Found: C, 43.67; H, 4.95; N, 14.18); $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 4.86 (s, 1H; N*H*), 4.78 (br s, 1H; N*H*), 3.39 (t, ³*J*=7.3 Hz, 2H; NCH₂), 3.36 (t, ³*J*=7.3 Hz, 2H; NCH₂), 1.61 (h, ³*J*=7.3 Hz, 4H; CH₂), 0.96 (t, ³*J*=7.3 Hz, 6H; CH₃); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CDCl₃) 151.5, 146.9, 144.7, 103.2, 96.1, 43.3, 22.9, 11.4; $\nu_{\rm max}$ (NaCl) (cm⁻¹) 3398, 2963, 2875, 1582, 1356, 1233, 1070; *m*/*z*=296 (M, 4), 260 (M–Cl, 100), 225 (M–2Cl, 27), 184 (M–2Cl–C₃H₇, 22).

3.2.7. 3,5-Dichloro-(2,6-dimorpholin-4-yl)-pyridin-4-ylamine (9a). Colorless solid, mp 64 °C ($C_{13}H_{18}Cl_2N_4O_2$ requires C, 46.86; H, 5.44; N, 16.81. Found: C, 46.50; H, 5.70; N, 16.80); $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 4.93 (br s, 2H; NH₂), 3.80–3.85 (m, 8H), 3.26–3.31 (m, 8H); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CDCl₃): 154.3, 148.7, 100.1, 66.9, 49.5; $\nu_{\rm max}$ (KBr) (cm⁻¹) 3473, 3321, 2969, 2855, 1621, 1554, 1420, 1392, 1365, 1283, 1257, 1154, 1110, 1067, 1030, 1019, 1007; *m*/*z*=333 (M, 100); 296 (M–Cl, 31).

3.2.8. 3',5'-Dichloro-3,4,5,6,3",4",5",6"-octahydro-2*H*, 2"*H*-[1,2',6',1"]terpyridin-4'-ylamine (9b). Yellow solid,

mp 41 °C ($C_{15}H_{22}Cl_2N_4$ requires C, 54.72; H, 6.73; N, 17.02. Found: C, 54.28; H, 7.06; N, 16.81); $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 4.78 (s, 2H; NH₂), 3.10–3.30 (m, 8H; CH₂), 1.50–1.75 (m, 12H; CH₂); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CDCl₃) 155.3, 148.2, 99.7, 50.4, 26.0, 24.7; $\nu_{\rm max}$ (KBr) (cm⁻¹): 3480, 3380, 2935, 2918, 2847, 2827, 1611, 1598, 1553, 1541, 1422, 1373, 1283, 1258, 1217, 1117, 1076, 1007, 866; m/z=330 (MH⁺, 100); 294 (M–Cl, 45); 244 (M–C₅H₁₀N, 24).

3.2.9. 2,3,5-Trichloro-6-(morpholin-4-yl)-4-amino-pyridine (10a). Colorless solid, mp 144 °C ($C_9H_{10}Cl_3N_3O$ requires C, 38.26; H, 3.57; N, 14.87. Found: C, 38.23; H, 3.12; N, 14.34); $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 5.11 (s, 2H; 10H), 3.77–3.90 (m, 4H; 9H), 3.25–3.40 (m, 4H; 8H); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CDCl₃) 155.6, 148.9, 144.2, 108.2, 104.3, 66.8, 49.5; $\nu_{\rm max}$ (KBr) (cm⁻¹): 3445, 3334, 1622, 1559, 1525, 1417, 1367, 1254, 1112; m/z=283 (M, 100).

3.2.10. 3',5',6'-**Trichloro-3,4,5,6-tetrahydro-**2*H*-**[1,2**']**bipyridinyl-4'-ylamine (10b).** Yellow oil. $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 5.04 (s, 2H; N*H*₂), 3.13–3.30 (m, 4H; C*H*₂), 1.50–1.77 (m, 6H; C*H*₂); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CDCl₃) 156.7, 148.7, 144.0, 107.3, 104.4, 50.4, 25.8, 24.4; *m*/*z*=281 (M, 100), 245 (M–Cl, 25); 86 (C₅H₁₀N, 31).

3.3. General procedure for the reaction of 2',3',5',6'tetrachloro-4-dimethylamino-[1,4]bipyridinyl-1-ylium chloride (1) with glycine

A suspension of pyridinium salt **1** (3.74 g, 10 mmol) in 100 mL of DMF was treated with sodium amide (1.96 g, 50 mmol) and glycine (1.5 g, 20 mmol) and heated for 5 h at 120 °C. After cooling, the reaction mixture was poured in water, and pH was adjusted to 5 with hydrochloric acid. The mixture was then evaporated to dryness, and the residue was chromatographed (silica gel, ethyl acetate/petroleum ether=1:4).

3.3.1. 2,3,5,6-Tetrachloro-4-(*N*-methylamino)-pyridine (7). Oil, $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 4.82 (s, 1H; 5H), 2.91 (s, 3H; 6H); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CDCl₃) 155.0, 148.5, 97.7, 41.5; $\nu_{\rm max}$ (KBr) (cm⁻¹): 3498, 3397, 3945, 1601, 1553, 1484, 1396, 1325, 1045, 843, 705; m/z=247 (MH⁺, 100), 214 (M–CH₄N, 75). No satisfactory elemental analysis achieved.

3.3.2. 2,3,5-Trichloro-4,6-di-(*N*-methylamino)-pyridine **(8).** Colorless solid, 69 °C ($C_7H_8N_3Cl_3$ requires C, 34.96; H, 3.35; N, 17.47. Found: C, 35.22; H, 2.90; N, 17.55); $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃) 5.07 (br s, 2H; 7H, 9H), 2.94 (s, 6H; 8H, 10H); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CDCl₃) 156.3, 148.8, 143.6, 106.5, 102.4, 41.4 (overlapped); $\nu_{\rm max}$ (KBr) (cm⁻¹) 3502, 3402, 1601, 1563, 1525, 1397, 1327, 1043, 938; *m*/*z*=241 (MH⁺, 100), 210 (M–CH₄N, 15).

3.3.3. 2,3,5,6-Tetrachloropyridine (**11**). A suspension of salt **1** (3.74 g, 10 mmol) in 100 mL of anhydrous 2-propanol was treated with sodium borohydride (0.57 g, 15 mmol) at rt and stirred for 6 h. Then, the solution was poured in diluted hydrochloric acid and extracted twice with diethyl ether. The organic layer was separated, evaporated, and chromatographed (silica gel, ethyl acetate/petroleum ether=1/1). All spectroscopic data are in agreement to an authentic sample.

Acknowledgements

The Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) is gratefully acknowledged for financial support.

References and notes

- 1. Spitzner, D. Science of Synthesis; Black, D. S. C., Ed.; Thieme: Stuttgart, 2004; Vol. 15, pp 11–284; Spitzner, D. Houben-Weyl, Methoden der Organischen Chemie; Kreher, E., Ed.; Thieme: Stuttgart, 1994; Vol. E7b, pp 286-686; Pyridine and its Derivatives; Weissberger, A., Taylor, E. C., Abramovitch, A., Eds.; The Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds; Wiley-Interscience: New York, NY, 1974 and 1975; Vol. 14; Supplement 1-4; Larsen, R. D.; Davies, I. W. Progress in Heterocyclic Chemistry; Gribble, G. W., Gilchrist, T. L., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1999; Vol. 11, pp 230-255; Larsen, R. D.; Marcoux, J. F. Progress in Heterocyclic Chemistry; Gribble, G. W., Gilchrist, T. L., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 2000; Vol. 12, pp 237-262; The Chemistry of Pyridine and Its Derivatives. In Second Supplements to the 2nd Edition of Rodd's Chemistry of Carbon Compounds; Mellor, J. M., Sainsbury, M., Eds.; Heterocyclic Compounds; Elsevier Science: Amsterdam, 1998; Vol IV, pp 1-116; Parts F and G; A literature survey is given in: Beleńkii, L. I.; Kruchkovskaya, N. D.; Gramenitskava, V. N. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 1999, 73, 295.
- Sausins, A.; Duburs, G. *Heterocycles* 1988, 27, 269; Kröhnke, F. *Synthesis* 1976, 1; Beschke, H. *Aldrichimica Acta* 1981, 14, 13; Jutz, J. C. *Top. Curr. Chem.* 1978, 73, 125; Cossey, A. L.; Harris, R. L. N.; Huppatz, J. L.; Phillips, J. N. *Angew. Chem.* 1972, 84, 1185; *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* 1972, 11, 1100; Aadil, M.; Kirsch, G. *Synth. Commun.* 1993, 18, 2587; Martin, P.; Steiner, E.; Streith, J.; Winkler, T.; Bellus, D. *Tetrahedron* 1985, 41, 4057; Pews, R. G.; Lysenko, Z. J. Org. *Chem.* 1985, 50, 5115; Kotschy, A.; Hajos, G.; Messmer, A.; Jones, G. *Tetrahedron* 1996, 52, 1399.
- Bornatsch, W.; Reel, H.; Schündehütte, K.-H. Chem. Ber. 1981, 114, 937.
- 4. Yogi, S.; Hokama, K.; Tsuge, O. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1987, 60, 335.
- 5. Litvinov, V. P. Russ. Chem. Rev. (Engl. Transl.) 2003, 72, 69.
- 6. Meth-Cohn, O. Heterocycles 1993, 35, 539.
- 7. Toomey, J. E. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 1984, 37, 167.
- 8. van der Plas, H. C. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 2003, 84, 31.
- 9. Varela, J. A.; Saa, C. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 3787.
- Gradel, B.; Brenner, E.; Schneider, R.; Fort, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, 42, 568; Sakamoto, T.; Kondo, Y.; Murata, N.; Yamanaka, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1992, 33, 5373; Sakamoto, T.; Shiga, F.; Yasuhara, A.; Uchiyama, D.; Kondo, Y.;

Yoshinori, Y. Synthesis 1992, 8, 746; Ji, J.; Li, T.; Brunelle,
W. H. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 4611; Bonnemann, H.; Brijoux, W.
Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 1990, 48, 177; Gros, P.; Fort, Y. Eur.
J. Org. Chem. 2002, 3375; Queguiner, G. J. Heterocycl.
Chem. 2000, 37, 615; Queguiner, G.; Marsais, F.; Snieckus,
V.; Epsztajn, J. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 1991, 52, 189.

- Sandford, G. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2003**, *9*, 1465; Chambers, R. D.; Hoskin, P. R.; Sandford, G.; Yufit, D. S.; Howard, A. A. K. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1* **2001**, 2788; Chambers, R. D.; Hoskin, P. R.; Kenwright, A. R.; Richmond, P.; Sandford, G.; Yufit, M. S.; Howard, J. A. K. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2003**, *1*, 2137.
- Zificsak, C. A.; Mulder, J. A.; Hsung, R. P.; Rameshkumar, C.; Wei, L. L. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57*, 7575.
- 13. Schmidt, A.; Mordhorst, T.; Nieger, M. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 3788.
- 14. Schmidt, A.; Mordhorst, T. Synthesis 2005, 781.
- 15. Schmidt, A.; Mordhorst, T. Z. Naturforsch. 2005, 60b, 683.
- 16. Schmidt, A.; Mordhorst, T.; Nieger, M. *Tetrahedron* **2006**, *62*, 1667.
- 17. McGill, C. K.; Rappa, A. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 1988, 44, 1.
- Parrick, J.; Wilcox, R.; Kelly, A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1980, 132.
- Vorbrüggen, H. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. **1990**, 49, 117; Collins,
 I.; Suschitzky, H. J. Chem. Soc. C **1970**, 1523; Roberts, S. M.;
 Suschitzky, H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1967**, 893.
- 20. Berry, D. J.; Wakefield, B. J. J. Chem. Soc. C 1969, 2342.
- 21. Sell, W. J.; Dootson, F. W. J. Chem. Soc. 1898, 73, 779.
- 22. Sell, W. J.; Dootson, F. W. J. Chem. Soc. 1900, 77, 771.
- Ivashchenko, Ya. N.; Moshchit, S. D.; Zalesski, G. A. Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. (Engl. Transl.) 1970, 6, 891; Khim. Geterotsikl. Soedin. 1970, 6, 959.
- 24. Collins, I.; Roberts, S. M.; Suschitzky, H. J. Chem. Soc. C 1971, 167.
- 25. Roberts, S. M.; Suschitzky, H. J. Chem. Soc. C 1968, 2844.
- 26. Chambers, R. D.; Musgrave, W. K. R.; Urben, P. G. *Chem. Ind.* (*London*) **1975**, 89.
- Imperial Chem. Ind. Ltd. DE Patent 2139042, 1972; Chem. Abstr. 1972, 76, 126795.
- Roedig, A.; Grohe, K.; Sommer, H. Chem. Ber. 1982, 115, 1733.
- 29. Sutter, P.; Weis, C. D. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1980, 17, 493.
- Chambers, R. D.; Musgrave, W. K. R.; Sargent, C. R.; Drakesmith, F. G. *Tetrahedron* **1981**, *37*, 591.
- Joshi, A. V.; Baidossi, M.; Qafisheh, N.; Chachashvili, E.; Sasson, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 5061.
- Dow Chem. DE Patent 1445683, 1973; *Chem. Abstr.* 1973, *80*, 59870; Olin Corp. US Patent 3,538,100, 1970; *Chem. Abstr.* 1970, 74, 33542; Nat. Res. Development Corp. BE Patent 660873, 1965; *Chem. Abstr.* 1965, *65*, 7152a.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6899-6908

A consecutive Diels–Alder approach toward a Tet repressor directed combinatorial library

Christian Kormann,^a Frank W. Heinemann^b and Peter Gmeiner^{a,*}

^aDepartment of Medicinal Chemistry, Emil Fischer Center, Friedrich Alexander University, Schuhstrasse 19, D-91052 Erlangen, Germany

^bDepartment of Inorganic Chemistry, Friedrich Alexander University, Egerlandstrasse 1, D-91058 Erlangen, Germany

Received 7 March 2006; revised 21 April 2006; accepted 27 April 2006 Available online 23 May 2006

Abstract—A combinatorial library of 180 tetracycline analogs was generated by solution phase parallel synthesis applying a consecutive Diels–Alder strategy. Chemical methodology suitable for three-dimensional solution phase parallel synthesis was developed that enabled us to generate a collection of potential TetR inducers. The synthesis was built on cross-conjugated trienes as central building blocks facilitating two consecutive cycloaddition processes with different dienophiles. Upon sequential exposure to naphthoquinone and maleimide derivatives, the generation of a carbocyclic skeleton of type 2 incorporating the diversity elements R^1-R^5 was envisaged. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Linking chemical synthesis of natural product derivatives with genetic evolution of biologically active proteins creates an effective bridge between a basic understanding of functional proteins and the discovery of highly potent and selective modulators for gene regulation in prokaryotes and eukaryotes.^{1,2} Following this approach, we constructed a mutant of the tetracycline-inducible repressor protein $\text{TetR}^{3,4}$ displaying specificity for the tetracycline analog 1 (Scheme 1) preventing both antibiotic activity and induction of the wild-type Tet repressor.⁵ As a complement to our recent efforts on solid-phase supported combinatorial synthesis,^{6,7} we herein present a solution phase parallel synthesis⁸ of a tetracycline related compound library of type 2. According to preliminary studies, the tetracycline mimetic core structure of 2 could be docked into the binding pocket of TetR crystal structure.⁹ To provide an efficient approach to the identical four-ring carbocyclic structure as a basic skeleton, our forward directed plan of synthesis was built on a homo-Diels-Alder (HDA) approach allowing an efficient and stereospecific construction of multiple carboncarbon bonds. Our strategy involved cross-conjugated trienes as central building blocks facilitating two consecutive cycloaddition processes with different dienophiles.^{10,11} Upon sequential exposure to naphthoquinone and maleimide

derivatives, the generation of a carbocyclic skeleton of type 2 incorporating the diversity elements R^1 – R^5 was envisaged.



Scheme 1. Lead compounds and plan of synthesis.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Elaboration of the key reactions

The usage of Diels–Alder reactions represents a particularly efficient strategy for the parallel synthesis of complex molecular structures.¹² Since we aimed to generate a

Keywords: Solution phase parallel synthesis; Diels–Alder; Tetracycline; TetR.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 9131 8529383; fax: +49 9131 8522585; e-mail: gmeiner@pharmazie.uni-erlangen.de
combinatorial compound collection of suitable purity and yield, appropriate reaction conditions for the consecutive Diels-Alder processes have to be elaborated by investigating a model reaction sequence. As a representative central building block, we chose the cross-conjugated triene B1 that was expected to provide sufficient chemical stability and efficient accessibility. The preparation of $B1^{10,11}$ was done by γ -pentadienylation of benzaldehyde using 5-bromo-1,3pentadiene¹³ in the presence of indium dust followed by sulfonylation of the formed secondary alcohol and β-elimination. Our initial synthetic investigations were directed to the HDA reaction of the triene **B1** with 5-hydroxynaphthoquinone (A0) when heating both components in toluene at 40–60 °C gave a hardly separable mixture of regioisomers together with the respective dehydro-derivatives, which were obviously produced by intermolecular electron transfer. Performing the transformation under Lewis acid-catalyzed conditions at -60 °C produced the cycloaddition product 3 as a pure regioisomer. However, the formation of a substantial amount of the oxidation product 6 was observed after chromatography. To exclude this side reaction, we subjected the 2-methyl substituted hydroxynaphthoquinone A1 (plumbagin) as well as the 2,3-dimethyl derivative $A2^{14,15}$ being devoid of an activating 5-hydroxy group to the above mentioned reaction conditions resulting in the formation of the tricyclic products 4 and 5, respectively. Besides the thermally induced HDA processes, we investigated Lewis acid-mediated conditions at low temperature $(-60 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ using scandium trifluoromethanesulfonate¹⁶ and, alternatively, boron trifluoride diethyl etherate¹⁷ when pure cycloaddition products could be isolated in 70-85% yield. Due to economic reasons, we chose the BF₃ promoted variant as the method of choice. To accommodate conditions in a parallel reactor, the reaction temperature was raised to -30 °C which proved to be possible without significant loss of yield and purity. For the transformation of the hydroxynaphthoquinone derivative A1, complete regioselectivity was observed, which is obviously due to secondary orbital interactions. The regiochemical outcome of the reaction could be unambiguously determined by NMR spectroscopy when HMBC experiments clearly indicated that the carbonyl carbon located in β -position to the hydroxy substituent showed cross-peaks to both methylene hydrogens whereas the C=O with the remote hydroxyl group displaying coupling via three bonds with an aromatic hydrogen interacted with the proton adjacent to the phenyl substituent. Since the sterically demanding phenyl group of B1 was expected to predominantly adopt a trans-orientation with respect to the reactive diene substructure and substantial endo-selectivity was assumed for the Diels-Alder process, we anticipated a trans-disposition between the phenyl and the vicinally positioned methyl group, which was confirmed at the final product stage.

An efficient approach of the pentacyclic model compounds **7** and **8** by cycloaddition of the synthetic intermediates **4** and **5**, respectively, with *N*-phenylmaleimide (**C5**) was investigated employing both microwave technology ($80 \degree C$ for 20 min without use of a solvent) and conventional heating (toluene at $68 \degree C$ for 3 days). In fact, application of both techniques resulted in the formation of the final products **7** and **8** in >80% yield (Scheme 2). According to diagnostic NOEs, complete diastereospecifity was observed indicating a cis-selective *endo*-approach of the dienophile

opposite to the phenyl substituent to avoid steric interactions. The molecular structure of the racemic pentacyclic target compound **8** could be elucidated by X-ray crystallography (Fig. 1). Interestingly, the pentacyclic scaffold shows a concave shape when the phenyl moiety is located in a sandwich-like manner over the aromatic system of the former naphthoquinone.



Scheme 2. Representative model reactions.

Based on our model studies, reaction conditions could be found that seemed to be robust and reproducible and, thus, suitable for an efficient production of a liquid organic phase supported 3D-library. Since the parallelization of the conventional heating requires substantially less technical sophistication than parallel microwave assisted synthesis, we decided to perform the library production without microwave technology.



Figure 1. Crystal structure of (3aS,6R,6aS,12aR,13aS,13bR)-8.

ö ÓН

A3

В3

C3

o

C8

O

В4

C4

C

C9

2.2. Library production

Quinones:

ÓН ö

A1

B1

Maleimides:

C1

C6

Cross-conjugated trienes:

Following the procedure described above, 180 tetracycline analogs should be prepared starting from the naphthoquinones A1-3, the cross-conjugated trienes B1-6 and the maleimides C1-10 (Scheme 3, Fig. 2).



Scheme 3. Solution phase parallel synthesis. (a) B1-6, BF₃·Et₂O, CH₂Cl₂, -30 °C, 16 h. (b) C1-10, toluene, 68 °C, 3 days.

A2

B2

C2

n

C7

Thus, each of the quinones A1-3 was reacted with the set of cross-conjugated trienes B1-6 in the presence of boron trifluoride diethyl etherate at -30 °C. After extraction with water, the organic layer had to be separated. This could be done in a very practical manner by adding *n*-hexane to convey the organic layer to the top followed by freezing the aqueous layer at -60 °C and sucking off the liquid organic part. After removal of nonpolar impurities on a short pad of silica gel, each of the 18 tricyclic compounds {A1-**3B1–6**} was distributed to 10 reaction vessels and stirred with the maleimides $\{C1-10\}$ in toluene to afford the 180 tetracycline analogs 7-186 {A1-3B1-6C1-10}. After preparative HPLC, the members of the compound collection were obtained in 26.7-86.4% yield. Ninety-five percent of the final products showed purities higher than 90% (Table 1).



В5

C5

0

соон

C10

B6

6901



Table 1. Purities and yields of library products

No.	Building blocks	Purity (LC–MS) (%)	Yield (over two steps) (%)	No.	Building blocks	Purity (LC–MS) (%)	Yield (over two steps) (%)
9	A1B1C1	>99.0	62.4	97	A2B4C1	89.9	55.9
10	A1B1C2	>99.0	84.0	98	A2B4C2	>99.0	29.8
11	A1B1C3	>99.0	86.4	99	A2B4C3	>99.0	54.1
12	A1B1C4	>99.0	83.5	100	A2B4C4	>99.0	55.1
7	AIBIC5	>99.0	73.5	101	A2B4C5	>99.0	56.9
13 14	AIBIC0	89.1	82.0 76.6	102	A2B4C0 A2B4C7	98.0 81.7	59.2
14	AIBIC7	>99.0	70.0	103	A2B4C7 A2B4C8	>99.0	59.9
16	A1B1C9	>99.0	70.4	104	A2B4C9	>99.0	42.8
17	A1B1C10	94.0	77.2	106	A2B4C10	93.8	65.2
18	A1B2C1	98.0	61.7	107	A2B5C1	88.0	54.6
19	A1B2C2	>99.0	70.1	108	A2B5C2	>99.0	65.9
20	A1B2C3	>99.0	72.2	109	A2B5C3	>99.0	59.9
21	A1B2C4	>99.0	71.8	110	A2B5C4	98.9	49.4
22	AIB2C5	>99.0	67.9	111	A2B5C5	>99.0	38.0
23 24	A1B2C0 A1B2C7	>99.0	43.4 61.1	112	A2B5C0 A2B5C7	>99.0	07.1 55.7
25	A1B2C7	>99.0	57.4	113	A2B5C8	00.7 >99.0	57.0
26	A1B2C9	>99.0	71.0	115	A2B5C9	>99.0	48.8
27	A1B2C10	>99.0	57.8	116	A2B5C10	91.0	58.9
28	A1B3C1	97.7	69.5	117	A2B6C1	98.9	64.2
29	A1B3C2	>99.0	85.2	118	A2B6C2	94.7	52.0
30	A1B3C3	>99.0	76.1	119	A2B6C3	>99.0	61.7
31	A1B3C4	>99.0	61.2	120	A2B6C4	>99.0	57.6
32	AIB3C5	97.1	81.7	121	A2B6C5	>99.0	47.7
33 24	AIB3C0	91.1	/0.8 75.0	122	A2B0C0	98.4	52.5
34	AIB3C8	>99.0 96.0	58.8	123	A2B0C7 A2B6C8	93.4 \00.0	56.9
36	A1B3C9	94.6	72.3	125	A2B6C9	>99.0	68.4
37	A1B3C10	>99.0	56.6	126	A2B6C10	95.6	62.9
38	A1B4C1	>99.0	68.6	127	A3B1C1	95.5	33.0
39	A1B4C2	>99.0	60.6	128	A3B1C2	96.1	47.9
40	A1B4C3	97.4	74.1	129	A1B1C3	97.3	58.6
41	A1B4C4	>99.0	60.5	130	A3B1C4	96.7	45.7
42	AIB4C5	>99.0	69.6	131	A3B1C5	97.4	53.9
43	A1B4C0 A1B4C7	90.0	40.3	132	ASBICO ASBIC7	95.7	41.1
45	A1B4C8	>99.0	84 3	133	A3B1C8	92.3	267
46	A1B4C9	>99.0	73.7	135	A3B1C9	95.1	43.5
47	A1B4C10	87.3	71.4	136	A3B1C10	98.2	48.2
48	A1B5C1	>99.0	80.2	137	A3B2C1	93.3	45.8
49	A1B5C2	98.4	75.7	138	A3B2C2	96.5	33.5
50	A1B5C3	>99.0	53.8	139	A3B2C3	>99.0	31.1
51	A1B5C4	>99.0	66.6	140	A3B2C4	94.6	27.3
52 53	AIB5C5	>99.0	55.8 42.1	141	A3B2C5	93.4	35.8
55 54	AIB5C7	90.7	45.1	142	ASD2C0 ASB2C7	90.5	26.2
55	A1B5C8	>99.0	83.2	143	A3B2C8	90.0	30.8
56	A1B5C9	>99.0	61.8	145	A3B2C9	95.9	38.3
57	A1B5C10	82.0	60.9	146	A3B2C10	98.7	43.3
58	A1B6C1	>99.0	58.7	147	A3B3C1	92.1	31.4
59	A1B6C2	97.1	49.5	148	A3B3C2	97.6	32.3
60	A1B6C3	>99.0	63.4	149	A3B3C3	95.4	28.4
61	A1B6C4	>99.0	76.5	150	A3B3C4	98.0	38.5
62	AIB6C5	>99.0	12.3	151	A3B3C5	96.3	27.7
03 64	A1B6C7	93.7 \\00.0	59.0 76.3	152	ASDSC0 ASB3C7	97.4 \\00.0	50.1 40.2
65	A1B6C8	>99.0	68.1	153	A3B3C8	96.6	37.1
66	A1B6C9	>99.0	79.4	155	A3B3C9	90.6	31.8
67	A1B6C10	88.6	73.5	156	A3B3C10	92.7	20.5
68	A2B1C1	>99.0	61.3	157	A3B4C1	>99.0	42.2
69	A2B1C2	>99.0	65.4	158	A3B4C2	>99.0	35.8
70	A2B1C3	>99.0	68.0	159	A3B4C3	>99.0	38.2
71	A2B1C4	>99.0	63.4	160	A3B4C4	>99.0	32.2
8 72	A2B1C5	98.9	52.4	161	A3B4C5	>99.0	38.1
14 73	A2BIC0	94.9 \\00.0	03.7 62.2	162	A3B4C0	>99.0	37.0 18 1
73 74	A2B1C7 A2B1C8	>99.0 >99.0	59.3	103	A3B4C2	>99.0	40.1
75	A2B1C9	>99.0	73.3	165	A3B4C9	95.6	32.2
76	A2B1C10	>99.0	71.1	166	A3B4C10	93.9	46.5
77	A2B2C1	86.0	58.9	167	A3B5C1	95.2	38.7

Table 1. (continued)

No.	Building blocks	Purity (LC–MS) (%)	Yield (over two steps) (%)	No.	Building blocks	Purity (LC–MS) (%)	Yield (over two steps) (%)
78	A2B2C2	>99.0	35.2	168	A3B5C2	>99.0	36.0
79	A2B2C3	98.5	80.0	169	A3B5C3	>99.0	44.5
80	A2B2C4	94.4	56.8	170	A3B5C4	>99.0	34.4
81	A2B2C5	98.2	57.2	171	A3B5C5	96.9	43.2
82	A2B2C6	>99.0	54.7	172	A3B5C6	>99.0	37.1
83	A2B2C7	>99.0	58.4	173	A3B5C7	>99.0	43.8
84	A2B2C8	>99.0	61.4	174	A3B5C8	>99.0	36.3
85	A2B2C9	98.7	47.3	175	A3B5C9	>99.0	38.7
86	A2B2C10	94.1	55.1	176	A3B5C10	94.2	33.7
87	A2B3C1	>99.0	64.7	177	A3B6C1	>99.0	40.3
88	A2B3C2	>99.0	64.5	178	A3B6C2	>99.0	36.2
89	A2B3C3	>99.0	44.4	179	A3B6C3	>99.0	33.4
90	A2B3C4	>99.0	57.0	180	A3B6C4	>99.0	37.9
91	A2B3C5	>99.0	59.7	181	A3B6C5	>99.0	37.6
92	A2B3C6	95.1	54.3	182	A3B6C6	>99.0	29.6
93	A2B3C7	96.1	41.0	183	A3B6C7	>99.0	32.1
94	A2B3C8	>99.0	58.2	184	A3B6C8	>99.0	38.3
95	A2B3C9	97.1	55.2	185	A3B6C9	>99.0	42.2
96	A2B3C10	>99.0	53.9	186	A3B6C10	98.5	39.6

3. Summary

In summary, a consecutive Diels–Alder approach was exploited for a highly regio- and stereoselective two-step synthesis of a TetR directed library of carbocyclic scaffolds in racemic form. Chemical methodology suitable for three-dimensional solution phase parallel synthesis was developed that enabled us to generate a collection of 180 potential TetR inducers.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

Absolute solvents (over molecular sieves) and starting materials obtained from commercial source were used without further purification. ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra were determined on a BRUKER AVANCE 360 or a BRUKER AVANCE 600 spectrometer in solution. COSY, HSQC, HMBC and NOE spectra (600 MHz) spectra were determined in solution using instrument BRUKER AVANCE 600. LC-MS analyses were conducted using an Agilent Binary Gradient System in combination with ChemStation Software (MeOH/0.1 N aq HCOOH 10/90-90/10) applying a Zorbax SB-C8 (4.6 mm×150 mm, 5 µm) column, UV detection at 254 nm and a flow rate of 0.5 mL/min. Mass detection was pointed out with a Bruker Esquire 2000 iontrap-mass spectrometer using an APC ionization source. EIMS spectra were recorded on FINNIGAN MAT TSQ 700 spectrometer. HRMS were determined on a JOEL GCmateII at a resolution of $M/\Delta M$ > 5000. CHN elementary analyses were done at the laboratory of Ilse Beetz, Kronach. Silica gel (40–63 μ m) was used for a purification step. Preparative HPLC was conducted using an Agilent 1100 Series system applying a Eurospher-C18 (4.6 mm \times 250 mm, 7 μ m) with H₂O and acetonitrile both containing 0.1% of trifluoroacetic acid (gradient 0-80% acetonitrile) with a flow rate of 20 mL/min.

4.2. Preparation of the quinones A1–3

A2 was readily prepared by a chromium-(VI)-oxide catalyzed oxidation of 2,3-dimethylnaphthalene with periodic acid.¹⁴ **A3** was obtained by the bromination of commercially available **A1**.¹⁸

4.3. Preparation of the cross-conjugated trienes B1–6^{10,11,19}

Indium powder (100 mesh, 282 mg, 2.46 mmol) was added in portions to a solution of 5-bromo-1,3-pentadiene (657 mg, 4.47 mmol) and aromatic aldehyde (2.23 mmol) in DMF (2.23 mL) at 0 °C. After stirring for 5 h at 0 °C, temperature was allowed to rise to 10 °C. The mixture was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (15 mL) and poured into diethyl ether (190 mL). The resulting turbid mixture was filtered through a pad of silica gel and washed with an additional amount of ether. Evaporation of the solvent and purification of the crude intermediate by flash chromatography on silica gel using *n*-hexane/ethyl acetate (10:1) resulted in the desired secondary alcohol. Mesyl chloride (1.35 mL, 17.5 mmol) was added dropwise to a solution of this intermediate (13.1 mmol) and triethylamine (2.74 mL, 19.7 mmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (100 mL) at -50 °C. The resulting mixture was allowed to warm to -30 °C over 45 min and poured into a half saturated aqueous solution of NaHCO₃ (100 mL). Subsequent extraction with diethyl ether $(3 \times 100 \text{ mL})$, treatment with Na₂SO₄, filtration and evaporation of the solvent resulted in the crude methane sulfonate, which was dissolved in dry benzene (100 mL), treated with 1,8-diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene (2.4 mL, 15.7 mmol) and gently heated at 44 °C for 3 h. Flash column chromatography of the concentrated crude mixture employing n-hexane furnished the trienes B1-6 in 54-66% overall yield.

4.3.1. 1-Isopropyl-4-(2-vinylbuta-1,3-dienyl)benzol B3. MS m/z 198 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.29 (d, J=7.0 Hz, 6H), 2.94 (sept, J=7.0 Hz, 1H), 5.22 (d,

J=10.7 Hz, 1H), 5.37 (d, J=11.1 Hz, 1H), 5.47 (d, J=17.7 Hz, 1H), 5.55 (d, J=17.3 Hz, 1H), 6.58 (dd, J=17.3 Hz, 10.7 Hz, 1H), 6.65 (br s, 1H), 6.76 (dd, J=17.7 Hz, 11.1 Hz, 1H), 7.20–7.25 (m, 2H), 7.32–7.36 (m, 2H).

4.3.2. 1-Brom-4-(2-vinylbuta-1,3-dienyl)benzol B4. MS m/z 234 (M^{+ 79}Br). ¹H NMR (360 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 5.26 (dd, J=10.8 Hz, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 5.41 (dt, J=11.0 Hz, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 5.49 (d, J=17.7 Hz, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 5.57 (dd, J=17.3 Hz, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 6.56 (ddd, J=17.3 Hz, 10.8 Hz, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 6.57 (br s, 1H), 6.66 (dd, J=17.7 Hz, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 7.24–7.29 (m, 2H), 7.41–7.46 (m, 2H).

4.3.3. 1-Chlor-4-(2-vinylbuta-1,3-dienyl)benzol B5. MS m/z 190 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (360 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 5.26 (dd, J=10.7 Hz, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 5.41 (dt, J=11.0 Hz, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 5.49 (dd, J=17.6 Hz, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 5.57 (dd, J=17.4 Hz, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 6.57 (ddd, J=17.4 Hz, 10.7 Hz, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 6.60 (br s, 1H), 6.66 (ddd, J=17.6 Hz, 11.1 Hz, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 7.31–7.35 (m, 4H).

4.3.4. 1-Fluor-4-(2-vinylbuta-1,3-dienyl)benzol B6. MS m/z 174 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 5.23 (br d, J=10.6 Hz, 1H), 5.38 (br d, J=11.1 Hz, 1H), 5.47 (dd, J=17.8 Hz, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 5.54 (dd, J=17.2 Hz, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 6.55 (br dd, J=17.2 Hz, 10.6 Hz, 1H), 6.60 (br s, 1H), 6.65 (br dd, J=17.8 Hz, 11.1 Hz, 1H), 7.01–7.06 (m, 2H), 7.33–7.37 (m, 2H).

4.4. General procedure for synthesis of tricyclic compounds {A1–3/B1–6}

A solution of quinone A1-3 (1.5 mmol) and cross-conjugated triene **B1–6** (1.5 mmol) in dichloromethane (6 mL) was cooled to -30 °C under inert atmosphere. Boron trifluoride diethyl etherate (0.5 mL) was added dropwise within 5 min. After stirring for 1 h, the reaction mixture was treated with an additional amount of B1-6 (0.75 mmol). The solution was allowed to stir overnight. After addition of H₂O (6 mL) the reaction mixture was allowed to warm to 0 °C under vigorous stirring. Treatment with *n*-hexane (6 mL) followed by cooling to -60 °C resulted in freezing of the aqueous layer. The supernatant organic phase was removed by pipetting and evaporated under reduced pressure. Crude purification of the resulting residue was performed by adsorption to silica gel, whereas the un-reacted triene and nonpolar side-products were removed by washing with *n*-hexane (500 mL). Elution using dichloromethane (500 mL) and subsequent evaporation of the solvent afforded the tricyclic compounds $\{A1-3/B1-6\}$, which were used for the next step without further purification.

4.4.1. (*1RS*,4a*RS*,9a*SR*)-5-Hydroxy-9a-methyl-1-phenyl-2-vinyl-1,4,4a,9a-tetrahydroanthracene-9,10-dione 4. MS *m*/*z* 344 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (360 MHz, acetone- d_6): δ 1.65 (s, 3H), 2.53 (m, 1H), 3.42 (br d, *J*=8.2 Hz, 1H), 3.62 (br dd, *J*=20.3 Hz, 4.5 Hz, 1H), 3.79 (s, 1H), 4.77 (d, *J*=10.7 Hz, 1H), 4.78 (d, *J*=17.7 Hz, 1H), 6.21 (m, 1H), 6.34 (dd, *J*=17.7 Hz, 10.7 Hz, 1H), 6.76–6.87 (m, 5H), 6.91 (dd, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.34 (dd, *J*=7.7 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.42 (dd, *J*=8.1 Hz, 7.7 Hz, 1H), 11.72 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (90 MHz, acetone- d_6): δ 20.1, 23.4, 47.6, 49.8, 52.0, 112.1, 117.6, 117.9, 122.0, 127.0, 127.6 (2C), 128.1, 129.2 (2C), 135.0, 135.2, 135.6, 138.2, 138.5, 159.7, 199.2, 203.2.

4.4.2. (1*RS*,4a*RS*,9a*SR*)-4a,9a-Dimethyl-1-phenyl-2vinyl-1,4,4a,9a-tetrahydroanthracene-9,10-dione 5. MS *m*/*z* 342 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (360 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.16 (s, 3H), 1.65 (s, 3H), 2.10 (m, 1H), 3.62 (br dd, *J*=19.8 Hz, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 3.84 (s, 1H), 4.65 (d, *J*=17.6 Hz, 1H), 4.78 (d, *J*=11.0 Hz, 1H), 6.15 (m, 1H), 6.26 (dd, *J*=17.6 Hz, 11.0 Hz, 1H), 6.68–6.83 (m, 5H), 7.39 (m, 2H), 7.55–7.61 (m, 1H), 7.77–7.81 (m, 1H).

4.5. General procedure for synthesis of pentacyclic compounds {A1-3/B1-6/C1-10}

Each of the compounds $\{A1-3/B1-6\}$ was divided into 10 parts. Every part was placed in a sealed glass tube with the maleimides C1-10 (5 equiv) under nitrogen. Toluene (1 mL) was added to each reaction vessel. The solution was stirred for 3 days at 68 °C. Removal of the solvent under reduced pressure and further purification by HPLC afforded the pentacyclic compounds $\{A1-3/B1-6/C1-10\}$.

4.5.1. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-11-Hvdroxy-6a-methyl-6-phenyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13boctahydro-1H-anthra[2,3-e]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2H)tetrone 9 {A1,B1,C1}. MS m/z 441 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.45 (s, 3H), 2.16 (m, 1H), 2.57-2.62 (2H), 2.85 (m, 1H), 2.99 (ddd, J=14.4 Hz, 10.0 Hz, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 3.18 (ddd, J=10.1 Hz, 8.3 Hz, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 3.24-3.27 (2H), 3.53 (br s, 1H), 5.46 (m, 1H), 6.99-7.03 (m, 2H), 7.04–7.07 (m, 1H), 7.07–7.11 (m, 2H), 7.10 (br d, J=8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.33 (br d, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.49 (dd, J=8.2 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.97 (br s, 1H), 11.92 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 22.9, 24.9, 25.2, 32.6, 41.2, 45.2, 52.8, 53.2, 56.1, 117.2, 118.6, 122.9, 124.1, 127.1, 127.9 (2C), 130.6 (2C), 135.8, 136.6, 139.3, 140.3, 160.7, 178.2, 179.1, 199.4, 204.4. Exact mass (EI⁺) m/z calcd for C₂₇H₂₃NO₅: 441.1576. Found: 441.1577.

4.5.2. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-2-Ethyl-11-hydroxy-6a-methyl-6-phenyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a, 13b-octahydro-1H-anthra[2,3-e]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2H)tetrone 11 {A1,B1,C3}. MS m/z 469 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.11 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.45 (s, 3H), 2.13 (m, 1H), 2.63 (br dd, J=15.8 Hz, 7.4 Hz, 1H), 2.66 (ddd, J=14.0 Hz, 8.0 Hz, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 2.84 (m, 1H), 3.01-3.14 (2H), 3.17 (dd, J=8.5 Hz, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 3.29 (dd, J=5.7 Hz, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 3.45 (br s, 1H), 3.52 (q, J=7.2 Hz, 2H), 5.39 (m, 1H), 6.98–7.13 (m, 5H), 7.13 (dd, J=8.4 Hz, 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.33 (dd, J=7.6 Hz, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 7.53 (dd, ¹³C NMR J=8.4 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 11.97 (s, 1H). (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 13.1, 23.2, 25.2 (2C), 33.0, 33.7, 40.0, 44.1, 52.9, 53.4, 56.2, 117.2, 118.7, 122.9, 123.9, 127.2, 127.9 (2C), 130.8 (2C), 136.0, 136.8, 139.0, 140.4, 160.8, 178.3, 179.3, 199.6, 204.6. Exact mass (EI⁺) m/z calcd for C₂₉H₂₇NO₅: 469.1889. Found: 469.1890.

4.5.3. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-11-Hydroxy-6a-methyl-2,6-diphenyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)-tetrone 7 {**A1,B1,C5**}. MS *m*/*z* 517 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.44 (s, 3H), 2.24 (m, 1H), 2.66–2.76 (2H), 2.93 (m, 1H), 3.04 (ddd, 15.0 Hz, 9.5 Hz, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 3.29–3.33 (2H), 3.39 (dd, J=8.6 Hz, 5.5 Hz, 1H), 3.50 (br s, 1H), 5.50 (m, 1H), 7.03–7.07 (m, 2H), 7.08–7.19 (6H), 7.35 (br d, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.40–7.44 (m, 1H), 7.45–7.51 (m, 2H), 7.54 (dd, J=8.1 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1H), 11.98 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 23.5, 25.2, 25.5, 33.1, 40.3, 44.4, 52.9, 53.5, 56.5, 117.1, 118.6, 122.9, 123.9, 126.5 (2C), 127.2, 128.0 (2C), 128.8 (2C), 129.3 (2C), 130.7, 131.8, 136.0, 136.8, 138.8, 140.6, 160.8, 177.6, 178.5, 199.4, 204.5. Exact mass (EI⁺) m/z calcd for C₃₃H₂₇NO₅: 517.1889. Found: 517.1884. Anal. Calcd for C₃₃H₂₇NO₅: C, 76.58; H, 5.26; N, 2.71. Found: C, 76.58; H, 5.43; N, 2.40.

4.5.4. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-2-Ethyl-11hydroxy-6a-methyl-6-(4-methylphenyl)-3a,4,6,6a,12a, 13,13a,13b-octahydro-1H-anthra[2,3-e]isoindole-1,3,7, 12(2H)-tetrone 20 {A1,B2,C3}. MS m/z 483 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.09 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.43 (s, 3H), 2.11 (m, 1H), 2.22 (s, 3H), 2.61 (br dd, J=15.5 Hz, 7.2 Hz, 1H), 2.65 (ddd, J=14.4 Hz, 7.9 Hz, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 2.80 (m, 1H), 3.04 (ddd, J=14.4 Hz, 9.8 Hz, 5.8 Hz, 1H), 3.09 (br dd, J=8.6 Hz, 7.7 Hz, 1H), 3.15 (dd, J=8.6 Hz, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 3.27 (dd, J=5.8 Hz, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 3.40 (br s, 1H), 3.50 (q, J=7.2 Hz, 2H), 5.38 (m, 1H), 6.85–6.89 (m, 2H), 6.89– 6.94 (m, 2H), 7.14 (br d, J=8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (br d, J=7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.53 (dd, J=8.2 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 12.00 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 13.1, 20.9, 23.3, 25.2, 25.3, 33.1, 33.7, 40.0, 44.0, 52.9, 53.4, 55.8, 117.2, 118.6, 122.7, 123.7, 126.5, 128.6 (2C), 130.5 (2C), 135.6, 136.1, 136.7, 136.8, 140.5, 160.8, 178.3, 179.2, 199.6, 204.6. Exact mass (EI⁺) m/z calcd for C₃₀H₂₉NO₅: 483.2046. Found: 483.2045.

4.5.5. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-11-Hydroxy-6a-methyl-6-(4-methylphenyl)-2-phenyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1H-anthra[2,3-e]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2H)-tetrone 22 {A1,B2,C5}. MS m/z 531 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.43 (s, 3H), 2.21 (m, 1H), 2.25 (s, 3H), 2.65–2.75 (2H), 2.90 (m, 1H), 3.02 (m, 1H), 3.25-3.32 (2H), 3.37 (dd, J=8.5 Hz, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 3.46 (br s, 1H), 5.49 (m, 1H), 6.69-6.94 (m, 2H), 6.94-6.99 (m, 2H), 7.12-7.20 (3H), 7.34 (br d, J=7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.39-7.45 (m, 1H), 7.45–7.51 (m, 2H), 7.54 (dd, J=8.3 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 12.01 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 20.9, 23.7, 25.3, 25.5, 33.2, 40.3, 44.4, 53.0, 53.4, 56.0, 117.2, 118.6, 122.8, 123.6, 126.5 (2C), 128.7 (2C), 128.8, 129.3 (2C), 130.6 (2C), 131.8, 135.4, 136.1, 136.8, 136.9, 140.8, 160.8, 177.6, 178.5, 199.6, 204.6. Exact mass (EI⁺) m/z calcd for C₃₄H₂₉NO₅: 531.2046. Found: 531.2039.

4.5.6. (3a*R*S,6S*R*,6a*R*S,12aS*R*,13a*R*S,13bS*R*)-2-(4-Bromophenyl)-11-hydroxy-6-(4-isopropylphenyl)-6a-methyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octa-hydro-1*H*anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)-tetrone 34 {A1, B3,C7}. MS *m*/*z* 637 (M^{+ 79}Br). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.12 (d, *J*=6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.13 (d, *J*=6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.46 (s, 3H), 2.27 (m, 1H), 2.67–2.77 (m, 3H), 2.94–3.05 (2H), 3.24 (dd, *J*=5.5 Hz, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 3.33 (ddd, *J*= 10.4 Hz, 8.6 Hz, 2.0 Hz, 1H), 3.40 (br dd, *J*=8.6 Hz, 5.5 Hz, 1H), 3.52 (br s, 1H), 5.54 (m, 1H), 6.85–6.87 (m, 2H), 6.89–6.92 (m, 2H), 7.07 (br d, *J*=8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.08– 7.11 (m, 2H), 7.32 (br d, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.47 (dd, *J*= 8.3 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.60–7.63 (m, 2H), 11.89 (s, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) m/z calcd for $C_{36}H_{32}^{79}BrNO_5$ (M⁺): 637.1464. Found: 637.1464.

4.5.7. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-6-(4-Bromophenyl)-2-cyclohexyl-11-hydroxy-6a-methyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)-tetrone 46 {A1,B4,C9}. MS *m*/*z* 601 (M^{+ 79}Br). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.19–1.34 (m, 3H), 1.36 (s, 3H), 1.42–1.48 (m, 2H), 1.65–1.69 (m, 1H), 1.80–1.85 (m, 2H), 2.01–2.16 (m, 3H), 2.51–2.61 (m, 2H), 2.71 (m, 1H), 2.96 (ddd, *J*=14.5 Hz, 8.5 Hz, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 3.04–3.11 (m, 2H), 3.28–3.32 (m, 2H), 3.86–3.93 (m, 1H), 5.30 (m, 1H), 6.95–7.01 (m, 2H), 7.19 (dd, *J*=8.3 Hz, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 7.23–7.27 (m, 2H), 7.33 (dd, *J*=7.7 Hz, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 7.58 (dd, *J*=8.3 Hz, 7.7 Hz, 1H), 11.97 (s, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₃₃H₃₂⁷⁹BrNO₅ (M⁺): 601.1464. Found: 601.1464.

4.5.8. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-6-(4-Chlorophenyl)-2-ethyl-11-hydroxy-6a-methyl-3a,4,6,6a, 12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)-tetrone 50 {A1,B5,C3}. MS *m*/*z* 503 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.08 (t, *J*=7.1 Hz, 3H), 1.37 (s, 3H), 2.11 (m, 1H), 2.54–2.65 (m, 2H), 2.74 (m, 1H), 3.03 (ddd, *J*=14.6 Hz, 9.0 Hz, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 2.99–3.06 (m, 1H), 3.11–3.15 (m, 1H), 3.30 (dd, *J*=6.4 Hz, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 3.36 (br s, 1H), 3.49 (q, *J*=7.1 Hz, 2H), 5.32 (m, 1H), 6.99–7.03 (m, 2H), 7.09–7.13 (m, 2H), 7.18 (br d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (br d, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.56 (dd, *J*=8.4 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 11.96 (s, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₂₉H₂₆CINO₅: 503.1499. Found: 503.1499.

4.5.9. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-2-Benzyl-6-(4-fluorophenyl)-11-hydroxy-6a-methyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a, 13,13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7, 12(2*H*)-tetrone 65 {A1,B6,C8}. MS *m*/*z* 549 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.25 (s, 3H), 2.12 (m, 1H), 2.52 (ddd, *J*=14.6 Hz, 6.6 Hz, 6.4 Hz, 1H), 2.64 (br dd, *J*=15.3 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 2.74 (m, 1H), 2.94 (ddd, *J*=14.6 Hz, 9.0 Hz, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 3.11–3.18 (3H), 3.24 (dd, *J*=6.4 Hz, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 4.58 (d, *J*=14.2 Hz, 1H), 4.63 (d, *J*=14.2 Hz, 1H), 5.28 (m, 1H), 6.77–6.82 (m, 2H), 6.87–6.91 (m, 2H), 7.16 (br d, *J*=8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.24–7.32 (m, 5H), 7.29 (br d, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.54 (dd, *J*=8.3 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 11.94 (s, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₃₄H₂₈FNO₅: 549.1952. Found: 549.1951.

4.5.10. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-6a,12a-Dimethyl-6-phenyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1H-anthra[2,3-e]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2H)-tetrone 68 {A2,B1,C1}. MS *m*/*z* 439 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.22 (s, 3H), 1.59 (s, 3H), 2.17 (m, 1H), 2.54– 2.60 (2H), 2.78 (dd, J=13.9 Hz, 12.3 Hz, 1H), 3.19 (m, 1H), 3.21 (ddd, J=8.6 Hz, 8.3 Hz, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 3.31 (dd, J=8.6 Hz, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 3.74 (br s, 1H), 5.46 (m, 1H), 6.60-6.65 (m, 2H), 6.82-6.87 (m, 3H), 7.47 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 7.52 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (br d, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.82 (br d, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 8.25 (br s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 20.8, 25.1, 26.9, 29.4, 33.8, 41.3, 44.5, 51.7, 56.9, 57.3, 125.3, 125.9, 126.8, 126.8, 127.7 (2C), 130.1 (2C), 133.3, 133.6, 133.8, 135.7, 139.7, 141.1, 178.6, 179.5, 200.5, 201.2. Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₂₈H₂₅NO₄: 439.1784. Found: 439.1784.

4.5.11. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-2-Ethyl-6a,12a-dimethyl-6-phenyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1H-anthra[2,3-e]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2H)-tetrone 70 {A2,B1,C3}. MS m/z 467 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.10 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.23 (s, 3H), 1.57 (s, 3H), 2.13 (m, 1H), 2.55–2.61 (2H), 2.86 (dd, J=14.0 Hz, 12.2 Hz, 1H), 3.13 (ddd, J=8.5 Hz, 8.4 Hz, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 3.14 (m, 1H), 3.20 (dd, J=8.5 Hz, 5.9 Hz, 1H), 3.51 (q, J=7.2 Hz, 1H), 3.63 (br s, 1H), 5.37 (m, 1H), 6.57–6.61 (m, 2H), 6.85–6.91 (m, 3H), 7.50 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.54 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.61 (br d, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.85 (br d, J=7.5 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₂): δ 13.1, 20.9, 25.3, 26.7, 29.4, 33.6, 34.3, 40.1, 43.2, 51.8, 56.9, 57.2, 125.3, 126.0, 126.9, 126.9, 127.6 (2C), 130.1 (2C), 133.4, 133.6, 133.8, 135.9, 139.8, 140.6, 178.4, 179.3, 200.4, 201.1. Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₃₀H₂₉NO₄: 467.2097. Found: 467.2098.

4.5.12. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-6a,12a-Dimethyl-2,6-diphenyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra[2,3-e]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)-tetrone 8 {A2,B1,C5}. MS m/z 515 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.23 (s, 3H), 1.58 (s, 3H), 2.26 (m, 1H), 2.64 (dd, J=13.9 Hz, 7.4 Hz, 1H), 2.67 (ddd, J=16.0 Hz, 6.8 Hz, 1.9 Hz, 1H), 2.86 (dd, J=13.9 Hz, 12.3 Hz, 1H), 3.25 (m, 1H), 3.33 (ddd, J=8.5 Hz, 8.3 Hz, 1.9 Hz, 1H), 3.43 (dd, J=8.5 Hz, 5.9 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (br s, 1H), 5.49 (m, 1H), 6.63-6.67 (m, 2H), 6.88-6.93 (m, 3H), 7.16-7.19 (m, 2H), 7.39–7.44 (m, 1H), 7.45–7.50 (m, 2H), 7.52 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 7.56 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 7.65 (br d, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.87 (br d, J=7.5 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 20.9, 25.5, 26.8, 29.7, 34.3, 40.3, 43.5, 51.8, 57.0, 57.6, 125.2, 126.0, 126.5 (2C), 126.9, 127.0, 127.7 (2C), 128.7, 129.2 (2C), 130.1 (2C), 133.4, 133.7, 133.8, 135.8, 139.9, 140.5, 177.5, 178.6, 200.4, 201.1. Exact mass (EI⁺) m/z calcd for C34H29NO4: 515.2097. Found: 515.2097. Anal. Calcd for C₃₄H₂₉NO₄: C, 79.20; H, 5.67; N, 2.72. Found: C, 79.20; H, 5.64; N, 2.78.

4.5.13. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-6a,12a-Dimethyl-6-(4-methylphenyl)-2-propyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a, **13,13a,13b-octahydro-1***H*-anthra-[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7, **12(2H)-tetrone 80 {A2,B2,C4}.** MS *m*/*z* 495 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 0.82 (t, *J*=7.4 Hz, 3H), 1.22 (s, 3H), 1.46–1.56 (2H), 1.54 (s, 3H), 2.14 (m, 1H), 2.53–2.59 (2H), 2.86 (dd, *J*=14.1 Hz, 12.1 Hz, 1H), 3.08 (m, 1H), 3.12 (ddd, *J*=8.4 Hz, 8.2 Hz, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 3.18 (dd, *J*=8.6 Hz, 5.8 Hz, 1H), 3.42 (m, 2H), 3.58 (br s, 1H), 5.36 (m, 1H), 6.43–6.47 (m, 2H), 6.65–6.69 (m, 2H), 7.51 (ddd, *J*=8.6 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 7.55 (ddd, *J*=8.6 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (br dd, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 7.85 (br dd, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1.1 Hz, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₃₂H₃₃NO₄: 495.2410. Found: 495.2410.

4.5.14. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-6a,12a-Dimethyl-6-(4-methylphenyl)-2-phenyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13, 13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra-[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12 (2*H*)-tetrone 81 {A2,B2,C5}. MS *m*/*z* 529 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.22 (s, 3H), 1.54 (s, 3H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 2.23 (m, 1H), 2.61 (dd, *J*=14.1 Hz, 7.2 Hz, 1H), 2.67 (ddd, *J*=15.9 Hz, 6.8 Hz, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 2.84 (dd, *J*=14.1 Hz, 12.1 Hz, 1H), 3.19 (m, 1H), 3.31 (ddd, *J*=8.4 Hz, 8.2 Hz, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 3.41 (dd, J=8.4 Hz, 5.9 Hz, 1H), 3.63 (br s, 1H), 5.47 (m, 1H), 6.49–6.53 (m, 2H), 6.70–6.74 (m, 2H), 7.13–7.17 (m, 2H), 7.38–7.43 (m, 1H), 7.44–7.49 (m, 2H), 7.53 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.57 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.65 (br dd, J=7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.87 (br dd, J=7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) m/z calcd for C₃₅H₃₁NO₄: 529.2253. Found: 529.2253.

4.5.15. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-2-(4-Acetylphenyl)-6-(4-isopropylphenyl)-6a,12a-dimethyl-3a.4.6.6a.12a.13.13a.13b-octahydro-1H-anthra[2.3-e]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2H)-tetrone 92 {A2,B3,C6}. MS m/z 599 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.02 (d, J=6.8 Hz, 6H), 1.19 (s, 3H), 1.57 (s, 3H), 2.31 (m, 1H), 2.57-2.67 (2H), 2.65 (s, 3H), 2.68 (ddd, J=16.0 Hz, 6.8 Hz, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 2.76 (dd, J=14.1 Hz, 12.1 Hz, 1H), 3.33 (m, 1H), 3.36 (ddd, J=8.5 Hz, 8.3 Hz, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 3.47 (dd, J=8.5 Hz, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 3.73 (br s, 1H), 5.55 (m, 1H), 6.52-6.57 (m, 2H), 6.65-6.70 (m, 2H), 7.36-7.40 (m, 2H), 7.44 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.48 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.63 (br dd, J=7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.78 (br dd, J=7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 8.06-8.09 (m, 2H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m/z* calcd for C₃₉H₃₇NO₅: 599.2672. Found: 599.2672.

4.5.16. 3-[(3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-6-(4-Isopropylphenyl)-6a,12a-dimethyl-1,3,7,12-tetraoxo-1,3, 3a,4,6,6a,7,12,12a,13,13a,13b-dodecahydro-2*H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindol-2-yl]propanoic acid 96 {A2,B3,C10}. MS *m*/z 553 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.01 (d, *J*=6.8 Hz, 6H), 1.19 (s, 3H), 1.56 (s, 3H), 2.18 (m, 1H), 2.54–2.63 (3H), 2.64 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.79 (dd, *J*= 14.1 Hz, 12.0 Hz, 1H), 3.17 (ddd, *J*=8.4 Hz, 8.2 Hz, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 3.21 (m, 1H), 3.25 (dd, *J*=8.4 Hz, 5.9 Hz, 1H), 3.71 (br s, 1H), 3.80 (m, 2H), 5.43 (m, 1H), 6.49–6.53 (m, 2H), 6.62– 6.66 (m, 2H), 7.42 (ddd, *J*=7.6 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7,45 (ddd, *J*=7.6 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), T59 (br dd, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.75 (br dd, *J*=7.6 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/z calcd for C₃₄H₃₅NO₆: 553.2464. Found: 553.2463.

4.5.17. (3a*R*S,6S*R*,6a*R*S,12aS*R*,13a*R*S,13bS*R*)-6-(4-Bromophenyl)-2,6a,12a-trimethyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a, 13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)tetrone 98 {A2,B4,C2}. MS *m*/*z* 531 (M^{+ 79}Br). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.23 (s, 3H), 1.56 (s, 3H), 2.15 (m, 1H), 2.54–2.61 (2H), 2.85 (dd, *J*=14.1 Hz, 12.0 Hz, 1H), 2.95 (s, 3H), 3.13 (m, 1H), 3.17 (ddd, *J*=8.4 Hz, 8.2 Hz, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 3.23 (dd, *J*=8.4 Hz, 5.9 Hz, 1H), 3.65 (br s, 1H), 5.36 (m, 1H), 6.44–6.50 (m, 2H), 6.93–6.99 (m, 2H), 7.53 (ddd, *J*=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.57 (ddd, *J*=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (br dd, *J*=7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.82 (br dd, *J*=7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₂₉H₂₆⁷⁹BrNO₄ (M⁺): 531.1045. Found: 531.1041.

4.5.18. (3a*R*S,6S*R*,6a*R*S,12aS*R*,13a*R*S,13bS*R*)-6-(4-Bromophenyl)-2-cyclohexyl-6a,12a-dimethyl-3a,4,6,6a, 12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)-tetrone 105 {A2,B4,C9}. MS *m*/*z* 599 (M⁺ ⁷⁹Br). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.18–1.36 (m, 3H), 1.23 (s, 3H), 1.42–1.50 (m, 2H), 1.55 (s, 3H), 1.62–1.71 (m, 1H), 1.78–1.88 (m, 2H), 2.00–2.17 (3H), 2.52–2.58 (2H), 2.80 (dd, *J*=14.1 Hz, 12.1 Hz, 1H), 3.06 (m, 1H), 3.08 (ddd, J=15.9 Hz, 6.8 Hz, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 3.14 (dd, 8.4 Hz, 5.9 Hz, 1H), 3.56 (br s, 1H), 3.90 (m, 1H), 5.33 (m, 1H), 6.42–6.49 (m, 2H), 6.97–7.03 (m, 2H), 7.56 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.87 (br dd, J=7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) m/z calcd for C₃₄H⁷₃₄BrNO₄ (M⁺): 599.1671. Found: 599.1675.

4.5.19. 3-[(**3***aR***S**,**6***SR*,**6***aR***S**,**12***aSR*,**13***aR***S**,**13***bSR*)-6-(**4**-Bromophenyl)-6a,**12***a*-dimethyl-1,**3**,**7**,**12**-tetra-oxo-1,**3**,**3***a*, **4**,**6**,**6***a*,**7**,**12**,**12***a*,**13**,**13***a*,**13***b*-dodeca-hydro-2*H*-anthra-**[2,3***e*]isoindol-2-yl]propanoic acid 106 {A2,B4,C10}. MS *m*/*z* 589 (M^{+ 79}Br). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDC1₃): δ 1.23 (s, 3H), 1.56 (s, 3H), 2.14 (m, 1H), 2.54–2.60 (2H), 2.61 (dd, *J*=7.2 Hz, *J*=7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.84 (dd, *J*=14.1 Hz, 12.1 Hz, 1H), 3.12 (m, 1H), 3.16 (ddd, *J*=8.5 Hz, 8.3 Hz, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 3.22 (dd, *J*=8.5 Hz, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 3.64 (br s, 1H), 3.78 (m, 2H), 5.35 (m, 1H), 6.45–6.50 (m, 2H), 6.95–6.99 (m, 2H), 7.54 (ddd, *J*=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.56–7.62 (2H), 7.84 (dd, *J*=7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₃₁H⁷⁹₂₈BrNO₆ (M⁺): 589.1100. Found: 589.1098.

4.5.20. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-6-(4-Chlorophenyl)-6a,12a-dimethyl-2-phenyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a, 13,13a,13b-octahydro-1H-anthra-[2,3-e]isoindole-**1,3,7,12(2H)-tetrone 111 {A2,B5,C5}.** MS *m/z* 549 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.23 (s, 3H), 1.56 (s, 3H), 2.25 (m, 1H), 2.62 (dd, J=14.1 Hz, 7.2 Hz, 1H), 2.69 (ddd, J=15.9 Hz, 6.8 Hz, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 2.85 (dd, J=14.1 Hz, 12.1 Hz, 1H), 3.22 (m, 1H), 3.33 (ddd, J=8.4 Hz, 8.2 Hz, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 3.42 (dd, J=8.4 Hz, 5.9 Hz, 1H), 3.68 (br s, 1H), 5.46 (m, 1H), 6.54–6.59 (m, 2H), 6.84–6.88 (m, 2H), 7.14-7.18 (m, 2H), 7.39-7.43 (m, 1H), 7.44-7.50 (m, 2H), 7.56 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (ddd, J=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.65 (br dd, J=7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.87 (br dd, J=7.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) m/z calcd for C₃₄H₂₈ClNO₄: 549.1707. Found: 549.1705.

4.5.21. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-2-Ethyl-6-(4-fluorophenyl)-6a,12a-dimethyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a, **13b-octahydro-1***H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)tetrone **119** {A2,B6,C3}. MS *m*/*z* 485 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.09 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.22 (s, 3H), 2.55 (s, 3H), 2.12 (m, 1H), 2.57 (dd, *J*=14.2 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 2.59 (ddd, *J*=15.8 Hz, 6.8 Hz, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 2.85 (dd, *J*=14.2 Hz, 12.0 Hz, 1H), 3.10 (m, 1H), 3.13 (ddd, *J*=8.4 Hz, 8.2 Hz, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 3.19 (dd, *J*=8.4 Hz, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 3.51 (q, *J*=7.2 Hz, 2H), 3.63 (br s, 1H), 5.35 (m, 1H), 6.51–6.59 (m, 4H), 7.53 (ddd, *J*=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 7.57 (ddd, *J*=7.5 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 7.62 (br dd, *J*=7.5 Hz, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 7.85 (br dd, *J*=7.5 Hz, 1.1 Hz, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₃₀H₂₈FNO₄: 485.2002. Found: 485.1999.

4.5.22. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-2-Benzyl-6-(4-fluorophenyl)-6a,12a-dimethyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a, 13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)tetrone 124 {A2,B6,C8}. MS *m*/*z* 547 (M⁺). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.16 (s, 3H), 1.37 (s, 3H), 2.13 (m, 1H), 2.51 (dd, *J*=14.1 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 2.62 (ddd, *J*= 15.8 Hz, 7.1 Hz, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 2.69 (dd, *J*=14.1 Hz, 12.0 Hz, 1H), 3.12 (m, 1H), 3.18 (ddd, J=8.4 Hz, 8.2 Hz, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 3.23 (dd, J=8.4 Hz, 5.9 Hz, 1H), 3.41 (br s, 1H), 4.58 (d, J=14.0 Hz, 1H), 4.65 (d, J=14.0 Hz, 1H), 5.32 (m, 1H), 6.41–6.47 (m, 2H), 6.47–6.53 (m, 2H), 7.25–7.32 (m, 5H), 7.50 (br dd, J=7.6 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.55 (br dd, J=7.6 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.55 (br dd, J=7.6 Hz, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.83 (br d, J=7.6 Hz, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) m/z calcd for C₃₅H₃₀FNO₄: 547.2159. Found: 547.2159.

4.5.23. 3-[(**3***aR***5**,**6***aR***5**,**12***aSR*,**13***aR***5**,**13***bSR*)-**10-Bromo-11-hydroxy-6a**,**12a-dimethyl-1**,**3**,**7**,**12-tetraoxo-6-phenyl-1**,**3**,**3a**,**4**,**6**,**6a**,**7**,**12**,**12a**,**13**,**13a**,**13b-dodeca-hydro-2***H*-**anthra**[**2**,**3**-*e*]**isoindol-2-yl**]**propanoic acid 136 {A3,B1,C10}.** MS *m*/*z* 591 (M^{+ 79}Br). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDC1₃): δ 1.46 (s, 3H), 2.16 (m, 1H), 2.61 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.61 (dd, 1H), 2.65 (ddd, *J*=14.5 Hz, 8.1 Hz, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 2.86 (m, 1H), 3.05 (ddd, *J*=14.5 Hz, 10.0 Hz, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 3.15 (ddd, *J*=8.5 Hz, 8.3 Hz, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 3.20 (dd, *J*=8.5 Hz, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 3.29 (dd, *J*=6.0 Hz, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 3.50 (br s, 1H), 3.78 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 2H), 5.42 (m, 1H), 6.94–7.00 (m, 2H), 7.04–7.12 (m, 3H), 7.21 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.76 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H), 12.61 (s, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₃₀H⁷⁹₂₆BrNO₇ (M⁺): 591.0893. Found: 591.0896.

4.5.24. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-10-Bromo-2-ethyl-11-hydroxy-6a,12a-dimethyl-6-(4-methylphenyl)-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra-[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)-tetrone 139 {A3,B2,C3}. MS *m*/*z* 561 (M⁺ ⁷⁹Br). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.10 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.45 (s, 3H), 2.13 (m, 1H), 2.19 (s, 3H), 2.62 (ddd, *J*=15.7 Hz, 7.2 Hz, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 2.67 (ddd, *J*=14.4 Hz, 8.1 Hz, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 2.86 (m, 1H), 3.05 (ddd, *J*=14.4 Hz, 10.1 Hz, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 3.12 (ddd, *J*= 9.4 Hz, 8.1 Hz, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 3.17 (dd, *J*=8.5 Hz, 5.8 Hz, 1H), 3.27 (dd, *J*=6.0 Hz, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 3.44 (br s, 1H), 3.51 (q, *J*=7.2 Hz, 2H), 5.42 (m, 1H), 6.75–6.79 (m, 2H), 6.85– 6.89 (m, 2H), 7.21 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.76 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H), 12.64 (s, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₃₀H²⁹₂BrNO₅ (M⁺): 561.1151. Found: 561.1151.

4.5.25. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-10-Bromo-2-(4-bromophenyl)-11-hydroxy-6-(4-isopropylphenyl)-6a,12a-dimethyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)-tetrone **153** {A3,B3,C7}. MS *m*/*z* 717 (M^{+ 79}Br/⁸¹Br). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.10 (d, *J*=6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.10 (d, *J*=6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.51 (s, 3H), 2.29 (m, 1H), 2.66–2.79 (3H), 3.01 (ddd, *J*=14.7 Hz, 10.5 Hz, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 3.11 (m, 1H), 3.25 (dd, *J*=5.5 Hz, 4.4 Hz, 1H), 3.35 (ddd, *J*=8.5 Hz, 8.5 Hz, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 3.43 (dd, *J*=8.7 Hz, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 3.60 (br s, 1H), 5.59 (m, 1H), 6.75–6.79 (m, 2H), 6.83–6.87 (m, 2H), 7.10–7.14 (m, 2H), 7.21 (d, *J*=8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.60–7.64 (m, 5H), 7.68 (d, *J*=8.2 Hz, 1H), 12.50 (s, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₃₆H₃⁷⁹Br₂NO₅ (M⁺): 715.0569. Found: 715.0570.

4.5.26. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-2-Benzyl-10-bromo-11-hydroxy-6-(4-isopropylphenyl)-6a,12adimethyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra-[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)-tetrone 154 {A3,B3,C8}. MS *m*/*z* 651 (M^{+ 79}Br). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.08 (d, *J*=6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.09 (d, *J*=6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.32 (s, 3H), 2.17 (m, 1H), 2.63–2.71 (3H), 2.94 (m, 1H), 2.99 (m, 1H), 3.17 (dd, J=5.9 Hz, 4.4 Hz, 1H), 3.20 (ddd, J=9.4 Hz, 8.1 Hz, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 3.24 (dd, J=8.7 Hz, 5.8 Hz, 1H), 3.42 (br s, 1H), 4.62 (d, J=14.0 Hz, 1H), 4.67 (d, J=14.0 Hz, 1H), 5.48 (m, 1H), 6.64–6.68 (m, 2H), 6.78–6.82 (m, 2H), 7.16 (d, J=8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.24–7.32 (m, 5H), 7.65 (d, J=8.2 Hz, 1H), 12.49 (s, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) m/z calcd for C₃₇H₃₄⁷⁹BrNO₅ (M⁺): 651.1620. Found: 651.1624.

4.5.27. (3a*RS*,6S*R*,6a*RS*,12aS*R*,13a*RS*,13bS*R*)-10-Bromo-6-(4-bromophenyl)-11-hydroxy-6a,12a-dimethyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(*2H*)-tetrone 157 {A3,B4,C1}. MS *m*/*z* 599 (M^{+ 79}Br/⁸¹Br). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.41 (s, 3H), 2.16 (m, 1H), 2.56 (ddd, *J*=14,8 Hz, 8.3 Hz, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 2.62 (ddd, *J*=16.1 Hz, 7.2 Hz, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 2.78 (m, 1H), 3.00 (ddd, *J*=14.8 Hz, 9.3 Hz, 6.4 Hz, 1H), 3.19 (ddd, *J*=8.4 Hz, 8.3 Hz, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 3.24 (dd, *J*=8.7 Hz, 5.5 Hz, 1H), 3.31 (dd, *J*=6.4 Hz, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 3.45 (br s, 1H), 5.44 (m, 1H), 6.93–6.97 (m, 2H), 7.23 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.24–7.27 (m, 2H), 7.67 (br s, 1H), 7.83 (d, *J*= 8.1 Hz, 1H), 12.60 (s, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₂₇H⁷⁹₂Br₂NO₅ (M⁺): 596.9786. Found: 596.9783.

4.5.28. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-2-(4-Acetylphenyl)-10-bromo-6-(4-chlorophenyl)-11-hydroxy-6a,12a-dimethyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)-tetrone **172** {A3,B5,C6}. MS *m*/*z* 673 (M⁺ ⁸¹Br). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.38 (s, 3H), 2.27 (m, 1H), 2.62 (m, 1H), 2.64 (s, 3H), 2.74 (br dd, *J*=15.9 Hz, 7.1 Hz, 1H), 2.87 (m, 1H), 3.02 (ddd, *J*=14.9 Hz, 8.8 Hz, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 3.29 (ddd, *J*=9.0 Hz, 8.6 Hz, 1.9 Hz, 1H), 3.34 (dd, *J*=6.4 Hz, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 3.39 (dd, *J*=8.6 Hz, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 3.42 (br s, 1H), 5.48 (m, 1H), 6.99–7.04 (m, 2H), 7.23–7.26 (m, 2H), 7.25 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.30–7.34 (m, 2H), 7.84 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.05–8.08 (m, 2H), 12.62 (s, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₃₅H⁷⁹₂₇BrClNO₆ (M⁺): 671.0710. Found: 671.0710.

4.5.29. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-10-Bromo-2-(4-bromophenyl)-6-(4-fluorophenyl)-11-hydroxy-6a,12a-dimethyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)-tetrone **183** {**A3,B6,C7**}. MS *m*/*z* 693 (M^{+ 79}Br/⁸¹Br). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.38 (s, 3H), 2.25 (m, 1H), 2.62 (ddd, *J*=14.8 Hz, 8.3 Hz, 6.4 Hz, 1H), 2.73 (ddd, *J*=15.8 Hz, 7.1 Hz, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 2.87 (m, 1H), 3.02 (ddd, *J*=14.8 Hz, 9.0 Hz, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 3.30 (ddd, *J*=9.1 Hz, 8.4 Hz, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 3.34 (dd, *J*=6.4 Hz, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 3.36 (dd, *J*=8.4 Hz, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 3.43 (br s, 1H), 5.46 (m, 1H), 6.83–6.89 (m, 2H), 7.00–7.05 (m, 2H), 7.04–7.08 (m, 2H), 7.25 (d, *J*= 8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.58–7.63 (m, 2H), 7.83 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H), 12.63 (s, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) *m*/*z* calcd for C₃₃H²⁹₂Br₂FNO₅ (M⁺): 691.0005. Found: 691.0019.

4.5.30. (3aRS,6SR,6aRS,12aSR,13aRS,13bSR)-2-Benzyl-10-bromo-6-(4-fluorophenyl)-11-hydroxy-6a,12a-dimethyl-3a,4,6,6a,12a,13,13a,13b-octahydro-1*H*-anthra[2,3-*e*]isoindole-1,3,7,12(2*H*)-tetrone 184 {A3,B6,C8}. MS *m*/*z* 627 (M^{+ 79}Br). ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 1.25 (s, 3H), 2.13 (m, 1H), 2.25 (ddd, J=14.7 Hz, 8.6 Hz, 6.4 Hz, 1H), 2.65 (br dd, J=15.8 Hz, 7.3 Hz, 1H), 2.75 (m, 1H), 2.95 (ddd, J=14.7 Hz, 8.8 Hz, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 3.13–3.19 (3H), 3.27 (dd, J=6.4 Hz, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 4.59 (d, J=14.1 Hz, 1H), 4.63 (d, J=14.1 Hz, 1H), 5.30 (m, 1H), 6.77–6.82 (m, 2H), 6.84–6.88 (m, 2H), 7.19 (d, J=8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.25–7.31 (m, 5H), 7.81 (d, J=8.1 Hz, 1H), 12.62 (s, 1H). Exact mass (EI⁺) m/z calcd for $C_{34}H_{27}^{79}BrFNO_5$ (M⁺): 627.1057. Found: 627.1059.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (SFB-473). Dr. Stefan Löber is acknowledged for helpful discussions.

Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.092.

References and notes

- 1. Schreiber, S. L. Nat. Chem. Biol. 2005, 1, 64-66.
- Schwimmer, L. J.; Rohatgi, P.; Azizi, B.; Seley, K. L.; Doyle, D. F. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 2004, 101, 14707–14712.
- 3. Saenger, W.; Orth, P.; Kisker, C.; Hillen, W.; Hinrichs, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 2042–2052.
- 4. Berens, C.; Hillen, W. Eur. J. Biochem. 2003, 270, 3109-3121.
- Henssler, E.-M.; Scholz, O.; Lochner, S.; Gmeiner, P.; Hillen, W. *Biochemistry* 2004, 43, 9512–9518.
- 6. Bettinetti, L.; Löber, S.; Hübner, H.; Gmeiner, P. J. Comb. Chem. 2005, 7, 309–316.
- Rodriguez Loaiza, P.; Löber, S.; Hübner, H.; Gmeiner, P. J. Comb. Chem. 2006, 8, 252–261.
- Boger, D. L.; Desharnais, J.; Capps, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 4138–4176.
- Kisker, C.; Hinrichs, W.; Tovar, K.; Hillen, W.; Saenger, W. J. Mol. Biol. 1995, 247, 260–280.
- 10. Woo, S.; Squires, N.; Fallis, A. G. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 573-575.
- Kwon, O.; Bum Park, S.; Schreiber, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 13402–13404.
- For a very recent example, see: Messer, R.; Pell, X.; Marzinzik, A. L.; Lehmann, H.; Zimmermann, J.; Häner, R. Synlett 2005, 2441–2444.
- 13. Prévost, C.; Miginiac, P.; Miginiac-Groizeleau, L. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1964, 2485–2492.
- 14. Yamazaki, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 3355-3357.
- 15. Catir, M.; Kilic, H. Synlett 2004, 2151-2154.
- Kobayashi, S.; Hachiya, I.; Araki, M.; Ishitani, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 3755–3758.
- Motoyoshiya, J.; Masue, Y.; Iwayama, G.; Yoshioka, S.; Nishii, Y.; Aoyama, H. *Synthesis* **2004**, 2099–2102.
- Vasanth, S.; Balakrishna, K.; George, N. K.; Veluchamy, G. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 2004, 81, 509–510.
- 19. Chin, C. S.; Lee, H.; Park, H.; Kim, M. Organometallics 2002, 21, 3889–3896.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6909-6917

Tetrahedron

Construction of C-nucleosides diversified by [3+2] cycloaddition from a sugar-based mesoionic ring

María J. Arévalo,^{a,*} Martín Ávalos,^a Reyes Babiano,^a Pedro Cintas,^a José L. Jiménez,^a Mark E. Light^b and Juan C. Palacios^a

^aDepartamento de Química Orgánica, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad de Extremadura, E-06071 Badajoz, Spain ^bDepartment of Chemistry, University of Southampton, Highfield, Southampton SO17 1BJ, UK

> Received 6 March 2006; revised 24 April 2006; accepted 27 April 2006 Available online 23 May 2006

Abstract—A mesoionic acyclic C-nucleoside (4), serves as the starting chiron to construct highly functionalized 2-aza-7-thiabicyclo[2.2.1]heptanes and heptenes by means of a [3+2] cycloaddition with acetylenic and olefinic dipolarophiles. Further elimination of either sulfur or hydrogen sulfide leads to acyclic C-nucleosides bearing a heterocyclic moiety of 2-pyridone. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The synthesis of modified nucleosides and glycoconjugates has come of age.^{1,2} Construction of a heterocyclic aglycon or spacer by means of cycloaddition reactions represents a convenient atom-economy strategy. Of particular relevance are stereocontrolled [3+2] cycloadditions, which can be employed to access numerous natural products and pharmaceuticals.³ Renewed interest in [3+2] cycloadditions emerges from a few reactions of orthogonal functionalization, well suited for biological applications, such as in click chemistry repertories.⁴ Our research group has been largely involved in asymmetric [3+2] cycloadditions of 1,3-thiazolium-4-olates (thioisomünchnones) using carbohydrates as stereodifferentiating elements.⁵ In a recent study we were able to synthesize a mesoionic nucleus with an acyclic carbohydrate chain as substituent and we explored the reactivity of the heterocyclic moiety.⁶ The present work extends such results to other unsaturated dipolarophiles to produce new C-nucleosides containing highly functionalized and polycyclic fragments derived from pyrid-2-ones. It has been recently demonstrated that C-nucleosides bearing the pyrid-2-one core serve as a non-disruptive pyrimidine analog in DNA duplex.⁷ Moreover, the pyridone chromophore absorbs in the near UV range (λ >300 nm) where common nucleic acid bases are transparent, and exhibit room temperature fluorescence. These properties enabling selective excitation in an oligonucleotide chain make these compounds interesting as potential fluorescent and/or photochemical probes in nucleic acids. $^{\rm 8}$

2. Results and discussion

As reported in a previous communication,⁶ the 1,3-thiazolium-4-olate system 4 (Scheme 1), can easily be prepared from *N*-methyl- δ -thiogluconamide⁹ (3) in a few step sequence using δ -gluconolactone (1) as raw material.



Scheme 1.

Despite 4 turned out to be air sensitive and slowly decomposed at room temperature, it underwent 1,3-dipolar cycloadditions in dry solvents with several types of acetylenic and olefinic dipolarophiles.

Thioisomünchnones are known to react with acetylenic dipolarophiles to form either pyrid-2-ones or thiophenes,¹⁰

Keywords: 1,3-Dipolar cycloaddition; Mesoionic heterocycle; C-nucleoside; Pyridone; Thioisomünchnone.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +34 924 289 380; fax: +34 924 271 149; e-mail: arevalo@unex.es

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.093

by extrusion of sulfur or isocyanate, respectively, from the initially generated cycloadducts, which to the best of our knowledge have never been isolated. However, the thioiso-münchnone **4** reacted with acetylenic dipolarophiles such as dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate (**5**) and methyl propiolate (**6**) in refluxing toluene and CH_2Cl_2 , respectively, to afford single products, which were identified as cyclo-adducts **7** and **8** (Scheme 2).



Scheme 2.

The main structural features of these initial bicyclic systems were established by NMR spectroscopy and combustion analysis. Particularly, in the ¹³C NMR spectra of 7, the resonances at δ 83.3 and 69.4 ppm were attributed to the bridgehead carbons C-4 and C-1, respectively. The (1*R*,4*R*) configuration proposed for 7 was established on the basis of its ¹H NMR spectrum, having a close similarity to those of **23b** and **25b** (see below). On the other hand, cycloadduct **8** was not stable enough when it was subjected to chromatographic purification on SiO₂ and spontaneously evolved into **10** after sulfur extrusion.

Desulfuration of 7 and 8 by Hg(OAc)₂ in acetic acid–acetone at room temperature also afforded the C-nucleosides 9 and 10, respectively. ¹³C NMR data supported the pyrid-2-one structure and NOE experiments on compound 10 confirmed the regiochemistry suggested for the methyl propiolate reaction. Both H-1' and H-2', located at the sugar moiety, showed NOEs with H-5 (Fig. 1).

The bimolecular cycloaddition of 2-phenylthioisomünchnones with electron-deficient olefins provides a series of bicyclic adducts, which were further reacted with NaOCH₃ to yield pyrid-2-one derivatives.¹¹ However, the 2-(N,N'-dialkylamino)thioisomünchnones showed a different behavior leading to 4,5-dihydrothiophenes by opening of the initial 1:1 cycloadduct.¹²

Thioisomünchnone **4** was found to undergo dipolar cycloaddition with asymmetric and symmetrically substituted olefinic dipolarophiles. Stable cycloadducts (**14–16**) were obtained after reaction with methyl acrylate (**11**), methyl vinyl ketone (**12**), and acrylonitrile (**13**) (Scheme 3).



Figure 1. NOEs measured for compound 10.



Scheme 3.

The structure of **16a** could unequivocally be established by single-crystal X-ray analysis,⁶ which shows the exo disposition of the cyano group. In the ¹H NMR spectrum of **16a**, the resonances of H-5_{endo}, H-6_{endo}, and H-6_{exo} appeared as double doublets. The more deshielding signal centered at δ 3.56 ppm contains a trans coupling (J=3.6 Hz) and a cis coupling (J=8.0 Hz) and it is therefore assigned to H-5_{endo}. The signal at δ 2.85 ppm showed a trans coupling as above and a geminal one (J=12.7 Hz), consistent with the H-6_{exo} proton. Finally, the resonance at 2.74 ppm with cis and geminal couplings was attributed to H-6_{endo}. Although H-5_{endo}, $H-6_{endo}$, and $H-6_{exo}$ of the cycloadduct **16b** isolated from the same reaction, resonated at slightly different chemical shifts: δ 3.51 ppm (H-5_{endo}) and 2.80 ppm (H-6_{exo} and H-6_{endo}), they showed a similar coupling pattern, thus allowing us to suggest that 16b was obtained from the approach of the dipolarophile to the opposite face of the dipole. Moreover, the chemical shifts for C-5 and C-6 of 16a and 16b proved that the CN group is located at C-5 in both cases. The regio- and stereochemistry of the cycloadducts 14 and 15, assigned by analogy with the NMR data of 16a and 16b (Tables 1 and 2) was confirmed by the existence of NOEs between the H-6_{endo} proton and the N-CH₃ groups in these compounds. This evidence together with the cis coupling observed for the signal of the H-6_{endo} proton suggest that the H-5 proton lies in an endo disposition in all cases.

Likewise, the optical rotatory power can be helpful for the assignment of the configuration of the bridgehead carbon atoms in these cycloadducts. Compound **16a** showed an optical rotation (+6.0°) as low as they were found for **14a** (-0.5°) and **15a** (+4.0°). However, higher values were measured for the cycloadducts **14b–16b** (+56.0<[α]_D<+67.5).¹³

None of these reactions showed appreciable facial diastereoselectivity and diastereomeric mixtures (ca. 1:1 ratio) of *exo* cycloadducts arose from the approach of the dipolarophile to both faces of the dipole (Scheme 4). However, these cycloadditions proceeded with complete regioselectivity, which was in turn opposite to that observed in the case of 2-(N,N'-dialkylamino)thioisomünchnones, largely explored by our research group.^{5,12,14} Although this distinctive behavior could be attributed to the presence of an amino substituent in the latter mesoionics, exerting a profound

Table 1. ¹H NMR chemical shift (ppm) data of compounds 14–16 (CDCl₃)

Compound	H-5 _{endo}	H-6 _{exo}	H-6 _{endo}	H-1′	H-2′	H-3′	H-4′	H-5′	H-5″	
14a	3.30	2.70	2.60	5.76	5.62	5.44	5.12	4.37	4.15	
14b	3.28	2.78	2.56	5.84	5.51	5.42	5.15	4.38	4.19	
15a	3.44	2.70	2.50	5.75	5.63	5.45	5.15	4.38	4.17	
15b	3.39	2.76	2.44	5.82	5.51	5.42	5.15	4.37	4.19	
16a	3.56	2.85	2.74	5.77	5.60	5.44	5.13	4.39	4.17	
16b	3.51	2.80	2.80	5.82	5.46	5.41	5.14	4.38	4.19	

Table 2. ¹³C NMR chemical shift (ppm) data of compounds 14–16 (CDCl₃)

Compound	C-1	C-3	C-4	C-5	C-6	C-1′	C-2′	C-3′	C-4′	C-5′
14a	70.63	174.73	79.40	50.39	40.69	67.50	68.26	69.56	69.11	61.66
14b	70.91	174.48	78.21	49.31	40.72	67.57	67.66	69.42	69.42	61.47
15a	70.16	174.79	79.53	56.95	39.68	67.24	68.12	69.57	69.03	61.71
15b	70.50	174.55	78.22	55.59	39.76	67.53	67.53	69.35	69.35	61.45
16a	69.90	173.12	80.09	69.41	42.45	66.84	67.93	69.65	69.15	61.73
16b	70.24	172.72	78.79	69.22	42.45	67.05	67.42	69.22	69.22	61.43

stereodirecting effect, a satisfactory rationale has not yet been provided and additional studies will be required.



Scheme 4.

Cycloadducts 14–16 were transformed into the corresponding pyrid-2-one C-nucleosides 10, 17, and 18, by elimination of hydrogen sulfide using mercury(II) acetate in acetic acidacetone (Scheme 5). The formation of 10, previously obtained from 4 and methyl propiolate, evidences the regiochemical control of these cycloadditions. The structures for pyrid-2-ones 17 and 18 were assigned on the basis of their analytical data and by comparison of their NMR spectra with those of 10 (Table 3).



Scheme 5.

Table 3. Selected ${}^{13}C$ NMR chemical shift (ppm) data of compounds 10, 17, and 18 (CDCl₃)

Compound	C-2	C-3	C-4	C-5	C-6
10 17	162.41 162.48	134.88 134.41	142.67 146.40	105.11 104 57	138.57 142 73
18	160.93	132.62	144.31	105.73	137.31

Diastereomeric mixtures of cycloadducts 22-24 were obtained when 4 was reacted with symmetrically substituted cyclic olefins such as *N*-phenylmaleimide (19), 1,4-benzoquinone (20), and 1,4-naphthoquinone (21) (Scheme 6).



Scheme 6.

Suitable crystals for X-ray diffraction analysis could also be obtained in the case of **23a** (Fig. 2).¹⁵ It is interesting to note that the tricyclic aglycon of **23a**, unlike **22** and **24**, contains only two stereogenic centers due to aromatization of the quinone moiety. This structural simplification proves that diastereomers **23a** and **23b** do not emerge from *endo/exo* approaches of the dipolarophile to the same face of the dipole, but rather by *exo* attack of the dipolarophile to both faces of the thioisomünchnone.

The nature of the rings fused to the 2-aza-7-thiabicyclo[2.2.1]heptane system of **22** and **24** has a remarkable influence on their spectroscopic data, and prevents the unequivocal assignment of their configurations by means of ¹H- and ¹³C-chemical shift correlations with those of **14–16**. However, aromatization of the naphthoquinone system of **24a** and **24b**, easily achieved by treatment of such a diastereomeric mixture with SiO₂ (Scheme 7), led to a mixture of



Figure 2. Perspective view of the structure of 23a.

25a and **25b**, whose spectroscopic data were very similar to those of **23a** and **23b**, respectively. Moreover, the ¹H NMR spectrum of **7**, which also contains an endocyclic double bond between C-5 and C-6 atoms, exhibits the same proton pattern of ¹H NMR of **23b** and **25b**. This fact points to a (1*R*,4*R*) configuration for **7** (Table 4).





Table 4. ^1H NMR chemical shift (ppm) data of compounds 7, 23, and 25 (CDCl_3)

Compound	H-1′	H-2′	H-3′	H-4′	H-5′	H-5″	
7	6.14	5.54	5.37	5.20	4.41	4.14	
23a	6.51	5.89	5.33	5.64	4.99	4.01	
23b	6.27	5.61	5.41	5.27	4.43	4.14	
25a	6.62	5.82	5.59	5.33	4.76	4.30	
25b	6.47	5.58	5.49	5.30	4.40	4.18	

As above, cycloadducts 22 and 23 gave rise to pyrid-2-one C-nucleosides 26 and 27 upon treatment with $Hg(OAc)_2$ in acetic acid at room temperature. However, desulfuration of 24 to give 28 could only be carried out using Raney nickel in refluxing 2-butanol.



3. Conclusions

In conclusion, this paper reports a rapid access to enantiomerically pure acyclic C-nucleosides containing a pyrid-2one moiety based on the 1,3-dipolar cycloadditions of a carbohydrate-derived 1,3-thiazolium-4-olate system with acetylenic and olefinic dipolarophiles. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first time stable cycloadducts have been isolated in the reaction of activated triple bonds (e.g., dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate) with thioisomünchnones. Despite these [3+2] cycloadditions processes were found to be regiospecific, no appreciable facial selectivity was induced by appended chiral carbohydrate substituent. Efforts to understand this stereochemical outcome by theoretical studies as well as further pursuits to improve the diastereoselection are currently under way in our laboratories.

4. Experimental

4.1. General methods

Melting points were determined on a capillary apparatus and are uncorrected. Optical rotations were measured at the sodium line at 18 ± 2 °C. Analytical and preparative TLC were performed on silica gel with monitoring by means of UV light at 254 and 360 nm and iodine vapors. Flash chromatography was performed with silica gel (400–230 mesh). IR spectra were recorded on KBr pellets. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were obtained at 400 and 100 MHz, respectively, in CDCl₃ (Me₄Si as internal standard) unless otherwise specified. Compounds **2** and **3** were prepared according to literature procedures.⁹

4.2. Synthesis and characterization

4.2.1. 2-(1',2',3',4',5'-Penta-O-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1-yl)-3-methyl-5-phenyl-1,3-thiazolium-4-olate (4). To a solution of N-methyl-D-thiogluconamide (3) (1.0 g, 2.3 mmol) in dry chloroform (10 mL) was added dropwise a solution of α -chlorophenylacetyl chloride (0.7 mL, 4.6 mmol) in dry chloroform (5 mL). After stirring at room temperature for 15 min and refluxing for 30 min, the reaction mixture was washed with water. The organic layer was dried (MgSO₄) and concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was washed with petroleum ether and treated with a mixture of chloroform-diethyl ether-petroleum ether to give 4 (0.8 g, 63%) as a yellowish solid; mp 65–70 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_D$ +128 (c 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): v_{max} 1751, 1624, 1371, 1217; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.90–7.16 (m, 5H), 6.30 (d, 1H, J=6.3 Hz), 5.69 (dd, 1H, J=4.3 and 6.2 Hz), 5.34 (dd, 1H, J=4.3 and 6.6 Hz), 5.02 (m, 1H), 4.38 (dd, 1H, J=2.5 and 12.7 Hz), 4.09 (dd, 1H, J=5.6 and 12.7 Hz), 3.81 (s, 3H), 2.18 (s, 3H), 2.15 (s, 3H), 2.10 (s, 3H), 2.09 (s, 3H), 2.05 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 170.72, 169.72, 169.51, 169.26, 169.01, 159.78, 143.60, 132.60, 128.62, 125.66, 124.07, 99.87, 68.95, 68.50, 68.24, 67.06, 61.38, 33.08, 20.62, 20.49, 20.35, 20.25.

4.2.2. (1R,4R)-1-(1',2',3',4',5'-Penta-O-acetyl-D-*gluco*-pentitol-1-yl)-2-aza-2-methyl-5,6-dimethoxycarbonyl-3-oxo-4-phenyl-7-thiabicyclo[2.2.1]hept-5-ene (7). To a solution of 4 (1.0 g, 1.8 mmol) in dry toluene (15 mL) dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate (0.3 mL, 2.2 mmol) was added, and the mixture was refluxed for 5 h. After removal of the solvent, the crude product was purified by flash chromatography (diethyl ether) to give 7 (0.5 g, 40%); mp 60-65 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$ +66 (c 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{\rm max}$ 2959, 1750, 1624, 1440, 1373, 1213, 1128, 1044, 976; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.66–7.37 (m, 5H), 6.14 (d, 1H, J=2.9 Hz), 5.54 (dd, 1H, J=5.9 and 5.4 Hz), 5.37 (t, 1H, J=5.7 Hz), 5.20 (m, 1H), 4.41 (dd, 1H, J=3.5 and 12.4 Hz), 4.14 (dd, 1H, J=5.3 and 12.4 Hz), 3.79 (s, 3H), 3.51 (s, 3H), 3.04 (s, 3H), 2.17 (s. 3H), 2.13 (s. 3H), 2.09 (s. 3H), 2.08 (s. 3H), 2.07 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 178.52, 170.49, 169.75, 169.69, 169.23, 169.12, 163.01, 162.50, 150.31, 149.80, 130.93, 128.96, 128.29, 128.11, 83.28, 69.36, 68.08, 67.81, 65.29, 52.94, 52.45, 33.08, 20.76, 20.59, 20.33. Anal. Calcd for C31H35NO15S: C, 53.68; H, 5.08; N, 2.02; S, 4.62. Found: C, 53.96; H, 5.06; N, 1.82; S, 4.47.

4.2.3. 6-(1',2',3',4',5'-Penta-O-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1yl)-4,5-dimethoxycarbonyl-1-methyl-3-phenylpyrid-2one (9). To a suspension of $Hg(OAc)_2$ (0.1 g, 0.3 mmol) in acetic acid (3 mL) compound 7 (0.1 g, 0.2 mmol) was added and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature. Acetone (3 mL) was mixed with the resultant gel and the insoluble material was filtered off and washed with acetone. The filtrate was diluted with water, filtered, adjusted to pH 5 with sodium hydrogen carbonate, and extracted with chloroform. The organic layer was washed with sodium hydrogen carbonate solution (1 M) followed by water, dried (MgSO₄), and concentrated in vacuo. Purification of the residue by thin layer preparative chromatography (diethyl ether) afforded 9. which crystallized as a white solid from diethyl ether–petroleum ether (0.02 g, 30%); mp 75 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$ +74.5 (*c* 0.5, chloroform); IR $\nu_{\rm max}$ (KBr, cm⁻¹) 3418, 2955, 1751, 1655, 1541, 1439, 1371, 1304, 1219, 1045; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.41-7.22 (m, 5H), 6.49 (m, 1H), 5.91 (dd, 1H, J=3.2 and 5.7 Hz), 5.31 (dd, 1H, J=3.4 and 6.2 Hz), 5.09 (m, 1H), 4.29 (dd, 1H, J=3.7 and 12.3 Hz), 4.10 (dd, 1H, J=6.0 and 12.2 Hz), 3.78 (s, 3H), 2.72 (s, 3H), 3.46 (s, 3H), 2.09 (s, 9H), 2.02 (s, 3H), 1.98 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 169.30, 168.79, 168.58, 165.33, 164.99, 160.66, 143.13, 139.52, 133.83, 128.76, 127.71, 127.24, 110.79, 70.33, 69.70, 68.82, 68.32, 60.97, 52.23, 51.60, 33.73, 19.84, 19.68. Anal. Calcd for C₃₁H₃₅NO₁₅: C, 56.28; H, 5.33; N, 2.12. Found: C, 55.50; H, 5.20; N, 2.07.

4.2.4. 6-(1'.2'.3'.5'-Penta-O-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1-yl)-4-methoxycarbonyl-2-methyl-3-phenylpyrid-2-one (10). Method A: A solution of 4 (1.0 g, 1.81 mmol) and methyl propiolate (0.2 mL, 2.17 mmol) in dry dichloromethane (15 mL) was heated at reflux for 10 h. The solvent was then evaporated under reduced pressure and the crude product was purified by flash chromatography (diethyl ether) and then poured into a suspension of $Hg(OAc)_2$ (0.1 g, 0.3 mmol) in acetic acid (3 mL) at room temperature and processed as described for 9 to give 10 (0.2 g, 19%) as a white solid; mp 80 °C; $[\alpha]_D$ 56.5 (c 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) ν_{max} 3472, 2960, 1749, 1653, 1555, 1454, 1373, 1217, 1049; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.40–7.27 (m, 5H), 6.41 (s, 1H), 6.07 (d, 1H, J=4.6 Hz), 5.60 (t, 1H, J=4.7 Hz), 5.42 (t, 1H, J=5.3 Hz), 5.07 (m, 1H), 4.36 (dd, 1H, J=2.9 and 12.6 Hz), 4.10 (dd, 1H, J=6.2 and 12.6 Hz), 3.75 (s, 3H), 3.54 (s, 3H), 2.20 (s, 3H), 2.13 (s,

6H), 2.08 (s, 3H), 2.07 (s, 3H); 13 C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 170.63, 169.80, 169.49, 167.36, 162.41, 142.67, 138.57, 134.88, 131.62, 129.12, 128.10, 127.87, 105.11, 70.11, 69.19, 68.95, 68.41, 61.48, 52.31, 31.90, 20.65, 20.68, 20.62, 20.22. Anal. Calcd for C₂₉H₃₃NO₁₃: C, 57.71; H, 5.51; N, 2.32. Found: C, 57.54; H, 5.53; N, 2.23. *Method B*: A mixture of cycloadducts **14a** and **14b** (0.13 g, 0.2 mmol) was poured into a suspension of Hg(OAc)₂ (0.1 g, 0.3 mmol) in acetic acid (3 mL) at room temperature and processed as described for **9** to give **10** (0.3 g, 35%).

4.2.5. (1S,4R,5R)-1-(1',2',3',4',5'-Penta-O-acetyl-D-glucopentitol-1-vl)-2-aza-5-methoxycarbonvl-2-methyl-3-oxo-4-phenyl-7-thiabicyclo[2.2.1]heptane (14a) and (1R,4S,5S)-1-(1',2',3',4',5'-penta-O-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1-yl)-2-aza-5-methoxycarbonyl-2-methyl-3-oxo-4phenyl-7-thiabicyclo[2.2.1]heptane (14b). To a solution of 4 (1.0 g, 1.8 mmol) in dry chloroform (15 mL) methyl acrylate (0.2 mL, 2.2 mmol) was added, and the mixture was refluxed for 12 h. After removal of the solvent, the crude product was purified by flash chromatography (diethyl ether) and the two diastereomeric cycloadducts 14a (0.2 g, 12%) and 14b (0.2 g, 12%) were separated by thin layer preparative chromatography (diethyl ether). 14a: mp 83 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$ –0.5 (*c* 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{\rm max}$ 2965, 1750, 1447, 1373, 1213, 1045; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.42– 7.26 (m, 5H), 5.76 (d, 1H, J=5.1 Hz), 5.62 (t, 1H, J=4.9 Hz), 5.44 (t, 1H, J=4.9 Hz), 5.12 (m, 1H), 4.37 (dd, 1H, J=3.3 and 12.4 Hz), 4.15 (dd, 1H, J=5.3 and 12.4 Hz), 3.30 (m, 1H, J=4.3 and 8.0 Hz), 3.25 (s, 3H), 2.84 (s, 3H), 2.70 (dd, 1H, J=4.4 and 12.3 Hz), 2.60 (dd, 1H, J=8.0 and 12.3 Hz), 2.19 (s, 3H), 2.15 (s, 3H), 2.12 (s, 3H), 2.08 (s, 3H), 2.02 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 174.73, 170.57, 170.39, 169.80, 169.42, 169.27, 131.75, 128.39, 127.85, 79.40, 70.63, 69.56, 69.11, 68.26, 67.50, 61.66, 51.76, 50.39, 40.69, 28.75, 20.96, 20.65, 20.55. Anal. Calcd for C₂₉H₃₅NO₁₃S: C, 54.62; H, 5.53; N, 2.20; S, 5.03. Found: C, 54.57; H, 5.58; N, 2.14; S, 5.07. 14b: mp 80 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_D$ +56.0 (c 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) ν_{max} 2955, 1751, 1447, 1373, 1213, 1043; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) & 7.43-7.27 (m, 5H), 5.84 (d, 1H, J=3.3 Hz), 5.51 (dd, 1H, J=3.7 and 4.9 Hz), 5.42 (t, 1H, J=4.9 Hz), 5.15 (m, 1H), 4.38 (dd, 1H, J=2.9 and 12.5 Hz), 4.19 (dd, 1H, J=5.8 and 12.4 Hz), 3.28 (m, 1H), 3.26 (s, 3H), 2.88 (s, 3H), 2.78 (dd, 1H, J=4.4 and 12.8 Hz), 2.56 (dd, 1H, J=8.2 and 12.7 Hz), 2.25 (s, 3H), 2.17 (s, 3H), 2.13 (s, 3H), 2.10 (s, 3H), 2.09 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 174.48, 170.78, 170.63, 169.96, 169.72, 169.39, 131.85, 128.52, 128.31, 127.93, 78.21, 70.91, 69.42, 67.66, 67.57, 61.47, 51.80, 49.31, 40.72, 28.22, 20.89, 20.71, 20.57. Anal. Calcd for C₂₉H₃₅NO₁₃S: C, 54.62; H, 5.53; N, 2.20; S, 5.03. Found: C, 54.63; H, 5.47; N, 2.28; S, 4.84.

4.2.6. (1S,4R,5R)-5-Acetyl-1-(1',2',3',4',5'-penta-*O*-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1-yl)-2-aza-2-methyl-3-oxo-4-phenyl-7-thiabicyclo[2.2.1]heptane (15a) and (1R,4S,5S)-5acetyl-1-(1',2',3',4',5'-penta-*O*-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1yl)-2-aza-2-methyl-3-oxo-4-phenyl-7-thiabicyclo[2.2.1]heptane (15b). To a solution of 4 (1.0 g, 1.8 mmol) in dry chloroform (15 mL) methyl vinyl ketone (0.3 mL, 2.2 mmol) was added, and the mixture was refluxed for 12 h. After removal of the solvent, the crude product was purified by flash chromatography (eluant: diethyl ether) and the two diastereomeric cycloadducts 15a (0.2 g, 18%) and 15b (0.2 g, 18%) were separated by preparative thin layer chromatography (diethyl ether). **15a**: mp 100 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_D$ +4.0 (c 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): ν_{max} 2980, 1751, 1707, 1371, 1215, 1043; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.51–7.27 (m, 5H), 5.75 (d, 1H, J=5.3 Hz), 5.63 (t, 1H, J=4.9 Hz), 5.45 (dd, 1H, J=4.6 and 6.5 Hz,), 5.15 (m, 1H), 4.38 (dd, 1H, J=3.1 and 12.5 Hz), 4.17 (dd, 1H, J=5.3 and 12.5 Hz), 3.44 (dd, 1H, J=4.3 Hz), 2.85 (s, 3H), 2.70 (dd, 1H, J=4.3 and 12.3 Hz), 2.50 (dd, 1H, J=8.0 and 12.3 Hz), 2.20 (s, 3H), 2.18 (s. 3H), 2.15 (s. 3H), 2.12 (s. 3H), 2.09 (s. 3H), 1.68 (s. 3H): ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 204.02, 174.79, 170.60, 170.48, 169.82, 169.42, 169.34, 131.92, 128.76, 128.41, 79.53, 70.16, 69.57, 69.03, 68.12, 67.24, 61.71, 56.95, 39.68, 30.19, 28.62, 20.69, 20.55. Anal. Calcd for C₂₉H₃₅NO₁₂S: C, 56.03; H, 5.67; N, 2.25; S, 5.16. Found: C, 55.85; H, 5.70; N, 2.49; S, 5.18. 15b: mp 80 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$ +62.5 (*c* 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) $\nu_{\rm max}$ 2961, 1744, 1707, 1373, 1215, 1043; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.49– 7.28 (m, 5H), 5.82 (d, 1H, J=3.5 Hz), 5.51 (t, 1H, J=4.8 Hz), 5.42 (dd, 1H, J=5.2 and 6.3 Hz), 5.15 (m, 1H), 4.37 (dd, 1H, J=2.9 and 12.5 Hz), 4.19 (dd, 1H, J=5.8 and 12.4 Hz), 3.39 (dd, 1H, J=4.3 and 8.0), 2.87 (s, 3H), 2.76 (dd, 1H, J=4.4 and 12.8 Hz), 2.44 (dd, 1H, J=8.1 and 12.8 Hz), 2.25 (s, 3H), 2.17 (s, 3H), 2.14 (s, 3H), 2.10 (s, 3H), 2.09 (s, 3H), 1.69 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 204.36, 174.55, 170.60, 169.89, 169.85, 169.75, 169.40, 131.97, 128.77, 128.44, 128.26, 78.22, 70.50, 69.35, 67.53, 61.45, 55.59, 39.76, 30.50, 28.15, 20.85, 20.65, 20.59. Anal. Calcd for C₂₉H₃₅NO₁₂S: C, 56.03; H, 5.67; N, 2.25; S, 5.16. Found: C, 55.94; H, 5.83; N, 2.32; S, 5.18.

4.2.7. (1S,4R,5R)-1-(1',2',3',4',5'-Penta-O-acetyl-D-glucopentitol-1-yl)-2-aza-5-cyano-2-methyl-3-oxo-4-phenyl-7thiabicyclo[2.2.1]heptane (16a) and (1R,4S,5S)-1-(1',2',3',4',5'-penta-O-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1-yl)-2-aza-5-cyano-2-methyl-3-oxo-4-phenyl-7-thiabicyclo[2.2.1]heptane (16b). To a solution of 4 (1.0 g, 1.8 mmol) in dry chloroform (15 mL) acrylonitrile (0.1 mL, 2.2 mmol) was added, and the mixture was refluxed for 12 h. After removal of the solvent, the crude product was purified by flash chromatography (diethyl ether) and the two diastereomeric cycloadducts 16a (0.1 g, 9%) and 16b (0.1 g, 9%) were separated by preparative thin layer chromatography (diethyl ether). **16a**: mp 97 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_{D}$ +6.0 (*c* 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) ν_{max} 2949, 1753, 1715, 1448, 1373, 1215, 1047; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.47–7.43 (m, 5H), 5.77 (d, 1H, J=5.4 Hz), 5.60 (t, 1H, J=4.8 Hz), 5.44 (dd, 1H, J=4.6 and 6.5 Hz), 5.13 (m, 1H), 4.39 (dd, 1H, J=3.0 and 12.6 Hz), 4.17 (dd, 1H, J=5.1 and 12.6 Hz), 3.56 (dd, 1H, J=3.6 and 8.0 Hz), 2.85 (dd, 1H, J=8.0 and 12.7 Hz), 2.83 (s, 3H), 2.74 (dd, 1H, J=3.7 and 12.7 Hz), 2.22 (s, 3H), 2.18 (s, 3H), 2.14 (s, 3H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 2.09 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 173.12, 171.15, 170.69, 170.55, 169.78, 169.32, 130.71, 129.44, 128.77, 128.26, 118.28, 80.09, 69.90, 69.65, 69.41, 69.15, 67.93, 66.84, 61.73, 42.45, 39.09, 28.54, 20.72, 20.60, 20.52, 20.46. Anal. Calcd for C₂₈H₃₂N₂O₁₁S: C, 55.62; H, 5.33; N, 4.63; S, 5.30. Found: C, 55.31; H, 5.28; N, 4.64; S, 5.48. **16b**: mp 93.2 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$ +67.5° (c 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): $\nu_{\rm max}$ 2976, 1755, 1719, 1448, 1373, 1213, 1047; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.48–7.43 (m, 5H), 5.82 (d, 1H, J=3.8 Hz), 5.46 (t, 1H, J=4.5 Hz), 5.41 (dd, 1H, J=4.9 and 6.3 Hz),

5.14 (m, 1H), 4.38 (dd, 1H, J=2.92 and 12.5 Hz, H-5'), 4.19 (dd, 1H, J=5.6 and 12.5 Hz), 3.51 (dd, 1H, J=3.9and 8.0 Hz), 2.85 (s, 3H), 2.80 (m, 2H), 2.25 (s, 3H), 2.18 (s, 3H), 2.15 (s, 3H), 2.09 (s, 6H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 172.72, 170.62, 169.85, 169.66, 169.36, 130.78, 129.45, 128.77, 128.16, 118.19, 78.79, 70.24, 69.22, 67.42, 67.05, 61.43, 42.45, 37.87, 28.02, 20.99, 20.76, 20.67, 20.52. Anal. Calcd for C₂₈H₃₂N₂O₁₁S: C, 55.62; H, 5.33; N, 4.63; S, 5.30. Found: C, 55.33; H, 5.43; N, 4.77; S, 4.81.

4.2.8. 4-Acetyl-6-(1'.2'.3'.4'.5'-penta-O-acetyl-D-glucopentitol-1-vl)-1-methyl-3-phenylpyrid-2-one (17). A mixture of cycloadducts 15a and 15b (0.12 g, 0.2 mmol) was poured into a suspension of $Hg(OAc)_2$ (0.1 g, 0.3 mmol) in acetic acid (3 mL) at room temperature and processed as described for 9 to give 17 (0.05 g, 53%); mp 72 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$ +118.0 (c 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) $\nu_{\rm max}$ 3472, 2964, 1751, 1719, 1659, 1501, 1447, 1373, 1215, 1045; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.42-7.30 (m, 5H), 6.22 (s, 1H), 6.05 (d, 1H, J=4.7 Hz), 5.61 (t, 1H, J=4.5 Hz), 5.39 (t, 1H, J= 5.1 Hz), 5.08 (m, 1H), 4.35 (dd, 1H, J=2.8 and 12.4 Hz), 4.09 (dd, 1H, J=6.1 and 12.4 Hz), 3.77 (s, 3H), 2.19 (s, 3H), 2.15 (s, 3H), 2.09 (s, 3H), 2.08 (s, 3H), 2.07 (s, 3H), 1.79 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 203.05, 170.58, 170.43, 169.76, 169.57, 169.52, 162.48, 146.40, 142.73, 134.41, 130.02, 129.15, 128.89, 128.41, 104.57, 70.36, 69.14, 68.87, 68.39, 61.47, 31.88, 29.72, 20.67, 20.25. Anal. Calcd for C₂₉H₃₃NO₁₂: C, 59.28; H, 5.66; N, 2.38. Found: C, 59.14; H, 5.61; N, 2.19.

4.2.9. 6-(1',2',3',4',5'-Penta-O-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1vl)-4-cvano-1-methvl-3-phenvlpvrid-2-one (18). A mixture of cycloadducts 16a and 16b (0.12 g, 0.2 mmol) was poured into a suspension of $Hg(OAc)_2$ (0.1 g, 0.3 mmol) in acetic acid (3 mL) at room temperature and processed as described for 9 to give 18 (0.03 g, 33%); mp 86.5 °C; $[\alpha]_D$ +114.0 (c 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) ν_{max} 2353, 1732, 1695, 1454, 1373, 1217, 1049; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.55–7.44 (m, 5H), 6.34 (s, 1H), 6.06 (d, 1H, J=4.0 Hz), 5.57 (t, 1H, J=4.6 Hz), 5.45 (t, 1H, J=5.5 Hz), 5.06 (m, 1H), 4.38 (dd, 1H, J=2.8 and 12.5 Hz), 4.11 (dd, 1H, J=5.9 and 12.5 Hz), 3.76 (s, 3H), 2.23 (s, 3H), 2.14 (s, 6H), 2.08 (s, 6H), 2.06 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 170.71, 169.81, 169.48, 160.93, 144.31, 137.31, 132.62, 129.62, 128.29, 119.18, 116.12, 105.73, 69.62, 69.24, 69.02, 68.20, 61.46, 32.14, 20.64, 20.22. Anal. Calcd for C₂₈H₃₀N₂O₁₁: C, 58.94; H, 5.30; N, 4.91. Found: C, 58.93; H, 5.27; N, 5.03.

4.2.10. (3a*S*,4*S*,7*R*,7a*R* and 3a*R*,4*R*,7*S*,7a*S*)-4-(1',2',3',4',5'-Penta-O-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1-yl)-4,7epithio-2,3a,4,5,7,7a-hexahydro-5-methyl-2,7-diphenyl-*IH*-pyrrolo[3,4-c]pyridine-1,3,6-trione (22a and 22b). To a suspension of 4 (1.0 g, 1.8 mmol) in dry toluene (15 mL) *N*-phenylmaleimide (0.4 g, 2.2 mmol) was added, and the mixture was refluxed for 12 h. After removal of the solvent, the crude product was purified by flash chromatography (diethyl ether) and the two diastereomeric cycloadducts were separated by preparative thin layer chromatography (diethyl ether). Fast-moving diastereomer: 0.4 g (30%), mp 175– 6 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_D$ –33.5 (*c* 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) ν_{max} 2980, 1723, 1499, 1373, 1217, 1044, 955; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.43–7.19 (m, 10H), 6.35 (m, 1H), 6.10 (d, 1H, J=2.0 Hz), 5.56 (t, 1H, J=2.0 Hz), 5.10 (m, 1H), 4.50 (dd, 1H, J=2.6 and 12.5 Hz), 4.19 (dd, 1H, J=6.8 and 12.5 Hz), 4.03 (d, 1H, J=6.8 Hz), 4.03 (d, 1H, J=6.8 Hz), 3.79 (d, 1H, J=6.8 Hz), 3.10 (s, 3H), 2.20 (s, 3H), 2.18 (s, 3H), 2.10 (s, 3H), 2.04 (s, 3H), 1.99 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 174.58, 171.75, 170.53, 170.43, 169.99, 169.75, 169.55, 164.46, 131.19, 129.99, 128.99, 128.67, 128.17, 126.33, 80.67, 70.62, 69.55, 69.25, 68.51, 61.45, 55.91, 51.05, 30.69, 21.05, 20.73, 20.60. Anal. Calcd for C₃₅H₃₆N₂O₁₃S: C, 58.00; H, 5.01; N, 3.87; S, 4.42. Found: C, 57.81; H, 4.81; N, 3.63; S, 4.01. Slowmoving diastereomer: 0.4 g (30%), mp 120-1 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$ +3.0 (c 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) $\nu_{\rm max}$ 2994, 1719, 1499, 1373, 1215, 1051; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.50-7.21 (m, 10H), 5.71-5.63 (m, 3H), 5.10 (m, 1H), 4.28 (dd, 1H, J=2.4 and 12.5 Hz), 4.17 (dd, 1H, J=4.2 and 12.5 Hz), 3.92 (d, 1H, J=6.7 Hz), 3.77 (d, 1H, J=6.7 Hz), 3.09 (s, 3H), 2.26 (s, 3H), 2.17 (s, 3H), 2.12 (s, 3H), 2.08 (s, 3H), 2.05 (s, 3H); ^{13}C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 175.05, 171.12, 170.85, 170.48, 169.87, 169.68, 167.27, 131.20, 129.84, 129.11, 128.96, 128.77, 128.26, 126.44, 79.06, 70.33, 68.96, 68.13, 66.80, 66.72, 61.66, 53.86, 51.04, 30.57, 20.83, 20.64, 20.45, 20.37. Anal. Calcd for C₃₅H₃₆N₂O₁₃S: C, 58.00; H, 5.01; N, 3.87; S, 4.42. Found: C, 57.70; H, 4.85; N, 3.73; S, 4.21.

4.2.11. (15,4S)-1-(1',2',3',4',5'-Penta-O-acetyl-D-glucopentitol-1-yl)-1,4-epithio-1,2,4-trihydro-5,8-dihydroxy-2-methyl-4-phenylisoquinolin-3-one (23a) and (1R,4R)-1-(1',2',3',4',5'-penta-O-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1-yl)-1,4epithio-1,2,4-trihydro-5,8-dihydroxy-2-methyl-4-phenylisoquinolin-3-one (23b). From 1.4-benzoquinone (0.2 g. 2.2 mmol) compounds 23 were obtained as white solids as described for 22. 23a: 0.2 g (20%); mp 210 °C (dec); [a]_D +1.0 (c 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) ν_{max} 2920, 1744, 1696, 1493, 1435, 1375, 1287, 1213, 1065, 955; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 8.09–7.43 (m, 5H), 7.23 (s, 1H), 6.58 (d, 1H, J=8.9 Hz), 6.51 (s, 1H), 6.42 (d, 1H, J=8.9 Hz), 5.88 (d, 1H, J=8.5 Hz), 5.64 (dd, 1H, J=2.2 and 7.7 Hz), 5.33 (dd, 1H, J=2.2 and 8.5 Hz), 4.99 (dd, 1H, J=2.5 and 12.4 Hz), 4.38 (s, 1H), 4.01 (dd, 1H, J=10.0 and 12.4 Hz), 2.62 (s, 3H), 2.27 (s, 3H), 2.14 (s, 3H), 2.10 (s, 3H), 2.08 (s, 3H), 2.05 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 192.45, 191.92, 177.91, 172.77, 171.03, 170.04, 169.63, 169.21, 145.34, 141.67, 132.77, 130.38, 129.51, 128.57, 128.27, 119.40, 118.82, 81.80, 70.54, 68.96, 68.17, 66.26, 63.71, 62.16, 30.84, 21.31, 21.07, 20.83, 20.46. Anal. Calcd for C₃₁H₃₃NO₁₃S: C, 56.44; H, 5.04; N, 2.12; S, 4.86. Found: C, 56.29; H, 5.16; N, 2.03; S, 4.65. 23b: 0.09 g (7%); mp 115 °C; $[\alpha]_D$ +4.5 (*c* 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): *v*_{max} 3430, 1753, 1493, 1371, 1217, 1047, 955; ¹H NMR $(CDCl_3) \delta 8.13-7.46 \text{ (m, 5H)}, 6.56 \text{ (d, 1H, } J=8.9 \text{ Hz)},$ 6.43 (d, 1H, J=8.9 Hz), 6.27 (d, 1H, J=2.4 Hz), 5.61 (dd, 1H, J=2.4 and 5.8 Hz), 5.41 (dd, 1H, J=5.8 Hz), 5.27 (m, 1H), 4.43 (dd, 1H, J=3.8 and 12.3 Hz), 4.14 (dd, 1H, J=5.5 and 12.3 Hz), 2.78 (s, 3H), 2.14 (s, 3H), 2.12 (s, 6H), 2.10 (s, 3H), 2.02 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 170.69, 170.08, 169.87, 169.08, 145.25, 143.02, 132.00, 129.74, 129.56, 128.62, 127.44, 119.31, 119.13, 81.51, 69.58, 68.73, 63.44, 61.42, 30.47, 21.00, 20.85, 20.66. Anal. Calcd for C31H33NO13S: C, 56.44; H, 5.04; N, 2.12; S, 4.86. Found: C, 56.22; H, 5.25; N, 2.05; S, 4.58.

4.2.12. (1S,4R,4aR,10aS and 1R,4S,4aS,10aR)-1-(1',2',3',4',5'-Penta-O-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1-yl)-1,4-epithio-1,2,4,4a,10a-pentahydro-2-methyl-4-phenylbenzo[h]isoquinolin-3,5,10-trione (24a and 24b). From 1,4-naphtoquinone (0.3 g, 2.2 mmol) compounds 24 were obtained as white solids as described for 22. Fast-moving diastereomer: 0.2 g (10%); mp 105-110 °C; [a]_D +47 (c 0.5, chloroform), IR (KBr, cm⁻¹): ν_{max} 2955, 1750, 1686, 1449, 1371, 1215, 1049; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.89–7.39 (m, 9H), 5.56 (dd, 1H, J=1.2 and 8.2 Hz), 5.47 (dd, 1H, J=1.3 and 9.1 Hz), 5.24 (d, 1H, J=8.2 Hz), 55.02 (m, 1H), 4.22 (dd, 1H, J=2.6 and 12.5 Hz), 4.00 (m, 2H), 3.63 (d, 1H, J=7.3 Hz), 3.11 (s, 3H), 2.30 (s, 3H), 2.23 (s, 3H), 2.12 (s, 3H), 1.98 (s, 3H), 1.97 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 192.45, 191.92, 175.12, 170.60, 170.42, 169.87, 169.57, 168.15, 137.42, 137.12, 134.46, 129.87, 129.23, 128.84, 128.08, 126.89, 126.20, 79.43, 71.69, 69.11, 68.08, 67.14, 67.01, 61.68, 58.34, 56.79, 30.75, 20.82, 20.61, 20.47. Anal. Calcd for C₃₅H₃₅NO₁₃S: C, 59.23; H, 4.97; N, 1.97; S, 4.52. Found: C, 58.76; H, 4.86; N, 1.64; S, 4.55. Slowmoving diastereomer: 0.06 g (3%); mp 135 °C; $[\alpha]_D$ -32 (c 0.25, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) ν_{max} 2930, 1760, 1684, 1446, 1371, 1213, 1045; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.94-7.36 (m, 9H), 5.93 (d, 1H, J=2.9 Hz), 5.80 (t, 1H, J=3.1 Hz), 5.46 (dd, 1H, J=4.9 and 6.2 Hz), 5.15 (m, 1H), 4.44 (dd, 1H, J=3.1 and 12.4 Hz), 4.14 (dd, 1H, J=5.6and 12.4 Hz), 3.91 (d, 1H, J=7.4 Hz), 3.66 (d, 1H, J=7.3 Hz), 3.11 (s, 1H), 2.13 (s, 6H), 2.08 (s, 6H), 2.03 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 192.30, 191.30, 175.42, 170.60, 170.09, 169.75, 169.15, 168.57, 137.41, 136.21, 134.60, 134.23, 130.26, 129.04, 128.90, 127.98, 126.73, 81.73, 69.91, 69.66, 69.18, 67.90, 67.72, 61.48, 58.93, 56.62, 30.53, 20.83, 20.70, 20.59.

4.2.13. 1-(1',2',3',4',5'-Penta-O-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1yl)-1,4-epithio-1,2,4-trihydro-5,10-dihydroxy-2-methyl-4-phenylbenzo[h]isoquinoline-3-one (25a) and 1-(1',2',3',4',5'-penta-O-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1-yl)-1,4epithio-1,2,4-trihydro-5,10-dihydroxy-2-methyl-4-phenylbenzo[h]isoquinoline-3-one (25b). A mixture of diastereomers 24a and 24b (0.1 g, 0.14 mmol) was treated with silica gel (3.0 g) for 10 days. The reaction mixture was filtered and after washing three times the silica gel with ethyl acetate, combined solutions were concentrated in vacuo to give a mixture of 25a and 25b, which were separated by preparative thin layer chromatography (diethyl ether). 25a: 0.03 g (25%), mp 85 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_D$ –216 (c 0.25, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) ν_{max} 1753, 1667, 1593, 1371, 1049; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 8.12–7.42 (m, 10H), 6.62 (d, 1H, J=0.8 Hz), 5.82 (dd, 1H, J=0.8 and 7.1 Hz), 5.59 (dd, 1H, J=4.3 and 7.1 Hz), 5.33 (m, 1H), 4.76 (dd, 1H, J=2.7 and 12.4 Hz), 4.30 (dd, 1H, J=7.9 and 12.5 Hz), 2.84 (s, 3H), 2.23 (s, 3H), 2.15 (s, 3H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 2.08 (s, 3H), 2.07 (s, 3H); 13 C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 183.04, 179.04, 177.70, 170.75, 170.32, 170.03, 169.70, 169.45, 156.75, 153.07, 134.69, 134.11, 132.25, 131.50, 131.02, 128.93, 128.68, 128.32, 127.98, 126.89, 126.73, 82.57, 70.45, 69.93, 69.08, 65.80, 66.04, 61.44, 32.57, 21.39, 20.78, 20.55. Anal. Calcd for C₃₅H₃₅NO₁₃S: C, 59.23; H, 4.97; N, 1.97; S, 4.52. Found: C, 59.45; H, 4.82; N, 1.82; S, 4.48. 25b: 0.04 g (40%), $[\alpha]_{\rm D}$ +45 (*c* 0.25, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) $\nu_{\rm max}$ 1755, 1666, 1593, 1371, 1049; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 8.03–7.26 (m, 10H), 6.47 (d, 1H, J=3.8 Hz),

5.58 (t, 1H, J=4.2 Hz), 5.49 (dd, 1H, J=4.8 and 6.1 Hz), 5.30 (m, 1H), 4.40 (dd, 1H, J=3.4 and 12.4 Hz), 4.18 (dd, 1H, J=5.2 and 12.4 Hz), 2.97 (s, 3H), 2.22 (s, 3H), 2.09 (s, 9H), 2.05 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 181.79, 179.03, 178.74, 170.54, 170.27, 169.75, 169.36, 168.90, 156.81, 153.50, 134.45, 134.08, 132.25, 131.70, 131.08, 128.98, 128.75, 128.02, 126.77, 126.35, 82.49, 69.50, 68.99, 68.69, 65.60, 61.51, 30.89, 21.01, 20.75, 20.68, 20.49.

4.2.14. 4-(1',2',3',4',5'-Penta-O-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1vl)-2.5-dihvdro-5-methvl-2.7-diphenvl-1H-pvrrolo [3.4c]pyridine-1,3,6-trione (26). A mixture of cycloadducts 22a and 22b (0.1 g, 0.2 mmol) was poured into a suspension of Hg(OAc)₂ (0.1 g, 0.3 mmol) in acetic acid (3 mL) at room temperature and processed as described for 9 to give 26 (0.03 g, 30%) as a white solid; mp 95 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_{D}$ +47.0 (c 0.5, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) ν_{max} 3472, 2964, 1751, 1719, 1659, 1501, 1447, 1373, 1215, 1045; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) & 7.52–7.35 (m, 5H), 7.59 (d, 1H, J=8.6 Hz), 6.00 (dd, 1H, J=2.3 and 8.7 Hz), 5.19 (dd, 1H, J=2.5 and 7.6 Hz), 5.08 (m, 1H), 4.25 (dd, 1H, J=3.0 and 12.6 Hz), 4.03 (dd, 1H, J=5.6 and 12.6 Hz), 3.88 (s, 3H), 2.16 (s, 6H), 2.08 (s, 3H), 2.05 (s, 3H), 2.00 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) & 170.48, 170.24, 169.99, 169.63, 168.66, 164.56, 163.81, 163.69, 142.97, 132.78, 131.50, 131.08, 130.15, 129.95, 129.53, 128.86, 128.59, 127.71, 126.89, 126.50, 108.09, 68.70, 68.60, 67.44, 66.96, 61.35, 35.38, 21.01, 20.73, 20.62, 20.46. Anal. Calcd for C₃₅H₃₄N₂O₁₃: C, 60.13; H, 4.96; N, 4.06. Found: C, 60.11; H, 5.02; N, 4.09.

4.2.15. 1-(1',2',3',4',5'-Penta-O-acetyl-D-gluco-pentitol-1vl)-2-methyl-4-phenyl-2H-isoquinoline-3.5.6-trione (27). A mixture of cycloadducts 23a and 23b (0.1 g, 0.2 mmol) was poured into a suspension of $Hg(OAc)_2$ (0.1 g, 0.3 mmol) in acetic acid (3 mL) at room temperature and processed as described for 9 to give 27 (0.02 g, 20%) as a yellowish solid; mp 85 °C (dec); $[\alpha]_D$ –17.0 (*c* 0.25, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm^{-1}) ν_{max} 3480, 2980, 1751, 1643, 1510, 1447, 1373, 1217, 1074; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.46–7.75 (m, 5H), 7.53 (d, 1H, J=4.1 Hz), 6.01 (t, 1H, J=4.5 Hz), 5.62 (t, 1H, J=5.6 Hz), 5.19 (m, 1H), 4.53 (dd, 1H, J=2.4 and 12.5 Hz), 4.32 (dd, 1H, J=6.7 and 12.5 Hz), 3.81 (s, 3H), 2.71 (s, 3H), 2.14 (s, 3H), 2.09 (s, 3H), 2.08 (s, 6H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) & 184.22, 183.71, 170.64, 170.02, 169.69, 169.30, 169.21, 163.45, 150.44, 141.72, 138.18, 134.87, 134.75, 133.44, 111.88, 70.07, 69.73, 69.32, 69.24, 61.56, 37.20, 20.77, 20.55. Anal. Calcd for C₃₁H₃₁NO₁₃: C, 59.52; H, 4.99; N, 2.24. Found: C, 59.14; H, 4.91; N, 2.19.

4.2.16. 1-(**1**',**2**',**3**',**4**',**5**'-Penta-*O*-acetyl-D-*gluco*-pentitol-1yl)-2-ethoxy-5-(**1**,2-diethoxycarbonyl hydrazine)-5phenyl-3-methylthiazolidin-4-one (**28**). A suspension of Raney nickel (0.03 g) in acetone (5 mL) was refluxed for 2 h. After cooling at room temperature and decanting the solvent, a solution of cycloadducts **24a** and **24b** (0.1 g, 0.1 mmol) in 2-butanol was added and the reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 2 h. After three washings of the catalyst with 2-butanol, the combined solutions were filtered and the solvent was concentrated in vacuo. The crude mixture was purified by preparative thin layer chromatography (acetonitrile–chloroform 1:9 as eluent) to give **28** (0.03 g, 32%); mp 95 °C; $[\alpha]_D - 9.5$ (*c* 0.25, chloroform); IR (KBr, cm⁻¹) ν_{max} 2970, 1751, 1641, 1447, 1371, 1217, 1049; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 8.08–6.88 (m, 9H), 8.17 (d, 1H, J= 4.0 Hz), 629.55 (t, 1H, J=4.5 Hz), 6.07 (t, 1H, J=5.7 Hz), 5.59 (m, 1H), 4.83 (d, 1H, J=12.3 Hz), 4.48 (dd, 1H, J=6.5 and 12.3 Hz), 3.84 (s, 3H), 1.74 (s, 6H), 1.68 (s, 3H), 1.60 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 183.31, 182.61, 170.61, 170.02, 169.66, 169.27, 150.79, 136.81, 135.75, 135.23, 134.51, 133.93, 133.78, 128.32, 127.83, 127.36, 126.67, 113.40, 70.61, 69.97, 69.50, 69.33, 61.67, 37.65, 21.01, 20.78. Anal. Calcd for C₃₅H₃₃NO₁₃: C, 62.22; H, 4.92; N, 2.07. Found: C, 61.85; H, 4.98; N, 2.19.

Acknowledgements

Financial support from the Ministry of Science and Technology (Projects BQU2003-05946 and CTQ2005-07676) is gratefully acknowledged. M.J.A. thanks the Ministry of Education for a doctoral fellowship.

References and notes

- 1. Vorbrüggen, H.; Ruh-Pohlenz, C. *The Handbook of Nucleoside Synthesis*; Wiley: New York, NY, 2001.
- Allen, H. J.; Kisailus, E. C. *Glycoconjugates: Composition,* Structure and Function; Marcel Dekker: New York, NY, 1992.
- Synthetic Applications of 1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Chemistry Towards Heterocycles and Natural Products; Padwa, A., Pearson, W. H., Eds.; Wiley: New York, NY, 2002.
- For some recent applications of click chemistry: (a) Lober, S.; Rodríguez-Loaiza, P.; Gmeiner, P. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1753– 1755; (b) Ryu, E.-H.; Zhao, Y. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 1035– 1037; (c) Xu, G.-L.; Ren, T. Organometallics 2005, 24, 2564–2566; (d) Krasinski, A.; Radic, Z.; Manetsch, R.; Raushel, J.; Taylor, P.; Sharpless, K. B.; Kolb, H. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 6686–6692; (e) Hotha, S.; Kashyap, S. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 364–367; (f) Taniguchi, A.; Sohma, Y.; Kimura, M.; Okada, T.; Ikeda, K.; Hayashi, Y.; Kimura, T.; Hirota, S.; Matsuzaki, K.; Kiso, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 696–697.
- Ávalos, M.; Babiano, R.; Cintas, P.; Jiménez, J. L.; Palacios, J. C. Acc. Chem. Res. 2005, 38, 460–468.
- Arévalo, M. J.; Ávalos, M.; Babiano, R.; Cintas, P.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Jiménez, J. L.; Light, M. E.; Palacios, J. C. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2002, 13, 223–226.
- Obika, S.; Hari, Y.; Sekiguchi, M.; Imanishi, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 2079–2081.
- Wenska, G.; Skalski, B.; Gdaniec, Z.; Adamiak, R. W.; Matulic-Adamic, J.; Beigelman, L. J. Photochem. Photobiol., A 2003, 133, 169–176.
- Arévalo, M. J.; Ávalos, M.; Babiano, R.; Cabanillas, A.; Cintas, P.; Jiménez, J. L.; Palacios, J. C. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2000, *11*, 1985–1995.
- Potts, K. T.; Houghton, E.; Singh, U. P. J. Org. Chem. 1974, 25, 3627–3631.
- (a) Potts, K. T.; Baum, J.; Houghton, E. J. Org. Chem. 1974, 25, 3631–3641; (b) Robert, A.; Baudy, M.; Foucaud, A.; Golic, L.; Stanovnik, B. Tetrahedron 1978, 34, 3525–3530.
- (a) Ávalos, M.; Babiano, R.; Cabanillas, A.; Cintas, P.; Higes, F. J.; Jiménez, J. L.; Palacios, J. C. *J. Org. Chem.* **1996**, *61*, 3738–3748; (b) Ávalos, M.; Babiano, R.; Cintas, P.; Clemente, F. R.; Gordillo, R.; Jiménez, J. L.; Palacios, J. C.; Raithby, P. R. *J. Org. Chem.* **2000**, *65*, 5089–5097;

(c) Areces, P.; Ávalos, M.; Babiano, R.; Cintas, P.; González, L.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Jiménez, J. L.; Light, M. E.; López, I.; Palacios, J. C.; Silvero, G. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2001, 2135–2144;
(d) Ávalos, M.; Babiano, R.; Cintas, P.; Clemente, F. R.; Gordillo, R.; Jiménez, J. L.; Palacios, J. C. *J. Org. Chem.* 2001, 66, 5139–5145.

- (a) Eliel, E. L.; Wilen, S. H.; Mander, L. N. Stereochemistry of Organic Compounds; Wiley: New York, NY, 1994; pp 1081– 1082 and references therein; (b) Hudson, C. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1909, 31, 66–86; (c) Ferrier, R. J. The Carbohydrates. Chemistry and Biochemistry; Pigman, W., Horton, D., Wander, J. D., Eds.; Academic: New York, NY, 1980; Vol. IB, pp 1356–1362.
- Arévalo, M. J.; Ávalos, M.; Babiano, R.; Cintas, P.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Jiménez, J. L.; Light, M. E.; López, I.; Palacios, J. C. *Tetrahedron* 2000, *56*, 1247–1256.
- 15. Crystal data for compound **23a**: monoclinic, space group $P2_1$, $a=13.137(2), b=7.9233(8), c=15.190(2) \text{ Å}, V=1580.9(4) \text{ Å}^3,$ Z=2, d_{calcd} =1.382 Mg/m³, θ range for data collection=3.00- 25.02° , index ranges= $-15 \le h \le 15$, $-9 \le k \le 9$, $-14 \le l \le 17$, (Mo K α)=0.171 mm⁻¹. For a total of 5779 collected reflections, 4481 were independent reflections [R_{int} =0.0755]. The final R indices were $R_1=0.0697$, $wR_2=0.1330 [F^2>2\sigma(F^2)]$, $R_1=0.1312$, $wR_2=0.1624$ (all data). The final difference electron density map contains maximum and minimum peak heights of 0.303 and -0.387 e/Å^3 . These data have been deposited with the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre as supplementary publication number CCDC 146528. Copies of the data can be obtained, free of charge, on application to CCDC, 12 Union Road, Cambridge CB12 1EZ, UK [fax: +44 (0)1223 336033 or e-mail: deposit@ccdc.cam. ac.uk].



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6918-6925

Synthesis of coumarins by Pt-catalyzed hydroarylation of propiolic acids with phenols

Juzo Oyamada and Tsugio Kitamura*

Department of Chemistry and Applied Chemistry, Faculty of Science and Engineering, Saga University, Honjo-machi, Saga 840-8502, Japan

> Received 6 April 2006; revised 24 April 2006; accepted 26 April 2006 Available online 12 May 2006

Abstract—Synthesis of coumarins from phenols and propiolic acids was examined by using a Pt catalyst such as $PtCl_2/AgOTf$, $K_2PtCl_4/AgOTf$, and $K_2PtCl_4/AgOAc$. Propiolic acid reacted even with less reactive phenols in trifluoroacetic acid to give coumarins and dihydrocoumarins. In the case of substituted propiolic acids, phenylpropiolic acid and 2-octynoic acid, the reactions proceeded selectively to afford coumarins in good to high yields.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Coumarin derivatives exist widely in nature, especially in plants, and many of them show a wide range of biological activities.^{1,2} To date, many synthetic methods for coumarins have been developed due to their useful properties.^{1,3} The representative methods are the Perkin, Pechmann and Knoevenagel reactions. However, there are still limitations such as severe reaction conditions, requirement of a stoichiometric amount of condensing agents, and difficulty of getting the starting materials.

Much effort has been paid to the development of coumarin synthesis through the reaction utilizing a transition metal catalyst.^{4–11} However, most of the syntheses require halogenated substrates such as iodophenols and iodoarenes as starting materials for the construction of the coumarin skeleton. These synthetic reactions involve bond cleavage of the C–X bonds by transition metals and produce waste halides. When the atom-economy of the reaction is considered, the use of halogenated substrates is not favorable. If a direct construction of a C–C bond from the C–H bond in simple arenes is possible then this strategy will become a straightforward efficient process.

Trost et al. have developed an atom-economic synthesis of coumarins from the reaction of propiolic acids and phenols in the presence of Pd₂(dba)₃CHCl₃ or Pd(OAc)₂ catalysts in formic acid.⁹ Their reaction did not need any halogenated

phenols. Shi and He also reported a direct synthesis of coumarins by the reaction of aryl propiolates with AuCl₃/AgOTf catalyst.¹⁰

We have reported that the hydroarylation of alkynes proceeded by using Pd(OAc)₂ or PtCl₂/AgOAc catalyst in trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) to give aryl-substituted alkenes (Eq. 1).¹² This direct functionalization of the C–H bonds in arenes was expanded to the synthesis of coumarins by the intra- or intermolecular hydroarylation of propiolates with phenols (Eqs. 2 and 3).¹¹ Recently, PtCl₂/AgOTf and K₂PtCl₄/AgOTf were found to be effective catalysts for hydroarylation of propiolic acids, affording the corresponding cinnamic acids selectively.¹³ Especially, the K₂PtCl₄/AgOTf catalyst was the most effective in application to the hydroarylation of propiolic acid with less reactive benzene. The effectiveness of the Pt catalysts encouraged us to investigate the synthesis of coumarin.

$$Ar-H + R^2 = R^3 \xrightarrow{Pd(OAc)_2} \xrightarrow{R^2} H$$
(1)

$$R^{1} \xrightarrow{OH} R^{2} \xrightarrow{=} CO_{2}R^{3} \xrightarrow{Pd(OAc)_{2}} R^{1} \xrightarrow{O} O$$

$$R^{1} \xrightarrow{Pd} R^{2} \xrightarrow{Pd(OAc)_{2}} R^{2} \xrightarrow{Pd(OAc$$



Keywords: Coumarin; Hydroarylation; Propiolic acid; Platinum catalyst; Silver triflate; C–H bond functionalization; Trifluoroacetic acid.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +81 952 28 8550; fax: +81 952 28 8548; e-mail: kitamura@cc.saga-u.ac.jp

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.080

2. Results and discussion

First, we examined the reaction of propiolic acid (2a) $(R^2=H, R^3=H)$ or ethyl propiolate (2b) $(R^2=H, R^3=Et)$ under similar conditions to the previous reports (Eq. 4, Table 1).¹³ The reaction with 2-naphthol (1a) proceeded at room temperature to give coumarin **3a** selectively in high yield (entries 1 and 2). 3,4-Dimethylphenol (1b) gave 6,7-dimethylcoumarin (**3b**) and 5,6-dimethylcoumarin (**3c**) in 46

and 31% yields, respectively (entry 3). In the case of 3,5-dimethylphenol (1c), (2Z)-cinnamic acid derivative 4a was obtained as the major product along with coumarin 3d (entry 4). *p*-Cresol (1d) also reacted to give 6-methylcoumarin (3e) and dihydrocoumarin 5a although the reaction was slow at room temperature and required higher temperature (entries 5–7). Furthermore, a small amount of dihydrocoumarin 5b was formed, which might be derived from the further reaction of 5a and 2a. The reaction using an excess

Entry	Phenol	R ³	Cat. ^b	Temp (°C)	Time (h)	Pro	oducts and	yields/% ^c	
1 2	OHla	H H	A B	rt rt	25 25	J O O 3a	86 ^{d,e} 86 ^e		
3	OH 1b	Et	A	rt	45	J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J J	46 ^f	0 3c	31 ^f
4	OH	Et	A	rt	26	O O 3d	37	OH 4a CO ₂ H	50
5 6 7	OH 1d	Et H H	A C C	50 40 rt	48 48 90	0,0 3e	35 51 51	5a OH	44 24 21
8		Н	С	40	12		27 ^g	$ \begin{array}{c} $	15 ^g
9	OH le	Н	С	rt	25	of the second se	18 ^{f,h}	JO ⁰ 3g	17 ^{f,h}
10	OH If	Н	С	40	48	C O O 3h	33		
11	Br OH 1g	Н	С	40	90	Br O 3i	7	Br O O Br OH Br OH	34

Table 1. The reaction of propiolic acid (2a) or its ethyl ester (2b) with phenols 1^a

^d Compound **1a** (3 mmol) was used.

^g Compound 1d (2 mmol) and 2a (3 mmol) were used.

^a Reaction conditions: phenol **1** (4 mmol), **2a** or **2b** (2 mmol), catalyst, and TFA (1 mL).

^b Catalyst A: PtCl₂ (0.05 mmol) and AgOTf (0.10 mmol). B: K₂PtCl₄ (0.05 mmol) and AgOTf (0.10 mmol). C: K₂PtCl₄ (0.02 mmol) and AgOTf (0.08 mmol).

^c Isolated yields based on **2**.

^e CH₂Cl₂ (0.75 mL) was added.

^f The products were obtained as a mixture of the isomeric coumarins. The product ratios were determined by ¹H NMR.

^h Compound **5c** was also isolated in 27% yield.



Figure 1.

amount of **2a** was carried out to improve the selectivity of **3e**, resulting in the decrease in the yield of **3e** and the formation of **5b** (entry 8). In contrast to **1d**, the reaction of 3-methylphenol (**1e**) proceeded smoothly at room temperature to give a mixture of 7-methylcoumarin (**3f**) and 5-methylcoumarin (**3g**) along with dihydrocoumarin **5c** (entry 9). The yields were low although most of **2a** was consumed after the reaction. The low yields are attributed to the low selectivity toward the formation of coumarin **3**, similar to the reaction of **1d**. Unsubstituted, simple phenol **1f** reacted to give coumarin (**3h**) in 33% yield (entry 10). Interestingly, 4-bromophenol (**1g**) also participated in this reaction to afford dihydrocoumarin **5d** and 6-bromocoumarin (**3i**) in 34 and 7% yields, respectively (entry 11, Fig. 1).



Next, alkoxyphenols having a strong electron-donating group were examined (Table 2). The reaction of 3-methoxyphenol (**1h**) proceeded at room temperature to give 7-methoxycoumarin (**3j**) and 5-methoxycoumarin (**3k**) in 38 and 10% yields, respectively (entry 1). The yields were not sufficient although most of **2a** used was consumed. ¹H

Table 2. The reaction of propiolic acid (2a) with alkoxyphenols^a

NMR analysis of the reaction mixture indicated the formation of dihydrocoumarins. Therefore, further investigation was carried out to improve the selectivity. However, using an excess amount of **2a** or use of AgOAc did not improve the yields (entries 2–5). The reaction of 4-methoxyphenol (**1i**) was slower than that of **1h** (entry 6). The low reactivity of **1i** is in accord with the general concept that a methoxy group activates *ortho* and *para* positions but deactivates the *meta* position for electrophilic aromatic substitution. Sesamol (**1j**) also gave coumarin **3m** (entry 7). Interestingly, the reaction of 3,5-dimethoxyphenol (**1k**) proceeded selectively to afford coumarin **3n** in high yield while **1h**, **1i**, and **1j** gave the corresponding coumarins in low yields (entries 8 and 9).

Next, we examined the reaction of the substituted propiolic acids. In contrast to 2a and 2b, the reaction of substituted propiolic acids proceeded selectively to give the corresponding coumarins in good to high yields. Table 3 shows the results of the reaction of phenylpropiolic acid (2c) (R^2 =Ph, R^3 =H). In contrast to 2a, the reaction of 1h proceeded selectively to give coumarin 30 in high yield (entries 1–3). Furthermore, higher yield was obtained when the reaction was carried out at room temperature instead of 40 °C. Compound **1j** also gave coumarin **3p** in high yield (entries 4 and 5). 3,5-Dimethoxyphenol (1k) gave coumarin 3q in good yield although the yield was a little bit lower than those of 1h and 1j (entry 6). The lower yield of 3q is possibly attributed to the formation of 7 from the further reaction of coumarin 3q with 2c. The formation of 7 analog has been observed in Pd-catalyzed coumarin synthesis.^{11b} The reaction of **1a** gave coumarin **3r** in high yield (entries 7 and 8). The reaction of 1b at 40 °C gave coumarin 3s in moderate yield because of the lower reactivity of 1b (entry 9). The reaction of 1c gave coumarin 3t and cinnamate 4b, being similar to the reaction of 2a (entry 10, Fig. 2).



^a Reaction conditions: phenol 1 (4 mmol), 2a (2 mmol), K₂PtCl₄ (0.02 mmol), AgOTf (0.08 mmol), and TFA (1 mL) at rt.

^b Isolated yields based on 2a.

^c Compound **1h** (2 mmol) and **2a** (3 mmol) were used.

^d Compound **1h** (2 mmol) and **2a** (2.4 mmol) were used.

^e CH₂Cl₂ (1 mL) was added.
 ^f AgOAc (0.08 mmol) was used instead of AgOTf.

^g CH₂Cl₂ (0.5 mL) was added.

Table 3. The reaction of phenylpropiolic acid (2c) with phenol 1^a

Entry	Phenol	Cat. ^b	Temp (°C)	Time (h)	Pro	oducts and y	vields % ^c	
1 2 3	1h 1h 1h	B B C	40 rt rt	40 40 45	MeO Ph	71 ^d 81 82		
4 5	1j 1j	B C	rt rt	40 45	O O O 3p O Ph	76 77		
6	1k	С	rt	45	MeO OMe Ph	69		
7 8	1a 1a	B C	rt rt	40 45	O O 3r Ph	84 ^e 84		
9	1b	С	40	45	O O Bh	58 ^d		
10	1c	С	40	45	Ph	50 ^d	Ph CO ₂ H	29 ^d

^a Reaction conditions: phenol 1 (4 mmol), 2c (2 mmol), catalyst, TFA (1 mL), and CH₂Cl₂ (0.5 mL).

^b Catalysts B: K₂PtCl₄ (0.05 mmol) and AgOTf (0.10 mmol). C: K₂PtCl₄ (0.02 mmol) and AgOTf (0.08 mmol).

^c Isolated yields based on **2c**.

^d Cl(CH₂)₂Cl (0.5 mL) was added instead of CH₂Cl₂.

^e Cl(CH₂)₂Cl (1 mL) was added instead of CH₂Cl₂.





2-Octynoic acid (2d) ($R^2 = {}^{n}C_5H_{11}$, $R^3 = H$) also reacted with phenols to give the coumarins although the reactivity of 2d seemed to be lower than that of 2c (Table 4). The reaction of 1h gave coumarin 3u in high yield even at room temperature (entries 1-3). In the case of 1j, coumarin 3v was obtained in very low yield when the reaction was carried out at room temperature (entry 4). The elevation of temperature to 40 °C increased the yield but it was not sufficient (entry 5). The ¹H NMR analysis of the reaction mixture revealed that the methylenedioxy moiety of **1** was not present probably because the acetal moiety was hydrolyzed by a strong acid derived from AgOTf. Actually, coumarin 3v was obtained in high yield when AgOAc was used as co-catalyst instead of AgOTf (entry 6). The reaction of 1k with ethyl 2-octynoate (2e) $(R^2 = {}^{n}C_5H_{11}, R^3 = Et)$ also gave coumarin 3w in high yield (entry 7). The reaction of 1a resulted in low yield of coumarin 3x in contrast to the reaction of 1a with 2a or 2c, indicating that reactivity of 2d and 2e was lower than that of 2a, 2b, and 2c (entries 8–13). The reaction also gave ethyl 3-oxooctanoate (6) derived from the hydration of 2e (entry 8). Elongation of the reaction time did not improve the yield (entry 9). The yield of 3x was somewhat improved when 2d was used instead of 2e (entry 10). In this case, the formation of 2-heptanone derived from hydration and decarboxylation of 2d was observed. The elevation of temperature and the use of AgOAc did not increase the yield (entries 11–13). This result suggests that the coumarin formation competes with the decomposition of 2d and 2e (Fig. 3).

The reaction is thought to proceed via the hydroarylation of propiolic acids with phenols, which affords ortho-hydroxy substituted cinnamic acids (A) followed by the intramolecular esterification of intermediate A as depicted in Scheme 1. A similar mechanism has been proposed for Pd(II)catalyzed reaction of propiolates with phenols giving coumarins.^{11b} A very recent report by Tunge and Foresee suggested that the hydroarylation proceeds via aromatic electrophilic substitution, not C-H bond activation.¹⁴ As regards the formation of hydroxyphenyl-substituted dihydrocoumarins 5 in the reaction of 2a, it was expected that the dihydrocoumarins were formed by the further reaction of coumarins with phenols. However, the reaction of 3e with 1d under reaction conditions did not afford dihydrocoumarin 5a, resulting in the recovery of 3e and 1d. This result shows that 3e formed in the reaction is stable under the reaction conditions. It has been reported that cinnamate derivatives react with phenols in TFA via the formation of carbocation intermediates, affording dihydrocoumarins.¹⁵ A possible route is that dihydrocoumarin 5 is generated by

Table 4. The reaction of 2-octynoic acid (2d) or its ethyl ester (2e) with phenols $1^{\rm a}$

Entry	Phenol	R ³	Cat. ^b	Temp (°C)	Time (h)	Products and yields $\%^{c}$	
1 2 3	1h 1h 1h	H H H	A C C	40 40 rt	45 45 45	MeO 0 0 3u	93 83 83
4 5 6	1j 1j 1j	H H H	C C D	rt 40 40	45 45 45	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3v	8^{d} 41^{d} 72^{d}
7	1k	Et	С	rt	45	MeO OMe "C ₅ H ₁₁ 3w	87 ^d
8 9 10 11 12 13	1a 1a 1a 1a 1a 1a	Et Et H H H H	C C D C C	40 40 40 50 60	45 77 45 45 45 45 45	⁰ C ₅ H ₁₁ 3x	13 ^e 16 ^f 28 ^{g,h} 28 ^g 26 ^g 22 ^g

^a Reaction conditions: phenol **1** (4 mmol), **2d** or **2e** (2 mmol), catalyst, and TFA (1 mL) for 45 h.

^b Catalysts A: PtCl₂ (0.05 mmol) and AgOTf (0.10 mmol). C: K₂PtCl₄ (0.02 mmol) and AgOTf (0.08 mmol). D: K₂PtCl₄ (0.02 mmol) and AgOAc (0.08 mmol).

^c Isolated yields based on 2.

^d CH₂Cl₂ (0.5 mL) was added.

- ^e CH₂Cl₂ (0.85 mL) was added. Ethyl 3-oxooctanate (6) was isolated in 47% yield.
- ^f CH₂Cl₂ (1 mL) was added. Compound **6** was isolated in 55% yield.

^g Compound **1a** (3 mmol) was used. Cl(CH₂)₂Cl (0.5 mL) was added.

^h 2-Heptanone was formed in 39% GC yield.

Figure 3.

the reaction of intermediate A with phenols prior to the cyclization of A.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated the synthesis of coumarins from phenols and propiolic acids by using Pt catalysts such as PtCl₂/AgOTf, K₂PtCl₄/AgOTf, and K₂PtCl₄/ AgOAc. The reaction of propiolic acid and its ethyl ester (**2a** and **2b**) proceeded to give coumarin and dihydrocoumarin even in the reaction with less reactive, non-activated phenols. In the cases of substituted propiolic acids **2c**, **2d**, and **2e**, the reactions proceeded selectively to afford coumarins **3** in good to high yields.

3. Experimental

3.1. General

All solvents and reagents were commercially available and used as received without further purification. All the reactions were conducted in a dry Pyrex tube with a rubber septum. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a JEOL JNM-AL 300 FT-NMR using tetramethylsilane (TMS) as internal standard. Melting points were measured with YANACO micro melting apparatus and are uncorrected. Mass spectra were performed on a Shimadzu GC/MS 5020A. Elemental analyses were performed by the Service Centre of the Elementary Analysis of Organic Compounds, Faculty of Science, Kyushu University.

3.2. The procedure for the synthesis of coumarins by the Pt-catalyzed hydroarylation of propiolic acids with phenols. Typical example: the reaction of 3-methoxy-phenol (1h) and phenylpropiolic acid (2c) by using K₂PtCl₂/AgOTf catalyst (Table 3, entry 3)

After a mixture of K_2 PtCl₂ (0.02 mmol), AgOTf (0.08 mmol), and trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) (1 mL) was stirred at room temperature for 1 h, **1h** (4 mmol) and **2c** (2 mmol) was added



Scheme 1. The plausible mechanism of the reaction.

to the mixture. The mixture was continuously stirred at a room temperature $(27-32 \ ^{\circ}C)$ for 45 h. After the reaction, the mixture was poured into water (20 mL), neutralized by NaHCO₃, and extracted with diethyl ether (20 mL×4). The ethereal layer was washed with 2 N NaOH aqueous solution (10 mL×3), dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel using a mixture of ethyl acetate and hexane as eluent to give 4-phenyl-7-methoxycoumarin (**30**) in 82%.

In some reactions, cinnamic acid **4** and dihydrocoumarin **5** were obtained from the water layer. The procedure is as follows: the combined water layer was acidified by concd HCl aqueous solution (ca. 36%) on ice/water bath and extracted with $CH_2Cl_2(20 \text{ mL} \times 3)$. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na_2SO_4 and concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel.

3.2.1. 3*H*-Naphtho[2,1-*b*]pyran-3-one (3a).^{9b,11d,16} Pink crystals. Mp 117–118 °C (AcOEt/hexane).

3.2.2. 6,7-Dimethylcoumarin (3b).^{17,18} This compound was partially isolated from the mixture of **3b** and **3c**. Colorless crystals. Mp 146–149 °C. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.30 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.35 (s, 3H, CH₃), 6.33 (d, *J*=9.6 Hz, 1H, vinyl), 7.11 (s, 1H, aryl), 7.21 (s, 1H, aryl), 7.62 (d, *J*=9.6 Hz, 1H, vinyl). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 19.04, 20.21, 115.32, 116.54, 117.28, 127.83, 133.07, 141.81, 143.23, 152.39, 161.22.

3.2.3. 5,6-Dimethylcoumarin (**3c**).¹⁷ This compound was obtained as a mixture of **3b** and **3c**. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.35 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.42 (s, 3H, CH₃), 6.40 (d, *J*=9.9 Hz, 1H, vinyl), 7.09 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.31 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.99 (d, *J*=9.9 Hz, 1H, vinyl).

3.2.4. 5,7-Dimethylcoumarin (3d).^{11d,18,19} Colorless crystals. Mp 133–135 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).

3.2.5. 6-Methylcoumarin (3e).¹⁶ Colorless crystals. Mp 73.5–74 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).

3.2.6. 7-Methycoumarin (**3f**).^{16,17} ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.45 (s, 3H, CH₃), 6.35 (d, *J*=9.6 Hz, 1H, vinyl), 7.10 (d, *J*=7.8 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.14 (s, 1H, aryl), 7.36 (d, *J*=7.8 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.67 (d, *J*=9.6 Hz, 1H, vinyl). 7-Methylcoumarin (**3f**) and 5-methylcoumarin (**3g**) were obtained as an inseparable mixture.

3.2.7. 5-Methycoumarin (**3g**).¹⁷ ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.53 (s, 3H, CH₃), 6.43 (d, *J*=9.6 Hz, 1H, vinyl), 7.10 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.18 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.40 (app t, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.92 (d, *J*=9.6 Hz, 1H, vinyl). 7-Methylcoumarin (**3f**) and 5-methylcoumarin (**3g**) were obtained as an inseparable mixture.

3.2.8. Coumarin (3h).^{16,20} Colorless crystals. Mp 67–68 °C (hexane).

3.2.9. 6-Bromocoumarin (3i).²¹ Colorless crystals. Mp $160-163 \degree C (CH_2Cl_2/hexane)$.

3.2.10. 7-Methoxycoumarin (3j).^{9b,11c,d} Colorless crystals. Mp 117–118 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).

3.2.11. 5-Methoxycoumarin (**3k**).^{9b,11d} Colorless crystals. Mp 82–83 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).

3.2.12. 6-Methoxycoumarin (**3l**).^{11c,d} Yellow crystals. Mp $101-103 \degree C$ (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).

3.2.13. 6,7-Methylenedioxycoumarin (**3m**).^{9b,11d} Dark crystals. Mp 225–227 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).

3.2.14. 5,7-Dimethoxycoumarin (3n).^{11c,d} Colorless crystals. Mp 147.5–149 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).

3.2.15. 7-Methoxy-4-phenylcoumarin (30).^{11c,d} White powder. Mp 111–111.5 °C (CH_2Cl_2 /hexane).

3.2.16. 6,7-Methylenedioxy-4-phenylcoumarin (3p).^{11c,d} Slightly green crystals. Mp 142–144 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).

3.2.17. 5,7-Dimethoxy-4-phenylcoumarin (**3q**).^{9b,11c,d} Colorless crystals. Mp 169–171 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).

3.2.18. 1-Phenyl-3*H***-naphtho[2,1-***b***]pyran-3-one (3r).^{11c,d} Light yellow crystals. Mp 160–161 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).**

3.2.19. 6,7-Dimethy-4-phenylcoumarin (**3s**).^{11c,d} Colorless crystals. Mp 144–146 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).

3.2.20. 5,7-Dimethy-4-phenylcoumarin (3t).^{11a,c} White powder. Mp 94–95 °C (hexane).

3.2.21. 7-Methoxy-4*-n***-pentylcoumarin** (**3u**).^{11d,22} Colorless crystals. Mp 68–69.5 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).

3.2.22. 6,7-Methylenedioxy-4*n***-pentylcoumarin (3v).**^{11d} Slightly yellow crystals. Mp 106–107.5 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).

3.2.23. 5,7-Dimethoxy-4*-n***-pentylcoumarin** (**3**w).^{11c,d} Colorless crystals. Mp 102–103 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane).

3.2.24. 1-*n*-**PentyI-**3*H*-**naphtho**[**2**,1-*b*]**pyran-3-one** (**3x**). Colorless crystals. Mp 98.5–99.5 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 0.94 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.37–1.56 (m, 4H, CH₂), 1.77–1.87 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.23 (t, *J*= 7.7 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 6.41 (s, 1H, vinyl), 7.47 (d, *J*=9.0 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.55 (dd, *J*=6.9, 8.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.65 (ddd, *J*=1.5, 6.9, 8.7 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.92 (dd, *J*=1.5, 8.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.97 (d, *J*=9.0 Hz, 2H, aryl), 8.47 (d, *J*=8.7 Hz, 1H, aryl). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 13.90, 22.33, 28.33, 31.51, 37.47, 113.91, 115.19, 117.90, 124.89, 125.26, 127.76, 129.64, 129.66, 131.30, 133.49, 154.78, 158.17, 160.51. MS (EI, *m/z*): 266 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₁₈H₁₈O₂: C, 81.17; H, 6.81. Found: C, 80.97; H, 6.85.

3.2.25. (2Z)-3-(4-Hydroxy-2,6-dimethylphenyl)propenoic acid (4a). Slightly orange crystals. Mp 170–172 °C (AcOEt/hexane). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD): δ 2.12 (s, 6H, CH₃), 6.08 (d, *J*=12.0 Hz, 1H, vinyl), 6.45 (s, 2H, aryl), 7.01 (d, *J*=12.0 Hz, 1H, vinyl). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, CD₃OD): δ 20.53, 114.90, 123.88, 128.39, 137.40, 145.21,

157.27, 169.38. MS (EI, m/z): 192 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₂O₃: C, 68.74; H, 6.29. Found: C, 68.58; H, 6.31.

3.2.26. (2Z)-3-(4-Hydroxy-2,6-dimethylphenyl)cinnamic acid (4b). Light yellow crystals. Mp 219–221 °C (AcOEt/ hexane). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD): δ 1.97 (s, 6H, CH₃), 6.53 (s, 2H, aryl), 6.64 (s, 1H, vinyl), 7.32 (app s, 5H, phenyl). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, CD₃OD): δ 20.20, 115.08, 119.26, 128.00, 129.73, 130.56, 130.86, 137.36, 140.26, 156.35, 157.37, 169.35. MS (EI, *m/z*): 268 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₁₇H₁₆O₃: C, 76.10; H, 6.01. Found: C, 75.96; H, 6.00. The stereochemistry of 4b was determined by NOE experiments.

3.2.27. 4-(2-Hydroxy-5-methylphenyl)-6-methyl-3,4-di-hydrocoumarin (5a). Colorless crystals. Mp 166–168 °C (CH₂Cl₂/hexane). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.15 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.26 (s, 6H, CH₃), 2.95 (dd, *J*=6.6, 16.1 Hz, 1H, COCH₂), 3.19 (dd, *J*=5.7, 16.1 Hz, 1H, COCH₂), 4.59 (dd, *J*=5.7, 6.6 Hz, 1H, CH), 6.05 (br s, 1H, OH), 6.54 (d, *J*=2.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 6.61 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 6.85 (dd, *J*=2.1, 8.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 6.86 (d, *J*=2.1, 8.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.09 (dd, *J*=2.1, 8.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.01 (d, *J*=8.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.09 (dd, *J*=2.1, 8.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 1³C NMR (75.5 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 20.52, 20.71, 35.17, 35.26, 115.51, 116.66, 124.55, 126.48, 128.76, 129.02, 129.13, 129.97, 134.44, 149.84, 151.03, 169.83, 169.86. MS (EI, *m/z*): 268 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₁₇H₁₆O₃: C, 76.10; H, 6.01. Found: C, 75.87; H, 5.97. The structure of **5a** was determined by NOE experiments.

3.2.28. 6,**6**'-**Dimethyl-3,4-dihydro-[4,8**']**bichromenyl-2,2**'-**dione** (**5b**). Colorless crystals. Mp 244–246 °C (CH₂Cl₂/ hexane). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 2.27 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.30 (s, 3H, CH₃), 3.08 (dd, *J*=6.0, 15.9 Hz, 1H, COCH₂), 3.14 (dd, *J*=4.5, 15.9 Hz, 1H, COCH₂), 4.98 (dd, *J*=4.5, 6.0 Hz, 1H, CH), 6.45 (d, *J*=9.6 Hz, 1H, vinyl), 6.77 (d, *J*=1.8 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.16 (dd, *J*=1.8, 8.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.19 (d, *J*=1.8 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.68 (d, *J*=9.6 Hz, 1H, vinyl). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 20.74, 20.84, 33.69, 35.80, 116.66, 117.05, 118.93, 123.44, 127.34, 128.49, 128.84, 129.81, 131.26, 134.51, 134.72, 143.75, 149.23, 150.19, 160.36, 167.53. MS (EI, *m/z*): 320 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₂₀H₁₆O₄: C, 74.99; H, 5.03. Found: C, 74.74; H, 5.05.

3.2.29. 4-(4-Hydroxy-2-methylphenyl)-7-methyl-3,4-di-hydrocoumarin (5c). Colorless crystals. Mp 183–185 °C (AcOEt). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 2.27 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.30 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.88 (dd, *J*=7.2, 15.9 Hz, 1H, COCH₂), 2.99 (dd, *J*=5.7, 15.9 Hz, 1H, COCH₂), 4.51 (dd, *J*=5.7, 7.2 Hz, 1H, CH), 6.48 (dd, *J*=2.1, 8.4 Hz, 1H, aryl), 6.54 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 1H, aryl), 6.63 (d, *J*=2.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 6.78 (d, *J*=7.8 Hz, 1H, aryl), 6.91 (d, *J*=7.8 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.00 (s, 1H, aryl), 9.26 (s, 1H, OH). ¹³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆): δ 19.15, 20.55, 34.78, 35.82, 113.16, 116.74, 117.39, 123.58, 125.16, 127.46, 127.86, 129.29, 137.02, 138.12, 151.58, 156.08, 167.94. MS (EI, *m/z*): 268 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₁₇H₁₆O₃: C, 76.10; H, 6.01. Found: C, 75.98; H, 6.01. The structure of **5c** was determined by NOE experiments.

3.2.30. 4-(5-Bromo-2-hydroxyphenyl)-6-bromo-3,4-dihydrocoumarin (5d). Colorless crystals. Mp 237.5–238.5 °C (AcOEt). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO- d_6): δ 3.04 (dd, J=5.7, 16.2 Hz, 1H, COCH₂), 3.14 (dd, J=6.9, 16.2 Hz, 1H, COCH₂), 4.62 (dd, J=5.7, 6.9 Hz, 1H, CH), 6.81 (d, J= 8.4 Hz, 1H, aryl), 6.96 (d, J=2.4 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.12 (d, J=8.7 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.25 (d, J=2.1 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.28 (dd, J=2.4, 8.4 Hz, 1H, aryl), 7.50 (dd, J=2.1, 8.7 Hz, 1H, aryl), 1³C NMR (75.5 MHz, DMSO- d_6): δ 33.45, 34.79, 110.23, 116.07, 117.65, 118.88, 127.08, 129.45, 130.51, 130.83, 131.26, 131.36, 150.82, 154.41, 167.03. MS (EI, m/z): 396, 398, 400 (M⁺). Anal. Calcd for C₁₅H₁₀Br₂O₃: C, 45.26; H, 2.53. Found: C, 45.36; H, 2.46.

3.2.31. Ethyl 3-oxooctanoate (6).²³ Yellow liquid.

References and notes

- 1. Staunton, J. *Comprehensive Organic Chemistry*; Sammes, P. G., Ed.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1979; Vol. 4, pp 651–653.
- Matern, U.; Lüer, P.; Kreusch, D. Comprehensive Natural Products Chemistry; Sankawa, U., Ed.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1999; Vol. 1, pp 623–635.
- Hepworth, J. D. Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry; Boulton, A. J., McKillop, A., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1984; Vol. 3, pp 799–810.
- 4. Pd: (a) An, Z.; Catellani, M.; Chuisoli, G. P. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 371, C51-C52; (b) Deshpande, P. P.; Martin, O. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 6313-6316; (c) Catellani, M.; Chiusoli, G. P.; Fagnola, M. C.; Solari, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 5919-5922; (d) Catellani, M.; Chiusoli, G. P.; Fagnola, M. C.: Solari, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 5923-5926; (e) Cacchi, S. Pure Appl. Chem. 1996, 68, 45-52; (f) Catellani, M.; Chiusoli, G. P.; Marzolini, G.; Rossi, E. J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 525, 65-69; (g) Arcadi, A.; Cacchi, S.; Fabrizi, G.; Marinelli, F.; Pace, P. Synlett 1996, 568-570; (h) Cacchi, S.; Fabrizi, G.; Moro, L.; Pace, P. Synlett 1997, 1367–1370; (i) Kadnikov, D. V.; Larock, R. C. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3643-3646; (j) Hesse, S.; Kirsch, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 1213-1215; (k) Kadnikov, D. V.; Larock, R. C. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9423-9432; (1) Kadnikov, D. V.; Larock, R. C. J. Organomet. Chem. 2003, 687, 425-435; (m) Palencia, H.; Garcia-Jimenez, F.; Takacs, J. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 3849-3853; (n) Battistuzzi, G.; Cacchi, S.; Salve, I. D.; Fabrizi, G.; Parisi, L. M. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 308-312; (o) Aoki, S.; Oyamada, J.; Kitamura, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2005, 78, 468-472.
- Ru: Chatterjee, A. K.; Toste, F. D.; Goldberg, S. D.; Grubbs, R. H. Pure Appl. Chem. 2003, 75, 421–425.
- 6. Rh: (a) Yoneda, E.; Sugioka, T.; Hirao, K.; Zhang, S.-W.; Takahashi, S. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1* 1998, 477–483;
 (b) Tollari, S.; Palmisano, G.; Cenini, S.; Cravotto, G.; Giovenzana, G. B.; Penoni, A. *Synthesis* 2001, 735–740.
- 7. Rh and Co: Park, K. H.; Jung, I. G.; Chung, Y. K. *Synlett* **2004**, 2541–2544.
- Ni: Rayabarapu, D. K.; Shukla, P.; Cheng, C.-H. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 4903–4906.
- (a) Trost, B. M.; Toste, F. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 6305–6306;
 (b) Trost, B. M.; Toste, F. D.; Greenman, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 4518–4526.
- 10. Au: Shi, Z.; He, C. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 3669-3671.
- (a) Jia, C.; Piao, D.; Kitamura, T.; Fujiwara, Y. J. Org. Chem.
 2000, 65, 7516–7522; (b) Oyamada, J.; Jia, C.; Fujiwara, Y.;

Kitamura, T. *Chem. Lett.* **2002**, 380–381; (c) Kitamura, T.; Yamamoto, K.; Kotani, K.; Oyamada, J.; Fujiwara, Y. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **2003**, 76, 1889–1895; (d) Kotani, M.; Yamamoto, K.; Oyamada, J.; Fujiwara, Y.; Kitamura, T. *Synthesis* **2004**, 1466–1470; (e) Li, K.; Zeng, Y.; Neuenswander, B.; Tunge, J. A. *J. Org. Chem.* **2005**, 70, 6515–6518.

- (a) Jia, C.; Piao, D.; Oyamada, J.; Lu, W.; Kitamura, T.; Fujiwara, Y. *Science* 2000, 287, 1992–1995; (b) Jia, C.; Lu, W.; Oyamada, J.; Kitamura, T.; Matsuda, K.; Irie, M.; Fujiwara, Y. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2000, *122*, 7252–7263; (c) Jia, C.; Kitamura, T.; Fujiwara, Y. Acc. Chem. Res. 2001, 34, 633–639.
- (a) Oyamada, J.; Kitamura, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, 46, 3823–3827; (b) Oyamada, J.; Kitamura, T. *Chem. Lett.* 2005, 1430–1431.
- Tunge, J. A.; Foresee, N. L. Organometallics 2005, 24, 6440– 6444.

- (a) Aoki, S.; Amamoto, C.; Oyamada, J.; Kitamura, T. *Tetrahedron* 2005, *61*, 9291–9297; (b) Li, K.; Foresee, L. N.; Tunge, J. A. *J. Org. Chem.* 2005, *70*, 2881–2883.
- Harvey, R. G.; Cortez, C.; Ananthanarayan, T. P.; Schmolka, S. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 3936–3943.
- 17. Osborne, A. G. Tetrahedron 1981, 37, 2021-2025.
- Chenault, J.; Dupin, J. F. E. *Heterocycles* **1983**, *20*, 437–443.
 Costa, A. M. B. S. R. C. S.; Dean, F. M.; Jones, M. A.; Varma,
- R. S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1985, 799–808.
- Dittmer, D. C.; Li, Q.; Avilov, D. V. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 4682–4686.
- 21. Oda, N.; Yoshida, Y.; Nagai, S.; Ueda, T.; Sakakibara, J. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1987**, *35*, 1796–1802.
- 22. Sarker, A. M.; Kaneko, Y.; Neckers, D. C. J. Photochem. Photobiol. A: Chem. 1998, 117, 67–74.
- Katritzky, A. R.; Wang, Z.; Wang, M.; Wilkerson, C. R.; Hall, C. D.; Akhmedov, N. G. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 6617–6622.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6926-6944

Tetrahedron

Total synthesis of actinobolin from D-glucose by way of the stereoselective three-component coupling reaction

Satoshi Imuta, Hiroki Tanimoto, Miho K. Momose and Noritaka Chida*

Department of Applied Chemistry, Faculty of Science and Technology, Keio University, 3-14-1 Hiyoshi, Kohoku-ku, Yokohama 223-8522, Japan

> Received 3 April 2006; revised 25 April 2006; accepted 26 April 2006 Available online 18 May 2006

Abstract—The total synthesis of (–)-actinobolin 3, an antipode of the natural product, starting from D-glucose is described. A three-component coupling reaction of functionalized cyclohexenone (+)-6 derived from D-glucose by way of Ferrier's carbocyclization reaction, with vinyl cuprate and 2-alkoxypropanal 7 effectively constructed the carbon framework of 3 in a highly stereoselective manner. In an aldol process of the three-component coupling reaction, stereochemical control (chelation and Felkin–Anh conditions) was achieved by the choice of the protecting groups of a hydroxy function in 2-hydroxypropanal and the reaction solvents. The formal synthesis of the natural enantiomer, (+)-actinobolin 1, starting from D-glucose was also accomplished.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

(+)-Actinobolin **1**, isolated from the culture broth of *Streptomyces griceoviridus* by Haskell and Bartz in 1959, has a broad antibacterial spectrum as well as moderate antitumor activity.¹ The substance is a hydrophilic, amphoteric, water soluble base, and it chelates with iron, aluminum, and other metal ions. It has also been reported that actinobolin, which suppresses antibody production, has a therapeutic effect on autoimmune encephalomyelitis² and serves to increase the hardness of human enamel.³ The structure elucidation study revealed that actinobolin has a highly oxygenated bicyclic γ -lactone (tetrahydroisochromane) framework with five contiguous chiral centers including an L-alanine residue (Fig. 1).⁴ Later, in 1979, a structurally related natural



Figure 1. Structures of actinobolin and bactobolin.

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.079

product, (-)-bactobolin 2 was discovered in Pseudomonas BMG13-A7 and found to show more potent activities than actinobolin.⁵ Such interesting and challenging structures with potent biological properties have naturally received considerable attention from the synthetic community, and several reports on total syntheses,⁶ synthetic approach,⁷ and chemical modification⁸ of actinobolin and bactobolin have been described. In 1984, Ohno and co-workers reported the first and elegant total synthesis of (+)-actinobolin 1 starting from L-threonine using an intramolecular Diels-Alder reaction as the key reaction.^{6a} Second synthesis was accomplished in 1985 by Weinreb and co-workers.^{6b} The features of Weinreb's work were shorter synthetic route than Ohno's synthesis and the preparation of common bicyclic olefinic γ -lactone, which could be utilized for the synthesis of both actinobolin and bactobolin. In 1986, Kozikowski and coworkers also completed the synthesis of actinobolin from L-threonine.^{6c,d} Most recently, Ward and co-workers carried out the total synthesis in 1993^{6e,f} in which they used the novel diastereoselective 6-endo-trig radical cyclization of a thiocarbamate derived from D-glucose. On the other hand, N-acetylactinobolin was prepared by two groups.⁷ Rahman and Fraser-Raid synthesized it in an optically active form via a [4+2] cycloaddition.7a Danishefsky and coworkers achieved a synthesis of racemic N-acetylactinobolin utilizing a key siloxy Cope rearrangement.7b

We report here the new synthesis of (-)-actinobolin **3**, the antipode of the natural product expected to show some biological activity, starting from D-glucose using stereoselective three-component coupling reactions as the key

Keywords: Actinobolin; Ferrier's carbocyclization; Three-component coupling reaction.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel./fax: +81 455661573; e-mail: chida@applc. keio.ac.jp

transformation.⁹ The formal synthesis of natural enantiomer **1** from D-glucose is also presented.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Retrosynthesis

Our retrosynthetic analysis for (–)-actinobolin **3** suggested that bicyclic γ -lactone possessing an azide function **4** would be a promising intermediate for the total synthesis (Fig. 2). Lactone **4** was expected to arise from cyclohexanone derivative **5**, which we planned to prepare by way of a one-pot three-component coupling reaction¹⁰ of cyclohexenone (+)-**6**, a vinyl metal species, and 2-hydroxypropanal derivative **7**. The aldol process in the three-component coupling reaction of an enolate generated from (+)-**6** with (*R*)- or (*S*)-**7** was expected to show stereoselectivities, since both partners in the reaction are chiral, therefore, the reaction would proceed under 'double diastereoselection conditions'.¹¹ The cyclohexenone (+)-**6**, in turn, was envisioned to be synthesized in optically pure form starting from D-glucose utilizing Ferrier's carbocyclization¹² as the key transformation.



Figure 2. Retrosynthetic analysis of (-)-actinobolin.

2.2. Preparation of subunits

Synthesis of cyclohexenone (+)-6 commenced from the known 3-deoxy-D-glucose derivative¹³ 9 prepared from the commercially available methyl 4,6-O-benzylidene-α-Dglucopyranoside 8 in two steps (Scheme 1). Cleavage of a benzylidene acetal in 9 with diisobutylaluminum hydride (DIBAL-H) gave 10, whose primary hydroxy group was selectively iodinated and the remaining hydroxy function was protected as a TBS ether to afford 11. Treatment of 11 with t-BuOK provided 5-enopyranoside 12. Catalytic Ferrier's carbocyclization reaction¹⁴ of **12** in acetoneacetate buffer (pH 4.8) gave 13 as a mixture of diastereomer $(\alpha$ -OH/ β -OH=ca. 1:10). Use of acetate buffer was effective to suppress the partial hydrolysis of the O-TBS group due to the acidity of the catalyst, and greatly improved the cyclization yields. β -Elimination of the hydroxy function cleanly generated cyclohexenone (+)-6.

The other requisite subunit, aldehyde **7a**, was synthesized in optically active forms and as a racemate from methyl lactate (Scheme 2). Acid catalyzed *p*-methoxybenzylation of the hydroxy group in methyl (*R*)-lactate,¹⁵ followed by



Scheme 1. Bn=-CH₂Ph, TBS=-SiMe₂(t-Bu).

reduction with DIBAL-H afforded (*R*)-7a in 86% overall yield. Similar treatment of methyl (*S*)-lactate gave enantiomeric aldehyde (*S*)-7a.



Scheme 2. MPM= $-CH_2C_6H_4(p-OMe)$.

2.3. Three-component coupling reaction

With chiral cyclohexenone (+)-**6** and aldehydes (*R*)-, (*S*)-, and (\pm)-**7a** in hand, the crucial three-component coupling reaction was investigated using vinyl metal species as the nucleophile (Scheme 3). At first, 1,4-addition of a vinyl group to (+)-**6** was attempted. Treatment of (+)-**6** with higher order vinyl cuprate¹⁶ in Et₂O at -78 °C followed by quenching the reaction with aqueous NH₄Cl, afforded **14** as a single isomer in a quantitative yield. The observed large coupling constants ($J_{3ax,4}$ =10.8 Hz, $J_{4,5}$ =9.6 Hz) in ¹H NMR spectra of **14** clearly revealed that the vinyl group was introduced from the less crowded β -face.



Scheme 3.

Then, the intermediate enolate was trapped with excess amount (6 equiv to (+)-6) of racemic aldehyde (\pm) -7a in Et₂O to give **15** as the major isomer in 68% isolated yield after chromatographic separation (Scheme 4). The coupling constant ($J_{2,3}$ =10.6 Hz) in ¹H NMR spectrum of **15** showed the stereochemical relationship between C-2 and C-3 substituents to be trans. The similar reaction employing vinylmagnesium bromide as a nucleophile in the presence of N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine (TMEDA) and CuI in THF gave less satisfactory results to afford 15 in 48% vield. When chiral aldehvde (R)-7a was employed as an electrophile, the same diastereomer 15 was obtained in 85% yield. Interestingly with another chiral aldehyde (S)-7a, the aldol process was found to proceed much slower than the reaction with (R)-7a, and a different diastereomer 16, in which the stereochemistry of substituents at C-2 and C-3 were *cis* ($J_{2,3}$ =6.8 Hz), was formed in 72% yield.



Scheme 4.

The stereochemistry at C-1' of 15 and 16 was determined by NOE experiments of epoxides 21 and 23 derived from 15 and 16, respectively (Scheme 5). Treatment of 15 with $Me_4NBH(OAc)_3^{17}$ at room temperature stereoselectively reduced the carbonyl group to give syn diol 17 in 70% yield. The hydroxy group at C-2 in 17 was anticipated to show less reactivity than that at C-1' due to the steric congestion. Indeed, reaction of 17 with BuLi (3 equiv) at 0 °C, followed by treatment with TsCl (2.8 equiv) generated 1'-OTs derivative 18, quantitatively. The remaining hydroxy function was then masked as a MOM ether to afford 19 in 92% yield. The MPM group in 19 was deprotected by DDQ to afford 20, which was then converted into epoxide 21 by treatment with DBU. The observed NOE between H-1' and H-2' in 21 revealed the relationship of these protons to be cis, showing that the stereochemistry at C-1' in 15 should be R. On the other hand, reduction of 16 with NaBH₄ gave β -alcohol, which was converted into diacetate 22 possessing (1'S,2R) configuration by O-acetylation and deprotection of the O-MPM group. Methanesulfonylation of the hydroxy group in 22 followed by treatment with NaOMe provided an epoxide, whose Oacetylation gave 23. The observed coupling constants and NOE experiments unambiguously supported the whole structure of 23, indicating the stereochemistry at C-1' in 16 to be S.



Scheme 5. $Ts = -SO_2C_6H_4(p-Me)$.

The predominant formation of 1',2'-syn isomers (15 and 16) in the three-component coupling reactions suggested that the chelation control (chelation between the alkoxy and aldehyde oxygens in (*R*)-7a and (*S*)-7a) should be an important factor in the aldol process.¹¹ Reaction of the intermediate enolate with chelated (*R*)-7a would proceed in a 'matched pair' manner (route *a* in Fig. 3) to give 15 smoothly, whereas combination of (*S*)-7a and the enolate





would be 'mismatched'. The steric repulsion between chelated (S)-7a and the enolate (routes b and c) rendered the aldol reaction much sluggish, but gave 2,3-cis-adduct 16 stereoselectively via less crowded pathway (route c) when (S)-7a was employed as the electrophile. Apparently, a kinetic resolution had taken place in the aldol process with racemic aldehyde (\pm)-7a, providing 15 as the major product, since the aldol reaction of the intermediate enolate with (R)-7a was much faster than that with (S)-7a.

The stereoselective formation of three-component adduct **15** led us to use this compound as the precursor for the synthesis of (–)-actinobolin. Successful conversion of **15** into **19** (Scheme 5) revealed that the required transformations into the desired lactone would be (1) introduction of a nitrogen function at C-1' via $S_N 2$ fashion and (2) formation of γ -lactone with inversion of the configuration at the C-2' hydroxy group.

2.4. Total synthesis of (-)-actinobolin

Ozonolysis of a vinyl group in 19 and further oxidation with NaClO₂ afforded 24 in 75% yield (Scheme 6). The MPM protecting group in 24 was removed to give hydroxycarboxylic acid 25. To obtain a γ -lactone with inversion of the hydroxy group, compound 25 was subjected to the intramolecular Mitsunobu reaction¹⁸ (DEAD, PPh₃). However, it was found that the product obtained in 80% yield was γ -lactone 26 with retention of the C-2' stereochemistry. The structure of 26 was confirmed by the fact that DCC-mediated lactonization of 25 afforded the same lactone 26. These results revealed that Mitsunobu reagent did not activate the alcohol moiety in 25 probably due to the steric congestion, but activated the carboxylic acid moiety. A similar phenomenon has been documentated,^{18b} and mechanistic study on Mitsunobu lactonization of hydroxycarboxylic acid with hindered alcohol system has been reported in detail by DeShong.¹⁹



Scheme 6. MOM=–CH₂OMe.

Attempted inversion of a hydroxy function in **20** by intermolecular Mitsunobu reaction proved also fruitless, so we next adopted an oxidation–reduction procedure. Dess–Martin oxidation of **20** provided methyl ketone **27** (Scheme 6). Reduction of **27** with various reducing reagents was carried out, however, the desired inverted alcohol could not be obtained as the major isomer. After several attempts, it was found that the stereoselective reduction successfully proceeded when carboxylic acid **28** was employed as the substrate (Scheme 7). Thus, ozonolysis of **27**, followed by further oxidation gave **28**. Treatment of **28** with NaBH₄ provided desired product **29** as the major isomer, and bicyclic compound **30** was obtained in 72% yield from **27** after lactonization followed by separation with silica gel chromatography. Azidolysis of **30** with NaN₃ cleanly provided advanced intermediate **4** in 86% yield, whose structure was confirmed by NOE experiments.



Scheme 7.

With the desired lactone 4 possessing proper functionalities and stereochemistry in hand, the final transformation to 3was then explored. Deprotection of the O-TBS moiety in 4 gave 31, whose Swern oxidation afforded β -ketoester 32 in 89% yield from 4 (Scheme 8). Interestingly, the methoxymethyl group was unexpectedly removed during the purification process with silica gel chromatography. Hydrogenation of 32 in the presence of Pd catalyst in aqueous HCl reduced the azide function as well as induced removal of the O-benzyl group to provide an amine hydrochloride, which, without isolation, was condensed with N-benzyloxycarbonyl-Dalanine (Z-D-alanine) by the action of DCC to give protected actinobolin 33 in 57% yield. Finally, removal of the benzyloxycarbonyl group by hydrogenolysis in MeOH-AcOHaqueous HCl, followed by purification with Sephadex LH-20 (MeOH) furnished (-)-actinobolin hydrochloride (3·HCl) in 76% yield. The spectral (¹H and ¹³C NMR) data of synthetic $3 \cdot HCl$ were fully identical with those of natural (+)-actinobolin hydrochloride, kindly provided by Dr. Y. Nishimura, and the $[\alpha]_D$ value of the synthetic compound $\{[\alpha]_D^{24} - 51 \ (c \ 0.24, H_2O): \text{ lit.}^{6c,d} \ [\alpha]_D^{21} + 53 \ (c \ 0.65,$ H_2O) confirmed its unnatural absolute configuration.

Thus, total synthesis of (-)-actinobolin (3) starting from D-glucose was accomplished. The high stereoselectivities observed in the three-component coupling reaction under



Scheme 8. Cbz=–C(O)OCH₂Ph.

the chelation control led us to explore the possibility of the coupling reaction under non-chelation conditions. If a threecomponent coupling reaction with (S)-hydroxypropanal derivative proceeded via Felkin–Anh conditions, the product possessing the proper stereochemistries for the synthesis of actinobolin was anticipated to be obtained as the major isomer, which would bring about the shorter step synthesis of actinobolin.

2.5. Three-component coupling with a TES-aldehyde: a shorter route to (-)-actinobolin

For the aldol reaction under Felkin–Anh conditions, aldehyde **7b** possessing *O*-TES protecting group was employed for three-component coupling reaction. It has been reported that *O*-silyl protecting group does not form chelation between alkoxy and carbonyl oxygens.²⁰ Aldehyde (*S*)-**7b** was prepared from methyl lactate by protection of the hydroxy group with TESCl, followed by reduction (Scheme 9).²¹



Scheme 9. TES=-SiEt₃.

Three-component coupling reaction of (+)-6, vinyl cuprate, and aldehvde (S)-7b at -78 °C resulted in the formation of 34 (chelation product, 51%) and 35 (Felkin-Anh product, 40%) (Scheme 10). Contrary to our expectation, the aldol process provided a 5:4 mixture of chelation and Felkin-Anh products, in spite of using an O-TES protecting group. To reduce the degree of the chelation in (S)-7b, hexamethylphosphoramide (HMPA) was added²² to the reaction mixture. To our delight, in the presence of HMPA, the three-component coupling reaction with (S)-7b proceeded stereoselectively to provide Felkin–Anh products 35 and 36 in 47% and 20% isolated vields, respectively, and chelation product 34 could not be isolated in this case. The ketal product 36, presumably formed by the further reaction of **35** with excess (S)-**7b**, was converted into 35 in 76% yield by treatment with acetic acid. Thus, desired compound 35 was obtained in 62% overall yield from (+)-6 after acetolysis of 36.

The structure of compound **34** was assigned by comparison of its NMR spectra with those of the structurally related compound **16**, and finally confirmed by its conversion into the known compound **22**, by the similar procedures as described for the preparation of **22** from **16**. On the other hand, the structure of **35** was verified by its transformation into the known synthetic intermediate **30** of actinobolin as shown in Scheme 11. Thus, treatment of **35** with LiBH₄, in THF/AcOH at room temperature reduced the carbonyl group stereoselectively to give *syn* diol **37** in 87% yield. Reduction of **35** with NaBH(OAc)₃²³ and Me₄NBH(OAc)₃¹⁷ also gave **37** as a major isomer, but the yields (76% and 25%, respectively) were less satisfactory. Reaction of **37** with BuLi in Et₂O at 0 °C, followed by treatment with TsCl generated the 1'-OTs derivative **38**, quantitatively. The remaining



hydroxy function was then masked as a MOM ether to afford **39** in 92% yield. The TES protecting group was removed by the action of DDQ²⁴ to give **40** in 86% yield. Ozonolysis of **40** followed by reductive workup afforded lactol **41** as a single anomer. Oxidation of **41** by PDC provided lactone **30**, which was fully identical with the compound prepared in previous route as shown in Scheme 7. This new synthetic sequence to actinobolin from **35**, which has no necessity to invert the configuration at C-2' hydroxy group, is three steps shorter than the previous route using *O*-MPM aldehyde (*R*)-**7a**.





2.6. Formal synthesis of (+)-actinobolin

Having established the new synthetic pathways to (-)-actinobolin from D-glucose, we turned our attention to the synthesis of the natural enantiomer 1, also starting from D-glucose. It is interesting and important issue for synthetic chemistry to prepare both enantiomers from the same starting material. For this purpose, 3-deoxy-D-glucose derivative 9 was again chosen as a building block, and its transformation into the enantiomer of (+)-6 was investigated.

Benzylation of a hydroxy group in **9**, followed by acetal hydrolysis afforded **42** in 87% overall yield (Scheme 12). Selective iodination of primary alcohol of **42** and subsequent treatment with base gave 5-enopyranoside **43** in 70% yield. Protection of the remaining hydroxy function as a TBS ether afforded **44** in 85% yield. Catalytic Ferrier's carbocyclization of **44** in acetone–acetate buffer generated **45** as a diastereomeric mixture ($\alpha:\beta=$ ca. 1:6) in 83% yield.

Protection of a hydroxy group in **45** as a THP ether and subsequent reduction of the ketone carbonyl gave **46**. Methanesulfonylation of the hydroxy function in **46** followed by acidic workup afforded **47** as the major product in 66% isolated yield. The observed large coupling constants in **47** ($J_{1,2}$ =8.8, $J_{4,5}$ =9.0 Hz) clearly showed that both OMs and OH groups were in the equatorial positions. Swern oxidation of **47** was accompanied by the β -elimination of the OMs group to furnish (–)-**6** in 93% yield. The spectral data and the absolute value of $[\alpha]_D$ of (–)-**6** { $[\alpha]_D^{19}$ –22 (c 0.80, CHCl₃)} were fully identical with those of (+)-**6** { $[\alpha]_{C^{23}}^{23}$ +22 (c 0.94, CHCl₃)}, representing a formal synthesis of (+)-actinobolin.



Scheme 12.

3. Conclusion

In this work, a new synthesis route to both (–)- and (+)-actinobolin starting from D-glucose has been established. This synthesis demonstrated that the methodology involving the three-component coupling reaction on chiral cyclohexenones, derived from D-glucose by way of catalytic Ferrier's carbocyclization, is effective for the chiral and stereoselective synthesis of natural products possessing highly functionalized cyclohexane units. The stereochemical control in three-component coupling reaction by way of the choice of the protecting groups on aldehydes and the reaction solvents would be an important finding and could be applicable to the stereoselective synthesis of other natural products.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

Melting points were determined on a Mitamura-Riken micro hot stage and were not corrected. Optical rotations were recorded using a sodium lamp (589 nm) with a JASCO DIP-370 instrument with 1 dm tube. Infrared (IR) spectra were measured with a JASCO FT/IR-200 spectrometer. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded at 300 MHz on a JEOL Lambda 300 or on a Varian MVX-300 spectrometer. Chemical shifts are reported as δ values in parts per million relative to tetramethylsilane (δ =0) or chloroform (δ =7.26). Coupling constants (J) are reported in Hertz. Abbreviations used are br (broad peak), s (singlet), d (doublet), t (triplet), q (quartet), and m (complex multiplet). ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded at 75 MHz on the JEOL Lambda 300 spectrometer. Chemical shifts are reported as d values in parts per million relative to chloroform-d (δ =77.00) or methanol-d₄ (δ =49.00) as internal references. Mass spectra are measured by a JEOL GC Mate spectrometer with EI (70 eV) or FAB mode. Organic extracts were dried over solid anhydrous Na2SO4 and concentrated below 40 °C under reduced pressure. Column chromatography was carried out with silica gel (Merck Kieselgel 60 F₂₅₄; 230–400 mesh) or alumina powder (WAKO alumina, activated; 300 mesh) for purification. Preparative TLC (PLC) was performed with Merck PLC plate (Kieselgel 60 F₂₅₄, 0.5 mm thickness).

4.2. Total synthesis of (-)-actinobolin

4.2.1. Methyl 4-O-benzyl-3-deoxy-α-D-ribo-hexopyranoside (10). To a solution of methyl 4,6-O-benzylidene-3deoxy- α -D-*ribo*-hexopyranoside¹³ **9** (1.57 g, 5.90 mmol) in toluene (10 mL) under Ar at 0 °C was slowly added 1.01 mol/L solution of DIBAL-H in toluene (23.4 mL, 23.6 mmol). After being stirred at room temperature for 6 h, the reaction mixture was quenched with water, and the products were extracted with EtOAc. The organic layer was washed successively with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was recrystallized from EtOAc/hexane (2:5, 28 mL), to afford 10 (1.15 g, 73%) as colorless crystals: $R_f 0.12$ (EtOAc/ toluene=1:1); mp 130.0–130.5 °C; $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ +184 (c 0.95, CHCl₃); IR (KBr disk) 3240, 2900, 1120, 1095, 1075, 1055, 1030, 1000, 715 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.40–7.24 (5H, m), 4.65 (1H, d, *J*=11.6 Hz), 4.64 (1H, d, *J*=3.5 Hz), 4.47 (1H, d, J=11.6 Hz), 3.83 (1H, dd, J=3.3, 11.5 Hz), 3.73 (1H, dd, J=4.4, 11.5 Hz), 3.63 (1H, ddd, J=3.5, 4.3, 11.7 Hz), 3.59 (1H, ddd, J=3.3, 4.4, 9.8 Hz), 3.45 (1H, ddd, J=4.6, 9.8, 11.3 Hz), 3.44 (3H, s), 2.38 (1H, ddd, J=4.3, 4.6, 11.5 Hz), 1.68 (1H, ddd, *J*=11.3, 11.5, 11.7 Hz); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 137.8, 128.5, 127.8, 127.7, 98.4, 71.9, 70.9, 70.7, 67.3, 62.2, 55.0, 33.3; LRMS (EI) m/z 268 (M⁺, 14.5%), 236 (53), 146 (100); HRMS (EI) m/z calcd for C₁₄H₂₀O₅ (M⁺) 268.1311, found 268.1310. Anal. Calcd for C₁₄H₂₀O₅: C, 62.67; H, 7.51. Found: C, 62.47; H, 7.21.

4.2.2. Methyl 4-O-benzyl-2-O-(tert-butyldimethylsilyl)-**3,6-dideoxy-6-iodo-**α-**D**-*ribo*-hexopyranoside (11). To a solution of 10 (1.04 g, 3.88 mmol) in toluene (25 mL) were added PPh₃ (1.63 g, 6.22 mmol), imidazole (0.840 g, 12.3 mmol), and iodine (1.97 g, 7.76 mmol), and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 28 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with 10% aqueous Na₂S₂O₃ solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 60 g. EtOAc/toluene=1:5) to give methyl 4-O-benzyl-3.6-dideoxy-6-iodo- α -D-*ribo*-hexopyranoside (1.16 g, 99%) as a colorless syrup: $R_f 0.55$ (EtOAc/toluene=1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{22} + 124$ (c 0.85, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3440, 2940, 1600, 1455, 1030 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) & 7.40-7.27 (5H, m), 4.67 (1H, s), 4.65 and 4.47 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.2 Hz), 3.68 (1H, ddd, J=4.9, 10.5, 11.5 Hz), 3.56 (1H, dd, J=2.0, 10.5 Hz), 3.49 (3H, s), 3.41 (1H, ddd, J=2.0, 6.8, 9.4 Hz), 3.30 (1H, dd, J=6.8, 10.5 Hz), 3.29 (1H, ddd, J=4.4, 9.4, 11.2 Hz), 2.38 (1H, ddd, J=4.4, 4.9, 11.5 Hz), 1.95 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz), 1.68 (1H, ddd, J=11.2, 11.5, 11.5 Hz); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 137.7, 128.5, 127.94, 127.88, 98.6, 75.5, 70.8, 70.1, 67.3, 55.3, 33.1, 7.6; LRMS (EI) *m/z* 378 (M⁺, 0.8%), 346 (1.4), 219 (37.6), 201 (41.9) 175 (84.6), 117 (100); HRMS (EI) m/z calcd for C₁₄H₁₉O₄I, (M⁺) 378.0328, found 378.0328. Anal. Calcd for C₁₄H₁₉IO₄: C, 44.46; H, 5.06. Found: C, 44.65; H, 5.05.

To a solution of the 6-iodide derivative (10.3 g, 27.2 mmol) in DMF (200 mL) were added imidazole (11.1 g, 163 mmol) and TBSCl (6.20 g, 41.1 mmol), and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 8.5 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, washed with H₂O, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 300 g, EtOAc/ toluene=1:20) to give 2-O-silyl ether 11 (13.4 g, 100%) as a colorless syrup: R_f 0.81 (EtOAc/toluene=1:8); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +89.4 (c 0.93, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2960, 2930, 2860, 1100, 1030, 840 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.40–7.27 (5H, m), 4.66 (1H, d, J=11.3 Hz), 4.55 (1H, d, J=3.4 Hz), 4.47 (1H, d, J=11.3 Hz), 3.73 (1H, ddd, J=3.4, 4.1, 11.6 Hz), 3.55 (1H, dd, J=2.1, 10.2 Hz), 3.47 (3H, s), 3.43 (1H, ddd, J=2.1, 6.6, 9.1 Hz), 3.31 (1H, dd, J=6.6, 10.2 Hz), 3.29 (1H, ddd, J=4.6, 9.1, 11.6 Hz), 2.15 (1H, ddd, J=4.1, 4.6, 11.5 Hz), 1.88 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 11.6, 11.6 Hz), 0.89 (9H, s), 0.08 (6H, s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) & 137.8, 128.5, 128.2, 127.9, 127.8, 127.7, 99.4, 75.9, 70.7, 69.6, 68.5, 55.3, 32.6, 25.8, 18.2, 8.1, -4.6; LRMS (EI) m/z 461 (M⁺-OMe, 2.7%), 435 (34.3), 329 (22.8), 313 (33.6), 201 (96.9), 91 (100); HRMS (EI) m/z calcd for $C_{19}H_{30}IO_3Si$, (M⁺-OMe) 461.1009, found 461.1007.

4.2.3. Methyl 4-*O*-benzyl-2-*O*-(*tert*-butyldimethylsilyl)-**3,6-dideoxy-\alpha-D**-*erythro*-hex-5-enopyranoside (12). To a solution of **11** (13.4 g, 27.2 mmol) in THF (260 mL) was added *t*-BuOK (12.3 g, 81.6 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 2 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, washed successively with H₂O and brine, and then dried over Na₂CO₃. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 200 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:30 containing 1 vol % Et₃N) to give **12** (8.0 g, 81%) as a colorless syrup: R_f 0.68 (EtOAc/hexane=1:5); $[\alpha]_{24}^{24}$ +42.0 (*c* 0.61, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2960, 2930, 2855, 1660, 1260, 1100, 1030, 840 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.42–7.24 (5H, m), 4.83 (1H, br s), 4.69 and 4.64 (each 1H, 2d, *J*=12.3 Hz), 4.60 and 4.59 (each 1H, 2br s), 3.94–3.82 (2H, m), 3.47 (3H, s), 2.15–2.05 (1H, m), 2.01 (1H, m), 0.89 (9H, s), 0.08 (6H, s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 154.9, 138.2, 128.4, 127.7, 127.4, 100.8, 95.1, 72.4, 71.2, 68.4, 55.4, 34.2, 25.8, 18.2, -4.6; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) *m/z* calcd for C₂₀H₃₂O₄Si, (M+H)⁺ 365.2152, found 365.2148.

4.2.4. A mixture of (2S.4R.5R)-2-benzyloxy-4-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-5-hydroxy-cyclohexen-1-one and its (5S)-isomer (13). To a solution of 12 (4.46 g, 12.2 mmol) in acetone (300 mL) and acetate buffer (0.1 mol/L solution, prepared from 0.2 mol/L aqueous sodium acetate and acetic acid, pH 4.8, 150 mL) was added Hg(OCOCF₃)₂ (1.56 g, 3.66 mmol), and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 14 h. The reaction mixture was partially concentrated and then extracted with EtOAc. The organic layer was washed successively with 10% aqueous KI solution and 20% aqueous Na₂S₂O₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 90 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:5) to give 13 as a diastereometric mixture (5S:5R=ca. 1:10, 3.97 g)93%) as a colorless syrup: $R_f 0.51$ (EtOAc/hexane=1:5); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, for the major isomer) δ 7.40–7.28 (5H, m), 4.87 and 4.49 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.6 Hz), 3.98 (1H, dd, J=6.1, 12.7 Hz), 3.75 (1H, ddd, J=4.1, 8.3,10.6 Hz), 3.60 (1H, ddd, J=5.1, 8.3, 12.1 Hz), 2.76 (1H, dd, J=5.1, 13.8 Hz), 2.51 (1H, br s), 2.39 (1H, dd, J=12.1, 13.8 Hz), 2.35 (1H, ddd, J=4.1, 6.1, 12.1 Hz), 1.69 (1H, ddd, J=10.6, 12.1, 12.7 Hz), 0.90 (9H, s), 0.13 and 0.11 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, for the major isomer) δ 204.9, 137.5, 128.5, 128.0, 127.9, 78.6, 73.8, 73.4, 72.2, 43.8, 36.5, 25.7, 17.9, -4.3, -4.6; HRMS (FAB+, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₁₉H₃₀O₄Si, (M+H)⁺ 351.1992, found 351.2002.

4.2.5. (4R,6S)-6-Benzyloxy-4-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-2-cyclohexenone [(+)-6]. To a solution of 13 (3.97 g, 11.3 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (80 mL) were added MsCl (3.50 mL, 25.2 mmol) and Et₃N (12.6 mL, 90.4 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 2.5 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 70 g, EtOAc/ hexane=1:6) to give (+)-6 (3.50 g, 86% from 12) as a white solid: $R_f 0.57$ (EtOAc/hexane=1:4); mp 46.5–47.5 °C; $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ +22.0 (c 0.94, CHCl₃); IR (KBr disk) 2955, 2930, 2860, 1700, 1255, 1100, 1070, 965, 940 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.45-7.28 (5H, m), 6.77 (1H, ddd, J=1.9, 2.1, 10.2 Hz), 5.96 (1H, dd, J=2.4, 10.2 Hz), 4.99 and 4.66 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.7 Hz), 4.58 (1H, dddd, J=2.1, 2.4, 5.1, 10.0 Hz), 3.91 (1H, dd, J=4.9, 13.7 Hz), 2.51 (1H, dddd, J=1.9, 4.9, 5.1, 11.9 Hz), 2.09 (1H, ddd, J=10.0, 11.9, 13.7 Hz), 0.90 (9H, s), 0.12 and 0.11 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 198.2, 153.8, 137.8, 128.4, 127.9, 127.8, 127.3, 76.6, 72.4, 67.7, 40.8, 25.7, 18.0, -4.6, -4.8; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₁₉H₂₈O₃Si, (M+H)⁺ 333.1886, found 333.1883. Anal. Calcd for $C_{19}H_{28}O_3Si:$ C, 68.63; H, 8.49. Found: C, 68.46; H, 8.52.

4.2.6. (2R)-2-(4-Methoxybenzyloxy)propanal [(R)-7a] and its enantiomer [(S)-7a]. To a solution of methyl (R)-lactate (1.14 g, 11.0 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) were added (4methoxybenzyl)trichloroacetimidate (6.17 g, 21.8 mmol) and CSA (0.50 g, 2.15 mmol) at room temperature, and the reaction mixture was stirred for 15 h. The reaction mixture was quenched with MeOH and the products were extracted with EtOAc. The organic layer was washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (EtOAc/hexane= 1:20) to give methyl (R)-lactate p-methoxybenzyl ether (2.40 g) as a colorless syrup: ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.29 and 6.88 (each 2H, 2d, J=8.6 Hz), 4.62 and 4.39 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.4 Hz), 4.05 (1H, q, J=6.9 Hz), 3.80 and 3.75 (each 3H, 2s), 1.42 (3H, d, J=6.9 Hz); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 173.7, 159.3, 129.58, 129.48, 113.7, 73.5, 71.6, 55.2, 51.8, 18.7.

To a solution of methyl (R)-lactate *p*-methoxybenzyl ether (2.40 g, 10.7 mmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (50 mL) was added 1.01 mol/L solution of DIBAL-H in toluene (13.7 mL, 13.9 mmol) at -78 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred for 20 min at -78 °C. The reaction mixture was guenched with water, and the products were extracted with EtOAc. The organic layer was washed successively with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (EtOAc/hexane=1:15) to give (R)-7a (1.82 g, 86% for two steps) as a colorless liquid: $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ +26.0 (c 0.93, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2940, 2840, 2480, 1730, 1615, 1515, 1250, 1035 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 9.63 (1H, d, J= 1.7 Hz), 7.29 and 6.89 (each 2H, 2d, J=8.6 Hz), 4.58 and 4.53 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.5 Hz), 3.87 (1H, qd, J=6.8, 1.7 Hz), 3.81 (3H, s), 1.31 (3H, d, J=6.8 Hz); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz,) δ 203.5, 159.5, 129.6, 129.3, 113.9, 79.1, 71.7, 55.2, 15.3; HRMS (FAB+, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₁₁H₁₄O₃, (M+H)⁺ 195.1040, found 195.1021.

The similar treatment of methyl (*S*)-lactate (1.14 g, 11.0 mmol) as described for the preparation of (*R*)-**7a** afforded (2*S*)-2-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)propanal [(*S*)-**7a**] (1.26 g, 60% for two steps) as a colorless liquid: $[\alpha]_{\rm D}^{20}$ –25.0 (*c* 0.95, CHCl₃).

4.2.7. (3*R*,4*R*,6*S*)-6-Benzyloxy-4-(*tert*-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-3-vinylcyclohexan-1-one (14). To a suspension of copper(I) cyanide (CuCN, 18.0 mg, 0.20 mmol) in ether (0.6 mL) at -78 °C was added dropwise vinyllithium (freshly prepared from tetravinyltin and PhLi, according to the procedure reported by Seyferth and Weiner,¹⁶ 1.0 mol/L solution in ether, 0.45 mL, 0.45 mmol) under Ar. After being stirred at -78 °C for 3 min, the mixture was allowed to warm to 0 °C and further stirred at 0 °C for 1 min. The resulting clear solution was cooled to -78 °C, and to this solution was added slowly a solution of enone (+)-6 (50.0 mg, 0.15 mmol) in ether (0.6 mL) via a cannula. After being stirred at -78 °C for 15 min, the reaction mixture was quenched with saturated aqueous NH₄Cl solution, and the

products were extracted with EtOAc. The organic layer was washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃, brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 1 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:10) to give 14 (54.1 mg, 100%) as a colorless syrup: $[\alpha]_D^{23} - 93.1$ (c 1.00, CHCl₃); IR (KBr disk) 2960, 2930, 2860, 1730, 1260, 1100, 860, 840, 780, 700 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.42–7.28 (5H, m), 5.77 (1H, ddd, J=6.9, 10.5, 17.4 Hz), 5.08 (1H, dd, J=0.9, 10.5 Hz), 5.20 (1H, dd, J=0.9, 17.4 Hz), 4.87 and 4.49 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.9 Hz), 3.98 (1H, dd, J=6.3, 12.9 Hz), 3.74 (1H, ddd, J=4.3, 9.6, 10.8 Hz), 2.50–2.36 (3H, m), 2.25 (1H, m), 1.85 (1H, ddd, J=10.8, 12.3, 12.9 Hz), 0.87 (9H, s), 0.06 and 0.05 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 207.5, 138.8, 137.8, 128.6, 116.1, 78.3, 72.1, 71.7, 50.0, 41.9, 41.6, 25.9, 18.2, -4.2, -4.4; HRMS (FAB+, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₂₁H₃₃O₃Si, (M+H)⁺ 361.2199, found 361.2197.

4.2.8. Three-component coupling reaction with (±)-7a. To a suspension of copper(I) cyanide (CuCN, 112 mg, 1.25 mmol) in ether (3.0 mL) at -78 °C was added dropwise vinyllithium (freshly prepared from tetravinyltin and PhLi, 1.0 mol/L solution in ether, 2.51 mL, 2.51 mmol) under Ar. After being stirred at -78 °C for 10 min, the mixture was allowed to warm to 0 °C and further stirred at 0 °C for 2 min. The resulting clear solution was cooled to -78 °C, and to this solution was added slowly a solution of enone (+)-6 (209 mg, 0.627 mmol) in ether (1.0 mL) via a cannula. After being stirred at -78 °C for 30 min, a solution of aldehyde (\pm) -7a (740 mg, 3.76 mmol) in ether (1.0 mL) was added to the mixture dropwise via a cannula, and the mixture was stirred for 20 min at -78 °C. The reaction mixture was quenched with saturated aqueous NH₄Cl solution, and the products were extracted with EtOAc. The organic layer was washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃, brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 35 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:8) to give (2S, 3R, 4R, 6S)-6-benzyloxy-4-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-2-[(1'R,2'R)-1'-hydroxy-2'-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)propyl]-3-vinylcyclohexan-1-one (15) (228.9 mg, 68%) as a colorless syrup: $R_f 0.59$ (EtOAc/ hexane=1:3); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ -69.0 (c 0.56, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3420, 2960, 2930, 2860, 2360, 1715, 1615 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.36–7.26 (7H, m), 6.84 (2H, d, J=8.8 Hz), 5.40 (1H, ddd, J=11.7, 15.0, 17.2 Hz), 5.21 (1H, dd, J=1.6, 11.7 Hz), 5.20 (1H, dd, J=1.6, 17.2 Hz), 4.67 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz), 4.57 (1H, d, J=11.2 Hz), 4.43 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz), 4.31 (1H, d, J=11.2 Hz), 3.95 (1H, dd, J=6.3, 12.7 Hz), 3.90-3.75 (1H, m), 3.85-3.70 (2H, m), 3.81 (3H, s), 2.68 (1H, ddd, J=10.6, 12.4, 15.0 Hz), 2.44 (1H, ddd, J=4.6, 6.1, 10.8 Hz), 2.28 (1H, d, J=10.6 Hz), 1.85 (1H, ddd, J=10.8, 12.6, 12.7 Hz), 1.18 (3H, d, J=6.1 Hz), 0.84 (9H, s), 0.03 (6H, s); 13 C NMR (75 MHz) δ 210.9, 159.1, 137.5, 130.6, 129.4, 128.5, 127.8, 119.9, 113.7, 113.6, 78.2, 77.3, 73.9, 71.7, 71.1, 70.3, 55.1, 54.6, 48.3, 42.0, 25.7, 17.9, 16.1, -4.4; HRMS (FAB+, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₃₂H₄₇O₆Si, (M+H)⁺ 555.3142, found 555.3151. Anal. Calcd for C₃₂H₄₆O₆Si: C, 69.28; H, 8.36. Found: C, 69.36; H, 8.42.

4.2.9. Three-component coupling reaction with (R)-7a. The similar treatment of (+)-6 (600 mg, 1.81 mmol) with

copper(I) cyanide (CuCN, 259 mg, 2.89 mmol), vinyllithium (5.80 mmol), and aldehyde (R)-7a (1.09 g, 5.61 mmol) afforded 15 (855.1 mg, 85%).

4.2.10. Three-component coupling reaction with (S)-7a. The similar treatment of (+)-6 (78.7 mg, 0.237 mmol) with copper(I) cyanide (CuCN, 42.4 mg, 0.474 mmol) and vinyllithium (1.0 mol/L solution in ether, 0.95 mL, 0.95 mmol) as described for the preparation of 15 afforded 1,4-addition intermediate. To an ethereal solution of the enolate (5 mL) at -78 °C was added a solution of aldehvde (S)-7a (184 mg. 0.948 mmol) in ether (1.0 mL) dropwise via a cannula. After being stirred at -78 °C for 1.5 h, the reaction mixture was quenched and processed similarly as described for the preparation of 15. Purification by column chromatography (silica gel: 18 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:10) gave (2R,3R,4R,6S)-6-benzyloxy-4-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-2-[(1'S,2'S)-1'-hydroxy-2'-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)propyl]-3-vinylcyclohexan-1-one (16) (91.9 mg, 72%) as a white solid: R_f 0.69 (EtOAc/hexane=1:2); mp 118–119 °C; $[\alpha]_D^{19}$ -15.0 (*c* 0.66, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3420, 2930, 2860, 1700, 1255, 1140, 1090, 860, 840 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.40–7.24 (5H, m), 7.21 and 6.84 (each 2H, 2d, J=8.8 Hz), 5.80 (1H, ddd, J=9.3, 10.0, 16.7 Hz), 5.13 (1H, dd, J=1.7, 10.0 Hz), 5.09 (1H, dd, J=1.7, 16.7 Hz), 4.62 and 4.56 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.3 Hz), 4.41 (1H, ddd, J=4.6, 9.3, 10.1 Hz), 4.29 (1H, dd, J=6.1, 12.3 Hz), 4.24 and 4.23 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.4 Hz), 3.72-3.68 (1H, m), 3.71 (3H, s), 3.19 (1H, qd, J=6.1, 7.6 Hz), 3.00 (1H, br s), 2.69 (1H, dd, J=3.2, 6.8 Hz), 2.57 (1H, ddd, J=6.8, 9.3, 9.3 Hz), 2.33 (1H, ddd, J=4.6, 6.1, 12.4 Hz), 1.74 (1H, ddd, J=10.1, 12.3, 12.4 Hz), 1.20 (3H, d, J=6.1 Hz), 0.83 (9H, s), 0.04 and 0.02 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 210.0, 159.4, 138.1, 136.9, 129.8, 129.6, 128.3, 127.9, 127.7, 118.6, 113.9, 80.3, 75.8, 72.1, 72.1, 70.3, 68.8, 55.2, 54.6, 53.9, 42.9, 25.8, 18.1, 15.1, -4.2, -4.4; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₃₂H₄₇O₆Si, (M+H)⁺ 555.3142, found 555.3139.

4.2.11. (1S,2S,3S,4R,5R)-1-Benzyloxy-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-3-[(1'R,2'R)-1'-hydroxy-2'-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)propyl]-4-vinylcyclohexan-2-ol (17). To a solution of 15 (164 mg, 0.296 mmol) in AcOH/THF (2:1, 3.3 mL) was added $Me_4NBH(OAc)_3$ (479 mg, 1.82 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 24 h. The reaction mixture was guenched with saturated aqueous Rochelle salt solution, and the products were extracted with EtOAc. The organic layer was washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 6 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:8) to give 17 (114 mg, 70%) as a white solid: $R_f 0.59$ (EtOAc/hexane=1:2); $[\alpha]_D^{21} - 15.0$ (c 0.91, CHCl₃); mp 81–84 °C; IR (neat) 3500, 2960, 2930, 2860, 2360, 1615 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.36–7.32 (5H, m), 7.26 and 6.86 (each 2H, 2d, J=8.7 Hz), 5.28 (1H, ddd, J=9.9, 10.3, 16.6 Hz), 5.11 (1H, dd, J=2.2, 9.9 Hz), 5.08 (1H, dd, J=2.2, 16.6 Hz), 4.68 and 4.53 (each 1H, 2d, J = 11.7 Hz, 4.58 and 4.35 (each 1H, 2d, J = 11.0 Hz), 4.00 (1H, qd, J=6.1, 8.2 Hz), 3.82-3.76 (1H, m), 3.79 (3H, s), 3.63 (1H, dd, J=2.1, 8.2 Hz), 3.32 (1H, ddd, J=3.9, 9.8, 10.7 Hz), 3.24 (1H, ddd, J=3.9, 9.0, 12.9 Hz), 2.83 (1H, d, J=2.0 Hz), 2.73 (1H, d, J=2.1 Hz), 2.25 (1H,

ddd, J=9.8, 10.3, 10.7 Hz), 2.19 (1H, ddd, J=3.9, 3.9, 11.8 Hz), 1.39 (1H, ddd, J=10.7, 11.8, 12.9 Hz), 1.32 (1H, m), 1.13 (3H, d, J=6.1 Hz), 0.83 (9H, s), -0.04 (6H, s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 159.2, 139.0, 138.4, 130.6, 129.6, 128.4, 127.7, 119.2, 113.8, 80.0, 78.4, 74.6, 71.6, 71.1, 71.0, 70.7, 55.2, 51.9, 43.0, 37.5, 25.8, 18.0, 15.3, -4.3, -4.4; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₃₂H₄₉O₆Si, (M+H)⁺ 557.3298, found 557.3304. Anal. Calcd for C₃₂H₄₈O₆Si: C, 69.03; H, 8.69. Found: C, 69.20; H, 8.63.

4.2.12. (1S.2S.3S.4R.5R)-1-Benzyloxy-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-3-[(1'R.2'R)-2'-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)-1'-(p-toluenesulfonyloxy)propyl]-4-vinylcyclohexan-2-ol (18). To a solution of 17 (413 mg, 0.742 mmol) in THF (8.3 mL) were added 1.59 mol/L solution of BuLi in hexane (1.40 mL, 2.23 mmol) and TsCl (293 mg, 2.08 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 20 min. The mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with saturated aqueous NH₄Cl solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 11 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:7) to give 18 (534 mg, 100%) as a colorless oil: $R_f 0.59$ (EtOAc/hexane=1:2); $[\alpha]_D^{22} + 3.0$ (c 1.05, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3560, 2960, 2930, 2860, 1615 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.78 (2H, d, J=8.4 Hz), 7.39–7.27 (5H, m), 7.19 and 7.12 (each 2H, 2d, J=8.6 Hz), 6.79 (2H, d, J=8.4 Hz), 5.30-5.20 (3H, m), 4.86 (1H, d, J=7.5 Hz), 4.67 and 4.52 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.6 Hz), 4.30 and 4.16 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.8 Hz), 3.90 (1H, qd, J=6.1, 7.5 Hz), 3.78 (3H, s), 3.67 (1H, ddd, J=1.5, 8.5, 10.2 Hz), 3.29 (1H, ddd, J=4.4, 12.0, 12.2, Hz), 3.19 (1H, ddd, J=4.4, 8.5, 12.2 Hz), 2.95 (1H, d, J=1.5 Hz), 2.37 (3H, s), 2.12 (1H, m), 2.08–2.00 (1H, m), 1.46 (1H, dd, J=10.2, 11.9 Hz), 1.26 (1H, m), 1.06 (3H, d, J=6.1 Hz), 0.83 (9H, s), -0.03 and -0.05 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 159.0, 143.9, 138.3, 135.1, 130.5, 129.4, 128.5, 127.8, 120.6, 113.5, 86.1, 79.5, 75.6, 72.1, 71.3, 71.1, 70.9, 55.2, 51.1, 43.5, 37.4, 25.7, 21.6, 18.0, 16.7, -4.3, -4.4; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₃₉H₅₄NaO₈SSi, (M+Na)⁺ 733.3207, found 733.3207.

4.2.13. (1S,2S,3S,4R,5R)-1-Benzyloxy-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-3-[(1'R,2'R)-2'-(4-methoxybenzyloxy)-1'-(p-toluenesulfonyloxy)propyl]-2-methoxymethyloxy-4-vinylcyclohexane (19). To a solution of 18 (536 mg, 0.754 mmol) in (CH₂Cl)₂ (11 mL) were added *i*-Pr₂NEt (1.30 mL, 7.54 mmol) and MOMCl (0.570 mL, 7.54 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 50 °C for 3.5 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc and washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 20 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:10) to give 19 (557 mg, 98%) as a colorless oil: R_f 0.67 (EtOAc/hexane=1:2); $[\alpha]_{D}^{23}$ +16.0 (c 1.0, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2980, 2930, 2860, 1615 1515 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.76 (2H, d, J=8.0 Hz), 7.36–7.27 (5H, m), 7.16 (2H, d, J=8.0 Hz), 7.08 and 6.79 (each 2H, 2d, J=8.7 Hz), 5.30-5.26 (3H, m), 4.90 (1H, d, J=8.7 Hz), 4.87 and 4.75 (each 1H, 2d, J=5.3 Hz), 4.59 and 4.53 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.6 Hz), 4.25 and 4.13 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.6 Hz), 4.00 (1H, qd, J=6.3, 8.7 Hz), 3.77 (3H, s), 3.58 (1H, dd, J=10.4, 10.5 Hz), 3.37–3.28 (1H, m), 3.32 (3H, s), 3.22 (1H, ddd, J=3.9, 10.4, 11.6 Hz), 2.36 (3H, s), 2.20–2.10 (1H, m), 2.11 (1H, ddd, J=3.9, 3.9, 12.4 Hz), 1.62 (1H, dd, J=10.5, 10.5 Hz), 1.29 (1H, ddd, J=11.6, 11.6, 12.4 Hz), 1.05 (3H, d, J=6.3 Hz), 0.81 (9H, s), -0.04 and -0.05 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 158.2, 143.8, 138.3, 138.2, 135.1, 130.7, 129.2, 129.1, 128.3, 127.7, 127.6, 113.4, 98.9, 86.2, 80.0, 78.5, 75.2, 71.5, 70.8, 70.7, 57.0, 55.1, 51.3, 43.0, 38.3, 25.7, 21.5, 17.9, 16.8, -4.3, -4.5; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) *m*/*z* calcd for C₄₁H₅₈O₉SSiK, (M+K)⁺ 793.3208, found 793.3197.

4.2.14. (1S.2S.3S.4R.5R)-1-Benzyloxy-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-3-[(1'R,2'R)-2'-hydroxy-1'-(p-toluenesulfonyloxy)propyl]-2-methoxymethyloxy-4-vinylcyclohexane (20). To a solution of 19 (674 mg, 0.89 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂/H₂O (10:1, 11 mL) was added DDQ (405 mg, 1.78 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 1 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc and washed successively with 10% aqueous Na₂S₂O₃ solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 18 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:4) to give 20 (549 mg, 97%) as a colorless oil: $R_f 0.34$ (EtOAc/hexane=1:2); $[\alpha]_D^{22} - 9.0$ (c 1.1, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3500, 2960, 2930, 2860, 2360 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.83 (2H, d, J=8.0 Hz), 7.36-7.27 (7H, m), 5.32-5.25 (3H, m), 4.89 and 4.78 (each 1H, 2d, J=5.1 Hz), 4.83 (1H, d, J=4.6 Hz), 4.59 and 4.54 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.6 Hz), 3.93 (1H, qd, J=4.6, 5.8 Hz), 3.64 (1H, br s), 3.51 (1H, dd, J=10.3, 10.9 Hz), 3.37 (1H, ddd, J=4.0, 11.9, 11.9 Hz), 3.32 (3H, s), 3.25 (1H, ddd, J=4.0, 10.9, 12.8 Hz), 2.44 (3H, s), 2.22 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 11.9 Hz), 2.14 (1H, ddd, J=4.0, 4.1, 12.2 Hz), 1.72 (1H, dd, J=10.3, 11.5 Hz), 1.33 (1H, ddd, J=11.9, 12.2, 12.8 Hz), 1.04 (3H, d, J=4.6 Hz), 0.81 (9H, s), -0.04 and -0.05 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 144.9, 138.3, 138.1, 133.7, 129.7, 128.4, 127.8, 127.7, 120.6, 99.0, 85.9, 79.9, 78.0, 71.6, 70.5, 69.1, 57.3, 52.2, 44.2, 38.3, 25.7, 21.6, 19.7, 17.9, -4.4, -4.5; HRMS (FAB+, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for $C_{33}H_{51}O_8SSi$, $(M+H)^+$ 635.3074, found 635.3084.

4.2.15. (1S,2S,3S,4R,5R)-1-Benzyloxy-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-2-methoxymethyloxy-3-[(1'S, 2'R)-2'methyloxiranyl]-4-vinylcyclohexane (21). To a solution of 20 (78.5 mg, 0.124 mmol) in toluene (1.6 mL) was added DBU (0.15 mL, 0.99 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 50 °C for 20 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 1 g, EtOAc/hexane= 1:6) to give **21** (49.7 mg, 94%) as a colorless syrup; $[\alpha]_D^{24}$ -14.0 (c 0.53, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2960, 2920, 2860, 1260, 1080, 1020 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.36–7.27 (5H, m), 5.80 (1H, ddd, J=9.3, 10.5, 15.9 Hz), 5.26 (1H, dd, J=1.8, 10.5 Hz), 5.10 (1H, dd, J=1.8, 15.9 Hz), 4.97 and 4.69 (each 1H, 2d, J=6.3 Hz), 4.61 and 4.59 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.4 Hz), 3.48 (1H, dd, J=9.0, 9.9 Hz), 3.29-3.45 (2H, m), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.01 (1H, qd, J=4.2, 5.7 Hz), 2.78 (1H, dd, J=4.2, 9.3 Hz), 2.26 (1H, ddd, J=4.2, 4.2, 11.1 Hz), 2.14 (1H, ddd, J=9.3, 9.3, 9.3 Hz), 1.47 (1H, ddd, J=11.1,
11.1, 11.1 Hz), 1.28–1.40 (1H, m), 1.30 (3H, d, J=5.7 Hz), 0.84 (9H, s), -0.01 and -0.02 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 138.72, 138.40, 128.38, 127.65, 117.01, 98.24, 79.87, 79.58, 71.78, 70.24, 59.39, 56.48, 55.10, 52.62, 42.21, 39.35, 25.83, 18.09, 14.75, -4.37; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₂₆H₄₃O₅Si, (M+H)⁺ 463.2880, found 463.2875.

4.2.16. (1*S*,2*S*,3*R*,4*R*,5*R*)-2-Acetoxy-1-benzyloxy-5-(*tert*butyldimethylsilyloxy)-3-[(1'*S*,2'*S*)-1'-acetoxy-2'-hydroxypropyl]-4-vinylcyclohexane (22). To a solution of 16 (32.8 mg, 0.0591 mmol) in MeOH (1.2 mL) was added NaBH₄ (22.4 mg, 0.592 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 35 min. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 1 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:5) to give an alcohol (21.7 mg, 66%) as a colorless syrup.

To a solution of the alcohol (21.7 mg, 0.0390 mmol) in pyridine (1 mL) were added Ac₂O (0.5 mL) and DMAP (1.0 mg) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 50 °C for 4 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂/H₂O (10:1, 1.0 mL). To this solution was added DDQ (42.0 mg, 0.185 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 2 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc and washed successively with 20% aqueous Na₂S₂O₃ solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO3 solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 0.5 g, EtOAc/ hexane=1:5) to give 22 (14.3 mg, 46% from 16) as a colorless syrup: $[\alpha]_{D}^{26}$ +3.7 (c 0.57, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3500, 2970, 2860, 1740, 1250 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.24–7.38 (5H, m), 6.10 (1H, ddd, J=10.2, 10.5, 16.5 Hz), 5.13-5.07 (2H, m), 5.08 (1H, dd, J=1.5, 9.0 Hz), 4.93 (1H, dd, J=1.5, 11.1 Hz), 4.66 and 4.59 (each 1H, 2d, J=12.6 Hz), 3.99 (1H, qd, J=1.5, 6.6 Hz), 3.81 (1H, ddd, J=3.0, 3.0, 4.2 Hz), 3.55 (1H, ddd, J=3.0, 3.0, 9.0 Hz), 2.98 (1H, ddd, J=3.3, 3.9, 11.1 Hz), 2.56 (1H, ddd, J=3.0, 3.9, 10.2 Hz), 2.06 and 2.01 (each 3H, 2s), 1.90 (1H, ddd, J=2.7, 2.7,15.3 Hz), 1.72 (1H, ddd, J=3.0, 4.2, 15.3 Hz), 1.10 (3H, d, J=6.6 Hz), 0.87 (9H, s), 0.07 and 0.06 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 170.74, 170.40, 138.89, 137.87, 128.10, 127.38, 127.18, 118.24, 74.35, 73.74, 71.29, 70.75, 69.14, 65.15, 48.43, 32.17, 28.52, 25.72, 21.28, 20.80, 20.32, 17.99, -4.73, -4.99; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₂₈H₄₄O₇SiNa, (M+Na)⁺ 543.2754, found 543.2757.

4.2.17. (1*S*,2*S*,3*R*,4*R*,5*R*)-2-Acetoxy-1-benzyloxy-5-(*tert*butyldimethylsilyloxy)-3-[(1'*S*,2'*R*)-2'-methyloxiranyl]-**4-vinylcyclohexane** (23). To a solution of 22 (16.8 mg, 0.0323 mmol) in pyridine (1 mL) at 0 °C were added MsCl (0.025 mL, 0.32 mmol) and DMAP (1.0 mg), and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 1.5 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was roughly purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 1 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:5) to give mesylate (17.9 mg, 93%) as a colorless syrup.

To a solution of the mesylate (17.9 mg, 0.0300 mmol) in MeOH (1 mL) was added NaOMe (5.1 mg, 0.15 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 18 h. The reaction mixture was neutralized with acidic resin (Amberlite 120B, H⁺ form) and filtered. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was dissolved in pyridine (1 mL). To this solution were added Ac₂O (0.5 mL) and DMAP (1.0 mg) at room temperature, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 18 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 0.5 g, EtOAc/ hexane=1:15) to give 23 (11.0 mg, 74% from 22) as a colorless syrup: $[\alpha]_D^{24} - 2.5$ (c 0.22, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2960, 2940, 2860, 1820 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.39–7.24 (5H, m), 5.69 (1H, ddd, J=9.8, 9.8, 16.8 Hz), 5.10 (1H, dd, J=1.5, 16.8 Hz), 5.07 (1H, dd, J=1.5, 9.8 Hz), 4.95 (1H, dd, J=4.4, 8.3 Hz), 4.72 and 4.64 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.9 Hz), 3.85 (1H, ddd, J=4.6, 8.3, 9.5 Hz), 3.74 (1H, ddd, J=4.1, 9.3, 9.3 Hz), 2.96 (1H, qd, J=3.9, 5.6 Hz), 2.86 (1H, dd, J=3.9, 5.6 Hz), 2.41–2.26 (2H, m), 2.20 (1H, ddd, J=4.1, 4.6, 13.1 Hz), 2.08 (3H, s), 1.62 (1H, ddd, J=9.3, 9.5, 13.1 Hz), 1.18 (3H, d, J=5.6 Hz), 0.83 (9H, s), 0.02 and 0.00 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 170.76, 138.67, 137.50, 128.30, 127.50, 127.45, 118.09, 76.31, 73.74, 72.23, 68.39, 53.86, 51.20, 50.93, 37.68, 36.70, 25.71, 21.28, 18.00, 13.76, -4.29, -4.61; HRMS (FAB+, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₂₆H₄₀O₅SiNa, (M+Na)⁺ 483.2543, found 483.2543.

4.2.18. (4*S*,5*S*,6*S*,1*R*,2*R*)-4-Benzyloxy-2-(*tert*-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-6-[(1'*R*,2'*R*)-2'-hydroxy-1'-(*p*-toluenesulfonyloxy)propyl]-5-methoxymethyloxy-cyclohexancarboxylic acid (25). Ozone was introduced to a solution of **19** (7.9 mg, 0.010 mmol) in MeOH (1 mL) at -78 °C for 5 min. To the reaction mixture was added Me₂S (0.070 mL, 0.95 mmol) at -78 °C. After being stirred at room temperature for 12 h, the reaction mixture was diluted with Et₂O. The organic layer was washed with brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a crude aldehyde, which was used for the next reaction without purification.

To a solution of the crude aldehyde in *t*-BuOH/H₂O (1:1, 0.2 mL) were added NaH₂PO₄·H₂O (16 mg, 0.10 mmol), HOSO₂NH₂ (9.7 mg, 0.10 mmol), and NaClO₂ (9.1 mg, 0.10 mmol) at room temperature, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 12 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 1 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:1) to give carboxylic acid **24** (6.1 mg, 75% for two steps) as a colorless syrup.

To a solution of carboxylic acid 24 (6.1 mg, 0.0081 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂/H₂O (10:1, 0.5 mL) was added DDQ (3.7 mg,

0.016 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 20 min. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc and washed successively with 10% aqueous Na₂S₂O₃ solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 0.5 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:2) to give 25 (3.9 mg, 76% from 19) as a colorless syrup: R_f 0.34 (EtOAc/ hexane=1:1); IR (neat) 3480, 2955, 2930, 1730, 1715, 1255, 1180, 1100, 850 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.86 (2H, d, J=8.3 Hz), 7.39–7.25 (7H, m), 4.91 and 4.76 (each 1H, 2d, J=6.1 Hz), 4.72 (1H, br), 4.56 (2H, s), 4.17 (1H, qd, J=6.4, 3.4 Hz), 3.71 (1H, ddd, J=4.0, 10.0, 11.7 Hz), 3.47-3.27 (2H, m), 3.36 (3H, s), 2.85 (1H, dd, J=10.0, 10.5 Hz), 2.42 (3H, s), 2.23 (1H, ddd, J=2.2, 10.5, 10.5, Hz), 2.11 (1H, ddd, J=4.0, 4.0, 12.7 Hz), 1.34 (1H, ddd, J=11.7, 11.7, 12.7 Hz), 1.26 (1H, s), 1.06 (3H, d, J= 6.4 Hz), 0.82 (9H, s), -0.02 (6H, s); HRMS (FAB+, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for $C_{32}H_{48}O_{10}SSiNa$, $(M+Na)^+$ 675.2636, found 675.2627.

4.2.19. (3R,4R,4aS,5S,6S,8R,8aR)-6-Benzyloxy-8-(tertbutyldimethylsilyloxy)-5-methoxymethyloxy-3-methyl-4-(p-toluenesulfonyloxy)-perhydroisochroman-1-one (26). By Mitsunobu reaction: To a solution of 25 (3.2 mg, 0.0049 mmol) in benzene (1 mL) were added Ph₃P (3.2 mg, 0.012 mmol) and DEAD (0.0022 mL, 0.012 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 80 °C for 30 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with Et2O and washed successively with brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 0.5 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:4) to give 26 (2.6 mg, 84%) as a colorless oil: $R_f 0.16$ (EtOAc/hexane= 1:5); $[\alpha]_{D}^{23}$ +22.6 (c 0.69, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2960, 2930, 2860, 1760, 1360, 1180, 1015, 940, 850 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.81 (2H, d, J=8.4 Hz), 7.40-7.22 (7H, m), 5.29 (1H, s), 5.12 and 4.71 (each 1H, 2d, J=6.3 Hz), 4.59 and 4.54 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.4 Hz), 4.53 (1H, q, J=6.3 Hz), 3.84 (1H, ddd, J=4.7, 9.3, 9.3 Hz), 3.54 (3H, s), 3.48 (1H, dd, J=8.4, 11.4 Hz), 3.31 (1H, ddd, J=4.2, 8.4, 11.4 Hz), 2.44 (3H, s), 2.32-2.18 (2H, m), 1.78 (1H, dd, J=11.4, 12.9 Hz), 1.44 (3H, d, J=6.3 Hz), 1.50-1.33 (1H, m), 0.82 (9H, s), 0.09 and 0.08 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 169.7, 144.6, 138.1, 134.8, 129.5, 128.5, 127.8, 127.7, 127.6, 98.3, 80.0, 79.3, 78.9, 73.9, 72.0, 66.1, 57.1, 47.3, 44.6, 39.2, 29.7, 25.8, 21.7, 18.0, 16.4, -4.7, -4.8; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₃₂H₄₆O₉SSiNa, (M+Na)⁺ 657.2529, found 657.2521.

By DCC-mediated lactonization: To a solution of **25** (1.9 mg, 0.0029 mmol) in $(CH_2Cl)_2$ (0.3 mL) were added DCC (2.0 mg, 0.0096 mmol) and DMAP (1 mg) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 4 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and successively washed with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 0.5 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:4) to give **26** (1.1 mg, 60%).

4.2.20. (1*S*,2*S*,3*S*,4*R*,5*R*)-1-Benzyloxy-5-(*tert*-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-2-methoxymethyloxy-3-[(*R*)-1'-(*p*-toluenesulfonyloxy)-2'-oxopropyl]-4-vinylcyclohexane (27). To a solution of **20** (131 mg, 0.206 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (2.6 mL) was added Dess-Martin periodinane (874 mg, 2.06 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 23 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc and washed successively with 10% aqueous Na₂S₂O₃ solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 2 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:9) to give 27 (130 mg, 100%) as a colorless oil: $R_f 0.65$ (EtOAc/hexane=1:2); $[\alpha]_D^{19}$ -6.0 (c 0.56, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2960, 2930, 2860, 1720, 1600 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.85 (2H. d. J=8.0 Hz), 7.36–7.30 (7H, m), 5.41 (1H, ddd, J=8.8, 10.3, 17.1 Hz), 5.26 (1H, dd, J=2.0, 10.3 Hz), 5.15 (1H, dd, J=2.0, 17.1 Hz), 4.69 and 4.57 (each 1H, 2d, J=5.1 Hz), 4.56 and 4.20 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.5 Hz), 3.47 (1H, dd, J=9.0, 10.8 Hz), 3.36 (1H, ddd, J=4.1, 9.0, 11.6 Hz), 3.30 (1H, ddd, J=4.4, 8.8, 11.6 Hz), 3.23 and 2.45 (each 3H, 2s), 2.23 (1H, dd, J=10.8, 11.2 Hz), 2.18 (3H, s), 2.15 (1H, ddd, J=4.1, 4.4, 12.4 Hz), 2.01 (1H, ddd, J=8.8, 8.8, 11.2 Hz), 1.32 (1H, ddd, J=8.8, 11.6, 12.4 Hz), 0.82 (9H, s), -0.04 and -0.05 (each 3H, 2s); 13 C NMR (75 MHz) δ 204.4, 145.0, 138.1, 137.7, 133.9, 129.7, 128.4, 127.9, 127.8, 127.7, 120.8, 98.1, 82.8, 79.4, 76.9, 71.5, 71.0, 56.8, 50.3, 45.8, 38.5, 26.5, 25.7, 21.6, 17.9, -4.3, -4.5; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₃₃H₄₈O₈SSiNa, (M+Na)⁺ 655.2737, found 655.2740.

4.2.21. (3*S*,4*R*,4*aS*,5*S*,6*S*,8*R*,8*aR*)-6-Benzyloxy-8-(*tert*butyldimethylsilyloxy)-5-methoxymethyloxy-3-methyl-**4**-(*p*-toluenesulfonyloxy)-perhydroisochroman-1-one (30). Ozone was introduced to a solution of 27 (300 mg, 0.473 mmol) in MeOH (30 mL) at -78 °C for 10 min. To the reaction mixture was added Me₂S (3.00 mL, 40.8 mmol) at -78 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 3 h. The products were extracted with Et₂O, and the organic layer was washed with brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a crude aldehyde (311 mg), which was used for the next reaction without purification.

To a solution of the crude aldehyde (311 mg) in *t*-BuOH/ H_2O (1:1, 6 mL) were added NaH₂PO₄·H₂O (382 mg, 2.45 mmol), HOSO₂NH₂ (238 mg, 2.45 mmol), and NaClO₂ (222 mg, 2.45 mmol) at room temperature, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 10 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was roughly purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 7 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:4, containing 1 vol % AcOH) to give carboxylic acid **28** (308 mg) as a colorless syrup. This was used for the next reaction without further purification.

To a solution of **28** (308 mg, 0.473 mmol) in MeOH (6.5 mL) was added NaBH₄ (35.8 mg, 0.946 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 30 min. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and successively washed with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was roughly purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 7 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:4, containing 1 vol % AcOH) to give a colorless syrup, which was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (6 mL).

To this solution were added DCC (231 mg, 1.12 mmol) and DMAP (9.1 mg, 0.074 mmol) at 0 °C, and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 2 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 6 g, EtOAc/hexane= 1:5) to give lactone **30** (216 mg, 72% from **27**) as a colorless syrup: $R_f 0.54$ (EtOAc/toluene=1:6); $[\alpha]_D^{19} + 3.0$ (c 0.91, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2960, 2930, 2860, 1760, 1600 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.78 (2H. d. J=8.3 Hz), 7.36–7.28 (7H, m), 5.15 (1H, d, J=3.2 Hz), 4.99 (1H, d, J=6.4 Hz), 4.82 (1H, q, J=6.9 Hz), 4.62-4.52 (3H, m), 3.85 (1H, ddd, J=4.9, 9.5, 10.4 Hz), 3.53 (1H, dd, J=8.4, 10.5 Hz), 3.46 (3H, s), 3.35 (1H, ddd, J=4.7, 8.4, 10.7 Hz), 2.44 (3H, s), 2.39 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 13.7 Hz), 2.26 (1H, ddd, J=4.7, 4.9, 13.4 Hz), 1.90 (1H, ddd, J=3.2, 10.5, 13.7 Hz), 1.53 (3H, d, J=6.9 Hz), 1.44 (1H, ddd, J=10.4, 10.7, 13.4 Hz), 0.84 (9H, s), 0.11 and 0.09 (each 3H, 2s); 13 C NMR (75 MHz) δ 169.1, 144.8, 138.0, 134.4, 129.7, 128.4, 127.7, 127.6, 127.5, 97.8, 80.0, 79.5, 79.2, 77.7, 71.9, 66.5, 56.6, 45.6, 43.2, 38.9, 25.9, 21.6, 18.7, 18.0, -4.7, -5.0; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for $C_{32}H_{46}NaO_9SSi$, (M+Na)⁺ 657.2529, found 657.2522. Anal. Calcd for C₃₂H₄₆O₉SSi: C, 60.54; H, 7.30. Found: C, 60.61; H, 7.39.

4.2.22. (3S,4S,5S,6S,8R,9R,10S)-4-Azido-6-benzyloxy-8-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-5-methoxymethyloxy-3methyl-perhydroisochroman-1-one (4). To a solution of lactone 30 (25.0 mg, 0.0394 mmol) in DMF (1 mL) was added NaN₃ (25.0 mg, 0.385 mmol) at room temperature, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 110 °C for 4 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc and washed with brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 0.5 g, EtOAc/toluene=1:7) to give 4 (17.2 mg, 86%) as a colorless oil: R_f 0.33 (EtOAc/toluene=1:6); $[\alpha]_D^{21}$ -96.0 (c 0.70, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2960, 2930, 2860, 2110, 1745 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.40–7.19 (5H, m), 4.97 and 4.76 (each 1H, 2d, J=5.9 Hz), 4.63 and 4.56 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.7 Hz), 4.47 (1H, qd, J=2.4, 6.6 Hz), 4.11 (1H, dd, J=1.9, 2.4 Hz), 3.80 (1H, ddd, J=4.6, 9.6, 11.2 Hz), 3.59 (1H, dd, J=8.9, 10.2 Hz), 3.41 (3H, s), 3.30 (1H, ddd, J=3.9, 8.9, 12.9 Hz), 2.50 (1H, dd, J=9.6, 13.5 Hz), 2.25 (1H, ddd, J=3.9, 4.6, 12.5 Hz), 1.79 (1H, ddd, J=1.9, 10.2, 13.5 Hz), 1.50 (3H, d, J=6.6 Hz), 1.40 (1H, ddd, J=11.2, 12.5, 12.5 Hz), 0.85 (9H, s), 0.12 and 0.06 (each 3H, 2s); $^{13}\mathrm{C}$ NMR (75 MHz) δ 168.8, 138.2, 128.4, 127.8, 127.5, 98.7, 79.3, 78.8, 78.6, 71.8, 67.0, 59.4, 56.0, 43.8, 42.7, 39.0, 25.9, 18.2, 18.1, -4.6, -4.8; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for $C_{25}H_{39}N_3O_6SiCs$, (M+Cs)⁺ 638.1659, found 638.1633.

4.2.23. (3*S*,4*S*,5*S*,6*S*,10*S*)-4-Azido-6-benzyloxy-5,8-dihydroxy-3-methyl-5,6,7,4a-tetrahydroisochroman-1-one (32). To a solution of azide 4 (41.3 mg, 0.0817 mmol) in CH₃CN (3 mL) in a polyethylene vial was added HF/pyridine (ca. 0.1 mL) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 10 min. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc and neutralized with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution. The organic layer was washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave crude alcohol 31 (33.4 mg) as a white solid. A solution of $(COCl)_2$ (2.0 mol/L solution in CH₂Cl₂, 1.28 mL, 2.56 mmol) and DMSO (0.400 mL, 5.17 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (1 mL) was stirred at -78 °C for 10 min under Ar. To this mixture was added a solution of the crude alcohol **31** (33.4 mg) in CH_2Cl_2 (1 mL) at $-78 \degree$ C. After stirring at $-78 \degree$ C for 2 h, to the reaction mixture was added i-Pr2NEt (1.32 mL, 7.66 mmol) at -78 °C. The resulting mixture was further stirred at room temperature for 2 h and then diluted with Et₂O. The mixture was washed with brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 1 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:4) to give 32 (25.2 mg, 89% from 4) as a colorless syrup: R_f 0.47 (EtOAc/hexane=1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{23} - 16.0$ (*c* 0.92, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3460, 3030, 2900, 2120, 1650 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 13.04 (1H, s), 7.44–7.30 (5H, m), 4.73 and 4.54 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.4 Hz), 4.49 (1H, qd, J=1.5, 6.6 Hz), 4.04 (1H, dd, J=1.5, 2.9 Hz), 3.74 (1H, dd, J=9.3, 9.5 Hz), 3.62 (1H, ddd, J=6.4, 9.5, 9.5 Hz), 2.93 (1H, ddd, J=1.1, 6.4, 18.3 Hz), 2.88 (1H, s), 2.72 (1H, dddd, J=1.1, 2.5, 2.9, 9.3 Hz), 2.45 (1H, ddd, J=2.5, 9.5, 18.3 Hz), 1.52 (3H, d, J=6.6 Hz); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 172.6, 169.7, 137.2, 128.7, 128.3, 128.0, 90.0, 77.3, 76.3, 71.7, 70.1, 58.3, 42.2, 34.6, 18.4; LRMS (EI) m/z 345 (M⁺, 1.3%), 239 (9.0), 191 (5.6), 91 (100); HRMS (EI) m/z calcd for C₁₇H₁₉N₃O₅, (M⁺) 345.1325, found 345.1326.

4.2.24. N-Benzyloxycarbonyl-(-)-actinobolin (33). To a solution of **32** (6.5 mg, 0.019 mmol) in MeOH (1 mL) were added 10% Pd/C (2.0 mg) and 4 mol/L HCl in dioxane (0.0095 mL, 0.038 mmol). The reaction mixture was stirred under an atmospheric pressure of H₂ at room temperature for 18 h. The catalyst was removed by filtration through a pad of Celite and the filtrate was concentrated to give a residue, which was dissolved in DMF (0.5 mL). To this solution were added DCC (19.4 mg, 0.0940 mmol), N-benzyloxycarbonyl-D-alanine (12.6 mg, 0.0564 mmol), and Et₃N (0.100 mL, 0.717 mmol). The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 14 h, and then concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by preparative TLC (acetone/toluene= 1:2) to give **33** (4.7 mg, 57% from **32**) as a colorless oil: R_f 0.34 (acetone/toluene=1:1); $[\alpha]_{D}^{24}$ +34.0 (c 0.17, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3330, 2980, 2930, 1650, 1540, 1230, 1050 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 13.05 (1H, s), 7.40–7.30 (5H, m), 6.78 (1H, br d, J=8.9 Hz), 5.19 (1H, br d, J=6.9 Hz), 5.11 and 5.04 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.7 Hz), 4.70-4.60 (1H, br s), 4.61 (1H, qd, J=1.5, 6.6 Hz), 4.33 (1H, ddd, J=1.5, 1.8, 8.9 Hz), 4.27 (1H, qd, J=6.9, 7.2 Hz), 3.89 (1H, ddd, J=6.9, 9.6, 9.9 Hz), 3.14 (1H, dd, J=9.6, 9.6 Hz), 3.05 (1H, br s), 2.93 (1H, dd, J=6.9, 18.9 Hz), 2.65 (1H, dd, J=1.8, 9.6 Hz), 2.47 (1H, dd, J=9.9, 18.9 Hz), 1.41 (3H, d, J=7.2 Hz), 1.34 (3H, d, J=6.6 Hz); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 175.9, 175.6, 170.4, 156.0, 135.6, 128.6, 128.4, 128.3, 89.8, 76.8, 71.6, 68.0, 67.5, 50.9, 46.3, 43.4, 36.4, 17.9, 17.6; LRMS (EI) m/z 434 (M⁺, 9.1%), 416 (6.8), 325 (3.8), 223 (100); HRMS (EI) *m/z* calcd for C₂₁H₂₆N₂O₈, (M⁺) 434.1689, found 434.1696.

4.2.25. (–)-Actinobolin hydrochloride ($3 \cdot HCl$). To a solution of **33** (3.4 mg, 0.0078 mmol) in MeOH (0.6 mL) and AcOH (0.5 mL) were added 10% Pd/C (3 mg) and 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution (0.023 mL, 0.023 mmol). The reaction mixture was stirred under an atmospheric pressure of

H₂ at room temperature for 30 min. The catalyst was removed by filtration through a pad of Celite, and the filtrate was concentrated. The residue was purified by column chromatography (Sephadex LH-20, MeOH as an eluent) to give **3**·HCl (2.0 mg, 76%) as an amorphous solid: $[\alpha]_{\rm D}^{24}$ -51.2 (c 0.24, H₂O), {lit.^{6c,d} for (+)-actinobolin hydrochloride: $[\alpha]_{D}^{21}$ +53 (c 0.65, H₂O)}; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, MeOH-d₄) δ 4.70 (1H, qd, J=1.8, 6.6 Hz), 4.56 (1H, dd, J=1.8, 3.5 Hz), 4.01 (1H, q, J=6.9 Hz), 3.78 (1H, ddd, J=6.6, 9.6, 9.8 Hz), 3.13 (1H, dd, J=9.6, 9.6 Hz), 2.82-2.74 (1H, m). 2.81 (1H, dd, J=6.6, 18.9 Hz). 2.35 (1H, ddd, J=2.7. 9.6, 18.9 Hz), 1.50 (3H, d, J=6.9 Hz), 1.33 (3H, d, J=6.6 Hz); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, MeOH- d_4) δ 175.1, 172.7, 172.1, 91.8, 79.3, 72.8, 70.1, 50.2, 47.0, 43.3, 38.0, 18.5, 18.1; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for $C_{13}H_{21}N_2O_6$, $(M+H)^+$ 301.1400, found 301.1400. The ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of the synthetic compound were fully identical with those of natural (+)-actinobolin hydrochloride.

4.3. An improved route to (-)-actinobolin

4.3.1. (2S)-2-(Triethylsilyloxy)propanal [(S)-7b]. To a solution of methyl (S)-lactate (335 mg, 3.22 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (7 mL) were added TESCI (0.620 mL, 3.69 mmol) and imidazole (285 mg, 4.19 mmol) at 0 °C, and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 10 min. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (EtOAc/hexane=1:20) to give methyl (S)-lactate triethylsilyl ether (702 mg, 100%) as a colorless syrup: $R_f 0.77$ (EtOAc/hexane=1:3); $[\alpha]_D^{22} - 26.9$ (c 1.06, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2955, 2880, 1760, 1740, 1145, 1005, 745 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 4.34 (1H, q, J=6.6 Hz), 3.73 (3H, s), 1.41 (3H, d, J=6.6 Hz), 0.96 (9H, t, J=7.8 Hz), 0.62 (6H, q, J=7.8 Hz); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 174.5, 68.0, 51.8, 21.5, 6.6, 4.5.

To a solution of methyl (S)-lactate triethylsilyl ether (702 mg, 3.21 mmol) in toluene (10 mL) was added 1.01 mol/L solution of DIBAL-H in toluene (3.76 mL, 3.80 mmol) at -78 °C, and the mixture was stirred at -78 °C for 2 h. The reaction mixture was quenched with water, and the products were extracted with EtOAc. The organic layer was washed successively with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (EtOAc/hexane= 1:50) to give (S)-7b (426 mg, 70%) as a colorless syrup: R_f 0.77 (EtOAc/hexane=1:3); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ -6.5 (c 1.1, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2960, 2880, 1740, 1140, 1010 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR $(300 \text{ MHz}) \delta 9.62 (1\text{H}, \text{s}), 4.08 (1\text{H}, \text{q}, J=6.8 \text{ Hz}), 1.29$ (3H, d, J=6.8 Hz), 0.97 (9H, t, J=7.8 Hz), 0.64 (6H, q, J=7.8 Hz); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz,) δ 204.2, 73.5, 18.6, 6.6, 4.7; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₁₁H₁₄O₃, (M+H)⁺ 189.1325, found 189.1311.

4.3.2. Three-component coupling reaction with (*S*)-7b. To a suspension of copper(I) cyanide (CuCN, 43.3 mg, 0.483 mmol) in ether (1.0 mL) at -78 °C was added dropwise vinyllithium (1.0 mol/L solution in ether, 0.75 mL, 0.75 mmol) under Ar. After being stirred at -78 °C for

10 min, the mixture was allowed to warm to 0 °C and further stirred at 0 °C for 1 min. The resulting clear solution was cooled to -78 °C, and to this solution was added slowly a solution of enone (+)-6 (100 mg, 0.302 mmol) in ether (1.0 mL) via a cannula. After being stirred at -78 °C for 30 min, a solution of aldehyde (S)-7b (265 mg, 1.40 mmol) in ether (1.5 mL) was added to the mixture dropwise via a cannula, and the mixture was stirred for 2 h at -78 °C. The reaction mixture was quenched with saturated aqueous NH₄Cl solution, and the products were extracted with EtOAc. The organic layer was washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃, brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 7 g, EtOAc/hexane= 1:40) to give (2R, 3R, 4R, 6S)-6-benzyloxy-4-(*tert*-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-2-[(1'S,2'S)-1'-hydroxy-2'-(triethylsilyloxy)propyl]-3-vinylcyclohexan-1-one (34) (84.8 mg, 51%) and its (1'R)-isomer (35) (66.7 mg, 40%) as a colorless syrup. Data for 34: R_f 0.62 (EtOAc/hexane=1:6); mp 82.5–83.0 °C; $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ –35.5 (c 1.02, CHCl₃); IR (KBr disk) 3500, 2960, 2880, 1710, 1260, 1090, 1020 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.44-7.25 (5H, m), 5.83 (1H, ddd, J=9.0, 9.0, 16.8 Hz), 5.15 (1H, dd, J=1.4, 9.0 Hz), 5.11 (1H, dd, J=1.4, 16.8 Hz), 4.82 (1H, d, J=11.4 Hz), 4.49–4.36 (2H, m), 4.40 (1H, d, J=11.4 Hz), 3.60 (1H, dd, J=1.5, 6.4 Hz), 3.52 (1H, qd, J=5.9, 6.4 Hz), 3.00 (1H, s), 2.68 (1H, dd, J=1.5, 9.0 Hz), 2.58 (1H, ddd, J=9.0, 9.0, 9.2 Hz), 2.39 (1H, ddd, J=4.6, 6.4, 12.4 Hz), 1.76 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 10.5, 12.4 Hz), 1.16 (3H, d, J=5.9 Hz), 0.95 (9H, t, J=7.8 Hz), 0.85 (9H, s), 0.60 (6H, q, J=7.8 Hz), 0.06 and 0.05 (each 3H, 2s); 13 C NMR (75 MHz) δ 210.0, 138.1, 137.0, 128.3, 127.8, 127.7, 118.4, 80.5, 73.0, 72.2, 70.5, 68.7, 54.2, 53.8, 41.0, 25.8, 19.7, 18.0, 6.8, 5.0, -4.3, -4.4; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₃₀H₅₃O₅Si₂, (M+H)⁺ 549.3432, found 549.3435. Anal. Calcd for C30H52O5Si2: C, 65.64; H, 9.55. Found: C, 65.36; H, 9.36. Data for **35**: $R_f 0.52$ (EtOAc/hexane=1:6); $[\alpha]_{D}^{23}$ -64.3 (c 0.71, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3540, 2960, 2930, 1715, 1090, 835, 775 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.42– 7.25 (5H, m), 5.44 (1H, ddd, J=8.0, 10.7, 16.0 Hz), 5.22 (1H, dd, J=1.7, 8.0 Hz), 5.21 (1H, dd, J=1.7, 16.0 Hz), 4.81 and 4.39 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.4 Hz), 4.05-3.96 (2H, m), 3.82 (1H, ddd, J=4.4, 8.4, 11.2 Hz), 3.28 (1H, dd, J=8.8, 12.2 Hz), 3.10 (1H, d, J=12.2 Hz), 2.76–2.60 (2H, m), 2.47 (1H, ddd, J=4.4, 6.1, 12.7 Hz), 1.85 (1H, ddd, J=11.2, 12.7, 12.7 Hz), 1.27 (3H, d, J=6.1 Hz), 0.93 (9H, t, J=7.9 Hz), 0.85 (9H, s), 0.63–0.47 (6H, m), 0.06 and 0.03 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 212.5, 138.6, 137.6, 128.5, 127.9, 127.8, 119.7, 78.6, 75.7, 72.0, 70.6, 69.9, 54.2, 47.0, 42.3, 25.7, 21.6, 18.0, 7.0, 5.1, -4.3, -4.4; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₃₀H₅₃O₅Si₂, (M+H)⁺ 549.3432, found 549.3423. Anal. Calcd for C₃₀H₅₂O₅Si₂: C, 65.64; H, 9.55. Found: C, 65.42; H, 9.56.

4.3.3. Three-component coupling reaction with (S)-7b in the presence of HMPA. The similar treatment of (+)-**6** (96.8 mg, 0.291 mmol) with copper(I) cyanide (CuCN, 36.5 mg, 0.408 mmol) and vinyllithium (1.0 mol/L solution in ether, 0.65 mL, 0.65 mmol) as described for the preparation of **34** afforded 1,4-addition intermediate. To an ethereal solution of the enolate (4 mL) at -78 °C was added HMPA (0.345 mL, 1.98 mmol) and, after 5 min, a solution of

aldehyde (S)-7b (232 mg, 1.23 mmol) in ether (1.2 mL) was added to the mixture dropwise over 60 min via a cannula. After being stirred at -78 °C for 2 h, the reaction mixture was quenched and processed similarly as described for the preparation of 34. Purification by column chromatography (silica gel: 3 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:40) gave 35 (75.2 mg, 47%) and bicyclic ketal (36) (42.2 mg, 20%) as a colorless syrup. Data for **36**: R_f 0.65 (EtOAc/hexane=1:6); $[\alpha]_D^{24}$ -49.1 (c 1.21, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3440, 2955, 2880, 1100, 1075, 1000 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.38–7.25 (5H, m), 5.34 (1H, ddd, J=9.6, 9.6, 17.4 Hz), 5.13–5.00 (3H, m), 4.95 and 4.65 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.6 Hz), 4.52 (1H, q, J=6.0 Hz), 4.03 (1H, d, J=10.2 Hz), 3.86 (1H, ad, J=3.9, 6.0 Hz), 3.39 (1H, dd, J=4.8, 11.7 Hz), 3.24 (1H, s), 3.22 (1H, ddd, J=4.8, 9.9, 11.4 Hz), 2.19 (1H, ddd, J=9.6, 9.9, 11.4 Hz), 2.02 (1H, ddd, J=4.8, 4.8, 12.6 Hz), 1.72 (1H, ddd, J=11.4, 11.7, 12.6 Hz), 1.39 (1H, dd, J=10.2, 11.4 Hz), 1.16 and 1.06 (each 3H, 2d, J=6.0 Hz), 0.94 and 0.89 (each 9H, 2t, J=7.8 Hz), 0.81 (9H, s), 0.60 and 0.53 (each 6H, 2q, J=7.8 Hz), -0.02 and -0.07 (each 3H, 2s); HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) *m/z* calcd for C₃₉H₇₂O₇Si₃Na, (M+Na)⁺ 759.4484, found 759.4493.

4.3.4. Conversion of 36 to 35. A solution of 36 (20.8 mg, 0.0282 mmol) in THF (1.5 mL) and AcOH (1.5 mL) was stirred at room temperature for 3 days. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 0.5 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:6) to give 35 (11.8 mg, 76%).

4.3.5. Conversion of 34 to 22. To a solution of 34 (52.1 mg, 0.0949 mmol) in MeOH (1 mL) was added NaBH₄ (16.0 mg, 0.423 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 10 min. The mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO3 solution and brine, and then dried over Na₂SO₄. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was roughly purified by column chromatography (EtOAc/hexane=1:15) to give diol (34.5 mg, 66%). To a solution of the diol (34.5 mg, 0.0626 mmol) in pyridine (1 mL) were added Ac₂O (0.5 mL) and DMAP (1.0 mg) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 12 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂/H₂O (10:1, 1.0 mL). To this solution was added DDQ (15.3 mg, 0.0673 mmol) at 0 °C, and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 1 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc and washed successively with 10% aqueous Na₂S₂O₃ solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 1 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:7) to give 22 (22.7 mg, 46% from 34).

4.3.6. (1*S*,2*S*,3*S*,4*R*,5*R*)-1-Benzyloxy-5-(*tert*-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-3-[(1'*R*,2'*S*)-1'-hydroxy-2'-(triethylsilyloxy)propyl]-4-vinylcyclohexan-2-ol (37). To a solution of 35 (22.0 mg, 0.0401 mmol) in AcOH/THF [1:5 (v/v), 1 mL] was added LiBH₄ (12.0 mg, 0.551 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 10 min. The mixture was diluted with EtOAc and washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried over Na₂CO₃. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 1 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:7) to give 37 (19.2 mg, 87%) as a colorless syrup: R_f 0.40 (EtOAc/toluene=1:6); $[\alpha]_{D}^{21}$ +6.5 (c 0.895, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3420, 2955, 2930, 2880, 1255, 1090, 1070, 840 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.44–7.20 (5H, m), 5.30 (1H, ddd, J=9.3, 10.2, 16.8 Hz), 5.14 (1H, dd, J=2.4, 10.2 Hz), 5.10 (1H, dd, J=2.4, 16.8 Hz), 4.78 and 4.68 (each 1H, 2d, J = 12.3 Hz), 4.28 (1H, d, J=1.8 Hz), 4.03 (1H, qd, J=5.1, 6.3 Hz), 3.74-3.61 (2H, m), 3.40–3.26 (2H, m), 2.32 (1H, d, J=9.0 Hz), 2.18 (1H, ddd, J=4.2, 4.2, 12.0 Hz), 2.10 (1H, ddd, J=9.3, 9.6, 11.4 Hz), 1.56 (1H, dd, J=9.6, 9.9 Hz), 1.46 (1H, ddd, J=11.4, 11.4, 12.0 Hz), 1.15 (3H, d, J=6.3 Hz), 0.97 (9H, t, J=7.8 Hz), 0.83 (9H, s), 0.63 (6H, q, J=7.8 Hz), -0.01 and -0.04 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 139.4, 139.0, 128.3, 127.7, 127.5, 119.1, 79.3, 75.2, 72.5, 72.0, 71.5, 71.1, 53.2, 42.9, 38.8, 25.8, 19.3, 18.0, 6.7, 4.8, -4.3, -4.4; HRMS (FAB+, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₃₀H₅₅O₅Si₂, (M+H)⁺ 551.3588, found 551.3590. Anal. Calcd for C₃₀H₅₄O₅Si₂: C, 65.40; H, 9.88. Found: C, 65.48; H, 10.02.

4.3.7. (1S.2S.3S.4R.5R)-1-Benzvloxy-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-3-[(1'R,2'S)-1'-(p-toluenesulfonyloxy)-2'-(triethylsilyloxy)propyl]-4-vinylcyclohexan-2-ol (38). To a solution of 37 (39.0 mg, 0.0708 mmol) in THF (2 mL) were added 1.59 mol/L solution of BuLi in hexane (0.140 mL, 0.223 mmol) and TsCl (81 mg, 0.42 mmol) at 0° C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 0° C for 10 min. The mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 10 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:10) to give **38** (50.0 mg, 100%) as a white solid: $R_f 0.71$ (EtOAc/toluene=1:6); $[\alpha]_D^{26} + 7.7$ (c 0.79, CHCl₃); IR (KBr disk) 3410, 2960, 1360, 1175, 1090, 1070, 925 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.81 (2H, d, J=8.4 Hz), 7.39-7.27 (7H, m), 5.32-5.15 (2H, m), 5.06 (1H, dd, J=3.6, 15.6 Hz), 4.74 (1H, d, J=12.0 Hz), 4.68 (1H, d, J=5.7 Hz), 4.66 (1H, d, J=12.0 Hz), 4.30 (1H, qd, J=5.7, 6.3 Hz), 4.15 (1H, s), 3.62 (1H, dd, J=8.7, 8.7 Hz), 3.29–3.16 (2H, m), 2.43 (3H, s), 2.06 (1H, ddd, J=3.9, 3.9, 12.0 Hz), 1.81–1.74 (2H, m), 1.22 (1H, ddd, J=11.4, 11.4, 12.0 Hz), 1.05 (3H, d, J=6.3 Hz), 0.94 (9H, t, J=7.8 Hz), 0.81 (9H, s), 0.61 (6H, q, J=7.8 Hz), -0.05 and -0.08 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 144.7, 138.9, 134.2, 129.7, 128.3, 127.9, 127.8, 127.5, 120.1, 84.4, 79.4, 71.9, 71.6, 71.0, 69.9, 51.6, 42.4, 38.3, 25.7, 21.6, 20.5, 17.9, 6.7, 4.7, -4.3, -4.5; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₃₇H₆₁O₇SSi₂, (M+H)⁺ 705.3677, found 705.3684.

4.3.8. (1*S*,2*S*,3*S*,4*R*,5*R*)-1-Benzyloxy-5-(*tert*-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-3-[(1'*R*,2'*S*)-1'-(*p*-toluenesulfonyloxy)-2'-(triethylsilyloxy)propyl]-2-methoxymethyloxy-4-vinylcyclohexane (39). To a solution of 38 (33.6 mg, 0.0477 mmol) in (CH₂Cl)₂ (1 mL) were added *i*-Pr₂NEt (0.088 mL, 0.51 mmol) and MOMCI (0.039 mL, 0.52 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 50 °C for 3.5 h. The mixture was diluted with EtOAc and washed successively

with saturated aqueous NaHCO3 solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 1 g, EtOAc/ hexane=1:10) to give **39** (35.8 mg, 92%) as a pale yellow syrup: $R_f 0.71$ (EtOAc/toluene=1:6); $[\alpha]_D^{22} - 10.5$ (c 0.92, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 2955, 2930, 1360, 1180, 1100, 1075, 1000, 925, 840 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.80 (2H, d, J=7.8 Hz), 7.40–7.22 (7H, m), 5.38–5.10 (3H, m), 4.85 and 4.74 (each 1H, 2d, J=5.0 Hz), 4.66–4.52 (1H, m), 4.58 (2H, s), 4.26 (1H, qd, J=6.0, 9.0 Hz), 3.52 (1H, dd, J=9.3, 9.3 Hz), 3.30 (3H, s), 3.36–3.20 (1H, m), 3.15 (1H, ddd, J=3.9, 11.7, 12.0 Hz), 2.43 (3H, s), 2.11 (1H, ddd, J=3.9, 4.3, 12.3 Hz), 2.16–1.92 (2H, m), 1.27 (1H, ddd, J=12.0, 12.0, 12.3 Hz), 1.02 (3H, d, J=6.0 Hz), 0.95 (9H, t, J=7.8 Hz), 0.83 (9H, s), 0.60 (6H, q, J=7.8 Hz), -0.05 and -0.06 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 144.5, 138.7, 138.5, 134.5, 129.6, 128.3, 127.8, 127.7, 127.5, 119.7, 98.7, 85.0, 80.3, 78.9, 71.6, 70.8, 69.0, 57.0, 52.0, 38.8, 25.8, 21.6, 21.2, 18.0, 6.8, 5.1, -4.3, -4.4; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₃₉H₆₄O₈SSi₂Na, (M+Na)⁺ 771.3758, found 771.3767.

4.3.9. (1S,2S,3S,4R,5R)-1-Benzyloxy-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-3-[(1'R,2'S)-2'-hydroxy-1'-(p-toluenesulfonyloxy)propyl]-2-methoxymethyloxy-4-vinylcyclohexane (40). To a solution of 39 (31.7 mg, 0.0423 mmol) in CH_3CN/H_2O (10:1, 3 mL) was added DDQ (10.6 mg, 0.0467 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 1 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc and washed successively with 20% aqueous Na₂S₂O₃ solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 1 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:4) to give 40 (23.1 mg, 86%) as a white solid: R_f 0.40 (EtOAc/hexane=1:2); mp 107.8-108.5 °C; $[\alpha]_{D}^{26}$ -31.7 (c 0.89, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3420, 2930, 2860, 1360, 1180, 1100, 1075, 840 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.79 (2H, d, J=8.0 Hz), 7.37-7.28 (7H, m), 5.30 (1H, ddd, J=9.6, 10.2, 16.6 Hz), 5.17 (1H, dd, J=2.3, 10.2 Hz), 5.13 (1H, dd, J=2.3, 16.6 Hz), 4.88 (2H, s), 4.85 (1H, d, J=5.4 Hz), 4.60 and 4.55 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.8 Hz), 3.94 (1H, qd, J=6.3, 5.4 Hz), 3.63 (1H, dd, J=9.8, 10.4 Hz), 3.41 (3H, s), 3.31 (1H, ddd, J=4.0, 9.8, 11.7 Hz), 3.21 (1H, ddd, J=4.0, 11.2, 11.7 Hz), 2.44 (3H, s), 2.16 (1H, ddd, J=9.6, 11.2, 11.4 Hz), 2.16 (1H, ddd, J=4.0, 4.0, 11.9 Hz), 1.89 (1H, dd, J=10.4, 11.7 Hz), 1.36 (1H, ddd, J=11.7, 11.7, 11.9 Hz), 1.03 (3H, d, J=6.3 Hz), 0.82 (9H, s), -0.04 and -0.06 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 144.7, 138.6, 138.2, 134.3, 129.7, 128.4, 127.8, 127.7, 119.6, 99.5, 84.3, 79.7, 77.2, 71.7, 70.4, 68.2, 57.1, 51.6, 38.7, 25.7, 21.6, 21.4, 18.0, -4.3, -4.4; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₃₃H₅₀O₈SSiNa, (M+Na)⁺ 657.2894, found 657.2893.

4.3.10. Lactone (30) from 40. Ozone was introduced to a solution of 40 (45.2 mg, 0.0712 mmol) in MeOH (4.5 mL) at -78 °C for 6 min. To the reaction mixture was added Me₂S (0.5 mL) at -78 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 3 h and then diluted with Et₂O. The organic layer was washed with brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 1 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:6) to give lactol 41 (36.2 mg, 80%) as a colorless

syrup: R_f 0.56 (EtOAc/hexane=1:2); IR (neat) 3420, 2960, 2930, 2860, 1720, 1600 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.81 (2H, d, *J*=8.3 Hz), 7.50–7.20 (7H, m), 5.23 (1H, d, *J*=2.5 Hz), 4.75 (1H, d, *J*=6.7 Hz), 4.67–4.53 (3H, m), 4.33 (1H, dd, *J*=9.5, 10.0 Hz), 4.08 (1H, qd, *J*=6.7, 9.5 Hz), 3.83 (1H, dd, *J*=7.4, 7.6 Hz), 3.72 (1H, ddd, *J*=5.4, 9.3, 9.8 Hz), 3.59 (1H, ddd, *J*=4.6, 7.6, 8.4 Hz), 3.28 (3H, s), 2.43 (3H, s), 2.42–2.33 (1H, m), 2.20 (1H, ddd, *J*=4.6, 5.4, 13.4 Hz), 1.85 (1H, ddd, *J*=2.5, 9.8, 10.2 Hz), 1.47 (1H, ddd, *J*=8.4, 9.3, 13.4 Hz), 0.87 (3H, d, *J*=6.7 Hz), 0.82 (9H, s), 0.02 (6H, s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 144.4, 138.8, 135.3, 129.5, 128.3, 127.8, 127.7, 127.4, 96.2, 90.1, 86.0, 79.1, 77.9, 71.2, 67.1, 66.7, 55.9, 48.1, 38.7, 37.4, 25.7, 21.6, 18.3, 17.6, -4.2, -5.0.

To a solution of lactol **41** (15.1 mg, 0.0237 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (1 mL) were added PDC (178 mg, 0.473 mmol) and MS4A (300 mg) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 12 h. The insoluble material was removed by filtration through a pad of Celite, and the filtrate was diluted with EtOAc. The organic layer was washed with 10% aqueous Na₂S₂O₃ solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 1 g, EtOAc/toluene=1:19) to give **30** (12.5 mg, 83%).

4.4. Formal synthesis of (+)-actinobolin

4.4.1. Methyl 2-O-benzyl-3-deoxy-α-D-glucopyranoside (42). To a suspension of NaH (18.0 mg, 0.450 mmol) in DMF (0.5 mL) at 0 °C was added a solution of 9 (20.0 mg, 0.0751 mmol) in DMF (0.5 mL). After being stirred for 10 min, to the mixture was added BnBr (0.0180 mL, 0.151 mmol) at 0 °C, and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 10 min. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 0.5 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:6) to give methyl 4,6-O-benzylidene-2-O-benzyl-3-deoxy-a-D-ribo-hexopyranoside (25.4 mg, 95%) as a white solid: $R_f 0.55$ (EtOAc/hexane =1:2); mp 102.0–102.5 °C; $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ +21.4 (c 0.99, CHCl₃); IR (KBr disk) 2940, 2900, 2860, 1500, 1100, 1050, 990 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.50–7.27 (5H, m), 5.49 (1H, s), 4.68 (1H, d, J=3.3 Hz), 4.67 and 4.58 (each 1H, 2d, J=12.6 Hz), 4.25 (1H, dd, J=4.5, 10.2 Hz), 3.77 (1H, ddd, J=4.5, 9.6, 10.2 Hz), 3.66 (1H, dd, J=10.2, 10.6 Hz), 3.60 (1H, ddd, J=3.3, 4.2, 11.7 Hz), 3.49 (1H, ddd, J=4.5, 9.6, 11.7 Hz), 3.45 (3H, s), 2.27 (1H, ddd, J=4.2, 4.5, 11.4 Hz), 2.05 (ddd, J=11.4, 11.7, 11.7 Hz); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 137.9, 137.4, 129.1, 128.5, 128.3, 127.91, 127.86, 126.2, 101.8, 98.0, 76.7, 73.8, 71.0, 69.4, 63.9, 55.1, 30.1; LRMS (EI) m/z 356 (M⁺, 1.7%), 265 (4.5), 233 (3.4), 218 (81.6), 162 (61.9), 105 (100), 91 (100); HRMS (EI) m/z calcd for C₁₉H₃₀IO₃Si 356.1624, found 356.1629. Anal. Calcd for C₂₁H₂₄O₅: C, 70.77; H, 6.79. Found: C, 70.56; H. 6.93.

A solution of methyl 4,6-*O*-benzylidene-2-*O*-benzyl-3-deoxy- α -D-*ribo*-hexopyranoside (25.4 mg, 0.0713 mmol) in 80% AcOH (1 mL) was stirred at 80 °C for 1 h. The reaction mixture was concentrated to give a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 0.6 g, EtOAc/ toluene=1:1) to afford 42(17.5 mg, 92%) as a white solid: $R_f \ 0.1 \ (\text{EtOAc/toluene}=1:1); \ \text{mp} \ 101.0-102.0 \ ^{\circ}\text{C}; \ [\alpha]_D^{20}$ +65.1 (c 0.71, CHCl₃); IR (KBr disk) 3320, 2900, 2880, 1105, 1050, 1030, 1000 cm^{-1} ; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) & 7.38–7.28 (5H, m), 4.64 (1H, d, J=4.2 Hz), 4.64 and 4.56 (each 1H, 2d, J=12.3 Hz), 3.85 (1H, dd, J=3.7, 11.5 Hz), 3.75 (1H, dd, J=3.6, 11.5 Hz), 3.62 (1H, ddd, J=4.8, 10.0, 11.2 Hz), 3.56–3.45 (2H, m), 3.42 (3H, s), 2.11 (1H, ddd, J=4.7, 4.8, 11.4 Hz), 1.87 (1H, ddd, J=11.2, 11.4, 11.8 Hz); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 137.9, 128.5, 127.90, 127.85, 97.1, 73.5, 71.9, 71.9, 66.1, 62.6, 55.0, 33.1; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z (M+H)⁺ calcd for C₁₄H₂₁O₅ 269.1389, found 269.1384. Anal. Calcd for C₁₄H₂₀O₅: C, 62.67; H, 7.51. Found: C, 62.79; H, 7.50.

4.4.2. Methyl 2-O-benzyl-3,6-dideoxy-a-D-xylo-hex-5enopyranoside (43). To a solution of 42 (997 mg, 3.72 mmol) in toluene (20 mL) were added PPh₃ (1.56 g, 5.95 mmol), imidazole (1.01 g, 14.8 mmol), and iodine (1.51 g, 5.95 mmol), and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 18 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with 10% aqueous Na₂S₂O₃ solution, saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 30 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:2) to give methyl 2-O-benzyl-3,6-dideoxy-6-iodo- α -D-glucopyranoside (1.40 g, 100%) as a colorless syrup: $R_f 0.55$ (EtOAc/hexane=1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{22}$ +64.2 (c 1.3, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3430, 2940, 2900, 1090, 1060, 980 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.38–7.27 (5H, m), 4.69 (1H, d, J=3.4 Hz), 4.63 and 4.56 (each 1H, 2d, J=12.4 Hz), 3.62-3.23 (6H, m), 3.48 (3H, s), 2.19 (1H, ddd, J=4.6, 4.6, 11.5 Hz), 1.89 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 11.5, 11.5 Hz); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 137.9, 128.5, 127.9, 127.8, 97.3, 73.7, 71.5, 71.2, 69.5, 55.3, 33.4, 7.3; LRMS (EI) m/z 378 (M⁺, 0.9%), 347 (1.1), 272 (13.9), 240 (100), 135 (89.5), 91 (100); HRMS (EI) *m/z* calcd for C₁₄H₁₉IO₄, (M⁺) 378.0328, found 378.0335.

To a solution of the iodide (2.40 g, 9.59 mmol) in THF (45 mL) was added t-BuOK (2.14 g, 28.8 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 3 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and successively washed with H₂O and brine, and then dried over Na₂CO₃. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 40 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:10 contain 1 vol % Et₃N) to give enopyranoside 43 (1.10 g, 70%) as a colorless syrup: $R_f 0.54$ $(EtOAc/hexane=1:1); \ [\alpha]_D^{20} + 62.3 \ (c \ 0.23, CHCl_3); \ IR$ (neat) 3440, 2940, 1680, 1085, 1055, 1020 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.40-7.22 (5H, m), 4.72 (1H, d, J=3.3 Hz), 4.70 (1H, br s), 4.67 (1H, d, J=12.6 Hz), 4.65 (1H, br s), 4.61 (1H, d, J=12.6 Hz), 4.09 (1H, m), 3.67 (1H, ddd, J=3.3, 4.7, 11.1 Hz), 3.49 (3H, s), 2.25 (1H, ddd, J=4.7, 5.7, 11.3 Hz), 2.04 (1H, d, J=8.7 Hz), 1.94 (1H, ddd, J=11.3, 11.1, 10.8 Hz); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.8, 137.8, 128.5, 128.0, 127.9, 99.3, 94.6, 73.1, 71.5, 66.0, 55.5, 34.0; HRMS (FAB+, glycerol matrix) m/z (M+H)⁺ calcd for C₁₄H₁₉O₄: 251.1283, found 251.1289.

4.4.3. Methyl 2-O-benzyl-4-O-(tert-butyldimethylsilyl)-3,6-dideoxy-a-d-xylo-hex-5-enopyranoside (44). To a solution of enopyranoside 43 (26.7 mg, 0.107 mmol) in DMF (1 mL) were added imidazole (21.8 mg, 0.320 mmol) and TBSCl (24.1 mg, 0.160 mmol), and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 20 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, washed with H₂O, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; 4 g, EtOAc/hexane= 1:50 containing 1 vol % Et₃N) to give 44 (33.1 mg, 85%) as a white solid: $R_f 0.70$ (EtOAc/hexane =1:20); mp 78–79 °C; $[\alpha]_{D}^{23}$ +41.0 (c 1.1, CHCl₃); IR (KBr disk) 2955, 2860, 1665, 1115, 1060, 1000, 855, 840 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) & 7.38-7.24 (5H, m), 4.77 (1H, d, J=2.4 Hz), 4.74 and 4.72 (each 1H, 2br s), 4.65 and 4.58 (each 1H, 2d, J= 12.6 Hz), 3.68 (1H, ddd, J=2.4, 6.9, 9.6 Hz), 3.56-3.30 (1H, m), 3.42 (3H, s), 2.23-1.90 (2H, m), 0.92 (9H, s), 0.10 and 0.08 (each 3H, 2s); HRMS (FAB+, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₂₀H₃₃O₄Si, (M+H)⁺ 365.2148, found 365.2149.

4.4.4. A mixture of (2S,4R,5R)-4-benzyloxy-2-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-5-hydroxy-cyclohexan-1-one and its (5S)-isomer (45). To a solution of 44 (2.30 g, 6.31 mmol) in acetone (120 mL) and acetate buffer (0.1 mol/L solution, pH 4.8, 120 mL) was added $Hg(OCOCF_3)_2$ (0.81 g, 1.9 mmol), and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 48 h. The reaction mixture was partially concentrated and the products were extracted with EtOAc. The organic layer was washed successively with 10% aqueous KI solution, 20% Na₂S₂O₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 45 g, EtOAc/hexane= 1:5) to give 45 (1.84 g, 83%) as a diastereomeric mixture $(5S:5R=ca. 1:6): R_f 0.41$ (EtOAc/hexane=1:2); IR (neat) 3450, 2930, 2860, 1740, 1250, 1150, 1075, 840 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, for the major isomer) δ 7.42–7.28 (5H, m), 4.77 and 4.58 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.5 Hz), 4.15 (1H, dd, J=6.6, 12.5 Hz), 3.76 (1H, ddd, J=5.4, 8.8, 12.2 Hz), 3.62 (1H, ddd, J=4.0, 8.8, 11.6 Hz), 2.76 (1H, dd, J=5.4, 13.9 Hz), 2.46 (1H, ddd, J=4.0, 6.6, 12.5 Hz), 2.37 (1H, dd, J=12.2, 13.9 Hz), 1.62 (1H, ddd, J=11.6, 12.5, 12.5 Hz), 0.90 (9H, s), 0.13 and 0.02 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, for the major isomer) δ 204.6, 137.6, 128.6, 128.1, 127.9, 79.4, 74.1, 72.1, 71.8, 43.5, 35.2, 25.7, 18.4, -4.6, -5.5; HRMS (FAB+, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₁₉H₃₁O₄Si, (M+H)⁺ 351.1992, found 351.1992.

4.4.5. (1S,2S,4R,5R)-4-benzyloxy-2-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-5-hydroxy-1-methanesulfonyloxy-cyclohexane (47). To a solution of 45 (207 mg, 0.591 mmol) in acetonitrile (4 mL) were added CAN (64.8 mg, 0.118 mmol) and dihydro-2*H*-pyran (0.11 mL, 1.2 mmol), and the reaction mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 50 min. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 6 g, EtOAc/hexane= 1:15) to give O-THP ether (227 mg, 89%) as a diastereomer mixture. To a solution of the THP ether (227 mg, 0.522 mmol) in MeOH (5 mL) in the presence of CeCl₃·7H₂O (389 mg, 1.04 mmol) was added NaBH₄ (29.6 mg, 0.782 mmol) at 0 °C, and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 30 min. The reaction mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a crude 46, which was dissolved in pyridine (4 mL). To this solution were added MsCl (0.067 mL, 0.86 mmol) and DMAP (15 mg, 0.12 mmol) at 0 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred at 80 °C for 13 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with 1 mol/L aqueous HCl solution and stirred at room temperature for 1 h. The products were extracted with EtOAc, and the organic layer was washed successively with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and brine, and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue. which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 4 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:3) to give 47 (167 mg, 66% from 45) as a colorless syrup: R_f 0.50 (EtOAc/hexane=1:1); $[\alpha]_{D}^{22} \sim 0$ (c 0.92, CHCl₃); IR (neat) 3450, 2960, 2930, 2890, 2860, 1255, 1180, 1080, 955, 920, 840 cm⁻¹; $^1\mathrm{H}$ NMR (300 MHz) δ 7.42–7.27 (5H, m), 4.65 and 4.55 (each 1H, 2d, J=11.5 Hz), 4.31 (1H, ddd, J=4.4, 8.8, 11.7 Hz), 3.68-3.52 (2H, m), 3.22 (1H, ddd, J=4.4, 9.0, 11.7 Hz), 3.00 (3H, s), 2.63 (1H, s), 2.52 (1H, ddd, J=4.7, 4.9, 12.6 Hz), 2.20 (1H, ddd, J=4.4, 4.7, 12.9 Hz), 1.60 (1H, ddd, J=11.7, 12.0, 12.6 Hz), 1.35 (1H, ddd, J=11.7, 11.7, 12.9 Hz), 0.88 (9H, s), 0.08 and 0.06 (each 3H, 2s); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz) δ 137.8, 128.6, 128.1, 127.9, 82.2, 71.9, 70.7, 70.6, 38.4, 35.4, 35.0, 25.7, 17.9, -4.4, -4.9; HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₂₀H₃₅O₆SSi, (M+H)⁺ 431.1924, found 431.1919.

4.4.6. Preparation of enantiomeric cyclohexenone [(-)-6]. A solution of $(COCl)_2$ (2.0 mol/L solution in CH_2Cl_2 , 0.11 mL, 0.22 mmol) and DMSO (0.030 mL, 0.423 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (0.5 mL) was stirred at -78 °C for 10 min under Ar. To this mixture was added a solution of 47 (15.4 mg, 0.0358 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (0.5 mL) at -78 °C. After being stirred at -78 °C for 2 h, the reaction mixture was quenched by addition of Et₃N (0.040 mL, 0.29 mmol) at -78 °C. The resulting suspension was further stirred at 0 °C for 1 h, and then diluted with Et₂O. The organic layer was washed with brine and then dried. Removal of the solvent gave a residue, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel: 1 g, EtOAc/hexane=1:7) to give (-)-6 (11.1 mg, 93%) as a white solid: mp 46–47 °C; [α]¹⁹_D –22.0 (*c* 0.80, CHCl₃); HRMS (FAB⁺, NBA matrix) m/z calcd for C₁₉H₂₉O₃Si, (M+H)⁺ 333.1886, found 333.1889. Anal. Calcd for C₂₁H₂₄O₅: C, 68.63; H, 8.49. Found: C, 68.49; H, 8.39. The ¹H and 13 C NMR spectra were fully identical with those of (+)-6.

Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. Y. Nishimura (Institute of Microbial Chemistry, Tokyo, Japan) for a generous gift of natural actinobolin. We also thank the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology, Japan (Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research, B15350027 and Grant-in-Aid for the 21st Century COE program 'KEIO LCC') for financial assistance.

References and notes

 (a) Haskell, T. H.; Bartz, Q. R. Antibiot. Ann. 1958–1959, 505–509; (b) Fusari, S. A.; Machamer, H. E. Antibiot. Ann. 1958–1959, 510–514; (c) Pittillo, R. F.; Fisher, M. W.; McAlpine, R. J.; Thompson, P. E.; Ehrlich, J. Antibiot. Ann. 1958–1959, 497–504; (d) Merker, P. C.; Woolley, G. W. Antibiot. Ann. 1958–1959, 515–517; (e) Teller, M. N.; Merker, P. C.; Palm, J. E.; Woolley, G. W. Antibiot. Ann. 1958–1959, 518–521; (f) Sugiura, K.; Reilly, H. C. Antibiot. Ann. 1958–1959, 522–527.

- (a) Ishizuka, M.; Fakasawa, S.; Masuda, T.; Sato, J.; Kanbayashi, N.; Takeuchi, T.; Umezawa, H. J. Antibiot. **1980**, 33, 1054–1062; (b) Tabira, T.; Da-Lin, Y.; Yamamura, T.; Aoyagi, T. Proc. Jpn. Acad. Ser. B **1987**, 63, 127–130.
- (a) Hunt, D. E.; Sandham, H. J.; Caldwell, R. C. J. Dent. Res. 1970, 49, 137–139; (b) Hunt, D. E.; Navia, J. M.; Lopez, H. J. Dent. Res. 1971, 50, 371–373.
- 4. (a) Struck, R. F.; Thorpe, W. C.; Coburn, W. C., Jr.; Shealy, Y. F. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1967, 1589–1595; (b) Antosz, F. J.; Nelson, D. B.; Herald, D. L., Jr.; Munk, M. E. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1970, *92*, 4933–4942; (c) Wetherington, J. B.; Moncrief, J. W. *Acta Crystallogr.* 1975, *B31*, 501–511.
- (a) Kondo, S.; Horiuchi, Y.; Hamada, M.; Takeuchi, T.; Umezawa, H. J. Antibiot. 1979, 32, 1069–1071; (b) Hori, M.; Suzukake, K.; Ishikawa, C.; Asakura, H.; Umezawa, H. J. Antibiot. 1981, 34, 465–468.
- (a) Yoshioka, M.; Nakai, H.; Ohno, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 1133–1135; Heterocycles 1984, 21, 151–165; (b) Garigipati, R. S.; Tschaen, D. M.; Weinreb, S. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 7790–7792; J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 3475–3482; (c) Kozikowski, A. P.; Konoike, T.; Nieduzak, T. R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1350– 1352; (d) Kozikowski, A. P.; Nieduzak, T. R.; Konoike, T.; Springer, J. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5167–5175; (e) Ward, D. E.; Kaller, B. F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 407– 410; J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 4230–4238; (f) Ward, D. E.; Yuanzhu, G.; Kaller, B. F. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 5498–5505.
- (a) Rahman, M. A.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 5576–5578; (b) Askin, D.; Angst, C.; Danishefsky, S. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 5005–5007; J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 622–635.
- (a) Munakata, T. Yakugaku Zasshi 1981, 101, 138–147;
 (b) Munakata, T.; Okumoto, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1981, 29, 891–894;
 (c) Nishimura, Y.; Kondo, S.; Takeuchi, T. J. Antibiot. 1992, 45, 735–741;
 (d) Adachi, M.; Nishimura, Y.; Kondo, S.; Takeuchi, T. J. Antibiot. 1998, 51, 202–209;
 (e) Adachi, H.; Nishimura, Y.; Takeuchi, T. J. Antibiot. 2002, 55, 92–98.
- Preliminary communication, see: Imuta, S.; Ochiai, S.; Kuribayashi, M.; Chida, N. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44, 5047–5051.
- For a review, see: (a) Taylor, R. J. K. *Synthesis* 1985, 364–392; We accomplished the synthesis of CD ring unit of paclitaxel using a three-component coupling strategy, see: (b) Momose, T.; Setoguchi, M.; Fujita, T.; Tamura, H.; Chida, N. *Chem. Commun.* 2000, 2237–2238.
- Heathcock, C. H. Comprehensive Organic Synthesis; Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 2, pp 181–238.
- (a) Ferrier, R. J.; Middleton, S. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 2779–2831; Top. Curr. Chem. 2001, 215, 277–291; For recent applications of Ferrier's carbocyclization in natural product synthesis, see: (b) Takahashi, H.; Kittaka, H.; Ikegami, S. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 2705–2716; (c) Taillefumier, C.; Chapleur, Y. Can. J. Chem. 2000, 78, 708–722; (d) Bohno, M.; Imase, H.; Chida, N. Chem. Commun. 2004, 1086–1087.
- 13. Vis, E.; Karrer, P. Helv. Chim. Acta 1954, 46, 378-381.
- 14. Chida, N.; Ohtsuka, M.; Ogura, K.; Ogawa, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1991, 64, 2118–2121.

- 15. Nakajima, N.; Horita, K.; Abe, R.; Yonemitsu, O. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1988**, 29, 4139–4142.
- Vinyllithium (ether solution) was prepared from tetravinyltin and phenyllithium by the procedure reported by Seyferth and Weiner; see: Seyferth, D.; Weiner, M. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1961, 83, 3583–3586.
- Evans, D. A.; Chapman, K. T.; Carreira, E. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 3560–3578.
- (a) Mitsunobu, O. Synthesis **1981**, 1–28; (b) Hughes, D. L. Organic Reactions; Paquette, L. A., Ed.; Wiley: New York, NY, 1992; Vol. 43, pp 335–656.
- Ahn, C.; Correia, R.; DeShong, P. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 1751–1753; Ahn, C.; Deshong, P. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 1754–1759.
- 20. Reetz, M. T.; Hüllmann. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1600–1602.
- 21. Massad, S. K.; Hawkins, L. D.; Baker, D. C. J. Org. Chem. **1983**, 48, 5180–5182.
- 22. Bhupathy, M.; Cohen, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 26, 2619-2622.
- 23. Saksena, A. K.; Mangiaracina, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 273–276.
- 24. Oku, A.; Kinugasa, M.; Kamada, T. Chem. Lett. 1993, 165-168.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6945-6954

Tetrahedron

Synthesis of the CD-ring of the anticancer agent streptonigrin: studies of aryl–aryl coupling methodologies

William T. McElroy and Philip DeShong*

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, University of Maryland, College Park, MD 20742, USA

Received 2 April 2006; revised 21 April 2006; accepted 24 April 2006 Available online 22 May 2006

Abstract—A series of functionalized 4-bromopyridines, representing the C-ring of the anticancer agent streptonigrin have been prepared and their abilities to undergo Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling with streptonigrin D-ring siloxanes were evaluated. The coupling reaction was generally tolerant to the preparation of hindered CD biaryls; however, the electronic effects of both partners play a pivotal role in the success of the coupling process. Analogs of the CD biaryl were prepared by coupling of aryl siloxane derivatives (D-ring component) with highly functionalized 4-bromopyridines (C-ring); however, the CD biaryl of the natural product could not be prepared in high yield by siloxane coupling due to the facile formation of reduced pyridine under the coupling conditions. Alternatively, the fully functionalized CD biaryl of streptonigrin was prepared using a Suzuki coupling of appropriately functionalized C-ring bromide and D-ring aryl boronic acid. The described approach is highly convergent and readily amenable to the synthesis of analogs. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The formation of carbon-carbon bonds remains the most crucial transformation in synthetic chemistry, and the last 25 years have witnessed the development of a multitude of transition metal-catalyzed reactions that have greatly improved this process.¹ No other metal has been as widely studied for this purpose as palladium, and within this field the Stille,² Suzuki-Miyaura,³ and Negishi⁴ couplings have been the most widely explored. However, each of these processes suffers from limitations, including tedious preparation and purification of coupling precursors, reagent toxicity, or lack selectivity exhibited by the coupling partner. Organosilicon-based coupling strategies⁵ address these limitations and offer an alternative to existing cross-coupling methodologies. Research from these laboratories has shown that aryltrialkoxysilanes, in the presence of fluoride and catalytic Pd(0), undergo aryl group transfer to a range of aryl halides and triflates.⁶⁻¹¹ Several methods have been developed for the synthesis of siloxane derivatives, 12-14 and the coupling reaction has been found to be of broad utility.

During our continued effort to explore the scope and tolerances of this process, we became interested in the synthesis of the anticancer agent streptonigrin (1). This fungal metabolite was isolated over 40 years ago^{15} and was found to exhibit potent anticancer and antiviral activity.¹⁶ It has recently been shown that naturally occurring streptonigrin exists as a single atrope isomer (the M configuration has been assigned), with hindered rotation about the CD-ring juncture (Fig. 1).¹⁷

The desirable biological properties as well as unique structural features of streptonigrin have made this agent a popular target,¹⁸ and three total syntheses have been reported.^{19–21} Our interest in the natural product was based on the supposition that the tetracyclic core of streptonigrin could be accessed using two sequential Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions (Scheme 1). This approach offers the advantage of being highly convergent, as the AB, C, and D-rings may be independently prepared and functionalized prior to the coupling steps. In fact, several groups have reported the



Figure 1. Atrope isomers of streptonigrin.

Keywords: Palladium-catalyzed; Cross-coupling; Organosiloxanes; Streptonigrin.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 301 405 1892; fax: +1 301 314 9121; e-mail: deshong@umd.edu



Scheme 1. Retrosynthetic analysis of streptonigrin.

syntheses of streptonigrin model systems based on this approach.^{22–30} These studies have demonstrated that the coupling reaction to form the CD biaryl tolerates the use of sterically hindered partners. The electronic effects of the pyridine ring, though, significantly influence the success of this strategy, and at present the natural product has yet to succumb to total synthesis using this approach. We have previously communicated preliminary results regarding siloxane-based couplings to prepare CD model systems of streptonigrin,³¹ and report herein our full findings. These studies have culminated in a highly modular synthesis of streptonigrin CD biaryl.

2. Results and discussion

Our retrosynthetic analysis for streptonigrin (1) is outlined in Scheme 1. The tetracyclic core was to be established through the Pd-catalyzed coupling of quinoline siloxane 2 with 2-bromopyridine 3. Conversion to the natural product would then be accomplished upon oxidation of the A-ring to the quinone and global deprotection. Biaryl 3 was envisaged as the product of a Pd-catalyzed coupling of 4-bromopyridine 4 and aryl siloxane 5. Successful implementation of this strategy would require the development of coupling conditions amenable to the synthesis of highly functionalized (and hindered) biaryl derivatives.

The coupling reaction to form the CD biaryl presented a major synthetic challenge because a pentasubstituted pyridine bearing electron-donating and electron-withdrawing substituents would be one of the components. A siloxane coupling reaction with such a complex aromatic precursor had not been investigated previously and these studies would ultimately define the scope and limitations of the siloxane methodology. We therefore decided to develop a general approach to C-ring coupling precursors that was amenable to the preparation of analogs, in order that the steric and electronic factors that influence the coupling reaction be investigated in a systematic manner. The starting points for our studies were the known pyridones 6^{32} and $7.^{33}$ Trimethyl substituted pyridine 8 was readily obtained upon methylation of pyridone 6 (Scheme 2).



Scheme 2. Synthesis of bromopyridine 8.

Pyridone 7 was subjected to ester hydrolysis and acid-promoted decarboxylation to give 9 (Scheme 3). Replacement of the C-4 hydroxyl group of pyridine 9 with a bromine substituent proved to be problematic due to competitive bromination at C-2. After significant experimentation, it was found that reaction of 9 with 0.70 equiv POBr₃ in DMF led reproducibly to bromopyridone **10**. Although the bromopyridone could be purified, it was more convenient to carry the crude material through the next step. Thus, methylation of the reaction mixture gave pyridine 11 in 37% isolated yield over two steps. Introduction of a nitrogen substituent at C-3 was accomplished in high yield by nitration of bromide 11 to provide nitropyridine 12. Reduction of the nitro group occurred uneventfully to provide the amino analog 13. These fully functionalized pyridine derivatives were now available for preliminary coupling reactions with siloxane derivatives.

Comparison of the cross-coupling reactions of bromopyridines 8 and 11 with an aryl siloxane was expected to provide information regarding the role of steric effects in the coupling process. Similarly, the cross-coupling of pyridines 11, 12, and 13, each with a substituent in the C-3 position, would allow us to examine the influence of electronic factors on the coupling reaction. The results of these coupling reactions are summarized in Table 1. Coupling reactions were performed under identical conditions employing 20 mol %



Scheme 3. Synthesis of bromopyridines 11-13.

Pd(OAc)₂ and 40 mol % PPh₃, conditions which had proven to be optimal in previous coupling studies: 2 equiv of aryl siloxane and TBAF in DMF at 80 °C.

Coupling of pyridine **11** was investigated first, since this is the least sterically hindered of the bromopyridine series and its behavior should establish the baseline for the coupling reaction. Coupling of **11** and PhSi(OMe)₃ gave an excellent yield of the expected adduct (Table 1, entry 1).

 Table 1. Coupling reactions of 4-bromopyridine derivatives with various aryl siloxanes

MeO	N_CH ₃	TBAF Pd(OAc) ₂ , PPh	
R	CH ₃ + Ar-S	i(OR') ₃ DMF	R CH ₃
Entry	R	Ar-Si(OR')3	Yield (%)
1	H, 11	PhSi(OMe) ₃	97
2	H, 11	Si(OEt) ₃ CH ₃ 14	10^{a}
3	Me, 8	PhSi(OMe) ₃	89
4	Me, 8	Si(OEt) ₃ CH ₃ 14	10 ^a
5	Me, 8	Si(OEt) ₃	61
6	Me, 8	Si(OEt) ₃ OMOM OMe 16	0^{a}
7	NO ₂ , 12	PhSi(OMe) ₃	36 ^a

^a The remainder of the mass balance was reduced bromopyridine.

However, the reaction of 11 with o-methyl siloxane 14¹⁴ gave only a 10% yield of the desired product (entry 2); the major product of the reaction was not the desired biaryl but the reduced (hydrodebrominated) pyridine. This result was surprising in two respects: first, the reduced products had not been observed previously in siloxane-based coupling reactions so their formation in this procedure was unanticipated. Secondly, o-tolyl siloxanes such as 14 underwent coupling with a variety of bromobenzene derivatives in excellent yield, demonstrating that steric effects on the siloxane component were not typically important to the success of the coupling reaction.³⁴ In this case, however, the coupling of the bromopyridine does not follow the typical profile. As it will become apparent in subsequent experiments, the reduction of the bromopyridine under coupling conditions will prove to be a significant complication in this approach (vide infra).

In order to further assess the steric tolerance of the coupling reaction, the coupling of trimethylbromopyridine **8** was examined. The Pd-catalyzed reaction of **8** and PhSi(OMe)₃ gave an 89% yield of the coupled adduct, while coupling of **8** and *o*-methyl siloxane **14** provided only 10% of the desired biaryl product (entries 3 and 4, respectively). These results are analogous to those obtained with bromopyridine **11**, and demonstrate that *ortho*-disubstituted bromopyridines are unsuitable coupling partners.

The reaction of bromopyridine 8 with methylenedioxy siloxane 15^{12} gave a 61% yield of the expected biaryl (entry 5). This was a significant finding since it demonstrated that couplings with siloxane derivatives lacking ortho-substituents occurred uneventfully. In addition, the substitution pattern of siloxane 15 is similar to the D-ring of streptonigrin, thus demonstrating that this approach would be useful for the synthesis of streptonigrin analogs lacking the ortho-phenolic group. It was disappointing that bromopyridine 8 failed to undergo the coupling reaction with siloxane 16 (entry 6), the siloxane that would directly provide the CD-ring system of the natural product. This result was not unexpected, however, based on the coupling results using o-tolyl siloxane. In addition, we had previously observed that aryl siloxanes with a heteroatom in the ortho-position to silicon underwent rapid protodesilvlation under coupling conditions.¹³ Even employing a stoichiometric amount of Pd(0) provided no improvement in the coupling outcome.

The couplings of 4-bromopyridine derivatives bearing nitrogen containing substituents at C-3 were also studied. Analogs of bromopyridine 12 with either an amino, azido, and amido functionality at C-3 failed to yield biaryl with PhSi(OMe)₃. However, reaction of nitropyridine 12 and PhSi(OMe)₃ gave a 36% yield of the corresponding biaryl (entry 7), along with 36% of the reduced (dehalogenated) pyridine. Although the yield of biaryl in this reaction was modest, studies with more complex siloxanes such as those needed for the total synthesis of streptonigrin were undertaken in the hope of improving and optimizing the yield of coupling. Unfortunately, formation of the dehalogenated pyridine was the major product observed from these studies. An extensive study of alternative Pd catalysts, ligands, and activators was performed, but the yield of cross-coupled product never rose above 30% in these reactions. The conclusion that must be drawn from these studies is that the electronic effects on both components played a pivotal role in the coupling process.

The difficulty experienced in preparing the streptonigrin CD skeleton using the siloxane technology led us to wonder if this unit may better be synthesized using organoboron reagents as the coupling reagent (Scheme 4). Reaction of bromopyridine **12** with boronic acid **17** gave a 78% yield of the respective biaryl with no evidence of the dehalogenated pyridine in the reaction products.

Oxidation of the pyridine C-6 methyl group of **18** to its carboxylic acid (the functional group present at this position in streptonigrin) was explored. The intention was to convert **18** to its *N*-oxide, followed by application of the pyridine *N*-oxide rearrangement³⁴ to provide a benzylic alcohol at the C-6 position of the pyridine ring. This strategy has been executed previously in an earlier synthesis of streptonigrin.²⁰ Much to our surprise, conversion of pyridine **18** to *N*-oxide **19** could not be accomplished. Using a wide variety of oxidants, the starting pyridine was recovered. Reduction of the nitro group of **18** and protection of the resulting amino group as its acetamide gave pyridine derivatives that were resistant to oxidation under a variety of conditions.

It was unclear whether the lack of reactivity of pyridine **18** and its derivatives to oxidation was the result of the electron-withdrawing nature of the C-3 substituent. To address

this concern, the oxidation of pyridine **11** lacking a substituent at C-3 was investigated (Scheme 5). Treatment of **11** with H_2O_2 in HOAc resulted in complete conversion to the corresponding *N*-oxide, as determined by ¹H NMR. The *N*-oxide was not isolated but was treated immediately with Ac₂O to give rearranged product **20** in 93% yield over two steps. The facile oxidation-rearrangement of pyridine **11** demonstrated that the failure of pyridine **18** to undergo oxidation was due to the presence of the nitrogen substituent(s) at C-3, which must alter the relative basicity of the pyridine lone pair.



Scheme 5. Preparation and cross-coupling of bromopyridine 24.

Based on the inability to oxidize the C-6 methyl group of C-ring once the aromatic D-ring had been introduced, the order of C-ring oxidation and D-ring coupling was altered. Treatment of **20** under the previously developed nitrating conditions gave a number of undesired reaction products, which had their origins in cleavage of the acid labile acetate functionality at C-6. It was clear that a robust protecting



Scheme 4. Suzuki coupling of bromopyridine 12 and boronic acid 17.

group for the 1° alcohol of 21 would be required to effect nitration under the strongly acidic conditions. After extensive investigation, methyl ether 22 was determined to be the most suitable protected derivative. Nitration of methyl ether 22 gave nitropyridine 23 in 51% yield. We attribute the modest yield of the nitration (compared to pyridine 13, Scheme 4) to be the result of deactivation of the pyridine ring due to protonation of the pyridine nitrogen. Nevertheless, with 23 in hand, the stage was set to explore the key coupling reaction to prepare the CD biaryl. The Pd-catalyzed reaction of bromopyridine 23 with siloxane derivatives was ineffective (vide supra), however, boronic acid 17 coupled with 23 using CsF as the activator in DME³⁵ provided an 87% yield of biaryl 24. Unfortunately, oxidation of ether 24 to the corresponding C-6 carboxylic acid could not be achieved. Deprotection of 24 with BCl₃ gave only a 13% yield of the desired product. Analysis of the crude ¹H NMR spectrum indicated that several other reaction products, in which one or more of the D-ring methyl ethers had underwent cleavage, were present in the reaction mixture.

The successful endgame strategy for synthesis of the CD-ring system of streptonigrin is outlined in Scheme 6. Deprotection of the methyl group of bromide 23 with BCl₃ proceeded in quantitative yield to afford alcohol 25. Subsequent oxidation with KMnO₄, followed by acid-catalyzed esterification, gave bromide-ester 26 in 62% yield over two steps. The cross-coupling of bromopyridine 26 with boronic acid 17, using CsF in DME gave biaryl 27 in 68% yield. Biaryl 27 bears all of the key functionalities found in the CD-portion of streptonigrin. In addition, the C-2 position of the pyridine ring (C-ring) is functionalized



Scheme 6. Synthesis of streptonigrin CD biaryl.

such that the AB-rings of streptonigrin can be introduced via a coupling reaction. The C-2 methyl ether was converted into a suitable coupling substrate by treatment with PBr₃ to give pyridone **28** followed by conversion of the pyridone to triflate **29**. We anticipate that coupling of triflate **29** with appropriate metalloid reagents (siloxanes or boronic acid derivatives) will serve as a vehicle for the introduction of the AB-ring precursors.

3. Conclusion

A series of 4-bromopyridone derivatives have been synthesized and shown to undergo Pd-catalyzed coupling with aryl siloxane and boronic acid derivatives. A fully functionalized streptonigrin CD biaryl was synthesized using a Suzuki coupling of bromopyridine **26** and boronic acid **17**. The biaryl was elaborated to triflate **29**, thus setting the stage for a second coupling with a streptonigrin AB-ring precursor. Studies directed toward the utilization of triflate **29** to complete the total synthesis of streptonigrin (**1**) are underway and will be reported in due course.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker DRX-400 spectrometer. Chemical shifts are reported in parts per million (ppm). Coupling constants (J) are given in hertz (Hz). Spin multiplicities are indicated by standard notation.

Infrared spectra were recorded on a Nicolet 560 FTIR spectrophotometer. Band positions are given in reciprocal centimeters (cm^{-1}) and relative intensities are listed as br (broad), s (strong), m (medium), or w (weak).

Melting points were taken in Kimax soft capillary tubes using a Thomas–Hoover Uni-Melt capillary melting point apparatus equipped with a calibrated thermometer.

Low resolution (LRMS) and high resolution (HRMS) were obtained on a JEOL SX-102A instrument.

Thin layer chromatography (TLC) was performed on 0.25 mm Analtech silica-coated glass plates, with compounds being identified in one or both of the following manners: UV (254 nm) and vanillin/sulfuric acid/ethanol charring. Flash chromatography was performed using glass columns and 'medium pressure' silica gel (Sorbent Technologies, $45-70 \mu$ m).

Tetrahydrofuran (THF), diethyl ether, toluene, and 1,4-dioxane were distilled from sodium/benzophenone ketyl. N,N-Dimethylformamide (DMF) was distilled from calcium hydride and dried over 4 Å molecular sieves. Pyridine, methylene chloride, and 1,2-dichloroethane (DCE) were distilled from calcium hydride. N,N,N,N-Tetramethylethylenediamine (TMEDA) and 1,2-dimethoxyethane (DME) were distilled from sodium metal. PBr₃ and B(OMe)₃ were distilled prior to use. Triphenylphosphine was recrystallized from hexanes. All other reagents were purchased and used as received. Glassware used in the reactions was dried overnight in an oven at 120 °C. All reactions were performed under an atmosphere of argon unless otherwise noted. All new compounds were determined to be >95% pure by ¹H NMR spectroscopy.

4.1.1. 4-Bromo-2-methoxy-3,5,6-trimethylpyridine (8). To a suspension of 3.45 g (0.0125 mol) of Ag₂CO₃ and 3.58 g (0.0177 mol) of pyridone 6 in 30 mL of benzene was added 1.25 mL (0.0200 mol) of MeI. The resulting solution was heated in the dark at 45 °C for 12 h. The mixture was cooled to 0 °C, filtered, and the filtrate washed with 50 mL of 2% NaHCO₃, followed by 50 mL water. The benzene was evaporated under reduced pressure and the remaining aqueous solution was extracted $3 \times$ with CH₂Cl₂. The combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO4 and concentrated in vacuo to give 3.84 g (100%) of 8 as a white crystalline solid, mp 44-45 °C, which was used without further purification. IR (CCl₄) 3006 (w), 2953 (w), 2951 (m), 2920 (w), 2893 (w), 2866 (w) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.19 (s, 3H), 2.22 (s, 3H), 2.37 (s, 3H), 3.83 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 14.5, 19.1, 23.8, 53.9, 118.4, 124.0, 139.4, 151.1, 159.9. EIMS m/z 231 (100), 229 (87), 216 (29). HRMS for C₉BrH₁₂NO₂ calcd 229.0102, found 229.0104.

4.1.2. 4-Hydroxy-5,6-dimethylpyridin-2(1*H***)-one (9**). A solution of 61.78 g (0.2925 mol) of pyridone **7** and 111 g of NaOH (2.78 mol) in 1.3 L of water was heated at reflux for 2 h. The solution was cooled to 0 °C, brought to pH=7 with concd HCl, and stirred at room temperature for 12 h. The precipitate thus obtained was filtered and washed with water to yield 40.29 g (99%) of **9** as a white solid, mp>320 °C. IR (KBr) 3421 (w), 3266 (w), 3087 (m), 3002 (m), 2928 (m), 2882 (m), 1662 (s), 1616 (s) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.79 (s, 3H), 2.09 (s, 3H), 5.49 (s, 1H), 10.53 (br s, 1H), 10.91 (br s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 9.8, 16.7, 96.1, 104.2, 142.3, 163.7, 167.3. EIMS *m/z* 139 (100), 111 (76), 110 (80), 69 (72), 44 (84). HRMS for C₇H₉NO₂ calcd 139.0633, found 139.0638.

4.1.3. 4-Bromo-6-methoxy-2,3-dimethylpyridine (11). This compound was obtained directly from pyridone 9. A mixture of 22.06 g (0.1585 mol) of 9 and 30.54 g (0.1068 mol) of POBr₃ in 30 mL DMF were heated at 110 °C for 45 min. After cooling, water was added and the resulting solution brought to pH=7 with Na₂CO₃. The precipitate thus obtained was filtered, washed with water and then Et₂O to yield 19.80 g of a yellow solid. Although the intermediate bromopyridone could be purified, it was more convenient to use the crude material in the next step.

To a solution of the crude bromopyridone and 32.2 g (0.117 mol) of Ag₂CO₃ in 110 mL CHCl₃ was added 20.0 mL (0.314 mol) MeI and the mixture heated at 50 °C for 24 h in the dark. After cooling, the mixture was filtered and the filtrate concentrated in vacuo. Purification by column chromatography (19:1 hexanes/EtOAc, R_f = 0.38) afforded 12.70 g (37% from 9) of 11 as a white crystal-line solid, mp 38–41 °C. IR (CCl₄) 3014 (w), 2971 (w), 2944 (w), 2897 (w) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.27 (s, 3H), 2.44 (s, 3H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 6.80 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 18.0, 24.1, 54.0, 111.6, 124.0, 137.3, 155.4, 161.9. EIMS *m/z* 216 (98), 214 (100), 187 (37), 185 (32).

4.1.4. 4-Bromo-2-methoxy-5,6-dimethyl-3-nitropyridine (12). A solution of 1.32 g (6.11 mmol) of pyridine 11, 0.60 mL (8.6 mmol) of HNO₃, and 15 mL of H₂SO₄ was stirred at room temperature for 14 h. The solution was diluted with 100 mL of water and neutralized with Na₂CO₃. The solution was extracted $2\times$ with 100 mL Et₂O and the combined organic extracts dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo to yield 1.55 g (97%) of **12** as a yellow solid, mp 86–89 °C, which was used without further purification. IR (CCl₄) 3025 (w), 2998 (w), 2951 (w), 2924 (w), 2905 (w), 1581 (s) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.33 (s, 3H), 2.51 (s, 3H), 3.97 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 18.5, 24.4, 55.0, 125.2, 127.5, 152.5, 156.9. FABMS *m*/*z* 263 (66), 261 (61), 155 (57), 152 (59), 119 (68), 103 (48), 85 (100). HRMS for C₈H₉BrN₂O₃ calcd 260.9875, found 260.9872.

4.1.5. 4-Bromo-2-methoxy-5,6-dimethylpyridin-3-amine (13). To a solution of 1.39 g (5.32 mmol) of nitropyridine **12**, 28 mL of EtOH, and 7 mL of water were added 3.5 g (63 mmol) of Fe and two drops of concd HCl. The resulting solution was heated at reflux for 2 h. After cooling, the solution was filtered and the filtrate concentrated in vacuo. Purification by column chromatography (9:1 hexanes/EtOAc, R_f =0.40) gave 0.800 g (65%) of **13** as a yellow crystalline solid, mp 52–54 °C. IR (CCl₄) 3487 (s), 3394 (s), 3014 (w), 2983 (w), 2948 (m), 2920 (w), 2858 (w), 1654 (m), 1612 (s) cm^{-1. 1}H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.29 (s, 3H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 3.98 (s, 3H), 4.05 (br s, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 18.2, 22.3, 53.3, 119.8, 122.7, 127.1, 140.7, 149.6. EIMS *m*/*z* 232 (98), 230 (100), 189 (68), 187 (68). HRMS for C₈H₁₁BrN₂O calcd 232.0034, found 232.0049.

4.2. General procedure for the siloxane-based synthesis of biaryls

Coupling reactions were performed under identical conditions using 20 mol % $Pd(OAc)_2$ and 40 mol % PPh_3 , 2 equiv of siloxane and 2 equiv of TBAF. The following example is illustrative.

4.2.1. 2-Methoxy-3,5,6-trimethyl-4-phenylpyridine (Table 1, entry 3). To a solution of 261 mg (1.15 mmol) of bromopyridine 8, 440 mg (2.22 mmol) of phenyltrimethoxysilane, 52 mg (0.21 mmol) of Pd(OAc)₂, and 110 mg (0.419 mmol) of PPh₃ in 10 mL DMF was added 2.2 mL (2.2 mmol) of a 1 M solution of TBAF in THF. The solution was degassed via a single freeze-pump-thaw cycle and heated at 80 °C for 12 h. The reaction was quenched with water and the solution was extracted $3 \times$ with Et₂O. The combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo. Purification by column chromatography (hexanes, $R_f=0.14$) afforded 230 mg (89%) of the title compound as a colorless oil. IR (CCl₄) 3084 (w), 3056 (w), 2967 (s), 2944 (s), 2924 (m), 2858 (w) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.82 (s, 3H), 1.83 (s, 3H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 3.94 (s, 3H), 7.05 (d, J=6.8 Hz, 2H), 7.33 (d, J=6.8 Hz, 1H), 7.40 (t, J=6.8 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 13.5, 16.3, 23.1, 53.6, 115.6, 121.9, 127.5, 128.8, 128.9, 140.9, 120.7, 152.0, 160.0. EIMS m/z 227 (70), 226 (100). HRMS for C₁₅H₁₇NO calcd 226.1232, found 226.1228.

4.2.2. 6-Methoxy-2,3-dimethyl-4-phenylpyridine (Table 1, entry 1). Following column chromatography (19:1

hexanes/EtOAc, R_f =0.29), the biaryl was obtained in 97% yield as a white crystalline solid, mp 52–54 °C. IR (CCl₄) 3087 (w), 3060 (w), 2948 (m), 2920 (m), 2850 (m) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.06 (s, 3H), 2.46 (s, 3H), 3.90 (s, 3H), 6.45 (s, 1H), 7.25 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.37 (m, 3H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 14.4, 22.1, 52.3, 106.6, 120.2, 126.5, 127.2, 127.6, 139.2, 151.7, 135.8, 160.3. EIMS *m*/*z* 213 (94), 212 (100), 184 (49), 183 (56), 128 (51), 127 (38). HRMS for C₁₄H₁₅NO calcd 213.1154, found 213.1149.

4.2.3. 6-Methoxy-2,3-dimethyl-4-*o*-tolylpyridine (Table 1, entry 2). Following column chromatography (19:1 hexanes/EtOAc, R_{f} =0.32), the biaryl was obtained in 10% yield as a colorless oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.86 (s, 3H), 2.04 (s, 3H), 2.46 (s, 3H), 3.90 (s, 3H), 6.36 (s, 1H), 7.02 (d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (m, 3H), 7.23 (m, 3H).

4.2.4. 2-Methoxy-3,5,6-trimethyl-4*o***-tolylpyridine** (**Table 1, entry 4).** Following column chromatography (19:1 hexanes/EtOAc, R_f =0.23), the biaryl was obtained in 10% yield as a pale yellow oil. IR (CCl₄) 3072 (w), 3002 (m), 2921 (m), 1581 (m) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.70 (s, 3H), 1.71 (s, 3H), 1.87 (s, 3H), 2.36 (s, 3H), 3.89 (s, 3H), 6.84 (d, *J*=6.8 Hz, 1H), 7.24 (m, 3H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 13.1, 15.8, 19.8, 23.0, 53.5, 115.5, 121.9, 126.4, 127.9, 128.6, 130.4, 135.6, 139.6, 150.8, 151.5, 160.1. EIMS *m*/*z* 241 (100), 240 (84), 226 (94), 216 (65).

4.2.5. 4-(Benzo[*d*][**1,3**]**dioxol-5-yl**)-**2-methoxy-3,5,6-trimethylpyridine (Table 1, entry 5).** Following column chromatography (19:1 hexanes/EtOAc, R_f =0.30), the biaryl was obtained in 61% yield as a colorless oil. IR (CCl₄) 3072 (w), 3002 (m), 2948 (s), 2920 (s), 2829 (s), 1581 (m) cm^{-1. 1}H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.79 (s, 3H), 1.81 (s, 3H), 2.35 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 5.93 (s, 2H), 6.43 (d, *J*=7.2 Hz, 1H), 6.44 (s, 1H), 6.79 (d, *J*=7.2 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 13.5, 16.4, 23.1, 53.6, 101.5, 108.8, 109.5, 116.0, 122.1, 122.2, 133.7, 147.0, 148.1, 150.1, 151.6, 160.0. EIMS *m/z* 271 (74), 270 (100). HRMS for C₁₆H₁₇NO₃ calcd 270.1130, found 270.1125.

4.2.6. 2-Methoxy-5,6-dimethyl-3-nitro-4-phenylpyridine (**Table 1, entry 7).** These compounds were prepared according to the general siloxane coupling procedure outlined previously. Following column chromatography (hexanes, R_f =0.19), the biaryl was isolated in 36% yield as a white, crystalline solid, mp 79–82 °C. IR (CCl₄) 3087 (w), 3064 (w), 3025 (w), 2990 (w), 2955 (w), 2920 (w), 2901 (w), 2874 (w) cm^{-1.} ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.95 (s, 3H), 2.50 (s, 3H), 4.00 (s, 3H), 7.16 (m, 2H), 7.40 (m, 3H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 16.0, 23.8, 54.6, 123.2, 128.6, 129.1, 129.3, 133.9, 134.4, 144.3, 152.1, 157.1. EIMS *m/z* 250 (100), 211 (57). HRMS for C₁₄H₁₄N₂O₃ calcd 258.1004, found 258.0997.

The reduced pyridine was obtained in 36% yield as a white crystalline solid, mp 69–72 °C, R_f =0.15 (hexanes). IR (CCl₄) 3025 (m), 2994 (m), 2955 (m), 2928 (m), 2866 (m) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.25 (s, 3H), 2.45 (s, 3H), 4.05 (s, 3H), 8.03 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 18.2, 23.1, 54.9, 124.8, 131.5, 136.4, 154.4, 161.8.

4.3. Siloxane 16 and boronic acid 17

Siloxane **16** and boronic acid **17** were each prepared from 2,3-dimethoxybenzaldehyde as outlined below.

4.3.1. 2,3-Dimethoxyphenol. To a mixture of 9.3 mL (0.066 mol) of 30% H_2O_2 and 9.3 g of boric acid (0.15 mol) in 90 mL of THF was added 3 mL of sulfuric acid. The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 30 min and a solution of 5.0 g (0.030 mol) of 2,3-dimethoxybenaldehyde in 30 mL of THF was added. The mixture was heated at 50 °C for 24 h, quenched with saturated NaHCO₃, and filtered. The filtrate was extracted $3 \times$ with Et₂O and the combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo. Purification by column chromatography (3:1 hexanes/EtOAc, R_f =0.29) afforded 3.22 g (70%) of the title compound as a pale yellow oil. Spectral data matched that of the reported compound.³⁶

4.3.2. 1,2-Dimethoxy-3-(methoxymethyl)benzene. NaH (60% dispersion in mineral oil, 1.2 g, 30 mmol) was washed $2 \times$ with 3 mL of hexanes. To the solid was added 20 mL of DMF and the resulting suspension cooled to 0 °C. A solution of 3.42 g (22.2 mmol) of the phenol in 15 mL of DMF was added and the resulting solution stirred at 0 °C for 30 min. To the solution was added 2.3 mL (30 mmol) of MOM-Cl, causing the immediate evolution of gas. The solution was allowed to warm to room temperature and quenched with 50 mL of water. The solution was extracted $3 \times$ with ether and the combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO4 and concentrated in vacuo to afford 4.40 g (100%) of the title compound as a pale yellow oil, which was used without further purification. IR (CCl₄) 2998 (m), 2955 (s), 2932 (s), 2834 (m), 1596 (s) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 3.47 (s, 3H), 3.82 (s, 3H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 5.18 (s, 2H), 6.58 (d, J=8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.74 (d, J=8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.92 (t, J=8.2 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 56.4, 56.6, 61.3, 95.7, 106.7, 109.9, 124.1, 139.6, 151.4, 154.1.

4.3.3. Triethoxy(3,4-dimethoxy-2-(methoxymethoxy)phenyl)silane (16). A solution of 1.88 g (9.49 mmol) of the MOM ether and 2.2 mL (1.4 mmol) of TMEDA in 40 mL of THF was cooled to -78 °C. To this solution was added dropwise BuLi (15.3 mL of a 0.80 M solution, 0.014 mol) and the resulting solution stirred at -78 °C for 10 min and then allowed to warm to 0 °C and stirred for an additional 2 h. This solution was added over 30 min to 4.3 mL (1.9 mmol) of Si(OEt)₄ dissolved in 40 mL of THF at -78 °C. The resulting solution was allowed to warm to room temperature, quenched with water, and extracted $3 \times$ with Et₂O. The combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo. Purification by column chromatography (15% EtOAc/hexanes, $R_f=0.24$) afforded 850 mg (25%) of 16 as a pale yellow oil. IR (CCl₄) 2971 (s), 2924 (s), 2889 (s), 2835 (m) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.22 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 9H), 3.62 (s, 3H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 3.86 (q, J=7.0 Hz, 6H), 5.17 (s, 2H), 6.67 (d, J=8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (d, J=8.2 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) & 18.6, 56.3, 57.9, 59.0, 61.1, 99.6, 108.0, 117.2, 123.6, 141.9, 155.5, 156.6. EIMS m/z 360 (87), 271 (95), 270 (100), 255 (53), 166 (56), 45 (53). HRMS for C₁₅H₂₈O₇Si calcd 360.1590, found 360.1604.

4.3.4. 3,4-Dimethoxy-2-(methoxymethoxy)phenylboronic acid (17). A solution of 1.08 g (5.45 mmol) of the MOM ether and 0.90 mL (5.4 mmol) TMEDA in 30 mL THF was cooled to -78 °C. To the solution was added dropwise 7.0 mL (5.6 mmol) of a 0.8 M solution of n-BuLi in hexanes and the resulting solution allowed to warm to 0 °C. After 1.5 h at 0 °C the solution was cooled to -78 °C and 1.2 mL (11 mmol) of B(OMe)₃ in 30 mL THF was added over 10 min. The resulting solution was allowed over 1 h to warm to room temperature and stirred an additional 16 h. HCl (30 mL, 5%) was added and the solution was extracted $3 \times$ with Et₂O. The combined organic layers were extracted with 2 M KOH. The aqueous layer was neutralized with concd HCl and extracted $3 \times$ with CH₂Cl₂. The combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO4 and concentrated in vacuo. An analytical sample was obtained following recrystallization from hexanes/Et₂O as a white crystalline solid, mp 125-129 °C. IR (CCl₄) 3526 (br), 3468 (br), 2998 (m), 2955 (m), 2928 (m), 2854 (m), 2835 (m) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 3.49 (s, 3H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 5.25 (s, 2H), 6.29 (br s, 2H), 6.72 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.52 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR $(CDCl_3)$ δ 56.4, 58.6, 61.1, 100.7, 108.5, 131.8, 140.8, 156.5, 156.8.

4.3.5. 2-Methoxy-4-(3,4-dimethoxy-2-(methoxymethoxy)phenyl)-5,6-dimethyl-3-nitropyridine (18). A mixture of the crude boronic acid, 645 mg (2.47 mmol) 4-bromopyridine 12, 615 mg (5.32 mmol) Pd(PPh₃)₄, and 579 mg (5.46 mmol) Na₂CO₃, 60 mL toluene, 6 mL H₂O, and 6 mL EtOH was heated at reflux for 40 h. After cooling, 60 mL of water was added and the solution was extracted $3 \times$ with Et₂O. The combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo. Purification by column chromatography (3:1 hexanes/EtOAc, $R_f=0.25$) afforded a yellow solid, which was recrystallized from hexanes/Et₂O to yield 737 mg (78%) of 18 as a white crystalline solid, mp 128-129 °C. IR (CCl₄) 2990 (m), 2955 (m), 2924 (m), 2874 (m), 2831 (m) cm^{-1} . ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.97 (s, 3H), 2.49 (s, 3H), 3.11 (s, 3H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.99 (s, 3H), 4.80 (d, J=5.6 Hz, 1H), 5.08 (d, J=5.6 Hz, 1H), 6.69 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1H), 6.76 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 15.9, 23.7, 54.5, 56.4, 57.1, 61.4, 99.4, 108.3, 121.1, 124.2, 124.9, 134.8, 141.4, 142.8, 148.5, 152.2, 155.0, 156.5. EIMS m/z 378 (100), 332 (37). HRMS for $C_{18}H_{22}N_2O_7$ calcd 378.1427, found 378.1443.

4.3.6. (**4-Bromo-6-methoxy-3-methylpyridin-2-yl)methyl acetate** (**20**). This compound was prepared directly from pyridine **11**. A solution of 520 mg (2.41 mmol) pyridine **11** and 1.0 mL (7.2 mmol) of 30% H₂O₂ in 15 mL HOAc were heated at 60 °C for 3 d. After cooling, the solution was concentrated in vacuo and the residue dissolved in 10 mL acetic anhydride. This solution was heated at 120 °C for 24 h and concentrated in vacuo to give 628 mg (93%) of **20** as a pale brown oil, which was used without further purification. IR (CCl₄) 3017 (m), 2983 (m), 2948 (m), 2924 (m), 2905 (m), 2854 (m), 1748 (s) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.11 (s, 3H), 2.28 (s, 3H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 5.14 (s, 2H), 6.93 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 16.9, 21.2, 54.0, 66.3, 114.4, 124.9, 138.1, 151.1, 162.2, 171.1.

4.3.7. (4-Bromo-6-methoxy-3-methylpyridin-2-yl)methanol (21). This compound was obtained directly from pyridine 11. A solution of 701 mg (3.24 mmol) of pyridine 11, 0.50 mL (4.4 mmol) 30% H_2O_2 , and 22 mL acetic acid was heated at 60 °C for 3 d. After cooling, the solution was concentrated in vacuo and the residue dissolved in 7 mL of acetic anhydride. This solution was heated at 120 °C for 2 h. After cooling, the solution was concentrated in vacuo. To the residue was added 2.28 g (16.5 mmol) K_2CO_3 and 25 mL methanol. The resulting solution was stirred at room temperature for 18 h and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was suspended in water and extracted $3 \times$ with Et₂O. The combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo to yield 509 mg (68%) of **21** as a white crystalline solid, mp 49–52 °C, which was used without further purification. IR (CCl₄) 3456 (br), 3021 (m), 2983 (m), 2951 (m), 2928 (m), 2866 (m) cm⁻¹ ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.15 (s, 3H), 3.82 (br s, 1H), 3.92 (s, 3H), 4.62 (s, 2H), 6.90 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 15.3, 54.2, 62.3, 112.7, 122.0, 138.2, 154.4, 161.9.

4.3.8. 4-Bromo-6-methoxy-2-(methoxymethyl)-3-methylpyridine (22). To a solution of 2.16 g (9.31 mmol) of alcohol **21** and 3.31 g (14.3 mmol) of Ag₂O in 40 mL THF was added 2.0 mL (32 mmol) of iodomethane. The resulting solution was heated in the dark at 65 °C for 4 d. The suspension was filtered through a pad of Celite and the filtrate concentrated in vacuo to yield 1.97 g (86%) of **22** as a white crystalline solid, mp 48–50 °C, which was used without further purification. IR (CCl₄) 3014 (w), 2986 (w), 2951 (m), 2928 (m), 2893 (w), 2918 (w) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.34 (s, 3H), 3.39 (s, 3H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 4.50 (s, 2H), 6.93 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 17.0, 54.1, 58.9, 75.6, 114.0, 125.9, 138.3, 153.6, 162.0.

4.3.9. 4-Bromo-2-methoxy-6-(methoxymethyl)-5-methyl-3-nitropyridine (23). A solution of 914 mg (3.71 mmol) of pyridine **22** in 1.5 mL of HNO₃ and 8.5 mL of H₂SO₄ was stirred at room temperature for 2 d. The solution was diluted with water, neutralized with Na₂CO₃, and extracted $3 \times$ with Et₂O. The combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo. Purification by column chromatography (9:1 hexanes/EtOAc, R_f =0.11) afforded 550 mg (51%) of **23** as a white, crystalline solid, mp 47– 50 °C. IR (CCl₄) 3025 (m), 2990 (m), 2959 (m), 2928 (m), 2921 (m), 2819 (m) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.40 (s, 3H), 3.40 (s, 3H), 4.00 (s, 3H), 4.53 (s, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 17.5, 55.1, 59.1, 75.1, 111.3, 127.2, 128.7, 152.9, 154.8. EIMS *m*/*z* 292 (6), 290 (8), 262 (91), 260 (100), 247 (30), 245 (28). HRMS for C₉H₁₁BrN₂O₄ calcd 291.9882, found 291.9893.

4.3.10. 2-Methoxy-4-(3,4-dimethoxy-2-(methoxymethoxy)phenyl)-6-(methoxymethyl)-5-methyl-3-nitropyridine (24). Boronic acid 17 was prepared as described above. A solution of 287 mg (1.19 mmol) of the crude boronic acid, 190 mg (0.653 mmol) of bromopyridine 23, 350 mg (2.30 mmol) CsF, and 138 mg (0.119 mmol) Pd(PPh₃)₄ in 6 mL DME was heated at reflux for 20 h. After cooling, the solution was diluted with water and extracted $3\times$ with Et₂O. The combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo. Purification by column chromatography (3:1 hexanes/EtOAc, R_f =0.09) yielded 233 mg (87%) of the title compound as a white crystalline solid, mp 71–73 °C. IR (CCl₄) 2994 (m), 2963 (m), 2932 (m), 2893 (m), 2835 (m), 1600 (m) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.07 (s, 3H), 3.09 (s, 3H), 3.43 (s, 3H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 4.02 (s, 3H), 4.52 (d, *J*=12.0 Hz, 1H), 4.56 (d, *J*=12.0 Hz, 1H), 4.80 (d, *J*=5.6 Hz, 1H), 5.08 (d, *J*=5.6 Hz, 1H), 6.69 (d, *J*=8.6 Hz, 1H), 6.76 (d, *J*=8.6 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 14.8, 54.7, 56.4, 57.1, 59.1, 61.4, 74.9, 99.4, 108.3, 120.5, 124.3, 126.8, 136.0, 142.5, 142.8, 148.5, 152.3, 154.3, 155.1. EIMS *m*/*z* 408 (46), 286 (100). HRMS for C₁₉H₂₄N₂O₈ calcd 408.2498, found 408.2484.

4.3.11. (4-Bromo-6-methoxy-3-methyl-5-nitropyridin-2-yl)methanol (25). A solution of 403 mg (1.38 mmol) of methyl ether 23 in 20 mL CH₂Cl₂ was cooled to 0 °C and 3.0 mL (3.0 mmol) of a 1.0 M solution of BCl₃ in CH₂Cl₂ was added dropwise. The resulting solution was stirred 16 h at room temperature and quenched with water. The phases were separated and the aqueous layer was extracted 2× with CH₂Cl₂. The combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo to give 383 mg (100%) of 25 as a white crystalline solid, mp 96–99 °C, which was used without further purification. IR (CCl₄) 3483 (br), 3026 (m), 2991 (m), 2949 (m), 2925 (m), 2898 (m) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.26 (s, 3H), 3.83 (t, *J*=4.6 Hz, 1H), 4.05 (s, 3H), 4.70 (d, *J*=4.6 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 16.0, 55.4, 62.8, 123.5, 128.9, 153.3, 155.9.

4.3.12. Methyl 4-bromo-6-methoxy-3-methyl-5-nitropyridine-2-carboxylate (26). To a suspension of 397 mg (1.43 mmol) of alcohol 25 and 64 mg (1.6 mmol) NaOH in 30 mL water was added 710 mg (4.49 mmol) KMnO₄ and the resulting mixture stirred at room temperature for 24 h. MeOH was added and the suspension stirred 30 min and filtered. The filtrate was acidified with 1 M HCl and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was dissolved in 20 mL MeOH and 4 mL H₂SO₄, and the solution heated at reflux for 16 h. The solution was diluted with water and basicified with K₂CO₃. The MeOH was removed in vacuo and the remaining aqueous solution was extracted $3 \times$ with EtOAc. The combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO4 and concentrated in vacuo to give 269 mg (62%) of 26 as a yellow crystalline solid, mp 90-93 °C, which was used without further purification. IR (CCl₄) 3029 (w), 3002 (w), 2951 (m), $2\bar{9}24$ (m), 2850 (w), 1740 (s) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR $(CDCl_3) \delta 2.48$ (s, 3H), 3.96 (s, 3H), 4.02 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 18.5, 53.5, 55.6, 127.6, 129.6, 147.0, 153.3, 165.7. EIMS m/z 306 (65), 304 (59), 274 (89), 272 (100), 246 (58), 244 (59). HRMS for C₉H₉BrN₂O₅ calcd 303.9695, found 303.9683.

4.3.13. Methyl 6-methoxy-4-(3,4-dimethoxy-2-(methoxymethoxy)phenyl)-3-methyl-5-nitropyridine-2-carboxylate (27). A solution of 682 mg (2.24 mmol) of ester 26, 1.20 g (4.96 mmol) boronic acid 17, 387 mg (0.335 mmol) Pd(PPh₃)₄, and 673 mg (4.43 mmol) CsF in 35 mL DME was heated at 75 °C for 24 h. After cooling, the solution was diluted with water and extracted $3\times$ with CH₂Cl₂. The combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo. Purification by column chromatography (4:1 hexanes/EtOAc, R_f =0.20) gave 646 mg (68%) of 27 as a white crystalline solid, mp 90–93 °C. IR (CCl₄) 3002 (m), 2948 (m), 2932 (m), 2897 (m), 2839 (m), 1740 (s) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.16 (s, 3H), 3.11 (s, 3H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 3.96 (s, 3H), 4.04 (s, 3H), 4.84 (d, *J*=5.6 Hz, 1H), 5.10 (d, *J*=5.6 Hz, 1H), 6.71 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 1H), 6.76 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 15.9, 53.2, 55.2, 56.5, 57.2, 61.4, 99.5, 108.4, 119.6, 124.2, 127.7, 137.6, 142.8, 143.6, 146.7, 148.5, 152.6, 155.5, 166.7. EIMS *m/z* 422 (100), 300 (32), 272 (36). HRMS for C₁₉H₂₂N₂O₉ calcd 422.1325, found, 422.1332.

4.3.14. Methyl 1.6-dihydro-4-(3.4-dimethoxy-2-(methoxymethoxy)phenyl)-3-methyl-5-nitro-6-oxopyridine-2-carboxylate (28). A solution of 81 mg (0.192 mmol) pyridine 27 and 0.12 mL (1.27 mmol) PBr₃ in 4 mL of DCE was heated at reflux for 12 h. After cooling, the reaction was quenched with water and the mixture was extracted $3 \times$ with CH₂Cl₂. The combined organic extracts were concentrated in vacuo, the residue was washed with Et₂O to obtain 63 mg (90%) of 28 as a white solid, mp 225-235 °C (decomp.), which was used without further purification. IR (CHCl₃) 3515 (br), 3344 (br), 2843 (w), 1750 (w) 1685 (s) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.18 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 3.92 (s, 3H), 3.98 (s, 3H), 6.02 (br s, 1H), 6.51 (d, J=8.8 Hz, 1H), 6.72 (d, J=8.8 Hz, 1H), 10.35 (br s). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 15.44, 54.1, 56.3, 61.6, 105.0, 111.6, 122.8, 123.6, 130.6, 135.9, 146.1, 146.4, 146.9, 153.7, 154.0, 161.5. FABMS m/z 365 (100). HRMS for C₁₆H₁₆N₂O₈ calcd 365.0985, found 365.0979.

4.3.15. 6-(Methoxycarbonyl)-4-(3,4-dimethoxy-2-(methoxymethoxy)phenyl)-5-methyl-3-nitropyridin-2-yl trifluoromethanesulfonate (29). A suspension of 63 mg (0.172 mmol) of pyridone **28** and 23 mg (0.188 mmol) DMAP in 4 mL CH₂Cl₂ was cooled to 0 °C and 35 µL (0.21 mmol) Tf₂O was added. The resulting solution was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred 12 h. The reaction was quenched with water and the mixture extracted $3 \times$ with CH₂Cl₂. The combined organic extracts were dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo. Recrystallization from hexanes/Et₂O gave 71 mg (83%) of 29 as a white crystalline solid, mp 163–165 °C. IR (CCl₄) 3515 (br), 3010, (w), 2955 (w), 2936 (w), 2839 (w), 1740 (m) cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.32 (s, 3H), 3.89 (s, 3H), 3.93 (s, 3H), 3.98 (s, 3H), 6.01 (br s, 1H), 6.55 (d, J =8.4 Hz, 1H), 6.72 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 16.6, 53.7, 56.4, 61.7, 105.1, 110.9, 123.9, 136.1, 137.8, 139.5, 143.4, 146.1, 147.1, 147.5, 154.3, 164.8. EIMS m/z 496 (98), 418 (52), 317 (100). HRMS for C₁₇H₁₅F₃N₂O₁₀S calcd 496.0400, found 496.0385.

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank the National Cancer Institute (CA-82169) and the University of Maryland for generous financial support of this program.

References and notes

- Metal-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Reactions; Diederich, F., Stang, P. J., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: New York, NY, 1998.
- 2. Stille, J. K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 508-523.
- 3. Miyaura, N.; Suzuki, A. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 2457-2483.

- Negishi, E. Palladium- or Nickel-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling with Organometals Containing Zinc, Magnesium, Aluminum, and Zirconium. In *Metal-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Reactions*; Diederich, F., Stang, P. J., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: New York, NY, 1998.
- 5. Hiyama, T.; Shirakawa, E. Top. Curr. Chem. 2002, 219, 61-85.
- 6. Mowery, M. E.; DeShong, P. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 2137-2140.
- Mowery, M. E.; DeShong, P. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 3266– 3270.
- Mowery, M. E.; DeShong, P. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 1684– 1688.
- DeShong, P.; Handy, C. J.; Mowery, M. E. Pure Appl. Chem. 2000, 72, 1655–1658.
- Seganish, W. M.; DeShong, P. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 1137– 1143.
- Handy, C. J.; Manoso, A. S.; McElroy, W. T.; Seganish, W. M.; DeShong, P. *Tetrahedron* **2005**, *61*, 12201–12225.
- Manoso, A. S.; DeShong, P. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 7449– 7455.
- Seganish, W. M.; DeShong, P. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 6790– 6795.
- Manoso, A. S.; Ahn, C.; Soheili, A.; Handy, C. J.; Correia, R.; Seganish, W. M.; DeShong, P. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 8305– 8314.
- 15. Rao, K. V.; Cullen, W. P. Antibiot. Annu. 1959-1960, 950-953.
- Harding, M. M.; Long, G. V. Curr. Med. Chem. 1997, 4, 405–420.
- 17. Tennant, S.; Rickards, R. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 15101-15114.
- Bringmann, G.; Reichert, Y.; Kane, V. *Tetrahedron* 2004, 60, 3539–3574.
- Kende, A. S.; Lorah, D. P.; Boatman, R. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 1271–1273.
- Weinreb, S. M.; Basha, F. Z.; Hibino, S.; Khatri, N. A.; Kim, D.; Pye, W. E.; Wu, T. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1982**, 104, 536–544.

- Boger, D. L.; Panek, J. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 5745– 5754.
- 22. Godard, A.; Rovera, J. C.; Marsais, F.; Plé, N.; Quéguiner, G. *Tetrahedron* **1992**, *48*, 4123–4134.
- Godard, A.; Rocca, P.; Fourquez, J. M.; Rovera, J. C.; Marsais,
 F.; Quéguiner, G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 7919–7922.
- Godard, A.; Fourquez, J. M.; Tamion, R.; Marsais, F.; Quéguiner, G. Synlett 1994, 235–236.
- Godard, A.; Rocca, P.; Pomel, V.; Thomas-dit-Dumont, L.; Rovera, J.; Thaburet, J.; Marsais, F.; Quéguiner, G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 517, 25–36.
- Pomel, V.; Rovera, J.; Godard, A.; Marsais, F.; Quéguiner, G. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1996, 33, 1995–2005.
- 27. Holzapfel, C.; Dwyer, C. Heterocycles 1998, 48, 215-219.
- 28. Crous, R.; Dwyer, C.; Holzapfel, C. Heterocycles 1999, 51, 721–726.
- Kimber, M.; Anderberg, P.; Harding, M. *Tetrahedron* 2000, 56, 3575–3581.
- Harding, M.; Anderberg, P. J. Inorg. Biochem. 2001, 86, 250.
- 31. McElroy, W. T.; DeShong, P. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 4779-4782.
- Mittelbach, M.; Schmidt, H. W.; Urau, G.; Junek, H.; Lamm, B.; Ankner, K.; Brandstrom, A.; Simonsson, R. Acta Chem. Scand. B 1988, 42, 524–529.
- Seeman, J. I.; Secor, H. V.; Chavdarian, C. G.; Sanders, E. B.; Bassfield, R. L.; Whidby, J. F. *J. Org. Chem.* **1981**, *46*, 3040– 3048.
- Handy, C. J. Doctoral Dissertation, University of Maryland, College Park, MD, 2002.
- Wright, S. W.; Hageman, D. L.; McClure, L. D. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 6095–6097.
- 36. Roy, A.; Reddy, K. R.; Mohanta, P. K.; Ila, H.; Junjappa, H. Synth. Commun. 1999, 29, 3781–3791.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6955-6960

Tetrahedron

Reaction of iodoarenes with potassium peroxodisulfate/ trifluoroacetic acid in the presence of aromatics. Direct preparation of diaryliodonium triflates from iodoarenes

Md. Delwar Hossain and Tsugio Kitamura*

Department of Chemistry and Applied Chemistry, Faculty of Science and Engineering, Saga University, Honjo-machi, Saga 840-8502, Japan

> Received 1 April 2006; accepted 24 April 2006 Available online 12 May 2006

Abstract—Diaryliodonium triflates have been directly prepared by reaction of some iodoarenes with aromatic substrates in good yields by using $K_2S_2O_8/CF_3COOH/CH_2Cl_2$. Treatment of a variety of iodoarenes with iodobenzene under the same conditions resulted in ligand transfer, and (4-iodophenyl)(phenyl)iodonium triflate was obtained. This procedure avoids the use of high temperature and severe reaction conditions.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The recent demand for highly efficient and environmentally benign syntheses of fine chemicals and pharmaceuticals has encouraged the development of mild, safe, and highly chemoselective oxidizers. Hypervalent iodine reagents have been widely used as green oxidants in organic synthesis due to their low toxicity, ready availability, easy handling, high efficiency, stability to air and moisture, and as an economical alternative to heavy metal reagents such as lead(IV), thallium(III), and mercury(II). Recently, extensive studies on hypervalent iodine compounds such as (diacetoxyiodo)arenes, [bis(trifluoroacetoxy)iodo]arenes, [hydroxy(tosyloxy)iodo]arenes, diaryliodonium salts, etc., have been carried out and their use for organic synthesis has been reported.^{1,2} Especially, symmetric and unsymmetrical diaryliodonium salts represent an important class of aromatic iodine(III) derivatives. They are used in organic synthesis mostly as arylating reagents for a large variety of organic and inorganic nucleophiles² and, have been applied to the photochemical polymerization process ³ and to chemical amplification in imaging systems.⁴ In addition, some of the diaryliodonium salts have also shown biological activity.⁵ Diaryliodonium salts are generally solid compounds, mostly stable towards heat, oxygen, and humidity; they are mildly light-sensitive and should be stored in

the dark, without refrigeration. Many methods have been described for the preparation of diaryliodonium salts,⁶ but very few of these involve the synthesis of diaryliodonium triflate salts. The methods used so far are generally as follows:

- (a) One-pot preparation of diaryliodonium triflates through the in situ preparation of a reactive hypervalent iodine(III) reagent from iodosylbenzene and triflic acid and its reaction with aromatic substrates.⁷
- (b) A convenient synthesis of diaryliodonium triflates via the reaction of (diacetoxy)iodobenzene, triflic acid with aromatic substrates.⁸
- (c) A direct synthesis of diaryliodonium triflates by the reaction of iodosyl triflate with the trimethylsilyl derivatives of aromatic compounds.⁹
- (d) Synthesis of unsymmetrical diaryliodonium triflates by the treatment of β -(trifyloxy)vinyl iodonium triflates with aryl lithium reagents.¹⁰
- (e) A generalized synthesis of unsymmetrical functionalized diaryliodonium triflates through the direct reaction of bis(acetoxy)iodoarenes with arenes in a triflic acid or trifluoroacetic acid medium.¹¹

Activated aromatic compounds reacted completely with the reagent [PhIO/TfOH] within an hour; weakly deactivated aromatics needed prolonged reaction time to produce reasonable yields of the diaryliodonium triflates.⁷ Strongly deactivated aromatics such as nitrobenzene and benzonitrile did not give the corresponding diaryliodonium triflates. However, the reagent [PhIO/TfOH] also gives (*para*-phenyl-ene)bis(aryliodonium)ditriflates as byproducts. Interaction

Keywords: Diaryliodonium triflates; Iodoarenes; Potassium peroxodisulfate; Trifluoroacetic acid.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +81 952 28 88550; fax: +81 952 28 8548; e-mail: kitamura@cc.saga-u.ac.jp

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.073

of most aromatic substrates with [PhI(OAc)2/TfOH] employed in the present work gave high yields in the 0.5-1 h reaction at room temperature.⁸ It is noteworthy that halogenated benzenes require prolonged reaction time (24 h). However, this reagent also was not effective for strongly deactivated aromatics such as nitrobenzene and benzonitrile. The generality of the O=IOTf/ArSiMe₃/CH₂Cl₂ procedure is indicated by the preparation of various aromatic iodonium triflate salts bearing methyl, halogen, and other substituents in the aromatic ring.9 However, the reaction has limited applicability in case of easily oxidizable aromatic substrates such as hydroxy, methoxy, and amino derivatives. The reaction of β -(trifvloxy)vinvl iodonium triflates with arvl lithium reagents affords unsymmetrical diaryliodonium triflates in good yields, which include synthetically difficult orthoand *meta*-substituted aryliodonium triflates.¹⁰ Reaction of 2 equiv of triflic acid or trifluoroacetic acid with bis(acetoxy)iodoarenes gave an intermediate complex, [ArI(OAc)₂/ CF₃SO₃H] or [ArI(OAc)₂/CF₃CO₂H]. These activated complexes were not isolated but were treated in situ with substituted benzene at low temperature (-30 to 0 °C).¹¹

Considering the useful properties of salts and other derivatives of triffic acid,¹² the development of a simple and an efficient procedure for the preparation of diaryliodonium triflates is a desirable goal. We have previously reported¹³ an easy preparation of [bis(trifluoroacetoxy)iodo]arenes and $ArI(OCOCF_3)_2$, from the respective iodoarenes in CF₃COOH, using commercial potassium peroxodisulfate, K₂S₂O₈, as the oxidant at 36–38 °C for 20 h. After recrystallization, we obtained the purified products in 36–87% yields. Iodoarenes bearing strong electron-withdrawing groups at the meta and para positions gave $ArI(OCOCF_3)_2$ in good yields. ArI(OCOCF₃)₂ is a relatively reactive reagent and can undergo arylation to give diaryliodonium salts. Therefore, it was expected that the reaction of iodoarenes with K₂S₂O₈/CF₃COOH in the presence of appropriate arenes would give diaryliodonium salts. This preliminary work opened a new way to develop the title method. Herein we wish to report a direct and an effective method for the preparation of diaryliodonium triflates from iodoarenes, which can be used as a strong acid generator.¹⁴

2. Results and discussion

A simple, easy, and an efficient method for the direct preparation of diaryliodonium triflates, $Ar_2I^+OTf^-$ from iodoarenes was examined. At first, diaryliodonium trifluoro-acetoxylates $Ar_2I^+(OCOCF_3)^-$ were prepared by the reaction of iodoarenes, CF_3COOH , and commercial potassium peroxo-disulfate, $K_2S_2O_8$, as the oxidant with aromatic substrates at 36-38 °C. $K_2S_2O_8$ is used as a strong oxidizing agent in many applications. It has the particular advantage of being almost non-hygroscopic, has particularly good storage stability, and is easy and safe to handle. CH_2Cl_2 was added for dissolving iodoarenes completely. Next, interaction of $Ar_2I^+(OCOCF_3)^-$ with sodium triflate, NaOTf, solution provided the corresponding diaryliodonium triflates at room temperature in fairly good yields. The results are given in Table 1.

The presence of $K_2S_2O_8$ (in stoichiometric quantities) in the reaction mixture was indispensable because without its

Table 1. Preparation of diaryliodonium triflates from iodoarenes^a

Entry	Iodoarene	Arene	Yield (%)	
1	PhI	PhH	78	
2	4-BrC ₆ H ₄ I	PhH	72	
3	4-ClC ₆ H ₄ I	PhH	71	
4	4-FC ₆ H ₄ I	PhH	73	
5	$4-NO_2C_6H_4I^b$	PhH	67	
6	3-CF ₃ C ₆ H ₄ I	PhH	70	
7	PhI	^t BuPh	69	
8	4-BrC ₆ H ₄ I	^t BuPh	72	
9	4-ClC ₆ H ₄ I	^t BuPh	68	
10	4-FC ₆ H ₄ I	^t BuPh	72	
11	4-NO ₂ C ₆ H ₄ I	^t BuPh	70	
12	3-NO ₂ C ₆ H ₄ I	^t BuPh	58	
13	3-CF ₃ C ₆ H ₄ I	^t BuPh	67	

^a The reaction of an iodoarene (1 mmol) was carried out in ArH (3 mmol), CF₃COOH (9 mL), and CH₂Cl₂ (2 mL) in the presence of $K_2S_2O_8$ (4 mmol) at 36–38 °C for 20 h. After workup, the NaOTf solution was treated at room temperature for 8 h.

^b Benzene (3 mmol) was added after 20 h reaction and the reaction was continued for another 8 h.

addition the oxidation reactions did not proceed. When $K_2S_2O_8$ was replaced for sodium peroxodisulfate, Na₂S₂O₈, the starting material was recovered. Deactivated aromatic iodides employed in the present work gave good vields together with the complete absence of effluent or byproduct problems. The essence of our novel method is described in Scheme 1. It is noteworthy that weakly deactivated aromatic substrates such as chlorobenzene and bromobenzene and an activated aromatic compound such as toluene resulted in low yields (20-25%) due to their lower reactivity. This method was not applicable for iodoarenes with strong electron-donating groups and for aromatic substrates with strong electron-donating groups. For example, iodoanisoles, iodonaphthalene, anisoles, naphthalene, etc., were quickly oxidized in the reaction mixtures, but the reaction resulted in decomposition and the formation of tarry products.

Ar¹I + Ar²H + CF₃COOH
$$\xrightarrow{K_2S_2O_8, CH_2Cl_2}$$
 [Ar¹(Ar²)I⁺⁻OCOCF₃]
 \xrightarrow{NaOTf} Ar¹(Ar²)I⁺OTf⁻

 $\label{eq:action} \begin{array}{l} Ar^1 = Ph, \, 4\text{-}BrC_6H_4, \, 4\text{-}ClC_6H_4, \, 4\text{-}FC_6H_4, \, 3\text{-}NO_2C_6H_4, \, 4\text{-}NO_2C_6H_4, \, 3\text{-}CF_3C_6H_4 \\ Ar^2 = Ph, \, {}^tBuC_6H_4 \end{array}$

Scheme 1.

In the reaction of iodoarenes with aromatic substrates, the aromatic substrate was replaced by iodobenzene. Surprisingly, the reaction of 1-chloro-4-iodobenzene, 1-fluoro-4-iodobenzene, and 1-iodo-4-nitrobenzene gave (4-iodophenyl)-(phenyl)iodonium triflate, the same product as from the reaction of iodobenzene. As we reported the formation of [bis(trifluoroacetoxy)iodoarenes in the reaction of iodoarenes with $K_2S_2O_8/TFA$,¹³ it was considered that [bis(trifluoroacetoxy)iodo]arenes were formed in situ and then underwent ligand transfer reactions with iodobenzene to form [bis(trifluoroacetoxy)iodo]benzene. This [bis(trifluoroacetoxy)iodo]benzene reacted with excess iodobenzene to give (4-iodophenyl)(phenyl)iodonium trifluoroacetate, which was treated with the NaOTf solution to yield (4-iodophenyl)(phenyl)iodonium triflate (Scheme 2). Preliminarily,



Scheme 2.

Table 2. Formation of (4-iodophenyl)(phenyl)iodonium triflate from iodoarenes^a

Entry	Iodoarene	Time (h)	Yield (%)
1	PhI	28	80
2	4-ClC ₆ H ₄ I	20	71
3	4-FC ₆ H ₄ I	20	73
4	$4-NO_2C_6H_4I$	28	68

^a The reaction of an iodoarene (1 mmol) was carried out in CF₃COOH (9 mL) and CH₂Cl₂ (2 mL) in the presence of $K_2S_2O_8$ (4 mmol) at 36–38 °C for 20 h. PhI (3 mmol) was added after 20 h and the reaction was continued for another 8 h. After workup, the NaOTf solution was treated at room temperature for 8 h.

we conducted the reaction of 1-[bis(trifluoroacetoxy)iodo]-4-chlorobenzene with iodobenzene in TFA in order to confirm the ligand transfer reaction. We observed the formation of [bis(trifluoroacetoxy)iodo]benzene in the reaction at 36– 38 °C for 12 h. Similar-type ligand transfer reactions were observed in the reaction of hydroxy(tosyloxyiodo)benzene with iodoarenes.¹⁵ The results are given in Table 2. The purity of the purified products, diaryliodonium triflates, $Ar_2I^+OTf^-$ was checked by melting points, ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra, and elemental analysis.

3. Conclusion

We have found a new (or considerably) improved method for the direct preparation of diaryliodonium triflates, which is easy and cheap. The new method gives diaryliodonium triflates in good yields by the reaction of iodoarenes with $K_2S_2O_8$, CF₃COOH, CH₂Cl₂, and aromatic substrates at 36–38 °C. In the case of an aromatic substrate, iodobenzene, ligand transfer reaction occurred with iodoarenes. Because of its simplicity and convenience we are sure that the present method will continue to attract significant research activity.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

Melting points were determined with a Yanaco micro-melting point apparatus and are uncorrected. ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a JEOL JNM-AL300 spectrometer and the chemical shifts were expressed in parts per million downfield from tetramethylsilane. Elemental analysis was conducted by the Service Center of the Elemental Analysis of Organic Compounds, Faculty of Science, Kyushu University.

4.2. Optimized procedure for preparing diaryliodonium triflates from iodoarenes

A solution of an appropriate iodoarene (1 mmol) in a mixture of an arene (3 mmol), CF₃COOH (9 mL) and CH₂Cl₂ (2 mL) was heated with stirring to 36–38 °C. Next, potassium peroxodisulfate (4 mmol) was added portionwise during 10 min and the stirring was continued until TLC analysis indicated completion of reaction. Reaction time needed 20 h. After completion of the reaction, water (10 mL) was added. The precipitates were collected by filtration under reduced pressure, washed with CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL), and discarded. The crude product was obtained by extraction of the filtrate with dichloromethane $(3 \times 10 \text{ mL})$ followed by drying (anhydrous Na₂SO₄), filtration, and removal of the solvent by evaporation under reduced pressure. The crude product was treated with a NaOTf (10 mL) solution at room temperature for 8 h. The NaOTf solution was prepared by mixing with NaHCO₃ (1.0 g), H₂O (10 mL) and TfOH (1.5 mL). The precipitates were collected by filtration under reduced pressure, washed with H₂O (10 mL), and dried in vacuo. Another crop was obtained by extraction of the filtrate with dichloromethane $(3 \times 10 \text{ mL})$ followed by drying (anhydrous Na₂SO₄), filtration, and removal of the solvent by evaporation under reduced pressure. The combined crude product was washed with hexane (10 mL), Et_2O (10 mL), and dried in vacuo. Further purification was conducted by repeating crystallization from CH_2Cl_2 /hexane.

4.2.1. Diphenyliodonium triflate. 0.336 g (78%); mp 176–177 °C (lit.¹⁴ mp 178–180 °C); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 8.17 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 4H, ArH), 7.69 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.50 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 4H, ArH); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 136.42, 133.62, 133.15, 121.80 (q, *J*_{CF}=317.7 Hz, SO₂*C*F₃), 115.89.

4.2.2. (**4-Bromophenyl**)(**phenyl**)**iodonium triflate.** 0.365 g (72%); mp 131–132 °C (lit.⁸ mp 129–136 °C); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 8.20 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 8.09 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.65–7.71 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.53 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 138.08, 136.48, 136.19, 133.76, 133.21, 128.53, 121.77 (q, *J*_{CF}=317.7 Hz, SO₂CF₃), 116.17, 114.13.

4.2.3. (4-Chlorophenyl)(phenyl)iodonium triflate. 0.331 g (71%); mp 108–110 °C (lit.⁷ mp 110–111 °C); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.03 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.98 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.50 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.40 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.34 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 139.27, 136.73, 135.38, 132.43, 132.13, 132.07, 120.04 (q, *J*_{CF}=317.7 Hz, SO₂CF₃), 114.12, 110.86.

4.2.4. (4-Fluorophenyl)(phenyl)iodonium triflate.¹⁶ 0.329 g (73%); mp 133–134 °C; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 8.25–8.16 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.69 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.53 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.29 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 166.42 (d, *J*_{CF}=252.2 Hz, CF), 139.32 (d, *J*_{CF}=8.7 Hz, CCCF), 136.36, 133.73, 133.21, 121.80 (q, *J*_{CF}=315.8 Hz, SO₂CF₃), 120.54 (d, *J*_{CF}=23.5 Hz, CCF), 116.39, 109.76.

4.2.5. (4-Nitrophenyl)(phenyl)iodonium triflate. 0.316 g (67%); mp 189–190 °C; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 8.43 (d, *J*=9 Hz, 2H, ArH), 8.30 (d, *J*=9 Hz, 2H, ArH), 8.27 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.73 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.57 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 151.47, 137.67, 136.86, 134.07, 133.42, 127.45, 121.77 (q, *J*_{CF}=316.5 Hz, SO₂CF₃), 121.56, 116.18. Found: C, 32.91; H, 1.90; N, 2.98%. Calcd for C₁₃H₉O₅NIF₃S: C, 32.85; H, 1.89; N, 2.95%.

4.2.6. (3-Trifluoromethylphenyl)(phenyl)iodonium triflate. 0.351 g (70%); mp 107–108 °C; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 8.59 (s, 1H, ArH), 8.45 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 8.25 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.99 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.72 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.56 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 140.10, 136.68, 134.46 (q, *J*_{CF}=33.4 Hz, *C*CF₃), 133.94, 133.80, 133.30, 133.08 (q, *J*_{CF}=3.7 Hz, *C*CCF₃), 130.29 (q, *J*_{CF}=3.7 Hz, *C*CCF₃), 124.13 (q, *J*_{CF}=270.2 Hz, CCF₃), 121.77 (q, *J*_{CF}=316.5 Hz, SO₂CF₃), 116.31, 116.05. Found: C, 33.77; H, 1.77%. Calcd for C₁₄H₉O₃IF₆S: C, 33.74; H, 1.81%.

4.2.7. (4-*tert*-Butylphenyl)(phenyl)iodonium triflate. 0.344 g (69%); mp 162–163 °C (lit.⁸ mp 163–165 °C); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 8.17 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 8.09 (d, J=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.66 (t, J=7 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.58–7.49 (m, 4H, ArH), 1.30 (s, 9H, Me); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 157.77, 136.34, 136.25, 133.53, 133.09, 130.48, 121.75 (q, J_{CF}=315.9 Hz, SO₂CF₃), 115.97, 112.39, 36.08, 31.30.

4.2.8. (4-Bromophenyl)(4-*tert*-butylphenyl)iodonium triflate. 0.416 g (72%); mp 199–200 °C; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 8.11 (d, *J*=9 Hz, 2H, ArH), 8.07 (d, *J*=9 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.65 (d, *J*=9 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.58 (d, *J*=9 Hz, 2H, ArH), 1.31 (s, 9H, Me); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 157.97, 137.99, 136.30, 136.15, 130.57, 128.45, 121.78 (q, *J*_{CF}=316.5 Hz, SO₂CF₃), 114.18, 112.64, 36.10, 31.30. Found: C, 36.15; H, 3.02%. Calcd for C₁₇H₁₇O₃IBrF₃S: C, 36.12; H, 3.01%.

4.2.9. (4-*tert*-Butylphenyl)(4-chlorophenyl)iodonium triflate. 0.372 g (68%); mp 178–179 °C; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 8.13 (d, *J*=9 Hz, 2H, ArH), 8.08 (d, *J*=9 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.58 (d, *J*=9 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.53 (d, *J*=9 Hz, 2H, ArH), 1.31 (s, 9H, Me); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 157.89, 140.15, 137.96, 136.30, 133.11, 130.53, 121.76 (q, *J*_{CF}=316.4 Hz, SO₂CF₃), 113.36, 112.69, 36.06, 31.29. Found: C, 39.22; H, 3.26%. Calcd for C₁₇H₁₇O₃IClF₃S: C, 39.20; H, 3.27%.

4.2.10. (4-*tert*-Butylphenyl)(4-fluorophenyl)iodonium triflate. 0.371 g (72%); mp 137–138 °C; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 8.23 (dd, *J*=5, 8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 8.10 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.58 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.29 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 1.31 (s, 9H, Me); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 166.33 (d, *J*_{CF}=252.2 Hz, *C*F), 157.90, 139.25 (d, *J*_{CF}=9.3 Hz, CCCF), 136.18, 130.53, 121.79 (q, *J*_{CF}=315.8 Hz, SO₂CF₃), 120.46 (d, *J*_{CF}=22.9 Hz, *C*CF), 112.88, 109.81, 36.11, 31.31. Found: C, 40.50; H, 3.34%. Calcd for C₁₇H₁₇O₃IF₄S: C, 40.48; H, 3.37%.

4.2.11. (4-*tert*-Butylphenyl)(4-nitrophenyl)iodonium triflate. 0.375 g (70%); mp 151–152 °C; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 8.42 (d, *J*=9.0 Hz, 2H, ArH), 8.30 (d, *J*=9.0 Hz, 2H, ArH), 8.17 (d, *J*=9.0 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.61 (d, *J*=9.0 Hz, 2H, ArH), 1.31 (s, 9H, Me); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 158.32, 151.42, 137.56, 136.66, 130.76, 127.43, 121.76 (q, *J*_{CF}=316.42 Hz, SO₂CF₃), 121.65, 112.65, 36.16, 31.29.

4.2.12. (4-*tert*-Butylphenyl)(3-nitrophenyl)iodonium triflate. 0.335 g (58%); mp 159–160 °C; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 9.08 (t, *J*=2 Hz, 1H, ArH), 8.53 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 8.49 (dd, *J*=2, 8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 8.18 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.78 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.61 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 1.31 (s, 9H, Me); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 158.37, 150.40, 141.83, 136.58, 133.95, 131.02, 130.76, 128.09, 121.78 (q, *J*_{CF}=316.5 Hz, SO₂CF₃), 115.63, 112.86, 36.19, 31.30. Found: C, 38.53; H, 3.26; N, 2.64%. Calcd for C₁₇H₁₇O₅F₃NIS: C, 38.43; H, 3.20; N, 2.64%.

4.2.13. (4-*tert*-Butylphenyl)(3-trifluoromethylphenyl)iodonium triflate. 0.375 g (67%); mp 162–163 °C; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 8.57 (s, 1H, ArH), 8.42 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 8.15 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.99 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.73 (t, J=8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.60 (d, J=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 1.32 (s, 9H, Me); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 158.26, 139.99, 136.46, 134.47 (q, $J_{CF}=33.4$ Hz, CCF_3), 133.81, 133.01 (q, $J_{CF}=4.4$ Hz, $CCCF_3$), 130.69, 130.29 (q, $J_{CF}=3.1$ Hz, $CCCF_3$), 124.19 (q, $J_{CF}=270.2$ Hz, CCF_3), 121.79 (q, $J_{CF}=316.5$ Hz, SO₂CF₃), 116.12, 112.77, 36.18, 31.30. Found: C, 39.03; H, 3.07%. Calcd for C₁₈H₁₇O₃IF₆S: C, 39.00; H, 3.07%.

4.2.14. (4-Iodophenyl)(phenyl)iodonium triflate. 0.476 g (80%); mp 138–140 °C (lit.⁷ mp 144–148 °C); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 8.17 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.91–7.85 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.69 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.53 (t, *J*=8 Hz, 2H, ArH); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD) δ 142.23, 137.75, 136.45, 133.73, 133.20, 121.73 (q, *J*_{CF}=316.4 Hz, SO₂CF₃), 116.04, 115.12, 100.59.

References and notes

1. Reviews on organohypervalent iodine compounds and their applications in organic synthesis: (a) Varvoglis, A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1981, 10, 377-407; (b) Merkushev, E. B. Usp. Khim. 1987, 56, 1444-1479; Chem. Abstr. 1988, 108, 204265; (c) Kirschning, A. J. Prakt. Chem./Chem.-Ztg. 1998, 340, 184-186; (d) Pohnert, G. J. Prakt. Chem. 2000, 342, 731-734; (e) Tohma, H. Yakugaku Zasshi 2000, 120, 620-629; Chem. Abstr. 2000, 133, 222460; (f) Arisawa, M.; Toma, H.; Kita, Y. Yakugaku Zasshi 2000, 120, 1061-1073; Chem. Abstr. 2001, 134, 29586; (g) Varvoglis, A. The Organic Chemistry of Polycoordinated Iodine; VCH: Weinheim, 1992; (h) Stang, P. J.; Zhdankin, V. V. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 1123-1178; (i) Varvoglis, A. Hypervalent Iodine in Organic Synthesis; Academic: San Diego, CA, 1997; (j) Kitamura, T.; Fujiwara, Y. Org. Prep. Proced. Int. 1997, 29, 409-458; (k) Varvoglis, A. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 1179-1255; (1) Muraki, T.; Togo, H.; Yokoyama, M. Rev. Heteroat. Chem. 1997, 17, 213-243; (m) Togo, H.; Hoshina, Y.; Nogami, G.; Yokoyama, M. Yuki Gosei Kagaku Kyokaishi 1997, 55, 90–98; Chem. Abstr. 1997, 126, 156952; (n) Moriarty, R. M.; Prakash, O. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 1998, 69, 1-87; (o) Kirschning, A. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 11, 2267-2274; (p) Zhdankin, V. V.; Stang, P. J. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 10927-10966; (q) Varvoglis, A.; Spyroudis, S. Synlett 1998, 221-232; (r) Ochiai, M. Kikan Kagaku Sosetsu 1998, 34, 181–193; Chem. Abstr. 1998, 129, 216196; (s) Ochiai, M. Farumashia 1999, 35, 140-144; Chem. Abstr. 1999, 130, 153211; (t) Kita, Y.; Egi, M.; Takada, T.; Thoma, H. Synthesis 1999, 885-897; (u) Wirth, T.; Hirt, V. H. Synthesis 1999, 1271-1287; (v) Chemistry of Hypervalent Compounds; Akiba, K., Ed.; VCH: New York, NY, 1999; pp 359-387; (w) Grushin, V. V. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2000, 29, 315-324; (x) Ochiai, M.; Kitagawa, Y. Yuki Gosei Kagaku Kyokaishi 2000, 58, 1048-1056; Chem. Abstr. 2000, 133, 362660; (y) Mamaeva, E. A.; Bakibaev, A. A. Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Tekhnol. 2000, 43, 53-64; Chem. Abstr. 2000, 133, 266754; (z) Zhdankin, V. V.; Stang, P. J. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 2523-2584; (aa) Thoma, H.; Kita, Y. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2004, 346, 111-124; (bb) Thoma, H.; Kita, Y. Yuki Gosei Kagaku Kyokaishi 2004, 62, 116-127; (cc) Hypervalent Iodine Chemistry; Wirth, T., Ed.; Top. Curr. Chem.; Springer: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2003; Vol. 224; (dd) Togo, H.; Sakuratani, K. Synlett 2002, 1966-1975; (ee) Wirth, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 2812–2814;
(ff) Chaudhari, S. S. Synlett 2000, 278; (gg) Ochiai, M. Rev. Heteroat. Chem. 1989, 2, 92–111; (hh) Moriarty, R. M.; Vaid, R. K.; Koser, G. F. Synlett 1990, 365–383; (ii) Moriarty, R. M.; Vaid, R. K. Synthesis 1990, 431–447; (jj) Stang, P. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 274–285; (kk) Prakash, O.; Sainai, N.; Sharma, P. K. Synlett 1994, 221–227;
(II) Umemoto, T. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 1757–1777; (mm) Kita, Y.; Takada, T.; Toma, H. Pure Appl. Chem. 1996, 68, 627–630; (nn) Zhdankin, V. V. Rev. Heteroat. Chem. 1997, 17, 133–151; (oo) Togo, H.; Katohgi, M. Synlett 2001, 565–581.

- 2. (a) Chen, D.-J.; Chen, Z.-C. Synlett 2000, 1175-1177; (b) Wang, L.; Chen, Z.-C. Synth. Commun. 2000, 30, 3607-3612; (c) Radhakrishnan, U.; Stang, P. J. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 859-860; (d) Crivello, J. V.; Bulut, U. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 2005, 88, 290-296; (e) Zhang, B.-X.; Nuka, T.; Fujiwara, Y.; Yamaji, T.; Hou, Z.; Kitamura, T. Heterocycles 2004, 64, 199-206; (f) Zhou, T.; Chen, Z.-C. Synth. Commun. 2002, 32, 887-891; (g) Wang, L.; Chen, Z.-C. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 2000, 372-373; (h) Zhou, T.: Chen, Z.-C. Synth. Commun. 2002, 32, 903-907; (i) Makioka, Y.; Fujiwara, Y.; Kitamura, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 2002, 611, 509-513; (j) Wang, F.-Y.; Chen, Z.-C.; Zheng, Q.-G. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 2003, 810-811; (k) Davydov, D. V.; Beletskaya, I. P.; Leninsky, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 6217-6219; (1) Kang, S.-K.: Yamaguchi, T.: Ho, P.-S.: Kim, W.-Y.; Ryu, H.-C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 841-842; (m) Hou, R.-S.; Wang, H.-M.; Lin, Y.-C.; Chen, L.-C. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. 2005, 52, 1029-1032; (n) Zhou, T.; Chen, Z.-C. Heteroat. Chem. 2002, 13, 617-619; (o) Wang, L.; Chen, Z.-C.; Zheng, Q.-G. Chin. J. Chem. 2002, 20, 1457-1459; (p) Zhou, T.; Chen, Z.-C. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 2001, 235-237.
- (a) Crivello, J. V. Adv. Polym. Sci. 1984, 62, 1–48; (b) Pappas,
 S. P. Prog. Org. Coat. 1985, 13, 35–64; (c) Yagci, Y.;
 Schnabel, W. Makromol. Chem., Macromol. Symp. 1988, 13/ 14, 161–174; (d) Wilson, C. G.; Bowden, M. J. CHEMTECH 1989, 19, 182–189.
- 4. Ito, H.; Ueda, M. J. Photopolym. Sci. Technol. 1989, 2, 1-10.
- Koser, G. F. *The Chemistry of Functional Groups, Supplement* D; Patai, S., Rappoport, Z., Eds.; Wiley: New York, NY, 1983, Chapter 25.
- 6. (a) Zefirov, N. S.; Kasumov, T. M.; Koz'min, A. S.; Sorokin, V. D.; Stang, P. J.; Zhadankin, V. V. Synthesis 1993, 1209-1210; (b) Beringer, F. M.; Dresler, M.; Gindler, E. M.; Lumpkin, C. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1953, 75, 2705-2708; (c) Beringer, F. M.; Falk, R. A.; Karniol, M.; Lillien, I.; Masullo, G.; Mausner, M.; Sommer, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1959, 81, 342-351; (d) Beringer, F. M.; Chang, L. L. J. Org. Chem. 1972, 37, 1516–1519; (e) Tyrra, W.; Butler, H.; Naumann, D. J. Fluorine Chem. 1993, 60, 79-83; (f) Beringer, F. M.; Dehn, J. W.; Winicov, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1960, 82, 2948-2952; (g) Schmeisser, M.; Dahmen, K.; Sartori, P. Chem. Ber. 1970, 103, 307-311; (h) Stang, P. J.; Tykwinski, R.; Zhdankin, V. V. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1992, 29, 815-818; (i) Beringer, F. M.; Lillien, I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1960, 82, 725-731; (j) Kasumov, T. M.; Brel, V. K.; Kozmin, A. S.; Zefirov, N. S. Synthesis 1995, 775–776.
- Kitamura, T.; Matsuyuki, J.; Nagata, K.; Furuki, R.; Taniguchi, H. Synthesis 1992, 945–946.
- Kitamura, T.; Matsuyuki, J.; Taniguchi, H. Synthesis 1994, 147–148.

- Stang, P. J.; Zhdankin, V. V.; Tykwinski, R.; Zefirov, N. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1991, 32, 7497–7498.
- Kitamura, T.; Kotani, M.; Fujiwara, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1996, 37, 3721–3722.
- 11. Shah, A.; Pike, V. W.; Widdowson, D. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1997, 2463–2465.
- For reviews see: (a) Huang, W.-Y.; Chen, Q.-Y. *The Chemistry* of Sulfonic Acids, Esters and Their Derivatives; Patai, S., Rappoport, Z., Eds.; Wiley-Interscience: Chichester, UK, 1991, Chapter 21; (b) Stang, P. J.; White, M. R. Aldrichimica

Acta **1983**, *16*, 15–22; (c) Howells, R. D.; Mc Cown, J. D. *Chem. Rev.* **1977**, *77*, 69–92; (d) Stang, P. J.; Hanack, M.; Subramanian, L. R. *Synthesis* **1982**, 85–126.

- 13. Hossain, M. D.; Kitamura, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2006, 79, 142–144.
- 14. Dektar, J. L.; Hacker, N. P. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 639-647.
- Koser, G. F.; Wettach, R. H. J. Org. Chem. 1980, 45, 1542– 1543.
- Shah, A.; Pike, V. W.; Widdowson, D. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 2043–2046.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6961-6966

Tetrahedron

An efficient synthesis of the phytoestrogen 8-prenylnaringenin from xanthohumol by a novel demethylation process

Heike Wilhelm and Ludger A. Wessjohann*

Department of Bio-organic Chemistry, Leibniz Institute of Plant Biochemistry, Weinberg 3, D-06120 Halle (Saale), Germany

Received 22 March 2006; accepted 21 April 2006 Available online 30 May 2006

Abstract—8-Prenylnaringenin, a flavonoid, is the strongest known phytoestrogen (plant derived estrogen mimic) used in phytomedicinal applications. Starting from xanthohumol a byproduct of hops-extraction, 8-prenylnaringenin can be synthesized via isoxanthohumol. Of various demethylation procedures tested, the best yield (92%) is obtained by treatment with scandium trifluoromethanesulfonate and potassium iodide without any need of protection. The demethylation with AlBr₃/collidine and of the TIPS protected isoxanthohumol provides good results too. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Phytoestrogens are plant derived compounds with mild estrogenic activity and-compared to steroidal estrogens-often with improved pharmacokinetics and customer acceptance. They are used in treatment for menopause and other, mostly female, health problems. Most phytoestrogens are (iso-)flavonoids, e.g., genestein. The strongest one known is 8-prenylnaringenin, which naturally occurs in minor amounts in different Wyethia species1 and hops.2 The female inflorescences of the hop plant (Humulus lupulus) are used in the brewing industry as a flavoring and preservation agent, and for dietary preparations. Its principal prenylchalkone is xanthohumol (XAN, 1) together with minor amounts of desmethylxanthohumol (3) and other prenylchalkones.^{3,4} Both chalkones undergo thermal isomerization in the brew kettle (Scheme 1) to give the isomeric isoxanthohumol (IX, 2), 8-prenylnaringenin (8-PN, 4), and mostly 6-prenylnaringenin (6-PN, 5). Of these compounds, only 4 possesses potent phytoestrogenic properties,⁵⁻⁹ and recently has become of increasing commercial importance.

The first synthesis of **4** was achieved by direct C-prenylation of commercially available naringenin with prenyl bromide in very low yield.^{10–15} The use of prenyl alcohol followed by an europium(III)-catalyzed Claisen rearrangement delivers **4** in four steps and 42–45% overall yield.¹⁶ An alternative route starting from phloroacetophenone was much less successful.¹⁷

2. Results and discussion

Xanthohumol (1) is readily available from CO_2 -extracted hops, and is a waste product of the hops industry. Its conversion into the 8-prenylnaringenin (4) requires a cyclization and subsequent demethylation. This course of events is crucial, since the reverse order, demethylation to **3** followed by cyclization will predominantly give the isomeric but inactive 6-PN (5). Substitution of the random brewing process by defined synthetic methodology thus should provide the high value target 8-PN (4) selectively, following the route $1 \rightarrow 2 \rightarrow 4$.



Scheme 1. Cyclization of hop chalcones xanthohumol (1) and its desmethyl derivative (3) in the brewing kettle.

Keywords: 8-Prenylnaringenin; Isoxanthohumol; Xanthohumol; Demethylathion; Phytoestrogen; Ether-cleavage. * Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 345 5582 1301; fax: +49 345 5582 1309; e-mail: wessjohann@ipb-halle.de

The first step, the isomerization of **1** to give isoxanthohumol (**2**) is known to proceed quantitatively under base catalysis.^{18,19} Acid catalysis as well as catalysis with chiral bases is also possible, but is less efficient.²⁰ In principle, this intramolecular Michael-addition is reversible under the same conditions.

Crucial, however, is the second step, the demethylation of the 5-OMe group. Demethylation of 4',7-dihydroxy-5-methoxy-6-(1"-geranyl)flavanone with BBr₃ to bonannione A was reported to proceed in high yield.²¹ However, in our hands the reaction of isoxanthohumol (2) with BBr₃, AlBr₃,²² or AlCl₃²³ was not useful and gave only products with cyclized side chain (6,¹¹ 7,²⁴ and 8^{25,26}), and/or addition products to the double bond (9,²⁷ 10,²⁶ and 11;²⁵ Scheme 2). This cyclization reaction of the prenyl group with the neighboring OH-group under acidic conditions is well known.^{24–26,28,29} The water addition products result from initial addition of the HBr (formed by reaction of phenol-OH with MBr₃) to the double bond with saponification under basic work-up (aqueous NaOH), or by direct acid catalyzed water addition



Scheme 2. Demethylation process $2 \rightarrow 4$ and main products of 'classical' demethylation procedures of 2 with MX₃.

upon work-up. Also, the application of MX₃-Lewis acids under neutral or basic conditions, or the intermittent protection of the reactive phenol group proved troublesome.

The Lewis acid promoted demethylation in the presence of collidine as an acid scavenger³⁰ gives **4** in maximum 30% yield (Scheme 2, Table 1). Under these conditions **2** mostly remains unreacted. The principal byproduct is **1**, formed by a retro-opening of the chromanone B-ring. The increase of Lewis acid concentration leads to higher amounts of byproducts. The treatment of **2** with chlorotrimethylsilane for protection of the phenol groups and the use of methylaluminium dichloride acting as its own proton scavenger could not improve the yield of **4**.

Non-acidic, nucleophilic demethylation with NaSCH₂CH₃³¹ in DMF failed. Instead, ringopening occurs to give 98% of **1**. In the reaction of **2** with LiI in pyridine³² (Scheme 3a) only 8% of **4** could be isolated, accompanied by a new product of MW 486.16, compound **12**, the result of a retro-Friedel–Crafts reaction to split **1**, followed by annelation with **4** to give **12**.

Because neither acidic nor non-acidic demethylation protocols were successful, we decided to protect the phenolic OHgroups with acetate¹⁶ and triisopropylsilyl³³ (TIPS) groups. Acetate protection proved too labile under suitable demethylation conditions (Table 1, entry 1—with 1.2 equiv AlBr₃, 0.6 equiv collidine) and gives a mixture of demethylated products **4**, **6**, **9**, and the analogous 6-prenyl compounds. However, TIPS protected **13** reacts quantitatively to demethylation product **14** (Scheme 3c). The ¹H NMR does not show any signals of byproducts. Deprotection of crude **14** with *n*-Bu₄NF cleanly gives **4**. *n*-Bu₄N⁺ and Silyl-compounds can be removed on short silica columns.

To improve the yield of **4** further, group IIIb Lewis acids including lanthanide salts were finally tested. They possess a high affinity to oxygen to activate the methyl–O bond for the attack of a nucleophile (e.g., iodide). At the same time, however, overactivation may promote retro-cleavage to the chalcone, which has to be avoided because of subsequent 6-PN formation. For this purpose **2** was treated with various reagent combinations in different solvents, some are shown in Table 2. Only scandium triflate in THF turned out to effect the conversion of **2** to **4** in high yield (Scheme 3b). The other reagents leave IX (**2**) almost unreacted in THF, whereas in CHCl₃ the cyclizations to **7** and **8** are favored. The use of pyridine as solvent increases retro-reaction to XAN (**1**). The attempt to reduce the amount of scandium triflate to catalytic quantities decreases the yield of **4** dramatically.

Table 1. Reaction of IX (2) with various Lewis acids in the presence of collidine in CH_2Cl_2

Entry	Lewis acid (equiv)	Collidine (equiv)	Conditions	Yield of 4 (%)	Yield of 1 (%)	Recycled 2 (%)	Byproducts (yield)
$1 \\ 2^{a,b} \\ 3^{b}$	AlBr ₃ (2) AlBr ₃ (1.5) BBr ₃ (3.5)	5.5 6.5 5.0	5 h/rt 5 h/rt 3 h/-80 °C	25 30 18	1 5 —	54 35 18	Traces of 8 , 3 , 5 3 , 5 6 (10%), 9 (6%), 8 (4%), 10 , 3 , 7
4 ^b 5 ^b	$\begin{array}{c} CH_{3}AlCl_{2} \ (4.5) \\ CH_{3}AlCl_{2} \ (3.5) \end{array}$	4.5 0	4 h/reflux 1.5 h/0 °C	~10 ^c	~5°	$\sim 80^{\circ}$ $\sim 10^{\circ}$	8 8 (∼70%), ^c 6 (∼10%) ^c

^a TMSCl (2.2 eqiuv).

^b Longer work up in aqueous NaOH to convert 1 in 2.

^c Not isolated, detected by HPLC.



Scheme 3. Synthetic routes to 8-PN (4) and structure of 6-iodo-8-PN (15).

Table 2. Products formed by the treatment of isoxanthohumol (2) with Lewis acids and iodides in various solvents (detected by HPLC, byproducts in brackets)

Lewis acid	THF, 55 °C/24 h	CHCl ₃ , 55 °C/24 h	Pyridine, 80 °C/20 h	Sulfolane, 80 °C/20 h	CH ₃ OH/H ₂ O (5:1), 60 °C/6 h
ZnBr ₂	2 (7, 10)	7 (2)	1, 2 (7, 8)	8, 7, 5	_
ZnBr ₂ /CuI	2 (7, 10, 8, 4)	2, 7 (10, 9, 8, 1)		_	_
CuI	2	Many cpds	_	_	_
Yb ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ /KI	2 (1)	2(7,8)	1, 2 (7, 8)	2, 1 (8, 7, 5, 4)	_
Yb ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ /CuI	2 (1)	2, 7 (8, 1)		8 (1, 2, 7)	_
Sc(OTf) ₃)/KI	4	7 (8, 1)	1, 2 (8, 9, 10)	1 (8)	2 (10, 7, 1)
Sm(OTf) ₃ /KI	2	_			_
CeCl ₃ /LiI	2	_	_	_	_

But also proportional addition of further scandium triflate up to 1.2 equiv led to an incomplete reaction and higher amounts of byproducts, particularly the oxidation byproduct **15** with iodide in 6-position (Scheme 3—insert).

3. Experimental

3.1. General experimental information

All reactions were performed under an inert atmosphere of argon in dried solvents. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were

recorded on a 300 MHz spectrometer in acetone- d_6 unless otherwise stated. Chemical shifts are shown in δ values (ppm) with tetramethylsilane (TMS) as an internal reference. ESI-MS spectra were taken with an API 150 EX spectrometer. High-resolution ESI mass spectra were recorded on a 7 T FT-ICR-MS—using nitrogen as drying gas at 150 °C. Analytical HPLC was carried out with diode array detector (DAD—was used for detection of UV spectra too) and a LiChrospher100 RP18 5 μ m 4×125 mm column. For the preparative separation a HPLC device with a YMC-Pack ODS AA12S05-1520WT column and UV-detection at 210 nm was used. The eluent was acetonitrile/water. For flash chromatography silica gel 60 (0.040–0.063 mm) was used. Xanthohumol was obtained from hop-industry (special thanks to Dr. Martin Biendl).

3.1.1. Isoxanthohumol (2). Xanthohumol (500 mg, 1.4 mmol) was dissolved in 500 ml 1% NaOH solution and stirred at 0 °C for 2 h. Acidification with 50% H₂SO₄ gives a light yellow precipitate. After filtration and careful washing with water the dried product (100%) can be used for most processes. If further purification is required the material is dissolved in methanol, filtered again, water is added to the solution for precipitation, and evaporated to further drive precipitation. Lyophylization of the filtered product gives 2 as a light yellow powder of at least 95% purity (usually >99.9%). **2**: UV: λ_{max} 288 nm; ¹H NMR: δ 1.60 (s, 3H), 1.61 (s, 3H), 2.62 (dd, 1H, J=16.3 Hz, J=2.9 Hz), 2.93 (dd, 1H, J=16.3 Hz, J=12.6 Hz), 3.26 (d, 1H, J=7.1 Hz), 3.73 (s, 3H), 5.20 (t, 1H, J=7.1 Hz), 5.36 (dd, 1H, J=12.6 Hz, J=2.9 Hz), 6.22 (s, 1H), 6.89 (d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz), 7.39 (d, 1H, J=8.6 Hz); ¹³C NMR: δ 17.87, 22.50, 25.87, 46.12, 55.73, 79.37, 93.49, 106.04, 108.79, 115.85, 123.63, 128.45, 130.83, 131.31, 158.10, 160.84, 161.81, 162.57, 188.49; ESI-MS: 353.3 [M-H⁻].

3.1.2. Demethylation of isoxanthohumol (2) with AlBr₃. To a stirred suspension of isoxanthohumol (2) (50 mg, 0.14 mmol) in 4 ml CH₂Cl₂ sym. collidine is slowly added until 2 is completely dissolved (ca. 100 mg, 0.83 mmol). AlBr₃ solution (0.28 ml, 1 M in CH₂Br₂) is added dropwise at rt. The mixture is stirred overnight and filtered. The orange precipitate is dried in vacuo and dissolved in 10 ml 0.5 M NaOH. After the solution is stirred for 1.5 h at 0 °C (to convert reformed 1 back to 2) it is acidified with 50% H₂SO₄. The vellow precipitate is filtered off, washed carefully with water, and dried. The mixture is dissolved in methanol and separated by HPLC with a gradient of 40-70% acetonitrile in water within 20 min: 1, $t_R=21.1 \text{ min}$, 2, $t_R=9.6 \text{ min}$, 4, $t_{\rm R}$ =14.4 min. Lyophylization gives **1** (0.5 mg, 1%) as yellow powder, 2 (27 mg, 54%), and 4 (12 mg, 25%, 60%) based on recovered starting material) as white powders. 8-Prenylnaringenin (4): UV: λ_{max} 293, 335 nm; ¹H NMR: δ 1.60 (s, 3H), 1.61 (s, 3H), 2.76 (dd, 1H, J=17.2 Hz, J=3.1 Hz), 3.14 (dd, 1H, J=17.2 Hz, J=12.8 Hz), 3.22 (d, 2H, J=7.3 Hz), 5.19 (t, 1H, J=7.3 Hz), 5.45 (dd, 1H, J=12.8 Hz, J=3.1 Hz), 6.03 (s, 1H), 6.90 (d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz), 7.41 (d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz), 12.14 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ 17.93, 21.88, 25.91, 43.17, 78.69, 96.80, 103.11, 106.01, 115.46, 121.42, 127.62, 130.78, 134.96, 155.72, 159.51, 162.03, 163.50, 196.19; ESI-MS: 339.3 $[M - H^{-}].$

3.1.3. Demethylation of isoxanthohumol (2) with BBr₃. To a stirred suspension of isoxanthohumol (2) (50 mg, 0.14 mmol) in 4 ml CH₂Cl₂ sym. collidine is slowly added until **2** is completely dissolved (ca. 100 mg, 0.83 mmol). BBr₃ solution (0.5 ml) (1 M in CH₂Cl₂) is added dropwise at -80 °C. The mixture is stirred for 3 h at -80 °C and filtered. For work up see above. Six fractions are separated by HPLC: **2**, t_R =9.8 min, 9 mg, 18%; **4**, t_R =14.6 min, 9 mg, 18%; **5**,4'-dihydroxy-6",6"-dimethyl-4",5"-dihydropyrano-[2",3":7,8]flavanone (**6**),¹¹ t_R =20.7 min, 5 mg, 10% as white powder, UV: λ_{max} 218, 295 nm; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 1.33 (s, 3H), 1.35 (s, 3H), 1.76 (m, 2H), 2.58 (m, 2H), 2.78 (dd,

1H, J=17.0 Hz, J=3.1 Hz), 3.04 (dd, 1H, J=17.0 Hz, J=13.2 Hz), 5.32 (dd, 1H, J=13.2 Hz, J=3.1 Hz), 5.97 (s, 1H), 6.89 (d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz), 7.34 (d, 2H, J=8.2 Hz), 11.76 (s, 1H); ESI-MS: *m*/*z* 339.3 [M-H⁻]; 4,2'-dihydroxy-6'methoxy-6",6"-dimethyl-4",5"-dihydropyrano-[2",3":3',4']chalkone (8), $^{27,28} t_{\rm R}$ =26.3 min, 2 mg, 4% as yellow powder, UV: λ_{max} 371 nm; ¹H NMR: δ 1.36 (s, 6H), 1.81 (t, 2H, J=6.7 Hz), 2.63 (t, 2H, J=6.7 Hz), 3.88 (s, 3H), 5.88 (s, 1H), 6.86 (d, 2H, J=8.5 Hz), 7.51 (d, 2H, J=8.7 Hz), 7.74 (d, 1H, J=15.6 Hz), 7.83 (d, 1H, J=15.6 Hz), 14.79 (s, 1H); ESI-MS: *m*/*z* 353.3 [M–H[–]]; 8-(3"-hydroxyisoamyl)naringenin (9),³³ $t_{\rm R}$ =7.6 min, 3 mg, 6% as white powder, UV: λ_{max} 214, 293 nm; ¹H NMR: δ 1.18 (s, 6H), 1.64 (m, 2H), 2.64 (t, 2H, J=8.1 Hz), 2.80 (dd, 1H, J=17.0 Hz, J=3.1 Hz), 3.11 (dd, 1H, J=17.0 Hz, J=12.6 Hz), 5.47 (dd, 1H, J=12.6 Hz, J=3.1 Hz), 6.01 (s, 1H), 6.90 (d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz), 7.43 (d, 1H, J=8.4 Hz), 12.11 (s, 1H); ESI-MS: 357.3 [M–H[–]]; 8-(3"-hydroxyisoamyl)-7,4'-dihydroxy-5-methoxyflavanone (10),²⁸ $t_{\rm R}$ =4.0 min, 0.5 mg, 1% as light yellow powder, UV: λ_{max} 287 nm; ¹H NMR: δ 1.18 (s, 6H), 1.66 (m, 2H), 2.64 (dd, 1H, J=16.3 Hz, J=2.9 Hz), 2.67 (t, 2H, J=8.1 Hz), 2.99 (dd, 1H, J=16.3 Hz, J=12.6 Hz), 3.74 (s, 3H), 5.37 (dd, 1H, J=12.6 Hz, J=2.9 Hz), 6.19 (s, 1H), 6.88 (d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz), 7.41 (d, 1H, J=8.4 Hz); ESI-MS: *m*/*z* 371.2 [M–H[–]].

3.1.4. Demethylation of isoxanthohumol (2) with CH₃AlCl₂. This was conducted as described in procedure 3.1.2 with AlBr₃ exchanged for CH₃AlCl₂. Conditions were altered as given in Table 1, entries 4 and 5.

3.1.5. Demethylation of isoxanthohumol (2) with LiI. A solution of 2 (53 mg, 0.150 mmol) in 1.2 ml pyridine is added to LiI (30 mg, 0.224 mmol) and stirred for 12 h at 120 °C. After addition of 10 ml 0.5% HCl the solution is extracted with ethyl acetate (2×30 ml). The combined organic layers are washed with aqueous NH₄Cl solution and water and dried over Na₂SO₄. The solvent is evaporated, and the residue was dissolved in methanol and subjected to HPLC with a gradient of 40-70% acetonitrile in water within 20 min. Lyophylization gives 1, t_R =20.1 min, 5 mg, 9%; 2, $t_{\rm R}$ =9.5 min, 6 mg, 11%; 4, $t_{\rm R}$ =14.1 min, 4 mg, 8%; 6-prenylnaringenin (5), t_R =18.3 min, 5 mg, 9% as off-white powder, UV: λ_{max} 292, 334 nm; ¹H NMR: δ 1.64 (s, 3H), 1.75 (s, 3H), 2.72 (dd, 1H, J=17.0 Hz, J=3.0 Hz), 3.17 (dd, 1H, J= 17.0 Hz, J=12.9 Hz), 3.34 (d, 2H, J=7.3 Hz), 5.23 (t, 1H, J=1.4 Hz), 5.42 (dd, 1H, J=13.0 Hz, J=2.9 Hz), 6.03 (s, 1H), 6.89 (d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz), 7.39 (d, 1H, J=8.6 Hz), 12.47 (s, 1H); ESI-MS: *m*/*z* 339.3 [M-H⁻]; 5-hydroxy-10prenyl-4,8-di-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-3,4,7,8-tetrahydro-pyrano-[3,2-g]chromene-2,6-dione (12) mixture of diastereomers, $t_{\rm R}$ =17.6 min, 5 mg, 7% as off-white powder; ¹H NMR: δ 1.63, (s, 6H), 2.92 (m, 2H), 3.26 (m, 2H), 3.31 (dd, 2H), 4.60 (m, 1H), 5.19 (m, 1H), 5.58 (m, 1H), 6.76 (dd, 2H, J=8.6 Hz), 6.92 (d, 2H, J=8.4 Hz), 7.01 (dd, 2H, J=8.4 Hz), 7.44 (dd, 2H, J=8.6 Hz), 12.37 (s, 1H) (most peaks are doubled because of the two diastereomers); ¹³C NMR (acetone-d₆): δ 17.89, 22.33, 22.36, 25.86, 33.92, 33.97, 37.25, 37.33, 43.31, 43.62, 80.06, 80.17, 105.52, 105.62, 106.99, 107.02, 109.40, 109.43, 116.18, 116.33, 122.61, 122.64, 128.62, 128.94, 128.98, 130.45, 130.52, 132.27, 132.29, 132.99, 133.06, 157.33, 157.35, 157.54, 157.58, 158.40, 158.45, 158.74, 159.88, 159.99, 166.92,

166.98, 199.18, 199.22; HRMS: FTICR: m/z 485.161, $C_{29}H_{25}O_7$ (error 9.22e-07) [M-H⁻].

3.1.6. 7.4'-Di-triisopropylsilyloxy-isoxanthohumol (13). To a stirred suspension of 2 (302 mg, 0.85 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (10 ml) imidazole (290 mg, 4.26 mmol) is added, followed by chlorotriisopropylsilane (394 mg, 2.04 mmol) dropwise at 0 °C. The resultant suspension is allowed to warm to rt and stirred overnight. After removal of the solvent, pentane is added, the white precipitate is filtered off and washed with pentane. The organic filtrate solution is quickly washed with 5% HCl (2×10 ml) and H₂O (3×10 ml) and dried with Na₂SO₄. The solvent is removed in vacuo, the residue is dissolved in ethyl acetate, and subjected to flash chromatography (pentane/ethyl acetate = 5:1) to give 13 (495 mg, 87%) as a light yellow solid in the second fraction $(R_f=0.16)$. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 1.12 (m, 36H), 1.29 (m, 6H), 1.49 (s, 3H), 1.62 (s, 3H), 2.75 (dd, 1H, J=16.5 Hz, J=2.9 Hz), 2.99 (dd, 2H, J=16.5 Hz, J=13.2 Hz), 3.26 (d, 2H, J=6.8 Hz), 3.84 (s, 3H), 5.12 (t, 1H, J=6.8 Hz), 5.28 (dd, 1H, J=13.2 Hz, J=2.9 Hz), 6.05 (s, 1H), 6.89 (d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz), 7.28 (d, 2H, J=8.4 Hz); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ 12.74, 13.23, 17.91, 17.99, 18.09, 22.55, 25.86, 45.50, 55.95, 78.62, 95.75, 106.23, 112.53, 119.78, 122.58, 127.43, 130.97, 131.49, 156.02, 159.67, 160.28, 162.04, 190.18; ESI-MS: m/z 667.3 [M⁺].

3.1.7. 7,4'-Di-triisopropylsilyloxy-8-prenylnaringenin (14). To a solution of 13 (100 mg, 0.15 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (10 ml) cooled to 0 °C is added dropwise a solution of AlBr₃ (0.15 ml of 1 M solution in CH₂Br₂). The resultant solution is stirred at 0 °C for 30 min and then allowed to warm to rt. After stirring overnight 0.1 M NaOH (10 ml) is added, and the mixture is stirred vigorously for 15 min. The organic layer is separated after acidification (50% H_2SO_4), washed with aqueous NH₄Cl (2×30 ml) and H_2O $(1 \times 30 \text{ ml})$, and dried (Na_2SO_4) . Removal of the solvent in vacuo gives crude 14, which is directly used for deprotection. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 1.12 (m, 36H), 1.29 (m, 6H), 1.50 (s, 3H), 1.62 (s, 3H), 2.76 (dd, 1H, J=17.1 Hz, J=3.0 Hz), 3.06 (dd, 1H, J=17.1 Hz, J=13.1 Hz), 3.22 (d, 2H, J=7.0 Hz), 5.11 (t, 1H, J=7.0 Hz), 5.31 (dd, 1H, J=13.1 Hz, J=3.0 Hz), 6.00 (s, 1H), 6.91 (d, 2H, J=8.6 Hz), 7.28 (d, 2H, J=8.4 Hz), 11.97 (s, 1H).

3.1.8. Deprotection of 14 to 8-PN (4). To a solution of crude **14** in THF (3 ml) cooled to 0 °C is added dropwise a solution of tetra-*n*-butyl-ammonium fluoride (0.36 ml of 1 M solution in THF). The solution is allowed to warm to rt and stirred for 1 h. After toluene (5 ml) is added, the solvent is removed in vacuo and the resultant residue is redissolved in CHCl₃ and subjected to flash chromatography (CHCl₃/methanol = 100:1) on a silica gel column to give **4** (42 mg, 84%) as a light yellow solid.

3.1.9. Direct demethylation of isoxanthohumol with scandium trifluoromethanesulfonate. A mixture of **2** (50 mg, 0.14 mmol), KI (36 mg, 0.23 mmol), and scandium triflate (104 mg, 0.21 mmol) is stirred in THF (10 ml) and refluxed for 2.5 h. After stirring overnight at rt the solution is concentrated in vacuo and subjected to filtration though a silica gel pad (CHCl₃/methanol = 100:1) to remove the scandium salt. Flash chromatography (CHCl₃/methanol = 100:1) on a silica gel column gives **4** (44 mg, 92%) as a light yellow solid. **3.1.10. 6-Iodo-8-prenylnaringenin (15).** Another attempt with a smaller amount of scandium triflate (36 mg, 73 µmol, 1.3 equiv) added in three portions within 4 h to 20 mg **2** and 17 mg (0.11 mmol, 1.9 equiv) KI gave 9 mg **4** (47%) and 1.5 mg **15** (6%) as oxidation byproduct: $t_{\rm R}$ = 20.1, UV: $\lambda_{\rm max}$ 227, 295, 347 nm; ¹H NMR: δ 1.61 (s, 3H), 1.62 (s, 3H), 2.84 (dd, 1H, *J*=17.0 Hz, *J*=3.1 Hz), 3.24 (dd, 1H, *J*=17.0 Hz, *J*=3.1 Hz), 3.24 (dd, 1H, *J*=17.0 Hz, *J*=12.6 Hz), 3.34 (d, 2H, *J*=7.3 Hz), 5.15 (t, 1H, *J*=7.3 Hz), 5.52 (dd, 1H, *J*=12.6 Hz, *J*= 3.1 Hz), 6.91 (d, 2H, *J*=8.6 Hz), 7.42 (d, 2H, *J*=8.4 Hz), 13.14 (s, 1H); ESI-MS: m/z 465.0 [M-H⁻].

3.2. General procedure for the treatment isoxanthohumol (2) with Lewis acids and iodides (Table 2)

Isoxanthohumol (2) (10 mg, 0.03 mmol), the Lewis acid (1.5 equiv), and the iodide (1.5 equiv) are reacted in the given solvent in a closed glass tube at the temperature and for the time given in Table 2. The solvent is removed in vacuo (except for sulfolane, from which the product is extracted with ethyl acetate vs water). The residue is suspended in acetonitrile, filtered, and the solution is analyzed by HPLC.

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank Hopsteiner/Hallertauer Hopfenveredlungsgesellschaft m.b.H., especially Dr. M. Biendl and H. Schwarz, and the ESF-model project 'Nachakademische Qualifizierung' for support, and Dr. A. Porzel for NMR analyses.

Supplementary data

HPLC-chromatograms and ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of principal reactions and selected compounds, respectively. Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.060.

References and notes

- McCormick, S.; Robson, K.; Bohm, B. *Phytochemistry* 1986, 25, 1723–1726.
- Stevens, J. F.; Ivancic, M.; Hsu, V. L.; Deinzer, M. L. Phytochemistry 1997, 61, 1575–1585.
- 3. Stevens, J. F.; Page, J. E. Phytochemistry 2004, 65, 1317-1330.
- Stevens, J. F.; Taylor, A. W.; Deinzer, M. L. J. Chromatogr. 1999, A 832, 97–107.
- Kitaoka, M.; Kadokawa, H.; Sugano, M.; Ichikawa, K.; Taki, M.; Takaishi, S.; Iijima, Y.; Tsutsumi, S.; Boriboon, M.; Akiyama, T. *Planta Med.* **1998**, *64*, 511–515.
- Milligan, S. R.; Kalita, J. C.; Heyerick, A.; Rong, H.; De Cooman, L.; De Keukeleire, D. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **1999**, *84*, 2249–2252.
- Milligan, S. R.; Kalita, J. C.; Pocock, V.; van de Akuter, V.; Stevens, J. F.; Deinzer, M. L.; Rong, H.; De Keukeleire, D. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 2000, 85, 4912–4915.
- Zierau, O.; Gester, S.; Schwab, P.; Metz, P.; Kolba, S.; Wulf, M.; Vollmer, G. *Planta Med.* **2002**, *68*, 449–451.
- Milligan, S. R.; Kalita, J. C.; Heyerick, A.; De Cooman, L.; Rong, H.; De Keukeleire, D. *Reproduction* 2002, *123*, 235–242.
- Jain, A. C.; Gupta, R. C.; Sarpal, P. D. Chem. Lett. 1978, 995–998.

- Jain, A. C.; Gupta, R. C.; Sarpal, P. D. *Tetrahedron* 1978, 34, 3563–3567.
- Nagar, A.; Gurjal, V. K.; Gupta, S. R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1978, 23, 2031–2034.
- Mizobuchi, S.; Sato, Y. Agric. Biol. Chem. 1984, 48, 2771– 2775.
- Ito, C.; Mizuno, T.; Matsuoka, M.; Kimura, Y.; Sato, K.; Kajiura, I.; Omura, M.; Ju-Ichi, M.; Furukawa, H. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1988**, *36*, 3292–3295.
- Tahara, S.; Katagiri, Y.; Ingham, J. L.; Mizutani, J. *Phytochemistry* **1994**, *36*, 1261–1271.
- Gester, S.; Metz, P.; Zierau, O.; Vollmer, G. *Tetrahedron* 2001, 57, 1015–1018.
- 17. Sherif, E. A.; Islam, A.; Krishnamurti, M. Indian J. Chem., Sect. B 1982, 21, 478–479.
- Verzele, M.; Stockx, J.; Fontijn, F.; Anteunis, M. Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg. 1957, 66, 452–475.
- Biendl, M.; Smith, R. Unpublished/personal communication. Hopsteiner/Hallertauer Hopfenveredelungs GmbH, 2003.
- Wilhelm, H.; Biendl, M.; Wessjohann, L. A. (Anmelder: Hallertauer Hopfenveredlungsgesellschaft m.b.H.) German Patent Application DE 10 2005 013258.8, 2005.

- 21. Wang, Y.; Tan, W.; Li, W. Z.; Li, Y. J. Nat. Prod. 2001, 64, 196–199.
- 22. Parker, K. A.; Ding, Q. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 10255-10261.
- 23. Gonzalez, G. I.; Zhu, J. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 7544-7545.
- 24. Hänsel, R.; Schulz, J. Arch. Pharm. 1988, 321, 37-40.
- Nookandeh, A.; Frank, N.; Steiner, F.; Ellinger, R.; Schneider, B.; Gerhäuser, C.; Becker, H. *Phytochemistry* 2004, 65, 561–570.
- Chadwick, L. R.; Nikolic, D.; Burdette, J. E.; Overk, C. R.; Bolton, J. L.; van Breemen, R. B.; Fröhlich, R.; Fong, H. H. S.; Farnsworth, N. R.; Pauli, G. F. J. Nat. Prod. 2004, 67, 2024–2032.
- Gellert, M.; Szendrei, K.; Reisch, J. Herba Hungarica 1982, 21, 173–178.
- 28. Mizobuchi, S. Agric. Biol. Chem. 1985, 7, 2195-2196.
- 29. Fukai, T.; Nomura, T. Heterocycles 1990, 10, 1861-1872.
- 30. Biller, S. A.; Forster, C. Tetrahedron 1990, 46, 6645-6658.
- Dodge, J. F.; Stocksdale, M. G.; Fahey, K. J.; Jones, C. D. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 739–741.
- 32. Harrison, I. T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1969, 616.
- 33. Cunico, R. F.; Bedell, L. J. Org. Chem. 1980, 45, 4797-4798.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6967-6972

Reaction of 4-methyl, 4-phenyl, and 4-hydrogen substituted 1-lithio-1,3-butadienes with aldehydes: preparation of multiply substituted cyclopentadienes

Zhihui Wang,^a Hongyun Fang^a and Zhenfeng Xi^{a,b,*}

^aBeijing National Laboratory for Molecular Sciences (BNLMS), Key Laboratory of Bioorganic Chemistry and Molecular

Engineering of Ministry of Education, College of Chemistry, Peking University, Beijing 100871, China

^bState Key Laboratory of Organometallic Chemistry, Shanghai Institute of Organic Chemistry,

Chinese Academy of Sciences, Shanghai 200032, China

Received 22 March 2006; revised 21 April 2006; accepted 21 April 2006 Available online 12 May 2006

Abstract—Reaction of aldehydes with 1-lithio-1,3-butadiene reagents possessing a methyl substituent, a phenyl substituent or a hydrogen at position 4 of the butadienyl skeletons was studied. Polysubstituted cyclopentadiene derivatives were obtained in high yields upon hydrolysis using strong acidic solution. Reaction mechanism study revealed that these cyclopentadienes were formed via an acid-promoted cyclization of conjugated dienols. Thus, stereodefined all-*cis* substituted dienols or a wide diversity of substituted cyclopentadienes can be obtained from the same 1-lithio-1,3-butadiene reagent and aldehyde by adjusting the hydrolysis conditions.

1. Introduction

We have recently demonstrated that 1-lithio-1,3-butadienes I-IV (Fig. 1) are useful reagents for the preparation of a wide variety of linear and cyclic compounds through their direct addition onto nitriles,¹ CO,² CO₂,³ aldehydes, and ketones.^{4,5} Results have shown that the substitution patterns at position 4 of 1-lithio-1,3-butadienes I (alkenyl lithium),^{1–4} II (silyl group),⁶ III (naphthyl group),⁷ and IV (hydrogen)¹⁻⁴ have remarkable influences on the reactivity of these organolithium reagents. In the case of 1-lithio-1.3-butadienes IV (hydrogen), their reaction with aldehydes afforded stereodefined all-cis substituted dienols or multiply substituted cyclopentadienes depending on the nature of substituents and work up procedures.4c Prompted by the different types of results obtained from 1-lithio-1,3-butadienes I-IV, we prepared 1-lithio-1,3-butadiene reagent V and VI possessing a methyl substituent and a phenyl substituent at position 4 of the butadienyl skeletons, respectively, expecting new reaction patterns and synthetically useful methodology. We found that reactions of these organolithium reagents with aldehydes afforded fully substituted cyclopentadienes, via the acid-promoted cyclization of conjugated dienols. This type of reaction provides an alternative method for the preparation of useful cyclopentadiene derivatives⁸ and conjugated butadienols.^{9,10}



Figure 1. A variety of 1-lithio-1,3-butadienes of different substitution patterns at position 4.

2. Results and discussion

1-Bromo-4-methyl-1,2,3,4-tetraethyl-1,3-butadiene **2a** was successfully obtained in 67% isolated yield via selective lithiation of **1a** followed by treatment with Me₂SO₄ (Eq. 1).¹¹ Bromotriene **2b** was prepared similarly via selective lithiation of **1a** followed by treatment with LTMP and 1,2-epoxy-octane.¹² 1-Iodo-4-phenyl-1,2,3,4-tetraethyl-1,3-butadiene **2c** and 1-iodo-1,3-butadienes **2d–g** were conveniently prepared according to known procedures.^{13,14} These halobutadienes and halotrienes are interesting and useful

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +86 10 6275 9728; fax: +86 10 6275 1708; e-mail: zfxi@pku.edu.cn

compounds but have not been much utilized in organic synthesis.



Lithiation of 2a with 2 equiv of t-BuLi afforded 1-lithio-4methyl-1,2,3,4-tetraethyl-1,3-butadiene Va quantitatively (Eq. 2). Reaction of thus generated Va with benzaldehyde went smoothly. However, quenching the reaction mixture with 3 N HCl resulted in two products, which were determined to be the corresponding butadienvl alcohol and a cyclopentadiene derivative. Because the cyclopentadiene derivative might be formed via the known acid-catalyzed cyclization of butadienyl alcohols,^{4c,15} we decided to treat the reaction mixture with strong aqueous acidic solution (12 N HCl). Fully substituted cyclopentadiene 3a was obtained as the sole product in 74% isolated yield. Results are given in Table 1. Both aromatic and aliphatic aldehydes could be applied for this reaction to afford the fully substituted cyclopentadienes in good isolated yields. This type of cyclopentadienes, which are otherwise difficult to prepare, can be expected to have applications as building units for conjugated organic materials. Reaction of the conjugated triene VIIa with benzaldehyde generated the cyclopentadiene derivative 3g in a low yield, probably due to the competitive intramolecular carbo-lithiation of VIIa. The structure of product 3e was determined by single-crystal X-ray structural analysis (Fig. 2).¹⁶

Table 1. Formation of cyclopentadiene derivatives by acidic quenching of the reaction mixture of Va, VIa, and VIIa with aldehydes^a



^a Reaction conditions are given in Eq. 2.

^b Isolated yields.





As discussed above, these cyclopentadienes might be generated via the acid-catalyzed cyclization of their corresponding butadienyl alcohols.^{4c,15} In fact, when the reaction mixture of **VIa** with 4-phenylbenzaldehyde was quenched with aqueous NaHCO₃ instead of acidic solution, an alcohol **4a** was obtained in 72% isolated yield (Eq. 3). Treatment of the isolated pure butadienyl alcohol **4a** with 12 N HCl afforded the cyclopentadiene derivative **3e** in 77% isolated yield.



Similarly, conjugated dienols or cyclopentadiene derivatives could be prepared highly selectively in excellent yields by hydrolysis of the reaction mixtures of 1-lithiobutadienes **IV** (a hydrogen substituent at position 4) with aldehydes (Eq. 4). Results are given in Table 2. As indicated by the hydrolysis conditions shown in Table 1 and Table 2, when there was substituent such as a methyl group (**V**) or a phenyl group (**VI**) at position 4 of the butadienyl skeletons, stronger acid (12 N HCl) was required for the formation of cyclopentadiene derivatives from their corresponding dienols. In the cases of **6a** (run 6 of Table 2) and **6b** (run 8 of Table 2) without substituents at position 4, weaker acid (3 N HCl) was good enough to promote the cyclization. These isolated dienols **6a** and **6b** could be quantitatively transformed to their corresponding cyclopentadiene derivatives when treated with 3 N HCl.



Table 2. Formation of cyclopentadiene derivatives and dienols by acidic quenching of the reaction mixture of **IV** with aldehydes^a

Run	Reagent IV	Aldehyde	Hydrolysis condition	Product 5 or 6	Yield $(\%)^{b}$
1	Me Me Me Me	4-OMePhCHO	3 N HCl	5a	(53)
2	Et Et Et Et	PhCHO	3 N HCl	5b°	(75)
3 4 5	IVb IVb IVb Pr	2-FurylCHO 4-BrPhCHO 2-ThienylCHO	3 N HCl 3 N HCl 3 N HCl	5c [°] 5d ^d 5e [°]	(71) (86) (78)
6	Pr Pr Pr Pr	PhCHO	Satd aq NaHCO ₃	6a	99 (95)
7	IVc	PhCHO	3 N HCl	5f ^f	99 (86)
8	IVc	PrCHO	Satd aq	6b	82 (65)
9	IVc	PrCHO	3 N HCl	5g ^g	85 (70)
10	Bu Bu Bu Bu Bu	4-OMePhCHO	3 N HCl	5h	(81)

^a Reaction conditions: shown in Eq. 4.

^b GC yields. Isolated yields are given in parentheses.

^c Two isomers in 3:1.

^d Three isomers in 1:1:1.

^e Three isomers in 2:1:1.

^f Two isomers in 5:2.

^g Two isomers in 4:3.

3. Conclusions

We have investigated the preparation and reaction of the useful 1-lithio-1,3-butadiene reagents possessing a phenyl substituent, a methyl substituent, and a hydrogen at position 4 of the butadienyl skeletons. Results of these organolithium reagents with aldehydes show that they are versatile synthetic building units. Cyclopentadiene derivatives thus formed are expected to have useful applications for conjugated organic materials' synthesis.

4. Experimental

4.1. General methods

All reactions were conducted under a slightly positive pressure of dry, pre-purified nitrogen using standard Schlenk line techniques when appropriate. Unless otherwise noted, all starting materials were commercially available and used without further purification. Diethyl ether was refluxed and distilled from sodium benzophenone ketyl under a nitrogen atmosphere. *t*-BuLi was obtained from Acros Organics. $^1\mathrm{H}$ and $^{13}\mathrm{C}$ NMR spectra were recorded at 300 and 75.4 MHz, respectively, in CDCl_3 or C_6D_6 solution on JEOL JNM-AL300 NMR spectrometer.

4.1.1. A typical procedure for the formation of multiply substituted cyclopentadienes. To a solution of **2a** (1.0 mmol) in Et₂O (10 ml) was added *t*-BuLi (1.5 M pentane solution, 2.0 mmol) slowly at -78 °C and the mixture was stirred for 1 h at the same temperature. PhCHO (1.2 mmol) was added and stirring was continued for 1 h at -78 °C. HCl (12 N, 5 ml) was added to the reaction mixture, and it was stirred for 5 h at room temperature. The reaction mixture was extracted with diethyl ether and washed with aqueous NaHCO₃, brine, and dried over MgSO₄. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by chromatography on silica gel to afford the corresponding product **3a**.

Compound **3a**: colorless liquid, isolated yield 74% (198 mg). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 0.53 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.95 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H), 1.02 (s, 3H), 1.07–1.14 (m, 6H), 1.46–2.35 (m, 8H), 7.09–7.35 (m, 5H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ 8.23, 14.36, 15.19, 15.35, 18.26, 18.88, 19.26, 21.95, 27.53, 58.20, 126.10, 127.86, 129.64, 138.67, 140.66, 143.40, 145.07, 147.04. HRMS calcd for C₂₀H₂₈: 268.2191; found: 268.2193.

Compound **3b**: colorless liquid, isolated yield 54% (186 mg). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 0.55 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.99 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H), 1.07 (s, 3H), 1.09–1.15 (m, 6H), 1.46–2.41 (m, 8H), 7.16–7.64 (m, 9H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ 8.26, 14.36, 15.20, 15.41, 18.28, 18.90, 19.34, 22.05, 27.64, 58.32, 126.56, 126.94, 127.00, 128.70, 129.96, 137.77, 138.76, 140.73, 141.09, 143.72, 144.66, 147.29. HRMS calcd for C₂₆H₃₂: 344.2504; found: 344.2508.

Compound **3c**: colorless liquid, isolated yield 56% (66 mg). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 0.31 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H), 0.92–1.07 (m, 15H), 1.40–2.28 (m, 12H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ 7.96, 14.58, 15.09, 15.16, 15.25, 18.06, 18.81, 18.90, 22.19, 23.21, 27.94, 28.27, 57.08, 140.58, 140.96, 143.81, 145.25. HRMS calcd for C₁₇H₃₀: 234.2348; found: 234.2351.

Compound **3d**: colorless liquid, isolated yield 65% (215 mg). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 0.58 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.75 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H), 1.09–1.19 (m, 6H), 1.77–2.47 (m, 8H), 6.71–7.24 (m, 10H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ 7.34, 13.79, 15.07, 15.16, 18.90, 19.00, 19.45, 22.84, 65.60, 125.75, 125.96, 126.72, 127.64, 127.99, 128.54, 137.32, 141.85, 142.60, 145.56, 145.76, 149.66. HRMS calcd for C₂₅H₃₀: 330.2348; found: 330.2344.

Compound **3e**: colorless solid, mp 131–132 °C, isolated yield 77% (313 mg). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 0.59 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.75 (t, *J*=7.8 Hz, 3H), 1.17 (t, *J*=7.8 Hz, 6H), 1.83–2.54 (m, 8H), 6.80–7.54 (m, 14H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ 7.37, 13.83, 15.11, 15.20, 18.89, 18.97, 19.59, 22.99, 65.56, 125.82, 126.32, 126.69, 126.76, 126.90, 128.09, 128.61, 128.74, 136.30, 138.40, 140.88, 141.95, 142.60, 145.20, 145.97, 150.07. HRMS calcd for C₃₁H₃₄: 406.2661; found: 406.2658. Anal. Calcd for C₃₁H₃₄: C, 91.57; H, 8.43. Found: C, 91.53; H, 8.48.

Compound **3f**: colorless liquid, isolated yield 62% (184 mg). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 0.52 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.66–0.74 (m, 6H), 1.06–1.13 (m, 6H), 1.84–2.34 (m, 12H), 7.04–7.16 (m, 5H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ 7.38, 14.05, 14.94, 15.07, 15.15, 18.89, 18.95 (2C), 22.53, 22.86, 28.68, 64.54, 125.46, 126.60, 127.64, 142.41, 142.65, 142.83, 145.75, 147.13. HRMS calcd for C₂₂H₃₂: 296.2504; found: 296.2505.

Compound **3g**: colorless liquid, isolated yield 26% (47 mg). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 0.45 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.89 (t, *J*=6.9 Hz, 3H), 1.01–1.13 (m, 9H), 1.28–2.38 (m, 18H), 5.02 (d, *J*=15.9 Hz, 1H), 5.42 (dt, *J*=15.6, 6.9 Hz, 1H), 7.17–7.27 (m, 5H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ 7.42, 14.13, 14.50, 15.17, 15.23, 18.54, 19.00, 19.43, 22.28, 22.69, 28.95, 29.70, 31.82, 33.02, 64.65, 125.87, 127.58, 128.44, 129.01, 133.55, 137.96, 142.56, 143.50, 145.08, 146.46. HRMS calcd for C₂₇H₄₀: 364.3130; found: 364.3133.

4.1.2. A typical procedure for the formation of dienol 4a and the acid-promoted cyclization. To a solution of 2c (0.5 mmol) in Et₂O (10 ml) was added t-BuLi (1.5 M pentane solution, 1.0 mmol) slowly at -78 °C and the mixture was stirred for 1 h at the same temperature. 4-Phenylbenzaldehyde (0.6 mmol) was added and stirring was continued for 1 h at -78 °C. The reaction mixture was quenched with aqueous NaHCO₃ and extracted with diethyl ether. The extract was washed with brine and dried over MgSO₄. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by chromatography on Al₂O₃ to afford the corresponding alcohol 4a. Colorless liquid, isolated yield 72% (153 mg). ¹H NMR (C₆D₆): δ 0.70 (d, J=2.7 Hz, 1H), 0.79 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 3H), 0.88 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.09 (t, J=7.8 Hz, 3H), 1.17 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 3H), 1.84–2.54 (m, 8H), 5.71 (d, J=2.7 Hz, 1H), 6.98–7.67 (m, 14H). ¹³C NMR (C₆D₆): δ 13.39, 13.85, 13.98, 14.71, 21.27, 25.83, 26.34, 26.84, 74.22, 126.84, 126.95, 127.08, 127.19, 127.34, 128.22, 128.96, 129.32, 137.11, 138.48, 138.90, 139.66, 140.61, 141.56, 142.89, 143.37. HRMS calcd for C₃₁H₃₆O: 424.2766; found: 424.2762.

HCl (12 N, 5 ml) was added to the pure alcohol product 4a with 1 ml Et₂O as solvent, and stirring was continued for 5 h at room temperature. The reaction mixture was extracted with diethyl ether and washed with aqueous NaHCO₃, brine, and dried over MgSO₄. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo and the residue was purified by chromatography on silica gel to afford **3e** in 77% isolated yield.

4.1.3. A typical procedure for the preparation of dienols and cyclopentadiene derivatives from reactions of 1-lithio-1,3-butadienes IV with aldehydes. 1-Lithio-1,3butadiene derivative IVa was generated in situ by lithiation of its corresponding 1-iodo-1,3-butadiene 2d. 4-Methoxybenzaldehyde (1.1 mmol) was then added to IVa at -78 °C and the reaction mixture was stirred at the same temperature for 0.5 h. The reaction mixture was then quenched with saturated aqueous 3 N HCl and extracted with ether. The extract was washed with water and brine, and dried over MgSO₄. The solvent was evaporated in vacuum to give a brown oil, which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel, hexane/CH₂Cl₂=1:1) to afford 5a as a colorless liquid in 53% isolated yield. Compound **5a**: colorless liquid, isolated yield 53% (120 mg). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 1.08 (d, *J*=3.6 Hz, 3H), 2.00 (s, 3H), 2.06 (s, 3H), 2.14 (s, 3H), 3.28 (q, *J*=11.4 Hz, 1H), 3.96 (s, CH₃, 3H), 7.04 (d, *J*=4.5 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (d, *J*=4.5 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ 11.07, 11.84, 12.57, 14.87, 50.13, 55.18, 113.59, 129.46, 130.40, 134.91, 135.89, 139.95, 142.35, 157.51. HRMS calcd for C₁₆H₂₀O: 228.1514; found: 228.1513.

Compound **5b**: colorless liquid, isolated yield 75% (192 mg), two isomers in 3:1. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) of the main product: δ 0.54–0.88 (m, 12H), 1.19–2.35 (m, 8H), 3.05–3.30 (m, 1H), 6.77–7.14 (m, 5H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) of the main product: δ 6.81, 15.21, 15.44, 15.55, 18.53, 19.46, 19.66, 20.74, 52.45, 125.47, 128.09, 128.37, 137.61, 140.63, 141.98, 144.24, 145.04. HRMS calcd for C₁₉H₂₆: 254.2034; found: 254.2037.

Compound **5c**: brown liquid, 3:1 mixture of positional double bond isomers, combined isolated yield 71% (175 mg). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) of the mixture: δ 0.37 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H), 0.85–1.19 (m, 10H), 1.61–2.67 (m, 10H), 3.43 (t, *J*=4.4 Hz, 1H), 5.46 (q, *J*=11.1 Hz, 1H), 6.19 (d, *J*=1.8 Hz, 1H), 3.10 (d, *J*=1.6 Hz, 0.3H), 6.40–6.46 (m, 1.3H), 7.37 (d, *J*=0.9 Hz, 1H), 7.42 (d, *J*=0.9 Hz, 0.3H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) of the mixture: δ 6.68, 11.23, 11.25, 13.30, 14.30, 14.59, 15.14, 15.36, 18.32, 18.74, 19.59, 20.01, 22.01, 27.62, 27.86, 46.06, 50.54, 51.15, 104.74, 107.58, 110.93, 111.02, 113.16, 129.68, 132.14, 140.21, 140.38, 141.29, 142.00, 145.36, 145.49, 150.89, 152.89, 153.23. HRMS calcd for C₁₇H₂₄O: 244.1827; found: 244.1822.

Compound 5d: colorless liquid, three isomers in 1:1:1, isolated yield 86% (284 mg). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) of the mixture: δ 0.30 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.81–1.19 (m, 27H), 1.25–1.78 (m, 14H, including 1.43 (d, J=3.6 Hz, 3H) and 1.70 (d, J=3.6 Hz, 3H)), 2.00–2.60 (m, 14H), 3.37 (s, 1H), 3.14 (t, J=4.2 Hz, 1H), 3.52 (s, 1H), 5.29–5.43 (m, 2H), 6.95 (d, J=4.2 Hz, 2H), 7.01 (d, J=4.2 Hz, 2H), 7.11 (d, J=4.2 Hz, 2H), 7.34 (d, J=4.2 Hz, 2H), 7.46 (d, J=4.2 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) of the mixture: δ 6.76, 10.85, 10.90, 12.79, 12.90, 13.81, 14.17, 14.26, 15.02, 15.18, 15.36, 15.48, 17.79, 17.83, 18.49, 18.68, 19.44, 19.56, 19.66, 19.94, 20.37, 20.68, 26.31, 28.08, 49.81, 50.40, 52.46, 56.08, 56.82, 111.04, 111.77, 118.96, 119.27, 119.50, 128.64, 128.99, 129.90, 131.25, 131.38, 131.41, 136.50, 139.22, 139.39, 140.11, 142.08, 145.05, 145.22, 145.36, 145.53, 146.14, 146.46, 149.77. HRMS calcd for C₁₉H₂₅Br: 332.1140; found: 332.1134.

Compound **5e**: colorless liquid, three isomers in 2:1:1, isolated yield 78% (203 mg). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) of the mixture: δ 0.35 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.97–1.32 (m, 27H), 1.59 (d, *J*=3.6 Hz, 3H), 1.71(d, *J*=3.6 Hz, 3H), 1.76–2.02 (m, 6H), 2.12–2.71 (m, 14H), 3.39 (t, *J*=4.2 Hz, 1H), 3.74 (s, 0.5H), 3.90 (s, 0.5H), 5.36 (q, *J*=7.2 Hz, 1H), 6.73 (d, *J*=2.7 Hz, 1H), 6.78 (d, *J*=2.7 Hz, 1H), 6.80–6.95 (m, 3H), 7.02–7.08 (m, 3H), 7.18 (d, *J*=2.7 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) of the mixture: δ 6.62, 10.84, 11.09, 12.76, 12.82, 13.60, 13.66, 14.17, 14.28, 14.43, 15.16, 15.41, 17.81, 18.44, 19.67, 19.88, 20.00, 20.29, 21.91, 26.16, 27.90, 45.54, 51.06, 51.30, 53.04, 57.20, 111.43, 112.19, 122.25,

122.34, 122.76, 122.85, 123.33, 125.98, 126.46, 126.94, 133.43, 138.17, 139.51, 139.80, 142.18, 145.04, 145.32, 145.40, 145.61, 149.11, 149.50, 150.41, 150.98. HRMS calcd for $C_{17}H_{24}S$: 260.1599; found: 260.1604.

Compound **6a**: quenched with saturated NaHCO₃. Colorless liquid, isolated yield 95%, GC yield 99%. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 0.72–0.98 (m, 14H), 1.31–1.43 (m, 8H), 2.03–2.10 (m, 6H), 5.19 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 1H), 5.78 (s, 1H), 7.21–7.39 (m, 5H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 13.91, 14.22, 14.65, 14.84, 21.54, 21.82, 23.11, 24.41, 29.91, 30.02, 32.15, 32.57, 73.85, 126.06, 126.48, 127.90, 129.22, 135.74, 139.04, 143.47. HRMS calcd for C₂₃H₃₆O: 328.2766; found: 328.2757.

Compound **5f**: colorless liquid as a mixture of two double bond positional isomers (5:2) in 99% combined GC yield (combined isolated yield 86%). The NMR data of **5f** were consistent with those reported.¹⁷

Compound **6b**: colorless liquid, isolated yield 65%, GC yield 82%. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 0.85–0.97 (m, 17H), 1.25–1.59 (m, 10H), 1.93–2.11 (m, 8H), 4.57 (t, *J*=4.8 Hz, 1H), 4.96 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 13.97, 14.18, 14.23, 14.60, 15.00, 19.69, 21.57 (2CH₂), 23.18, 24.79, 29.18, 29.89, 31.97, 32.46, 37.87, 72.71, 128.73, 136.77, 139.05, 141.78. HRMS calcd for C₂₀H₃₈O: 294.2923; found: 294.2929.

Compound **5g**: colorless liquid as a mixture of two double bond positional isomers (4:3) in 85% combined GC yield (combined isolated yield 70%). The NMR data of **5g** were consistent with those reported.¹⁷

Compound **5h**: colorless liquid, isolated yield 81% (321 mg). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ 0.65–0.70 (m, 5H), 0.86–1.04 (m, 9H), 1.17–1.60 (m, 14H), 1.99–2.59 (m, 8H), 3.23–3.47 (br, 1H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 6.88 (d, *J*=4.2 Hz, 2H), 7.14 (d, *J*=4.2 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ 13.92, 14.00, 14.07, 22.94, 23.07 (2CH₂), 23.09, 24.82, 25.46, 26.30, 27.89, 32.68, 33.06, 33.20, 52.52, 55.14, 113.50, 129.45, 130.58, 140.59, 141.08, 141.57, 143.56, 157.52. HRMS calcd for C₂₈H₄₄O: 396.3392; found: 396.3386.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, the Major State Basic Research Development Program (G2000077502-D), and Dow Corning Corporation. Cheung Kong Scholars Program, Qiu Shi Science and Technologies Foundation, and BASF are gratefully acknowledged.

References and notes

- 1. Chen, J.; Song, Q.; Wang, C.; Xi, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 6238–6239.
- (a) Song, Q.; Chen, J.; Jin, X.; Xi, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 10419–10420; (b) Song, Q.; Li, Z.; Chen, J.; Wang, C.; Xi, Z. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4627–4629.
- 3. Xi, Z.; Song, Q. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 9157-9159.
- 4. (a) Xi, Z.; Song, Q.; Chen, J.; Guan, H.; Li, P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 1913–1915; (b) Chen, J.; Song, Q.; Li, P.; Guan, H.; Jin, X.; Xi, Z. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 2269–2271; (c) Fang, H.; Song, Q.; Wang, Z.; Xi, Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 5159–5162; (d) Fang, H.; Li, G.; Mao, G.; Xi, Z. Chem.—Eur. J. 2004, 10, 3444–3450; (e) Mao, G.; Lu, J.; Xi, Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 8095–8098; (f) Mao, G.; Wang, C.; Chen, J.; Muramatsu, A.; Xi, Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 5369–5372; (g) Xi, Z.; Zhang, W.; Song, Z.; Zheng, W.; Kong, F.; Takahashi, T. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 8785–8789; (h) Wang, C.; Lu, J.; Mao, G.; Xi, Z. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 5150–5156.
- (a) Xi, Z. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 2773–2781; see also: (b) Varela, J. A.; Saa, C. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 3787–3801; (c) Langer, P.; Freiberg, W. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 4125–4149; (d) Foubelo, F.; Yus, M. Curr. Org. Chem. 2005, 9, 459–490.
- 6. Wang, Z.; Fang, H.; Xi, Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 499–501.
- 7. Wang, Z.; Xi, Z. Synlett. 2006, 1275-1277.
- 8. Xi, Z. Top. Catal. 2005, 35, 63-71.
- 9. (a) Huang, Y.; Mo, X. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1995, *36*, 3539–3542;
 (b) Hill, J. E.; Balaich, G.; Fanwick, P. E.; Rothwell, I. P. *Organometallics* 1993, *12*, 2911–2924;
 (c) Reich, H. J.; Shah, S. K.; Chow, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, *101*, 6648–6656.

- For examples of tethered dienols as starting materials in intramolecular Diels-Alder reactions: (a) Bols, M.; Skrydstrup, T. *Chem. Rev.* **1995**, *95*, 1253–1277; (b) Stork, G.; Kim, G. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1992**, *114*, 1087–1088; (c) Stork, G.; Chan, T. T.; Breault, G. A. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1992**, *114*, 7578–7579; (d) Sieburth, S. M.; Fensterbank, L. *J. Org. Chem.* **1992**, *57*, 5279–5281.
- For preparation of mixed dihalobutadienes, see: Ubayama, H.; Xi, Z.; Takahashi, T. Chem. Lett. 1998, 517–518.
- Hodgson, D. M.; Fleming, M. J.; Stanway, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 12250–12251.
- 13. Takahashi, T.; Sun, W.; Xi, C.; Ubayama, H.; Xi, Z. *Tetrahedron* **1998**, *54*, 715–726.
- For preparative methods of 1-iodo-1,3-diene derivatives, see:
 (a) Takahashi, T.; Kondakov, D. Y.; Xi, Z.; Suzuki, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 5871–5872; (b) Ubayama, H.; Sun, W.; Xi, Z.; Takahashi, T. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1931–1932.
- (a) Xi, Z.; Guo, R.; Mito, S.; Yan, H.; Kanno, K.; Nakajima, K.; Takahashi, T. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 1252–1257; See also: (b) Olah, G. A.; Asensio, G.; Mayr, H. J. Org. Chem. 1978, 43, 1518–1520; (c) Deno, N. C.; Pittman, C. U., Jr.; Turner, J. O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1965, 87, 2153–2157.
- 16. The deposition number of **3e** at the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre: CCDC 295391.
- Zhao, C.; Li, P.; Cao, X.; Xi, Z. Chem.—Eur. J. 2002, 8, 4292– 4298.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6973-6980

Tetrahedron

'Two-point'-bound supramolecular complexes from semi-rigidified dipyridine receptors and zinc porphyrins

Chang-Zhi Li,^a Jiang Zhu,^b Zong-Quan Wu,^b Jun-Li Hou,^b Chuang Li,^b Xue-Bin Shao,^b Xi-Kui Jiang,^b Zhan-Ting Li,^{b,*} Xiang Gao^a and Quan-Rui Wang^{a,*}

^aDepartment of Chemistry, Fudan University, Shanghai 200433, China

^bState Key Laboratory of Bio-Organic and Natural Products Chemistry, Shanghai Institute of Organic Chemistry, Chinese Academy of Sciences, 354 Fenglin Lu, Shanghai 200032, China

> Received 20 March 2006; revised 20 April 2006; accepted 21 April 2006 Available online 19 May 2006

Abstract—Two linear compounds 1 and 2 have been designed and synthesized as new receptors for zinc porphyrins. Both compounds consist of two folded aromatic amide moieties, which are connected with an acetylene linker in 1 or directly in 2. The rigid conformations of their folded moieties are stabilized by intramolecular tri-centered hydrogen bonding, while the whole molecule adopts a 'S'- or 'C'-styled conformation depending on the relative orientation of the two rigid moieties. Two pyridine units are introduced at the ends of 1 and 2 for the complexation of zinc porphyrin guests. Although the ¹H NMR investigation indicated that both compounds can bind two zinc porphyrin guests at high concentrations (\geq 5 mM) in chloroform, the UV–vis studies revealed that, at low concentration of 1 and 2 (4 μ M), both compounds complex one zinc porphyrin guest to form structurally unique 'two-point'-bound 1:1 complexes. The association constants of the 1:1 complexes have been determined with the UV–vis titration experiments. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The coordination between zinc porphyrin-nitrogen ligand is one of the most used recognition motifs for supramolecular self-assembly.^{1,2} Since metal-free and zinc porphyrins have strong absorption bands in the visible light region, their remarkable photoelectronic properties have been utilized to build various supramolecular molecular devices. The coordination bond between zinc porphyrin and nitrogen ligand exchanges rapidly and most supramolecular complexes assembled based on this coordination motif are also dynamic. It is well known that porphyrin zinc is pentacoordinated and therefore can bind only one nitrogen ligand.³ Theoretically, for a symmetric zinc porphyrin, a nitrogen ligand can equally approach it from both sides of its skeleton macrocycle. However, the feature of pentacoordination implies that the central metal cannot simultaneously bind with two ligands. As a result, there always exists a dynamic equilibrium between the two processes.

Considering the great usefulness of the zinc porphyrinnitrogen ligand binding motif in molecular recognition and



* Corresponding authors. Tel.: +86 21 5492 5122; fax: +86 21 6416 6128; e-mail addresses: ztli@mail.sioc.ac.cn; grwang@fudan.edu.cn



supramolecular self-assembly, it would be of importance to develop suitable models to investigate this equilibrium.

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter \odot 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.082

We recently reported the self-assembly of a new series of foldamers,⁴ the folded or helical artificial secondary structures by making use of intramolecular hydrogen bonding as driving force.⁵ The shape-persistent folded structures have been used as new generation of scaffolds for the construction of nonring synthetic receptors, which can efficiently recognize saccharides,⁶ aliphatic ammonium,⁷ and fullerenes.⁸ In order to further explore the application of folded structures in molecular recognition, we had designed two hydrogen bonded semi-rigidified receptors **1** and **2**. In this paper, we report their synthesis and enhanced complexing properties to zinc porphyrins through an unique dynamic 'two-point' binding motif.

2. Results and discussion

The synthetic route of compound 1 is shown in Scheme 1. Thus, compound 7 was first prepared according to reported methods and then converted into 8 in 61% yield. The latter was coupled with 9 in dichloromethane in the presence of benzotriazol-1-yloxytris(dimethylamino)phosphonium hexafluorophosphate (BOP) to give 10 in 83% yield. Then, compound 12 was prepared by alkylation of 11 and followed by treatment with iodine in methanol to afford 13 in 89% yield. The Pd-catalyzed coupling reaction of 13 with acetylene in hot piperidine produced 14 in 83% yield. This diester was hydrolyzed to 15 and then coupled with 10 to give compound 1 in 88% yield.

For the synthesis of compound 2 (Scheme 2), compound 16 was first obtained in 71% yield from the Ullman's coupling reaction of 13 and then hydrolyzed with sodium hydroxide to afford diacid 17 in 98% yield. The latter was coupled with 10 in chloroform in the presence of BOP to produce 2 in 85% yield.

The three-centered intramolecular hydrogen bonding motif in compounds **1** and **2** has been established by the X-ray analysis and the ¹H NMR and IR spectroscopy.^{5b,8a,9} The ¹H NMR spectrum of **1** in chloroform-*d* is shown in Figure 1a. The aromatic signals of **1** have been assigned with the 2D NOESY and COSY techniques. It can be found that the two NH protons display two singlets (9.95 and 9.64 ppm, Fig. 1a) in the downfield area. The NH protons of **2** also appear in the downfield area (10.13 and 9.71 ppm, Fig. 1g). These results support that intramolecular hydrogen bonds are also present in both compounds. Due to the rotation of the acetylene unit in **1** and the biphenyl C–C bond in **2**, both compounds can in principle adopt a S- and C-styled conformations in solution. The fact that only one set of signals is observed in the ¹H NMR spectra suggests that the two conformations are in rapid exchange.





Scheme 1.



Scheme 2.



Figure 1. Partial ¹H NMR spectrum (400 MHz, 5 mM) of (a) 1, (b) 1+18 (0.1 equiv), (c) 1+18 (1 equiv), (d) 1+18 (2 equiv), (e) 1+18 (4 equiv), (f) 18, (g) 2, and (h) 21 in chloroform-*d* at 25 °C.

Adding zinc porphyrin 18 to the solution of 1 in chloroformd caused remarkable upfield shifting of the signals of several aromatic protons of 1 (Fig. 1b-e). For example, upon addition of 1 equiv of 18, the NH-1 signal moved from 9.64 to 9.27 ppm, and the H-4 signal shifted from 6.93 to 6.28 ppm. In addition, obviously due to the complexationinduced shielding effect of 18, the signals of H-3 and H-5 of 1 disappeared in the presence of 18 (Fig. 1c-e). Pronounced upfield shifting was also displayed for the pyrrole protons (-0.12 ppm) of **18** as a result of complexation with 1 (Fig. 1c,f). With the addition of more amount of 18, the above signals of 1 further shifted upfield (Fig. 1d,e). This result may reflect continual approach to complexation saturation or the possibility that both pyridine units of 1 were bound to 18 to form a 1:2 complex. Similar results were also observed for the system of 2 and 18 in chloroform-d.

The complexation behavior of 1 and 2 with zinc porphyrin 18 and 19 in chloroform was then investigated by the UV– vis spectroscopy. As examples, the plots of the change of the UV–vis absorbance of 18 and 19 with the incremental addition of 1 are provided in Figures 2 and 3. Remarkable bathochromic effect was exhibited by both porphyrins, indicating strong intermolecular coordination. The Job's plot,



Figure 2. The change of the absorption spectra of $18 (4.0 \times 10^{-6} \text{ M})$ with the addition of 1 (0-600 equiv) in chloroform at 25 °C (inset: plot of the absorption of 18 at 422 [\blacksquare] and 431 [\bullet] nm vs [1]).



Figure 3. The change of the absorption spectra of **19** $(4.0 \times 10^{-6} \text{ M})$ with the addition of **1** (0-520 equiv) in chloroform at 25 °C (inset: plot of the absorption of **19** at 422 [\blacksquare] and 431 [\bigcirc] nm vs [**1**]).

based on the UV-vis experiments as shown in Figure 4 with the 1:18 system as an example, revealed maximum change in absorbance at $[1]/([1]+[18])\approx 0.5$, supporting a 1:1 stoichiometry.¹⁰ In addition, all the UV-vis titration spectra display a clear isobestic point for the Soret band and the Q-band, also suggesting a 1:1 binding mode.^{3a} It is obviously unreasonable to assume that only one pyridine unit of 1 or 2 was coordinated with the zinc porphyrin. Therefore, a 'two-point' binding motif should be formed for the complexes of such kind of shape-persistent two-pyridine derivatives with zinc porphyrin receptors. Figure 5 shows such kind of binding mode, with 1 as example of the two-pyridine molecules.

The association constant (K_a) of complexes 1.18, 1.19, 2.18, and 2.19 was then evaluated by fitting their UV–vis titration data, obtained in chloroform, to a 1:1 binding mode,^{8,11} which gave a value of 9.8 (± 0.4)×10², 5.3 (± 0.2)×10³, 3.5 (± 0.2)×10², and 2.8 (± 0.1)×10³ M⁻¹, respectively. Although in principle the coordinating ability of



Figure 4. Job's plot of 1 versus 18, revealing a maximum change of absorbance at 418 nm at 1:18=0.5 ([1]+[18]= 5×10^{-6} M in chloroform at 25 °C).



Figure 5. Proposed 'two-point' binding mode for the complex of 1 with a zinc porphyrin receptor.

octa-*tert*-butylated zinc porphyrin **18** is greater than **19** due to the electron-donating ability of the alkyl groups, the K_a of the complexes of **18** is pronouncedly smaller than the corresponding complexes of **19**. This result maybe rationalized by considering the increased steric hindrance of **18** relative to **19**, which reduces its binding affinity.

In order to detect whether this 'two-point' binding mode increases the stability of the corresponding complexes, compound 21 also was prepared (Scheme 3). Thus, compound 14 was first hydrolyzed with potassium hydroxide to give 20 in 52% yield. The acid was then reacted with 10 in chloroform with BOP as a coupling reagent to afford 21 in 85% yield. As expected, the ¹H NMR spectrum in chloroform-dshowed two peaks for the NH protons in the downfield area (Fig. 1h), supporting the existence of intramolecular hydrogen bonding in 21. On the basis of the UV-vis titration experiments, the K_a of complexes $18 \cdot 21$ and $19 \cdot 21$ in chloroform was determined to be 4.6 $(\pm 0.1) \times 10^2$ and 1.2 $(\pm 0.1) \times 10^3 \text{ M}^{-1}$. These values are pronouncedly smaller than those of the corresponding complexes $1 \cdot 18$ and $1 \cdot 19$. These results indicate that the existence of the second pyridine unit in 1 promotes the stability of the complexes.





Because the UV–vis experiments were performed at very low concentration of porphyrin receptors, the 1:1 binding mode revealed by the UV–vis investigations is not in conflict with the above ¹H NMR observation that both pyridine units of **1** and **2** may bind a zinc porphyrin to form a 1:2 complex. The concentration of the samples for the ¹H NMR experiments is obviously higher than that necessary for the UV–vis experiments. Therefore, a three-component complex maybe produced. At enough lowered concentration, the percentage of such three-component complexes maybe reduced to be ignorable and, as a result, only the formation of 1:1 complexes can be detected.

Because zinc porphyrin is of pentacoordination, the twopyridine nitrogen atoms of 1 and 2 cannot bind with the porphyrin moiety simultaneously. Therefore, a dynamic equilibrium should exist for the 'two-point'-bonded 1:1 complexes as shown in Figure 6. Reducing the temperature of the 1:1 solution of 1 or 2 with 18 or 19 in chloroform-*d* to 0 °C caused important shifting of several aromatic signals of both components, but no splitting of the signals was observed. This result indicates that, within the studied temperature range, the exchange process shown in Figure 6 is quick on the ¹H NMR time scale. Further experiments at lowered temperature could not be performed due to the reduced solubility of 1 and 2, therefore at the present stage we cannot determine the activation energy for this dynamic process.



Figure 6. Dynamic process for the proposed 'two-point' binding mode for the complexes of 1 and 2 with zinc porphyrin guest.

3. Conclusion

In summary, we have reported the synthesis of a new series of semi-rigidified bipyridine receptors and their binding behavior toward zinc porphyrins. At high concentration, the new receptors can complex with two zinc porphyrin molecules to form 1:2 complexes, while at sufficiently lowered concentration, only 1:1 complexes are formed. Quantitative UV–vis experiments reveal that, for the 1:1 complexes, the existence of the second pyridine increases the stability of the complexes, which leads to the formation of an unique 'two-point' binding mode. Further work will focus on the design of more rigidified bipyridine receptors to quantitatively investigate the dynamic binding process of the 'two-point'-bound complexes.

4. Experimental

4.1. General methods

The ¹H NMR spectra were recorded on 400 or 300 MHz spectrometer in the indicated solvents. Chemical shifts are expressed in parts per million using residual solvent protons as internal standards. Chloroform (7.27 ppm) was used as an internal standard for chloroform-*d*. Elemental analysis was carried out at the SIOC Analytical Center. Unless otherwise indicated, all commercially available materials were used as received. All solvents were dried before use by following standard procedures. All reactions were carried out under an atmosphere of nitrogen. Silica gel (1–4 μ) was used for column chromatography. Compounds 4,¹² 5,¹³ 6,¹⁴ 7,¹⁵ 9,¹⁶ 18,¹⁷ and 19¹⁸ were prepared according to reported methods. The methods for the determination of association constants have been reported in previous papers.⁸

4.1.1. 4-(2-(2-Methoxy)ethoxy)nicotinic acid (8). A suspension of sodium (0.84 g, 36.0 mmol) in 2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethanol (10 mL) was stirred at 90 °C until a clear solution was formed. Compound 7 (1.40 g, 9.00 mmol) was then added in one portion. The reaction mixture was stirred at 90 °C for 3 h and then poured into ice water (50 mL). The solution was extracted with dichloromethane $(20 \text{ mL} \times 3)$. The aqueous phase was then concentrated under reduced pressure to about 10 mL and the resulting mixture was acidified with hydrochloric acid (5 N) to pH=3. The precipitate formed was filtered, washed with cold water, ether, dried in vacuo, and then recrystallized from ethanol to give compound 8 as a white solid (1.32 g, 61%). ¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆): 3.20 (s, 3H), 3.40–3.43 (m, 2H), 3.58– 3.61 (m, 2H), 3.79 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 2H), 4.45 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 2H), 7.62 (d, J=6.0 Hz, 1H), 8.78 (d, J=6.0 Hz, 1H), 8.92 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (DMSO): 57.99, 68.08, 69.86, 70.72, 71.19, 111.68, 119.65, 144.10, 145.60, 162.88, 168.51. MS (ESI): m/z 242 [M+H]⁺. Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₅NO₅: C, 54.77; H, 6.27; N, 5.81. Found: C, 54.35; H, 6.14; N, 5.88.

4.1.2. *N*-(**5**-Amino-2,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-4-(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)nicotinamide (10). To a solution of compound **8** (0.60 g, 2.48 mmol) and **9** (0.82 g, 4.48 mmol) in dichloromethane (50 mL) were added BOP (1.32 g, 2.98 mmol), DMAP (20 mg), and triethylamine (1 mL). The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 8 h and diluted with dichloromethane (50 mL). The solution

was washed with 10% aqueous Na₂CO₃ (30 mL \times 2), water (30 mL), brine (30 mL), and dried over sodium sulfate. Upon removal of the solvent in vacuo, the crude product was purified by column chromatography (CH₂Cl₂/MeOH 50:1) to afford compound 10 as a black powder (0.80 g,83%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): 3.31 (s, 3H), 3.46–3.49 (m, 2H), 3.66-3.69 (m, 2H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 4.02 (t, J=4.5 Hz, 2H), 4.48 (t, J=4.5 Hz, 2H), 6.51 (s, 1H), 7.01 (d, J=6.0 Hz, 1H), 8.04 (s, 1H), 8.59 (d, J=6.0 Hz, 1H), 9.32 (s, 1H), 9.77 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): 56.05, 56.96, 59.00, 68.60, 68.87, 70.83, 71.91, 97.23, 107.56, 109.16, 118.38, 121.55, 129.78, 141.85, 143.62, 153.57, 154.11, 161.20, 162.30, IR (film): 3359, 2925, 1657, 1583, 1538, 1506, 1486, 1456, 1331, 1264, 1199, 1108, 1033 cm⁻¹. MS (EI): m/z 391 [M]⁺. Anal. Calcd for C₁₉H₂₅N₃O₆: C, 58.30; H, 6.44; N, 10.74. Found: C, 58.42; H, 6.51; N, 10.51.

4.1.3. Methyl 2-(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)benzoate (12). A suspension of compound 11 (4.85 g, 30.0 mmol), anhydrous K₂CO₃ (4.97 g, 36.0 mmol), and 2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethyl tosylate³ (8.22 g, 30.0 mmol) in acetonitrile (100 mL) was stirred under reflux for 7 h and then cooled to room temperature. The solid was filtered off and the filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure. The resulting residue was triturated with ethyl acetate (100 mL) and the solution was washed with hydrochloric acid (1 N, 30 mL \times 2), aqueous Na₂CO₃ solution (10%, 30 mL \times 2), brine (30 mL), and dried over sodium sulfate. Upon removal of the solvent in vacuo, the crude product was purified by column chromatography (petroleum ether/EtOAc 3:1) to afford compound 12 as colorless oil (6.00 g, 79%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): 3.39 (s, 3H), 3.55–3.59 (m, 2H), 3.76–3.80 (m, 2H), 4.37–4.41 (m, 5H), 4.22 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 2H), 6.96– 7.02 (m, 2H), 7.42–7.45 (m, 1H), 7.79 (d, J=7.8 Hz, 1H). MS (EI): *m/z* 254 [M]⁺. Anal. Calcd for C₁₃H₁₈O₅: C, 61.40; H, 7.14. Found C, 61.34; H, 7.08.

4.1.4. Methyl 5-iodo-2-(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)benzoate (13). A suspension of compound 12 (5.90 g, 23.0 mmol), iodine (6.32 g, 25.0 mmol), and silver sulfate (6.98 g, 27.0 mmol) in dry methanol (100 mL) was stirred at room temperature for 0.5 h. After the solid was filtered off, the filtrate was evaporated in vacuo. The resulting residue was dissolved in dichloromethane (100 mL) and the solution was washed with saturated aqueous sodium bicarbonate solution (30 mL \times 2), water (30 mL), brine (30 mL), and dried over sodium sulfate. Upon removal of the solvent in vacuo, the crude product was purified by column chromatography (petroleum ether/EtOAc 3:1) to afford compound 13 as colorless oil (7.78 g, 89%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): 3.39 (s, 3H), 3.54–3.58 (m, 2H), 3.73–3.76 (m, 2H), 3.87–3.91 (m, 5H), 4.18 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 2H), 6.77 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 1H), 7.65 (dd, J_1 =9.0 Hz, J_2 =2.1 Hz, 1H), 8.05 (d, J=2.1 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): 51.96, 58.86, 69.00, 69.31, 70.76, 71.82, 82.07, 115.96, 122.68, 139.79, 141.72, 158.07, 164.97. IR (film): 2953, 2923, 1728, 1607, 1487, 1434, 1281, 1225, 1081, 1063, 809, 783 cm⁻¹. MS (EI): m/z 380 $[M]^+$. Anal. Calcd for $C_{13}H_{17}IO_5$: C, 41.07; H, 4.51. Found: C, 41.57; H, 4.79.

4.1.5. Dimethyl 5,5'-(ethyne-1,2-diyl)bis(2-(2-(2-meth-oxyethoxy)ethoxy)benzoate) (14). A suspension of 13

(1.14 g, 3 mmol), Pd(PPh)₃ (0.17 g, 0.15 mmol), and CuI (57 mg, 0.30 mmol) in dry piperidine (50 mL) was stirred at 35 °C. When the reaction mixture turned to orange from green, acetylene gas was introduced with a rubber balloon. The mixture was stirred under acetylene atmosphere at 80 °C for 0.2 h. The precipitate was filtered off and the filtrate was evaporated in vacuo. The resulting residue was triturated in ethyl acetate (50 mL) and the solution was washed with hydrochloric acid (1 N, 20 mL \times 2), water (30 mL), brine (30 mL), and dried over sodium sulfate. Upon removal of the solvent under reduced pressure, the crude product was purified by column chromatography (petroleum ether/ EtOAc 2:1) to afford 14 as yellow oil (0.66 g, 83%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): 3.39 (s, 6H), 3.58-3.54 (m, 4H), 3.79-3.74 (m, 4H), 3.92–3.87 (m, 10H), 4.18 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 4H), 6.77 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H), 7.65 (dd, $J_1=9.0$ Hz, $J_2=2.1$ Hz, 2H), 8.05 (d, J=2.1 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): 51.93, 58.92, 68.95, 69.41, 70.87, 71.92, 87.61, 113.64, 115.45, 120.77, 128.36, 128.46, 131.86, 131.95, 132.03, 134.86, 136.15, 158.08, 165.75. IR (film): 2926, 2878, 1732, 1610, 1504, 1451, 1437, 1277, 1244, 1145, 1110, 1081, 1053, 820 cm⁻¹. MS (EI): *m/z* 531 [M]⁺. Anal. Calcd for C₂₈H₃₄O₁₀: C, 63.39; H, 6.46. Found: C, 63.43; H, 6.21.

4.1.6. 5,5'-(Ethyne-1,2-divl)bis(2-(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)benzoic acid) (15). To a solution of 14 (0.60 g. 1.10 mmol) in methanol (15 mL) and water (5 mL) was added sodium hydroxide (0.40 g, 10.0 mmol). The mixture was stirred under reflux for 4 h and then concentrated to about 5 mL. The residue was acidified with hydrochloric acid to pH=3 and the resulting precipitate was filtered, washed with cold water, ether, and dried in vacuo. The crude product was then recrystallized from ethanol to give compound 15 as a white solid (0.54 g, 97%). ¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆): 3.22 (s, 6H), 3.44–3.40 (m, 4H), 3.63–3.59 (m, 4H), 3.74 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 4H), 4.18 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 4H), 7.16 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H), 7.63 (dd, $J_1=9.0$ Hz, $J_2=2.1$ Hz, 2H), 7.74 (d, J=2.1 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (DMSO- d_6): 58.00, 68.59, 68.64, 69.83, 71.26, 87.58, 114.15, 122.25, 133.33, 135.48, 157.16, 166.36. MS (ESI): m/z 503 $[M+H]^+$. Anal. Calcd for $C_{26}H_{30}O_{10}$: C, 62.14; H, 6.02. Found: C, 62.38; H, 6.03.

4.1.7. N-(5-(5-((3-(2,4-Dimethoxy-5-(4-(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)nicotinamido)phenylcarbamoyl)-4-(2-(2methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)phenyl)ethynyl)-2-(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)benzamido)-2,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-N-(2-(2-methoxy)ethoxy)nicotinamide (1). To a solution of 10 (212 mg, 0.54 mmol) and 15 (134 mg, 0.27 mmol) in dichloromethane (30 mL) were added BOP (0.26 g, 0.59 mmol), DMAP (20 mg), and triethylamine (0.1 mL). The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 6 h and then diluted with dichloromethane (50 mL). The solution was then washed with aqueous Na₂CO₃ solution (10%, 30 mL×2), water (30 mL), brine (30 mL), and dried over sodium sulfate. Upon removal of the solvent in vacuo, the crude product was purified by column chromatography (CH₂Cl₂/MeOH 30:1, then 10:1) to afford compound 1 as a pale yellow solid (0.29 g, 86%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): 3.29 (s, 12H), 3.43-3.47 (m, 8H), 3.67-3.71 (m, 8H), 3.94 (s, 12H), 4.00-4.03 (m, 8H), 4.41-4.50 (m, 8H), 6.53 (s, 2H), 7.00-7.02 (m, 4H), 7.58 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H), 8.47-8.50 (m, 4H), 9.32-9.37 (m, 4H), 9.64 (s, 2H), 9.95 (s, 2H).

¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): 56.30, 59.03, 68.58, 68.91, 69.18, 70.76, 70.84, 71.96, 88.12, 95.67, 107.61, 113.26, 116.92, 120.45, 120.90, 122.94, 135.66, 135.98, 146.57, 146.83, 153.30, 154.23, 156.28, 161.17, 162.01, 162.43. MS (MALDI-TOF): m/z 1250 [M]⁺, 1272 [M+Na-H]⁺. HRMS (MALDI-TOF) Calcd for C₆₄H₇₇N₆O₂₀ [M-H]⁺: 1249.5171. Found: 1249.5187.

4.1.8. Dimethyl 4,4'-bis(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)biphenyl-3,3'-dicarboxylate (16). An intimate mixture of 13 (1.76 g, 4.60 mmol) and activated copper bronze⁴ (3.50 g, 55.0 mmol) was covered with a thin layer of copper bronze and heated at 210-220 °C (internal temperature) for 4.5 h and then cooled to room temperature. The mixture was triturated with hot ethyl acetate (50 mL) and the organic phase was worked up. Upon removal of the solvent in vacuo, the crude product was purified by column chromatography (ethyl acetate) to afford 16 as colorless oil (0.83 g, 71%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): 3.40 (s, 6H), 3.57–3.60 (m, 4H), 3.77– 3.80 (m, 4H), 3.91-3.95 (m, 10H), 4.26 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 4H), 7.05 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H), 7.64 (dd, $J_1=9.0$ Hz, $J_2=2.1$ Hz, 2H), 7.99 (d, J=2.1 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): 51.93, 58.95, 69.12, 69.54, 70.86, 71.94, 114.27, 121.01, 129.66, 131.30, 132.20, 157.59, 166.57. IR (film): 2925, 2878, 1725, 1610, 1490, 1437, 1285, 1238, 1085, 1066, 1029, 924, 814, 786 cm⁻¹. MS (ESI): m/z 507 [M+H]⁺. Anal. Calcd for C₂₆H₃₄O₁₀: C, 61.65; H, 6.77. Found: C, 61.64; H, 7.02.

4.1.9. 4,4'-Bis(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)biphenyl-3,3'dicarboxylic acid (17). To a solution of 16 (0.70 g, 1.40 mmol) in methanol (20 mL) and water (5 ml) was added sodium hydroxide (0.40 g, 10 mmol). The mixture was stirred under reflux for 4 h and then concentrated to about 5 mL. The resulting residue was acidified with hydrochloric acid to pH=3 and then filtered. The solid was washed with cold water, ether, dried in vacuo, and then recrystallized from ethanol to give 17 as a white solid (0.66 g, 98%). 1 H NMR (DMSO-d₆): 3.22 (s, 6H), 3.33–3.44 (m, 4H), 3.59– 3.75 (m, 4H), 3.75 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 4H), 4.18 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 4H), 7.16 (d, J=9.0 Hz, 2H), 7.63 (dd, $J_1=9.0$ Hz, $J_2=2.1$ Hz, 2H), 7.74 (d, J=2.1 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (DMSO-d₆): 58.00, 68.64, 68.73, 69.82, 71.26, 114.49, 122.19, 128.03, 130.43, 131.05, 156.51, 167.08. MS (MALDI-TOF): m/z 478 [M]⁺. Anal. Calcd for C₂₄H₃₀O₁₀: C, 60.24; H, 6.32. Found: C, 60.12; H, 6.43.

4.1.10. N³, N³'-Bis(2,4-dimethoxy-5-(4-(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)nicotinamido)phenyl)-4,4'-bis(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)biphenyl-3,3'-dicarboxamide (2). To a solution of **10** (0.20 g, 0.51 mmol) and **17** (0.12 g, 0.25 mmol) in dichloromethane (30 mL) were added BOP (0.25 g, 0.55 mmol), DMAP (20 mg), and triethylamine (0.1 mL). The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 6 h and then diluted with dichloromethane (50 mL). The solution was washed with aqueous Na₂CO₃ solution (10%, 30 mL×2), water (30 mL), brine (30 mL), and dried over sodium sulfate. Upon removal of the solvent in vacuo, the crude product was purified by column chromatography (CH₂Cl₂/MeOH 30:1, then 10:1) to afford 2 as pale yellow solid (0.26 g, 85%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): 3.28 (s, 6H), 3.30 (s, 6H), 3.46-3.52 (m, 8H), 3.69-3.73 (m, 8H), 3.96 (s, 6H), 3.99 (s, 6H), 4.02–4.07 (m, 8H), 4.46–4.53 (m, 8H),

6.58 (s, 2H), 7.03 (d, J=6.0 Hz, 2H), 7.13 (d, J=8.6 Hz, 2H), 7.80 (dd, J_1 =8.6 Hz, J_2 =2.4 Hz, 2H), 8.57 (d, J=6.0 Hz, 2H), 8.62 (d, J=2.4 Hz, 2H), 9.37 (s, 2H), 9.48 (s, 2H), 9.67 (s, 2H), 10.13 (s, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): 56.33, 56.35, 59.04, 68.53, 68.91, 69.27, 70.74, 70.84, 71.95, 71.97, 95.79, 107.53, 109.01, 113.74, 116.71, 118.42, 120.56, 121.31, 122.93, 130.58, 130.96, 133.29, 141.64, 146.34, 146.70, 153.43, 154.42, 155.87, 161.20, 162.35, 162.75, 164.21. IR (film): 3358, 2885, 1661, 1615, 1583, 1549, 1484, 1470, 1424, 1337, 1308, 1277, 1243, 1222, 1202, 1109, 1030, 921, 813. MS (MALDI-TOF): m/z 1225 [M+H]⁺, 1247 [M+Na]⁺. HRMS (MALDI-TOF) Calcd for C₆₂H₇₇N₆O₂₀ [M+H]⁺: 1225.5165. Found: 1225.5187.

4.1.11. 5-((3-(Methoxycarbonyl)-4-(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)phenyl)ethynyl)-2-(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)benzoic acid (20). To a solution of 14 (0.40 g, 0.76 mmol) in methanol (20 mL) was added potassium hydroxide (52 mg, 0.76 mmol). The reaction mixture was stirred at reflux for 6 h. After normal work up, the crude product was purified by column chromatography (CH₂Cl₂/MeOH 30:1) to afford **20** as colorless oil (0.22 g, 56%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃): 3.31 (s, 3H), 3.32 (s, 3H), 3.49-3.53 (m, 4H), 3.64-3.71 (m, 4H), 3.82 (s, 3H), 3.82–3.87 (m, 4H), 4.17 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 2H), 4.33 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 2H), 6.89–6.96 (m, 2H), 7.49–7.59 (m, 2H), 7.89 (s, 1H), 8.23 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): 52.10, 59.07, 59.12, 68.63, 69.01, 69.33, 69.50, 70.78, 70.97, 71.88, 72.00, 87.06, 88.59, 113.64, 113.69, 115.18, 117.86, 120.79, 136.08, 136.39, 136.82, 137.32, 156.94, 158.35. IR (film): 2926, 2880, 1732, 1610, 1503, 1453, 1416, 1275, 1244, 1109, 1083, 1047, 917, 821. MS (ESI): m/z 517 [M+H]⁺. Anal. Calcd for C₂₇H₃₂O₁₀: C, 62.78; H, 6.24. Found: C, 62.64; H, 6.02.

4.1.12. Methyl 5-((3-(2,4-dimethoxy-5-(4-(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)nicotinamido)phenylcarbamoyl)-4-(2-(2methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)phenyl)ethynyl)-2-(2-(2-methoxyethoxy)ethoxy)benzoate (21). To a solution of 10 (74 mg, 0.19 mmol) and 20 (0.10 g, 0.19 mmol) in dichloromethane (30 mL) were added BOP (0.10 g, 0.23 mmol), DMAP (20 mg), and triethylamine (0.1 mL). The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 6 h and then diluted with dichloromethane (50 mL). The solution was washed with aqueous Na₂CO₃ solution (10%, 30 mL \times 2), water (30 mL), brine (30 mL), and dried over sodium sulfate. Upon removal of the solvent in vacuo, the crude product was purified by column chromatography (CH₂Cl₂/MeOH 30:1) to afford **21** as pale yellow solid (136 mg, 80%). 1 H NMR (CDCl₃): 3.27 (s, 6H), 3.37 (s, 3H), 3.42-3.47 (m, 4H), 3.54–3.57 (m, 2H), 3.63–3.68 (m, 4H), 3.73–3.76 (m, 2H), 3.87-3.92 (m, 8H), 3.94-4.00 (m, 4H), 4.22 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 2H), 4.35-4.42 (m, 4H), 6.44 (s, 1H), 6.88 (d, J=6.0 Hz, 2H), 6.94–6.98 (m, 2H), 7.51 (dd, $J_1=8.6$ Hz, $J_2=2.4$ Hz, 1H), 7.57 (dd, $J_1=8.6$ Hz, $J_2=2.4$ Hz, 2H), 7.95 (d, J=2.4 Hz, 1H), 8.43-8.54 (m, 2H), 9.33 (br, 1H), 9.42 (s, 1H), 9.64 (s, 1H), 9.92 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): 52.03, 56.30, 59.03, 68.68, 68.88, 69.02, 69.15, 69.50, 70.75, 70.82, 70.96, 71.93, 72.01, 87.80, 88.02, 95.65, 113.17, 113.72, 115.69, 116.82, 116.94, 120.43, 120.77, 122.94, 134.98, 135.44, 136.16, 136.37, 146.55, 146.88, 156.29, 158.14, 161.03, 162.00, 165.84. IR (film): 3359, 2884, 1732, 1666, 1614, 1584, 1544, 1503, 1468, 1272, 1242, 1202, 1108, 1086, 1030, 918, 821 cm⁻¹. MS (MALDI-TOF): m/z 912 [M+Na]⁺. HRMS (MALDI-TOF) Calcd for C₄₆H₅₅N₃O₁₅Na [M+Na]⁺: 912.3553. Found: 912.3525.

Acknowledgements

We thank the National Natural Science Foundation of China (20321202, 20372080, 20332040, 20425208, 20572126) for financial support.

References and notes

- (a) Harvey, P. D. *The Porphyrin Handbook*; Kadish, K. M., Smith, K. M., Guilard, R., Eds.; Elsevier Science: New York, NY, 2003; Vol. 18, pp 63–250; (b) Chambron, J.-C.; Heitz, V.; Sauvage, J.-P. *The Porphyrin Handbook*; Kadish, K. M., Smith, J. M., Guilard, R., Eds.; Academic: New York, NY, 2000; Vol. 6, pp 1–42.
- (a) Drain, C. M.; Goldberg, I.; Sylvain, I.; Falber, A. *Top. Curr. Chem.* 2005, 245, 55–88; (b) Satake, A.; Kobuke, Y. *Tetrahedron* 2005, 61, 13–41; (c) Konishi, T.; Ikeda, A.; Shinkai, S. *Tetrahedron* 2005, 61, 4881–4899; (d) Gunter, M. J. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2004, 1655–1673; (e) Burrell, A. K.; Officer, D. L.; Plieger, P. G.; Reid, D. C. W. *Chem. Rev.* 2001, 101, 2751–2796.
- (a) Sanders, J. K. M. *The Porphyrin Handbook*; Kadish, K. M., Smith, J. M., Guilard, R., Eds.; Academic: New York, NY, 2000; Vol. 3, pp 347–368; (b) Sanders, J. K. M. *Comprehensive Supramolecular Chemistry*; Atwood, J. L., Davies, J. E. D., MacNicol, D. D., Vögtle, F., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1996; Vol. 9, pp 131–164.
- (a) Gellman, S. H. Acc. Chem. Res. 1998, 31, 173–180; (b) Cubberley, M. S.; Iverson, B. L. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2001, 5, 650–653; (c) Hill, D. J.; Mio, M. J.; Prince, R. B.; Hughes, T. S.; Moore, J. S. Chem. Rev. 2001, 101, 3893– 4011; (d) Schmuck, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 2448–2451; (e) Sanford, A. R.; Gong, B. Curr. Org. Chem. 2003, 7, 1649–1659; (f) Huc, I. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 17– 29; (g) Cheng, R. P. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 2004, 14, 512– 520; (h) Sanford, A. R.; Yamato, K.; Yang, X.; Yuan, L.; Han, Y.; Gong, B. Eur. J. Biochem. 2004, 271, 1416–1425; (i) Licini, G.; Prins, L. J.; Scrimin, P. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 969–977; (j) Stone, M. T.; Heemstra, J. M.; Moore, J. S. Acc. Chem. Res. 2006, 39, 11–20.
- (a) Wu, Z.-Q.; Jiang, X.-K.; Zhu, S.-Z.; Li, Z.-T. Org. Lett.
 2004, 6, 229–232; (b) Zhu, J.; Wang, X.-Z.; Chen, Y.-Q.; Jiang, X.-K.; Chen, X.-Z.; Li, Z.-T. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 6221–6227.
- 6. (a) Hou, J.-L.; Shao, X.-B.; Chen, G.-J.; Zhou, Y.-X.; Jiang, X.-K.; Li, Z.-T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2004, *126*, 12386–12394;
 (b) Yi, H.-P.; Shao, X.-B.; Hou, J.-L.; Li, C.; Jiang, X.-K.; Li, Z.-T. *New J. Chem.* 2005, *29*, 1213–1218.
- 7. (a) Li, C.; Ren, S.-F.; Hou, J.-L.; Yi, H.-P.; Zhu, S.-Z.; Jiang, X.-K.; Li, Z.-T. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* 2005, 44, 5725–5729;
 (b) Yi, H.-P.; Li, C.; Hou, J.-L.; Jiang, X.-K.; Li, Z.-T. *Tetrahedron* 2005, 61, 7974–7980.
- (a) Wu, Z.-Q.; Shao, X.-B.; Li, C.; Hou, J.-L.; Wang, K.; Jiang, X.-K.; Li, Z.-T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 17460–17468; (b) Hou, J.-L.; Yi, H.-P.; Shao, X.-B.; Li, C.; Wu, Z.-Q.; Jiang, X.-K.; Wu, L.-Z.; Tung, C.-H.; Li, Z.-T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 796–800.

- 9. Gong, B. Chem.-Eur. J. 2001, 7, 4337-4342.
- 10. Job, P. Ann. Chim., Ser. 10 1928, 9, 113-116.
- 11. Conners, K. A. Binding Constants: The Measurement of Molecular Complex Stability; Wiley: New York, NY, 1987.
- Bremner, D. H.; Sturrock, K. R.; Wishart, G.; Mitchell, S. R.; Nicoll, S. M.; Jones, G. Synth. Commun. 1997, 27, 1535–1542.
- 13. Irani, R. J.; SantaLucia, J. Nucleosides Nucleotides 2002, 21, 737–752.
- 14. Taylor, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1956, 78, 214-216.
- 15. Badger, R. Aust. J. Chem. 1964, 17, 1399-1404.
- Hamuro, Y.; Geib, S. J.; Hamilton, A. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 10587–10593.
- 17. Crossley, M. J.; Thordarson, P.; Wu, R. A.-S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2001, 2294–2302.
- 18. Ostrowski, S.; Lopuszynska, B. Synth. Commun. 2003, 33, 4101–4110.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6981-6989

New antitumor sesquiterpenoids from Santalum album of Indian origin

Tae Hoon Kim,^a Hideyuki Ito,^{a,*} Tsutomu Hatano,^a Junko Takayasu,^b Harukuni Tokuda,^b Hoyoku Nishino,^b Takahisa Machiguchi^c and Takashi Yoshida^d

^aPharmaceutical Sciences, Okayama University Graduate School of Medicine, Dentistry and Pharmaceutical Sciences,

^bDepartment of Molecular Biochemistry, Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine, Kamigyo-ku, Kyoto 602-0842, Japan ^cFaculty of Science, Saitama University, Sakura-ku, Saitama 338-8570, Japan

^dFaculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Matsuyama University, Bunkyo-chou, Matsuyama, 790-8578, Japan

Received 10 March 2006; revised 20 April 2006; accepted 21 April 2006 Available online 30 May 2006

Abstract—Three new campherenane-type (1, 4, 7) and three new santalane-type (9, 11, 12) sesquiterpenoids, and two aromatic glycosides (21, 22) together with 12 known metabolites including α,β -santalols $(14, 18), (E)-\alpha,\beta$ -santalals $(15, 19), \alpha,\beta$ -santaldiols $(16, 20), \alpha$ -santalenoic acid (17), and vanillic acid 4-*O*-neohesperidoside were isolated from *Santalum album* chips of Indian origin. The structures of the new compounds, including absolute configurations, were elucidated by 1D- and 2D-NMR spectroscopic and chemical methods. The antitumor promoting activity of these isolates along with several neolignans previously isolated from the same source was evaluated for both in vitro Epstein–Barr virus early antigen (EBV-EA) activation and in vivo two-stage carcinogenesis assays. Among them, compound 1 exhibited a potent inhibitory effect on EBV-EA activation, and also strongly suppressed two-stage carcinogenesis on mouse skin. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The plants belonging to the genus Santalum (Santalaceae), which are evergreen parasitic trees and consist of about 25 species, are distributed throughout India, Indonesia, Malaysia, and Australia.¹ Their essential oil (sandalwood oil) is widely used in the cosmetic, perfumery, and aromatherapy industries and has been reported to have various biological properties such as antiviral,² anticarcinogenesis,³ and antitumor effects.^{4,5} Among the reported constituents including sesquiterpenoids, triterpenoids,⁶⁻¹¹ and phenylpropanoids, ¹² α -santalol, which is one of the major components in most species of the Santalum genus, is responsible for most of the activity of the oil. α -Santalol has particularly attracted increasing attention for its neuroleptic prop-erty^{13–15} and chemopreventive effect^{16–17} in in vitro and in vivo bioassay systems. In our continuing study on minor constituents of the heartwood of Indian S. album, grown in the Mysore district, which is known as the best tree producing sandalwood,¹⁸ we reported the isolation and characterization of new neolignans¹⁹ and bisabolol-related sesquiterpenoids.²⁰ Upon further investigation of the same plant, we have isolated and characterized six new sesquiterpenoids and two new phenolic glycosides, together with 12 known compounds that were structurally related to campherenane and santalane skeletons. We report herein the isolation and structure elucidation of the new compounds, and their inhibitory effect on EBV-EA activation in Raji cells, which is used as a convenient in vitro assay for assessing antitumor promoting activity. In vivo antitumor promoting activity was also evaluated by two-stage mouse skin carcinogenesis test.

2. Results and discussion

A methanol extract of chopped heartwood of *S. album* was divided into *n*-hexane-, ethyl acetate-, and water-soluble portions by solvent partition. The combination of chromatographic separation of the *n*-hexane, ethyl acetate, and water-soluble extracts gave eight new compounds (**1**, **4**, **7**, **9**, **11**, **12**, **21**, and **22**) and 12 known metabolites, 2α ,12-dihydroxy-10(*Z*)-campherene (**2**),²¹ 2 β ,12-dihydroxy-10 (*Z*)-campherene (**2**),²¹ 2 β ,12-dihydroxy-10 (*Z*)-campherene (**5**),²¹ 10(*Z*)-sandalnol (**10**),²¹ 10(*Z*)-neosandalnol (**13**),²¹ α -santalol (**14**),^{15,22} (*E*)- α -santalal (**15**),¹¹ α -santaldiol (**16**),²³ α -santalenoic acid (**17**),²⁴ β -santalol (**18**),^{15,25} (*E*)- β -santalal (**19**),¹¹ β -santaldiol (**20**),²⁴ and vanillic acid 4-*O*-neohesperidoside.²⁶

Tsushima, Okayama 700-8530, Japan

Keywords: Santalum album; Santalaceae; Cancer chemoprevention; Campherenane-type sesquiterpene; Santalane-type sesquiterpene; Epstein–Barr virus; Mouse skin two-stage carcinogenesis.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +81 86 251 7937; fax: +81 086 251 7926; e-mail: hito@cc.okayama-u.ac.jp

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.072

Position	1	4	7	9	11	12
1	_		_	_		1.89, m
2	4.06, ddd (9.6, 3 1.8)	3.64, dd (7.8, 3.6)	3.64, dd (7.2, 4.2)	3.29, d (1.8)	3.27, d (1.8)	_
3β	2.17, ddd (13.2,	1.65, ddd (13.2,	1.72, ddd (13.2,	_	_	_
	9.6, 4.8)	4.2, 3.6)	4.2, 3.6)			
3α	0.99, dd (13.2, 3)	1.75, dd (13.2, 7.8)	1.74, dd (13.2, 7.2)	_		
4	1.79, t (4.8)	1.85, br t (4.2)	1.87, br t (3.6)	1.76, br d (3)	1.84, br d (3.6)	1.82, br d (1.8)
5β	1.68, ddd (13.2,	1.61, dd (11.4, 3.6)	1.55, m	1.66, dddd (12, 9,	1.66, m	1.55, dddd (12.6,
	9.6, 4.8)			6, 3)		9.6, 7.2, 1.8)
5α	1.26, ddd (13.2,	1.02, ddd (11.4,	1.05, m	1.66, dddd (12, 9,	1.66, m	1.25, dddd (12.6,
	8.4, 3)	9.6, 4.2)		6, 3)		9.6, 6, 3.6)
6β	1.25, dddd (13.2,	1.51, dt (12, 4.2)	1.54, m	1.04, ddd (11.4, 3,	1.46, m	1.42, dddd (12, 9.6,
	9.6, 3, 1.8)			1.8)		7.2, 3.6)
6a	1.88, ddd (13.2,	0.93, ddd (12,	0.95, m	1.59, ddd (11.4,	1.08, m	1.34, dddd (12, 9.6,
	8.4, 4.8)	9.6, 3.6)		9, 6)		6, 2.4)
7		_	_	1.42, m; 1.14, dd	1.43, m; 1.18,	2.01, m; 1.06,
				(10.2, 1.2)	dd (10.2, 1.8)	br d (10.2)
8	1.36, dt (13.2, 4.8);	1.93, dt (13.2, 4.8);	1.30, dt (12.6, 4.8);	1.35, ddd (13.8,	1.29, m	1.53, m; 1.31, m
	1.13, dt (13.2, 4.8)	1.13, dt (13.2, 4.8)	1.09, dt (12.6, 4.8)	10.2, 6); 1.41, m		
9	2.15, ddd (12.6, 7.8,	2.09, ddd (13.2,	2.22, ddd (12.6,	2.15, m;	2.33, br dd	2.18, br dd
	4.8); 1.97, ddd	7.8, 4.8); 2.02,	7.8, 4.8); 1.99,	2.09, m	(13.2, 7.2);	(12.2, 6.6);
	(12.6, 7.8, 4.8)	ddd (13.2,	ddd (12.6,		2.32, br dd	2.05, br dd
		7.8, 4.8)	7.8, 4.8)		(13.2, 7.2)	(12.2, 6.6)
10	5.56, br t (7.8)	5.59, br t (7.8)	5.58, br t (7.8)	5.57, br t (7.2)	6.49, ddt (1.2,	5.59, br t (7.2)
					2.4, 7.2)	
11	_	_	_	_	_ `	_
12	4.32, br s	4.30, d (12.6);	4.34, br s	4.34, d (12);	1.75, m	4.34, d (12);
		4.24, d (12.6)		4.28, d (12)		4.19, d (12)
13	4.21, br s	4.15, br s	4.22, br s	4.20, br s	9.39, s	4.18, s
14	0.85, s	0.90, s	0.91, s	1.08, s	1.10, s	1.21, s
15	0.89, s	0.84, s	1.04, br s	0.85, s	0.90, s	0.89, s

Table 1. ¹H NMR data for compounds 1, 4, 7, 9, and 12 in CDCl₃^a

^a Chemical shifts are shown in δ scale with J values (Hz) in parentheses.

2.1. Structures of new sesquiterpenoids

Compound 1 was isolated as a colorless oil, $[\alpha]_{20}^{20} -9.6$ (CHCl₃). The molecular formula $C_{15}H_{26}O_3$ for 1 was determined from an ion peak at m/z 236.1767 $[M-H_2O]^+$ in HREIMS and NMR data described below. The ¹H NMR spectrum of 1 (Table 1) exhibited characteristic signals for two tertiary methyl groups at δ_H 0.89 (3H, s, H-15), 0.85 (3H, s, H-14), one oxygenated methine proton at δ_H 4.06 (1H, ddd, J=9.6, 3.0, 1.8 Hz, H-2), and a methine proton at δ_H 1.79 (1H, t, J=4.8 Hz, H-4), indicating the presence of a borneol moiety in 1. The presence of the bicyclo[2.2.1]-heptane-2-ol skeleton was suggested by ¹³C NMR resonance^{27,28} (Table 2), which was further supported by cross

Table 2. ¹³C NMR data for compounds 1, 4, 7, 9, 11, and 12 in CDCl₃^a

Position	1	4	7	9	11	12
1	50.4	50.0	49.9	49.0	49.0	52.2
2	77.3	79.7	80.2	83.3	83.9	81.4
3	38.8	39.9	40.1	42.1	42.2	46.7
4	42.1	42.0	42.0	46.8	46.0	47.7
5	28.0	27.1	27.0	26.2	26.2	24.0
6	26.1	34.4	34.1	25.4	25.3	23.2
7	51.3	49.4	49.3	40.9	40.8	34.2
8	32.4	33.2	33.7	42.2	41.1	37.7
9	23.7	23.1	23.1	22.6	24.1	24.5
10	131.7	132.2	132.0	132.1	155.2	131.7
11	136.7	136.6	136.6	136.6	139.1	136.7
12	60.0	59.4	60.1	59.9	14.1	60.1
13	67.6	67.3	67.7	67.8	195.3	67.7
14	13.4	11.4	11.3	19.4	19.4	22.3
15	16.6	16.8	16.5	16.7	16.6	19.8

^a Chemical shifts are shown in δ scale.

peaks (H-3/H-2, -4 and H-5/H-4, -6) in the $^{1}H^{-1}H$ COSY. and long-range correlation of H-2/C-1, -3 and H-14/C-1, -2, -6 in the HMBC spectrum. The ¹H NMR spectrum revealed signals due to one olefinic proton at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.56 (1H, br t, J=7.8 Hz, H-10), two hydroxymethylene groups at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.32 (2H, br s, H-12), 4.21 (2H, br s, H-13), and four methylene protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.15 (1H, ddd, J=12.6, 7.8, 4.8 Hz, H-9), 1.97 (1H, ddd, J=12.6, 7.8, 4.8 Hz, H-9), 1.36 (1H, dt, J=13.2, 4.8 Hz, H-8), 1.13 (1H, dt, J=13.2, 4.8 Hz, H-8). The ¹H-¹H COSY correlations of H-9/H-8, -10 and H-10/ H-12, -13 confirmed the presence of a C₆ side chain as a comprising unit. The location of functional groups and the bulky aliphatic residue was further elucidated by key HMBC correlations of H-12/C-10, -11, -13, H-13/C-10, -11, -12, H-10/ C-9, -11, -12, 13, and H-8/C-1, -4, -7, -9, -10, -15. The spectral data indicated the attached position of the methylene bridge on the bornane skeleton. The relative stereochemistry at C-7 and C-2 was determined by NOESY correlations of H-15/H-5β, H-2/H-14, -9, -8, and H-3β/H-9, -2. The endo-oriented secondary alcohol at C-2 was confirmed by comparison of the NMR chemical shift data of H-2 and C-2 $(\delta_{\rm H} 4.06, \delta_{\rm C} 77.3)$ with those in the literature (for *exo*-OH; ca. $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.60, $\delta_{\rm C}$ 80.0, for *endo*-OH; ca. $\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.00, $\delta_{\rm C}$ 77.0)^{26–29} and significant W-type long-range coupling between H-2 and H-6 β (J=1.8 Hz). The absolute configuration at C-2 in 1 was determined using the modified Mosher's method.^{30,31} Compound **1** was treated with (S)-(+)- and (R)- $(-)-\alpha$ -methoxy- α -(trifluoromethyl)-phenylacetyl chloride in anhydrous pyridine at room temperature overnight to afford (R)- and (S)-MTPA ester derivatives (1a and 1b, respectively). A negative value $(\Delta \delta_{S-R})$ was obtained for H-14 and positive difference values for H-3, -4 (Table 3),

Table 3. Partial ¹H NMR data of the (S)- and (R)-Mosher esters of compounds 1, 2, 2c, 9, and 10 in CDCl₃^a

Position	Position $\delta_{\rm H}$														
	1a	1b	$\Delta \delta_{S-R}$	2a	2b	$\Delta \delta_{S-R}$	2d	2e	$\Delta \delta_{S-R}$	9a	9b	$\Delta \delta_{S-R}$	10a	10b	$\Delta \delta_{S-R}$
2	5.13	5.10	<i>R</i> ^b	5.15	5.12	$R^{\rm b}$	5.16	5.11	$R^{\rm b}$	4.61	4.62	$R^{\rm b}$	4.62	4.63	R ^b
3β	2.29	2.28	+0.01	2.34	2.33	+0.01	2.38	2.38	± 0	_	_	_	_	_	_
3α	1.14	1.03	+0.11	1.13	1.02	+0.11	1.15	1.05	+0.10	_	_	_	_	_	_
4	1.85	1.81	+0.04	1.88	1.84	+0.04	1.89	1.84	+0.05	1.66	1.68	-0.02	1.66	1.67	-0.01
5β	1.70	1.65	+0.05	1.69	1.66	+0.03	1.68	1.67	+0.01	1.62	1.62	± 0	1.65	1.60	+0.05
5α	1.24	1.24	± 0	1.23	1.17	+0.06	1.20	1.15	+0.05	1.30	1.33	-0.03	1.33	1.35	-0.02
6β	1.84	1.83	+0.01	1.82	1.82	± 0	1.82	1.82	± 0	1.57	1.53	+0.04	1.57	1.55	+0.02
6α	1.30	1.30	± 0	1.31	1.31	± 0	1.33	1.33	± 0	1.07	1.00	+0.07	1.06	1.00	+0.06
7	_	_	_	_			_	_	_	1.48	1.48	± 0	1.46	1.47	-0.01
	_	_	_	_			_	_	_	1.16	1.16	± 0	1.15	1.16	-0.01
14	0.80	0.87	-0.07	0.80	0.87	-0.07	0.80	0.88	-0.08	1.06	0.98	+0.08	1.06	0.98	+0.08
15	0.87	0.87	± 0	0.88	0.88	± 0	0.89	0.89	± 0	0.68	0.76	-0.08	0.65	0.74	-0.09

^a Data were assigned on the basis of the correlation with 2D NMR spectroscopy.

^b Absolute configuration.

establishing that the absolute configuration of the chiral center at C-2 is R. Therefore, the structure of compound **1** was fully assigned to (2R,7R)-2,12,13-trihydroxy-10-campherene.

The HREIMS of compound 4, $[\alpha]_D^{20} + 15.7$ (CHCl₃), showed a pseudomolecular ion peak at m/z 236.1775 $[M-H_2O]^+$, indicating that the molecular formula (C₁₅H₂₆O₃) is the same as that of 1. The ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectral data of 4 (Tables 1 and 2) were also analogous to those of 1 except for H-2 and H-3 signals. Remarkable upfield shift of H-2 ($\Delta\delta$, 0.42 ppm) and downfield shift of C-2 (Δ 2.40 ppm) were observed in 4 compared with 1. These spectral characteristics suggested the presence of an *exo*-OH group at C-2.²⁷⁻²⁹ In addition, relative stereochemistry was inferred by NOE cross peaks of H-15/H-6 β , -5 β , and H-2 α /H-6 α , -3 α . We attempted the determination of the absolute configuration at C-2 by modified Mosher's method.^{30,31} However, MTPA esters of **4** were not obtained probably because of steric hindrance between the hydroxyl group at C-2 and the side chain. The absolute structure **4** was proposed by comparing its specific optical rotation with that of compound **1**, with reference to synthetic campherenol (**3**) ($[\alpha]_D$ -5.3) and isocampherenol (**6**) ($[\alpha]_D$ +25.0),³² unless the presence of hydroxyl groups in the side chain influenced the sign of specific rotation. Thus, compound **4** was assigned to (2*S*,*7R*)-2,12,13-trihydroxy-10-campherene, which is the C-2 epimer of **1**.

Although compounds 2, 5, and 10 were recently reported as constituents of commercial sandalwood,²¹ their absolute structures remained unassigned. We have established the absolute stereostructures of 2 and 10 as shown in Figure 1 by a combination of NOESY experiment and modified



Mosher's method (Table 3). The absolute structure of **5**, whose relative structure was determined by NOESY, was deduced by comparing its specific rotation ($[\alpha]_D^{20} - 17.6$) with that of compound **2** ($[\alpha]_D^{20} + 17.0$) in an argument similar to that between **1** and **4**. Hence, compounds **2**, **5**, and **10** were assigned to (2R,7R)- and (2S,7R)-2,12-dihydroxy-10(Z)-campherene, and (2R,3R)-10(Z)-sandalnol, respectively.

The molecular formula $C_{15}H_{26}O_3$ of 7 was determined by its HREIMS. Both the ¹H and ¹³C NMR data of compound 7 (Tables 1 and 2) were very similar to those of **4**, however, large chemical shift differences for CH₃-15 and H-8, and the appearance of CH₂-12 as a broad singlet were distinguishing features from **4**. In addition, clear correlations were observed between H-8 and H-6 β , -5 β in the NOESY experiment of **7**, whereas no correlation was observed between H-15 and H-6 β , -5 β . These 1D- and 2D-NMR data for **7** suggested that the orientation of the side chain at C-7 was opposite to that of **4**. Thus, compound **7** was characterized to be ($2S^*,7S^*$)-2,12,13-trihydroxy-10-campherene.

Compound 9 was obtained as a colorless oil, $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ -4.8 (CHCl₃). The molecular formula $C_{15}H_{26}O_3$, which was the same as that of 1, 4, and 7, was deduced from NMR data and a pseudomolecular ion peak $[M-H_2O]^+$ at m/z236.1773 in HREIMS. In the ¹H NMR spectrum of **9** (Table 1), the doublet signal at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.29 (1H, d, J=1.8 Hz, H-2) attributable to an oxygenated methine proton, clearly differed from the corresponding signals of 1, 4, and 7. One $(\delta_{\rm H} 1.08, \text{ H-14})$ of the two tertiary methyl groups also showed downfield shift (ca. 0.2 ppm) relative to those of the above three compounds, suggesting that compound 9 is not a campherene analogue. The presence of an α -fenchol framework as a partial structure was indicated by the close similarity of ¹³C NMR resonances to the data reported for α -fenchol,³³ as well as by HMBC correlations of H-2/C-1, -3, -14, H-8/C-2, -4, -10, -15, H-14/C-2, -6, -7, and H-15/ C-2, -4, -8. Also, the existence of an oxygenated prenyl group as the other constituent unit in 9 was substantiated by spectral resemblance to the corresponding signals in ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of 1, 4, and 7. The NOE correlations of H-2/H-7, -8, -14, and H-15/H-5a in 9 indicated the cis relationship of 2-OH and 3-CH₃ groups. The 2R configuration was confirmed by the modified Mosher's method (Table 3). Therefore, the structure of **9** was determined to be (2R,3R)-13-hydroxysandalnol.

The ¹H and ¹³C NMR data (Tables 1 and 2) of compound **11**, $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$ -5.1 (CHCl₃), were similar to those of **10**, and the only difference was observed in the presence of an aldehyde signal [$\delta_{\rm H}$ 9.39 (1H, s), $\delta_{\rm C}$ 195.3] instead of the methyl signal in 10. The 2D-NMR analysis and HREIMS data (m/z)236.1773 $[M]^+$, $C_{15}H_{24}O_2$) showed the structure **11** for this compound. The E configuration of the double bond in 11 was assigned by significant NOE of the aldehyde proton (H-13) with H-10 as well as the correlation between H-12 and H-9 in the NOESY spectrum. The chemical shift of H-13 ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 9.39) was also consistent with the trans-oriented α , β -unsaturated aldehyde proton signal generally accepted $(\delta_{\rm H} 9.33 \text{ for trans}, \delta_{\rm H} 10.2 \text{ for cis-oriented CHO}).^9$ Taking the biogenetic pathway into consideration, the stereostructure of 11 was tentatively assigned to $(2R^*, 3R^*)$ -10(E)sandalnol-13-al.

Compound 12, $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ –63.6 (CHCl₃), exhibited an ion peak $[M-H_2O]^+$ at m/z 236.1768 in HREIMS, corresponding to the molecular formula $C_{15}H_{26}O_3$. The ¹H NMR spectrum of 12 (Table 1) revealed signals assignable to two tertiary methyl protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 0.89 and 1.21 (3H each, s, H-15, -14, respectively), two methine protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.89 (1H, m, H-1), 1.82 (1H, br d, J=1.8 Hz, H-4), a methylene-bridge proton at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.01 (1H, m, H-7), 1.06 (1H, br d, J=10.2 Hz, H-7), a vinyl proton at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.59 (1H, br t, J=7.2 Hz, H-10), and two hydroxymethylene protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.19, 4.34 (1H each, d, J=12.0 Hz, H-12), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.18 (2H, s, H-13) arising from methylene bicyclo[2.2.1]heptane moiety and C_6 side chain unit. These data resemble to those for β -santaldiol $(20)^{23}$ except for the presence of 2-OH and 14-CH₃ groups instead of the exomethylene group in 20. The relative configuration of 12 was determined by key NOESY correlations (H-15/H-14, -5a, H-14/H-15, -6a, and H-8/H-7). Thus, compound 12 was characterized to be $(2S^*, 3R^*)$ -13-hydroxyneosandalnol.

Compound 13, $[\alpha]_{D}^{20} - 26.7$ (CHCl₃) was previously reported to have a planar structure.²¹ The transformation from compound 13 into the dehydrated derivative was observed by NMR measurement of CDCl₃ overnight, although the cause for this phenomenon remains uncertain. The dehydrate $([\alpha]_{D}^{20} - 90.3)$ was identified to be β -santalol (18) by NMR and MS analyses, and also by comparison with an authentic specimen. On the basis of this finding, the stereostructure of 13 was assigned to (2S,3R)-10(Z)-neosandalnol.

Campherenane and santalane derivatives have been found in certain species of Illiciaceae,²⁷ Lauraceae,²⁸ Rutaceae,³⁴ Hepaticae,³⁵ and Santalaceae,^{8–11,23,36,37} even though they are very rare classes of sesquiterpenes. These metabolites with diverse structures were presumed to be derived from bisabolol via santalenes including Wagner–Meerwein rearrangement and oxidation steps.

2.2. Structures of new aromatic glycosides

The HRESIMS of compound 21 gave a pseudomolecular ion $[M+NH_4]^+$ at m/z 490.2280, consistent with the molecular formula of $C_{22}H_{32}O_{11}$. The ¹H NMR spectrum of **21** showed signals attributable to 1,3,4-trisubstituted-type aromatic protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 7.06 (1H, d, J=8.4 Hz, H-5), 6.83 (1H, d, J=1.8 Hz, d, H-2), 6.72 (1H, dd, J=8.4, 1.8 Hz, H-6), terminal monosubstituted double-bond protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 6.00 (1H, m, H-8), 5.01, 5.07 (1H each, m, H-9), a methylene proton at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.36 (2H, d, J=6.6 Hz, H-7), and a methoxyl group at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.85 (3H, s). These signals suggest the presence of a C_6 - C_3 moiety, which was substantiated by the HSQC experiment. In addition to aglycone signals, two characteristic anomeric signals at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.39 and 5.06, and 11 oxygen-bearing protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.16–3.38 were observed, along with a doublet methyl signal at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.25, indicating the presence of glucose and rhamnose moieties.^{26,38} These NMR data in combination with the observed ${}^{1}H{-}^{1}H$ COSY correlations (Fig. 2) suggested that compound 21 is a simple phenolic rhamnoglucoside. The glycosidic linkage of the sugar moiety was determined to be β for glucose and α for rhamnose from the coupling constants of 7.8 and 1.8 Hz for anomeric protons, respectively. The presence of a β -glucosyl and an



Figure 2. Selected COSY, HMBC, and NOESY correlations of compounds 21 and 22.

 α -rhamnosyl moieties was further evidenced by the ¹³C NMR spectrum (Table 4).^{39–41} These assignments of sugar linkages and the position of a methoxyl group were confirmed unambiguously from HMBC (H-1'/C-4, H-1"/C-2', and OCH₃/C-3) and NOESY (H-1'/H-5 and OCH₃/H-2) experiments (Fig. 2). Acid hydrolysis of compound **21** gave eugenol, which was confirmed by direct comparison of HPLC and reported NMR data with those of an authentic sample.^{42,43} Unfortunately, the limited amount of **21** obtained did not allow elucidation of the absolute configuration of its sugar moiety. Thus, the structure of compound **21** was determined to be a new phenolic glycoside, eugenol 4-*O*-rhamnosyl(1 \rightarrow 2)glucoside.

Table 4. NMR spectroscopic data for compounds 21 and 22 in CD₃OD^a

Position	δ	$\delta_{\rm C}$		
	21	22	21	22
Aglycone	moiety			
1			139.1	136.8
2	6.83, d (1.8)	6.54, s	113.8	106.4
3			151.3	153.2
4			145.8	132.9
5	7.06, d (8.4)		118.2	153.2
6	6.72, dd (8.4, 1.8)	6.54, s	121.5	106.4
7	3.36, d (6.6)	3.37, m	40.8	40.1
8	6.00, m	6.00, m	136.7	137.6
9	5.07, m; 5.01, m	5.15, m; 5.08, m	115.7	114.9
OCH ₃	3.85, 3H, s	3.86, 6H, s	56.3	55.8
Glucose n	noeity			
1'	5.06, d (7.8)	5.12, d (7.2)	100.7	101.4
2'	3.75, dd (9.0, 7.2)	3.72, dd (9.0, 7.2)	78.5	78.7
3'	3.63, t (9.0)	3.56, t (9.0)	79.5	77.9
4′	3.41, m	3.49, m	71.5	70.2
5'	3.38, m	3.20, m	78.0	76.7
6'	3.87, dd (12.0, 2.4)	3.77, dd (11.4, 2.4)	62.5	61.4
6'	3.68, m	3.67, dd (11.4, 4.8)		
Rhamnose	e moiety			
1″	5.39, d (1.8)	5.25, d (1.8)	102.0	101.3
2"	3.98, dd (3.6, 1.8)	4.02, dd (3.6, 1.8)	72.4	71.3
3″	3.70, m	3.81, dd (9.6, 3.6)	72.2	71.5
4″	3.40, m	3.42, t (9.6)	74.0	72.7
5″	4.16, dd (9.6, 6.6)	4.20, dd (9.6, 6.6)	70.0	68.6
6″	1.25, d (6.6)	1.14, d (6.6)	18.1	16.4

^a Chemical shifts are shown in δ scale with J values (Hz) in parentheses.

6985

Compound 22, $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$ –111.6 (c 0.1, MeOH), was obtained as a vellowish syrup. The molecular formula was determined to be $C_{23}H_{34}O_{12}$ by HRESIMS (*m*/*z* 525.1937, [M+Na]⁺), which was 30 mass units larger than 21. The 1 H and 13 C NMR spectra of 22 (Table 4) were very similar to those of **21**, except for the presence of an extra methoxyl signal $[\delta_{\rm H}]$ 3.86 (6H, s), $\delta_{\rm C}$ 55.8, C-5] and a magnetically equivalent 2H-singlet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 6.54) instead of the ABX aromatic signals in 21. The structure of 22, including relative stereochemistry and identity of the aglycone moiety, was determined in a manner similar to that of 21. The hydrolyzate of 22 obtained upon treatment with acid was identified as methoxyeugenol by comparison with the reported NMR data and direct HPLC comparison with a commercial authentic sample.⁴⁴ As a result, the new compound **22** was assigned to be methoxy eugenol 4-O-rhamnosyl($1 \rightarrow 2$)glucoside. Isolation of aromatic neohesperidosides from the genus Santalum might thus be of chemotaxonomical significance (Fig. 2).

2.3. Antitumor activity of the isolates from S. album

Owing to the immensely rare occurrence of this type of compound in the plant kingdom, the only α -santalol (14) has been assessed for biological activities in several bioassavs.13-16 The remarkable antitumor promoting effect of α -santalol (14)¹⁷ prompted us to examine the antitumor effects of the purified constituents from S. album of Indian origin in vitro and in vivo. The inhibitory effects of the isolates on EBV-EA activation induced by 12-O-tetradecanovlphorbol-13-acetate (TPA), which is a short-term in vitro screening method frequently used to survey possible antitumor promoters in nature, were assessed. As shown in Table 5, compounds 1, 4, and 20 among the tested compounds showed a remarkable inhibitory effect on EBV-EA activation of 63.9, 62.3, and 61.8% inhibition, respectively, at a concentration of 500 mol ratio/TPA, preserving high cell viability. These potencies were comparable to that of the positive control, (-)-epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG), which is a well-known antitumor promoting polyphenol from green tea.^{45,46} On the basis of the in vitro results, the potent inhibitors 1, 18, and 20, which were well supplied for the in vivo test, were further assessed for the suppression of two-stage mouse skin carcinogenesis induced by 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene (DMBA) as an initiator and TPA as a promoter. The activity was evaluated in terms of both the rate (%) of papilloma-bearing mice (Fig. 3A) and the average number papillomas per mouse (Fig. 3B) compared with that of the control. The control showed that 100% of the mice bore papillomas after 10 weeks of promotion, whereas treatment with compounds 1, 18, and 20 along with the initiator and promoter reduced the percentages of tumor-bearing mice to 33.4-46.7% even at 15 weeks. Among them, compound 1 had the most potent activity, reducing the incidence to 86.6% over 20 weeks. Furthermore, in the treated group, the average number of papillomas per mouse was also reduced to about 50% relative to the control group over 20 weeks. The results of this investigation indicated that compounds 1, 18, and 20 might be other potential antitumor promoters of sandalwood and valuable for further study for a possible antitumor promoting mechanism.

Table 5. Relative ratio^a of EBV-EA activation with respect to positive control (100%) in the presence of isolates from Santalum album

Compound	EBV-EA–positive cells % to control (% viability): compounds concentration (mol ratio/32 pmol TPA)					
	1000	500	100	10		
Sesquiterpenoids						
1	$0.0\pm0.2~(60)^{b}$	36.1±1.9	71.3±1.9	$88.4{\pm}0.5$		
2	0.0±0.3 (60)	41.5 ± 2.0	74.9 ± 2.2	92.6±0.7		
4	0.0±0.2 (60)	37.7±1.9	$72.0{\pm}2.0$	$89.9 {\pm} 0.6$		
14	0.0±0.4 (60)	47.7 ± 2.3	$76.8 {\pm} 2.5$	93.0±0.9		
16	0.0±0.3 (60)	$40.8 {\pm} 2.1$	73.7±2.2	91.3±0.6		
18	0.0±0.3 (60)	44.3 ± 2.1	$74.2{\pm}2.1$	92.1±0.9		
20	0.0±0.2 (60)	$38.2{\pm}2.0$	72.7 ± 2.1	90.5 ± 0.6		
(+)-α-Nuciferol ^c	0.0±0.4 (70)	49.2 ± 2.3	$78.5 {\pm} 2.2$	96.8±0.4		
<i>Neolignans</i> ^c						
$(7S,8S)$ - $\Delta^{7'}$ -4,5,9,9'-Tetrahydroxy-3,5-dimethoxy-7- <i>O</i> -5',8'- <i>O</i> -4'-neolignan	0.0±0.4 (70)	$48.0{\pm}2.2$	$77.4{\pm}2.1$	94.5±0.7		
Diethylene glycol monobenzoate	12.7±0.6 (60)	68.5 ± 2.5	87.1±2.6	100 ± 0.3		
(-)-Secoisolariciresinol	2.1±0.4 (60)	52.3 ± 2.1	79.6 ± 2.0	$96.4{\pm}0.4$		
(7'S,8R,8'R)-Lyoniresinol	8.4±0.5 (60)	55.7±2.4	85.3±2.6	$100{\pm}0.2$		
(7S,8S)-3-Methoxy-3',7-epoxy-8,4'-oxyneoligna-4,9,9'-triol	0.0±0.4 (70)	49.2 ± 2.3	$78.6{\pm}2.0$	$94.9 {\pm} 0.7$		
Dihydrodehydrodiconiferyl alcohol	3.5±0.4 (70)	53.7 ± 2.2	$82.8 {\pm} 2.1$	100 ± 0.4		
(-)-EGCG ^d	6.4±0.8 (70)	34.9±1.3	68.1±2.1	87.7±0.9		

^a Values represent percentages relative to the positive control value (100%).

^b Values in parentheses are the viability percentages of Raji cells; unless otherwise stated, the viability percentages of Raji cells were more than 80%.

^c See Refs. 19 and 20.

^d Positive control substance.



Figure 3. Inhibition of TPA-induced tumor promotion by multiple applications of **1**, **18**, and **20**. All mice were initiated with DMBA (390 nmol) and promoted with 1.7 nmol of TPA given twice weekly starting one week after initiation. (A) Percentage of mice bearing papillomas. (B) Average numbers of papillomas per mouse. \blacklozenge , control (TPA alone); \Box , TPA+1; \bigcirc , TPA+18; \triangle , TPA+20.

3. Experimental

3.1. General

Optical rotations were measured with a JASCO DIP-4 digital polarimeter. The ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were measured on a Varian Unity Inova AS600NB instrument operating at 600 and 150 MHz, respectively. The chemical shifts are given in δ (ppm) values relative to those of the solvents CDCl₃ ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 7.26; $\delta_{\rm C}$ 77.0) and CD₃OD ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.35; $\delta_{\rm C}$ 49.0) on a tetramethylsilane (TMS) scale. The standard pulse sequences programmed into the instruments were used for each 2D measurement. The J_{CH} value was set at 8 Hz in the HMBC spectra. HRESIMS and ESIMS were obtained on a Micro Mass Auto Spec OA-TOF spectrometer (solvent: 50% MeOH containing 0.1% AcONH₄: flow rate: 0.02 ml/min). Normal-phase HPLC was conducted on a YMC-Pack SIL A-003 column (4.6 mm i.d.×250 mm; YMC Co. Ltd) and developed at room temperature with a solvent of n-hexane-EtOH (15:1) (flow rate: 1.5 ml/min; detection: UV 205 or 220 nm) or n-hexane-EtOH (3:1) (flow rate: 1.5 ml/ min; detection: UV 280 nm). Reversed-phase HPLC was carried out on a YMC-Pack ODS A-302 column (4.6 mm i.d.×150 mm; YMC Co., Ltd) and developed at 40 °C with 10 mM H₃PO₄/10 mM KH₂PO₄/CH₃CN (7:3) (flow rate: 1.0 ml/min; detection: UV 205 or 220 nm) or 10 mM H₃PO₄/10 mM KH₂PO₄/CH₃CN (9:1) (flow rate: 1.0 ml/ min; detection: UV 280 nm). Column chromatography was carried out on silica gel 60 (Merck, 70-230 mesh), Toyopearl HW-40 (coarse grade; Tosoh Co.), YMC GEL ODS AQ 120-50S (YMC Co., Ltd), MCI GEL CHP-20P (Mitsubishi Kasei Co.), and Sephadex LH-20 (Pharmacia Fine Chemicals Co., Ltd). Preparative TLC was performed on Kieselgel 60 F₂₅₄ plates (0.2 mm layer thickness, Merck).

3.2. Plant material

Chips of *S. album* L. wood collected in Mysore district of India were used. The wood was officially imported from

India under a special treaty between the Indian and Japanese governments to sculpt a Buddhist image in a Japanese temple (Kannonshoji Temple) with a long and distinguished history.

3.3. Extraction and isolation

The heartwood of S. album (1.53 kg) was extracted with MeOH at room temperature. The combined crude MeOH extract (73.1 g) was suspended in 20% MeOH (21), and then partitioned in turn with *n*-hexane (3×21) and EtOAc (3×21) to afford dried *n*-hexane- (16.4 g), EtOAc-(27.1 g), and H₂O-soluble (17.5 g) residues. On performing the chromatographic separation, fractions were monitored with normal and reversed-phase HPLC. The *n*-hexane extract (10.0 g) was subjected to silica gel column chromatography (6.0 cm i.d. \times 42 cm, 70–230 mesh) using *n*-hexane containing increasing amounts of EtOAc in a stepwise gradient to give 12 pools. The eluates of *n*-hexane–EtOAc (9:1) and *n*-hexane-EtOAc (85:15) were subjected to preparative reversed-phase HPLC (YMC-Pack ODS-AM, 20.0 mm i.d. $\times 250$ mm) with 70% aqueous CH₃CN, to give α -santalol (14) (105.3 mg), (E)-α-santalal (15) (20.0 mg), (E)-β-santalal (19) (23.3 mg), and β -santalol (18) (111.0 mg). Similarly, the *n*-hexane–EtOAc (1:1) and *n*-hexane–EtOAc (3:2) eluates were purified by preparative reversed-phase HPLC with 40% aqueous CH₃CN to afford pure α -santaldiol (16) (98.7 mg), α -santalenoic acid (17) (18.0 mg), and β -santaldiol (20) (91.4 mg), as well as a crude fraction containing compounds 2, 5, 10, 11, and 13. This crude fraction was finally purified by preparative normal-phase HPLC (4.6 mm i.d. \times 250 mm) developed with *n*-hexane–EtOH (15:1), and yielded pure compounds 2 (23.5 mg, $t_{\rm R}$ 10.1 min), 5 (7.5 mg, t_R 9.3 min), **10** (3.5 mg, t_R 12.9 min), **11** (2.6 mg, $t_{\rm R}$ 9.5 min), and 13 (26.6 mg, $t_{\rm R}$ 4.68 min). A part (7.0 g) of the EtOAc extract was chromatographed on a Toyopearl HW-40 column (coarse grade; 2.2 cm i.d.×65 cm) with H₂O containing increasing amounts of MeOH in a stepwise gradient mode. The 40% MeOH eluate was subjected separately to column chromatography over a YMC GEL ODS AQ 120-50S column (1.1 cm i.d.×41 cm) with aqueous MeOH, and finally purified by preparative normal-phase HPLC (4.6 mm i.d. \times 250 mm) developed with *n*-hexane-EtOH (15:1), yielding pure compounds 1 (29.0 mg, $t_{\rm R}$ 27.7 min), 4 (25.3 mg, t_R 22.3 min), 10 (1.8 mg, t_R 33.5 min), 9 $(7.4 \text{ mg}, t_{\text{R}} 18.3 \text{ min})$, and **12** (9.4 mg, $t_{\text{R}} 15.6 \text{ min})$. A part (3.0 g) of the H₂O soluble residue was chromatographed over a Diaion HP-20 column (3.2 cm i.d.×35 cm) with H₂O containing increasing amounts of MeOH in a stepwise gradient mode. The 60% MeOH eluate was subjected separately to column chromatography over Sephadex LH-20 $(1.1 \text{ cm i.d.} \times 38 \text{ cm})$ with MeOH and YMC GEL ODS AQ 120-50S column (1.1 cm i.d.×41 cm) with aqueous MeOH, and finally purified by preparative normal-phase HPLC $(4.6 \text{ mm i.d.} \times 250 \text{ mm})$ developed with *n*-hexane-EtOH (3:1) to yield pure compounds **21** (2.3 mg, t_R 33.7 min) and 22 (1.3 mg, t_R 27.1 min), and vanillic acid 4-O-neohesperidoside (1.7 mg, t_R 5.3 min).

3.3.1. (2*R*,7*R*)-2,12,13-Trihydroxy-10-campherene (1). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{20} -9.6$ (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see Tables 1 and 2; EIMS *m*/*z* 236 [M-H₂O]⁺ (15), 218 (42), 200 (31), 185 (16), 161 (20), 145 (6), 121 (78),

95 (100); HREIMS m/z 236.1767 $[M-H_2O]^+$ (calcd for $C_{15}H_{26}O_3-H_2O$, 236.1776).

3.3.2. (*2R*,*7R*)-2,12-Dihydroxy-10(*Z*)-campherene (2). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ -17.6 (*c* 0.1, CHCl₃); ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see Tables 1 and 2; EIMS *m*/*z* 238 [M]⁺ (13), 220 (35), 202 (41), 187 (18), 159 (32), 145 (37), 121 (51), 91 (82), 58 (100); HREIMS *m*/*z* 238.1941 [M]⁺ (calcd for C₁₅H₂₆O₂, 238.1933).

3.3.3. (2*S*,*TR*)-2,12,13-Trihydroxy-10-campherene (4). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ +15.7 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see Tables 1 and 2; EIMS *m*/*z* 236 [M–H₂O]⁺ (8), 218 (35), 200 (43), 185 (21), 161 (18), 145 (33), 121 (80), 91 (100); HREIMS *m*/*z* 236.1775 [M–H₂O]⁺ (calcd for C₁₅H₂₆O₃–H₂O, 236.1776).

3.3.4. (2*S*,*TR*)-2,12-Dihydroxy-10(*Z*)-campherene (5). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ +17.9 (*c* 0.1, CHCl₃); ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see Tables 1 and 2; EIMS *m*/*z* 238 [M]⁺ (10), 220 (17), 202 (21), 187 (13), 159 (18), 145 (17), 121 (35), 91 (53), 58 (100); HREIMS *m*/*z* 238.1923 [M]⁺ (calcd for C₁₅H₂₆O₂, 238.1933).

3.3.5. (2*S*,7*S*)-2,12,13-Trihydroxy-10-campherene (7). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ -4.6 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see Tables 1 and 2; EIMS *m*/*z* 236 [M-H₂O]⁺ (13), 218 (61), 200 (53), 189 (38), 161 (32), 145 (42), 121 (87), 95 (100); HREIMS *m*/*z* 236.1771 [M-H₂O]⁺ (calcd for C₁₅H₂₆O₃-H₂O, 236.1776).

3.3.6. (2*R*,3*R*)-13-Hydroxysandalnol (9). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_{20}^{20}$ –4.8 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see Tables 1 and 2; EIMS *m*/*z* 236 [M–H₂O]⁺ (8), 218 (21), 200 (37), 185 (20), 157 (43), 121 (72), 91 (78), 58 (100); HREIMS *m*/*z* 236.1773 [M–H₂O]⁺ (calcd for C₁₅H₂₆O₃–H₂O, 236.1776).

3.3.7. (*2R*,*3R*)-10(*Z*)-Sandalnol (10). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ -7.3 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see Tables 1 and 2; EIMS *m*/*z* 238 [M]⁺ (22), 220 (16), 202 (11), 187 (7), 159 (27), 145 (26), 138 (38), 121 (31), 110 (35), 91 (30), 81 (100); HREIMS *m*/*z* 238.1927 [M]⁺ (calcd for C₁₅H₂₆O₂, 238.1933).

3.3.8. ($2R^*$, $3R^*$)-10(E)-13-Sandalnol-13-al (11). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ -5.1 (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see Tables 1 and 2; EIMS m/z 236 [M]⁺ (15), 218 (21), 200 (31), 155 (37), 121 (100), 91 (81); HREIMS m/z 236.1773 [M]⁺ (calcd for C₁₅H₂₄O₂, 236.1776).

3.3.9. (2*S**,3*R**)-13-Hydroxyneosandalnol (12). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ –63.6 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see Tables 1 and 2; EIMS *m*/*z* 236 [M–H₂O]⁺ (15), 218 (21), 200 (31), 185 (18), 157 (37), 91 (100); HREIMS *m*/*z* 236.1768 [M–H₂O]⁺ (calcd for C₁₅H₂₆O₃–H₂O, 236.1776).

3.3.10. (2*S*,3*R*)-10(*Z*)-Neosandalnol (13). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_{D}^{20} - 26.7$ (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H and ¹³C NMR, see Tables 1 and 2; 238 [M]⁺ (17), 220 (16), 202 (62), 187 (22), 159 (35), 145 (30), 121 (68), 91 (82), 58 (100); HREIMS *m/z* 238.1926 [M]⁺ (calcd for C₁₅H₂₆O₂, 238.1933). **3.3.11. Eugenol 4-***O***-rhamnosyl(1 \rightarrow 2)glucoside (21).** Colorless syrup, $[\alpha]_D^{20} - 118.0$ (*c* 0.1, MeOH); ¹H and ¹³C NMR data, see Table 4; ESIMS *m*/*z* 490 [M+NH₄]⁺; HRESIMS *m*/*z* 490.2280 [M+NH₄]⁺ (calcd for C₂₂H₃₂O₁₁+NH₄, 490.2288).

3.3.12. Methoxyeugenol 4-*O*-rhamnosyl(1 \rightarrow 2)glucoside (22). Yellowish syrup, $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ -111.6 (*c* 0.1, MeOH); ¹H and ¹³C NMR data, see Table 4; ESIMS *m*/*z* 525 [M+Na]⁺; HRESIMS *m*/*z* 525.1937 [M+Na]⁺ (calcd for C₂₃H₃₄O₁₂+Na, 520.1948).

3.4. Tritylation of 2

Compound **2** (5.0 mg) and triphenyl methyl chloride (10.0 mg) were dissolved in 200 μ l of dried pyridine, and the mixture was allowed to stand for 48 h at room temperature. Preparative TLC of the crude tritylation product obtained after the usual workup afforded 4.0 mg of tritylated derivative (**2c**) as a colorless oil.

3.5. Preparation of (*S*)- and (*R*)-MTPA ester derivatives of 1, 2, 2c, 9, and 10

Two portions each (each 1–1.5 mg) of compounds 1, 2, 2c, 9, and 10 were treated with (S)-(+)- and (R)-(-)- α -methoxy- α -(trifluoromethyl)-phenylacetyl chloride (10 µl) in anhydrous pyridine (200 µl) at room temperature overnight. The reaction mixtures were purified by preparative TLC with *n*-hexane–acetone (4:1) as developing solvent to afford (*R*)and (*S*)-MTPA ester derivatives (1a, 1b, 2a, 2b, 2d, 2e, 9a, 9b, 10a, and 10b) of 1, 2, 2c, 9, and 10. Calculation of the differences of chemical shifts allowed the assignment of absolute stereochemistry of the respective original compound (Table 3).

3.6. Acid hydrolysis of 21 and 22

A solution of **21** (1.0 mg) [or **22** (0.7 mg)] in 1 M HCl (1 ml) was heated for 1 h in a boiling water bath. After cooling, the reaction mixture was separated using Mega Bond Elut C₁₈ (Varian, USA) cartridge column to yield aglycone, eugenol (0.5 mg) [or methoxyeugenol (0.3 mg)] from the MeOH eluate. These aglycones were identified by HPLC comparison with authentic samples and spectral data with those reported in the literature.^{42–44}

3.7. Assay for inhibition of EBV-EA activation

The inhibition of EBV-EA activation was assayed using Raji cells (virus nonproducer) as described previously.^{47,48} The EBV genome carrying lympoblastoid cells was derived from Burkitt's lymphoma, which was cultured in 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) in RPMI-1640 medium (Nissui, Japan). Spontaneous EBV-EA activation in our Raji cell subline was less than 0.1%. Indicator cells (Raji, 1×10^6 /ml) were incubated at 37 °C for 48 h in the medium (1 ml) containing *n*-butyric acid (4 mmol), TPA [20 ng (32 pmol) in DMSO 2 µl] as an inducer, and a known amount of test compound in 5 µl of DMSO. Smears were made from the cell suspension, and the activated cells stained by EBV-EA-positive serum were detected by a conventional indirect immunofluorescence technique.⁴⁶ In each assay, at least

500 cells were counted, and the number of stained cells was recorded. Triplicate assays were carried out for each compound. The average EBV-EA induction of the test compound was expressed as the relative ratio to the control experiment (100%), which was carried out with only *n*-butyric acid (4 mmol) plus TPA (32 pmol). EBV-EA induction was typically around 35%. The viability of treated Raji cells was assayed by Trypan Blue staining.

3.8. Assay for antitumor promoting activity in two-stage mouse skin carcinogenesis

Assays were performed according to a previously described method.47,48 Specific pathogen-free female ICR mice (six weeks old) were obtained from Japan SLC Inc., Shizuoka, Japan. The animals were housed five per polycarbonate cage in a temperature-controlled room at 24 ± 2 °C, and given water and food ad libitum throughout the experiment. The animals were divided into three groups of 15 mice each. The back of each mouse was shaved with surgical clippers one day before initiation, and the mice were topically treated with DMBA (100 µg, 390 nmol) in acetone (0.1 ml) for initiation. One week after initiation, papilloma formation was promoted by applying TPA (1 μ g, 1.7 nmol) to the skin twice weekly. One hour before each TPA treatment, the mice were treated with the sample (85 nmol) in acetone (0.1 ml). The incidence of papilloma was examined weekly over 20 weeks.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Kannonshoji Temple for kind donation of sandalwood chips used in this research. We are grateful to the SC-NMR Laboratory of Okayama University for performing the NMR spectroscopy. This study was supported in part by the U.S. National Cancer Institute, M.D. (CA17625). One of the authors (T.H.K.) acknowledges the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology of Japan for a scholarship.

References and notes

- Kapoor, L. D. Handbook of Ayurvedic Medicinal Plants; CRC: Boca Raton, FL, 1990.
- Benencia, F.; Courreges, M. C. Phytomedicine 1999, 6, 119– 123.
- Banerjee, S.; Ecavade, A.; Rao, A. R. Cancer Lett. 1993, 68, 105–109.
- 4. Dwivedi, C.; Abu-Ghazaleh, A. Eur. J. Cancer Prev. 1997, 6, 399–401.
- 5. Dwivedi, C.; Zang, Y. Eur. J. Cancer Prev. 1999, 8, 449-455.
- Shankaranarayana, K. H.; Ayyar, K. S.; Krishna Rao, G. S. Phytochemistry 1980, 19, 1239–1240.
- Shankaranarayana, K. H.; Ayyar, K. S.; Krishna Rao, G. S. Curr. Sci. 1980, 49, 198–199.
- Adams, D. R.; Bhatnagar, S. P.; Cooksoon, R. C. Phytochemistry 1975, 14, 1459–1460.
- 9. Demole, E.; Demole, C.; Enggist, P. Helv. Chim. Acta 1976, 59, 737–747.
- Christenson, P. A.; Secord, N.; Willis, B. J. *Phytochemistry* 1981, 20, 1139–1141.

- 11. Ranibai, P.; Ghatge, B. B.; Patil, B. B.; Bhattacharyya, S. C. *Indian J. Chem.* **1986**, *25B*, 1006–1013.
- 12. Gibbard, S.; Schoental, R. J. Chromatogr. 1969, 44, 396-398.
- Okugawa, H.; Ueda, R.; Matsumoto, K.; Kawanishi, K.; Kato, A. *Phytomedicine* **1995**, *2*, 119–126.
- Okugawa, H.; Ueda, R.; Matsumoto, K.; Kawanishi, K.; Kato, K. *Phytomedicine* **2000**, *7*, 417–422.
- Hongratanaworakit, T.; Heuberger, E.; Buchbauer, G. Planta Med. 2004, 70, 3–7.
- Kaur, M.; Agarwal, C.; Singh, R. P.; Guan, X.; Dwivedi, C.; Agarwal, R. *Carcinogenesis* **2005**, *26*, 369–380.
- Dwivedi, C.; Guan, X.; Harmsen, W. L.; Voss, A. L.; Goetz-Parten, D. E.; Koopman, E. M.; Johnson, K. M.; Valluri, H. B.; Matthees, D. P. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 2003, *12*, 151–156.
- Gautschi, M.; Bajgrowicz, J. A.; Kraft, P. Chimia 2001, 55, 379–387.
- Kim, T. H.; Ito, H.; Hayashi, K.; Hasegawa, T.; Machiguchi, T.; Yoshida, T. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **2005**, *53*, 641–644.
- Kim, T. H.; Ito, H.; Hatano, T.; Hasegawa, T.; Akiba, A.; Machiguchi, T.; Yoshida, T. J. Nat. Prod. 2005, 68, 1805–1808.
- 21. Ochi, T.; Shibata, H.; Higuti, T.; Kodama, K.; Kusumi, T.; Takaishi, Y. J. Nat. Prod. 2005, 68, 819–824.
- 22. Corey, E. J.; Kirst, H. A.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1970**, *92*, 6314–6319.
- Alpha, T.; Raharivelomanana, P.; Bianchini, J.-P.; Faure, R.; Cambon, A.; Joncheray, L. *Phytochemistry* 1996, 41, 829–831.
- Coates, R. M.; Denissen, F. J. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 53, 2186– 2192.
- Christenson, P. A.; Willis, B. J. J. Org. Chem. 1979, 44, 2012– 2018.
- 26. Kraut, L.; Mues, R. Z. Naturforsch., C: Biosci. 1999, 54c, 6-10.
- Ngo, K.-S.; Brown, G. D. Phytochemistry 1999, 50, 1213– 1218.
- Hikino, H.; Suzuki, N.; Takemoto, T. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 1971, 19, 87–92.
- 29. Hodgson, G. L.; MacSweeney, D. F.; Money, T. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1973, 2113–2130.
- Dale, J. A.; Mosher, H. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 512–519.

- Ohtani, I.; Kusumi, T.; Kashman, Y.; Kakisawa, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 4092–4096.
- Eck, C. R.; Hodgson, G. L.; MacSweeney, D. F.; Mill, R. W.; Money, T. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1974, 1938–1943.
- Schneider, H.-J.; Weigand, E. F. *Tetrahedron* 1975, 31, 2125– 2133.
- Wu, T.-S.; Niwa, M.; Furukawa, H. Phytochemistry 1984, 23, 595–597.
- Toyoda, M.; Nagashima, F.; Shima, K.; Asakawa, Y. *Phytochemistry* **1992**, *31*, 183–189.
- Braun, N. A.; Meier, M.; Pickenhagen, W. J. Essent. Oil Res. 2003, 15, 63–65.
- Valder, C.; Neugebauer, M.; Meier, M.; Kohlenberg, B.; Hammerschmidt, F.-J.; Braun, N. A. J. Essent. Oil Res. 2003, 15, 178–186.
- Stermits, F. R.; Cashman, K. K.; Halligan, K. H.; Morel, C.; Tegos, G. P.; Lewis, K. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2003**, *13*, 1915–1918.
- Markham, K. R.; Geiger, H. In the Flavonoids: Advances in Research Since 1986; Harbone, J. B., Ed.; Chapman & Hall: London, 1994; pp 441–497.
- Da Silva, B. P.; Bernardo, R. R.; Parente, J. P. *Phytochemistry* 2000, *53*, 87–92.
- Webby, F. R.; Boase, M. R. Phytochemistry 1999, 52, 939– 941.
- Bohlmann, F.; Knoll, K. H. Phytochemistry 1979, 18, 995– 997.
- Jakupovic, J.; Tan, R. X.; Bohlmann, F.; Jia, Z. J.; Huneck, S. Planta Med. 1991, 57, 450–453.
- Miyase, T.; Kuroyanagi, M.; Noro, T.; Ueno, A.; Fukushima, S. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1985, 33, 4445–4450.
- Yoshizawa, S.; Horiuchi, H.; Fujiki, H.; Yoshida, T.; Okuda, T.; Sugimura, T. *Phytother. Res.* **1987**, *1*, 1190–1195.
- 46. Helne, G.; Helne, W. J. Bacteriol. 1966, 91, 1248-1256.
- Ito, H.; Miyake, M.; Nishitani, E.; Mori, K.; Hatano, T.; Okuda, T.; Konoshima, T.; Takasaki, M.; Kozuka, M.; Mukainaka, T.; Tokuda, H.; Nishino, H.; Yoshida, T. *Cancer Lett.* **1999**, *143*, 5–13.
- Ito, H.; Muranaka, T.; Mori, K.; Jin, Z.-X.; Tokuda, H.; Nishino, H.; Yoshida, T. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **2000**, *48*, 1720–1722.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6990-6997

Synthesis of short and long chain cardiolipins

Shoukath M. Ali, Moghis U. Ahmad, Peter Koslosky, Krishnudu Kasireddy, U. Murali Krishna and Imran Ahmad^{*}

NeoPharm Inc., 1850 Lakeside Drive, Waukegan, IL 60085, USA

Received 21 February 2006; revised 20 April 2006; accepted 21 April 2006 Available online 26 May 2006

Abstract—A phosphoramidite approach using 2-cyanoethyl N,N-diisopropylchlorophosphoramidite was utilized for the first time to synthesize short chain cardiolipins. The approach was extended to synthesize long chain and their ether analogue. Optically active 1,2-di-O-acyl-sn-glycerol or 1,2-di-O-myristyl-sn-glycerol was coupled with phosphoramidite reagent and 2-benzyloxy-1,3-propanediol in presence of 1*H*-tetrazole, followed by in situ oxidation, to give the corresponding protected cardiolipin analogues. The above intermediates were converted into cardiolipin analogues in two steps by deprotection of cyanoethyl and benzyl groups. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

A need for synthetic phospholipids has developed, in part, their use in liposomes, which have become useful carriers of active therapeutic agents, enzymes, antibiotics, antigens, hormones, and anticancer drugs.¹ Cardiolipin (also known as diphosphatidyl glycerol; Fig. 1) constitutes a class of complex anionic phospholipids, typically purified from cell membranes of tissues associated with high metabolic activity, including the mitochondria of heart and skeletal muscles.² However, known chromatographic purification techniques cannot resolve cardiolipin into discrete molecular species. As a result, the use of this component in drug formulations has limited potential because the resulting formulations are not homogeneous. In animal tissues cardiolipin contains up to 90% linoleic acid (C18:2). Yeast cardiolipin differs in having more oleic (C_{18:1}) and palmitoleic $(C_{16:1})$ fatty acids, while the bacterial lipid contains saturated and monoenoic fatty acids with 14-18 carbons. Liposomes containing cardiolipin encapsulate a broad spectrum of



Figure 1. General structure of cardiolipin.

therapeutic agents ranging from difficult-to-formulate, waterinsoluble drugs to delivery of molecules to intracellular targets. The encapsulation of chemotherapeutic agents^{3,4} in a macromolecular carrier, such as liposomes, significantly reduces the volume of distribution in normal tissues and thereby increases the concentration of drug in the tumor. This results in a decrease in toxicities and an increase in therapeutic efficacy. The potential effects of the length and nature of cardiolipin fatty acid chains (i.e., saturated or unsaturated) on liposome aggregation have not been elucidated. However, cardiolipin having short chain fatty acids are unknown till now. Recognizing the need for the development of short chain cardiolipins to improve drug delivery, we undertook a program to design and synthesize a new class of short chain cardiolipins (C_{8:0}-C_{12:0}), long chain cardiolipin (C_{14:0}), and their ether analogue $(C_{14:0})$.

The known methodologies for synthesizing cardiolipin are mainly divided into two groups: (a) coupling the primary hydroxyl groups of a 2-protected glycerol with 1,2-O-diacyl-sn-glycerol using a phosphorylating agent and (b) condensation at both primary hydroxyl groups of a 2-protected glycerol with phosphatidic acid in the presence of 2,4,6triisopropylbenzenesulfonylchloride.⁵ Cardiolipin has also been generated via a reaction between the silver salt of diacylglycerophosphoric acid benzyl ester⁶ with 1,3-diiodopropanol benzyl ether or 1,3-diiodopropanol *t*-butyl ether. Although the schemes were suitable for the preparation of small quantities of cardiolipin, these were unattractive for the routine preparation of larger quantities due to the many steps involved, the requirement for careful purification of intermediates, the use of highly photosensitive silver salt derivatives, and unstable iodo intermediates.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 847 887 0800; fax: +1 847 887 9281; e-mail: imran@neophrm.com

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.071



Figure 2. Phosphoramidite reagents.

Several phosphoramidite reagents (Fig. 2) such as methyl-N,N,N,N-tetraisopropyl phosphorodiamidite⁷ **1**, benzyl-N,N,N,N-tetraisopropyl phosphorodiamidite⁸ **2**, 2-cyanoethyl N,N,N,N-tetraisopropyl phosphorodiamidite⁹ **3**, (*N*-trifluoroacetylamino)butyl-N,N,N-tetraisopropyl phosphoramidite¹⁰ **4**, dimethyl-N,N-diisopropyl phosphoramidite¹¹ **5**, dibenzyl-N,N-diisopropyl phosphoramidite¹² **6**, di-*t*-butyl-N,N-diisopropyl phosphoramidite¹³ **7**, methyl-N,N-diisopropylchlorophosphoramidite¹⁴ **8**, benzyl-N,N-diisopropylchlorophosphoramidite¹⁵ **9**, and 2-cyanoethyl N,N-diisopropylchlorophosphoramidite¹⁶ **10** have been used extensively in the synthesis of oligonucleotides,¹⁶ phosphatidylinositols¹⁵ [PtdIns(4,5)P₂ and PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃], and to a lesser extent, in phospholipids' synthesis. Although the use of phosphate triesters and phosphoramidite esters in preparing phospholipids is known,¹⁷ their usage in the synthesis of cardiolipin analogues having varying fatty acid chain lengths is not well established.

New synthetic methods are needed that can be used to prepare large quantities of cardiolipin analogue species having varying fatty acid chain length, particularly 'short chain cardiolipins'. Such methods would increase the availability of a wider variety of cardiolipin species and would diversify the lipids available for the development of new liposomal formulations containing active agents, which will have more defined compositions than those currently available. The short chain cardiolipin may also be useful for cosmetics and skin care products. As part of ongoing research, we developed new synthetic methods to synthesize cardiolipin and its analogues using the phosphoramidite approach^{18,19a} as well as *O*-chlorophenyl dichlorophosphate.^{19b} Herein, we report for the first time the use of novel phosphoramidite reagent, 2-cyanoethyl N,N-diisopropylchlorophosphoramidite 10 to prepare short chain cardiolipins, long chain cardiolipin, and cardiolipin ether analogues.

2. Synthesis

The synthesis of cardiolipin analogues **18a**, **18b**, **18c**, and **18d** are outlined in Scheme 1. The synthetic methodology that we have developed involves the application of



Scheme 1. Synthesis of cardiolipin-ester analogues.



Scheme 2. Synthesis of cardiolipin-ether analogues.

chlorophosphoramidite 10 as the phosphitylating agent to build a cardiolipin core structure through a phosphotriester approach. The method is attractive because phosphorus(III) reagents are generally more reactive than phosphorus(V) reagents. Commercially available (R)-(+)-3-O-benzyl-1, 2-propanediol 11 was treated with octanoyl chloride in pyridine at 55 °C to obtain 1,2-di-O-octanoyl-3-O-benzyl-snglycerol 12a. The glycerol 11 on esterification with decanoyl chloride and triethylamine in dichloromethane afforded 1,2di-O-decanoyl-3-O-benzyl-sn-glycerol 12b. Debenzylation of 12a and 12b via hydrogenation over 10% Pd-C catalyst in ethanol/ethyl acetate/acetic acid (9:1:0.1) gave the corresponding glycerols 13a and 13b, respectively. 1,2-Di-O-octanoyl-sn-glycerol 13a and 1,2-di-O-decanoyl-sn-glycerol 13b were reacted with the bifunctional phosphitylating reagent 2-cyanoethyl N.N-diisopropylchlorophosphoramidite 10 in dichloromethane in the presence of diisopropylethylamine for 1 h to afford 1,2-diacyl-sn-glycerol-N,Ndiisopropylaminophosphoramidite intermediates 14a and 14b, respectively. Similarly commercially available 1,2-di-O-lauroyl-sn-glycerol 13c and 1,2-di-O-myristoyl-sn-glycerol 13d were reacted with the bifunctional phosphitylating reagent 10, in dichloromethane in the presence of diisopropylamine, for 1 h to afford 1,2-di-O-acyl-sn-glycerol-N,Ndiisopropylaminophosphoramidite intermediates 14c and 14d, respectively. The crude products were used as such for the next reaction without any purification. The phosphoramidite intermediates 14a-d on coupling with 2-benzyloxy-1,3-propanediol 15 in the presence of 1H-tetrazole gave phosphite triester intermediates, which was oxidized in situ with 35% H₂O₂ to afford protected cardiolipin analogues 16a-d, respectively. Deprotection of the cyanoethyl group in the presence of triethylamine by β -elimination yields benzyl protected cardiolipin analogues **17a–d**. Finally, **17a–d** subjected to hydrogenolysis with Pd–C, H₂, at 50 psi in tetrahydrofuran at room temperature for 6 h furnished short chain cardiolipins **18a**, **18b**, **18c**, and long chain cardiolipin **18d**, respectively.

The synthesis of cardiolipin ether analogue 23 is outlined in Scheme 2. Commercially available (R)-(+)-3-O-benzyl-1,2-propanediol was converted in two steps into 1,2-di-Omyristyl-sn-glycerol²⁰ 19. The bifunctional phosphitylating 2-cyanoethyl N,N-diisopropylchlorophosphorreagent amidite 10 mixed with 19 in dichloromethane in the presence of diisopropylethylamine for 2 h afforded 1,2-bis-tetradecyloxy-sn-glycerol-N,N-diisopropylaminophosphoramidite intermediate 20, which was used as such for the next reaction without any purification. The phosphoramidite intermediate 20, on coupling with 2-benzyloxy-1,3-propanediol 15 in the presence of 1H-tetrazole gave phosphite triester intermediate, which was oxidized in situ with hydrogen peroxide to produce the desired protected cardiolipin ether analogue 21. Deprotection of the cyanoethyl group of 2-O-benzyl-1,3-bis[(1,2-di-O-myristyl-sn-glycero-3)-phosphoryl] glycerol dicyanoethyl ester 21 followed by hydrogenolysis gave cardiolipin ether analogue 23.

3. Conclusions

We used commercially available, low cost, and efficient phosphoramidite reagent, such as 2-cyanoethyl *N*,*N*-diisopropylchlorophosphoramidite, to produce cardiolipin analogues in higher yield. The 2-cyanoethyl group provided three advantages.^{17c} First, the high reactivity of the

6993

2-cyanoethyl *N*,*N*-diisopropylchlorophosphoramidite ensured that a bulky primary alcohol could form efficient new O–P bonds. Second, it has been known that the 2-cyanoethyl phosphite derivatives were more stable to chromatography steps than the corresponding benzyl phosphites.^{15c} Third, not only could the 2-cyanoethyl group serve as the source of the 3-amino-propyl linker, but also it could be removed by β -elimination using a base to provide high yield of the phosphodiesters. The deprotection can be accomplished by mild basic conditions and catalytic hydrogenolysis. The routes are short and proceed in good overall yield.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

¹H NMR spectra were recorded on a Varian Inova NMR spectrometer at 500 MHz. ¹H chemical shifts are reported in parts per million from internal tetramethylsilane. Mass spectral analyses [electron spray ionization (ESI)] were carried out on a Triple Quadruple LC/MS/MS mass spectrometer API 4000 (Applied Biosystems). Accurate mass measurements (HRMS-ESI) were done at University of Minnesota on a Bruker Daltonics BioTOF II spectrometer. Melting points were determined at atmospheric pressure and uncorrected. Infrared (IR) spectra were recorded on a Nicolet Nexus 470 FTIR. Samples were prepared by ATR method. Thin layer chromatography (TLC) was carried out on Merck silica gel 60 F254 plates (250 µm) and developed with the appropriate solvents. The TLC spots were visualized either by UV light or by heating the plates sprayed with a solution of phosphomolybdic acid (5% ethanolic solution). Flash column chromatography was carried out on silica gel (230-400 mesh). All chemicals and anhydrous solvents purchased from Aldrich Chemical Co. (Milwaukee, WI), except 1,2-di-O-lauroyl-sn-glycerol and 1,2-di-O-myristoyl-sn-glycerol (Genzyme Pharmaceutical, Cambridge, MA). All of the extracts were dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄. Anhydrous dichloromethane, acetonitrile, ethanol, and tetrahydrofuran were used as such without further drying.

4.1.1. 1,2-Di-O-octanoyl-3-O-benzyl-sn-glycerol (12a). To an oven dried, 100 mL three-neck round bottom flask equipped with a stir bar, condenser, heating mantle, addition funnel, and a temperature probe under an argon atmosphere were added (R)-(+)-3-O-benzyl-1,2-propanediol 11 (4.5 g, 24.7 mmol) and anhydrous pyridine (45 mL). The solution was mixed moderately while octanoyl chloride (10.0 g, 61.5 mmol) was added dropwise via an addition funnel over 15 min maintaining the reaction temperature below 40 °C. To this reaction mixture was added 4-(dimethylamino) pyridine (0.320 g, 2.47 mmol) all at once. The reaction mixture was stirred vigorously for 48 h while refluxing at 55 °C. Then pyridine was removed under reduced pressure to afford a deep red oil. To this oil was added ethyl acetate (300 mL) and extracted with water (3×100 mL), 0.5 N HCl $(3 \times 100 \text{ mL})$, and brine solution $(3 \times 100 \text{ mL})$. The organic layer was dried over Na₂SO₄, filtered, and concentrated to afford 13.5 g of oil. The oil was purified as such using flash chromatography (SiO₂) and eluted (3-10% ethyl acetate/ hexane) to afford 12a (5.4 g, 50%) as a colorless oil. TLC (SiO₂) R_f =0.34 (hexane/ethyl acetate, 9:1). ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) 0.87 (t, *J*=7.0 Hz, 6H), 1.22–1.34 (m, 16H), 1.52–1.66 (m, 4H), 2.22–2.34 (m, 4H), 3.58 (d, *J*=4.2 Hz, 2H), 4.18 (dd, *J*=6.4 and 11.9 Hz, 1H), 4.34 (dd, *J*=6.4 and 11.9 Hz, 1H), 4.57 (d, *J*=12.2 Hz, 1H), 5.21–5.28 (m, 1H), 7.28–7.36 (m, 5H, Ar–*H*). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 172.2, 172.1, 137.2, 137.2, 128.5, 128.1, 128.1, 128.1, 128.0, 75.7, 75.8, 70.4, 67.4, 34.3, 34.1, 31.7, 31.6, 29.1, 29.0, 28.9, 28.9, 24.9, 22.6, 22.6, 14.0. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for C₂₆H₄₂O₅ (M+Na⁺) 457.2924; found 457.2947.

4.1.2. 1.2-Di-O-decanovl-3-O-benzvl-sn-glycerol (12b). To an oven dried, 250 mL three-neck round bottom flask equipped with rubber septum, argon inlet, and ice bath were added (R)-(+)-3-O-benzyl-1,2-propanediol **11** (7.38 g, 40.51 mmol), triethylamine (18.4 g, 182.39 mmol, 24.5 mL), and anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (110 mL) with mixing. To the cooled solution was added dropwise decanoyl chloride (10.0 g, 91.15 mmol) over 15 min, followed by the addition of 4-(dimethylamino) pyridine (0.495 g, 4.05 mmol) with mixing. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 12 h, diluted with CH2Cl2 (200 mL), washed successively with water $(3 \times 100 \text{ mL})$, and $(3 \times 100 \text{ mL})$ brine, dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and concentrated down to deep red oil. The oil was purified as such using flash chromatography (SiO_2) and eluted with step gradient from 3 to 10%, ethyl acetate/hexane to give 12b (6.4 g, 32%) as an oil. TLC (SiO₂) $R_f=0.34$ (hexane/ethyl acetate, 9:1). ¹H NMR $(CDCl_3, 500 \text{ MHz}) \delta 0.87 \text{ (t, } J=6.8 \text{ Hz}, 6\text{H}), 1.22-1.34 \text{ (m,})$ 24H), 1.52-1.66 (m, 4H), 2.22-2.34 (m, 4H), 3.58 (d, J=4.2 Hz, 2H), 4.18 (dd, J=6.4 and 11.9 Hz, 1H), 4.34 (dd, J=6.4 and 11.9 Hz, 1H), 4.51 (d, J=12.2 Hz, 1H), 4.57 (d, J=12.2 Hz, 1H), 5.21-5.28 (m, 1H), 7.28-7.36 (m, 5H, Ar-H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 172.9, 172.5, 137.2, 128.4, 128.3, 127.8, 127.7, 127.6, 75.9, 75.7, 71.1, 67.3, 33.1, 33.1, 35.5, 31.0, 30.0, 30.0, 29.7, 25.4, 23.1, 14.1. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for $C_{30}H_{50}O_5$ (M+Na⁺) 513.3555; found 513.3571.

4.1.3. 1,2-Di-O-octanoyl-sn-glycerol (13a). To a solution of 1,2-dioctanoyl-3-O-benzyl-sn-glycerol 12a (5.4 g, 12.42 mmol) in EtOH/EtOAc/AcOH (9:1:0.1, 24 mL) in a pressure vessel containing a stir bar was added palladium catalyst (0.7 g). The reaction mixture was stirred for 18 h at 40 psi of hydrogen before filtering the reaction over Celite to remove the catalyst. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure to afford an oil. The oil was purified as such using flash chromatography (SiO₂) and eluted with a step gradient of ethyl acetate/hexane (1:1 to 4:1). The solvents were removed and the resulting oil was kept under high vacuo for 4 h to afford 13a (4.0 g, 94%) as pure oil. The compound was used as such for further reactions. TLC (SiO₂) R_t =0.51 (ethyl acetate/hexane, 1:1). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.87 (J=7.0 Hz, 6H), 1.22–1.34 (m, 16H), 1.52–1.66 (m, 4H), 2.12 (t, J=6.2 Hz, 1H, -OH), 2.32 (t, J=7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.35 (t, J=7.6 Hz, 2H), 3.73 (t, J=6.0 Hz, 2H), 4.22 (dd, J=5.8 and 11.9 Hz, 1H), 4.33 (dd, J=5.8 and 11.9 Hz, 1H), 5.08 (quintet, J=5.1 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) § 173.6, 173.3, 77.9, 67.2, 63.3, 34.2, 34.1, 31.7, 31.7, 29.1, 29.0, 28.9, 28.9, 24.9, 24.8, 22.6, 22.6, 14.0. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for C₁₉H₃₅O₅ (M+Na⁺) 367.2455; found 367.2442.

4.1.4. 1,2-Di-O-decanoyl-sn-glycerol (13b). To a solution of 1,2-di-O-decanoyl-3-O-benzyl-sn-glycerol 12b (6.4 g, 13.04 mmol) in EtOH/EtOAc/AcOH (9:1:0.1, 55 mL) was added palladium on carbon catalyst (1.92 g). The reaction mixture was stirred vigorously for 18 h under 40 psi of hydrogen. The catalyst was filtered over a Celite bed, and the solvent was removed to afford oil. The oil was purified as such using flash chromatography (SiO₂) with a step gradient of ethyl acetate/hexane (1:1 to 4:1), concentrated, and kept under high vacuo to yield 13b (4.9 g, 94%) as a oil. TLC (SiO₂) $R_{f}=0.39$ (hexane/ethyl acetate, 3:2). ¹H NMR $(CDCl_3, 500 \text{ MHz}) \delta 0.87 \text{ (t, } J=7.0 \text{ Hz}, 6\text{H}), 1.22-1.34$ (m, 24H), 1.52–1.66 (m, 4H), 2.03 (t, J=6.2 Hz, 1H, -OH), 2.32 (t, J=7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.35 (t, J=7.6 Hz, 2H), 3.73 (t, J=6.0 Hz, 2H), 4.22 (dd, J=5.8 and 11.9 Hz, 1H), 4.33 (dd, J=5.8 and 11.9 Hz, 1H), 5.08 (quintet, J=5.1 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 172.4, 172.3, 78.1, 67.0, 63.5, 33.9, 33.6, 32.5, 32.4, 30.3, 30.3, 30.1, 30.1, 30.0, 30.0, 29.8, 29.7, 25.4, 25.4, 23.4, 23.1, 14.0. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for C₂₃H₄₄O₅ (M+Na⁺) 423.3081; found 423.3093.

4.1.5. 2-O-Benzyl-1,3-bis[(1,2-di-O-octanoyl-sn-glycero-3)-phosphoryl] glycerol dicyanoethyl ester (16a). To a solution of 1,2-di-O-octanoyl-sn-glycerol 13a (4.0 g, 11.6 mmol) in anhydrous dichloromethane (30 mL) were added diisopropylethylamine (1.65 g, 12.76 mmol) and dropwise 2-cyanoethyl N,N-diisopropylchlorophosphoramidite 10 (3.02 g, 12.76 mmol) under a steady stream of dry argon. The reaction mixture was stirred moderately at room temperature under an argon atmosphere for 1 h. To this stirring solution were added 1H-tetrazole (0.97 g, 13.91 mmol, 30.9 mL of 0.45 M solution in acetonitrile) and dropwise a solution of 2-benzyloxy-1,3-propanediol 15 (0.95 g, 5.23 mmol) in anhydrous dichloromethane (30 mL). The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 3 h and cooled to -40 °C while hydrogen peroxide (0.51 g, 15.11 mmol, 1.34 mL of 35 wt % H₂O₂) was added dropwise. After stirring the reaction at -40 °C for 15 min, the reaction was allowed to come to room temperature over 2 h, diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (200 mL), and washed with 10% sodium thiosulfate solution (50 mL). The organic layer was extracted with water $(2 \times 50 \text{ mL})$, brine $(2 \times 50 \text{ mL})$, then dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated under vacuum to yield 6.7 g as a colorless syrup. The residue was purified on a (SiO₂) column using a step gradient from 50% ethyl acetate/hexane to 100% ethyl acetate, which gave **16a** (5.6 g, 85%). TLC (SiO₂) R_f =0.35 (EtOAc/CH₂Cl₂, 1:3, v/v). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.88 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 12H, -CH₃), 1.26-1.29 (m, 32H, -CH₂), 1.58-1.62 (m, 8H), 2.28-2.34 (m, 8H), 2.66-2.73 (m, 4H), 3.85-3.88 (m, 1H), 4.07-4.32 (m, 16H), 4.67 (s, 2H), 5.22-5.25 (m, 2H), 7.35–7.36 (m, 5H, Ar–H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 173.2, 173.1, 172.8, 137.2, 137.1, 128.5, 128.1, 128.1, 128.1, 128.0, 127.9, 127.9, 127.9, 116.3, 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 75.4, 75.4, 75.3, 72.3, 69.2, 69.2, 66.0, 65.9, 65.9, 62.2, 62.1, 61.5, 34.1, 33.9, 31.6, 29.0, 28.9, 28.8, 24.7, 22.5, 19.5, 19.4, 14.0. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for C₅₄H₉₀N₂O₁₇P₂ (M+Na⁺) 1123.5607; found 1123.5610.

4.1.6. 2-*O*-Benzyl-1,3-bis[(1,2-di-*O*-decanoyl-*sn-glycero*-3)-phosphoryl] glycerol dicyanoethyl ester (16b). Compound 16b was synthesized from compound 13b in an 86% yield as a colorless syrup following the procedure used for the synthesis of **16a**. TLC (SiO₂) R_f =0.38 (EtOAc/CH₂Cl₂, 1:3). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.86–0.89 (t, *J*=7.0 Hz, 12H), 1.26–1.28 (m, *J*=10.5 Hz, 48H), 1.58–1.61 (m, *J*=6.0 Hz, 8H), 2.28–2.34 (m, *J*=2.0 Hz, 8H), 2.70–2.72 (m, *J*=6.0 Hz, 4H), 3.83–3.88 (m, 1H), 4.13–4.31 (m, 16H), 4.67–4.68 (s, 2H), 5.22–5.24 (m, 2H), 7.35–7.37 (m, 5H, Ar–*H*). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 173.2, 173.1, 172.8, 172.7, 137.2, 137.2, 128.5, 128.1, 128.0, 127.9, 116.3, 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 75.4, 75.3, 72.3, 69.2, 69.1, 66.0, 66.0, 65.9, 65.8, 62.2, 62.2, 62.1, 61.5, 34.1, 33.9, 31.8, 29.4, 29.2, 29.2, 29.1, 29.0, 24.8, 22.6, 19.6, 19.5, 19.4, 14.0. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for C₆₂H₁₀₆N₂O₁₇P₂ (M+Na⁺) 1235.6879; found 1235.6893.

4.1.7. 2-O-Benzyl-1,3-bis[(1,2-di-O-lauroyl-sn-glycero-3)-phosphoryl] glycerol dicyanoethyl ester (16c). Compound 16c was synthesized from 13c in an 87% yield as a colorless syrup by following the procedure used for the synthesis of 16a. TLC (SiO₂) $R_f = 0.48$ (EtOAc/CH₂Cl₂, 1:3). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.88 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 12H), 1.25-1.28 (m, 64H), 1.58-1.60 (m, 8H), 2.28-2.34 (m, 8H), 2.66–2.72 (m, 4H), 3.83–3.88 (m, 1H), 4.05–4.34 (m, 16H), 4.66–4.67 (s, 2H), 5.22–5.24 (m, 2H), 7.35–7.36 (m, 5H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 173.2, 172.8, 137.2, 130.8, 128.8, 128.6, 128.5, 128.2, 128.1, 128.1, 128.0, 127.9, 127.7, 116.3, 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 75.4, 75.3, 70.6, 70.5, 69.2, 68.1, 66.0, 65.9, 62.2, 62.2, 62.1, 61.6, 61.5, 38.7, 34.1, 33.9, 31.9, 30.3, 29.6, 29.5, 29.4, 29.3, 29.2, 29.0, 29.1, 28.9, 24.8, 23.7, 22.9, 22.6, 19.6, 19.5, 14.1, 14.0. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for C₆₄H₁₂₂N₂O₁₇P₂ (M+Na⁺) 1241.7585; found 1241.7566.

4.1.8. 2-*O*-Benzyl-1,3-bis[(1,2-di-*O*-myristoyl-*sn*-glycero-**3**)-phosphoryl] glycerol dicyanoethyl ester (16d). Compound 16d was synthesized from compound 13d in an 87% yield as a colorless oil following the procedure used for the synthesis of 16a. TLC (SiO₂) R_f =0.26 (EtOAc/ CH₂Cl₂, 1:3). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.86–0.89 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 12H), 1.25 (m, 80H), 1.58–1.59 (m, 8H), 2.27– 2.33 (m, 8H), 2.64–2.75 (m, 4H), 3.90 (m, 1H), 4.13–4.17 (m, 16H), 4.67 (s, 2H), 5.19–5.28 (m, 2H), 7.28–7.38 (m, 5H, Ar–H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 173.5, 173.2, 173.2, 138.0, 128.4, 127.7, 127.6, 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 70.3, 70.3, 66.7, 63.6, 62.7, 34.3, 34.1, 31.9, 29.7, 29.7, 29.7, 29.7, 29.6, 29.6, 29.4, 29.3, 29.2, 29.1, 29.1, 24.9, 24.9, 22.7, 14.0. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for C₇₈H₁₃₈N₂O₁₇P₂ (M+Na⁺) 1459.9363; found 1459.9394.

4.1.9. 1,3-Bis[(**1,2-di**-*O*-octanoyl-*sn*-*glycero*-**3**)-phosphoryl]-2-*O*-benzylglycerol diammonium salt (**17a**). A solution of the protected cardiolipin analogue **16a** (1.95 g, 1.77 mmol), Et₃N (1.36 g, 13.48 mmol), and water (0.1 mL) in acetonitrile (10 mL) was stirred overnight. The reaction mixture was evaporated to dryness. The residue was converted into ammonium salt by adding 2 mL NH₄OH and purified on SiO₂ column (15% MeOH in CH₂Cl₂ containing 1% NH₄OH) to give **17a** (606 mg, 65%) as a colorless syrup that slowly solidified. TLC (SiO₂) R_f ~0.46 (CHCl₃/MeOH/NH₄OH, 6.5:2.5:0.5). ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) 0.88 (t, *J*=7.0 Hz, 12H), 1.22–1.39 (m, 32H), 1.56–1.63 (m, 8H), 2.22–2.34 (m, 8H), 3.66–3.76 (m, 1H), 3.82–4.06 (m, 8H), 4.08–4.18 (m, 2H), 4.26–4.37 (m, 2H), 4.60 (s,

6995

2H), 5.14–5.26 (m, 2H), 7.22–7.36 (m, 5H), 7.49 (br, 8H). 13 C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 173.2, 173.1, 172.8, 172.7, 128.4, 127.7, 127.6, 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 71.4, 70.4, 63.7, 62.7, 45.8, 34.3, 34.1, 31.7, 29.1, 29.0, 28.9, 24.9, 24.8, 22.6, 14.0. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for C₄₈H₉₀N₂O₁₇P₂ (M+2NH₄⁺)^{2–} 496.2519; found 496.2519.

4.1.10. 1,3-Bis[(1,2-di-O-decanoyl-sn-glycero-3)-phosphoryl]-2-O-benzylglycerol diammonium salt (17b). Compound 17b was synthesized from 16b in an 88% yield as a colorless syrup following the procedure used for the synthesis of 17a. TLC (SiO₂) $R_f=0.47$ (CHCl₃/MeOH/NH₄OH, 65:25:5, v/v). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.86–0.89 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 12H), 1.25-1.28 (m, J=16 Hz, 48H), 1.56 (m, 8H), 2.24–2.30 (m, J=3.0 Hz, 8H), 3.72 (m, 1H), 3.89-4.00 (m, J=6.5 Hz, 8H), 4.10-4.14 (m, J=4.0 Hz, 2H), 4.32-4.34 (m, 2H), 4.61 (s, 2H), 5.19 (m, 2H), 7.24-7.33 (m, 5H, Ar-H), 7.55 (br, 8H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 173.5, 173.2, 138.1, 128.3, 127.6, 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 71.5, 70.4, 70.3, 63.5, 63.4, 62.7, 45.7, 34.2, 34.0, 31.8, 29.5, 29.4, 29.3, 29.1, 24.9, 24.8, 22.6, 14.0. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for $C_{56}H_{106}N_2O_{17}P_2$ (M-2NH⁺)²⁻ 552.3145; found 552.3167.

4.1.11. 1,3-Bis[(1,2-di-O-lauroyl-sn-glycero-3)-phosphoryl]-2-O-benzylglycerol diammonium salt (17c). Compound 17c was synthesized from 16c in an 89% yield as a colorless syrup by following the procedure used for the synthesis of 17a. TLC (SiO₂) $R_f=0.34$ (CHCl₃/MeOH/ NH₄OH, 65:25:5). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.86-0.89 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 12H), 1.25–1.30 (m, J=7.5 Hz, 64H), 1.56 (m, 8H), 2.24–2.29 (m, J=4.0 Hz, 8H), 3.70–3.72 (m, 1H), 3.89-3.91 (m, 8H), 4.09-4.14 (m, 2H), 4.32-4.34 (m, 2H), 4.61 (s, 2H), 5.17-5.20 (m, 2H), 7.23-7.33 (m, 5H, Ar-H), 7.25 (br s, 8H, NH₄). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 173.5, 173.2, 138.0, 128.3, 127.7, 127.6, 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 76.2, 76.1, 71.5, 70.4, 70.3, 63.6, 63.5, 62.7, 34.3, 35.0, 31.9, 29.7, 29.6, 29.5, 29.3, 29.3, 29.2, 29.1, 24.9, 24.8, 22.6, 14.0. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for C₆₄H₁₂₂N₂O₁₇P₂ $(M-2NH_4^+)^{2-}$ 609.3821; found 609.3831.

4.1.12. 1,3-Bis[(**1,2-di**-*O*-myristoyl-*sn*-*glycero*-**3**)-phosphoryl]-2-*O*-benzylglycerol diammonium salt (**17d**). Compound **17d** was synthesized from compound **16d** in an 85% yield as a colorless oil following the procedure used for the synthesis of **17a**. TLC (SiO₂) R_{f} =0.54 (CHCl₃/MeOH/NH₄OH, 65:25:5). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.86–0.89 (t, *J*=7.0 Hz, 12H), 1.25–1.31 (m, 80H), 1.56 (m, 8H), 2.23–2.30 (m, 8H), 3.71 (m, 1H), 3.90–3.98 (m, 8H), 4.10–4.14 (m, 2H), 4.31–4.34 (m, 2H), 4.60 (s, 2H), 5.18–5.20 (m, 2H), 7.24–7.32 (m, 5H, Ar–H), 7.51 (br, 8H, NH₄⁺). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 173.5, 173.2, 138.0, 128.4, 127.7, 127.6, 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 71.5, 70.4, 70.3, 63.5, 62.7, 34.3, 34.0, 31.9, 29.7, 29.7, 29.6, 29.5, 29.4, 29.4, 29.3, 29.3, 29.2, 29.1, 24.0, 24.8, 22.7, 22.6, 14.0. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for C₇₂H₁₃₈N₂O₁₇P₂ (M–2NH₄⁺)^{2–} 665.4447; found 665.4443.

4.1.13. 1,3-Bis[(**1,2-di**-*O*-octanoyl-sn-glycero-3)-phosphoryl] glycerol diammonium salt (**18a, tetraoctanoyl** cardiolipin diammonium salt). A solution of benzyl protected cardiolipin analogue **17a** (1.33 g, 1.29 mmol) in tetrahydrofuran (15 mL) was hydrogenated at 50 psi over 10% Pd–C (665 mg) for 10 h. The catalyst was filtered off over Celite bed and concentrated. The residue was dissolved in CHCl₃, filtered through a 0.25 μ filter, and precipitated with acetone to give tetraoctanoyl (C_{8:0}) cardiolipin **18a** (0.99 g, 85%) as a white semi solid. TLC (SiO₂) $R_f \sim 0.43$ (CHCl₃/MeOH/NH₄OH, 6.5:2.5:0.5). ¹H NMR δ (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) 0.88 (t, *J*=7.0 Hz, 12H), 1.22–1.34 (br s, 32H), 1.52–1.64 (m, 8H), 2.26–2.34 (m, 8H), 3.82–3.98 (m, 9H), 4.12–4.18 (m, 2H), 4.35–4.42 (m, 2H), 5.14–5.24 (m, 2H), 7.41 (br, 8H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 173.6, 173.3, 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 62.6, 34.2, 34.1, 31.7, 31.6, 29.1, 29.0, 28.9, 24.8, 22.6, 22.5, 14.0. FTIR (ATR) 3250, 3015, 2945, 2922, 2840, 1746, 1473, 1371, 1198, 1082, 1069 cm⁻¹. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for C₄₁H₈₄N₂O₁₇P₂ (M–2NH₄⁺)^{2–} 451.2324; found 451.2266.

4.1.14. 1,3-Bis[(1,2-di-O-decanoyl-sn-glycero-3)-phosphoryl] glycerol diammonium salt (18b, tetradecanoyl cardiolipin diammonium salt). Compound 18b was synthesized from 17b in a 97% yield as a white solid by following the procedure used for the synthesis of 18a. Mp 177–179 °C. TLC (SiO₂) R_f=0.38 (CHCl₃/MeOH/NH₄OH, 65:25:5, v/v). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.88 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 12H), 1.26 (br s, 48H), 1.58–1.59 (m, J=6.0 Hz, 8H), 2.27–2.33 (m, J=7.0 Hz, 8H), 3.62 (br, 1H), 3.90– 3.91 (m, J=4.5 Hz, 9H), 4.13–4.17 (m, J=7.0 Hz, 2H), 4.35–4.37 (m, J=10 Hz, 2H), 5.19–5.20 (m, J=2.0 Hz, 2H), 7.44 (br, 8H, NH⁴). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 173.6, 173.3, 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 62.6, 34.3, 34.1, 31.9, 31.8, 29.5, 29.3, 29.2, 29.1, 24.2, 24.8, 22.6, 14.0. FTIR (ATR) 3228, 3022, 2946, 2914, 2850, 1744, 1466, 1387, 1095, 1070 cm⁻¹. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for 1212 $C_{49}H_{100}N_2O_{17}P_2 (M-2NH_4^+)^{2-} 507.2962$; found 507.2953.

4.1.15. Synthesis of 1,3-bis[(1,2-di-O-lauroyl-sn-glycero-3)-phosphoryl] glycerol diammonium salt (18c, tetralauroyl cardiolipin diammonium salt). Compound 18c was synthesized from 17c in a 98% yield as a white solid by following the procedure used for the synthesis of 18a. Mp 156–158 °C. TLC (SiO₂) R_f=0.31 (CHCl₃/MeOH/ NH₄OH, 65:25:5). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.86-0.89 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 12H), 1.26 (m, 64H), 1.58-1.59 (m, 8H), 2.27-2.33 (m, 8H), 3.90-3.92 (m, 9H), 4.13-4.17 (m, 2H), 4.36-4.38 (m, 2H), 5.20-5.21 (m, 2H), 7.41 (br, 8H, NH[±]₄). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 173.6, 173.3, 167.7, 132.4, 130.8, 128.8, 70.3, 70.3, 69.5, 68.1, 66.6, 63.6, 63.5, 62.7, 38.7, 34.3, 34.1, 31.9, 30.3, 29.7, 29.6, 29.4, 29.3, 29.2, 28.9, 24.9, 24.8, 23.7, 22.9, 22.6, 14.0. FTIR (ATR) 3207, 3035, 2956, 2918, 2850, 1737, 1467, 1378, 1206, 1092, 1067 cm^{-1} . HRMS (ESI) Calcd for $C_{57}H_{116}N_2O_{17}P_2 (M-2NH_4^+)^{2-} 563.3553$; found 563.3540.

4.1.16. Synthesis of 1,3-bis[(1,2-di-*O*-myristoyl-sn-glycero-3)-phosphoryl] glycerol diammonium salt (18d, tetramyristoyl cardiolipin diammonium salt). Compound 18d was synthesized from compound 17d in a 98% yield as a white solid following the procedure used for the synthesis of 18a. Mp 181–182 °C. TLC (SiO₂) R_f =0.29 (CHCl₃/ MeOH/NH₄OH, 65:25:5). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.86–0.89 (t, *J*=7.0 Hz, 12H, -CH₃), 1.25 (br, 80H, -CH₂-), 1.58–1.59 (m, 8H), 2.27–2.33 (m, 8H), 3.06 (br, 1H), 3.90 (m, 9H), 4.13–4.17 (m, 2H), 4.36–4.38 (m, 2H), 5.20–5.21 (m, 2H), 7.41 (br, 8H, NH⁴₄). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 173.6, 173.3, 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 70.34, 70.3, 66.7, 63.6, 62.7, 34.3, 34.1, 31.9, 29.7, 29.6, 29.4, 29.2, 29.1, 24.9, 24.8, 22.7, 14.0. FTIR (ATR) 3207, 3035, 2956, 2918, 1737, 1461, 1378, 1206, 1092, 1067 cm⁻¹. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for C₆₅H₁₃₂N₂O₁₇P₂ (M-2NH₄⁺)²⁻ 619.4199; found 619.4173.

4.1.17. Synthesis of 2-O-benzyl-1,3-bis[(1,2-di-O-myristyl-sn-glycero-3)-phosphoryl] glycerol dicyanoethyl ester (21). To a 250-mL three-neck round bottom flask equipped with stir bar, rubber septum, and argon inlet was added 1.2-di-*O*-myristyl-*sn*-glycerol¹⁹ **19** (9.2 g, 19.01 mmol) in anhydrous dichloromethane (150 mL). To the mixture was added diisopropylethylamine (5.46 g, 42.26 mmol) and stirred for 10 min. To this mixture was added dropwise 2cvanoethyl N.N-diisopropylchlorophosphoramidite 10 (5.0 g. 21.13 mmol), and the reaction mixture was stirred moderately at room temperature. The reaction mixture was stirred for 2 h before adding 1H-tetrazole (1.59 g, 22.77 mmol of 0.45 M solution in acetonitrile) and dropwise a solution of 2-benzyloxy-1,3-propanediol 15 (1.55 g, 8.54 mmol) in anhydrous dichloromethane (20 mL). The reaction mixture was stirred for 3 h, and then cooled to -20 °C while 35 wt % H_2O_2 (0.42 g, 12.38 mmol, 1.09 mL) was added dropwise. After stirring the reaction mixture at -20 °C for 15 min, the reaction was allowed to come to room temperature over 2 h, diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (200 mL), and washed with 10% sodium thiosulfate solution (50 mL). The organic layer was extracted with water (2 \times 50 mL), brine (2 \times 50 mL), dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, filtered, and concentrated under vacuum to afford a colorless syrup. The residue was purified as such by flash chromatography on a (SiO_2) column using a step gradient from 50 to 70% ethyl acetate/petroleum ether to yield **21** (7.1 g, 61%). TLC (SiO₂) $R_f=0.27$ (ethyl acetate/hexane, 3:1). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.86–0.89 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 12H), 1.25–1.31 (br, J=7.5, 4.5, and 9.5 Hz, 80H), 1.53-1.54 (m, 8H), 2.23-2.27 (m, 8H), 2.70-2.71 (m, 4H), 3.01 (m, 1H), 4.05-4.11 (m, 4H), 4.16-4.23 (m, 4H), 4.24-4.30 (m, 4H), 4.61-4.63 (d, 2H), 4.67-4.69 (m, 2H), 7.34–7.36 (m, 5H, Ar–H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 128.5, 128.4, 128.0, 127.9, 127.8, 77.5, 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 72.1, 71.8, 70.7, 70.6, 69.3, 69.3, 67.7, 61.9, 61.8, 60.8, 31.9, 30.0, 29.9, 29.6, 29.5, 29.4, 29.3, 26.0, 22.6, 19.5, 19.45, 14.0. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for C₇₈H₁₄₆N₂O₁₃P₂ (M+Na⁺) 1404.0197; found 1404.0234.

4.1.18. 2-O-Benzyl-1,3-bis[(1,2-di-O-myristyl-sn-glycerol-3)-phosphoryl] glycerol diammonium salt (22). To a (250 mL) round bottom flask were added 2-O-benzyl-1,3bis[(1,2-di-O-myristyl-sn-glycero-3)-phosphoryl] glycerol dicyanoethyl ester 21 (3.48 g, 2.51 mmol) and anhydrous acetonitrile (50 mL). The solution was mixed vigorously while triethylamine (2.18 g, 21.52 mmol, 3.0 mL) was added. The reaction mixture was stirred vigorously for 24 h at room temperature. The solvents were removed under reduced pressure, and the crude oil was kept under high vacuo for 4 h. The residue was purified by flash chromatography on a (SiO₂) column using a step gradient of (CHCl₃/MeOH/NH₄OH, 100:15:1, v/v) and (CHCl₃/ MeOH/NH₄OH, 65:15:1, v/v) to yield 22 (2.8 g, 88%). TLC (SiO₂) $R_f=0.43$ (CHCl₃/MeOH/NH₄OH, 65:25:5, v/v). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.86–0.89 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 12H), 1.25 (br, 80H), 1.52 (m, 8H), 3.00-3.02 (d, 1H), 3.39-3.44 (m, 4H), 3.49-3.51 (d, 4H), 3.56 (m, 4H), 3.83 (m, 6H),

3.98 (br, 4H), 4.60 (s, 2H), 7.28–7.31 (m, 5H, Ar–H), 7.56 (br s, 8H). ^{13}C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 128.3, 127.6, 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 71.8, 71.4, 70.6, 31.9, 30.10, 29.8, 29.7, 29.7, 29.6, 29.4, 26.1, 22.7, 14.1. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for $C_{72}H_{146}N_2O_{13}P_2\,(M-2NH4+)^{2-}$ 637.4901; found 637.4901.

4.1.19. 1,3-Bis[(1,2-di-O-myristyl-sn-glycerol-3)-phosphoryl] glycerol diammonium salt (23, tetradecyloxy cardiolipin diammonium salt). To a solution of 2-O-benzyl-1,3-bis-[(1,2-di-O-myristyl-sn-glycero-3)-phosphoryl]-2-O-benzylglycerol diammonium salt 22 (1.2 g, 0.91 mmol) in tetrahydrofuran (30 mL) in a pressure vessel, was added palladium on carbon catalyst (600 mg). The reaction mixture was stirred under 50 psi of hydrogen at room temperature for 6 h. The palladium catalyst was filtered over Celite, washed with chloroform/methanol (1:1, 100 mL), and concentrated under reduced pressure to afford white solids. The product was purified on a flash chromatography (SiO₂) column using a step gradient of (CHCl₃/MeOH/ NH₄OH, 100:15:1, v/v) and (CHCl₃/MeOH/NH₄OH, 65:15:1, v/v) to yield 23 (1.1 g, 98%). Mp 174-176 °C. TLC (SiO₂) $R_f = 0.34$ (CHCl₃/MeOH/NH₄OH, 65:25:5, v/v). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 0.86–0.89 (t, J=7.0 Hz, 12H), 1.25–1.27 (br, 80H), 1.31 (br, 8H), 1.54– 1.55 (m, 8H), 3.42–3.43 (m, 4H), 3.53–3.54 (m, 4H), 3.57-3.58 (m, 4H), 3.85 (br, 4H), 7.43 (br s, 8H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 77.2, 77.0, 76.7, 71.8, 31.9, 30.0, 29.8, 29.8, 29.7, 29.6, 29.4, 26.2, 26.1, 22.7, 14.1. HRMS (ESI) Calcd for $C_{65}H_{140}N_2O_{13}P_2$ (M-2NH⁺₄)²⁻ 591.4613; found 591.4597.

Acknowledgements

We thank the Bioanalytical group at NeoPharm for the Mass spectral analyses.

References and notes

- 1. Tryell, A.; Heath, T. D.; Colley, C. M.; Ryman, B. E. Biochem. Biophys. Acta 1976, 457, 259–302.
- 2. Grunner, S. M.; Jain, M. H. Biochem. Biophys. Acta 1985, 352–355.
- Gokhale, P. C.; Zhang, C.; Newsome, J. T.; Pei, J.; Ahmad, I.; Rahman, A.; Dritschilo, A.; Kasid, U. N. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2002, 8, 3611–3621.
- 4. Drummond, D. C.; Meyer, O.; Hong, K.; Kirpotin, D. B.; Papahadjopoulos, D. *Pharmacol. Rev.* **1999**, *51*, 691–744.
- (a) Ramirez, F.; Ioannou, P. V.; Marecek, J. F.; Golding, B. T.; Dodd, G. H. Synthesis 1976, 11, 769–770; (b) Duralski, A. A.; Spooner, P. J. R.; Rankin, S. E.; Watts, A. Tetrahedron Lett.
 1998, 39, 1607–1610; (c) Saunders, R. M.; Schwarz. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1966, 88, 3844–3847; (d) Mishina, I. M.; Vasilenko, A. E.; Stepanov, A. E.; Shvets, V. I. Bioorg. Khim.
 1985, 11, 992–994; (e) Stepanov, A. E.; Makarova, I. M.; Shvets, V. I. Zh. Org. Khim. 1984, 20, 985–988.
- (a) De haas, G. H.; Bonsen, P. P. M.; VanDeeen, L. L. M. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1966, 116, 114–124; (b) Inoue, K.; Suhara, Y.; Nojima, S. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1963, 1150–1156.
- Murakami, K.; Molitor, E. J.; Liu, H. W. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 648–651.

- Dreef, C. E.; Elie, C. J. J.; Hoogerhout, P.; Van Der Marel, G. A.; Van Boom, J. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1988**, *29*, 6513– 6516.
- (a) Browne, J. E.; Driver, M. J.; Russel, J. C.; Sammes, P. G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 653–657; (b) Gu, Q. M.; Prestwich, G. D. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 8642–8647.
- Wilk, A.; Srinivasachar, K.; Beaucage, S. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 6712–6713.
- 11. Watanabe, Y.; Inada, E.; Jinno, M.; Ozaki, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *67*, 194–199.
- Watanabe, Y.; Ishikawa, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 8509– 8512.
- 13. Lindberg, J.; Ekeroth, J.; Konradsson, P. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 194–199.
- Jaeseung, K.; Jun, M. G.; Marc, M. G. Angew. Chem. 2003, 115, 6062–6065.
- (a) Prestwich, G. D.; Marecek, J. F.; Mourey, R. J.; Thiebert, A. B.; Ferris, C. D.; Danoff, S. K.; Snyder, S. H. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 1822–1825; (b) Chen, J.; Profit, A. A.; Prestwich, G. D. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6305–6312; (c) Prestwich, G. D. Acc. Chem. Res. 1996, 29, 503–513.
- (a) Yoshihito, U.; Naoko, K.; Akira, M. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2000**, *11*, 933–940; (b) Anders, E. H.; Alexei, A. K.; Mads,

D. S.; Jesper, W. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 5161–5166; (c) Ulf, D.; Claudia, M. B. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2000, 10, 1417–1420; (d) Evelyne, M.; Didier, G.; Michel, J.; Anthony, R.; Jean, C. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 8689–8701; (e) Elisabeth, M.; Ewa, B.; Peter, S. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 1475–1484; (f) Makoto, N.; Satoshi, S.; Akira, M. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 5016–5021; (g) Makiko, K.; Yoshihiti, U.; Satoshi, S.; Akira, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 2422– 2432; (h) Mark, T. T.; Mark, W. G. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 5355–5359.

- (a) Chevallier, J.; Sakai, N.; Robert, F.; Kobayashi, J. G.; Matile, S. Org. Lett. 2000, 13, 1859–1861; (b) Jiang, G.; Xu, Y.; Falguleres, T.; Gruenberg, J.; Prestwich, G. D. Org. Lett. 2006, 7, 3837–3840; (c) Jiang, G.; Xu, Y.; Prestwich, G. D. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 934–939.
- (a) Krishna, U. N.; Ahmad, M. U.; Ahmad, I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, *45*, 2077–2079; (b) Krishna, U. M.; Ahmad, M. U.; Ali,
 S. M.; Ahmad, I. *Lipids* **2004**, *39*, 595–600.
- (a) Lin, Z.; Ahmad, M. U.; Ali, S. M.; Ahmad, I. *Lipids* 2004, 39, 285–290; (b) Lin, Z.; Ahmad, M. U.; Ali, S. M.; Ahmad, I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 6923–6925.
- Krishnudu, K.; Ahmad, M. U.; Ali, S. M.; Ahmad, I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 2743–2746.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 6998-7008

New diterpenes of the pseudopterane class from two closely related *Pseudopterogorgia* species: isolation, structural elucidation, and biological evaluation

Jeffrey Marrero,^a Claudia A. Ospina,^a Abimael D. Rodríguez,^{a,*} Peter Baran,^a Hong Zhao,^a Scott G. Franzblau^b and Eduardo Ortega-Barria^c

^aDeparment of Chemistry, University of Puerto Rico, PO Box 23346, U.P.R. Station, San Juan, PR 00931-3346, USA ^bInstitute for Tuberculosis Research, College of Pharmacy, The University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL 60612-7231, USA ^cInstituto de Investigaciones Científicas Avanzadas y Servicios de Alta Tecnología, Centro de Estudios Biomédicos, Clayton Building 175, PO Box 7250, Panama 5, Panama

> Received 18 February 2006; revised 18 April 2006; accepted 21 April 2006 Available online 19 May 2006

Abstract—Parallel chemical investigations of the hexane and chloroform extracts of the sea plumes *Pseudopterogorgia bipinnata* and *Pseudopterogorgia kallos* has led to the discovery of seven new diterpenoids of the pseudopterane class, namely, kallolide D (2), kallolide C acetate (3), kallolide E (4), kallolide F (5), kallolide G (6), kallolide H (7), and kallolide I (8), in addition to nine previously described compounds of the pseudopterane and gersolane families of diterpenes. The chemical structures of the new metabolites were established by 1D and 2D NMR, IR, UV, HRMS, and, in some instances, by single-crystal X-ray crystallographic analyses. Biological screening of these metabolites revealed significant anti-parasitic activity albeit marginal anti-tubercular activity. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

When extracted exhaustively with organic solvent mixtures such as CHCl₃-MeOH or CH₂Cl₂-MeOH, the majority of the Caribbean gorgonian species belonging to the genus Pseudopterogorgia ooze diterpenoids of very unusual structure types.¹ *Pseudopterogorgia* species are among the most common of the Caribbean species with more than 15 species having been taxonomically described.² As part of our investigations of new anti-infective agents derived from marine sources, we now report the isolation and structure characterization of seven new related pseudopteranes from two closely related Pseudopterogorgia species, namely, P. bipinnata³ and P. kallos.⁴ Based on biogenetic grounds, the new metabolites 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, and 8 could arise from regioselective oxidation of known kallolide A (1), the major compound isolated during this investigation.⁴ On the other hand, novel metabolite 4 must arise through a distinct biogenetic pathway.⁵ Crude extracts of *P. bipinnata* and *P. kallos* collected near Providencia (Old Providence) Island, Colombia in March of 2002 exhibited in vitro inhibition of Plasmodium falciparum and Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Bioassay-

Keywords: Pseudopterane diterpenes; *Pseudopterogorgia kallos*; *Pseudopterogorgia bipinnata*; Malaria; Tuberculosis; X-ray crystal structure analysis. * Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 787 764 0000x4799; fax: +1 787 756

guided purification led to the isolation of 16 compounds, the structures of which were determined through interpretation of the NMR, IR, UV, mass spectral, and X-ray crystallographic data. Seven compounds were found to be novel, which we have named kallolide D (2), kallolide C acetate (3), kallolide E (4), kallolide F (5), kallolide G (6), kallolide H (7), and kallolide I (8);⁶ and nine were identified as previously known metabolites kallolide A (1),⁴ kallolide A acetate (9),⁴ 2-*O*-ethylkallolide A (10),⁷ gersemolide (11),⁸ kallolide C (12),⁴ bipinnapterolide A (13),⁹ pinnatin B (14),¹⁰ gersolide (15),¹¹ and pinnatin D (16).¹⁰ The hexane extracts, prepared from 0.11 kg (dry weight) of P. bipinnata and 1.07 kg (dry weight) of P. kallos, were each chromatographed on a Bio-Beads SX-3 stationary phase using toluene as eluent. The CHCl₃ extracts, on the other hand, were chromatographed either isocratically, under flash column chromatography conditions on a silica gel stationary phase with 1% MeOH in CHCl₃ (P. bipinnata), or using a step gradient of hexane-EtOAc (P. kallos) as eluent. Active fractions were purified further by successive silica gel column chromatography and HPLC to yield pure compounds 1-16. While almost all of these metabolites exhibited marginal anti-tubercular activity, a significant number of them displayed moderate to strong anti-parasitic properties.

Initial inspection of the 1 H and 13 C NMR spectra of **2–8** (Tables 1 and 2), suggested that the molecular structures

^{8242;} e-mail: arodrig@cnnet.upr.edu

Table 1. ¹H NMR (500 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) spectral data for compounds 2–5^a

Atom	m Kallolide D (2)		Kallolide C aceta	ite (3)	Kallolide	E (4)	Kallolide F (5)		
	$\delta_{\rm H}$, mult, J in Hz	$\delta_{\rm C}$, mult	$\delta_{ m H}$, mult, J in Hz	$\delta_{\rm C}$, mult	δ_{H} , mult, J in Hz	$\delta_{\rm C}$, mult	$\delta_{\rm H}$, mult, J in Hz	$\delta_{\rm C}$, mult	
1	2.61, ddd, 10.5, 6.5, 1.3	53.5 (CH)	2.64, ddd, 11.9, 7.2, 5.0	44.1 (CH)	2.26, dt, 11.1, 3.3	50.2 (CH)	2.75, br d, 7.3	45.2 (CH)	
2	4.02, d, 10.5	72.1 (CH)	5.38, d, 11.8	68.2 (CH)	4.36, d, 11.1	67.1 (CH)	4.25, d, 2.6	81.3 (CH)	
3		184.0 (C)		180.9 (C)		177.8 (C)		212.3 (C)	
4		112.4 (C)		111.0 (C)		113.4 (C)	2.55, q, 7.0	50.2 (CH)	
5		200.4 (C)		99.9 (C)		200.4 (C)		101.3 (C)	
6		100.2 (C)		201.6 (C)		99.5 (C)		199.7 (C)	
7	3.51, d, 4.2	53.1 (CH)	3.41, d, 5.5	51.0 (CH)	3.32, br s	55.7 (CH)		129.0 (C)	
8	4.94, br d, 3.2	78.9 (CH)	5.08, dd, 5.5, 1.3	78.9 (CH)	5.08, br s	80.4 (CH)	5.86, br s	77.6 (CH)	
9	7.22, br s	146.4 (CH)	6.68, br s	145.0 (CH)	7.16, br s	149.4 (CH)	6.88, br s	143.3 (CH)	
10		132.9 (C)		135.6 (C)		130.2 (C)		137.6 (C)	
11a	2.40, m	23.6 (CH ₂)	2.50, dd, 13.7, 4.6	21.8 (CH ₂)	2.50, m	24.9 (CH ₂)	2.42, m	23.8 (CH ₂)	
11β	2.40, m		2.24, m		2.05, m		2.42, m		
12α	2.07, m	32.3 (CH ₂)	1.24, m	28.8 (CH ₂)	1.77, m	26.7 (CH ₂)	1.62, m	$30.4 (CH_2)^{b}$	
12β	1.64, m		1.70, m		1.28, m		2.13, m		
13		145.7 (C)		143.3 (C)		144.7 (C)		145.1 (C)	
14α	4.98, br s	115.6 (CH ₂)	4.87, br s	114.6 (CH ₂)	4.95, br s	115.5 (CH ₂)	4.88, br s	112.9 (CH ₂)	
14β	5.01, br s		5.02, br s		4.97, br s		4.77, br s		
15	1.77, s	17.9 (CH ₃)	1.71, s	18.2 (CH ₃)	1.81, s	17.7 (CH ₃)	1.80, s	23.1 (CH ₃)	
16	1.79, s	6.0 (CH ₃)	1.84, s	6.4 (CH ₃)	1.67, s	6.3 (CH ₃)	1.03, d, 7.0	8.5 (CH ₃)	
17		138.6 (C)		139.4 (C)		142.0 (C)		140.5 (C)	
18a	5.42, br s	118.9 (CH ₂)	5.30, br s	119.7 (CH ₂)	5.21, br s	119.4 (CH ₂)	1.73, s	23.1 (CH ₃)	
18β	5.47, br s		5.39, br s		5.22, br s				
19	2.03, s	24.5 (CH ₃)	2.07, s	23.9 (CH ₃)	2.13, s	23.4 (CH ₃)	1.93, s	20.4 (CH ₃)	
20		172.5 (C)		174.3 (C)		172.7 (C)		174.4 (C)	
21				170.3 (C)					
22			2.02, s	20.4 (CH ₃)					

^a Data recorded in CDCl₃ at 25 °C. Assignments were aided by ¹H–¹H COSY, DEPT, HMBC, HMQC, and NOESY NMR experiments. ^b Due to the broad low-intensity nature of this resonance line the chemical shift value shown has been estimated.

of these compounds are closely related. The ${}^1\mathrm{H}$ and 13 C NMR spectra of kallolide I (8) contain a number of broadened resonances, which led to low sensitivity in 2D hetero-correlated NMR experiments. However,

the NMR spectra of compounds 2-7 contained mostly sharp resonances and therefore, the majority of the structural characterization was carried out on the latter metabolites.

Table 2. ¹H NMR (500 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) spectral data for compounds $6-8^{a}$

Atom	Kallolide G	(6)	Kallolide	H (7)	Kallolide	I (8)
	$\delta_{\rm H}$, mult, J in Hz	$\delta_{\rm C}$, mult	$\delta_{ m H}$, mult, J in Hz	$\delta_{\rm C}$, mult	δ_{H} , mult, J in Hz	$\delta_{\rm C}$, mult
1	2.50, br dt, 4.0, 11.8	44.3 (CH)	2.55, m	45.3 (CH)	2.18, m	42.6 (CH) ^b
2	3.00, d, 3.2	79.7 (CH)	5.57, br s	77.6 (CH)	4.67, br d, 11.7	78.3 (CH)
3		209.3 (C)		202.0 (C)		212.7 (C) ^b
4	2.21, q, 7.0	52.2 (CH)		154.0 (C)		$68.3 (C)^{b}$
5	•	102.0 (C)	6.46, br s	125.6 (CH)	3.49, br s	63.9 (CH)
6		196.5 (C)		197.6 (C)		$198.3 (C)^{b}$
7	4.50, br s	50.8 (CH)	3.45, br s	62.1 (CH)	3.60, br d, 1.6	56.8 (CH) ^b
8	5.30, t, 1.4	81.2 (CH)	5.45, br s	79.5 (CH)	5.07, br s	79.5 (CH)
9	7.41, br s	148.9 (CH)	7.39, br s	151.6 (CH)	6.64, br s	145.7 (CH) ^b
10		130.5 (C)		132.7 (C)		137.4 (C)
11α	2.43, m	21.9 (CH ₂)	2.59, m	22.1 (CH ₂)	2.40, m	$20.0 (CH_2)^{b}$
11β	2.28, m		2.59, m		2.20, m	
12α	2.03, m	28.5 (CH ₂)	2.17, m	25.6 (CH ₂)	2.12, m,	$26.2 (CH_2)^{b}$
12β	1.97, m		1.56, m		1.57, m	
13		144.4 (C)		143.7 (C)		140.8 (C) ^b
14α	4.91, br s	113.7 (CH ₂)	4.83, br s	115.0 (CH ₂)	5.00, br s	$116.3 (CH_2)^{b}$
14β	4.81, br s		4.98, br s		4.95, br s	
15	1.74, s	23.8 (CH ₃)	1.74, s	22.1 (CH ₃)	1.60, s	$17.5 (CH_3)^{b}$
16	1.13, d, 7.0	7.7 (CH ₃)	1.94, d, 1.4	21.6 (CH ₃)	1.54, s	21.7 $(CH_3)^b$
17		139.7 (C)		138.0 (C)		137.7 (C) ^b
18α	5.09, br s	116.0 (CH ₂)	5.26, br s	116.1 (CH ₂)	5.20, br s	118.4 (CH ₂)
18β	5.27, br s		5.54, br s		5.09, br s	
19	1.87, s	22.4 (CH ₃)	1.76, s	23.1 (CH ₃)	1.97, s	21.8 $(CH_3)^b$
20		173.7 (C)		173.6 (C)		173.7 (C)
21				170.0 (C)		172.2 (C) ^b
22			2.23, s	20.8 (CH ₃)	2.19, s	20.5 (CH ₃)

^a Data recorded in CDCl₃ at 25 °C. Assignments were aided by ¹H–¹H COSY, DEPT, HMBC, HMQC, and NOESY NMR experiments. ^b Approximate chemical shift value due to the broad low-intensity nature of the resonance line.



2. Results and discussion

Chemical analysis of the hexane extract of P. bipinnata led to the isolation of known compounds kallolide A acetate (9),⁴ gersemolide (11),⁸ and pinnatin B (14),¹⁰ whereas the analysis of its CHCl₃ extract afforded known kallolide C $(12)^4$ and bipinnapterolide A (13),9 along with new pseudopterane metabolites 2-6. Mass spectral analysis of kallolide D (2) confirmed a formula of $C_{20}H_{24}O_6$, which requires nine degrees of unsaturation. The ¹³C NMR spectra suggested the presence of two carbonyl groups. A carbonyl absorption in the IR spectrum of 2 at 1752 cm^{-1} , together with a oneproton resonance at δ 7.22 in the ¹H NMR spectrum and ¹³C NMR signals at δ 172.5 (C), 146.4 (CH), 132.9 (C), and 78.9 (CH), suggested the presence of an *a*-substituted α,β -unsaturated γ -lactone functionality. This structural feature was assigned confidently by comparison of the spectral data with a number of natural products, including kallolide A (1), which also contains this functional group.⁴ Further examination of the NMR data showed that two isopropenyl groups, as found in kallolide A, were present in the molecule. Resonances in the ¹³C NMR spectrum at δ 145.7 (C),

138.6 (C), 115.6 (CH₂), and 118.9 (CH₂), along with four ¹H NMR signals at δ 5.47 (br s, 1H), 5.42 (br s, 1H), 5.01 (br s, 1H), and 4.98 (br s, 1H), confirmed the presence of two terminal olefins in 2. ¹H-¹H COSY experiments more precisely defined each terminal olefin as methyl substituted. A broad IR absorption at 3398 cm^{-1} , coupled with a resonance in the ¹³C NMR spectrum at δ 72.1 (CH) and a ¹H NMR signal (Table 1) at δ 4.02 (d, 1H, J=10.5 Hz), suggested the presence of a secondary alcohol as found in kallolide A. Resonances in the ${}^{13}C$ NMR spectrum of 2 also compared favorably to 1 at carbons 1, 2, 7–15, and 17-20. The planar structure of kallolide D, therefore, was proposed to be identical to 1 at all carbons except for those of the furan constellation that was obviously not present. The basic skeleton of a pseudopterane diterpene for 2 was supported by key HMBC correlations (H-1/C-2, C-3, C-11, C-12, C-13, C-14; H-2/C-1, C-3, C-4, C-12; H-7/C-5, C-6, C-8, C-18, C-19; H-8/C-6, C-7; H-9/C-8, C-20; H-11αβ/ C-9, C-10, C-20; H-12αβ/C-2, C-10; H₃-16/C-3, C-4, C-5) and from straightforward connections of the different proton spin systems around the carbon skeleton through ${}^{1}H{}^{-1}H$ COSY experiments.

The major difference between the two molecules was most apparent from consideration of other NMR data. The familiar furan proton was not present in the spectrum of **2**, and furthermore, analysis of the ¹³C NMR data showed that, in place of the resonances for a furan, four new signals were present in the spectrum of kallolide D (**2**) at δ 200.4 (C), 184.0 (C), 112.4 (C), and 100.2 (C). Also, a ¹³C NMR resonance at δ 6.0 (CH₃) was assigned to an unusually shielded methyl group in the molecule (C-16).

These data suggested that the furan had been replaced by an oxidation product possessing both a conjugated ketone [δ 200.4 (C)] and a hemiketal functionality [δ 100.2 (C)]. The UV absorption at 282 nm (ε 2800) compared favorably to UV data $[\lambda_{max} 278-284 \text{ nm} (\varepsilon 7000-11,000)]$ for a series of macrocyclic diterpenes that possessed the same 4-methyl-3(2H)-furanone chromophore.¹² Proof for the presence of the C-6 hemiketal hydroxy group in 2 came from key HMBC correlations: H-7/C-5, C-6 and H-8/C-6, C-7. On the basis of this comparison, and considering the remaining functional groups, a structure for **2** was formulated as shown. Since kallolide D very likely was formed by the oxidation of kallolide A (1), it must have one of the two diastereoisomeric structures 2 or 2'. A distinction between these structures was achieved by a combination of NOESY and molecular modeling studies. The McSpartan '04 molecular modeling program was used to calculate the conformer distribution of each possible structure; key inter-proton distances were then measured on the lowest energy conformer. These distances are given in Figure 1 together with selected observed NOESY correlations. From Figure 1 it is evident that the observed NOESY correlations are consistent only with structure 2. Thus a NOESY correlation was observed for H-1/H₃-16, and structure 2 is the only structure for which this internuclear distance is calculated to be less than 3 Å. Conversely, a NOESY correlation was not observed for H-2/H₃-16; such correlation would have been expected for structure 2'. On the basis of the above spectral evidence, the structure of kallolide D including its relative stereochemistry was confidently assigned as 2.



Figure 1. Energy-minimized molecular model of kallolide D (2) with diagnostic NOESY correlations observed. Also shown for comparison purposes is a stereoview of C-6 epimer 2' generated from computer modeling along with relevant inter-proton distances.

Kallolide C acetate (3) was isolated as a colorless oil with a molecular formula of C22H26O7 established by HR-FABMS of the [M+H]⁺ ion. The difference of 42 mass units in the molecular formula of 3 in relation to that of known kallolide C (12) suggested that the C-2 hydroxy group in 12 must be acetylated in 3.⁴ This was corroborated by the spectral data (¹H and ¹³C NMR) of **3**, which were generally very similar to those of 12 (Table 1) but showed the presence of an additional acetate methyl signal at δ 2.02 (s, 3H) as well as a noticeable downfield shift for H-2 (from δ 4.48 in 12 to δ 5.38 in 3).¹³ Because similar NOEs were observed in both compounds, it was concluded that these compounds have the same relative stereochemistry at all the chiral centers. Difficulties arose in confirming these conclusions through X-ray crystallographic analysis as kallolide C acetate (3) failed to suitably crystallize under a variety of conditions. Notwithstanding, the structural relationship of compounds 3 and 12 was decisively demonstrated when both metabolites, upon acetylation, yielded the same diacetate, 17, previously prepared by Fenical et al. from 12.⁴

Kallolide E (4), a colorless oil, showed a pseudomolecular ion peak at m/z 361.1650 [M+H]⁺ in the HR-FABMS (calcd m/z 361.1651), corresponding to a molecular formula of $C_{20}H_{24}O_6$. Thus, the elemental composition of 4 was identical to that of kallolide D (2), indicating that both compounds were isomers. Moreover, the UV and IR spectra of 4 exhibited the same patterns as those of 2.

HMBC data provided evidence for connecting the smaller molecular segments deduced from vicinal coupling; and long-range ${}^{1}H^{-1}H$ couplings verified many of the connectivities between protonated carbons and quaternary carbons. After the ${}^{1}H$ and ${}^{13}C$ NMR data of **4** had been assigned by analysis of its 2D NMR spectra, it was obvious that the gross structure of kallolide E (**4**) was the same as that of kallolide D (**2**). Thus kallolide E (**4**) was believed to differ from **2** only in relative stereochemistry at C-1 and C-2. This contention was supported by the strong NOESY correlations of H-2 (β -orientation in planar conformation) and H₃-16 and also of H-1 (α -orientation) and H-9, both of which were notably absent in **2**. Conversely, NOESY correlations were not observed in **4** for H-1/H₃-16; such correlations, as mentioned earlier, are indeed present in structure **2**. The relative configuration of **4** was firmly established by X-ray crystallographic analysis of diacetate **18**, obtained in excellent yield, after acetylation of kallolide E (Fig. 2).

The positive-ion high-resolution ESIMS of kallolide F (5) showed an accurate $[M+Na]^+$ ion peak at m/z 383.1479, in accordance with a molecular formula of $C_{20}H_{24}O_6$, implying nine degrees of unsaturation, which was supported by the ¹³C NMR spectrum and DEPT data. The IR exhibited an absorption band at 3504 cm^{-1} supporting the presence of a hydroxy group in 5, and an intense absorption at 1753 cm⁻ due to two overlapped bands, as well as a smaller band at 1696 cm^{-1} , assignable to three carbonyl groups. The ¹H NMR spectrum of 5 showed a characteristic signal in the olefinic region [δ 6.88 (1H, br s)] assigned to H-9 indicating the presence of an α -substituted α , β -unsaturated γ -lactone functionality. The olefinic signals at δ 4.88 (1H, br s) and 4.77 (1H, br s), which long-range coupled to a methyl singlet at δ 1.80 assigned to H₃-15, revealed the presence of one isopropenyl group. The carbonyl absorption at 1696 cm^{-1} , the UV absorption maximum at 206 nm, together with two methyl resonances at δ 1.93 and 1.73 in the ¹H NMR



Figure 2. ORTEP drawing of kallolide E diacetate (18).

spectrum and ¹³C NMR signals at δ 199.7 (C), 129.0 (C), 140.5 (C), 23.1 (CH₃), and 20.4 (CH₃), suggested the presence of an α -substituted β , β -dimethyl- α , β -unsaturated ketone functionality in 5. Further examination of the NMR data, including data from ¹H-¹H COSY, HMQC, and HMBC experiments, showed that a 5-hydroxy-4-methyldihydro-3-furanone moiety was present in the molecule. Resonances in the ¹³C NMR spectrum at δ 212.3 (C), 101.3 (C), 81.3 (CH), 50.2 (CH), and 8.5 (CH₃), along with three ¹H NMR signals at δ 4.25 (d, 1H, J=2.6 Hz), 2.55 (q, 1H, J=7.0 Hz), and 1.03 (d, 3H, J=7.0 Hz), ascribable to H-2, H-4, and H₃-16, respectively, confirmed the presence of this uncommon functionality.¹⁴ From these data, eight of the nine degrees of unsaturation could be accounted for demonstrating that 5 was monocarbocyclic. Furthermore, the ring size of 5 was concluded to be 12-membered from consideration of the observed functional groups. Overall, these structural features suggested that compound 5 has the same framework of 1-4, but has differences in functionalities and oxygen substitution. The HMBC spectra of kallolide F (5) showed similar correlations, except for C-2 and C-5, confirming the same skeleton. The oxygenated proton doublet resonating at δ 4.25 showed correlations to the methine carbon at δ 45.2 (C-1) and the carbonyl carbon at δ 212.3 (C-3), and thus was assigned to H-2. This proton showed correlations to a quaternary carbon (C-5, δ 101.3) and a methine carbon (C-4, δ 50.2). Moreover, a proton quartet resonating at δ 2.55 (H-4) showed correlations to the ketone carbonyls at δ 212.3 (C-3) and 199.7 (C-6), the hemiketal carbon at δ 101.3 (C-5), and the methyl carbon at δ 8.5 (C-16). The downfield shift of C-2 (CH), the upfield shift of C-5 (C), and the appearance of C-4 as a CH signal in DEPT. indicated that the new ether bridge in 5 was in between C-2 and C-5. Furthermore, the significant downfield shift of H-8 (δ 5.86) and the absence of a typical proton signal ascribable to H-7, indicated than an isopropylidene group was now installed at C-7. Data from ¹H-¹H COSY, HMQC, and HMBC provided additional support to justify the gross structure shown for 5.

The relative stereochemistry of kallolide F (5) was deduced by scalar couplings, NOESY experiment, and molecular modeling studies. The methine protons H-1 and H-2 exhibited a J value of 2.6 Hz, establishing a cis-relationship of H-1 and H-2. This assignment was further supported by the strong NOESY correlations of H-1 (B-orientation in planar conformation) and H-2, and weak correlations of H-2 and H₃-16. The H-4 proton exhibited stronger NOESY correlations to the terminal methylene protons at C-14, placing the isopropenyl side chain in the same α -plane as H-4. After calculating the conformer distribution of each possible stereoisomeric structure of kallolide F at C-5 and C-8, the observed NOESY correlations of H₃-16/H₃-18 and H-8/H₃-19 were consistent only with structure 5. Only in this stereoisomer, which also possessed the lowest calculated energy (64 kcal mol^{-1}), the internuclear distances for the latter protons were calculated to be 2.7 and 2.2 Å, respectively. Conversely, NOESY correlations were not observed for H-2/H-9; such correlation would have been expected had the C-5 hydroxy group in 5 protruded in the α -orientation as found in kallolide G (6). These analyses confidently established the overall relative stereochemistry of kallolide F as 1*S**, 2*S**, 4*S**, 5*S**, and 8*R**.

The lipophilic extracts of *P. kallos* afforded the known kallolide A (1),⁴ kallolide A acetate (9),⁴ 2-*O*-ethylkallolide A (10),⁷ gersemolide (11),⁸ kallolide C (12),⁴ bipinnapterolide A (13),⁹ pinnatin B (14),¹⁰ gersolide (15),¹¹ and pinnatin D (16),¹⁰ along with the new pseudopterane analogs kallolide C acetate (3), kallolide E (4), and kallolides G–I (6–8). In the present study, we also provide for the first time a complete proton and carbon atom assignment for gersolide (15), a confirmation of the proposed structure for 2-*O*-ethylkallolide A (10) by X-ray diffraction analysis (Fig. 3), a revised proton and carbon atom assignments for gersemolide (11) (see Section 4), and a revised ¹³C atom assignment for kallolide C (12).¹³

Kallolide G (6) was obtained as a white crystalline solid. Its molecular formula, C₂₀H₂₄O₆, was established via HR-FABMS, ¹³C NMR, and DEPT spectral data. As in kallolide F (5), the ¹H NMR spectrum of $\hat{\mathbf{6}}$ showed characteristic signals assignable to a 5-hydroxy-4-methyl-dihydro-3-furanone moiety at δ 3.00 (1H, d, J=3.2 Hz, H-2), 2.21 (1H, q, J=7.0 Hz, H-4), and 1.13 (3H, d, J=7.0 Hz, H₃-16), while the HMBC spectrum demonstrated correlations for H-2 with C-1, C-3, C-12 and C-13, H-4 with C-2, C-3, C-5, C-6 and C-16, and H₃-16 with C-3, C-4 and C-5. The olefinic signal at δ 7.41 (1H, br s, H-9) in combination with the oxymethine resonance at δ 5.30 (1H, t, J=1.4 Hz, H-8) revealed the presence of an α -substituted α,β -unsaturated γ -lactone functionality. This conclusion was supported by the UV absorption maxima and the strong absorption band in the IR spectrum at 1764 cm⁻¹. Two distinct sets of terminal methylenes at δ 4.91 (1H, br s)/4.81 (1H, br s) and 5.27 (1H, br s)/5.09 (1H, br s), each displaying long-range coupling to the methyl singlets at δ 1.74 and 1.87, respectively, revealed the presence of two isopropenyl groups instead of one as found in kallolide F (5). Consequently, the tetrasubstituted double bond in 5 must have shifted to a terminal position in **6** since the telltale methine signal (δ 4.50, H-7) was now visible in the spectrum of 6. The downfield shift experienced by H-7 in $\mathbf{6}$ is compatible with it being flanked by carbonyl and olefin groups. Thus, the ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of 6 (Table 2) suggested close structural homology with that of kallolide F(5) with one additional isopropylene side chain. Curiously, the chemical shift of the C-6 carbonyl $(\delta 196.5)$ in kallolide G (6) is consistent with a ketone functionality as observed in 5, thus suggesting that there must exist some distortion in the planarity of the tetrasubstituted α,β -unsaturated ketone of 5. The relative configuration of kallolide G (1S*, 2S*, 4S*, 5R*, 7R*, and 8R*) was deduced from X-ray crystallographic analysis (Fig. 3) and was supported by the following key NOESY correlations: H-1/ H-2, H-1/H-11β, H-2/H-11β, H-7/H-8, H-7/H-9, and H-9/ H-12 α .¹⁵ Interestingly, the oxymethine proton H-2 in **6** is unusually shielded to δ 3.00 (the corresponding proton in 5 appears at δ 4.25). As seen in Figure 3 the geometry of kallolide G is such that H-2, which lies close to the C-6 and C-20 C=O bonds, is in the shielding portion of the induced magnetic fields.

Kallolide H (7) was obtained as a white crystalline solid, $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$ +22.5 (*c* 1.2, CHCl₃). The HR-EIMS of kallolide H (7) exhibited its molecular ion at *m*/*z* 386.1733, appropriate for a molecular formula of C₂₂H₂₆O₆. The IR and UV spectra of 7 were similar to those of known gersemolide (11).⁸



Figure 3. Perspective views of kallolide G (6), kallolide H (7), kallolide I (8), and 2-O-ethylkallolide A (10) with the atomic numbering scheme. The carbon and oxygen atoms are drawn as 30% thermal ellipsoids; hydrogen atoms are depicted as spheres with arbitrary radii. The X-ray experiments did not define the absolute configuration, so the enantiomers shown are an arbitrary choice.

However, **7** showed an additional absorption band at 1736 cm^{-1} that was not present in the IR spectrum of **11**. Except for the presence of additional signals ascribable to an acetoxy group, the ¹H and ¹³C NMR data (Table 2) closely resembled those of **11**, and ¹H–¹H COSY, HMQC, and HMBC spectra of **7** revealed that the two compounds have the same skeletal connectivities. Consequently, kallolide H (**7**) was thought to be the oxyacetylated analog of **11**. The fact that the new functionality appears located in the C-2 position of the molecule was evident from ¹H–¹H COSY, NOESY, and HMBC experiments.¹⁶ Thus kallolide H was assigned structure **7**, and its structure, including relative stereochemistry, was subsequently confirmed by single-crystal X-ray diffraction (Fig. 3).

Kallolide I (8) was also isolated as a white crystalline solid, whose molecular formula $C_{22}H_{26}O_7$ was confirmed by HR-EIMS (*m*/*z* 402.1679, calcd 402.1679). Its IR spectrum showed the presence of two ester carbonyls (1759 and 1736 cm⁻¹) and two ketone carbonyls (1716 and 1706 cm⁻¹). The NMR spectral data of 8 were very similar to those of known bipinnapterolide A (13) except for the presence of an acetyl group at C-2.⁹ Interestingly, kallolide I, like 13, gave rise to NMR spectra characterized by an abundance of broad signals of very low intensity, suggesting rapid intramolecular mobility near the NMR probe temperature. The downfield shift of H-2 from δ 3.86 (1H, d, *J*=11.0 Hz) in 13 to δ 4.67 (1H, br d, *J*=11.7 Hz) in 8 confirmed that the acetoxy group at C-2 in **8** replaced the hydroxy group at C-2 in **13**. The relative stereochemistry of kallolide I (**8**) was established by its NOESY spectrum.¹⁷ The structure for this compound was confirmed by chemical correlation upon acetylation of **13** and by X-ray crystal diffraction (Fig. 3), which showed that kallolide I (**8**) was indeed the acetylated analog of bipinnapterolide A (**13**). Alternatively, kallolide I (**8**) can be thought of as the β -epoxidized version of kallolide H (**7**) at the Δ^4 olefin.

The potent in vivo anti-inflammatory properties of kallolide A (1) have been documented.⁴ In the present account the in vitro activity of compounds 1-16 against M. tuberculosis H₃₇Rv, the principal causative agent for tuberculosis, and the malaria parasite P. falciparum, is reported in Table 3. All of the pseudopterane (1-13) and gersolane (14-16) diterpenes described were found to be marginally active against M. tuberculosis at the two concentrations tested (128 and 64 μ g mL⁻¹). On the other hand, over half of the compounds tested showed significant anti-plasmodial activity using a novel DNA-based microfluorimetric method.¹⁸ The significant difference in biological activity of compounds 1-16indicate that neither the furan ring, the C-2 hydroxy, nor the γ -butenolide moiety alone appear to play a pivotal role in the anti-parasitic activity. Nevertheless, these results provide valuable data to suggest that the conformational nature and size of the carbocyclic ring is essential for anti-plasmodial activity.

Table 3. In vitro anti-mycobacterial and anti-parasitic activities of compounds $1\!-\!16$

Compound	M. tuber	P. falciparum ^b	
	% inhibition at 128 μ g mL ⁻¹	$\%$ inhibition at 64 $\mu gm L^{-1}$	IC ₅₀ (µM) ^c
Kallolide A (1)	29.0	12.0	39.6
Kallolide D (2)	30.1	6.6	30.6
Kallolide C acetate (3)	48.2	27.6	$>100^{d}$
Kallolide E (4)	35.0	29.0	$>100^{d}$
Kallolide F (5)	49.2	33.6	52.8
Kallolide G (6)	18.0	15.6	83.3
Kallolide H (7)	6.6	9.2	41.5
Kallolide I (8)	16.2	18.3	57.2
Kallolide A acetate (9)	7.5	8.7	$>100^{d}$
2-O-Ethylkallolide A (10)	20.9	30.0	$>100^{d}$
Gersemolide (11)	60.8	41.7	21.3
Kallolide C (12)	7.0	8.4	$>100^{d}$
Bipinnapterolide A (13)	16.2	18.3	$>100^{d}$
Pinnatin B (14)	31.6	17.8	23.3
Gersolide (15)	NT ^e	NT ^e	45.7
Pinnatin D (16)	30.2	15.3	43.6

^a Rifampin was used as a positive control during the anti-TB assays.

^b Chloroquine-resistant clone Indochina W2.

^c Chloroquine was used as a positive control during the anti-malaria assays. ^d Not active.

e NT=Not tested.

3. Conclusions

The striking structural similarity of the secondary metabolites isolated from P. bipinnata and P. kallos attests to their close taxonomic relationship. The presence of the same metabolites within these organisms supports the theory that P. bipinnata and P. kallos are intimately related taxonomically.² The diversity of pseudopterane and gersolane diterpenoids isolated from these gorgonians is indeed astonishing, and quickly raises the question of the true origin of these metabolites. One likely scenario that should not be discounted is that kallolide A (1) is indeed a true gorgonian metabolite, but that the microbes inherently associated with the octocoral species are ultimately responsible for the posterior oxidation of 1 thus affording a large array of minor secondary metabolites.^{19,20} On the other hand, kallolide E(4), the only pseudopterane diterpene reported thus far in which the C-1 isopropyl group is β (pointing upward) must originate through ring contraction of a cembranetype precursor that belongs to the β series.^{10,21}

4. Experimental

4.1. General

Infrared spectra were recorded with a FTIR spectrophotometer and optical rotations were measured with an automatic polarimeter. ¹H NMR spectral data were generated with a 500 or 300 MHz FT-NMR spectrometer and the ¹³C NMR spectral data with a 125 or 75 MHz FT-NMR spectrometer. ¹H–¹H COSY, NOESY, APT, HMQC, and HMBC experiments were measured with a 300 MHz FT-NMR spectrometer. Normal-phase HPLC separations were carried out either on a 10 mm×25 cm Ultrasphere-Cyano Polar-Bonded column or a 10 mm×25 cm Ultrasphere-Silica Gel column eluted isocratically with hexane–2-isopropanol mixtures at 1.0–2.0 mL min⁻¹, with UV detection at 220 nm. Lowest energy conformers were searched using MMFF force field implemented in the McSpartan '04 Program (Wavefunction, Inc.). Column chromatography was performed on silica gel (35–75 mesh). TLC analyses were carried out using glass silica gel plates and spots were visualized by exposure to I_2 vapors or heating silica gel plates sprayed with 5% H_2SO_4 in EtOH. All solvents used were of spectral grade or were distilled from glass prior to use. The percentage yield of each compound is based on the weight of the crude organic extract. The identities of the known compounds isolated during this investigation were established by comprehensive spectral data comparisons with data previously reported in the literature.

4.2. Animal material

Large and healthy specimens of the sea plumes *P. bipinnata* and *P. kallos* were collected by hand using SCUBA at depths of 83–91 ft near Providencia (Old Providence) Island, Colombia on March 15, 2002. The taxonomic identification of these gorgonian species was conducted by Dr. Juan A. Sánchez (Universidad de Los Andes, Bogotá). Voucher specimens have been stored at the Chemistry Department of University of Puerto Rico, Río Piedras.

4.3. Extraction and isolation

The partially air-dried specimens of *P. bipinnata* were frozen, freeze-dried (0.11 kg), cut in small pieces, and blended with 1:1 MeOH/CHCl₃ (10×1 L). The combined organic extracts were filtered and concentrated to give a brown residue (25.0 g) that was suspended in H₂O and extracted with hexane, CHCl₃, and EtOAc. The hexane extract (12 g) was purified subsequently by size-exclusion chromatography on a Bio-Beads SX-3 column eluted with toluene. The last fraction (949 mg) was purified by flash chromatography over silica gel (30 g) with mixtures of hexane/EtOAc of increasing polarity (10–100%) to yield, after consecutive column chromatography and normal-phase HPLC (Ultrasphere-Silica Gel), known kallolide A acetate (9) (27 mg, 0.11%),⁴ gersemolide (**11**) (1.0 mg, 0.004%),⁸ and pinnatin B (**14**) (5 mg, 0.020%).¹⁰

Rotoevaporation of the CHCl₃ extract of *P. bipinnata* produced 4.1 g of a greenish oil that was loaded onto a column of silica gel (150 g) and eluted with a 99:1 mixture of CHCl₃/ MeOH. Several of the least polar fractions obtained were further purified by column chromatography over silica gel followed by normal-phase HPLC to afford known compounds kallolide C (**12**) (2.0 mg, 0.008%)⁴ and bipinnapterolide A (**13**) (37.2 mg, 0.15%),⁹ and the new metabolites kallolide D (**2**) (2.5 mg, 0.01%), kallolide C acetate (**3**) (14.3 mg, 0.06%), kallolide E (**4**) (4.0 mg, 0.02%), kallolide F (**5**) (3 mg, 0.01%), and kallolide G (**6**) (2.0 mg, 0.01%).

P. kallos was sun-dried, frozen, and lyophilized prior the its extraction. The dry organism (1.07 kg dry weight) was blended and filtered exhaustively using a mixture of 1:1 CH₂Cl₂/MeOH (20×1 L). After filtration the crude extract was evaporated and stored under vacuum to yield a green gum (166.3 g). After the crude extract was partitioned between hexane and H₂O, the aqueous suspension was extracted with CHCl₃ (3×2 L). The resulting CHCl₃ extract

was concentrated in vacuo to yield 39.3 g of a brown amorphous solid that was chromatographed over silica gel (673 g) using a step gradient of EtOAc/hexane as eluent and separated into 32 fractions (A-FF) on the basis of TLC and ¹H NMR analyses. Spontaneous crystallization of fraction J (312 mg) upon standing followed by recrystallization from diethyl ether gave pure kallolide A acetate (9) (12.4 mg, 0.01%).⁴ Consecutive purifications of fraction L (1.3 g) by column chromatography on silica gel and normal-phase HPLC (Ultrasphere-CN) gave the known pseudopterane diterpenes gersemolide (11) (27.1 mg, 0.02%),⁸ 2-O-ethylkallolide A (10) (11.3 mg, 0.01%),⁷ kallolide A (1) (359.2 mg, 0.22%),⁴ and kallolide C (12) (56 mg, 0.03\%),⁴ as well as the new pseudopterane kallolide G (6) (6.1 mg, 0.004%). Purification of fraction M (510 mg) by successive column chromatography on silica gel and normal-phase HPLC (Nucleosil Silica gel and Ultrasphere-CN) gave new metabolites kallolide H (7) (12.1 mg, 0.01%) and kallolide I (8) (5.1 mg, 0.003%) as well as the known gersolanetype diterpene pinnatin B (14) (29.4 mg, 0.02%).¹⁰ Purification of fraction O (1.59 g) by silica gel column chromatography with 1% acetone in CHCl₃ followed by normalphase HPLC (Ultrasphere-CN) led to known pinnatin D (16) (8.6 mg, 0.005%).¹⁰ Subsequent purification of fraction V (1.2 g) by silica gel (65 g) column chromatography using 3% EtOAc in CHCl₃ followed by normal-phase HPLC (Ultrasphere-CN) afforded pure kallolide E (4) (4.2 mg, 0.003%).

The hexane soluble extract (71.9 g) of *P. kallos* was dissolved in a small volume of toluene, filtered through two layers of sand and Celite, concentrated, and passed through a large Bio-Beads SX-3 column eluted with toluene. The last fraction (2.4 g) was further purified by column chromatography on silica gel (140 g) using 20% EtOAc in hexane to afford, after successive column chromatography and HPLC, kallolide C acetate (**3**) (26.4 mg, 0.02%) and the known compounds kallolide A acetate (**9**) (201 mg, 0.12%),⁴ kallolide A (**1**) (343 mg, 0.21%),⁴ pinnatin B (**14**) (25.9 mg, 0.02%),¹⁰ gersolide (**15**) (5.3 mg, 0.003%),¹¹ and bipinnapterolide A (**13**) (12.2 mg, 0.007%).⁹

4.3.1. Kallolide D (2). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ +52.7 (*c* 1.1, CHCl₃); UV (MeOH) λ_{max} 206 nm (ε 4400), 282 nm (ε 2800); IR (neat) ν_{max} 3398 (br), 3076, 3013, 2927, 2864, 1752, 1710, 1616, 1445, 1379, 1177, 1158, 1073, 1018, 899 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz) (see Table 1); HR-FABMS (magic bullet) m/z [M+H]⁺ calcd for C₂₀H₂₅O₆ 361.1651, found 361.1650.

4.3.2. Kallolide C acetate (3). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_{20}^{20} - 40.4$ (*c* 0.8, CHCl₃); UV (MeOH) λ_{max} 203 nm (ϵ 12,300), 282 nm (ϵ 5800); IR (neat) ν_{max} 3367 (br), 3076, 3019, 2930, 2861, 1753, 1720, 1633, 1441, 1376, 1226, 1030, 901 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz) (see Table 1); HR-FABMS (magic bullet) m/z [M+H]⁺ calcd for C₂₂H₂₇O₇ 403.1757, found 403.1757.

4.3.3. Kallolide E (4). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ +75.0 (*c* 1.1, CHCl₃); UV (MeOH) λ_{max} 206 nm (ε 19,900), 282 nm (ε 11,100); IR (neat) ν_{max} 3404 (br), 3082, 3021, 2932, 2869, 1749, 1718, 1629, 1449, 1379, 1179, 1126, 1093, 1069, 1051, 894 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) and

 ^{13}C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz) (see Table 1); HR-FABMS (magic bullet) m/z [M+H]⁺ calcd for C₂₀H₂₅O₆ 361.1651, found 361.1650.

4.3.4. Kallolide F (5). Colorless oil; $[\alpha]_D^{20} - 35.0$ (*c* 0.4, CHCl₃); UV (MeOH) λ_{max} 206 nm (ε 4500); IR (neat) ν_{max} 3504, 3081, 2926, 2853, 1753, 1696, 1648, 1454, 1382, 1157, 1085, 1054, 1025, 984 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz) (see Table 1); HR-ESIMS *m*/*z* [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₂₀H₂₄O₆Na 383.1471, found 383.1479.

4.3.5. Kallolide G (6). White solid; $[\alpha]_{D}^{20} - 101.6$ (*c* 1.13, CHCl₃); UV (MeOH) λ_{max} 202 nm (ε 11,900), 247 nm (ε 6200); IR (neat) ν_{max} 3275, 2976, 2938, 1764, 1724, 1641, 1448, 965, 899 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) (see Table 2); HR-FABMS (magic bullet) m/z [M+H]⁺ calcd for C₂₀H₂₅O₆ 361.1651, found 361.1650.

4.3.6. Kallolide H (7). White solid; $[\alpha]_{20}^{20}$ +22.5 (*c* 1.2, CHCl₃); UV (MeOH) λ_{max} 204 nm (ε 33,800), 284 nm (ε 5100); IR (diamond cell) ν_{max} 3090, 2972, 2947, 1754, 1736, 1713, 1683, 1649, 1605, 1439, 1376, 1243, 899 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) (see Table 2); LR-EIMS *m*/*z* [M]⁺ 386 (2), 345 (2), 326 (5), 194 (48), 151 (100); HR-EIMS *m*/*z* [M]⁺ calcd for C₂₂H₂₆O₆ 386.1729, found 386.1733.

4.3.7. Kallolide I (8). White solid; $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$ +21.2 (*c* 1.1, CHCl₃); UV (MeOH) λ_{max} 202 nm (ε 10,400), 209 nm (ε 10,500); IR (diamond cell) ν_{max} 3092, 3073, 2986, 2960, 2930, 2918, 2861, 1759, 1736, 1716, 1706, 1644, 1468, 1441, 1381, 1322, 1245, 1232, 1114, 1067, 903 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) (see Table 2); LR-EIMS *m*/*z* [M]⁺ 402 (3), 360 (9), 343 (18), 259 (34), 248 (51), 230 (35), 194 (89), 164 (66), 150 (52), 139 (100), 119 (56), 95 (76), 85 (82); HR-EIMS *m*/*z* [M]⁺ calcd for C₂₂H₂₆O₇ 402.1679, found 402.1679.

4.3.8. Gersemolide (11). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 2.32 (m, 1H, H-1), 2.58 (dd, 1H, J=15.2, 4.3 Hz, H-2), 2.46 (dd, 1H, J=15.2, 9.4 Hz, H-2'), 6.37 (d, 1H, J=1.4 Hz, H-5), 3.36 (br s, 1H, H-7), 5.42 (br s, 1H, H-8), 7.16 (br s, 1H, H-9), 2.52 (m, 1H, H-11), 2.40 (m, 1H, H-11'), 2.08 (m, 1H, H-12), 1.35 (m, 1H, H-12'), 4.82 (br s, 1H, H₂-14), 4.80 (br s, 1H, H₂-14'), 1.71 (s, 3H, H₃-15), 1.89 (br d, 3H, J=1.4 Hz, H₃-16), 5.52 (br s, 1H, H₂-18), 5.26 (br s, 1H, H₂-18'), 1.79 (s, 3H, H₃-19); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) & 41.2 (CH, C-1), 44.9 (CH₂, C-2), 208.3 (C, C-3), 156.2 (C, C-4), 123.8 (CH, C-5), 197.6 (C, C-6), 62.4 (CH, C-7), 79.0 (CH, C-8), 150.0 (CH, C-9), 134.1 (C, C-10), 21.9 (CH₂, C-11), 31.4 (CH₂, C-12), 146.4 (C, C-13), 112.2 (CH₂, C-14), 19.9 (CH₃, C-15), 22.0 (CH₃, C-16), 138.1 (C, C-17), 116.1 (CH₂, C-18), 23.1 (CH₃, C-19), 173.7 (C, C-20).

4.3.9. Gersolide (**15**). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 2.43 (m, 1H, H-1), 2.80 (d, 1H, *J*=12.5 Hz, H-2), 2.20 (dd, 1H, *J*=12.5, 9.6 Hz, H-2'), 5.95 (br d, 1H, *J*=1.4 Hz, H-5), 1.83 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.2, 6.5 Hz, H-7), 1.43 (t, 1H, *J*=6.0 Hz, H-9), 0.97 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.3, 5.6 Hz, H-9'), 5.13 (br s, 1H,

H-10), 6.75 (br s, 1H, H-11), 2.39 (dd, 1H, J=13.6, 12.7 Hz, H-13), 2.28 (dd, 1H, J=13.6, 5.4 Hz, H-13'), 2.02 (m, 1H, H-14), 1.32 (m, 1H, H-14'), 5.22 (br s, 1H, H₂-16), 4.96 (br s, 1H, H₂-16'), 1.72 (s, 3H, H₃-17), 2.06 (d, 3H, J=1.4 Hz, H₃-18), 1.29 (s, 3H, H₃-19); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 40.0 (CH, C-1), 45.7 (CH₂, C-2), 202.7 (C, C-3), 143.3 (C, C-4), 138.0 (CH, C-5), 199.4 (C, C-6), 28.8 (CH, C-7), 32.9 (C, C-8), 17.0 (CH₂, C-9), 83.4 (CH, C-10), 146.6 (CH, C-11), 140.0 (C, C-12), 21.1 (CH₂, C-13), 35.7 (CH₂, C-14), 144.7 (C, C-15), 114.4 (CH₂, C-16), 17.8 (CH₃, C-17), 21.3 (CH₃, C-18), 15.9 (CH₃, C-19), 173.6 (C, C-20).

5. Synthetic transformations

5.1. Acetylation of kallolide C acetate (3)

A solution of kallolide C acetate (1 mg) in 1:1 acetic anhydride/pyridine (2 mL) was stirred at 25 °C for 24 h. The reaction mixture was concentrated in vacuo and the oily residue obtained was purified by silica gel column chromatography with 100% CHCl₃ to afford pure kallolide C diacetate (**17**) (0.90 mg, 82% yield).

5.1.1. Data for kallolide C diacetate (17). Most of the data for diacetate **17** has been previously reported:⁴ ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 43.4 (CH, C-1), 67.4 (CH, C-2), 177.5 (C, C-3), 114.1 (C, C-4)^a, 99.7 (CH, C-5), 201.6 (C, C-6), 51.9 (CH, C-7), 82.0 (CH, C-8), 146.3 (CH, C-9), 135.5 (C, C-10), 21.9 (CH₂, C-11)^b, 30.2 (CH₂, C-12), 143.0 (C, C-13), 114.6 (CH₂, C-14)^a, 18.0 (CH₃, C-15), 6.2 (CH₃, C-16), 141.2 (C, C-17), 117.2 (CH₂, C-18), 21.7 (CH₃, C-19)^b, 174.4 (C, C-20), 169.7 (C, C-21), 20.6 (CH₃, C-22), 166.6 (C, C-23), 20.3 (CH₃, C-24) (values with the same superscripts are interchangeable).

5.2. Acetylation of kallolide C (12)

A solution of kallolide C (5.0 mg) in 1:1 acetic anhydride/ pyridine (2 mL) was stirred at 25 °C for 24 h. The reaction mixture was concentrated in vacuo and the oily residue obtained was purified by silica gel column chromatography with 100% CHCl₃ to afford pure kallolide C diacetate (**17**) (4.5 mg, 73% yield).

5.3. Acetylation of kallolide E (4)

A solution of kallolide E (**3**) (2.5 mg) in 1:1 acetic anhydride/pyridine (4 mL) was stirred at 25 °C for 18 h. The reaction mixture was concentrated in vacuo and the oily residue obtained was purified by silica gel column chromatography with 1% acetone in CHCl₃ to afford pure kallolide E diacetate (**18**) (2.8 mg, 91% yield).

5.3.1. Data for kallolide E diacetate (18). Colorless needles; $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$ +29.8 (*c* 0.8, CHCl₃); IR (thin film) ν_{max} 3074, 2946, 1757, 1731, 1654, 1228 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 2.47 (ddd, 1H, *J*=12.0, 7.0, 3.5 Hz, H-1), 5.50 (d, 1H, *J*=12.0 Hz, H-2), 3.47 (br s, 1H, H-7), 5.09 (br s, 1H, H-8), 7.22 (br s, 1H, H-9), 2.53 (br d, 1H, *J*=13.2 Hz, H-11a), 2.16 (m, 1H, H-11b), 1.84 (m, 1H, H-12a), 1.40 (ddd, 1H, *J*=11.0, 6.0, 3.0 Hz, H-12b), 4.87 (s, 1H, H₂-14a), 4.82 (q, 1H, *J*=1.5 Hz, H₂-14b), 1.69 (br s, 3H,

H₃-15), 1.79 (s, 3H, H₃-16), 5.26 (s, 1H, H₂-18a), 5.22 (br s, 1H, H₂-18b), 2.10 (br s, 3H, H₃-19), 1.95 (s, 3H, H₃-22), 1.99 (s, 3H, H₃-24); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) δ 46.7 (CH, C-1), 67.9 (CH, C-2), 172.3 (C, C-3), 117.0 (C, C-4), 196.8 (C, C-5), 99.6 (C, C-6), 53.8 (CH, C-7), 81.1 (CH, C-8), 149.6 (CH, C-9), 130.6 (C, C-10), 25.3 (CH₂, C-11), 27.8 (CH₂, C-12), 144.6 (C, C-13), 113.7 (CH₂, C-14), 18.2 (CH₃, C-15), 6.2 (CH₃, C-16), 140.1 (C, C-20), 169.4 (C, C-21), 20.5 (CH₃, C-22), 167.3 (C, C-23), 21.0 (CH₃, C-24); LR-EIMS *m*/*z* [M]⁺ 444 (24), 403 (6), 384 (8), 342 (9), 279 (23), 246 (8), 167 (46), 149 (100), 113 (16), 83 (23); HR-EIMS *m*/*z* calcd for C₂₄H₂₈O₈ 444.1784, found 444.1779.

5.4. Acetylation of bipinnapterolide A (13)

A solution of bipinnapterolide A (13) (5 mg) in 1:1 acetic anhydride/pyridine (4 mL) was stirred at 25 °C for 28 h. The reaction mixture was concentrated in vacuo and the oily residue obtained was purified by silica gel column chromatography with 2% acetone in CHCl₃ to afford pure kallolide I (8) (3.4 mg, 61%).

6. X-ray single crystallographic analyses

The X-ray data were collected at 298 K with a diffractometer equipped with a graphite monochromator and Mo K α radiation (λ =0.71073 Å) using the SMART software. Crystallographic data for **6**, **7**, **8**, **10**, and **18** reported in this paper have been deposited at the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre, under the reference numbers CCDC 275343–275346 and 297500, respectively. Copies of the data can be obtained, free of charge, on application to the Director, CCDC, 12 Union Road, Cambridge CB2 1EZ, UK (fax: +44 1223 336033 or e-mail: deposit@ccdc.cam. ac.uk).

6.1. Crystal data for kallolide G

Kallolide G (**6**) was recrystallized by slow evaporation from a 9:1 MeOH/CHCl₃ mixture. $C_{20}H_{24}O_6$, M_r =360.39; orthorhombic; space group $P2_12_12_1$ (No.19); a=9.752(2), b=11.644(3), c=16.827(4) Å, V=1910.8(8) Å³; Z=4; ρ_{calcd} =1.253 Mg m⁻³; F_{000} =768; λ (Mo K α)=0.71073 Å; μ =0.092 mm⁻¹. *Data collection and reduction*: crystal size, 0.19×0.02×0.01 mm³; θ range, 2.13–25.60°; 10,151 reflections collected, 3593 independent reflections (R_{int} =0.1347), final R indices (I>2 σ (I)): R_1 =0.0667, wR_2 =0.1296 for 240 variable parameters; GOF=0.842.

6.2. Crystal data for kallolide H

Kallolide H (7) was recrystallized by slow evaporation from a 9:1 MeOH/CHCl₃ mixture. C₂₂H₂₆O₆, M_r =386.43; orthorhombic; space group $P2_12_12_1$ (No.19); a=8.389(2), b=10.674(2), c=23.143(5) Å, V=2073.3(7) Å³; Z=4; ρ_{calcd} =1.239 Mg m⁻³; F_{000} =824; λ (Mo K α)=0.71073 Å; μ =0.090 mm⁻¹. Data collection and reduction: crystal size, 0.17×0.08×0.06 mm³; θ range, 1.76–28.06°; 14,497 reflections collected, 4994 independent reflections (R_{int} =0.1066), final R indices (I>2 σ (I)): R_1 =0.0453, wR_2 =0.0870 for 257 variable parameters; GOF=0.712.

6.3. Crystal data for kallolide I

Kallolide I (8) was recrystallized by slow evaporation from a 9:1 MeOH/CHCl₃ mixture. C₂₂H₂₆O₇, M_r =402.43; orthorhombic; space group $P2_12_12_1$ (No.19); a=8.763(2), b= 10.798(3), c=22.621(6) Å, V=2140.4(10) Å³; Z=4; ρ_{calcd} =1.249 Mg m⁻³; F_{000} =856; λ (Mo K α)=0.71073 Å; μ =0.093 mm⁻¹. Data collection and reduction: crystal size, 0.05×0.04×0.02 mm³; θ range, 1.80–25.09°; 8993 reflections collected, 3760 independent reflections (R_{int} =0.1305), final R indices (I>2 σ (I)): R_1 =0.0503, wR_2 =0.07001 for 266 variable parameters; GOF=0.800.

6.4. Crystal data for 2-O-ethylkallolide A

Compound **10** was recrystallized by slow evaporation from diethyl ether. C₂₂H₂₈O₄, M_r =356.44; orthorhombic; space group $P2_12_12_1$ (No.19); a=9.690(2), b=12.498(2), c= 16.566(2) Å, V=2006.3(5) Å³; Z=4; ρ_{calcd} =1.180 Mg m⁻³; F_{000} =768; λ (Mo K α)=0.71073 Å; μ =0.080 mm⁻¹. Data collection and reduction: crystal size, $0.30 \times 0.22 \times 0.20$ mm³; θ range, 2.04–27.52°; 11,423 reflections collected, 4456 independent reflections (R_{int} =0.0304), final R indices (I>2 σ (I)): R_1 =0.0383, wR_2 =0.0948 for 240 variable parameters; GOF=1.033.

6.5. Crystal data for kallolide E diacetate (18)

Compound **18** was recrystallized by slow evaporation from a 3:1 CH₃CN/H₂O mixture. C₂₄H₂₈O₈, M_r =444.46; orthorhombic; space group $P2_12_12_1$ (No.19); a=7.4417(17), b=13.246(4), c=24.041(5) Å, V=2369.7(10) Å³; Z=4; ρ_{calcd} =1.246 Mg m⁻³; F_{000} =944; λ (Mo K α)=0.71073 Å; μ =0.093 mm⁻¹. Data collection and reduction: crystal size, 0.38×0.05×0.02 mm³; θ range, 2.29–23.27°; 11,537 reflections collected, 3405 independent reflections (R_{int} = 0.0680), final R indices (I>2 σ (I)): R_1 =0.0404, wR_2 =0.0620 for 294 variable parameters; GOF=0.842.

Acknowledgements

We thank the staff of the Parque Nacional Natural Old Providence McBean Lagoon, the Ministerio del Medio Ambiente (Bogotá, Colombia), and Dr. Juan A. Sánchez for their assistance in collecting *P. bipinnata* and *P. kallos*. LRMS and HRMS analyses were provided by the Mass Spectrometry Laboratory of the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. We gratefully acknowledge Dr. Raphael G. Raptis (UPR-Río Piedras) for access to his X-ray crystallography facilities, the NIH-MBRS SCORE/ RISE and NSF-AGEP (Grant No. 0302696) Programs of the University of Puerto Rico, and the ICBG #1 UO1TW-01021-01 from the Fogarty Center of the National Institutes of Health for partial financial support to E.O.B.

References and notes

- Rodríguez, A. D. *Tetrahedron* 1995, 51, 4571–4618 and references therein.
- 2. Bayer, F. M. *The Shallow-Water Octocorallia of the West Indian Region*; Martinus Nijhoff: The Hague, 1961.

- 3. For the first reports on the natural products chemistry of *P. bipinnata*, see: (a) Fenical, W. *J. Nat. Prod.* **1987**, *50*, 1001–1008; (b) Wright, A. E.; Burres, N. S.; Schulte, G. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1989**, *30*, 3491–3494.
- For the first report on the natural products chemistry of *P. kallos*, see: Look, S. A.; Burch, M. T.; Fenical, W.; Qi-tai, Z.; Clardy, J. *J. Org. Chem.* **1985**, *50*, 5741–5746.
- 5. Except for novel compound **4**, all pseudopterane diterpenes reported to date (including those isolated during this investigation) have the C-1 isopropenyl alkyl residue pointing downward.
- 6. The trivial names assigned to compounds **2–8** are based on previous work by Fenical et al. (see Ref. 4).
- Rodríguez, A. D.; Shi, J.-G.; Shi, Y.-P. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 3192–3199.
- Williams, D.; Andersen, R. J.; Van Duyne, G. D.; Clardy, J. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 332–335.
- Rodríguez, A. D.; Shi, J.-G.; Huang, S. D. J. Nat. Prod. 1999, 62, 1228–1237.
- Rodríguez, A. D.; Shi, J.-G.; Huang, S. D. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 4425–4432.
- 11. Williams, D. E.; Andersen, R. J.; Parkanyi, L.; Clardy, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1987**, 28, 5079–5080.
- (a) Taylor, M. D.; Smith, A. B., III; Furst, G. T.; Gunasekara,
 S. P.; Bevelle, C. A.; Cordell, G. A.; Farnsworth, N. R.; Kupchan, S. M.; Uchida, H.; Branfman, A. R.; Dailey,
 R. G., Jr.; Sneden, A. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 3177–3183; (b) Smith, A. B., III; Lupo, A. T., Jr.; Ohba,
 M.; Chen, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 6648– 6656.
- In Ref. 4 the reported ¹³C NMR data for kallolide C (12) (Table 1) contain errors (some of the assignments are either incorrect or uncertain). The unambiguous ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) assignments for 12 in CDCl₃ are: δ 47.6 (CH, C-1), 67.0 (CH, C-2), 183.9 (C, C-3), 110.0 (C, C-4), 100.3 (C, C-5), 202.2 (C, C-6), 51.0 (CH, C-7), 79.6 (CH, C-8), 145.3 (CH, C-9), 135.5 (C, C-10), 21.6 (CH₂, C-11), 28.7 (CH₂, C-12), 140.6 (C, C-13), 115.9 (CH₂, C-14), 17.4 (CH₃, C-15), 6.4 (CH₃, C-16), 139.7 (C, C-17), 119.4 (CH₂, C-18), 23.5 (CH₃, C-19), 174.7 (C, C-20).
- Ahmed, A. F.; Su, J.-H.; Kuo, Y.-H.; Sheu, J.-H. J. Nat. Prod. 2004, 67, 2079–2082.
- NOESY correlations for kallolide G (6): H-1/H-2, H-11β, H-12α, H-14β; H-2/H-11β; H-4/H₃-16; H-7/H-8, H-9; H-8/H-9; H-9/H-11α, H-12α; H-11α/H-11β; H-14α/H-14β; H-14β/H₃-15; H-18α/H-18β.
- NOESY correlations for kallolide H (7): H-1/H-14β, H₃-15; H-2/H-9, H-12αβ; H-5/H₃-16, H₃-19; H-7/H-8, H-9, H₃-19; H-8/ H-9; H-9/H-11; H-11/H-12αβ; H-12α/H-12β, H₃-15; H-14α/ H-14β, H₃-15; H-18α/H-18β, H₃-19.
- NOESY correlations for kallolide I (8): H-1/H-2, H-12α, H-14α; H-2/H-12αβ, H₃-15; H-5/H-7, H₃-16; H-7/H-9, H-18α, H₃-19; H-8/H-9, H₃-19; H-9/H-12α; H-11α/H-11β, H-12α; H-11β/H-12β, H-14β; H-12α/H-12β; H-14β/H₃-15; H-18α/H-18β, H₃-19; H-18β/H₃-19.
- Corbett, Y.; Herrera, L.; González, J.; Cubilla, L.; Capson, T. L.; Coley, P. D.; Kursar, T. A.; Romero, L. I.; Ortega-Barria, E. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 2004, 70, 119–124.
- Ground-breaking research by Kerr et al. has recently demonstrated that the symbiotic zooxanthellae of *P. bipinnata* are capable of kallolide biosynthesis, see: Boehnlein, J. M.; Santiago-Vázquez, L. Z.; Kerr, R. G. *Mar. Ecol.: Prog. Ser.* 2005, *303*, 105–111.
- 20. It is conceivable that some of the new compounds reported herein might be air oxidation artifacts given the air and sun drying of the crude biological materials before extraction.
- Tursch, B.; Braekman, J. C.; Daloze, D.; Kaisin, M. Marine Natural Products, Chemical and Biological Perspectives; Scheuer, P. J., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1978; Vol II, pp 247–296.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 7009-7013

C-4' Truncated carbocyclic formycin derivatives

Jian Zhou, Minmin Yang, Akin Akdag and Stewart W. Schneller*

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, College of Science and Mathematics, Auburn University, Auburn, AL 36849-5319, USA

Received 15 January 2006; revised 12 April 2006; accepted 21 April 2006 Available online 19 May 2006

Abstract—Formycin is a naturally occurring C-glycoside (C-nucleoside) that possesses antitumor, antibacterial, antifungal, and antiviral activity. In connection with our ongoing interest in the design and syntheses of C-nucleoside derived antiviral agents this report describes the preparation of carbocyclic formycin and its 7-hydroxy (oxo) analog lacking the C-4' hydroxylmethylene moiety in racemic form (4 and 6, respectively). An antiviral analysis of (\pm) -4 did not disclose any activity. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Aristeromycin (1) and formycin A (2) (Fig. 1) are two examples of naturally occurring nucleosides that possess significant antiviral activity.¹ Aristeromycin belongs to the carbocyclic nucleoside class and formycin A and formycin B (3) (Fig. 1) are representatives of C-nucleosides. In the former case, the ribofuranose oxygen of the more common nucleosides is replaced by a methylene while, with C-nucleosides, the ribofuranosyl moiety is linked to the heterocyclic base by a carbon–carbon bond at the anomeric center. Both carbocyclic and C-nucleosides are stable to purine nucleoside phosphorylase (PNP),^{1a,2} an enzyme that renders typical nucleosides with limited potential as therapeutic agents.² However, the high toxicity associated with these compounds has restricted their development.

In our ongoing search for new antiviral agents, we sought compounds that combined the structural features of 1-3 that could improve their antiviral profiles and show less cytotoxicity. Compound 4 was chosen as a target because





Keywords: Formycin; Carbocyclic C-nucleosides; Epoxide ring opening; Antiviral testing.

of its isomeric relationship to 5^{3a} which is an antiviral candidate with activity towards the orthopoxviruses^{3b,c} and human cytomegalovirus^{3d} by apparent virtue of its inhibition of *S*-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase.^{3a}

While the synthesis of carbocyclic C-nucleosides has been challenging^{4,5} our laboratory previously communicated a model synthesis for a formycin representative.⁶ Herein, we report further progress in this endeavor, leading to a novel and practical synthesis of (\pm) -**4** and its companion (\pm) -**6** (Fig. 1).

2. Chemistry

The syntheses began with ring opening of the readily available (\pm) -*cis*-3-(benzyloxy)-1,2-epoxycyclopentane $(7)^7$ by the lithiated derivative of 3,3-diethoxy-1-propyne (**8**, commercially available) in the presence of boron trifluoride etherate⁸ to provide (\pm) -9 (21%, 71% based on recovered starting material) (Scheme 1). Attempts to improve the yield by using either excess **8** or alternative solvents such as toluene, hexamethylphosphoramide, methylene chloride or co-solvents (such as tetrahydrofuran/hexamethylphosphoramide) were unsuccessful.

Hydrolysis of (\pm) -9 with a mixture of acetic acid and 10% aqueous hydrochloric acid followed by treatment of the resulting acetylenic aldehyde with hydrazine monohydrate gave a pyrazole derivative^{2,9} that was acetylated to provide the key synthetic intermediate (\pm) -10 (Scheme 1). To introduce the fused pyrimidine N-4, nitration of (\pm) -10 with ammonium nitrate and trifluoroacetic anhydride in trifluoroacetic acid following literature conditions¹⁰ was attempted. However, the major component in the product mixture (by ¹H NMR) possessed a nitrated benzyl unit. Thus, replacing the benzyl protecting group of (\pm) -10 with an acetyl to give (\pm) -11 led to (\pm) -12 that was, in turn, converted into (\pm) -13 by a *cine*-substitution reaction with potassium

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 334 844 5737; fax: +1 334 844 5824; e-mail: schnest@auburn.edu

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.068



Scheme 1. Reagents and conditions: (a) i. *n*-BuLi/hexanes; ii. (\pm)-(7), BF₃·Et₂O, 71% (based on recovered starting material); (b) i. 10% HCl, AcOH; ii. N₂H₄·H₂O, AcOH; iii. Ac₂O, pyridine, DMAP, 65%; (c) i. 50 psi H₂, 10% Pd/C, MeOH, ii. Ac₂O, Et₃N, DMAP, CH₂Cl₂, 96%; (d) NH₄NO₃, TFA, TFAA; (e) using **12**, KCN, EtOH, EtOAc, 89%; (f) NH₃, MeOH, 95%; (g) 30 psi H₂, 10% Pd/C, MeOH, 92%; (h) HC(=NH)NH₂·AcOH, EtOH, 71%.

cyanide.¹¹ Deacetylation to (\pm) -14 followed by hydrogenation in the presence of palladium/carbon afforded a quantitative amount of (\pm) -15. Treatment of (\pm) -15 with formamidine acetate in refluxing ethanol proceeded with ring annulation to (\pm) -4.

Steps towards (\pm) -6 (Scheme 2) began with unsuccessful attempts to carry out hydration of (\pm) -15 using hydrogen



Scheme 2. Reagents and conditions: (a) concd HCl, acetone, Me_2C (OMe)₂, 98%; (b) H_2O_2 , NH_4OH , MeOH, 50%; (c) i. HC(=NH) NH_2 · AcOH, EtOH; ii. 1 N HCl, 56% for two steps.



peroxide in methanol to afford a requisite amide. Success was achieved, however, by protecting the hydroxyl groups of (\pm) -15 with 2,2-dimethoxypropane (to (\pm) -16) (Scheme 2). Subsequent hydration of (\pm) -16 provided amide (\pm) -17. Cyclization of (\pm) -17 with formamidine acetate and deprotection yielded (\pm) -6.

To confirm the stereochemical orientations of the cyclopentyl ring substituents in these reactions an X-ray structure determination of (\pm) -11 was obtained (Fig. 2).

3. Antiviral results

Compound (\pm)-4 was subjected to broad antiviral analysis and was found to be inactive.^{12,13} Weak cellular cytotoxicity was observed towards four of the host cell lines: MA-104, respiratory syncytial virus assay (IC₅₀ 54 µg/mL); HeLa Ohio-1, rhinovirus type 2 assay (IC₅₀ 80 µg/mL); BS-C-1, Pichinde assay (IC₅₀ 53 µg/mL); and CV-1, measles assay (IC₅₀ 76 µg/mL).

4. Conclusion

The antiviral potential^{3b,c,d} of previously reported chiral $\mathbf{5}^{3a}$ does not extend to isomer **4** in its racemic form. At this time, such an observation does not encourage us to seek an enantiospecific synthesis of the enantiomers represented by (\pm) -**4**. However, the synthetic process⁶ elaborated upon herein opens an accessible means to carbocyclic C-nucleosides of potential usefulness in biochemical studies requiring novel adenosine isomers.

5. Experimental

5.1. General

Melting points were recorded on a Meltemp II melting point apparatus and the values are uncorrected. The combustion analyses were performed at Atlantic Microlab, Norcross,

Figure 2. X-ray structure for compound (\pm) -11.¹⁴

GA. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on either a Bruker AC 250 spectrometer (250 MHz for proton and 62.5 MHz for carbon) or a Bruker AV 400 spectrometer (400 MHz for proton and 100 MHz for carbon), referenced to internal tetramethylsilane (TMS) at 0.0 ppm. The X-ray analysis was conducted by using a Bruker APEX CCD single crystal X-ray diffractometer. The electrospray ionization mass spectral data were obtained using a Waters Micromass QTOF mass spectrometer. The reactions were monitored by thin-layer chromatography (TLC) using 0.25 mm Whatman Diamond silica gel 60-F254 precoated plates with visualization by irradiation with a Mineralight UVGL-25 lamp. Column chromatography was performed on Whatman silica, 230-400 mesh, and 60 Å using elution with the indicated solvent system. Yields refer to chromatographically and spectroscopically (¹H and ¹³C NMR) homogeneous materials.

5.1.1. (\pm) - $(1\alpha, 2\alpha, 3\beta)$ -1-Benzyloxy-2-acetoxy-3-(1-acetyl-1H-pyrazol-3-yl)cyclopentane (10). To a solution of 3,3diethoxy-1-propyne (97%) (6.3 g, 48 mmol) in anhydrous toluene (130 mL) was added n-butyllithium (2.5 M solution in hexanes, 20 mL, 50.0 mmol) at -78 °C under an atmosphere of N₂. After the reaction mixture was stirred for ca. 30 min, a solution of epoxide (\pm) -7 (7.3 g, 38 mmol) in anhydrous toluene (10 mL) was added via syringe, followed by BF₃·OEt₂ (6.3 mL, 50 mmol) over 5 min. The reaction mixture was stirred at -78 °C for 2 h and then at 0–5 °C for additional ca. 5 h. The reaction mixture was quenched by addition of saturated aqueous NH₄Cl solution and partitioned between EtOAc and H₂O. The combined organic phases were washed with brine, dried (Na_2SO_4), filtered, and the filtrate evaporated in vacuo to afford a liquid residue. Purification of the residue by flash column chromatography (hexanes/EtOAc, 4:1 to 3:1) led to recovered starting material (5.1 g, 27 mmol) and (\pm) -(1 α ,2 α ,3 β)-1-benzyloxy-2-hydroxy-3-(3,3-diethoxy-prop-1-ynyl)cyclopentane (9) (2.6 g, 8.2 mmol, 71% based on recovered starting material) as a light yellow liquid. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 1.22 (m, 6H), 1.64 (m, 1H), 1.78 (m, 1H), 1.96 (m, 1H), 2.16 (m, 1H), 2.83 (m, 2H), 3.56 (m, 2H), 3.72 (m, 2H), 3.95 (m, 1H), 4.03 (m, 1H), 4.50 (d, 1H, J=11.7 Hz), 4.60 (d, 1H, J=11.7 Hz), 5.28 (d, 1H, J=1.5 Hz), 7.29–7.35 (m, 5H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 15.5, 27.9, 36.2, 59.1, 61.4, 63.4, 72.0, 78.3, 80.1, 88.0, 91.9, 128.1, 128.3, 128.9, 138.3.

To a solution of 9 (2.3 g, 7.2 mmol) in glacial AcOH (72 mL) was added 10% HCl (18 mL), and this mixture was stirred at room temperature for 1 h. To this a solution of hydrazine monohydrate (4.5 g) in glacial AcOH (36 mL) was added dropwise over 20 min. The resulting solution was heated at reflux overnight and concentrated in vacuo to afford dark brown oil. The crude product was dissolved in pyridine (100 mL) and Ac₂O (8 mL) and DMAP were added. The resulting solution was stirred for 16 h at room temperature. The solvent was removed in vacuo, and the crude residue dissolved in EtOAc (800 mL), washed with 10% HCl and brine, dried (Na₂SO₄), concentrated, and the residue chromatographed to afford 10 (1.6 g, 4.7 mmol, 65%) as a light yellow oil. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 1.81 (m, 1H), 1.94 (m, 1H), 2.04 (m, 1H), 2.09 (s, 3H), 2.25 (m, 1H), 2.64 (s, 3H), 3.50 (ddd, 1H, J=8.4 Hz), 4.16 (ddd, 1H, J=4.9 Hz), 4.55 (s, 2H), 5.20 (dd, 1H, J=4.9, 7.6 Hz), 6.30 (d, 1H, J=2.9 Hz), 7.26 (m, 1H), 7.30 (m, 4H), 8.16 (d, 1H, J=2.9 Hz). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 21.2, 21.8, 25.9, 28.7, 41.1, 71.9, 78.4, 78.8, 108.8, 127.6, 127.7, 128.5, 129.0, 138.5, 158.5, 169.5, 170.8. Anal. calcd for C₁₉H₂₂N₂O₄: C, 66.65; H, 6.48; N, 8.18. Found: C, 66.73; H, 6.56; N, 7.96.

5.1.2. (\pm) - $(1\alpha, 2\alpha, 3\beta)$ -1,2-Diacetoxy-3-(1-acetyl-1*H*-pyrazol-3-yl)cyclopentane (11). To a solution of 10 (5.0 g, 12 mmol) in MeOH (60 mL) was added catalytic amount of 10% Pd/C. The mixture was shaken under 50 psi of H₂ at room temperature overnight. After this period, the mixture was filtered, and the filtrate concentrated in vacuo to afford a colorless oil. This crude product was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (100 mL) and to this triethylamine (1.4 mL), Ac₂O (2.3 mL), and catalytic amount of DMAP were added. The resulting solution was stirred overnight and then washed with brine, dried (Na₂SO₄), concentrated, and chromatographed (EtOAc/hexanes, 1:3) to afford 11 (3.3 g, 11 mmol, 96%) as a white solid, mp 79-81 °C. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 1.89 (m, 2H), 2.03 (s, 3H), 2.09 (s, 3H), 2.31 (m, 2H), 2.66 (s, 3H), 3.48 (ddd, 1H, J=8.9 Hz), 5.26 (m, 1H), 5.40 (m, 1H), 6.32 (d, 1H, J=2.8 Hz), 8.17 (d, 1H, J=2.8 Hz). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 21.0, 21.2, 21.9, 26.1, 27.0, 28.3, 40.7, 73.4, 77.8, 108.6, 129.3, 157.8, 169.6, 170.5. Anal. calcd for C14H18N2O5: C, 57.13; H, 6.16; N, 9.52. Found: C, 57.41; H, 6.24; N, 9.50.

5.1.3. (\pm) - $(1\alpha, 2\alpha, 3\beta)$ -1,2-Diacetoxy-3-(5-cyano-4-nitro-1H-pyrazol-3-yl)cyclopentane (13). Trifluoroacetic anhydride (15.5 mL) was added dropwise to a stirred solution of 11 (3.3 g, 11 mmol) containing ammonium nitrate (8.9 g) in trifluoroacetic acid (130 mL) at 0 °C. The resulting solution was allowed to warm to room temperature and then stirred overnight. The solvent was evaporated by means of a rotavapor. The residue was placed in CH₂Cl₂ and then washed with H₂O, saturated NaHCO₃, and brine, dried (Na_2SO_4) , and concentrated in vacuo to give the 12 (3.8 g) as a white solid that was used in the next step without further purification. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) & 1.94 (m, 2H), 1.99 (s, 3H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 2.27 (m, 1H), 2.49 (m, 1H), 4.09 (ddd, 1H, J=8.5 Hz), 5.42 (m, 1H), 5.52 (m, 1H), 9.12 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 20.6, 21.0, 26.3, 28.3, 39.6, 73.3, 76.5, 125.3, 134.3, 149.1, 170.2 (2C).

A solution of the **12** (3.8 g) prepared above in EtOH (36 mL) and EtOAc (36 mL) was added dropwise to a stirred solution of KCN (5.2 g, 80 mmol) in EtOH (95 mL) and H₂O (23 mL). Following an additional 5 min at room temperature, the reaction mixture was neutralized with HOAc (8.5 mL). After evaporation of the solvent, the residue was diluted with EtOAc (500 mL), washed with H₂O and brine, dried (Na₂SO₄), concentrated in vacuo, and chromatographed (CH₂Cl₂/MeOH, 20:1) to afford 13 (3.2 g, 10 mmol, 89% based on 11) as a white solid, mp 129-131 °C. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 1.74 (m, 1H), 2.03 (m, 1H), 2.05 (s, 3H), 2.14 (m, 1H), 2.16 (s, 3H), 2.32 (m, 1H), 2.59 (m, 1H), 4.23 (m, 1H), 5.48 (m, 1H), 5.53 (m, 1H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 21.1, 21.2, 26.7, 28.2, 38.6, 73.0, 75.8, 110.8, 123.0, 134.1, 144.9, 171.2, 172.1. Anal. calcd for C₁₃H₁₄N₄O₆: C, 48.45; H, 4.38; N, 17.38. Found: C, 48.16; H, 4.31; N, 17.42.

5.1.4. (±)-(1α,2α,3β)-1,2-Dihydroxy-3-(5-cyano-4-nitro-*1H*-pyrazol-3-yl)cyclopentane (14). Ammonia gas was introduced to a solution of compound 13 (2.0 g, 6.2 mmol) in MeOH (100 mL). This reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature until TLC analysis indicated starting material was no longer present. The solvent was then removed in vacuo and the residue purified by chromatography (CH₂Cl₂/MeOH, 3:1) to afford 14 (1.4 g, 5.9 mmol, 95%) as a light yellow solid, mp 220–222 °C. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.63 (m, 2H), 1.97 (m, 1H), 2.15 (m, 1H), 3.80 (m, 1H), 3.96 (m, 1H), 4.10 (m, 1H), 4.68 (br s, 1H), 4.91 (br s, 1H), 14.81 (br s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆) δ 26.0, 29.8, 39.2, 71.6, 77.9, 112.0, 121.8, 133.7, 147.7. Anal. calcd for C₉H₁₀N₄O₄: C, 45.38; H, 4.23; N, 23.52. Found: C, 45.43; H, 4.32; N, 23.43.

5.1.5. (±)-(1α,2α,3β)-1,2-Dihydroxy-3-(4-amino-5cyano-1*H*-pyrazol-3-yl)cyclopentane (15). A catalytic amount of 10% Pd/C was added to a solution of 12 (1.23 g, 5.20 mmol) in MeOH (100 mL). The resulting mixture was shaken under 30 psi of H₂ overnight. The solvent was then evaporated in vacuo and the product purified by chromatography (CH₂Cl₂/EtOAc/MeOH, 8:1:0.5) to afford 15 as a white solid (1.0 g, 4.8 mmol, 92%), mp 190– 191 °C. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.56 (m, 2H), 1.97 (m, 2H), 3.08 (dd, 1H, *J*=8.9, 17.8 Hz), 3.79 (m, 1H), 3.88 (br s, 1H), 4.36 (br s, 2H), 4.52 (br s, 1H), 4.69 (d, 1H, *J*=6.3 Hz), 12.97 (br s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆) δ 24.9, 30.1, 38.2, 71.4, 78.2, 114.1, 115.3, 130.9, 133.1. Anal. calcd for C₉H₁₂N₄O₂: C, 51.92; H, 5.81; N, 26.91. Found: C, 52.10; H, 5.93; N, 27.09.

5.1.6. (±)-(1α,2α,3β)-1,2-Dihydroxy-3-[(7-amino-1*H*-pyrazolo[4,3-*d*]pyrimid-3-yl)]cyclopentane (4). A solution of **15** (0.15 g, 0.72 mmol) in EtOH (30 mL) was stirred with formamidine acetate (0.10 g, 0.96 mmol) under reflux for 30 min. The resulting white precipitate was isolated by filtration, washed with EtOH, and dried to afford **4** (0.12 g, 0.51 mmol, 71%) as a white solid, mp 261–262 °C. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.66 (m, 1H), 1.90 (m, 1H), 1.99 (m, 1H), 2.09 (m, 1H), 4.02 (br s, 1H), 4.23 (br s, 1H), 4.40 (m, 2H), 4.91 (br s, 1H), 7.25 (br s, 2H), 8.15 (br s, 1H), 12.4 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆) δ 26.2, 30.3, 41.4, 66.4, 72.0, 77.9, 121.9, 139.5, 147.2, 150.8. HRMS calcd for C₁₀H₁₃N₅O₂ [M+H]⁺ 236.1147, found 236.1141.

5.1.7. (\pm) - $(1\alpha, 2\alpha, 3\beta)$ -1,2-O-Isopropylidene-3-(4-amino-5-cyano-1*H*-pyrazol-3-yl)cyclopentane (16). Concentrated HCl (0.21 mL) was added to a stirred suspension of 15 (590 mg, 2.83 mmol) in dry acetone (60 mL) and 2,2dimethoxypropane (60 mL) causing immediate clarification. After 4 h at room temperature, the solution was neutralized by addition of concentrated NH₄OH and evaporated to dryness. The residue was purified by chromatography (CH₂Cl₂/ MeOH, 19:1) to give 690 mg (2.78 mmol, 98%) of 16 as a white solid, mp 148.5-149.2 °C. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d₆) & 1.23 (s, 3H), 1.39 (s, 3H), 1.61 (m, 2H), 1.75 (m, 1H), 2.02 (m, 1H), 3.24 (m, 1H), 4.69 (m, 4H), 12.9 (br s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (62.5 MHz, DMSO- d_6) δ 15.2, 24.2, 26.6, 28.1, 30.9, 40.7, 65.0, 80.3, 83.9, 109.6, 115.0, 132.0. Anal. calcd for C₁₂H₁₆N₄O₂: C, 58.05; H, 6.50; N, 22.57. Found: C, 58.32; H, 6.85; N, 22.89.

5.1.8. (±)-4-Amino-5-[(1β,2α,3α)-2,3-O-isopropylidenecyclopent-1-yl]-2H-pyrazole-3-carboxylic acid amide (17). Hydrogen peroxide (50%, 0.19 mL) was added to a rapidly stirred mixture of 16 (570 mg, 2.30 mmol) in concentrated NH₄OH (10 mL) and MeOH (20 mL) at 0 °C. The solution was allowed to stir at room temperature overnight. After the solvent was evaporated, the residue was purified by chromatography (EtOAc/MeOH, 9:1) to afford 17 (310 mg, 1.16 mmol, 50%) as an off-white solid, mp 191.6–192.8 °C. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.26 (s, 3H), 1.41 (s. 3H), 1.65 (m. 1H), 1.76 (m. 2H), 2.02 (m. 1H), 3.23 (m, 1H), 4.43 (br s, 1H), 4.62 (m, 1H), 4.71 (m, 2H), 7.22 (br s 2H), 12.03 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆) δ 24.0, 26.4, 27.4, 31.0, 41.1, 80.6, 84.0, 108.7, 120.4, 131.3, 141.4, 161.9. Anal. calcd for C₁₂H₁₈N₄O₃: C, 54.12; H, 6.81; N, 21.04. Found: C, 53.98; H, 6.98; N, 20.81.

5.1.9. (\pm) - $(1\alpha, 2\alpha, 3\beta)$ -1,2-Dihydroxy-3-[(7-hydroxy-1Hpyrazolo[4,3-d]pyrimid-3-yl)]cyclopentane (6). A solution of 17 (0.26 g, 0.98 mmol) in EtOH (50 mL) was stirred with formamidine acetate (0.14 g, 1.3 mmol) under reflux for 40 min. The resulting white precipitate was isolated by filtration and washed with EtOH. This white solid was dissolved in 1 N HCl (5 mL). The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 3 h. The quantity of solvent was reduced and the mixture was then neutralized with NH₄OH to afford 6, upon filtration, as a white solid (0.13 g, 0.55 mmol, 56%), mp 245–246 °C. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d₆) δ 1.62 (m, 1H), 1.80 (m, 1H), 1.97 (m, 1H), 2.07 (m, 1H), 3.99 (s, 1H), 4.17 (s, 1H), 4.43 (s, 1H), 4.62 (m, 1H), 7.81 (s, 1H), 12.18 (br s, 2H), 13.77 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (62.5 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆) δ 26.7, 30.3, 41.2, 72.0, 77.9, 127.3, 137.1, 142.0, 148.2, 153.2. HRMS calcd for C₁₀H₁₂N₄O₃ (M⁺+H) 237.0987, found 237.0980.

5.1.10. X-ray data for compound (\pm)-11. Crystallographic data (excluding structure factors) for (\pm)-11 has been deposited with Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre as supplementary number CCDC 284037. Copies of the data can be obtained, free of charge, on application to CCDC, 12 Union Road, Cambridge CB2 1EZ, UK [fax: +44 1223 336033 or e-mail: deposit@ccdc.cam.ac.uk].

Acknowledgements

This research was supported by funds from the Department of Health and Human Services (AI 56540), which is appreciated. We thank Dr. Thomas Albrecht-Schmitt, Auburn University, for securing the X-ray data for **11**. We are also indebted to the following individuals for providing the antiviral data¹³ following their standard protocols: Dr. Erik De Clercq, the Rega Institute, Leuven Belgium; Dr. Earl Kern, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL; and Dr. Robert Sidwell, Utah State University, Logan, UT.

References and notes

 (a) Schneller, S. W. Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 2002, 2, 1087– 1092; (b) Herdewijn, P.; Balzarini, J.; De Clercq, E.; Vanderhaeghe, H. J. Med. Chem. 1985, 28, 1385–1386; (c) De Clercq, E. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **1987**, *36*, 2567–2575; (d) Cools, M.; De Clercq, E. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **1989**, *38*, 1061– 1067; (e) Hori, M.; Ito, E.; Takita, T.; Koyama, G.; Takeuchi, T.; Umezawa, H. *J. Antibiot.* **1964**, *17A*, 96–99; (f) Koyama, G.; Umezawa, H. *J. Antibiot.* **1965**, *18A*, 175–177.

- For a leading reference see Evans, G. B.; Furneaux, R. H.; Gainsford, G. J.; Hanson, J. C.; Kicska, G. A.; Sauve, A. A.; Schramm, V. L.; Tyler, P. C. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 155–160.
- (a) Wolfe, M. S.; Lee, Y. H.; Bartlett, W. J.; Borcherding, D. R.; Borchardt, R. T. J. Med. Chem. 1992, 35, 1782–1791; (b) Hasobe, M.; Liang, H.; Ault-Riche, D. B.; Borcherding, D. R.; Wolfe, M. S.; Borchardt, R. T. Antiviral Chem. Chemother. 1993, 4, 245–248; (c) De Clercq, E.; Neyts, J. Rev. Med. Virol. 2004, 14, 289–300; (d) Unpublished results from our laboratory [CPE inhibition: EC₅₀ 0.17 µg/mL (ganciclovir EC₅₀ 0.2 µg/mL), CC₅₀ >100 µg/mL; plaque reduction: EC₅₀ 0.7 µg/mL (ganciclovir 1.6 µg/mL), CC₅₀ >100 µg/ mL].^{3e} (e) Assay method described in Roy, A.; Schneller, S. W.; Keith, K. A.; Hartline, C. B.; Kern, E. R. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2005, 13, 4443–4449.
- Chun, B. K.; Song, G. Y.; Chu, C. K. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 4852–4853.
- 5. Boyer, S. J.; Leahy, J. W. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 3976-3980.
- Zhou, J.; Yang, M.; Schneller, S. W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 8233–8234.
- Crotti, P.; Di Bussolo, V.; Favero, L.; Macchia, F.; Pineschi, M. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **1998**, *8*, 1675–1686.
- (a) Evans, P. A.; Cui, J.; Gharpure, S. J.; Polosukhin, A.; Zhang, H.-R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 14702–14703; (b) Kita, Y.;

Futamura, J.; Ohba, Y.; Sawama, Y.; Ganesh, J. K.; Fujioka, H. J. Org. Chem. **2003**, 68, 5917–5924.

- (a) Rycroft, A. D.; Singh, G.; Wightman, R. H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1995, 2667–2668; (b) Buchanan, J. G.; Quijano, M. L.; Wightman, R. H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1992, 1573–1576.
- Buchanan, J. G.; Jumaah, A. O.; Kerr, G.; Talekar, R. R.; Wightman, R. H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 1077– 1083.
- Buchanan, J. G.; Stobie, A.; Wightman, R. H. Can. J. Chem. 1980, 58, 2624–2627.
- 12. Viruses subjected (±)-4 were influenza A (H1N1 and H3N2), influenza B, respiratory syncytial virus, herpes simplex virus 1 and 2, human cytomegalovirus, varicella zoster virus, vaccinia virus, cowpox virus, adenovirus type 1, Punta Toro virus, rhinovirus type 2, Venezuelan equine encephalitis, yellow fever, Pichinde, HIV-1 and HIV-2, Dengue virus, measles, parainfluenza-3, reovirus, Sindbis virus, Coxsackie virus B4, and vesicular stomatitis.
- For leading references on the procedures used for the assays see

 (a) Rajappan, V. P.; Schneller, S. W.; Williams, S. L.; Kern, E. R.
 Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2002, *10*, 883–886; (b) Siddiqi, S. M.;
 Chen, X.; Schneller, S. W.; Ikeda, S.; Snoeck, R.; Andrei, G.;
 Balzarini, J.; De Clercq, E. *J. Med. Chem.* 1994, *37*, 551–554;
 (c) http://www.usu.edu/iar/Brochure/brochure.html.
- 14. To simplify viewing the ORTEP representation in Figure 2 the hydrogen atoms are omitted. However, the hydrogen atom on C(6) is oriented down while hydrogens on C(9) and C(10) are up.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 7014-7020

Theoretical study of the regioselectivity of the cycloaddition reaction between cyclopentadiene and methyleneketene

Yinghong Sheng and Jerzy Leszczynski*

The Computational Center for Molecular Structure and Interactions, Department of Chemistry, Jackson State University, PO Box 17910, 1400 J. R. Lynch Street, Jackson, MS 39217, USA

> Received 9 January 2006; revised 13 April 2006; accepted 21 April 2006 Available online 22 May 2006

Abstract—Three possible reaction schemes for the cycloaddition reaction between methyleneketene and cyclopentadiene were studied by DFT (density functional theory) and ab initio calculations. All of these cycloaddition reactions are exothermic, concerted but nonsynchronous processes. The computed activation energies indicate that the norbornene product yielded from a 1,2-addition of methyleneketene with cyclopentadiene (reaction (1)) is the primary product. The performance of various computational methodologies, MP2, MP4, and CCSD(T), in conjunction with a wide array of basis sets, 6-31G(d), 6-311+G(d,p), aug-cc-pVDZ, and aug-cc-pVTZ, in obtaining reliable activation and reaction energies of the reactions under investigation has been critically analyzed. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

1. Introduction

Heterocumulenes are highly versatile synthetic intermediates, and unlike most unsaturated compounds, they undergo either thermal [2+2] or [2+4] cycloadditions readily. This notion generates a great interest in the industrial¹ and pharmaceutical applications.^{2,3} A special class of heterocumulenes, based on parent methyleneketene ($H_2C=C=C=O$) and its substituted derivatives, might exhibit different reaction preferences than the other previously studied ketenes.^{4,5} It is known that ketenes react with cyclopentadiene in a [2+2] process forming cyclobutanones (the Staudinger reaction) rather than in a [4+2] reaction leading to norborne-nones.^{6–9} So far based on the studied cycloaddition of methyleneketene one assumes that their behavior is analogous to that of ketene.¹⁰ However, a single example of the parent methyleneketene undergoing a [4+2] cycloaddition had been reported, and the only cycloaddition product, which takes place on the interior C=C double bond of methyleneketene with 5-methylene-1,3-dioxan-4,6-dione, had been experimentally and theoretically studied.¹¹

The possibility of another [4+2] cycloaddition for methyleneketene, i.e., the reaction between methyleneketene and cyclopentadiene, was revealed during our research devoted to the study of the cycloaddition of cumulene.^{11b,12} The cycloaddition between methyleneketene and cyclopentadiene is expected to yield a norbornene product, rather than norbornanone or 5-oxobicyclo[2.2.1]hept-2-ene. In spite of the synthetic interest in these products,¹³ no theoretical study regarding this reaction has been reported. Therefore the mechanisms of these types of reactions require detailed investigation. In this paper, the possible reaction mechanisms of the [4+2] cycloaddition between methylene-ketene and cyclopentadiene were theoretically studied in the gas phase and polar solvents by means of ab initio methods and density functional theory.

Due to its specific structure, methyleneketene provides three double bonds on which three possible [4+2] reactions with cyclopentadiene may take place (Scheme 1), i.e., cycloaddition with cyclopentadiene may involve either the C=C or the C=O bonds of methyleneketene: addition to the C=C double bond to give either norbornene derivative 1



Scheme 1.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 601 979 3482; fax: +1 601 979 7823; e-mail: jerzy@ccmsi.us

(bicyclo[2.2.1]hept-5-en-2-ylidene-methanone) or norbornanone derivative **2** (3-methylene-bicyclo[2.2.1]hept-5-en-2-one), or less likely addition to the C=O double bond to give 5-oxobicyclo[2.2.1]hept-2-ene derivative **3** (3-vinylidene-2-oxa-bicyclo[2.2.1]hept-5-ene).¹⁴⁻¹⁶ All these possible products may have potential industrial and pharmaceutical applications.^{2,17} Thus, the investigation of the regioselectivity of cycloaddition between methyleneketene and cyclopentadiene is of great interest.

2. Computational method

The geometry of the reactants, products, and transition states were optimized at the B3LYP level of theory using the 6-31G(d) basis set by means of the Berny approach, a modified Schlegel method.¹⁸ Harmonic vibration frequency calculations were performed to confirm whether the obtained geometry represents a transition or minimum energy structure.

Inclusion of the correlation energy is necessary for a reasonable prediction of the activation energy because these contributions are often larger for the transition structures than for the minimum energy structures. In this study the energies were evaluated at the MP2/6-31G(d) level of theory using the B3LYP/6-31G(d) optimized structures. The geometry of the reactants, products, and transition states were also re-optimized at the MP2/6-31G(d) level. Entropies and enthalpies of activation were obtained at the B3LYP/ 6-31G(d) and MP2/6-31G(d) levels.

To better account for the effects of electron correlation, the activation and reaction energies were also evaluated at MP4, CCSD, and CCSD(T) using the geometries optimized at the MP2/6-31G(d) level.

The 6-31G(d) basis set was used for the geometrical optimization. To assess the basis set effect on the activation and reaction energies, a wide array of basis sets, namely, 6-31G(d), 6-311+G(d,p), aug-cc-pVDZ, and aug-cc-pVTZ, was used at the B3LYP and MP2 levels of theory.

The reaction and activation energies in the solvents were also evaluated at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level by the polarized continuum model applying the integral equation formalism¹⁹ using the geometries optimized in the gas phase. In this model, the liquid is represented by a dielectric continuum, characterized by its dielectric constant ε . The solute is placed in a cavity created in the continuum. The dielectric constants of ε =8.93 and 20.7 (that correspond to dichloromethane and acetone) were used. The specific interactions, such as hydrogen bonding are not covered by this model.

All calculations were performed using GAUSSIAN03.²⁰

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Reactants and products

The qualitative picture obtained from the valence-bond diagrams and the quantitative information from the molecular orbital calculations can provide guidance for the interpretation of the behavior of methyleneketene. One of the first studies of such species were performed by Radom who calculated the π -electron distributions perpendicular to the molecular plane for the various atoms in methyleneketene using ab initio molecular orbital theory.²¹

It is well-known that methyleneketene is not linear, unlike the cumulene $H_2C==C==CH_2$. The B3LYP/6-31G(d)and MP2/6-31G(d)-optimized geometrical parameters as well as the experimental data obtained from the microwave spectra of several isotopic species of methyleneketene²² are shown in Figure 1. One can see that the geometrical parameters predicted at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level are in excellent agreement with the previous microwave measurement and theoretical studies.²³ Interestingly, the B3LYP/6-31G(d) parameters are in better agreement with the experiments than those obtained from the MP2 level calculations.

The structures of three products of the Diels–Alder reaction between methyleneketene and cyclopentadiene are depicted in Figure 1. The reaction energies at the different levels of theory are summarized in Table 1. All of the reactions are exothermic. The reaction energies at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level amount to 35.1 and 42.0 kcal/mol for reactions (1) and (2), respectively. The reaction energy for reaction (3) at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level is predicted to be 7.7 kcal/ mol; this suggests that the addition to the C==O double bond is very unfavorable compared to the additions to the C==C double bonds of methyleneketene.



Figure 1. The B3LYP/6-31G(d)-optimized geometrical parameters for the reactants, transition structures, and products. For comparison, the MP2/6-31G(d)-optimized geometrical parameters are listed in italic. The experimental determined geometrical parameters for methyleneketene are shown in the parenthesis. The relative energies were obtained at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level.

	B3LYP ^a		MP2 ^b		MP4(SDTQ) ^c	CCSD ^c	CCSD(T) ^c
	$\Delta E(\Delta E_0)/\Delta E(\Delta E_0)$	ΔH	$\Delta E(\Delta E_0)$	ΔH	ΔE	ΔE	ΔE
TS1	7.38(9.8)/-2.21(0.2)	8.8	$\begin{array}{c} -2.39(-0.2) \\ 12.92(13.9) \\ 9.36(12.1) \end{array}$	-1.1	2.99	10.26	6.34
TS2	19.63(20.9)/12.89(14.1)	20.2		13.3	16.35	24.57	19.45
TS3	13.40(16.0)/10.24(12.8)	14.6		10.7	10.44	16.35	11.70
P1	$\begin{array}{l} -35.08(-29.4)/-50.08(-44.4)\\ -41.96(-36.6)/-55.92(-50.6)\\ -7.73(-2.9)/-15.73(-10.9)\end{array}$	-31.1	-49.71(-43.8)	-45.4	-44.61	-45.66	-43.77
P2		-38.3	-55.51(-50.2)	-51.8	-51.14	-54.11	-51.98
P3		-4.5	-15.23(-10.4)	-11.9	-11.88	-16.35	-14.32

Table 1. The activation and reaction energies at the different levels of theory for the stationary points located on the [4+2] cycloaddition between methyleneketene and cyclopentadiene

The energies are in kcal/mol.

^a B3LYP/6-31G(d) energy at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) optimized structure. MP2/6-31G(d)//B3LYP/6-31G(d) energy is in italic, the zero-energy corrected energy are in the parenthesis.

^b MP2/6-31G(d) energy at the MP2/6-31G(d) optimized structure.

^c Single point energy using 6-31G(d) basis set at the MP2/6-31G(d) optimized structure.

The reaction energies predicted at the MP2, MP4(SDTQ), and CCSD(T) levels of theory are also listed in Table 1. From Table 1, one can see that the reaction energies at the MP2, MP4(SDTQ), and CCSD levels of theory are larger than the CCSD(T) results.

Compared to the CCSD(T) results, B3LYP underestimates the reaction energies. The differences amount to 8.7, 10.0, and 6.6 kcal/mol for reactions (1), (2), and (3), respectively. On the contrary, MP2 and CCSD overestimate the reaction energies by about 2–6 kcal/mol. The substantial differences in reaction energies between the MP2, CCSD, and the CCSD(T) values indicate that the triple substitution makes a measurable contribution to accurate description of the reaction energy.

The MP4-predicted reaction energies are in most cases in agreement with the CCSD(T) reaction energies, and the differences are smaller than 1 kcal/mol, except for the reaction energy for the C==O addition, which differs by 2.4 kcal/mol. These differences can be related to the high-order electron correlation contributions. The reason that MP4 is in the closest agreement with CCSD(T) is due to the close connection between the two methods. The SDQ components of MP4 approximate those of CCSD, while the triple components of MP4 are similar in structure to the CCSD(T) correction. Therefore, MP4 level calculations with single, double, triple, and quadruple substitutions are expected to provide reliable reaction energies.

The reaction energies were also evaluated at the MP2 level using different basis sets. As one can see from Table 2, at the MP2/6-31G(d) level, the reaction energies for the 2,3-

C=C, 1,2-C=C, and C=O addition reactions are -49.7, -55.5, and -15.2 kcal/mol, respectively. The further expansion of the basis set to 6-311+G(d,p), and aug-cc-pVTZ has less impact on the accuracy of the reaction energies. The differences in the reaction energies are around 1 kcal/mol when the basis set changes from 6-31G(d) to aug-cc-pVTZ. All data are in good agreement with the CCSD(T) method.

However, the values of reaction energy were significantly affected by the size of the basis set at the B3LYP level. The differences in the reaction energies amount up to 4 kcal/mol at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level when different basis sets were used. This indicates that B3LYP, unlike the MP2 method, is inadequate for quantitatively describing the reaction energies.

3.2. Transition states

The geometries of three transition states were first optimized at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level, followed by the MP2/ 6-31G(d) single point energy evaluation. The activation energies for reactions (1), (2), and (3) are listed in Table 1. There are big differences in the activation energies between the two levels of theory. For instance, the MP2/6-31G(d)computed activation energy for TS1 is -2.2 kcal/mol, while the B3LYP/6-31G(d)-predicted activation energy is 7.4 kcal/ mol. The difference amounts to 9.5 kcal/mol!

Since the different activation values are predicted by B3LYP/ 6-31G(d) and MP2/6-31G(d) calculations, it is necessary to benchmark the study of the reaction under investigation in order to find a reliable approach to predict the reaction

Table 2. The basis set effect on the activation and reaction energies at the B3LYP and MP2 levels of theory

	B3LYP ^a			MP2 ^b				
	6-31G(d)	6-311+G(d,p)	Aug-cc-pVDZ	Aug-cc-pVTZ	6-31G(d)	6-311+G(d,p)	Aug-cc-pVDZ	Aug-cc-pVTZ
TS1	7.4	10.0	8.4	10.9	-2.4	-4.6	-9.1	-7.4
TS2	19.6	22.4	20.2	23.1	12.9	10.5	6.9	9.1
TS3	13.4	17.9	14.3	18.5	9.4	9.9	4.7	6.8
P1	-35.1	-29.5	-32.7	-27.8	-49.7	-49.3	-51.0	-49.3
P2	-42.0	-35.6	-39.5	-34.1	-55.5	-54.1	-57.0	-54.6
P3	-7.7	-1.2	-5.0	-1.0	-15.2	-13.3	-16.5	-16.3

The energies are in kcal/mol.

^a At the B3LYP/6-31G(d) optimized structure.

^b At the MP2/6-31G(d) optimized structure.

activation barriers and the structural and electronic features of these kinds of reactions.

3.2.1. Consideration of electron correlation. It is well known that the Hartree–Fock-based methods significantly overestimate the energy barrier, and increasing the basis set quality even worsens the results.²⁴ In order to obtain the correct energetics, it is very important to include dynamic correlation. Therefore the single point energies at the MP4, CCSD, and CCSD(T) levels using the MP2/6-31G(d) optimized structures were computed and listed in Table 1. The T1 diagnostic values²⁵ for the transition structures were also calculated at the CCSD level, and small values (<0.018) T1 diagnostic indicates that the coupled cluster method provides reliable estimate of the reaction barrier height.

B3LYP and MP2 take into account the electron correlation in quite different ways. Comparing with the CCSD(T) computed energies, MP2 underestimates the activation barrier for reactions (1) and (2) by about 8.7 and 6.6 kcal/mol, respectively. Thus MP2 is clearly unsuitable for quantitative prediction. This is in agreement with a recent study of regioselectivity, stereoselectivity, and asynchronicity in a series of hetero-Diels–Alder reactions.²⁶ When full MP4 method with single, double, triple, and quadruple substitutions is considered, the activation energy is slightly improved; however, it becomes underestimated compared to the CCSD(T) results. The MP4 level activation energies are about 3.0 kcal/mol lower than the CCSD(T)-predicted results.

It is interesting to notice that the gradient-corrected hybrid density functional method, B3LYP, has shown excellent agreement with the CCSD(T) results. By comparing the activation energies listed in Table 1, the activation energies obtained at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level differ from the CCSD(T) energies by only about 1.0, 0.2, and 1.7 kcal/mol for reactions (1), (2), and (3), respectively.

3.2.2. Basis set effect on transition structures. The 6-31G(d) basis set was used throughout for the geometry optimization of the transition states. The further expansion of the basis set has less impact on the accuracy of the molecular parameters.^{27,28} Only minor changes of the geometrical parameters were observed in selected organic systems when the basis set was extended in the B3LYP calculations. The 6-31G(d) basis set is a good compromise between efficiency and accuracy.²⁹ We have also used the 6-311+G(d) and aug-cc-pVDZ basis sets for some of the studied species, and the geometrical parameters are essentially the same.³⁰ Therefore we will only discuss the geometries obtained from the 6-31G(d) basis set, unless otherwise mentioned. The transition states were also optimized using the MP2/ 6-31G(d) method; the geometries obtained at the B3LYP/ 6-31G(d) and MP2/6-31(d) levels are close to each other.

3.2.3. Basis set effect on activation energy. The activation energies computed at the B3LYP and MP2 levels using different basis sets are listed in Table 2. The results demonstrate that the activation energies at the B3LYP level had less variation as a function of the basis set than the MP2 results. B3LYP/6-31G(d) is expected to yield reliable activation energies, while the MP2 method underestimates the activation energy.

In brief, B3LYP/6-31G(d) method predicts reliable geometrical parameters for the reactants, products, and transition structures. Though the level of electron correlation is of importance for quantitative prediction of reaction and activation energies, B3LYP/6-31G(d) method can be still used for qualitative description of the energetics of the reactions under investigation. Therefore, only the B3LYP/6-31G(d) results will be used for further discussion of the reaction mechanism, unless otherwise mentioned.

3.2.4. Discussion. We started with reaction (1) between methyleneketene and cyclopentadiene, which takes place on the C3=C4 bond of methyleneketene. A transition state TS1 (see Fig. 1) was located and characterized. The main geometrical parameters of the stationary point, optimized at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) and MP2/6-31G(d) levels, are shown in Figure 1.

The distances of C4–C1' and C3–C4' are 2.134 and 2.536 Å, respectively, at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level. The C4–C1' distance obtained at the MP2/6-31G(d) level is slightly longer (2.298 Å), while the C3–C4' distance is slightly shorter (2.484 Å). The results of both methods indicate that the reaction appears to be concerted but nonsynchronous.

Due to the attack of methyleneketene, the five carbon atoms of cyclopentadiene are no longer on the same plane, the dihedral angle C2'-C3'-C4'-C5' amounts to -18.1° at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level. The methyleneketene moiety is almost parallel to the cyclopentadiene moiety plane. The C2–C3–C4 angle amounts to 149.7°, slightly smaller than that in methyleneketene.

Mulliken population shows that methyleneketene donates 0.19 units of negative charge to cyclopentadiene in TS1. The activation barrier for TS1 is predicted to be 7.4 kcal/ mol at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level.

A transition state (TS2) was located and characterized for the cycloaddition reaction with cyclopentadiene taking place on C2=C3 double bond of methyleneketene. The selected geometrical parameters for the optimized transition structure at both the B3LYP/6-31G(d) and MP2/6-31G(d) levels are shown in Figure 2. Reaction (2) is also a concerted but nonsynchronous. The B3LYP/6-31G(d)-predicted C3-C1' distance amounts to 1.929 Å, much shorter than the C2-C4' distance (3.217 Å at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level). Only a 0.03 e charge was transferred from methyleneketene to cyclopentadiene. The activation barrier of this reaction is 19.6 kcal/mol, much higher than reaction (1).

In addition to the two approaching modes considered earlier, the possibility of a cycloaddition reaction with cyclopentadiene taking place on the C==O bond of methyleneketene was also studied. A transition state (TS3) was located. As one can see from Figure 1, the C2–C4' distance in the transition structure TS3 is predicted to be 1.623 Å at the B3LYP/ 6-31G(d) level. This indicates that the C2–C4' bond is almost formed in transition structure TS3. The O1–C1' bond is not yet formed; the distance between O1 and C1' is 2.303 Å at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level. The formation of the C2–C4' bond in TS3 raises the question of whether reaction (3) is a step-wise reaction. Attempts have been made,



Figure 2. The energy levels of the frontier orbitals at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level. The sizes of orbital coefficients on each atom of methyleneketene and cyclopentadiene are represented by the sizes of lobes on the orbitals.

however, no other possible transition state or intermediate on the reaction potential surface was located. Moreover, the IRC analysis shows that TS3 is directly connected with the reactants and the final [4+2] cycloaddition product. Therefore, we concluded that it is a concerted but nonsynchronous reaction. Mulliken population analysis shows that there is 0.24 e charge transfer from methyleneketene to cyclopentadiene in TS3. The activation barrier for TS3 is predicted to be 13.4 kcal/mol at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level.

3.3. Frontier orbital analysis

FMO (frontier molecular orbital) theory has been useful in rationalizing the regioselectivity preferences of these cycloadditions. The cycloaddition can be either HOMO(diene)-LUMO(dienophile) or HOMO(dienophile)-LUMO(diene), depends on the direction of electron transfer during the reaction. The interaction between the frontier orbitals is expected to be stronger if the difference of the orbital energy levels is smaller and as a result the reaction will proceed easier. The greatest overlap of these orbitals occurs when the nucleophile interacts at the site of the compound that has the largest LUMO coefficient. Similarly, the electrophilic addition takes place most likely at the most nucleophilic terminus of a diene with the largest HOMO coefficient, and this terminus should become attached to the site of dienophile with the largest LUMO coefficient. Therefore, the regiochemical preference can be understood by examining the orbital coefficients on the individual atom.

By means of an analysis of the frontier molecular orbitals of the reactants (see Fig. 2) and the direction of electron transfer described in the preceding section, one can recognize that, for reaction (1), TS1 is mostly stabilized by the interaction of the HOMO-1 of methyleneketene with the LUMO of cyclopentadiene. The coefficients on C3 and C4 of methyleneketene are of approximately the same size, with the coefficient on C4 being slightly larger than that on C3; therefore, the slightly stronger orbital overlap between C4 and C1' results in a shorter C4–C1' distance in TS1. The energy gap of this FMO interaction amounts to 8.06 eV at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level.

In transition state TS2, 0.03 e charge was transferred from methyleneketene to cyclopentadiene. By analyzing the frontier orbitals of the reactants shown in Figure 2, one can draw the conclusion that it is the interaction of HOMO of methyleneketene with LUMO of cyclopentadiene that stabilizes TS2. The larger orbital coefficients for the bonding atoms are localized on C3 of methyleneketene and C1' of cyclopentadiene. This leads to a much shorter distance between the C3 and C1' atoms than that between the C2 and C4' atoms in TS2. The energy gap of this FMO interaction is 6.07 eV at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level.

As for reaction (3), only the interaction of LUMO of cyclopentadiene with HOMO-3 of methyleneketene stabilizes TS3. However, this energy gap of FMO interaction is 11.08 eV at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level, much higher than the energy gaps of the FMO interactions in TS1 and TS2. It is also known that the C= $O \pi$ bond is stronger than the C= $C \pi$ bond, therefore attack on the C=O bond is less probable. All these factors lead to the fact that reaction (3) has the highest energy barrier.

It is also interesting to notice that the energy gap of the FMO interaction in TS2 is lower by about 2.0 kcal/mol than that of TS1. However, TS2 possesses a higher activation barrier than TS1. The reason why TS1 is characterized by a lower activation energy can be interpreted by analyzing the orientation of the FMO interactions in TS1 and TS2. From Figure 1, one can see that the approaching modes of methyleneketene to cyclopentadiene are different in the structures TS1 and TS2. In TS1, the p_z orbital of methyleneketene interacts with the LUMO of cyclopentadiene, while the overlap between the p_x orbital of methyleneketene and the p_z orbital of cyclopentadiene stabilizes TS2. The latter approaching mode induces a strong steric repulsion between the CH₂ group of methyleneketene and cyclopentadiene in TS2 and thus destabilizes TS2. As a result, a higher activation barrier is observed. Therefore the cycloaddition at the terminal C=C bond of methyleneketene is most likely to be observed. This is different than in the case of the cycloaddition between methyleneketene and 5-methylene-1,3dioxan-4,6-dione in which the addition takes place on the interior C=C double bond of methyleneketene.¹¹

To investigate the electrostatic rationale for the intrinsic preference of the regioselectivity of addition of cyclopentadiene to methyleneketene, the solvent effects and their influence on the stabilities of transition structures were predicted with the polarized continuum model using the integral equation formalism.¹⁹ The reference geometries optimized in the gas phase were used. In the gas phase, larger charge transfer in TS1 and TS3 than in TS2 was predicted. The values of the charge transfer are further enhanced in the polar medium, and the activation energies of TS1 and TS3 are lowered in the polar solvents. As one can see from Table 3, the activation energies for TS1 and TS3 decrease from 7.4 and 13.4 kcal/mol in the gas phase to 5.8 and 10.7 kcal/mol in dichloromethane and 5.6 and 10.4 kcal/mol in acetone,

Table 3. The B3LYP/6-31G(d) level activation energies in the gas phase and in the solutions

	Gas phase	Dichloromethane $(\varepsilon = 8.93)$	Acetone $(\varepsilon = 20.7)$
Reaction (1)	7.4	5.8	5.6
Reaction (2)	19.6	21.0	21.2
Reaction (3)	13.4	10.7	10.4

respectively. However, the cycloaddition taking place on the interior C=C bond of methyleneketene is hampered by a polar solvent. This suggests that a polar medium facilitates reaction (1).

4. Conclusions

The reaction mechanisms of the [4+2] cycloaddition between methyleneketene and cyclopentadiene have been investigated by ab initio and density functional theory calculations. According to the obtained results we draw the following conclusions.

- (1) There are three possible reaction mechanisms for the cycloaddition between methyleneketene and cyclopentadiene, as shown in Scheme 1. The cycloadditions at different double bonds of methyleneketene are all concerted but nonsynchronous processes. An analysis based on frontier molecular orbitals shows that the reaction mechanisms correspond to the [4+2] description.
- (2) All the reactions are exothermic; however, the small exothermicity of the addition to the C=O double bond suggests that reaction (3) is less favorable compared to additions to the C=C double bonds of methyleneketene (reactions (1) and (2)).
- (3) The activation barriers for the cycloaddition of methyleneketene with cyclopentadiene are 7.4, 19.6, and 13.4 kcal/mol at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) level for reactions (1), (2), and (3), respectively. These computational results show that the energy barrier for the reaction leading to the 1,2-adduct norbornene (reaction (1)) is the lowest one. The predicted solvent effect indicates that reaction (1) is facilitated in a polar solvent.
- (4) The performance of various computational methodologies in obtaining activation as well as reaction energies of the reactions under investigation has been critically analyzed. The hybrid density functional B3LYP method shows excellent agreement with the CCSD(T) method in obtaining activation energies, and it shows less variation as a function of basis set. On the contrary, the activation energies obtained at the MP2 level are underestimated, and thus the MP2 method is inadequate for the study of the Diels-Alder reactions. It should be noted that B3LYP, which works well for the activation energy, yet significantly underestimates the reaction energies and is sensitive to the size of basis set. For a quantitative description of the reaction energy, full MP4 level method with single, double, triple, and quadruple substitutions is necessary.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported NSF-EPSCoR Grant No.02-01-0067-08, and the Army High Performance Computing Research Center under the auspices of the Department of the Army, Army Research Laboratory cooperative agreement number DAAH04-95-2-0003/contract number DAAH04-95-C-0008. This work does not necessarily reflect the policy of the government, and no official endorsement should be inferred.

Supplementary data

The Cartesian coordinates of the optimized stationary point structures (in Å) for the cycloadditions between methyleneketene and cyclopentadiene at the B3LYP/6-31G(d) and MP2/6-31G(d) levels of theory (PDF). The geometrical parameters of optimized transition structures TS1 and TS3 at the B3LYP/6-31G(d), MP2/6-31G(d), B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p), and B3LYP/aug-cc-pVTZ levels. Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.067.

References and notes

- Abd-El-Aziz, A. S.; Edel, A. L.; May, L. J.; Epp, Karen M.; Hutton, H. M. Can. J. Chem./Rev. Can. Chim. 1999, 77, 1797.
- Palle, V. P.; Balachandran, S.; Salman, M.; Kukreja, G.; Gupta, N.; Ray, A.; Dastidar, S. G. *PCT Int. Appl.* **2005**, 99.
- 3. Kraka, Elfi; Cremer, Dieter J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 8245.
- Brahms, John C.; Dailey, William P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 1381.
- (a) Scott, A. P.; Radom, L. J. Mol. Struct. 2000, 556, 253; (b) Park, Kyungtae; Lee, Sungyul; Lee, Yongsik. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 1999, 20, 809; (c) Chapman, Orville L.; Miller, Michael D.; Pitzenberger, Steven M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 6867.
- 6. (a) Salzner, U.; Bachrach, S. M. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 237;
 (b) Woodward, R. B.; Hoffmann, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1969, 8, 781.
- 7. Tidwell, T. T. Ketene; Wiley: New York, NY, 1995.
- 8. Wentrup, C.; Heilmeyer, W.; Kollenz, G. Synthesis 1994, 1219.
- 9. (a) Chou, C.; Birney, D. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 5231;
 (b) Seidl, E. T.; Schaefer, H. F., III. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 5195;
 (c) Hyatt, J. A.; Raynolds, P. W. Org. React. 1994, 45, 159.
- (a) Houk, K. N.; Li, Y.; Evanseck, J. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 682; (b) Wang, X.; Houk, K. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 1754; (c) Xu, Z. F.; Fang, D. C.; Fu, X. Y. J. Mol. Struct. (THEOCHEM) 1994, 305, 191; (d) Fang, D. C.; Fu, X. Y. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1996, 259, 265; (e) Fang, D. C.; Fu, X. Y. Int. J. Quantum Chem. 1996, 57, 1107.
- (a) Brown, R. F. C.; Eastwood, F. W.; McMullen, G. L. Aust. J. Chem. **1977**, 30, 179; (b) Sheng, Y.-H.; Fang, D.-C.; Wu, Y.-D.; Fu, X.-Y.; Jiang, Y.-S. J. Mol. Struct. (THEOCHEM) **1999**, 488, 187.
- (a) Sheng, Y.-H.; Fang, D.-C.; Wu, Y.-D.; Fu, X.-Y.; Jiang, Y. *THEOCHEM* **1999**, *467*, 31; (b) Sheng, Y.; Leszczynski, J. In preparation.
- (a) Jang, H.-Y.; Huddleston, R. R.; Krische, M. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 4074; (b) Zimmerman, H. E.; Wang, P. Can. J. Chem. 2003, 81, 517; (c) Tanaka, K.; Watanabe, T.; Ohta, Y.; Fuji, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8943.

- Malinovskii, M. S.; Kas'yan, L. I.; Ovsyanik, V. D. Zh. Org. Khim. 1973, 9, 2425.
- 15. Keeffe, J. R. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 2004, 17, 1075.
- 16. Carrupt, P. A.; Vogel, P. THEOCHEM 1985, 25, 9.
- 17. Kraka, E.; Cremer, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 8245.
- 18. Schlegel, H. B. J. Comput. Chem. 1982, 3, 214.
- Cances, M. T.; Mennucci, V.; Tomasi, J. J. Chem. Phys. 1997, 107, 3032.
- 20. Frisch, M. J.; Trucks, G. W.; Schlegel, H. B.; Scuseria, G. E.; Robb, M. A.; Cheeseman, J. R.; Montgomery, J. A., Jr.; Vreven, T.; Kudin, K. N.; Burant, J. C.; Millam, J. M.; Ivengar, S. S.; Tomasi, J.; Barone, V.; Mennucci, B.; Cossi, M.; Scalmani, G.; Rega, N.; Petersson, G. A.; Nakatsuji, H.; Hada, M.; Ehara, M.; Toyota, K.; Fukuda, R.; Hasegawa, J.; Ishida, M.; Nakajima, T.; Honda, Y.; Kitao, O.; Nakai, H.; Klene, M.; Li, X.; Knox, J. E.; Hratchian, H. P.; Cross, J. B.; Bakken, V.; Adamo, C.; Jaramillo, J.; Gomperts, R.; Stratmann, R. E.; Yazyev, O.; Austin, A. J.; Cammi, R.; Pomelli, C.; Ochterski, J. W.; Ayala, P. Y.; Morokuma, K.; Voth, G. A.; Salvador, P.; Dannenberg, J. J.; Zakrzewski, V. G.; Dapprich, S.; Daniels, A. D.; Strain, M. C.; Farkas, O.; Malick, D. K.; Rabuck, A. D.; Raghavachari, K.; Foresman, J. B.; Ortiz, J. V.; Cui, Q.; Baboul, A. G.; Clifford, S.; Cioslowski, J.; Stefanov, B. B.; Liu, G.; Liashenko, A.; Piskorz, P.; Komaromi, I.; Martin, R. L.; Fox, D. J.; Keith, T.; Al-Laham, M. A.; Peng, C. Y.; Nanayakkara, A.; Challacombe, M.; Gill, P. M. W.; Johnson, B.; Chen, W.;

Wong, M. W.; Gonzalez, C.; Pople, J. A. *Gaussian 03, Revision C.02*; Gaussian: Wallingford, CT, 2004.

- 21. Radom, L. Aust. J. Chem. 1978, 31, 1.
- (a) Brown, R. D.; Godfrey, P. D.; Champion, R.; McNaughton, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1981**, 103, 5711; (b) Taylor, P. R. J. Comput. Chem. **1984**, 5, 589; (c) Brown, R. D.; Champion, R.; Elmes, P. S.; Godfrey, P. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1985**, 107, 4109.
- 23. (a) See Ref. 22b; (b) See Ref. 5a; (c) Brown, Ronald D.; Dittman, Ronald G. *Chem. Phys.* **1984**, *83*, 77.
- Dinadayalane, T.; Vijaya, R.; Smitha, A.; Sastry, G. N. J. Phys. Chem. A 2002, 106, 1627.
- 25. Lee, T. J.; Taylor, P. R. Int. J. Quant. Chem. Symp. 1989, 23, 199.
- Park, Y. S.; Kim, W. K.; Kim, Y. B.; Lee, I. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 3997.
- (a) Hariharan, P. C.; Pople, J. A. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1972**, *66*, 217; (b) Hehre, W. J.; Radom, L.; Schleyer, P. v. R.; Pople, J. A. *Ab Initio Molecular Orbital Theory*; Wiley: New York, NY, 1986; (c) Sheng, Y.; Leszczynski, J.; Garcia, A. A.; Rosario, R.; Gust, D.; Springer, J. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2004**, *108*, 16233.
- (a) Bauschlicher, C. W. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1995, 246, 40; (b) El-Azhary, A. A.; Suter, H. U. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, 100, 15056.
- (a) Holmén, A.; Broo, A. Int. J. Quantum Chem. 1995, QBS22, 113; (b) Broo, A.; Holmén, A. Chem. Phys. 1996, 211, 147.
- 30. See Supplementary data.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 7021-7033

Tetrahedron

Structure of pyrimidinocyclophanes in solution by NMR

Leisan Galiullina, Anton Nikolaev, Vyacheslav Semenov, Vladimir Reznik and Shamil Latypov*

Arbuzov Institute of Organic and Physical Chemistry, Kazan Science Centre of Russian Academy of Sciences, 420088, Kazan, Arbuzov Street 8, Russian Federation

> Received 18 October 2005; revised 1 April 2006; accepted 20 April 2006 Available online 22 May 2006

Abstract—The conformations and self-associative properties of novel pyrimidinocyclophanes with a substituted nitrogen atom in a spacer have been studied using several independent NMR methods (NOE, aromatic shielding effect, 2D DOSY, GIAO DFT chemical shift calculations, DNMR) in a variety of solvents, in acidic and basic media. At room temperature the title compounds in neutral solution are in slow exchange on the NMR time-scale and exist in a folded conformation. In the acidic medium protonation occurs at the bridge nitrogen, and that leads to dramatic modifications of the structure and dynamics of the compound. The protonated form exists at the equilibrium of 'folded' and 'extended' conformers. Moreover, the protonated form is prone to association and can be effectively described as a dimer at room temperature.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Nucleotide bases and their derivatives play a crucial role in different processes in biochemistry, pharmacology, and medicinal chemistry. Therefore, there have been constant efforts to investigate such systems and their properties by different experimental and theoretical methods¹. These efforts attest to the great interest currently focused on understanding and controlling nucleotide base interactions.^{1c,2} However, in spite of the remarkable progress in this area there is still a lot to be understood. There are no clear ideas about the forces that control and stabilize primary, secondary, and supramolecular structure of the synthetic and biological systems containing nucleotide bases, particularly nucleic acids and their complexes with proteins.³ It is well known that hydrogen bonding is crucial in the determination of the conformational and supramolecular structures of the systems with nucleotide bases. However, such strong stabilization is controlled not only by hydrogen bonding, the mechanism of the interactions seems to be more complicated, and new hypotheses have been developed.^{2i,4} Most of the investigations are theoretical, thus experimental studies have become a necessity.

To promote these investigations some simpler model systems are needed, which can offer an access to control and subtle structural variations the effects of which can be assessed and comprehended at the molecular level.⁵ To develop such systems, modeling interactions between nucleic acids and proteins or intercalating agents, a variety of new compounds has been synthesized. Almost all of them consist of nucleic acids or their derivatives linked by a polymethylene spacer with another nucleic bases (pyrimidines or purines or their combination) or with aromatic or heteroaromatic system.^{5c-i,6} The analysis of hypochromic and in very few cases of ¹H NMR effects can provide insights into geometry, which is controlled by weak noncovalent interactions (hydrogen bonding (HB), van der Waals (vdW)). However, the very flexible nature of the proposed acyclic models allows one to establish only the fact of folded/unfolded conformation or complexed/not complexed structure and no exact 3D solution structure can be obtained in most cases.

The use of macrocyclic molecules containing nucleic bases and their derivatives as models seems to be more promising because even with the same flexible spacers, NMR and UV effects are stronger, probably due to the higher rigidity of macrocycles versus acyclic analogues. For example, in the case of purinophanes and pyrimidinophanes high field shifts for purine and pyrimidine protons and remarkably increasing hypochromic effects were observed in comparison with their acyclic counterparts both in CDCl₃ and aqueous solution.⁷ At the same time, although these data are an indirect indication of stacking between various nucleic bases in these macrocycles, there has been little success in the determination of the 3D geometry of macrocycles in solution by NMR.

NMR techniques have proven to be powerful tools in the conformational analysis of biologically important macrocycles such as peptides and proteins.⁸ However, in the case of macrocycles containing nucleic acid bases, the problem is more complicated: due to the diversity of weak interactions of similar energy (weak HB, vdW interactions) these

^{*} Corresponding author. E-mail: lsk@iopc.knc.ru

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.064



compounds in solution are in equilibrium in a variety of conformations of close energy, and no folded-structure-specific NOEs were seen.^{7b,9}

Moreover, the equilibrium between different tautomeric forms and the contribution of protonated forms is very probable.¹⁰ Thus nucleotide macrocycles have to be essentially flexible and a variety of different structural forms can be expected. Moreover, association or self-association processes may take place, thus additionally complicating the structure determination problem.¹¹ In addition, the dispersion of the signals in ¹H NMR is worse than in the spectra of peptides. Therefore, it is clear that macrocycles containing pyrimidine bases are difficult objects for NMR investigation.

We faced such problems when we started a new project concerning macrocycles with three pyrimidine fragments.[†] Our attempts to make use of variable temperature NMR experiments were of little success: at low temperatures extensive broadening of most signals in proton NMR was observed, and it was not possible to derive conclusions about conformational and/or supramolecular structure from those experiments.

Only recently we have obtained new macrocycles (1, 2) (Scheme 1), which can be considered as cyclophanes containing pyrimidine rings in place of aromatic unit, called pyrimidinocyclophanes.¹² These macrocyclic compounds allowed us insight into their 3D structures in solution and, perhaps, to propose an explanation why the line shape evolution for previous compounds was so dramatic and difficult to analyze. Here we report our recent results on the structure and association properties of new pyrimidinocyclophanes in solution.

2. Results

2.1. Synthesis

Pyrimidinocyclophanes **1** and **2** were prepared by amination of 1,3-bis(bromopentyl)thymine **7** with 2–3-fold excess of

appropriate amine in *n*-BuOH in the presence of K_2CO_3 under heating (Scheme 2). The yields of the macrocycles are poor (17 and 19%), and attempts to increase them were unsuccessful. In particular, the reactions were carried out under high-dilution conditions, *n*-BuOH was substituted by other solvents, and salts of transition metals as catalysts were introduced into reaction mixtures. However, the yields of the obtained pyrimidinocyclophanes didn't exceed 20%. It seems that the reactions are subjected mainly to statistic factors.



Scheme 2.

Compounds 3, 4, and 5 were prepared by procedures reported earlier.^{7b}

2.2. Conformational structure

The full assignment of signals in proton and carbon spectra of 1 was carried out by 2D COSY, HSQC, HMBC, and NOESY methods.^{‡13} The analysis started from the thymine fragment, for which signals can be easily assigned,¹⁴ e.g., starting from C(6)_{thv}H by COSY, HSQC, and HMBC correlation techniques. The key correlations to distinguish H2 and H12 of the aliphatic spacers are between C(6)_{thv}/H2 and $C(4)_{thv}/H12$ in HMBC, and $C(6)_{thv}H/H2$ in NOESY. The -N-CH₂-Ph fragment was also unequivocally assigned in the same manner starting from the aromatic fragment. The H6/H8 and the C6/C8 show correlations with NCH_2 -Ph carbons and protons, respectively. Thus, the fully assigned ¹H NMR spectrum of 1 is shown in Figure 1. The most important and interesting resonances are those of the H2 and H12 protons: it is quite unexpected that geminal CH₂ protons at C2 (and C12) are nonequivalent. One could expect rapid flipping of the long aliphatic chain around a thymine fragment and therefore the geminal protons at the benzylic positions should be chemically equivalent due to the fast exchange on the NMR time-scale and only one signal would be

Results of low temperature NMR investigation of macrocycles containing one 6-methyluracil and two 2-thio-4-amino-6-methylpyrimidine units are in preparation and will be published elsewhere.

[‡] All details can be found in Supplementary data.



Figure 1. ¹H NMR spectrum of **1** in CDCl₃ at T=303 K.

observed for H2 and H12 protons. For example, for macrocycles possessing thymine and two 3,6-dimethyluracil moieties linked by similar aliphatic spacers (3) one observes ¹H NMR spectra for these protons that correspond to fast exchange when $n \ge 4$ and these spectra are very similar to those observed for acyclic analogues (4).[§]

These results imply that this compound is conformationally rigid, at least in the neighborhood of the thymine fragment: the chemical shifts of the geminal H12a/H12b and the H2a/H2b protons reflect their position with respect to the plane of the thymine ring.

At the same time, there is broadening in the spectrum at T=303 K that might be due to some exchange processes. In order to explore this process, low temperature experiments were carried out. These experiments in CDCl₃ in the range of temperatures from 303 to 213 K did not show any remarkable modification of the NMR parameters, particularly for H2 and H12. Only some low field shifts for C(6)_{thy}H and 5-Me were detected, and minimal modification of the line shape for CH₂Ph protons was observed.

Such line shape evolution can be interpreted as if the title compounds (macrocycles) exist basically in one form. Only some minor process near to the bridging nitrogen (N-inversion and/or rotation around N–CH₂) might be the reason why the N–CH₂ proton spectrum is slightly modified at lower temperature.

The conformational structure of **1** has been established by three NMR techniques. First of all, there are NOEs at T=213 K between the phenyl and 5-Me protons (Fig. 2) that are due to the close proximity of these protons. In addition, there are deshielding effects of phenyl ring on C(6)_{thy}H and 5-Me protons (Fig. 2b). As one can see, there are low field shifts for these protons in comparison with the spectrum for the model compound 5 (Fig. 2b) where there is no such effect. Finally, comparison of the calculated and experimental chemical shifts for the H2 and H12 protons in this conformation is in good agreement with this conclusion.^{7b} In fact, the thymine ring is magnetically anisotropic, and chemical shifts of vicinal protons depend strongly on their exact position in respect to the thymine plane (angle around N-C2 and N-C12 bonds). Therefore, we searched for the stable conformers of 1 by the MM method (program ChemOffice)¹⁵ and found that the 'folded' structure (Fig. 3a) corresponds to energy minima, and nonempirical ¹H chemical shift calculation in the frame of GIAO DFT approach¹⁶ shows quite good correspondence between the experimental and theoretical chemical shifts for this geometry (Fig. 3b). This additionally supports our conclusion about the conformational structure of 1 because even a small discrepancy in geometry would have been reflected in chemical shifts of the vicinal protons.

Thus, we have concluded that compound 1 in CDCl₃ predominantly exists in a folded conformation (Fig. 3a).

In addition, ¹H NMR experiments at different concentrations were carried out in order to see whether this molecule is prone to association. In proton spectra only minimal changes were observed when concentration changed from 1 to 50 mmol/l. Thus, we concluded that the molecule in $CDCl_3$ solution exists as a monomer in folded form.

In general, the fact that this molecule exists in a folded conformation and exchange is slow in NMR time-scale is quite an unexpected result. For example, for pyrimidinophane with one thymine and two 3,6-dimethyluracil fragments (**3**, **4**) the exchange is fast even for aliphatic spacer $(-CH_2-)_n$ with n=4, moreover, for n=5 the spectrum is very similar to that observed for acyclic analogue **4**. This suggests that there may be some extra interactions, which stabilize this folded conformation of **1**.

[§] Results of NMR investigation of pyrimidinophane 3 and acyclic analogue 4 are under preparation and will be published elsewhere.



Figure 2. ¹H NMR (a, b) and NOE spectra (c, d) (τ_m =0.6 s) of compounds 1 and 5 in CDCl₃: (a) 5 at T=303 K; (b–d) 1 at T=213 K (irradiated atoms shown in braces).

In this case several noncovalent interactions may be considered as a contribution to stabilization. There are a number of publications concerning this subject but there are still many uncertainties in the energy gain due to these interactions. In fact, most of these reports are based on theoretical results and there are only little experimental data. Moreover, even amongst the theoretical estimations there is dispersion in values of energies depending on the method used to calculate particular interaction, level of theory, choice of the model system, and the model to account for the solvent effects.^{3a,b,17}

In fact, from the variety of possible interactions in this system the HB is the strongest one. There are several polar atoms and groups (C=O, N, C(5)_{thv}H) that may be proton



Figure 3. (a) 3D structure (left) and (b) correlation of experimental and calculated (GIAO B3LYP/6-31G(d)//RHF/6-31G) 1 H chemical shifts for 1 (right).

donors or acceptors. If this assumption is correct then polar solvents should disrupt such intramolecular interactions and destabilize the folded conformation.^{1a,18} To verify this idea the ¹H NMR spectra in different polar solvents at room temperature were obtained, and it was found that replacement of CDCl₃ by acetone, acetonitrile, and methanol only has insignificant effect on the spectra, particularly on indicative H2 and H12 resonances. Therefore, we concluded that dynamics and equilibrium of **1** in these solvents are essentially the same. Thus, HB can probably be excluded from the interactions that stabilize this conformation.

It is possible that aromatic π - π (e.g., face-to-edge) interactions may take place in this case.^{3a,b} Recently, the role of different aromatic–aromatic and aromatic–aliphatic interactions has been reviewed and, according to calculations, stabilization of up to 3.2 kcal/mol could be expected.^{3b} To check if these interactions work in this case the model compound with aliphatic substituent instead of phenyl ring on bridged nitrogen (2) was synthesized and ¹H NMR experiments were carried out.



The ¹H NMR spectrum of **2** is shown in Figure 4. For comparison the spectrum of **1** is also given. As one can see, the H2 and H12 proton signals are very similar. Taking into



Figure 4. ¹H NMR spectra of 2 (top, R=butyl, C=12 mM) and 1 (bottom, R=Bzl, C=7 mM) in CDCl₃ at T=303 K. *Undetermined admixture.

account the strong anisotropy of the thymine ring and almost equal chemical shifts of the H2 and H12 protons in 1 and 2, we can conclude that geometries of these molecules are effectively the same.

Low temperature ¹H NMR experiments were also in good agreement with this conclusion. In addition, NOE between 5-Me and the aliphatic substituent at N unambiguously proves that **2** in solution exists also in folded conformation.

Thus both compounds are in an identical folded conformation irrespective to the nature of the substituent at bridge nitrogen, and no indication of π - π 'edge-to-face' interactions was obtained for the title compounds. Most probably, the realization of the folded conformation for such systems is explained by the structure of polymethylene spacers and the number of methylene groups.

2.3. Protonation and association

Another aspect of our efforts was to explain why the ¹H NMR spectra of **1** still remain well resolved at lower temperature and correspond to one conformation, with no indications of association even at temperatures close to the solvent's m.p. For macrocycles containing other pyrimidine bases, however, extensive broadening of signals was seen even at moderately low temperature.

We supposed that other macrocycles are prone to association due to the existence of protonated or charged forms.¹⁰ Therefore, we decided to try to provoke protonation of compound **1** too.

¹H NMR experiments in CDCl₃ with titration by CF₃COOH (6) at room temperature have demonstrated marked modification of the spectra (Fig. 5). Some changes could be expected due to protonation of the bridge nitrogen, and therefore vicinal CH₂ protons (H6, H8, CH₂Ph) should reflect this process. However, the most important is the observed line shape evolution of the H2 and H12 protons: as the concentration of acid is increased the signals of these protons start to broaden and then finally they coalesce. It is particularly apparent for the H2 protons, while in pure $CDCl_3$ the geminal CH_2 protons were not equivalent and resonate at 4.5 and 3.2 ppm. At intermediate concentrations of acid their signals broadened extensively, and then close to full protonation, one exchange averaged signal was observed for each of these protons.

Such line shape evolution can be explained either by exchange between two symmetric forms that becomes fast in NMR time-scale or/and stabilization of the additional form in which the chemical shifts of these protons differ from those in the folded conformation.

In order to determine the structure of the protonated form(s), NMR experiments with variation of the temperature were carried out (Fig. 6). As the temperature decreases, the signals of the H2 and H12 protons start to collapse and finally at T=223 K the spectrum corresponds to slow exchange of several forms. The lines, in addition, are extensively broadened, perhaps due to self-association.

Unfortunately, due to ambiguous line shape evolution and extensive broadening it is difficult to determine the number of components in equilibrium and to assign the signals in the low temperature ¹H spectra to corresponding groups in order to establish their conformational structure.

Therefore to the association of the title compound in solution under protonation and particularly at low temperature (corresponding extensive broadening of the lines in ¹H spectra) we tried to estimate effective volume of the molecule by the measurement of self-diffusion coefficient.^{10a,19} Translation self-diffusion coefficients were measured by 2D DOSY method with bipolar gradients. Every value was averaged over two-three measurements. The results are shown in Figure 7. It was established that at room temperature the coefficient is approximately 1.5 times larger in pure CDCl₃ than in a solution of the 1:1 mixture of compounds 1 and 6. Then according to Stock's model¹⁹ the effective radius of the protonated form is about 1.5 of the radius of noncharged molecule. Therefore, the effective volume of the charged form is twice as large as the noncharged one. Thus if in neutral solution 1 exists as monomer, protonation leads to association of the molecule into dimer.



Figure 5. Dependence of ¹H NMR spectra of mixture 1+6 on the 1:6 ratio in CDCl₃ at T=303 K.

In addition, the self-diffusion coefficient was measured at lower temperatures (Fig. 7). The temperature dependence of the self-diffusion coefficient for neutral molecule can be well explained by its dependence directly on temperature and indirectly on viscosity. At the same time for the protonated form this dependence reflects also the fact that at low temperature higher associates become more stable and low temperature self-diffusion coefficient corresponds to four molecular associates. Thus association is thermodynamically more favorable than the monomeric form in acidic media.

In the next step we tried to get insight into the conformations of the protonated form. Room temperature ¹H NMR spectra of the protonated form in solution are much broadened and cannot be used for spectra-structure correlations. The ¹³C NMR spectrum of **1** at room temperature also cannot be used to determine the conformational structure. However, a comparison of ¹³C spectra with those for the nonprotonated form shows (Fig. 8) that they are different and this difference may be due to the contribution of some additional conformers. As can be seen from Figure 8, most spectacular

differences were observed for $C(2)_{thy}$, $C(4)_{thy}$, $C(5)_{thy}$, and C6/8. None of them were seen in the acidic medium due to extensive broadening. Therefore, we concluded that this could be due to equilibrium of the forms where these carbons have large chemical shift differences.

To check this hypothesis we carried out several experiments with variation of temperature. As mentioned above, the evolution of the proton NMR spectra was dramatic but it was very difficult to follow these changes and to ascribe it either to slowing down of exchange between the conformers and/or to association effect. Therefore, we tried to run similar ¹³C experiments at lower temperature, but due to low concentration a regular spectrum could not be accumulated, and information on ¹³C chemical shifts of carbons directly bonded to protons was obtained only from 2D HSQC spectra (Fig. 9).

As can be seen in Figure 9, the number of carbon signals in the low temperature spectrum is twice that at room temperature (for carbons C2, C12, C6, C8, CH_2Ph). Therefore,



Figure 6. Temperature-dependent ¹H NMR spectra for a mixture of 1+6 (1:6) in CDCl₃.

we concluded that this spectrum corresponds to a two-component equilibrium. Moreover, comparison of room temperature chemical shifts with low temperature data and analysis of CH correlation data allowed us to assign signals as shown in Figure 9.



Figure 7. Temperature dependences of self-diffusion coefficients for 1 and 1+6 (1:1) in CDCl₃.

As can be seen, chemical shifts for the carbons in one form (except for the C6/8 and C2) are very similar to those observed in the nonprotonated form in CDCl₃ at room temperature, while for another conformer they are different. Particularly important is the difference for the C6/8 and C12 carbons of the spacer: $\Delta\delta$ are ca. 8 and 4 ppm, respectively.

Thus, we can conclude that the first form has a conformation similar to nonprotonated form, i.e. folded conformation. Some differences in chemical shifts of C6, C8, and C2 can be explained by the change of the local structure upon N-protonation. The analysis of the chemical shift difference for the second form allowed us to conclude that the observed low field shifts with respect to the folded form's shifts for C6, C8 carbons can be attributed to γ -effects on these carbons due to a change of orientation around C4–C5 and C10–C9 bonds that leads to extended conformation shown schematically in Figure 10. Thus, the title compound in solution upon protonation exists in equilibrium of two forms, one being folded and the second being extended.

In addition, the extended form is very prone to association and its structure can be accessed by high field shifts for H4, H10 protons at low temperature.[‡] Namely, in such dimers (trimer, tetramer, and higher associates) the protons



Figure 8. ¹³C NMR spectra of 1 (a) and 1+6 (1:6) (b) at room temperature in CDCl₃.



Figure 9. Fragment of 2D HSQC $({}^{1}H-{}^{13}C)$ spectrum of 1+6 (1:6) at T=223 K in CDCl₃.

at C4 and C10 of spacer of one molecule are located in the shielding cone of the phenyl ring of another molecule (Fig. 11). Therefore, at lower temperature the contribution of the higher associates, which have similar NMR parameters, increases and this leads to high field shift of H4, H10 protons.



Figure 11. Schematic presentation of dimer of 1.

3. Discussion

Besides the particular data related to this type of compounds (the protonation site and conformational structure in solution and in protonated form) there are two questions that have general interest: (1) the mechanism of stabilization of such strained forms and (2) the mechanism of stabilization of associates and their structure. (1) Folded conformations appear to be stabilized by the 'edge-to-face' π - π interactions. Different authors estimate such interactions in the range of 0.9–2.6 kcal/mol.^{3b} At this point, however, its magnitude and its value in solution remain unclear. In particular there are almost no experimental data.

According to our experiments there is no indication of such interactions in the ground state in the title compounds. In the case of such interactions, the energy barrier of interconversion between symmetric conformers would increase for 1 versus 2 (when butyl is changed for Bzl) and it should affect



Figure 10. Schematic presentation of the equilibrium of folded and extended conformations of 1.

NMR line shape (broadening or coalescence temperature). Some broadening at room temperature is very similar in both compounds (1 and 2) and this proves that exchange rate is very much the same in these compounds irrespective of the substituent at the bridge nitrogen atom.

(2) To explain the stabilization of such associates under protonation and also the mechanism an additional argument in favor of the structure depicted in Figure 11 is the chemical shift of $C(2)_{thy}$ =O. It is likely that this oxygen atom participates in binding when dimer and higher associates are formed. There is no signal for this carbon in the room temperature ¹³C spectra although other signals are present. (Unfortunately due to low S/N at low temperature we were not able to obtain the ¹³C NMR spectra.) Based on this observation we concluded that its signal is much broadened at room temperature, which might take place if the chemical shift of this carbon in above-mentioned conformers (forms) is substantially different. This difference may originate from the bonding by the C=O group if, e.g., HB are formed in one of the forms. Indeed, GIAO DFT calculations of chemical shifts (with RHF/6-31G optimized geometry) for 1 with $C(2)_{thy} = O$ involved in HB with three ethyl amine cation as example of proton donor group and for 1 which is not involved in HB predict maximal differences just for C(2)thy (+4.4 ppm) and C(5)_{thy} (+5.4 ppm, positive signs mean low field shifts in HB complex).

Which group could donate proton to this group to form HB? There are different options: first of all, N⁺H could participate in such bonding. Such bonds can be excluded as dominant, however, because the chemical shift of this proton does not depend remarkably on temperature. Second, vicinal to protonated nitrogen the N⁺CH₂ protons may give HB, which are in total even stronger than classical HB, as it was recently proposed theoretically.^{10b,17c} Three such groups can interact with C=O and in doing so stabilize such associates. This can explain the low field shift of these protons when the temperature decreases. In this structure high field shifts have to be observed for the protons at C4 and C10 of the bridges due to the shielding effect of the phenyl ring.

According to theory, enormous stabilization (90–95 kcal/ mol in the gas phase were calculated for the $[N^+-C-H\cdots O=C] \mod 1^{1/c}$ can be expected due to these hydrogen bonds although solvent effects have to diminish such interactions to some extent (energy drops to 20 kcal/mol in CHCl₃). In order to verify this hypothesis we carried out additional ¹H NMR experiments for the protonated form in CDCl₃ with titration by DMSO as HB disrupting solvent. Indeed, the change of the spectra was observed and it can be ascribed to the increase of the monomeric form.

Such dependence of the conformational structure and association on acid concentration models a real situation where properties change with the solution pH.²⁰ In physiological systems pH in aqueous solution may vary from 1.9 up to 10.4 and this can effectively produce changes in the structure, which are responsible for definite properties.

Unfortunately, this compound dissolves poorly in water and we could not demonstrate the above statement directly in 'physiological' solvents. However, we were able to see these effects in the mixture of solvents: alcohol/water (methanol/ water, 2/1). NMR experiments at room temperature with titration by HCl showed similar evolution of the line shape as observed in CDCl₃ under titration with CF₃COOH.[‡] The most spectacular were the changes of the H2/H12 protons signals: they start to broaden extensively upon the addition of ca. 1 equiv of HCl. Moreover, these changes are reversible: when equimolar NaOH was added the reverse evolution of the line shape was seen.

This fact demonstrates that being regulated by the solution pH, 3D and supramolecular association may be a means of recognition and modulation of that recognition.

4. Conclusion

The title macrocycles in solution exist in a folded conformation with bridge N substituents proximal to the thymine Me and H_5 . The barrier of interconversion is very high.

A small amount of acid in solution may protonate the compounds and change dramatically not only the conformation but also the supramolecular structure. Interactions (HB) of protons vicinal to protonated nitrogen with carbonyl oxygen (N⁺CH····O=C) are strong when compared to other noncovalent ones, and this result strongly supports the theoretical prediction. The role of such interactions may be important if one takes into account that protonation in physiological solutions occurs very often. The supramolecular association of designed macrocycles and closely related natural systems can be regulated by the solution pH.

5. Experimental

5.1. General

NMR experiments were recorded with a Bruker AVANCE-600 spectrometer (14.1 T) equipped with a pulsed gradient unit capable of producing magnetic field pulse gradients in the z-direction of 56 G/cm. All spectra were acquired in a 5-mm inverse probehead in 5-mm tubes. Chemical shifts (ppm) are internally referenced to the TMS signal (0 ppm) in all cases. Complete assignments of the ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of the title compounds were accomplished by 2D COSY, TOCSY, HSQC, HMBC, and NOESY experiments. In some cases 1D DPFGNOE method in rotating frame was used to measure NOEs.²¹ A Hermite-shaped pulses were used for selective irradiation.

In order to minimize convection effects, 2D DOSY experiments were performed using the bipolar pulse longitudinal eddy current delay (BPPLED) pulse sequence. The duration of the magnetic field pulse gradients (δ) was optimized for each diffusion time (t) in order to obtain 1–5% residual signal with maximum gradient strength. The pulse gradients (g) were incremented from 2 to 95% of the maximum gradient strength in a linear ramp. All diffusion coefficients reported are means of at least three measurements.

For DNMR spectroscopy, a standard unit calibrated using a methanol reference controlled the probe temperature; the samples were allowed to equilibrate for 15 min at each temperature before recording spectra.

Most of the solvents and all the reagents were commercial and used without further purification. All dry solvents were prepared according to the standard procedures and stored over molecular sieves.

Molecular mechanics (employing the MM2 force field)²² were performed with CS Chem3D Ultra 6.0 (CambridgeSoft Corp.) on a AuthenticAMD Athlon (Im)computer. Chemical shifts were determined within the DFT framework using a hybrid exchange-correlation functional, B3LYP, at the 6-31G(d) level as implemented in Gaussian 98.²³ Full geometry optimizations were done at the ab initio RHF/6-31G level. All data were referred to TMS (¹H and ¹³C) chemical shifts that were calculated at the same conditions.

The mass spectra (EI) were obtained on a Finnigan MAT-212 mass spectrometer (resolution was 1000, direct inlet of the sample into the ion source, energy of ionizing electrons was 70 eV, electron emission current was 1 mA). Melting points were measured on a Boetius hot-stage apparatus and are uncorrected. Thin-layer chromatography was performed on Silufol-254 plates; visualization was carried out with UV light. For column chromatography neutral Al_2O_3 (activity II) was used. Chemicals and reagents were purchased from Lancaster or Aldrich Chemical companies.

Thyimidinocyclophanes 1 and 2 were prepared by the reaction of 1,3-bis(5-bromopentyl)thymine (7) with benzylamine or butylamine.

5.1.1. 7-Benzyl-15-methyl-1,7,13-triazabicyclo[11.3.1]heptadeca-15-en-14,17-dione (1). At 90 °C to a stirred mixture of benzylamine (2.14 g, 20 mmol) and K₂CO₃ (2.95 g, 21 mmol) in *n*-BuOH (250 mL) compound 7 (4.1 g, 9.7 mmol) in n-BuOH solution (100 mL) was added and stirring was continued for 7 h at 100-110 °C. The solvent was distilled off and the residue was treated by CHCl₃, filtered, concentrated, and transferred to a column with Al₂O₃. Elution with ether gave thyimidinocyclophane 1 in a yield of 0.6 g (17%); mp 130–131 °C; HRMS found m/z 369.2420, C₂₂H₃₁N₃O₂ required 369.2416; MS (EI) *m/z* 369 (M+, 94), 368 (M-1, 42), 340 (M-29, 33), 278 (M-91, 95), 250 (M-119, 29), 91 (100). ¹H NMR (600.0 MHz, CDCl₃, 303 K) $\delta_{\rm H}$ (ppm) 1.16–1.44 (8H, m, (CH₂)_{4,5,9,10}), 1.48 (1H, m, H₃), 1.64 (1H, m, H₁₁), 1.8 (1H, m, H₁₁), 1.9 (1H, m, H₃), 2.04 (3H, s, C(5)_{thv}Me), 2.32 (4H, m, H_{6,8}), 3.18 (1H, m, H₂), 3.38 and 3.46 (2H, AB, J=13.0 Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.03 (1H, m, H₁₂), 4.28 (1H, m, H₁₂), 4.48 (1H, m, H₂), 6.97 (1H, s, C(6)_{thv}H), 7.16 (2H, d, J=6.7 Hz, Ar_{ortho}), 7.21 (1H, t, J=6.7 Hz, Ar_{para}), 7.26 (2H, t, J=7.4 Hz, Ar_{meta}); ¹³C NMR (150.9 MHz, CDCl₃. 303 K) $\delta_{\rm C}$ (ppm) 13.2 (C(5)_{thy}Me), 22.6 (C₉), 22.9 (C₅), 26.3 (C₁₁), 27.1 (C₁₀), 27.3 (C₄), 27.9 (C₃), 40.5 (C₁₂), 49.0 (C₂), 53.5 (C_{6.8}), 59.0 (CH₂Ph), 109.4 (C(5)_{thy}), 126.4 (Ar_{para}), 127.8 (Ar_{meta}), 128.4 (Ar_{ortho}), 138.6 (Ar_{ipso}), 152.0 (C(2)_{thy}), 163.9 (C(4)_{thy}).

5.1.2. 7-Butyl-15-methyl-1,7,13-triazabicyclo[11.3.1]heptadeca-15-en-14,17-dione (2). At 70 °C to a stirred mixture of *n*-butylamine (2.07 g, 28.4 mmol), K_2CO_3 (4.00 g,

29.0 mmol), and catalytic amount TBA · HSO₄ in *n*-BuOH (250 mL) compound 7 (3.0 g, 7.08 mmol) in n-BuOH solution (100 mL) was added and stirring was continued for 11.5 h at 70–75 °C. After evaporating the solvent, treating by CHCl₃, filtering, and concentration of CHCl₃ solution residue was eluated through column with Al₂O₃ by 2:1 ether/petroleum ether mixture. From the fractions of the eluent, thyimidinocyclophane 2 was obtained in a yield of 0.45 g (19%); mp 44-45 °C; HRMS found m/z 335.2570, C₁₉H₃₃N₃O₂ required 335.2573, *m/z* 292.2020, C₁₆H₂₆N₃O₂ required 292.2025; MS (EI) m/z 335 (M+, 13), 292 (M-43, 100), 278 (M-57, 8). ¹H NMR (600.0 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta_{\rm H}$ (ppm) 0.85 (3H, m, (CH₂)₃CH₃), 1.12 (2H, m, J=7 Hz, (CH₂)₂CH₂CH₃), 1.15–1.28 (9H, m, H_{3,4,5,9,10}), 1.34 (2H, m, J=7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₂C₂H₅), 1.42 (1H, m, H₁₁), 1.57 (1H, m, H₁₁), 1.75 (1H, m, H₃), 1.86 (3H, s, C(5)_{thv}Me), 2.11-2.25 (6H, m, H_{6.8}), 2.32 (2H, m, CH₂C₃H₇), 3.09 (1H, m, H₂), 3.92 (1H, m, H₁₂), 4.21 (1H, m, H₁₂), 4.42 (1H, m, H₂), 6.83 (1H, s, C(6)_{thy}H); ¹³C NMR (150.9 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta_{\rm C}$ (ppm) 13.2 (C(5)_{thy}Me), 14.0 ((CH₂)₃CH₃), 20.4 ((CH₂)₂CH₂CH₃), 22.4 (Č_{5,9}), 27.4 (C₁₀), 27.8 (C₃), 28.0 (C₄), 30.1 ((CH₂)₂CH₂CH₃), 40.9 (C₁₂), 49.0 (C₂), 52.8 $(C_{6.8})$, 55.0 $(CH_2C_3H_7)$, 110.0 $(C(5)_{thv})$, 138.7 $(C(6)_{thv})$, 153.1 (C(2)_{thy}), 163.5 (C(4)_{thy}).

8,14,23,26,27-Pentamethyl-1,6,8,14,16,21-hexaazatetracyclo- $[19,3,1,1^{6,10},1^{12,16}]$ heptacosa-10(27),12(26),23(24)-triene-7,9,13,15,22,25-hexaone (**3**), 1,3-bis[4-(3,6-dimethylura-cil-1-yl)butyl-1-]thymine (**4**), 1,3-dibutylthymine (**5**) were prepared by known procedures.^{7b}

5.1.3. 8.14.23.26.27-Pentamethyl-1.6.8.14.16.21-hexaazatetracyclo-[19.3.1.1^{6,10}.1^{12,16}]heptacosa-10(26),12(27), 23(24)-triene-7,9,13,15,22,25-hexaone (3). HRMS found m/z 526.2530 C₂₆H₃₄N₆O₆ required 526.2540; MS (EI) m/z 527 (M+1)⁺ (23), 526 (M)⁺ (78), 511 (M-15)⁺ (100), 373 (38), 333 (18), 292 (37), 235 (17), 206 (31), 193 (48), 181 (63), 166 (46), 153 (52), 141 (21), 127 (22), 122 (19). ¹H NMR[¶] (600.0 MHz, CDCl₃, 303 K) $\delta_{\rm H}$ (ppm) 1.49–1.57 $(4H, m, N(1)_{thy}(CH_2)_2CH_2CH_2; N(3)_{thy}(CH_2)_2CH_2CH_2),$ 1.62–1.69 (4H, m, N(1)_{thy}CH₂CH₂(CH₂)₂; N(1)_{thy}CH₂CH₂ (CH₂)₂), 1.92 (3H, s, C(6)_{ur1}CH₃), 2.06 (3H, s, C(5)_{thy}Me), 2.11 (3H, s, C(6)_{ur2}CH₃) 3.39 (3H, s, N(3)_{ur1}CH₃), 3.40 (3H, s, N(3)_{ur2}CH₃), 3.75 (2H, m, N(1)_{thv}CH₂(CH₂)), 3.87 $(2H, s, C(5)_{ur1}CH_2C(5)ur_2), 3.89-4.01$ (6H, m, N(3)_{thv}CH₂) (CH₂)₃; N(1)_{thy}(CH₂)₃*CH*₂; N(3)_{thy}(CH₂)₃*CH*₂), 6.91 (1H, s, C(6)_{thy}H); ¹³C NMR (150.9 MHz, CDCl₃, 303 K) $\delta_{\rm C}$ (ppm) 13.0 $(C(5)_{thy}Me)$, 16.5 $(C(6)_{ur1}CH_3)$, 16.7 $(C(6)_{ur2}CH_3)$, 22.1 (C(5)_{ur1}CH₂C(5)_{ur2}), 23.2 (N(1)_{thy}CH₂CH₂C₂H₄), 23.7 (N(3)_{thv}CH₂CH₂C₂H₄), 27.1 (N(1)_{thv}(CH₂)₂CH₂CH₂), 27.8 $(N(3)_{thv}(CH_2)_2CH_2CH_2)$, 28.0 $(N(3)_{ur1}CH_3)$, 28.5 $(N(3)_{ur2})$ CH_3), 40.7 (N(3)_{thv} $CH_2(CH_2)_3$), 44.6 (N(1)_{thv}(CH₂)₃ CH_2), 44.9 $(N(3)_{thv}(CH_2)_3CH_2)$, 48.9 $(N(1)_{thv}CH_2(CH_2)_3)$, 109.6 (C(5)_{thy}), 110.5 (C(5)_{ur1}), 111.0 (C(5)_{ur2}), 138.4 (C(6)_{thy}), 148.6 (C(6)_{ur1}), 149.0 (C(6)_{ur2}), 151.2 (C(2)_{thv}), 151.8 $(C(2)_{ur1})$, 151.9 $(C(2)_{ur2})$, 162.8 $(C(4)_{ur1})$, 163.0 $(C(4)_{ur2})$, 163.7 (C(4)_{thy}).

5.1.4. 1,3-Bis[4-(3,6-dimethyluracil-1-yl)butyl-1-]thymine (4). Found (%): C, 58.41; H, 6.74; N, 16.37.

thy—thymine unit, and ur2—3,6-dimethyluracil attached to N(1)thy and N(3)thy, respectively.

7031

C₂₅H₃₄N₆O₆ required (%): C, 58.35; H, 6.66; N, 16.33. ¹H NMR^{||} (600.0 MHz, CDCl₃, 303 K) $\delta_{\rm H}$ (ppm) 1.66–1.76 (8H, m, N(1)_{thy}CH₂(*CH*₂)₂CH₂; N(3)_{thy}CH₂(*CH*₂)₂CH₂), 2.26 (6H, s, C(6)_{ur}*CH*₃), 3.30 (6H, s, 2N(3)_{ur}*CH*₃), 3.33 (3H, s, C(5)_{thy}Me), 3.84 (4H, t, *J*=7 Hz, N(1)_{thy}(CH₂)₃*CH*₂; N(3)_{thy}(CH₂)₃*CH*₂), 3.92 (4H, t, *J*=7 Hz, N(1)_{thy}*CH*₂(CH₂)₃; N(3)_{thy}*CH*₂(CH₂)₃), 5.59 (2H, s, 2 C(5)_{ur}H), 7.06 (1H, s, C(6)_{thy}H); ¹³C NMR (150.9 MHz, CDCl₃, 303 K) $\delta_{\rm C}$ (ppm) 13.0 (C(5)_{thy}*Me*), 19.7 (C(6)_{ur}*CH*₃), 25.0 (N(1)_{thy}CH₂)₂*CH*₂ C₂H₄), 25.8 (N(3)_{thy}CH₂CH₂C₂H₄), 26.1 (N(1)_{thy}(CH₂)₂CH₂ CH₂), 26.3 (N(3)_{thy}(CH₂)₂CH₂CH₂), 27.8 (N(3)_{ur}CH₃), 40.7 (N(3)_{thy}CH₂(CH₂)₃), 44.3 (N(1)_{thy}(CH₂)₃CH₂), 44.9 (N(3)_{thy} (CH₂)₃CH₂), 48.7 (N(1)_{thy}CH₂(CH₂)₃), 101.6 (C(5)_{ur}), 110.0 (C(5)_{thy}), 138.5 (C(6)_{thy}), 151.0 (C(6)_{ur}), 151.3 (C(2)_{thy}), 152.2 (C(2)_{ur}), 162.3 (C(4)_{ur}), 163.7 (C(4)_{thy}).

5.1.5. 1,3-Dibutylthymine (5). Found (%): C, 65.44; H, 9.37; N, 11.85. C₁₃H₂₂N₂O₂ required (%): C, 65.51; H, 9.30; N, 11.75. ¹H NMR (600.0 MHz, CDCl₃, 303 K) $\delta_{\rm H}$ (ppm) 0.87-0.94 (6H, m, N(1)_{thy}(CH₂)₃CH₃; N(3)_{thy}(CH₂)₃ *CH*₃), 1.28–1.36 (4H, m, N(1)_{thy}(CH₂)₂*CH*₂CH₃; N(3)_{thy} $(CH_2)_2CH_2CH_3$, 1.56 (2H, m, J=7.8 Hz, N(1)_{thv}CH₂ $CH_2C_2H_5$), 1.62 (2H, m, J=7.8 Hz, N(3)_{thv}CH₂CH₂C₂H₅), 1.88 (3H, s, C(5)_{thv}Me), 3.66 (2H, t, J=7.3 Hz, N(1)_{thv}CH₂ (CH₂)₂CH₃), 3.9 (2H, t, *J*=7.3 Hz, N(3)_{thv}CH₂(CH₂)₂CH₃), 6.92 (1H, s, C(6)_{thy}H); ¹³C NMR (150.9 MHz, CDCl₃, 303 K) $\delta_{\rm C}$ (ppm) 13.0 (C(5)_{thy}Me), 13.7 (N(1)_{thy}(CH₂)₃ CH₃), 13.8 (N(3)_{thy}(CH₂)₃CH₃), 19.8 (N(1)_{thy}(CH₂)₂CH₂ CH₃), 20.3 (N(3)_{thv}(CH₂)₂CH₂CH₃), 29.7 (N(3)_{thv}CH₂CH₂ C_2H_5), 31.2 (N(1)_{thv}CH₂CH₂C₂H₅), 41.3 (N(3)_{thv}(CH₂)₃) CH_3), 49.2 (N(1)_{thv}(CH₂)₃ CH_3), 109.6 (C(5)_{thv}), 138.3 $(C(6)_{thv})$, 151.4 $(C(2)_{thv})$, 163.8 $(C(4)_{thv})$.

5.1.6. 1,3-Bis(5-bromopentyl)thymine (7). A solution of 1,5-dibromopentane (155.9 g, 677.8 mmol) in DMF (90 mL) was added dropwise with stirring to a suspension of 14.4 g (84.7 mmol) of disodium salt of thymine in DMF (150 mL). The mixture was stirred for 5 h at 50-60 °C, after which it was evaporated in a vacuum and the residue was treated with 150 mL of CHCl₃. The precipitate that formed was filtered off. The solution was concentrated and submitted to chromatography over Al₂O₃. The column was successively washed with petroleum ether and a 2:1 ether/ petroleum ether mixture. From ether/petroleum ether mixture fractions compound $\mathbf{6}$ was obtained as oil in a yield of 15.9 g (45%): MS (EI) m/z 426 (M+, 9), 424 (M+, 22), 422 (M+, 10), 346 (28), 345 (88), 344 (28), 343 (88), 275 (75), 195 (86), 140 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₁₅H₂₄Br₂N₂O₂: C, 42.47; H, 5.70; N, 6.60; Br, 37.67. Found: C, 42.48; H, 5.81; N, 6.53; Br, 37.75. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta_{\rm H}$ 7.01 (s, 1H), 3.95 (2H, t, J=7 Hz), 3.73 (2H, t, J=7 Hz), 3.42 (4H, m), 1.93 (3H, s), 1.89 (4H, m), 1.76-1.58 (4H, m), 1.50 (4H, m).

Acknowledgements

This study was financially supported in part by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research (Project 05-03-32497-a, No. 05-03-32558-a).

Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.064

References and notes

- (a) Saenger, W. Principles of Nucleic Acid Structures; Springer: New York, NY, 1984;
 (b) Chen, Sh.; Zhang, Q.; Wu, Xu; Schultz, P. G.; Ding, Sh. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 410– 411;
 (c) Chifotides, H. T.; Koshlap, K. M.; Perez, L. M.; Dunbar, K. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 10703–10713.
- (a) Corbin, P. S.; Zimmerman, S. C.; Thiessen, P. A.; Hawryluk, N. A.; Murray, T. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 10475– 10488; (b) Giedroc, D. P.; Cornish, P. V.; Hennig, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 4676–4677; (c) Chifotides, H. T.; Koshlap, K. M.; Perez, L. M.; Dunbar, K. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 10714–10724; (d) Sontjens, Serge H. M.; van Genderen, Marcel H. P.; Sijbesma, Rint P. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9070–9075; (e) Janke, E. M. Basilio; Limbach, H.-H.; Weisz, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 2135–2141; (f) Lai, J. S.; Kool, E. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 3040–3041; (g) Poner, J.; Jureka, P.; Hobza, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 10142–10151; (h) Grunenberg, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 16310–16311; (i) Swart, M.; Guerra, C. F.; Bickelhaupt, F. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 16718–16719; (j) Hobza, P.; Sponer, J.; Czeck. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 3247–3276.
- 3. (a) Tsuzuki, S.; Honda, K.; Uchimaru, T.; Mikami, M.; Tanabe, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 104-112; (b) Ribas, J.; Cubero, E.; Luque, F. J.; Orozco, M. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 7057-7065: (c) Lin. C.-H.: Tour. J. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67. 7761-7768; (d) Huang, N.; MacKerell, A. D., Jr., J. Phys. Chem. A 2002, 106, 7820-7827; (e) Rozas, I.; Alkorta, I.; Elguero, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 11154-11161; (f) Tatko, Ch. D.; Waters, M. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 2028-2034; (g) Yohannan, S.; Faham, S.; Yang, D.; Grosfeld, D.; Chamberlain, A. K.; Bowie, J. U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 2284-2285; (h) Alonso, J. L.; Antolinez, S.; Blanco, S.; Lesarri, A.; Lopez, J. C.; Caminati, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 3244-3249; (i) Arbely, E.; Arkin, I. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 5362-5363; (j) Sinnokrot, M. O.; Sherrill, C. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 7690-7697; (k) Gschwind, R. M.; Armbruster, M.; Zubrzycki, I. Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 10228-10229; (1) Reiter, S. A.; Nogai, S. D.; Karaghiosoff, K.; Schmidbaur, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 15833-15843.
- 4. (a) Bickelhaupt, F. M. Chem.—Eur. J. 1999, 5, 3581–3594; Angew. Chem. 1999, 111, 3120–3122; J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 4117–4128; (b) Rozas, I.; Alkorta, I.; Elguero, J. J. Phys. Chem. A 2001, 105, 10462–10467; (c) Chen, D.; Meena; Sharma, S. K.; McLaughlin, L. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 70–71; (d) Wesolowski, T. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 11444–11445; (e) Sessler, J. L.; Jayawickramarajah, J.; Sherman, C. L.; Brodbelt, J. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 11460–11461.
- (a) Kool, E. T. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 5869–5875; (b) Blas, J. R.; Luque, F. J.; Orozco, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 154–164; (c) Liu, H.; Gao, J.; Maynard, L.; Saito, Y. D.; Kool, E. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 1102–1109; (d) Liu, H.; Lynch, S. R.; Kool, E. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 6900–6905; (e) Polak, M.; Seley, K. L.; Plavec, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 8159–8166; (f) Moody, E. M.;

^{||} thy—thymine unit, ur—two 3,6-dimethyluracil units.

Bevilacqua, P. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 9570–9577; (g) Scott, L. G.; Geierstanger, B. H.; Williamson, J. R.; Hennig, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 11776–11777; (h) Pattanayek, R.; Sethaphong, L.; Pan, C.; Prhavc, M.; Prakash, Th. P.; Manoharan, M.; Egli, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 15006–15007; (i) Purwanto, M. G. M.; Weisz, K. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 195–197.

- (a) Itahara, T. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1996, 2695–2700; Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2002, 75, 285–290; (b) Itahara, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1996, 69, 3239–3246; (c) Paquette, L. A.; Fabris, F.; Gallou, F.; Dong, S. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 8625–8634.
- (a) Seyama, F.; Akahori, K.; Sakata, Y.; Aida, M.; Nagata, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1988**, 110, 2192–2201; (b) Semenov, V. E.; Akamsin, V. D.; Reznik, V. S.; Chernova, A. V.; Dorozhkina, G. M.; Efremov, Yu. Ya.; Nafikova, A. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, 43, 9683; (c) Biot, Ch.; Wintjens, R.; Rooman, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2004**, 126, 6220–6221.
- 8. (a) Peptide Pharmaceuticals: Approaches to the Design of Novel Drugs; Ward, David J., Ed.; Open University Press: Buckingham, 1991; (b) Computer-aided Drug Design: Methods and Applications; Perun, Thomas J., Propst, C. L., Eds.; Marcel Dekker: New York, NY, 1989; (c) Kessler, H.; Bats, J. W.; Griesinger, Ch.; Koll, S.; Will, M.; Wagner, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 1033-1049; (d) Sun, H.; Oldfield, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 4726-4734; (e) Ernst, M.; Meier, M. A.: Tuherm, T.: Samoson, A.: Meier, B. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 4764-4765; (f) Lichtenecker, R.; Ludwiczek, M. L.; Schmid, W.; Konrat, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 5348-5349; (g) Peti, W.; Norcross, J.; Eldridge, G.; O'Neil-Johnson, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 5873-5878; (h) Ding, K.; Gronenborn, A. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 6232-6233; (i) Miclet, E.; Williams, D. C., Jr.; Clore, G. M.; Bryce, D. L.; Boisbouvier, J.; Bax, Ad. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 10560-10570.
- Mikhailov, A. S.; Giniyatullin, R. Kh.; Semenov, V. E.; Reznik, V. S.; Nafikova, A. A.; Latypov, Sh. K.; Efremov, Y. Y.; Sharafutdinova, D. R. *Russ. Chem. Bull.* 2003, 52, 1399–1402.
- (a) Avram, L.; Cohen, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 2639–2644;
 (b) Tsou, L. K.; Tatko, Ch. D.; Waters, M. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 14917–14921;
 (c) Picazo, O.; Alkorta, I.; Elguero, J. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 7485–7489;
 (d) Holschbach, M. H.; Sanz, D.; Claramunt, R. M.; Infantes, L.; Motherwell, S.; Raithby, P. R.; Jimeno, M.-L.; Herrero, D.; Alkorta, I.; Jagerovic, N.; Elguero, J. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 8831–8837;
 (e) Demeter, A.; Weber, C.; Brlik, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 2535–2540;
 (f) Gorb, L.; Podolyan, Y.; Dziekonski, P.; Sokalski, W. A.; Leszczynski, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 10119–10129;
 (g) Blancafort, L.; Bertran, J.; Sodupe, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 12770–12771;
 (h) Wieczorek, R.; Dannenberg, J. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 12278–12279.
- (a) Zhao, D.; Moore, J. S. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 3548– 3554; (b) Li, X.; Sevilla, M. D.; Sanche, Leon J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 8916–8920; (c) Alkorta, I.; Elguero, J. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 1515–1519; (d) Varnai, P.; Canalia, M.; Leroy, J.-L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 14659–14667.
- Cram, D. J.; Steinberg, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1951, 73, 5691– 5704.
- 13. (a) Derome, A. E. *Modern NMR Techniques for Chemistry Research*; Pergamon: Oxford, 1988; (b) Breitmaier, E.;

Voelter, W. Carbon-13 NMR Spectroscopy: High Resolution Methods and Applications in Organic Chemistry and Biochemistry; VCH: Weinheim, 1987; (c) Gunther, H. NMR Spectroscopy: An Introduction; Wiley: New York, NY, 1987; (d) Clore, G. M.; Kuszewski, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 1518–1525.

- (a) Katz, L.; Pelman, S. J. Mol. Biol. 1966, 15, 220–231; (b) Newmark, R. A.; Cantor, C. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 5010–5017; (c) Lancelot, G.; Helen, C. Nucleic Acids Res. 1979, 6, 1063–1072.
- 15. [©] 1985–2000, CambridgeSoft.com.
- 16. (a) Cheeseman, J. R.; Trucks, G. W.; Keith, T. A.; Frisch, J. J. Chem. Phys. 1996, 104, 5497-5509; (b) Forsyth, D. A.; Sebag, A. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 9483-9494; (c) Barfield, M.; Fagerness, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 8699-8711; (d) Kolehmainen, E.; Koivisto, J.; Nikiforov, V.; Perakyla, M.; Tuppurainen, K.; Laihia, K.; Kauppinen, R.; Miltsov, S.; Karavan, V. Magn. Reson. Chem. 1999, 37, 743-747; (e) Rossi, P.; Harbison, G. S. J. Magn. Reson. 2001, 151, 1-9; (f) Gomila, R. M.; Quinonero, D.; Rotger, C.; Garau, C.; Frontera, A.; Ballester, P.; Costa, A.; Deya, P. M. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 399-401; (g) Alkorta, I.; Elguero, J. New J. Chem. 1998, 381-385; (h) Alkorta, I.; Elguero, J.; Fruchier, A.; Jagerovic, N.; Yap, G. P. A. J. Mol. Struct. 2004, 689, 251–254; (i) Alkorta, I.; Elguero, J. Magn. Reson. Chem. 2004, 42, 955-961; (j) Balandina, A. A.; Kalinin, A. A.; Mamedov, V. A.; Figadere, B.; Latypov, Sh. K. Magn. Reson. Chem. 2005, 43, 816-828.
- 17. (a) Vargas, R.; Garza, J.; Dixon, D. A.; Hay, B. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 4750–4755; (b) Jeffrey, G. A.; Saenger, W. Hydrogen Bonding in Biological Structures; Springer: Berlin, Germany, 1991; (c) Cannizzaro, C. E.; Houk, K. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 7163–7169; (d) Scheiner, S.; Kar, T.; Pattanayak, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 13257–13264; (e) Latypov, Sh. K.; Fakhfakh, M. A.; Jullian, J.-Ch.; Franck, X.; Hocquemiller, R.; Figadère, B. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2005, 78, 1296–1301.
- (a) Chan, S. I.; Schweitzer, M. P.; Ts'O, P. O. P.; Helkamp, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1964**, 86, 4182; (b) Chan, S. I.; Schweitzer, M. P.; Ts'O, P. O. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1965**, 87, 5241–5247; (c) Iwahashi, H.; Kyogoku, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1977**, 99, 7761–7765; (d) Ts'O, P. O. P. Basic Principles in Nucleic Acid Chemistry; Academic: New York, NY, 1974; (e) Turner, D. H.; Sugimoto, N.; Kierzek, R.; Dreiker, S. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1987**, 109, 3783–3785.
- (a) Antalek, B. Concepts Magn. Reson. 2002, 14, 225–258; (b) Callaghan, P. T. Principles of Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Microscopy; Clarendon: Oxford, 1991; (c) Stilbs, P. Prog. Nucl. Magn. Reson. Spectrosc. 1987, 19, 1–45; (d) Price, W. S. Concepts Magn. Reson. 1997, 9, 299–336; (e) Cabrita, E. G.; Berger, S. Magn. Reson. Chem. 2001, 39, 142–148; (f) Cabrita, E. G.; Berger, S.; Brauer, P.; Karger, G. J. Magn. Reson. 2002, 157, 124–131.
- (a) Kayser, V.; Turton, D. A.; Aggeli, A.; Beevers, A.; Reid, G. D.; Beddard, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 336– 343; (b) Miranda, C.; Escarti, F.; Lamarque, L.; Yunta, M. J. R.; Navarro, P.; Garcia-Espana, E.; Jimeno, M. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 823–833; (c) Kwon, Ji Y.; Singh, N. J.; Kim, Ha Na; Kim, S. K.; Kim, K. S.; Yoon, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 8892–8893; (d) Lu, J. R.; Perumal, Sh.; Hopkinson, I.; Webster, J. R. P.; Penfold, J.; Hwang, W.; Zhang, Sh. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 8940– 8947.

- 21. Stott, K.; Stonehouse, J.; Keeler, J.; Hwang, T. L.; Shaka, A. J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1995**, *117*, 4199–4200.
- (a) Allinger, N. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 8127–8134; (b) Allinger, N. L.; Kok, R. A.; Imam, M. R. J. Comput. Chem. 1988, 9, 591–595; (c) Lii, J.-H.; Gallion, S.; Bender, C.; Wikstrom, H.; Allinger, N. L.; Flurchick, K. M.; Teeter, M. M. J. Comput. Chem. 1989, 10, 503–513.
- Frisch, M. J.; Trucks, G. W.; Schlegel, H. B.; Scuseria, G. E.; Robb, M. A.; Cheeseman, J. R.; Zakrzewski, V. G.; Montgomery, J. A., Jr.; Stratmann, R. E.; Burant, J. C.; Dapprich, S.; Millam, J. M.; Daniels, A. D.; Kudin, K. N.; Strain, M. C.; Farkas, O.; Tomasi, J.; Barone, V.; Cossi,

M.; Cammi, R.; Mennucci, B.; Pomelli, C.; Adamo, C.; Clifford, S.; Ochterski, J.; Petersson, G. A.; Ayala, P. Y.; Cui, Q.; Morokuma, K.; Malick, D. K.; Rabuck, A. D.; Raghavachari, K.; Foresman, J. B.; Cioslowski, J.; Ortiz, J. V.; Baboul, A. G.; Stefanov, B. B.; Liu, G.; Liashenko, A.; Piskorz, P.; Komaromi, I.; Gomperts, R.; Martin, R. L.; Fox, D. J.; Keith, T.; Al-Laham, M. A.; Peng, C. Y.; Nanayakkara, A.; Gonzalez, C.; Challacombe, M.; Gill, P. M. W.; Johnson, B. G.; Chen, W.; Wong, M. W.; Andres, J. L.; Head-Gordon, M.; Replogle, E. S.; Pople, J. A. *Gaussian 98, Revision A.6*; Gaussian: Pittsburgh, PA, 1998.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 7034-7042

Tetrahedron

Formation of benzylamines from triazene compounds via a 1,2-proton shift

Keiji Nishiwaki,^{a,*} Takashi Ogawa,^a Kazumi Shigeta,^a Koichi Takahashi^b and Keizo Matsuo^{a,*}

^aDepartment of Pharmaceutical Sciences, School of Pharmacy, Kinki University, 3-4-1 Kowakae Higashiosaka, Osaka 577-8502, Japan ^bDepartment of Informatics, School of Science and Engineering, Kinki University, 3-4-1 Kowakae Higashiosaka, Osaka 577-8502, Japan

> Received 5 April 2006; revised 18 April 2006; accepted 19 April 2006 Available online 22 May 2006

Abstract—A new approach to benzylamines using triazene compounds has been developed that is facilitated by the lithiation of aryltriazenes followed by treatment with an electrophile. The regioselectivity of the reaction can be controlled by means of the substituents in the aryl group. The reaction contains the following steps: intramolecular carbon–carbon bond formation involving lithiation of an alkyl group on a 3-nitrogen atom; a 1,2-proton shift; and the subsequent release of nitrogen gas. Through the use of a deuterated triazene, we were able to determine that the reaction proceeds through a 1,2-proton shift.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Benzylamines are very important intermediates of fine chemical derivatives such as biologically active compounds and material chemicals. The methods of forming benzylamines are well-known, for example, the condensation of benzyl halide with amine derivatives and the reduction of the benzonitriles etc. In the case of phenols and arylamines as substrates, functionalized benzylamines were created using the bimolecular aromatic Mannich reaction with iminium salt.¹ 1-Aryl-3,3-dialkyltriazenes are also used in many ways in organic syntheses, including the following:² as protective groups for aniline derivatives;³ as substrates of benzyne generation;⁴ in diazo coupling;⁵ in the Sandmeyer–Gattermann reaction;⁶ and in the hydroxylation of positive ion exchange resins.⁷ Nicolaou et al. showed that aryltriazenes are used in the construction of aryl ethers and applied these results for the synthesis of vancomycin.⁸ In combinatorial chemistry, triazenes are used as linkers in solid-phase synthesis⁹ and as alkylating polymers in solu-tion-phase synthesis.¹⁰ Recently, Haley's group has reported the cyclization of 2-alkynylphenyl triazenes.¹

We have previously reported the preliminary results of a unique transformation of 3,3-dialkyl-1-aryltriazenes into benzylamines.¹² We now report the results of our further investigations into the transformation of triazenes to benzylamines. In fact, that reaction proceeded via a 1,2-proton shift. Since a 1,2-proton shift on an aromatic ring has never been reported, we demonstrated the phenomenon using NMR, mass spectrometry, and computational chemistry.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Formation of benzylamines

The alkyltriazenes were prepared from arylamines in good yields according to the standard conditions (NaNO₂–HCl, then the addition of respective amines).¹³ And trimethylsilyl-phenyltriazenes were synthesized by way of the halogenmetal exchange reaction from the corresponding bromophe-nyltriazenes according to Welch's procedure.^{3a} The general procedure for the transformation of triazenes into benzyl-amines is as follows: the alkyltriazenes were treated with *n*-BuLi (1 equiv) in THF at 0 °C for 1 h, followed by the addition of electrophiles to produce the corresponding benzylamine derivatives (Eq. 1).



The aminoalkyl group of the benzylamines connected to *ortho* position of the original triazenyl group was derived

Keywords: C–C bond forming; Dearomatization; Nucleophilic addition; 1,2-Proton shift; Triazene.

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel.: +81 6721 2332; fax: +81 6730 1394; e-mail addresses: k-nishi@phar.kindai.ac.jp; k-matsuo@phar.kindai.ac.jp

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.063

Table 1. Results of transformation reaction of triazenes into benzylamines

Entry	Substrates		Products			Yield	
	Х	R	Electrophile		X' ^a	Е	(%)
1	Н	Н	H ₂ O	1	Н	Н	57
2	Н	Н	n-BuBr	2	Н	<i>n</i> -Bu	78
3	Н	Н	(Boc) ₂ O	3	Н	Boc	81
4	Н	Me	(Boc) ₂ O	4	Н	Boc	47
5	Н	$-(CH_2)_2-$	(Boc) ₂ O	5	Н	Boc	69
6	o-Me	Н	H_2O	6	<i>m</i> -Me	Н	74
7	<i>m</i> -Me	Н	H_2O	7	<i>o</i> , <i>p</i> -Me (2:1)	Н	71
8	<i>m</i> -Me	Н	$(Boc)_2O$	8	<i>o</i> , <i>p</i> -Me (2:1)	Boc	90
9	p-Me	Н	H_2O	6	<i>m</i> -Me	Н	95
10	p-Me	Н	$(Boc)_2O$	9	<i>m</i> -Me	Boc	95
11	m-MeO	Н	(Boc) ₂ O	10	o-MeO	Boc	70
12	p-MeO	Н	(Boc) ₂ O	11	m-MeO	Boc	65
13	o-F	Н	(Boc) ₂ O	12	<i>m</i> -F	Boc	Trace
14	<i>m</i> -F	Н	(Boc) ₂ O	13	o-F	Boc	41
15	p-F	Н	(Boc) ₂ O	12	<i>m</i> -F	Boc	89
16	o-Cl	Н	(Boc) ₂ O	14	m-Cl	Boc	29
17	m-Cl	Н	(Boc) ₂ O	15	o,p-Cl (1:1)	Boc	45
18	p-Cl	Н	(Boc) ₂ O	14	m-Cl	Boc	54
19	o-TMS	Н	$(Boc)_2O$	16	m-TMS	Boc	68
20	<i>m</i> -TMS	Н	$(Boc)_2O$	17	p-TMS	Boc	81
21	p-TMS	Н	(Boc) ₂ O	16	m-TMS	Boc	70

^a The ratio of diastereomers was determined by ¹H NMR.

from the alkyl group on 3-nitrogen of the triazenyl group. The results of transformation of the triazenes to benzylamines are summarized in Table 1. The 3,3-dimethyl-1-phenyltriazene was transformed to benzylmethylamine (1) at a 57% yield, by treating first with *n*-BuLi and then with H₂O. The addition of (Boc)₂O instead of H₂O as an electrophile greatly increased the isolated yield of **3** (81%) (entries 1 and 3). When *o*- and *p*-methylphenyltriazenes were treated as above, *m*-methylbenzylamines (**6** and **9**) were formed in both cases, but the yield of the product was superior in the latter case (entries 6, 9, and 10).

Other o- and p-substituted triazenes also gave m-substituted benzylamine derivatives (11, 12, 14, and 16) (entries 12, 13, 15, 16, 18, 19, and 21). In entry 13, the desired product was obtained in trace amount and the most of substrate was remained. In the case of the *m*-methyl- and *m*-chlorophenyltriazenes, the mixtures of o- and p-substituted benzylamine derivatives (7, 8, and 15) were obtained (entries 7, 8, and 17). In contrast, *m*-methoxy- and *m*-fluorophenyltriazenes created the o-substituted benzylamines (10 and 13) exclusively in moderate to good yields, and *m*-trimethylsilylphenyltriazene gave *p*-trimethylsilylbenzylamine (17) as the sole product (entries 11, 14, and 20). When o-, m-, and *p*-bromophenyltriazenes were treated with *n*-BuLi (1 equiv) as above, non-substituted triazene was obtained at yields of 60, 32, and 41%, respectively. Similarly, trimethylsilylphenyltriazenes were obtained from bromophenyltriazenes, when chlorotrimethylsilane was used as an electrophile. It seemed that these reactions proceeded via transmetallation and then protonation, or trimethylsilylation.

In order to explain the interesting results above, we tried to confirm the place of the first triazene deprotonations. When 3,3-dimethyl-1-phenyltriazene was treated with LDA (1 equiv) at 0 °C in the presence of chlorotrimethylsilane (1 equiv), 3-monosilylated- and 3,3-disilylated triazenes (18 and 19) were obtained at yields of 16 and 10%, respectively (Scheme 1). We did not observe any silylated products of the phenyl group, which are generated by the neighboring effects of nitrogen atoms. In the absence of chlorotrimethyl-silane, the same procedure created benzylmethylamine at a yield of 48%. These results indicate that deprotonation of the triazene with LDA occurred at the alkyl group on the 3-nitrogen atom¹⁴ and that the successive nucleophilic attack of the carbanion to complete the reaction proceeded on the aromatic ring.

We should also note that both Katritzky's group¹⁵ and Johnson's group¹⁶ reported that 1-alkylated benzotriazoles introduced some electrophiles on the 1-alkyl group via deprotonation with the base (Scheme 2). These reports support our results.



Scheme 2. Deprotonation position of 1-alkylated benzotriazoles.

As mentioned above, *m*-methoxy- and *m*-fluorophenyltriazenes exclusively created the *o*-substituted benzylamines (10 and 13). These results can be accounted for by the chelation control as shown in Scheme 3.



Scheme 3. Chelation control by substituents on the aromatic ring.

Conversely, the observation that *m*-trimethylsilylphenyltriazene provided *p*-trimethylsilylbenzylamine (**17**) was attributed to the steric bulk of trimethylsilyl group (Scheme 4). The regioselectivities of the carbon–carbon bond formation were attributed to the electronic and steric features of the substituents on the aromatic rings.





Scheme 4. Steric control by substituents on the aromatic ring.

When the substituents on the benzene ring were the strongly electron-withdrawing group like nitro group and trifluoromethyl groups, the reactions did not produce good results. In the case of the nitro and trifluoromethyl groups, the triazene reactions created complex mixtures containing unidentified polymerized products. On the other hand, the fluoro- and chlorophenyltriazenes were transformed to the corresponding benzylamines in good to moderate yields.

Also, silyl substituted benzenes are very important intermediates in organic synthesis, because the benzene nuclei are easily transformed to various electron-withdrawing groups by aromatic electrophilic *ipso*-desilylation.¹⁷ Consequently, in order to get benzylamines, which are substituted with electron-withdrawing groups, the silyl substituted products (**16** and **17**) may become valuable compounds.

2.2. Proton source

To reveal the proton source of the products, 1-(2,6-dideuteriophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene (20) was treated with base (Scheme 5). The ¹H NMR spectra of the products (21+22)indicated that the integrated value of peaks of the phenyl protons is 3.6, while that of the methyl group protons is 3 (Fig. 1). This result indicated that the products involved one or two deuterium atoms and one deuterium atom was abstracted. The MS spectra of the benzylmethylamine and the reaction products gave an (M^+-1) peak as the standard peak and the parent peaks did not appear clearly. Therefore, the amines were treated with acetic anhydride to provide the amides. The MS spectra of the acetylated compounds (23+24) and N-benzyl-N-methylacetamide are shown in Figure 2. In the former case, the parent peaks appeared at m/z=164 and 165, indicating that one or two deuterium atoms remained in the products. This suggests that the proton, located on the *ipso* position of the triazenyl group in the product, shifted from the o-position of the triazenyl group and/or was abstracted by the THF of the solvent.



Scheme 5. Reaction of dideuterated triazene.



Figure 1. ¹H NMR spectrum of the products obtained from 20.

2.3. Computational studies

The 1,2-proton shift on aromatic ring was proposed and verified by a computational study, because it had not yet been reported. Semiempirical PM3 optimization, as demonstrated in the WinMOPAC 2.0 program (Fujitsu Limited), was used during the preliminary studies.¹⁸ We confirmed the reasonable reaction coordinates by searching through the transition states and conducting vibrational frequency analysis (Fig. 3). The first anion of the molecule was located on the methyl group of near side to N1-N2 double bond. In the case where the anion stayed on another methyl group, the transition state 1 (TS1) had no negative frequencies. When the new carbon-carbon bond formed (I), the configuration of methyl group and the proton of new ring junction was *svn*. When the two methyl groups were anti configured, we could not achieve the required optimized structure for the TS1. The second transition state (TS2) contained reasonable coordinates among the intermediate (I) to the product (P) that possessed only one negative vibrational frequency: -2303.5 cm^{-1} .

We performed precise ab initio calculations for the PM3 results using HyperChem software.¹⁹ We obtained the energies (including electron correlation effects) from single point calculations using second order perturbation theory according to Møller and Plesset 2 (MP2/6-31G*).²⁰ The nature of each stationary point was verified by vibrational frequency analysis. As this reaction was conducted in the hexane solution, we did not consider the solvent effect. In Figure 4, the vertical line represents relative energy, and the abscissa axis is the transition of the reaction. Unexpectedly, the



Figure 2. MS spectra of N-benzyl-N-methylacetamide (upper) and the mixture of 23 and 24 (lower).



Figure 3. Potential energy correlation diagram and vibrational frequency analysis of reaction. Energy values are given in kcal/mol relative to isolated reactants.



Figure 4. Potential energy surface calculated for the reaction of triazene and base via a mechanism involving 1,2-proton shift. Energy values are given in kcal/mol relative to isolated reactants.



Scheme 6. The proposed reaction mechanism.

intermediate (\mathbf{I}') was 3.23 kcal/mol higher than the starting anion, which suggests that the dearomatized compound was comparatively stable. Although the second transition state ($\mathbf{TS2'}$) needs extremely high energy (61.15 kcal/mol) to activate \mathbf{I}' , it had one negative vibration and the 1,2-shift of the proton reflected this experimental result. The release of nitrogen was the driving force of this reaction.

2.4. Reaction mechanism

Considering the above results, we proposed the reaction mechanism shown in Scheme 6. Deprotonation occurred on the α -carbon of the 3-nitrogen. This anion took place in a nucleophilic attack at the *o*-position to the triazenyl group on the aryl group, similar to the Sommelet–Hauser rearrangement²¹ and formed a dearomatized intermediate like the Meisenheimer complex. For further reactions, two possible routes were considered. In path A, a 1,2-proton shift occurred. In path B, the solvent was involved in the reaction. The proton that originated from the solvent was incorporated into the anion. This was followed by the abstraction of the proton with the anion derived from the solvent. The carbanion formed a double bond to reconstruct the benzene nuclei, which released nitrogen gas continuously.

3. Conclusion

We discovered a benzylamine forming reaction from 1-aryl-3,3-dialkyltriazene. It contained an intramolecular carboncarbon bond forming reaction. This reaction was proceeded by an unusual 1,2-proton shift, which was revealed using the deuterated triazene. In the case where the aryl group possessed a strong electron-withdrawing group as nitro or trifluoromethyl, this reaction was not permitted. These reactions provide an alternative method for the preparation of benzylamine derivatives and the new cleavage of triazenyl linkers in the solid-phase synthesis.

4. Experimental

4.1. General methods

NMR spectra were recorded on JEOL GSX-270 (1 H 270 MHz, 13 C 67.5 MHz) or JEOL GX-500 (1 H 500 MHz,

¹³C 125 MHz) spectrometers in CDCl₃ or CD₃OD with TMS as an internal standard. Mass spectra (EI) were recorded on a JMS-HX100 spectrometer. Infrared spectra were recorded on a Shimadzu IR-435 spectrophotometer. Unless otherwise noted, all materials were obtained from commercial suppliers and used without further purification. Tetrahydrofuran (THF) was freshly distilled under nitrogen from sodium benzophenone ketyl prior to use.

4.2. Preparation of triazenes

Most 1-aryl-3,3-dialkyltriazene was synthesized according to the method described in the literature.¹³ And the trimethylsilylphenyltriazenes were synthesized by way of the halogen–metal exchange reaction from the corresponding bromophenyltriazene according to Welch's procedure.^{3a}

4.2.1. Registry numbers of triazenes.

3,3-Dimethyl-1-phenyltriazene	7227-91-0
3,3-Diethyl-1-phenyltriazene	13056-98-9
1-(Phenylazo)pyrrolidine	36719-71-8
3,3-Dimethyl-1-(2-methylphenyl)triazene	20240-98-6
3,3-Dimethyl-1-(3-methylphenyl)triazene	20241-03-6
3,3-Dimethyl-1-(4-methylphenyl)triazene	7203-89-6
3,3-Dimethyl-1-(3-methoxyphenyl)triazene	20241-03-6
3,3-Dimethyl-1-(4-methoxyphenyl)triazene	7203-92-1
1-(2-Fluorophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene	52010-51-2
1-(3-Fluorophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene	52010-52-3
1-(4-Fluorophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene	23456-94-2
1-(2-Chlorophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene	20241-00-3
1-(3-Chlorophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene	20241-05-8
1-(4-Chlorophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene	7203-90-9
1-(2-Bromophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene	52010-61-4
1-(4-Bromophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene	7239-21-6
1-(3-Bromophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene	29878-94-2

4.2.2. 3,3-Dimethyl-1-(2-trimethylsilylphenyl)triazene. To a solution of 1-(2-bromophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene (3.68 g, 16.1 mmol) in dry THF (16 mL) was added dropwise a solution of *n*-BuLi (10.0 mL, 1.72 mmol, 1.72 M in hexane) at -84 °C. After stirring for 5 min, chlorotrimethylsilane (2.08 mL, 16.4 mmol) was added dropwise, and the mixture was stirred for 30 min at room temperature. The reaction was quenched with water. Extractive work-up and subsequent flash silica gel chromatography (hexane)

afforded the title compound as an oil (1.78 g, 8.03 mmol, 50%); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.48 (dd, *J*=7.0, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.43 (dd, *J*=8.0, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (ddd, *J*=8.0, 7.0, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.12 (dd, *J*=7.0, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 3.35 (br s, 6H), 0.31 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 155.59, 134.38, 129.90, 124.82, 115.46, 41.26, 39.39, -0.22; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2900 (s), 1580 (m), 1460 (s), 1400 (m), 1320 (s), 1250 (s), 1060 (s), 830 (s), 750 (s); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 221 (M⁺, 27), 206 (21), 178 (5), 163 (16), 149 (100), 135 (9), 121 (78), 105 (5.0), 91 (5.1), 73 (7.0), 59 (3.0), 43 (8.1); HRMS:

221.1354 (Calcd for C₁₁H₁₉N₃Si, 221.1349).

4.2.3. 3,3-Dimethyl-1-(3-trimethylsilylphenyl)triazene. To a solution of 1-(3-bromophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene (3.75 g, 16.4 mmol) in dry THF (16 mL) was added dropwise a solution of n-BuLi (10.0 mL, 1.72 mmol, 1.72 M in hexane) at -84 °C. After stirring for 5 min, chlorotrimethylsilane (2.10 mL, 16.6 mmol) was added dropwise, and the mixture was stirred for 30 min at room temperature. The reaction was quenched with water. Extractive work-up and subsequent flash silica gel chromatography (hexane/ EtOAc=19/1 as eluents) afforded the title compound as an oil (3.04 g, 13.7 mmol, 84%); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ: 7.55 (m, 1H), 7.40 (m, 1H), 7.34 (dd, J=7.0, 0.8 Hz, 1H), 7.30 (dt, J=3.0, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 3.34 (s, 6H), 0.28 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ: 150.13, 141.09, 130.42, 128.27, 126.00, 120.33, 39.09, -1.08; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2900 (m), 1570 (w), 1440 (s), 1380 (s), 1300 (s), 1240 (s), 1070 (s), 820 (s), 740 (s); Low-MS (EI) (m/z, %): 221 (M⁺, 26), 206 (10), 177 (5), 149 (100), 135 (5), 121 (28), 105 (3.0), 88 (5.0), 73 (45), 67 (3.0), 45 (4.0); HRMS: 221.1367 (Calcd for C₁₁H₁₉N₃Si, 221.1349).

4.2.4. 3.3-Dimethyl-1-(4-trimethylsilylphenyl)triazene. To a solution of 1-(4-bromophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene (3.66 g, 16.0 mmol) in dry THF (16 mL) was added dropwise a solution of n-BuLi (10.0 mL, 1.72 mmol, 1.72 M in hexane) at -84 °C. After stirring for 5 min, chlorotrimethylsilane (2.10 mL, 16.6 mmol) was added dropwise, and the mixture was stirred for 30 min at room temperature. The reaction was quenched with water. Extractive work-up and subsequent flash silica gel chromatography (hexane/ CHCl₃=4/1 as eluents) afforded the title compound as an oil (2.68 g, 12.1 mmol, 76%); ¹Η NMR (CDCl₃) δ: 7.48 (dd, J=8.0, 3.0 Hz, 2H), 7.39 (dd, J=8.0, 3.0 Hz, 2H), 3.34 (br s, 6H), 0.26 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ: 151.39, 136.93, 133.95, 119.86, 41.29, 37.36, -1.00; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2950 (s), 1590 (s), 1450 (s), 1410 (s), 1380 (s), 1320 (s), 1250 (s), 1070 (s), 820 (s), 750 (s); Low-MS (EI) (m/z, %): 221 (M⁺, 28), 206 (10), 178 (5.1), 149 (100), 135 (3.0), 121 (28), 73 (15); HRMS: 221.1357 (Calcd for C₁₁H₁₉N₃Si, 221.1349).

4.3. General procedure for transformation of triazenes into benzylamines

To a solution (0.5-1 M) of triazene in dry THF was added dropwise a solution of *n*-BuLi/hexane (1.0 equiv) at 0 °C. After stirring for 1 h, the reaction mixture was quenched with water or each electrophile (1.5 equiv). Extractive work-up and the subsequent purification afforded benzylamine derivatives. **4.3.1. Benzylmethylamine (1).** Oil, 57%; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.26 (m, 5H), 4.42 (s, 2H), 2.82 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 139.90, 127.97, 127.76, 126.52, 55.72, 35.65; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 3500 (m), 3000 (m), 1680 (s), 1440 (m), 1380 (m), 1250 (m), 1140 (m), 870 (m), 680 (m); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 121 (M⁺, 86), 120 (100), 104 (5.0), 91 (69), 77 (11), 65 (18), 51 (11), 41 (61); HRMS: 121.0897 (Calcd for C₈H₁₁N, 121.0892).

4.3.2. *N*-Benzyl-*N*-*n*-butylmethylamine (2). Oil, 78%; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.33–7.19 (m, 5H), 3.48 (s, 2H), 2.36 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2H), 2.18 (s, 3H), 1.50 (m, 2H), 1.33 (m, 3H), 0.90 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 139.20, 129.05, 128.18, 62.69, 57.27, 42.20, 29.54, 20.60, 14.05; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2950 (s), 2920 (s), 2850 (s), 1640 (br m), 1475 (br m), 1380 (m), 1260 (m); Low-MS (EI) (*m/z*, %): 177 (M⁺, 8.8), 134 (84), 91 (100), 65 (6.3), 42 (5.0); HRMS: 177.1508 (Calcd for C₁₂H₁₉N, 177.1517).

4.3.3. *N*-Benzyl-*N*-(*t*-butoxycarbonyl)methylamine (3). Oil, 81%; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.38–7.18 (m, 5H), 4.42 (s, 2H), 2.82 (s, 3H), 1.48 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 155.87, 138.08, 128.47, 127.14, 79.62, 52.26, 33.86, 28.42; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 3000 (m), 1680 (s), 1440 (m), 1380 (m), 1250 (m), 1140 (m), 870 (m), 680 (m); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 221 (M⁺, 0.38), 165 (100), 140 (6.3), 120 (48), 91 (57), 77 (2.8), 65 (5.6), 57 (57), 51 (1.9), 41 (11); HRMS: 221.1443 (Calcd for C₁₃H₁₉NO₂, 221.1416).

4.3.4. *N*-(*t*-Butoxycarbonyl)-*N*-methyl(α -methylbenzyl)amine (4). Oil, 47%; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.48–7.28 (m, 5H), 5.42 (br s, 1H), 3.10 (br m, 1H), 2.93 (br m, 1H), 1.52 (d, *J*=2.0 Hz, 3H), 1.46 (s, 9H), 0.98 (t, *J*=2.0 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 155.80, 142.18, 128.21, 127.04, 126.93, 53.10, 38.13, 28.51, 17.49, 15.24; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2950 (m), 1680 (s), 1450 (s), 1400 (s), 1280 (s), 1130 (m), 760 (m), 700 (m); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 249 (M⁺, 0.63), 234 (0.44), 193 (100), 178 (75), 164 (10), 148 (14), 134 (72), 120 (7.5), 105 (87), 91 (5), 77 (15), 72 (6), 57 (78), 51 (3.5), 41 (16); HRMS: 249.1715 (Calcd for C₁₅H₂₃NO₂, 249.1729).

4.3.5. 1-(*t*-Butoxycarbonyl)-2-phenylpyrrolidine (5). Oil, 69%; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.12–7.34 (m, 5H), 4.95 and 4.75 (br s, 1H), 3.61 (d, 3H), 2.30 (br s, 1H), 1.87 (m, 3H), 1.45 (s, 3H), 1.18 (s, 6H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 160.95, 152.44, 137.77, 131.16, 125.96, 121.09, 81.66, 63.96, 40.11, 33.69, 28.24, 26.93, 16.54; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2950 (m), 1680 (s), 1600 (w), 1480 (m), 1450 (m), 1380 (s), 1250 (m), 1150 (m), 900 (m), 730 (m); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 247 (M⁺, 0.23), 191 (100), 174 (27.5), 163 (4.4), 146 (85), 131 (24), 119 (37), 104 (12), 91 (23), 77 (88), 70 (21), 65 (2.5), 57 (72), 51 (3.1), 41 (20); HRMS: 247.1589 (Calcd for C₁₅H₂₁NO₂, 247.1572).

4.3.6. Methyl(*m*-methylbenzyl)amine (6). Oil, 74% from *o*-methylphenyltriazene, 95% from *m*-methylphenyltriazene; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.05–7.24 (m, 4H), 3.71 (s, 2H), 2.45 (s, 3H), 2.35 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 158.21, 156.21, 147.15, 146.46, 145.89, 143.40, 74.24, 54.22, 39.55; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 3315 (m), 2923 (s), 2790 (s), 1608 (s), 1444 (s), 1379 (w), 1351 (w); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 135 (M⁺, 31), 134 (58), 120 (25), 106 (19), 91 (36), 77 (31), 44 (100); HRMS: 135.1039 (Calcd for $C_9H_{13}N$, 135.1048).

4.3.7. A mixture of methyl(*o*-methylbenzyl)amine and methyl(*p*-methylbenzyl)amine (7). Oil, o/p=2/1, 71%; mixture: ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 137.95, 136.78, 136.60, 136.21, 130.23, 129.06, 128.36, 128.17, 126.97, 125.88, 55.65, 53.55, 36.30, 35.80, 21.06, 18.89; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 3318 (m), 3019 (m), 2934 (s), 2789 (s), 1513 (w), 1460 (s), 1379 (w), 1354 (w), 1131 (w), 1096 (m), 804 (m), 743 (s).

Major product (o-isomer): ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.27–7.30 (m, 1H), 7.15–7.18 (m, 3H), 3.74 (s, 2H), 2.50 (s, 3H), 2.35 (s, 3H), 1.87 (br s, 1H); IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 3318 (m), 3019 (m), 2934 (s), 2789 (s), 1513 (w), 1460 (s), 1379 (w), 1354 (w), 1131 (w), 1096 (m), 804 (m), 743 (s); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 135 (M⁺, 36), 134 (14), 120 (11), 104 (100), 91 (19), 77 (28), 51 (17), 44 (67); HRMS: 135.1053 (Calcd for C₉H₁₃N, 135.1048).

Minor product (p-isomer): ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.20 (d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.13 (d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 2H), 3.71 (s, 2H), 2.44 (s, 3H), 2.33 (s, 3H), 1.87 (br s, 1H); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 135 (M⁺, 35), 134 (56), 120 (27), 105 (56), 91 (36), 77 (33), 51 (25), 44 (86), 42 (100); HRMS: 135.1032 (Calcd for C₉H₁₃N, 135.1048).

4.3.8. A mixture of *N*-(*t*-butoxycarbonyl)-*N*-methyl (*o*-methylbenzyl)amine and *N*-(*t*-butoxycarbonyl)-*N*-methyl(*p*-methylbenzyl)amine (8). Oil, o/p=2/1, 90%; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ (major product): 7.14 (m, 4H), 4.44 (2H), 2.79 (br s, 3H), 2.28 (2H), 1.53 (s, 9H); (minor product): 7.14 (m, 4H), 3.38 (2H), 2.79 (br s, 3H), 2.34 (2H), 1.48 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 155.91, 136.77, 135.00, 129.16, 127.10, 125.96, 79.59, 49.84, 28.45, 28.41, 27.40, 18.98; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2950 (m), 1780 (br s), 1690 (s), 1460 (s), 1370 (s), 1280 (s), 1250 (s), 840 (m), 760 (m).

4.3.9. *N*-(*t*-Butoxycarbonyl)-*N*-methyl(*m*-methylbenzyl)amine (9). Oil, 95%; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.22 (t, *J*=8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.10–6.97 (m, 3H), 4.39 (br s, 2H), 2.81 (br s, 3H), 2.34 (s, 3H), 1.48 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 155.98, 138.08, 137.98, 128.36, 127.86, 124.34, 79.55, 52.47, 33.83, 28.42, 21.38; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2900 (m), 1680 (s), 1650 (m), 1380 (br s), 1250 (s), 1120 (br s), 870 (m), 760 (m), 730 (m); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 235 (M⁺, 1.3), 179 (100), 164 (7.5), 146 (3.0), 134 (46), 120 (15), 105 (75), 91 (11), 77 (13), 65 (5.0), 57 (74), 51 (2.5), 41 (20); HRMS: 235.1581 (Calcd for C₁₄H₂₁NO₂, 235.1572).

4.3.10. *N*-(*t*-Butoxycarbonyl)-*N*-methyl(*o*-methoxybenzyl)amine (10). Oil, 70%; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.23 (br t, *J*=7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.14 (br d, *J*=7.0 Hz, 1H), 6.93 (dt, *J*=1.0, 8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.88 (d, *J*=8.0 Hz, 1H), 4.44 (s, 2H), 3.82 (s, 3H), 2.85 (br s, 3H), 1.45 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 157.30, 156.17, 128.05, 126.16, 120.43, 113.87, 110.14, 79.34, 55.19, 47.34, 34.30, 28.43; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2950 (m), 1690 (s), 1600 (m), 1460 (s), 139 (s), 1250 (s), 1140 (s), 1020 (m), 880 (m), 750 (m); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 251 (M⁺, 2.5), 195 (61), 180 (1.9), 150 (100), 136 (39), 121 (58), 108 (3.1), 91 (40), 78 (8.1), 65 (8.8), 57 (56), 51 (3.8), 41 (11); HRMS: 251.1506 (Calcd for C₁₄H₂₁NO₃, 251.1521).

4.3.11. *N*-(*t*-Butoxycarbonyl)-*N*-methyl(*m*-methoxybenzyl)amine (11). Oil, 96%; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.24 (t, *J*=7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.24 (m, 3H), 4.40 (s, 2H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 2.82 (br s, 3H), 1.48 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 159.82, 139.75, 129.47, 119.59, 112.94, 112.56, 79.62, 55.13, 52.48, 33.88, 28.43; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2900 (m), 1680 (s), 1600 (s), 1420 (br s), 1280 (br s), 1040 (m), 870 (m), 760 (m); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 251 (M⁺, 5.0), 195 (100), 170 (6.3), 150 (35), 136 (5.0), 122 (58), 107 (2.5), 91 (10), 78 (63), 57 (44), 41 (10); HRMS: 251.1503 (Calcd for C₁₄H₂₁NO₃, 251.1521).

4.3.12. *N*-(*t*-Butoxycarbonyl)-*N*-methyl(*m*-fluorobenzyl)amine (12). Oil, trace from *o*-fluorophenyltriazene, from 89% *p*-fluorophenyltriazene; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.29 (dt, *J*=6.0, 7.8 Hz, 1H), 6.89–7.03 (m, 3H), 4.41 (br s, 2H), 2.83 (br s, 3H), 1.48 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 163.26 (d, *J*_{CF}=246 Hz), 155.70, 146.80, 140.82 (d, *J*_{CF}=7.2 Hz), 129.96 (d, *J*_{CF}=8.3 Hz), 122.89 (d, *J*_{CF}=20.8 Hz), 114.02 (d, *J*_{CF}=20.8 Hz), 79.84, 52.24, 52.17, 34.02, 28.36; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 3020 (m), 2930 (m), 1690 (s), 1620 (w), 1590 (m), 1490 (m), 1450 (m), 1390 (s), 1370 (m), 1295 (w), 1250 (m), 1170 (m), 1145 (m), 1070 (m), 980 (w), 870 (w); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 239 (M⁺, 0.57), 183 (98), 166 (8.6), 138 (43), 109 (80), 83 (14), 57 (100), 41 (41); HRMS: 239.1331 (Calcd for C₁₃H₁₈FNO₂, 239.1322).

4.3.13. *N*-(*t*-Butoxycarbonyl)-*N*-methyl(*o*-fluorobenzyl)amine (13). Oil, 41%; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.24 (m, 1H), 7.12 (dd, *J*=7.5, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 6.99–7.09 (m, 2H), 4.48 (br s, 2H), 2.87 (br s, 3H), 1.47 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 160.67 (d, *J*_{CF}=246 Hz), 155.80, 129.48 (d, *J*_{CF}=32.2 Hz), 128.77 (d, *J*_{CF}=8.3 Hz), 124.94 (d, *J*_{CF}=15.6 Hz), 124.11, 115.21 (d, *J*_{CF}=21.8 Hz), 79.71, 46.18, 45.33, 34.13, 28.35; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2990 (m), 2930 (m), 1710 (s), 1690 (s), 1620 (w), 1590 (m), 1490 (m), 1445 (m), 1395 (m), 1370 (m), 1250 (m), 1225 (m), 1175 (m), 1145 (m), 1050 (w), 1025 (w), 875 (w), 830 (w), 750 (m); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 239 (M⁺, 0.28), 183 (98), 166 (6.0), 138 (57), 109 (86), 83 (13), 57 (100), 41 (37); HRMS: 239.1346 (Calcd for C₁₃H₁₈FNO₂, 239.1322).

4.3.14. *N*-(*t*-Butoxycarbonyl)-*N*-methyl(*m*-chlorophenyl-methyl)amine (14). Oil, 29% from *o*-chlorophenyltriazene; 54% from *p*-chlorophenyltriazene; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.22 (m, 4H), 4.40 (s, 2H), 2.86 (s, 3H), 1.48 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 155.62, 140.21, 134.36, 129.74, 128.43, 127.31, 125.28, 79.87, 52.09, 34.02, 28.35; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2900 (m), 1680 (s), 1600 (m), 1580 (m), 1420 (br m), 1250 (s), 1140 (s), 880 (m), 780 (m), 680 (m); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 255 (M⁺, 0.23), 199 (82), 182 (8.8), 164 (5.0), 154 (33), 125 (70), 111 (3.1), 99 (5.0), 89 (15), 77 (3.5), 57 (100), 51 (2.5), 41 (26); HRMS: 255.1031 (Calcd for C₁₃H₁₈ClNO₂, 255.1026).

4.3.15. A mixture of *N*-(*t*-butoxycarbonyl)-*N*-methyl (*o*-chlorobenzyl)amine and *N*-(*t*-butoxycarbonyl)-*N*-methyl(*p*-chlorobenzyl)amine (15). Oil, o/p=1/1, 45%; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.27 (m, 4H), 4.55 (d, 2H), 2.87 (d, 3H), 1.46 (m, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 155.95, 135.44, 129.50, 128.47, 128.23, 127.75, 126.91, 79.82, 50.18, 34.38, 28.36; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2950 (m), 1680 (s), 1480 (br s), 1390 (s), 1250 (s), 1140 (br s), 1040 (m), 880 (m), 740 (m).

4.3.16. *N*-(*t*-Butoxycarbonyl)-*N*-methyl(*m*-trimethylsilylbenzyl)amine (16). Oil, 67% from *o*-trimethylsilylphenyltriazene, 70% from *p*-trimethylsilylphenyltriazene; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.31 (m, 4H), 4.42 (br s, 2H), 2.81 (br s, 3H), 1.48 (s, 9H), 0.26 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 155.82, 140.78, 137.21, 132.17, 127.86, 79.63, 52.79, 33.91, 28.45, -1.15; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2950 (m), 1690 (s), 1460 (s), 1390 (s), 1250 (s), 1150 (s), 820 (s), 750 (s); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 293 (M⁺, 0.13), 237 (100), 222 (48), 206 (3.5), 192 (28), 178 (23), 163 (39), 149 (13), 135 (5.0), 120 (37), 103 (13), 91 (3.8), 86 (9.4), 73 (21), 57 (68), 41 (10); HRMS: 293.1817 (Calcd for C₁₆H₂₇NO₂Si, 293.1811).

4.3.17. *N*-(*t*-Butoxycarbonyl)-*N*-methyl(*p*-trimethylsilylbenzyl)amine (17). Oil, 81%; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.49 (d, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.21 (d, *J*=7.5 Hz, 2H), 4.42 (s, 2H), 2.82 (br s, 3H), 1.48 (s, 9H), 0.26 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 155.91, 139.20, 138.63, 133.54, 79.63, 52.54 (d), 33.91, 28.45, 28.07, -1.13; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2950 (m), 1690 (s), 1470 (s), 1350 (s), 1130 (m), 830 (s), 750 (m); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 293 (M⁺, 0.44), 237 (97), 222 (100), 206 (2.5), 192 (25), 178 (28), 163 (31), 147 (12), 135 (15), 120 (27), 103 (7.5), 91 (3.5), 73 (14), 57 (51), 41 (8.8); HRMS: 293.1806 (Calcd for C₁₆H₂₇NO₂Si, 293.1811).

4.3.18. 3-Methyl-1-phenyl-3-(trimethylsilylmethyl)triazene (18) and 1-phenyl-3,3-bis-(trimethylsilylmethyl)triazene (19). To a solution of lithium diisopropylamide [prepared from diisopropylamine (0.14 mL, 1.00 mmol) and *n*-BuLi (0.64 mL, 1.01 mmol, 1.58 M in hexane)] in dry THF (1 mL) was added chlorotrimethylsilane (0.13 mL, 1.03 mmol). 3,3-Dimethyl-1-phenyltriazene (0.147 mg, 0.99 mmol) was added dropwise to the above solution at 0 °C. The mixture was stirred for 30 min and warmed up to room temperature. The reaction was quenched with water. Extractive work-up and subsequent flash silica gel chromatography (hexane/EtOAc=99/1 as eluents) afforded **18** (0.034 g, 16%) and **19** (0.029 g, 10%).

18: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.32–7.15 (m, 4H), 7.00 (tt, *J*=8.2, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 3.00–3.50 (envelope, 5H), 0.04 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 151.09, 128.77, 124.70, 120.28, 39.97, 11.7, -1.05; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 2952 (s), 1594 (s), 1457 (s), 1436 (s), 1387 (s), 1346 (s), 852 (s); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 221 (M⁺, 6.1), 153 (6.9), 135 (8.3), 105 (40), 77 (100), 73 (93), 59 (15), 51 (23), 43 (31); HRMS: 221.1330 (Calcd for C₁₁H₁₉N₃Si, 221.1348).

19: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.31–6.95 (m, 5H), 3.24 (s, 2H), 3.10 (s, 2H), 0.11 (s, 9H), 0.01 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 151.22, 128.75, 124.06, 120.09, 49.13, 44.96, -0.52, -1.29; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 3065 (s), 2897 (m), 1595 (m), 1482 (m), 1455 (s), 1415 (s), 1388 (s), 1358 (s), 1248 (s), 1183 (s), 853 (s); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 293 (M⁺, 0.4), 278 (0.9), 188 (18), 105 (27), 73 (100), 69 (25), 59 (28), 45 (29); HRMS: 293.1730 (Calcd for C₁₄H₂₇N₃Si₂, 293.1776).

4.3.19. 1-(2,6-Dideuteriophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene (**20).** To a solution of 1-(2,6-dibromophenyl)-3,3-dimethyl-triazene (1.08 g, 3.50 mmol) in dry THF (2.9 mL) was added

dropwise a solution of n-BuLi (3.50 mL, 5.10 mmol, 1.45 M in hexane) at -80 °C. After stirring for an additional 1 h, MeOD (0.29 mL, 7.00 mmol) was added and the mixture was stirred for 30 min at room temperature. The reaction was quenched with water and extracted with ether. The extracts were dried over sodium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo. To a solution of the residue in dry THF (2.9 mL) was added dropwise a solution of n-BuLi (3.50 mL, 5.10 mmol, 1.45 M in hexane) at -80 °C. After stirring for an additional 1 h, MeOD (0.29 mL, 7.00 mmol) was added and the mixture was stirred for 30 min at room temperature. The reaction was quenched with water. Extractive work-up and subsequent flash silica gel chromatography (hexane/EtOAc=19/1 as eluents) afforded 20 (0.312 g, 59%); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ : 7.33 (d, J=7.2 Hz, 2H), 7.105–7.165 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 1H), 3.33 (br s, 6H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ: 150.81, 128.77, 128.67, 125.34, 120.5, 120.20 (t, J_{CD} =23.9 Hz), 120.0, 41.13; IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 760 (s), 640 (w), 610 (m), 560 (w); Low-MS (EI) (m/z, %): 151 (M⁺, 28), 107 (50), 79 (100), 52 (10), 42 (4); HRMS: 151.1050 (Calcd for C₈H₉N₃D₂, 151.1076).

4.3.20. *N*-Benzyl-*N*-methylacetamide. To a solution of *N*-methylbenzylamine (0.121 g, 1.00 mmol) in Et₃N (1 mL) was added dropwise Ac₂O (0.15 mL, 2.00 mmol) at 0 °C. After stirring for 1 h, the reaction was quenched with water. Extractive work-up and subsequent flash silica gel chromatography (hexane/EtOAc=3/2 as eluents) afforded the title compound (0.123 g, 76%); ¹H NMR (500 MHz; CD₃OD) δ : 7.19–7.37 (m, 5H), 4.61 and 4.57 (2H), 2.97 and 2.97 (3H), 2.16 and 2.15 (3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz; CDCl₃) δ : 170.92, 170.61, 137.15, 136.36, 128.78, 128.41, 127.83, 127.46, 127.17, 126.13, 54.06, 50.41, 35.35, 33.56, 21.63, 21.25; Low-MS (EI) (*m/z*, %): 163 (M⁺, 100), 148 (5), 120 (43), 106 (53), 91 (40), 79 (5), 72 (8), 65 (10), 51 (5), 43 (20).

4.3.21. A mixture of *N*-methyl-(3-deuteriobenzyl)amine (21) and *N*-methyl-(2,3-dideuteriobenzyl)amine (22). To a solution of 1-(2,6-dideuteriophenyl)-3,3-dimethyltriazene (20) (0.324 g, 2.14 mmol) in dry THF (2.1 mL) was added dropwise a solution of *n*-BuLi (1.47 mL, 2.14 mmol, 1.45 M in hexane) at 0 °C. After stirring for 1 h, the reaction was quenched with water. Extractive work-up and subsequent short path distillation (0.77 mmHg) afforded the mixture of title compounds (0.099 g); ¹H NMR (500 MHz; CD₃OD) δ : 7.34–7.21 (m, 4H), 3.68 (s, 2H), 2.36 (s, 3H); Low-MS (EI) (*m*/*z*, %): 124 (12.5), 123 (M⁺, 37), 122 (100), 105 (5), 93 (34), 92 (55), 78 (10), 66 (10), 51 (8), 44 (58); HRMS: 123.1025 (Calcd for C₈H₉ND₂, 123.1025).

4.3.22. A mixture of *N*-(**3**-deuteriobenzyl)-*N*-methylacetamide (23) and *N*-(2,3-dideuteriobenzyl)-*N*-methylacetamide (24). To a solution of a mixture of *N*-methyl (3-deuteriobenzyl)amine and *N*-methyl(2,3-dideuteriobenzyl)amine (0.220 g) in Et₃N (1.78 mL) was added dropwise Ac₂O (0.19 mL, 2.00 mmol) at 0 °C. After stirring for 1 h, the reaction was quenched with water. Extractive workup and subsequent flash silica gel chromatography (hexane/ EtOAc=3/2 as eluents) afforded the title compounds (0.065 g); ¹H NMR (500 MHz; CD₃OD) δ : 7.20–7.40 (m, 4H), 4.59 and 4.53 (s, 2H), 2.95 and 2.92 (s, 3H), 2.163 and 2.158 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz; CDCl₃) δ : 170.92, 170.62, 137.23, 137.16, 136.44, 136.35, 128.82, 128.53, 128.45, 128.34, 128.17, 127.88, 127.76, 127.41, 127.21, 127.11, 126.19, 126.08, 54.14, 54.09, 50.46, 50.42, 35.40, 33.60, 24.03, 21.70, 21.31, 13.56; Low-MS (%) 167 (3.5), 166 (22), 165 (M⁺, 100), 164 (M⁺, 98), 163 (16), 150 (5), 122 (38), 121 (43), 108 (50), 107 (54), 93 (39), 92 (41), 79 (5), 72 (10), 52 (5), 43 (27).

Acknowledgements

Thanks are due to Professor M. Morita, JRC Kinki University, for the mass spectral analyses. This research was supported in part by Grant-in-Aid for Encouragement for Young Scientists, Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

References and notes

- 1. Heaney, H. *Complehensive Organic Synthesis*; Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 2, p 953.
- General review; (a) Bräse, S. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 805;
 (b) Kimball, D. B.; Haley, M. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 3338; (c) Moore, J. S. Acc. Chem. Res. 1997, 30, 402.
- (a) Gross, M. L.; Blank, D. H.; Welch, W. M. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 2104; (b) Lazny, R.; Poplawski, J.; Köbberrling, J.; Ender, D.; Bräse, S. Synlett 1999, 1304.
- (a) Heaney, H.; Jablonski, J. M.; McCarty, C. T. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1972, 2903; (b) Gavina, F.; Luis, S. V.; Ferrer, P.; Costero, A. M.; Gil, P. Tetrahedron 1986, 42, 5641.
- 5. Buxton, P. C.; Heaney, H. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 3929.
- (a) Merlushev, E. B. Synthesis 1988, 923 and references cited therein;
 (b) Moore, J. S.; Weinstein, E. J.; Wu, Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 2465.
- 7. Satyamurthy, N.; Barrio, J. R.; Biba, G. T.; Phelps, M. E. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31*, 4409.
- Nicolaou, K. C.; Boddy, C. N. C.; Natarajan, S.; Yue, T. Y.; Li, H.; Brase, S.; Ramanjulu, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 3421.
- (a) Nelson, J. C.; Young, J. K.; Moore, J. S. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 8160; (b) Gavina, F.; Luis, S. V.; Ferrer, P.; Costero, A. M.; Gil, P. Tetrahedron 1986, 42, 5641; (c) Bräse, S.; Enders, D.; Köbberling, J.; Avemaria, F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37,

3413; (d) Bräse, S.; Schroen, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 1071; (e) Bräse, S.; Köbberling, J.; Enders, D.; Lazny, R.; Wang, M.; Brandtner, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 2105; (f) Bräse, S.; Dahmen, S.; Heuts, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 6201; (g) Dahmen, S.; Bräse, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3681; (h) Bräse, S.; Dahmen, S.; Pfefferkorn, M. J. Comb. Chem. 2000, 2, 710; (i) Enders, D.; Rijksen, C.; Bremus-Köbberling, E.; Gillner, A.; Köbberling, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 45, 2839.

- Rademann, J.; Smerdka, J.; Jung, G.; Grosche, P.; Schmid, D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 381.
- Kimball, D. B.; Weakley, T. R.; Haley, M. M. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 6395.
- 12. Nishiwaki, K.; Ogawa, T.; Matsuo, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 484.
- (a) Rondestvedt, C. S., Jr.; Davis, S. J. J. Org. Chem. 1957, 22, 200; (b) Akhtar, M. H.; McDaniel, R. S.; Feser, M.; Oehlschlager, A. C. Tetrahedron 1968, 24, 3899.
- (a) Seebach, D.; Enders, D. Chem. Ber. 1975, 108, 1293; (b) Renger, B.; Kalinowski, H. O.; Seebach, D. Chem. Ber. 1977, 110, 1866; (c) Fraser, R. R.; Passannanti, S. Synthesis 1976, 540; (d) Grierson, D. S.; Royer, J.; Guerrier, L.; Husson, H. P. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 4475; (e) Rein, K.; Goicoechea-Pappas, M.; Anklekar, T. V.; Hart, G. C.; Smitj, G. A.; Gawley, R. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 2211; (f) Beak, P.; Lee, W. K. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 2578; (g) Reitz, D. B.; Beak, P.; Tse, A. J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 4316; (h) Meyers, A. I.; Hoeve, W. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 7125.
- (a) Katritzky, A. R.; Yang, Z.; Cundy, D. J. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 6022; (b) Katritzky, A. R.; Rachwal, S.; Rachwal, B. Synth. Commun. 1993, 23, 3061.
- (a) Pleynet, D. P. M.; Dutton, J. K.; Thornton-Pett, M.; Johnson, A. P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1995**, *36*, 6321; (b) Dutton, J. K.; Steel, R. W.; Tasker, A. S.; Popsavin, V.; Johnson, A. P. *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.* **1994**, 765.
- 17. Colvin, E. W. Silicon in Organic Synthesis; Butterworths: London, 1981.
- (a) WinMOPAC ver.2 for Windows; Fujitu: Tokyo, Japan, 1998;
 (b) About PM3: Stewart, J. J. P. J. Comput. Chem. 1989, 10, 221.
- 19. *HYPERCHEM, release 5.11 Pro for Windows*; Hypercube Inc.: Ontario, 1999.
- DeFrees, D. J.; Levi, B.; Pollack, S. K.; Hehre, W. J.; Binkley, J. S.; Pople, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 7125.
- 21. Merlushev, E. B. Synthesis 1988, 923.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 7043-7055

Tetrahedron

Synthesis, properties, and hepatic metabolism of strongly fluorescent fluorodipyrrinones

Stefan E. Boiadjiev,^a Zachary R. Woydziak,^a Antony F. McDonagh^b and David A. Lightner^{a,*}

^aDepartment of Chemistry, University of Nevada, Reno, NV 89557-0020, USA ^bDivision of Gastroenterology, Box 0538, University of California, San Francisco, CA 94143-0538, USA

> Received 28 February 2006; revised 12 April 2006; accepted 13 April 2006 Available online 22 May 2006

Abstract—From non-fluorescent 8-*H* fluorophenyldipyrrinones, highly fluorescent ($\phi_F 0.4-0.6$) analogs have been synthesized by reaction with 1,1'-carbonyldiimidazole to bridge the dipyrrinone nitrogens and form an *N*,*N*'-carbonyldipyrrinone (3*H*,5*H*-dipyrrolo[1,2-*c*:2',1'-*f*]-pyrimidine-3,5-dione). Amphiphilic, water-soluble 8-sulfonic acid derivatives are then obtained by reaction with concd H₂SO₄. The resulting fluorinated and sulfonated *N*,*N*'-carbonyl-bridged dipyrrinones, isolated as their sodium salts, are potential cholephilic fluorescence and ¹⁹F MRI imaging agents for use in probing liver and biliary metabolism. After intravenous injection in the rat they were excreted rapidly and largely unchanged in bile. ¹⁹F NMR spectroscopy of a pentafluorophenyl-tosylpyrrolinone synthetic precursor exhibited rarely seen diastereotopicity.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The natural pigment bilirubin (Fig. 1A) is produced continuously in animals during normal catabolism of heme.¹ It is a bichromophoric structure comprised of two Z-dipyrrinones bearing intramolecularly hydrogen-bonded propionic acid side-chains.^{2,3} It is lipophilic and has low solubility in water at physiologic pH. In humans accumulation of bilirubin is thwarted by its efficient clearance from the blood by the liver and elimination in bile as ester glucuronide conjugates of the propionic acid side-chains.^{1,4} Formation of the glucuronides is catalyzed by a specific glucuronosyl transferase enzyme (UGT1A1)⁵ and their excretion from the liver is mediated by a membrane transporter known as MRP2 (multidrug resistance associated protein 2).⁶ These two proteins are important in the metabolism and hepatic elimination of a large number of xenobiotics in addition to bilirubin. Genetic deficiencies of either UGT1A1 or MRP2 and a variety of liver disorders can cause accumulation of bilirubin or its glucuronides and clinical jaundice.^{5,6} In the absence of UGT1A1, elimination of bilirubin is almost totally impaired. If the concentration of unconjugated bilirubin in the circulation exceeds the binding capacity of serum albumin, movement of the pigment across the blood-brain barrier and deposition within the brain can cause toxicity.¹ In contrast to bilirubin, xanthobilirubic acid (Fig. 1B),⁷ a polar but water-insoluble synthetic dipyrrinone analog for one-half of



Figure 1. (A) Bilirubin. (B) Xanthobilirubic acid, a dipyrrinone model for bilirubin. (C) Xanthoglow, a highly fluorescent ($\phi_{\rm F}$ 0.80, cyclohexane) *N*,*N'*-carbonyl-bridged analog of xanthobilirubic acid and sulfoglow, a water-soluble analog.

bilirubin, is readily excreted intact in bile without the need for glucuronidation.⁸ Thus, bilirubin and its analogs are useful probes for hepatobiliary disfunction and mechanisms of glucuronidation and biliary excretion.

Keywords: Dipyrroles; Perfluorophenyl; ¹⁹F NMR; Fluorescence.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 775 784 4980; fax: +1 775 784 6804; e-mail: lightner@scs.unr.edu
Though brightly colored, bilirubin and xanthobilirubic acid are essentially non-fluorescent at room temperature, e.g., with fluorescence quantum yields of $\phi_F < 10^{-3}$ because of rapid $Z \rightarrow E$ isomerization in the excited states.^{2,3,9} Restricting $Z \rightarrow E$ isomerization by bridging the two nitrogens of a dipyrrinone causes a dramatic increase in fluorescence (to $\phi_F \sim 1$). Recently we found that a carbonyl group is a convenient bridge, easily inserted by reaction of the dipyrrinone with 1,1'-carbonyldiimidazole (CDI) in the presence of strong base (such as DBU) in CH₂Cl₂, and is very effective in enhancing fluorescence.¹⁰ Thus, xanthobilirubic acid methyl ester was readily converted to xanthoglow (Fig. 1C) methyl ester, with ϕ_F =0.80 in cyclohexane at 25 °C for λ_{exc} 410 nm and λ_{em} 473 nm.¹⁰

Seeking a water-soluble xanthoglow analog, we prepared the first 'sulfoglow' (Fig. 1C),^{10a} a xanthoglow analog with the C(8) propionic acid replaced by sodium sulfonate. When injected intravenously into rats it was rapidly excreted intact into bile and urine, which became highly fluorescent.¹¹ These preliminary studies suggested that it might be possible to develop highly fluorescent cholephilic ('bile-loving') analogs useful for fluorescence imaging of renal and hepatic metabolism or for early detection of cholestatic liver disease. Were they to contain fluorine, such agents might also be useful for ¹⁹F-magnetic resonance imaging. To this end we set out to synthesize cholephilic highly fluorinated sulfoglows ('fluoroglows'). From our experience and perspective, a logical target was pentafluoroglow 1. In the course of this study, we learned, however, that its synthesis was compromised in the presence of nucleophilic base (ethoxide) in favor of pethoxytetrafluoroglow (2) and regioisomers. We also present the synthesis of pure 2 here because it provides a key intermediate for synthesizing *p*-alkoxy analogs of **2** of differing lipophilicity and hence regulating hepatic versus renal excreability.¹¹ In the following, we describe the syntheses and spectroscopic properties of new fluorinated, fluorescent dipyrrinones 4-6 and the sulfoglow sodium salts 1 and 2, with pentafluoro- and tetrafluorophenyl groups on the lactam ring. We also present preliminary studies on the metabolism and hepatobiliary excretion of 1 and 2. This work is part of a more comprehensive investigation of cholephilic fluorescent pharmacophores for understanding transhepatic uptake and transport and cholestatic disorders, particularly in the newborn.¹¹

Target Compounds



2. Results and discussion

2.1. Syntheses

The syntheses of **4** and **5** employed a Barton–Zard pyrroleforming reaction sequence explored earlier with benzaldehyde.¹²Commercial pentafluorobenzaldehyde was condensed with nitroethane in the presence of DBU (Scheme 1), a Henry reaction that afforded an alcohol that was acetylated and used without purification in a Barton–Zard reaction with *p*-toluenemethylisocyanide (TosMIC) to give 15. Replacing nitroacetate in Scheme 1 with a nitroalkene from a Knoevenagel reaction between pentafluorobenzaldehyde and nitroethane using ammonium acetate¹³ might also have provided a suitable precursor to pyrrole 15; however, this nitroalkene synthesis was unsuccessful. α -Bromination followed by treatment with TFA/H₂O is a typical way^{12,14} of transforming an α -free pyrrole into a pyrrolinone (e.g., 13), and this route was successfully applied in transforming 16 into 14. The same approach was found earlier by our group to give unsatisfactory results with 15. Therefore, direct oxidation of 15 to 13 using hydrogen peroxide was examined. This reaction was optimized over many runs, particularly by changing the contact time from 12 to 30 h. The yield seemed dependent also on the quality of the peroxide; an aged (lower percent peroxide?) reagent gave the best results. Chromatographic purification was necessary to obtain a 69% yield of 13. Quantitative removal of the tosyl group to yield 10 was achieved using sodium borohydride in ethanol.¹⁴

Base-catalyzed condensation of **10** with 3,5-dimethyl-2-formyl-1*H*-pyrrole¹⁵ should have led directly to **7**, but replacement of aromatic ring fluorine also occurred. Although substitution of the *para*-fluorine might have been expected, we observed a lack of regioselective replacement during test condensation reactions of pyrrolinone **10**. With a 2fold excess of aldehyde versus pyrrolinone **10**, freshly prepared sodium methoxide or ethoxide, and a reaction time of 20 h at reflux, the yield of isolated yellow pigment from methanol was lower than from higher boiling ethanol, from which ~58% of a yellow pigment was obtained after



Scheme 1. Reagents and conditions: (a) DBU; (b) Ac_2O , DMAP; (c) TosMIC, TMG; (d) H_2O_2 or i: PhNMe $_3^+Br_3^-$, ii: TFA, H_2O ; (e) NaBH₄; (f) NaOEt; (g) *N*-methylmorpholine; (h) CDI, DBU; (i) concd H_2SO_4 , then Na₂CO₃.

chromatography and crystallization. Although the pigment from each solvent was crystalline and homogeneous by TLC, ¹H NMR spectroscopy revealed only ~80–85% *p*-alkoxy regioisomeric purity. Recrystallizations, even with ~50% loss, improved the purity of the ethoxy pigment **8** to only ~90%. ¹H NMR spectroscopy, in particular the C(5)-methine signal, was indicative of the presence of three different dipyrrinones, most likely due to *ortho*- as well as *para*-substitution and *ortho*, *para*-disubstitution of fluorine by ethoxy. The ¹³C NMR spectral lines of the minor isomeric impurities, heavily split by the fluorines, were very weakly intense and were thus of little use in analyzing different substitution patterns. But ¹⁹F NMR spectroscopy, with its wide dispersion range, revealed unequivocally the presence of the mono *ortho*-substituted analog of **8**, in addition to *para*.

The pentafluorophenyl ring is known to be susceptible to aromatic nucleophilic substitution, and so we considered pentafluorobenzaldehyde¹⁶ reactivity with nucleophiles to be a model for that of a pentafluorophenyl β -substituent of a dipyrrinone, where in both cases the carbon attached to the fluorinated benzene ring is sp² hybridized. Typical fluorine-replacing nucleophilic aromatic substitution reactions including the reaction of pentafluorobenzaldehyde with (i) sodium hydrosulfide in DMF and (ii) sodium thiophenolate in CH₃OH yielded predominantly *para*-thiophenol and *para*-phenylthioether, respectively.¹⁷ A different *ortho*para selectivity was found in the reaction of dimethylamine with pentafluorobenzaldehyde in diethyl ether at room temperature for 1 h: the ortho-amino isomer dominated over the para by a 3:2 ratio.¹⁷ No clear-cut procedure has been reported for the reaction of pentafluorobenzaldehvde with sodium methoxide in methanol; however, the *para*-methoxy derivative has been isolated in low yield after careful distillation.¹⁷ Similarly, methoxide ion replaced predominantly the para-fluorine in bromopentafluorobenzene after reflux in methanol for 8 h and isolation in 70% yield by preparative gas-chromatography.¹⁶ Recent papers discussed the regioselectivity of nucleophilic replacement (including by ethoxide) in di-, tri-, tetra-, and pentafluoropyridines.¹⁸ On the basis of the available literature and the preliminary work described above, we deemed it advantageous to find conditions for regioselective replacement of para-fluorine only.

Instead of synthesizing the dipyrrinone while simultaneously and non-selectively replacing fluorine with an ethoxy group, regioselective *para*-fluorine substitution was achieved in an earlier step, under milder conditions. A significant improvement in regioselectivity was achieved when the pyrrolinone **10** was treated at sub-ambient temperature with a freshly prepared solution of sodium ethoxide in ethanol. Optimized parameters included the exact amount of ethoxide and the duration of contact, with best results being obtained from 5 equiv of sodium ethoxide and a 1-h reaction time at ~10 °C to give a 71% yield of **11** from **10**. In light of recent literature data, the reaction might be successful even at a lower temperature. After optimization, similar conditions were also found to give good regioselectivity for *para*-substitution relative to *ortho* in recently published work.¹⁸

With *p*-ethoxypyrrolinone **11** now isolated in pure form, we examined ways to carry it forward to dipyrrinone **8** while avoiding strongly nucleophilic ethoxide/ethanol (or sodium

hydroxide/ethanol) because we suspected that a high reaction temperature and a nucleophilic base¹⁶⁻¹⁸ would facilitate further substitution of (ortho) fluorines. Thus, condensation using a non-nucleophilic base in a non-nucleophilic solvent was sought. With a strong non-nucleophilic base (DBU) in DMF or CH₃CN solvent at 85-90 °C, condensation of 11 with 2-formyl-3,5-dimethylpyrrole (Scheme 1) led mostly to decomposition products and no formation of dipyrrinone. Hünig's base (N,N-diisopropylethylamine) in CH₃CN led to no reaction, and the strong dibasic amine, 1.4-diazabicvclo[2.2.2]octane (DABCO) in CH₃CN at 90 °C resulted mostly in decomposition products. However, with *N*-methylmorpholine in dimethylformamide at 90 °C, a promising 31% yield of dipyrrinone was obtained. With a change of solvent to CH₃CN and increased reaction time to 84 h, 11 was converted smoothly into dipyrrinone 8 in 74% yield.

With the proper conditions for dipyrrinone formation from a fluorine-containing pyrrolinone having been found, they were successfully employed on the pentafluorophenyl substituted starting material (10). Using pure pyrrolinone 10 and 3 equiv of 3,5-dimethylpyrrole-2-aldehyde in presence of *N*-methylmorpholine in CH₃CN at 95 °C for 84 h, the desired dipyrrinone 7 bearing a C(3)-pentafluorophenyl group was isolated in 84% yield (which was even higher than that obtained with *p*-ethoxy analog 8). The solubility of 7 in chloroform (or dichloromethane) is very low, however, in comparison with 8.

Although the yield at the condensation step was higher for 7 than 8, its conversion to the *N*,*N*'-carbonyl bridged fluorophore 4 was not as clean and high-yielding as is usually observed.^{10,11} Only 67% of purified tricycle 4 was isolated from a reaction, which usually gives >90% of product. The starting material 7 was almost completely consumed, and a significant amount of rather polar side product was isolated. Its structure was deduced from ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra to be the analog of 5 with a 1-imidazolyl ring replacing ethoxy at the *para*-position. Thus, nucleophilic substitution of the *para*-fluorine cannot be completely suppressed even under the mild conditions used. The adventitious imidazole nucleophile apparently is released from CDI after the carbonyl transfer reaction that forms the bridged dipyrrinone.

For comparison of spectroscopic data, the non-fluorinated parent of **7** was prepared from the known pyrrolinone **12**.¹² Here, too, condensation with 3,5-dimethylpyrrole-2-aldehyde was conducted using *N*-methylmorpholine in CH₃CN at 95 °C for 48 h to give the then unknown C(3)-phenyl-substituted dipyrrinone (**9**) in 64% yield. The typical reaction conditions (KOH/EtOH) gave unacceptable results: a mixture of two products in low yield. Cyclization of **9**, unlike **7** or **8**, smoothly afforded tricyclic **6** in 93% yield.

Insertion of the carbonyl bridge by reacting **8** with CDI and DBU was sluggish and afforded the *N*,*N*'-carbonyl-bridged dipyrrinone **5**, which was isolated in moderate 74% yield. A similar slow carbonyl insertion and comparable product yield (67%) were found in the conversion of **7** to **4**. Sulfonation of **5** using concd H₂SO₄ at 0 °C, followed by an alkaline quench, gave sodium sulfonate **2**, which seemed to be less soluble in water than its C(3)-*n*-decyl analog

synthesized earlier.¹¹ After quenching the sulfonation reaction, the organic material separated as a solid from both aqueous and organic (chloroform) phases. More complete extraction into chloroform was achieved by addition of methanol. The crude product was purified by radial chromatography to afford a 45% yield of the yellow sulfonate salt. Its purity was determined by ¹H NMR to be >90%. Sulfonation of **4** (to **1**) was found to be more sluggish, and under the reaction conditions of $5 \rightarrow 2$, no product (1) was found. At 25 °C for 4 h, however, **4** was transformed to **1** in 39% yield. In contrast to these two reactions, attempted conversion of **6** to **3** resulted in products that were not extractable, presumably due to multiple sulfonation, of the phenyl ring and other sites.

2.2. Constitutional structures

The constitutional structures of 1, 2, 4-16 follow from the method of synthesis and their ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra. Pyrrolinone **12** was reported previously.¹² The ¹⁹F NMR spectra of 1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 13, and 15 were also obtained and correlated with the assigned structures. The ¹⁹F NMR spectrum of 13 differed in significant ways from the other nine. In particular, whereas 10 showed three ¹⁹F NMR signals with second order ${}^{19}F{}^{19}F{}$ couplings (-139.51 ppm, ortho; -152.89 ppm, para; -161.51 ppm, meta), 13 exhibited two sharp and two very broad signals at 298 K (Fig. 2). The unexpected appearance of four chemical shifts at ambient temperature was clarified by lowering the temperature to 223 K where five chemical shifts were found, with the two most downfield signals showing fine structure. From this apparently more complex spectrum. it became clear that a dynamic process occurs in 13. Although the same process might occur in the five other pentafluorophenyl substituted compounds (1, 4, 7, 10, and 15), it was not detected by NMR. What makes 13 unique is the presence of a stereogenic center at C(4) bearing the tosyl group. Stereogenic centers are absent in 1, 4, 7, 10, and 15—as well as in 2, 5, 8, and 11 (the *p*-ethoxy analog of 13 was not prepared). The stereogenic center in 13, combined with the axis of rotation defined by C(3)-C(ipso)bond (an axis of chirality), renders the ortho- and meta-fluorines diastereotopic. They lie in different electronic environments in the preferred conformation of 13, and ¹⁹F NMR is sufficiently sensitive to detect different chemical shifts even at room temperature. Rotation around the C(3)-C(ipso)bond is rather uninhibited at 298 K, and only the orthofluorines, being closest to the stereogenic center, are anisochronous. At lower temperature, the hindered rotation extends the diastereotopicity to meta-fluorines as well (at -160.57 ppm and -160.75 ppm). In principle, the phenyl ortho and meta hydrogens, as well as those from the tosyl group of 14 are diastereotopic, but the ¹H NMR spectrum was too complicated to resolve due to overlapping signals.

The coalescence temperature (T_c) of *ortho*- and *ortho'*-¹⁹F NMR signals of **13** was 313 K in CDCl₃. The first order rate constant (k_c) of the exchange process (i.e., the rotation rate) at this temperature is given by: $k_c = \pi \times \Delta \nu/(2)^{1/2}$ where $\Delta \nu$ is the signal separation in hertz at stop-exchange regime.¹⁹ From the low temperature experiments $\Delta \nu$ =841 Hz, which gives a rate k_c =1870 s⁻¹. Dynamic ¹⁹F NMR also allows for calculation of the activation barrier

to rotation¹⁹ at coalescence according to: $\Delta G^{\ddagger} = \mathbf{R}T_{c}$ [22.96+ln($T_{c}/\Delta \nu$)]. Substituting T_{c} and $\Delta \nu$ gives a barrier $\Delta G^{\ddagger} = 13.7$ kcal mol⁻¹, which indicates only a moderately hindered atropisomerization process.

Typically, when an AB-spin system is envisioned, methylene protons in the neighborhood of an element of chirality come first to mind. However, ¹⁹F NMR, with intrinsically high receptivity of fluorine nuclei, has been used for stereochemical purposes and for testing basic NMR concepts chronologically in parallel to ¹H NMR. Yet, despite the enormous quantity of ¹⁹F NMR spectral data accumulated,^{20,21} including material clearly related to stereochemistry and conformational analysis,^{19,22} there are few clear-cut examples of AB fluorine spectra.

The closest literature examples of diastereotopic fluorines in a CF₂ group are in perfluorinated compounds. Variable temperature ¹⁹F NMR has been reported for 1-perfluorohexyl-1phenylethanol,²³ which has one stereogenic center and five pairs of prochiral fluorines at increasing distance. At 353 K only the two nearest CF₂ show diastereotopicity and at 193 K only the central in the chain CF₂ continues to show a singlet with small satellites as a sign of nonequivalence. The structure of perfluoro 4-ethyl-3,4-dimethylhexan-3-yl carbanion has also been studied by dynamic ¹⁹F NMR.²⁴ At 298 K only the two CF₂ groups furthest from the carbanionic center exhibit diastereotopicity (ABX₃ spin system). The CF₂ closest to the negative charge shows anisochronous fluorines below 193 K, and this was interpreted as an indication of frozen rotation around the relevant bonds at the carbanionic center. The only AB fluorine spin system from an intentionally labeled CF₂ was found in a difluoromethionine incorporated in three different sites in a recombinant protein.²⁵ The degree of chemical shift difference is small when the amino acid is at relatively free surface positions, but the anisochronicity is enhanced for a methionine incorporated in tightly packed protein core where there is less conformational freedom. Variable temperature ¹⁹F NMR and ¹⁹F{¹⁹F} COSY experiments of free difluoromethionine have been also reported.²⁵

Although difficult to perform at sub-ambient temperatures, $a^{19}F\{^{19}F\}$ COSY spectrum was acquired on a sample of pyrrolinone 13 in CDCl₃ at 223 K (Fig. 2). The experiment unequivocally confirmed the assignments made earlier on the ground of substituent chemical shift increments. At low temperature the two downfield signals with chemical shifts at -136.92 ppm and -138.71 ppm correlated with the most shielded fluorine nuclei at -160.57 ppm and -160.75 ppm. With scale expansion it becomes evident that the signal at -136.92 ppm correlates with that at -160.57 ppm, and the downfield signal at -138.71 ppm correlates with that at -160.75 ppm. Both upfield signals (-160.75 ppm and -160.57 ppm) correlate with the signal at -150.28 ppm but the latter did not show any other correlations. This means that the latter signal belongs to the fluorine nucleus attached to the para-position, which does not show long range $({}^{4}J)$ coupling to the *ortho*-fluorines. Such coupling (${}^{4}J=2.9$ Hz), however, was detected at 323 K in the 1D high resolution ¹⁹F NMR spectrum (Fig. 2A, upper middle trace). From the assignment of the parafluorine signal, it follows that the signals at -160.75 ppm



Figure 2. (A) Expanded partial ¹⁹F NMR spectra of tosylpyrrolinone 13 in CDCl₃ at 323 K (upper traces), at 298 K (middle traces), and at 223 K (lower traces), referenced to external C_6F_6 in CDCl₃ at -162.90 ppm. (B) Stereochemical drawing of 13. (C) Full ¹⁹F{¹⁹F} COSY spectrum of 13 in CDCl₃ at 223 K.

and -160.57 ppm are from m,m'-fluorines and those at -138.71 ppm and -136.92 ppm from o,o'-fluorines. In other words, only the most shielded signals (those assigned to m,m'-fluorines) exhibit a full complement of off-diagonal peaks, all of which are the result of spin–spin coupling via three bonds.

The structures of **4–6** also followed from the method of synthesis and from ¹³C NMR spectra that were characteristic of dipyrrinones $(7-9)^{7,11}$ and *N,N'*-carbonyl-bridged dipyrrinones (4-6),^{10,11} with the latter showing a urea-type carbonyl at ~143 ppm. In the ¹H NMR, 7–9 exhibited more shielded C(5)-hydrogens compared to their C(3)-alkyl counterparts. Thus, C(3)-phenyl **9** showed this proton at 6.06 ppm, the pentafluorophenyl **7** at 5.78 ppm, and its *p*-ethoxy analog **8** at 5.82 ppm versus the normally encountered chemical shift, e.g., 6.13 ppm for the C(3)-*n*-decyl

substituted dipyrrinone analog.¹¹ The shieldings in **7–9** are due to the influence of the aromatic π -system attached at C(3) of the dipyrrinone, because the aromatic ring faces the C(5)-hydrogen, as supported by molecular mechanics conformational analysis using PC Model.²⁶ PC Model revealed two isoenergetic minima when the aromatic ring of **7** was allowed to rotate with respect to the lactam, with dihedral angles C(2)–C(3)–C(*ipso*)–C(*ortho*-upper)=+65° and -65°.

2.3. ¹H NMR chemical shifts and hydrogen-bonded dimers

The dipyrrinone NH ¹H NMR chemical shifts in CDCl₃ reveal much about the extensively studied monomer \leftrightarrows dimer equilibrium.²⁷ Comparison of dipyrrinone pyrrole and lactam NH ¹H NMR chemical shifts in **7–9** and in the

1

R

Chemical shift	М	7 (R=C ₆ F ₅)	8 (R=4-EtOC ₆ F ₄)	9 (R=C ₆ H ₅)	$R = (CH_2)_9 CH_3$				
Lactam NH	1×10^{-2} 1×10^{-3} 1×10^{-4}	11.97 11.84 11.61	11.91 11.76 11.51	11.78 11.53 11.02	11.30 11.08 10.58				
Pyrrole NH	${\begin{array}{*{20}c} 1 \times 10^{-2} \\ 1 \times 10^{-3} \\ 1 \times 10^{-4} \end{array}}$	10.51 10.42 10.22	10.51 10.40 10.17	10.56 10.43 10.11	10.44 10.30 9.97				

Table 1. Comparison of dipyrrinone ¹H NMR NH chemical shifts^a for 7–9 and their C(3)-*n*-decyl analog in CDCl₃ at 25 °C

^a δ , ppm downfield from Me₄Si.

C(3)-decyldipyrrinone synthesized earlier¹¹ was made at the same sample concentration (Table 1). In all four examples, evidence of intermolecular hydrogen bonding is evident from the deshielded NH resonances at the typical chemical shifts.²⁷ A 10-fold dilution, from 10^{-3} to 10^{-4} M causes the expected slight upfield shift, again a shift that correlates with a monomer \leftrightarrows dimer equilibrium. The C(3)-*n*-decyl substituted dipyrrinone exhibited somewhat less deshielded NH chemical shifts than **7–9**, suggesting slightly stronger

intramolecular hydrogen bonding in the latter.

If the aromatic substituents at C(3) increase the donor ability of the lactam NH (or the acceptor ability of the carbonyl oxygen), then the dimerization constant is expected to increase. In fact, the lactam NH appears to be more sensitive to C(3) substituent and concentration than the pyrrole NH. The largest lactam NH deshielding difference ($\Delta\delta \sim 0.5$ ppm) occurs when changing from C(3)-*n*-decyl to C(3)-phenyl and not between, e.g., phenyl and pentafluorophenyl, suggesting that the relative NH deshielding has an origin other than simply stronger association. A deshielding edge effect from the aromatic ring might be felt by the NH, a view supported by the gradual increase of chemical shift in changing the unsubstituted phenyl to *p*-ethoxytetrafluorophenyl and to pentafluorophenyl. Based on data at 10^{-3} M concentration, the electronegative fluorinated rings of **7** and **8** are more effective in deshielding the lactam NH to 11.84 ppm and 11.76 ppm than the unsubstituted phenyl ring (11.53 ppm). The calculated distances, lactam NH to *ortho*-F, are 4.8–5.0 Å (PC Model).²⁶ It seems probable that both the shielding of C(5)-H and the deshielding of lactam NH are expressions of the same magnetic anisotropy of the aryl ring on C(3).

2.4. UV-vis absorption and fluorescence emission

All the dipyrrinones and N,N'-carbonyl-bridged dipyrrinones are yellow compounds forming yellow solutions. The latter are highly fluorescent. Comparison of their UV–vis data (Table 2), particularly those in chloroform (Fig. 3), shows only small perturbations of λ_{max} and ε_{max} due to the C(3)

Table 2. Comparison of UV-vis spectral data of N,N'-carbonyl-bridged dipyrrinones 1-2, 4-6, and 7-9^a

Pigment		$\varepsilon^{\max}(\lambda^{\max}, \operatorname{nm})$										
	Cyclohexane	C ₆ H ₆	CHCl ₃	CH ₃ OH	(CH ₃) ₂ SO	H ₂ O						
1		17,600 (447) 10,700 (282)	17,700 (437) 12,300 (278)	18,600 (433) 12,900 (275)	18,400 (447) 12,100 (281)	17,700 (433) 22,900 (271)						
2		13,500 (440) 10,800 (283)	13,700 (436) 11,500 (280)	14,400 (432) 11,600 (276)	13,800 (444) 11,300 (281)	13,400 (431) 12,000 (273)						
4	20,400 (451) 20,000 (432)	19,200 (449)	19,200 (447)	19,400 (443)	19,300 (445)							
	10,900 (277)	sh 19,000 (439)	12,300 (279)	13,000 (277)	12,400 (276)							
5	20,100 (448) 20,200 (428)	19,500 (444)	19,000 (443)	19,200 (441)	19,100 (443)							
	13,600 (278)	13,600 (281)	14,000 (281)	14,200 (279)	13,500 (279)							
6	19,200 (437) 19,500 (419)	18,200 (433)	18,000 (433)	17,900 (431)	18,200 (433)							
	sh 12,900 (281)		13,800 (279)	13,600 (278)	13,600 (278)							
7	sh 24,900 (453) 48,000 (427)	sh 22,000 (456) 42,300 (429)	39,200 (425)	38,200 (431)	35,800 (429)							
	6800 (299)	6200 (299)	6200 (290)	6000 (290)	sh 6100 (287)							
8	sh 24,700 (447) 46,100 (423)	sh 23,000 (452) 42,000 (427)	37,200 (423)	37,700 (429)	35,300 (429)							
	7600 (297)	7000 (298)	7400 (285)	6900 (286)	7400 (282)							
9	sh 22,600 (439) 43,600 (412)	sh 22,400 (441) 40,700 (415)	35,700 (411)	36,900 (417)	34,400 (417)							
	7500 (290)	7100 (292)	7200 (282)	6800 (282)	7200 (286)							

^a Concentration range $2.3-3.8 \times 10^{-5}$ M at 20 °C.



Figure 3. Comparison of UV–vis spectra in chloroform of dipyrrinones (upper panel) and their *N*,*N*'-carbonyl-bridged derivatives (lower panel) substituted at C(3) with: *n*-decyl (dotted line), phenyl (dash–dotted line), *p*-ethoxytetrafluorophenyl (dashed line), and pentafluorophenyl (solid line).

substituents. The parent dipyrrinone **9** in CHCl₃ has ε =35,700 (411 nm), the tetrafluorinated **8** has ε =37,200 (423 nm), and the pentafluorinated analog **7** has ε =39,200 (425 nm); and in DMSO **9** has ε =34,400 (417 nm), tetra-fluorinated **8** has ε =35,300 (429 nm), and the pentafluorinated **7** has ε =35,800 (429 nm)—evidence that the electron-withdrawing phenyl substituents exert a significant bathochromic shift (of 12–14 nm) and that non-polar solvents cause a gradual but considerable hyperchromic shift,

compared to the C(3)-*n*-decyl substituted dipyrrinone in chloroform: ε =33,800 (399 nm) (Fig. 3). A significant (11–23 nm) bathochromic shift is seen in DMSO, as compared to C(3)-*n*-decyl dipyrrinone, ε =34,600 (406 nm).

The influence of the nature of the *para*-substituent (F vs EtO vs H) on the absorption wavelength suggests (at least partial) conjugation between the dipyrrinone π -system and the C(3)-aryl group π -system. Similar effects are observed in the *N*,*N'*-carbonyl-bridged dipyrrinones (Table 2 and Fig. 3) and correlate directly with a decreased reactivity of **4** versus **5** in the sulfonation step.

Fluorescence of N,N'-carbonyl-bridged dipyrrinones 4-6 was measured in five solvents, and the intensity of fluorescence as fluorescence quantum yields ($\phi_{\rm F}$) was quantified using 9,10-diphenylanthracene standard as described previously.^{10c} Their excitation, emission wavelengths, and calculated quantum yields in cyclohexane, benzene, chloroform, methanol, and dimethylsulfoxide are given in Table 3. These data might be compared with similar dipyrrinones described earlier, ^{10,28} but the best reference compound is the dipyrrinone analog with C(8)-free and C(3) substituted with C(3)-*n*-decyl, which showed $\phi_{\rm F}=0.66$ and emission $\lambda_{max}^{em} = 490 \text{ nm}$ in chloroform whereas the 6 analog showed $\phi_{\rm F}$ =0.57 and $\lambda_{\rm max}^{\rm em}$ = 502 nm. The corresponding *p*-ethoxy-tetrafluorophenyl tricycle **5** exhibited $\phi_{\rm F}$ =0.59 with $\lambda_{max}^{em} = 508$ nm, and the pentafluorophenyl analog 4 had $\phi_F = 0.57$ and maximum emission at $\lambda_{max}^{em} = 509$ nm (Fig. 4). These data show that the quantum yields are of similar magnitude whether the C(3) substituent is aryl, fluorinated aryl or alkyl, and the emission wavelength (λ_{max}^{em}) follows the same trend observed in the UV spectra: a significant bathochromic shift accompanies the replacement of C(3)-n-decyl with phenyl group, and an additional but smaller bathochromic shift occurs with fluorine substitution on the aryl group.

Sodium sulfonates 1 and 2 exhibited similar high fluorescence quantum yields in organic solvents: $\phi_{\rm F} \sim 0.4$ -0.6. Even in non-polar benzene, the values are in agreement with those of 4-6, thus indicating that aggregation or solubility issues are not influencing the emission. In dimethylsulfoxide solvent somewhat enhanced fluorescence of 1 and 2 was detected in comparison to 4-6. In aqueous solutions the fluorescence efficiency is diminished to about 0.3 but is still sufficient for detection in biological samples—and this solvent offers the largest Stokes shift. The fluorescence emission wavelength from 1 to 2 is not affected significantly by

Table 3. Fluorescence data for N,N'-carbonyl-bridged dipyrrinones^a of this work and their C(3)-n-decyl analog

Pigment	Cyclohexane		C_6H_6		CHCl ₃		CH ₃ OH		(CH ₃) ₂ SO			
	$\phi_{ m F}$	λ_{em}	$\phi_{ m F}$	λ_{em}	$\phi_{ m F}$	λ_{em}	$\phi_{ m F}$	λ_{em}	$\phi_{ m F}$	λ_{em}		
1 ^b		_	0.51	516	0.43	513	0.40	536	0.67	537		
2 ^c		_	0.52	513	0.57	510	0.41	534	0.62	532		
4	0.58	480	0.58	508	0.57	509	0.39	541	0.56	533		
5	0.67	475	0.61	504	0.59	508	0.39	539	0.59	530		
6	0.60	466	0.60	494	0.57	502	0.39	533	0.56	521		
C(3)-n-decyl	0.78	463	0.74	472	0.66	490	0.36	523	0.67	501		

^a Concentration range 7.7–9.0×10⁻⁷ M; excitation λ_{ex} =413–450.

^b In H₂O, $\phi_{\rm F}$ =0.30, $\lambda_{\rm em}$ =546 nm.

^c In H₂O, $\phi_{\rm F}$ =0.29, $\lambda_{\rm em}$ =542 nm.



Figure 4. Comparison of fluorescence emission band in chloroform of N,N'-carbonyl-bridged dipyrrinones substituted at C(3) with: *n*-decyl (dotted line), phenyl (dash–dotted line), *p*-ethoxytetrafluorophenyl (dashed line), and pentafluorophenyl (solid line). The vertical axis plots relative intensity (*I*) of fluorescence emission.

the presence of the C(8) sulfonate group as compared to the C(8)-free parents **4–6**.

2.5. Hepatic excretion

When 1, dissolved in serum, was injected intravenously as a bolus in the rat, the endogenous fluorescence of bile rapidly increased and a prominent peak, followed by a smaller broader peak, was detected in bile by HPLC within 3 min of the injection (Fig. 5a). The prominent peak was identified as unchanged 1, based on its absorption spectrum and retention time. The highest concentration of 1 in bile was observed in the first sample collected, 3 min after the intravenous injection. Since bile flows only slowly through

the short biliary cannula, onset of the efflux of 1 from the liver must occur within less than 3 min. The smaller less polar peak in the chromatograms is yet to be identified. Its normalized absorption spectrum in the HPLC mobile phase is almost superimposable on that of 1, suggesting no major structural modification. Although it could be a metabolite of 1, Phase I and Phase II metabolic reactions in the liver generally generate products *more* polar than the precursor. The shape of the peak suggests that it might also be a chromatographic artifact caused by colorless co-migrating constituents of bile. Figure 5b shows a biliary excretion curve for 1. obtained by plotting HPLC peak areas of 1 in bile normalized to the sample with the maximum peak area. Most pigment was excreted within the first 30 min after injection and the fraction of the administered dose excreted unchanged in bile in two animals in 4 h was 0.5. Unchanged 1 and its possible metabolite was also detectable by HPLC and by fluorescence in urine samples collected intermittently during the experiment. Thus, 1 is cleared rapidly and preferentially from the circulation by the liver and eliminated predominantly by biliary excretion, with a smaller fraction appearing in urine.

The tetrafluorophenyl analog 2 behaved qualitatively similarly to 1, being excreted rapidly in bile in unchanged form after intravenous injection, with an apparently smaller fraction appearing in urine. However, significant amounts of metabolites of 2, especially less polar metabolites, were not detected. Determination of the fraction of the dose of 2 excreted in bile was hampered by poor recoveries in the analyses of 2 in the serum injectate. The reason for this is presently unclear, but may be related to the high affinity of 2 for serum albumin. However, it was clear from the bile chromatograms that 2 is excreted preferentially via the liver into bile. Thus, both 1 and 2, like the sulfoglows reported previously, are cholephilic. They appear to be taken up rapidly by hepatocytes in vivo in the rat, and then excreted rapidly across the biliary canalicular membrane into bile.



Figure 5. Hepatobiliary excretion of 1 in the homozygous Gunn rat. (a) HPLC chromatograms of bile collected just before (lower trace) and 3 min after (upper trace) intravenous injection of \sim 0.25 mg 1 dissolved in 1 mL rat serum. The inset shows a chromatogram of a sample of the serum solution of 1 that was injected. (b) Biliary excretion curve for 1 generated by plotting HPLC peak areas of unchanged 1 in bile before and after its injection. Values were normalized to the maximum peak area (at 3 min).

3. Concluding comments

Two new, highly fluorinated (perfluorophenyl and *p*-ethoxytetrafluorophenyl substituents) N,N'-carbonyl-bridged dipyrrinones were converted to amphiphilic derivatives by sulfonation. The highly fluorescent sulfoglows (1 and 2) so obtained are excreted rapidly and principally in unchanged form in bile in the rat after intravenous infusion. Some excretion in urine also was observed. These compounds may form the basis for development of ¹⁹F MRI and fluorescence agents for probing liver metabolism and disease.

4. Experimental

4.1. General procedures

Nuclear magnetic resonance spectra were acquired on a Varian Unity Plus spectrometer at 11.75 T magnetic field strength operating at an ¹H frequency of 500 MHz, ¹³C frequency of 125 MHz, and ¹⁹F frequency of 470 MHz in solutions of CDCl₃ (referenced at 7.26 ppm for ¹H and 77.00 ppm for ${}^{13}C$) or $(CD_3)_2SO$ (referenced at 2.49 ppm for ¹H and 39.50 ppm for ¹³C). All ¹³C NMR spectra were broadband ¹H decoupled, and J constants indicated for some signals are from ${}^{13}C{}^{-19}F$ coupling. The ${}^{19}F$ NMR spectra were referenced to external C₆F₆ in CDCl₃ at -162.90 ppm. UV-vis spectra were recorded on a Perkin Elmer Lambda 12 spectrophotometer. All fluorescence spectra were measured on a Jobin Yvon FluoroMax 3 by using constant spectral parameters: step resolution (increment) of 1 nm, both excitation and emission slits of 2 nm, and integration time of 0.5 s. Radial chromatography was carried out on Merck preparative layer grade silica gel PF₂₅₄ with CaSO₄ binder, using a Chromatotron (Harrison Research, Inc., Palo Alto, CA) with 1, 2 or 4 mm thick rotors. Analytical thin-layer chromatography was carried out on J.T. Baker silica gel IB-F plates (125 µm layer). Melting points were determined on a Mel-Temp capillary apparatus and are uncorrected. Combustion analyses were carried out by Desert Analytics, Tucson, AZ. High resolution massspectra were obtained from Nebraska Center for Mass Spectrometry, Lincoln, NE.

Spectral data were obtained in spectral grade solvents (Aldrich or Fischer), which were distilled under Ar just prior to use. Before distillation, CHCl₃ was passed through a basic alumina column (Woelm, Eschwege, Act. 0). Distillation of $(CH_3)_2SO$ solvent was carried out under vacuum (0.5 mmHg) collecting the solvent at 0 °C and thawing it under Ar. Pyrrole **16**,¹² tosylpyrrolinone **14** (derived from **16**),¹² and pyrrolinone **12**,¹² as well as 3,5-dimethyl-2-formyl-1*H*-pyrrole,¹⁵ were synthesized according to previously published methods.

The concentration study (Table 1) of dipyrrinones 7–9 NH ¹H NMR chemical shifts was conducted as follows. All solutions were prepared in CDCl₃ that had been freshly treated (freshly distilled in two cases) by passing through Woelm Activity 0 basic alumina. Stock solutions concentrated to approximately the upper limit of solubility at 25 °C were prepared (in the case of **9** this limit was 20 mM and for pentafluorophenyl **7** it was only 10 mM) then consecutively

diluted in 10-fold increments to 10 μ M. The ¹H NMR spectra were acquired using a high sensitivity probe for indirect detection. The pulse width was set at about the optimum 65° flip angle and the total repetition time was kept at 8–10 times the *T*1 values of NH signals to allow for complete relaxation. Artificial high line broadening was used in the processing to smoothen the low intensity signals, in particular at low concentrations. Overall, meticulously identical experimental conditions with samples at the same concentrations were used and all spectra were referenced to the residual CHCl₃ signal at 7.260 ppm. This precision was necessary to measure the chemical shifts with 10⁻³ ppm confidence.

4.1.1. 4-Methyl-3-pentafluorophenyl-2-(4-toluenesul-fonyl)-1*H*-pyrrole (15).

4.1.1.1. 2-Nitro-1-pentafluorophenylpropanol. To a solution of 23.53 g (120 mmol) of perfluorobenzaldehyde and 11.26 g (150 mmol) of nitroethane in 12 mL of anhyd CH₃CN was slowly added 1.8 mL (12 mmol) of DBU, and the mixture was stirred for 30 h at room temperature. The mixture was diluted with 200 mL of CH₂Cl₂, washed with 3% aq HCl (100 mL), H₂O (3×100 mL), dried over anhyd MgSO₄, filtered, and the solvent was evaporated under vacuum (1 h at 40 °C). The crude nitropropanol is a 1:1 mixture of diastereomers: ¹H NMR δ : 1.40, 1.76 (2×1.5H, 2×d, J=6.9 Hz), 5.03–5.08 (1H, m), 5.43–5.52 (1H, m) ppm; ¹³C NMR δ : 16.1, 19.5, 61.2, 67.3, 85.0, 86.0, 112.4 (m), 136.1 (dm, ¹*J*=250.7 Hz), 143.4 (dm, ¹*J*=249.8 Hz), 146.7 (dm, ${}^{1}J=250.2$ Hz) ppm and was used directly in the next step.

4.1.1.2. 1-Acetoxy-2-nitro-1-pentafluorophenylpro**pane.** To a solution of the alcohol (26.1 g) from above in 70 mL of anhyd CH₂Cl₂ and 50 mg of DMAP was added acetic anhydride (18.1 mL, 193 mmol) during 10 min, and the mixture was stirred for 16 h. Methanol (25 mL) was added during 15 min, and after 1 h stirring the mixture was diluted with 200 mL of CH₂Cl₂ and then carefully poured into 150 mL of satd aq NaHCO₃. The organic layer was washed with H_2O (3×100 mL), dried over anhyd MgSO₄, filtered, and the solvent was evaporated under vacuum to give 29.3 g (~78%) of a 1:1 diastereomeric mixture of nitroacetates. ¹H NMR δ : 1.46, 1.48 (2×1.5H, 2×d, J=6.8 Hz), 2.04, 2.21 (2×1.5H, 2×s), 4.91-4.99 (1H, m), 5.19-5.29 (1H, m) ppm; ¹³C NMR δ: 14.6, 14.7, 20.0, 21.8, 67.4, 67.7, 83.8, 84.0, 108.5 (m), 136.0 (dm, ${}^{1}J=250.9$ Hz), 143.6 (dm, ${}^{1}J=248.7$ Hz), 145.9 (dm, ${}^{1}J=251.1$ Hz), 167.0, 168.1 ppm. This mixture was used directly in the next step without further purification.

4.1.1.3. Pyrrole ring formation. To a solution of 24.40 g (125 mmol) of 4-toluenesulfonylmethyl isocyanide (TosMIC)²⁹ and 25 mL (200 mmol) of tetramethylguanidine in 100 mL of a mixture anhyd THF/isopropyl alcohol=1:1 (v/v) kept at 0 °C was added over 1 h a solution of the nitroacetate from above dissolved in 25 mL of the same solvents. The mixture was warmed slowly to room temperature and stirred for 28 h. Then it was diluted with 400 mL of CH₂Cl₂, poured into 300 mL of ice-5% aq HCl, and the organic layer was washed with 5% aq NaHCO₃ (100 mL) and H₂O (3×100 mL). The extract was dried (anhyd MgSO₄), filtered through a silica pad, evaporated, and the residue was recrystallized from ethyl acetate/hexane to afford

16.38 g (34% based on perfluorobenzaldehyde) of pyrrole **15**. It had mp 253–255 °C (dec); ¹H NMR δ : 1.87 (3H, s), 2.40 (3H, s), 6.89 (1H, d, *J*=1.8 Hz), 7.23 (2H, m, ³*J*=8.3 Hz), 7.50 (2H, m, ³*J*=8.3 Hz), 9.24 (1H, br s) ppm; ¹H NMR ((CD₃)₂SO) δ : 1.79 (3H, s), 2.34 (3H, s), 7.09 (1H, dq, ³*J*=2.2 Hz, ⁴*J*=0.8 Hz), 7.35 (2H, m, ³*J*=8.4 Hz), 7.55 (2H, m, ³*J*=8.4 Hz), 12.61 (1H, br s) ppm; ¹³C NMR ((CD₃)₂SO) δ : 9.5, 20.9, 108.3 (td, ²*J*=19.6 Hz, ⁴*J*= 3.5 Hz), 111.6, 120.6, 123.1, 125.7, 126.4, 129.8, 136.9 (dm, ¹*J*=249.4 Hz), 138.9, 140.2 (dm, ¹*J*=251.4 Hz), 143.9, 144.2 (dm, ¹*J*=248.6 Hz) ppm. ¹⁹F NMR δ : -163.4 (m), -154.8 (m, ³*J*=21.0 Hz), -138.7 (m, ³*J*=22.9 Hz) ppm.

Anal. Calcd for $C_{18}H_{12}F_5NO_2S$ (401.3): C, 53.86; H, 3.01; N, 3.49.

Found: C, 53.71; H, 2.96; N, 3.41.

4.1.2. 3-Methyl-4-pentafluorophenyl-5-(4-toluenesulfonyl)-3-pyrrolin-2-one (13). A mixture of 2.41 g (6 mmol) of pyrrole 15, 240 mL of acetic acid, 120 mL of CH₂Cl₂, and 120 mL of 30% H₂O₂ was heated at reflux for 24 h. The mixture was cooled, diluted with 200 mL of H₂O, and solid NaCl (\sim 50 g) was added. The product was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (5×70 mL), and the combined extracts were washed with 5% aq NaHCO₃ (100 mL) and H_2O (2×100 mL). The solution was dried (anhyd MgSO₄), filtered, and the residue, after evaporation of solvent, was purified in three portions by radial chromatography eluting with a gradient of 1-4% CH₃OH in CH₂Cl₂ (v/v). The pure fractions, after evaporation, were crystallized from ethyl acetate/hexane to afford 1.73 g (69%) of 13. It had mp 205–206 °C (dec); ¹H NMR δ: 1.77 (3H, q, J=1.4 Hz), 2.44 (3H, s), 5.72 (1H, br t, J=1.5 Hz), 7.31 (2H, m, ${}^{3}J=8.4$ Hz), 7.58 (2H, m, ${}^{3}J=8.4$ Hz), 7.66 (1H, br s) ppm; ¹³C NMR δ : 10.9 (t, J=2.9 Hz), 21.7, 76.9 (t, J=3.2 Hz), 106.7, 129.4, 129.9, 130.5, 130.9, 137.9 (dm, ${}^{1}J=251.4$ Hz), 141.8, 142.1 (dm, ${}^{1}J=250.7$ Hz), 144.0 (dm, ${}^{1}J=247.6$ Hz), 146.5, 171.3; ${}^{19}F$ NMR δ : -160.9 (m, ${}^{3}J=20.5$ Hz), -150.9 (m, ${}^{3}J=21.1$ Hz), -138.5 (v br s), -136.4 (v br s) ppm.

Anal. Calcd for $C_{18}H_{12}F_5NO_3S$ (417.3): C, 51.80; H, 2.90; N, 3.36.

Found: C, 52.25; H, 2.93, N, 3.23.

4.1.3. 3-Methyl-4-pentafluorophenyl-3-pyrrolin-2-one (10). To a solution of 417 mg (1.0 mmol) of toluenesulfonyl-pyrrolinone **13** in 60 mL of abs ethanol under N₂ was added sodium borohydride (114 mg, 3.0 mmol) during 10 min. The mixture was stirred for 10 more minutes, the solvent was evaporated under vacuum (<35 °C), and the residue was partitioned between 100 mL of 1% aq HCl and 100 mL of CHCl₃. The organic layer was washed with 3×50 mL of H₂O, dried over anhyd Na₂SO₄, filtered, and solvent was evaporated under vacuum. The crude material was purified by radial chromatography eluting with 1–2% CH₃OH in CH₂Cl₂ (v/v), and the polar band, after evaporation, was crystallized from ethyl acetate/hexane to afford 249 mg (95%) of pyrrolinone **10**. It had mp 133–134 °C; ¹H NMR δ : 1.88 (3H, m), 4.22 (2H, m), 7.78 (1H, br s) ppm;

¹³C NMR δ: 10.2 (t, J=2.0 Hz), 48.4 (t, J=2.6 Hz), 108.4 (td, ²J=18.2 Hz, ⁴J=3.9 Hz), 135.7, 137.5, 137.9 (dm, ¹J=253.8 Hz), 141.4 (dm, ¹J=256.7 Hz), 143.9 (dm, ¹J=250.3 Hz), 174.4 ppm; ¹⁹F NMR δ: -161.5 (m), -152.9 (m, ³J=20.8 Hz), -139.5 (m, ³J=21.7 Hz) ppm.

Anal. Calcd for $C_{11}H_6F_5NO$ (263.2): C, 50.20; H, 2.29; N, 5.31.

Found: C, 50.01; H, 2.59; N, 5.40.

4.1.4. 3-Methyl-4-(4-ethoxytetrafluorophenyl)-3-pyrrolin-2-one (11). To a solution of 789 mg (3.0 mmol) of pentafluorophenylpyrrolinone 10 in 10 mL of abs ethanol (cooled to 10 °C) was added during 1 h a freshly prepared solution of 15.0 mmol sodium ethoxide (from 345 mg of sodium) in 15 mL of abs ethanol. The mixture was stirred for an additional 1 h, before being diluted with 100 mL of CHCl₃ and poured into 100 mL of 1% aq HCl. The organic layer was washed with H_2O (3×50 mL), dried over anhyd Na₂SO₄, and filtered. The solvent was evaporated under vacuum and the residue was purified by radial chromatography eluting with 0.5-1.5% CH₃OH in CH₂Cl₂ (v/v). After solvent evaporation, the combined pure fractions were crystallized from ethyl acetate/hexane to give 617 mg (71%) of pyrrolinone **11**. It had mp 128–129 $^{\circ}$ C; ¹H NMR δ: 1.45 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz), 1.87 (3H, s), 4.20 (2H, br s), 4.36 (2H, q, J=7.0 Hz), 7.58 (1H, br s) ppm; ¹³C NMR δ : 10.3 (t, J=2.4 Hz), 15.4, 48.4 (t, J=2.9 Hz), 71.0 (t, J=3.6 Hz), 106.4 (t, ²J=18.3 Hz), 136.5, 136.8 (t, ³J=1.0 Hz), 137.9 (tt, ²J=12.1 Hz, ³J=3.6 Hz), 141.3 (dm, ^{1}J =248.2 Hz), 144.0 (dm, ^{1}J =248.2 Hz), 174.6 ppm; ^{19}F NMR δ : -157.4 (m, ³J=20.4 Hz), -141.6 (m, ³J= 20.4 Hz) ppm.

Anal. Calcd for $C_{13}H_{11}F_4NO_2$ (289.2): C, 53.98; H, 3.83; N, 4.84.

Found: C, 53.75; H, 4.07; N, 4.86.

4.2. General procedure for syntheses of dipyrrinones

A mixture of 1 mmol of the corresponding pyrrolinone, 369 mg (3 mmol) of 3,5-dimethyl-2-formyl-1*H*-pyrrole,¹⁵ 2.5 mL of anhyd CH₃CN, and 1.1 mL (10 mmol) of *N*-methyl-morpholine was heated under Ar at 90–95 °C in a sealed thick wall tube for 84 h (48 h for **9**). After being cooled and opened to atmospheric pressure, the mixture was chilled at -20 °C for 3 h, and the separated product was collected by filtration. It was washed on the filter with CH₃CN/H₂O/AcOH (5 mL/2 mL/2 mL), then dried under vacuum, and purified in several portions by radial chromatography eluting with gradient 1–3% CH₃OH in CH₂Cl₂ (v/v). The fractions containing pure pigment were combined, evaporated under vacuum, and the residue was crystallized from CH₃OH/CH₂Cl₂ to give pure bright yellow dipyrrinone.

4.2.1. 3-Pentafluorophenyl-2,7,9-trimethyl-(10*H***)-dipyrrin-1-one (7). This compound was isolated in 84% yield. It decomposed without melting at >321–324 °C; ¹H NMR \delta: 1.94 (3H, s), 2.05 (3H, s), 2.46 (3H, s), 5.78 (1H, s), 5.86 (1H, d, ⁴***J***=1.8 Hz), 10.51 (1H, br s), 11.97 (1H, br s) ppm; ¹³C NMR \delta: 9.8 (br), 11.5, 13.6, 105.0, 107.3 (td,** ²*J*=19.2 Hz, ⁴*J*=3.3 Hz), 111.1, 123.2, 124.9, 128.2, 129.4, 130.8 (m), 136.4, 137.8 (dm, ¹*J*=252.5 Hz), 141.6 (dm, ¹*J*=250.1 Hz), 144.2 (dm, ¹*J*=248.5 Hz), 172.3 ppm; ¹H NMR ((CD₃)₂SO) δ: 1.76 (3H, s), 1.92 (3H, s), 2.22 (3H, s), 5.60 (1H, s), 5.74 (1H, d, ⁴*J*=0.9 Hz), 10.48 (1H, s), 10.55 (1H, s) ppm; ¹³C NMR ((CD₃)₂SO) δ: 9.2 (br), 11.1, 12.9, 101.0, 106.8 (td, ²*J*=19.4 Hz, ⁴*J*=3.3 Hz), 110.3, 122.4, 125.4, 125.7, 129.3, 129.9 (t, ³*J*=1.9 Hz), 133.8, 137.5 (dm, ¹*J*=250.3 Hz), 140.9 (dm, ¹*J*=251.8 Hz), 143.6 (dm, ¹*J*=245.1 Hz), 170.1 ppm; ¹⁹F NMR δ: -161.6 (m), -153.0 (m, ³*J*=21.0 Hz), -138.4 (m, ³*J*=22.8 Hz) ppm.

Anal. Calcd for $C_{18}H_{13}F_5N_2O$ (368.3): C, 58.70; H, 3.56; N, 7.61.

Found: C, 58.46; H, 3.94; N, 7.54.

4.2.2. 3-(**4**-Ethoxytetrafluorophenyl)-2,7,9-trimethyl-(**10***H*)-dipyrrin-1-one (8). This pigment was obtained in 74% yield. It had mp 287–289 °C (dec); ¹H NMR δ : 1.49 (3H, t, *J*=7.1 Hz), 1.94 (3H, s), 2.05 (3H, s), 2.46 (3H, s), 4.42 (2H, q, *J*=7.1 Hz), 5.82 (1H, s), 5.84 (1H, d, ⁴*J*=2.3 Hz), 10.54 (1H, br s), 11.96 (1H, br, s) ppm; ¹³C NMR δ : 9.8, 11.4, 13.5, 15.5, 71.0, (t, *J*=3.5 Hz), 104.9, 105.2 (t, ²*J*=19.1 Hz), 110.9, 123.3, 125.3, 127.9, 128.9, 132.0 (t, ³*J*=2.0 Hz), 136.1, 137.9 (tt, ²*J*=12.1 Hz, ³*J*=3.4 Hz), 141.3 (dm, ¹*J*=248.1 Hz), 144.3 (dm, ¹*J*=247.8 Hz), 172.6 ppm; ¹⁹F NMR δ : -157.5 (m, ³*J*=21.3 Hz), -140.5 (m, ³*J*=21.3 Hz) ppm.

Anal. Calcd for $C_{20}H_{18}F_4N_2O_2$ (394.4): C, 60.91; H, 4.60; N, 7.10.

Found: C, 60.99; H, 4.88; N, 7.11.

4.2.3. 3-Phenyl-2,7,9-trimethyl-(10*H***)-dipyrrin-1-one (9).** This compound was isolated in 64% yield. It had mp 293–295 °C (dec); ¹H NMR δ : 2.01 (3H, s), 2.02 (3H, s), 2.47 (3H, s), 5.82 (1H, d, ⁴*J*=1.8 Hz), 6.06 (1H, s), 7.37 (2H, m), 7.44 (1H, m), 7.49 (2H, m), 10.61 (1H, br s), 11.81 (1H, br s) ppm; ¹³C NMR δ : 9.4, 11.4, 13.5, 105.5, 110.4, 123.4, 123.6, 127.3, 127.8, 128.2, 128.3, 129.8, 132.7, 135.1, 146.7, 173.3 ppm.

Anal. Calcd for $C_{18}H_{18}N_2O$ (278.3): C, 77.67; H, 6.52; N, 10.06.

Found: C, 77.76; H, 6.28; N, 10.20.

4.3. General procedure for insertion of *N*,*N*'-carbonyl bridge

A mixture of 1 mmol of dipyrrinones **7–9**, 1,1'-carbonyldiimidazole (0.81 g, 5 mmol), 1,8-diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene (DBU) (0.75 mL, 5 mmol), and 80 mL of anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ was heated under N₂ at reflux for 16 h. After cooling, the mixture was washed with 100 mL of 1% aq HCl, then with H₂O (3×100 mL), and the solution was dried over anhyd MgSO₄. After filtration and evaporation of the solvent under vacuum, the residue was purified by radial chromatography on silica gel eluting with gradient 0.2– 0.8% CH₃OH in CH₂Cl₂ (v/v). The fractions containing non-polar fluorescent band were combined, the solvents were evaporated under vacuum, and the residue was crystallized from ethyl acetate/hexane or methanol/water to afford pure bright yellow-orange tricyclic compounds.

4.3.1. 1-Pentafluorophenyl-2,7,9-trimethyl-3H,5H-dipyr-rolo[**1,2-c:2',1'-f]pyrimidine-3,5-dione** (**4**). This tricycle was isolated in 67% yield. It had mp 255–256 °C; ¹H NMR δ : 1.98 (3H, s), 2.10 (3H, s), 2.70 (3H, s), 6.06 (1H, br s), 6.16 (1H, s) ppm; ¹³C NMR δ : 10.0 (br), 10.8, 15.7, 99.7, 105.3 (td, ²*J*=18.7 Hz, ⁴*J*=4.0 Hz), 117.9, 123.2, 126.9, 128.1, 129.0 (br), 132.5, 136.4, 138.1 (dm, ¹*J*= 250.3 Hz), 142.1 (dm, ¹*J*=252.8 Hz), 143.1, 144.1 (dm, ¹*J*= 250.5 Hz), 165.9 ppm; ¹⁹F NMR δ : -160.4 (m), -151.1 (m, ³*J*=21.0 Hz), -137.8 (m, ³*J*=21.0 Hz) ppm.

Anal. Calcd for $C_{19}H_{11}F_5N_2O_2$ (394.3): C, 57.87; H, 2.81; N, 7.10.

Found: C, 57.84; H, 3.19; N, 7.13.

4.3.2. 1-(4-Ethoxytetrafluorophenyl)-2,7,9-trimethyl-3*H*,5*H*-dipyrrolo[1,2-*c*:2',1'-*f*]pyrimidine-3,5-dione (5). This compound was obtained in 74% yield. It had mp 192–193 °C; ¹H NMR δ : 1.49 (3H, t, *J*=7.1 Hz), 1.97 (3H, s), 2.10 (3H, s), 2.69 (3H, s), 4.42 (2H, q, *J*=7.1 Hz), 6.04 (1H, br s), 6.18 (1H, s) ppm; ¹³C NMR δ : 10.0 (t, *J*=1.6 Hz), 10.8, 15.5, 15.6, 71.1 (t, *J*=3.6 Hz), 99.7, 102.9 (t, ²*J*=18.6 Hz), 117.7, 122.7, 126.9, 128.4, 130.2 (t, ³*J*=2.2 Hz), 132.0, 136.1, 138.9 (tt, ²*J*=11.9 Hz, ³*J*=3.5 Hz), 141.4 (dm, ¹*J*=249.1 Hz), 143.2, 144.1 (dm, ¹*J*=249.1 Hz), 166.2 ppm; ¹⁹F NMR δ : -156.5 (m, ³*J*=20.1 Hz), -139.9 (m, ³*J*=20.1 Hz) ppm.

Anal. Calcd for $C_{21}H_{16}F_4N_2O_3$ (420.4): C, 60.00; H, 3.84; N, 6.66.

Found: C, 59.61; H, 4.16; N, 6.68.

4.3.3. 1-Phenyl-2,7,9-trimethyl-3*H***,5***H***-dipyrrolo[1,2***c***:2',1'-***f***]pyrimidine-3,5-dione (6). This tricycle was isolated in 93% yield. It had mp 196–197 °C; ¹H NMR \delta: 2.04 (3H, s), 2.08 (3H, s), 2.70 (3H, s), 6.03 (1H, br s), 6.34 (1H, s), 7.42 (2H, m), 7.53 (3H, m) ppm; ¹³C NMR \delta: 9.4, 10.7, 15.6, 99.9, 117.4, 121.7, 126.9, 127.1, 128.8, 128.9, 129.4, 130.3, 130.5, 135.3, 143.5, 143.8, 167.3 ppm.**

Anal. Calcd for $C_{19}H_{16}N_2O_2$ (304.3): C, 74.98; H, 5.30; N, 9.21.

Found: C, 75.00; H, 5.42; N, 9.29.

4.4. Sodium 2,7,9-trimethyl-1-pentafluorophenyl-3*H*,5*H*-dipyrrolo[1,2-*c*:2',1'-*f*]pyrimidine-3,5-dione-8-sulfonate (1)

Finely powdered bridged dipyrrinone **4** (100 mg, 0.25 mmol) was added to 6 mL of concd H_2SO_4 , and the mixture was stirred at 25 °C for 4 h. Then the temperature was lowered from -10 °C to -15 °C, and the solution was neutralized to pH 7–8 with satd aq Na₂CO₃ while introducing a stream of air in order to reduce foaming. When foaming became excessive, methanol was added in 1 mL portions on four occasions. After dilution with H_2O (50 mL), the mixture was

extracted with CHCl₃/CH₂Cl₂ 1:1 (7×50 mL), adding 10 mL portions of CH₃OH after each extraction. The combined extracts were evaporated under vacuum, and the residue was purified by radial chromatography by eluting with gradient 5-20% CH₃OH/CH₂Cl₂ (v/v). The polar band was collected, evaporated to dryness, and triturated with ethyl acetate. The solid product was collected by filtration to afford 49 mg (39%) of sulfonate 1. It decomposed at >277–285 °C; ¹H NMR ((CD₃)₂SO) δ: 1.87 (3H, s), 2.19 (3H, s), 2.83 (3H, s), 6.88 (1H, s) ppm; 13 C NMR ((CD₃)₂SO) δ : 9.5, 10.2, 13.5. 100.7. 104.9 (m. ${}^{2}J=18.7$ Hz). 121.8. 125.9. 128.2. 128.8, 131.5, 132.7, 134.6 (br), 137.5 (dm, ${}^{1}J=251.4$ Hz), 141.3 (dm, ¹*J*=250.5 Hz), 142.6, 143.8 (dm, ¹*J*=248.9 Hz), 165.3 ppm; ¹⁹F NMR ((CD₃)₂SO) δ : -161.6 (m), -153.8 (m, ${}^{3}J=22.1$ Hz), -138.2 (m, ${}^{3}J=22.1$ Hz) ppm. FAB-HRMS (3-NBA+Na) calcd for $C_{19}H_{10}F_5N_2Na_2O_5S$ $(M+Na)^+$, m/z: 519.0026, found: 519.0021, $\Delta=0.5$ mDa, error 1.0 ppm.

4.5. Sodium 1-(4-ethoxytetrafluorophenyl)-2,7,9-trimethyl-3*H*,5*H*-dipyrrolo[1,2-*c*:2',1'-*f*]pyrimidine-3,5dione-8-sulfonate (2)

Finely ground bridged dipyrrinone 5 (105 mg, 0.25 mmol) was added to 5 mL of concd H_2SO_4 precooled at 0 °C, and the magenta colored mixture was stirred for 2 h. Then the temperature was lowered from -10 °C to -15 °C, and the solution was neutralized to pH 7-8 with concd aq Na₂CO₃ while introducing a stream of air in order to reduce foaming. Methanol was added in 1 mL portions on four occasions to wash the foam down. After dilution with H₂O (50 mL), the mixture was extracted with CHCl₃/CH₂Cl₂ 1:1 (7 \times 50 mL) adding 10 mL portions of CH₃OH after each extraction. The combined extracts were evaporated under vacuum and the residue was purified by radial chromatography eluting with gradient 5-20% CH₃OH in CH₂Cl₂ (v/v). The polar band was collected, evaporated to dryness, and triturated with CH₂Cl₂/hexane. The solid product was collected by filtration to give (after drying under vacuum at 80 °C) 59 mg (45%) of sulfonate 2. It had mp 258–261 °C (dec); ¹H NMR ((CD₃)₂SO) δ: 1.39 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz), 1.86 (3H, s), 2.20 (3H, s), 2.83 (3H, s), 4.40 (2H, q, J=7.0 Hz), 6.87 (1H, s) ppm; ¹³C NMR ((CD₃)₂SO) δ : 9.5, 10.2, 13.5, 15.3, 71.1, 100.7, 102.7 (t, ${}^{2}J=18.9$ Hz), 121.7, 125.9, 128.4, 129.8 (br t), 131.0, 132.6, 134.7 (br), 137.9 (m), $^{1}J=246.6$ Hz), 141.1 (dm, 142.7, 143.9 (dm, ^{1}J =243.3 Hz), 165.4 ppm; 19 F NMR ((CD₃)₂SO) δ : -156.7 (m, ${}^{3}J=21.9$ Hz), -140.1 (m, ${}^{3}J=21.9$ Hz) ppm. FAB-HRMS (3-NBA+Na) calcd for C₂₁H₁₅F₄N₂Na₂SO₆ $(M+Na)^+$, *m/z*: 545.0383; found: 545.0393, $\Delta = -1.0$ mDa, error -1.9 ppm.

4.6. Metabolism studies

The procedure for metabolism studies in the rat has been described in detail elsewhere.^{11,12} Solutions of **1** and **2** in 1 mL rat serum, prepared by dissolving ~0.25 mg of each pigment in 0.1 mL (CH₃)₂SO and diluting this solution slowly into 1 mL rat serum, were injected intravenously as a bolus into the femoral vein and bile was collected from a short indwelling cannula in frequent 20-µL aliquots under safelights. Bile samples were flash frozen at once in dry-ice and stored at <-50 °C until analyzed by HPLC as

previously described^{11,12} using absorbance at 434 nm for detection. Studies were conducted in adult male homozygous Gunn rats. Gunn rats were used to simplify the appearance and integration of chromatograms since these rats lack UGT1 isozymes and do not excrete bilirubin glucuronides in bile.^{1,5} No metabolism of **1** or **2** by UGT1 isozymes would be expected and control experiments indicated that hepatic metabolism and excretion of **2** was qualitatively similar in homozygous, heterozygous, and wild-type rats.

Acknowledgements

We thank the U.S. National Institutes of Health (HD-17779 and DK-26307) for generous support of this work, Dr. Justin Brower for preliminary studies, and Wilma Norona for excellent technical assistance with the metabolism studies. Dr. S.E. Boiadjiev is on leave from the Institute of Organic Chemistry, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences.

References and notes

- Chowdhury, J. R.; Wolkoff, A. W.; Chowdhury, N. R.; Arias, I. M. *The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease*; Scriver, C. R., Beaudet, A. L., Sly, W. S., Valle, D., Eds.; McGraw-Hill: New York, NY, 2001; Vol. II, pp 3063– 3101.
- (a) Falk, H. *The Chemistry of Linear Oligopyrroles and Bile Pigments*; Springer: Wien, 1989; (b) Lightner, D. A. *Bilirubin*; Heirwegh, K. P. M., Brown, S. B., Eds.; CRC: Boca Raton, FL, 1982; Vol. 1, pp 1–58.
- McDonagh, A. F.; Palma, L. A.; Trull, F. R.; Lightner, D. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 6865–6867.
- (a) McDonagh, A. F.; Lightner, D. A. Semin. Liver Dis. 1988, 8, 272–283;
 (b) McDonagh, A. F.; Lightner, D. A. Pediatrics 1985, 75, 443–455.
- Owens, I. S.; Basu, N. K.; Banerjee, R. Methods Enzymol. 2005, 400, 1–22.
- Leslie, E. M.; Deeley, R. G.; Cole, S. P. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 2005, 204, 216–237.
- (a) Lightner, D. A.; Ma, J. S.; Adams, T. C.; Franklin, R. W.; Landen, G. L. *J. Heterocycl. Chem.* **1984**, *21*, 139–144; (b) Shrout, D. P.; Lightner, D. A. *Synthesis* **1990**, 1062–1065; (c) Grunewald, J. O.; Cullen, R.; Bredfeldt, J.; Strope, E. R. *Org. Prep. Proced. Int.* **1975**, *7*, 103–110.
- McDonagh, A. F.; Lightner, D. A. *Hepatic Metabolism and Disposition of Endo and Xenobiotics*; Bock, K. W., Gerok, W., Matern, S., Eds.; Falk Symposium No. 57; Kluwer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 1991; Chapter 5, pp 47–59.
- 9. (a) Ma, J. S.; Lightner, D. A. *Tetrahedron* 1991, 47, 3719–3726;
 (b) Hwang, K. O.; Lightner, D. A. *Tetrahedron* 1994, 50, 1955–1966.
- (a) Brower, J. O.; Lightner, D. A. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 2713–2717; (b) Pavlopoulos, T. G.; Lightner, D. A.; Brower, J. O. Appl. Opt.—LP 2003, 42, 3555–3557; (c) Boiadjiev, S. E.; Lightner, D. A. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 2004, 17, 675– 679.
- Woydziak, Z. R.; Boiadjiev, S. E.; Norona, W. S.; McDonagh, A. F.; Lightner, D. A. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 8417–8423.
- Brower, J. O.; Lightner, D. A.; McDonagh, A. F. *Tetrahedron* 2001, 57, 7813–7827.

- Weber, L. M.; Cook, P. D.; Elslager, E. F.; Hung, J. H.; Johnson, J. L.; Kesten, S. J.; McNamara, D. J.; Ortwine, D. F.; Worth, D. F. J. Med. Chem. 1986, 29, 924–939.
- Kinoshita, H.; Hayashi, Y.; Murata, Y.; Inomata, K. Chem. Lett. 1993, 1437–1440.
- (a) de Groot, J. A.; Gorter-LaRoy, G. M.; van Koeveringe, J. A.; Lugtenburg, J. *Org. Prep. Proced. Int.* **1981**, *13*, 97–101; (b) Smith, K. M.; Langry, K. C.; Minnetian, O. M. *J. Org. Chem.* **1984**, *49*, 4602–4609.
- 16. White, W. L.; Filler, R. J. Chem. Soc. C 1971, 2062-2068.
- Aroskar, E. V.; Brown, P. J. N.; Plevey, R. G.; Stephens, R. J. Chem. Soc. C 1968, 1569–1575.
- (a) Schlosser, M.; Bobbio, C.; Rausis, T. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 2494–2502; (b) Bobbio, C.; Schlosser, M. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 3039–3045; (c) Sandford, G.; Slater, R.; Yufit, D. S.; Howard, Y. A. K.; Vong, A. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 7208–7216.
- Günter, H. NMR Spectroscopy, 2nd ed.; Wiley: Chichester, UK, 1994; pp 335–389.
- Emsley, J. W.; Phillips, L. Prog. Nucl. Magn. Reson. Spectrosc. 1971, 7, 1–526.

- (a) Jones, K.; Mooney, E. F. Annu. Rep. NMR Spectrosc. 1970, 3, 261–421; (b) Jones, K.; Mooney, E. F. Annu. Rep. NMR Spectrosc. 1971, 4, 391–495.
- 22. Thomas, W. A. Annu. Rep. NMR Spectrosc. 1970, 3, 91-147.
- 23. Ute, K.; Kinoshita, R.; Matrui, K.; Miyatake, N.; Hatada, K. *Chem. Lett.* **1992**, 1337–1340.
- 24. Gross, U.; Pfeifer, D. J. Fluorine Chem. 2002, 113, 17-26.
- Vaughan, M. D.; Cleve, P.; Robinson, V.; Duewel, H. S.; Honek, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 8475–8478.
- PCModel version 9.0 from Serena Software, Bloomington, IN (http://www.serenasoft.com), 2004.
- 27. (a) Nogales, D. F.; Ma, J.-S.; Lightner, D. A. *Tetrahedron* 1993, 49, 2361–2372; (b) Huggins, M. T.; Lightner, D. A. *Monatsh. Chem.* 2001, *132*, 203–221.
- (a) Boiadjiev, S. E.; Lightner, D. A. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2004, 41, 1033–1037; (b) Boiadjiev, S. E.; Lightner, D. A. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 688–691.
- (a) Chen, Q.; Huggins, M. T.; Lightner, D. A.; Norona, W.; McDonagh, A. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, *121*, 9253–9264;
 (b) Hoogenboom, B. E.; Oldenziel, O. H.; van Leusen, A. M. Org. Synth. Coll. **1988**, *6*, 987–990.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 7056-7070

Synthetic study of hetisine-type aconite alkaloids. Part 1: Preparation of tetracyclic intermediate containing the C14–C20 bond

Hideaki Muratake* and Mitsutaka Natsume*

Research Foundation Itsuu Laboratory, 2-28-10 Tamagawa, Setagaya-ku, Tokyo 158-0094, Japan

Received 10 March 2006; accepted 12 April 2006 Available online 22 May 2006

Abstract—Full details for the total synthesis of (\pm) -nominine, a hetisine-type aconite alkaloid, are presented in three parts. Here (part 1), we describe the preparation of the key tetracyclic intermediate **6**. Our palladium-catalyzed intramolecular α -arylation was adopted for preparation of the intermediate **4** with an angular formyl group. An acetal—ene reaction was then employed for C14—C20 bond formation to secure **6** from **5**. The reaction mechanism of the acetal—ene reaction is discussed, and a method for removal of the 2-hydroxyethyl group from **6** is developed. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

1.1. The aconite alkaloids

Aconitum, which has a beautiful blue-purple flower, is wellknown as a poisonous herb, which occasionally results in fatalities following accidental ingestion. The aconite alkaloids, mainly contained in the tuberous root, have long been of interest to researchers, because of both their pharmacological activity and their structural complexity.^{1,2} Alkaloids with similar structures have also been isolated from plants of the species *Delphinium*, *Consolida*, *Thalictrum*, and *Spiraea*, and these are included in the so-called aconite alkaloids. Over 400 aconite alkaloids have so far been isolated and structurally characterized.^{1,2}

The fundamental structural frameworks of these alkaloids are generally classified into five skeletons, i.e., atidane, veatchane, cycloveatchane, aconitane, and hetisan (Scheme 1). Extensive synthetic studies of these pharmacologically important alkaloids for about 40 years have led to the total synthesis of several alkaloids belonging to the first four of the above five groups: atisine³ (atidane), veatchine⁴ (veatchane), garryine⁵ (veatchane), napelline⁶ (cycloveatchane), delphinine⁷ (aconitane), talatisamine⁸ (aconitane), and chasmanine⁹ (aconitane). However, attempts to construct even a simple hetisan skeleton (the name of which is derived

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.084

from hetisine), not to mention total synthesis of a hetisan alkaloid, have remained unsuccessful since the structure of hetisine was first clarified by X-ray crystal-structure analysis in 1962.¹⁰ The heptacyclic hetisan skeleton is the most structurally complex among the above five frameworks, and incorporates two additional bonds, N–C6 and C14–C20, relative to the atidane skeleton, as exemplified by nominine, kobusine, and pseudokobusine (Scheme 1). The synthetic difficulty of the skeleton stems from the presence of these two bonds.



Scheme 1. Five representative aconite skeletons and examples of hetisine-type alkaloids.

Keywords: Aconite; Alkaloid; α -Arylation; Palladium catalyst; Acetal–ene reaction.

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel.: +81 3 3700 5492; fax: +81 3 3700 5431; e-mail: hmuratake@itsuu.or.jp

1.2. Synthetic background

Several years ago, we developed a novel palladium-catalyzed intramolecular α -arylation of aliphatic ketone, formyl, and nitro groups¹¹ during the course of our synthetic studies of duocarmycin SA analogs.¹² As an application of this reaction, we embarked on synthetic studies of the hetisine-type aconite alkaloids. Our fundamental synthetic strategy was to form the N–C6 and C14–C20 bonds at an early stage of the synthetic route, because it would become more difficult to connect them at a later stage, as these two bonds greatly restrict the molecular conformation. Thus, stereocontrol was expected to be easier with early introduction of these two bonds.

We first reported the preparation of the hexacyclic compound 1 lacking the C-ring of the hetisan skeleton, starting from compound 2 by way of the intermediates 3–8 (Scheme 2).¹³ Our further synthetic efforts culminated in a total synthesis of (\pm) -nominine (Scheme 1), the simplest hetisine-type aconite alkaloid.¹⁴ In this and the next papers (parts 1 and 2), we present full details for the preparation of 1. In part 3, we describe the total synthesis of (\pm) -nominine, diverging from the intermediate 8. These three papers thus describe the first synthesis of a hetisine-type aconite alkaloid. Five synthetic investigations have been reported so far, leading toward the total synthesis of this class of aconite alkaloid.^{15–19}



Scheme 2. Outline of the preparation of 1 from 2.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Preparation of tetracyclic intermediate 4

We have already reported in detail the preparation of compound **4**, starting from **2** via the precursor **3** by means of a palladium-catalyzed intramolecular cyclization reaction (Scheme 2).^{11b,c} While the starting material **2** is a known compound,²¹ the literature methods seemed inappropriate for large-scale preparation.^{20,21} Therefore, we prepared it from 1-bromo-4-methoxy-2-methylbenzene (9) or 3-meth-oxyphenylacetic acid (10) by modification of the method of Ghatak²⁰ or Meyers²¹ (Scheme 3), respectively. The cyclization step of 3 to 4 was also improved for the large-scale preparation.



Scheme 3. Large-scale preparation of 2 and 4: (a) NBS, BPO, CCl₄, Ref. 20; (b) KCN, EtOH–H₂O, **12** 92%; (c) H₂SO₄, EtOH, **13** 90%; (d) DIBAL-H, CH₂Cl₂, **14** 96%; (e) MsCl, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, **15** 99%; (f) NaI, acetone, **2** 96%; (g) CICOOMe, Et₃N, THF, then NaBH₄, THF–H₂O, **16** 95%; (h) Br₂, CHCl₃, Ref. 21; (i) PdCl₂(Ph₃P)₂, Cs₂CO₃, Ph₃P, THF, **4** 71%, **17** 4%, **18** 2%.

2.1.1. Preparation of 1-bromo-2-(2-iodoethyl)-4-methoxybenzene (2). 1-Bromo-2-bromomethyl-4-methoxybenzene (11), prepared from 9 according to the literature, 20 was treated with potassium cyanide (KCN) in ethanol-water (EtOH-H₂O) to afford 12 in 92% yield (Scheme 3). Alcoholysis of 12 with sulfuric acid (H₂SO₄) in EtOH afforded the ethyl ester 13 in 90% yield. Transformation of 13 to 2 was carried out readily by (i) reduction with diisobutylaluminum hydride (DIBAL-H), (ii) methanesulfonylation of the resulting primary alcohol to form 15, and (iii) iodination with sodium iodide (NaI) in acetone to give 2 in yields of 96, 99, and 96%, respectively. Alternatively, compound 14 was prepared from 10 as follows: reduction of the carboxylic acid 10 to an alcohol 16 was carried out with (i) methyl chloroformate (ClCOOMe), triethylamine (Et₃N), and (ii) sodium borohydride (NaBH₄) in 95% yield, and subsequent bromination according to the literature²¹ readily afforded the intermediate 14.

2.1.2. Palladium-catalyzed cyclization of 3. Transformation of the above-obtained **2** to the precursor **3** was executed according to the reported route in six steps.^{11c} In our previous reports, **4** (cis/trans = 4.2, the structure of the major cis isomer had been established by the X-ray analysis^{11c}) was obtained by the treatment of **3** with dichlorobis(triphenyl-phosphine)palladium(II) [PdCl₂(Ph₃P)₂], cesium carbonate (Cs₂CO₃) in tetrahydrofuran (THF) in 65% yield. On a larger scale, however, precipitation of black palladium metal was observed and the reaction ceased in mid-course. The reaction proceeded reproducibly to completion in the presence of triphenylphosphine [Ph₃P, 0.2 equiv, PdCl₂(Ph₃P)₂]

(9 mol %), Cs_2CO_3 (1.6 equiv) in refluxing THF for 60 h on a 32 mmol scale], though a longer reaction time was required than in the case without the addition of Ph₃P. Under these conditions, the desired **4** (inseparable mixture of cis and trans isomers in a ratio of cis/trans = 3.4) was obtained in 71% yield, accompanied with by-products **17** (4%) and **18** (2%).

2.2. Transformation of 4 to 5

2.2.1. Transformation of 4 to the enone-diacetal 23. Acetalization of 4 (cis/trans = 3.4) with *p*-toluenesulfonic acid (p-TsOH) and ethylene glycol in refluxing benzene afforded readily separable cis (19) and trans (20) diacetals in 61% and 34% yields, respectively (Scheme 4). An acidcatalyzed equilibration was observed at the C5 position adjacent to the original acetal group at C4, and the ratio of the desired trans isomer 20 improved (19/20=1.8). This equilibration was conveniently leveraged for the conversion of 19 to 20 by repeated acetalization of the isolated cis isomer 19 to give recovered 19 (61%) and 20 (35%). For the elaboration of the anisole ring, the diacetal 20 was submitted to Birch reduction with lithium (Li) metal in liq. ammonia (NH₃) and THF-EtOH to give the dihydro compound 21 in 92% yield. Brief exposure of 21 to 0.5% hydrochloric acid (HCl) in THF-H₂O (4:1) afforded the β , γ -enone 22 (88%) along with the α,β -enone 23 (7%), the two acetal groups being kept intact. The former was treated with sodium methoxide (NaOMe) in methanol (MeOH) to yield 23 (55%) and an oxetane 24 (10%), accompanied with recovery of 22 (10%). It is likely that partial air oxidation

took place at C9 of **23** during the alkaline treatment, and the resulting hydroperoxide **25** was attacked nucleophilically by the enolate anion at C12 (hetisan numbering) to yield **24**. This was confirmed by the fact that on further addition of dimethyl sulfide (Me₂S) to the alkaline treatment, the γ -hydroxy- α , β -enone **26** was obtained in 14% yield in place of **24**, in addition to **23** (58%) and recovered **22** (13%). Treatment of **22** with 1,8-diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene (DBU) in benzene gave **25** (18%), **26** (19%), and recovered **22** (40%).²² To prove the structure, compound **26** was synthesized through an alterative approach, as follows. Epoxidation of **22** was carried out with *m*-chloroperbenzoic acid (*m*-CPBA) as usual, and then the resulting mixture was treated with DBU to provide **26** (61%) along with its stereoisomer **27** (34%).

2.2.2. Preparation of 5 from 23. Reduction of the aboveobtained enone **23** with NaBH₄ in the presence of cerium chloride (CeCl₃) was found to afford the desired β -allyl alcohol **28** exclusively in 94% yield. The half height *J* value (19 Hz) of H13 (hetisan numbering) in the ¹H NMR spectrum of **28** implies an axial orientation, and this means that the 13-hydroxy group must take equatorial β -configuration. The reason why we need the β -allyl alcohol **28** is that the stereochemistry of C8 accurately reflects that of the angular C13 in the next two carbons (corresponding to C15 and C16 of the hetisan skeleton) elongation at C13 by Claisen rearrangement. Coordination of the oxygen atom of the 1,3dioxolanyl group at C10 to the cerium borohydride species resulted in the desired one-sided reduction of the carbonyl group from the α side to give **28**, as depicted in Scheme 4.²³



Scheme 4. Transformation of 4 to 5: (a) (CH₂OH)₂, *p*-TsOH, benzene, **19** 61% and **20** 34% from **4**; **19** 61% and **20** 35% from **19**; (b) Li, EtOH, liq. NH₃–THF, **21** 92%; (c) 0.5% HCl, THF–H₂O (4:1), **22** 88%, **23** 7%; (d) NaOMe, MeOH, **23** 55%, **24** 10%, recovery of **22** 10%; (e) NaOMe, Me₂S, MeOH, **23** 58%, **26** 14%, recovery of **22** 13%; (f) DBU, benzene, **25** 18%, **26** 19%, recovery of **22** 40%; (g) *m*-CPBA, CH₂Cl₂, then DBU, benzene, **26** 61%, **27** 34%; (h) NaBH₄, CeCl₃·7H₂O, MeOH, **28** 94%; (i) *N*,*N*-Dimethylacetamide dimethyl acetal, toluene, 160 °C (sealed tube), **29** 69%; (j) Ac₂O, pyridine, CH₂Cl₂, **30** 86%; (k) MeC(OEt)₃, *t*-BuCOOH, 160 °C (sealed tube), **31** 21%; (l) BH₃·NH₃, BuLi, THF, **32** 94%. (m) Piv₂O, Et₃N, 4-DMAP, CH₂Cl₂, **5** 98%.



Scheme 5. Acetal-ene reaction of 29, 31, and 5.

Then **28** was exposed to *N*.*N*-dimethylacetamide dimethyl acetal in toluene at 160 °C (sealed tube) to obtain the acetamide **29** in 69% yield.²⁴ An inseparable mixture of dehydrated dienes was formed as by-products. Of the two dienes, the $\Delta_{7.8}$ and $\Delta_{13.14}$ isomer **30** was formed exclusively on acetylation of 28 with acetic anhydride (Ac₂O) in pyridine by spontaneous elimination of acetic acid from the intermediary allyl acetate. Usual Claisen reaction with ethyl orthoacetate and pivalic acid afforded only 21% yield of 31. As the next acetal-ene reaction of 29 was subject to a serious side reaction due to the side chain at C8 (vide infra), the amide 29 was reduced with the reagent prepared in situ from n-butyllithium (n-BuLi) and borane-ammonia complex (BH₃·NH₃) to provide 32 in 94% yield.²⁵ The alcohol 32 was protected as the pivaloate with pivalic anhydride (Piv₂O) and Et₃N in the presence of 4-dimethylaminopyridine (4-DMAP) to afford **5** in 98% yield. The bulky pivaloyl protecting group was selected to prevent the side reaction in the next acetal-ene reaction. Pivaloylation with pivaloyl chloride (PivCl) and Et₃N is much faster than that with Piv₂O, but it occasionally afforded an intractable mixture, especially on large-scale reaction, probably due to ring opening of the dioxolane ring at C4 to form (2-pivaloyloxy)ethyl enol ether.

2.3. Formation of the C14–C20 bond

2.3.1. Acetal-ene reaction of 29, 31, and 5. First, the substrate 29 was subjected to the acetal-ene reaction²⁶ (Scheme 5). A dichloromethane (CH₂Cl₂) solution of 29 was treated with boron trifluoride diethyl etherate $(BF_3 \cdot OEt_2)$ at -18 °C to provide the expected compound 33 in only 21% yield, along with the pentacyclic lactone 34 in 72% yield as a by-product after reacetalization of the partially deprotected 4-carbonyl group (Table 1, run d). Since the employment of CH₂Cl₂ as the reaction solvent resulted in the desired 33 being a minor product, we looked for other reaction solvents in order to improve the yield of 33 (Table 1). Among the solvents tested, toluene was found to be the best, giving 33 (41%) and 34 (48%) (run b). The reaction temperature also affected the yield, and reaction at -18 °C (run b) gave the best yield of 33 among runs b, f, and g. A less polar solvent, cyclohexene-PhCH₃ (6:1) resulted in a lower yield of 33 with a new by-product 35 in 10% yield. The acetalene reaction of the ester 31 under the best conditions for 29 gave no desired compound corresponding to 33, but only 34 in 66% yield (run i). Treatment of 29 with dilute HCl also afforded the lactone 34 in 64% yield, together with a ketone 36 in 26% (run h).

Table 1. Acetal-ene reaction of 29, 31 to form 33, 34, 35, 36 (Scheme 5)

Run Su	Substrate	Acid	Solvent	Temp (°C) Time (h)		Yield (%)			
						33	34	35	36
a	29	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	-PhCH ₃ (6:1)	-18	2	18	63	10	
b	29	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	PhCH ₃	-18	2	41	48	_	
с	29	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	ClCH ₂ CH ₂ Cl	-18	3	14	69	_	
d	29	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-18	2	21	72	_	
e	29	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	CH_3NO_2	-18	2	_	77	_	
f	29	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	PhCH ₃	-80 to -40	4	16	62		_
g	29	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	PhH	19	1	28	42		_
ĥ ^a	29	0.5% HCl	THF- H_2O (4:1)	0	1		64		26
i	31	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	PhCH ₃	-18	2	—	66	_	—

^a Products were separated without reacetalization with ethylene glycol and *p*-TsOH.

Judging from the above result that even an ester group cyclized to form the lactone 34, it seemed possible that not only the alcohol 32 but also its acetate would give the corresponding cyclized products in their acetal-ene reactions. Therefore, as mentioned in Section 2.2, we selected a bulky pivaloyl group to protect the alcohol 32, affording 5, which was subjected to the acetal-ene reaction under a variety of reaction conditions (Table 2). The products were, this time, purified after deprotection of the C4 acetal group by treatment with *p*-TsOH in acetone. When the reaction was carried out in toluene at below -18 °C, we obtained compound 6 in a good yield of 66% (runs d, e). Careful separation of the reaction products of run d provided two more compounds. 37 (3%) and **38** (3%), as by-products. The ene reaction under the conditions of run d followed by reacetalization as above provided **39** (70%), together with **40** (5%) and **41** (3%).

 Table 2. Acetal–ene reaction of 5 to form 6

Run	Lewis acid	Solvent	Temp (°C)	Time (h)	6 (%)
a	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-18	2	55
b	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	ClCH ₂ CH ₂ Cl	-18	2	50
с	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	CS_2	-18	2	55
d	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	PhCH ₃	-18	1	66 ^a
e	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	PhCH ₃	-70 to -50	2	66
f	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	PhCH ₃	-18	0.17	59
g	$SnCl_4$	PhCH ₃	-18	2	45

^a By-products **37** (3%) and **38** (3%) were also isolated.

2.3.2. Reaction mechanism of the acetal-ene reaction. The reaction mechanism for the acetal-ene reaction is considered to be as follows. Coordination of the dioxolane oxygen at C10 (hetisan numbering) of 29, 31, and 5 to BF3 gives rise to an intermediate A, in which the oxonium cation is arrayed so as to circumvent the steric congestion between the two 1,3-diaxial substituents at C4 and C8, as depicted in A (Scheme 6). Nucleophilic attack from the olefin to the oxonium cation takes place in two different modes, 5-exo-trig and 6-endo-trig, giving intermediates B and C, respectively. These reaction paths can explain the S* stereochemistry of C20 in **B** and the corresponding carbon in **C**. Deprotonation from C12 of B affords 33 from 29 and 6 from 5. In the case of C, on the other hand, there are no eliminable protons to form an olefin, because the two carbons lying adjacent to the cation are a tertiary bridgehead carbon and a quaternary carbon. Therefore, when the intermediate C carrying a nucleophilic C8 side chain is derived from 29

and 31, intramolecular cyclization occurs to form the lactone 34 by way of the intermediary cation **D**. On the contrary, this cyclization is not able to occur from C, derived from 5, because the bulkiness of the pivaloyl group prevents the cyclization and results in retro-ene reaction to afford 6 eventually, by way of A and B. The stereochemistry of 33 was born out by the fact that 4% NOE enhancement was observed at H20 (δ 4.44, d, J=6.5 Hz) on irradiation at H14 $(\delta 2.91, \text{ ddd}, J=7, 6.5, 1.5 \text{ Hz})$ in the ¹H NMR spectrum. Analogously, observation of the NOE enhancement between two protons of 34 at δ 3.85 (d. J=3 Hz) and at δ 4.26 (d. J=4 Hz) supports the structure; they were assigned to the two protons on the carbons bearing the (2-hydroxyethyl)oxy group and the lactone O atom, respectively. The IR spectrum of 34 (ν_{max} =1767 cm⁻¹) is also consistent with the 5-membered lactone structure.

Partial cyclization from the intermediate **B** from **29** gives rise to the by-product **35**, whose IR spectrum (ν_{max} =1719 cm⁻¹) is consistent with the 6-membered lactone structure. Formation of the cis isomer 37 is attributable to enolization brought about by coordination of the C4 acetal or carbonyl group to BF_3 . A sequence of reactions on 6, coordination of the oxygen at C20 to BF₃ followed by cyclization from $\Delta_{12,13}$ to C20 in 3-exo-trig mode, and deprotonation from C11 provides an explanation for the formation of the byproducts 38 and 40. Compound 41, obtained in a small amount, is a by-product generated by trapping of the intermediary cation of the 6-endo-trig route with water at quenching of the reaction. The orientation of the secondary hydroxy group of 41 was determined by the fact that there is a 4%NOE enhancement between the two protons on the carbons bearing oxygen in the bicyclo[2.2.2]octane framework, as depicted in Scheme 5.

2.3.3. Suitability of 2-hydroxyethyl group to protect the C20 hydroxy group and model study for its removal. The above acetal-ene reaction furnished the desired tetracyclic products 33, 6, and 39 with a 2-hydroxyethyl protecting group at the C20 hydroxy group. The ene reaction proceeds, needless to say, starting from an aldehyde as well as an acetal. However, this protecting group plays a critical role in the total synthesis of (\pm) -nominine in the following respects. (1) The compound without a protecting group on the C20 hydroxy group is in danger of undergoing C14–C20 bond fission through the retro-ene reaction. In addition, it would



Scheme 6. Reaction mechanism of the acetal-ene reaction to form the C14-C20 bond.

be difficult to protect the hydroxy group on C20 because of steric hindrance. In the case of the compounds **33**, **6**, and **39**, the 2-hydroxyethyl group (originated from ethylene glycol) conveniently protected the hydroxy group. (2) As the 2-hydroxyethyl group is an extremely stable protecting group, provided the terminal primary hydroxy group is protected appropriately, it can readily tolerate a variety of reaction conditions encountered in the subsequent synthetic route. (3) The 2-hydroxyethyl group can be removed with ease by bromination followed by mild reduction with zinc in alcohol–H₂O.

We confirmed these features by means of the following model reactions with compound **33** (Scheme 7). Compound **33** was readily brominated with carbon tetrabromide (CBr₄) and Ph₃P to afford **42** in 87% yield. Then smooth removal of the 2-bromoethyl group was carried out by exposure of **42** to zinc (Zn) in refluxing 2-propanol–H₂O (14:1) with ammonium chloride (NH₄Cl) to afford **43** in the high yield of 94%. Taking into consideration the prospective construction of the azabicyclo ring system of the hetisan framework, we tried to protect this hydroxy group with an acyl group, such as acetyl, methanesulfonyl, or trifluoromethanesulfonyl. However, these trials resulted in a recovery of **43** due to the steric congestion around the hydroxy group. Oxidation of **43** with Dess–Martin periodinane²⁷ provided **44** in a good yield.



Scheme 7. Model deprotection of the 2-hydroxyethyl group and allylic oxidation of **33**: (a) Br_4C , Ph_3P , CH_2Cl_2 , **42** 87%; (b) Zn, NH_4Cl , 2-PrOH-H₂O (14:1), **43** 94% from **42**; **47** 89% from **45**; **48** 49%, **49** 9%, **50** 39% from **46**; (c) Dess–Martin periodinane, CH_2Cl_2 , **44** 92%; (d) CrO_3 , 3,5-dimethylpyrazole, **45** 28%, **46** 28%, recovery of **42** 29%.

2.4. Further transformation from the acetal–ene reaction products

With the desired compounds **33**, **6**, and **39** in hand, we next examined further transformation toward the hetisan skeleton, including nominine. The basicity of the nitrogen on the azabicyclo ring system is so strong that it would be troublesome to carry on the synthesis employing the intermediates bearing the ring system. So we envisioned construction

of the azabicyclo ring preferably at a later stage of the total synthesis. Thus, we directed our attention to functionalization of C11, C6, or the side chain at C8. Here, we describe an attempt to functionalize C11 of 33 by allylic oxidation.

A number of aconite alkaloids, such as kobusine and pseudokobusine, carry an oxygen function (carbonyl or hydroxy group) at C11 (Scheme 1). To begin with, allylic oxidation of **42** was examined (Scheme 7). Chromium trioxide (CrO₃, 12 equiv) oxidation in the presence of 3,5-dimethylpyrazole²⁸ gave favorable results, giving **45** and **46** in 28% yield each, along with a recovery of **42** in 29% yield. Further excess of the oxidizing reagent caused a significant drop in the yields. Although the oxidation did not afford the desired product **45** in satisfactory yield and the regioisomeric enone **46** was obtained in the same amount, some alkaloids such as hetisine and spirasine IV have an oxygen function at this position, C13.^{1,2}

The above reductive deprotection of the hydroxy group at C20 was carried out for **45** and **46**. The sole product from **45** was a saturated keto–alcohol **47**: the enone group was incompatible with the reductive conditions. The enone–alcohol **48** was produced from **46**, but compound **50**, corresponding to **47** and the debrominated product **49**, were also isolated. Thus, it proved complicated to functionalize C11 of **33**. However, some clues were obtained for functionalization of C11 and for C-ring formation by the connection of C12 and the side chain at C8.

In part 2, we will describe some attempts at C-ring formation and the functionalization of C6 for the construction of the pyrrolidine ring, leading to the synthesis of a hexacyclic compound **1** lacking the C-ring of the hetisan skeleton.

3. Conclusion

In summary, we have synthesized the tetracyclic synthetic intermediates 33, 6, and 39 for hetisine-type aconite alkaloids, utilizing the following key reactions: (i) palladium-catalyzed intramolecular α -arylation at the formyl group $(3 \rightarrow 4)$, and (ii) acetal-ene reaction to form the C14-C20 bond $(29 \rightarrow 33, 5 \rightarrow 6, 5 \rightarrow 39)$. This was a substantial step toward the first total synthesis of hetisine-type aconite alkaloids. In the subsequent papers, we report further efforts toward this goal.

4. Experimental

Melting points were determined on a Yanagimoto micromelting point apparatus (hot plate), and are not corrected. MS and high-resolution MS (HRMS) were recorded on a Hitachi M-80B spectrometer in a gas chromatography (GC) or direct inlet (DI) mode at an ionizing voltage of 70 eV, and figures in parentheses indicate the relative intensities. IR spectra were measured on a Hitachi 215 or Shimadzu IR-460 spectrophotometer. ¹H NMR spectra were obtained on a Varian Mercury 300 (300 MHz) in CDCl₃ unless otherwise specified and coupling constants (*J* values) are rounded to the nearest 0.5 Hz. ¹³C NMR spectra were measured on a Varian Mercury 300 (75 MHz) in CDCl₃ and ¹³C multiplicities are shown in parentheses as CH₃ (primary), CH₂ (secondary), CH (tertiary), and C (quaternary). The NMR signals were assigned using proton decoupling techniques, as well as gCOSY, DEPT, gHSQC, gHMBC, and/or NOESY spectra. Some characteristic ¹H and ¹³C NMR signals were selected and assigned as HX and CX, respectively, where X represents hetisan carbon numbering. Column chromatography was conducted on silica gel (SiO₂, Fuji Davison BW 200), and the weight of SiO_2 and the eluting solvent is indicated in parentheses. Preparative TLC (PTLC) was carried out on glass plates $(20 \times 20 \text{ cm})$ coated with Merck Silica gel $60PF_{254}$ (0.8 mm thick) unless otherwise specified, and the developing solvent is indicated in parentheses. Usual work-up refers to washing of the organic layers with water or brine, drying over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and evaporating off the solvents under reduced pressure. Tetrahydrofuran (THF) was distilled from sodium/benzophenone ketyl prior to use.

4.1. Large-scale preparation of 2 and 4 (Scheme 3)

4.1.1. (2-Bromo-5-methoxy)phenylacetonitrile (12). KCN (7.48 g, 0.115 mol) was added to a solution of 11^{21} (7.48 g, 36.7 mmol) in EtOH (30 ml) and H₂O (15 ml) and the mixture was refluxed with stirring for 5 h. After having been cooled, the mixture was extracted with EtOAc. Usual work-up followed by recrystallization provided 12 (5.58 g, 92%) as colorless prisms, mp 54-55 °C (Et₂O-hexane). Anal. Calcd for C₉H₈BrNO: C, 47.81; H, 3.57; Br, 35.35; N, 6.20. Found: C, 47.66; H, 3.56; Br, 35.34; N, 6.21. GC-HRMS Calcd for C₉H₈BrNO: 226.9770, 224.9789. Found: 226.9780, 224.9814, GC-MS m/z: 227, 225 (M⁺, 100, 95), 212, 210 (12, 13), 184, 182 (28, 30), 146 (34), 116 (23), 103 (41), 76 (26), 63 (25). IR (KBr) cm⁻¹: 2240. ¹H NMR δ: 3.80 (2H, s), 3.82 (3H, s), 6.77 (1H, dd, J=9, 3 Hz), 7.07 (1H, d, J=3 Hz), 7.47 (1H, d, J=9 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ : 24.9 (CH₂), 55.5 (CH₃), 113.5 (C, C2), 115.2 (CH, C6), 115.4 (CH, C4), 116.7 (C, CN), 130.5 (C, C1), 133.4 (CH, C3), 159.1 (C, C5).

4.1.2. Ethyl (2-bromo-5-methoxy)phenylacetate (13). A solution of 12 (13.54 g, 59.9 mmol) in EtOH (40 ml) and concd H₂SO₄ (16.0 ml, 0.300 mol) was stirred under reflux for 6 h. The mixture was cooled in an ice bath and was diluted with H₂O. Extraction with EtOAc, washing with saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O, usual work-up, and distillation afforded **13** (14.71 g, 90%) as a colorless oil, bp 174–176 °C/ 13 mmHg. GC-HRMS Calcd for C₁₁H₁₃BrO₃: 274.0028, 272.0048. Found: 274.0032, 272.0050. GC-MS m/z: 274, 272 (M⁺, 13, 12), 201, 199 (46, 48), 193 (50), 165 (100), 77 (31), 51 (27). IR (neat) cm⁻¹: 1737. ¹H NMR δ : 1.26 (3H, t, J=7 Hz), 3.73 (2H, s), 3.77 (3H, s), 4.18 (2H, q, J=7 Hz), 6.70 (1H, dd, J=9, 3 Hz), 6.84 (1H, d, J=3 Hz), 7.43 (1H, d, J=9 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ: 14.2 (CH₃), 41.8 (CH₂), 55.3 (CH₃), 60.9 (CH₂), 114.3 (CH), 115.2 (C), 116.9 (CH), 133.0 (CH), 134.9 (C, C1), 158.6 (C), 170.1 (C).

4.1.3. 2-(2-Bromo-5-methoxyphenyl)ethanol (14). DIBAL-H (0.94 M in hexane, 93.0 ml, 87.4 mmol) was added dropwise to a cooled $(-78 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ solution of **13** (9.50 g, 34.8 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (120 ml) under an Ar atmosphere, and the mixture was stirred at $-78 \text{ to } -8 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ for 3 h. The mixture was slowly poured into saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O

containing NH₄Cl solid with efficient stirring to decompose an excess reagent. The mixture was dredged with Celite (200 g) and the whole was filtered through a Celite bed in vacuo. The filtered Celite was washed thoroughly with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by SiO₂ column chromatography [120 g, benzene-hexane (19:1)] gave 14 (7.74 g, 96%) as a colorless oil. GC-HRMS Calcd for C₉H₁₁BrO₂: 231.9923, 229.9942. Found: 231.9923, 229.9926. GC-MS m/z: 232, 230 (M⁺, 51, 53), 201, 199 (58, 56), 150 (72), 121 (100), 91 (51), 77 (65), 51 (55), 31 (74). ¹H NMR δ : 2.95 (2H, t, *J*=6.5 Hz), 3.76 (3H, s), 3.82 (2H, t, J=6.5 Hz), 7.76 (1H, br s, OH), 6.64 (1H, dd, J=9, 3 Hz), 6.82 (1H, d, J=3 Hz), 7.40 (1H, d, J=9 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ: 39.4 (CH₂), 55.3 (CH₃), 61.8 (CH₂), 113.5 (CH, C4), 114.8 (C, C2), 116.7 (CH, C6), 133.1 (CH, C3), 138.6 (C, C1), 158.6 (C, C5).

4.1.4. 2-Bromo-5-methoxyphenethyl methanesulfonate (15). A solution of MsCl (2.85 ml, 36.8 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (5 ml) was added dropwise to a cooled $(-20 \degree C)$ solution of 14 (7.74 g, 33.5 mmol) and Et₃N (6.06 ml, 43.6 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (45 ml) and the mixture was stirred for 1 h under an Ar atmosphere. Saturated NaHCO3-H2O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was washed with saturated CuSO₄-H₂O and then with saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O. Usual work-up and purification by SiO₂ column chromatography [100 g, hexane-EtOAc (5:2)] gave 15 (10.27 g, 99%) as a colorless syrup. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₁₀H₁₃BrO₄S: 309.9698, 307.9717. Found: 309.9684, 307.9692. DI-MS m/z: 310, 308 (M⁺, 21, 23), 214, 212 (90, 100), 201, 199 (18, 19), 79 (33), 51 (22). ¹H NMR δ: 2.91 (3H, s), 3.16 (2H, t, J=7 Hz), 3.78 (3H, s), 4.44 (2H, t, J=7 Hz), 6.70 (1H, dd, J=9, 3 Hz), 6.84 (1H, d, J=3 Hz), 7.43 (1H, d, J=9 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ : 36.0 (CH₂), 37.2 (CH₃), 55.4 (CH₃), 68.3 (CH₂), 114.4 (CH), 114.5 (C), 116.9 (CH), 133.3 (CH), 136.2 (C), 158.8 (C).

4.1.5. 1-Bromo-2-(2-iodoethyl)-4-methoxybenzene (2). NaI (7.48 g, 49.9 mmol) was added to a solution of 15 (10.27 g, 33.2 mmol) in acetone (120 ml) and the mixture was refluxed with stirring for 8 h. After the mixture had been cooled in an ice bath, H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with EtOAc. Usual work-up and separation by SiO₂ column chromatography [100 g, hexane–EtOAc (99.9:0.1)] yielded 2 (10.91 g, 96%) as a colorless syrup. The product **2** is a known compound.²⁰ GC–HRMS Calcd for C₉H₁₀BrIO: 341.8942, 339.8962. Found: 341.8930, 339.8954. GC-MS m/z: 342, 340 (M⁺, 42, 44), 215, 213 (77, 79), 134 (100), 91 (42), 63 (48). ¹H NMR δ: 3.21–3.29 (2H, m), 3.31-3.39 (2H, m), 3.79 (3H, s), 6.70 (1H, dd, J=9, 3 Hz), 6.79 (1H, d, J=3 Hz), 7.42 (1H, d, J=9 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ: 3.0 (CH₂, CH₂I), 40.7 (CH₂), 55.4 (CH₃), 114.0 (CH), 114.2 (C), 116.2 (CH), 133.3 (CH), 140.5 (C, C1), 158.7 (C).

4.1.6. 2-(3-Methoxyphenyl)ethanol (**16).** A solution of methyl chloroformate (24.5 ml, 0.317 mol) in THF (50 ml) was added slowly to a cooled (-20 °C) solution of 3-methoxyphenylacetic acid (50.0 g, 0.301 mol) and Et₃N (44.5 ml, 0.320 mol) in THF (400 ml) and the mixture was stirred at -20 °C for 1 h. The precipitate was filtered under reduced pressure and the filtered salt was washed with THF (50 ml). The combined THF solution was added to a slurry

of NaBH₄ (57.2 g, 1.51 mol) in H₂O (300 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 0–24 °C for 40 h. Another portion of NaBH₄ (11.5 g, 0.303 mol) was added and the resulting mixture was further stirred for 24 h. The mixture was gradually poured into saturated NH₄Cl–H₂O and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Distillation afforded **16** (43.6 g, 96%) as a colorless oil (bp: 135–140 °C/10 mmHg). The compound **16** was prepared in the literature²⁰ by treatment of 3-methoxyphenylacetic acid with NaBH₄ and I₂ in 89% yield, and is also available from Aldrich Chemical Co. (bp: 141–143 °C/12 mmHg).

4.1.7. Improved Pd cyclization of 3 to form 4 and by-prod-

ucts 17, 18. A slurry of 3 (12.24 g, 32.0 mmol), $PdCl_2(Ph_3P)_2$ (2.00 g, 2.85 mmol), Cs_2CO_3 (16.70 g, 51.2 mmol), and Ph_3P (1.67 g, 6.37 mmol) in THF (200 ml) was refluxed with vigorous stirring under an Ar atmosphere for 60 h. After the mixture had been cooled, saturated NH_4Cl-H_2O was added and the mixture was extracted with EtOAc. Usual work-up followed by purification by SiO₂ column chromatography (250 g, benzene) and PTLC provided 4 (6.83 g, 71%, cis/trans = 3.4), 17 (61 mg, 4%), and 18 (29 mg, 2%) in order of increasing polarity. Spectral data of the three products and single crystal X-ray analysis data of *cis*-4 have already been reported.^{11c}

4.2. Transformation of 4 to 5 (Scheme 4)

4.2.1. Acetalization of 4 to form 19 and 20. Ethylene glycol (2.50 ml, 44.9 mmol) and p-TsOH·H₂O (160 mg, 0.842 mmol) were added to a solution of 4 (2.68 g, 8.87 mmol, cis/ trans = 3.4) in benzene (40 ml), and the mixture was refluxed with stirring for 6 h with a Dean-Stark apparatus. After the mixture had been cooled in an ice bath, saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with EtOAc. Usual work-up and subsequent SiO₂ column chromatography [80 g, hexane-EtOAc (14:1~9:1)] afforded 20 (1.05 g, 34%) and 19 (1.87 g, 61%) in order of increasing polarity. 19: Colorless prisms, mp 99-100 °C (CH₂Cl₂-hexane). Anal. Calcd for C₂₀H₂₆O₅: C, 69.34; H, 7.57. Found: C, 69.18; H, 7.53. GC-HRMS Calcd for C₂₀H₂₆O₅: 346.1779. Found: 346.1781. GC-MS m/z: 346 (M⁺, 1), 273 (17), 99 (100), 73 (28), 55 (9), 45 (10). ¹H NMR δ: 1.41–1.56 (2H, m), 1.60–1.75 (2H, m), 1.77–1.94 (2H, m), 2.04–2.19 (2H, m), 2.27 (1H, dd, J=5.5, 5.5 Hz, H5), 2.75 (1H, ddd, J=17, 6.5, 6.5 Hz, H7), 2.88 (1H, ddd, J=17, 7.5, 7.5 Hz, H7), 3.52-3.62 (1H, m), 3.68-3.97 (7H, m), 3.76 (3H, s), 5.24 (1H, s), 6.58 (1H, d, J=3 Hz), 6.68 (1H, dd, J=9, 3 Hz), 7.41 (1H, d, J=9 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.0 (CH₂, C6), 19.2 (CH₂, C3), 28.6 (CH₂, C7), 28.8 (CH₂, C1), 33.7 (CH₂, C2), 43.2 (CH, C5), 45.4 (C, C10), 54.8 (CH₃), 64.0 (CH₂), 64.5 (CH₂), 65.0 (CH₂), 65.1 (CH₂), 107.7 (CH), 111.2 (×2, CH and C, C4 and C12), 112.8 (CH, C14), 128.3 (CH, C11), 129.8 (C), 140.2 (C, C8), 157.1 (C). 20: Colorless needles, mp 108-109 °C (CH2Cl2-hexane). Anal. Calcd for C₂₀H₂₆O₅: C, 69.34; H, 7.57. Found: C, 69.25; H, 7.52. GC-HRMS Calcd for C₂₀H₂₆O₅: 346.1779. Found: 346.1783. GC-MS m/z: 346 (M⁺, 1), 273 (18), 99 (100), 73 (29), 55 (10), 45 (9). ¹H NMR δ : 1.31 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 13.5, 4 Hz, H1), 1.42-1.55 (1H, m), 1.66-1.97 (5H, m), 2.10-2.27 (1H, m), 2.67-2.78 (1H, m, dioxolane proton, anisotropy), 2.76-2.99 (3H, m), 3.50-3.64 (3H, m), 3.77 (3H, s), 3.82-3.92 (1H, m), 3.94-4.03 (2H, m), 4.06-4.16 (1H, m), 5.80 (1H, s), 6.60 (1H, d, J=2.5 Hz), 6.63 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 2.5 Hz), 7.29 (1H, d, J=8.5 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ : 16.7 (CH₂, C6), 19.7 (CH₂, C2), 29.4 (CH₂, C7), 33.9 (CH₂, C1), 35.6 (CH₂, C3), 44.8 (C, C10), 49.0 (CH, C5), 54.9 (CH₃), 64.1 (CH₂), 64.4 (CH₂), 64.9 (CH₂), 65.6 (CH₂), 105.0 (CH), 110.3 (CH, C12), 112.6 (CH), 128.1 (C), 128.3 (CH), 131.6 (C, C9), 139.4 (C, C8), 157.4 (C). Under the same conditions, **19** (920 mg, 2.66 mmol) was acetalized to give **20** (323 mg, 35%) and recovered **19** (561 mg, 61%).

4.2.2. Birch reduction of 20 to form 21. Li (7.89 g, 1.13 mol) was added in small portions during 2.5 h to a cooled $(-78 \ ^{\circ}C)$ solution of **20** (6.50 g, 18.8 mmol) in liq. NH₃ (ca. 150 ml), THF (80 ml), and EtOH (80 ml) with efficient stirring by a mechanical stirrer. After the addition completed, stirring was continued for 3 h. Solid NH₄Cl (10.0 g) was slowly added and the cooling bath was removed. Stirring was further continued at room temperature with trapping evaporating NH₃ with concd HCl and ice. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the mixture was filtered through a Celite bed, and the Celite was washed with CHCl₃. Extraction with CHCl₃ followed by usual work-up afforded crystalline material, which was purified by recrystallization and SiO_2 column chromatography [hexane-EtOAc (8:1)] to yield 21 (5.99 g, 92%) as colorless prisms, mp 167-168.5 °C (CH₂Cl₂-hexane). Anal. Calcd for C₂₀H₂₈O₅: C, 68.94; H, 8.10. Found: C, 68.73; H, 8.07. GC-HRMS Calcd for C₂₀H₂₈O₅: 348.1935. Found: 348.1923. GC-MS m/z: 348 (M⁺, 4), 275 (35), 213 (10), 99 (100), 73 (38), 55 (12), 45 (18). IR (KBr) cm⁻¹: 1697, 1663. ¹H NMR δ : 1.17 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4.5 Hz, H1), 1.43 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 5 Hz, H3), 1.59–2.04 (8H, m), 2.45 (1H, dddd, J=13, 3, 3, 1.5 Hz, H1), 2.60 (2H, dd, J=7.5, 7 Hz, H14), 2.74-3.04 (2H, m, H11), 3.54 (3H, s), 3.61-4.11 (8H, m), 4.60 (1H, dd, J=4, 3.5 Hz, H12), 5.66 (1H, s). ¹³C NMR δ : 16.4 (CH₂), 19.6 (CH₂), 28.0 (CH₂, C11), 30.2 (CH₂), 32.3 (CH₂), 34.3 (CH₂, C14), 35.6 (CH₂), 44.8 (C, C10), 49.5 (CH), 53.6 (CH₃), 63.6 (CH₂), 64.3 (CH₂), 65.1 (CH₂), 65.5 (CH₂), 90.9 (CH, C12), 105.5 (CH), 110.3 (C, C4), 127.4 (C, C9), 127.9 (C), 151.8 (C, C13).

4.2.3. Hydrolysis of vinyl ether 21 to form 22 and 23. HCl-H₂O (2.5%, 5.0 ml) was added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of 21 (590 mg, 1.70 mmol) in THF (20 ml) and the mixture was stirred at the temperature for 1.5 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by SiO₂ column chromatography [25 g, hexane-EtOAc (4:1~1:1)] afforded 22 (497 mg, 88%) and 23 (41 mg, 7%) in order of increasing polarity. 22: Colorless prisms, mp 142-144 °C (CH₂Cl₂hexane). Anal. Calcd for C₁₉H₂₆O₅: C, 68.24; H, 7.84. Found: C, 68.18; H, 7.82. GC-HRMS Calcd for C₁₉H₂₆O₅: 334.1779. Found: 334.1772. GC-MS m/z: 334 (M⁺, 1), 261 (2), 199 (1), 99 (22), 73 (100), 55 (7), 45 (11). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1713. ¹H NMR δ : 1.15 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4.5 Hz, H1), 1.44 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 5.5 Hz, H3), 1.60-1.80 (4H, m), 1.82-2.05 (4H, m), ca. 2.26-2.48 (3H, m), 2.50 (1H, dddd, J=13, 3, 3, 1 Hz, H1), 2.64–2.74 (1H, m), 2.72 (1H, d, J=21 Hz, H14), 2.82 (1H, d, J=21 Hz, H14), 3.65-4.10 (8H, m), 5.56 (1H, s). ¹³C NMR δ: 16.4 (CH₂), 19.5 (CH₂), 26.1 (CH₂, C12), 30.5 (CH₂), 32.1 (CH₂), 35.6 (CH₂), 39.4 (CH₂), 45.0 (C), 45.1 (CH₂, C14), 49.7 (CH), 63.4 (CH₂), 64.3 (CH₂), 65.3 (CH₂), 65.5 (CH₂), 105.2 (CH), 110.0 (C),

128.9 (C), 131.7 (C), 211.9 (C). 23: Colorless prisms, mp 172–173 °C (CH₂Cl₂–hexane). Anal. Calcd for C₁₉H₂₆O₅: C, 68.24; H, 7.84. Found: C, 67.78; H, 7.71. GC-HRMS Calcd for C₁₉H₂₆O₅: 334.1779. Found: 334.1782. GC-MS m/z: 334 (M⁺, 10), 289 (4), 261 (4), 99 (21), 73 (100), 55 (8), 45 (15). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1652, 1611. ¹H NMR δ : 1.03-1.14 (1H, m), 1.40-1.52 (1H, m), 1.53-1.69 (2H, m), 1.72 (1H, dd, J=13, 3 Hz, H5), 1.75-1.96 (3H, m), 1.99-2.21 (4H, m), 2.29–2.47 (2H, m), 2.54 (1H, br dddd, J=13, 3, 3, 1.5 Hz, H1), 2.64 (1H, br ddd, J=17, 5, 1.5 Hz, H7), 3.66–4.05 (8H, m), 5.46 (1H, s), 5.73 (1H, br s, H14). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.0 (CH₂), 19.6 (CH₂), 23.4 (CH₂), 34.15 (CH₂), 34.18 (CH₂), 35.6 (CH₂), 38.2 (CH₂), 44.9 (C), 49.7 (CH, C9), 51.4 (CH), 62.8 (CH₂), 64.2 (CH₂), 64.6 (CH₂), 65.5 (CH₂), 104.9 (CH), 109.6 (C), 122.5 (CH, C14), 168.1 (C, C8), 199.8 (C).

4.2.4. NaOMe treatment of 22. NaOMe (150 mg, 2.78 mmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) slurry of 22 (305 mg, 0.913 mmol) in MeOH (15 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 0.5 h and at 18 °C for 16 h. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up followed by PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (5:1)] gave recovered 22 (30 mg, 10%), 23 (169 mg, 55%), and an oxetane 24 (31 mg, 10%) in order of increasing polarity. 24: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₁₉H₂₄O₆: 348.1571. Found: 348.1557. DI-MS *m/z*: 348 (M⁺, 2), 257 (5), 99 (100), 73 (75), 55 (11), 45 (20). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1651. ¹H NMR δ: 1.52–1.71 (2H, m), 1.75– 1.92 (3H, m), 2.04-2.17 (2H, m), 2.21-2.42 (4H, m), 2.71 (1H, ddd, J=18.5, 13, 7 Hz, H7), 2.86 (1H, dd, J=12, 6 Hz, H5), 3.40–3.54 (1H, m), 3.63–3.87 (4H, m), 3.91–4.01 (2H, m), 4.03–4.14 (1H, m), 5.20 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H12), 5.51 (1H, s), 5.52 (1H, s, H14). ¹³C NMR δ : 19.9 (CH₂), 24.8 (CH₂), 28.9 (CH₂), 29.0 (CH₂), 32.9 (CH₂), 36.0 (CH₂), 45.9 (C), 50.2 (CH), 62.7 (CH₂), 63.5 (CH₂), 64.4 (CH₂), 65.9 (CH₂), 88.0 (C, C9), 95.0 (CH, C12), 103.9 (CH), 106.9 (CH, C14), 110.0 (C, C4), 164.5 (C, C8), 199.1 (C).

4.2.5. NaOMe treatment of 22 in the presence of Me₂S. NaOMe (40 mg, 0.741 mmol) was added to a cooled (0 $^{\circ}$ C) slurry of 22 (210 mg, 0.629 mmol) and Me₂S (0.23 ml, 3.14 mmol) in MeOH (8 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 0.5 h and at 18 °C for 14 h. The same work-up as above afforded recovered 22 (28 mg, 13%), 23 (122 mg, 58%), and **26** (31 mg, 14%) in order of increasing polarity. 26: Colorless needles, mp 234–235 °C (CH₂Cl₂–hexane). Anal. Calcd for C19H26O6: C, 65.12; H, 7.48. Found: C, 64.75; H, 7.35. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₁₉H₂₆O₆: 350.1728. Found: 350.1737. DI-MS m/z: 350 (M⁺, 8), 288 (11), 260 (11), 165 (11), 99 (100), 73 (83), 55 (19), 45 (35). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1660. ¹H NMR δ: 1.39–1.51 (1H, m), 1.57– 1.91 (6H, m), 1.97-2.05 (1H, m), 2.12-2.18 (1H, m), 2.16 (1H, br s, OH), 2.26-2.69 (6H, m), 3.67-4.04 (8H, m), 5.51 (1H, s), 5.66 (1H, br d, J=2 Hz, H14). ¹³C NMR δ : 19.1 (CH₂), 19.3 (CH₂), 26.3 (CH₂), 30.0 (CH₂), 31.2 (CH₂), 33.5 (CH₂, C12), 35.3 (CH₂), 43.8 (CH), 48.9 (C, C10), 62.7 (CH₂), 64.0 (CH₂), 64.3 (CH₂), 65.5 (CH₂), 71.5 (C, C9), 104.0 (CH), 110.6 (C), 122.9 (CH, C14), 165.2 (C, C8), 199.3 (C, C13).

4.2.6. DBU treatment of 22 to form hydroperoxide 25 and 26. A solution of **22** (10 mg, 29.9 µmol) and DBU (9 µl,

60.3 mmol) in benzene (2.5 ml) was refluxed with stirring for 4 h. Addition of H₂O, extraction with EtOAc, successive washing with CuSO₄–H₂O and saturated NaHCO₃–H₂O, and PTLC [benzene–EtOAc (4:1)] gave recovered **22** (4 mg, 40%), **25** (2 mg, 18%), and **26** (2 mg, 19%) in order of increasing polarity. **25**: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₁₉H₂₆O₇: 366.1677. Found: 366.1695. DI-MS *m/z*: 366 (M⁺, 2), 350 (3), 293 (3), 277 (3), 251 (4), 99 (62), 73 (100), 55 (17), 45 (25). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1653. ¹H NMR δ : 1.43 (1H, ddd, *J*=12.5, 12.5, 5.5 Hz, H1), 1.49–1.92 (6H, m), 2.17 (1H, br d, *J*=12.5 Hz, H1), 2.24–2.89 (7H, m), 3.64–4.03 (8H, m), 5.52 (1H, s), 5.95 (1H, d, *J*=2 Hz, H14), 7.59 (1H, br s, OOH).

4.2.7. Alternative preparation of 26 and 27 by m-CPBA oxidation of 22. m-CPBA (26 mg, 0.151 mmol) was added to a solution of 22 (18 mg, 53.9 μ mol) in CH₂Cl₂ (3 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 1 h, and at 20 °C for 2.5 h. Saturated Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O and saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O were added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and rough separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (1:1)] afforded a mixture of products (20 mg), which were treated with DBU (40 µl, 0.292 mmol) in refluxing benzene (3 ml) for 30 min. The same work-up as in Section 4.2.5 and purification by PTLC [1.5% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂] furnished 26 (11.5 mg, 61%) and 27 (6.5 mg, 34%) in order of decreasing polarity. 27: Colorless prisms, mp 194-196 °C (CH₂Cl₂-hexane). Anal. Calcd for C₁₉H₂₆O₆: C, 65.12; H, 7.48. Found: C, 64.85; H, 7.38. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₁₉H₂₆O₆: 350.1728. Found: 350.1724. DI-MS m/z: 350 (M⁺, 3), 260 (2), 133 (7), 99 (100), 73 (23), 55 (11), 45 (14). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1665, 1620. ¹H NMR δ : 1.34 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 12.5, 5 Hz, H1), 1.45-1.71 (4H, m), 1.77-2.02 (3H, m), 2.03 (1H, dddd, J=13, 13, 4.5, 1.5 Hz, H12), 2.17 (1H, ddd, J=13, 4.5, 2.5 Hz, H12), 2.19–2.39 (3H, m), 2.90 (1H, ddd, J=17, 13, 4.5 Hz, H11), 3.32 (1H, dddd, J=15.5, 12, 7, 2.5 Hz, H7), 3.76-3.87 (2H, m), 3.89-4.07 (5H, m), 4.08–4.17 (1H, m), 4.55 (1H, d, J=1.5 Hz, OH), 5.53 (1H, s). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.1 (CH₂, C6), 19.7 (CH₂, C2), 28.3 (CH₂), 31.5 (CH₂), 33.2 (CH₂, C12), 34.0 (CH₂, C11), 35.7 (CH₂), 44.4 (CH, C5), 46.7 (C), 62.6 (CH₂), 64.2 (CH₂), 65.0 (CH₂), 65.7 (CH₂), 74.9 (C, C9), 106.1 (CH), 110.0 (C), 126.6 (CH), 166.4 (C, C8), 199.4 (C).

4.2.8. Reduction of 23 to form allylalcohol 28. CeCl₇·H₂O (408 mg, 1.10 mmol) and NaBH₄ (43 mg, 1.13 mmol) were added to a cooled $(0 \,^{\circ}C)$ solution of 23 (330 mg, 0.988 mmol) in MeOH (25 ml) and the mixture was stirred at that temperature for 30 min. Quenching by successive addition of saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O and saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O followed by extraction with CH₂Cl₂, usual work-up, and PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (2:1)] provided 28 as colorless prisms, mp 191–192 °C (CH₂Cl₂-hexane). Anal. Calcd for C₁₉H₂₈O₅·1/4H₂O: C, 66.93; H, 8.43. Found: C, 67.08; H, 8.37. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₁₉H₂₈O₅: 336.1935. Found: 336.1936. DI-MS m/z: 336 (M⁺, 1), 318 (8), 184 (22), 99 (100), 73 (98), 45 (28). ¹H NMR δ: 0.93–1.05 (1H, m), 1.11-1.28 (1H, m), 1.38-1.50 (1H, m), 1.55-1.94 (10H, m, including OH), ca. 2.01-2.14 (1H, m), ca. 2.12-2.25 (1H, m), 2.41 (1H, ddd, J=15, 3, 3 Hz, H7), 2.46 (1H, br dddd, J=13, 3, 3, 1.5 Hz, H1), 3.65–3.73 (1H, m), 3.77–3.96 (6H, m), 3.97-4.03 (1H, m), 4.14-4.23 (1H, m, W_{1/2}=19 Hz, H13), 5.21–5.25 (1H, m, W_{1/2}=5.5 Hz, H14), 5.45 (1H, s).

7065

¹³C NMR δ: 19.7 (CH₂), 19.8 (CH₂), 22.1 (CH₂, C11), 33.9 (CH₂), 34.3 (CH₂), 34.5 (CH₂), 35.8 (CH₂), 44.4 (C), 48.9 (CH, C9), 52.8 (CH), 62.6 (CH₂), 64.1 (CH₂), 65.1 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 67.9 (CH, C13), 105.7 (CH), 110.0 (C), 122.3 (CH, C14), 141.3 (C, C8).

4.2.9. Claisen rearrangement of 28 under neutral conditions to form 29. A solution of 28 (500 mg, 1.49 mmol) and N,N-dimethylacetamide dimethyl acetal (1.53 ml, 10.48 mmol) in toluene (20 ml) was heated with stirring at 160 °C (bath temperature) in a sealed tube for 4 h. The volatile materials were removed in vacuo and resulting residue was purified by SiO₂ column chromatography [25 g, benzene-EtOAc (4:1)] to yield 29 (418 mg, 69%) as colorless needles, mp 140.5-141.5 °C (CH₂Cl₂-hexane). Anal. Calcd for C₂₃H₃₅NO₅: C, 68.12; H, 8.70; N, 3.45. Found: C, 68.04; H, 8.62; N, 3.48. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₅NO₅: 405.2513. Found: 405.2521. DI-MS m/z: 405 (M⁺, 4), 360 (6), 332 (20), 319 (15), 245 (56), 99 (82), 73 (100), 45 (34). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1622. ¹H NMR δ: 1.09 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4.5 Hz, H1), 1.48 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 5 Hz, H3), 1.52-2.02 (12H, m), 2.08-2.19 (1H, m), 2.32 (1H, d, J=14 Hz, CH₂CON), 2.51 (1H, br dddd, J=13, 3, 3, 1 Hz, H1), 2.56 (1H, d, J=14 Hz, CH₂CON), 2.91 (3H, s), 2.98 (3H, s), 3.65–4.07 (8H, m), 5.34 (1H, s), 5.45 (1H, br dd, J=10, 1.5 Hz, H14), 5.67 (1H, ddd, J=10, 5, 2.5 Hz, H13). ¹³C NMR δ: 16.9 (CH₂), 20.0 (CH₂), 20.7 (CH₂), 23.6 (CH₂), 34.3 (CH₂), 34.5 (CH₃), 35.9 (CH₂), 38.1 (C), 38.2 (CH₂), 38.5 (CH₃), 43.8 (C, C8), 46.2 (CH₂, CH₂CON), 49.7 (CH), 50.6 (CH), 62.3 (CH₂), 63.9 (CH₂), 64.0 (CH₂), 65.6 (CH₂), 104.9 (CH), 110.5 (C), 126.3 (CH, C13), 136.6 (CH, C14), 171.5 (C).

4.2.10. Acetylation of 28 to form diene 30. Ac₂O (0.10 ml, 1.06 mmol) was added to a solution of 28 (5.5 mg, 16.4 μ mol) and pyridine (0.30 ml, 3.71 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (1 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 20 °C for 2 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and PTLC [hexane-CH₂Cl₂ (1:2)] gave **30** (4.5 mg, 86%) as a labile colorless syrup. GC-HRMS Calcd for C₁₉H₂₆O₄: 318.1830. Found: 318.1818. GC-MS m/z: 318 (M⁺, 8), 245 (11), 211 (10), 184 (24), 99 (84), 73 (100), 45 (35). ¹H NMR δ: 0.96–1.08 (1H, m), 1.41–1.71 (4H, m), 1.85–2.26 (8H, m), 2.59 (1H, dddd, J=13, 3, 3, 1.5 Hz, H1), 3.67-3.86 (4H, m), 3.90-4.06 (4H, m), 5.43 (1H, s), 5.50–5.55 (1H, m, H7), 5.61– 5.69 (1H, m, H13), 5.99 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 1.5 Hz, H14). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.6, 22.0, 24.1, 27.3, 35.4, 36.0, 41.9, 48.6, 48.7, 62.1, 64.1, 65.46, 65.52, 105.3, 109.9, 122.6, 126.4, 129.7, 136.0.

4.2.11. Claisen rearrangement of 28 under acidic conditions to form 31. A solution of 28 (20 mg, 59.5 µmol) and pivalic acid (2 mg, 19.6 µmol) in triethyl orthoacetate (1.50 ml, 8.19 mmol) was heated with stirring at 160 °C (bath temperature) in a sealed tube for 15 h. After the mixture had been cooled, saturated NaHCO₃–H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and PTLC [hexane–CH₂Cl₂ (1:1)] gave **31** (5 mg, 21%) as a colorless syrup. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₄O₆: 406.2353. Found: 406.2342. DI-MS *m/z*: 406 (M⁺, 7), 361 (12), 344 (6), 333 (16), 319 (15), 245 (21), 99 (79), 73 (100), 45 (37). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1720. ¹H NMR δ : 1.03 (1H, ddd, *J*=13, 13,

4.5 Hz, H1), 1.24 (3H, dd, J=7, 7 Hz, OCH₂CH₃), 1.42– 1.94 (13H, m), 2.12 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 6.5, 6.5 Hz, H7), 2.29 (1H, d, J=13.5 Hz, CH₂COO), 2.51 (1H, d, J=13.5 Hz, CH₂COO), 2.52 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz, H1), 3.63– 4.04 (8H, m), 4.02–4.14 (2H, m, OCH₂CH₃), 5.34 (1H, s), 5.40 (1H, br d, J=10 Hz, H14), 5.69 (1H, ddd, J=10, 5, 2.5 Hz, H13). ¹³C NMR δ : 14.3 (CH₃), 16.8 (CH₂), 20.0 (CH₂), 20.6 (CH₂), 23.6 (CH₂), 34.1 (CH₂), 35.9 (CH₂), 37.6 (C), 38.4 (CH₂), 43.8 (C), 49.5 (CH), 49.7 (CH₂, CH₂COO), 50.4 (CH), 59.8 (CH₂, OCH₂CH₃), 62.3 (CH₂), 63.9 (CH₂), 64.1 (CH₂), 65.7 (CH₂), 104.9 (CH), 110.4 (C), 126.4 (CH, C13), 136.1 (CH, C14), 171.8 (C).

4.2.12. Reduction of acetamide 29 to form 32. n-BuLi (1.5 M in hexane, 5.57 ml, 8.36 mmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) slurry of BH₃·NH₃ (90%, 307 mg, 8.97 mmol) in THF (12 ml) in a round bottom flask (300 ml). The mixture was stirred under an Ar atmosphere at that temperature for 5 min and at 20 °C for 10 min, and then was allowed to cool again to 0 °C. A THF (8 ml) solution of 29 (480 mg, 1.19 mmol) was added dropwise to this and the mixture was stirred for 10 min. The cooling bath was removed and the mixture was further stirred at 22 °C for 19 h. After the mixture had been cooled in an ice bath again, saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O (25 ml) and NH₄Cl powder (ca. 2 g) were gradually added to this with efficient stirring. SiO₂ (15 g) and CH₂Cl₂ (30 ml) were further added and the whole was vigorously stirred at 20 °C for 3 h. The whole was filtered under reduced pressure and filtered SiO₂ was washed thoroughly with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up followed by SiO₂ column chromatography [30 g, 1% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂] yielded **32** (404 mg, 94%) as a colorless viscous syrup. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₁H₃₂O₅: 364.2248. Found: 364.2247. DI-MS m/z: 364 (M⁺, 6), 319 (27), 291 (17), 185 (6), 112 (21), 99 (99), 73 (100), 55 (21), 45 (46). ¹H NMR δ : 1.00 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4.5 Hz, H1), 1.31 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 13, 6.5 Hz, H7), 1.46 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 5 Hz, H3), 1.48-1.81 (9H, m, including OH), 1.81-2.01 (5H, m), 2.09 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 7, 7 Hz, H7), 2.53 (1H, dddd, J=13, 3, 3, 1.5 Hz, H1), 3.66-3.83 (4H, m), 3.87-3.97 (3H, m), 3.99-4.07 (1H, m), 5.33 (1H, s), 5.37 (1H, dd, J=10, 1.5 Hz, H14), 5.70 (1H, ddd, J=10, 5, 2.5 Hz, H13). ¹³C NMR δ: 16.7 (CH₂), 20.0 (CH₂), 21.0 (CH₂), 26.4 (CH₂), 34.2 (CH₂), 36.0 (CH₂), 36.9 (C, C8), 38.7 (CH₂), 43.7 (C), 49.0 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OH), 49.3 (CH), 51.8 (CH), 59.9 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OH), 62.3 (CH₂), 63.9 (CH₂), 64.2 (CH₂), 65.7 (CH₂), 104.9 (CH), 110.4 (C), 126.4 (CH), 137.2 (CH).

4.2.13. Pivaloylation of 32 to form 5. Piv₂O (1.22 ml, 6.02 mmol) was slowly added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of Et₃N (3.30 ml, 23.7 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (3 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at that temperature for 15 min. The resulting solution was slowly added dropwise to a cooled (-18 °C) solution of **32** (560 mg, 1.54 mmol) and 4-DMAP (28 mg, 0.230 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (2 ml). The whole was stirred at -18 to 23 °C for five days. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and SiO₂ column chromatography [40 g, hexane–EtOAc (8:1)] afforded **5** (674 mg, 98%) as a colorless needles, mp 93–94 °C (CH₂Cl₂–hexane). Anal. Calcd for C₂₆H₄₀O₆: C, 69.61; H, 8.99. Found: C, 69.40; H, 9.02. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₄₀O₆: 448.2823. Found: 448.2832. DI-MS *m*/*z*: 448 (M⁺, 3), 403 (3), 375

(8), 319 (5), 99 (61), 73 (100), 57 (35), 45 (24), 41 (17). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1719. ¹H NMR δ : 1.01 (1H, ddd, *J*=13.5, 13, 4.5 Hz, H1), 1.18 (9H, s), 1.34 (1H, ddd, *J*=13.5, 13.5, 6.5 Hz, H7), 1.47 (1H, ddd, *J*=13, 13, 5 Hz, H3), 1.48–1.80 (8H, m), 1.81–2.00 (1H, m), 2.10 (1H, ddd, *J*=13.5, 7, 7 Hz, H7), 2.53 (1H, br d, *J*=13 Hz, H1), 3.66–3.84 (4H, m), 3.87–3.97 (3H, m), 4.00–4.12 (3H, m), 5.31 (1H, br dd, *J*=9.5, 1.5 Hz, H14), 5.34 (1H, s), 5.70 (1H, ddd, *J*=9.5, 5, 2.5 Hz, H13). ¹³C NMR δ : 16.7 (CH₂), 20.0 (CH₂), 21.0 (CH₂), 23.9 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 34.1 (CH₂), 36.0 (CH₂), 36.8 (C, C8), 38.6 (C, COCMe₃), 38.7 (CH₂), 43.8 (C), 44.1 (CH₂, *C*H₂CH₂OPiv), 49.4 (CH), 51.5 (CH), 62.0 (CH₂), CH₂OPiv), 62.3 (CH₂), 63.9 (CH₂), 64.2 (CH₂), 65.7 (CH₂), 104.9 (CH), 110.4 (C), 126.4 (CH, C13), 136.4 (CH, C14), 178.4 (C).

4.3. Acetal-ene reactions of 29, 31, and 5 (Scheme 5)

4.3.1. BF₃ treatment of 29 and 31 to form 33 and 34 (35) (Table 1). The procedure for Table 1, run b was described as a representative example. BF₃·OEt₂ (105 µl, 0.828 mmol) was added to a cooled $(-18 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ solution of 29 (56 mg, 0.138 mmol) in toluene (5 ml) under an Ar atmosphere with stirring. After stirring for 2 h at -18 °C, saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O (8 ml) and EtOAc (10 ml) were added and resulting mixture was vigorously stirred for 2 h at an ambient temperature. Extraction with EtOAc followed by usual work-up gave a residue (66 mg). The residue was dissolved in benzene (6 ml) and to this were added ethylene glycol (0.40 ml, 7.18 mmol) and *p*-TsOH·H₂O (4 mg, 21.1 µmol). The mixture was stirred under reflux using a Dean-Stark apparatus for 2 h. After the mixture had been cooled, saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and PTLC (1.8% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂) afforded 33 (23 mg, 41%) and 34 (25 mg, 48%) in order of decreasing polarity. 33: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₅NO₅: 405.2513. Found: 405.2522. DI-MS *m/z*: 405 (M⁺, 19), 360 (20), 343 (12), 318 (9), 273 (9), 257 (14), 99 (100), 87 (58), 72 (33), 55 (19), 45 (34). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1627. ¹H NMR δ : 1.06 (1H, ddd, J=13, 12, 5 Hz, H1), 1.19–1.31 (1H, m), 1.46 (1H, br d, J=5 Hz, H9), 1.50-1.80 (7H, m), 1.85-1.98 (1H, m), 2.07 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz, H1), 2.18 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz, CH₂CON), 2.20 (1H, dddd, J=19, 5, 2.5, 2.5 Hz, H11), 2.38 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz, H11), 2.48 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz, CH₂CON), 2.89 (1H, br s, OH), 2.91 (1H, ddd, J=7, 6.5, 1.5 Hz, H14), 2.93 (3H, s), 3.00 (3H, s), 3.38 (1H, ddd, J=11, 6, 3.5 Hz), 3.57 (1H, ddd, J=11, 6, 3 Hz), 3.62-3.76 [2H, m, changed with D_2O to 3.66 (1H, ddd, J=12, 6, 3 Hz) and 3.72 (1H, ddd, J=12, 6, 3.5 Hz], 3.74–3.86 (1H, m), 3.86–4.00 (3H, m), 4.44 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 5.59 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 2.5 Hz, H12), 5.70 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 7, 2, 1.5 Hz, H13). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.3 (CH₂, C6), 21.3 (CH₂, C2), 27.1 (CH₂, C11), 28.8 (CH₂, C1), 33.8 (CH₂, C7), 34.8 (CH₂, C3), 35.3 (CH₃, NCH₃), 37.4 (CH₂, CH₂CON), 37.8 (CH₃, NCH₃), 43.6 (C, C8), 48.1 (CH, C14), 48.2 (C, C10), 50.5 (CH, C5), 54.5 (CH, C9), 62.2 (CH₂, CH₂OH), 63.9 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 69.6 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OH), 80.3 (CH, C20), 110.5 (C, C4), 125.7 (CH, C12), 128.7 (CH, C13), 172.5 (C, CON). 34: Colorless prisms, mp 206–207 °C (CH₂Cl₂– hexane). Anal. Calcd for C₂₁H₃₀O₆: C, 66.64; H, 7.99. Found: C, 66.36; H, 8.02. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₁H₃₀O₆: 378.2041. Found: 378.2043. DI-MS m/z: 378 (M⁺, 3), 333

(25), 318 (6), 113 (16), 112 (14), 99 (100), 86 (10), 55 (10), 45 (17). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1767. ¹H NMR δ: 0.94–0.97 (1H, m), 1.25–1.92 (13H, m), 2.04 (1H, ddddd, J=14, 14, 14, 4, 4 Hz, H2), 2.28 (1H, d, J=19 Hz, CH₂COO), 2.29-2.37 (2H, m), 2.69 (1H, d, J=19 Hz, CH₂COO), 3.33-3.41 (1H, m), 3.35 (1H, br s, OH), 3.61-3.79 (2H, m, sharpened with D₂O), 3.71-3.77 (1H, m), 3.81-3.89 (1H, m), 3.85 (1H, d, J=3 Hz, H corresponding to H20), 3.90-4.03 (3H, m), 4.26 (1H, d, J=4 Hz, CHOCO). ¹³C NMR δ: 9.8 (CH₂, C corresponding to C12), 15.3 (CH₂, C corresponding to C11), 17.1 (CH₂, C6), 22.1 (CH₂, C2), 31.9 (CH₂, C1), 33.1 (CH, C corresponding to C13), 34.6 (CH₂, C3), 37.9 (CH₂, C7), 38.9 (C, C8), 40.6 (CH₂, CH₂COO), 40.9 (C, C10), 47.4 (CH, C9), 50.5 (CH, C5), 61.9 (CH₂, CH₂OH), 64.2 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 70.6 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OH), 75.5 (CH, C corresponding to C20), 84.1 (CH, C corresponding to C14), 110.1 (C, C4), 176.3 (C, COO). Another by-product 35 with polarity between 33 and 34 was obtained as a colorless glass employing cyclohexene-toluene (6:1) as the reaction solvent (run a). DI-HRMS Calcd for $C_{21}H_{30}O_6$: 378.2041. Found: 378.2027. DI-MS m/z: 378 (M⁺, 5), 333 (42), 317 (4), 289 (2), 99 (100), 55 (13), 45 (20). IR $(CHCl_3)$ cm⁻¹: 1719. ¹H NMR δ : 0.82–0.91 (1H, m), 1.07– 2.07 (12H, m), 2.23 (1H, d, J=19.5 Hz, CH₂COO), 2.24-2.38 (2H, m), 2.47–2.58 (3H, m), 2.70 (1H, d, J=19.5 Hz, CH₂COO), 3.58-3.65 (1H, m), 3.68-3.85 (4H, m), 3.89-4.01 (3H, m), 4.58 (1H, br dd, J=4.5, 4 Hz, H13), 4.68 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20).

4.3.2. HCl treatment of 29 to form 34 and 36 (Table 1, run **h**). HCl-H₂O (2.5% 0.5 ml) was added to a cooled (0 $^{\circ}$ C) solution of **29** (30 mg, 74.1 umol) in THF (2 ml) and the mixture was stirred for 1 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O (5 ml) and EtOAc (5 ml) were added and resulting mixture was vigorously stirred for 2 h at an ambient temperature. Extraction with EtOAc followed by usual work-up and PTLC (0.8% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂) afforded 34 (18 mg, 64%) and 36 (7 mg, 26%) in order of increasing polarity. 36: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for $C_{21}H_{31}NO_4$: 361.2251. Found: 361.2264. DI-MS m/z: 361 (M⁺, 1), 333 (2), 288 (7), 274 (11), 261 (7), 246 (19), 218 (8), 201 (18), 91 (21), 87 (85), 73 (100), 45 (38). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1704, 1631. ¹H NMR δ: 1.19–1.39 (2H, m), 1.72 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4 Hz), 1.80-2.11 (8H, m), 2.14-2.24 (2H, m), 2.24 (1H, d, J=15 Hz), 2.29–2.45 (2H, m), 2.53 (1H, d, J=15 Hz), 2.65 (1H, br ddd, J=13, 3.5, 3.5 Hz, H1), 2.92 (3H, s), 2.99 (3H, s), 3.59-3.77 (3H, m), 3.96-4.06 (1H, m), 5.29 (1H, s), 5.71 (1H, ddd, J=10, 3.5, 2.5 Hz), 5.59 (1H, br d, J=10 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ : 17.4 (CH₂), 17.5 (CH₂), 21.3 (CH₂), 22.4 (CH₂), 33.3 (CH₂), 35.4 (CH₃), 37.3 (C), 37.9 (CH₂), 38.1 (CH₃), 39.2 (CH₂, C3), 45.3 (CH₂), 45.9 (CH), 47.9 (C), 57.8 (CH, C5), 62.7 (CH₂), 65.2 (CH₂), 105.0 (CH), 129.5 (CH), 136.1 (CH), 170.8 (C), 209.8 (C, C4).

4.3.3. Acetal–ene reaction of 5 to form 6 (37, 38) (Table 2). The procedure for Table 2, run d was described as a representative example. BF₃·OEt₂ (392 μ l, 3.09 mmol) was added to a cooled (-18 °C) solution of **5** (231 mg, 0.516 mmol) in toluene (10 ml) under an Ar atmosphere with stirring. After stirring for 1 h at -18 °C, saturated NaHCO₃–H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. After usual work-up, obtained residue (260 mg) was dissolved in acetone

(10 ml) and to this was added p-TsOH·H₂O (21 mg, 0.111 mmol) at 0 °C. The mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 10 min and at 19 °C for 3.5 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:1)] yielded crude 38 (12 mg), 6 (138 mg, 66%), and crude 37 (18 mg) in order of increasing polarity. The crude 37 was further purified by PTLC (0.3% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂) to give **37** (6 mg, 3%). The crude-38 was also separated by PTLC [hexane-1,2-dimethoxyethane (DME) (19:1)] to provide **38** (6 mg, 3%). **6**: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₄H₃₆O₅: 404.2561. Found: 404.2569. DI-MS m/z: 404 (M⁺, 3), 369 (5), 302 (5), 275 (8), 240 (31), 91 (39), 73 (36), 57 (100), 45 (41), 41 (47). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1717, 1705. ¹H NMR δ: 1.18 (9H, s), 1.45-1.98 (8H, m, including OH), 1.68 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 8.5, 6 Hz, CH₂CH₂OPiv), 1.98–2.09 (1H, m), 2.04 (1H, ddd, J=13, 5, 8.5, 6.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OPiv), 2.21-2.36 (5H, m), 2.42 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz, H11), 2.56 (1H, ddd, J=6.5, 6.5, 1.5 Hz, H14), 3.25 (1H, ddd, J=9, 5, 4.5, 3 Hz, CH₂CH₂OH), 3.35 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 7.5, 3 Hz, CH₂CH₂OH), 3.54-3.72 [2H, m, changed with D₂O to 3.58 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 4.5, 3 Hz) and 3.66 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 7.5, 3 Hz)], 3.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.00 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8.5, 6.5 Hz, CH₂OPiv), 4.14 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8.5, 6 Hz, CH_2 OPiv), 5.60 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3,3 Hz, H12), 5.69 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 6.5, 2, 1.5 Hz, H13). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.1 (CH₂, C6), 25.6 (CH₂, C2), 27.17 (CH₃×3), 27.23 (CH₂, C11), 28.6 (CH₂, C1), 33.6 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OPiv), 33.8 (CH₂, C7), 38.6 (C, CMe₃), 41.5 (CH₂, C3), 42.6 (C, C8), 47.7 (CH, C14), 53.8 (CH, C9), 54.0 (C, C10), 56.5 (CH, C6), 62.0 (CH₂, CH₂OH), 62.5 (CH₂, CH₂OPiv), 69.8 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OH), 81.2 (CH, C20), 126.2 (CH, C12), 126.9 (CH, C13), 178.4 (C), 212.1 (C). **37**: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for $C_{24}H_{36}O_5$: 404.2561. Found: 404.2580. DI-MS m/z: 404 (M⁺, 3), 342 (16), 302 (8), 275 (14), 240 (28), 213 (39), 91 (37), 73 (32), 57 (100), 45 (49), 41 (48). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1708. ¹H NMR δ : 1.18 (9H, s), 1.40–1.73 (6H, m), 1.41 (1H, br d, J=4.5 Hz, H9), 1.62 (1H, br s, OH), 1.98–2.42 (8H, m), 2.53 (1H, br d, J=6 Hz, H5), 2.55 (1H, ddd, J=7, 6, 1.5 Hz, H14), 3.41 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 5, 3.5 Hz), 3.46 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 6.5, 3.5 Hz), 3.62-3.79 [2H, m, changed with D₂O to 3.66 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 5, 3.5 Hz) and 3.73 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 6.5, 3.5 Hz)], 3.96 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.00 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 8, 6.5 Hz), 4.09 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 8.5, 6 Hz), 5.60 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 3 Hz), 5.69 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 7, 2, 1.5 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ : 17.8 (CH₂), 23.7 (CH₂), 25.9 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 28.4 (CH₂), 32.3 (CH₂), 33.5 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 41.3 (CH₂), 43.3 (×2, CH and C, C8 and C9), 46.4 (CH), 53.1 (C), 57.3 (CH, C5), 61.9 (CH₂), 62.4 (CH₂), 70.3 (CH₂), 87.6 (CH), 126.2 (CH), 126.7 (CH), 178.4 (C), 210.7 (C). 38: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₂H₃₀O₃: 342.2193. Found: 342.2201. DI-MS *m/z*: 342 (M⁺, 2), 240 (56), 212 (20), 129 (25), 91 (31), 57 (100), 41 (64). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1709. ¹H NMR δ : 1.06– 1.15 (2H, m, H14 and H20), 1.18 (9H, s), 1.32-1.42 (1H, m), 1.37-1.52 (2H, m), 1.52-1.73 (5H, m), 1.80-2.06 (3H, m), 1.99 (1H, dd, J=7, 1.5 Hz), 2.20-2.39 (3H, m), 3.94-4.09 (2H, m), 5.67 (1H, ddd, J=8, 7, 2 Hz, H11), 6.11 (1H, ddd, J=8, 5.5, 1.5 Hz, H12). ¹³C NMR δ : 16.4 (CH, C13), 18.8 (CH, C20), 19.8 (CH₂, C6), 23.7 (CH₂, C2), 24.0 (CH, C14), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 29.3 (CH₂), 31.9 (CH₂), 32.8 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 39.2 (C), 41.8 (CH₂), 48.7 (C), 53.2 (CH), 54.0 (CH), 62.2 (CH₂), 124.3 (CH, C11), 125.7 (CH, C12), 178.3 (C), 212.4 (C).

4.3.4. Acetal-ene reaction, reacetalization of 5 to form 39, 40, and 41. The crude ene reaction product (592 mg) prepared as above from 5 (582 mg, 1.30 mmol) and $BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$ (0.80 ml, 6.50 mmol) was dissolved in benzene (40 ml). Ethylene glycol (3.60 ml, 64.6 mmol) and p-TsOH·H₂O (30 mg, 0.16 mmol) were added to the solution and the mixture was heated under reflux for 1.5 h with Dean-Stark apparatus. The same work-up as before followed by separation by PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (8:1)] furnished crude-40 (42 mg), **39** (408 mg, 70%), and crude **41** (35 mg) in order of increasing polarity. The crude-40 was purified by PTLC [hexane-CH₂Cl₂ (1:1)] to yield 40 (25 mg, 3%). Crude 41 was also separated by PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (3:1)] to afford 41 (18 mg, 3%). 39: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₄₀O₆: 448.2823. Found: 448.2831. DI-MS m/z: 448 (M⁺, 5), 403 (11), 386 (3), 363 (2), 319 (3), 285 (3), 284 (3), 257 (4), 112 (16), 99 (100), 57 (50), 45 (23), 41 (20). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1711. ¹H NMR δ : 1.00–1.11 (1H, m), 1.17-1.28 (2H, m), 1.18 (9H, s), 1.51-1.89 (9H, m), 2.06 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 8.5, 6.5 Hz), 2.07 (1H, br d, J=13.5 Hz, H1), 2.18 (1H, dddd, J=19, 5, 2.5, 2.5 Hz, H11), 2.36 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz, H11), 2.50 (1H, ddd, J=6.5, 6, 1 Hz, H14), 2.85 (1H, t, J=6.5 Hz, OH), 3.33-3.41 (1H, m), 3.51-3.59 (1H, m), 3.66–3.73 (2H, m), 3.77–3.87 (1H, m), 3.87–4.00 (3H, m), 4.00 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 8.5, 6.5 Hz), 4.13 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 8.5, 6 Hz), 4.42 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.59 (1H, br ddd, J=9.5, 2.5, 2.5 Hz, H12), 5.66 (1H, br dd, J=9.5, 6.5 Hz, H13). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.3 (CH₂), 21.2 (CH₂), 26.9 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 28.8 (CH₂), 33.5 (CH), 34.1 (CH₂), 34.7 (CH₂, C3), 38.5 (C), 42.3 (C), 47.6 (CH), 48.4 (C), 50.6 (CH, C5), 54.8 (CH), 62.3 (CH₂), 62.6 (CH₂), 63.9 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 69.7 (CH₂), 80.6 (CH), 110.4 (C, C5), 125.9 (CH), 127.4 (CH), 178.4 (C). 40: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₄H₃₄O₄: 386.2455. Found: 386.2460. DI-MS m/z: 386 (M⁺, 4), 284 (27), 257 (5), 195 (6), 99 (100), 57 (38), 41 (17). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1712. ¹H NMR δ: 0.82–0.96 (1H, m), 1.07 (1H, ddd, J=7, 5, 1 Hz, H14), 1.17 (9H, s), 1.19-1.82 (15H, m), 3.80-4.05 (6H, m), 5.57 (1H, ddd, J=8, 6.5, 2 Hz, H11), 6.08 (1H, ddd, J=8, 5.5, 1.5 Hz, H12). ¹³C NMR δ: 16.1 (CH, C13), 18.8 (CH₂), 19.1 (CH, C20), 20.4 (CH₂), 24.2 (CH, C14), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 29.8 (CH₂), 32.6 (CH₂), 32.9 (CH), 35.5 (CH₂), 38.5 (C), 39.2 (C), 43.8 (C), 48.7 (CH), 54.0 (CH), 62.4 (CH₂), 64.4 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 110.5 (C, C4), 123.8 (CH), 125.8 (CH), 178.4 (C). 41: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₄₂O₇: 466.2928. Found: 466.2924. DI-MS m/z: 466 (M⁺, 2), 421 (18), 405 (2), 364 (11), 319 (7), 302 (6), 112 (30), 99 (100), 73 (16), 57 (84), 45 (15), 41 (21). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1713. ¹H NMR δ : 0.76 (1H, dd, J=2.5, 2.5 Hz, H9), 0.80 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4.5 Hz, H1), 1.21-1.41 (4H, m), 1.23 (9H, s), 1.41-1.89 (11H, m, including secondary OH), 1.90-2.03 (2H, m), 2.33 (1H, br ddd, J=13, 3, 3 Hz, H1), 3.24 (1H, br dd, J=5.5, 5.5 Hz, primary OH), 3.35-3.44 (1H, m), 3.56-3.65 (2H, m), ca. 3.63-3.74 (3H, m), 3.79–3.99 (5H, m), 4.70 (1H, d, J=2.5 Hz, CHOH). ¹³C NMR δ : 10.5 (CH₂, C corresponding to C12), 14.8 (CH₂, C corresponding to C11), 16.6 (CH₂), 22.2 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 32.2 (CH₂), 33.8 (CH, C corresponding to C13), 34.9 (CH₂), 35.0 (CH₂), 36.9 (CH₂), 37.1 (C), 39.1 (C), 40.6 (C), 46.7 (CH), 50.8 (CH), 59.9 (CH₂), 61.9

 $(\mathrm{CH}_2),\ 64.3\ (\mathrm{CH}_2),\ 65.4\ (\mathrm{CH}_2),\ 70.2\ (\mathrm{CH}_2),\ 74.6\ (\mathrm{CH},\ C\mathrm{HOH}),\ 75.8\ (\mathrm{CH}),\ 110.4\ (\mathrm{C}),\ 177.8\ (\mathrm{C}).$

4.4. Model deprotection of 2-hydroxyethyl group and allylic oxidation of 33 (Scheme 7)

4.4.1. Bromination of 33 to form 42. Ph₃P (33 mg, 0.143 mmol) and CBr₄ (33 mg, 99.4 µmol) were added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of 33 (20 mg, 49.4 µmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (4 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 20 °C for 1 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and PTLC [CH₂Cl₂-EtOAc (19:1)] gave 42 (20 mg, 87%) as a colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₄BrNO₄: 469.1650, 467.1670. Found: 469.1654, 467.1671. DI-MS m/z: 469, 467 (M⁺, 10, 10), 424, 422 (3, 2), 388 (16), 360 (23), 344 (8), 273 (11), 257 (11), 99 (100), 87 (67), 72 (27), 45 (28). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1632. ¹H NMR δ : 1.02 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4 Hz, H1), 1.22 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 12.5, 4 Hz, H3), 1.42 (1H, br d, J=5.5 Hz, H9), 1.50-1.79 (7H, m), 1.86-1.96 (1H, m), 2.04 (1H, br dddd, J=13, 3, 3, 1.5 Hz, H1), 2.17 (1H, dddd, J=18, 5.5, 2.5, 2 Hz, H11), 2.36 (1H, br d, J=18.5 Hz, H11), 2.45 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.69 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.90 (1H, ddd, J=6.5, 6.5, 1.5 Hz), 2.92 (3H, s), 3.00 (3H, s), 3.38–3.54 (2H, m, CH₂Br), 3.55–3.64 (1H, m), 3.67– 3.81 (2H, m), 3.85–3.98 (3H, m), 4.33 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.55 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 2.5 Hz), 5.68 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 6.5, 2, 2 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.2 (CH₂), 21.0 (CH₂), 27.0 (CH₂), 28.7 (CH₂), 30.4 (CH₂, CH₂Br), 33.9 (CH₂), 34.9 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 37.5 (CH₂), 37.8 (CH₃), 43.7 (C), 48.3 (CH), 48.4 (C), 50.6 (CH), 54.6 (CH), 63.9 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 69.6 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂Br), 81.3 (CH), 110.3 (C), 125.3 (CH), 129.0 (CH), 172.5 (C).

4.4.2. Reductive deprotection of 42 to form 43. Zn dust (252 mg, 3.85 mg atom) and NH₄Cl (10 mg, 0.187 mmol) were added to a solution of 42 (18 mg, 38.5 µmol) in 2-propanol-H₂O (14:1, 5 ml) and the mixture was refluxed with stirring for 3 h. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was filtered under reduced pressure. Extraction with CH₂Cl₂ followed by PTLC [hexane-DME (2:1)] afforded 43 (13 mg, 94%) as a colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₁H₃₄NO₄: 361.2251. Found: 361.2240. DI-MS m/z: 361 (M⁺, 56), 332 (24), 316 (41), 274 (15), 245 (22), 183 (23), 99 (87), 87 (100), 72 (46), 55 (29), 45 (50). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1626. ¹H NMR δ : 1.09 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4 Hz), 1.23 (1H, ddd, J=13, 12.5, 4 Hz), 1.51 (1H, br d, J=5 Hz), 1.54–1.94 (9H, m), 2.12 (1H, br d, J=11.5 Hz, OH), 2.28 (1H, dd, J=19.5, 5 Hz), 2.38 (1H, br d, J=19.5 Hz), 2.49 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.59 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.85-2.92 (1H, m), 2.93 (3H, s), 3.01 (3H, s), 3.73-3.81 (1H, m), 3.84–4.00 (3H, m), 4.70 (1H, br dd, J=11.5, 7 Hz, changed to d, J=7 Hz with D₂O, H2O), 5.72–5.83 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.0 (CH₂), 21.1 (CH₂), 27.5 (CH₂), 29.1 (CH₂), 33.9 (CH₂), 34.9 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 37.6 (CH₂), 37.9 (CH₃), 43.7 (C), 48.4 (C, C10), 50.0 (CH), 50.5 (CH, C14), 53.8 (CH), 63.9 (CH₂), 65.5 (CH₂), 72.6 (CH, C20), 110.1 (C), 128.6 (CH), 129.6 (CH), 172.4 (C).

4.4.3. Dess–Martin oxidation of 43 to form 44. A solution of **43** (12 mg, 33.2 μ mol) and Dess–Martin periodinane (70 mg, 0.165 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (4 ml) was refluxed with stirring for 8 h. Saturated NaHCO₃–H₂O and saturated

Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O were added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane-DME (3:2)] provided 44 (11 mg, 92%) as colorless prisms, mp 195–196 °C (CH₂Cl₂-hexane). Anal. Calcd for C₂₁H₂₉NO₄: C, 70.19; H, 8.13; N, 3.90. Found: C, 70.03; H, 8.23; N, 3.94. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₁H₂₉NO₄: 359.2095. Found: 359.2084. DI-MS m/z: 359 (M⁺, 3), 331 (27), 244 (21), 129 (27), 99 (100), 91 (24), 87 (67), 72 (34), 55 (25), 45 (37). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1727, 1635. ¹H NMR δ : 1.25 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4 Hz), 1.34 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 13.5, 4.5 Hz), 1.51–1.66 (2H, m), 1.69–1.92 (6H, m), 2.09 (1H, br dd, J=5.5, 3 Hz), 2.22–2.40 (3H, m), 2.47 (1H, d, J=16 Hz), 2.52 (1H, d, J=16 Hz), 2.94 (1H, dd, J=7.5, 2.5 Hz, H14), 2.94 (3H, s), 3.02 (3H, s), 3.73-3.81 (1H, m), 3.83–4.02 (3H, m), 5.70 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 2.5 Hz), 5.80 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 7.5, 2, 1.5 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.5 (CH₂), 20.0 (CH₂), 26.1 (CH₂), 29.8 (CH₂), 34.0 (CH₂), 34.8 (CH₂), 35.4 (×2, CH₃ and CH₂), 37.8 (CH₃), 41.1 (C), 51.1 (CH), 52.7 (CH), 54.9 (C, C10), 56.7 (CH, C14), 64.0 (CH₂), 66.0 (CH₂), 109.2 (C), 126.8 (CH), 128.1 (CH), 171.5 (C), 211.7 (C, C20).

4.4.4. Oxidation of 42 with CrO₃ and 3,5-dimethyl**pyrazole.** To a cooled $(-18 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ slurry of CrO₃ (49 mg, 0.490 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ was added 3.5-dimethylpyrazole (55 mg, 0.573 mmol) and the mixture was stirred for 15 min. A solution of 42 (19 mg, 40.6 µmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (2 ml) was added to this and the resulting mixture was stirred at -18 to 27 °C for 38 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O and saturated Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O were added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC $(0.5\% \text{ MeOH-CH}_2\text{Cl}_2)$ provided recovery of 42 (5.5 mg, 29%) and a mixture of **45** and **46** (15 mg) in order of increasing polarity. The latter was further purified by PTLC [hexane-2-propanol (6:1)] and yielded 45 (5.5 mg, 28%) and 46 (5.5 mg, 28%) in order of decreasing polarity. 45: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₂BrNO₅: 483.1443, 481.1463. Found: 483.1434, 481.1461. DI-MS m/z: 483, 481 (M⁺, 6, 6), 402 (16), 397, 395 (6, 6), 271 (84), 109, 107 (17, 17), 99 (100), 87 (84), 72 (41), 55 (25), 45 (32). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1661, 1639. ¹H NMR δ: 1.20-1.38 (3H, m), 1.47–1.82 (7H, m), 2.08 (1H, br dd, J=1.5, 1.5 Hz, H9), 2.19 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 6.5, 2 Hz), 2.25 (1H, d, J=16 Hz), 2.57 (1H, d, J=16 Hz), 2.89 (3H, s), 2.91 (3H, s), 3.39 (1H, dt, J=10, 6.5 Hz), 3.45 (1H, dt, J=10, 6.5 Hz), 3.72 (2H, dd, J=6.5, 6.5 Hz), 3.76–3.85 (2H, m), 3.88-4.00 (3H, m), 4.66 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 6.11 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 1.5 Hz, H12), 7.16 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 7.5 Hz, H13). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.0 (CH₂), 20.7 (CH₂), 29.5 (CH₂), 30.2 (CH₂), 34.5 (CH₂), 34.9 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 37.6 (CH₃), 38.0 (CH₂), 47.7 (C), 49.6 (CH), 50.0 (CH), 51.8 (C), 64.0 (CH₂), 65.5 (CH₂), 70.1 (CH₂), 74.6 (CH, C9), 79.6 (CH, C20), 109.6 (C), 129.4 (CH, C12), 153.7 (CH, C13), 170.8 (C), 202.0 (C, C11). 46: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₂BrNO₅: 483.1443, 481.1463. Found: 483.1418, 481.1461. DI-MS m/z: 483, 481 (M⁺, 13, 10), 402 (11), 374 (16), 358 (11), 271 (12), 109, 107 (14, 14), 99 (100), 87 (33), 72 (32), 55 (11), 45 (17). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1677, 1638. ¹H NMR δ: 1.19–1.89 (10H, m), 2.01 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz), 2.32 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.39 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.66 (1H, dd, J=7, 1.5 Hz, H9), 2.89 (3H, s), 2.92 (3H, s), 3.18 (1H, ddd, J=7, 1.5, 1.5 Hz, H14), 3.32 (2H, dd, J=6.5, 6.5 Hz), 3.56 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 6.5 Hz),

7069

3.75 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 6.5 Hz), 3.76–3.85 (1H, m), 3.88–4.01 (3H, m), 4.61 (1H, d, J=7 Hz), 6.10 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 1.5 Hz, H12), 7.08 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 7 Hz, H11). ¹³C NMR δ : 17.9 (CH₂), 20.7 (CH₂), 29.7 (CH₂), 29.9 (CH₂), 33.9 (CH₂), 35.0 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 36.3 (CH₂), 37.7 (CH₃), 49.4 (CH), 51.5 (C), 53.1 (C), 56.7 (CH, C9), 64.0 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 66.1 (CH, C14), 70.8 (CH₂), 77.5 (CH), 109.7 (C), 131.1 (CH, C12), 151.1 (CH, C11), 170.8 (C), 200.4 (C, C13).

4.4.5. Zn reduction of 45 to form 47. In a similar manner as for the preparation of 43 from 42 (Section 4.4.2), 45 (6.5 mg, 13.5 µmol) was treated with Zn (220 mg, 3.36 mg atom) and NH₄Cl (11 mg, 0.206 mmol) for 3 h. The same work-up and PTLC (2% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂) gave 47 (4.5 mg, 89%) as a colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₁H₃₁NO₅: 377.2200. Found: 377.2209. DI-MS m/z: 377 (M⁺, 22), 332 (6), 276 (7), 180 (10), 99 (100), 87 (61), 72 (41), 55 (17), 46 (23), 45 (21). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1689, 1640. ¹H NMR δ: 1.06– 1.21 (2H, m), 1.32 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 12.5, 5 Hz, H3), 1.46-1.74 (6H, m), 1.66 (1H, br s, OH), 1.75-1.84 (3H, m), 2.15 (1H, d, J=16.5 Hz), 2.15–2.32 (3H, m), 2.28 (1H, d, J=16.5 Hz), 2.64 (1H, ddd, J=19, 10, 10 Hz, H12), 2.92 (3H, s), 2.94 (3H, s), 2.98-3.05 (1H, m), 3.77-3.85 (1H, m), 3.86-4.01 (3H, m), 4.95 (1H, br d, J=7 Hz, H20). ¹³C NMR δ : 17.9 (CH₂), 20.8 (CH₂), 20.9 (CH₂, C13), 27.0 (CH₂), 34.4 (CH₂), 35.2 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 36.9 (CH₂, C12), 37.6 (CH₃), 38.5 (CH₂), 45.5 (CH, C14), 46.3 (C), 48.7 (C), 49.7 (CH), 64.0 (CH₂), 65.5 (CH₂), 70.2 (CH), 74.2 (CH, C9), 109.7 (C), 170.2 (C), 215.0 (C).

4.4.6. Zn reduction of 46 to form 48, 49, 50. In the same manner as for the procedure of Section 4.4.5, 46 (6.5 mg, 13.5 µmol) was treated with Zn (220 mg, 3.36 mg atom) and NH₄Cl (11 mg, 0.206 mmol) for 4 h. The same workup and PTLC (2% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂) gave 48 (2.5 mg, 49%), 50 (2 mg, 39%), and 49 (0.5 mg, 9%) in order of decreasing polarity. 48: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₁H₂₉NO₅: 375.2044. Found: 375.2057. DI-MS m/z: 375 (M⁺, 25), 347 (8), 330 (4), 289 (9), 271 (22), 227 (11), 99 (100), 87 (76), 72 (28), 45 (22). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1675. 1634. ¹H NMR δ: 1.25–1.92 (11H, m, including OH), 2.12 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz, H1), 2.34 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.41 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.71 (1H, br d, J=7 Hz), 2.89 (3H, s), 2.92 (3H, s), 3.11 (1H, ddd, J=7, 1.5, 1.5 Hz, H14), 3.77-3.85 (1H, m), 3.87–3.98 (3H, m), 5.05 (1H, br d, J=7 Hz, H20), 6.12 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 1.5 Hz), 7.14 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 7 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ: 17.8 (CH₂), 20.9 (CH₂), 29.6 (CH₂), 33.9 (CH₂), 35.1 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 36.3 (CH₂), 37.7 (CH₃), 49.5 (CH), 51.6 (C), 52.1 (C), 56.9 (CH), 64.1 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 68.2 (CH, C14), 69.3 (CH, C20), 109.7 (C), 170.9 (C), 130.9 (CH), 151.8 (CH), 201.5 (C). 49: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₃NO₅: 403.2357. Found: 403.2367. DI-MS m/z: 403 (M⁺, 25), 374 (15), 358 (7), 317 (21), 99 (100), 87 (22), 72 (33). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1672, 1633. ¹H NMR δ : 1.04 (3H, dd, J=7, 7 Hz, OCH₂CH₃), 1.20-1.88 (10H, m), 2.00 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz), 2.32 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.39 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.64 (1H, br d, J=7 Hz), 2.89 (3H, s), 2.92 (3H, s), 3.16 (1H, ddd, J=7, 1.5, 1.5 Hz), 3.30 (1H, dq, J=9, 7 Hz, OCH₂CH₃), 3.49 (1H, dq, J=9, 7 Hz, OCH₂CH₃), 3.74–3.85 (1H, m), 3.87–3.99 (3H, m), 4.54 (1H, d, J=7 Hz), 6.09 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 1.5 Hz), 7.06 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 7 Hz). **50**: Colorless glass. DI-HRMS Calcd for C₂₁H₃₁NO₅: 377.2200. Found: 377.2197. DI-MS m/z: 377 (M⁺, 19), 332 (10), 192 (7), 168 (12), 99 (100), 87 (40), 72 (32), 55 (15), 46 (22). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1701, 1640. ¹H NMR δ : 1.23 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 13.5, 4.5 Hz), 1.32 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4 Hz), 1.42–2.27 (14H, m, including OH), 2.08 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.30 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.67 (1H, ddd, J=18, 10, 10 Hz, H12), 2.83 (1H, d, J=7.5 Hz, H14), 2.92 (3H, s), 2.96 (3H, s), 3.76–3.85 (1H, m), 3.86–4.00 (3H, m), 4.94 (1H, br d, J=7.5 Hz, H20). ¹³C NMR δ : 17.9 (CH₂), 19.5 (CH₂, C11), 20.9 (CH₂), 27.7 (CH₂), 33.3 (CH₂), 34.8 (CH₂), 35.4 (CH₃), 36.2 (CH₂, C12), 36.6 (CH₂), 37.8 (CH₃), 47.2 (C), 47.7 (C), 50.0 (CH), 52.5 (CH), 63.9 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 67.9 (CH, C14), 68.8 (CH, C20), 110.1 (C), 170.4 (C), 212.4 (C).

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Shionogi & Co., Ltd, for elemental analysis. A part of this work was supported by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research from Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS), which is gratefully acknowledged.

References and notes

- (a) Pelletier, S. W.; Page, S. W. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1984, 1, 375– 386; (b) Pelletier, S. W.; Page, S. W. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1986, 3, 452–475; (c) Yunuzov, M. S. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1991, 8, 499–526; (d) Yunuzov, M. S. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1993, 10, 471– 486; (e) Atta-ur-Rahman; Choudhary, M. I. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1995, 12, 361–379; (f) Atta-ur-Rahman; Choudhary, M. I. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1997, 14, 191–203; (g) Atta-ur-Rahman; Choudhary, M. I. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1999, 16, 619–635.
- 2. (a) Stern, E. S. The Alkaloids; Manske, R. H. F., Holmes, H. L., Eds.; Academic: New York, NY, 1954; Vol. 4, pp 275-333; (b) Stern, E. S. The Alkaloids; Manske, R. H. F., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1960; Vol. 7, pp 473-521; (c) Pelletier, S. W.; Keith, L. H. The Alkaloids; Manske, R. H. F., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1970; Vol. 12, pp 1-206; (d) Pelletier, S. W.; Mody, N. V. The Alkaloids; Manske, R. H. F., Rodrigo, R. G. A., Eds.; Academic: New York, NY, 1979; Vol. 17, pp 1-103; (e) Pelletier, S. W.; Mody, N. V. The Alkaloids; Manske, R. H. F., Rodrigo, R. G. A., Eds.; Academic: New York, NY, 1981; Vol. 18, pp 99-216; (f) Amiya, T.; Bando, H. The Alkaloids; Brossi, A., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1988; Vol. 34, pp 95-179; (g) Wang, F.-P.; Liang, X.-T. The Alkaloids; Cordell, G. A., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1992; Vol. 42, pp 151-247; (h) Wang, F.-P.; Liang, X.-T. The Alkaloids; Cordell, G. A., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 2002; Vol. 59, pp 1-280.
- Total syntheses of atisine: (a) Nagata, W.; Sugasawa, T.; Narisada, M.; Wakabayashi, T.; Hayase, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1963**, 85, 2342–2343; Nagata, W.; Sugasawa, T.; Narisada, M.; Wakabayashi, T.; Hayase, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1967**, 89, 1483–1499; (b) Masamune, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1964**, 86, 291–292; (c) Tahara, A.; Hirao, K. Tetrahedron Lett. **1966**, 1453–1459; (d) Guthrie, R. W.; Valenta, Z.; Wiesner, K. Tetrahedron Lett. **1966**, 4645–4654; (e) Kametani, T.; Kato, Y.; Honda, T.; Fukumoto, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1976**, 98, 8185– 8190; (f) Ihara, M.; Suzuki, M.; Fukumoto, K.; Kametani, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1988**, 110, 1963–1964; (g) Ihara, M.;

Suzuki, M.; Fukumoto, K.; Kabuto, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 1164–1171.

- Total syntheses of veatchine: (a) Nagata, W.; Narisada, M.; Wakabayashi, T.; Sugasawa, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1964, 86, 929–930; Nagata, W.; Narisada, M.; Wakabayashi, T.; Sugasawa, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 1499–1504; (b) Valenta, Z.; Wiesner, K.; Wong, C. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1964, 2437–2442.
- 5. Total syntheses of garryine: Masamune, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1964**, *86*, 290–291. In addition to this, two other papers (Refs. 4a and 4b) reported the synthesis.
- Total synthesis of napelline: Wiesner, K.; Ho, P.-T.; Tsai, C. S. J.; Lam, Y.-K. *Can. J. Chem.* **1974**, *52*, 2355–2357.
- Total synthesis of delphinine: Wiesner, K.; Jay, E. W.; Demerson, J. C.; Kanno, T.; Krepinsky, J.; Poon, L.; Tsai, T. Y.; Vilim, A.; Wu, C. S. *Experientia* **1970**, *26*, 1030.
- Total synthesis of talatisamine: Wiesner, K.; Tsai, T. Y. R.; Huber, K.; Bolton, S. E.; Vlahov, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 4990–4992.
- Total synthesis of chasmanine: Wiesner, K.; Tsai, T. Y. R.; Nambiar, K. P. Can. J. Chem. 1978, 56, 1451–1454.
- 10. Przybylska, M. Can. J. Chem. 1962, 40, 566-568.
- (a) Muratake, H.; Natsume, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 7581–7582;
 (b) Muratake, H.; Nakai, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 2355–2358;
 (c) Muratake, H.; Natsume, M.; Nakai, H. *Tetrahedron* **2004**, *60*, 11783–11803.
- (a) Muratake, H.; Hayakawa, A.; Natsume, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 7577–7580; (b) Muratake, H.; Hayakawa, A.; Natsume, M. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **2000**, *48*, 1558–1566.
- Muratake, H.; Natsume, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 2913– 2917.

- 14. Muratake, H.; Natsume, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 4646–4649.
- Van der Baan, J. L.; Bickelhaupt, F. *Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas* 1975, 94, 109–112.
- Shibanuma, Y.; Okamoto, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1985, 33, 3187–3194.
- 17. Kwak, Y.-S.; Winkler, J. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 7429–7430.
- Williams, C. M.; Mander, L. N. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3499– 3502.
- 19. Peese, K. M.; Gin, D. Y. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3323-3325.
- Ghosh, A. K.; Mukhopadhyaya, J. K.; Ghatak, U. R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1997, 2747–2756.
- Snyder, L.; Meyers, A. I. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 7507– 7515.
- 22. Chiu, P.; Wong, S. T. Synth. Commun. 1998, 28, 4513-4516.
- Jung, R. E.; Usai, Y.; Vu, C. T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 5977–5980.
- 24. Wick, A. E.; Felix, D.; Steen, K.; Eschenmoser, A. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1964**, *47*, 2425–2429.
- Myers, A. G.; Yang, B. H.; Kopecky, D. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1996, 37, 3623–3626.
- Reviews for ene reaction: (a) Snider, B. B. Acc. Chem. Res. 1980, 13, 426–432; (b) Mikami, K.; Shimizu, M. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 1021–1050; For similar acetal–ene reactions: (c) Ladépêche, A.; Tam, E.; Ancel, J.-E.; Ghosez, L. Synthesis 2004, 1375–1380 and references therein; (d) Ishihara, K.; Nakamura, H.; Yamamoto, H. Synlett 2000, 1245–1248.
- 27. Dess, D. B.; Martin, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 4155-4156.
- Salmond, W. G.; Barta, M. A.; Havens, J. L. J. Org. Chem. 1978, 43, 2057–2059.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 7071-7092

Tetrahedron

Synthetic study of hetisine-type aconite alkaloids. Part 2: Preparation of hexacyclic compound lacking the C-ring of the hetisan skeleton

Hideaki Muratake* and Mitsutaka Natsume*

Research Foundation Itsuu Laboratory, 2-28-10 Tamagawa, Setagaya-ku, Tokyo 158-0094, Japan

Received 10 March 2006; accepted 12 April 2006 Available online 19 May 2006

Abstract—A hexacyclic compound 1, having almost the full hetisine-type aconite alkaloid framework lacking only the C-ring with an *exo*-methylene group, was synthesized from the intermediate 3 reported in the preceding paper. The synthesis involved the following key reactions the crucial conversion of 3 to 4, a stereoselective hydrocyanation reaction to obtain 5 from 4, and construction of the azabicyclic ring system $(5 \rightarrow 1)$.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Over 400 aconite alkaloids have been isolated so far from *Aconitum*, *Delphinium*, *Consolida*, *Thalictrum*, and *Spiraea*. They are generally classified into five skeletons, i.e., atidane, veatchane, cycloveatchane, aconitane, and hetisan (Scheme 1).^{1,2} Extensive synthetic investigations over the last 40 years have led to total syntheses of the first four.³ However, attempts to synthesize hetisine-type aconite alkaloids had met with no success until we recently reported the total synthesis of (\pm)-nominine.⁴ Five synthetic investigations leading toward the total synthesis of this class of aconite alkaloids have been reported so far.^{5–9}

It was several years ago that we set out to synthesize hetisine-type aconite alkaloids by applying our palladiumcatalyzed intramolecular α -arylation of aliphatic ketone, formyl, and nitro groups.¹⁰ Our synthetic strategy was based on early formation of the N–C6 and C14–C20 bonds, which are characteristic of the hetisan skeleton.³ We first reported the preparation of the hexacyclic compound **1** lacking the C-ring of the hetisan skeleton by way of the intermediates **2–5** (Scheme 2).¹¹ Further synthetic efforts culminated in a total synthesis of (±)-nominine.⁴ We described in the preceding paper the preparation of the intermediates, such as **3**, with the C14–C20 bond. In this paper (Part 2), we



Scheme 1. Representative hetisine-type alkaloids.

Keywords: Aconite; Alkaloid; Hetisan; Hydrocyanation; Azabicyclic ring. * Corresponding authors. Tel.: +81 3 3700 5492; fax: +81 3 3700 5431; e-mail: hmuratake@itsuu.or.ip



Scheme 2. Outline of the preparation of 1.

present full details of the synthesis of 1 from the intermediate 3.³ In the final paper (Part 3), we will deal with the total synthesis of (\pm) -nominine diverging from the intermediate 5. These three papers describe in detail the first total synthesis of a hetisine-type aconite alkaloid.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Seeking a route from the acetal–ene reaction product

2.1.1. Seeking a method for the C-ring formation. As described in the preceding paper,³ we planned to form the azabicyclic ring in the final stage of the synthesis, due to its strong basicity. Consequently, for further transformation from the acetal-ene reaction product (e.g., 3) toward the hetisan skeleton, we considered the following three routes: (1) functionalization of C11, aiming at formation of the C-ring, as well as the synthesis of the alkaloids having a C11 hydroxy group, such as kobusine; (2) elaboration of the C8 side-chain for the C-ring formation; and (3) dehydration to form the $\Delta_{5.6}$ enone for construction of the pyrrolidine ring. After several trials on route (1), we found that chromium trioxide (CrO₃)-3,5-dimethylpyrazole functioned successfully in the oxidation of C11 and C13.³ Therefore, we examined C-ring formation based on route (1) followed by route (2), starting from compound 6 prepared in the preceding paper (Scheme 3).

After protection of hydroxy group of **6** as methoxymethyl (MOM) ether as usual, the product **7** was oxidized as before³ with CrO_3 and 3,5-dimethylpyrazole to obtain **8** (43%) and **9** (37%). In order to apply route (2), compound **8** was transformed to the keto-aldehyde **10** via three sequential

operations: (i) hydrogenation on palladium (Pd), (ii) methanolysis with potassium carbonate (K_2CO_3), and (iii) oxidation with pyridinium chlorochromate (PCC) supported on alumina (20 wt % PCC-Al₂O₃).¹² The same treatment of **9** provided **11** without difficulty. The additional carbon corresponding to C17 of the hetisan skeleton was introduced at this stage as an alkyne carbon. Thus, dimethyl (1-diazo-2-oxopropyl)phosphonate¹³ was allowed to react in the presence of K_2CO_3 with **10** and **11** to afford **12** and **14**, respectively, in high yields. A small quantity of the aldol product **13** was also isolated from **10**.

The carbomercuration and aldol reactions were examined for the C-ring formation from **11** and **12**. Although treatment of the silyl enol ether **15** derived from **12** with mercuric chloride (HgCl₂) and 1,1,1,3,3,3-hexamethyldisilazane (HMDS) according to the literature¹⁴ gave no cyclized product, stirring of **15** with mercuric triflate–N,N,N',N'-tetramethylurea complex [Hg(OTf)₂(TMU)₂]¹⁵ and then with HCl–H₂O secured the desired **16** in 50% yield along with the triketone **17** in 12% yield.

The aldol reaction was also applicable for the C-ring formation. On treatment of **11** with K_2CO_3 in boiling MeOH, two isomeric aldol products **18** and **19** were obtained in 56% and 31% yields, respectively. A similar aldol reaction of **20** with LDA, prepared from **14** with the above Hg(OTf)₂(TMU)₂, provided a single isomer **21** in 46% yield together with the recovery of **20** (21%). The stereochemistry of **18**, **19**, and **21** remains unclear.

2.1.2. Dehydrogenative oxidation of 22, 32, and 3 to form the $\Delta_{5,6}$ enone and attempted introduction of a nitrogen function at C6. The hetisan skeleton possesses a nitrogen function at C6 and a pyrrolidine ring, built onto the



Scheme 3. Seeking a method for the C-ring formation. Reagents and conditions: (a) MOMCl, *i*-Pr₂NEt, CH₂Cl₂, **7**98%; (b) CrO₃, 3,5-dimethylpyrazole, **8**43%, **9**37%; (c) (i) H₂ (1 atm), Pd–C, MeOH; (ii) K₂CO₃, MeOH; (iii) 20% PCC–Al₂O₃, CH₂Cl₂, **10** (i) 95%, (ii) 98%, (iii) 85%; **11** (i) 97%, (ii) 95%, (iii) 90%; (d) dimethyl(1-diazo-2-oxopropyl)phosphonate, K₂CO₃, MeOH, **12**83%, **13**7%, **14**98%; (e) LDA, TMSCl, THF; (f) Hg(OTf)₂(TMU)₂, CH₃CN–CH₂Cl₂; then 5% HCl–H₂O, **16** 50% from **12**, **17** 12% from **12**; (g) K₂CO₃, MeOH, **18** 56%, **19** 31%; (h) Hg(OTf)₂(TMU)₂, CH₃CN–CH₂Cl₂–H₂O, **20** 80%; (i) LDA, THF, **21** 46%, recovery of **20** 21%.

azabicyclic ring system, is present involving C4, C5, and C6. The N–C6 bond is characteristic of the hetisan skeleton and its early formation accords with our fundamental synthetic strategy. We therefore tried to introduce the $\Delta_{5,6}$ olefin from **22**, **32**, and **3**, which were prepared in the preceding paper³ (Scheme 4).

The primary alcohol of 22 was protected as an acetate or a MOM ether to obtain 23 and 24, respectively. These compounds were deprotected with *p*-toluenesulfonic acid (p-TsOH) in acetone to vield ketones 25 and 26, respectively. Acetate 25 was then treated with iodotrimethylsilane (TMSI) and HMDS to afford the thermodynamic enolate 27 selectively.¹⁶ The enolate was allowed to react with Nbromosuccinimide (NBS) to acquire the 5-bromo derivatives 28 and 29. These were separately led to the desired enone 30 by treatment with 1,8-diazabicyclo[5,4,0]undecene-7 (DBU) in benzene. The overall yield of 30 from 25 was improved to 62% without separation at the stage of bromides 28 and 29. On the other hand, as the MOM group of 26 cannot tolerate the above conditions with TMSI, enolization of 26 was carried out with bromomagnesium diisopropylamide¹⁷ to afford the silvl enol ether corresponding to **27**. This product could be transformed to 31 as above, but in only 27% overall yield from 26. The four sequential reactions employed for the transformation of 23 to 30 was applied to compound 32 to furnish the keto-enone derivative 35, though the overall yield was not so good, and only the β -isomer 34 was isolated as the intermediary bromide.

As mentioned above, the best overall yield of enone from the corresponding ketone was obtained in the acetyl series $(25 \rightarrow 30)$, as compared with the MOM $(26 \rightarrow 31)$ or ketone

series $(33 \rightarrow 35)$. So, compound 3 was led to 38 by way of 37 in the same manner as above in good yield. But we considered that a MOM group would be preferable as the protecting group for the primary alcohol, rather than acyl groups such as acetyl, because (i) the previously reported ene reaction proceeded in better yield for 3 than for 22^{3} (ii) discretionary removal of the protecting groups of the two primary alcohol of 3 would be easier in the MOM series than in the acetyl series, as compound 3 bears another acyl function, the pivaloyl group, and (iii) furthermore, the acetyl protecting group would be cleaved during prospective introduction of the C18-methyl group as a carbanion. We therefore devised a suitable reaction sequence to get **39** containing the MOM ether. Thus, after treatment with TMSI, HMDS, and then NBS, the resulting products (mixture of α - and β -bromo derivatives) were stirred briefly with dilute HCl-H₂O to cleave the trimethylsilyl (TMS) group from the 2-(trimethylsilyloxy)ethyl group. The MOM group was introduced at this point, and the resulting mixture was led to the desired enone 39 in a good overall yield of 57% after DBU treatment. In the same manner, 39 was also obtained from the cis isomer 36 in 45% overall yield. This compound 39 became the intermediate in the finally settled synthetic route to (\pm) -nominine.⁴

Using compound **38**, we attempted to introduce a nitrogen function at C6 (Scheme 4). Reduction of the enones **38** and **39** with sodium borohydride (NaBH₄) and cerium chloride (CeCl₃) was found to afford stereoselectively the 4β-OH derivatives **40** and **41**, respectively. Although the stereochemistry of **40** was unclear at this point, it was confirmed after derivation of **40** to **42** as follows. Thus, **40** was reacted with trichloroacetonitrile (CCl₃CN) and DBU¹⁸ in order to





introduce a N-function at C6, affording **42**, whose stereochemistry was proved to be the undesired unnatural β configuration by means of NOE experiments: 12% NOE enhancement was observed at H6 (δ 4.74–4.87, m) in the ¹H NMR NOE difference spectrum on irradiation at H20 (δ 3.91, d, *J*=6 Hz) of **42**. As this rearrangement reaction proceeds with stereoretention, this means that the stereochemistry of the hydroxy group at C4 of **40** is β . The stereoselectivity is consistent with the 'axial attack of small nucleophiles to cyclohexanone carbonyl group' reported by Cieplak.¹⁹ The knowledge that small nucleophiles attack the C4 carbonyl not from the less-hindered β -side, but from the apparently congested α -side is very important for the subsequent synthetic route toward (\pm)-nominine, as described below.

2.1.3. Efforts aiming at carbonyl 1,3-transposition from

39. Our next task was to construct the pyrrolidine ring with the correct C4 stereochemistry from the above enone 38 or 39. The fact that simple reduction of the C4 carbonyl group of **38** and **39** gave stereoselectively the 4β -hydroxy compounds 40 and 41 provided an important clue (Scheme 4). That is, if the 'axial attack of the small nucleophile' was also applicable to the enone A or B derived from 38 or **39**, the desired **C** with the correct C4 stereochemistry could be secured by the Michael addition of X to the enone A carrying a methyl group at C4, where X is a substituent with a heteroatom (Scheme 5). On the other hand, if the sterically controlled attack took precedence over the axial attack, **D** with the wrong stereochemistry would be formed from **A**, and so we would have to allow the enone **B** to react with methyl carbanion in a 1.4-addition manner to obtain compound C.



Scheme 5. Construction of C4 quaternary carbon with correct stereochemistry.

With this in mind, we first sought to obtain the 6-oxo-4-ene compound from **39** by means of 1,3-carbonyl transposition reaction (Scheme 6). The allyl alcohol **41** derived from **39** was oxidized with *m*-chloroperbenzoic acid (*m*-CPBA) to afford **43** in 90% yield together with the enone **39** in 4% yield. The stereochemistry of **43** was confirmed by observation of a weak NOE enhancement (1.4%) at H6 (δ 3.25, d, J=3.5 Hz) on irradiation at H20 (δ 3.83, d, J=6 Hz) in the ¹H NMR spectrum. Then, **43** was readily led to the mesylate **44** with methanesulfonyl chloride (MsCl) and triethylamine



Scheme 6. Efforts aiming at carbonyl 1,3-transposition from 41 to form 53. Reagents and conditions: (a) *m*-CPBA, CH₂Cl₂, 43 90%, 39 4%; (b) MsCl, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, 44 86%; (c) *p*-TsCl, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, 45 94%; (d) Na, liq. NH₃, THF, 46 78% from 44, 46 54% from 45, 49 36% from 45; (e) BH₃·SMe₂, THF; then H₂O₂, NaOH, 50 50%, recovery of 41 20%; (f) *i*-PrSO₂Cl, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, 51 86%; (g) Dess–Martin periodinane, CH₂Cl₂, 52 quant. from 51, 53 quant. from 58; (h) DBU, benzene, 53 91% from 52; (i) MeOCH₂COCl, pyridine, CH₂Cl₂, 54 86%; (j) Eu(fod)₃, CHCl₃, 55 33%, 56 20%, 57 20%; (k) K₂CO₃, MeOH, 58 77%.

(Et₃N). Although we tried to transform **44** to the 6-hydroxy-4-ene derivative under the Birch reduction conditions according to the literature,²⁰ the sole product was epoxydiol **46**. This compound was also obtained from tosylate **45** under the same conditions, but in this case, the 6-hydroxy-4-one derivative **49** was also isolated as another product. It is likely that not the C4-oxygen bond, but the sulfone–oxygen bond was cleaved to form **47** due to steric congestion around C4, then intramolecular epoxy-alcohol rearrangement (**48**) and subsequent epoxy-ketone rearrangement took place during post-treatment to yield **49**.

The hydroboration-oxidation protocol afforded the 4.6di- β -hydroxy compound 50 when an appropriate amount of borane-methyl sulfide complex (BH₃·SMe₂) was used. Selective protection of the 4-hydroxy group was attained by using isopropylsulfonyl chloride (i-PrSO₂Cl) and Et₃N to furnish 51 in 86% yield. Reaction of 50 with MsCl, Et₃N or TsCl, Et₃N resulted in a dimesylate or recovery of 50, respectively. Compound 52, obtained from 51 quantitatively by means of the Dess-Martin oxidation,²¹ was led to the desired enone 53 by treatment with DBU. Alternatively, compound 53 was also prepared from 41 as follows. The methoxyacetyl derivative 54 was prepared from 41, and was subjected to 1,3-allylic rearrangement²² catalyzed with tris(6,6,7,7,8,8,8-heptafluoro-2,2-dimethyl-3,5-octanedionato)europium(III) $[Eu(fod)_3]$ to yield the desired 55, though in only 33% yield, along with dienes 56 and 57 in 20% yield each. The methoxyacetyl group of 55 was removed and the resulting allyl alcohol 58 was oxidized with Dess-Martin periodinane to yield 53.

2.1.4. Preparation of the \beta-methylenone 4 from 39. Since the preparation of **53** from **39** was difficult, as described in Scheme 6, we sought to obtain **4** in a more straightforward manner. Reaction of **39** with methylmagnesium iodide (MeMgI) in THF stereoselectively afforded the 4α -methyl derivative **59** in 38% yield together with recovery of **39** in 30% yield (Table 1, run b). The direction of the methyl carbanion attack is also in accordance with the abovementioned 'axial attack of small nucleophile'. The recovery of **39** is attributable to enolization of **39** brought about by proton abstraction from C3 or C7 with MeMgI. With the more nonpolar solvent toluene, the enolization is liable to

Table 1. Introduction of C18-methyl group into 39 (yield: %)



Run	Substrate	Me ⁻	Solvent	59	60	61	62	39	63
a	39	MeMgl	Toluene	19	_	_	_	50	_
b	39	MeMgl	THF	38	_	_	_	30	_
с	39	MeLi	Et ₂ O	48	16	_	_	25	_
d	39	MeLi	THF	_	—	59	11	_	6
e	63	MeLi	THF	—	—	60	12	—	—

increase (run a). Employment of methyl lithium (MeLi) in place of MeMgI in diethyl ether (Et₂O) provided **59** (48%), its stereoisomer **60** (16%), and recovery of **39** (25%) (run c). Reaction of MeLi in THF, meanwhile, involved cleavage of the pivaloyl group to give **61** (59%), **62** (11%), and **63** (6%), corresponding to recovered enone (run d). The obtained **63** could be reused to furnish **61** (60%) and **62** (12%) (run e). The stereochemistry of **59** and **61** was confirmed by the observation of a NOESY cross peak between C4- α -methyl (axial) and H20 in the ¹H NMR spectra. On the other hand, in the ¹H NMR spectra of **60** and **62**, a NOESY cross peak was observed between C4- β -methyl (equatorial) and H6 olefin proton. We adopted the reaction conditions of runs d and e in Table 1 for this step toward the hetisine-type aconite alkaloids.

The intermediates **61** and **62** were acetylated as usual to afford **64** and **65** in yields of 93% and 90%, respectively (Scheme 7). Although the resulting tertiary allyl alcohols **64** and **65** were subjected to conventional PCC oxidation in dichloromethane (CH₂Cl₂), the desired enone **4** was obtained only in a trace amount and the major products were the dehydrated dienes **66** and **67**. An extensive search for the optimum oxidizing agent and reaction solvent led to oxidation with 20 wt % PCC–Al₂O₃ in benzene as the conditions of choice. With these conditions, the desired compound **4** was obtained in 63% and 65% yields from **64** and **65** with concomitant formation of **66** and **67** in yields of over 10% each, respectively.

2.2. Transformation of 4 to 1 by way of 5

Our remaining tasks from the intermediate **4** are formation of a pyrrolidine ring bridging between C4 and C6, construction of the azabicyclic ring, and creation and elaboration of the C-ring. Among these, we first focused on the pyrrolidine ring formation by use of the hydrocyanation reaction.

2.2.1. Stereoselective hydrocyanation reaction of 4. Hydrocyanation reaction²³ with diethylaluminum cyanide (Et₂AlCN) in toluene converted 4 to afford the trans isomer 5 with the desired C4 stereochemistry in 94% yield, together with its C5-stereoisomer 68 in 2% yield (Scheme 7). The structure of 5 was proved by the observation of a NOESY cross peak between H5 and C4-methyl as well as between H5 and H9. In the ¹H NMR spectrum of 68, a NOESY cross peak was observed between H5 and H20. No C4-stereoisomer was formed, in complete concordance with the above-described 'axial attack of small nucleophile'. Use of tetrahydrofuran (THF) in place of toluene as the solvent resulted in an intractable reaction mixture. The minor isomer 68 was readily isomerized to thermodynamically more stable 5 on treatment with DBU in boiling benzene.

The 2-(methoxymethoxy)ethyl group at the C20-hydroxy group of **5** was removed at this stage according to the established procedure described in the preceding paper.³ Thus, the MOM group was first cleaved to **69** with TMSI prepared in situ from chlorotrimethylsilane (TMSCl) and sodium iodide (NaI) in acetonitrile (CH₃CN). HCl treatment of **5** resulted in concomitant cleavage of the acetyl group. The obtained primary alcohol was brominated with carbon tetrabromide (Br₄C) and triphenylphosphine (Ph₃P) to afford **70**, and the



Scheme 7. Preparation of 1 from 61 and 62 by way of stereoselective hydrocyanation of 4 to form 5. Reagents and conditions: (a) Ac₂O, pyridine, CH₂Cl₂, 64 93% from 61, 65 90% from 62; (b) 20 wt % PCC–Al₂O₃, benzene, 4 63%, 66 16%, 67 13% from 64; 4 65%, 66 15%, 67 15% from 65; (c) Et₂AlCN, toluene, 5 94%, 68 2%; (d) DBU, benzene, 5 92% from 68; (e) TMSCl, NaI, CH₃CN, 69 92%; (f) Br₄C, Ph₃P, CH₂Cl₂, 70 93%; (g) Zn, NH₄Cl, *i*-PrOH–H₂O (14:1), 71 95%; (h) TMSCl, LDA, THF; (i) LiAlH₄, THF; Boc₂O, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, 74 31% overall from 71, 75 25% overall from 71; (j) K₂CO₃, MeOH, 74 89% from 75; (k) NaBH₃CN, 1% HCl, MeOH–H₂O (8:1), 76 85%; (l) BzCl, pyridine, CH₂Cl₂, 77 95%; (m) CF₃COOH, CH₂Cl₂; SOCl₂, pyridine, CH₂Cl₂, 1 78% overall; (n) MeI, MeOH, 78 73%.

resulting bromide was exposed to zinc (Zn) in the presence of ammonium chloride (NH₄Cl) in 2-propanol–H₂O (14:1) to afford **71** in the high yield of 95%.

2.2.2. Pyrrolidine ring formation from 71. It is necessary to protect the C6 carbonyl group of 71 prior to reduction of the cyano group. However, usual acetalization conditions such as ethylene glycol, p-TsOH in boiling benzene or methyl orthoformate, p-TsOH in MeOH ended in recovery of 71, probably due to steric hindrance around the C6 carbonyl group. So the carbonyl group of 71 was protected as the silvl enol ether 72 by reaction with TMSCl and lithium diisopropylamide (LDA) (Scheme 7). At this juncture, formation of a small amount of 73 was observed, but the mixture of 72 and 73 was subjected without further purification to the next step, as the ester function would be cleaved under the reduction conditions of the cyano group. The mixture of 72 and 73 was reduced with lithium aluminum hydride (LAH) in boiling THF. Quenching of the reaction with water-saturated Et₂O involved concomitant cleavage of the silvl enol ether and the resulting amino-carbonyl compound cyclized spontaneously to an intermediary imine compound. The products after stirring the imine with di-tertbutyl dicarbonate (Boc₂O) and Et₃N were enamino-carbamates 74 (31% from 71) and 75 (25% from 71). The latter carbonate 75 was easily led to the former alcohol 74 on treatment with K₂CO₃ in MeOH. Then, the alkene conjugated to the nitrogen was reduced with sodium cyanoborohydride (NaBH₃CN) in a weak acid medium to provide 76 with the pyrrolidine ring.

2.2.3. Synthesis of 1 and its quaternization. Now the synthesis of 1 is in its final stage. After protection of the primary hydroxy group of 76 as the benzoate, the Boc group of the

resulting 77 was cleaved with trifluoroacetic acid (CF₃COOH) to give an amino-alcohol (Scheme 7). This was exposed to thionyl chloride (SOCl₂) and pyridine²⁴ in CH_2Cl_2 at an ambient temperature to secure 1 in a good yield. In the ¹H NMR spectrum of **1**, the observations of long-range coupling (0.8 Hz) between H6 and H20 as well as the NOE enhancements at 19β-H and 19α-H on irradiation at H6 and H20, respectively, substantiated the structure (Scheme 8). Long-range coupling between H6 and H20 is also observed in the ¹H NMR spectra of the natural alkaloids nominine and kobusine. All other spectral data of 1 are also consistent with the structure depicted, but nevertheless, definitive structure proof is not an easy matter. The nitrogen involved in the azabicyclo ring system is known to be highly basic. So, the obtained 1 was led to the quaternary salt with methyl iodide (MeI) to get 78 in order to prove the complex



Scheme 8. Long-range coupling and NOE enhancement of 1.

7077

structure of **1**. In the ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of **78**, the proton and carbon signals assigned to positions adjacent to the quaternary nitrogen, H6, H19 (\times 2), H20, and C6, C19, C20 were all shifted downfield, as described in the experimental section, giving explicit support to the azabicyclic ring structure of **1**.

3. Conclusion

In summary, we have synthesized compound 1 bearing the essential structural features of the hetisine-type aconite alkaloids, by utilizing the following key reactions: (i) dehydrogenative carbonyl 1,3-transposition reaction $(3 \rightarrow 4)$, (ii) stereoselective hydrocyanation reaction to form the natural-type C4 quaternary carbon $(4 \rightarrow 5)$, and (iii) construction of the azabicyclic ring system from 5. The first total synthesis of hetisine-type aconite alkaloid is still in mid-course. In the subsequent paper, we show how our project was brought to a conclusion, culminated in a total synthesis of (\pm) -nominine from the intermediate 5.

4. Experimental

Melting points were determined on a Yanagimoto micromelting point apparatus (hot plate), and are not corrected. MS and high-resolution MS (HRMS) were recorded on a Hitachi M-80B spectrometer in direct inlet mode at an ionizing voltage of 70 eV, and figures in parentheses indicate the relative intensities. IR spectra were measured on a Hitachi 215 or Shimadzu IR-460 spectrophotometer. ¹H NMR spectra were obtained on a Varian Mercury 300 (300 MHz) in CDCl₃ unless otherwise specified and coupling constants (J values) are rounded to the nearest 0.5 Hz. ¹³C NMR spectra were measured on a Varian Mercury 300 (75 MHz) in CDCl₃ and ¹³C multiplicities are shown in parentheses as CH₃ (primary), CH₂ (secondary), CH (tertiary), and C (quaternary). The NMR signals were assigned using proton decoupling techniques as well as gCOSY, DEPT, gHSQC, gHMBC, and/or NOESY spectra. Some characteristic signals for ¹H and ¹³C NMR were selected and assigned as HX and CX, respectively, where X stands for hetisan carbon numbering. Column chromatography was conducted on silica gel (SiO₂, Fuji Davison BW 200), and the weight of SiO_2 and the eluting solvent are indicated in parentheses. Preparative TLC (PTLC) was carried out on glass plates (20×20 cm) coated with Merck silica gel 60PF₂₅₄ (0.8 mm thick) unless otherwise specified, and the developing solvent is indicated in parentheses. Usual work-up refers to washing of the organic layers with water or brine, drying over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and evaporating off the solvents under reduced pressure. Tetrahydrofuran (THF) was distilled from sodium/benzophenone ketyl prior to use.

4.1. Seeking a method for the C-ring formation (Scheme 3)

4.1.1. Protection of 6 with MOMCl to form 7. MOMCl ($64 \mu l$, 0.843 mmol) was added during 1 min to a cooled ($-18 \circ C$) solution of 6 (25 mg, 55.8 µmol) and *i*-Pr₂NEt (0.24 ml, 1.38 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (4 ml) under an Ar

atmosphere. The solution was stirred for 15 h at -18 to15 °C, then saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was washed successively with saturated CuSO₄-H₂O and saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O, and was treated as usual. The resulting residue was separated by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:1)] to give 7 (27 mg, 98%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₄O₇: 492.3085. Found: 492.3073. MS m/z: 492 (M⁺, 3), 477 (2), 447 (1), 431 (2), 423 (1), 407 (2), 403 (10), 386 (3), 285 (5), 257 (4), 112 (19), 99 (100), 89 (21), 57 (47), 45 (73), IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1709. ¹H NMR δ : 0.99 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4 Hz), 1.10 (9H, s), 1.16-1.27 (2H, m), 1.46–1.90 (9H, m), 2.01–2.13 (2H, m), 2.15 (1H, dddd, J=19, 5, 3, 2.5 Hz), 2.33 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz), 2.47 (1H, ddd, J=7, 6, 1.5 Hz), 3.37 (3H, s, CH₂OCH₃), 3.45 (1H, ddd, J=11, 5.5, 5.5 Hz), 3.54 (1H, ddd, J=11, 6, 4.5 Hz), 3.58-3.71 (2H, m), 3.73-3.83 (1H, m), 3.84-3.98 (3H, m), 3.99 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8.5, 6.5 Hz), 4.13 (1H, ddd, J=11, 9, 6 Hz), 4.26 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.64 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, OCH₂OCH₃), 4.67 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, OCH₂OCH₃), 5.53 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 3 Hz), 5.64 (1H, br dd, J=9.5, 7 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.3 (CH₂), 20.9 (CH₂), 26.9 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 28.9 (CH₂), 33.7 (CH₂), 34.4 (CH₂), 34.9 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 42.4 (C), 47.8 (CH), 48.6 (C), 50.8 (CH), 54.8 (CH), 55.0 (CH₃, CH₂OCH₃), 62.7 (CH₂), 63.8 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 66.7 (CH₂, CH₂OMOM), 68.8 (CH₂), 81.5 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂, OCH₂OCH₃), 110.3 (C), 125.3 (CH), 127.8 (CH), 178.4 (C).

4.1.2. Oxidation of 7 to form 8 and 9. In the same manner as reported in the preceding paper,³ 7 (48 mg, 97.6 μ mol) was oxidized with CrO₃ (146 mg, 1.46 mmol) and 3.5-dimethylpyrazole (169 mg, 1.76 mmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (5 ml) at -18to 22 °C for 63 h. The same work-up as before and purification by PTLC [hexane-DME (5:1)] provided 8 (21 mg, 43%) and 9 (18.5 mg, 37%) in order of decreasing polarity. 8: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₂O₈: 506.2877. Found: 506.2875. MS m/z: 506 (M⁺, 18), 417 (4), 299 (3), 271 (6), 243 (3), 99 (100), 89 (14), 57 (38), 45 (59), 41 (14). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1716, 1662. ¹H NMR δ : 1.17 (9H, s), 1.22-1.33 (2H, m), 1.45-1.83 (9H, m), 1.86-1.98 (2H, m), 2.09 (1H, br s, H9), 3.10 (1H, ddd, J=7, 6, 2 Hz, H14), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.54–3.60 (2H, m), 3.61–3.66 (2H, m), 3.76-3.86 (1H, m), 3.88-4.04 (5H, m), 4.62 (2H, s), 4.62 (1H, br d, J=6 Hz), 6.12 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 1.5 Hz, H12), 7.09 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 7 Hz, H13). ¹³C NMR δ : 18.0 (CH₂), 20.5 (CH₂), 27.1 (CH₃×3), 29.6 (CH₂), 34.2 (CH₂), 34.4 (CH₂), 34.8 (CH₂), 38.5 (C), 48.1 (C), 50.0 (CH, C9), 50.1 (CH, C14), 50.7 (C), 55.0 (CH₃), 61.6 (CH₂), 64.0 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 66.6 (CH₂), 69.6 (CH₂), 74.0 (CH), 79.8 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 109.6 (C), 129.7 (CH, C12), 151.8 (CH, C13), 178.2 (C), 201.6 (C, C11). 9: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₂O₈: 506.2877. Found: 506.2881. MS m/z: 506 (M⁺, 6), 417 (28), 405 (8), 299 (7), 271 (5), 112 (10), 99 (100), 89 (22), 57 (53), 45 (87), 41 (17). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1718, 1679. ¹H NMR δ : 1.16 (9H, s), 1.21 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 5 Hz), 1.32 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 13.5, 5 Hz), 1.46-1.57 (3H, m), 1.57-1.83 (7H, m), 1.98-2.06 (1H, m), 2.01 (1H, dd, J=6.5, 1.5 Hz, H9), 3.07 (1H, ddd, J=6.5, 1.5, 1.5 Hz, H14), 3.33 (3H, s), 3.39–3.47 (1H, m), 3.49-3.63 (3H, m), 3.77-3.86 (1H, m), 3.89-4.02 (5H, m), 4.58 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.59 (2H, s), 6.12 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 1.5 Hz, H12), 6.96 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 6.5 Hz, H11).

¹³C NMR δ: 17.9 (CH₂), 20.3 (CH₂), 27.1 (CH₃×3), 29.8 (CH₂), 32.9 (CH₂), 34.3 (CH, C9), 35.1 (CH₂), 38.5 (C), 49.7 (CH), 50.3 (C), 53.3 (C), 55.0 (CH₃), 57.3 (CH), 61.6 (CH₂), 64.1 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 65.6 (CH, C14), 66.2 (CH₂), 70.4 (CH₂), 77.8 (CH), 96.3 (CH₂), 109.6 (C), 131.8 (CH, C12), 148.7 (CH, C11), 178.2 (C), 200.0 (C, C13).

4.1.3. Transformation of 8 to 10 by (i) hydrogenation, (ii) alcoholysis, and (iii) oxidation. (i) Hydrogenation: A solution of 8 (21 mg, 41.5 umol) in MeOH (5 ml) was hydrogenated over 10% Pd–C (5 mg, 4.7 µg atom) under a hydrogen atmosphere (1 atm) at 20 °C for 1.5 h. The mixture was filtered through a Celite pad and the pad was rinsed with CH₂Cl₂. Evaporation of the combined organic layers followed by separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:1)] furnished the dihydro derivative (20 mg, 95%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for $C_{28}H_{44}O_8$: 508.3034. Found: 508.3020. MS *m*/*z*: 508 (M⁺, 5), 447 (5), 419 (19), 407 (3), 301 (4), 99 (100), 57 (40), 45 (56), 41 (13). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1718, 1687. ¹H NMR δ : 1.04 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4.5 Hz), 1.17 (9H, s), 1.23-1.42 (2H, m), 1.45-1.88 (11H, m), 1.78 (1H, s, H9), 2.01 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10, 3 Hz, H13), 2.27 (1H, dd, J=18.5, 7.5 Hz, H12), 2.40–2.47 (1H, m), 2.63 (1H, ddd, J=18.5, 10, 9.5 Hz, H12), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.60-3.85 (5H, m), 3.87-4.01 (3H, m), 4.05 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8.5, 6 Hz), 4.47 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.65 (2H, s). ¹³C NMR δ: 17.8 (CH₂), 20.2 (CH₂), 20.5 (CH₂, C13), 27.1 (CH₃×3), 27.3 (CH₂), 33.8 (CH₂), 34.6 (CH₂), 35.1 (CH₂), 36.5 (CH₂, C12), 38.6 (C, CMe₃), 44.6 (CH, C14), 45.2 (C), 49.0 (C), 49.8 (CH), 55.0 (CH₃), 60.7 (CH₂), 63.9 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 66.8 (CH₂), 71.0 (CH₂), 73.4 (CH), 78.3 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 109.7 (C), 178.4 (C), 214.1 (C). (ii) Alcoholysis: A solution of the above dihydro derivative (44 mg, 86.6 µmol) in 2% w/v K₂CO₃-MeOH (5 ml) was stirred under reflux for 2 h. After the mixture had been cooled, saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (2:3)] yielded the primary alcohol (36 mg, 98%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₆O₇: 424.2459. Found: 424.2456. MS m/z: 424 (M⁺, 4), 363 (5), 335 (18), 319 (3), 99 (100), 55 (14), 45 (67). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1683. ¹H NMR δ : 1.03 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4 Hz), 1.28 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4 Hz), 1.33-1.44 (1H, m), 1.46-1.80 (12H, m, including OH), 1.80 (1H, s, H9), 1.99 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 10, 3 Hz), 2.26 (1H, dd, J=18.5, 7.5 Hz), 2.37–2.44 (1H, m), 2.62 (1H, ddd, J=18.5, 10, 9.5 Hz), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.59-3.85 (7H, m), 3.87-3.99 (3H, m), 4.45 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.65 (2H, s). ¹³C NMR δ: 17.9 (CH₂), 20.2 (CH₂), 20.5 (CH₂), 27.4 (CH₂), 33.8 (CH₂), 35.1 (CH₂), 36.5 (CH₂), 38.9 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OH), 45.2 (CH), 45.3 (C), 49.1 (C), 49.7 (CH), 55.0 (CH₃), 58.9 (CH₂, CH₂OH), 63.9 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 66.8 (CH₂), 71.0 (CH₂), 73.1 (CH), 78.2 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 109.7 (C), 214.5 (C). (iii) Oxidation: PCC-Al₂O₃ (20 wt %, 252 mg, 0.234 mmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of the above alcohol (33 mg, 77.8 µmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (5 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 30 min and at 18 °C for 1 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (4:3)] provided 10 (28 mg, 85%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₄O₇: 422.2303. Found: 422.2304. MS m/z: 422 (M⁺, 2), 361 (5), 333 (13),

99 (100), 89 (8), 55 (14), 45 (77). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1717, 1686. ¹H NMR δ : 1.06 (1H, ddd, *J*=13, 13, 4.5 Hz), 1.23–1.41 (2H, m), 1.47–1.81 (8H, m), 1.87 (1H, br s, H9), 1.95–2.04 (1H, m), 2.06 (1H, ddd, *J*=13.5, 9.5, 3.5 Hz), 2.26 (1H, dd, *J*=19, 7.5 Hz), 2.37 (1H, d, *J*=2 Hz, CH₂CHO), 2.68 (1H, ddd, *J*=19, 9.5, 9.5 Hz), 2.72–2.78 (1H, m), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.62–3.83 (5H, m), 3.87–4.02 (3H, m), 4.50 (1H, d, *J*=7 Hz), 4.64 (2H, s), 9.76 (1H, t, *J*=2 Hz, CHO). ¹³C NMR δ : 17.9 (CH₂), 20.1 (CH₂), 20.9 (CH₂), 27.3 (CH₂), 34.9 (CH₂), 35.0 (CH₂), 36.4 (CH₂), 44.4 (CH), 45.4 (C), 49.0 (C), 49.5 (CH), 50.0 (CH₂, CH₂CHO), 55.1 (CH₃), 63.9 (CH₂), 65.5 (CH₂), 66.8 (CH₂), 71.1 (CH₂), 72.7 (CH), 78.0 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 109.6 (C), 200.4 (CH, CHO), 213.5 (C).

4.1.4. Transformation of 9 to 11. In the same manner as described for the preparation of 10 from 8 (Section 4.1.3), 9 (43 mg, 85.0 µmol) was hydrogenated to the dihydro derivative (42 mg, 97%). This compound (24 mg, 47.2 µmol) was subjected to alcoholysis to get the primary alcohol (19 mg, 95%), which was then oxidized to 11 (17 mg, 90%). The dihydro derivative: colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₄O₈: 508.3034. Found: 508.3050. MS m/z: 508 $(M^+, 3), 493 (2), 463 (2), 419 (23), 317 (6), 301 (8), 99$ (100), 57 (47), 45 (73), 41 (17). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1714, 1699. ¹H NMR δ : 1.08–1.20 (1H, m), 1.17 (9H, s), 1.23– 1.35 (1H, m), 1.42–1.46 (1H, m, H9), 1.46–1.91 (11H, m), 1.96–2.11 (1H, m), 2.11 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz), 2.21 (1H, dd, J=18, 9 Hz, H12), 2.66 (1H, ddd, J=18, 10, 10 Hz, H12), 2.83 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H14), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.43-3.63 (4H, m), 3.75-3.85 (1H, m), 3.88-4.00 (3H, m), 4.01 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 6.5 Hz), 4.13 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 7 Hz), 4.47 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.60 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.62 (1H, d. J=6.5 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.0 (CH₂), 19.2 (CH₂, C11), 20.2 (CH₂), 27.1 (CH₃×3), 28.1 (CH₂), 33.3 (CH₂), 33.5 (CH₂), 34.8 (CH₂), 35.5 (CH₂, C12), 38.5 (C), 45.8 (C), 48.0 (C), 50.2 (CH), 53.5 (CH, C9), 54.9 (CH₃), 60.9 (CH₂), 63.9 (CH₂), 65.1 (CH, C14), 65.4 (CH₂), 66.3 (CH₂), 69.9 (CH₂), 77.3 (CH), 96.1 (CH₂), 109.8 (C), 178.2 (C), 210.7 (C). The primary alcohol: colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₆O₇: 424.2459. Found: 424.2453. MS *m*/*z*: 424 (M⁺, 3), 409 (3), 335 (30), 319 (7), 112 (11), 99 (100), 55 (20), 45 (90). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1696. ¹H NMR δ: 1.08–1.19 (1H, m), 1.23–1.34 (1H, m), 1.38–1.43 (1H, m), 1.43-1.83 (9H, m, including OH), 1.53 (2H, t, J=7.5 Hz, CH_2CH_2OH), 1.85 (1H, dddd, J=14.5, 10, 9, 4.5 Hz, H11), 2.01 (1H, br dd, J=14.5, 10 Hz, H11), 2.20 (1H, dd, J=18, 9 Hz), 2.67 (1H, ddd, J=18, 10, 10 Hz), 2.89 (1H, d, J=7 Hz), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.43–3.63 (4H, m), 3.68 (2H, t, J=7.5 Hz, CH₂OH), 3.75-3.84 (1H, m), 3.87-3.98 (3H, m), 4.46 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.59 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.63 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ : 18.0 (CH₂), 19.3 (CH₂), 20.2 (CH₂), 28.1 (CH₂), 33.7 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OH), 34.9 (CH₂), 35.7 (CH₂), 37.7 (CH₂), 46.1 (C), 47.7 (C), 50.3 (CH), 54.3 (CH), 55.0 (CH₃), 59.0 (CH₂, CH₂OH), 63.9 (CH₂), 64.7 (CH), 65.4 (CH₂), 66.3 (CH₂), 69.9 (CH₂), 77.6 (CH), 96.2 (CH₂), 109.9 (C), 211.9 (C). 11: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for $C_{23}H_{34}O_7$: 422.2303. Found: 422.2302. MS m/z: 422 (M⁺, 3), 407 (4), 333 (26), 112 (20), 99 (100), 89 (12), 86 (13), 55 (16), 45 (90). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1717, 1700. ¹H NMR δ : 1.11–1.23 (1H, m), 1.24–1.36 (1H, m), 1.43–1.83 (10H, m), 2.02– 2.17 (2H, m), 2.22 (1H, dd, J=18, 9 Hz), 2.27 (1H, dd, J=16, 2.5 Hz, CH₂CHO), 2.37 (1H, dd, J=16, 2 Hz, CH₂CHO), 2.73 (1H, ddd, J=18, 10.5, 10.5 Hz), 3.02 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H14), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.46–3.64 (4H, m), 3.75–3.85 (1H, m), 3.88–3.99 (3H, m), 4.51 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.61 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.63 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 9.73 (1H, dd, J=2.5, 2 Hz, CHO). ¹³C NMR δ : 18.0 (CH₂), 19.5 (CH₂), 20.2 (CH₂), 28.0 (CH₂), 34.7 (CH₂), 34.8 (CH₂), 35.5 (CH₂), 46.1 (C), 47.7 (C), 48.7 (CH₂, CH₂CHO), 50.1 (CH), 53.3 (CH), 55.0 (CH₃), 63.9 (CH₂), 64.5 (CH, C14), 65.4 (CH₂), 66.3 (CH₂), 70.1 (CH₂), 77.1 (CH, C20), 96.2 (CH₂), 109.8 (C), 200.6 (CH, CHO), 210.5 (C).

4.1.5. Preparation of acetvlene 12 from 10. K₂CO₃ (18 mg, 0.130 mmol) was added to a solution of 10 (14 mg, 33.2 µmol) and dimethyl (1-diazo-2-oxopropyl)phosphonate (38 mg, 0.198 mmol) in MeOH (3 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 19 °C under an Ar atmosphere for 3.5 h. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:2)] afforded 12 (11.5 mg, 83%) and 13 (1 mg, 7%) in order of increasing polarity. 12: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for $C_{24}H_{34}O_6$: 418.2353. Found: 418.2348. MS m/z: 418 (M⁺, 11), 357 (6), 329 (21), 99 (100), 55 (16), 45 (76). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2116, 1686. ¹H NMR δ : 1.05 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4.5 Hz), 1.23– 1.43 (2H, m), 1.47-1.85 (8H, m), 1.77 (1H, br s, H9), 1.97 (1H, dd, J=2.5, 2.5 Hz, C≡CH), 1.97–2.17 (4H, m), 2.26 (1H, dd, J=18.5, 7.5 Hz, H12), 2.51-2.57 (1H, m), 2.65 (1H, ddd, J=18.5, 9.5, 9.5 Hz, H12), 3.37 (3H, s), 3.60-3.84 (5H, m), 3.88–4.00 (3H, m), 4.47 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.65 (2H, s). ¹³C NMR δ: 17.9 (CH₂), 20.2 (CH₂), 20.6 (CH₂), 26.2 (CH₂, CH₂C=CH), 27.4 (CH₂), 34.4 (CH₂), 35.1 (CH₂), 36.5 (CH₂), 44.5 (CH), 46.3 (C), 49.7 (CH), 50.1 (C), 55.1 (CH₃), 63.9 (CH₂), 65.5 (CH₂), 66.8 (CH₂), 70.1 (C, C=CH), 71.0 (CH₂), 72.0 (CH), 77.9 (CH), 80.7 (CH, C=CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 109.7 (C), 213.8 (C). 13: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₄O₇: 422.2303. Found: 422.2303. MS m/z: 422 (M⁺, 2), 407 (3), 361 (9), 333 (33), 99 (100), 69 (18), 55 (16), 45 (71). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1701. ¹H NMR δ : 1.21–1.95 (15H, m, including OH), 1.52 (1H, dd, J=14.5, 6 Hz, H15), 1.91 (1H, dd, J=14.5, 9.5 Hz, H15), 2.27-2.31 (1H, m), 2.35 (1H, dddd, J=7, 7, 2, 2 Hz, H14), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.40-3.48 (1H, m), 3.54-3.71 (3H, m), 3.74-3.84 (1H, m), 3.86-3.98 (3H, m), 3.99–4.07 (1H, m, H16), 4.20 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.62 (2H, s). ¹³C NMR δ: 12.7 (CH₂, C13), 17.8 (CH₂, C6), 20.0 (CH₂, C2), 28.1 (CH₂, C1), 34.5 (CH₂, C7), 35.2 (CH₂, C3), 37.4 (CH₂, C15), 43.0 (C, C8), 45.2 (CH, C14), 49.2 (C, C10), 50.1 (CH, C5), 52.5 (CH, C12), 55.0 (CH₃), 63.9 (CH₂), 65.1 (CH, C9), 65.4 (CH₂), 66.5 (CH₂), 67.8 (CH, C16), 70.3 (CH₂), 77.7 (CH, C20), 96.4 (CH₂), 110.0 (C), 214.1 (C).

4.1.6. Preparation of acetylene 14 from 11. In the same manner as above (Section 4.1.5), 11 (40 mg, 94.8 µmol) was led to 14 (39 mg, 98%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for $C_{24}H_{34}O_6$: 418.2353. Found: 418.2334. MS *m/z*: 418 (M⁺, 6), 329 (36), 313 (10), 112 (12), 99 (100), 89 (17), 55 (14), 45 (85). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2122, 1698. ¹H NMR δ : 1.09–1.21 (1H, m), 1.23–1.35 (1H, m), 1.43–1.67 (5H, m), 1.71–2.15 (9H, m), 1.99 (1H, dd, *J*=2.5, 2.5 Hz, C=CH), 2.21 (1H, dd, *J*=18, 9 Hz, H12), 2.68 (1H, ddd, *J*=18, 10.5, 10.5 Hz, H12), 2.83 (1H, d, *J*=6.5 Hz, H14),

3.35 (3H, s), 3.43–3.63 (4H, m), 3.76–3.86 (1H, m), 3.88– 4.01 (3H, m), 4.51 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.60 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ : 17.9 (CH₂), 19.3 (CH₂), 20.2 (CH₂), 25.2 (CH₂), 28.1 (CH₂), 33.9 (CH₂), 34.9 (CH₂), 35.7 (CH₂), 46.8 (C), 47.9 (C), 50.2 (CH), 52.5 (CH), 55.0 (CH₃), 63.9 (CH₂), 64.3 (CH, C14), 65.4 (CH₂), 66.3 (CH₂), 70.0 (CH₂), 70.3 (C, $C\equiv$ CH), 77.8 (CH, C20), 80.7 (CH, C \equiv CH), 96.2 (CH₂), 109.9 (C), 210.6 (C).

4.1.7. Carbomercuration of 12 to form 16 and 17. BuLi (1.57 M, 0.55 ml, 0.864 mmol) was added to a cooled (-18 °C) solution of diisopropylamine (151 ul. 1.08 mmol) in THF (2 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at the same temperature for 10 min. The resulting solution was cooled to -78 °C and to this were added TMSCl (0.27 ml, 2.13 mmol) and then a THF (2 ml) solution of 12 (9 mg, 21.5 µmol). The mixture was stirred at -78 °C for 30 min, then Et₃N (0.60 ml, 4.31 mmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was further stirred for 5 min. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was successively washed with saturated CuSO₄-H₂O, saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O and H₂O, and treated as usual to give crude 15 (15 mg). Aside from this, trifluoromethanesulfonic anhydride (Tf₂O, 8 µl, 47.6 µmol) was added to a slurry of mercury(II) oxide (HgO, 10.5 mg, 48.5 µmol) in CH₃CN (1.5 ml) at 0 °C and the mixture was stirred at the same temperature under an Ar atmosphere for 3 min. N, N, N', N'-Tetramethylurea (TMU, 12 µl, 0.100 mmol) was further added, and the whole was stirred at 0 °C for 3 min and at 20 °C for 10 min, then cooled again in an ice bath. The crude 15 (15 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (2 ml) was added and the resulting mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 1 h and at 22 °C for 15 h. After the mixture had been cooled to 0 °C, 2.5% HCl-H₂O (0.48 ml, 0.324 mmol) was added and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 10 min and at 18 °C for 2 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:2)] afforded 16 (2 mg) and a mixture of organo-mercury compounds (12 mg). The latter was dissolved in MeOH (2 ml), and to this was added p-TsOH·H₂O (10 mg, 52.6 µmol). The resulting solution was stirred at 19 °C for 1.5 h. Quenching with saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O, extraction with CH₂Cl₂, usual work-up, and PTLC [hexane–EtOAc (5:2)] gave a further crop of 16 (2 mg, total 4 mg, 50%) and 17 (1 mg, 12%) in order of increasing polarity. 16: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₂H₃₀O₅: 374.2092. Found: 374.2088. MS m/z: 374 (M⁺, 0.5), 342 (1), 329 (4), 268 (6), 239 (14), 91 (14), 45 (100). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1704, 1693, 1646. ¹H NMR δ: 1.37–1.47 (1H, m, H7), 1.54 (1H, dd, J=13, 9 Hz, H13), 1.59–1.81 (5H, m), 1.84 (1H, br s, H9), 1.94–2.03 (1H, m, H2), 2.06–2.14 (1H, m, H1), 2.20 (1H, ddd, J=16.5, 1.5, 1.5 Hz, H15), 2.21-2.43 (4H, m), 2.23 (1H, dd, J=13, 5 Hz, H13), 2.52 (1H, ddd, J=16.5, 3, 3 Hz, H15), 2.89 (1H, d, J=5 Hz, H12), 3.28 (1H, ddd, J=10, 5.5, 4 Hz), 3.33 (3H, s), 3.42 (1H, dd, J=6.5, 0.5 Hz, H20), 3.49 (1H, ddd, J=10, 6, 4 Hz), 3.53-3.64 (2H, m), 4.58 (2H, s), 4.72 (1H, br s, C=CH₂), 4.91 (1H, br s, C=CH₂). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.1 (CH₂, C6), 20.9 (CH₂, C13), 23.7 (CH₂, C2), 28.1 (CH₂, C1), 33.6 (CH₂, C7), 35.6 (CH₂, C15), 41.9 (CH₂, C3), 43.4 (C, C8), 44.1 (CH, C14), 53.1 (C, C10), 54.3 (CH, C12), 55.1 (CH₃),
55.7 (CH, C5), 64.8 (CH, C9), 66.3 (CH₂), 70.3 (CH₂), 79.0 (CH, C20), 96.3 (CH₂), 109.0 (CH₂, C17), 143.8 (C, C16), 209.5 (C, C11), 211.4 (C, C4). 17: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₂H₃₂O₆: 392.2197. Found: 392.2207. MS m/z: 392 (M⁺, 1), 360 (1), 347 (7), 302 (5), 289 (4), 91 (10), 89 (9), 73 (10), 59 (13), 55 (12), 45 (100), 43 (49). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1696. ¹H NMR δ : 1.20 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 7 Hz, H7), 1.41-1.90 (5H, m), 1.91-2.47 (8H, m), 2.01 (1H, br s, H9), 2.11 (3H, s, COCH₃), 2.38 (1H, d, J=18 Hz, CH₂COMe), 2.47 (1H, d, J=18 Hz, CH₂COMe), 2.67 (1H, ddd, J=19, 9.5, 9.5 Hz), 2.96–3.02 (1H, m), 3.34 (3H. s), 3.33-3.51 (1H, m), 3.59-3.70 (3H, m), 3.70 (1H, d. J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.60 (2H, s), ¹³C NMR δ : 18.7 (CH₂), 20.9 (CH₂), 23.9 (CH₂), 27.5 (CH₂), 31.4 (CH₃, COCH₃), 33.4 (CH₂), 36.6 (CH₂), 41.8 (CH₂, C3), 43.8 (CH), 45.7 (C), 48.9 (CH₂, CH₂COMe), 52.9 (C), 55.1 (CH₃), 55.3 (CH, C5), 66.7 (CH₂), 71.1 (CH₂), 72.0 (CH), 79.2 (CH), 96.3 (CH₂), 206.1 (C, COMe), 210.6 (C, C4), 213.2 (C, C11).

4.1.8. Aldol reaction of 11 to form 18 and 19. A solution of 11 (8 mg, 19.0 µmol) in K₂CO₃-MeOH (2% w/v, 2 ml) was stirred at 50 °C for 4 h. After the mixture had been cooled, saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (1:2)] afforded 18 (4.5 mg, 56%) and 19 (2.5 mg, 31%) in order of decreasing polarity. 18: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₄O₇: 422.2303. Found: 422.2325. MS m/z: 422 (M⁺, 1), 333 (38), 317 (21), 99 (100), 55 (19), 45 (91). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1710. ¹H NMR δ : 0.98 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4 Hz), 1.19-1.72 (11H, m), 1.74-1.84 (2H, m, including OH), 2.07 (1H, dd, J=15, 9.5 Hz), 2.14-2.24 (2H, m), 2.34 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz), 2.72 (1H, dd, J=7, 2 Hz, H14), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.38-3.46 (1H, m), 3.54-3.60 (2H, m), 3.74-3.84 (2H, m), 3.88-3.99 (3H, m), 4.00-4.09 (1H, m, H16), 4.38 (1H, dd, J=7, 1.5 Hz, H20), 4.62 (2H, s). 19: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₄O₇: 422.2303. Found: 422.2292. MS m/z: 422 (M⁺, 2), 407 (3), 377 (4), 333 (44), 317 (14), 99 (100), 55 (16), 45 (77). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1714. ¹H NMR δ : 0.98 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 12.5, 4 Hz), 1.17-1.72 (10H, m, including OH), 1.39 (1H, dd, J=15.5, 2.5 Hz, H15), 1.79 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz), 1.89 (1H, dd, J=15.5, 9.5 Hz, H15), 1.89-1.95 (1H, m), 2.11 (1H, ddd, J=14, 10, 1.5 Hz), 2.26–2.31 (1H, m, H12), 2.36 (1H, br d, J=12.5 Hz), 2.57 (1H, dd, J=7.5, 2 Hz, H14), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.37-3.46 (1H, m), 3.52-3.62 (2H, m), 3.72-3.83 (2H, m), 3.88-3.98 (3H, m), 4.01-4.10 (1H, m, H16), 4.38 (1H, dd, J=7.5, 1.5 Hz, H20), 4.62 (2H, s).

4.1.9. Hydration of 14 to form 20. Tf_2O (8 µl, 47.6 µmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) slurry of HgO (10.5 mg, 48.5 µmol) in CH₃CN (2 ml) and the mixture was stirred for 3 min. TMU (11.5 µl, 96.3 µmol) was added to this and the resulting mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 3 min and at 20 °C for 5 min. This solution of Hg(OTf)₂(TMU)₂ in CH₃CN (0.20 ml) was added to a solution of **14** (20 mg, 47.8 µmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (1 ml). H₂O (9 µl, 0.50 mmol) and CH₃CN (0.8 ml) were further added and the whole was stirred at 22 °C for 40 h. Quenching with saturated NaHCO₃–H₂O, extraction with CH₂Cl₂, usual work-up, and PTLC [hexane–EtOAc (1:1)] yielded **20** (15 mg, 80%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₂H₃₂O₆: 392.2197.

Found: 392.2181. MS m/z: 392 (M⁺, 1), 347 (10), 303 (6), 245 (6), 229 (8), 91 (10), 89 (8), 73 (16), 45 (100), 43 (54). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1699. ¹H NMR δ : 1.50–1.57 (1H, m), 1.61–1.93 (6H, m), 2.00–2.14 (3H, m), 2.10 (3H, s), 2.17–2.44 (5H, m), 2.29 (1H, d, J=17.5 Hz, CH_2Ac), 2.44 (1H, d, J=17.5 Hz, CH_2Ac), 2.69 (1H, ddd, J=18.5, 10.5, 10 Hz, H12), 2.96 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H14), 3.28–3.37 (1H, m), 3.32 (3H, s), 3.46–3.53 (3H, m), 3.68 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.56 (2H, s). ¹³C NMR δ : 18.9 (CH₂), 19.7 (CH₂), 24.0 (CH₂), 28.0 (CH₂), 31.9 (CH₃), 32.7 (CH₂), 35.7 (CH₂), 41.4 (CH₂), 46.5 (C), 47.5 (CH₂, CH₂Ac), 51.4 (CH), 52.7 (C), 55.0 (CH₃), 55.9 (CH), 65.0 (CH), 66.3 (CH₂), 70.0 (CH₂), 78.0 (CH), 96.1 (CH₂), 206.4 (C, COMe), 210.0 (C, C13), 211.5 (C, C4).

4.1.10. Aldol reaction of 20 with LDA to form 21. BuLi (1.57 M, 0.97 ml, 1.52 mmol) was added to a cooled (-18 °C) solution of i-Pr₂NH (0.28 ml, 2.00 mmol) in THF (2 ml) and the mixture was stirred under an Ar atmosphere for 10 min. After the mixture had been cooled to -78 °C, a solution of 20 (12 mg, 30.6 μ mol) in THF (2 ml) was added and the whole was stirred for 1 h. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and purification by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:3)] provided a recovery of 20 (2.5 mg, 21%) and **21** (5.5 mg, 46%) as a colorless glass in order of increasing polarity. HRMS Calcd for C₂₂H₃₂O₆: 392.2197. Found: 392.2177. MS m/z: 392 (M⁺, 0.2), 329 (5), 287 (12), 241 (15), 105 (10), 91 (10), 55 (14), 45 (100), 43 (29). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1702. ¹H NMR δ : 1.21– 1.78 (9H, m, including OH), 1.36 (3H, s), 1.60 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz, H15), 1.68 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz, H15), 1.83 (1H, ddd, J=15, 10.5, 1.5 Hz, H11), 2.14 (1H, ddd, J=15, 4, 2 Hz, H11), 2.00 (1H, dd, J=4, 1.5 Hz, H12), 2.25-2.42 (3H, m), 2.46 (1H, br ddd, J=13, 3, 3 Hz), 2.72 (1H, dd, J=7.5, 2 Hz, H14), 3.23-3.37 (1H, m), 3.33 (3H, s), 3.45-3.56 (2H, m), 3.59 (1H, dd, J=7.5, 1.5 Hz, H20), 3.80 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 4, 4 Hz), 4.57 (2H, s). ¹³C NMR δ : 19.1 (CH₂), 19.9 (CH₂), 23.2 (CH₂), 27.3 (CH₂), 28.7 (CH₃), 34.1 (CH₂), 41.6 (CH₂), 44.8 (C), 45.2 (CH₂), 48.8 (CH, C9), 54.2 (CH, C12), 55.0 (C), 55.1 (CH₃), 55.5 (CH, C5), 61.4 (CH, C14), 66.5 (CH₂), 71.0 (CH₂), 72.3 (C), 81.5 (CH, C20), 96.2 (CH₂), 211.4 (C), 212.0 (C).

4.2. Oxidation of 22, 32, and 3 to form the $\Delta_{5,6}$ enone and attempted introduction of nitrogen function at C6 (Scheme 4)

4.2.1. Acetylation of **22** to form **23.** A solution of **22** (18 mg, 44.4 µmol), Ac₂O (0.30 ml, 0.277 mmol), and pyridine (0.50 ml, 0.510 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (1.5 ml) was stirred at 27 °C for 4 h. Saturated NaHCO₃–H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane–DME (2:1)] gave **23** (19 mg, 96%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₅H₃₇NO₆: 447.2619. Found: 447.2621. MS *m/z*: 447 (M⁺, 23), 402 (4), 388 (8), 360 (30), 343 (19), 273 (9), 257 (13), 256 (12), 99 (53), 87 (100), 72 (14), 55 (9), 43 (42). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1727, 1630. ¹H NMR δ : 1.00 (1H, ddd, *J*=13, 13, 4 Hz, H1), 1.22 (1H, ddd, *J*=13, 13, 3.5 Hz, H3), 1.41 (1H, br d, *J*=5 Hz, H9), 1.49–1.79 (7H, m), 1.86–1.98 (1H, m), 2.05 (3H, s, COCH₃), 2.06 (1H, br d, *J*=13 Hz, H1), 2.17 (1H, dddd, *J*=19, 5, 3, 2 Hz, H11), 2.36 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz, H11), 2.46 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz, CH_2CON), 2.69 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz, CH_2CON), 2.89 (1H, ddd, J=7.5, 6.5, 1.5 Hz, H14), 2.92 (3H, s), 3.00 (3H, s), 3.49 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 6, 4 Hz), 3.62 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 6.5, 4 Hz), 3.73–3.83 (1H, m), 3.83–3.98 (3H, m), 4.15 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 6, 4 Hz, CH_2OAc), 4.25 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 6.5, 4 Hz, CH_2OAc), 4.30 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 5.54 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 3 Hz), 5.66 (1H, dddd, J=9, 5, 7.5, 2, 1.5 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ : 18.3 (CH₂), 20.8 (CH₂), 21.0 (CH₃, COCH₃), 27.1 (CH₂), 28.8 (CH₂), 34.0 (CH₂), 35.0 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 37.5 (CH₂), 37.8 (CH₃), 43.7 (C), 48.1 (CH), 48.4 (C), 50.6 (CH), 54.5 (CH), 63.4 (CH₂, CH_2OAc), 67.0 (CH₂), 80.9 (CH), 110.3 (C), 125.2 (CH), 128.9 (CH), 170.8 (C, OCOCH₃), 172.6 (C, CONMe₂).

4.2.2. Methoxymethylation of 22 to form 24. MOMCl $(42 \mu l, 0.553 \text{ mmol})$ was added to a solution of 22 (44 mg, 0.109 mmol) and N,N-diisopropylethylamine (i-Pr₂NEt) in CH₂Cl₂ (4 ml) at 0 °C under an Ar atmosphere. The mixture was stirred at that temperature for 30 min, and at 27 °C for 19 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was successively washed with saturated CuSO₄-H₂O and saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane-DME (3:1)] furnished 24 (46 mg, 94%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₅H₃₉NO₆: 449.2775. Found: 449.2790. MS m/z: 449 (M⁺, 38), 404 (11), 388 (9), 360 (39), 343 (66), 257 (39), 99 (100), 87 (55), 72 (25), 45 (80). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1625. ¹H NMR δ : 1.00 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4 Hz, H1), 1.22 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 3.5 Hz), 1.41 (1H, br d, J=5 Hz), 1.48–1.77 (7H, m), 1.85–2.00 (1H, m), 2.07 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz), 2.17 (1H, dddd, J=19, 5, 2.5, 2.5 Hz), 2.35 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz), 2.46 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.70 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.88 (1H, ddd, J=7, 6.5, 1.5 Hz), 2.92 (3H, s), 3.00 (3H, s), 3.36 (3H, s, OCH₂OCH₃), 3.42-3.50 (1H, m), 3.52-3.60 (1H, m), 3.62-3.71 (2H, m, CH₂OMOM), 3.73-3.81 (1H, m), 3.83-3.97 (3H, m), 4.28 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.64 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, OCH₂OCH₃), 4.67 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, OCH₂OCH₃), 5.52 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 2.5 Hz), 5.68 (1H, br dd, J=9.5, 7 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.3 (CH₂), 20.9 (CH₂), 27.1 (CH₂), 28.8 (CH₂), 34.0 (CH₂), 35.0 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 37.5 (CH₂), 37.8 (CH₃), 43.7 (C), 48.3 (CH), 48.4 (C), 50.7 (CH), 54.6 (CH), 55.0 (CH₃, OCH₃), 63.8 (CH₂), 65.4 (CH₂), 66.7 (CH₂, CH₂OMOM), 68.7 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OMOM), 81.3 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂, OCH₂OMe), 110.3 (C), 125.0 (CH), 129.1 (CH), 172.6 (C).

4.2.3. Deacetalization of 23, 24 to form 25, 26, respectively. The procedure for the preparation of **23** is described as a representative example. *p*-TsOH·H₂O (2 mg, 10.5 µmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of **48** (18 mg, 40.3 µmol) in acetone (3 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 26 °C for 3.5 h. Saturated NaHCO₃–H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and purification by PTLC [hexane–DME (5:2)] provided **25** (15.5 mg, 96%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₃NO₅: 403.2357. Found: 403.2351. MS *m*/*z*: 403 (M⁺, 16), 344 (8), 316 (30), 299 (12), 87 (100), 72 (16), 45 (21), 43 (42). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1733, 1695, 1630. ¹H NMR δ : 1.49 (1H, ddd, *J*=13, 13, 4.5 Hz, H1), 1.56–2.06 (7H, m), 2.20–2.34 (5H, m), 2.04 (3H, s), 2.42

(1H, br d, J=19.5 Hz), 2.56 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.63 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.84 (1H, br ddd, J=7.5, 6, 1.5 Hz), 2.93 (3H, s), 3.01 (3H, s), 3.31 (1H, ddd, J=11, 6, 4.5 Hz), 3.47 (1H, ddd, J=11, 4, 4 Hz), 3.61 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.03–4.20 (2H, m), 5.57 (1H, br ddd, J=9.5, 3, 2.5 Hz), 5.64 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 7, 1.5, 1.5 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ : 19.0 (CH₂), 20.9 (CH₃), 24.7 (CH₂), 27.4 (CH₂), 28.6 (CH₂), 33.3 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 37.4 (CH₂), 37.8 (CH₃), 41.6 (CH₂, C3), 43.8 (C), 48.8 (CH), 53.1 (CH), 53.8 (C), 56.5 (CH, C5), 63.5 (CH₂), 66.9 (CH₂), 81.9 (CH), 126.0 (CH), 127.6 (CH), 170.7 (C), 172.3 (C), 212.5 (C, C4). In the same manner, 24 (18 mg, 95%) was obtained as a colorless glass from 26 (21 mg, 46.8 mmol) after PTLC [hexane-DME (3:1)]. HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₅NO₅: 405.2513. Found: 405.2520. MS m/z: 405 (M⁺, 31), 373 (22), 344 (10), 316 (59), 299 (40), 87 (100), 72 (34), 45 (98). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1698, 1635. ¹H NMR & 1.49 (1H, ddd, J=13, 12, 4.5 Hz, H1), 1.50–2.03 (7H, m), 2.16–2.35 (5H, m), 2.47 (1H, br d, J=19.5 Hz), 2.57 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.63 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.84 (1H, ddd, J=7, 6.5, 1.5 Hz), 2.93 (3H, s), 3.01 (3H, s), 3.24-3.35 (1H, m), 3.34 (3H, s), 3.40-3.49 (1H, m), 3.55-3.60 (2H, m), 3.63 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.59 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.57 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 3 Hz), 5.67 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 7, 1.5, 1.5 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ : 19.1 (CH₂), 24.8 (CH₂), 27.4 (CH₂), 28.7 (CH₂), 33.3 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 37.5 (CH₂), 37.8 (CH₃), 41.5 (CH₂, C3), 43.8 (C), 48.9 (CH), 53.1 (CH), 53.7 (C), 55.0 (CH₃), 56.5 (CH, C5), 66.6 (CH₂), 68.6 (CH₂), 81.9 (CH), 96.3 (CH₂), 125.8 (CH), 128.0 (CH), 172.4 (C), 212.5 (C, C4).

4.2.4. Preparation of 28 and 29 from 25. NaI (42 mg. 0.280 mmol) and TMSCl (35 µl, 0.276 mmol) were added successively to a cooled $(0 \,^{\circ}C)$ solution of 25 (14 mg, 34.7 µmol) and HMDS (110 µl, 0.529 mmol) in CH₃CN (3 ml) under an Ar atmosphere. After having been stirred at that temperature for 10 min, the mixture was refluxed with stirring for 2 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Consecutive washing of the organic layer with saturated CuSO₄-H₂O and saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O, and usual work-up gave a crude enol silyl ether (27, 19 mg). The residue was dissolved in THF (2.5 ml) at 0 °C and NBS (10 mg, 56.2 µmol) was added to this. The mixture was stirred at 0 to 27 °C for 4 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O and saturated Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O were added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (1:1)] provided crude 29 (5 mg) and 28 (5.5 mg, 33%) in order of increasing polarity. The crude 29 was further purified by PTLC (CH₂Cl₂) to give **29** (3.5 mg, 21%). ¹H NMR of crude 27 δ: 0.15 (9H, s), 1.29–1.40 (1H, m), 1.52–2.50 (12H, m), 2.04 (3H, s), 2.59 (1H, d, J=16 Hz), 2.65 (1H, d, J=16 Hz), 2.76 (1H, br dd, J=6, 5 Hz), 2.93 (3H, s), 3.00 (3H, s), 3.46 (1H, ddd, J=11, 6, 4 Hz), 3.56 (1H, ddd, J=11, 5, 4 Hz), 3.89 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.09–4.24 (2H, m), 5.51-5.66 (2H, m). 28: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₂BrNO₅: 483.1443, 481.1463. Found: 483.1456, 481.1459. MS m/z: 483, 481 (M⁺, 1, 1), 402 (9), 397, 395 (4, 5), 314 (10), 297 (8), 211 (11), 87 (100), 72 (17), 45 (15), 43 (44). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1737, 1713, 1634. ¹H NMR δ: 1.50–1.67 (3H, m), 1.88 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 8, 2 Hz), 1.90-2.00 (2H, m), 2.05-2.15 (1H, m), 2.08 (3H, s), 2.17–2.31 (3H, m), 2.37 (1H, br d, J=15 Hz), 2.39 (1H, d,

J=15.5 Hz), 2.70 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.86 (1H, ddd, J=15, 7.5, 2 Hz), 2.91 (3H, s), 2.96 (3H, s), 3.12 (1H, ddd, J=7, 6.5, 1.5 Hz, H14), 3.35 (1H, ddd, J=15, 13, 7.5 Hz), 3.69 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz), 4.16–4.29 (2H, m), 4.19 (1H, dd, J=6.5, 1 Hz, H20), 5.57 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3.5, 3 Hz), 5.72 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 7, 2, 2 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ : 21.0 (CH₃), 21.7 (CH₂), 24.8 (CH₂, C6), 27.0 (CH₂), 31.4 (CH₂, C1), 34.0 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 35.8 (CH₂), 37.3 (CH₂), 37.7 (CH₃), 43.7 (C), 45.5 (CH), 46.5 (CH), 56.3 (C), 63.5 (CH₂), 67.7 (CH₂), 80.3 (C, Br-C), 85.8 (CH), 124.4 (CH), 128.6 (CH), 170.7 (C), 171.6 (C), 203.4 (C), 29: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₂BrNO₅: 483.1443, 481.1463. Found: 483.1461, 481.1457. MS m/z: 483, 481 (M⁺, 0.4, 0.4), 401 (3), 314 (4), 297 (4), 227 (5), 211 (7), 87 (100), 72 (10), 45 (11), 43 (27). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1737, 1709, 1629. ¹H NMR δ: 1.76 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 12.5, 4.5 Hz), 1.78–2.14 (6H, m), 2.04 (3H, s), 2.22-2.44 (4H, m), 2.47-2.52 (1H, m), 2.48 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.74 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.94 (3H, s), 3.01 (3H, s), 3.16 (1H, ddd, J=7, 6, 1.5 Hz, H14), 3.28 (1H, dt, J=11, 5.5 Hz), 3.40-3.53 (1H, m), 3.46 (1H, dt, J=11, 4 Hz), 3.60 (1H, dd, J=6, 1 Hz, H20), 4.10 (2H, dd, J=5.5, 4 Hz), 5.59 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 3 Hz, H12), 5.67 (1H, dddd, *J*=9.5, 7, 1.5, 1.5 Hz, H13).

4.2.5. Dehydrobromination of 28 and 29 to form 30. DBU (9 ul, 60.3 umol) was added to a solution of **28** (5.5 mg.) 11.4 µmol) in benzene (2 ml) and the mixture was refluxed with stirring for 1 h. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and purification by PTLC [hexane-DME (2:1)] afforded 30 (4 mg, 87%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₁NO₅: 401.2200. Found: 401.2197. MS m/z: 401 (M⁺, 5), 314 (7), 297 (19), 227 (12), 211 (18), 87 (100), 72 (20), 45 (15), 43 (57). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1735, 1674, 1638, 1604. ¹H NMR δ : 1.44 (1H, ddd, J=13, 11.5, 3.5 Hz, H1), 1.69-1.91 (3H, m), 2.03 (3H, s), ca. 2.12-2.22 (2H, m), 2.23 (1H, ddd, J=18, 12.5, 6.5 Hz, H3), 2.36 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz), 2.48 (1H, dddd, J=18, 4.5, 3.5, 2 Hz, H3), 2.57 (1H, d, J=16 Hz), 2.61 (2H, d, J=4 Hz, H7×2), 2.82 (1H, d, J=16 Hz), ca. 2.92-3.03 (1H, m), 2.94 (3H, s), 3.01 (3H, s), 3.43 (1H, ddd, J=11, 6.5, 4 Hz), 3.54 (1H, ddd, J=11, 5, 4 Hz), 3.74 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.09-4.23 (2H, m), 5.52–5.69 (2H, m), 6.84 (1H, t, J=4 Hz, H6). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.7 (CH₂), 20.9 (CH₃), 25.8 (CH₂), 26.4 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 36.9 (CH₂), 37.6 (CH₃), 39.2 (CH₂, C3), 39.6 (CH₂, C7), 40.8 (C), 48.7 (C), 49.3 (CH), 50.4 (CH), 63.4 (CH₂), 67.4 (CH₂), 91.3 (CH), 125.2 (CH), 128.0 (CH), 137.6 (CH, C6), 148.3 (C, C5), 170.6, (C), 171.4 (C), 197.3 (C, C4). In the same manner, **30** (2 mg, 80%) was obtained from 29 (3 mg, 6.22 µmol) on treatment with DBU $(5 \mu l, 33.5 \mu mol)$ in boiling benzene (2 m l) for 2 h.

4.2.6. Preparation of 30 from 25 without isolation of the intermediates. A solution of 25 (60 mg, 0.149 mmol) and HMDS (0.38 ml, 1.83 mmol) in CH₃CN (5 ml) was stirred as above with NaI (179 mg, 1.19 mmol) and TMSCl (151 μ l, 1.19 mmol) under an Ar atmosphere at 0 °C for 5 min, and at reflux for 2 h. The same work-up gave a residue (73 mg). This was dissolved in THF (4 ml) and the solution was stirred with NBS (40 mg, 0.225 mmol) at 0–20 °C for 4 h. The same work-up afforded a mixture of bromides (87 mg), which was then treated with DBU (89 μ l, 0.596 mmol) in refluxing benzene (5 ml) for 1 h to give

30 (37 mg, 62% overall) after purification by PTLC as above.

4.2.7. Preparation of 31 from 26. Methylmagnesium bromide (MeMgBr, 3 M in Et₂O, 0.35 ml, 1.05 mmol) was added to a solution of diisopropylamine (*i*-Pr₂NH, 0.15 ml, 1.07 mmol) in Et₂O (6 ml) under an Ar atmosphere. After the mixture had been stirred at 27 °C for 14 h, a solution of 26 (17 mg, 42.0 μ mol) in Et₂O (4 ml) was added and the resulting mixture was stirred for 10 min. TMSCl (0.32 ml, 2.52 mmol). Et₃N (0.41 ml, 2.95 mmol), and hexamethylphosphoramide (HMPA, 73 µl, 0.420 mmol) were added and the whole was further stirred at 27 °C for 4 h and at reflux for 1.5 h. After the mixture had been cooled in an ice bath, saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with EtOAc. Consecutive washing of the organic layer with saturated CuSO₄-H₂O and saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O, and usual work-up gave a crude enol silyl ether (28 mg). The residue was dissolved in THF (3 ml) at 0 °C and NBS (15 mg, 84.3 µmol) was added to this, then the mixture was stirred under an Ar atmosphere at 0-27 °C for 14 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O and saturated Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O were added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ to give a residue (33 mg). A solution of the residue (33 mg) was stirred with DBU (12 μ l, 80.4 μ mol) at reflux for 1 h. The same work-up as before and purification by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (1:1)] provided 31 (4.5 mg, 27%) overall) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₃NO₅: 403.2357. Found: 403.2364. MS m/z: 403 (M⁺, 3), 316 (5), 297 (24), 271 (11), 227 (16), 211 (25), 210 (20), 87 (69), 72 (39), 45 (100). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1673, 1637, 1604. ¹H NMR δ: 1.39–1.50 (1H, m), 1.73–1.89 (3H, m), 2.11–2.26 (3H, m), 2.36 (1H, br d, J=19.5 Hz, H11), 2.47 (1H, dddd, J=18, 4, 4, 2 Hz, H3), 2.61 (2H, d, J=4 Hz, H7×2), 2.57 (1H, d, J=16 Hz), 2.82 (1H, d, J=16 Hz), 2.94 (3H, s), ca. 2.94-3.01 (1H, m), 3.01 (3H, s), 3.34 (3H, s), 3.36-3.44 (1H, m), 3.47-3.55 (1H, m), 3.58-3.68 (2H, m), 3.75 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.63 (2H, s), 5.55-5.67 (2H, m), 6.83 (1H, t, J=4 Hz, H6). ¹³C NMR δ : 19.7 (CH₂), 25.9 (CH₂), 26.4 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 37.0 (CH₂), 37.6 (CH₃), 39.1 (CH₂, C3), 39.6 (CH₂, C7), 40.8 (C), 48.7 (C), 49.4 (CH), 50.5 (CH), 55.0 (CH₃), 67.0 (CH₂), 69.1 (CH₂), 91.6 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 125.0 (CH), 128.3 (CH), 137.5 (CH, C6), 148.4, (C, C5), 171.5 (C), 197.4 (C, C4).

4.2.8. Deacetalization of 32 to form 33. In the same manner as described for the preparation of 25 from 23 (Section 4.2.3), 32 (28 mg, 78.0 μ mol) was stirred with p-TsOH \cdot H₂O (3 mg, 15.8 μ mol) in acetone (3 ml) to afford **33** (23 mg, 94%) as a colorless glass after PTLC [hexane-DME (3:2)]. HRMS Calcd for C19H25NO3: 315.1833. Found: 315.1830. MS m/z: 315 (M⁺, 3), 287 (11), 259 (13), 201 (8), 172 (8), 129 (14), 87 (100), 72 (21), 45 (35). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1728, 1707 (sh), 1633. ¹H NMR δ: 1.54–1.72 (2H, m), 1.76–2.10 (6H, m), 2.27 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 13.5, 6, 1 Hz, H3), 2.32-2.64 (5H, m), 2.45 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.58 (1H, d, J=15.5 Hz), 2.83 (1H, dd, J=7, 2 Hz, C14), 2.95 (3H, s), 3.03 (3H, s), 5.67–5.75 (1H, m), 5.77–5.84 (1H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 20.1 (CH₂), 22.6 (CH₂), 26.4 (CH₂), 29.5 (CH₂), $33.2 \ (CH_2), \ 35.0 \ (CH_2), \ 35.4 \ (CH_3), \ 37.8 \ (CH_3), \ 40.6$ (CH₂, C3), 41.1 (C), 50.2 (CH), 54.4 (CH, C5), 56.9 (CH), 58.1 (C), 124.8 (CH), 129.0 (CH), 171.3 (C), 209.5 (C, C4), 211.0 (C, C20).

4.2.9. Preparation of 34 from 33. In the same manner as described for the preparation of 28 and 29 from 25 (Section 4.2.4), **33** (23 mg, 73.0 µmol) was treated with NaI (88 mg, 0.587 mmol), TMSCl (74 µl, 58.4 µmol), and HMDS (0.23 ml, 1.11 mmol) in CH₃CN (3 ml) to give a crude silvl enol ether (30 mg), which was then stirred with NBS (20 mg, 0.112 mmol) in THF (3 ml) to provide 34 (20 mg, 70%) as a colorless glass after PTLC (CH₂Cl₂). HRMS Calcd for C19H24BrNO3: 395.0919, 393.0939. Found: 395.0910, 393.0949. MS m/z: 395, 393 (M⁺, 2, 2), 367, 365 (1, 1), 314 (18), 286 (46), 227 (19), 199 (100), 87 (53), 72 (35), 45 (50), IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1729, 1715 (sh), 1636, ¹H NMR δ: 1.82-2.05 (4H, m), 2.07-2.29 (3H, m), 2.30 (1H, br d, J=19.5 Hz), 2.35-2.43 (1H, m, H3), 2.41-2.52 (1H, m), 2.53 (2H, s), 2.54-2.72 (1H, m), 2.93-2.99 (1H, m, H9), 2.96 (3H, s), 3.04 (3H, s), 3.17 (1H, dd, J=7.5, 2.5 Hz), 3.36 (1H, ddd, J=14.5, 14.5, 6.5 Hz, H3), 5.76 (1H, br ddd, J=9, 7.5, 1.5 Hz), 5.83 (1H, ddd, J=9, 3, 2.5 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ: 21.0 (CH₂), 26.2 (CH₂), 26.6 (CH₂), 30.6 (CH₂), 30.9 (CH₂), 34.5 (CH₂), 34.8 (CH₂), 35.4 (CH₃), 37.8 (CH₃), 41.0 (C), 47.3 (CH), 56.5 (CH), 62.1 (C, C10), 73.5 (C, Br-C), 125.0 (CH), 128.8 (CH), 170.8 (C), 202.7 (C, C4), 208.0 (C, C20).

4.2.10. Dehydrobromination of 34 to form 35. In the same manner as described for the preparation of 30 from 28 and 29 (Section 4.2.5), 34 (20 mg, 50.8 µmol) was stirred with DBU (38 µl, 0.255 mmol) in refluxing benzene (3 ml) for 1 h to afford 35 (11 mg, 69%) as a colorless glass after PTLC [hexane-DME (2:1)]. HRMS Calcd for C₁₉H₂₃NO₃: 313.1677. Found: 313.1678. MS m/z: 313 (M⁺, 8), 285 (3), 226 (58), 198 (81), 170 (26), 154 (47), 141 (33), 87 (100), 72 (39), 45 (77). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1725, 1678, 1636. ¹H NMR δ : 1.77-1.94 (2H, m), 2.12-2.21 (1H, m), 2.12-2.32 (1H, m), 2.32-2.59 (5H, m), 2.48 (1H, dd, J=21, 3.5 Hz, H7), 2.56 (1H, d, J=16.5 Hz), 2.63 (1H, d, J=16.5 Hz), 2.81 (1H, dd, J=21, 4.5 Hz, H7), 2.94 (3H, s), 3.02 (1H, br dd, J=7, 1.5 Hz), 3.02 (3H, s), 5.76 (1H, ddd, J=9, 7, 1.5 Hz), 5.83 (1H, ddd, J=9, 2.5, 2.5 Hz), 6.99 (1H, dd, J=4.5, 3.5 Hz, H6). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.0 (CH₂), 25.9 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₂), 34.7 (CH₂), 35.3 (CH₃), 37.6 (CH₃), 38.2 (CH₂, C7), 38.9 (CH₂, C3), 39.1 (C), 46.5 (CH), 54.1 (C), 58.4 (CH), 125.8 (CH), 128.4 (CH), 136.5 (C, C5), 138.5 (CH, C6), 170.6 (C), 195.8 (C, C4), 204.8 (C, C20).

4.2.11. Acetvlation of 3 to form 37. In the same manner as described for the preparation of 23 from 22 (Section 4.2.1), 3 (37 mg, 91.6 μ mol) was stirred with Ac₂O (0.20 ml, 2.12 mmol) and pyridine (0.30 ml, 3.88 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (1.5 ml) at 16 °C for 6 h. The same work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:1)] gave 37 (39 mg, 95%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₃₈O₆: 446.2666. Found: 446.2637. MS m/z: 446 (M⁺, 0.1), 359 (0.2), 344 (0.4), 342 (0.4), 317 (0.3), 257 (1), 240 (8), 213 (2), 91 (6), 87 (100), 57 (22), 43 (29). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1719, 1701. ¹H NMR δ: 1.18 (9H, s), 1.42–2.11 (10H, m), 2.04 (3H, s), 2.19–2.34 (5H, m), 2.41 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz), 2.50 (1H, br dd, J=6, 6 Hz), 3.30 (1H, ddd, J=11, 5.5, 5.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OAc), 3.45 (1H, ddd, J=11, 4, 4 Hz, CH₂CH₂OAc), 3.59 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.00 (1H, ddd, J= 11, 8.5, 6.5 Hz, CH₂OPiv), 4.07-4.15 (2H, m, CH₂OAc), 4.13 (1H, ddd, J=11, 9, 6 Hz, CH₂OPiv), 5.53-5.66 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ : 19.1 (CH₂), 20.8 (CH₃), 24.7 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3 and CH₂, Piv and C11), 28.7 (CH₂), 33.6 (CH₂), 33.9 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 41.5 (CH₂), 42.6 (C), 47.8 (CH), 53.8 (CH), 54.0 (C), 56.5 (CH), 62.5 (CH₂, CH₂OPiv), 63.4 (CH₂, CH₂OAc), 66.9 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OAc), 82.0 (CH), 126.0 (CH), 126.4 (CH), 170.7 (C, COMe), 178.4 (C, COMe₃), 212.2 (C, C4).

4.2.12. Preparation of 38 from 37. In the same manner as described for the preparation of 30 from 25 (Section 4.2.6), 37 (44 mg, 98.7 umol) was led to the enone 38 (64% overall) in three steps. 38: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₃₆O₆: 444.2510. Found: 444.2509. MS m/z: 444 (M⁺, 0.4), 340 (2), 315 (1), 238 (2), 211 (10), 87 (100), 57 (27), 43 (39). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1721, 1678, 1607. ¹H NMR δ : 1.20 (9H, s), 1.43 (1H, ddd, J=13, 12, 3 Hz), 1.55 (1H, br d, J=5 Hz, H9), 1.67–1.91 (3H, m), 2.04 (3H, s), 2.11–2.30 (4H, m), 2.33 (1H, dd, J=21, 3 Hz, H7), 2.35 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz), 2.43-2.56 (2H, m), 2.66 (1H, dd, J=21, 5 Hz, H7), 3.42 (1H, ddd, J=11, 6.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.52 (1H, ddd, J=11, 5, 4 Hz), 3.69 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.03–4.23 (4H, m), 5.54–5.64 (2H, m), 6.83 (1H, dd, J=5, 3 Hz, H6). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.6 (CH₂), 20.9 (CH₃), 25.8 (CH₂), 26.3 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 33.2 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 39.1 (CH₂), 39.8 (CH₂, C7), 40.3 (C), 48.9 (C), 49.5 (CH, C9), 50.0 (CH), 61.9 (CH₂), 63.3 (CH₂), 67.4 (CH₂), 91.6 (CH), 125.5 (CH), 126.6 (CH), 136.7 (CH, C6), 148.6 (C, C5), 170.6 (C), 178.3 (C), 197.2 (C).

4.2.13. Preparation of 39 from 3. In the same manner as described for the preparation of 28 and 29 from 25 (Section 4.2.4), **3** (525 mg, 1.30 μ mol) was led to the crude α -bromoketone (802 mg) on treatment with NaI (585 mg, 3.90 mmol), TMSC1 (0.49 ml, 3.98 mmol), and HMDS (1.10 ml, 6.23 mmol) in CH₃CN (22 ml), and then with NBS (462 mg, 2.60 mmol) in THF (25 ml). The crude bromoketone was dissolved in THF (12 ml) and 2.5% HCl-H₂O (1.00 ml) was added to this at 0 °C. After the mixture had been stirred at 0 °C for 10 min, saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up gave a residue (766 mg). The residue was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (25 ml) and to this was added *i*-Pr₂NEt (3.38 ml, 19.4 mmol). The resulting mixture was cooled to -20 °C under an Ar atmosphere, and a solution of MOMCl (0.74 ml, 9.74 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (5 ml) was slowly added to this during 30 min. The mixture was stirred at -20 to 0 °C for 16 h, and the reaction was quenched by the addition of saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O. The whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was successively washed with saturated CuSO₄-H₂O and saturated NaHCO₃–H₂O, and then was treated as usual to afford a residue, which was roughly purified by SiO₂ column chromatography [25 g, hexane-EtOAc (7:1 to 4:1)] to give a mixture of two stereoisomers (511 mg). The mixture (511 mg) was dissolved in benzene (30 ml) and DBU (289 µl, 1.02 mmol) was added to this. The resulting mixture was stirred under reflux for 1 h, and was treated as before. Purification by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (4:1)] yielded 39 (331 mg, 57% overall from 3) as a colorless viscous syrup. HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₃₈O₆: 446.2666. Found: 446.2678. MS m/z: 446 (M⁺, 2), 414 (2), 401 (2), 340 (6), 317 (3), 285 (5), 255 (6), 211 (35), 73 (18), 57 (62), 45 (100),

41 (22). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1719, 1675, 1606. ¹H NMR δ: 1.20 (9H, s), 1.38–1.47 (1H, m), 1.54 (1H, br d, J=5 Hz), 1.74 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 8, 6 Hz), 1.78-1.88 (2H, m), 2.15-2.33 (5H, m), 2.33 (1H, dd, J=21, 3 Hz, H7), 2.48 (1H, dddd, J=18.5, 4, 4, 2 Hz, H3), 2.52-2.58 (1H, m), 2.65 (1H, dd, J=21, 5 Hz, H7), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.40 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 6, 4.5 Hz), 3.50 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.58-3.69 (2H, m), 3.71 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.08 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 6.5 Hz), 4.19 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 6 Hz), 4.63 (2H, s), 5.56–5.66 (2H, m), 6.82 (1H, dd, J=5, 3 Hz, H6). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.7 (CH₂), 25.9 (CH₂), 26.3 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 33.2 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 39.1 (CH₂, C3), 39.8 (CH₂, C7), 40.3 (C), 48.9 (C), 49.6 (CH), 50.1 (CH), 55.1 (CH₃), 61.9 (CH₂), 66.7 (CH₂), 69.1 (CH₂), 91.9 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 125.3 (CH), 127.0 (CH), 136.7 (CH, C6), 148.8 (C, C5), 178.4 (C), 197.3 (C, C4). In the same manner, 36 (22 mg, 54.5 µmol) was converted to 39 (11 mg, 45%) overall from 36) in five steps.

4.2.14. Reduction of 38, 39 to form 40, 41, respectively. Preparation of 40 from 38 is described as a representative example. CeCl₃·7H₂O (29 mg, 77.9 µmol) and NaBH₄ (3 mg, 78.9 µmol) were added in this order to a cooled (0 °C) solution of **38** (26 mg, 58.6 µmol) in MeOH (3 ml). After the mixture had been stirred at 0 °C for 10 min, saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O and saturatedNaHCO₃-H₂O were added and the mixture was extracted with CH2Cl2. Usual workup and PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (7:4)] provided 40 (24 mg, 92%) as a slightly unstable colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₃₈O₆: 446.2666. Found: 446.2674. MS m/z: 446 (M⁺, 1), 428 (1), 340 (1), 324 (1), 222 (9), 157 (15), 87 (100), 57 (41), 43 (57). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1721. ¹H NMR δ: 1.20 (9H, s), 1.36–1.49 (2H, m), 1.49–1.66 (4H, m, including OH), 1.73 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 8.5, 6 Hz), 1.86-1.98 (2H, m), 2.05 (3H, s), 2.11-2.28 (3H, m), 2.31 (1H, br d, J=18.5 Hz), ca. 2.47-2.53 (1H, m), 2.49 (1H, ddd, J=18.5, 4.5, 2 Hz, H7), 3.45 (1H, ddd, J=11, 5.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.52 (1H, ddd, J=11, 5, 4.5 Hz), 3.68 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.07 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8.5, 6.5 Hz), ca. 4.10-4.21 (2H, m), 4.19 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8.5, 6 Hz), 4.21-4.29 (1H, m, H4), 5.49-5.53 (1H, m, H6), 5.53-5.64 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.8 (CH₂), 20.9 (CH₃), 23.8 (CH₂), 26.4 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 31.4 (CH₂), 33.7 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 38.7 (CH₂), 40.5 (C), 48.9 (C), 49.4 (CH), 50.2 (CH), 62.2 (CH₂), 63.4 (CH₂), 67.5 (CH₂), 69.1 (CH, C4), 92.5 (CH), 117.8 (CH, C6), 125.4 (CH), 127.2 (CH), 152.7 (C, C5), 170.6 (C), 178.4 (C). In the same manner, **41** (15 mg, 93%) was obtained from 39 (16 mg, 35.9 µmol) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₄₀O₆: 448.2823. Found: 448.2804. MS m/z: 448 (M⁺, 0.2), 430 (0.6), 416 (2), 403 (3), 342 (2), 258 (3), 240 (8), 222 (16), 195 (17), 157 (19), 57 (64), 45 (100), 41 (22). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1719. ¹H NMR δ : 1.20 (9H, s), 1.33–1.48 (2H, m), 1.55–1.70 (4H, m, including OH), 1.72 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 8.5, 6 Hz), 1.88-2.00 (2H, m), 2.11-2.34 (4H, m), 2.48 (1H, ddd, J=19, 4.5, 2 Hz, H7), 2.50 (1H, dd, J=6, 6 Hz), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.42 (1H, dt, J=11, 5 Hz), 3.49 (1H, dt, J=11, 5 Hz), 3.62 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz), 3.70 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.08 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8.5, 6.5 Hz), 4.19 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8.5, 6 Hz), 4.21-4.31 (1H, m, H4), 4.63 (2H, s), 5.47–5.52 (1H, m, H6), 5.52–5.65 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.9 (CH₂), 23.8 (CH₂), 26.4 (CH₂), 27.2 $(CH_3 \times 3)$, 31.5 $(CH_2, C3)$, 33.7 (CH_2) , 38.6 (C), 38.7 (CH₂, C7), 40.4 (C), 49.0 (C), 49.4 (CH, C9), 50.3 (CH, C14), 55.1 (CH₃), 62.2 (CH₂), 66.8 (CH₂), 69.0 (CH, C4), 69.3 (CH₂), 92.8 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 117.5 (CH, C6), 125.2 (CH), 127.5 (CH), 152.9 (C, C5), 178.4 (C).

4.2.15. Rearrangement of 40 to form 42. DBU (40 ul. 0.268 mmol) and CCl₃CN (54 µl, 0.538 mmol) were added to a solution of 40 (12 mg, 26.9 µmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (3 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 22 °C for 15 h. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (34:1)] gave crude 42 (10 mg), which was further purified by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (5:1)] to yield 42 (9 mg, 57%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₉H₃₉Cl₃NO₆: 589.1762. Found: 589.1742. MS m/z: 595, 593, 591, 589 (M⁺, 0, 0, 0.1, 0.1), 558, 556, 554 (0.2, 0.7, 1), 491, 489, 487, 485 (0, 0.5, 1, 1), 454, 452, 450 (0.5, 1, 2), 362, 360, 358, 356 (0.1, 1, 2, 2), 222 (6), 195 (7), 87 (100), 57 (35), 43 (46). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1718. ¹H NMR δ: 1.18 (9H, s), 1.33–1.43 (1H, m), 1.40 (1H, dd, J=13.5, 10 Hz, H7), 1.59-1.85 (5H, m), 1.96-2.14 (3H, m), 2.07 (3H, s), 2.20 (1H, dd, J=19, 5 Hz), 2.36 (1H, dd, J=13.5, 7.5 Hz, H7), 2.36 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz), 2.66 (1H, br dd, J=6, 6 Hz), 3.48 (1H, ddd, J=11, 6, 4 Hz), 3.54 (1H, ddd, J=11, 5, 4 Hz), 3.91 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.05 (1H, ddd, J=11, 7.5, 6.5 Hz), 4.10–4.24 (3H, m), 4.74–4.87 (1H, m, H6), 5.33 (1H, ddd, J=4, 4, 2 Hz, H4), 5.56–5.68 (2H, m), 6.50 (1H, d, J=9 Hz, NH). ¹³C NMR δ : 19.8 (CH₂), 20.9 (CH₃), 25.0 (CH₂), 25.4 (CH₂), 26.5 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 33.1 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 43.0 (C), 43.5 (CH₂), 47.5 (CH), 49.3 (CH, C6), 50.2 (C), 50.5 (CH), 62.2 (CH₂), 63.5 (CH₂), 67.8 (CH₂), 86.8 (CH), 92.6 (C, CCl₃), 116.5 (CH, C4), 125.7 (CH), 126.6 (CH), 142.4 (C, C5), 161.1 (C, NHCOCCl₃), 170.7 (C), 178.3 (C).

4.3. Efforts aiming at carbonyl 1,3-transposition from 39 to form 53 (Scheme 6)

4.3.1. Epoxidation of 41 to form 43. m-CPBA (16 mg, 92.8 µmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of 41 (14 mg, 31.3 µmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (3 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 10 min and at 27 °C for 1 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O and saturated Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O were added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (7:4)] afforded **39** (0.5 mg, 4%) and **43** (13 mg, 90%) in order of increasing polarity. 43: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for $C_{26}H_{40}O_7$: 464.2772. Found: 464.2784. MS m/z: 464 (M⁺, 0.3), 446 (3), 401 (1), 358 (1), 340 (3), 303 (3), 256 (7), 229 (9), 211 (17), 89 (24), 73 (13), 57 (68), 45 (100). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1719. ¹H NMR δ: 1.14–1.31 (2H, m), 1.19 (9H, s), 1.55–1.75 (3H, m), 1.77 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz, OH), 1.82 (1H, dd, J=16.5, 3.5 Hz, H7), 1.90-2.01 (2H, m), 2.05-2.20 (4H, m), 2.25 (1H, d, J=16.5 Hz, H7), 2.47 (1H, br dd, J=6, 5.5 Hz), 3.25 (1H, d, J=3.5 Hz, H6), 3.37 (3H, s), 3.45 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 6, 4.5 Hz), 3.56 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.64-3.69 (2H, m), 3.83 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 3.84 (1H, ddd, J=12, 11.5, 4.5 Hz, changed to dd, J=12, 4.5 Hz with D₂O, H4), 4.03 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 6.5 Hz), 4.13 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 6 Hz), 4.65 (2H, s), 5.52–5.63 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 21.4 (CH₂), 26.3 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3, CH₂), 32.3 (CH₂), 33.7 (CH₂), 34.9 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 40.5 (C), 43.6 (CH), 47.3 (C), 48.3 (CH), 53.3 (CH, C6), 55.1 (CH₃), 62.1 (CH₂), 65.6 (CH, C4), 66.9 (CH₂), 67.2 (C, C5), 69.0

(CH₂), 87.8 (CH), 96.5 (CH₂), 125.9 (CH), 126.8 (CH), 178.3 (C).

4.3.2. Mesulation of 43 to form 44. MsCl (10 µl, 0.129 mmol) was added to a cooled $(-20 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ solution of 43 (3 mg, 6.47 µmol) and Et₃N (46 µl, 0.331 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (1.5 ml) under an Ar atmosphere. After the mixture had been stirred at that temperature for 40 min, saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was successively washed with saturated CuSO₄-H₂O and saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:1)] yielded 44 (3 mg, 86%) as a colorless glass. MS m/z: 497 (M⁺-CH₂OMe, 0.3), 446 (3), 401 (1), 340 (2), 299 (2), 238 (6), 211 (14), 89 (29), 73 (17), 57 (67), 45 (100), 41 (19). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1713. ¹H NMR δ: 1.19 (9H, s), ca. 1.30-1.41 (2H, m), ca. 1.51-1.84 (3H, m), 1.85 (1H, dd, J=16, 5, 4 Hz, H7), 1.94–2.20 (6H, m), 2.22 (1H, d, J=16.5 Hz, H7), 2.50 (1H, dd, J=6, 5 Hz), 3.03 (3H, s, SO₂CH₃), 3.19 (1H, d, J=4 Hz, H6), 3.38 (3H, s), 3.47 (1H, ddd, J=11, 6.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.57 (1H, ddd, J=11, 4.5, 4 Hz), 3.65–3.71 (2H, m), 3.91 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.03 (1H, ddd, J=11, 7.5, 7 Hz), 4.11 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 6 Hz), 4.66 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.70 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.07 (1H, dd, J=12, 4.5 Hz, H4), 5.53–5.63 (2H, m).

4.3.3. Tosylation of 43 to form 45. In a similar manner to that described above (Section 4.3.2), 43 (6 mg, 12.9 µmol) was treated with *p*-toluenesulfonyl chloride (TsCl, 25 mg, 0.131 mmol) and Et₃N (0.50 ml, 3.59 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (1.5 ml) at 27 °C for 23 h. The same work-up as above and purification by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:1)] vielded 45 (7.5 mg, 94%) as a colorless glass. MS m/z: 446 (M⁺-TsOH, 4), 340 (3), 255 (6), 238 (6), 211 (12), 91 (33), 89 (28), 57 (65), 45 (100), 41 (17). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1718. ¹H NMR δ: 1.14–1.24 (1H, m), 1.19 (9H, s), 1.51-1.81 (5H, m), 1.75 (1H, dd, J=16.5, 3.5 Hz, H7), 1.93 (1H, br d, J=13.5 Hz), 2.03-2.17 (4H, m), 2.18 (1H, d, J=16.5 Hz, H7), 2.42–2.50 (1H, m), 2.45 (3H, s), 3.09 (1H, d, J=3.5 Hz, H6), 3.40 (3H, s), 3.47 (1H, ddd, J=11, 5.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.59 (1H, ddd, J=11, 4.5, 4 Hz), 3.66-3.73 (2H, m), 3.84 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.01 (1H, ddd, J=11, 7.5, 7 Hz), 4.08 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 6 Hz), 4.69 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.73 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.96 (1H, dd, J=12, 4.5 Hz, H4), 5.51-5.62 (2H, m), 7.30-7.36 (2H, m), 7.75-7.81 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 21.6 (CH₃), 21.8 (CH₂), 26.2 (CH₂), 26.4 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 28.8 (CH₂), 33.7 (CH₂), 34.6 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 40.6 (C), 43.4 (CH), 48.3 (CH), 48.4 (C), 52.6 (CH, C6), 55.2 (CH₃), 62.0 (CH₂), 65.3 (C, C5), 67.0 (CH₂), 68.8 (CH₂), 75.5 (CH, C4), 87.6 (CH), 96.5 (CH₂), 126.0 (CH), 126.7 (CH), 127.4 (CH×2), 129.6 (CH×2), 134.0 (C), 144.5 (C), 178.3 (C).

4.3.4. Attempted Birch reduction of 44 and 45. Reduction of 45 is described as a representative example. Na (33 mg, 1.43 mg atom) was added in small portions to a cooled $(-78 \degree C)$ solution of 45 (4.5 mg, 7.28 µmol) in liq. NH₃ (ca. 3 ml) and THF (1.5 ml) under an Ar atmosphere. After the mixture had been stirred for 1 h, NH₄Cl (powder, 115 mg, 2.15 mmol) was added and the cooling bath was removed. The mixture was stirred at ambient temperature for 20 min. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and purification

by PTLC [CH₂Cl₂-DME (5:1)] gave 46 (1.5 mg, 54%) and 49 (1 mg, 36%) in order of increasing polarity. 46: Colorless glass. MS m/z: 362 (M⁺-H₂O, 1), 344 (3), 317 (2), 303 (2), 274 (3), 256 (7), 229 (6), 211 (9), 105 (10), 91 (16), 89 (11), 73 (9), 59 (11), 45 (100), 41 (11). ¹H NMR δ: 1.12–1.31 (2H, m), 1.58 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 8.5, 5.5 Hz), 1.59–1.89 (4H, m, including OH×2), 1.82 (1H, dd, J=16.5, 4 Hz, H7), 1.90-2.11 (4H, m), ca. 2.13-2.20 (2H, m), 2.21 (1H, d, J=16.5 Hz, H7), 2.48 (1H, br dd, J=6, 5 Hz), 3.24 (1H, d, J=4 Hz, H6), 3.37 (3H, s), 3.44 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 6, 4.5 Hz), 3.57 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.62–3.77 (2H, m), 3.69-3.89 (2H, m, CH₂OH), 3.78-3.89 (1H, m, H4), 3.82 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.65 (2H, s), 5.52–5.63 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 21.4 (CH₂), 26.4 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₂), 32.3 (CH₂), 35.1 (CH₂), 38.1 (CH₂), 40.5 (C), 43.7 (CH), 47.2 (C), 48.4 (CH), 53.4 (CH, C6), 55.1 (CH₃), 60.1 (CH₂, CH₂OH), 65.5 (CH, C4), 66.9 (CH₂), 67.3 (C, C5), 69.0 (CH₂), 87.9 (CH), 96.5 (CH₂), 126.0 (CH), 126.9 (CH). For structure confirmation, 46 (1.5 mg) was treated with PivCl in pyridine to yield the pivaloate (1.5 mg), whose 1 H NMR was identical with that of 43. 49: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₁H₃₂O₆: 380.2197. Found: 380.2183. MS m/z: 380 (M⁺, 1), 348 (2), 335 (3), 303 (7), 275 (5), 273 (6), 256 (6), 211 (11), 91 (19), 73 (14), 45 (100), 41 (11). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1691. ¹H NMR δ : 1.42–1.64 (3H, m), 1.72 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 9, 5.5 Hz), ca. 1.88–2.08 (3H, m, including), 2.08 (1H, d, J=9 Hz, H5), 2.15-2.43 (6H, m), 2.57 (1H, br dd, J=6, 6 Hz), 2.85 (1H, d, J=2.5 Hz, OH), 3.24 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5.5, 5 Hz), 3.34 (3H, s), 3.41 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz), ca. 3.53–3.60 (2H, m), 3.54 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 3.61–3.82 (2H, m, CH₂OH), 4.25 (1H, dddd, J=10.5, 9, 7.5, 2.5 Hz, changed to ddd, J=10.5, 9, 7.5 Hz with D₂O, H6), 4.58 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.61 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.54–5.65 (2H, m). In the same manner, 46 (2 mg, 78%) was obtained from 44 (3 mg, 5.54 µmol).

4.3.5. Hydroboration-oxidation of 41 to form 50. $BH_3 \cdot SMe_2$ (11 µl, 0.186 mmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of **41** (20 mg, 44.6 µmol) in THF (2.5 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 30 min, and at 22 °C for 15 h. EtOH (20 µl, 0.533 mmol) was gradually added and the resulting mixture was stirred for 10 min. After the mixture had been cooled in an ice bath, NaOH-H₂O (1 N, 180 µl, 0.180 mmol) and $H_2O_2-H_2O$ (30%, 40 µl, 0.353 mmol) were further added, and the whole was stirred at 0 °C for 20 min, and at 22 °C for 8 h. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O and saturated Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O were added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and purification by PTLC [hexane-DME (3:1)] provided **50** (10.5 mg, 50%) and recovered **41** (4 mg, 20%) in order of decreasing polarity. 50: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₄₂O₇: 466.2928. Found: 466.2933. MS m/z: 466 (M⁺, 1), 448 (2), 337 (7), 305 (7), 275 (6), 259 (7), 240 (7), 213 (10), 117 (12), 105 (13), 57 (85), 45 (100), 41 (27). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1716. ¹H NMR δ : 0.98 (1H, ddd, J=13, 12, 5.5 Hz), 1.19 (9H, s), 1.21 (1H, dd, J=10, 10 Hz, H5), 1.40-1.45 (1H, m), ca. 1.53 (1H, dd, J=14, 10 Hz, H7), 1.75 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 8, 6 Hz), 1.82-1.93 (2H, m), 2.00 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz), 2.09 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 8.5, 6.5 Hz), 2.21 (1H, dd, J=21, 4.5 Hz), 2.26 (1H, dd, J=14, 7 Hz, H7), 2.31 (1H, br d, J=21 Hz), 2.50-2.57 (2H, m, including OH, changed to δ 2.54, 1H, dd,

J=6, 5.5 Hz, H14), 3.28–3.37 (1H, m), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.42– 3.47 (1H, br, OH), 3.47 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), ca. 3.58– 3.66 (2H, m), ca. 3.65–3.75 (1H, m, H4), 3.71 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), ca. 3.98–4.08 (1H, m, H6), 4.06 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 8, 6.5 Hz), 4.14 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 8.5, 6 Hz), 4.63 (2H, s), 5.53–5.65 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ : 21.5 (CH₂), 27.0 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 29.0 (CH₂), 33.3 (CH₂), 35.1 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 42.3 (C, C8), 44.0 (CH₂, C7), 47.5 (CH), 49.5 (C), 53.2 (CH), 55.1 (CH₃), 57.5 (CH, C5), 62.3 (CH₂), 66.8 (CH₂), 68.7 (CH₂), 71.3 (CH, C6), 75.4 (CH, C4), 83.7 (CH), 96.5 (CH₂), 126.1 (CH), 126.5 (CH), 178.3 (C).

4.3.6. *i*-Propylsulfonvlation of 50 to form 51. *i*-PrSO₂Cl (8 μ l, 71.3 μ mol) was added to a cooled (-18 °C) solution of 50 (9 mg, 19.3 µmol) and Et₃N (31 µl, 0.223 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (2 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred for 30 min. Saturated NaHCO3-H2O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was washed successively with saturated CuSO₄-H₂O and saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O and then treated as usual. Separation by PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (5:2)] afforded 51 (9.5 mg, 86%) as a colorless glass. MS m/z: 404 (M⁺-CH₂OMe-*i*-PrSO₃, 1), 386 (1), 342 (6), 240 (15), 222 (15), 195 (14), 157 (17), 129 (19), 91 (23), 71 (25), 57 (100), 45 (92), 43 (53), 41 (53). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1717. ¹H NMR δ : 1.01 (1H, ddd, J=13, 12.5, 5 Hz), 1.11 (9H, s), 1.38-1.62 (4H, m), 1.44 (6H, d, J=7 Hz, SO₂CHMe₂), 1.64–1.81 (3H, m), 1.98 (1H, br ddd, J=13, 3, 3 Hz), 2.04-2.16 (2H, m), 2.18-2.34 (2H, m), 2.28 (1H, dd, J=14.5, 8 Hz), 2.58 (1H, br dd, J=6, 6 Hz), 3.13 (1H, d, J=3.5 Hz, OH), 3.27 (1H, sep, J=7 Hz, SO₂CHMe₂), 3.37 (3H, s), 3.39 (1H, ddd, J=11, 5.5, 5 Hz), 3.51 (1H, ddd, J=11, 4.5, 4 Hz), ca. 3.58-3.70 (2H, m), 3.81 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.01–4.19 (3H, m), 4.64 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.69 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.80 (1H, ddd, J=11, 10.5, 4.5 Hz, H4), 5.53–5.66 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 16.5 (CH₃), 16.6 (CH₃), 21.4 (CH₂), 27.0 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 29.0 (CH₂), 32.8 (CH₂), 33.3 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 41.9 (C), 43.8 (CH₂), 47.4 (CH), 50.4 (C), 52.9 (CH), 53.1 (CH, SO₂CHMe₂), 55.1 (CH₃), 56.9 (CH, C5), 62.2 (CH₂), 67.0 (CH₂), 68.5 (CH₂), 69.4 (CH, C6), 83.5 (CH), 84.7 (CH, C4), 96.5 (CH₂), 125.7 (CH), 126.9 (CH), 178.3 (C).

4.3.7. Dess-Martin oxidation of 51 to form 52. A solution of 51 (7 mg, 12.2 µmol) and Dess-Martin periodinane (52 mg, 0.123 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (3 ml) was heated under reflux with stirring for 18 h. After the mixture had been cooled. saturated Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up followed by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:2)] afforded 52 (7 mg, quant.) as a colorless glass. MS m/z: 446 (M⁺-i-PrSO₃H, 2), 414 (3), 317 (3), 285 (5), 256 (5), 238 (6), 211 (15), 91 (15), 89 (17), 73 (45), 57 (76), 45 (100), 43 (43), 41 (41). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1719. ¹H NMR δ: ca. 1.14–1.22 (1H, m), 1.19 (9H, s), 1.33 (3H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 1.44 (3H, d, J=7 Hz), ca. 1.44–1.55 (1H, m), 1.55-1.69 (2H, m), 1.88 (1H, ddd, J=14, 7, 7 Hz), 1.93-1.97 (1H, m), ca. 2.02-2.11 (1H, m), 2.07 (1H, ddd, J=14, 7, 7 Hz), 2.28–2.48 (3H, m), 2.47 (1H, d, J=16.5 Hz, H7), 2.47 (1H, d, J=9.5 Hz, H5), 2.54 (1H, d, J=16.5 Hz, H7), 2.64 (1H, br dd, J=6, 5.5 Hz), ca. 3.32–3.39 (1H, m), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.45 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.50 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), ca. 3.54–3.65 (2H, m), 3.66 (1H, qq, J=7, 6.5 Hz), 4.04 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 7, 7 Hz), 4.14 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 7, 7 Hz), 4.61 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.64 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.74 (1H, ddd, J=11, 9.5, 5.5 Hz, H4), 5.55– 5.66 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ : 16.3 (CH₃), 17.0 (CH₃), 20.3 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3, CH₂), 28.6 (CH₂), 32.3 (CH₂), 32.7 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 44.3 (C), 48.4 (CH), 50.6 (C), 51.7 (CH₂, C7), 52.8 (CH), 53.7 (CH), 55.1 (CH₃), 61.6 (CH₂), 62.9 (CH, C5), 66.6 (CH₂), 68.8 (CH₂), 78.1 (CH, C4), 84.7 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 125.6 (CH), 126.2 (CH), 178.2 (C), 207.4 (C, C6).

4.3.8. DBU treatment of 52 to form 53. A solution of 52 (7 mg, 12.3 µmol) and DBU (9 µl, 60.3 µmol) in benzene (2.5 ml) was heated under reflux with stirring for 2 h. After the mixture had been cooled, saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:1)] afforded 53 (5 mg, 91%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₃₈O₆: 446.2666. Found: 446.2648. MS *m/z*: 446 (M⁺, 4), 414 (4), 317 (5), 285 (8), 255 (5), 211 (19), 73 (56), 57 (57), 45 (100), 41 (20). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1716, 1676, 1617. ¹H NMR δ: 1.20 (9H, s), 1.41 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 9.5, 5 Hz), 1.50–1.66 (2H, m), 1.67–1.72 (1H, m), 1.76 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 7.5, 6.5 Hz), 1.99-2.44 (4H, m), 2.28–2.35 (2H, m), 2.50 (1H, d, J=20 Hz, H7), 2.61 (1H, br dd, J=6, 6 Hz), 2.62 (1H, d, J=20 Hz, H7), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.39–3.47 (1H, m), 3.55 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.62–3.67 (2H, m), 3.75 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.07 (1H, ddd, J=11, 7, 7 Hz), 4.15 (1H, ddd, J=11, 7.5, 6 Hz), 4.63 (2H, s), 5.59–5.69 (2H, m), 6.69 (1H, dd, J=5, 3.5 Hz, H4). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.7 (CH₂), 25.2 (CH₂, C3), 25.8 (CH₂), 26.5 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 33.0 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 40.5 (C), 46.3 (C), 48.0 (CH), 49.0 (CH), 50.0 (CH₂, C7), 55.1 (CH₃), 61.7 (CH₂), 66.7 (CH₂), 69.5 (CH₂), 89.3 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 125.1 (CH), 127.0 (CH), 131.2 (CH, C4), 145.4 (C, C5), 178.3 (C), 199.2 (C, C6).

4.3.9. Methoxyacetylation of 41 to form 54. Methoxyacetyl chloride (49 µl, 0.536 mmol) was added to a cooled $(0 \degree C)$ solution of 41 (8 mg, 17.9 µmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (1.5 ml) and pyridine (0.3 ml) under an Ar atmosphere. After the mixture had been stirred at 0 °C for 45 min, saturated NaHCO3-H2O was added and the whole was stirred at 19 °C for 20 min. Extraction with CH₂Cl₂, usual work-up, and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:1)] provided 54 (8 mg, 86%) as a colorless glass. MS m/z: 475 (M⁺-CH₂OMe, 0.5), 430 (3), 414 (1), 398 (2), 324 (3), 222 (24), 195 (19), 157 (28), 57 (43), 45 (100), 41 (18). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1743, 1720. ¹H NMR δ : 1.19 (9H, s), 1.39-1.50 (1H, m), ca. 1.55-1.70 (4H, m), 1.72 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 6.5 Hz, 1.82–1.92 (1H, m), 1.98 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 5, 5 Hz), 2.10-2.26 (3H, m), 2.30 (1H, br d, J=19.5 Hz), 2.46 (1H, ddd, J=18, 4, 2 Hz), 2.51 (1H, dd, J=6, 6 Hz), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.42 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.46 (3H, s, COCH₂OCH₃), 3.49 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.63 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz), 3.71 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.04 (2H, s, COCH₂OMe), 4.08 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 6.5 Hz), 4.17 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8.5, 6 Hz), 4.63 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.65 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.36-5.41 (1H, m, H6), 5.48-5.55 (1H, m, H4), 5.52–5.65 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.1 (CH₂), 23.3 (CH₂), 26.3 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 27.4 (CH₂), 33.6 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 38.7 (CH₂), 40.5 (C), 48.7 (C), 49.5 (CH), 50.3 (CH), 55.1 (CH₃), 59.3 (CH₃, COCH₂OCH₃), 62.2 (CH₂), 66.9 (CH₂), 69.2 (CH₂), 69.9 (CH₂, COCH₂OMe), 72.0

(CH, C4), 92.7 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 120.7 (CH, C6), 125.2 (CH), 127.4 (CH), 147.5 (C, C5), 169.5 (C, COCH₂OMe), 178.4 (C).

4.3.10. Europium-catalyzed rearrangement of 54 to form 55–57. Eu(fod)₃ (1.5 mg, 1.59 μ mol) was added to a solution of 54 (6 mg, 11.5 µmol) in CHCl₃ (2 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at 22 °C for 24 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (15:1)] vielded 55 (2 mg, 33%). 56 (1 mg, 20%), and 57 (1 mg, 20%) in order of decreasing polarity. 55: Colorless glass. MS m/z: 430 (M⁺-MeOCH₂COOH, 2), 414 (2), 386 (2), 324 (3), 222 (20), 195 (16), 157 (24), 89 (17), 73 (19), 57 (49), 45 (100), 41 (20). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1743, 1719. ¹H NMR δ : 1.18 (9H, s), 1.48-2.36 (9H, m), 1.77 (1H, dd, J=15, 5.5 Hz, H7), 2.09 (1H, dd, J=15, 7 Hz, H7), 2.22-2.26 (2H, m), 2.47-2.54 (1H, m), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.39-3.55 (2H, m), 3.46 (3H, s), 3.65 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz), 3.79 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.00-4.19 (2H, m), 4.04 (2H, s, COCH₂OMe), 4.64 (2H, s), 5.11 (1H, ddd, J=3.5, 3.5, 1.5 Hz, H4), 5.55-5.65 (2H, m), 5.69 (1H, ddd, J=7, 5.5, 1.5 Hz, H6). 56: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₃₈O₅: 430.2717. Found: 430.2701. MS m/z: 430 (M⁺, 2), 398 (1), 324 (2), 222 (39), 157 (44), 91 (18), 89 (13), 73 (13), 57 (66), 45 (100), 41 (23). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1717. ¹H NMR δ : 1.20 (9H, s), ca. 1.56– 1.61 (1H, m), 1.37 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 12.5, 5 Hz), 1.73 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 8.5, 5.5 Hz), 1.97-2.36 (6H, m), 2.36 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz), 2.48-2.58 (2H, m), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.38 (1H, dd, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.47 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.62 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz), 3.78 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.07 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 8.5, 6.5 Hz), 4.19 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 9, 6 Hz), 4.63 (2H, s), 5.21 (1H, dd, J=4, 3.5 Hz, H6), 5.55-5.67 (2H, m), 5.77 (1H, br dd, J=9.5, 5 Hz, H3), 5.93 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 2.5 Hz, H4). 57: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₃₈O₅: 430.2717. Found: 430.2713. MS m/z: 430 (M⁺, 1), 398 (1), 324 (5), 222 (40), 157 (45), 89 (32), 73 (21), 57 (41), 45 (100), 41 (20). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1720. ¹H NMR δ : 1.19 (9H, s), 1.25–1.36 (1H, m), 1.39–1.70 (2H, m), 1.68 (1H, br d, J=4.5 Hz), 1.84 (1H, ddd, J=14, 8, 6.5 Hz), 1.96–2.09 (3H, m), 2.15 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz), 2.19-2.30 (1H, m), 2.36 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz), 2.64 (1H, br dd, J=7, 6 Hz), 3.35 (3H, s), ca. 3.35-3.43 (1H, m), 3.50 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5, 5 Hz), 3.61–3.66 (2H, m), 3.79 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.05–4.17 (2H, m), 4.64 (2H, s), 5.40 (1H, br dd, J=5, 3.5 Hz, H4), 5.64 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 3 Hz), 5.55 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 6.5, 1.5, 1.5 Hz), 5.77 (1H, d, J=9.5 Hz, H6), 5.90 (1H, d, J=9.5 Hz, H7).

4.3.11. Alcoholysis of **55** to form **58.** K₂CO₃ (10 mg, 72.5 µmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of **55** (1.5 mg, 2.88 µmol) in MeOH (2 ml) and the mixture was stirred for 1.5 h. Saturated NH₄Cl–H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane–EtOAc (2:1)] gave **58** (1 mg, ca. 77%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₄₀O₆: 448.2823. Found: 448.2824. MS *m*/*z*: 448 (M⁺, 0.4), 342 (4), 258 (7), 240 (13), 213 (22), 174 (18), 91 (18), 57 (78), 45 (100), 41 (27). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1720. ¹H NMR δ : 1.19 (9H, s), 1.35 (1H, d, *J*=5 Hz, OH), 1.42–1.88 (5H, m), 1.65 (1H, dd, *J*=14.5, 6.5 Hz, H7), 1.90–1.94 (1H, m), 1.95–2.08 (3H, m), 2.08 (1H, dd, *J*=14.5, 6.5 Hz, H7), ca.

2.16–2.30 (2H, m), 2.45–2.52 (1H, m), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.37– 3.44 (1H, m), 3.50 (1H, ddd, *J*=10.5, 5, 5 Hz), ca. 3.60– 3.69 (2H, m), 3.73 (1H, d, *J*=6 Hz), 4.10 (1H, ddd, *J*=11, 8.5, 6.5 Hz), 4.18 (1H, ddd, *J*=11, 8.5, 6.5 Hz), 4.35–4.44 (1H, m, H6), 4.64 (2H, s), 5.54 (1H, ddd, *J*=4, 3.5, 1.5 Hz, H4), 5.55–5.65 (2H, m).

4.3.12. Dess–Martin oxidation of 58 to form 53. In the same manner as described for the preparation of 52 from 51 (Section 4.3.7), 58 (1 mg, 2.23 mmol) was oxidized with Dess–Martin periodinane (10 mg, 23.7 μ mol) to afford 53 (1 mg, quant.) after PTLC [hexane–EtOAc (3:1)].

4.4. Introduction of the C18-methyl group into 39 (Table 1)

4.4.1. Reaction of 39 with MeMgI (runs a and b). The reaction procedure in THF (run b) is described as a representative example. MeMgI (0.37 M in Et₂O, 0.30 ml, 0.117 mmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of 39 (5 mg, 11.2 µmol) in THF (2.5 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at that temperature for 20 min. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and purification by PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (7:1)] vielded 59 (2 mg, 38%) and recovered **39** (1.5 mg, 30%) in order of decreasing polarity. 59: Colorless glass. MS m/z: 444 (M⁺-H₂O, 2), 356 (1), 338 (3), 236 (31), 171 (48), 57 (82), 45 (100), 41 (35). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1713. ¹H NMR δ: 1.19 (9H, s), 1.32–1.74 (7H, m, including OH), 1.34 (3H, s), 2.01-2.10 (1H, m), 2.10-2.20 (1H, m), 2.15 (1H, dd, J=18.5, 3 Hz, H7), 2.24 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 8.5, 7 Hz), 2.33 (1H, br d, J=19.5 Hz, H11), 2.49 (1H, br dd, J=6, 6 Hz, H14), 2.49 (1H, dd, J=18.5, 4 Hz, H7), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.40 (1H, ddd, J=11, 5.5, 5.5 Hz), 3.51 (1H, ddd, J=11, 4.5, 4.5 Hz), ca. 3.59-3.68 (2H, m), 3.66 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.08 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 8.5, 7 Hz), 4.18 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 8.5, 6 Hz), 4.64 (2H, s), 5.52–5.64 (2H, m), 5.69 (1H, dd, J=4, 3 Hz, H6). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.8 (CH₂), 25.9 (CH₂), 26.5 (CH₂), 27.2 (CH₃×3), 31.7 (CH₃), 33.7 (CH₂), 38.6 (C), 38.8 (CH₂, C7), 39.0 (CH₂), 40.3 (C), 48.4 (C, C10), 50.3 (CH), 50.8 (CH, C9), 55.1 (CH₃), 62.2 (CH₂), 66.9 (CH₂), 69.1 (CH₂), 71.7 (C, C4), 92.6 (CH), 96.5 (CH₂), 118.7 (CH, C6), 125.4 (CH), 127.3 (CH), 156.1 (C), 178.4 (C). In a similar manner, **39** (5 mg, 11.2 µmol) was reacted with MeMgI in toluene at -18 to 0 °C to afford **59** (1 mg, 19%) and a recovery of **39** (2.5 mg, 50%).

4.4.2. Reaction of 39 with MeLi in Et₂O (run c). MeLi (1.1 M, 0.31 ml, 0.341 mmol) was added to a cooled (-78 °C) solution of **39** (6 mg, 13.5 µmol) in Et₂O (3 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred for 30 min. Quenching with saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O, extraction with CH₂Cl₂, usual work-up, and PTLC [benzene–EtOAc (6:1)] yielded **60** (1 mg, 16%), **59** (3 mg, 48%), and recovered **39** (1.5 mg, 25%) in order of decreasing polarity. **60**: Colorless glass. MS *mlz*: 444 (M⁺-H₂O, 2), 356 (3), 338 (2), 236 (19), 171 (33), 57 (67), 45 (100), 41 (23). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1707. ¹H NMR δ : 1.20 (9H, s), ca. 1.22–1.85 (7H, m), 1.36 (3H, s), 2.09–2.36 (4H, m), 2.15 (1H, dd, *J*=19, 3.5 Hz, H7), 2.49 (1H, dd, *J*=6 Hz, H14), 2.49 (1H, dd, *J*=19, 4.5 Hz, H7), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.46–3.68 (4H, m), 3.86 (1H, d, *J*=6 Hz, H20), 4.06 (1H, ddd, *J*=11,

8.5, 6.5 Hz), 4.16 (1H, ddd, *J*=11, 8.5, 6 Hz), 4.63 (1H, d, *J*=6.5 Hz), 4.65 (1H, d, *J*=6.5 Hz), 5.52–5.65 (2H, m), 5.69 (1H, dd, *J*=4.5, 3.5 Hz, H6).

4.4.3. Reaction of 39 or 63 with MeLi in THF (runs d and e). The reaction procedure of run d is described as a representative example. MeLi (1.1 M in Et₂O, 1.37 ml, 1.51 mmol) was slowly added during 1 min to a cooled (-78 °C) solution of **39** (84 mg, 0.188 mmol) in THF (8 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at that temperature for 20 min. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and purification by PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (1:1)] furnished crude-63 (10 mg), 61 (42 mg, 59%), and 62 (8 mg, 11%) in order of increasing polarity. The crude-63 was further separated by PTLC (2% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂) to give 63 (4 mg, 6%). 61: Slightly labile colorless glass. MS m/z: 360 (M⁺-H₂O, 2), 315 (1), 272 (4), 254 (15), 209 (17), 189 (21), 171 (22), 45 (100). ¹H NMR δ : 1.31–1.76 (9H, m, including OH×2), 1.34 (3H, s), 2.05 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 3.5, 3.5 Hz), 2.09–2.24 (2H, m), 2.13 (1H, dd, J=19, 3 Hz, H7), 2.33 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz), 2.47 (1H, dd, J=19, 4 Hz, H7), 2.49 (1H, dd, J=6, 6 Hz), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.40 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.51 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.64 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz), ca. 3.64–3.82 (2H, m), 3.65 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.64 (2H, s), 5.51-5.63 (2H, m), 5.68 (1H, dd, J=4, 3 Hz, H6), ¹³C NMR δ ; 19.8 (CH₂), 25.9 (CH₂), 26.6 (CH₂), 31.7 (CH₃), 38.3 (CH₂), 39.0 (CH₂), 39.1 (CH₂), 40.3 (C), 48.3 (C), 50.3 (CH), 50.8 (CH), 55.1 (CH₃), 60.3 (CH₂), 66.9 (CH₂), 69.1 (CH₂), 71.7 (C, C4), 92.6 (CH), 96.5 (CH₂), 118.8 (CH, C6), 125.6 (CH), 127.3 (CH), 156.1 (C, C5). 62: Slightly labile colorless glass. MS m/z: 360 (M⁺-H₂O, 2), 315 (1), 272 (3), 254 (13), 209 (14), 189 (18), 171 (17), 45 (100). ¹H NMR δ: 1.24–1.38 (1H, m), 1.36 (3H, s), 1.42–1.67 (3H, m), 1.59-1.88 (5H, m, including OH×2), 2.08-2.24 (3H, m), 2.13 (1H, dd, J=19, 3 Hz, H7), 2.31 (1H, br d, J=20 Hz), 2.45–2.51 (1H, m), 2.46 (1H, dd, J=19, 4.5 Hz, H7), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.45-3.83 (6H, m), 3.85 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.63 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.65 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.52–5.65 (2H, m), 5.68 (1H, dd, J=4.5, 3 Hz, H6). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.0 (CH₂), 25.3 (CH₂), 26.5 (CH₂), 28.9 (CH₃), 37.9 (CH₂), 38.2 (CH₂), 39.2 (CH₂), 40.1 (C), 47.8 (C), 50.0 (CH), 50.4 (CH), 55.1 (CH₃), 60.3 (CH₂), 67.2 (CH₂), 69.3 (CH₂), 70.8 (C, C4), 93.8 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 119.0 (CH, C6), 125.2 (CH), 127.9 (CH), 155.5 (C, C5). 63: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₁H₃₀O₅: 362.2092. Found: 362.2109. MS m/z: 362 (M⁺, 0.5), 330 (1), 317 (2), 285 (2), 273 (2), 256 (20), 211 (27), 185 (11), 91 (12), 73 (13), 45 (100). ¹H NMR δ : 1.43 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10, 5 Hz), 1.53 (1H, br d, J=5 Hz), 1.68 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 8.5, 5.5 Hz), 1.77-1.88 (2H, m), 2.13-2.27 (5H, m, including OH), 2.28–2.39 (1H, m), 2.33 (1H, dd, J=21, 3 Hz, H7), 2.48 (1H, dddd, J=18.5, 4, 4, 2 Hz, H3), 2.56 (1H, br dd, J=6, 6 Hz), 2.62 (1H, dd, J=21, 5 Hz, H7), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.39 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 6, 4.5 Hz), 3.51 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.58-3.68 (2H, m), ca. 3.68-3.84 (2H, m), 3.70 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.63 (2H, s), 5.55-5.65 (2H, m), 6.82 (1H, dd, J=5, 3 Hz, H6). ¹³C NMR δ : 19.7 (CH₂), 25.9 (CH₂), 26.4 (CH₂), 37.5 (CH₂), 39.1 (CH₂, C3), 40.0 (CH₂, C7), 40.2 (C), 48.8 (C), 49.7 (CH), 50.2 (CH), 55.1 (CH₃), 60.1 (CH₂, CH₂OH), 66.7 (CH₂), 69.1 (CH₂), 91.9 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 125.4 (CH), 127.0 (CH), 136.9 (CH, C6), 148.8 (C, C5), 197.4 (C, C4). In the same

manner, **63** (4 mg, 11.0 μ mol) was reacted with MeLi (1.1 M in Et₂O, 0.08 ml, 88.1 μ mol) to give **61** (2.5 mg, 60%) and **62** (0.5 mg, 12%) (Table 1, run e).

4.5. Preparation of 1 from 61 and 62 (Scheme 7)

4.5.1. Acetylation of 61, 62 to form 64, 65, respectively. The preparation of 64 from 61 is described as a typical procedure. Ac₂O (0.20 ml, 2.12 mmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of **61** (35 mg, 92.6 µmol) in pyridine (0.30 ml, 3.71 mmol) and CH₂Cl₂ (1.5 ml), and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 5 min and at 25 °C for 5 h. Saturated NaHCO₃–H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and purification by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:1)] provided 64 (36 mg, 93%) as a slightly labile colorless glass. MS m/z: 402 (M⁺-H₂O, 2), 357 (2), 314 (8), 296 (5), 236 (15), 209 (23), 171 (29), 45 (100), 43 (59). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1720. ¹H NMR δ : 1.31–1.43 (1H, m), 1.34 (3H, s), 1.44–1.79 (7H, m), 2.01–2.20 (2H, m), 2.04 (3H, s), 2.14 (1H, dd, J=19, 3 Hz), 2.23 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 9.5, 6.5 Hz), 2.33 (1H, br d, J=18.5 Hz), 2.47 (1H, dd, J=19, 4 Hz), 2.48 (1H, dd, J=6, 6 Hz), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.40 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.51 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.64 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz), 3.66 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.07 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 9, 6.5 Hz, CH₂OAc), 4.21 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 9.5, 5.5 Hz, CH₂OAc), 4.64 (2H, s), 5.51-5.63 (2H, m), 5.69 (1H, dd, J=4, 3 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ : 19.8 (CH₂), 21.1 (CH₃, COCH₃), 25.9 (CH₂), 26.5 (CH₂), 31.7 (CH₃), 33.8 (CH₂), 38.8 (CH₂), 39.0 (CH₂), 40.2 (C), 48.3 (C), 50.2 (CH), 50.7 (CH), 55.1 (CH₃), 62.2 (CH₂, CH2OAc), 66.9 (CH2), 69.1 (CH2), 71.7 (C, C4), 92.5 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 118.6 (CH), 125.5 (CH), 127.2 (CH), 156.1 (C), 170.9 (C, COCH₃). In the same manner, 62 (8 mg, 21.2 µmol) was led to 65 (8 mg, 90%), a slightly labile colorless glass. MS m/z: 402 (M⁺-H₂O, 2), 357 (1), 314 (2), 296 (3), 236 (13), 209 (11), 171 (32), 45 (100), 43 (51). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1724. ¹H NMR δ: 1.25–1.38 (1H, m), 1.36 (3H, s), 1.41-1.56 (3H, m), 1.62-1.89 (4H, m, including OH), 2.04 (3H, s), ca. 2.05-2.21 (2H, m), 2.14 (1H, dd, J=19, 2.5 Hz), 2.23 (1H, ddd, J=13, 9.5, 6.5 Hz), 2.32 (1H, br d, J=20 Hz), 2.44–2.51 (1H, m), 2.46 (1H, dd, J=19, 4.5 Hz), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.46-3.60 (2H, m), 3.60-3.71 (2H, m), 3.86 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.07 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 9.5, 6.5 Hz, CH₂OAc), 4.21 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 9.5, 6 Hz, CH_2OAc), 4.63 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.65 (1H, d, J= 6.5 Hz), 5.52–5.64 (2H, m), 5.68 (1H, dd, J=4.5, 2.5 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ : 17.9 (CH₂), 21.1 (CH₃, COCH₃), 25.3 (CH₂), 26.4 (CH₂), 28.9 (CH₃), 33.7 (CH₂), 37.9 (CH₂), 38.9 (CH₂), 40.0 (C), 47.9 (C), 49.8 (CH), 50.4 (CH), 55.1 (CH₃), 62.2 (CH₂, CH₂OAc), 67.2 (CH₂), 69.4 (CH₂), 70.7 (C, C4), 93.7 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 118.9 (CH), 125.1 (CH), 127.8 (CH), 155.5 (C), 170.9 (C, COCH₃).

4.5.2. Oxidation of 64 and 65 to form 4, 66, and 67. The oxidation procedure of 64 is presented as a representative example. PCC–Al₂O₃ (20 wt %, 346 mg, 0.321 mmol) was added in one portion to a cooled (5 °C) solution of 64 (45 mg, 0.107 mmol) in benzene (8 ml), and the mixture was stirred at that temperature for 15 min and at 25 °C for 2 h. Saturated NaHCO₃–H₂O was added and the whole was filtered under reduced pressure. The filtered Al₂O₃ was washed with CH₂Cl₂. The filtrate was treated as usual.

Purification by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (9:1)] afforded 4 (28 mg, 63%), 66 (7 mg, 16%), and 67 (5.5 mg, 13%) in order of decreasing polarity. 4: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₄H₃₄O₆: 418.2353. Found: 418.2359. MS m/z: 418 (M⁺, 2), 386 (3), 373 (7), 299 (6), 237 (9), 225 (23), 187 (14), 73 (30), 45 (100), 43 (45). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻ 1727, 1668. ¹H NMR δ: 1.46–1.72 (3H, m), 1.78 (1H, ddd, J=14, 8, 6.5 Hz), 1.83–1.94 (2H, m), 2.03 (3H, s), 2.03– 2.17 (3H, m), 2.04 (3H, s), 2.22-2.38 (2H, m), 2.46 (1H, d, J=19.5 Hz, H7), 2.52 (1H, d, J=19.5 Hz, H7), 2.56-2.62 (1H, m), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.43 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.53 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.61-3.66 (2H, m), 3.69 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.07 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 6.5 Hz), 4.17 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 6.5 Hz), 4.62 (2H, s), 5.54–5.68 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.7 (CH₂), 21.0 (CH₃), 21.9 (CH₃), 26.1 (CH₂), 26.6 (CH₂), 32.6 (CH₂), 34.2 (CH₂), 41.0 (C), 47.96 (C), 48.00 (CH), 49.6 (CH), 51.8 (CH₂, C7), 55.0 (CH₃), 61.7 (CH₂), 66.7 (CH₂), 69.5 (CH₂), 90.1 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 125.1 (CH), 127.1 (CH), 140.1 (C, C5), 143.4 (C, C4), 170.7 (C), 201.1 (C, C6). 66: Slightly unstable colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₄H₃₄O₅: 402.2404. Found: 402.2410. MS m/z: 402 (M⁺, 1), 342 (1), 236 (16), 209 (10), 208 (12), 171 (27), 45 (100), 43 (53). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1729. ¹H NMR δ : 1.36 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 12.5, 5 Hz), ca. 1.52–1.61 (1H, m), 1.73 (3H, br s), 1.74 (1H, ddd, J=13, 9, 6 Hz), 1.92–2.31 (6H, m), 2.05 (3H, s), 2.49 (1H, dd, J=6, 5.5 Hz), 2.55 (1H, dd, J=19, 4.5 Hz, H7), 3.34 (3H, s), 3.38 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.47 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.61 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz), 3.79 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.09 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 9, 6.5 Hz), 4.22 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 9.5, 6 Hz), 4.82 (2H, s), 5.35 (1H, dd, J=4.5, 3 Hz, H6), 5.54–5.67 (3H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.3 (CH₃), 21.1 (CH₃), 23.0 (CH₂), 25.0 (CH₂), 26.5 (CH₂), 33.9 (CH₂), 39.3 (CH₂), 40.3 (C), 47.1 (C), 49.5 (CH), 50.1 (CH), 55.1 (CH₃), 62.2 (CH₂), 66.8 (CH₂), 68.9 (CH₂), 91.9 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 117.0 (CH, C6), 125.4 (CH), 126.3 (CH, C3), 127.5 (CH), 129.2 (C, C4), 148.5 (C, C5), 170.9 (C). 67: Slightly unstable colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₄H₃₄O₅: 402.2404. Found: 402.2384. MS m/z: 402 (M⁺, 1), 342 (1), 296 (6), 236 (16), 209 (11), 171 (48), 45 (100), 43 (40). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1722. ¹H NMR δ: 1.24 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 12.5, 3.5 Hz), 1.46-1.70 (3H, m), 1.68 (3H, br s), 1.84 (1H, dt, J=14, 7.5 Hz), 1.88-2.11 (3H, m), 2.03 (3H, s), 2.12 (1H, br d, J=12.5 Hz), 2.20 (1H, dddd, J=19.5, 5, 2.5, 2.5 Hz), 2.36 (1H, br d, J=19.5 Hz), 2.62 (1H, dd, J=6, 6 Hz), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.38 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5, 4.5 Hz), 3.49 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.60–3.66 (2H, m), 3.78 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.13 (2H, dd, J=7.5, 7.5 Hz), 4.64 (2H, s), 5.53 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 6.5, 1.5, 1.5 Hz), 5.61 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 2.5, 2.5 Hz), 5.74 (1H, d, J=9.5 Hz, H7), 6.29 (1H, d, J=9.5 Hz, H6). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.8 (CH₃), 20.4 (CH₂), 21.1 (CH₃), 26.7 (CH₂), 27.0 (CH₂), 31.3 (CH₂), 32.0 (CH₂), 43.4 (C), 48.7 (C), 48.8 (CH), 49.4 (CH), 55.0 (CH₃), 62.4 (CH₂), 66.8 (CH₂), 69.2 (CH₂), 89.5 (CH), 96.5 (CH₂), 124.8 (CH, C6), 125.6 (CH), 125.9 (CH), 126.7 (CH, C4), 135.1 (CH, C7), 137.6 (C, C5), 170.9 (C). In the same manner, oxidation of 65 (14 mg, 33.3 µmol) provided 4 (9 mg, 65%), 66 (2 mg, 15%), and 67 (2 mg, 15%).

4.5.3. Hydrocyanation of 4 to form 5 and 68. Et_2AICN (1 M in toluene, 1.03 ml, 1.03 mmol) was added to a cooled (-18 °C) solution of **4** (54 mg, 0.129 mmol) in toluene

(8 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at that temperature for 30 min, and at 24 °C for 1.5 h. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (7:4)] afforded 5 (54 mg, 94%) and 68 (1 mg, 2%) in order of increasing polarity. 5: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₅H₃₅NO₆: 445.2462. Found: 445.2443. MS m/z: 445 (M⁺, 1), 413 (2), 400 (5), 385 (1), 356 (2), 326 (2), 296 (2), 280 (4), 252 (4), 175 (5), 117 (6), 105 (9), 89 (20), 73 (16), 59 (17), 45 (100), 43 (38). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1733, 1706, ¹H NMR δ : 1.14–1.29 (2H, m), 1.56 (3H, s), 1.56–1.68 (2H, m), 1.76–1.81 (1H, m), 1.80-2.15 (3H, m), 2.04 (3H, s), 2.15 (1H, s, H5), 2.21 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz), 2.25-2.35 (1H, m), 2.43 (1H, br d, J=20 Hz), 2.45 (1H, d, J=17.5 Hz, H7), 2.63 (1H, d, J=17.5 Hz, H7), 2.68 (1H, br dd, J=6, 6 Hz), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.46–3.74 (4H, m), 3.88 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.05 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 7.5, 7 Hz), 4.17 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 7.5, 6.5 Hz), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.66 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.57-5.68 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 20.1 (CH₂), 21.0 (CH₃), 27.0 (CH₂), 28.3 (CH₃, C4-methyl), 29.4 (CH₂), 32.2 (CH₂), 33.3 (C, C4), 38.5 (CH₂), 43.1 (C), 47.9 (C), 48.3 (CH), 51.6 (CH₂, C7), 54.1 (CH), 55.0 (CH₃), 61.6 (CH₂), 66.1 (CH, C5), 66.5 (CH₂), 68.8 (CH₂), 84.0 (CH), 96.2 (CH₂), 122.8 (C, CN), 125.1 (CH), 126.9 (CH), 170.6 (C), 206.0 (C, C6). 68: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₅H₃₅NO₆: 445.2462. Found: 445.2466. MS m/z: 445 (M⁺, 1), 413 (1), 400 (3), 385 (1), 371 (2), 340 (3), 326 (3), 296 (3), 280 (3), 252 (6), 105 (8), 89 (15), 73 (17), 59 (13), 45 (100), 43 (37). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2234, 1729, 1702. ¹H NMR δ : 1.25-1.46 (2H, m), 1.37 (3H, s), 1.66-1.85 (3H, m), 1.91 (1H, ddd, J=13, 12.5, 3.5 Hz, H3), 1.97-2.05 (2H, m), 2.04 (3H, s), 2.16 (1H, ddd, J=14, 7.5, 7 Hz), 2.21 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz), 2.34 (1H, dd, J=19, 5 Hz), 2.47 (1H, d, J=20 Hz, H7), 2.52–2.58 (1H, m), 2.63 (1H, d, J=20 Hz, H7), 2.73 (1H, s, H5), 3.37 (3H, s), 3.44-3.61 (2H, m), 3.52 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 3.62-3.68 (2H, m), 4.06 (1H, ddd, J=11, 7.5, 7 Hz, 4.16 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 7.5, 6.5 Hz), 4.63 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.66 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.58-5.68 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 17.9 (CH₂), 21.0 (CH₃), 21.2 (CH₃, C4-methyl), 26.1 (CH₂), 27.5 (CH₂), 32.7 (CH₂), 34.8 (C, C4), 37.6 (CH₂), 40.2 (C), 43.0 (CH), 45.5 (CH), 47.2 (C), 52.0 (CH₂, C7), 55.2 (CH₃), 61.3 (CH₂), 63.2 (CH, C5), 66.7 (CH₂), 69.9 (CH₂), 93.6 (CH), 96.4 (CH₂), 124.8 (CH), 125.1 (C, CN), 127.3 (CH), 170.6 (C), 209.7 (C, C6).

4.5.4. Isomerization of 68 to 5 with DBU. A solution of **68** (6 mg, 13.5 μ mol) and DBU (10 μ l, 67.0 μ mol) in benzene (2.5 ml) was refluxed with stirring for 0.5 h. After the mixture had been cooled, saturated NH₄Cl–H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane–EtOAc (7:4)] yielded a product with lower polarity than **68**, which was identical with **5** (5.5 mg, 92%).

4.5.5. Deprotection of 5 with TMSI to form 69. TMSCI (26 μ l, 0.206 mmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) slurry of **5** (18 mg, 40.4 μ mol) and NaI (17 mg, 0.227 mmol) in CH₃CN (2.5 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 40 min. Saturated NaHCO₃–H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane–EtOAc (1:1)] furnished **69** (15 mg, 94%) as a colorless glass.

HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₁NO₅: 401.2200. Found: 401.2191. MS m/z: 401 (M⁺, 15), 356 (3), 341 (6), 314 (8), 279 (10), 252 (15), 194 (12), 175 (11), 117 (16), 105 (27), 91 (44), 45 (41), 43 (100). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2230, 1725, 1705. ¹H NMR δ: 1.17–1.30 (2H, m), 1.57 (3H, s), 1.59–1.72 (1H, m), 1.78-2.15 (5H, m), 2.05 (3H, s), 2.17 (1H, s, H5), 2.21 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz), 2.32 (1H, dd, J=19, 4.5 Hz), 2.45 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz), 2.47 (1H, d, J=17.5 Hz), 2.63 (1H, d, J=17.5 Hz), 2.67-2.73 (1H, m), 3.47 (1H, ddd, J=10, 7.5, 3 Hz, OCH₂CH₂OH), 3.54 (1H, ddd, J=10, 4.5, 3 Hz, OCH₂CH₂OH), 3.58–3.69 (1H, m, changed to δ 3.63, ddd, J=10, 4.5, 3 Hz with D₂O), 3.71–3.82 (1H, m, changed to δ 3.76, ddd, J=10, 7.5, 3 Hz with D₂O), 3.97 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.05 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 7, 7 Hz), 4.18 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 7.5, 6.5 Hz), 5.57–5.73 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 20.2 (CH₂), 21.0 (CH₃), 27.1 (CH₂), 28.0 (CH₃, C4-methyl), 29.3 (CH₂), 32.2 (CH₂), 33.4 (C, C4), 38.4 (CH₂), 43.2 (C), 47.9 (C), 48.1 (CH), 51.6 (CH₂), 54.1 (CH), 61.5 (CH₂), 61.9 (CH₂, CH₂OH), 66.0 (CH, C5), 70.0 (CH₂, OCH₂CH₂OH), 83.2 (CH), 123.0 (C, CN), 125.7 (CH), 126.4 (CH), 170.6 (C), 205.8 (C).

4.5.6. Bromination of 69 to form 70. A solution of 69 (14 mg, 34.9 µmol), Ph₃P (56 mg, 0.214 mmol), and CBr₄ (58 mg, 0.175 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (4 ml) was stirred at 0 °C for 5 min and at 24 °C for 1.5 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and purification by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:1)] provided 70 (15 mg, 93%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₃H₃₀BrNO₄: 465.1337, 463.1357. Found: 465.1355, 463.1370. MS m/z: 465, 463 (M⁺, 6, 5), 405, 403 (3, 2), 384 (8), 378, 376 (4, 5), 279 (23), 109, 107 (36, 37), 91 (51), 43 (100). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2237, 1728, 1707. ¹H NMR δ: 1.15–1.29 (2H, m), 1.56 (3H, s), ca. 1.57-1.70 (1H, m), 1.77-1.82 (1H, m), 1.85-2.04 (2H, m), 1.88 (1H, ddd, J=14, 7.5, 6.5 Hz), 2.05 (3H, s), 2.09 (1H, ddd, J=14, 7.5, 7 Hz), 2.16 (1H, s), 2.23 (1H, dddd, J=13, 3.5, 3.5, 1.5 Hz), 2.31 (1H, dd, J=19, 5 Hz), 2.45 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz), 2.46 (1H, d, J=17.5 Hz), 2.64–2.70 (1H, m), 2.63 (1H, d, J=17.5 Hz), 3.43 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 6.5, 6 Hz, CH_2Br), 3.48 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 6, 6 Hz, CH₂Br), 3.63 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 6.5, 6 Hz), 3.76 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 6, 6 Hz), 3.93 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.05 (1H, ddd, J=11, 7.5, 7 Hz), 4.17 (1H, ddd, J=11, 7.5, 6.5 Hz), 5.55-5.71 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 20.2 (CH₂), 21.0 (CH₃), 27.0 (CH₂), 28.1 (CH₃), 29.3 (CH₂), 30.5 (CH₂, CH₂Br), 32.2 (CH₂), 33.3 (C), 38.4 (CH₂), 43.2 (C), 48.1 (C), 48.3 (CH), 51.6 (CH₂), 54.2 (CH), 61.5 (CH₂), 66.1 (CH), 69.0 (CH₂), 83.6 (CH), 122.8 (C, CN), 125.4 (CH), 126.5 (CH), 170.6 (C), 205.8 (C).

4.5.7. Zinc reduction of 70 to form 71. Zn (784 mg, 12.0 mg atom) and NH₄Cl (43 mg, 0.804 mmol) were added to a solution of 70 (37 mg, 79.7 µmol) in 2-PrOH–H₂O (14:1, 12 ml) and the mixture was refluxed with stirring for 12 h. Saturated NH₄Cl–H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane–EtOAc (4:3)] afforded 71 (27 mg, 95%) as colorless prisms, mp 138–139 °C (CH₂Cl₂–hexane). Anal. Calcd for C₂₁H₂₇NO₄: C, 70.56; H, 7.61; N, 3.92. Found: C, 70.49; H, 7.70; N, 3.93. HRMS Calcd for C₂₁H₂₇NO₄: 357.1939. Found: 357.1938. MS *m/z*: 357 (M⁺, 3), 339 (3), 297 (8), 279 (8), 270 (8), 252 (11), 242 (14),

105 (28), 91 (35), 43 (100). IR (KBr) cm⁻¹: 2238, 1734, 1694. ¹H NMR δ: 1.25 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 13.5, 3.5 Hz), 1.30 (1H, ddd, J=13, 13, 4 Hz), 1.57 (3H, s), 1.68 (1H, ddddd, J=14, 3.5, 3.5, 3.5, 3.5 Hz), 1.78-2.12 (6H, m), 2.04 (3H, s), 2.14 (1H, d, J=10 Hz, OH), 2.18 (1H, s), 2.35 (1H, dddd, J=19.5, 4.5, 3, 2 Hz), 2.45 (1H, br d, J= 19.5 Hz), 2.45 (1H, d, J=17 Hz), 2.63 (1H, d, J=17 Hz), 2.68 (1H, ddd, J=6.5, 6.5, 2 Hz), 4.05 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 7, 7 Hz), 4.18 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 7.5, 7.5 Hz), 4.37 (1H, dd, J=10, 6.5 Hz, changed to d, J=6.5 Hz with D₂O, H20), 5.71 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 6.5, 2, 1.5 Hz), 5.83 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 3 Hz), ¹³C NMR δ ; 20.2 (CH₂), 21.0 (CH₃), 27.3 (CH₂), 28.0 (CH₃), 29.6 (CH₂), 32.2 (CH₂), 33.3 (C), 38.4 (CH₂), 42.9 (C), 48.1 (C), 50.2 (CH), 51.4 (CH₂), 54.1 (CH), 61.4 (CH₂), 65.8 (CH), 76.0 (CH, C20), 122.7 (C, CN), 127.3 (CH), 128.0 (CH), 170.6 (C), 205.8 (C).

4.5.8. Pyrrolidine ring formation from 71 to form 74 and 75. BuLi (1.56 M in hexane, 1.44 ml, 2.26 mmol) was added to a cooled $(-18 \degree C)$ solution of *i*-Pr₂NH (0.48 ml, 3.43 mmol) in THF (5 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at the same temperature for 10 min. The mixture was then cooled to -78 °C and TMSCl (0.72 ml, 5.68 mmol) was added. A solution of 71 (20 mg, 56.0 µmol) in THF (3 ml) was added dropwise to this, and the resulting mixture was stirred at -78 °C for 30 min. Et₃N (1.56 ml, 11.2 mmol) was added to the mixture and the whole was further stirred at -78 °C for 15 min. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the resulting mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was washed successively with saturated CuSO₄-H₂O and saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O and then treated as usual to give a mixture of 72 and 73 (34 mg). This was dissolved in THF (8 ml), LiAlH₄ (106 mg, 2.79 mmol) was added, and the whole was vigorously stirred under reflux for 1.5 h under an Ar atmosphere. The reaction mixture was cooled in an ice bath and Et₂O saturated with H₂O (4 ml) was slowly added. The volatile materials were removed under reduced pressure and the residue was dried over P₂O₅ for 3 h. A slurry of the residue in CH₂Cl₂ (6 ml) and Et₃N (0.98 ml, 7.04 mmol) was cooled in an ice bath and Boc₂O (328 µl, 1.43 mmol) was added to this under an Ar atmosphere. After the mixture had been stirred at 22 °C for 7 h, saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and purification by PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (6:1)] yielded **74** (7 mg, 31%) and **75** (7 mg, 25%) in order of decreasing polarity. 74: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₄H₃₅NO₄: 401.2564. Found: 401.2578. MS m/z: 401 (M⁺, 4), 344 (9), 317 (14), 300 (18), 261 (29), 246 (13), 244 (15), 91 (13), 57 (100), 41 (46). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1681. ¹H NMR δ: 1.13 (3H, s), 1.30–1.70 (5H, m, including OH), 1.51 (9H, s), 1.67 (1H, ddd, J=14, 7.5, 6.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OH), 1.77–1.90 (2H, m), 1.95–2.00 (1H, m), 2.02 (1H, ddd, J=14, 7.5, 6.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OH), 2.07 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz, OH), 2.23-2.39 (2H, m), 2.47 (1H, ddd, J=7, 7, 1.5 Hz, H14), 2.51 (1H, d, J=3 Hz, H5), 3.13 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.58 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.71-3.86 (2H, m), 4.11 (1H, dd, J=12.5, 7 Hz, changed to d, J=7 Hz with D₂O, H2O), 5.39 (1H, br s, H7), 5.58 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 7, 2, 2 Hz, H13), 5.83 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 3 Hz, H12). ¹³C NMR δ: 17.3 (CH₂, C2), 22.3 (CH₂, C1), 27.2 (CH₂, C11), 28.4 (CH₃×3), 30.5 (CH₃, C18), 31.3 (CH₂, C3), 34.5 (C, C4), 35.2 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OH), 45.1

7091

(C, C8), 48.4 (C, C10), 50.9 (CH, C9), 52.7 (CH, C14), 60.9 (CH, C5), 61.0 (CH₂, CH₂OH), 64.3 (CH₂, C19), 79.2 (CH, C20), 80.4 (C, COOCMe₃), 110.1 (CH, C7), 126.5 (CH, C13), 129.6 (CH, C12), 139.8 (C, C6), 152.5 (C, COOCMe₃). 75: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₉H₄₃NO₆: 501.3088. Found: 501.3101. MS m/z: 501 (M⁺, 2), 400 (6), 344 (16), 317 (6), 261 (10), 244 (8), 200 (6), 91 (6), 57 (100), 41 (30). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1730, 1681. ¹H NMR δ: 1.12 (3H, s), 1.17–1.26 (1H, m), 1.43– 1.68 (3H, m), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.51 (9H, s), 1.75 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 9, 6.5 Hz), ca. 1.77–1.89 (2H, m), 1.93–1.98 (1H, m), 2.06 (1H, d, J=12 Hz, OH), 2.09 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 9, 6.5 Hz), 2.27–2.33 (2H, m), 2.48 (1H, ddd, J=7, 6, 1.5 Hz), 2.50 (1H, d, J=3 Hz, H5), 3.13 (1H, d, J=11 Hz), 3.58 (1H, d, J=11 Hz), 4.04-4.25 (2H, m), 4.10 (1H, dd, J=12, 6 Hz, changed to d, J=6 Hz with D₂O), 5.35 (1H, br s), 5.57 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 7, 2, 2 Hz), 5.82 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 3 Hz). ¹³C NMR δ: 17.3 (CH₂), 22.3 (CH₂), 27.1 (CH₂), 27.7 (CH₃×3), 28.4 (CH₃×3), 30.5 (CH₃), 31.3 (CH₂×2, C3 and CH₂CH₂OBoc), 34.5 (C, C4), 44.8 (C), 48.4 (C), 50.8 (CH), 52.6 (CH), 60.9 (CH, C5), 64.4 (CH₂, C19), 65.1 (CH₂, CH₂OBoc), 79.2 (CH), 80.4 (C, NCOOCMe₃), 81.6 (C, OCOOCMe₃), 109.3 (CH, C7), 126.3 (CH), 129.6 (CH), 140.0 (C, C6), 152.5 (C), 153.3 (C).

4.5.9. Alcoholysis of 75 to form 74. K_2CO_3 (15 mg, 0.109 mmol) was added to a solution of 75 (7 mg, 14.0 µmol) in MeOH (3 ml) and the mixture was gently refluxed with stirring for 6 h. After the mixture had been cooled, saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane–EtOAc (1:1)] provided 74 (5 mg, 89%).

4.5.10. NaBH₃CN reduction of 74 to form 76. NaBH₃CN (22 mg, 0.349 mmol) and HCl-H₂O (2.5%, 0.50 ml, 0.342 mmol) were successively added in this order to a cooled (0 °C) solution of 74 (7 mg, 17.5 µmol) in MeOH (2 ml) and the mixture was stirred at the same temperature for 10 min and at 19 °C for 2.5 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (1:1)] afforded 76 (6 mg, 85%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₄H₃₇NO₄: 403.2721. Found: 403.2719. MS m/z: 403 (M⁺, 1), 347 (5), 303 (32), 258 (11), 105 (13), 91 (15), 57 (100), 41 (44). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1674. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.94 (3H, s), 1.03 (1H, ddd, J=13, 11.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 1.19–1.34 (2H, m), ca. 1.45–1.55 (1H, m), 1.46 (9H, s), ca. 1.59–1.75 (2H, m), 1.60 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.76 (1H, ddd, J=13, 4, 4 Hz, H1), 1.85-2.05 (3H, m, including OH), 2.15 (1H, dd, J=16.5, 8.5 Hz, H7), 2.21-2.28 (2H, m), 2.29 (1H, br d, J=16.5 Hz, H7), 2.44 (1H, br dd, J=7, 6.5 Hz, H14), 3.10–3.24 (1H, m, H19), 3.39 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.61-3.83 (2H, m), 4.11 (1H, br dd, J=8.5, 7 Hz, H6), 4.46 (1H, dd, J=12, 6.5 Hz, changed to d, J=6.5 Hz with D₂O, H20), 5.64 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 7, 2, 2 Hz, H13), 5.79 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 3 Hz, H12).

4.5.11. Benzoylation of 76 to form 77. Benzoyl chloride (44 μ l, 0.379 mmol) was added to a solution of **76** (5 mg, 12.4 μ mol) in pyridine (0.8 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 19 °C for 14 h. Saturated NaHCO₃–H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane–EtOAc (5:1)] gave **77** (6 mg,

95%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₁H₄₁NO₅: 507.2982. Found: 507.2987. MS m/z: 507 (M+, 0.5), 451 (1), 423 (2), 407 (39), 389 (4), 379 (4), 325 (4), 302 (5), 285 (9), 258 (9), 185 (10), 105 (47), 77 (22), 57 (100), 41 (31). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1708, 1676. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.95 (3H, s), 1.05 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 11, 4 Hz), 1.23-1.35 (2H, m), ca. 1.44-1.56 (1H, m), 1.46 (9H, s), 1.62 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.66–2.20 (5H, m), 2.02 (1H, d, J=12 Hz, OH), 2.23 (1H, dd, J=16, 8.5 Hz), 2.25–2.30 (2H, m), 2.31 (1H, br d, J=16 Hz), 2.52 (1H, br dd, J=7, 6 Hz), 3.10-3.26 (1H, m), 3.40 (1H, d, J=11 Hz), 4.14 (1H, br dd, J=8.5, 7 Hz), 4.36 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 7 Hz, CH₂OBz), 4.46 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 5.5 Hz, CH₂OBz), 4.50 (1H, dd, J=12, 6 Hz, changed to d, J=6 Hz with D₂O, C2O), 5.63 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 7, 2, 2 Hz), 5.80 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 3 Hz), 7.38-7.44 (2H, m), 7.50-7.57 (1H, m), 7.99-8.04 (2H, m).

4.5.12. Completion of the synthesis of 1 from 77. CF₃COOH (0.10 ml, 1.30 mmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of **77** (5 mg, 9.86 µmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (0.9 ml) and the mixture was stirred at the temperature for 2 h. Saturated NaHCO3-H2O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up gave a residue (5 mg). The residue was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (3 ml) and the solution was cooled in an ice bath. Pyridine (32μ) , 0.396 mmol) and SOCl₂ (14 μ l, 0.192 mmol) were added in this order under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 30 min and at 19 °C for 22 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the resulting mixture was stirred for 15 min. Extraction with CH₂Cl₂, usual work-up, and separation by Al₂O₃-PTLC (Merck-type E, 0.1%) MeOH-CH₂Cl₂) provided 1 (3 mg, 78%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₆H₃₁NO₂: 389.2353. Found: 389.2353. MS m/z: 389 (M⁺, 100), 374 (5), 284 (13), 254 (48), 240 (17), 160 (37), 105 (81), 91 (27), 77 (64), 41 (24). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1708. ¹H NMR δ: 0.96 (3H, s, H18), 1.16–1.55 (4H, m), 1.43 (1H, br s, H5), 1.56–1.66 (2H, m), 1.66–1.70 (1H, m, H9), 1.75 (1H, dd, J=13.5, 2.5 Hz, H7), 1.89-2.01 (2H, m, CH₂CH₂OBz), 2.01 (1H, dd, J=13.5, 3 Hz, H7), 2.14 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz, H11), 2.25 (1H, dddd, J=19, 4, 2.5, 2.5 Hz, H11), 2.26 (1H, br d, J=7 Hz, H14), 2.38 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz, H19- α), 2.52 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz, H19-β), 2.76 (1H, d, J=1 Hz, H20), 3.23-3.28 (1H, m, H6), 4.34 (1H, ddd, J=11, 7, 7 Hz, CH₂OBz), 4.44 (1H, ddd, J=11, 7.5, 6.5 Hz, CH₂OBz), 5.52 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 4, 2.5, 1 Hz, H12), 5.72 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 7, 2, 1.5 Hz, H13), 7.40-7.47 (2H, m), 7.52-7.58 (1H, m), 8.00–8.04 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ : 19.6 (CH₂, C2), 26.3 (CH₂, C11), 28.0 (CH₂, C1), 28.7 (CH₃, C18), 30.9 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OBz), 34.0 (CH₂, C3), 35.4 (CH₂, C7), 38.0 (C, C4), 41.6 (C, C8), 48.5 (CH, C14), 49.88 (CH, C9), 49.91 (C, C10), 59.6 (CH, C5), 62.5 (CH₂×2, C19 and CH₂OBz), 65.1 (CH, C6), 72.9 (CH, C20), 125.9 (CH, C12), 128.1 (CH×2, Bz), 129.0 (CH, C13), 129.3 (CH×2, Bz), 130.2 (C, Bz), 132.6 (CH, Bz), 166.4 (C, COPh).

4.5.13. Quaternization of 1 to form 78. MeI (96 μ l, 1.54 mmol) was added to a solution of 1 (1.5 mg, 3.86 μ mol) in MeOH (1 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 22 °C for 50 h. Volatile materials were removed and the resulting residue was subjected to PTLC (10% MeOH–CH₂Cl₂) to afford 78 (1.5 mg, 73%) as a colorless glass.

MS m/z: 389 (M⁺-MeI, 56), 374 (3), 284 (9), 267 (51), 254 (28), 160 (30), 142 (58), 127 (26), 122 (40), 105 (100), 91 (26), 77 (91), 51 (35). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1710. ¹H NMR δ: 1.30 (3H, s, H18), 1.16–1.87 (6H, m), 1.96 (1H, br s, H5), 1.91-1.95 (1H, m, H9), ca. 1.96-2.15 (3H, m), 2.21 (1H, br d, J=20 Hz, H11), 2.30-2.40 (1H, m, H11), 2.37 (1H, dd, J=15, 3 Hz, H7), 2.76 (1H, dd, J=6, 1 Hz, H14), 3.47 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz, H19- α), 3.53 (3H, s, N⁺-CH₃), 3.93 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz, H19-β), 3.98 (1H, d, J=1.5 Hz, H20), 4.32–4.37 (1H, m, H6), 4.40 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 6.5, 6.5 Hz), 4.47 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 6.5, 6.5 Hz), 5.77 (1H, br d, J=9.5 Hz, H12), 5.96 (1H, br dd, J=9.5, 6 Hz, H13), 7.44-7.51 (2H, m), 7.56-7.63 (1H, m), 7.98-8.03 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 18.6 (CH₂, C2), 25.7 (CH₂, C11), 27.9 (CH₂, C1), 28.5 (CH₃, C18), 29.9 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OBz), 31.2 (CH₂, C7), 32.9 (CH₂, C3), 36.6 (C, C4), 41.8 (CH₃, N⁺-CH₃), 42.4 (C, C8), 43.6 (CH, C14), 49.8 (CH, C9), 50.6 (C, C10), 57.1 (CH, C5), 61.4 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OBz), 70.8 (CH₂, C19), 71.7 (CH, C6), 76.7 (CH, C20), 124.8 (CH, C12), 128.4 (CH×2, Bz), 128.9 (CH, C13), 129.2 (CH×2, Bz), 129.4 (CH, Bz), 133.1 (CH, Bz), 166.2 (C, COPh).

Acknowledgements

The authors' thanks are due to Professor Emeritus Shinichiro Sakai and Professor Hiromitsu Takayama of Chiba University for providing samples of natural nominine and kobusine. We thank Shionogi & Co., Ltd, for elemental analysis. A part of this work was supported by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS).

References and notes

- (a) Pelletier, S. W.; Page, S. W. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1984, 1, 375– 386; (b) Pelletier, S. W.; Page, S. W. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1986, 3, 452–475; (c) Yunuzov, M. S. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1991, 8, 499– 526; (d) Yunuzov, M. S. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1993, 10, 471–486; (e) Atta-ur-Rahman; Choudhary, M. I. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1995, 12, 361–379; (f) Atta-ur-Rahman; Choudhary, M. I. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1997, 14, 191–203; (g) Atta-ur-Rahman; Choudhary, M. I. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1999, 16, 619–635.
- (a) Stern, E. S. *The Alkaloids*; Manske, R. H. F., Holmes, H. L., Eds.; Academic: New York, NY, 1954; Vol. 4, pp 275–333; (b) Stern, E. S. *The Alkaloids*; Manske, R. H. F., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1960; Vol. 7, pp 473–521; (c) Pelletier, S. W.; Keith, L. H. *The Alkaloids*; Manske, R. H. F., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1970; Vol. 12, pp 1–206; (d) Pelletier, S. W.;

Mody, N. V. *The Alkaloids*; Manske, R. H. F., Rodrigo, R. G. A., Eds.; Academic: New York, NY, 1979; Vol. 17, pp 1–103; (e) Pelletier, S. W.; Mody, N. V. *The Alkaloids*; Manske, R. H. F., Rodrigo, R. G. A., Eds.; Academic: New York, NY, 1981; Vol. 18, pp 99–216; (f) Amiya, T.; Bando, H. *The Alkaloids*; Brossi, A., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1988; Vol. 34, pp 95–179; (g) Wang, F.-P.; Liang, X.-T. *The Alkaloids*; Cordell, G. A., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1992; Vol. 42, pp 151–247; (h) Wang, F.-P.; Liang, X.-T. *The Alkaloids*; Cordell, G. A., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 2002; Vol. 59, pp 1–280.

- 3. Muratake, H.; Natsume, M. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 7056-7070.
- 4. Muratake, H.; Natsume, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 4646–4649.
- 5. Van der Baan, J. L.; Bickelhaupt, F. *Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas* **1975**, *94*, 109–112.
- Shibanuma, Y.; Okamoto, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1985, 33, 3187–3194.
- 7. Kwak, Y.-S.; Winkler, J. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 7429–7430.
- 8. Williams, C. M.; Mander, L. N. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3499-3502.
- 9. Peese, K. M.; Gin, D. Y. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3323-3325.
- (a) Muratake, H.; Natsume, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1997, *38*, 7581–7582;
 (b) Muratake, H.; Nakai, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1999, *40*, 2355–2358;
 (c) Muratake, H.; Natsume, M.; Nakai, H. *Tetrahedron* 2004, *60*, 11783–11803.
- Muratake, H.; Natsume, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 2913– 2917.
- 12. Cheng, Y.; Liu, W.; Chen, S. Synthesis 1980, 223-224.
- 13. Ohira, S. Synth. Commun. 1989, 19, 561-564.
- Drouin, J.; Boaventura, M.-A.; Conia, J.-M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 1726–1729.
- Nishazawa, M.; Skwarczynski, M.; Imagawa, H.; Sugihara, T. Chem. Lett. 2002, 12–13.
- 16. Miller, R. D.; McKean, D. R. Synthesis 1979, 730-732.
- Krafft, M. E.; Holton, R. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1983, 24, 1345– 1348.
- Nishikawa, T.; Asai, M.; Ohyabu, N.; Isobe, M. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 188–192.
- (a) Cieplak, A. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 4540–4552; (b) Cieplak, A. S.; Tait, B. D.; Johnson, C. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 8447–8462.
- Yasuda, A.; Yamamoto, H.; Nozaki, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1976, 2621–2622.
- 21. Dess, D. B.; Martin, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 4155-4156.
- Shull, B. K.; Sakai, T.; Koreeda, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 11690–11691.
- Nagata, W.; Yoshioka, M. Organic Reactions; Wiley: New York, NY, 1977; Vol. 25, pp 255–476.
- Sakai, S.; Yamamoto, I.; Okamoto, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1982, 30, 4583–4584.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 7093-7112

Tetrahedron

Synthetic study of hetisine-type aconite alkaloids. Part 3: Total synthesis of (±)-nominine

Hideaki Muratake,^{a,*} Mitsutaka Natsume^{a,*} and Hiroshi Nakai^b

^aResearch Foundation Itsuu Laboratory, 2-28-10 Tamagawa, Setagaya-ku, Tokyo 158-0094, Japan ^bDiscovery Research Laboratories, Shionogi & Co., Ltd, Fukushima-ku, Osaka 553-0002, Japan

Received 10 March 2006; accepted 12 April 2006 Available online 19 May 2006

Abstract—Completion of the total synthesis of (\pm) -nominine (1) is described in detail. Based on the results of the preceding two papers, total synthesis of (\pm) -nominine was accomplished diverging from the intermediate 7. Thus, following pyrrolidine ring formation through transformation from 7 to 8, the C-ring was constructed by radical cyclization to form 10 from the enyne precursor 9. Subsequent elaboration of the C-ring, followed by formation of the azabicyclic ring system, completed a total synthesis of (\pm) -1. Single-crystal X-ray analysis of (\pm) -1 unambiguously confirmed its molecular structure and racemic crystal structure.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

1.1. The hetisine-type aconite alkaloid nominine

The term aconite alkaloid is applied to the diterpene alkaloids isolated from *Aconitum*, *Delphinium*, *Consolida*, *Thalictrum*, and *Spiraea*. These alkaloids are generally classified into five skeletons, atidane, veatchane, cycloveatchane, aconitane, and hetisan (the name of which is derived from hetisine) based on their fundamental frameworks.^{1,2} Extensive synthetic efforts over the last 40 years have



Scheme 1. Hetisan skeleton and representative hetisine-type aconite alkaloids.

0040–4020/\$ - see front matter 0 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.086

resulted in total syntheses of several alkaloids belonging to the first four of the above five groups. However, the synthesis of even the basic skeleton of the hetisine-type alkaloids, which include hetisine, nominine, kobusine, etc. had remained elusive until we recently reported a total synthesis of (\pm) -nominine (1) (Scheme 1).³

Nominine (1) is structurally the simplest hetisine-type aconite alkaloid. Ochiai et al. first isolated 1 as 'Nomi-base I' from *Aconitum sanyoense* Nakai, collected at Nomi, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto prefecture, Japan in 1956.⁴ Sakai et al. gave it the name nominine in 1982 and determined the absolute structure by chemical correlation with kobusine, whose structure was established unequivocally by single crystal X-ray analysis.⁵ The name nominine was redundantly given to an insecticidal indole diterpene in 1989.⁶

1.2. Synthetic background

Discovery of the palladium-catalyzed intramolecular α -arylation reaction of aliphatic ketone, formyl, and nitro groups⁷ triggered our synthetic studies leading toward the total synthesis of aconite alkaloids with the hetisan skeleton.⁸ Our synthetic efforts culminated in a total synthesis of **1**, which was reported in a preliminary communication.³ In the preceding two papers,^{9,10} we have presented full details of the preparation of compound **2** lacking the C-ring of the hetisan framework, starting from **3** by way of the intermediates **4**–**7**. We employed the acetal ene-reaction to form **6**, stereoselective hydrocyanation to form **7**, and azabicyclic ring formation to form **2**, as well as the above Pd-catalyzed cyclization reaction (**4**→**5**), as the key reactions (Scheme 2). Here, we present full details of the synthesis of **1**, diverging from the above-mentioned intermediate **7**.

Keywords: Aconite; Alkaloid; (±)-Nominine; Hetisan; Radical cyclization; X-ray analysis.

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel.: +81 3 3700 5492; fax: +81 3 3700 5431; e-mail: hmuratake@itsuu.or.jp



Scheme 2. Outline of the synthetic pathways in the three papers.

We had initially considered synthesizing 1 from 2 through Cring construction followed by functionalization at C15 with a β -hydroxy substituent. However, taking into consideration that the strong basicity of 2 seriously restricts its versatility as a synthetic intermediate, we decided to construct the bicyclo[2.2.2]octane ring (C-ring) from the intermediate 7, keeping the nitrogen protected as a carbamate, prior to the creation of the azabicyclic ring system for completion of the total synthesis of 1.

2. Results and discussion

An outline of the reaction sequence described in this paper is shown in Scheme 3. Compound 7 was transformed to a pentacyclic intermediate 8 according to the method reported in the preceding paper.¹⁰ Compound 8 was led to an enyne derivative 9, which was then subjected to radical cyclization reaction to secure the hexacyclic intermediate 10. C-ring



Scheme 3. Outline of the synthesis of 1 from 7.

elaboration followed by *O*- and *N*-deprotections and azabicyclic ring formation completed the total synthesis of (\pm) nominine (1). These results constitute the first total synthesis of a hetisine-type aconite alkaloid. We present below full details of not only the reactions along Scheme 3, but also reaction procedures that were ultimately not employed for the total synthesis.

2.1. Preparation of pentacyclic intermediates 16 and 18 from 7 by way of 13 and 8

In the preceding paper,¹⁰ we formed the pyrrolidine ring after deprotection of the C20 hydroxy group. In this paper, this protecting group was retained until the final stage of the synthesis with a change of the functional group at the primary hydroxy part of the 2-hydroxyethyl protecting group. The protecting group played a pivotal role in this total synthesis in that it prevented a possible retro-ene reaction with the bond fission of C14 and C20, and it was extremely stable under a wide variety of reaction conditions encountered in the synthetic procedures.

Kinetic enolate formation from 7 with lithium diisopropylamide (LDA) and simultaneous trapping with chlorotrimethylsilane (TMSCl) afforded two products, **11** and **12** (Scheme 4). The latter was a trimethylsilylated compound at the methyl carbon of the acetyl group. Compound **11** was the product derived from the corresponding O-silylated intermediate, which was hydrolyzed during extractive isolation. Of the two products, **11** was subjected, as before,¹⁰ to



Scheme 4. Preparation of 16 and 18 from 7 by way of 13 and 8: (a) TMSCl, LDA, THF, 11 (79%), 12 (12%); (b) LiAlH₄, THF, then Boc₂O or ClCbz, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, 13 (62%) from 11, 14 (16%) from 11, 13 (55%) overall from 7, 14 (10%) overall from 7, 8 (63%) overall from 7, 15 (4%) overall from 7; (c) NaBH₃CN, 2.5% HCl-H₂O, MeOH, 16 (91%) from 13, 17 (93%) from 14, 18 (90%) from 8, 19 (91%) from 15 and (d) K₂CO₃, MeOH, 16 (quant.) from 17, 18 (quant.) from 19.

the lithium aluminum hydride (LAH) reduction followed by protection with di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate (Boc₂O) to afford **13** (62%) and **14** (16%). As the desired compounds were obtained, the above three operations [enol silylation, LAH reduction, protection with Boc₂O or benzyl chloroformate (ClCbz)] were carried out on **7** without isolation of **11** and **12** to yield **13** (55%) and **14** (10%) or **8** (63%) and **15** (4%), respectively, overall from **7**. Compounds **8** and **15** with the Cbz group functioned as intermediates leading toward **1** in the event, since we could not find suitable reaction conditions to cleave the Boc group after C-ring formation (vide infra).

These four compounds 13, 14, 8, and 15 were separately reduced with sodium cyanoborohydride (NaBH₃CN) in a weak acid solvent to afford 16, 17, 18, and 19 in high yields, respectively. Then the carbonates 17 and 19 were converged to 16 and 18, respectively, by treatment with potassium carbonate (K_2CO_3) in methanol (MeOH).

2.2. Some trials of C-ring formation from 16

Before description of the C-ring formation by radical cyclization from the enyne precursor **9** to form **10** (Scheme 3), we report here some other attempts to achieve the C-ring formation.

2.2.1. C-ring formation by aldol reaction. Compounds 16 and 18 were led to the benzoates 20 and 21, respectively, then oxidized with chromium oxide (CrO₃) according to the preceding paper (Scheme 5).¹⁰ Different from the

previous case, where the pyrrolidine ring had not yet been formed, the oxidation with CrO₃ and 3,5-dimethylpyrazole did not afford satisfactory results (Table 1). Various amounts of the oxidant were tested (runs a-d), and 6 equiv of CrO₃ (run b) was found to give the best yields of 22 (45%) and 23 (28%). Nevertheless, this condition could not adapted to 21 with the Cbz group, since 24 (12%) and 25 (6%) were obtained only in low yields with 50% recovery of 21 (run e). Further excess of the oxidant resulted in decreased yields of 24, 25, and as well as recovery of 21. Although various conditions¹¹⁻¹⁴ for the allylic oxidation of 21 were attempted, the only condition affording better results than run e was oxidation with CrO₃ and *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (t-BuOOH),¹⁴ which still gave unsatisfactory yields of 24 (22%) and 25 (16%), along with recovery of 21 in 44% (run f). Since oxidation of 21 gave only disappointing results, we employed 22 and 23 for further transformation in this route.

Table 1. Allylic oxidation of 20 and 21 with CrO₃ (yield: %)

Run ^a	Sub.	CrO ₃ (equiv)	Additive ^b (equiv)	22	23	24	25	Recovery
a	20	4	DP (4.3)	29	20			30
b	20	6	DP (6.7)	45	28			4
с	20	8	DP (8.7)	34	20			0
d	20	12	DP (13)	24	15			0
e f	21 21	6.3 1.75	DP (7.4) BH (10)			12 22	6 16	50 44

All reactions were carried out in CH₂Cl₂.

^o Additive, DP: 3,5-dimethylpyrazole; BH: t-BuOOH.



Scheme 5. Some trials for the C-ring formation: (a) BzCl, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, **20** (99%) from **16**, **21** (97%) from **18**; (b) H₂, Pd/C, MeOH, **26** (quant.) from **22**, **27** (quant.) from **23**; (c) K₂CO₃, MeOH, **28** (quant.) from **26**, **29** (quant.) from **27**; (d) PCC–Al₂O₃, CH₂Cl₂, **30** (90%) from **28**, **31** (75%) from **29**, **35** (quant.) from **33**, **35** (quant.) from **34**; (e) dimethyl (1-diazo-2-oxopropyl)phosphonate, K₂CO₃, MeOH, **32** (34%), **33** (33%), **34** (22%), **41** (96%) from **39**, **42** (91%) from **40**; (f) BH₃·SMe₂, THF then H₂O₂, NaOH, **36** (48–17%), **37** (26–9%), **38** (18–62%); (g) TEMPO, PhI(OAc)₂, CH₂Cl₂, **39** (75%) from **36**, **40** (75%) from **37**; (h) NaH, imidazole, THF, then CS₂, then MeI, **43** (85%) and (i) Bu₃SnH, AIBN, toluene, **44** (85%).

The enones 22 and 23 were converted to ketoaldehydes 30 and 31 in three steps with conventional methods [(i) hydrogenation on palladium for 26 and 27, (ii) alcoholysis with potassium carbonate (K₂CO₃) for 28 and 29, and (iii) oxidation with pyridinium chlorochromate (PCC)–aluminum oxide (Al₂O₃) for 30 and 31]. Treatment of 30 with dimethyl (1-diazo-2-oxopropyl)phosphonate¹⁵ and K₂CO₃ as before¹⁰ provided the desired compound 32, but in only 34% yield, together with 33 and 22% yields of the two isomeric aldol products 33 and 34, whose stereochemistry at the C16 hydroxy group remains unclear. While these aldols 33 and 34 were readily converted to diketone 35 with PCC–Al₂O₃, reaction of the compound 35 with methylenetriphenylphosphorane gave no desired product but recovery in a preliminary experiment.

2.2.2. C-ring formation by radical cyclization from xanthate. As the attempted route of allylic oxidation followed by aldol reaction proved tricky, we next explored the route by way of the radical intermediate generated from xanthate. The hydroboration–oxidation reaction of **16** provided three products, **36**, **37**, and **38**. We could not find suitable reaction conditions to prevent the formation of the dihydro derivative **38**, and its yield varied from 18 to 62% even though the same equivalent ratio of borane–dimethyl sulfide complex (BH₃·SMe₂) was used, with a corresponding yield variation of **36** (48–17%) and **37** (26–9%). The direction of the hydroxy group of **36** and **37** was determined by the fact that H12 of the major product **36** (equatorial OH) appeared at $\delta 4.22$ (ddd, J=10, 10, 7.5, 7.5 Hz) in the ¹H NMR spectrum.

The primary alcohol of the obtained diols 36 and 37 was selectively oxidized with iodobenzene diacetate [PhI(OAc)₂] and 2,2,6,6-tetramethyl-1-piperidinyloxy (TEMPO) to yield **39** and **40**, respectively.¹⁶ These products were led to the alkynes 41 and 42 in high yields. Our choice of method to cyclize the C-ring from the alkyne-alcohols 41 and 42 was the intramolecular radical cyclization reaction via thioimidazolide or xanthate ester.¹⁷ As the attempted formation of thioimidazolide from 41 or 42 with thiocarbonyldiimidazole in refluxing 1,2-dichloroethane resulted in an intractable mixture from the former or recovery of the starting material from the latter, we next tried to form a xanthate ester as the radical precursor. According to the literature,¹⁸ the equatorial alcohol 41 was easily converted to the corresponding xanthate 43 by successive treatment with sodium hydride (NaH)-imidazole in boiling tetrahydrofuran (THF), carbon disulfide (CS_2) , and then iodomethane (MeI). On the other hand, the axial alcohol 42 did not afford the xanthate at all under the same or modified [in THF-dimethylformamide (DMF)] conditions. Radical reaction of 43 with tributyltin hydride (Bu₃SnH) in the presence of 2,2'-azobisisobutyronitrile (AIBN) readily provided the desired hexacyclic compound 44 in a high yield. However, all attempts to remove the methoxymethyl (MOM) or Boc group from 44 failed due to the instability of the newly formed methylenebicyclo[2.2.2]octane ring of 44 under acidic conditions.

Thus, we could acquire the desired compound 44 from 16. This route, however, suffered from the following three drawbacks: (1) the reproducibility of the hydroboration–oxidation used to form 36 from 16 was poor; (2) the xanthate could not be obtained from the axial alcohol 37; (3) the MOM and Boc groups could not be removed after the formation of the methylenebicyclo[2.2.2]octane ring. Therefore, we decided to explore another C-ring formation method starting from **16** and **18** in a more straightforward manner.

2.3. C-ring formation from 16 and 18 by radical cyclization of enyne precursor

As described above, it turned out that (1) the methylenebicyclo[2.2.2]octane framework was more sensitive than expected to acidic conditions, and (2) the radical cyclization method was effective for construction of this framework, but the examined xanthate route was problematic. Taking these points into consideration, we decided to construct the C-ring by the radical cyclization of an enyne precursor prepared from **16** and **18**.

2.3.1. Preparation of enyne radical cyclization precursors. Compounds **16** and **18** were oxidized separately with PCC–Al₂O₃ as usual to get the aldehydes **45** and **46**, respectively (Scheme 6). These were led to the enyne derivatives **47** and **48**, respectively, with dimethyl (1-diazo-2-oxopropyl)-phosphonate¹⁵ and K₂CO₃ as before. The MOM group of **48** was cleaved at this stage to yield **9**, which was finally employed as the radical cyclization precursor. This is because of the instability of the methylenebicyclo[2.2.2]octane framework under acidic conditions, as noted above. Compounds **47** and **9** were the precursors of choice for the next radical cyclization reaction.



Scheme 6. Preparation of enyne radical cyclization precursors: (a) PCC– Al_2O_3 , CH₂Cl₂, **45** (91%) from **16**, **46** (84%) from **18**; (b) dimethyl (1-diazo-2-oxopropyl)phosphonate, K₂CO₃, MeOH, **47** (96%) from **45**, **48** (98%) from **46** and (c) 5% HCl, DME–H₂O (3:1), **9** (96%) from **48**.

2.3.2. C-ring formation from 47 and 9. At first, compound 47 was subjected to radical cyclization reaction (Scheme 7, Table 2). The reactions with Bu₃SnH in the presence of AIBN in refluxing benzene or toluene (runs a–d) according to the protocol of Stork¹⁸ afforded the desired compound 44 and a stannylcyclopropane derivative 49 as a by-product after destannylation of the vinyl stannane products with silica gel. Compound 44 was identical with an authentic specimen obtained via the xanthate route from 43 (Scheme 5). The reactions with 10 equiv of Bu₃SnH gave comparable results in either benzene (run a) or toluene (run b). The





Scheme 7. C-ring formation from 47 and 9 by radical reaction or reductive palladium catalyst: (a) Bu_3SnH , AIBN (20 mol %), benzene or toluene under reflux, then SiO₂, CH₂Cl₂ (for yields see Table 2); (b) Pd₂(dba)₃·CHCl₃, poly(methylhydrosiloxane) (PMHS), *N*,*N*'-bis(benzylidene)-1,2-ethylenediamine, HOAc, benzene under reflux (for yields see Table 2); (c) slow addition of Bu_3SnH in toluene into dilute solution of 9 and AIBN in toluene under reflux, then SiO₂, CH₂Cl₂, 10 (57%), 52 (31%), 53 (8%); (d) cat. OsO₄, NaIO₄, THF–H₂O, 54 (quant.) and (e) TMSCl, (TMS)₂NLi, THF, then aq HCl–THF, 55 (81%).

Table 2. C-ring formation from 47 to form 44

Run	Bu ₃ SnH (equiv)	Solvent	Time (h)	44 (%)	49 (%)	Recovery (%)
a	10	Benzene	2	40	50	_
b	10	Toluene	0.5	43	49	
c	5	Benzene	2	33	52	_
d	1.3	Toluene	3	50	18	29
e ^a	—	Benzene	0.5	19	_	—

^a Reaction was carried out with Pd₂(dba)₃·CHCl₃, PMHS, *N*,*N*'-bis(benzylidene)-1,2-ethylenediamine, and HOAc; **50** (19%) and **51** (25%) were also isolated.

reaction in benzene with 5 equiv of Bu_3SnH resulted in lowering of the yield of **44** (run c). The use of a slight excess amount (1.3 equiv) of Bu_3SnH brought about a better result, giving rise to **44** in 50% yield along with **49** in 18% yield and a recovery of **47** in 29% yield (run d). Although the palladium-catalyzed reductive cyclization¹⁹ was adopted for **47**, **44** was obtained in only 19% yield, and the cyclopropane derivative **50** (19%) and simply reduced compound **51** (25%) were isolated as by-products (run e).

These results indicated that coexistence of an excess amount of Bu₃SnH with 47 increased the formation of the by-product 49. With this in mind, we executed the radical cyclization of 9 as follows so as to allow the substrate 9 to react with small amounts of Bu₃SnH at a time (Scheme 7). A solution of Bu₃SnH (70 mM) in toluene was slowly added dropwise (over 1.5 h) to a solution of 9 (5.5 mM) and a catalytic amount of AIBN (22 mol %) in toluene at reflux to secure the desired compound 10 in 57% yield, together with by-products 52 (31%) and 53 (8%). The structure of 53 was confirmed by transformation to the corresponding cyclopentanone derivative 54 (IR: $\nu_{max} = 1730 \text{ cm}^{-1}$) through the Lemieux oxidation. The formation of the by-product 52 was attributable to radical trapping with Bu₃SnH at C17 after two radical cyclizations, 6-exo (endo)-trig and 3-exo-trig (vide infra). Therefore 9 was led to the trimethylsilyl derivative 55, and this was subjected to the radical reaction for the purpose of avoiding formation of 52. This attempt, however, resulted in complete recovery of 55, probably due to failure of formation of the initial vinyl radical.

2.3.3. Reaction mechanism of the radical cyclization. A likely reaction mechanism for the radical cyclization is shown in Scheme 8, taking the reaction from 9 as an example. The reaction starts with the pyrolysis of AIBN to generate isobutyronitrile radical by elimination of molecular nitrogen. The radical abstracts hydrogen radical from the gradually dropped Bu₃SnH to give tributyltin radical. Then the tin radical adds to the alkyne of 9 to form radical intermediate A. There are two modes for the radical cyclization from A, i.e., 6-exo-trig mode giving radical intermediate B and 5-exo-trig mode giving C. The desired former mode is also conceivable as 6-*endo-trig*, as the olefin $\Delta_{12,13}$ was originally involved in a six-membered ring. Although formation of the undesired C is in danger of taking precedence over that of **B** in accordance with the Baldwin rule,²⁰ in practice, we were able to get 10 as the main product.

The intermediate **B** could plausibly be derived from **C** by way of the cyclopropane-radical intermediate **D** through homoallyl-homoallyl radical rearrangement.²¹ But the facts shown in Table 2, runs a–d, suggest that the intermediate **B** is directly generated from **A**, because the compound corresponding to **53** derived from a **C**-type intermediate was not isolated in runs a–d, where **47** and AIBN was simply heated with a coexisting excess amount of Bu₃SnH from the start.

The radicals **B** and **C** were trapped by Bu_3SnH to form 10 and 53, respectively, after destannylation from vinyl stannane by stirring with SiO₂ in CH₂Cl₂. The intermediate **D**, generated from **B** and/or **C** in 3-*exo-trig* mode, abstracts a hydrogen radical to yield the by-product 52. There appears to be fast equilibration between **B** (thermodynamically favored) and **D** (kinetically favored), judging from the results that 49 was the main product in runs a–d (Table 2), while the desired 10 became the main product from 9 when Bu_3SnH was slowly added.

2.4. Completion of the total synthesis of (±)-nominine (1) from 10

The remaining requirements to obtain 1 from 10 are: (i) introduction of 15β -OH and (ii) construction of the azabicyclic ring system after deprotections of oxygen and nitrogen.



Scheme 8. Reaction mechanism for the radical cyclization of 9 to form 10, 52, and 53.

2.4.1. Introduction of 15β-OH. Prior to the oxidation at C15, the hydroxy group was transformed to a bromide **57** by way of a mesylate **56** (Scheme 9). The 2-bromoethyl group is a convenient precursor for the unprotected 20-hydroxy derivative, as reported in the preceding paper.⁹ Attempted direct conversion of **10** to **57** with Br_4C and Ph_3P as before, however, failed due to instability of the methylenebicyclo[2.2.2]octane framework of **10** under the slightly acidic reaction conditions.

The high reactivity of the framework turned out to be favorable in the next oxidation, as follows. Exposure of **57** to *tert*butyl hydroperoxide (*t*-BuOOH) and selenium dioxide (SeO₂) readily afforded the enone **58** (77%), allyl alcohol **59** (14%), and enal **60** (trace amount). The 15 α -hydroxy compound **59**, with unnatural C15 configuration, was oxidized quantitatively to **58** with manganese dioxide (MnO₂). The desired 15 β -hydroxy compound **61** was secured by the reduction of **58** with sodium borohydride (NaBH₄) and cerium chloride (CeCl₃·7H₂O) in MeOH. The stereochemistry of **59** and **61** is described below. These results mean that both oxidizing agent for **57** and reducing agent for **58** attack C15 exclusively from the α side. We cannot give a satisfactory explanation for such stereoselectivity in spite of the symmetric nature of the surroundings of C15 of **57** and **58** in the methylenebicyclo[2.2.2]octane framework.

2.4.2. Stereoconfiguration of 59 and 61. The stereochemistries of **59** and **61** were determined on the basis of the rule reported by Kawazoe et al. (Scheme 10).²² Thus, in the ¹H NMR spectra, the signals for 7α -H of **59** and 7β -H of **61** are shifted downfield by the influence of the vicinal *syn* 15-hydroxy group (the signals due to the 7α - and 7β -protons of **59**, **61** are easily discriminable by their *J* values with H6). Furthermore, the signals due to the corresponding hydrogen atom of the acetylated compounds **62** and **63** are shifted



Scheme 9. Completion of the total synthesis of (\pm) -nominine (1) from 10: (a) MsCl, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, 56 (97%); (b) LiBr, acetone, 57 (90%); (c) *t*-BuOOH, SeO₂, CH₂Cl₂-H₂O, 58 (77%), 59 (14%), 60 (trace); (d) MnO₂, CH₂Cl₂, 58 (quant.) from 59; (e) Ac₂O, pyridine, CH₂Cl₂, 62 (93%) from 59, 63 (93%) from 61; (f) NaBH₄, CeCl₃· 7H₂O, MeOH, 61 (quant.); (g) Zn, NH₄Cl in *i*-PrOH-H₂O (14:1), 64 (97%); (h) Et₃SiH, cat. Pd(OAc)₂, cat. Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, then SOCl₂, pyridine, CH₂Cl₂, 65 (80%) overall from 64 and (i) K₂CO₃ in MeOH, (\pm)-nominine (1) (95%).

upfield in accordance with the rule [δ =2.38–2.58 ppm for 7 α -H of **62** and $\delta \approx 2.0-2.2$ ppm for 7 β -H of **63** (overlapping with other signals)]. Consequently, it was clarified that the 15-hydroxy group of **59** has the unnatural α -configuration, while **61** has the natural β -configuration. In the ¹H NMR spectrum of **62**, the fact that a weak NOE enhancement (ca. 2.1%) was observed at δ 7.24–7.39 (phenyl protons of the Cbz group) on irradiation of the singlet at δ 1.48 (methyl protons of the acetyl group) also gave support to the above assignment.



Scheme 10. Structure assignments of 59 and 61.

2.4.3. The final stage of the total synthesis. Now the synthesis reached its final stage. The 2-bromoethyl group of 63 was readily removed to provide 64 in a high yield by the method reported before,9 i.e., stirring with zinc (Zn) and ammonium chloride (NH₄Cl) in refluxing 2-propanol/H₂O (14:1) (Scheme 9). The protecting group of the 20-hydroxy group, originating from ethylene glycol, had been retained for 21 steps, since it was first introduced at the ene reaction in the preceding paper.⁹ The next task is removal of the Cbz group. Hydrogenation or Birch reduction, generally used for this purpose, cannot be employed for 64, as it contains olefin and ester groups. The cleavage of the Cbz group was executed with triethylsilane (Et₃SiH) in the presence of palladium acetate $[Pd(OAc)_2]$ and triethylamine (Et_3N) according to the literature method.²³ The resulting aminoalcohol was then subjected, without purification other than extractive isolation, to azabicyclo ring formation with thionyl chloride (SOCl₂) and pyridine²⁴ to furnish O-acetylnominine (65) in good yield. The target alkaloid, (\pm) -nominine (1) was easily obtained from 65 by conventional alcoholysis with K₂CO₃ in MeOH.

2.4.4. Identity with the natural alkaloid and single-crystal X-ray analysis. The spectral data (MS, IR, ¹H NMR, and ¹³C NMR) of the synthesized (\pm)-1 were indistinguishable with those of natural nominine (see the Section 4). However, these data do not verify the synthesized specimen to be a racemate. Therefore, we carried out a single-crystal X-ray analysis. The molecular structure of (\pm)-1 was proved to be identical with that of nominine (Fig. 1). This provides a direct demonstration of the β -configuration of the 15-hydroxy group, which had been assigned by chemical correlation⁵ of



Figure 1. Molecular structure of (\pm) -nominine (1).



Figure 2. Crystal structure of (\pm) -nominine (1).

natural nominine with kobusine. Furthermore, the crystal structure of (\pm) -1 revealed that the analyzed single crystal is racemic (Fig. 2). Thus, the X-ray analysis confirmed the validity of the total synthesis executed according to the schemes described in this and the preceding two papers.^{9,10} It was fortunate that recrystallization of (\pm) -1 gave a racemic crystal, since spontaneous resolution occurs occasionally during recrystallization. A single crystal of the intermediate **66**, incidentally, was proved to be optically active by X-ray analysis.^{7c,9}

3. Conclusion

In summary, a synthetic route to (\pm) -nominine (1) from 7 was established, involving radical cyclization for the C-ring formation ($9 \rightarrow 10$), stereoselective introduction of the 15 β -hydroxy group into 10, as well as azabicyclic ring construction to afford (\pm)-1. The work described in this and the two preceding reports^{9,10} constitutes a 40-step total

synthesis of (\pm) -1 starting from 1-bromo-2-(2-iodoethyl)-4methoxybenzene in 0.15% overall yield (ca. 85% yield per step). This is the first total synthesis of a hetisine-type aconite alkaloid, of which nearly 100 have been isolated up to now. Over 60 years have elapsed since hetisine was isolated²⁵ as the first example of an aconite alkaloid with the hetisan skeleton, and over 40 years since its structure was elucidated by X-ray analysis.²⁶

4. Experimental

Melting points were determined on a Yanagimoto micromelting point apparatus (hot plate), and are not corrected. MS and high-resolution MS (HRMS) were recorded on a Hitachi M-80B spectrometer in direct inlet mode at an ionizing voltage of 70 eV, and figures in parentheses indicate the relative intensities. IR spectra were measured on a Shimadzu IR-460 spectrophotometer. ¹H NMR spectra were obtained on a Varian Mercury 300 (300 MHz) in CDCl₃ unless otherwise specified, and coupling constants (J values) are rounded to the nearest 0.5 Hz. ¹³C NMR spectra were measured on a Varian Mercury 300 (75 MHz) in CDCl₃ and ¹³C multiplicities are shown in parentheses as CH₃ (primary), CH₂ (secondary), CH (tertiary), and C (quaternary). ¹³C NMR of compound **16** and subsequently synthesized compounds with a Boc or Cbz group on the nitrogen could not be determined due to the presence of rotational isomers at ambient temperature. The NMR signals were assigned using proton decoupling techniques, as well as gCOSY, DEPT, gHSQC, gHMBC and/or NOESY spectra. Some characteristic signals for ¹H and ¹³C NMR were selected and assigned as HX and CX, respectively, where X represents hetisan carbon numbering. Column chromatography was conducted on silica gel (SiO₂, Fuji Davison BW 200) or aluminum oxide (Merck, aluminum oxide 90), and the weight of SiO₂ or Al₂O₃ and the eluting solvent are indicated in parentheses. Preparative TLC (PTLC) was carried out on glass plates (20×20 cm) coated with Merck Silica gel 60PF254 (0.8 mm thick) unless otherwise specified and the developing solvent is indicated in parentheses. Usual work-up refers to washing of the organic layers with water or brine, drying over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and evaporating off the solvents under reduced pressure. Tetrahydrofuran (THF) was distilled from sodium/benzophenone ketyl prior to use.

4.1. Preparation of 16 and 18 from 7 (Scheme 4)

4.1.1. Preparation of 11 and 12 from 7. Butyl lithium (BuLi, 1.57 M in hexane, 0.56 ml, 0.879 mmol) was added to a cooled $(-18 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ solution of diisopropylamine (*i*-Pr₂NH, 164 µl, 1.17 mmol) in THF (2 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at that temperature for 10 min. The resulting solution was cooled to $-78 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ and to this were added TMSCI (0.28 ml, 2.21 mmol) and a THF (2 ml) solution of **7** (13 mg, 29.2 µmol) in this order. After the mixture had been stirred at $-78 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ for 30 min, Et₃N (0.61 ml, 4.38 mmol) was added and the resulting mixture was stirred for 5 min. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was successively washed with saturated CuSO₄-H₂O, saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O, and H₂O, and then

treated as usual. Separation by SiO2 column chromatography [8 g, hexane–EtOAc (3:1)] afforded **11** (12 mg, 79%) and 12 (2 mg, 12%) in order of decreasing polarity. 11: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₃NO₆Si: 517.2857. Found: 518.2853. MS m/z: 517 (M⁺, 3), 472 (2), 428 (2), 351 (16), 247 (81), 148 (14), 105 (13), 89 (17), 73 (59), 45 (100). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2225, 1726, 1635. ¹H NMR δ : 0.30 (9H, s), 1.05 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 12.5, 4 Hz, H1), 1.25 (1H, ddd, J=14.5, 14.5, 3.5 Hz, H3), 1.51-1.77 (3H, m), 1.60 (3H, s, H18), 1.92-2.15 (4H, m), 2.04 (3H, s), 2.21 (1H, dd, J=19, 5 Hz, H11), 2.29 (1H, d, J=2 Hz, H5), 2.30 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz, H11), 2.54-2.61 (1H, m, H14), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.48-3.75 (4H, m), 4.03-4.18 (2H, m, CH₂OAc), 4.54 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.63 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, CH₂OMe), 4.67 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, CH₂OMe), 4.82 (1H, d, J=2 Hz, H7), 5.47–5.62 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR δ: 0.3 (CH₃×3, SiMe₃), 20.4 (CH₂, C2), 21.1 (CH₃), 26.7 (CH₂, C11), 29.6 (CH₂, C1), 30.8 (CH₃, C18), 31.2 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OAc), 33.3 (C, C4), 40.5 (CH₂, C3), 41.4 (C, C8), 49.1 (CH, C14), 48.7 (C, C10), 50.9 (CH, C9), 55.0 (CH₃, CH₂OCH₃), 58.5 (CH, C5), 62.3 (CH₂, CH₂OAc), 66.6 (CH₂, CH₂OMOM), 68.4 (CH₂, CH₂CH₂OMOM), 83.9 (CH, C20), 96.2 (CH₂, OCH₂OMe), 111.9 (CH, C7), 124.0 (C, CN), 125.1 (CH, C12 or C13), 126.4 (CH, C12 or C13), 149.8 (C, C6), 170.8 (C, OCOCH₃). 12: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₁H₅₁NO₆Si₂: 589.3252. Found: 589.3241. MS m/z: 589 (M⁺, 3), 574 (1), 558 (1), 544 (1), 500 (2), 351 (22), 247 (100), 148 (13), 105 (18), 89 (19), 75 (15), 73 (87), 59 (18), 45 (81). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2230, 1705, 1638. ¹H NMR δ: 0.11 (9H, s, COCH₂SiMe₃), 0.30 $(9H, s, OSiMe_3)$, 1.04 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 12.5, 4 Hz), 1.19-1.31 (1H, m), 1.53-1.74 (3H, m), 1.88 (2H, s, COCH₂Si), 1.92–2.15 (4H, m), 1.60 (3H, s), 2.17–2.36 (2H, m), 2.78 (1H, d, J=2 Hz, H5), 2.54–2.60 (1H, m), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.48-3.75 (4H, m), 3.99-4.13 (2H, m), 4.53 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.63 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.67 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.81 (1H, d, J=2 Hz, H7), 5.47–5.62 (2H, m).

4.1.2. Preparation of 13 and 14 from 11. LAH (40 mg, 1.05 mmol) was added to a solution of 11 (11 mg, 21.3 µmol) in THF (4 ml) and the mixture was refluxed with stirring under an Ar atmosphere for 2 h. The mixture was allowed to cool in an ice bath, and water-saturated Et_2O (2 ml) was slowly added dropwise to it to decompose excess LAH. Volatile materials were evaporated off and the residue was dried over P₂O₅ in vacuo for 3 h. To a slurry of the residue in CH₂Cl₂ (1.5 ml) and Et₃N (0.44 ml, 3.16 mmol) was added Boc_2O (150 µl, 0.640 mmol) at 0 °C under an Ar atmosphere, and the resulting mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 10 min and at 19 °C for 18 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (4:1)] afforded 13 (6.5 mg, 62%), and 14 (2 mg, 16%) in order of decreasing polarity. 13: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₃NO₆: 489.3088. Found: 489.3079. MS m/z: 489 (M⁺, 4), 389 (3), 344 (7), 317 (10), 300 (18), 282 (13), 261 (70), 246 (15), 57 (100), 45 (92), 41 (33). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1682. ¹H NMR δ: 1.12 (3H, s), 1.12-1.22 (1H, m), 1.33-1.49 (2H, m), 1.52 (9H, s), 1.53-1.64 (2H, m, including OH), 1.67 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 7.5, 6.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OH), 1.75–1.90 (1H, m), 1.94-1.99 (1H, m), ca. 1.97-2.04 (1H, m), 2.07 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 7.5, 6 Hz, CH₂CH₂OH), 2.21 (1H, br dddd, J=19,

5, 2.5, 2.5 Hz, H11), 2.32 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz, H11), 2.42 (1H, ddd, J=6.5, 6, 1.5 Hz, H14), 2.49 (1H, d, J=3 Hz, H5), 3.09 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.29 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5.5, 5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OMOM), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.48 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5, 4.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OMOM), 3.57 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), ca. 3.60-3.67 (2H, m), 3.68-3.86 (2H, m), 3.77 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, OCH₂OMe), 4.65 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, OCH₂OMe), 5.37 (1H, br s, H7), 5.51 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 6.5, 1.5, 1.5 Hz, H13), 5.58 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3.5, 2.5 Hz, H12). ¹³C NMR δ: 17.6 (CH₂), 22.0 (CH₂), 26.7 (CH₂), 28.4 (CH₃×3), 30.6 (CH₃, C18), 31.4 (CH₂), 34.5 (C, C4), 35.2 (CH₂), 45.2 (C), 48.4 (C), 50.2 (CH, C14), 51.2 (CH, C9), 55.1 (CH₃), 61.1 (CH₂), 61.4 (CH), 64.4 (CH₂, C19), 66.9 (CH₂), 68.8 (CH₂), 80.4 (C, OCMe₃), 88.1 (CH, C20), 96.5 (CH₂), 110.5 (CH, C7), 125.4 (CH), 126.0 (CH), 139.8 (C, C6), 152.6 (C). 14: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C33H51NO8: 589.3612. Found: 589.3593. MS m/z: 589 (M⁺, 3), 489 (2), 433 (2), 417 (5), 400 (4), 344 (15), 317 (12), 282 (10), 261 (53), 57 (100), 45 (59), 41 (29). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1731, 1682. ¹H NMR δ: 1.11 (3H, s), 1.12-1.21 (1H, m), 1.30-1.63 (3H, m), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.52 (9H, s), 1.74 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 9, 6 Hz), 1.79-1.89 (1H, m), 1.93–1.97 (1H, m), 1.97–2.06 (1H, m), 2.14 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 9, 6.5 Hz), 2.21 (1H, br dddd, J=19, 5, 2.5, 2.5 Hz, H11), 2.32 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz, H11), 2.41 (1H, br dd, J=6.5, 6 Hz, H14), 2.44 (1H, d, J=3 Hz, H5), 3.09 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.29 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5.5, 5.5 Hz), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.47 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5, 5 Hz), 3.57 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.60-3.66 (2H, m), 3.76 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.07–4.24 (2H, m, CH₂OBoc), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.65 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.34 (1H, br s, H7), 5.49 (1H, br dd, J=9.5, 6.5 Hz, H13), 5.57 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 2.5, 2.5 Hz, H12). ¹³C NMR δ : 17.6 (CH₂), 21.9 (CH₂), 26.7 (CH₂), 27.8 (CH₃×3), 28.4 (CH₃×3), 30.6 (CH₃, C18), 31.2 (CH₂), 31.4 (CH₂), 34.4 (C, C4), 45.0 (C), 48.4 (C), 50.2 (CH, C14), 51.1 (CH, C9), 55.1 (CH₃), 61.4 (CH), 64.4 (CH₂, C19), 65.3 (CH₂, CH₂OBoc), 66.9 (CH₂), 68.9 (CH₂), 80.4 (C, OCMe₃), 81.5 (C, OCMe₃), 88.1 (CH, C20), 96.5 (CH₂), 109.8 (CH, C7), 125.2 (CH), 126.1 (CH), 139.9 (C, C6), 152.6 (C, NCOOt-Bu), 153.3 (C, OCOOt-Bu).

4.1.3. Sequential preparation of 13 and 14 from 7 by way of a mixture of 11 and 12. In the same manner as described in Section 4.1.1, a mixture of **11** and **12** was prepared from **7** (52 mg, 0.117 mmol). It was allowed to react with LAH (111 mg, 2.92 mmol) as before and then treated as above. The residue was dissolved in CH_2Cl_2 (4 ml) and Et_3N (0.98 ml, 7.04 mmol) and then the solution was stirred with Boc₂O (0.41 ml, 1.75 mmol) under an Ar atmosphere at 0 °C for 1 h, and at 20 °C for 15 h. The same work-up and separation by PTLC [benzene–EtOAc (6:1)] afforded **13** (38 mg, 55% overall), and **14** (7 mg, 10% overall).

4.1.4. Sequential preparation of 8 and 15 from 7 by way of a mixture of 11 and 12. In the same manner as above (Section 4.1.3), **7** (142 mg, 0.319 mmol) was treated with LDA, TMSCl, and then with LAH to give a residue after having been dried over P_2O_5 in vacuo overnight. To the residue in CH_2Cl_2 (6 ml) and Et_3N (1.33 ml, 9.56 mmol) was added dropwise a solution of ClCbz (0.46 ml, 3.22 mmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (2 ml) during 15 min at -18 °C and the mixture

was stirred under an Ar atmosphere at -18 °C for 10 min, at $0 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ for 0.5 h, and at $22 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ for 17 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up followed by PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (9:1) for 15 and then benzene-EtOAc (5:2) for 8] afforded 15 (8 mg, 4%) and 8 (105 mg, 63%) in order of increasing polarity. 8: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₁H₄₁NO₆: 523.2932. Found: 523.2941. MS *m*/*z*: 523 (M⁺, 2), 479 (2), 434 (2), 417 (2), 390 (5), 351 (23), 216 (5), 91 (100), 45 (32). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1693. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 1.11 (3H, s, H18), ca. 1.12–1.23 (1H, m, H1), 1.30-1.48 (3H, m, including OH), 1.50-1.63 (1H, m), 1.65 (1H, ddd, J=14, 7.5, 6.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OH), 1.76–1.92 (1H, m), 1.93-1.98 (1H, m), ca. 2.00-2.09 (1H, m), 2.05 (1H, ddd, J=14, 7, 7 Hz, CH₂CH₂OH), 2.22 (1H, dddd, J=19, 5, 2.5, 2.5 Hz, H11), 2.31 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz, H11), 2.39 (1H, ddd, J=7, 6, 1.5 Hz, H14), 2.49 (1H, d, J=2.5 Hz, H5), 3.16 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.26 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5, 5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OMOM), 3.34 (3H, s), 3.46 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5, 4.5 Hz, CH2CH2OMOM), 3.59-3.64 (2H, m, CH₂OMOM), 3.67 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.68-3.78 (2H, m, CH₂OH), 3.75 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.60 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, CH₂OMe), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, CH₂OMe), 5.16 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz, COOCH₂Ph), 5.21 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz, COOCH₂Ph), ca. 5.43–5.52 (1H, m, H7), 5.49 (1H, dddd, J=9.5, 7, 1.5, 1.5 Hz, H13), 5.56 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 2.5 Hz, H12), 7.27-7.42 (5H, m, COOCH₂Ph). ¹³C NMR of this and subsequently synthesized compounds containing the Cbz group could not be determined due to the presence of rotational isomers. 15: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₉H₄₇NO₈: 657.3299. Found: 657.3316. MS m/z: 657 (M⁺, 1), 568 (1), 524 (3), 485 (11), 333 (4), 198 (4), 91 (100), 45 (33). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1734, 1693. ¹H NMR δ : 1.11 (3H, s), 1.11–1.21 (1H, m), 1.30–1.65 (3H, m), 1.66-1.90 (2H, m), 1.92-1.98 (1H, m), 2.01 (1H, ddd, J=13, 11, 1 Hz, H1), 2.11-2.25 (2H, m), 2.30 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz, H11), 2.39 (1H, br dd, J=6, 6 Hz, H14), 2.48 (1H, d, J=3 Hz, H5), 3.17 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.25 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5, 5 Hz), 3.34 (3H, s), 3.45 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5, 4.5 Hz), 3.59-3.64 (2H, m), 3.66 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.76 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.18-4.29 (2H, m, CH₂OCbz), 4.61 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.63 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.15 (2H, s, OCOOCH₂Ph), 5.16 (1H, d, J=12 Hz), 5.21 (1H, d, J=12 Hz), ca. 5.36–5.50 (1H, m), 5.46 (1H, br dd, J=9.5, 6.5 Hz, H13), 5.55 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 3, 2.5 Hz, H12), 7.30–7.42 (10H, m).

4.1.5. Reduction of 13, 14, 8, and 15 with NaBH₃CN. The procedure for the preparation of 16 from 13 is described as a representative example. NaBH₃CN (34 mg, 0.540 mmol) and HCl-H₂O (2.5%, 0.51 ml, 0.349 mmol) were added in this order to a cooled $(0 \,^{\circ}C)$ solution of 13 (22 mg, 45.0 µmol) in MeOH (5 ml) and the mixture was stirred at that temperature for 30 min and at 21 °C for 1 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up followed by purification by PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (3:2)] provided 16 (20 mg, 91%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₅NO₆: 491.3244. Found: 491.3246. MS m/z: 491 (M⁺, 2), 402 (3), 390 (12), 346 (18), 302 (25), 284 (36), 57 (100), 45 (69), 41 (26). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1673. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.94 (3H, s, H18), 0.99 (1H, ddd, J=10, 7.5, 5.5 Hz, H1), 1.18-1.23 (1H, m, H9), 1.23-1.32 (1H, m, H3), 1.38-1.47 (1H, m,

H2), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.51 (1H, br s, OH), 1.59-1.70 (2H, m), 1.62 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.79–2.30 (7H, m), 2.39 (1H, dd, J=6, 5.5 Hz, H14), 3.18-3.32 (2H, m, H19×2), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.48 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 6, 5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OMOM), 3.52 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5, 4.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OMOM), 3.61-3.68 (2H, m, CH₂OMOM), ca. 3.62-3.81 (2H, m, CH₂OH), 4.02 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.06–4.16 (1H, m, H6), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, OCH₂OMe), 4.64 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, OCH₂OMe), 5.46–5.61 (2H, m, H12 and H13). ¹³C NMR of this and subsequently synthesized compounds containing the Boc group could not be determined due to the presence of rotational isomers. In the same manner, 17 (13 mg, 93%) was obtained from 14 (14 mg, 23.8 umol) after PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:1)] as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₃H₅₃NO₈: 591.3768. Found: 591.3761. MS m/z: 591 (M⁺, 1), 502 (1), 491 (3), 434 (9), 402 (10), 390 (5), 346 (45), 284 (10), 89 (8), 57 (100), 45 (40), 41 (26). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1732, 1674. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.93 (3H, s, H18), 0.98 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 10, 5.5 Hz, H1), 1.23 (1H, d, J=4.5 Hz, H9), 1.27 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 11, 5 Hz, H3), ca. 1.39-1.50 (1H, m), 1.47 (18H, s), ca. 1.60-1.70 (1H, m, H3), 1.62 (1H, d, J=7.5 Hz, H5), 1.74 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 9, 6 Hz, CH₂CH₂OBoc), 1.79–1.92 (1H, m, H2), 1.92–2.24 (4H, m), 2.24 (1H, dd, J=16.5, 9 Hz, H7), 2.25 (1H, br d, J=20 Hz, H11), 2.39 (1H, br dd, J=6, 6 Hz, H14), ca. 3.11–3.28 (1H, m, H19), 3.28 (1H, br d, J=9.5 Hz, H19), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.38 (1H, dt, J=10, 5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OMOM), 3.52 (1H, dt, J=10, 5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OMOM), 3.64 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz, CH₂OMOM), 4.03 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.01–4.23 (3H, m), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, CH₂OMe), 4.64 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, CH₂OMe), 5.50 (1H, br dd, J=9.5, 3 Hz, H12), 5.55 (1H, br dd, J=9.5, 6 Hz, H13). In the same manner, 18 (77 mg, 90%) was obtained from 8 (85 mg, 0.163 mmol) after PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:2)] as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₁H₄₃NO₆: 525.3088. Found: 525.3062. MS m/z: 525 (M⁺, 1), 480 (1), 436 (8), 420 (2), 392 (13), 390 (12), 300 (4), 284 (4), 91 (100), 45 (39). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1683. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.94 (3H, s), 0.98 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 10, 6 Hz, H1), 1.17-1.24 (1H, m), 1.28 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 11, 5 Hz, H3), 1.38-1.50 (2H, m, including OH), 1.55-1.71 (2H, m), 1.64 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.80–2.07 (4H, m), 2.10–2.33 (4H, m), 2.32-2.44 (1H, m, H14), ca. 3.21-3.40 (2H, m), 3.33 (3H, s), 3.38 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.50 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5, 4.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OMOM), ca. 3.55-3.80 (2H, m), 3.60-3.65 (2H, m), 4.00 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.19 (1H, dd, J=9, 7 Hz, H6), 4.59 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, CH₂OMe), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, CH₂OMe), 5.09 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz, OCH₂Ph), 5.19 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz, OCH₂Ph), 5.48–5.60 (2H, m, H12 and H13), 7.26-7.38 (5H, m). In the same manner, 19 (5.5 mg, 91%) was obtained from 15 (6 mg, 9.13 µmol) after PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (4:1)] as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₉H₄₉NO₈: 659.3455. Found: 659.3434. MS m/z: 659 (M⁺, 0.8), 614 (0.5), 570 (4), 526 (12), 524 (8), 436 (3), 91 (100), 45 (27). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1735, 1684. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.94 (3H, s), 0.97 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 9.5, 5.5 Hz, H1), 1.18-1.25 (1H, m), 1.27 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 11, 5 Hz, H3), 1.39-1.51 (1H, m), ca. 1.60-1.71 (1H, m), 1.79-1.92 (1H, m), 1.63 (1H, d, J=7.5 Hz, H5), 1.98 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 2.10 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 9, 6.5 Hz), 2.13-2.32 (5H, m), 2.32-2.43 (1H, m), 3.22-3.41 (3H, m), 3.32 (3H, s), 3.48 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.59-3.65 (2H, m), 4.00

(1H, d, *J*=6 Hz, H20), 4.04–4.34 (3H, m, H6 and *CH*₂OCbz), 4.59 (1H, d, *J*=6.5 Hz), 4.61 (1H, d, *J*=6.5 Hz), 5.09 (1H, d, *J*=12.5 Hz), 5.14 (2H, s, OCOOC*H*₂Ph), 5.19 (1H, br d, *J*=12.5 Hz), 5.45–5.55 (2H, m), 7.27–7.40 (10H, m).

4.1.6. Alcoholysis of 17 and 19 to form 16 and 18, respectively. The procedure for the preparation of 16 from 17 was typical. A solution of 17 (6 mg, 10.2 μ mol) in K₂CO₃ in MeOH (1% w/v, 2 ml) was stirred under reflux for 2.5 h. After the mixture had been cooled, saturated NH₄Cl–H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and PTLC [benzene–EtOAc (3:2)] gave 16 (5 mg, quant.) as a colorless glass. In the same manner, 18 (4 mg, quant.) was obtained from 19 (5 mg, 7.59 μ mol).

4.2. Attempts at C-ring formation (Scheme 5)

4.2.1. Benzoylation of 16 and 18 to form 20 and 21, respectively. The procedure for the preparation of 20 from 16 is described as a representative example. Benzoyl chloride (98 µl, 0.819 mmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of 16 (20 mg, 40.7 µmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (1.5 ml) and Et₃N (0.56 ml, 4.03 mmol). Stirring was continued at 0 °C for 15 min and at 20 °C for 16 h, then the mixture was cooled again in an ice bath. MeOH (66 ul. 1.63 mmol) was added to it and the whole was stirred at that temperature for 1 h. Addition of saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O followed by extraction with CH₂Cl₂, usual work-up, and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (4:1)] afforded 20 (24 mg, 99%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₅H₄₀NO₇: 595.3506. Found: 595.3512. MS m/z: 595 (M⁺, 1), 495 (7), 494 (9), 406 (45), 390 (10), 389 (10), 346 (7), 284 (17), 105 (33), 69 (31), 57 (100), 45 (62), 41 (39). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1706, 1674. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.95 (3H, s), 0.95–1.05 (1H, m), 1.22-1.34 (2H, m), 1.41-1.54 (1H, m), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.61-1.70 (1H, m), 1.64 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.80-1.96 (2H, m), 2.00 (1H, ddd, J=13, 5, 5 Hz, H1), 2.12-2.34 (4H, m), 2.35 (1H, dd, J=16, 9 Hz, H7), 2.46 (1H, br dd, J=6, 5 Hz, H14), 3.13-3.33 (2H, m), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.35-3.43 (1H, m), 3.47-3.56 (1H, m), 3.61-3.68 (2H, m), 4.06 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.09-4.21 (1H, m), 4.35 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 8.5, 7 Hz, CH₂OBz), 4.44 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 8.5, 6 Hz, CH₂OBz), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.64 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.48–5.62 (2H, m), 7.39–7.46 (2H, m), 7.50– 7.57 (1H, m), 8.00–8.06 (2H, m). In the same manner, 21 (73 mg, 97%) was obtained from **18** (63 mg, 0.120 mmol) as a colorless glass after PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:1)]. HRMS Calcd for C₃₈H₄₇NO₇: 629.3350. Found: 629.3338. MS (m/z): 629 (M⁺, 3), 540 (10), 496 (20), 494 (15), 480 (5), 404 (5), 336 (6), 105 (21), 91 (100), 59 (11), 45 (38). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1684. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.95 (3H, s), 1.00 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10, 5.5 Hz, H1), 1.22–1.35 (2H, m), 1.39-1.52 (1H, m), 1.61-1.72 (1H, m), 1.67 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.77-1.96 (2H, m), 2.01 (1H, ddd, J=13, 4.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 2.13-2.42 (5H, m), 2.39-2.51 (1H, m), ca. 3.25-3.42 (3H, m), 3.32 (3H, s), 3.50 (1H, dt, J=10, 5 Hz), 3.63 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz), 4.04 (1H, d, J=5.5 Hz, H20), 4.23 (1H, br dd, J=8, 7 Hz, H6), 4.26-4.48 (2H, m, CH₂OBz), 4.60 (2H, s), 5.10 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.18 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.50-5.60 (2H, m), 7.26-7.38 (5H, m), 7.38-7.46 (2H, m), 7.50-7.57 (1H, m), 8.00-8.07 (2H, m).

4.2.2. Allylic oxidation of 20 and 21 for respective formation of 22, 23 and 24, 25. The procedure for the preparation of 22, 23 from 20 (Table 1, run b) is described as a representative example. 3,5-Dimethylpyrazole (13 mg, 0.135 mmol) was added to a cooled $(-18 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ slurry of CrO₃ $(12 \,\text{mg},$ 0.120 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (1.5 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at that temperature for 15 min. A CH₂Cl₂ (2 ml) solution of 20 (12 mg, 20.2 µmol) was added to it, and the resulting mixture was stirred at -18 to 23 °C for 48 h. Successive addition of saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O and saturated Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O followed by extraction with CH₂Cl₂, usual work-up, and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:1)] afforded 22 (5.5 mg, 45%) and 23 (3.5 mg, 28%) in order of decreasing polarity. 22: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₅H₄₇NO₈: 609.3299. Found: 609.3291. MS (m/z): 609 (M⁺, 1), 509 (18), 420 (29), 360 (14), 105 (53), 89 (11), 77 (18), 57 (100), 45 (85), 41 (25). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1709, 1665. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.98 (3H, s), 1.17 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10, 5 Hz), 1.25-1.81 (5H, m), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.82 (1H, d, J=7 Hz), 1.83 (1H, ddd, J=14, 7, 7 Hz), 2.07 (1H, ddd, J=14, 7, 7 Hz), 2.13 (1H, s, H9), 2.20-2.38 (2H, m), 3.08 (1H, ddd, J=7, 6, 1.5 Hz, H14), 3.21-3.37 (2H, m), 3.33 (3H, s), 3.47-3.58 (2H, m), 3.59-3.65 (2H, m), 4.10-4.19 (1H, m), 4.27–4.34 (2H, m), 4.41 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.58 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.60 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 6.19 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 1.5 Hz, H12), 6.99 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 7 Hz, H13), 7.40-7.47 (2H, m), 7.51-7.58 (1H, m), 7.99-8.03 (2H, m). 23: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C35H47NO8: 609.3299. Found: 609.3292. MS (m/z): 609 (M⁺, 0.6), 509 (20), 464 (9), 420 (47), 404 (5), 298 (6), 105 (51), 89 (7), 77 (16), 57 (100), 45 (72), 41 (23). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1708, 1676. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 1.00 (3H, s), 1.09 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 11.5, 4 Hz, H1), 1.35 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 3, 4 Hz), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.62-1.79 (3H, m), 1.75 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 1.82 (1H, dt, J=14, 7 Hz), 1.91 (1H, dt, J=14, 7 Hz), 2.01 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 4, 4 Hz, H1), 2.06 (1H, dd, J=7, 1.5 Hz, H9), 2.20 (1H, dd, J=16.5, 8.5 Hz, H7), 2.39 (1H, br d, J=16.5 Hz, H7), 3.11 (1H, ddd, J=7, 1.5, 1.5 Hz, H14), 3.21 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.32 (3H, s), 3.32-3.42 (1H, m), 3.38 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.50-3.55 (2H, m), 3.60-3.67 (1H, m), 4.07-4.16 (1H, m), 4.28 (2H, dd, J=7, 7 Hz), 4.40 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.55 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.57 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 6.15 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 1.5 Hz, H12), 6.93 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 7 Hz, H11), 7.39-7.46 (2H, m), 7.51-7.58 (1H, m), 7.99-8.04 (2H, m). In the same manner, 24 (1 mg, 12%) and 25 (0.5 mg, 6%) were obtained along with a recovery of unchanged starting material (4 mg, 50%) from 21 (8 mg, 12.7 µmol), in order of decreasing polarity (Table 1, run e) after separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:1)]. 24: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₈H₄₅NO₈: 643.3143. Found: 643.3142. MS (*m*/*z*): 643 $(M^+, 8), 554 (2), 510 (15), 507 (7), 418 (3), 105 (20), 91$ (100), 89 (7), 77 (6), 45 (36). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1706, 1687, 1666. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.99 (3H, s), 1.11–1.84 (7H, m), 1.84 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 2.06 (1H, ddd, J=14, 7, 7 Hz), 2.13 (1H, s, H9), 2.24-2.38 (2H, m), 3.01-3.10 (1H, m, H14), 3.30 (3H, s), 3.30-3.69 (6H, m), 4.18-4.33 (3H, m), 4.38 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.56 (2H, s), 5.11 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.19 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 6.11 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 1 Hz, H12), 6.98 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 7 Hz, H13), 7.26-7.39 (5H, m), 7.40-7.47 (2H, m), 7.51-7.58 (1H, m), 7.98-8.04 (2H, m). 25: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₈H₄₅NO₈: 643.3143. Found: 643.3144. MS (*m/z*): 643 (M⁺, 3), 554 (3), 510 (18), 508 (9), 476 (6), 420 (4), 105 (27), 91 (100), 59 (7), 45 (46). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1702 (sh), 1680. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 1.01 (3H, s), 1.01 (1H, ddd, J=12, 12, 4 Hz), 1.20-1.75 (4H, m), 1.78 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 1.81 (1H, dt, J=15, 6.5 Hz), 1.89 (1H, dt, J=15, 6.5 Hz), 2.01 (1H, br ddd, J=12, 3.5, 3.5 Hz), 2.06 (1H, br d, J=7 Hz, H9), 2.22 (1H, dd, J=16.5, 8.5 Hz), ca. 2.28-2.50 (1H, br m), 3.09 (1H, br d, J=7 Hz, H14), 3.25-2.503.38 (2H, m), 3.29 (3H, s), 3.44–3.53 (3H, m), 3.61 (1H, ddd, J=10, 4, 4 Hz), 4.19 (1H, br dd, J=8.5, 6.5 Hz), 4.26 (2H, dd, J=6.5, 6.5 Hz), 4.37 (1H, d, J=7 Hz), 4.54 (2H, s), 5.12 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.18 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 6.15 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 1.5 Hz, H12), 6.93 (1H, dd, J=9.5, 7 Hz, H11), 7.26-7.38 (5H, m), 7.39-7.47 (2H, m), 7.50-7.58 (1H, m), 7.99-8.05 (2H, m).

4.2.3. Allylic oxidation of 21 with CrO_3 and *t*-BuOOH (Table 1, run f). *t*-BuOOH (70%, 20 µl, 0.146 mmol) was added to a slurry of CrO_3 (2.5 mg, 25 µmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (1.5 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 25 °C for 10 min under an Ar atmosphere. The mixture was allowed to cool in an ice bath, and to this was added a CH_2Cl_2 (1.5 ml) solution of **21** (9 mg, 14.3 µmol). Stirring was continued at 0–25 °C for 42 h and the reaction was quenched by addition of saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O and saturated Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O. Extraction with CH_2Cl_2 , usual work-up, and PTLC [hexane–EtOAc (3:1)] gave **24** (2 mg, 22%), **25** (1.5 mg, 16%), and recovered **21** (4 mg, 44%) in order of decreasing polarity.

4.2.4. Hydrogenation of 22 and 23 to form 26 and 27, respectively. The procedure for the preparation of 26 from 22 was typical. A slurry of 22 (6 mg, 9.85 µmol) and 10% Pd/C (1.5 mg, 1.4 µg atom) in MeOH (3 ml) was stirred under a hydrogen atmosphere (1 atm) at 21 °C for 2 h. The mixture was filtered through a Celite pad and the pad was rinsed with CH₂Cl₂. Evaporation of the combined organic layers followed by separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (7:4)] provided 26 (6 mg, quantitative) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C35H49NO8: 611.3455. Found: 611.3448. MS (m/z): 611 (M⁺, 1), 510 (10), 422 (57), 377 (16), 349 (4), 328 (6), 300 (14), 105 (49), 89 (7), 77 (12), 57 (100), 45 (63), 41 (19). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1706, 1681. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.95–1.07 (1H, m), 0.98 (3H, s), 1.31–1.42 (1H, m), 1.43-1.54 (1H, m), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.62-2.02 (7H, m), 1.64 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.84 (1H, s, H9), 2.10 (1H, dd, J=16, 8.5 Hz), 2.28 (1H, dd, J=18, 7 Hz, H12), 2.40-2.52 (2H, m), 2.50 (1H, ddd, J=18, 10, 10 Hz, H12), 3.28 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.37 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.52–3.62 (1H, m), 3.65–3.74 (3H, m), 4.10 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 7 Hz, H6), 4.25 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.35 (1H, ddd, J=11, 9, 6 Hz), 4.46 (1H, ddd, J=11, 9, 6.5 Hz), 4.62 (2H, s), 7.39–7.46 (2H, m), 7.51–7.57 (1H, m), 7.99–8.04 (2H, m). In the same manner as above, **27** (4 mg, quantitative) was obtained from 23 (4 mg, 6.57 mmol) as a colorless glass after PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:1)]. HRMS Calcd for C₃₅H₄₉NO₈: 611.3455. Found: 611.3478. MS (m/z): 611 (M⁺, 1), 510 (10), 466 (9), 450 (7), 422 (51), 328 (7), 300 (7), 105 (38), 57 (100), 45 (61), 41 (23). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1704, 1679. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.99 (3H, s), 1.11 (1H, ddd, J=13, 11, 4.5 Hz), 1.35 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 12, 5.5 Hz), 1.44-1.58 (2H, m), 1.46 (9H, s), 1.65-2.17 (7H, m), 1.68 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 2.17 (1H, dd,

J=16.5, 8.5 Hz), 2.25 (1H, dd, J=17.5, 8.5 Hz, H12), 2.33 (1H, br d, J=16.5 Hz), 2.58 (1H, ddd, J=17.5, 10.5, 10.5 Hz, H12), 2.90 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H14), 3.22 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.33 (3H, s), 3.36 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.38–3.46 (1H, m), 3.51–3.59 (3H, m), 4.12 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 6.5 Hz, H6), 4.28 (1H, d, J=7 Hz), 4.33 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 6.5 Hz), 4.43 (1H, ddd, J=11, 8, 6 Hz), 4.58 (2H, s), 7.39–7.46 (2H, m), 7.50–7.57 (1H, m), 8.01–8.07 (2H, m).

4.2.5. Alcoholysis of 26 and 27 to form 28 and 29, respectively. In a similar manner to that described for the preparation of 16 from 17 (Section 4.1.6), 26 (6 mg, 9.82 µmol) and 27 (5 mg, 8.18 μ mol) were separately heated in K₂CO₃-MeOH (0.5% w/v, 2.5 ml each) for 2 h to afford, respectively, **28** (5 mg, quantitative) and **29** (4 mg, quantitative) after purification by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:2)]. 28: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₅NO₇: 507.3193. Found: 507.3188. MS (m/z): 507 (M⁺, 2), 418 (2), 406 (10), 362 (33), 345 (7), 318 (23), 300 (12), 273 (20), 270 (9), 59 (11), 57 (100), 45 (72), 41 (22). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1679. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.97 (3H, s), 0.99 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 9.5, 5 Hz, H1), 1.35 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10.5, 4.5 Hz, H3), 1.39-1.89 (8H, m, including OH), 1.49 (9H, s), 1.62 (1H, d, J=7.5 Hz, H5), 1.81 (1H, s, H9), 1.87–1.97 (1H, m), 2.05 (1H, dd, J=16, 9 Hz, H7), 2.25 (1H, dd, J=18, 7.5 Hz, H12), 2.26–2.43 (2H, m), 2.48 (1H, ddd, J=18, 10, 10 Hz, H12), 3.27 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.36 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.51-3.60 (1H, m), 3.65-3.79 (5H, m), 4.07 (1H, dd, J=9, 7.5 Hz, H6), 4.21 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.63 (2H, s). 29: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₅NO₇: 507,3193. Found: 507,3170. MS (m/z): 507 (M⁺, 2), 434 (2), 406 (9), 362 (21), 318 (35), 300 (17), 270 (13), 57 (100), 45 (79), 41 (27). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1679. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.98 (3H, s), 1.10 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 11.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 1.35 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 12, 5 Hz, H3), 1.44-2.16 (10H, m, including OH), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.67 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 2.03 (1H, dd, J=16, 8.5 Hz, H7), 2.21 (1H, dd, J=17.5, 8.5 Hz, H12), 2.33 (1H, br d, J=16 Hz, H7), 2.57 (1H, ddd, J=17.5, 10.5, 10.5 Hz, H12), 2.90 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H14), 3.21 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.33 (3H, s), 3.39 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.35-3.45 (1H, m), 3.50-3.58 (3H, m), 3.68-3.76 (2H, m, CH₂OH), 4.09 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 6.5 Hz, H6), 4.25 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.58 (2H, s).

4.2.6. Oxidation of 28 and 29 to form 30 and 31, respectively. The procedure for the preparation of 30 from 28 was typical. PCC-Al₂O₃ (20 wt %, 32 mg, 29.7 µmol) was added in one-portion to a cooled (0 °C) solution of 28 (5 mg, 9.86 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (3 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 10 min and at 24 °C for 1 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (1:1)] provided 30 (4.5 mg, 90%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₃NO₇: 505.3037. Found: 505.3042. MS (m/z): 505 (M⁺, 2), 416 (2), 404 (12), 360 (31), 316 (25), 299 (16), 298 (14), 271 (17), 57 (100), 45 (75), 41 (31). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1715, 1680. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.99 (3H, s), 1.02 (1H, ddd, J=13, 9.5, 5 Hz), 1.37 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 10.5, 5 Hz), 1.44-1.54 (1H, m), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.59 (1H, d, J=7 Hz), 1.59-2.04 (5H, m), 1.93 (1H, s, H9), 2.03 (1H, dd, J=16, 9 Hz, H7), 2.25 (1H, dd, J=18,

7.5 Hz), 2.42 (2H, d, J=2 Hz, CH₂CHO), 2.53 (1H, ddd, J=18, 10, 10 Hz), ca. 2.61-2.69 (1H, m), 2.65 (1H, d, J=16 Hz, H7), 3.28 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.38 (1H, d, J=11 Hz), 3.54-3.63 (1H, m), 3.66-3.74 (3H, m), 4.07 (1H, dd, J=9, 7 Hz, H6), 4.27 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.62(2H, s), 9.78(1H, t, J=2 Hz, CHO). In the same manner as above, 31 (3 mg, 75%) was obtained from 29 (4 mg, 7.89 µmol) as a colorless glass after separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:1)]. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₃NO₇: 505.3037. Found: 505.3034. MS (*m*/*z*): 505 (M⁺, 1), 432 (2), 404 (11), 360 (28), 316 (25), 298 (13), 288 (7), 57 (100), 45 (81), 41 (28). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1714, 1680. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.99 (3H, s), 1.13 (1H, ddd, J=13, 11, 4.5 Hz), 1.36 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 12, 5 Hz), 1.46 (9H, s), ca. 1.46-1.57 (1H, m), 1.64-2.28 (7H, m), 1.72 (1H, d, J=7 Hz), 2.17 (1H, dd, J=16, 8 Hz), 2.28 (1H, dd, J=17, 2 Hz, CH₂CHO), 2.34 (1H, br d, J=16 Hz), 2.44 (1H, dd, J=17, 1.5 Hz, CH₂CHO), 2.61 (1H, ddd, J=17.5, 10.5, 10.5 Hz), 2.93 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 3.22 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz), 3.33 (3H, s), 3.36 (1H, d, J=11 Hz), 3.39-3.47 (1H, m), 3.51-3.58 (3H, m), 4.29 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.58 (2H, s), 9.76 (1H, dd, J=2, 1.5 Hz, CHO).

4.2.7. Preparation of 32, 33, and 34 from 30. K₂CO₃ $(7.5 \text{ mg}, 54.3 \text{ }\mu\text{mol})$ was added to a solution of **30** (4.5 mg, 8.91 µmol) and dimethyl (1-diazo-2-oxopropyl)phosphonate (15 mg, 78.1 µmol) in MeOH (1.5 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 24 °C under an Ar atmosphere for 3 h. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (5:1)] furnished 32 (1.5 mg, 34%) and a mixture of 33 and 34 (4 mg) in order of increasing polarity. The latter was purified by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (1:1)] to give 33 (1.5 mg, 33%) and **34** (1 mg, 22%) in order of decreasing polarity. 32: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₉H₄₃NO₆: 501.3088. Found: 501.3106. MS (m/z): 501 (M⁺, 2), 400 (10), 356 (30), 312 (15), 295 (9), 294 (14), 267 (15), 57 (100), 45 (64), 41 (27). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2120, 1680. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.95–1.06 (1H, m), 0.99 (3H, s), 1.30– 1.50 (2H, m), 1.49 (9H, s), 1.61 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.61–1.88 (4H, m), 1.82 (1H, br s), 1.96 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 10, 3 Hz, H13), 1.98 (1H, dd, J=2.5, 2.5 Hz, C=CH), 2.08 (1H, br dd, J=16.5, 8 Hz, H7), 2.12 (1H, dd, J=16.5, 2.5 Hz, $CH_2C \equiv CH$), 2.19 (1H, dd, J=16.5, 2.5 Hz, CH₂C≡CH), 2.25 (1H, dd, J=18, 7.5 Hz, H12), 2.45–2.52 (1H, m), 2.51 (1H, ddd, J=18, 10, 10 Hz, H12), 2.67 (1H, d, J=16.5 Hz, H7), 3.28 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.38 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.54–3.62 (1H, m), 3.66-3.74 (3H, m), 4.08 (1H, dd, J=8, 7 Hz, H6), 4.25 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.62 (2H, s). 33: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₃NO₇: 505.3037. Found: 505.3028. MS (m/z): 505 $(M^+, 1)$, 404 (11), 360 (28), 316 (16), 299 (32), 298 (23), 271 (14), 254 (8), 59 (10), 57 (100), 45 (67), 41 (23). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1706, 1678. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.99 (3H, s), 1.19–1.72 (8H, m, including OH), 1.38 (1H, d, J=14.5 Hz, H15), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.60 (1H, d, J=5.5 Hz, H5), 1.83 (1H, dd, J=16, 8 Hz, H7), 1.85-1.94 (1H, m), 1.97 (1H, dd, J=13.5, 5 Hz, H13), 2.16 (1H, dd, J=14.5, 8 Hz, H15), 2.17–2.24 (1H, m, H14), 2.32 (1H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz, H12), 2.60 (1H, br d, J=16 Hz, H7), 3.17 (1H, br d, J=11.5 Hz), 3.31-3.39 (1H, m), 3.33 (3H, s), 3.40 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz), 3.44-3.52 (1H, m), 3.60-3.65 (2H, m), 4.03 (1H, dd, J=8, 5.5 Hz, H6), 4.04 (1H, d,

J=7 Hz, H20), 4.14 (1H, dd, J=8, 5 Hz, H16), 4.59 (2H, s). **34**: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for $C_{28}H_{43}NO_7$: 505.3037. Found: 505.3022. MS (*m*/*z*): 505 (M⁺, 1), 404 (13), 360 (24), 316 (19), 299 (34), 298 (25), 271 (9), 254 (9), 59 (12), 57 (100), 45 (60), 41 (21). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1706, 1678. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.99 (3H, s), 1.16–1.96 (9H, m, including OH), 1.42 (1H, d, J=1.5 Hz, H9), 1.48 (9H, s), 1.57 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 1.61 (1H, dd, J=14.5, 5.5 Hz, H15), 1.77 (1H, dd, J=16, 8 Hz, H7), 1.90 (1H, dd, J=14.5, 9.5 Hz, H15), 2.26–2.30 (1H, m, H12), 2.59 (1H, br d, J=16 Hz, H7), 3.18 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.31–3.39 (1H, m), 3.33 (3H, s), 3.40 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.46–3.55 (1H, m), 3.61–3.66 (2H, m), 4.01 (1H, dd, J=8, 6.5 Hz, H6), 4.02 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.04–4.12 (1H, m, H16), 4.60 (2H, s).

4.2.8. Oxidation of 33 and 34 to form 35. The procedure from 33 was typical. To a cooled (0 °C) solution of 33 (1.5 mg, 2.97 µmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (2 ml) was added PCC- Al_2O_3 (20 wt %, 16 mg, 14.8 µmol) and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 5 min and at 25 °C for 1.5 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and purification by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:1)] yielded 35 (1.5 mg, quantitative) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₁NO₇: 503.2881. Found: 503.2875. MS (m/z): 503 $(M^+, 2)$, 447 (1), 402 (8), 358 (23), 314 (14), 297 (18), 269 (10), 57 (100), 45 (64), 41 (24). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1734, 1698, 1680. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 1.02 (3H, s), 1.23–1.74 (6H, m), 1.49 (9H, s), 1.65 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 1.68 (1H, dd, J=14, 9.5 Hz, H13), 1.87–1.95 (1H, m), 1.91 (1H, dd, J=16, 8 Hz), 2.16 (1H, d, J=19.5 Hz, H15), 2.39 (1H, dd, J=14, 4.5 Hz, H13), 2.51 (1H, br dd, J=9.5, 6.5 Hz, H14), 2.62 (1H, d, J=19.5 Hz, H15), 2.76 (1H, br d, J=16 Hz), 3.11 (1H, d, J=4.5 Hz, H12), 3.21 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.33 (3H, s), 3.36–3.44 (1H, m), 3.42 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.46– 3.55 (1H, m), 3.62–3.67 (2H, m), 4.09 (1H, dd, J=8, 6 Hz, H6), 4.16 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.59 (2H, s). In the same manner, 35 (1 mg, quantitative) was obtained from 34 (1 mg, 1.98 μ mol) by oxidation with PCC-Al₂O₃ (20 wt %, 11 mg, 10.2 µmol).

4.2.9. Hydroboration-oxidation of 16 to form 36, 37, and **38.** As described in the text, the reproducibility of this reaction is low. The following was the best result. $BH_3 \cdot SMe_2$ (64 μ l, 0.674 mmol) was added to a cooled (0 °C) solution of 16 (11 mg, 22.4 µmol) in THF (2.5 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at 0-24 °C for 15 h. After the mixture had been cooled again in an ice bath, EtOH (76 µl, 1.35 mmol) was added and the mixture was vigorously stirred for 5 min. NaOH-H₂O (1 N, 0.90 ml, 0.90 mmol) and $H_2O_2-H_2O$ (30%, 203 µl, 1.79 mmol) were successively added, and the whole was further stirred at 0 °C for 30 min and at 25 °C for 5 h. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O and saturated Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O were added and the whole was extracted with CH2Cl2. Usual work-up followed by separation by PTLC (3% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂) afforded 36 (5.5 mg, 48%), 37 (3 mg, 26%), and 38 (2 mg, 18%) in order of decreasing polarity. 36: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₇NO₇: 509.3350. Found: 509.3334. MS m/z: 509 (M⁺, 1), 420 (3), 408 (13), 364 (29), 320 (19), 302 (23), 57 (100), 45 (76), 41 (27). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1674. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.94 (3H, s), 0.98 (1H,

ddd, J=13, 10, 4.5 Hz, H1), 1.11-1.16 (1H, m), 1.31 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 11, 4.5 Hz, H3), 1.40-2.15 (15H, m, including OH×2), 1.46 (9H, s), 1.56 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 3.14–3.29 (1H, m), 3.30 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.44-3.52 (1H, m), 3.58-3.79 (5H, m), 4.01-4.10 (1H, m, H6), 4.04 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.22 (1H, dddd, J=10, 10, 7.5, 7.5 Hz, H12), 4.63 (2H, s). 37: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₇NO₇: 509.3350. Found: 509.3345. MS m/z: 509 (M⁺, 0.6), 420 (5), 408 (10), 364 (5), 320 (18), 302 (52), 284 (32), 258 (11), 57 (100), 45 (78), 41 (30). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1674. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.91– 1.03 (1H, m), 0.96 (3H, s), 1.08 (1H, br s), 1.33 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 12, 5 Hz, H3), 1.43–1.87 (8H, m, including OH), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.55 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 2.00-2.10 (1H, m), 2.13-2.19 (1H, m), 2.18-2.28 (1H, m), 2.36 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 4, 4 Hz, H1), 3.21 (1H, br d, J=10 Hz, H19), 3.34 (1H, d, J=10 Hz, H19), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.46–3.53 (1H, m), 3.61-3.83 (6H, m, including H12), 4.05 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 6.5 Hz, H6), 4.18 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.63 (2H, s), 4.78 (1H, J=10 Hz, CHOH). 38: Colorless syrup. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₇NO₆: 493.3401. Found: 493.3376. MS m/z: 493 (M⁺, 1), 404 (4), 392 (18), 348 (34), 304 (22), 287 (29), 256 (25), 57 (100), 45 (75), 41 (30). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1672. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.90–1.01 (1H, m), 0.94 (3H, s), 1.03 (1H, br s, H9), 1.16 (1H, br s, OH), 1.25-1.38 (2H, m), 1.39-1.56 (3H, m), 1.46 (9H, s), 1.58-1.72 (5H, m), 1.60 (1H, d, J=7.5 Hz, H5), 1.72–1.90 (1H, m, H2), 1.93-2.16 (4H, m), 2.10 (1H, dd, J=15.5, 9.5 Hz, H7), 3.15–3.29 (1H, br m), 3.33 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.49 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5, 4.5 Hz), 3.57-3.78 (5H, m), 4.03 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.64 (2H, s).

4.2.10. Respective oxidation of 36 and 37 to form 39 and 40. The procedure for the preparation of 39 from 36 is described as a representative example. To a cooled $(0 \circ C)$ solution of 36 (16 mg, 31.4 μ mol) in CH₂Cl₂ (2.5 ml) were added TEMPO (0.5 mg, 3.21 µmol) and PhI(OAc)₂ (11 mg, 34.2 µmol), and the mixture was stirred at the same temperature for 20 min and at 25 °C for 6 h. Saturated Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was successively washed with saturated NaHCO3-H2O and H2O, then treated as usual. The resulting residue was separated by PTLC (3% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂) to afford **39** (12 mg, 75%) along with recovered **36** (1 mg, 6%) in order of increasing polarity. **39**: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₅NO₇: 507.3193. Found: 507.3178. MS m/z: 507 (M⁺, 0.4), 489 (2), 408 (13), 406 (7), 388 (8), 362 (17), 344 (14), 318 (13), 300 (17), 283 (16), 57 (100), 45 (76), 41 (29). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1714, 1674. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.95 (3H, s), 1.01 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10, 5 Hz, H1), 1.20-2.25 (12H, m, including OH), 1.45 (9H, s), 1.60 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 2.25–2.34 (1H, m), 2.63 (1H, br d, J=16.5 Hz, CH₂CHO), 2.77 (1H, br d, J=16.5 Hz, CH₂CHO), 3.23 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.31 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.47-3.55 (1H, m), 3.59-3.71 (3H, m), 4.02-4.11 (1H, m), 4.09 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.26 (1H, dddd, J=10, 10, 7.5, 7.5 Hz, H12), 4.64 (2H, s), 9.85 (1H, dd, J=2, 2 Hz, CHO). In the same manner as above, 40 (6 mg, 75%) was obtained from **37** (8 mg, 15.7 µmol) as a colorless glass after PTLC (2% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂). HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₅NO₇: 507.3193. Found: 507.3185. MS m/z: 507 $(M^+, 0.7), 418 (5), 406 (11), 362 (11), 318 (24), 300 (47),$

282 (23), 57 (100), 45 (74), 41 (27). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1714, 1676. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.97 (3H, s), 0.99 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 11, 4 Hz, H1), 1.29–1.33 (1H, m, H9), 1.34 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 12.5, 4.5 Hz, H3), 1.44–1.83 (4H, m), 1.46 (9H, s), 1.59 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.90–2.05 (2H, m), 2.06–2.22 (2H, m), 2.32–2.46 (3H, m), 2.42 (1H, dd, J=16, 2 Hz, CH₂CHO), 2.55 (1H, dd, J=16, 2 Hz, CH₂CHO), 3.23 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.35 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.48–3.57 (1H, m), 3.64–3.81 (3H, m), 4.07 (1H, dd, J=8, 7 Hz, H6), 4.23 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H2O), 4.63 (2H, s), 4.81 (1H, d, J=10 Hz, OH), 9.85 (1H, dd, J=2, 2 Hz, CHO).

4.2.11. Conversion of 39 and 40 to 41 and 42, respectively. The procedure for the preparation of **41** from **39** was typical. K₂CO₃ (18 mg, 0.130 mmol) was added to a solution of **39** (11 mg, 21.7 µmol) and dimethyl (1-diazo-2-oxopropyl)phosphonate (33 mg, 0.172 mmol) and the mixture was stirred under an Ar atmosphere at 25 °C for 3.5 h. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH2Cl2. Usual work-up followed by PTLC [benzene-EtOAc (3:1)] furnished 41 (10.5 mg, 96%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₉H₄₅NO₆: 503.3244. Found: 503.3260. MS m/z: 503 (M⁺, 1), 414 (2), 402 (13), 358 (38), 314 (19), 297 (26), 278 (7), 57 (100), 45 (76), 41 (26). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2116, 1674. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.95-1.04 (1H, m, H1), 0.96 (3H, s), 1.24-1.28 (1H, m, H9), 1.32 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 11.5, 4.5 Hz, H3), 1.41-1.70 (5H, m, including OH), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.58 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.72-1.86 (1H, m), 1.86-2.06 (3H, m), 1.93 (1H, dd, J=2.5, 2.5 Hz, C≡CH), 2.13–2.19 (1H, m), 2.20 (1H, br d. J=16.5 Hz, CH₂C≡CH), 2.25–2.54 (3H, m), 3.23 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.32 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.44-3.55 (1H, m), 3.57-3.70 (3H, m), 4.09 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.24 (1H, dddd, J=10, 10, 7.5, 7.5 Hz, H12), 4.63 (2H, s). In the same manner, 42 (4.5 mg, 91%) was obtained from 40 (5 mg, 9.86 µmol) as a colorless glass after separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:2)]. HRMS Calcd for C₂₉H₄₅NO₆: 503.3244. Found: 503.3254. MS m/z: 503 (M⁺, 2), 414 (10), 402 (14), 358 (12), 314 (22), 297 (31), 296 (72), 278 (27), 57 (100), 45 (70), 41 (27). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2112, 1675. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.97 (3H, s), 0.98 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 11.5, 4 Hz, H1), 1.16-1.22 (1H, m), 1.33 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 12, 5 Hz, H3), 1.48 (9H, s), 1.48-1.81 (4H, m), 1.57 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.92–1.99 (3H, m, H11×2 and C=CH), 2.13–2.31 (4H, m, H7, H14, and CH₂C=CH), 2.16 (1H, ddd, J=16, 7, 3 Hz, H13), 2.36 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 4, 4 Hz, H1), 2.39 (1H, d, J=16 Hz, H7), 3.23 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.36 (3H, s), 3.36 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.47-3.55 (1H, m), 3.65-3.81 (4H, m), 4.09 (1H, dd, J=8, 7 Hz, H6), 4.23 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.63 (2H, s), 4.82 (1H, d, *J*=10 Hz, OH).

4.2.12. Preparation of xanthate 43 from 41. NaH (60% in mineral oil, 22 mg, 0.550 mmol) and imidazole (2 mg, 29.4 μ mol) were added to a solution of **41** (11 mg, 21.9 μ mol) in THF (3 ml) and the mixture was refluxed with stirring under an Ar atmosphere for 3 h. CS₂ (0.33 ml, 5.47 mmol) was added to this and the resulting solution was further refluxed for 40 min, during this time it gradually changed into a yellow-white slurry. MeI (0.41 ml, 6.58 mmol) was further added to this and the whole was heated for 40 min. After

the mixture had been cooled, saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the resulting mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was washed with saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O and then treated as usual. Separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:1)] gave 43 (11 mg, 85%) and recovery of 41 (1 mg, 9%) in order of increasing polarity. 43: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₁H₄₇NO₆S₂: 593.2842. Found: 593.2861. MS m/z: 593 (M⁺, 0.5), 518 (1), 504 (1), 492 (4), 448 (7), 385 (37), 346 (22), 280 (39), 57 (74), 45 (100), 41 (42). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2112, 1675. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.96 (3H, s), 0.99 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 1.27-1.38 (2H, m), 1.45-1.55 (1H, m, H2), 1.48 (9H, s), 1.58 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.62–1.75 (3H, m), 1.75– 1.91 (1H, m, H2), 1.95 (1H, dd, J=2.5, 2.5 Hz, C≡CH), 2.08–2.18 (1H, m), 2.13 (1H, ddd, J=13, 5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 2.19-2.53 (6H, m), 2.54 (3H, s, SCH₃), 3.23 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.34 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.51 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 6.5, 4 Hz), 3.60 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5, 4 Hz), 3.68 (1H, ddd, J=11, 5, 4 Hz), 3.75 (1H, ddd, J=11, 6.5, 4 Hz), 4.05-4.15 (1H, m, H6), 4.63 (2H, s), 6.03 (1H, dddd, J=10, 10, 7.5, 7.5 Hz, H12).

4.2.13. Radical cyclization of 43 to form 44. Bu₃SnH (22 µl, 81.8 µmol) and AIBN (1 mg, 6.10 µmol) were added to a solution of 43 (5 mg, 8.43 µmol) in toluene (5 ml) and Ar gas was bubbled into the mixture for 15 min at an ambient temperature. Then the solution was stirred under reflux for 15 min under an Ar atmosphere. After evaporation of the reaction solvent in vacuo, the residue was separated by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (4:1)] to provide 44 (3.5 mg, 85%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₉H₄₅NO₅: 487.3295. Found: 487.3280. MS *m*/*z*: 487 (M⁺, 3), 398 (2), 386 (18), 342 (24), 298 (15), 281 (46), 69 (15), 57 (100), 45 (66), 41 (34). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1674. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.81– 0.93 (1H, m, H1), 0.97 (3H, s, H18), 1.11 (1H, br d, J=10 Hz, H9), 1.25-1.51 (3H, m), 1.46 (9H, s), 1.53 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 1.58-1.82 (5H, m), 1.72 (1H, dd, J=16, 8 Hz, H7), ca. 2.04-2.10 (1H, m, H14), 2.05 (1H, br d, J=16 Hz, H7), 2.11 (1H, br d, J=18 Hz, H15), 2.17 (1H, ddd, J=13, 4.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 2.26–2.41 (1H, m), 2.38 (1H, ddd, J=18, 2.5, 2 Hz, H15), 3.18 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.32 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.37 (3H, s), 3.40 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.48 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.68 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz), 3.95 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 3.99 (1H, br dd, J=8, 6.5 Hz, H6), 4.48 (1H, ddd, J=2, 2, 2 Hz, H17), 4.62–4.65 (1H, m, H17), 4.65 (2H, s).

4.3. Preparation of enyne radical cyclization precursors (Scheme 6)

4.3.1. Oxidation of 16 and 18 to form 45 and 46, respectively. The procedure for the preparation of 45 from 16 is described as a representative example. PCC–Al₂O₃ (20 wt %, 348 mg, 0.323 mmol) was added to a solution of 16 (53 mg, 0.108 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (8 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 1 h. Saturated NaHCO₃–H₂O was added and the whole was filtered through a Celite bed. The filtrate was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up followed by PTLC [hexane–EtOAc (3:1)] afforded 45 (48 mg, 91%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₈H₄₃NO₆: 489.3088. Found: 489.3091. MS *m*/*z*: 489 (M⁺, 4), 400 (4), 388 (13), 346 (33), 344 (25), 300 (25), 300 (25), 282 (28), 91 (10), 89 (11), 57 (100), 45 (76), 41 (28). IR

(CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1713, 1675. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.95 (3H, s), 1.01 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 10, 5.5 Hz, H1), 1.28 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 11, 5 Hz, H3), 1.39–1.53 (2H, m), 1.46 (9H, s), 1.66 (1H, d, J=7.5 Hz, H5), 1.66 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 5, 5 Hz, H3), 1.80–1.96 (1H, m), 2.01 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 2.09 (1H, dddd, J=19.5, 5, 2, 2 Hz, H11), 2.10-2.36 (3H, m), 2.53 (1H, dd, J=6, 5.5 Hz, H14), 2.67 (2H, br s, CH₂CHO), 3.18–3.30 (1H, br m), 3.30 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.40 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.53 (1H, dt, J=10.5, 5 Hz), 3.65 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz), 4.07–4.18 (1H, m, H6), 4.08 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.64 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.52-5.63 (2H, m), 9.82 (1H, t, J=2 Hz, CHO). In the same manner, 46 (62 mg, 84%) was obtained from 18 (74 mg, 0.141 mmol) as a colorless glass after purification by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:1)]. HRMS Calcd for C₃₁H₄₁NO₆: 523.2932. Found: 523.2918. MS m/z: 523 (M⁺, 2), 480 (1), 478 (1), 434 (6), 390 (15), 388 (10), 351 (9), 298 (4), 91 (100), 89 (6), 45 (38). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1712, 1684. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.95 (3H, s), 1.01 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 10, 5.5 Hz, H1), 1.29 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 11.5, 5 Hz, H3), 1.40-1.56 (2H, m), 1.62-1.72 (1H, m), 1.68 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.88 (1H, ddddd, J=12.5, 11, 9.5, 6.5, 4.5 Hz, H2), 2.01 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), ca. 2.01-2.39 (4H, m),2.51 (1H, dd, J=6, 5 Hz, H14), 2.65 (2H, br s, CH₂CHO), 3.18–3.42 (3H, m), 3.33 (3H, s), 3.51 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 5, 4.5 Hz), 3.60–3.66 (2H, m), 4.06 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.17-4.26 (1H, m), 4.61 (2H, s), 5.10 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.18 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.52-5.62 (2H, m), 7.26-7.37 (5H, m), 9.79 (1H, br s, CHO).

4.3.2. Preparation of envne derivatives 47 and 48 from 45 and 46, respectively. In the same manner as described for the preparation of **41** from **39** (Section 4.2.11), **45** (44 mg, 0.090 mmol) was stirred with dimethyl (1-diazo-2-oxopropyl)phosphonate (86 mg, 0.448 mmol) and K₂CO₃ (49 mg, 0.355 mmol) in MeOH (5 ml) at 0 °C for 5 min and at 25 °C for 4 h. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up followed by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (4:1)] furnished 47 (42 mg, 96%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₉H₄₃NO₅: 485.3139. Found: 485.3149. MS m/z: 485 (M⁺, 1), 446 (1), 384 (9), 346 (22), 340 (17), 324 (9), 296 (17), 279 (36), 57 (100), 45 (76), 41 (31). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2116, 1673. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.95 (3H, s), 0.99 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 10, 5.5 Hz, H1), 1.27 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 11.5, 5 Hz, H3), 1.32-1.38 (1H, m, H9), 1.38-1.51 (1H, m, H2), 1.48 (9H, s), 1.61–1.71 (1H, m, H3), 1.64 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.79-1.95 (1H, m, H2), 1.91 (1H, dd, J=2.5, 2.5 Hz, C=CH), 2.00 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 2.08-2.34 (4H, m, H11×2 and CH₂C=CH), 2.35–2.42 (1H, m, H14), 2.41–2.64 (2H, m, H7×2), 3.16–3.33 (1H, br m), 3.30 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.39 (1H, dt, J=10, 5 Hz), 3.52 (1H, dt, J=10, 5 Hz), 3.65 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz), 4.09 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.16 (1H, br dd, J=8, 7 Hz, H6), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.64 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.50-5.59 (2H, m). In the same manner, 48 (36 mg, 98%) was obtained from 46 (37 mg, 0.071 mmol) as a colorless glass after PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:1)]. HRMS Calcd for C₃₂H₄₁NO₅: 519.2982. Found: 519.2984. MS m/z: 519 (M⁺, 1), 480 (2), 430 (5), 386 (11), 294 (4), 280 (4), 91 (100), 45 (38). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2105, 1683. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.96 (3H, s), 0.99 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10, 5.5 Hz, H1), 1.28 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 11, 5 Hz, H3), 1.31–1.40 (1H, m, H9), 1.45 (1H, ddddd, J=14.5, 5, 5, 5, 5 Hz, H2), 1.61–1.72 (1H, m), 1.67 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.80–1.96 (1H, m), 1.91 (1H, dd, J=2.5, 2.5 Hz, C \equiv CH), 2.00 (1H, ddd, J=13, 4.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 2.09–2.30 (4H, m, including CH₂C \equiv CH), 2.34–2.41 (1H, m), 2.45–2.67 (2H, m), 3.23–3.42 (3H, m), 3.33 (3H, s), 3.50 (1H, ddd, J=10.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.60–3.65 (2H, m), 4.08 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.25 (1H, ddd, J=9, 7, 1 Hz, H6), 4.59 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 5.12 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.20 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.49–5.59 (2H, m), 7.26–7.41 (5H, m).

4.3.3. Cleavage of MOM group of 48 to form 9. HCl-H₂O (20%, 1 ml) was added to a cooled $(0 \degree \text{C})$ solution of 48 (33 mg, 63.6 µmol) in DME (3 ml) and the mixture was stirred for 10 min and at 22 °C for 9 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up followed by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (7:4)] provided 9 (29 mg, 96%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₀H₃₇NO₄: 475.2721. Found: 475.2719. MS m/z: 475 (M⁺, 3), 430 (3), 386 (8), 370 (4), 340 (9), 91 (100), 65 (5), 45 (8), 41 (4). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2120, 1684. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.97 (3H, s), 1.02 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10, 5 Hz, H1), 1.31 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 11.5, 5 Hz, H3), 1.34–1.41 (1H, m, H9), 1.44–1.56 (2H, m, including OH), 1.60–1.71 (1H, m, H3), 1.68 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.71-1.85 (1H, m, H2), 1.91 (1H, dd, J=2.5, 2.5 Hz, C=CH), 2.02 (1H, ddd, J=13, 4.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 2.14-2.32 (4H, m), 2.41 (1H, dd, J=6, 5.5 Hz, H14), 2.46-2.64 (2H, m), 3.27–3.38 (3H, m), 3.43 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 6.5, 3.5 Hz), 3.58–3.76 (2H, m, CH₂OH), 4.10 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.26 (1H, dd, J=8, 7 Hz, H6), 5.13 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.20 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.51-5.62 (2H, m), 7.28-7.40 (5H, m).

4.4. C-ring formation from 47 and 9 (Scheme 7, Table 2)

4.4.1. Radical cyclization of 47 to form 44 and 49 (Table 2, runs a-d). The procedure for run c of Table 2 is described as a representative example among runs a-d. A benzene (3 ml) solution of 47 (9 mg, 18.6 µmol), tributyltin hydride (25 µl, 93 µmol), and azobisisobutyronitrile (0.5 mg, 3.05 µmol) was degassed by bubbling of Ar gas for 10 min at 25 °C. The solution was then refluxed with stirring for 2 h under an Ar atmosphere. The solvent was removed in vacuo and the residue was dissolved in CH_2Cl_2 (3 ml). SiO₂ (1.0 g, well-dried prior to use) was added to this and the mixture was stirred at 25 °C for 14 h. The whole was filtered under reduced pressure and the filtered SiO₂ was rinsed with 10% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂. The solvent was evaporated off and the residue was separated by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (11:1)] to give 44 (3 mg, 33%) and 49 (7.5 mg, 52%). The former was identical with the authentic specimen (see Section 4.2.13) by ¹H NMR and IR. 49: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₄₁H₇₁NO₅Sn: 777.4349. Found: 777.4383. MS m/z: 778, 777, 776, 775, 774, 773 (M⁺, 0.02, 0.11, 0.15, 0.13, 0.10, 0.10), 721, 720, 719, 718, 717, 716 (11, 27, 14, 21, 11, 11), 677, 676, 675, 674, 673, 672 (1, 2, 1, 2, 1, 1), 621, 620, 619, 618, 617, 616 (0.5, 0.9, 1)0.5, 1, 0.7, 1), 619, 618, 617, 616, 615, 614 (0.5, 1, 0.7, 1, 0.7, 1), 515, 514, 513, 512, 511, 510 (1, 4, 2, 3, 1, 2), 486 (8), 430 (5), 386 (21), 280 (83), 180, 179, 178, 177, 176,

175 (1, 21, 6, 19, 7, 13), 57 (100), 45 (44), 41 (27). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1675. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.56 (1H, dd, J=7.5, 4 Hz, H12), 0.77 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10, 6 Hz, H1), 0.79–1.00 (10H, m), 0.89 (9H, t, J=7.5 Hz), 0.96 (3H, s, H18), 1.08 (1H, d, J=13 Hz, H17), 1.24–1.68 (16H, m), 1.38 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H5), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.63 (1H, d, J=12 Hz, H15), 1.71 (1H, dd, J=15, 7 Hz, H7), 1.75 (1H, dd, J=14, 9.5 Hz, H11), 2.01 (1H, dd, J=14, 4 Hz, H11), 2.26 (1H, ddd, J=13, 5, 5 Hz, H1), 2.42 (1H, dd, J=6.5, 4 Hz, H14), 2.50 (1H, br d, J=15 Hz, H7), 3.12 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.37 (3H, s), 3.40 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.41–3.50 (1H, m), 3.67–3.76 (3H, m), 3.83 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 3.87 (1H, dd, J=6.5 Hz).

4.4.2. Reductive Pd-catalyzed cyclization of 47 to form 44, 50, and 51 (Table 2, run e). A benzene (2 ml) solution containing 47 (8 mg, 16.5 µmol), poly(methylhydrosiloxane) (21 µl, 0.333 mmol), tris(benzylideneacetone)dipalladium(0)chloroform adduct (2 mg, 1.93 µmol), N,N'-bis(benzylidene)-1,2-ethylenediamine (1 mg, 4.24 µmol), and HOAc (2 µl, 35.0 µmol) was refluxed with stirring under an Ar atmosphere for 30 min. After the mixture had been cooled, saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up followed by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (12:1)] afforded crude 50 (2.5 mg), 44 (1.5 mg, 19%), and **51** (2 mg, 25%) in order of increasing polarity. As attempted purification of the crude 50 was unsuccessful, the crude product was treated with OsO4 (0.5 mg, 1.97 µmol) and NaIO₄ (11 mg, 51.4 µmol) in THF-H₂O (5:1, 1.8 ml) at 0 °C for 10 min and at 25 °C for 14 h in order to isolate 50 without change; this was why the concomitant had vinyl group signals in its ¹H NMR spectrum. Saturated Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (10:1)] gave pure 50 (1.5 mg, 19%). 50: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₉H₄₅NO₅: 487.3295. Found: 487.3275. MS m/z: 487 (M⁺, 4), 431 (6), 386 (7), 342 (5), 326 (10), 298 (10), 281 (100), 57 (99), 45 (61), 41 (29). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1674. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.57 (1H, dd, J=7.5, 4 Hz, H12), 0.77 (1H, ddd, J=13, 9, 5 Hz, H1), 0.81-1.01 (3H, m), 0.96 (3H, s, H18), 1.12 (3H, s, H17), 1.24-1.70 (4H, m), 1.38 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H5), 1.46 (9H, s), 1.67 (1H, d, J=12 Hz), 1.71 (1H, dd, J=15, 7 Hz, H7), 1.74 (1H, dd, J=14, 9.5 Hz, H11), 2.00 (1H, dd, J=14, 4 Hz, H11), 2.26 (1H, ddd, J=13, 5, 5 Hz), 2.41 (1H, dd, J=6.5, 4 Hz, H14), 2.51 (1H, br d, J=15 Hz, H7), 3.12 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz), 3.37 (3H, s), 3.41 (1H, d, J=11 Hz), 3.42-3.49 (1H, m), 3.67-3.79 (3H, m), 3.84 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 3.87 (1H, dd, J=7, 6 Hz, H6), 4.65 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz), 4.68 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz). 51: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₂₉H₄₅NO₅: 487.3295. Found: 487.3282. MS *m*/*z*: 487 (M⁺, 2), 446 (2), 398 (2), 386 (9), 346 (31), 342 (18), 326 (11), 298 (13), 281 (27), 240 (7), 91 (12), 57 (100), 45 (71), 41 (38). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1673. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.93 (3H, s), 0.98 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 10, 5.5 Hz), 1.17-1.70 (4H, m), 1.47 (9H, s), 1.60 (1H, d, J=7.5 Hz), 1.79-2.04 (3H, m), 2.10–2.35 (5H, m), 2.31 (1H, br dd, J=7, 6 Hz), 3.15–3.30 (1H, br m), 3.28 (1H, br d, J=10 Hz), 3.35 (3H, s), 3.38 (1H, dt, J=10, 5 Hz), 3.52 (1H, dt, J=10, 5 Hz), 3.65 (2H, dd, J=5, 5 Hz), 4.02 (1H, d, J=6 Hz), 4.05–4.16 (1H, m), 4.62 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz),

4.64 (1H, d, *J*=6.5 Hz), 4.98–5.06 (2H, m, CH=CH₂), 5.50–5.60 (2H, m, H12, H13), 5.72–5.88 (1H, m, CH=CH₂).

4.4.3. Radical cyclization of 9 to form 10, 52, and 53. A toluene (4 ml) solution of tributyltin hydride (74 μ l, 0.275 mmol) was added dropwise to a refluxing solution of 9 (13 mg, 27.4 µmol) and azobisisobutyronitrile (1 mg, 6.10 µmol) in toluene (5 ml) during 1.5 h under an Ar atmosphere and then the resulting mixture was further stirred under reflux for 1.5 h. The solvent was removed in vacuo and the residue (95 mg) was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (5 ml). SiO_2 (1.5 g, dried in an oven prior to use) was added, and the mixture was stirred at 20 °C for 18 h. The mixture was filtered through a Celite bed and the bed was rinsed with 10% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂. The filtrate was evaporated off and the residue was purified by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (11:2)] to provide 52 (6.5 mg, 31%), 53 (1 mg, 8%), and 10 (7.5 mg, 57%) in order of increasing polarity. **10**: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₀H₃₉NO₄: 477.2877. Found: 477.2885. MS m/z: 477 (M⁺, 1), 432 (3), 388 (5), 342 (9), 298 (9), 91 (100), 65 (10), 45 (15). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1684. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.90 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10, 5 Hz, H1), 0.99 (3H, s), 1.14 (1H, br d, J=10 Hz, H9), 1.29–1.85 (8H, m, including OH), 1.57 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 1.75 (1H, dd, J=16, 8 Hz, H7), 1.89 (1H, dd, J=13, 4.5 Hz, H13), 1.96-2.11 (2H, m, H12 and H14), 2.11 (1H, d, J=18 Hz, H15), 2.17 (1H, ddd, J=13, 5, 5 Hz, H1), ca. 2.35-2.55 (1H, m, H7), 2.36 (1H, br d, J=18 Hz, H15), 3.23 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 6, 3.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OH), 3.28 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.41 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 5, 3.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂OH), 3.46 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.67–3.80 (2H, m, CH₂OH), 3.95 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.08 (1H, dd, J=8, 6.5 Hz, H6), 4.49 (1H, ddd, J=2.5, 2, 2 Hz, H17), 4.64 (1H, ddd, J=2.5, 2, 2 Hz, H17), 5.11 (1H, d, J=13 Hz, OCH₂Ph), 5.16 (1H, br d, J=13 Hz, OCH₂Ph), 7.25-7.40 (5H, m). 52: Colorless glass. MS m/z: 712, 711, 710, 709, 708, 707 (M⁺-Bu, 2, 4, 9, 5, 7, 4), 576, 575, 574, 573, 572, 571 (1, 1, 2, 1, 2, 1), 532, 531, 530, 529, 528, 527 (1, 1, 4, 2, 3, 1), 476 (6), 432 (6), 342 (8), 280 (11), 180, 179, 178, 177, 176, 175 (1, 11, 4, 12, 4, 8), 91 (100), 65 (9), 41 (15). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1686. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.56 (1H, dd, J=7.5, 4 Hz, H12), 0.71-1.03 (10H, m), 0.88 (1H, d, J=13 Hz, H17), 0.89 (9H, t, J=7.5 Hz), 0.98 (3H, s, H18), 1.10 (1H, d, J=13 Hz, H17), 1.24–1.69 (16H, m), 1.42 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H5), 1.64 (1H, d, J=12 Hz, H15), 1.74 (1H, dd, J=15, 7 Hz, H7), 1.78 (1H, dd, J=14, 10 Hz, H11), 2.01 (1H, dd, J=14, 4 Hz, H11), 2.08 (1H, dd, J=6, 6 Hz, OH), 2.26 (1H, ddd, J=12.5, 5, 5 Hz, H1), 2.42 (1H, dd, J=6.5, 3.5 Hz, H14), 2.58 (1H, br d, J=15 Hz, H7), 3.22 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz, H19), 3.31-3.38 (1H, m), 3.62-3.76 (3H, m), 3.68 (1H, d, J=11.5 Hz, H19), 3.83 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 3.96 (1H, dd, J=7, 6 Hz, H6), 5.11 (1H, d, J=13 Hz, OCH₂Ph), 5.15 (1H, d, J=13 Hz, OCH₂Ph), 7.25–7.44 (5H, m). 53: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₀H₃₉NO₄: 477.2877. Found: 477.2868. MS m/z: 477 (M⁺, 4), 432 (6), 388 (11), 342 (13), 296 (6), 280 (3), 91 (100), 65 (6), 45 (6). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1681. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.92–1.05 (1H, m), 1.00 (3H, s, H18), 1.10–1.14 (1H, m, H9), 1.14– 1.75 (7H, m), 1.60 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.79 (1H, br dd, J=6.5, 6.5 Hz, OH), 2.00-2.16 (2H, m), 2.01 (1H, dd, J=16, 8 Hz, H7), 2.11 (1H, br dd, J=7, 5 Hz, H14), ca. 2.23–2.44 (2H, m), 2.45 (1H, br d, J=17 Hz, H15), 2.61– 2.68 (1H, m, H13), 3.33 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.43 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 5, 4.5 Hz), 3.46 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.63 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 4.5, 4 Hz), 3.70–3.76 (2H, m), 4.10 (1H, dd, J=8, 7 Hz, H6), 4.14 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.66–4.70 (1H, m, C=CH₂), 4.74–4.78 (1H, m, C=CH₂), 5.11 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.16 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 7.26–7.40 (5H, m).

4.4.4. Lemieux oxidation of 53 to form 54. NaIO₄ (9 mg, 42.1 μ mol) and OsO₄ (0.5 mg, 1.97 μ mol) were successively added to a solution of 53 (1 mg, 2.10 µmol) in THF (1.5 ml) and H₂O (0.3 ml) at 0 °C and the mixture was stirred for 10 min and then at 21 °C for 14 h. Saturated Na₃S₂O₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:2)] provided 54 (1 mg, quant.) as a colorless syrup. HRMS Calcd for C₂₉H₃₇NO₅: 479.2670. Found: 479.2672. MS m/z: 479 (M⁺, 0.5), 434 (4), 390 (11), 344 (13), 298 (4), 282 (2), 91 (100), 65 (5), 45 (6). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1730, 1682. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.99-1.08 (1H, m), 1.03 (3H, s), 1.19-1.80 (10H, m, including OH), 1.65 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.96 (1H, br d, J=19 Hz, CH₂CO), 2.08-2.18 (1H, m), 2.11 (1H, dd, J=16, 8 Hz, H7), 2.31 (1H, d, J=19 Hz, CH_2CO , 2.35–2.62 (3H, m), 3.35 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.45 (1H, ddd, J=10, 5, 5 Hz), 3.48 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.56 (1H, ddd, J=10, 4, 4 Hz), 3.67–3.79 (2H, m), 4.15 (1H, dd, J=8, 7 Hz, H6), 4.25 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 5.11 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.18 (1H, br d, J=12.5 Hz), 7.28-7.39 (5H, m).

4.4.5. Preparation of 55 from 9. (TMS)₂NLi (1 M in THF. 0.22 ml, 0.22 mmol) was added to a cooled $(-78 \degree C)$ solution of 9 (7 mg, 14.7 µmol) in THF (2 ml) and the mixture was stirred under an Ar atmosphere for 1.5 h. A THF (0.5 ml) solution of TMSCl (19 µl, 0.150 mmol) was added dropwise to it, and the resulting mixture was stirred at -78to 12 °C for 15.5 h. Saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O and saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O were successively added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up gave a residue (12 mg) and this was dissolved in THF (3 ml). Aqueous HCl (2.5%, 0.25 ml) was added to this at 0 °C and the mixture was stirred for 10 min. Quenching with saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O, extraction with CH₂Cl₂, and usual workup followed by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (5:2)] furnished 55 (6.5 mg, 81%) along with recovered 9 (1 mg, 14%). 55: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₃H₄₅NO₄Si: 547.3115. Found: 547.3118. MS m/z: 547 (M⁺, 8), 502 (1), 486 (2), 458 (5), 442 (5), 412 (7), 368 (3), 352 (4), 294 (4), 91 (100), 73 (19). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2170, 1683. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.13 (9H, s, SiMe₃), 0.97 (3H, s), 1.04 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10, 5.5 Hz, H1), 1.31 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 11, 4.5 Hz, H3), ca. 1.33-1.40 (1H, m), 1.43-1.56 (3H, m, H3 and $CH_2C \equiv CSiMe_3$), 1.64 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 5, 5 Hz, H3), 1.66 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.70–1.85 (1H, m), 1.04 (1H, br s, OH), 2.02 (1H, ddd, J=13, 4.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 2.10-2.31 (2H, m), 2.36 (1H, dd, J=6, 6 Hz, H14), ca. 2.55-2.74 (1H, m), 2.59 (1H, dd, J=16, 9 Hz, H7), 3.26-3.38 (3H, m), 3.42 (1H, ddd, J=9.5, 6.5, 3.5 Hz), 3.58–3.76 (2H, m), 4.09 (1H, d, J=6 Hz, H20), 4.25 (1H, dd, J=9, 7 Hz, H6), 5.13 (1H, d, J=12 Hz), 5.19 (1H, br d, J=12 Hz), 5.49-5.58 (1H, m, H13), 5.58 (1H, br dd, J=12, 2.5 Hz, H12), 7.27-7.40 (5H, m).

4.5. Completion of the total synthesis of (±)-nominine (Scheme 9)

4.5.1. Mesylation of 10 to form 56. MsCl (10 µl, 129 µmol) was added to a solution of 10 (7.5 mg, 15.8 μ mol) and Et₃N (88 μ l, 0.633 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (2 ml) at -20 °C under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred for 30 min. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was successively washed with saturated $CuSO_4$ -H₂O, saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O, and water and then treated as usual. Purification was carried out by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:1)] to provide 56 (8.5 mg, 97%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₁H₄₁NO₆S: 555.2652. Found: 555.2668. MS *m/z*: 555 (M⁺, 0.3), 432 (11), 420 (6), 388 (14), 296 (7), 123 (7), 91 (100), 79 (8). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1684. ¹H NMR (at 50 δ) δ: 0.89 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10, 5.5 Hz, H1), 0.99 (3H, s), 1.14 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H9), 1.30–1.78 (7H, m), 1.57 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 1.75 (1H, dd, J=16, 8 Hz, H7), 1.87 (1H, dd, J=13, 4.5 Hz, H13), 1.96-2.06 (1H, m), 2.05-2.20 (2H, m), 2.11 (1H, d, J=18 Hz, H15), ca. 2.35-2.55 (1H, m, H7), 2.36 (1H, br d, J=18 Hz, H15), 3.00 (3H, s, SO₂CH₃), 3.28 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.28 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 5.5, 4.5 Hz), 3.43 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.55 (1H, ddd, J=11.5, 5, 4 Hz), 3.95 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.08 (1H, dd, J=8, 6.5 Hz, H6), 4.30-4.36 (2H, m, CH₂OMs), 4.49 (1H, ddd, J=2, 2, 2 Hz, H17), 4.65 (1H, ddd, J=2, 2, 2 Hz, H17), 5.11 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.17 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 7.25–7.41 (5H, m).

4.5.2. Preparation of bromide 57 from mesylate 56. Anhydrous LiBr (19 mg, 0.218 mmol) was added to a solution of 56 (8 mg, 14.4 µmol) in acetone (3 ml) and the mixture was stirred under reflux for 15 h. After the mixture had been cooled, saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and subsequent separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (5:1)] provided 57 (7 mg, 90%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₀H₃₈BrNO₃: 541.2014 and 539.2034. Found: 541.2002 and 539.2039. MS m/z: 541, 539 (M⁺, 0.7, 0.7), 432 (14), 406, 404 (5, 5), 388 (15), 296 (8), 109, 107 (4, 4), 91 (100), 65 (6). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1683. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ: 0.87 (1H, ddd, J=13, 9.5, 5 Hz, H1), 0.99 (3H, s), 1.13 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H9), 1.28-1.61 (4H, m), 1.57 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 1.63–1.82 (3H, m), 1.75 (1H, dd, J=16, 8.5 Hz, H7), 1.91 (1H, dd, J=13, 4.5 Hz, H13), 1.94–2.04 (1H, m, H14), 2.05–2.11 (1H, m, H12), 2.10 (1H, d, J=18 Hz, H15), 2.21 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 4.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), ca. 2.35–2.54 (1H, m, H7), 2.36 (1H, br d, J=18 Hz, H15), 3.28 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.38-3.50 (4H, m, H19) and CH₂CH₂Br), 3.56–3.68 (1H, m, CH₂CH₂Br), 3.94 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.08 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 6.5 Hz, H6),4.49 (1H, ddd, J=2, 2, 2 Hz, H17), 4.64 (1H, ddd, J=2, 2, 2 Hz, H17), 5.11 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.17 (1H, br d, J=12.5 Hz), 7.27–7.41 (5H, m).

4.5.3. Oxidation of **57** to form **58**, **59**, and **60**. To a slurry of SeO₂ (6 mg, 54.1 μ mol) in CH₂Cl₂ (1.5 ml) was added 70% *t*-BuOOH/H₂O (28 μ l, 0.203 mmol) and the mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 10 min and at 22 °C for 20 min. The mixture was allowed to cool in an ice bath and a CH₂Cl₂ (2.5 ml) solution of **57** (7 mg, 13.0 μ mol) was added to this. After the mixture had been stirred at 0–21 °C for 16 h, saturated

Na₂S₂O₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up followed by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (5:2)] afforded **58** (5.5 mg, 77%), **60** (<1 mg, trace), and crude 59 (1.5 mg) in order of increasing polarity. The crude 59 was further purified by PTLC (0.5% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂) to give 59 (1 mg, 14%). 58: Colorless glass. MS m/z: 446 (M⁺-CH₂CH₂Br, 7), 420, 418 (3, 3), 402 (14), 310 (8), 109, 107 (6, 5), 91 (100), 65 (7). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1690, 1628. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.95 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10, 5 Hz, H1), 1.00 (3H, s), 1.20–1.61 (5H, m), 1.57 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H5), 1.65–1.86 (2H, m), 1.98 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 2.5, 2.5 Hz, H11), 2.15 (1H, dd, J=13, 4.5 Hz, H13), 2.20–2.44 (2H, m), 2.25 (1H, ddd, J=13, 4.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 2.55-2.60 (1H, m, H12), 2.68 (1H, dd, J=17, 8.5 Hz, H7), 3.32 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.42 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.43-3.53 (3H, m), 3.57-3.67 (1H, m), 4.05 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.17 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 7 Hz, H6), 5.04 (1H, d, J=2 Hz, H17), 5.13 (1H, d, J=13 Hz), 5.17 (1H, d, J=13 Hz), 5.85 (1H, d, J=2 Hz, H17), 7.26–7.40 (5H, m). 59: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₀H₃₈BrNO₄: 557.1963 and 555.1983. Found: 557.1988 and 555.2004. MS *m*/*z*: 557, 555 (M⁺, 0.4, 0.7), 448 (11), 422, 420 (4, 4), 404 (13), 312 (6), 296 (4), 109, 107 (5, 5), 91 (100), 65 (7). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1681. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.86– 0.95 (1H, m), 0.99 (3H, s), 1.10 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H9), 1.28-1.82 (7H, m, including OH), 1.60 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 1.78 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 3, 3 Hz, H11), 1.91 (1H, dd, J=16, 9 Hz, H7), 1.94 (1H, dd, J=13, 4.5 Hz, H13), 2.15–2.34 (3H, m), 2.78 (1H, br d, J=16 Hz, H7), 3.31 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.42-3.50 (2H, m), 3.43 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.52–3.74 (2H, m), 3.95 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 3.98 (1H, br s, H15), 4.14 (1H, dd, J=9. 6.5 Hz, H6), 4.91 (1H, dd, J=1.5, 1 Hz, H17), 4.93 (1H, dd, J=1.5, 1 Hz, H17), 5.12 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.18 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 7.26-7.40 (5H, m). 60: Colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₀H₃₆BrNO₄: 555.1807 and 553.1827. Found: 555.1780 and 553.1823. MS m/z: 555, 553 (M⁺ 0.4, 0.4), 446 (12), 420, 418 (3, 3), 402 (14), 310 (5), 109, 107 (4, 4), 91 (100), 65 (5). ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) only selected signals were given δ : 1.02 (3H, s), 1.65 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 2.36 (1H, dd, J=16, 8.5 Hz, H7), 3.04–3.09 (1H, m), 3.33 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.37-3.50 (4H, m), 3.60-3.72 (1H, m), 4.04 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.20 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 6.5 Hz, H6), 5.15 (2H, s), 6.77 (1H, s, H15), 7.24-7.40 (5H, m), 9.41 (1H, s, H17).

4.5.4. Oxidation of **59** to form the enone **58.** MnO_2 (12 mg, 0.138 mmol) was added to a solution of **59** (2 mg, 3.60 µmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (2 ml) and the mixture was stirred at 20 °C for 15 h. The whole was filtered through a Celite bed and the Celite was washed with CH_2Cl_2 . The solvent was evaporated off and the residue was purified by PTLC [hexane–EtOAc (3:1)] to give a colorless glass (2 mg, quant.), whose ¹H NMR spectrum was identical with that of the enone **58**.

4.5.5. Reduction of 58 to form β -allyl alcohol 61. NaBH₄ (3 mg, 78.9 µmol) was added to a solution of **58** (5.5 mg, 9.93 µmol) and CeCl₃·7H₂O (31 mg, 83.2 µmol) in MeOH (2.5 ml) at 0 °C, and the mixture was stirred for 20 min. The reaction was quenched by successive addition of saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O and saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O, and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up

followed by separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (2:1)] afforded 61 (5.5 mg, quant.) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₀H₃₈BrNO₄: 557.1963 and 555.1983. Found: 557.1971 and 555.1969. MS m/z: 557, 555 (M⁺, 0.5, 0.6), 448 (20), 422, 420 (5, 5), 404 (16), 312 (9), 296 (4), 109, 107 (3, 4), 91 (100), 65 (2). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1682. ¹H NMR (at 50 °C) δ : 0.88 (1H, ddd, J=13, 10, 5 Hz, H1), 0.99 (3H, s), 1.20-1.55 (5H, m, including OH), 1.58 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 1.64-1.83 (4H, m), 1.92 (1H, dd, J=13.5, 4.5 Hz, H13), 1.93–2.10 (2H, m), 2.14–2.20 (1H, m, H12), 2.19 (1H, ddd, J=13, 4.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 2.66 (1H, dd, J=16, 8.5 Hz, H7), 3.30 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.40–3.49 (3H, m), 3.44 (1H, d, J=10.5 Hz, H19), 3.53– 3.65 (1H, m), 3.97-4.04 (1H, m, H15), 4.01 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H20), 4.20 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 6.5 Hz, H6), 4.91 (1H, br s, H17), 4.99 (1H, br s, H17), 5.15 (2H, s), 7.28-7.38 (5H, m).

4.5.6. Acetylation of 59 and 61 to form 62 and 63, respectively. The procedure for the preparation of 63 from 61 is described as a representative example. A solution of 61 (5 mg, 8.99 µmol), Ac₂O (0.2 ml), and pyridine (0.3 ml) in CH₂Cl₂ (1.5 ml) was stirred at 21 °C for 24 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:1)] gave 63 (5 mg, 93%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₂H₄₀BrNO₅: 599.2068 and 597.2088. Found: 599.2075 and 597.2061. MS (m/z): 599, 597 (M⁺, 0.5, 0.5), 490 (10), 464, 462 (4, 3), 446 (10), 404 (2), 354 (4), 296 (9), 91 (100), 65 (7), 43 (26). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1726, 1683. ¹H NMR of two rotamers (ca. 4:1) at 50 °C δ : (major rotamer) 0.84–0.96 (1H, m), 0.99 (3H, s), 1.16– 1.60 (6H, m), 1.59 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 1.63-1.83 (3H, m), 1.94 (1H, dd, J=13, 4 Hz, H13), 1.96–2.34 (4H, m), 2.09 (3H, s, OCOCH₃), 3.31 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.42-3.50 (3H, m), 3.43 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.55-3.65 (1H, m), 3.99 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.06–4.17 (1H, m), 4.80 (1H, br s, H17), 4.87 (1H, br s, H17), 5.10 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.16 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.49 (1H, dd, J=2, 2 Hz, H15), 7.25-7.40 (5H, m); (minor rotamer) 3.94-3.98 (1H, m), 4.88 (1H, br s, H17), 4.90 (1H, br s, H17), 5.08 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.19 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.45 (1H, br s, H15). In the same manner, 59 (1 mg, 1.80 µmol) was acetylated to yield 62 (1 mg, 93%) as a colorless glass after separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (3:1)]. HRMS Calcd for C₃₂H₄₀BrNO₅: 599.2068 and 597.2088. Found: 599.2065 and 597.2113. MS (m/z): 599, 597 (M⁺, 0.6, 0.6), 540, 538 (0.2, 0.2), 490 (15), 464, 462 (5, 4), 446 (13), 354 (6), 296 (11), 91 (100), 43 (17). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1716, 1682. ¹H NMR of two rotamers (ca. 7:1) at 50 °C δ: (major rotamer) 0.83–0.95 (1H, m), 0.99 (3H, s), 1.16–2.06 (6H, m), 1.19 (1H, br d, J=10.5 Hz, H9), 1.48 (3H, s, OCOCH₃), 1.60 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 1.77 (1H, ddd, J=13.5, 3, 3 Hz, H11), 1.83 (1H, dd, J=16, 8.5 Hz, H7), 1.95 (1H, dd, J=13, 4.5 Hz, H13), 2.14-2.20 (1H, m, H12), 2.21 (1H, ddd, J=13, 4.5, 4.5 Hz, H1), 2.30 (1H, br dd, J=9, 7 Hz, H14), ca. 2.38–2.58 (1H, m), 3.31 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.42–3.50 (3H, m), 3.43 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.58–3.70 (1H, m), 3.97 (1H, d, J=7 Hz, H20), 4.10 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 6.5 Hz, H6), 4.88 (1H, br s, H17), 4.91 (1H, br s, H17), 5.08 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.19 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.44 (1H, br s, H15), 7.24–7.39 (5H, m); (minor rotamer) 4.13–4.19 (1H, m, H6), 4.99 (1H, br s, H17), 5.02

7111

(1H, br s, H17), 5.09 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.17 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.64 (1H, br s, H15). NOE (ca. 2.1%) was observed at $\delta=7.24-7.39$ on irradiation at $\delta=1.48$ (3H, s).

4.5.7. Reductive deprotection of 63 to form 64. A slurry of 63 (5 mg, 8.36 µmol), Zn powder (110 mg, 1.68 mmol), and NH₄Cl (5 mg, 93.5 µmol) in *i*-PrOH-H₂O (14:1, 3.5 ml) was refluxed with stirring for 5 h. After the mixture had been cooled, saturated NH₄Cl-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and separation by PTLC [hexane-EtOAc (5:2)] provided 64 (4 mg, 97%) as a colorless glass. HRMS Calcd for C₃₀H₃₇NO₅: 491.2670. Found: 491.2657. MS (m/z): 491 (M⁺, 6), 356 (37), 312 (5), 239 (5), 91 (100), 65 (8), 43 (26). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1725, 1682. ¹H NMR of two rotamers (ca. 4:1) at 50 °C δ: (major rotamer) 0.90–1.05 (1H, m), 1.00 (3H, s), 1.17-1.63 (8H, m, including OH), 1.59 (1H, d, J=6.5 Hz, H5), 1.67-1.85 (3H, m), 191-2.29 (4H, m), 2.10 (3H, s), 3.28 (1H, br d, J=11 Hz, H19), 3.46 (1H, d, J=11 Hz, H19), 4.13 (1H, dd, J=8.5, 6.5 Hz, H6), 4.49 (1H, d, J=7.5 Hz, H20), 4.77 (1H, br s, H17), 4.86 (1H, br s, H17), 5.08 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.16 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.51 (1H, br s, H15), 7.26–7.40 (5H, m); (minor rotamer) 4.06-4.13 (1H, m, H6), 4.44-4.50 (1H, m, H20), 4.87 (1H, br s, H17), 4.91 (1H, br s, H17), 5.05 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.20 (1H, d, J=12.5 Hz), 5.44 (1H, br s, H15).

4.5.8. Cyclization of 64 to form O-acetylnominine (65). Pd(OAc)₂ (1 mg, 4.45 μ mol) and Et₃N/CH₂Cl₂ (5% v/v, 13 µl, 4.67 µmol) were successively added to a solution of **64** (4.5 mg, 9.16 μ mol) and Et₃SiH (0.22 ml, 1.38 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (0.2 ml) under an Ar atmosphere and the mixture was stirred at 23 °C for 3 h. Saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up gave a residue (37 mg, containing Et₃SiH polymer). The residue was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (2.5 ml) and to this were added pyridine (56 µl, 0.693 mmol) and SOCl₂ (20 µl, 0.274 mmol) in this order at 0 °C under an Ar atmosphere. After the mixture had been stirred at the temperature for 30 min and at 22 °C for 48 h, saturated NaHCO₃-H₂O was added and the whole was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up followed by Al₂O₃ column chromatography [20 g, benzene–DME (2:1)] afforded 65 (2.5 mg, 80%) as colorless prisms, mp: 153-155 °C (CH₂Cl₂-hexane). HRMS Calcd for C₂₂H₂₉NO₂: 339.2197. Found: 339.2183. MS (m/z): 339 (M⁺, 100), 324 (5), 311 (4), 296 (14), 280 (17), 160 (12), 146 (32), 91 (13), 79 (14), 55 (15), 43 (62), 41 (24). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 1728, 1714. ¹H NMR δ : 0.97 (3H, s, H18), 1.12 (1H, ddd, J=13, 2.5, 2.5 Hz, H13), 1.19-1.33 (2H, m), 1.42-1.50 (1H, m), 1.44 (1H, s, H5), 1.54–1.99 (7H, m), 1.66 (1H, dd, J=13, 3 Hz, H7), 1.71 (1H, dd, J=13, 3 Hz, H7), 1.94 (1H, dd, J=14, 4.5 Hz, H11), 2.07 (3H, s), 2.16–2.21 (1H, m, H12), 2.40 (1H, d, J=12 Hz, H19), 2.54 (1H, d, J=12 Hz, H19), 2.54 (1H, br s, H20), 3.20-3.24 (1H, m, H6), 4.93 (1H, s, H17), 4.97 (1H, s, H17), 5.44 (1H, s, H15). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.6 (CH₂, C2), 21.3 (CH₃, COCH3), 26.4 (CH₂, C11), 26.9 (CH₂, C1), 28.7 (CH₃, C18), 32.6 (CH₂, C7), 33.2 (CH₂, C13), 33.7 (CH, C12), 34.0 (CH₂, C3), 37.8 (C, C4), 43.4 (CH, C9 or C14), 44.1 (CH, C14 or C9), 44.8 (C, C10), 49.5 (C, C8), 60.9 (CH, C5), 62.4 (CH₂, C19), 65.0 (CH, C6), 72.8 (CH, C15), 74.6 (CH, C20), 110.6 (CH₂, C17), 144.6 (C, 16), 170.1 (C, COCH₃).

4.5.9. (±)-Nominine (1). A solution of **65** (3 mg, 8.85 µmol) in 2% w/v K₂CO₃/MeOH (2 ml) was refluxed with stirring for 30 min under an Ar atmosphere. After the mixture had been cooled, water was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. Usual work-up and purification by Al₂O₃ column chromatography (20 g, 2% MeOH-CH₂Cl₂) provided (\pm) -nominine (1, 2.5 mg, 95%), colorless prisms, mp: 233– 236 °C (MeOH-acetone) [cf. natural nominine,⁴ mp: 255-258 °C (MeOH-acetone)]. HRMS Calcd for C₂₀H₂₇NO: 297.2091. Found: 297.2087. MS (m/z): 297 (M⁺, 100), 282 (6), 280 (5), 269 (6), 160 (9), 148 (11), 146 (30), 105 (10), 91 (18), 79 (10), 77 (12), 55 (12), 53 (10), 41 (22). IR (CHCl₃) cm⁻¹: 2925 (s), 2870 (w), 1648 (w), 1632 (w), 1616 (w), 1578 (w), 1558 (w), 1538 (w), 1520 (w), 1487 (w), 1455 (m), 1437 (w), 1373 (w), 1317 (w), 1130 (w), 1112 (m), 1028 (w), 1002 (m), 980 (w), 938 (w), 902 (w), 882 (w), 846 (w). ¹H NMR δ: 0.98 (3H, s, H18), 1.11 (1H, ddd, J=13, 2.5, 2.5 Hz, H13), 1.19-1.34 (2H, m, H1 and H3), 1.38-1.50 (1H, m, H3), 1.44 (1H, s, H5), 1.56 (1H, dddd, J=14, 10, 3, 1.5 Hz, H11), 1.62-1.90 (7H, m, including OH, H1, H2×2, H9, H13, and H14), 1.68 (1H, dd, J=13, 3 Hz, H7), 1.94 (1H, dd, J=14, 4.5 Hz, H11), 2.05 (1H, dd, J=13, 2.5 Hz, H7), 2.17–2.22 (1H, m, H12), 2.39 (1H, d, J= 12 Hz, H19), 2.52 (1H, br s, H20), 2.54 (1H, d, J=12 Hz, H19), 3.24–3.28 (1H, m, H6), 4.01 (1H, br s, H15), 4.94 (1H, dd, J=1.5, 1 Hz, H17), 4.97 (1H, dd, J=1.5, 1 Hz, H17). ¹³C NMR δ: 19.7 (CH₂, C2), 26.7 (CH₂, C11), 27.0 (CH₂, C1), 28.8 (CH₃, C18), 32.7 (CH₂, C7), 33.1 (CH₂, C13), 33.7 (CH, C12), 34.0 (CH₂, C3), 37.8 (C, C4), 43.5 (CH, C9 or C14), 43.9 (CH, C14 or C9), 45.5 (C, C10), 49.6 (C, C8), 60.9 (CH, C5), 62.5 (CH₂, C19), 65.3 (CH, C6), 71.7 (CH, C15), 74.7 (CH, C20), 108.3 (CH₂, C17), 156.5 (C, 16).

4.5.10. Single-crystal X-ray analysis of (±)-nominine (1). Crystal data: $C_{20}H_{27}NO$, M=297.44, monoclinic, $P2_1/n, a=7.059(1)$ Å, b=11.614(1) Å, c=18.959(1) Å, $\beta=$ 94.44(1)°, V=1549.7(2) Å³, Z=4, ρ_c =1.275 g/cm³, F(000)= 648, $\lambda = 1.54178$ Å, T = 296(1) K, μ (Cu K α)=5.92 cm⁻¹. crystal size=0.20×0.25×0.30 mm³, 3336 reflections (2922 independent, R_{int}=0.012) were collected on a Rigaku AFC7R diffractometer. The structure was solved by direct methods (SHELXS-97)²⁷ and 203 variable parameters were refined using the least-squares method on F^2 . The maximum electron density residue: $0.36e^{-1}/Å^3$, R_1 [for $I > 2\sigma(I)$]= 0.048 and wR=0.206 (all data) with $R_1 = \Sigma ||F_0| - |F_c|| / \Sigma |F_0|$ and $wR = [\Sigma w (F_o^2 - F_c^2)^2 / \Sigma w (F_o^2)^2]^{0.5}$. Crystallographic data for (\pm) -nominine (1) reported in this paper have been deposited at the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre, under publication number CCDC 244252. These data can be obtained free of charge via www.ccdc.cam.ac.uk/data_ request/cif, by e-mailing data request@ccdc.cam.ac.uk, or by contacting The Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre, 12, Union Road, Cambridge CB2 1EZ, UK (fax: +44 1223 336033 or e-mail: deposit@ccdc.cam.ac.uk).

Acknowledgements

The authors' thanks are due to Professor Emeritus Shinichiro Sakai and Professor Hiromitsu Takayama of Chiba University for providing a valuable sample of natural nominine. The authors also thank Dr. Koichi Shudo, the director of Itsuu Laboratory, for helpful discussions. A part of this work was supported by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS).

References and notes

- (a) Pelletier, S. W.; Page, S. W. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1984, 1, 375– 386; (b) Pelletier, S. W.; Page, S. W. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1986, 3, 452–475; (c) Yunuzov, M. S. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1991, 8, 499–526; (d) Yunuzov, M. S. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1993, 10, 471– 486; (e) Atta-ur-Rahman; Choudhary, M. I. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1995, 12, 361–379; (f) Atta-ur-Rahman; Choudhary, M. I. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1997, 14, 191–203; (g) Atta-ur-Rahman; Choudhary, M. I. Nat. Prod. Rep. 1999, 16, 619–635.
- 2. (a) Stern, E. S. The Alkaloids; Manske, R. H. F., Holmes, H. L., Eds.; Academic: New York, NY, 1954; Vol. 4, pp 275-333; (b) Stern, E. S. The Alkaloids; Manske, R. H. F., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1960; Vol. 7, pp 473-521; (c) Pelletier, S. W.; Keith, L. H. The Alkaloids; Manske, R. H. F., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1970; Vol. 12, pp 1-206; (d) Pelletier, S. W.; Mody, N. V. The Alkaloids; Manske, R. H. F., Rodrigo, R. G. A., Eds.; Academic: New York, NY, 1979; Vol. 17, pp 1-103; (e) Pelletier, S. W.; Mody, N. V. The Alkaloids; Manske, R. H. F., Rodrigo, R. G. A., Eds.; Academic: New York, NY, 1981; Vol. 18, pp 99-216; (f) Amiya, T.; Bando, H. The Alkaloids; Brossi, A., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1988; Vol. 34, pp 95-179; (g) Wang, F.-P.; Liang, X.-T. The Alkaloids; Cordell, G. A., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 1992; Vol. 42, pp 151-247; (h) Wang, F.-P.; Liang, X.-T. The Alkaloids; Cordell, G. A., Ed.; Academic: New York, NY, 2002; Vol. 59, pp 1–280.
- 3. Muratake, H.; Natsume, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 4646–4649.
- Ochiai, E.; Okamoto, T.; Sakai, S.; Saito, A. Yakugaku Zasshi 1956, 76, 1414–1418.
- Sakai, S.; Yamamoto, I.; Yamaguchi, K.; Takayama, H.; Ito, M.; Okamoto, T. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1982**, *30*, 4579–4582.
- Gloer, J. B.; Rinderknecht, B. L.; Wicklow, D. T.; Dowd, P. F. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 2530–2532.

- 7. (a) Muratake, H.; Natsume, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1997, *38*, 7581–7582; (b) Muratake, H.; Nakai, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1999, *40*, 2355–2358; (c) Muratake, H.; Natsume, M.; Nakai, H. *Tetrahedron* 2004, *60*, 11783–11803.
- Muratake, H.; Natsume, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 2913– 2917.
- 9. Muratake, H.; Natsume, M. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 7056–7070.
- 10. Muratake, H.; Natsume, M. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 7071–7092.
- Umbreit, M. A.; Sharpless, K. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 5526–5528.
- Chidambaram, N.; Chandrasekaran, S. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 5048–5051.
- Pearson, A. J.; Chen, Y.-S.; Hsu, S.-Y.; Ray, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1984, 25, 1235–1238.
- 14. Muzart, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 4665-4668.
- 15. Ohira, S. Synth. Commun. 1989, 19, 561-564.
- De Mico, A.; Margarita, R.; Parlanti, L.; Vescovi, A.; Piancatelli, G. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 6974–6977.
- 17. Barton, D. H. R.; McCombie, S. W. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1975, 1574–1585.
- Stork, G.; West, F.; Lee, H. Y.; Isaacs, R. C. A.; Manabe, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 10660–10661.
- Trost, B. M.; Rise, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 3161– 3163.
- 20. Baldwin, J. E. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1976, 734-736.
- Toyota, M.; Yokota, M.; Ihara, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 1551–1554.
- Kawazoe, Y.; Sato, Y.; Natsume, M.; Hasegawa, H.; Okamoto, T.; Tsuda, K. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1962**, *10*, 338–344.
- (a) Birkofer, L.; Bierwirth, E.; Ritter, A. Chem. Ber. 1961, 94, 821–824; (b) Sakaitani, M.; Kurokawa, N.; Ohfune, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1986, 27, 3753–3754.
- Sakai, S.; Yamamoto, I.; Okamoto, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1982, 30, 4583–4584.
- 25. Jacobs, W. A.; Craig, L. C. J. Biol. Chem. 1942, 143, 605.
- 26. Przybylska, M. Can. J. Chem. 1962, 40, 566-568.
- 27. Sheldrick, G. M. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, A46, 467-473.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 7113-7120

Tetrahedron

(3)

Direct synthesis of tetrahydropyrans via one-pot Babier–Prins cyclization of allylbromide with carbonyl compounds promoted by RTILs BPyX/SnX'₂ or BBIMBr/SnBr₂

Xian-Liang Zhao, Li Liu,* Yong-Jun Chen and Dong Wang*

Center for Molecular Science, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Institute of Chemistry, Beijing 100080, PR China

Received 9 February 2006; revised 11 April 2006; accepted 12 April 2006 Available online 19 May 2006

Abstract—Tetrahydropyran compounds can be directly synthesized from allylbromide and carbonyl compounds by means of one-pot Babier–Prins cyclization promoted by $BPyX/SnX'_2$ or $BBIMBr/SnBr_2$ complex (functionalized RTILs) under solvent-free conditions. 2,6-Homo-bissubstituted- and 2,6,6-trisubstituted, especially 6-(spirocycloalkyl)-, tetrahydropyran compounds can be prepared in good yields. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Tetrahydropyrans are common subunits in a variety of biologically important natural products such as polyether antibiotics, marine toxins, pheromones, and pharmaceutical agents.¹ The Prins cyclization² is one of the most effective reaction for construction of the tetrahydropyran unit. In most cases, the Prins cyclization involves the condensation of homoallylic alcohol with carbonyl compounds (Eq. 2) in the presence of protic acid³ or Lewis acid, such as TiBr₄,⁴ ZrCl₄,⁵ AlCl₃,⁶ InCl₃,⁷ Sc(OTf)₃,⁸ Ce(OTf)₃·H₂O in ionic liquid,⁹ as well as TMSCl/NaI.¹⁰ The homoallylic alcohols can be prepared by means of Babier reaction¹¹ (Eq. 1), Grignard reaction (Eq. 2) or reaction of organolithium reagents with aldehydes (Eq. 2). Alternatively, allyl silyl¹² and allyltin¹³ reagents can also react with aldehydes in the presence of Lewis acid to give tetrahydropyran compounds (Eq. 3). However, there are few examples of direct formation of tetrahydropyran compounds via one-pot reaction of allylhalide with carbonyl compounds. As reported

Prins Cyclization

M" (Si, Sn)

by Li,^{7a} during investigation of indium-mediated reaction of allylbromide with aldehyde under neat conditions, the formation of a mixture of tetrahydropyran-4-ol and 4-bromotetrahydropyran compounds was accidentally observed. It is interesting to combine Babier reaction with Prins cyclization into an one-pot tandem reaction system for direct formation of tetrahydropyran (Eq. 4). Recently, noticeable progress in the transformation under solvent-free condition has attracted considerable attention.¹⁴ Herein, we report on the direct synthesis of tetrahydropyran compounds through one-pot Babier–Prins cyclization of allylbromide with carbonyl compounds promoted by BPyX/SnX₂ or BBIMBr/SnBr₂ complex (functionalized RTILs) without the use of organic solvent.

Babier Reaction



Keywords: Babier–Prins cyclization; Allylbromide; Carbonyl compound; BBIMBr/SnBr₂; Tetrahydropyran; Direct synthesis. * Corresponding authors. Fax: +86 10 6255 4449; e-mail: dwang70118@yahoo.com

M" RCHO

Babier-Prins Cyclization (one pot, tandem reaction)

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Direct synthesis of 4-halo-2,6-homo-bissubstitutedtetrahydropyrans

SnCl₂-mediated Babier-type reaction of allylhalides with carbonyl compounds yield homoallylic alcohol, though requiring additional catalyst in most cases.¹⁵ Among the catalysts suitable to this type of reaction, quaternary ammonium salts are more convenient.¹⁶ It is also noteworthy that the combination of quaternary ammonium salts with stannous halides can generate a room temperature liquid state complex (so-called room temperature ionic liquid: RTILs).¹⁷ Thus, it is expected that a complex of a quaternary ammonium salt with SnCl₂ can serve as both functionalized reagent with Lewis acidity and reaction media.



According to the authors,¹⁸ the complexes (IA–E) of *N*-benzylpyridine halides (BPyX) with SnX'_2 (1:2) were easily synthesized. At first, the complex IA·2H₂O (BPyCl/

 $SnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$) was employed in the reaction of allylbromide 2 with benzaldehyde 1a (IA \cdot 2H₂O:2:1a=2:1.2:1) without the use of any organic solvent at room temperature for 24 h (Scheme 1). The homoallylic alcohol **3a** was obtained in 93% yield, which is consistent with the observation of Li.¹⁹ However, it is interesting to note that if complex IA derived from anhydrous SnCl₂ and BPyCl was used under the same reaction conditions, a mixture of **3a** (22%), 4-chloro-(4b), and 4-bromo-2,6-diphenyltetrahydropyran (4a) (67%, 4a+4b) produced (Scheme 1). When the ratio of 2 to 1a was changed to 1:2, only tetrahydropyran compounds (4a and **4b**) were obtained in 78% yield, but no homoallylic alcohol **3a** was detected (Scheme 2, Table 1, entry 1). A series of RTILs (IA-IE) containing various tin halides were synthesized and employed in the reaction of 1a with 2. The results in Table 1 showed that the halide atom in the 4-position of the formed tetrahydropyran unit originates from substrate 2 and complex BPyX/SnX'₂. The use of ID (X and X'=Br) provided a single product **4a** in 80% yield (entry 4). However, in most cases, the reaction system became too sticky to be stirred during the course of the reaction promoted by ID without using organic solvent. For improving the fluidity of the complex as a reaction medium, two complexes of imidazole salts with SnBr₂ (1:1.5, IIA and IIB)¹⁸ were synthesized and also employed in the reaction of 2 with 1a. As shown in Table 1 BBIMBr/SnBr₂ (IIB) is a better reaction system than ID and IIA (entry 4 vs 7 and 6 vs 7). Moreover, for most substrates used, the reaction systems employed **IIB** were in a liquid state during the course of the reaction. If SnBr₂ was used alone (without quaternary ammonium salt), the reaction of 1a with 2 did not proceed and starting materials were recovered, even after 24 h (entry 8).

Meanwhile, in order to examine solvent effects, various solvents were used as reaction media in the reaction of **1a** with **2** promoted by **IIB** (Scheme 3, Table 2). It was found that in organic solvents the reactions gave homoallylic alcohol **3a**



Scheme 2.

Scheme 1.

Table 1. The reaction of 1a with 2 promoted by complex I or II^a

Entry	Complexes $(\mathbf{I} \text{ and } \mathbf{II})^{b}$	Yield ^c (%) $(4b:4a:4c)^{d}$
1	IA	78 (5.3:1:0)
2	IB	90 (1:1:0)
3	IC	77 (3.2:1:0)
4	ID	80 (0:1:0)
5	IE	89 (1.6:1:2.5)
6	IIA	81 (0:1:0)
7	IIB	86 (0:1:0)
8	SnBr ₂	e

^a Reaction time: 24 h at rt.

^b BPyX/SnX'₂=1:2.

^c Isolated yield.

^d Determined by ¹H NMR.

e Starting materials were recovered.

solely or a mixture of **3a** and tetrahydropyran compound **4a**. Only under solvent-free conditions the single product, tetrahydropyran compound **4a** was obtained in 86% yield (Table 2, entry 5).





Table 2. The reaction of 1a with 2^a

Entry	Solvent ^b	Yield ^c (%) (3a:4a)
1	THF	44 (44:0)
2	DMF	72 (72:0)
3	CH ₃ CN	67 (13:54)
4	CH_2Cl_2	73 (8:65)
5	None	86 (0:86)

^a 1a:2:IIB=2:1:2, 24 h at rt.

^b All solvents are anhydrate.

^c Isolated yield.

On the basis of the above experimental results, a variety of aldehydes were employed in the reactions with allylbromide **2** promoted by **IIB** without the use of organic solvent, affording the products of 4-bromo-2,6-homo-bissubstituted-tetrahydropyrans (Scheme 3, Table 3). As shown in Table 3 both aromatic and aliphatic aldehydes are able to react with **2** to directly generate tetrahydropyran compounds **4a–1** in moderate to good yields (52–86%). The stereochemistry of 2,4,6trisubstituents of the tetrahydropyran ring was found to be all-cis in all cases. The assignment was based on the coupling constants of the protons at the C-2, C-4, and C-6 positions. The coupling constants of 11.0–12.7 Hz were observed for all such protons, indicating the presence of axial–axial coupling. The three substituents are therefore all in equatorial positions, in agreement with an all-cis stereochemistry.^{12b}

2.2. A plausible reaction mechanism

In the mechanism for the present reaction, it is assumed that at the first is a Babier-type reaction of allylbromide with $SnBr_2$ in the presence of quaternary ammonium salt to produce allyltin compound A,^{15d} which subsequently undergoes reaction with aldehyde to generate the reactive intermediate **B**. This intermediate exhibits high reactivity to give two different products (**C** and **D**) by two pathways (Scheme 4, path a and b). In pathway (a), **B** could be hydrolyzed by the water in the reaction system or during work-up procedure, giving homoallylic alcohol **C** as product. However, under strict anhydrous conditions the intermediate **B** was sufficiently activated to react with another aldehyde molecule via pathway (b) affording a Prins cyclization product, tetrahydropyran compound **D**.⁸ It is interesting to note that when homoallylic alcohol **C** was mixed with aldehyde in the presence of **IIB**, no reaction product **D** was detected.

2.3. Direct synthesis of 4-bromo-2,6,6-trisubstitutedtetrahydropyran

For preparing 2,6-cross-substituted-tetrahydropyran, two different aromatic aldehydes were used in the reaction; a mixture of the products containing 2,6-homo- and 2,6cross-bissubstituted-tetrahydropyrans was obtained. In view


Table 3. Direct synthesis of 4 via reaction of 2 with 1 promoted by IIB^a

Entry	Aldehyde	Product	Yield (%) ^b
1	1a CHO	4a Br	86
2	1b CHO Cl	4d Br	78
3	1c CHO		78
4	1d CHO Br	4f Br Br Br	82
5	1e CHO F	4g Br	75
6	1f F ₃ C	$\begin{array}{c} 4h \\ F_{3}C \end{array} \begin{array}{c} Br \\ CF_{3} \end{array}$	54
7	1g H ₃ C	4i Br H ₃ C CH ₃	60
8	1h — Сно	4j Br	82
9	1i CHO	4k Br	72
10	1j BnO	4I Br BnO OBn	79

^a Reaction time: 24 h at rt, 1:2=2:1.

^b Isolated yield.

of the plausible reaction mechanism discussed above, formation of 2,6-homo-bissubstituted product may be retarded by use of a relatively less reactive carbonyl compound in the first step. Thus, the reaction could stop at intermediate **B** and not go on to generate homo-bissubstituted-tetrahydropyran compound. Then, more active aldehyde may be added to continue the reaction with **B** to give 2,6-cross-bissubstituted-tetrahydropyran. Interestingly, when cyclic ketones with less reactivity were used, 6-(spirocycloalkyl)-2-substituted-tetrahydropyran compounds were obtained

Table 4. Direct synthesis of cross-bissubstituted tetrahydropyrans 6 via reaction of 2 with carbonyl compounds

Entry	Ketone	Time ^a (h)	Aldehyde	Time ^b (h)	Product	Yield ^c (%)
1	5a O	6	1a CHO	10	6a Br	85
2		6	1k MeO	10	6b Br	76
3		6	11 CHO NC	10	6c Br	78
4		6	1h — CHO	10	6d Br	72
5	5b O	5	1a	10	6e Br	74
6		5	1b CHO Cl	10	6f Br	68
7		5	1c CI	10	6g Br	70
8		5	1g Me	10	6h Br	64
9	5c 0	8	1a	10	6i Br	67
10		8	1i ⁄_ _{CHO}	10	6j Br	54
11	5d O	8	1a	10	6k Br	64

^a Reaction time with ketone in the first step.
 ^b Reaction time with aldehyde in the second step.
 ^c Isolated yield.

(Scheme 5). For example, cyclohexanone 5a was allowed to react with allylbromide 2 in the presence of IIB for 6 h. Then, benzaldehyde 1a was added, followed by stirring for 10 h to give the product, 4-bromo-2-phenyl-6-(spirocyclohexyl)tetrahydropyran 6a in 85% yield (Table 4, entry 1). No 2,6-diphenyltetrahydropyran 4a and 2,6-bis(spirocyclohexyl)tetrahydropyran were observed in the reaction mixture. It is indicated in Table 4 that either cyclic or acyclic ketones, and aromatic or aliphatic aldehydes can be employed in the one-pot Babier–Prins cyclization, affording the products of 4-bromo-2.6.6-trisubstituted-tetrahydropyrans **6a-i** in good yields of 64–85%. The stereochemistry of the substituents at C-4 and C-2 positions was deduced as cis in consideration of the coupling constants for the protons ($J \sim 11 \text{ Hz}$). The method of one-pot Babier–Prins cyclization provided a direct and convenient synthesis of 2,6,6-trisubstituted-tetrahydropyran compounds, especially for constructing a structural unit of 6-(spirocycloalkyl)-2-substituted-tetrahydropyran, which is of importance in organic synthesis and not easily prepared by conventional methods.20





3. Conclusion

Babier and Prins reactions can be combined into an one-pot tandem reaction system promoted by functionalized RTILs derived from quaternary ammonium salt and Sn(II) halides. By utilizing this method, either 2,6-homo-bissubstituted or 2,6,6-trisubstituted-tetrahydropyran, especially 6-(spirocycloalkyl)-2-substituted-tetrahydropyran compounds can be directly synthesized from allylbromide and carbonyl compounds. The study on scope of the reaction and application in the synthesis of natural compounds is in process.

4. Experimental

4.1. General

IR spectra were recorded on a Bruker Tensor 27 infra-red spectrometer. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were measured by Bruker AV-300 spectrometers in CDCl₃ with tetramethyl-silane as an internal standard. Mass spectra were recorded on a GCT–MS Micromass spectrometer. Elemental analyses were performed on a Carlo Flash 1112 Element Analysis instrument. Melting points were measured by a Beijing-Tike X-4 apparatus and were uncorrected. Common reagents and materials were purchased from commercial sources and purified before used. Complexes **IA–IE** and **IIA–IIB** were synthesized according to literature procedures.¹⁸

4.2. Typical experimental procedure for the synthesis of **4-bromo-2,6-homo-bissubstituted-tetrahydropyrans**

A mixture of benzaldehyde (**1a**, 212 mg, 2.0 mmol), allylbromide (**2**, 120 mg, 1.0 mmol) and complex **IIB** derived from BBIMBr (522 mg, 2.0 mmol), and $SnCl_2$ (1100 mg, 4.0 mmol) was stirred at ambient temperature for 24 h. The reaction mixture was extracted with diethyl ether. The combined ether phases were washed by 2 mL aqueous HCl, and dried over Na₂SO₄. The solvent was removed in vacuum and the crude product was purified by flash chromatography on silica gel (eluent: ethyl acetate/petroleum ether, 1:40) to afford a white solid **4a** (273 mg, 86%).

4.3. Typical experimental procedure for the synthesis of 4-bromo-2,6,6-trisubstituted-tetrahydropyrans

A mixture of cyclohexanone (294 mg, 3.0 mmol), allylbromide (120 mg, 1.0 mmol) and complex **IIB** derived from BBIMBr (522 mg, 2.0 mmol), and SnBr₂ (840 mg, 3.0 mmol) was stirred at ambient temperature for 6 h. Then benzaldehyde **1a** (106 mg, 1.0 mmol) was added, followed by stirring for 10 h. The reaction mixture was extracted with diethyl ether. The combined ether phases were washed by 2 M aqueous HCl, and dried over Na₂SO₄. The solvent was removed in vacuum and the crude product was purified by flash chromatography on silica gel (eluent: ethyl acetate/petroleum ether, 1:40) to afford a pale-yellow oil **6a** (260 mg, 85%).

4.3.1. 2-Phenyl-4-bromo-1-oxaspiro[5.5]undecane 6a. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.28–7.58 (m, 5H), 4.65 (d, *J*=10.1 Hz, 1H), 4.45–4.58 (m, 1H), 2.49–2.58 (dm, *J*=10.7 Hz, 1H), 2.26–2.36 (dm, *J*=11.8 Hz, 1H), 1.73–2.10 (m, 5H), 1.37–1.57 (m, 7H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 142.2, 128.4, 127.5, 125.8, 75.2, 71.6, 47.1, 45.6, 45.5, 40.0, 30.3, 26.0, 21.7, 21.3. FTIR (film): 2931, 1494, 1447, 1331, 1172, 1060 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EI): *m*/*z* calcd for C₁₆H₂₁OBr: 308.0775, found: 308.0776.

4.3.2. 2-(**4**'-**Methoxyphenyl**)-**4**-**bromo-1**-**oxaspiro**[**5.5**]**undecane 6b.** A yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.33 (d, *J*=8.7 Hz, 2H), 6.9 (d, *J*=8.8 Hz, 2H), 4.46–4.58 (m, 2H), 3.82 (s, 3H), 2.43–2.51 (dm, *J*=11.4 Hz, 1H), 2.23–2.32 (dm, 12.6 Hz, 1H), 1.99–2.10 (m, 1H), 1.60–1.90 (m, 3H), 1.31–1.59 (m, 8H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 158.9, 134.3, 127.1, 113.7, 75.2, 71.2, 55.3, 45.6, 45.3, 40.0, 30.3, 26.0, 21.7, 21.3. FTIR (film): 2932, 2856, 1613, 1513, 1446, 1246, 987, 829 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EI): *m/z* calcd for C₁₇H₂₃O₂Br: 338.0881, found: 338.0887.

4.3.3. 2-(**4**'-**Nitrilphenyl**)-**4**-**bromo-1**-**oxaspiro**[**5.5**]**undecane 6c.** A yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.60 (d, J=7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.52 (d, J=7.9 Hz, 2H), 4.63 (d, J=11.2 Hz, 1H), 4.39–4.54 (m, 1H), 2.45–2.55 (dm, J=11.9 Hz, 1H), 2.24–2.33 (dm, J=12.0 Hz, 1H), 1.99–2.10 (m, 1H), 1.67–1.84 (m, 4H), 1.36–1.52 (m, 7H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 147.4, 132.2, 126.4, 118.8, 111.1, 75.5, 70.9, 46.8, 45.1, 44.4, 39.8, 30.1, 25.8, 21.6, 21.2. FTIR (film): 2932, 2851, 2227, 1609, 1447, 1172, 1071, 986, 831 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EI): m/z calcd for C₁₇H₂₀OBr: 333.0728, found: 333.0726.

4.3.4. 2-(Isopropyl)-4-bromo-1-oxaspiro[5.5]undecane 6d. A light-yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 4.31–4.42 (m, 1H), 3.17–3.08 (m, 1H), 2.34–2.25 (m, 1H), 2.17–2.10 (m, 1H), 1.99–2.07 (m, 1H), 1.58–1.76 (m, 7H); ¹³C NMR $\begin{array}{l} ({\rm CDCl}_3)\,\delta\,74.8,74.1,48.0,46.7,41.4,39.9,33.5,33.1,30.0,\\ 26.0,\,21.6,\,20.9,\,18.8,\,18.5.\ {\rm FTIR}\ ({\rm film}):\,2933,\,2857,\,1447,\\ 1384,\,\,1167,\,\,1065\ {\rm cm}^{-1}.\ {\rm HRMS}\ ({\rm EI}):\ {\it m/z}\ {\rm calcd}\ {\rm for}\ {\rm C}_{13}{\rm H}_{23}{\rm OBr}:\,274.0932,\ {\rm found}:\,274.0929. \end{array}$

4.3.5. 2-Phenyl-4-bromo-1-oxaspiro[**5.4**]**decane 6e.** A yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.25–7.45 (m, 5H), 4.5 (d, *J*=11.4 Hz, 1H), 4.33–4.45 (m, 1H), 2.43–2.52 (dm, *J*=12.7 Hz, 1H), 2.11–2.23 (m, 2H), 1.90–2.04 (m, 3H), 1.27–1.69 (m, 6H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 141.9, 128.4, 127.6, 125.9, 85.8, 73.9, 46.6, 46.1, 45.3, 41.5, 33.0, 24.6, 23.1. FTIR (film): 2958, 2868, 1448, 1335, 1059, 995, 753, 699 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EI): *m/z* calcd for C₁₅H₁₉OBr: 294.0619, found: 294.0615.

4.3.6. 2-(**2**'-**Chlorophenyl**)-**4**-**bromo-1**-**oxaspiro**[**5.4**]-**decane 6f.** A yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.69 (d, J=7.2 Hz, 1H), 7.35–7.21 (m, 3H), 4.90 (d, J=11.2 Hz, 1H), 4.45–4.34 (m, 1H), 2.63–2.55 (dm, J=12.6 Hz, 1H), 2.24–2.10 (m, 2H), 1.94–1.83 (m, 2H), 1.60–1.26 (m, 7H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 139.3, 131.6, 129.2, 128.5, 127.4, 127.2, 86.0, 70.7, 46.7, 45.7, 43.5, 41.6, 32.9, 24.7, 23.1. FTIR (film): 2956, 2870, 1474, 1438, 1067, 994 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EI): m/z calcd for C₁₅H₁₈OClBr: 328.0230, found: 328.0234.

4.3.7. 2-(**4**'-**Chlorophenyl**)-**4**-**b**romo-1-oxaspiro[**5.4**]-**decane 6g.** A yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.28–7.34 (m, 5H), 4.51 (d, *J*=11.4 Hz, 1H), 4.32–4.44 (m, 1H), 2.40–2.50 (dm, *J*=12.7 Hz, 1H), 2.15–2.21 (m, 2H), 1.90–1.98 (m, 3H), 1.57–1.77 (m, 6H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 140.4, 133.2, 128.5, 127.3, 85.9, 73.2, 46.5, 45.6, 45.3, 41.4, 32.9, 24.6, 23.0. FTIR (film): 2959, 2868, 1490, 1335, 1207, 1066, 822, 729 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EI): *m/z* calcd for C₁₅H₁₈OClBr: 328.0230, found: 328.0233.

4.3.8. 2-(**4'-Methylphenyl)-4-bromo-1-oxaspiro**[**5.4**]-**decane 6h.** A yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃)n δ 7.23 (d, *J*=7.1 Hz, 2H), 7.13 (d, *J*=7.7 Hz, 2H), 4.48 (d, *J*=11.4 Hz, 1H), 4.31–4.43 (m, 1H), 2.39–2.48 (dm, *J*=12.6 Hz, 1H), 2.17 (s, 3H), 1.98–2.04 (m, 2H), 1.75–1.87 (m, 3H), 1.39–1.52 (m, 6H). FTIR (film): 2957, 2867, 1514, 1445, 1288, 1063, 996, 812 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EI): *m/z* calcd for C₁₆H₂₁OBr: 308.0776, found: 308.0777.

4.3.9. 2-Phenyl-6,6-dimethyl-tetrahydropyran 6i. A yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.21–7.55 (m, 5H), 4.59 (d, *J*=11.2 Hz, 1H), 4.39–4.55 (m, 1H), 2.40–2.50 (dm, *J*=12.7 Hz, 1H), 2.18–2.28 (dm, *J*=12.7 Hz, 1H), 1.87–2.02 (m, 2H), 1.30 (s, 6H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 141.9, 128.5, 127.8, 126.0, 79.7, 74.4, 73.3, 47.8, 45.4, 31.6, 22.4. FTIR (film): 2975, 2924, 2876, 1450, 1190, 1061, 973, 754 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EI): *m/z* calcd for C₁₃H₁₇OBr: 268.0464, found: 268.0463.

4.3.10. 2-Ethyl-6,6-dimethyl-tetrahydropyran 6j. A lightyellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 4.28–4.38 (m, 1H), 3.42– 3.46 (m, 1H), 2.16–2.22 (dm, *J*=10.6 Hz, 1H), 1.82 (t, *J*=12.5 Hz, 1H), 1.46–1.65 (m, 4H), 1.24 (s, 3H), 1.18 (s, 3H), 0.94 (t, *J*=7.4 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 73.6, 72.2, 48.0, 46.0, 43.5, 31.4, 29.1, 22.3, 9.7. FTIR (film): 2974, 2877, 1464, 1381, 1195, 1084 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EI): *m/z* calcd for C₉H₁₇BrO: 220.0460, found: 220.0463. **4.3.11. 2-Phenyl-6,6-diethyl-tetrahydropyran 6k.** A yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.28–7.41 (m, 5H), 4.50–4.60 (m, 2H), 2.42–2.50 (dm, *J*=12.6 Hz, 1H), 2.17–2.26 (dm, *J*=12.9 Hz, 1H), 1.87–2.02 (m, 3H), 1.55–1.64 (m, 3H), 0.92 (t, *J*=7.5 Hz, 6H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 142.1, 128.4, 127.6, 125.9, 78.5, 72.4, 45.9, 45.5, 43.5, 31.8, 24.0, 7.5, 7.1. FTIR (film): 2968, 2936, 2878, 1452, 1335, 1058, 987, 757, 699 cm⁻¹. HRMS: *m/z* calcd for C₁₅H₂₁OBr: 296.0776, found: 296.0772.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the National Natural Foundation of China and Chinese Academy of Sciences for their financial support.

References and notes

- (a) Ohuchida, S.; Hamanaka, N.; Hayashi, M. *Tetrahedron* 1983, 39, 4257–4261; (b) Kale, V. N. D.; Clive, L. J. J. Org. *Chem.* 1984, 49, 1554–1563; (c) Bhagwat, S. S.; Hamann, P. R.; Still, W. C.; Buntiny, S.; Fitzpatric, F. A. *Nature* 1985, 315, 511–513.
- For reviews of the Prins reaction, see: (a) Arundale, E.; Mikeska, L. A. Chem. Rev. 1952, 51, 505–555; (b) Adams, D. R.; Bhatnagar, S. R. Synthesis 1977, 661–672; (c) Snider, B. B. Comprehensive Organic Synthesis; Trost, B. M., Ed.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 2, pp 527–561; (d) Miles, R. B.; Davis, C. E.; Coates, R. M. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 1493–1501.
- 3. Hart, D. J.; Bennett, C. E. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1499–1502 and references cited therein.
- 4. Patterson, B.; Marumoto, S.; Rychnovsky, S. D. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3163–3166.
- Yadav, J. S.; Rajasekhar, K.; Murty, M. S. R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, 46, 2311–2314.
- Miranoda, L. S. M.; Vasconcellos, M. L. A. Synthesis 2004, 1767–1770.
- (a) Yang, J.; Viswanathan, G. S.; Li, C.-J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1999, 40, 1627–1630; (b) Li, J.; Li, C.-J. *Heterocycles* 2000, 53, 1691–1695.
- (a) Zhang, W.-C.; Viswanathan, G. S.; Li, C.-J. Chem. Commun. 1999, 291–292; (b) Zhang, W.-C.; Li, C.-J. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 2403–2411.
- Keh, C. C. K.; Namboodiri, V. V.; Varma, R. S.; Li, C.-J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 4993–4996.
- Sabitha, G.; Reddy, K. B.; Kiran Kumar Reddy, G. S.; Fatima, N.; Yadav, J. S. *Synlett* **2005**, 2347–2351.
- 11. For review, see: Yamamoto, Y.; Asao, N. *Chem. Rev.* **1993**, *93*, 2207–2293.
- (a) Wei, Z. Y.; Li, J. S.; Wang, D.; Chan, T. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1987, 28, 3441–3444; (b) Wei, Z. Y.; Wang, D.; Li, J. S.; Chan, T. H. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 5768–5774; (c) Coppi, L.; Ricci, A.; Taddi, M. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 911–913; (d) Chan, K.-P.; Loh, T.-K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 8387–8390.
- (a) Gambaro, A.; Boaretto, A.; Marton, D.; Tagliavini, G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1983, 254, 293–304; (b) Gambaro, A.; Boaretto, A.; Marton, D.; Tagliavini, G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 260, 255–262; (c) Boaretto, A.; Furlani, D.; Marton, D.; Tagliavini, G.; Gambaro, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 299, 157–167; (d) Marton, D.; Tagliavini, G.; Zordan, M.; Wardell, J. L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1990, 390, 127–138;

(e) Marton, D.; Tagliavini, G.; Zordan, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1990, 391, 295-305.

- (a) Tanaka, T. Solvent-free Organic Synthesis; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2003; (b) For review, see: Cave, G. W. V.; Raston, C. L.; Scott, J. L. Chem. Commun. 2001, 2159–2169.
- For examples, see: (a) Imai, T.; Nishida, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 277–278; (b) Tan, X.-H.; Shen, B.; Deng, W.; Zhao, H.; Liu, L.; Guo, Q.-X. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1833–1835; (c) Jang, T. S.; Keum, G.; Kang, S. B.; Chung, B. Y.; Kim, Y. Synthesis 2003, 775–779; (d) Masuyama, Y.; Kaneko, Y.; Kurusu, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 8969–8971.
- (a) Masuyama, Y.; Kishida, M.; Kurusu, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1996, 37, 7103–7106; (b) Masuyama, Y.; Ito, A.; Kurusu, Y. *Chem. Commun.* 1998, 315–316; (c) Masuyama, Y.; Ito, T.;

Tachi, K.; Ito, A.; Kurusu, Y. *Chem. Commun.* **1999**, 1261–1262; (d) Ito, A.; Kishida, M.; Kurusu, Y.; Masuyama, Y. *J. Org. Chem.* **2000**, *65*, 494–498.

- (a) Wasserscheid, P.; Waffenschmidt, H. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2000, 164, 61–67; (b) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; Munro, H. L.; Rasheed, R. K.; Tambyrajah, V. Chem. Commun. 2001, 2010–2011; (c) Abbott, A. P.; Capper, G.; Davies, D. L.; Rasheed, R. K.; Tambyrajah, V. Green Chem. 2002, 4, 24–26.
- 18. Parshall, G. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 8716-8719.
- Tang, L.; Ding, L.; Chang, W.-X.; Li, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2006, 47, 303–306.
- 20. Ghosh, A. K.; Shin, D.; Schiltz, G. *Heterocycles* **2002**, *58*, 659–666 and references cited therein.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 7121-7131

Tetrahedron

Reactions of some anellated 2-aminothiophenes with electron poor acetylenes

Emmanuel Sopbué Fondjo,^{a,*} Dietrich Döpp^b and Gerald Henkel^c

^aLaboratory of Applied Synthetic Organic Chemistry, Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, University of Dschang,

PO Box 067 Dschang, Cameroon

^bOrganische Chemie, Universität Duisburg-Essen, 47057 Duisburg, Germany

^cChemie und Chemietechnik, Warburger Str. 100, Universität Paderborn, 33098 Paderborn, Germany

Received 27 December 2005; revised 29 March 2006; accepted 11 April 2006

Available online 26 May 2006

Dedicated to the memory of Dr. Emmanuel Nyiondi-Bonguen

Abstract—The reactivity of 2-aminothiophenes in two different anellations: (a) [b]-anellation to a saturated carbocycle and (b) [3,4-c]-anellation to benzopyrans, towards typical acetylenic dienophiles has been investigated. Because of the absence of conjugation, the thiophenes of type (a) do not undergo [4+2]-cycloaddition with acetylenic dienophiles. Instead, the *N*-vinylated products **2** and **3** were obtained with dimethyl acetylene dicarboxylate (DMAD). Electron poor alkynes react with the thiophenes of type (b) in three main ways: DMAD reacts in a [4+2]-mode in dioxane to give the products **7**, **8** and **14**; a Michael addition type reaction also takes place at the doubly vinylene homologous carbon atoms (C-1 in the starting materials **4**, **9** and **10**) in dioxane, methanol or ethanol. Methyl propiolate reacts in a similar way. The doubly *N*-vinylated product **26** was obtained from **10** in toluene and the C-1 vinylated products **24B** and **27** were obtained from **9** in dioxane and **10** in methanol. The reaction of **10** with phenyl ethyl propiolate in dimethylformamide gave no addition product, instead a dimer of the acetylenic reagent was the isolated product. The accuracy of the assigned structures **5**, **12** and **13a** could be achieved on the basis of a single-crystal X-ray structure analysis of compound **13a**. The reaction mechanism and the nature of the isolated products are dependent on the nature of the solvent. No addition reaction was observed between **17** and DMAD. The influence of the N-substitution on the nature of the addition (Michael or Diels–Alder) could be settled through the reactions of **18** and **21** with DMAD, which gave **19** and **14** (via **22**), respectively as the only isolable products.

© 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

In previous studies,^{1–3a} the reactivity of compound **4** towards a variety of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds (β -ketoesters and β diesters) and dienophiles like dimethyl maleate (or dimethyl fumarate) and dimethyl acetylene dicarboxylate (DMAD) was reported. We here report our investigations on the reactivity of 2-aminothiophenes **1a–g**, **4**, **9**, **10**^{3b} and **17**^{3b} towards electron poor alkynes (DMAD, ethyl propiolate and ethyl phenylpropiolate).

2. Results

The starting compounds were prepared using either the onepot (1a-g and 17) or the two-step procedures (4, 9 and 10) of the Gewald method. Compounds 1a-d react with DMAD under reflux in methanol to afford the *N*-vinylated products 2a-d (Scheme 1). Substrate 1e under similar reaction conditions gave the product **3**. However, with **1f**,**g**, no product could be obtained under similar reaction conditions.



Scheme 1.

The suggested structures agreed with the analytical and spectroscopic data. The formation of compound 3 can well be attributed to the polyfunctionality of substrate 1e. The course of the reaction involves the formation of intermediates 3A and (after addition of water) 3B. The determining

Keywords: 2-Aminothiophenes; Angular anellation; Diels–Alder addition; Electron poor acetylenes; Michael addition; *retro*-Aldol-reaction.

^{*} Corresponding author. E-mail: sopbue@yahoo.fr

^{0040–4020/\$ -} see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2006.04.037

step is a Michael type addition followed by a *retro*-aldol like elimination of methyl acetate (Scheme 2).



Scheme 2.

In refluxing methanol or ethanol, compound **4** reacts with DMAD to give the 1:3 addition product **5** (Scheme 3) as a mixture (1:1) of two stereoisomers in 44% yield.

When compound **4** was treated with excess of DMAD under reflux in dioxane, compound **5** was obtained in 21% yield after cooling in liquid nitrogen. The silica-gel chromatography of the resulting filtrate gave 27% of compound $\mathbf{8}^{3b}$ and 10% of compound **7**. Compound **8** can be quantitatively prepared by reacting **9** with dimethyl maleate (or dimethyl fumarate). Derivative **7** is conceivable from both precursors **6** and **8** (Scheme 3).

The key steps in both reaction routes could be considered as 6π -electrocyclizations of the intermediate 1:1 Michael adducts. Under the same reaction conditions as with 4, the substrates 9 and 10, respectively, react with DMAD to afford compounds 8 and 12 or 13a and 14, respectively (Scheme 4).

In the widest sense, the compounds **5**, **12** and **13a** can be considered as Michael addition products. These structures were

further supported by a single-crystal X-ray structure analysis of **13a** (Fig. 1). Although the compound exists in a stable helical conformation in the crystal, the existence of stable enantiomers in solution could not be proven (HPLC using various chiral stationary phases). Rotation of the fumarate moiety relative to the thiophene ring may cause rapid interconversion of enantiomers.

Compound **13a** was further characterized by the preparation of its *N*-acyl derivatives **13b,c**. The ¹H-NOESY experiment^{3b} with **13b** provided more supporting evidence for the suggested structures **5**, **12** and **13a**. The observation of ¹H-NOESY cross-peaks between the singlets at δ =3.36 ppm (assigned to COOCH₃ at C-3 in the fumarate moiety), the singlet at δ =6.97 ppm (3-H), the doublet at δ =7.86 ppm (6'-H) and the overlapped ddd at 7.46 ppm (9'-H and 10'-H), points to the torsional flexibility of the fumarate 4-methoxy group in solution and to the proximity of the fumarate moiety to C-9' and C-10'.

On the other hand, only one cross-peak is observed between the singlet at δ =3.52 ppm (assigned to COOCH₃ at C-2 in the fumarate moiety) and the singlet at δ =6.97 ppm (3-H). This is in agreement with the apparent remoteness of the carbomethoxy group at C-2 from the naphthalene ring system. Besides a cross-peak between δ =2.41 ppm (s, COCH₃) and δ =11.03 ppm (br s, -NH-), another cross-peak is observed between δ =2.41 ppm and δ =6.97 ppm (s, 3-H). This observation suggests a conformation in solution in which the methyl protons are close to 3-H of the fumarate fragment. Similarly all the conceivable isomeric thiepin derivatives (e.g. **15** and **16**) were ruled out on the basis of their ¹H and ¹³C(¹H) NMR experimental and simulated spectral data.^{3b}

By reacting compound **9** with DMAD under reflux for 4 h, Elnagdi et al.⁴ recently isolated a substance to which they





Scheme 4.



Figure 1. Single-crystal X-ray structure analysis of compound 13a. The crystallographic numbering does not reflect the systematic IUPAC numbering.

assigned the structure of the thiepin **15**, probably on the basis of former reasoning.^{1,2,3a} With a melting point of $162 \,^{\circ}C^4$ from ethanol (171–173 $^{\circ}C$ from methanol for **12**) and almost identical analytical and spectroscopic data, we assume that this compound is identical to **12** (Scheme 4). The formation of compound **5** is the most complicated case and the consequence of the polyfunctionality of the starting material **4**: both amino and imino groups can add to the electron poor triple bond. The fastest reaction is obviously the addition of DMAD at the position 1 in **4**, **9** and **10**. It can be rationalized in terms of attack on the doubly vinylene-homologous position to the amino group. The known compounds **8** and **7** are nevertheless products of a Diels–Alder addition of the acetylene diester on the thiophene ring of **4** or **9** (Scheme 3). It is also conceivable that the intermediate **12** cyclizes to give such a [4+2]-adduct. In any case the newly constructed benzene ring results from the extrusion of elemental sulfur from this primary [4+2]-adduct (Scheme 4).



Numerous attempts to induce a reaction between compound **17** and DMAD so far remain unsuccessful. The sluggishness of the reaction of substrate **17** compared to other substrates could partly be attributed to the push–pull effect, which leads to the great stability of this substrate, and hence its unreactivity towards dienophiles.

The assumption that the Michael type addition at C-1 in 4, 9 and 10 is favoured by the free NH₂-group, prompted us to study the reactions of the *N*-acylated products 18 and 21 towards DMAD. As anticipated, no Michael adduct was observed in these reactions in refluxing DMF. The Diels– Alder adducts 19 and 14 (through 22), respectively, were the only isolable reaction products from substrates 18 and 21 in 42 and 11% yield (Scheme 5). The formation of compound 14 certainly results from subsequent hydrolysis of the acetamido group of the primarily formed but not isolable cycloadduct 22. The low yields of 14 and 19 (<50% in both cases) observed in these reactions suggests that *N*-acylation as in 18 and 21 drastically decreases the vinylation at C-1 and allows the otherwise less competitive Diels–Alder addition to gain importance.



Scheme 5.

Also the reaction of substrate 9 with methyl propiolate under reflux in dioxane gave 73% yield the Michael type 1:1 adducts 24 and 25 (Scheme 6) as a 13:1 mixture.

By reacting compound **10** with methyl propiolate in refluxing toluene, the *N*,*N*-divinylation product **26** (Scheme 7) was the isolated product in 70% yield. The structure of **26** resulted from analytical and spectroscopic data.

When the reaction was carried out in refluxing methanol, a yellow substance melting at 312-314 °C was isolated, to which structure **27** (Scheme 7) was assigned on the basis of IR- and mass-spectroscopic data. The reaction of **10** with ethyl phenylpropiolate gave neither a cycloaddition, nor a Michael addition product. The dimerization product **28**











(Scheme 8) of the acetylene was instead the isolated compound from this reaction.

3. Conclusions

The reactions of 2-aminothiophenes with electron poor alkynes described in this work are of following types: (i) conjugate additions to the amino- or imino groups; (ii) conjugate additions at C-1 of the thienocoumarin derivatives **4**, **9** and **10**; (iii) formation of an anellated benzene ring across the 3,4-double bond of the coumarin derivative, very probably through a [4+2]-cycloaddition with subsequent desulfuration. One could also, in principle, envisage that the formal [4+2]-cycloaddition can also take place stepwise. The cases found by Elnagdi et al.⁴ also fit in Scheme 9. The successful cycloadditions encountered in this work are normal⁵ Diels– Alder reactions, in which the diene HOMO/dienophile-LUMO is the predominant interaction. They can therefore be rationalized by perturbation theory.^{5,6}



Scheme 9.

4. Experimental

All elemental and spectroscopic analyses were performed in the Chemistry Department Analytical Center of Gerhard-Mercaptor-Universität Duisburg, Duisburg (Germany). All melting points were determined with a Reichert Thermovar microscope and are uncorrected. The IR and the UV spectra were measured with Perkin–Elmer 983 and 554 spectrophotometers, respectively. ¹H and ¹³C(¹H) NMR spectra were recorded on Bruker WM 300 and DRX 500 instruments, with TMS as internal standard. Coupling constants J are reported in Hertz. Mass spectra were obtained on Varian MAT 311A and AMD 604 instruments by electron impact ionization (EI) at 18 eV or 70 eV, using a direct inlet system. Combustion analyses were carried out with a CHN+O/S elemental analyzer 'CARLO ERBA' Model 1106. Simulated ¹H and ¹³C(¹H) NMR spectra were performed with an ACD NMR spectra simulation programme.

4.1. Gewald synthesis of 2-aminothiophenes

4.1.1. Variant A (one-pot procedure)⁷⁻¹¹ general procedure. To an equimolar (if not otherwise stated) mixture of ketone, nitrile and finely powdered elemental sulfur in ethanol (if not otherwise stated) the indicated amount of diethylamine, piperidine or morpholine is slowly added with magnetic stirring, so that the temperature does not exceed 50 °C. By warming, sulfur progressively dissolves. For a slower reaction one should warm periodically up to 40–50 °C (water bath). Continued warming bears the risk of the formation of the disulfide.⁷⁻¹¹ The reaction lasts for 4–6 h in total. The reaction mixture is kept in the refrigerator for crystallization for several hours, after which the precipitate is collected and worked up as indicated. If not otherwise stated, the given yields are based on the inputs of ketone.

4.1.1.1. Methyl 2-amino-5,6-dihydro-4H-cyclopenta-[b]thiophene-3-carboxvlate (1a). From cvclopentanone (33.60 g, 0.4 mol), methyl cyanoacetate (19.80 g, 0.2 mol), powdered sulfur (3.2 g, 0.1 mol) and piperidine (8.50 g, 0.1 mol), the reaction lasted for 8 h. Crystallization from methanol gave the title compound 1a (13.91 g, 35% based on the nitrile) as yellow powder, mp 181-183 °C [Found: C, 54.73; H, 5.54; N, 7.05; S, 16.45. C₉H₁₁NO₂S requires C, 54.82; H, 5.58; N, 7,11; S, 16.24%]; v_{max} (potassium bromide) 3410, 3293, 3163, 3076, 2967, 2944, 2857, 1654 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (300 MHz, CDCl₃) 5.86 (2H, br s, D₂Oexchangeable, NH2), 3.78 (3H, s, OMe), 2.83-2.77 (2H, m, 4-H₂), 2.74–2.68 (2H, m, 6-H₂), 2.35–2.26 (2H, m, 5-H₂); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (75 MHz, CDCl₃) 166.5, 166.1, 142.6, 121.4, 102.8, 50.6, 30.7, 28.8, 27.3; m/z (EI) 198 (5), 197 (49, M⁺), 167 (5), 166 (15), 165 (100), 164 (12%).

4.1.1.2. 2-Amino-4,5,6,7-tetrahydrobenzo[b]thiophen-**3-carbonitrile** (1b). From cyclohexanone (29.4 g, 0.3 mol), malononitrile (13.20 g, 0.2 mol), powdered sulfur (6.4 g, 0.2 mol) and diethylamine (7.3 g, 0.1 mol) in ethanol, the reaction was conducted for 2 h. Crystallization from 50% aqueous ethanol gave the *title compound* **1b** (29.94 g, 84%) as yellow powder, mp 144-146 °C (lit.,¹⁰ 147-148 °C from ethanol) [Found: C, 60.68; H, 5.64; N, 15.67; S, 17.96. C₉H₁₀N₂S requires C, 60.67; H, 5.64; N, 15.67; S, 17.96%]; ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3446, 3330, 3207, 2956, 2932, 2911, 2854, 2838, 2744, 2667, 2649, 2198 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (300 MHz, CDCl₃) 4.41 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH₂), 2.55–2.43 (4H, m, 4-H₂ and 7-H₂), 1.86–1.72 (4H, m, 5-H₂ and 6-H₂); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (75 MHz, CDCl₃) 160.0, 132.4, 120.7, 115.5, 88.8, 24.6, 24.2, 23.4, 22.2; m/z (EI) 179 (6), 178 (49, M⁺), 177 (15), 151(10), 150 (100%).

4.1.1.3. Methyl 2-amino-4,5,6,7-tetrahydrobenzo[*b*]thiophene-3-carboxylate (1c). From cyclohexanone (29.4 g, 0.3 mol), methyl cyanoacetate (19.18 g, 0.2 mol), sulfur (6.40 g, 0.2 mol) and diethylamine (8.50 g, 0.1 mol), the reaction was conducted for 9.5 h. The precipitate was crystallized from methanol/water (75:25) to give the *title* compound **1c** (29.34 g, 70%) as yellow powder; mp 128–130 °C (lit.,¹² 127–128 °C from methanol) [Found: C, 56.92; H, 6.20; N, 6.62; S, 15.27. C₁₀H₁₃NO₂S requires C, 56.87; H, 6.16; N, 6.64; S, 15.17%]; ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3421, 3315, 3157, 3013, 2929, 2837, 1653 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (300 MHz, CDCl₃) 5.95 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH₂), 3.78 (3H, s, OMe), 2.70–2.63 (2H, m, 7-H₂), 2.52–2.46 (2H, m, 4-H₂), 1.81–1.68 (4H, m, 6-H₂ and 5-H₂); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (75 MHz, CDCl₃) 166.5, 161.9, 132.5, 117.7, 105.7, 50.6, 26.9, 24.6, 23.3, 22.8; *m/z* (EI) 212 (7), 211 (52, M⁺), 183 (3), 181 (6), 180 (16), 179 (100%).

4.1.1.4. Ethyl 2-amino-4,5,6,7-tetrahydrobenzo[b]thiophene-3-carboxylate (1d). From cyclohexanone (29.4 g, 0.3 mol) ethylcyanoacetate (11.30 g, 0.1 mol), sulfur (3.20 g, 0.1 mol) and piperidine (4.25 g, 0.05 mol), the reaction lasted for 9 h and the precipitate was crystallized from 50% aqueous ethanol to give the *title compound* 1d (15.76 g, 70%) as yellow powder, mp 117-118 °C (lit.,¹⁰ 115 °C from methanol) [Found: C, 58.63; H, 6.60; N, 6.30; S, 14.35. C₁₁H₁₅NO₂S requires C, 58.67; H, 6.67; N, 6.22; S, 14.22%]; v_{max} (potassium bromide) 3405, 3300, 3230, 3167, 3077, 2986, 2939, 2886, 2855, 2841, 1643 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ $(300 \text{ MHz}, \text{CDCl}_3)$ 5.97 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH₂), 4.24 (2H, q, J 7.1 Hz, OCH₂CH₃), 2.71–2.66 (2H, m, 7-H₂), 2.49–2.45 (2H, m, 4-H₂), 1.79–1.67 (4H, m, 6-H₂ and 5-H₂), 1.37 (3H, t, J 7.1, OCH₂CH₃); δ_C (75 MHz, CDCl₃) 166.2, 161.8, 132.5, 117.6, 105.8, 59.4, 27.0, 24.6, 23.32, 22.9, 14.5; m/z (EI) 227 (5), 226 (11), 225 (70, M⁺), 197 (3), 181(10), 180 (29), 179 (100%).

2-Amino-4,5,6,7-tetrahydrobenzo[b]thio-4.1.1.5. phene-3-carboxamide (1e). From cyclohexanone (3.92 g, 40 mmol), cyanoacetamide (3.36 g, 80 mmol), sulfur (1.28 g, 40 mmol) and piperidine (2.92 g, 35 mmol), the reaction was carried out for 7 h and the precipitate was crystallized from 50% aqueous ethanol to give the *title compound* 1e (3.54 g, 45% based on the nitrile) as yellow powder, mp 180-181 °C (lit.,¹⁰ 189–190 °C from methanol) [Found: C, 55.04; H, 6.08; N, 14.15; S, 16.40. C₉H₁₂N₂OS requires C, 55.10; H, 6.12; N, 14.27; S, 16.34%]; v_{max} (potassium bromide) 3482, 3387, 3305, 3153, 2939, 1642, 1311, 1281, 1258, 1185 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (300 MHz, CDCl₃) 5.55 (4H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH₂), 2.39–2.33 (4H, m, 4-H₂ and 7-H₂), 2.28–2.26 (4H, m, 5-H₂ and 6-H₂); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (75 MHz, CDCl₃) 168.4, 160.6, 129.2, 117.7, 107.1, 26.8, 24.4, 22.8, 22.8; m/z (EI) 198 (4), 197 (9), 196 (67, M⁺), 181 (8), 180 (17), 179 (100%).

4.1.1.6. 2-Amino-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4*H***-cyclohepta-[***b***]thiophene-3-carbonitrile (1f). From cycloheptanone (16.8 g, 150 mmol), malononitrile (6.6 g, 100 mmol), sulfur (3.2 g, 100 mmol) and piperidine (4.25 g, 50 mmol) in ethanol, the reaction lasted for 6 h. Crystallization from 50% aqueous ethanol gave the** *title compound* **1f** (12.09 g, 67% based on the nitrile) as brown powder, mp 115–117 °C (lit.,¹³ 114 °C from ethanol) [Found: C, 62.38; H, 6.21; N, 14.39; S, 16.86. C₁₀H₁₂N₂S requires C, 62.50; H, 6.25; N, 14.58; S, 16.67%]; ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3445, 3310, 3208, 2927, 2840, 2205 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (300 MHz, CDCl₃) 4.57 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH₂), 2.68–2.60 (4H, m, 8-H₂), 2.59–2.51 (2H, m, 4-H₂), 1.86–1.78 (1H, m, 7-H₂), 1.68–1.65 (2H, m, 5-H₂), 1.64–1.60 (2H, m, 6-H₂); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (75 MHz, CDCl₃) 158.1, 136.9, 123.8, 115.9, 91.9, 31.9, 29.4, 29.2, 28.1, 27.3; m/z (EI) 194 (5), 193 (15), 192 (100%, M⁺).

4.1.1.7. 2-Amino-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4*H***-cyclohepta-[***b***]thiophene-3-carboxamide (1g). From cycloheptanone (5.60 g, 50 mmol), cyanoacetamide (4.2 g, 50 mmol), sulfur (1.6 g, 50 mmol) and piperidine (4.25 g, 50 mmol) in ethanol, the reaction was conducted for 5 h and the resulting precipitate was crystallized from 50% aqueous ethanol to give the** *title compound* **1g (5.01 g, 48% based on the nitrile) as red powder, mp 154–156 °C (lit.,¹⁴ 183–186 °C from ethanol); \nu_{max} (potassium bromide) 3375, 3198, 2915, 2844, 1630 cm⁻¹; \delta_{\rm H} (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 6.79 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, CON***H***₂), 6.02 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, N***H***₂), 2.68–2.48 (4H, m, 4-H₂ and 8-H₂), 1.73–1.50 (6H, m, 5-H₂, 6-H₂ and 7-H₂); \delta_{\rm C} (CDCl₃, 75 MHz) 167.9, 153.6, 136.4, 120.1, 113.5, 31.7, 28.6, 28.3, 27.8, 27.2;** *m/z* **(EI) 210 (44, M⁺), 194 (14), 193 (100), 192 (7), 178 (4), 172 (4), 166 (4), 165 (19), 164 (11), 45 (4), 44 (4%).**

4.1.1.8. 3-Amino-4H-thieno[3,4-c](2H)chromen-4one (9). A mixture of o-hydroxyacetophenone (27.2 g, 200 mmol), sulfur (6.4 g, 200 mmol) and ethylcyanoacetate (22.6 g, 200 mmol), or methyl cyanoacetate (19.8 g, 200 mmol), respectively in methanol (200 mL) in the presence of morpholine or diethylamine, was stirred for 24 h. The precipitate was crystallized from benzene to give the title compound 9 (16 g, 37%) as yellow powder, mp 197-199 °C (lit., ^{15a,b} 198–199 °C from benzene) [Found: C, 61.17; H, 3.36; N, 6.49; S, 14.45. C₁₁H₇NO₂S requires C, 60.83; H, 3.23; N, 6.45; S, 14.75%]; ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3449, 3407, 3343, 3101, 1687 cm⁻¹; δ_{H} (DMSO- d_6 , 300 MHz) 7.86 (6-H, dd, J 8.0, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.78 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH₂), 7.35 (1H, ddd, J 8.0, 7.4, 1.8 Hz, 7-H), 7.21 (1H, d, J 7.0 Hz, 9-H), 7.19 (1H, ddd, J 8.2, 7.6, 1.2 Hz, 8-H), 6.88 (1H, s, 1-H); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (DMSO- d_6 , 75 MHz) 166.6 (C-3), 158.9 (C-2), 151.0, 130.9, 129.3, 124.4, 123.9, 118.1, 117.1, 98.1, 97.54; m/z (EI) 219 (6), 218 (13), 217 (100%, M⁺).

4.1.1.9. 3-Acetamido-4H-thieno[3,4-c](2H)chromen-4-one (18). From 9 (2.17 g, 10 mmol) and acetic acid anhydride (20 mL) in pyridine at room temperature, the reaction lasted for 48 h and the precipitate was crystallized from pyridine to give the *title compound* **18** (2.21 g, 85%) as yellow crystals, mp 268-270 °C [Found: C, 60.19; H, 3.50; N, 5.57; S, 12.44. C₁₃H₉NO₃S requires C, 60.23; H, 3.47; N, 5.41; S, 12.36%]; ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3465, 3299, 3100, 1678 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6 , 300 MHz) 10.9 (1H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH), 8.03 (1H, dd, J 7.7, 1.6 Hz, 6-H), 7.69 (1H, s, 1-H), 7.44 (1H, ddd, J 7.0, 6.9, 1.6 Hz, 7-H), 7.34 (1H, dd, J 7.9, 1.2 Hz, 9-H), 7.32 (1H, ddd, J 7.5, 7.2, 1.4 Hz, 8-H), 2.33 (3H, s, CH₃); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (DMSO- d_6 , 75 MHz) 168.8, 158.6, 150.2, 149.9, 130.1, 129.8, 125.1, 124.3, 117.3, 117.1, 108.6, 105.8, 23.2; m/z (EI) 260 (4), 259 (25, M⁺), 219 (6), 218 (14), 217 (100), 189 (4), 44 (12), 43 (23%).

4.1.1.10. 2-Amino-4-(dicyanomethylene)-4H-indeno[2, 3-b]thiophene-1-carbonitrile (17). From indan-1,3-dione (1.46 g, 10 mmol), malononitrile (1.32 g, 20 mmol), sulfur (0.32 g, 20 mmol) and diethylamine (1.46 g, 20 mmol) in dioxane, the reaction was conducted for 6 h and the resulting precipitate was crystallized from dioxane to give the *title compound* **17** (1.84 g, 67%) as deep blue powder, mp>350 °C [Found: C, 65.53; H, 2.24; N, 20.30; S, 11.73. C₁₅H₆N₄S requires C, 65.69; H, 2.19; N, 20.44; S, 11.68%]; $\nu_{\rm max}$ (potassium bromide) 3365, 3182, 2951, 2855, 2219 cm⁻¹; $\lambda_{\rm max}$ (dioxane) (log ε) 240 (4.32), 280 (4.14), 380 (4.14), 540 nm (3.78); $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO-*d*₆, 300 MHz) 9.24 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, N*H*₂), 7.71 (1H, d, *J* 6.9 Hz, 5-H), 7.35 (1H, ddd, *J* 7.4, 7.3, 1.1 Hz, 6-H), 7.29 (1H, dd, *J* 7.54, 1.25 Hz, 8-H), 7.23 (1H, ddd, *J* 7.7, 7.0, 0.7 Hz, 7-H); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (DMSO-*d*₆, 75 MHz) 176.2, 154.9, 153.9, 137.6, 134.8, 132.1, 129.5, 123.8, 120.1, 114.9, 114.1, 113.9, 113.0, 80.3, 63.8; *m/z* (EI) 275 (35, MH⁺), 274 (100%, M⁺).

4.1.2. Variant B (two-step procedure)^{7–11}. Compounds $4^{15a,b}_{,15a,b}$ **9**^{15a,b} and **10** were prepared according to the two-step procedure of the Gewald method, in the reported yields.

4.1.2.1. 3-Amino-4-imino-4H-thieno[3,4-c](2H)chromene (4). Yellowish powder from benzene, mp 158-160 °C, from xylene (lit.,^{15a,b} 152 °C from xylene) [Found: C, 61.07; H, 3.74; N, 12.97; S, 14.79. C₁₁H₈N₂OS requires C, 61.09; H, 3.73; N, 12.95; S, 14.83%]; v_{max} (potassium bromide) 3382, 3276, 3108, 3057, 1630, 1589, 1475, 1355, 1292, 1179, 1099, 932, 877, 792 cm⁻¹; λ_{max} (dioxane) $(\log \varepsilon)$ 200 (4.88), 228 (5.31), 267 (5.37), 305 nm (4.80); $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6 , 300 MHz) 7.87 (1H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, =NH), 7.77 (1H, dd, J 7.7, 1.6 Hz, 9-H), 7.69 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH₂), 7.26 (1H, ddd, J 8.1, 7.0, 1.6 Hz, 7-H), 7.1 (1H, ddd, J 14.4, 8.2, 1.3 Hz, 8-H), 7.1 (1H, dd, J 8.1, 1.1 Hz, 6-H), 6.8 (1H, s, 1-H); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (DMSOd₆, 75 MHz) 160.7, 155.1, 150.7, 129.7, 129.0, 123.9, 123.5, 118.3, 116.3, 99.7, 97.2; m/z (EI) 218 (6), 217 (16), 216 (M⁺, 100), 215 (33), 199 (5), 77 (7%).

4.1.2.2. 3-Amino-4H-benzo[f]thieno[3,4-*c***](2***H***)chromen-4-one (10). Yellow prisms from benzene, mp 235–237 °C [Found: C, 67.36, H, 3.43; N, 5.28; S, 11.90. C₁₅H₉NO₂S requires C, 67.42; H, 3.37; N, 5.24; S, 11.99%]; \nu_{\text{max}} (potassium bromide) 3439, 3335, 3137, 1690 cm⁻¹; \delta_{\text{H}} (DMSO-d_{6}, 300 MHz) 8.69 (1H, d,** *J* **8.5 Hz, 6-H), 8.33 (2H, br dd,** *J* **8.1, 1.2 Hz, H-8 and H-11), 7.93 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH₂), 7.68 (1H, ddd,** *J* **8.5, 7.0, 1.5 Hz, 10-H), 7.55 (1H, ddd,** *J* **7.5, 7.4, 0.8 Hz, 9-H), 7.40 (1H, d,** *J* **8.9 Hz, 7-H), 7.33 (1H, s, 1-H); \delta_{\text{C}} (DMSO-d_{6}, 75 MHz) 165.8, 159.0, 150.4, 130.8, 130.5, 129.6, 129.4, 129.3, 128.3, 125.3, 124.5, 117.9, 111.6, 101.2, 99.4;** *m/z* **(EI) 269 (6, MH[±]₂), 268 (17, MH⁺), 267 (100%, M⁺).**

4.1.2.3. 3-Acetamido-4H-benzo[f]thieno[3,4-c](2H)chromen-4-one (21). Compound **10** (0.224 g, 0.84 mmol) was treated with acetic acid anhydride (3.5 mL) in pyridine at room temperature for 48 h and gave the *title compound* **21** after crystallization from pyridine (0.13 g, 85%) as yellow prisms, mp 286–288 °C [Found: C, 66.17; H, 3.62; S, 4.53; S, 10.26. C₁₇H₁₁NO₃S requires C, 66.02; H, 3.56; N, 4.53; S, 10.36%]; ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3445, 3272, 1696, 1671 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (DMSO- d_6 , 300 MHz) 10.98 (1H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, N*H*), 8.82 (1H, d, *J* 8.42 Hz, 6-H), 8.0 (2 H, br d, *J* 8.5 Hz, 8-H and 11-H), 7.75 (1H, dd, *J* 7.8, 7.7 Hz, 10-H), 7.61 (1H, dd, *J* 7.4, 7.3 Hz, 9-H), 7.51 (1H, d, *J* 8.8 Hz, 7-H), 8.09 (1H, s, 1-H), 2.36 (3H, s, COMe); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (DMSO- d_6 , 75 MHz) 168.2, 158.3, 149.2, 149.2, 130.8, 130.6, 129.1, 129.0, 128.4, 128.2, 125.3, 124.2, 117.4, 111.2, 110.6, 106.6, 22.9; *m*/*z* (EI) 311 (4), 310 (11), 309 (M⁺, 54), 269 (6), 268 (19), 267 (100), 44 (6%).

4.1.3. Reactions of 2-aminothiophenes with acetylenic reagents general procedure. An equimolar amount (1–2.5 mmol, if not specified otherwise) of the 2-aminothiophene and the electron poor acetylene in the given solvent was refluxed with magnetic stirring for 3–10 h (if not specified otherwise). The reaction mixture was worked up as usual and the product was purified as described for each particular substance. The unoptimized yields are based on the amounts of reacted 2-aminothiophene.

4.1.3.1. Dimethyl (E,Z){N-[2-(3-methoxycarbonyl-5,6dihydro-4*H*-cyclopenta[*b*]thienyl)]amino}butenedioate (2a). From a mixture of 1a (0.50 g, 2.5 mmol) and DMAD, (1.42 g, 10 mmol) in methanol, the reaction was conducted for 9.5 h and the precipitate was crystallized from methanol to give the title compound 2a (700 mg, 81%) as yellow needles, mp 94-96 °C. The remaining oily fraction was discarded analyzed [Found: C, 53.01; H, 4.90; N, 3.98; S, 9.30. C₁₅H₁₇NO₆S requires C, 53.10; H, 5.01; N, 4.13; S, 9.44%]; v_{max} (potassium bromide) 3444, 3150, 3023, 2947, 2860, 1731, 1697, 1685 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 11.56 (1H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH), 5.44 (1H, s, =CH), 3.87 (3H, s, OMe), 3.86 (3H, s, OMe), 3.78 (3H, s, OMe), 2.91-2.81 (2H, m, 4'-H₂), 2.79–2.76 (2H, m, 6'-H₂), 2.39–2.29 (2H, m, 5'-H₂); δ_C (CDCl₃, 75 MHz) 168.3, 164.8, 164.1, 154.8, 144.6, 143.4, 128.4, 110.1, 96.8, 53.2, 51.6, 51.5, 30.6, 29.1, 27.4; *m/z* (EI) 342 (7), 340 (18), 339 (100, M⁺), 44 (3%).

4.1.3.2. Dimethyl (E,Z)-2{N-[2-(3-cyano-4,5,6,7-tetrahydrobenzo[b]thienyl)]amino}butenedioate (2b). From 1b (450 mg, 2.5 mmol) and DMAD (1.42 g, 10 mmol) in methanol, the reaction was carried out for 9 h. The reaction mixture was concentrated in vacuo and the resulting oily residue was kept in the refrigerator for few days. Crystallization of the solid from methanol gave the title compound 2b (273 mg, 34%) as yellow needles, mp 117-118 °C. The mother liquor was discarded [Found: C, 56.14; H, 4.92; N, 8.67; S, 10.25. C₁₅H₁₆N₂O₄S requires C, 56.25; H, 5.00; N, 8.75; S, 10.00%]; v_{max} (potassium bromide) 3447, 3187, 3095, 2950, 2935, 2859, 2212, 1734, 1672 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 9.90 (1H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH), 5.69 (1H, s, (COOMe)CH=), 3.83 (3H, s, COOMe), 3.77 (3H, s, COOMe), 2.63–2.57 (4H, m, 4'-H₂ and 7'-H₂), 1.87–1.78 (4H, m, 5'-H₂ and 6'-H₂); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CDCl₃, 75 MHz): 169.5, 162.8, 150.3, 146.1, 133.8, 130.2, 102.0, 97.5, 53.2, 51.7, 24.5, 24.4, 23.0, 22.0; m/z (EI) 322 (4), 321 (9), 320 $(51, M^+), 289 (10), 288 (44), 262 (10), 261 (37), 260 (100),$ 59 (5), 45 (3), 32 (46%).

4.1.3.3. Dimethyl (*E*,*Z*)-2-{*N*-[2-(3-methoxycarbonyl-**4,5,6,7-tetrahydrobenzo**[*I*]thienyl)]amino}butenedioate (**2c**). From a mixture of **1c** (0.53 g, 2.5 mmol) and DMAD (1.42 g, 10 mmol) in methanol, the reaction lasted for 10 h and the resulting precipitate was crystallized from aqueous methanol to afford the *title compound* **2c** (742 mg, 84%) as yellow needles, mp 107–109 °C. The mother liquor was discarded. [Found: C, 54.35; H, 5.42; N, 3.95; S, 9.34. $C_{10}H_{13}NO_2S$ requires C, 54.39; H, 5.38; N, 3.97; S, 9.07%]; ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3450, 3269, 3130, 3034, 3000, 2948, 2844, 1735, 1681 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 11.62 (1H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH), 5.43 (1H, s, 3-H), 3.88 (3H, s, OMe), 3.87 (3H, s, OMe), 3.78 (3H, s, OMe), 2.77–2.63 (2H, m, 7'-H₂), 2.59–2.55 (2H, m, 4'-H₂), 1.83–1.71 (4H, m, 6'-H₂ and 5'-H₂); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CDCl₃, 75 MHz) 168.3, 165.0, 164.3, 150.4, 145.0, 133.4, 124.5, 113.2, 97.1, 53.3, 51.6, 51.4, 26.6, 24.7, 23.0, 22.6; *m/z* (EI) 353 (64, M⁺), 321 (32), 293 (21), 234 (100), 44 (4%).

4.1.3.4. (E or Z) Dimethyl 2-{N-[2-(3-ethoxycarbonyl-4,5,6,7-tetrahydrobenzo[b]thienyl)]amino}butenedioate (2d). A mixture of 1d (0.56 g, 2.5 mmol) and DMAD (1.42 g, 10 mmol) in methanol gave after 10 h of reaction a precipitate, which was crystallized from methanol to give the *title compound* **2d** (3.43 g, 38%) as yellow needles, mp 82–84 °C. The oily mother liquor was discarded. [Found: C, 55.60; H, 5.60; N, 3.84; S, 9.07. C₁₇H₂₁NO₆S requires C, 55.59; H, 5.72; N, 3.80; S, 8.72%]; ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3450, 3232, 3029–2843, 1736, 1673 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 11.56 (1H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH), 5.41 (1H, s, =CH), 4.35 (2H, q, J 7.1 Hz, OCH₂CH₃), 3.84 (3H, s, OMe), 3.75 (3H, s, OMe), 2.75-2.57 (2H, m, 7'-H₂), 2.56–2.53 (2H, m, 4'-H₂), 1.80–1.71 (4H, m, 6'-H₂ and 5'-H₂), 1.35 (3H, t, J 7.1 Hz, OCH₂CH₃); δ_C (CDCl₃, 75 MHz) 168.2, 164.6, 164.2, 150.3, 144.9, 133.3, 124.5, 113.5, 97.1, 60.3, 53.2, 51.5, 26.6, 24.6, 22.9, 22.6, 14.3; m/z (EI) 367 (95, M⁺), 335 (37), 307 (25), 276 (15), 262 (100%).

4.1.3.5. Methyl {N-[2-(3-aminocarbonyl-4,5,6,7-tetrahydrobenzo[b]thienyl)]}oxamate (3). From a mixture of 1e (0.50 g, 2.5 mmol) and DMAD (1.42 g, 10 mmol) in methanol, the reaction was carried out for 9 h and the resulting precipitate was crystallized from methanol to give the title compound 3 (95 mg, 13%) as yellowish powder, mp 218-220 °C. The remaining oilish mixture was not further analyzed [Found: C, 51.12; H, 4.98; N, 9.83; S, 11.50. C₁₂H₁₄N₂O₄S requires C, 51.06; H, 4.96; N, 9.93; S, 11.35%]; v_{max} (potassium bromide) 3499, 3331, 3265, 3211, 2953, 2836, 1729, 1693 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) 12.81 (1H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH), 7.65 (1H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH), 7.05 (1H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH), 3.84 (3H, s, COOMe), 2.72 (2H, m, 8'-H₂), 2.64 (2H, m, 5'-H₂), 1.73 (4H, m, 6'-H₂ and 7'-H₂); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (CDCl₃, 75 MHz) 167.2, 167.2, 159.7, 152.6, 140.9, 129.7, 128.1, 118.1, 53.7, 25.3, 24.1, 22.5, 22.4; m/z (EI) 283 (6, MH⁺), 282 (43, M⁺), 266 (9), 265 (61), 59 (6%).

4.1.4. Reactions with 1f,g. From 2.5 mmol of **1f** (or **1g**, respectively) and 1.42 g (10 mmol) of DMAD, the reactions in methanol gave after 9 h no new products.

4.1.4.1. Dimethyl 2-{3-[1,2-di(methoxycarbonyl)vinyl]amino-4-[1,2-di(methoxycarbonyl)vinyl]imino-4H-thieno-[3,4-c](2H)chromen-1-yl}butenedioate (5, *E*,Z-mixture). From a mixture of 4 (0.54 g, 2.5 mmol) and DMAD (3 mL, excess) in methanol, the reaction was conducted for 9 h. The solvent was evaporated in vacuo to give a crude material, which was kept in the freezer for few days. The resulting precipitate was crystallized from methanol to give the *title compound* 5 (704 mg, 44%) as orange powder, mp 165–167 °C

[Found: C, 54.20; H, 4.01; N, 4.38; S, 5.04. C₂₉H₂₆N₂O₁₃S requires C, 54.21; H, 4.05; N, 4.36; S, 4.98%]; v_{max} (potassium bromide) 3433, 2953, 1725, 1661 cm⁻¹; λ_{max} (THF) (log ε) 252 (3.28), 292 (3.19), 322 (3.11), 368 (3.06), 400 nm (3.01); $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz, CDCl₃) 12.16 (1H, br s, NH, D₂O-exchangeable), 11.81 (1H, br s, NH, D₂O-exchangeable), 7.46 (1H, dd, J 7.9, 1.3 Hz, 9-H), 7.40 (1H, ddd, J 8.0, 7.9, 1.5 Hz, 7-H), 7.35 (1H, s, olefinic H), 7.29 (1H, ddd, J 11.7, 8.9, 1.4 Hz, 8-H), 7.28 (1H, s, olefinic H), 7.25 (1H, dd, J 7.8, 1.1 Hz, 6-H), 7.12 (1H, ddd, J 7.7, 7.6, 1.0 Hz, 7-H), 7.08 (1H, dd, J 6.9, 1.0 Hz, 9-H), 7.05 (1H, dd, J 9.2, 2.1 Hz, 6H), 7.06 (1H, ddd, J 7.0, 6.2, 1.8 Hz, 8-H), 6.45 (1H, s, olefinic H), 6.35 (1H, s, olefinic H), 5.83 (1H, s, olefinic H), 5.66 (1H, s, olefinic H), 3.95 (3H, s, OMe), 3.90 (3H, s, OMe), 3.84 (3H, s, OMe), 3.75 (3H, s, OMe), 3.73 (s, 3H, OMe), 3.71 (3H, s, OMe), 3.70 (3H, s, OMe), 3.692 (3H, s, OMe), 3.689 (3H, s, OMe), 3.65 (3H, s, OMe); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (125 MHz, CDCl₃) 166.7, 166.3, 165.6, 165.5, 165.4, 164.7, 164.5, 164.3, 164.2, 163.8, 151.7, 150.5, 150.4, 150.3, 150.1, 148.9, 144.9, 144.6, 143.3, 142.2, 136.4, 136.3, 134.2, 133.6, 129.7, 129.3, 124.6, 124.5, 124.2, 116.9, 116.8, 112.8, 112.1, 101.8, 97.2, 128.1, 127.7, 117.9, 117.6, 112.4, 111.7, 107.9, 107.8, 53.6, 53.5, 53.3, 53.3, 52.9, 52.9, 52.5, 52.3, 51.7, 51.6, 51.5, 51.4; m/z (EI) 642 (27, M⁺), 585 (28), 583 (70), 552 (17), 551 (26), 425 (89), 366 (49), 334 (12), 307 (26), 248 (10), 154 (100), 59 (67), 44 (16%).

4.1.4.2. Tetramethyl 4-aza-7-oxabenz[*m*,*n*]anthracene-2,3,5,6-tetracarboxylate (7). The reaction of 4 (0.54 g, 2.5 mmol) and DMAD (3 mL, excess) in dioxane for 10 h, gave a mixture from which compound 5 (325 mg, 21%) gently separated on ice-cooling (freezer), for few days. The mother liquor residue was subjected to plc (solvent: hexane/ethyl acetate 7:3) to afford compound 8 (220 mg, 27%) as red needles (mp 201-203 °C from methanol); the *title compound* 7 (110 mg, 10%) as yellow needles (mp 268–270 °C, from aqueous DMF); compound 9 as yellow powder (mp 197-199 °C, from benzene) and the non-reacted DMAD [Found: C, 62.09; H, 4.13; N, 4.30. C₂₃H₁₇NO₉ requires C, 62.39; H, 3.98; N, 4.28%]; v_{max} (potassium bromide) 3005, 2953, 1746, 1726 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz, DMSO-d₆) 8.48 (1H, s, 1-H), 8.33 (1H, dd, J 8.5, 1.6 Hz, 8-H), 7.61 (1H, ddd, J 8.3, 7.3, 1.5 Hz, 9-H), 7.43 (1H, ddd, J 7.4, 7.3, 1.0 Hz, 10-H), 7.42 (1H, dd, J 9.4, 1.1 Hz, 11-H), 3.97 (3H, s, COOMe), 3.96 (3H, s, COOMe), 3.93 (3H, s, COOMe), 3.92 (3H, s, COOMe); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (125 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆) 166.1, 164.7, 164.6, 163.3, 156.3, 151.0, 149.8, 144.8, 132.2, 132.0, 131.0, 128.7, 125.8, 124.1, 118.4, 117.9, 117.6, 115.8, 109.7, 53.0, 52.9, 52.6, 52.3; m/z (EI) 451 (83, M⁺), 421 (10), 420 (39), 406 (8), 393 (4), 392 (13), 374 (6), 335 (100%).

4.1.4.3. Dimethyl 7-amino-6-oxo-6*H*-benzo[*c*](2*H*)chromen-8,9-dicarboxylate (8). [Found: C, 62.02; H, 3.98; N, 4.22. $C_{17}H_{13}NO_6$ requires C, 62.39; H, 3.98; N, 4.28%]; ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3415, 3311, 2958, 1740, 1710 cm⁻¹; δ_H (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆) 8.30 (1H, dd, *J* 8.1, 1.5 Hz, 4-H), 8.19 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH₂), 7.60 (1H, ddd, *J* 9.5, 8.0, 1.5 Hz, 3-H), 7.59 (1H, dd, *J* 6.9, 1.8 Hz, 1-H), 7.39 (s, 1H, 10-H), 7.37 (1H, ddd, *J* 7.9, 7.2, 1.1 Hz, 2-H), 3.86 (3H, s, COOMe), 3.80 (3H, s, COOMe); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (75 MHz, DMSO- d_6) 168.1, 166.6, 161.4, 152.1, 151.3, 141.1, 139.8, 132.4, 125.2, 124.9, 117.2, 117.1, 110.0, 107.4, 104.9, 53.0, 52.8; *m*/*z* (EI) 328 (19), 327 (100, M⁺), 238 (22), 44 (5%).

4.1.4.4. Dimethyl 2-(3-amino-4-oxo-4H-thieno[3,4c](2H)chromen-1-yl)butenedioate (12). Reacting 9 (0.54 g, 2.5 mmol) with DMAD (4 mL, excess) in methanol for 5 h, gave after concentration in vacuo, a crude material, which was crystallized from methanol to afford the title com*pound* **12** (570 mg, 64%) as red prisms, mp 154–156 °C. When the same reaction was conducted with the same inputs of starting materials in dioxane for 8 h, compound 12 separated from the reaction concentrate on ice-cooling (freezer), to give the *title compound* **12** (159 mg, 21%) as red prisms, mp 155–157 °C (from ethanol). [Found: C, 56.73; H, 3.68; N, 3.88; S, 8.93. C₁₇H₁₃NO₆S requires C, 56.82; H, 3.62; N, 3.90; S, 8.91%]; ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3438, 3331, 2956, 1722, 1704, 1617, 1584, 1482, 1384, 1264, 1129, 943, 888, 793 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (300 MHz, DMSO- d_6) 7.98 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH₂), 7.38 (1H, dd, J 8.03, 1.69 Hz, 6'-H), 7.37 (1H, ddd, J 7.2, 6.4, 1.7 Hz, 7'-H), 7.25 (1H, dd, J 8.6, 1.3 Hz, 9'-H), 7.16 (1H, ddd, J 8.2, 6.9, 1.5 Hz, 8'-H), 7.16 (1H, s, 3-H), 3.68 (3H, s, COOMe), 3.56 (3H, s, COOMe); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (75 MHz, DMSO- d_6) 166.3, 165.5, 158.8, 151.4, 136.1, 133.2, 129.7, 128.7, 124.5, 124.4, 118.1, 117.5, 105.1, 98.8, 53.5, 52.3; m/z (EI) 361 (7, MH⁺₂), 359 (33, M⁺), 301 (14), 300 (60), 299 (100), 285 (8), 268 (20), 257 (12), 242 (14), 241 (81), 240 (13), 186 (19), 59 (9), 44 (5%). On further cooling of the mother liquor in liquid nitrogen a precipitate was collected and crystallized from methanol to afford compound $\mathbf{8}$ (see above, 354 mg, 44%).

4.1.4.5. Dimethyl 2-(3-amino-4-oxo-4H-benzo[f]thieno[3,4-c](2H)chromen-1-yl)fumarate (13a). On reacting 10 (0.814 g, 3 mmol) with DMAD (5 mL, excess) in methanol for 10 h, a precipitate was obtained from the reaction concentrate after ice-cooling (freezer) for several days. Recrystallization from methanol gave the title compound 13a (777 mg, 62%) as red prisms, mp 171-173 °C. When the same quantities of 10 and DMAD were reacted for 8 hours in dioxane, compound 13a crystallized on cooling (upon storage in a freezer) the reaction concentrate after a few days. This crop was crystallited from ethanol to give 108 mg (26%) of red prisms, mp 174-176 °C [Found: C, 61.43; H, 3.75; N, 3.34; S, 7.84. C₂₁H₁₅NO₆S requires C, 61.61; H, 3.67; N, 3.42; S, 7.82%]; ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3440, 3334, 3055, 2939, 1723, 1705, 1592, 1427, 1332, 1263, 1113, 1079, 942, 874, 792 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (300 MHz, DMSO-d₆) 8.20 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH₂), 7.99 (1H, d, J 8.84 Hz, 6'-H), 7.93 (1H, dd, J 7.5, 1.9 Hz, 11'-H), 7.88 (1H, dd, J 8.3, 1.4 Hz, 8'-H), 7.46 (2H, br ddd, J 9.6, 6.9, 2.1 Hz, 9'-H and 10'-H), 7.43 (1H, dd, J 8.8, 1.3 Hz, 7'-H), 6.61 (1H, s, 3-H), 3.38 (3H, s, COOMe), 3.26 (3H, s, COOMe); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (75 MHz, DMSO- d_6) 167.2, 165.4, 164.9, 158.7, 150.3, 137.0, 132.4, 131.0, 130.6, 128.4, 128.1, 126.7, 126.5, 125.8, 125.4, 117.2, 112.6, 106.6, 101.1, 52.9, 51.6; m/z (EI) 409 (14, M⁺), 377 (17), 351 (15), 350 (53), 349 (100), 335 (11), 318 (18), 292 (19), 291 (90), 175 (18), 44 (9%). Further cooling of the mother liquor in liquid nitrogen and crystallization of the precipitate from ethanol gave 220 mg (58%) of compound **14** (see below) as yellow prisms, mp 187–189 °C. Analytical HPLC of **13a** using a Merck-Hitachi chromatograph, column length 250 mm, column diameter 5 mm, flow rate 1 mL/min, on chiral stationary phases Merck Chiraspher NT (5 μ m) with heptane/THF 50:50, 70:30, and 80:20 as well as Merck Whelk-01 (5 μ m) with hexane/2-propanol 95:5, 80:20 and 70:30, gave no separation.

Crystal structure analysis of **13a**: The crystallographic data (excluding structure factors) have been deposited at the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre as supplementary publication number CCDC 602732. Details will be published separately.

4.2. Acylations of 13a

4.2.1. Reaction with acetic acid anhydride.

4.2.1.1. Dimethyl 2-(3-acetamino-4-oxo-4H-benzo[f]thieno[3,4-c](2H)chromen-1-yl)fumarate (13b). A mixture of 13a (52 mg, 0.13 mmol) and acetic acid anhydride (3 mL) was treated with pyridine (4 mL) for 48 h at room temperature. Evaporation of the solvent in vacuo gave a crude material, which was crystallized from ethyl acetate to afford the *title compound* **13b** (56 mg, 98%) as yellow powder, mp 241-243 °C [Found: C, 60.98; H, 3.85; N, 3.10; S, 7.33. C₂₃H₁₇NO₇S requires C, 61.20; H, 3.77; N, 3.10; S, 7.10%]; v_{max} (potassium bromide) 3436, 3267, 2953, 1723, 1708, 1682 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz, DMSO- d_6) 11.03 (1H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH), 8.10 (1H, dd, J 7.4, 1.5 Hz, 11'-H), 7.86 (1H, d, J 8.7 Hz, 6'-H), 7.83 (1H, dd, J 7.3, 2.2 Hz, 8'-H), 7.46 (2H, br ddd, J 9.8, 7.7, 1.0 Hz, 9'-H and 10'-H), 7.43 (1H, d, J 8.8 Hz, 7'-H), 6.97 (1H, s, 3-H), 3.52 (3H, s, COOMe), 3.36 (3H, s, COOMe), 2.41 (3H, s, COMe); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (125 MHz, DMSO- d_6) 167.7, 165.0, 164.9, 160.2, 151.1, 149.5, 137.9, 130.9, 130.8, 130.3, 128.7, 128.4, 128.1, 126.6, 126.1, 125.6, 117.8, 117.2, 112.9, 108.8, 52.8, 52.0, 23.4; m/z (EI) 452 (4), 451 (17, M⁺), 421 (3), 420 (8), 419 (27), 409 (14), 378 (5), 377 (17), 393 (40), 391(86), 352 (6), 349 (100), 290 (17), 44 (6%).

4.2.2. Reaction with trifluoroacetanhydride.

4.2.2.1. Dimethyl 2-(3-trifluoroacetylamino-4-oxo-4Hbenzo[f]thieno[3,4-c](2H)chromen-1-yl)fumarate (13c). A stirred mixture of **13a** (52 mg, 0.13 mmol) and trifluoroacetic acid anhydride (3 mL) was heated to reflux for 24 h. After evaporating the solvent to dryness in vacuo, the resulting crude material was purified by plc (hexane/ethyl acetate 7:3) and crystallized from ethyl acetate to yield the title compound 13c (52 mg, 83%) as yellow powder, mp 154-156 °C [Found: C, 54.50; H, 2.70; N, 2.76; S, 6.41. C₂₃H₁₄NO₇SF₃ requires C, 54.65; H, 2.77; N, 2.77; S, 6.34%]; v_{max} (potassium bromide) 3438, 1727, 1700 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz, CDCl₃) 11.91 (1H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NHCOCF₃), 8.05 (1H, dd, J 9.2, 1.0 Hz, 11'-H), 7.91 (1H, d, J 8.8 Hz, 6'-H), 7.86 (1H, dd, J 8.8, 1.2 Hz, 8'-H), 7.49 (2H, br ddd, J 8.4, 7.0, 1.3 Hz, 9'-H and 10'-H), 7.47 (1H, d, J 8.9 Hz, 7'-H), 7.04 (1H, s, 3-H), 3.52 (3H, s, COOMe), 3.41 (3H, s, COOMe); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (125 MHz, CDCl₃) 165.0, 164.8, 160.0, 149.9, 147.6, 137.5, 131.6, 131.2, 131.2, 129.7, 128.7, 128.5, 127.1, 126.3, 126.1, 120.5, 117.4, 112.7, 112.0, 53.3, 52.3; m/z (EI) 505 (6, M⁺), 473 (11), 447(10), 446 (31), 445 (100), 387(30), 377 (17), 393 (40), 69 (6), 59 (4%).

4.2.3. Attempted reaction of 2-amino-4-(dicyanomethylene)-4*H*-indeno[2,3-*b*]thiophen-1-carbonitrile (17) with DMAD in methanol, ethanol or dioxane. Stirred mixtures of compound 17 (0.28 g, 1 mmol) and DMAD (3 mL) were successively heated to reflux in methanol, ethanol and dioxane for 9 h. Concentration in vacuo and subsequent crystallization of the resulting precipitates from dioxane gave deep blue powders (mp>350 °C), which were identified to be the starting material 17.

4.2.3.1. Dimethyl 7-(acetylamino)-5-oxobenz[c](2H)chromen-8,9-dicarboxvlate (19). From a mixture of compound 18 (0.26 g, 1 mmol) and DMAD (3 mL) in dioxane, the reaction was carried out for 8.5 h. On cooling, the precipitate was crystallized from ethanol to afford the title compound 19 (155 mg, 42%) as yellow needles, mp 204-206 °C [Found: C, 61.61; H, 4.15; N, 3.72. C₁₉H₁₅NO₇ requires C, 61.79; H, 4.07; N, 3.79%]; v_{max} (potassium bromide) 3431, 3273, 3066, 2953, 1740, 1725, 1671 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (300 MHz, DMSO- d_6) 10.50 (1H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH), 8.55 (1H, s, 10-H), 8.43 (1H, dd, J 8.6, 1.4 Hz, 4-H), 7.63 (1H, ddd, J 8.0, 7.5, 1.3 Hz, 3-H), 7.44 (1H, dd, J 8.1, 1.2 Hz, 1-H), 7.31 (1H, ddd, J 7.4, 7.3, 1.2 Hz, 2-H), 3.90 (3H, s, OMe), 3.75 (3H, s, OMe), 2.09 (3H, s, COMe); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (75 MHz, DMSO- d_6) 169.4, 158.6, 166.3, 158.5, 151.0, 138.6, 137.5, 132.3, 129.1, 125.3, 125.0, 124.7, 117.3, 119.6, 117.1, 116.7, 108.5, 53.4, 52.7, 23.6; m/z (EI) 369 (26, M⁺), 338 (18), 327 (100), 311 (16), 310 (80), 43 (13%).

4.2.3.2. Dimethyl 4-amino-5-oxo-5H-dibenzo[c,f]-(2H)chromen-2,3-dicarboxylate (14). From a mixture of compound 21 (0.31 g, 1 mmol) and DMAD (3 mL) in dioxane, the reaction was conducted for 8.5 h. Cooling to room temperature and subsequent crystallization of the resulting solid material from benzene afforded yellow crystals (160 mg), mp 284-286 °C, identified in all respects to the starting compound 21. The resulting mother liquor was diluted with acetone and separated by plc using hexane/ ethyl acetate 3:2 to afford the unreacted excess of DMAD and a brown amorphous substance, which was crystallized from ethanol to give 43 mg (11%) of yellow prisms (mp 180-182 °C), identified in all respects to the title compound 14, mp 183–185 °C from ethanol [Found: C, 66.65; H, 4.02; N, 3.69. C₂₁H₁₅NO₆ requires C, 66.84; H, 3.98; N, 3.71%]; ν_{max} (potassium bromide): 3443, 3339, 2953, 1735, 1709 cm⁻¹; δ_{H} (500 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆) 8.58 (1H, d, J 8.59 Hz, 12-H), 8.16 (1H, dd, J 8.8 Hz, 7-H), 8.11 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH₂), 8.09 (1H, br dd, J 8.1, 1.2 Hz, 9-H), 7.74 (1H, ddd, J 8.6, 7.1, 1.5 Hz, 11-H), 7.76 (1H, d, J 0.5 Hz, 1-H), 7.62 (1H, ddd, J 7.9, 7.0, 0.9 Hz, 10-H), 7.52 (1H, d, J 8.83 Hz, 8-H), 3.85 (3H, s, COOMe), 3.82 (3H, s, COOMe); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (125 MHz, DMSO- d_6) 167.7, 166.5, 160.9, 151.3, 150.6, 139.6, 139.6, 133.5, 131.3, 129.6, 128.7, 128.4, 125.8, 124.4, 116.8, 111.8, 111.5, 110.2, 105.8, 53.1, 52.7; m/z (EI) 378 (24), 377 (100, M⁺), 346 (24), 288 (12).

4.2.3.3. (E,Z) Methyl 3-[1-(3-amino-4-oxo-4*H*-thieno-[3,4-*c*](2*H*)chromenyl]propoate (24). From 9 (0.54 g, 2.5 mmol) and methyl propiolate (3 mL) in dioxane, the reaction was carried out for 5.5 h. Concentration in vacuo of the resulting solution to half of its volume gave a precipitate, which was crystallized from dioxane/ethyl acetate to afford

the *title compound* **24** (550 mg, 73%) as yellow powder, mp 302–304 °C [Found: C, 59.67; H, 3.72; N, 4.68; S, 10.67. C₁₅H₁₁NO₄S requires C, 59.80; H, 3.65; N, 4.65; S, 10.63%]; ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3387, 3281, 1717, 1696 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (300 MHz, DMSO- d_6) 8.37 (2H, br s, D₂O-exchangeable, NH₂), 8.21 (1H, dd, J 15.0, 3.3 Hz, 2-H), 7.91 (1H, d, J 8.1 Hz, 6'-H), 7.48 (1H, dd, J 7.9, 7.6 Hz, 7'-H), 7.36 (1H, d, J 7.9 Hz, 9'-H), 7.29 (1H, dd, J 8.2, 7.7 Hz, 8'-H), 5.87 (1H, dd, J 15.0, 3.1 Hz, 3-H), 3.72 (3H, s, OMe); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (75 MHz, DMSO- d_6) 166.4, 166.1, 158.3, 151.9, 135.4, 133.0, 130.4, 125.4, 124.8, 117.8, 117.6, 113.4, 111.6, 100.4, 51.2; *m*/z (EI) 303 (8), 302 (21), 301 (100, M⁺), 270 (32), 243 (22), 242 (96), 241 (87%).

4.2.3.4. Dimethyl 3,3'-[3-(4-oxo-4H-benzo[f]thieno-[3,4-c](2H)chromenyl)]aminodipropoate (E,Z-mixture) (26). The reaction in dioxane of a mixture of 10 (0.67 g, 10 g)2.5 mmol) with methyl propiolate (3 mL) gave after 7 h refluxing no new product. The starting compound was instead recovered after the usual work-up. From a mixture of 10 (0.54 g, 2 mmol) and methyl propiolate (3 mL) in toluene, the reaction was carried out for 8 h. Cooling to room temperature and subsequent crystallization of the solid from 10% aqueous DMF afforded the title compound 26 (617 mg, 70%) as yellow powder, mp 291–293 °C [Found: C, 63.45; H, 3.91; N, 3.22; S, 7.36. C₂₃H₁₇NO₆S requires C, 63.44; H, 3.94; N, 3.22; S, 7.36%]; v_{max} (potassium bromide) 3445, 3061, 2957, 1727, 1661 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (300 MHz, DMSO-d₆) 8.97 (1H, s, 1"-H), 8.88 (1H, d, J 8.31 Hz, 6"-H), 8.20 (2H, d, J 13.5 Hz, 3-H and 3'-H), 8.09 (2H, br d, 8"-H and 11"-H); 7.82 (1H, ddd, 10"-H, J 8.5, 6.9, 1.4 Hz), 7.65 (1H, dd, J 8.7, 7.2, 7.1 Hz, 9"-H), 7.53 (1H, d, J 8.9 Hz, 7"-H), 4.84 (2H, d, J 13.5 Hz, 2-H and 2'-H), 3.59 (6H, s, 2×COOMe); δ_C (75 MHz, DMSO-d₆) 166.4, 153.7, 149.9, 148.6, 143.8, 133.1, 131.1, 130.8, 129.3, 128.9, 128.6, 125.5, 124.1, 121.8, 121.6, 117.4, 110.5, 98.7, 50.7; m/z (EI) 437 (9), 436 (27), 435 (100, M⁺), 404 (11), 403 (12), 376 (27), 44 (7%).

4.2.3.5. (*E* or *Z*) Methyl 3-[1-(3-amino-4-oxo-4*H*-benzo[*f*]thieno[3,4-*c*](2*H*)chromenyl)]propenoate (27). From a mixture of 10 (401 g, 1.5 mmol) and methyl propiolate (3 mL) in methanol, the reaction was conducted for 7 h. Cooling at room temperature followed by crystallization of the precipitate from ethyl acetate gave the *title compound* 27 (35 mg, 7%) as yellow powder, mp 312–314 °C. The compound was not soluble enough in DMSO-*d*₆ to afford exploitable information from the NMR experiments. ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3406, 3289, 2957, 1710, 1681 cm⁻¹; *m*/*z* (EI) 351 (49, M⁺), 320 (6), 318 (4), 297 (7), 293 (21), 292 (100), 291 (36), 290 (3%).

4.2.3.6. Dimethyl 1-phenylnaphthalene-2,3-dicarboxylate (ethyl phenylethynecarboxylate dimer") (28). The reaction in methanol of a mixture of **10** (401 mg, 1.5 mmol) and ethyl phenylethynecarboxylate (3 mL) was successively conducted for 54 and 48 h, respectively, in methanol and toluene and gave no new product, but rather the starting material **10**. From a mixture of **10** (270 mg, 1 mmol) and ethyl phenylpropiolate (2 mL) in DMF, the reaction was carried out for 7 h. The reaction mixture was then concentrated in vacuo to half of its volume. The resulting precipitate was crystallized from 10% aqueous DMF to afford the *title compound* **28** (103 mg, 30%) as greenyellowish powder, mp 124–126 °C (lit.,^{16–18} 127–128 °C from petroleum ether). The mother liquor was discarded; ν_{max} (potassium bromide) 3064, 2977, 2929, 2903, 1715, 1661 cm⁻¹; $\delta_{\rm H}$ (300 MHz, CDCl₃) 8.60 (1H, s, 7-H), 8.01–7.26 (9H, m, aromatic H), 4.42 (2H, q, *J* 7.1 Hz, OCH₂), 4.06 (2H, q, OCH₂, *J* 7.2 Hz), 1.42 (3H, t, *J* 7.1 Hz, OCH₂CH₃), 0.97 (3H, t, OCH₂CH₃, *J* 7.1 Hz); $\delta_{\rm C}$ (75 MHz, CDCl₃) 168.8, 166.0, 138.6, 136.8, 134.1, 132.4, 131.4, 131.3, 130.4, 129.3, 128.9, 128.0, 127.4, 127.0, 61.6, 61.1, 14.3, 13.7; *m/z* (EI) 348 (97, M⁺), 320 (6), 304 (9), 290 (4), 277 (3), 276 (24), 275 (100, M–COOEt), 274 (4).

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (DAAD) for granting Dr. E. Sopbué Fondjo a Ph-D fellowship (Grant No. A/96/11507). Thanks are due to the administration of Gerhard-Mercaptor-Universität Duisburg for financial and technical assistance. E.S.F. also thanks very sincerely, through the Rector of the University of Dschang, the Ministry of higher education of the Republic of Cameroon for granting a leave to the above mentioned author, for the implementation of this work. Generous donation of chemicals by Fonds der Chemischen Industry is gratefully acknowledged.

References and notes

 Nyiondi-Bonguen, E.; Sopbué Fondjo, E.; Tanee Fomum, Z.; Döpp, D. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1994, 2191.

- Nyiondi-Bonguen, E.; Sopbué Fondjo, E.; Tanee Fomum, Z.; Döpp, D. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1996, 33, 281.
- (a) Sopbué Fondjo, E. Doctorat de^{3ème} Cycle thesis, University of Yaoundé I, 1993; (b) Sopbué-Fondjo, E. *Dissertation*, Gerhard-Mercaptor-Universität Duisburg, 2000.
- Al-Omran, F.; Khalik, M. M. A.; Al-Awadhi, H.; Elnagdi, M. H. *Tetrahedron* 1996, 52, 11915.
- Flemming, I. Grenzorbitale und Reaktionen organischer Verbindungen; VCH: Weinheim, Germany, 1990; pp 154–172.
- 6. Lert, P. W.; Trindle, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 93, 6392.
- Gewald, K.; Schinke, E.; Böttcher, H. Chem. Ber. 1996, 99, 94; Chem. Abstr. 1966, 64, 8118.
- 8. Gewald, K. Angew. Chem. 1961, 73, 114; Chem. Abstr. 1961, 55, 12383.
- 9. Gewald, K. Z. Chem. 1962, 2, 305; Chem. Abstr. 1963, 58, 6770.
- Gewald, K. Chem. Ber. 1965, 98, 3571; Chem. Abstr. 1966, 64, 3451.
- 11. Gewald, K.; Schinke, E. Chem. Ber. 1966, 99, 2712; Chem. Abstr. 1966, 65, 18548.
- 12. Reinecke, M. G.; Woodrow, Th. A.; Brown, E. S. J. Org. Chem. **1992**, *57*, 1018.
- Manhas, M. S.; Rao, V. V.; Seetheraman, P. A.; Succardi, D.; Pazdera, J. J. Chem. Soc. C 1969, 1937.
- 14. Elslager, E. F.; Jacob, P.; Werbel, L. M. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1972, 9, 775.
- (a) Ried, W.; Nyiondi-Bonguen, E. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1973, *1*, 134; (b) Nyiondi-Bonguen, E. Dissertation, Univ. Frankfurt/ Main, 1972.
- 16. Pfeiffer, P.; Möller, W. Chem. Ber. 1907, 40, 3841.
- 17. McCarthy, A. R.; Ollis, W. D.; Ramsden, C. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1974, 624.
- Faragher, R.; Gilchrist, T. L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1976, 336.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 7132-7139

Synthesis of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates based on a 'cyclization/hydrogenation/enzymatic kinetic resolution' strategy

Esen Bellur,^{a,b} Ilia Freifeld,^a Dominique Böttcher,^a Uwe T. Bornscheuer^{a,†} and Peter Langer^{b,c,*}

^aInstitut für Chemie und Biochemie, Universität Greifswald, Soldmannstr. 16, 17487 Greifswald, Germany ^bInstitut für Chemie, Universität Rostock, Albert-Einstein-Str. 3a, 18059 Rostock, Germany ^cLeibniz-Institut für Katalyse e. V. an der Universität Rostock, Albert-Einstein-Str. 29a, 18059 Rostock, Germany

> Received 8 March 2006; revised 20 March 2006; accepted 22 March 2006 Available online 19 May 2006

Abstract—A variety of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates and (pyrrolidin-2-yl)acetates have been prepared by hydrogenation of 2-alkylidenetetrahydrofurans and 2-alkylidenepyrrolidines, which are readily available by cyclization reactions of 1,3-dicarbonyl dianions ('free dianions') or 1,3-bis-silyl enol ethers ('masked dianions') with 1,2-dielectrophiles. The enzymatic kinetic resolution of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates with recombinant esterase Est56 proceeded with excellent enantioselectivities (E>100). © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Functionalized tetrahydrofurans occur in a variety of pharmacologically relevant natural products.^{1–4,6–8} (Tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates are present, for example, in the polyether antibiotics lasalocid A (Fig. 1),² ferensimycin A, B, and lysocellin (Fig. 2).³ They also represent versatile synthetic building blocks and have been used, for example, during the synthesis of the natural acetogenin solamin isolated from *Annonaceous*.⁴ Many acetogenins exhibit remarkable cytotoxic, antitumor, antimalarial, immunosuppressive, pesticidal, and antifeedant activities.¹

2-Alkylidenetetrahydrofurans^{5,6} represent important synthetic building blocks that have been used for the synthesis of natural products. Numerous synthetic transformations of 2-alkylidenetetrahydrofurans have been reported, which include, for example, cycloadditions, 5a-d nucleophilic addi-



Figure 1. Lasalocid A.



Figure 2. Ferensimycin A, B, and lysocellin.

tions, $^{5e-f}$ cyclopropanations, 5g oxidative carbonylations, $^{5h-j}$ and codimerizations. 5k The hydrogenation $^{5m,6h-i}$ of 2-alkylidenetetrahydrofurans has been applied to the synthesis of natural products, such as methyl nonactate, which represents a building block of nonactin.^{6,7} The spiroketal chalcogran has been prepared from a bicyclic 2-alkylidenetetrahydrofuran.⁸ In recent years, we and others have reported a number of one-pot syntheses of 2-alkylidenetetrahydrofurans by cyclization of 1,3-dicarbonyl dianions or 1,3-bis-silyl enol ethers with 1,2-dielectrophiles,9 and also by other methods.^{10c-f} 2-Alkylidenetetrahydrofurans have been functionalized by lithiation and subsequent alkylations;^{10a,b} in addition, the bromination of the exocyclic double bond and subsequent cross-coupling reactions have been reported.^{10g,h} Recently, we have reported the synthesis of 6-bromo-3oxoalkanoates and functionalized benzofurans by reaction of 2-alkylidenetetrahydrofurans with boron tribromide (BBr₃).¹¹ In addition, furans and benzofurans have been prepared by sequential '[3+2] cyclization/dehydrogenation'¹² and '[3+2] cyclization/elimination'¹³ reactions. Herein, we report a convenient approach to racemic (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates¹⁴ based on a '[3+2] cyclization/hydrogenation'

Keywords: Cyclizations; Tetrahydrofurans; Pyrrolidines; Enzymatic kinetic resolution; Hydrogenation.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 381 4986410; fax: +49 381 4986412; e-mail: peter.langer@uni-rostock.de

[†] Fax: +49 383 48680066; e-mail: uwe.bornscheuer@uni-greifswald.de.

strategy. In addition, we report the enzymatic kinetic resolution of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates. The novel recombinant esterase Est56, extracted from soil samples using the metagenome approach, and supplied by BRAIN AG (Zwingenberg, Germany) has been used for these transformations.^{15,16}

In the present manuscript, we also report the synthesis of an ethyl (pyrrolidin-2-yl)acetate by diastereoselective hydrogenation of an ethyl (4-methoxypyrrolidin-2-ylidene)acetate. 2-Alkylidenepyrrolidines^{17,18} represent direct precursors for the stereoselective synthesis of pyrrolidine substructures¹⁸ by reduction^{18f} of the exocyclic double bond. Pvrrolidines are present in a variety of alkaloids, such as hygrine, hygroline or cuskhygrin, and in non-natural products used in the clinic (e.g., the vasodilator buflomedil).¹⁸ They are ubiquitous structural motifs in drugs and drug candidates displaying antidepressant, ^{19a,b} antihypertensive, ^{19a,c} anti-arthritic, ^{19d,c} antibacterial, ^{19f-h} antithrombotic, ^{19i-k} and analgesic ^{191,m} activities. Recent drug development incorporating the pyrrolidine motif has identified candidates with promising anti-HIV^{19n,o} and antibacterial adjunct^{19p,q} activities. Numerous applications in the synthesis of natural products have been reported.²⁰ Recently, we have reported^{21a} the synthesis of 2-alkylidene-4-methoxypyrrolidines by condensation of 1,3-bis-silyl enol ethers with 1-azido-2,2dimethoxyethane, and cyclization by Staudinger-aza-Wittig reaction.^{21b}

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Synthesis of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates based on cyclizations of free dianions with 1-bromo-2-chloroethane (*method* A)

The Pd/C catalyzed hydrogenation of the known 2-alkylidenetetrahydrofurans **3a–d**, prepared by cyclization of dilithiated methyl, ethyl, *iso*-propyl and *tert*-butyl acetoacetate (**1a–d**) with 1-bromo-2-chloroethane,^{10a,b} afforded the (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates **5a–d** (Scheme 1, Table 1). 3-Methyl- and 3-ethyl-(tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates **5e** and **5f** were prepared by hydrogenation of the known 2-alkylidenetetrahydrofurans **3e** and **3f**, respectively. The latter are again available by cyclization of 1,3-dicarbonyl dianions **1e,f** with 1-bromo-2-chloroethane.^{10a,b} Tetrahydrofurans **5e,f** were



Scheme 1. Synthesis of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates **5a–g**: (i) (1) LDA (2.3 equiv), THF, 0 °C, 1 h, (2) Br(CH₂)₂Cl, $-78 \rightarrow 20$ °C, 14 h, then reflux, 12 h; (ii) H₂, Pd/C (0.5 equiv; for **5a**: 0.3 equiv), MeOH (or EtOH), 20 °C, 48 h.

Substrate (%) ^a	5	\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	R ³	% (5) ^a	dr ^b
3a (86) ^c	a	OMe	Н	Н	97	_
3b (79) ^c	b	OEt	Н	Н	100	
$3c(77)^d$	с	O ⁱ Pr	Н	Н	100	_
3d $(77)^{c}$	d	O'Bu	Н	Н	83	
3e $(72)^{c}$	e	OMe	Н	Me	89	6:5
3f $(82)^{c}$	f	OEt	Н	Et	95	6:5
$3g(58)^{c}$	g	OCH ₂ Cl	H_2	Н	86	3:2

^a Isolated yields.

^b Diastereomeric ratio, assignment arbitrary.

Known compounds (Ref. 10a,b).

^d Combined yield (Ref. 12).

isolated as inseparable 6:5 mixtures of diastereomers. The hydrogenation of tetrahydro[2,3']bifuranyliden-2'-one **3g**,^{10b} prepared by cyclization of dilithiated α -acetyl- γ -butyrolactone (**1g**) with 1-bromo-2-chloroethane, gave the octahydro[2,3']bifuranyl-2'-one **5g** as an inseparable 3:2 mixture of diastereomers.

2.2. Synthesis of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates based on cyclizations of masked dianions with 1-chloro-2,2-dimethoxyethane (*method B*)

The 4-methoxy-2-alkylidenetetrahydrofurans **4a,b** were prepared, following our recently reported procedure,¹³ by TMSOTf catalyzed condensation of 1,3-bis-silyl enol ethers **2a,c** (available from **1a,c** in two steps) with 1-chloro-2,2-dimethoxyethane and subsequent DBU-mediated cyclization (Scheme 2). The hydrogenation of **4a,b** afforded the (tetra-hydrofuran-2-yl)acetates **5a,c** by elimination of methanol and subsequent hydrogenation of the double bond thus formed (*method B*). For the synthesis of **5a,c**, *method A* is superior to *method B* because of the higher yields (*method A*: 83 and 77%; *method B*: 61 and 47%) and because less synthetic steps are required (*method A*: two steps; *method B*: five steps).



Scheme 2. Synthesis of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates 5a,c: (i) ClCH₂CH(OMe)₂, Me₃SiOTf (0.5 equiv), CH₂Cl₂, $-78 \rightarrow 20$ °C, 14 h, then at 20 °C, 2 h; (ii) DBU (2.0 equiv), THF, 20 °C, 6 h; (iii) H₂, Pd/C (0.5 equiv), MeOH, 20 °C, 48 h.

2.3. Synthesis of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates based on cyclizations of free dianions with 1,4-dibromobut-2-ene (*method C*)

The cyclization of dilithiated ethyl acetoacetate (**1b**) with 1,4-dibromobut-2-ene afforded, following a known procedure,^{10a} (5-vinyldihydrofuran-2(3*H*)-ylidene)acetate **6** as a separable mixture of E/Z isomers (Scheme 3).^{10h} The hydrogenation of **6** afforded the (5-ethyltetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetate **8a** by hydrogenation of the vinyl group and the exocyclic double bond.



Scheme 3. Synthesis of 8a: (i) (1) LDA (2.3 equiv), THF, 0 °C, 1 h, (2) BrCH₂CH=CHCH₂Br, $-78 \rightarrow 20$ °C, 14 h, then at 20 °C, 24 h; (ii) H₂, Pd/C (0.5 equiv), EtOH, 20 °C, 48 h.

2.4. Synthesis of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates based on cyclizations of masked dianions with epoxides (*method D*)

2-Alkylidenetetrahydrofurans **7a,b** were prepared, following a known procedure, ^{22a} by TiCl₄ mediated cyclization of 1,3-bis-silyl enol ethers **2a,b** with 1,2-epoxybutane and epichlorohydrin, respectively (Scheme 4, Table 2). The hydrogenation of **7a** afforded the tetrahydrofuran **8a** with moderate diastereoselectivity. The hydrogenation of **7b** afforded (5-chloromethyltetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetate **8b** with very good diastereoselectivity.



Scheme 4. Synthesis of 5-alkyl-(tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates 8a,b: (i) TiCl₄ (2 equiv), 4 Å MS, CH₂Cl₂, $-78 \rightarrow 20$ °C, 14 h, then at 20 °C, 3 h; (ii) H₂, Pd/C (0.5 equiv), MeOH (or EtOH), 20 °C, 48 h.

Table 2. Synthesis of 5-alkyl-(tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates (8a,b)

Substrate (%) ^a	8	R^1	\mathbb{R}^2	% (8) ^a	syn/anti ^b
7a (62) ^c	a	OEt	Et	70	3:1
7b (66)	b	OMe	CH ₂ Cl	100	>10:1

^a Isolated yields.

^b Diastereoselectivity (by ¹H NMR).

^c Known compound (Ref. 22a).

2.5. Synthesis of (pyrrolidin-2-yl)acetates based on [3+2] cyclizations of 1,3-bis-silyl enol ethers with 1-azido-2,2-dimethoxyethane

The ethyl (4-methoxypyrrolidin-2-ylidene)acetate **10** was prepared, following our recently reported procedure,^{21a} by TMSOTf catalyzed condensation of 1,3-bis-silyl enol ether **2b**, with 1-azido-2,2-dimethoxyethane and subsequent cyclization of **9** by Staudinger–aza-Wittig reaction. The palladium-catalyzed hydrogenation of **10** afforded ethyl (4-methoxypyrrolidin-2-yl)acetate (**11**) with 10:1 diastereo-selectivity (Scheme 5).



Scheme 5. Synthesis of **11**: (i) $N_3CH_2CH(OMe)_2$, Me_3SiOTf (0.5 equiv), CH_2Cl_2 , $-78 \rightarrow 20 \ ^\circ C$; (ii) PPh₃, THF, 45 $^\circ C$, 6 h; (iii) H_2 , Pd/C (0.5 equiv), EtOH, 20 $^\circ C$, 24 h.

2.6. Enzymatic kinetic resolution of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates

To monitor the enantioselectivity in the enzymatic kinetic resolution of the (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates, suitable conditions for gas chromatographic (GC) analysis were developed (Table 3).

The enzymatic kinetic resolutions of these (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates were next studied (Table 4). The analytical scale enzyme reactions of methyl and ethyl (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates (**5a**,**b**) were carried out with esterases¹⁵ (Est56, Est63, Est8) and lipases¹⁵ (CAL-B, BCL). For **5a**,**b**, the best resolution results were achieved with the recombinant esterase Est56.

Enzymatic kinetic resolution of **5a** with recombinant esterase Est56 gave (–)-**5a** (40%, >99% ee) and the hydrolysis product (–)-**12** (49%, 87% ee) (Scheme 6, Table 5, entry 4). The preparative scale reaction of **5a** with Est56 was repeated

 Table 3. GC analysis of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates

Substrate	Temperature (°C)		Retention time (min) ^a				
		Substr	Substrate (ester)		ct (acid) ^{b,c}		
5a	70	18.2	18.8	18.2	18.8		
5b	70	29.7	30.5	18.2	18.8		

^a Chiral column: Hydrodex[®]-β-3P, [Heptakis-(2,6-di-O-methyl-3-O-pentyl)-β-cyclodextrin].

^b Product of enzyme reactions.

^c Retention times for methyl ester of hydrolysis products [acid+diazomethane→methyl ester].

Table 4. Analytical scale enzymatic kinetic resolution reactions

Enzyme	Substrate	Conversion (%)	Reaction time (h)	$\substack{eeS\\(\%)^{a,b}}$	$\substack{eeP\\(\%)^{a,c}}$	E- value
Est56	5a	59	49	>99	70	48
Est56	5b	60	53	88	67	15
Est63	5a	30	49	33	75	9
Est8	5a	18	48	3	2	1
Est8	5b	5	48	<1	11	1
CAL-B	5a	95	1	_	_	1
CAL-B	5b	95	1	_	_	1
BCL	5a	35	48	19	35	2
BCL	5b	40	48	23	33	2

eeS: enantiomeric excess of substrate; eeP: enantiomeric excess of product. ^a Calculated from gas chromatograms (GC).

^b For (-)-5a.

^c For (–)-12.

five times and optimized, which finally led to conditions in which excellent enantioselectivities (E>100) at high conversions and short reaction times were obtained. The resolution reaction of racemic **5a** with Est56 afforded *both* products with negative (–) optical rotation values. Unfortunately, the absolute configurations of (–)-**5a** and (–)-**12** could *not* be determined by comparison with literature results: Laxmi and Iyengar reported²³ that the lipase (*Candida cylindracea*) mediated enantioselective hydrolysis of **5a** afforded (S)-(+)-**5a** and (R)-(–)-**12**, which were used for the synthesis of the natural product (R)-(+)- α -lipoic acid. Co-injection (GC) of (–)-**5a** and (–)-**12** proved that the products have different configurations.



Scheme 6. Enzymatic kinetic resolution of **5a**: (i) (Table 5, entry 4) recombinant esterase Est56, phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 7.5), 37 $^{\circ}$ C, 5 h, the assignment of the absolute configuration is arbitrary.

In conclusion, a variety of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates have been prepared by hydrogenation of 2-alkylidenetetrahydrofurans readily available by [3+2] cyclizations of 1,3dicarbonyl dianions ('free dianions') or 1,3-bis-silyl enol ethers ('masked dianions') with various 1,2-dielectrophiles. Similarly, (4-methoxypyrrolidin-2-yl)acetate has been prepared from 2-alkylidenepyrrolidin. Enzymatic kinetic

Table 5. Preparative scale enzymatic reactions

Entry	Est56 ^a (mL)	5a (mg)	Conversion (%)	Time (h)	eeS $(\%)^{b,c}$	eeP (%) ^{b,d}	<i>E</i> -value
1	2	200	35	216	38	71	9
2	1	4×20	39	187	47	75	11
3	2	50	54	22	>99	83	73
4	1.5	50	54	5	>99	87	>100
5	2	50	54	3	>99	84	100

eeS: enantiomeric excess of substrate; eeP: enantiomeric excess of product. ^a Crude extract with 50 U/mL (based on a *p*-nitrophenyl acetate assay). resolution of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates by recombinant esterase Est56 proceeded with excellent enantioselectivity affording these compounds in optically pure form.

3. Experimental

3.1. General comments

All solvents were dried by standard methods and all reactions were carried out under an inert atmosphere. For the ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra the deuterated solvents indicated were used. The NMR spectra were measured on 300 and 200 MHz instruments. Mass spectral data (MS) were obtained by electron ionization (EI, 70 eV), chemical ionization (CI, H₂O or DCI, NH₃) or electrospray ionization (ESI). For preparative scale chromatography silica gel (60–200 mesh) was used. Chiral column used for GC: Hydrodex[®]- β -3P, [Heptakis-(2,6-di-*O*-methyl-3-*O*-pentyl)- β cyclodextrin] (25 m, 0.25 mm).

3.2. General procedure for the reaction of 1,3-bis-silyl enol ethers with epoxides

To a CH₂Cl₂ solution (4 mL/mmol) of 1,3-bis-silyl enol ether **2** (1.0 equiv) and the epoxide (1.2 equiv), in the presence of molecular sieves (4 Å), was added TiCl₄ (2.0 equiv) at -78 °C. The solution was stirred for 4 h at -78 °C; subsequently, the temperature was allowed to rise to 20 °C during 14 h and the solution was stirred for 3 h at 20 °C. The molecular sieves were filtered-off and washed with CH₂Cl₂. To the solution was added a saturated aqueous solution of NaHCO₃, the organic layer was separated and the aqueous layer was repeatedly extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The combined organic extracts were dried (Na₂SO₄), filtered, and the filtrate was concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel, *n*-hexane/EtOAc) to give **7**. The synthesis of **7a** has been previously reported.^{22a}

3.2.1. Methyl (5-chloromethyldihydrofuran-2(3H)-ylidene) acetate (7b). Starting with 2a (7.814 g, 30 mmol), epichlo-36 mmol) and $TiCl_4$ (6.6 mL, rohydrin (2.82 mL, 60 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (250 mL, 4 Å molecular sieves), 7b was isolated after chromatography (silica gel, n-hexane/ EtOAc=100:1 \rightarrow 1:1) as a yellowish oil (3.764 g, 66%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz): $\delta = 1.97 - 2.06$ (m, 1H, CH₂), 2.23-2.32 (m, 1H, CH₂), 3.00-3.13 (m, 1H, CH₂), 3.25-3.38 (m, 1H, CH₂), 3.64 (d, J=5.1 Hz, 2H, CH₂-Cl), 3.67 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 4.62–4.70 (m, 1H, OCH), 5.35 (t, J=1.8 Hz, 1H, CH=C). IR (neat, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ =2987 (w), 2954 (m), 1704 (s), 1642 (s), 1439 (s), 1365 (s), 1295 (m), 1246 (m), 1189 (s), 1121 (s), 1047 (s), 942 (w), 880 (w), 828 (m), 727 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%)=192 (M⁺ [³⁷Cl], 5), 190 (M⁺ [³⁵Cl], 17), 161 (16), 159 (49), 155 (2), 141 (4), 123 (10), 109 (5), 69 (100). HRMS (ESI): Calcd for C₈H₁₁ClO₃ [M⁺]: 192.9885 (³⁷Cl), 190.0391 (³⁵Cl); found: 192.9883 (³⁷Cl), 190.0387 (³⁵Cl).

3.3. General procedure for the hydrogenation of 2-alkylidenetetrahydrofurans

To a H_2 concentrated suspension of Pd/C (0.3–0.5 equiv, 10% Pd on charcoal) in methanol (or ethanol) (5–10 mL/mmol)

^b For isolated products.

was added 2-alkylidenetetrahydrofuran (3, 6, 7 or 10) (1.0 equiv). The reaction mixture was concentrated with H_2 and stirred under H_2 atmosphere at 20 °C for 48 h. Then the reaction mixture was filtered through Celite, washed with dichloromethane (4×15 mL/mmol), and the filtrate was concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel, *n*-hexane/EtOAc) to give (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetate (5, 8 or 11). Notably, the (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates were not UV active (neither at short nor at long wavelength); to detect the products on TLC, the following solution was used as a dying agent: MnO₂ (0.3 g/mL) in ethanol.

3.3.1. Methyl (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetate (5a).²³ Method A: Starting with 3a (0.500 g, 3.52 mmol) and Pd/C (10% Pd, 1.123 g, 1.06 mmol) in methanol (20 mL), 5a was isolated without further purification as a slightly yellowish oil (0.491 g, 97%). Method B: Starting with 4a (0.300 g, 1.74 mmol) and Pd/C (10% Pd, 0.556 g, 0.52 mmol) in methanol (15 mL), 5a was isolated without further purification as a slightly yellowish oil (0.245 g, 98%). GC (chiral column, 70 °C): retention times (min)=18.2, 18.8. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz): $\delta = 1.50 - 1.61$ (m, 1H, CH₂), 1.87-1.96 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.04-2.15 (m, 1H, CH₂), 2.49 $(dd, J=15.2, 5.8 Hz, 1H, CH_2), 2.61 (dd, J=15.2, 7.2 Hz)$ 1H, CH₂), 3.70 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.72–3.79 (m, 1H, OCH₂), 3.85-3.92 (m, 1H, OCH₂), 4.26 (quint, J=7.2 Hz, 1H, OCH). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz): $\delta_{\rm C}$ =25.0, 30.6, 39.8 (CH₂), 51.1 (OCH₃), 67.4 (OCH₂), 74.6 (OCH), 171.0 (O=C-O). IR (neat, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ =2957 (s), 2875 (m), 1741 (s), 1646 (w), 1438 (m), 1417 (w), 1382 (w), 1361 (w), 1322 (w), 1302 (m), 1261 (m), 1201 (m), 1164 (s), 1119 (s), 1100 (m), 1066 (s), 1019 (m), 875 (w), 823 (w), 806 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%)=143 (M⁺, 76), 129 (20), 112 (14), 95 (34), 83 (75), 70 (100). HRMS (ESI): Calcd for C₇H₁₂O₃ ([M+1]⁺): 145.08647; found: 145.08567.

3.3.2. Ethyl (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetate (5b). Starting with **3b** (1.000 g, 6.4 mmol) and Pd/C (10% Pd, 3.407 g, 3.2 mmol) in ethanol (25 mL), 5b was isolated without further purification as a yellowish oil (1.012 g, 100%). GC (chiral column, 70 °C): retention times (min)=29.7, 30.5. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz): δ =1.15–1.31 (m, 3H, CH₃), 1.55-1.69 (m, 1H, CH₂), 1.88-1.97 (m, 1H, CH₂), 2.05-2.11 (m, 1H, CH₂), 2.28–2.49 (m, 1H, CH₂), 2.54–2.79 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.43–3.61 (m, 2H, OCH₂), 3.76–3.88 (m, 1H, OCH), 4.12–4.24 (m, 2H, OCH₂). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz): $\delta_{\rm C}$ =14.2 (CH₃), 26.0, 31.5, 39.7 (CH₂), 61.4, 64.5 (OCH₂), 75 (OCH), 166.7 (O=C-O). IR (neat, cm^{-1}): $\tilde{\nu}$ =2966 (s), 2875 (w), 1738 (s), 1651 (w), 1446 (m), 1412 (m), 1374 (m), 1304 (m), 1260 (s), 1182 (s), 1164 (s), 1096 (s), 1067 (s), 1030 (s). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%)=158 $(M^+, 2), 144 (13), 130 (51), 114 (31), 97 (13), 84 (21), 71$ (100).

3.3.3. *iso*-**Propyl** (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetate (5c). *Method A*: Starting with **3c** (0.150 g, 0.88 mmol) and Pd/C (10% Pd, 0.469 g, 0.44 mmol) in ethanol (10 mL), **5c** was isolated without further purification as a slightly yellowish oil (0.152 g, 100%). *Method B*: Starting with **4b** (0.250 g, 1.25 mmol) and Pd/C (0.664 g, 10% Pd, 0.62 mmol) in methanol (15 mL), **5c** was isolated without further purification as a slightly yellowish oil (0.179 g, 83%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz): δ =1.24 (d, J=6.3 Hz, 6H, 2×CH₃), 1.50–1.61 (m, 1H, CH₂), 1.85–1.96 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.03– 2.12 (m, 1H, CH₂), 2.43 (dd, J=15.1, 6.3 Hz, 1H, CH₂), 2.58 (dd, J=15.1, 7.0 Hz, 1H, CH₂), 3.70–3.79 (m, 1H, OCH₂), 3.84–3.92 (m, 1H, OCH₂), 4.24 (quint, J=6.8 Hz, 1H, OCH), 5.04 (quint, J=6.3 Hz, 1H, OCH). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz): δ_{C} =21.1 (2C, CH₃), 24.9, 30.5, 40.3 (CH₂), 66.9 (OCH), 67.4 (OCH₂), 74.6 (OCH), 169.9 (O=C–O). IR (neat, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ =2962 (s), 2934 (s), 2874 (m), 1731 (s), 1649 (w), 1457 (m), 1447 (m), 1408 (w), 1379 (m), 1262 (s), 1232 (m), 1180 (s), 1108 (s), 1070 (s), 1022 (m), 967 (w), 801 (m). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=172 (M⁺, 1), 157 (3), 142 (3), 129 (11), 112 (8), 102 (28), 97 (4), 89 (48), 84 (16), 71 (100). HRMS (ESI): Calcd for C₉H₁₆O₃ ([M+Na]⁺): 195.09972; found: 195.09889.

3.3.4. tert-Butyl (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetate (5d). Starting with 3d (0.200 g, 1.09 mmol) and Pd/C (10% Pd, 0.580 g, 0.5 mmol) in ethanol (10 mL), 5d was isolated after chromatography (silica gel, *n*-hexane/EtOAc= $100:1 \rightarrow$ 10:1) as a colorless oil (0.170 g, 83%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz): $\delta = 1.45$ (s, 9H, O^tBu), 1.51–1.61 (m, 1H, CH₂), 1.84-1.94 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.01-2.10 (m, 1H, CH₂), 2.36 (dd, J=15.1, 6.7 Hz, 1H, CH₂), 2.53 (dd, J=15.1, 6.7 Hz, 1H, CH₂), 3.70–3.78 (m, 1H, OCH₂), 3.83–3.91 (m, 1H, OCH₂), 4.20 (quint, J=6.7 Hz, 1H, OCH). ¹³C NMR $(CDCl_3, 50 \text{ MHz}): \delta_C = 25.5 (CH_2), 28.0 (O'Bu), 31.1, 41.8$ (CH₂), 68.9 (OCH₂), 75.4 (OCH), 80.4 (O'Bu), 170.6 (O=C-O). IR (neat, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ =2976 (m), 2946 (w), 2936 (w), 2874 (w), 1730 (s), 1455 (w), 1390 (w), 1368 (m), 1300 (w), 1288 (w), 1257 (m), 1208 (w), 1154 (s), 1102 (w), 1068 (m), 1020 (w), MS (EI, 70 eV); m/z (%)=186 (M⁺, 1), 157 (12), 141 (4), 129 (49), 114 (17), 102 (16), 73 (10), 72 (96), 70 (45), 57 (100). MS (DCI, NH₃): m/z $(\%)=390 ([2 \times M + NH_4]^+, 23), 360 (15), 334 (13), 204$ ([M+NH₄]⁺, 47), 165 (28), 148 (100). The exact molecular mass $m/z=186.1256\pm 2$ ppm [M⁺] for C₁₀H₁₈O₃ was confirmed by HRMS (EI, 70 eV). Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₈O₃ (186.248): C 64.49, H 9.74; found: C 64.52, H 9.75.

3.3.5. Methyl (3-methyltetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetate (5e). Starting with 3e (0.350 g, 2.24 mmol) and Pd/C (10% Pd, 1.192 g, 1.12 mmol) in methanol (15 mL), 5e was isolated after chromatography (silica gel, n-hexane/ EtOAc=100:1 \rightarrow 10:1) as a colorless oil (0.316 g, 89%, an inseparable 6:5 mixture of diastereomers). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 200 MHz, for both diastereomers): δ =0.92 (d, J=7.0 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.05 (d, J=6.5 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.48-1.67 (m, 2H, CH₂), 1.79–1.96 (m, 1H, CH), 2.01–2.19 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.28-2.39 (m, 1H, CH), 2.42-2.61 (m, 4H, 2×CH₂), 3.70 (s, 6H, 2×OCH₃), 3.71-3.98 (m, 5H, 2×OCH₂, OCH), 4.19–4.29 (m, 1H, OCH). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz): Major diastereomer: δ_{C} =16.8 (CH₃), 34.3 (CH₂), 39.0 (CH), 39.2 (CH₂), 51.6 (OCH₃), 67.0 (OCH₂), 81.7 (OCH), 171.9 (O=C-O). Minor diastereomer: δ_{C} =14.2, 33.5, 35.3, 36.0, 51.6, 66.4, 77.6, 172.1. IR (neat, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ =2961 (s), 2876 (m), 1741 (s), 1455 (m), 1438 (m), 1381 (w), 1325 (w), 1303 (w), 1282 (m), 1257 (w), 1198 (m), 1169 (s), 1128 (w), 1107 (w), 1087 (m), 1043 (w), 1016 (m). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%)=158 (M⁺, 3), 143 (2), 130 (30), 127 (6), 98 (17), 85 (100), 72 (21). The exact molecular mass $m/z=158.0943\pm 2$ ppm [M⁺] for $C_8H_{14}O_3$ was confirmed by HRMS (EI, 70 eV).

3.3.6. Ethyl (3-ethyltetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetate (5f). Starting with 3f (0.280 g, 1.52 mmol) and Pd/C (10% Pd, 0.809 g, 0.76 mmol) in ethanol (15 mL), 5f was isolated after chromatography (silica gel, *n*-hexane/EtOAc= $100:1 \rightarrow$ 10:1) as slightly yellowish oil (0.268 g, 95%, inseparable 6:5 mixture of diastereomers). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz, for both diastereomers): δ =0.94 (dt, J=7.2, 4.8 Hz, 6H, 2× CH₃), 1.27 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 6H, $2 \times \text{OCH}_2\text{CH}_3$), 1.32–1.48 (m, 1H, CH), 1.50–1.66 (m, 4H, 2×CH₂), 1.70–1.82 (m, 1H, CH), 2 00–2.22 (m, 4H, 2×CH₂), 2.36–2.43 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.45–2.56 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.73 (g, J=7.8 Hz, 1H, OCH), 3.80 (t, J=6.0 Hz, 2H, OCH₂), 3.84–3.97 (m, 2H, OCH₂), 4.17 (q, J=7.2 Hz, 4H, 2×OCH₂CH₃), 4.37 (q, J=6.6 Hz, 1H, OCH). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz): Major diastereomer: $\delta_{C} = 12.6$, 14.1 (CH₃), 25.5, 32.0, 40.1 (CH₂), 46.2 (CH), 60.4 (OCH₂CH₃), 67.1 (OCH₂), 80.3 (OCH), 171.8 (O=C-O). Minor diastereomer: δ_{C} =12.8, 14.1, 21.9, 30.5, 36.2, 43.3, 60.4, 66.6, 77.4, 171.5. IR (neat, cm^{-1}): $\tilde{\nu}$ =2965 (s), 2934 (m), 2876 (m), 1738 (s), 1459 (w), 1377 (w), 1309 (m), 1261 (m), 1172 (s), 1141 (w), 1082 (m), 1036 (s). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=186 (M⁺, 1), 158 (44), 143 (22), 130 (5), 116 (10), 110 (13), 99 (100), 84 (16), 70 (31). The exact molecular mass $m/z=186.1256\pm 2$ ppm $[M^+]$ for C₁₀H₁₈O₃ was confirmed by HRMS (EI, 70 eV).

3.3.7. Octahydro-[2,3']bifuranyl-2'-one (5g). Starting with **3g** (0.300 g, 1.95 mmol) and Pd/C (10% Pd, 0.500 g, 0.47 mmol) in ethanol (10 mL), 5g was isolated after chromatography (silica gel, *n*-hexane/EtOAc= $50:1 \rightarrow 1:1$) as a colorless oil (0.261 g, 86%, an inseparable 3:2 mixture of diastereomers). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz, for both diastereomers): $\delta = 1.66 - 1.77$ (m, 1H, CH₂), 1.84 - 2.07 (m, 6H, 3×CH₂), 2.11-2.46 (m, 5H, 3×CH₂), 2.64-7.72 (m, 1H, CH of minor diastereomer), 2.82-2.89 (m, 1H, CH of major diastereomer), 3.72-3.82 (m, 2H, OCH₂), 3.84-3.92 (m, 2H, OCH₂), 4.13-4.20 (m, 2H, OCH₂), 4.21-4.29 (m, 2H, OCH₂), 4.34–4.43 (m, 2H, 2×OCH). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz): Major diastereomer: $\delta_{\rm C}$ =25.8, 26.1, 28.0 (CH₂), 42.7 (CH), 67.0, 68.7 (OCH₂), 78.8 (OCH), 177.1 (O=C-O). Minor diastereomer: δ_{C} =23.9, 25.8, 29.9, 44.0, 66.9, 68.4, 77.4, 177.5. IR (neat, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ =2078 (m), 2915 (w), 2876 (m), 1768 (s), 1455 (w), 1380 (m), 1218 (m), 1167 (s), 1133 (w), 1070 (m), 1026 (s), 956 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%)=155 (M⁺, 27), 141 (7), 128 (19), 112 (9), 97 (5), 86 (24), 72 (77), 70 (53), 57 (48), 55 (43), 41 (100). Anal. Calcd for C₈H₁₂O₃ (156.181): C 61.52, H 7.74; found: C 61.46, H 7.94.

3.3.8. Ethyl (5-ethyltetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetate (8a). *Method C*: Starting with **6** (0.500 g, 2.74 mmol) and Pd/C (10% Pd, 1.460 g, 1.37 mmol) in ethanol (30 mL), **8a** was isolated after chromatography (silica gel, *n*-hexane/EtOAc=100:1 \rightarrow 3:1) as a colorless oil (0.435 g, 85%, an inseparable 9:2 [*syn/anti*] mixture of diastereomers). *Method D*: Starting with **7a** (0.16 g, 0.87 mmol) and Pd/C (10% Pd, 0.469 g, 0.44 mmol) in ethanol (30 mL), **8a** was isolated after chromatography (silica gel, *n*-hexane/EtOAc=100:1 \rightarrow 3:1) as a colorless oil (0.11 g, 70%, an inseparable 3:1 [*syn/anti*] mixture of diastereomers). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz): δ =0.91 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.26 (t, *J*=7.2 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.42–1.52 (m, 2H, CH₂), 1.53–1.65 (m, 2H, CH₂), 1.91–2.11 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.44 (dd, *J*=15.0, 6.6 Hz, 1H, CH₂), 2.63 (dd, *J*=15.0, 6.6 Hz, 1H, CH₂), 3.79 (quint, J=6.6 Hz, 1H, OCH), 4.15 (q, J=7.2 Hz, 2H, OCH₂), 4.24 (quint, J=6.6 Hz, 1H, OCH). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 50 MHz): Major diastereomer: $\delta_{\rm C}$ =9.8, 13.8 (CH₃), 28.5, 30.0, 30.7, 40.9 (CH₂), 59.9 (OCH₂), 74.9, 80.6 (CH), 170.9 (O=C–O). Minor diastereomer: $\delta_{\rm C}$ =9.8, 13.8, 28.3, 30.9, 31.5, 40.6, 59.9, 74.5, 79.9, 170.8. IR (neat, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ =2969 (s), 2936 (m), 2877 (m), 1737 (s), 1462 (m), 1376 (m), 1299 (m), 1252 (m), 1193 (s), 1165 (s), 1079 (s), 1036 (s), 957 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=186 (M⁺, 4), 171 (4), 157 (64), 141 (6), 130 (78), 126 (5), 114 (27), 110 (100), 99 (78), 83 (54), 70 (76). MS (DCI, NH₃): *m/z* (%)=204 ([M+NH₄]⁺, 100), 192 (43), 187 (M⁺, 7), 151 (43), 134 (35), 108 (10). HRMS (ESI): Calcd for C₁₀H₁₈O₃ ([M+1]⁺): 187.13342; found: 187.13281. Anal. Calcd for C₁₀H₁₈O₃ (186.248): C 64.49, H 9.74; found: C 64.46, H 9.78.

3.3.9. Methyl (5-chloromethyltetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetate (8b). Starting with 7b (0.500 g, 2.62 mmol) and Pd/C (10% Pd, 1.396 g, 1.31 mmol) in methanol (30 mL), 8b was isolated without further purification as a slightly yellowish oil (0.505 g, 100%, inseparable 10:1 [syn/anti] mixture of diastereomers). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz): Major diastereomer: $\delta = 1.56 - 1.73$ (m, 1H, CH₂), 1.84 - 1.89 (m, 1H, CH₂), 2.04–2.10 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.52 (dd, J=15.3, 2.7 Hz, 1H, CH₂), 2.67 (dd, J=15.3, 3.0 Hz, 1H, CH₂), 3.45-3.63 (m, 2H, CH₂–Cl), 3.70 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 4.19 (m, 1H, OCH), 4.34 (m, 1H, OCH). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz): Major diastereomer: δ_C=27.8, 29.8, 39.4 (CH₂), 46.0 (CH₂-Cl), 51.0 (OCH_3) , 75.1, 77.5 (OCH), 170.1 (O=C-O). IR (neat, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ =2955 (m), 2927 (w), 2879 (w), 1739 (s), 1649 (w), 1439 (m), 1390 (w), 1377 (w), 1352 (w), 1320 (w), 1298 (w), 1278 (w), 1260 (w), 1201 (m), 1177 (m), 1093 (m), 1065 (m), 1012 (w), 901 (w), 883 (w), 796 (w), 746 (w). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%)=192 (M⁺, 1), 163 (1), 161 (5), 157 (17), 143 (100), 132 (4), 127 (1), 125 (5), 121 (19), 119 (60), 116 (36), 110 (71), 103 (2), 101 (21), 85 (6), 83 (65), 77 (5), 75 (11), 72 (8), 70 (19). HRMS (ESI): Calcd for C₈H₁₃ClO₃ [M⁺]: 193.0440 (³⁷Cl), 191.0469 (³⁵Cl); found: 193.0440 (³⁷Cl), 191.0466 (³⁵Cl).

3.3.10. Ethyl (4-methoxypyrrolidin-2-yl)acetate (11). Starting with 10^{21a} (0.200 g, 1.08 mmol) and Pd/C (0.345 g, 10% Pd, 0.32 mmol) in ethanol (10 mL), 11 was isolated without further purification as a yellowish oil (0.202 g, 100%, inseparable 10:1 mixture of diastereomers). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz): Major diastereomer: $\delta = 1.26$ (dt, J=7.2, 1.8 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.94 (dt, J=10.6, 3.4 Hz, 1H, CH₂), 1.92–1.98 (m, 1H, CH₂), 2.87 (dd, J=17.3, 7.4 Hz, 1H, CH₂), 3.22 (dd, J=17.3, 7.2 Hz, 1H, CH₂), 3.33 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.40 (dd, J=12.5, 4.9 Hz, 1H, CH₂-NH), 3.54 (d, J=12.5 Hz, 1H, CH_2 -NH), 3.71 (q, J=7.04 Hz, 1H, CH-NH), 4.07-4.11 (m, 1H, OCH), 4.18 (dq, J=7.2, 1.8 Hz, 2H, OCH₂), 8.00 (br s, 1H, NH). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz): Major diastereomer: δ_{C} =13.9 (CH₃), 35.8, 37.0 (CH₂), 49.1 (CH₂-NH), 54.4 (CH-NH), 56.7 (OCH₃), 60.9 (OCH₂), 78.4 (OCH), 170.2 (O=C-O). IR (neat, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ =3419 (m), 2982 (s), 2937 (s), 2831 (m), 2747 (m), 1732 (s), 1640 (w), 1445 (w), 1403 (m), 1381 (m), 1347 (w), 1324 (m), 1259 (m), 1202 (s), 1106 (s), 1068 (m), 1028 (m). MS (EI, 70 eV): m/z (%)=187 (M⁺, 2), 159 (5), 156 (7), 142 (4), 128 (54), 111 (7), 100 (86), 96 (39), 84 (25), 69 (100). HRMS (ESI): Calcd for C₉H₁₇NO₃ ([M+1]⁺): 188.12867; found: 188.12782.

3.4. General procedure for the enzymatic kinetic resolution of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates

3.4.1. Analytical scale. For small-scale reactions, (tetrahydrofuran-2yl)acetate (**5a,b**) (0.025–0.035 mmol) and recombinant esterase Est56 solution (100 µl) were dissolved in phosphate buffer (ad 1000 µL, 50 mM, pH 7.5) and toluene (10% v/v). The mixture was shaken in a thermoshaker at 37 °C and 1400 rpm. After certain time intervals, to the sample (100 µL) taken, distilled water (100 µL) was added. The sample was acidified by HCl (aq, 1 N) addition, and extracted with diethylether (3×200 µL). The combined organic extracts were dried (Na₂SO₄) and from this solution, enantiomeric excess and conversions were determined by GC analysis. For **5a,b**, first substrate (ester) was extracted at neutral to basic pH, and then after acidification, the free acid, which was produced during the enzymatic hydrolysis, was extracted separately.

3.4.2. Preparative scale. The substrate (5a) (0.25-0.35 mmol) was added to a solution of recombinant esterase Est56 (crude extract with 50 U/mL, based on a p-nitrophenyl acetate assay, 1.0 mL) in phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 7.5, 9 mL) and the mixture was stirred at 37 °C until 50% conversion (determined by GC analysis) was reached. Method 1: To the reaction mixture was added HCl (aq, 10%, 10 mL) and the resulting acidic mixture was extracted with dichloromethane (4×20 mL). The combined organic extracts were dried (Na₂SO₄), filtered, and the filtrate was concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel, *n*-hexane/EtOAc) to give the enantiomerically pure ester and hydrolysis product (acid), respectively. Method 2: To the reaction mixture were added water (10 mL) and aq Na₂CO₃ solution (concd, 1 mL), and the resulting basic mixture was extracted with dichloromethane (or diethylether) $(4 \times 20 \text{ mL})$. The combined organic extracts were dried (Na₂SO₄), filtered, and the filtrate was concentrated in vacuo to give the enantiomerically pure ester without further purification. The aqueous layer was acidified by HCl addition (aq, 10%) and extracted with dichloromethane (4×20 mL). The combined organic extracts were dried (Na₂SO₄), filtered, and the filtrate was concentrated in vacuo to give the enantiomerically pure hydrolysis product (acid) without further purification. In some cases, the residues were purified by column chromatography (silica gel, n-hexane/EtOAc) for better rotation values. Purity and structure of compounds were confirmed by ¹H NMR. For reaction details see Table 5.

3.4.3. Resolution of (-)-5a and (-)-12. Table 5, entry 4 (*Method 2*) Starting with racemic 5a (50 mg, 0.35 mmol) and Est56 (1.5 mL), (-)-5a (20 mg, 40%) and (-)-12 (22 mg, 49%) were isolated without further purification as slightly yellowish and colorless oils, respectively. Column chromatography is not recommended due to the invisibility of products on TLC.

3.4.4. Methyl (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetate [(-)-5a].²³ GC (chiral column, 70 °C): retention time (min)=18.6, 99% ee. Rotation (CDCl₃): $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ -3.6. Spectral data is the same as given above for racemic **5a**.

3.4.5. (-)-2-(Tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetic acid [(-)-12].²³ GC (chiral column, after conversion to the methyl ester by using diazomethane, 70 °C): retention time (min)=18.7, 86.3% ee. Rotation (CDCl₃): $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$ -6.9. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz): δ =1.52–1.64 (m, 1H, CH₂), 1.89–2.00 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.08–2.18 (m, 1H, CH₂), 2.58 (d, *J*=0.9 Hz, 1H, CH₂), 2.60 (d, *J*=2.1 Hz, 1H, CH₂), 3.77–3.84 (m, 1H, OCH₂), 3.90–3.97 (m, 1H, OCH₂), 4.26 (quint, *J*=6.9 Hz, 1H, OCH), 9.93 (br s, 1H, OH). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 75 MHz): δ_{C} =25.5, 31.2, 40.0 (CH₂), 68.2 (OCH₂), 75.0 (OCH), 174.7 (O=C-OH). IR (neat, cm⁻¹): $\tilde{\nu}$ =3404 (br), 2926 (m), 2861 (w), 1722 (s), 1433 (w), 1276 (w), 1261 (w), 1255 (w), 1252 (w), 1201 (w), 1171 (w), 1099 (w), 1058 (m). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=130 (M⁺, 14), 83 (1), 72 (1), 55 (3), 44 (100), 28 (97). MS (EI, 70 eV): *m/z* (%)=130 (M⁺, 14), 83 (1), 72 (1), 55 (3), 44 (100), 28 (97).

3.4.6. Co-injection of (-)-5a and (-)-12. GC (chiral column, after conversion of the acid to the methyl ester by using diazomethane, 70 °C): retention times (min)=18.8 and 19.4.

Acknowledgements

Financial support from the DAAD (scholarship for E.B.), the BASF AG, the state of Mecklenburg-Vorpommern (Landesforschungsschwerpunkt 'Neue Wirkstoffe und Screeningverfahren'), the Deutsche Bundesstiftung Umwelt (Osnabrück, Germany, grant no AZ13071), and from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft is gratefully acknowledged. We thank the BRAIN AG (Zwingenberg, Germany) and Amano Pharmaceuticals (Nagoya, Japan) for the provision of enzymes.

References and notes

- Tetrahydrofuran natural products, acetogenins: (a) Keinan, E.; Sinha, A.; Yazbak, A.; Sinha, S. C.; Sinha, S. C. Pure Appl. Chem. 1997, 69, 423; (b) Evans, D. A.; Ratz, A. M.; Huff, B. E.; Sheppard, G. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 7171; (c) Schmid, G.; Fukuyama, T.; Akasaka, K.; Kishi, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 259; (d) Collum, D. B.; McDonald, J. H.; Still, W. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 2117; (e) Ireland, R. E.; Armstrong, J. D.; Lebreton, J.; Meissner, R. S.; Rizzacasa, M. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 7152; (f) Keinan, E.; Sinha, S. C. Pure Appl. Chem. 2002, 74, 93.
- Lasalocid A: (a) Nakata, T.; Schmid, G.; Vranesic, B.; Okigawa, M.; Smith-Palmer, T.; Kishi, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 2933; (b) Ireland, R. E.; Anderson, R. C.; Badoud, R.; Fitzsimmons, B. J.; McGarvey, G. J.; Thaisrivongs, S.; Wilcox, C. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 1988.
- Ferensimycin A, B, and lysocellin: Evans, D. A.; Polniaszek, R. P.; DeVries, K. M.; Guinn, D. E.; Mathre, D. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 7613.
- Solamin: (a) Cecil, A. R. L.; Brown, R. C. D. ARKIVOC 2002, xi, 49; for other solamin syntheses: (b) Cecil, A. R. L.; Hu, Y.; Vincent, M. J.; Duncan, R.; Brown, R. C. D. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 3368; (c) Donohoe, T. J.; Butterworth, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 4766; (d) Sinha, S. C.; Keinan, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 4891.
- For cycloadditions, see: (a) Weichert, A.; Hoffmann, H. M. R. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 4098; (b) Tchelitcheff, P. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1954, 672; (c) Ireland, R. E.; Haebich, D. Chem. Ber. 1981, 114, 1418; (d) Audrain, H.; Thorhauge, J.; Hazell, R. G.; Joergensen, K. A. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 4487; for

reactions with amines, see: (e) Detty, M. R. J. Org. Chem. **1979**, 44, 2073; (f) Batra, S.; Srivastava, S.; Singh, K.; Chander, R.; Khanna, A. K.; Bhaduri, A. P. Bioorg. Med. Chem. **2000**, 8, 2195; for cyclopropanations: (g) Kirmse, W.; Rode, K. Chem. Ber. **1987**, 120, 847; for oxidative carbonylations: (h) Strauch, H. C.; Erker, G.; Fröhlich, R. J. Organomet. Chem. **2000**, 593– 594, 388; (i) Kato, K.; Nishimura, A.; Yamamoto, Y.; Akita, H. Tetrahedron Lett. **2001**, 42, 4203; (j) Kato, K.; Tanaka, M.; Yamamoto, Y.; Akita, H. Tetrahedron Lett. **2002**, 43, 1511; for hydrogenations: (k) Tsujita, H.; Ura, Y.; Wada, K.; Kondo, T.; Mitsudo, T.-A. Chem. Commun. **2005**, 5100; (l) Sharma, G. V. M.; Punna, S.; Hymavathi, L.; Reddy, N. Y.; Krishna, P. R.; Chorghadeb, M. S.; Ley, S. V. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **2005**, 16, 1135; (m) Ohta, T.; Miyake, T.; Seido, N.; Kumobayashi, H.; Takaya, H. J. Org. Chem. **1995**, 60, 357; see also Ref. 6.

- Reviews: (a) Oivin, T. L. B. Tetrahedron 1987, 43, 3309; (b) Barrett, A. G. M.; Sheth, H. G. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 5017; (c) Rao, Y. S. Chem. Rev. 1976, 76, 625; (d) Pattenden, G. Prog. Chem. Nat. Prod. 1978, 35, 133; (e) Knight, D. W. Contemp. Org. Synth. 1994, 1, 287; (f) Gerlach, H.; Wetter, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 1974, 57, 2306; (g) Schmidt, U.; Gombos, J.; Haslinger, E.; Zak, H. Chem. Ber. 1976, 109, 2628; (h) Bartlett, P. A.; Meadows, J. D.; Ottow, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 5304; (i) Lygo, B. Tetrahedron 1988, 44, 6889.
- Methyl nonactate: (a) Ahmar, M.; Duyck, C.; Fleming, I. *Pure Appl. Chem.* **1994**, *66*, 2049; also see for (–)-nonactic acid: (b) Fraser, B.; Perlmutter, P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **2002**, 2896.
- Spiroketal chalcogran: (a) Ley, S. V.; Lygo, B.; Organ, H. M.; Wonnacott, A. *Tetrahedron* **1985**, *41*, 3825; (b) Booth, P. M.; Fox, C. M. J.; Ley, S. V. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1* **1987**, 121; (c) Mori, K.; Sasaki, M.; Tamada, S.; Suguro, T.; Masuda, S. *Tetrahedron* **1979**, *35*, 1601.
- For reviews of cyclization reactions of free and masked dianions, see: (a) Langer, P. *Chem.—Eur. J.* 2001, 7, 3858; (b) Langer, P. *Synthesis* 2002, 441; (c) Langer, P.; Freiberg, W. *Chem. Rev.* 2004, 104, 4125.
- (a) Langer, P.; Holtz, E.; Karimé, I.; Saleh, N. N. R. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 6057; (b) Langer, P.; Bellur, E. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 9742; see also: (c) Edwards, G. L.; Sinclair, D. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 3933; (d) Krueger, S. A.; Bryson, T. A. J. Org. Chem. 1974, 39, 3167; (e) Gabriele, B.; Salerno, G.; De Pascali, F.; Costa, M.; Chiusoli, G. P. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 593–594, 409; (f) Pflieger, D.; Muckensturn, B. Tetrahedron 1989, 45, 2031; (g) Bellur, E.; Langer, P. Synlett 2004, 2169; (h) Bellur, E.; Langer, P. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 4815; (i) Bellur, E.; Langer, P. Synthesis 2006, 3, 480.
- (a) Bellur, E.; Langer, P. Synlett 2004, 2172; (b) Bellur, E.; Langer, P. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 3819; (c) Bellur, E.; Langer, P. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 7686.
- (a) Bellur, E.; Freifeld, I.; Langer, P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, *46*, 2185; (b) Bellur, E.; Langer, P. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 10013.
- (a) Bellur, E.; Görls, H.; Langer, P. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2005, 2074; see also: (b) Langer, P.; Krummel, T. *Chem.—Eur. J.* 2001, *7*, 1720.
- For the synthesis of (tetrahydrofuran-2-yl)acetates see: (a) Dixon, D. J.; Ley, S. V.; Tate, E. W. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 2385; (b) Babjak, M.; Zálupský, P.; Gracza, T. ARKIVOC 2005, v, 45.
- 15. Lorenz, P.; Liebeton, K.; Niehaus, F.; Eck, J. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 2002, 13, 572.

- Reviews/books about enzymes in organic synthesis: (a) Bornscheuer, U. T.; Kazlauskas, R. J. Hydrolases in Organic Synthesis—Regio- and Stereoselective Biotransformations, 2nd ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2005; (b) Davis, B. G.; Boyer, V. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2001, 18, 618; (c) Faber, K. Pure Appl. Chem. 1997, 69, 1613.
- For reviews, see: (a) Lue, P.; Greenhill, J. V. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 1997, 67, 209; (b) Granik, V. G.; Makarov, V. A. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 1999, 72, 283; (c) Sardina, F. J.; Rapoport, H. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 1825, and references cited therein.
- (a) Folmer, J. J.; Acero, C.; Thai, D. L.; Rapoport, H. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 8170; (b) Benovsky, P.; Stephenson, G. A.; Still, J. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 2493; (c) Wang, M.-X.; Miao, W. S.; Cheng, Y.; Huang, Z. T. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 14611; (d) Bertschy, H.; Meunier, A.; Neier, R. Angew. Chem. 1990, 102, 828; Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 777; (e) Montforts, F.-P.; Schwartz, U. M.; Mai, G. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1990, 1037; (f) Lygo, B. Synlett 1993, 765; (g) Langer, P.; Freifeld, I. Chem. Commun. 2002, 2668.
- 19. (a) Abbott Lab., WO-8906534; (b) Maryanoff, B. E.; McComsey, D. F.; Gardocki, J. F.; Shank, R. P.; Costanzo, M. J.; Nortey, S. O.; Schneider, C. R.; Setler, P. E. J. Med. Chem. 1987, 30, 1433; (c) Sankyo Co., JP-1996092207; (d) GlaxoSmithKline, WO-9508534; (e) Glaxo Wellcome, US-5665754; (f) Fukui, H.; Shibata, T.; Naito, T.; Nakano, J.; Maejima, T.; Senda, H.; Iwatani, W.; Tatsumi, Y.; Suda, M.; Arika, T. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 2833; (g) Kaken Pharmaceutical Co., US-5668147; (h) Bucsh, R. A.; Domagala, J. M.; Laborde, E.; Sesnie, J. C. J. Med. Chem. 1993, 36, 4139; (i) Fujisawa Pharmaceuticals Co., US-5514701; (j) Sone, H.; Okuda, Y.; Tsurushima, Y.; Asano, M.; Suzuki, S.; Kawakami, Y.; Yamashita, K. Prostaglandins 1997, 53, 395; (k) Nitromed, WO-0189519; (l) Vecchietti, V.; Giordani, A.; Giardina, G.; Colle, R.; Clarke, G. D. J. Med. Chem. 1991, 34, 397; (m) Chang, A.-C.; Cowan, A.; Takemori, A. E.; Portoghese, P. S. J. Med. Chem. 1996, 39, 4478; (n) Hale, J. J.; Budhu, R. J.; Holson, E. B.; Finke, P. E.; Oates, B.; Mills, S. G.; MacCoss, M.; Gould, S. L.; DeMartino, J. A.; Springer, M. S.; Siciliano, S.; Malkowitz, L.; Schleif, W. A.; Hazuda, D.; Miller, M.; Kessler, J.; Danzeisen, R.; Holmes, K.; Lineberger, J.; Carella, A.; Carver, G.; Emini, E. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2001, 11, 2741; (o) Merck & Co., US-6166037; (p) Microside Pharmaceuticals, WO-0001714; (q) Microside Pharmaceuticals, US-6399629; (r) Hughes, T. E.; Mone, M. D.; Russell, M. E.; Weldon, S. C.; Villhauer, E. B. Biochemistry 1999, 38, 11597.
- Pyrrolidine natural products: (a) Chen, C.; Li, X.; Neumann, C. S.; Lo, M. M.-C.; Schreiber, S. L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 2249; (b) Pearson, W. H. Pure Appl. Chem. 2002, 74, 1339; (c) Enders, D.; Thiebes, C. Pure Appl. Chem. 2001, 73, 573; (d) Donohoe, T. J.; Headley, C. E.; Cousins, R. P. C.; Cowley, A. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 999; Pyrrolidine synthesis: (e) Brinner, K. M.; Ellman, J. A. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 2109; review: (f) Marson, C. M. ARKIVOC 2001, i, 1.
- (a) Bellur, E.; Görls, H.; Langer, P. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 4751; (b) Montforts, F.-P.; Schwartz, U. M.; Mai, G. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1990, 1037, and references cited therein.
- (a) Langer, P.; Armbrust, H.; Eckardt, T.; Magull, J. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2002**, *8*, 1443; (b) Langer, P.; Freifeld, I. *Chem.*— *Eur. J.* **2001**, *7*, 565.
- 23. Laxmi, Y. R. S.; Iyengar, D. S. Synthesis 1996, 594.